
■rrsrsssspr 

:,^;2SSSSSr 



DAVID  0.  MCKAY  LIBRARY 

3  1404  00481  3082 

N 



l^1^Ug033 

pAVrfn  o   f'/fcX^y  LIBRARY 
RICKS  COLLEGE 

f^EXBURG.  IDAHO  83460-0406 



Digitized  by  the  Internet  Archive 
in  2011  with  funding  from 

Brigham  Young  University-Idaho 

http://www.archive.org/details/gemsofourvalleywOOsimnn 



"GEMS" 
OF  OUh 

VALLEY 
A  written  and  pictorial  history  of  Gem  Valley — located  in 
Southeastern  Idaho  along  the  Bear  River  181 1-1977  and  the 

people  who  have  lived  there. 

Compiled  AND  Edited  by 
Vivian  Simmons  and  Ruth  Varley 

Published  by  the  Grace  Literary  Club 
G.F.W.C. 

Grace,  Idaho 

1977 



Copyright  1977 

^    By 

The  Grace  Literary  Club 

Printed  by 

Keith  W.  Watkins  and  Sons,  Inc. 
PROVIDENCE.  UTAH  84332 



DEDICATED 

To  the  memory  of  those  illustrious  and 

courageous  pioneers  of  Gem  Valley,  whose 

hard  labor  and  foresight  made  it  all 

possible — and  to  living  pioneers,  Charles  W. 

Hubbard  and  his  wife  Elsie,  who  did  so  much  to 
help. 



FOREWARD 

If  love  is  an  essential  ingredient  of  service,  then  this  book,  "GEMS"  of 
OUR  VALLEY,  is  a  labor  of  love.  It  is  arranged  in  two  parts — a  history  of 
the  valley,  and  a  collection  of  personal  biographies  of  those  who  have  helped 

in  its  growth  and  development.  This  growth  is  not  a  sudden  thing,  but  evolves 

slowly  through  the  experiences  of  many. 
These  contributions  of  character  from  those  of  the  earliest  days  of  our 

valley  are  the  foundation  of  understanding  our  present  conditions.  They 
become  a  monument  to  remind  us  to  excel. 

Our  community  is  an  expression  of  our  social  behavior,  and  this  just 

doesn't  happen.  It  is  a  composite  of  the  lives  of  those  who  have  lived  here. 
From  the  pioneers  of  this  valley  the  present  generation  derives  faith  and  deter- 

mination and  we  should  make  the  resolve,  "What  they  did,  we  can  do!  And  if 

possible  do  it  better!"  Such  is  the  philosophy  of  history.  Lives,  expressed  in 
words  and  deeds,  are  a  foundation  on  which  the  living  build.  History  brings 

the  past  into  the  present,  not  only  for  our  appreciation,  but  to  better  enable  us 
to  understand  the  society  in  which  we  now  live. 

Most  personal  notes,  diaries,  records,  and  histories  were  written  with  no 

thought  of  publication,  so  that  which  was  personal,  intimate,  and  perhaps 
confidential,  is  revealed  to  us  in  this  volume. 

The  people  of  Gem  Valley  are  greatly  indebted  to  the  members  of  the 

Grace  Literary  Club,  who  have  worked  long  and  hard  in  their  research,  to 

collect,  revise,  assemble,  organize,  type,  and  compile  the  material  for  this 

book.  Our  special  thanks  to  Vivian  Simmons  and  Ruth  Varley, who  shared  the 
responsibility  for  its  success. 

J.  Stanley  Harrison 
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PREFACE 

As  we  approached  our  nation's  bicentennial,  our  thoughts  turned, not 

only  to  our  great  nation's  beginning,  but  to  the  beginning  of  our  own  local 
history — that  of  beautiful  Gem  Valley;  to  the  men  and  women  who  pioneered 
this  land  and  the  heritage  which  they  left  for  us. 

That  all  of  you  might  share  in  the  knowledge  of  what  went  before  and, 

hopefully,  gain  a  greater  appreciation  for  those  who  pioneered  the  way,  we 

have  compiled  this  written  and  pictorial  history  of  Gem  Valley.  It  has  not  been 

easy.  We  have  encountered  many  obstacles  and  difficulties  along  the  way,  but 

through  it  all  we  have  persevered  and  finally  brought  the  book  to  its  comple- 
tion. 

Residents  of  Gem  Valley,  past  and  present,  this  is  your  story.  We  have 

turned  to  no  professional  sources.  Your  histories,  memoirs,  scrapbooks,  per- 
sonal interviews,  and  treasured  pictures  have  brought  to  life  the  story  of  our 

valley.  We  have  been  only  the  instruments  by  which  this  vast  storehouse  of  in- 
formation has  been  put  together. 

In  any  work  of  this  kind  it  is  inevitable  that  mistakes  will  occur.  For  these 

we  offer  our  humble  apologies  and  plead  for  tolerance  and  understanding.  We 

have  tried  to  the  best  of  our  ability  to  authenticate  all  material  used  in  the 

history  of  our  valley.  In  the  personal  biographies,  the  authenticity  of  informa- 
tion, the  correctness  of  dates,  and  spelling  of  names  is  the  responsibility  of 

those  who  have  turned  them  in.  We  have  made  no  attempt  to  verify  or  correct 

them.  We  do  accept  responsibility  and  apologize  for  any  typographical  errors 

which  will  undoubtedly  occur. 

In  selecting  a  name  for  our  book,  the  Grace  Literary  Club  conducted  a 

contest  which  was  open  to  any  resident  of  Gem  Valley.  Many  excellent  titles 

were  turned  in  to  us.  The  one  chosen —  "Gems"  of  Our  Valley — was  sub- 
mitted by  Kathleen  (Varley)  Whitehead.  For  this  honor  she  will  receive  a  copy 

of  the  book  without  charge. 

The  compiling  of  this  book  has  been  a  fascinating  and  memorable  ex- 

perience for  us,  and  our  greatest  desire  is  that  "Gems"  of  Our  Valley  will 
become  one  of  your  most  treasured  possessions. 

The  Grace  Literary  Club 

Co-Chairmen  of  Book  Project:     Ruth  Varley 
Vivian  Simmons 



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

Without  the  generous  help  of  many  people,  this  book  could  not  have  been 
written.  Their  histories,  scrapbooks,  detailed  notes,  files,  and  remarkable 
memories,  as  well  as  their  treasured  pictures,  provided  the  core  of  information 
upon  which  this  book  was  built. 

We  owe  a  special  debt  of  gratitude  to  Alice  T.  Sorensen,  former  librarian 
of  the  Grace  Library,  for  her  foresight  and  dedication  in  compiling  a 
marvelous  pictorial  history  of  Grace,  and  to  the  Grace  Library  Board  for 
allowing  us  access  to  these  materials. 

We  would  express,  too,  our  appreciation  to  the  workers  in  the  Church 

Historian's  Office  in  Salt  Lake  City  for  their  assistance  in  our  search  for 
records;  and  to  Mardean  Pack,  Clerk  of  the  Grace  City  Board,  who  provided 
access  to  city  records. 

Our  thanks  and  appreciation  to  Nadine  Rich  for  her  diligence  in  collec- 
ting resource  material  in  the  initial  stages  of  our  book;  also  ...  to  Betty  Popa, 

Susan  Varley,  Nina  Johnson,  and  Sandra  Webb  for  their  assistance  in  typing 
biographies  ...  to  Ralph  Adamson  for  his  marvelous  sketches  for  our  title 
pages  and  his  photography  ...  to  Clarence  D.  Simmons  and  Dorothy  Adams 
for  proof-reading  our  manuscript  without  charge  .  .  .  and  to  the  following  who 

went  "the  extra  mile"  in  providing  material  for  our  book:  Charles  and  Elsie 
Hubbard,  Harris  Mickelson,  Charles  Izatt,  Alice  Clegg,  Nellie  Johnson, 
Burgetta  Christensen,  Melva  Stoddard,  Diane  Lloyd,  Jennie  Perry,  LaVera 
Henderson,  Lydia  Thomas,  Lilas  VanVleet,  Harold  and  Winona  Lowe, 
Emma  Hanson,  Warren  King,  Blanche  Leffler,  Mary  Allen,  and  Lorette 
Hansen.  Others  are  listed  in  CREDITS  and  SOURCES. 

We  owe  a  special  thanks  to  Don  Mabey  of  the  U.S.  Geological  Survey  in 

Denver,  Colorado,  who  compiled  the  material  upon  which  Chapter  I,  "Begin- 
nings", was  based;  and  to  Pearl  Oberg  of  Pocatello  who  condensed  and  wrote 

it  in  chapter  form. 
We  are  also  indebted  to  officials  of  the  U.P.  &  L.  Company  for  their 

Bear  River  Story  and  wonderful  pictures.  .  .to  Orrin  Harris,  Secretary  of  The 
Last  Chance  Canal  Company,  for  his  time  and  effort  in  going  through  his  files 
to  provide  the  information  we  needed  ...  to  the  Grace  Citizen  and  Caribou 
County  Sun  for  pictures  and  free  advertising. 

We  appreciate  the  support  given  us  by  the  officers  and  members  of  the 
Grace  Literary  Club  in  promoting  and  selling  the  book,  and  to  others  in  the 
valley  who  assisted  in  this  regard. 

We  owe  a  very  special  thanks  to  the  people  who  expressed  their  faith  in  us 
by  paying  for  their  books  before  they  were  printed,  and  especially  do  we  thank 
Charlotte  Peterson  for  her  efficient  record  keeping  and  taking  care  of  our 
book  finances. 

Our  deep  appreciation  to  all  of  those  who  took  time  to  write  and  turn  in 
their  personal  biographies  to  us;  and  to  those  who  willingly  did  what  they 
could  to  assist  us  that  we  might  preserve  for  our  generation— and  generations 
yet  to  come— the  inspiring  history  of  our  beloved  Gem  Valley. 

Co-Editors:     Vivian  Simmons Ruth  Varley 

VI 



TABLE  OF  CONTENTS 

Dedication    Ill 

Forward    IV 

Preface    V 

Acknowledgments        VI 

"Have  you  ever  lived  in  Gem  Valley?"  —  Poem  by  Elsie  Hubbard    IX 

Chapter        I         BEGINNINGS       i 

Indians,  Fur  Trappers,  California  Gold-Seekers       3 

Chapter        II          THEN  THEY  CAME:    THE  HOMESTEADERS    9 

A  Valley  Comes  Alive       11 
Gentile  Valley — The  Why  and  Wherefore    14 
A  Closer  Look  at: 

Mound  Valley    16 
Thatcher    21 

Trout  Creek  (Lago)    27 
Cleveland       32 

Grace  (early)    37 
Turner       42 
Central    46 
Bench    50 

Niter      '.  .  .  55 
Beaver  Dams       60 

"Gem  Valley  Pioneers"  —  Poem  by  Elsie  Hubbard    68 
Chapter      III         THE  LAST  CHANCE    7i 

Life-blood  of  Our  Valley        73 
The  Banquet       80 

Chapter       IV         THE  POWER  COMPANIES    87 

Telluride  and  Utah  Power  and  Light  Company    89 

The  "Dinky"  Engine       96 

Chapter         V          GEM  VALLEY  INDUSTRY    97 

Cattle  and  Sheep  Country    99 
The  Lumber  Mills       104 

Farming — Then  and  Now    107 
Milk,  Butter  and  Cheese    114 

"Black  and  White  Days"       119 
Seed  Potatoes       124 

Fish  Hatchery       126 

Chapter       VI          EARLY  DOCTORS:    KACKLEY  AND  HUBBARD       129 

A  Savior  in  the  Valley    131 
That  Wonderful  Country  Doctor    134 
Those  Who  Came  Later    135 

Chapter     VII         THE  WOMEN       139 

VII 



Chapter    VIII         OUR  SCHOOLS    147 

Chapter       IX  A  THRIVING  VILLAGE       171 

A  Thriving  Village    173 
Bank    184 

Telephone  Company    185 

Newspapers    186 
Post  Office       187 

Cemetery       188 
Early  Hotels       189 
The  Village  Blacksmith    192 
City  Park    .  .  .  .v    193 

Chapter        X  FUN  AND  RECREATION    199 

Good  Times  in  the  Valley    201 
Bert  Orr  and  his  Grace  Opera  House       212 

Chapter       XI  CIVIC  CLUBS  AND  ORGANIZATIONS       217 

The  American  Legion    219 

"Response"  —  Poem  by  Mildred  Burton    224 
The  American  Legion  Auxiliary       224 
The  Grace  Lions  Club       226 

The  Grace  Literary  Club       229 
The  D.U.P    234 

4-H  in  Our  Valley       235 

Chapter     XII  TRUE  STORIES,  EXPERIENCES  &  TIDBITS    243 

Chapter   XIII  CHURCH  HISTORY  AND  CHRONOLOGY       255 

Chapter    XIV  GRACE  MAYORS  AND  CITY  CHRONOLOGY        299 

City  Chronology       301 
County  Annexation       306 

Chapter     XV         OUR  TOWN  TODAY    309 

BIOGRAPHIES       321 

"Our  Heritage"  —  Poem  by  Mildred  Burton       322 
I  Homesteaders  and  Early  Settlers    323 

II  Footsteps  (Second  and  Third  Generations)       501 

"Let  This  Be  Heaven"  —  Poem  by  Harrison  R.  Merrill       556 

Early  Settlers  (listed)       557 

Credits  and  Sources       560 

Index    561 

VIII 



Have  You  Ever  Lived  in  Gem  Valley? 

Have  you  ever  lived  in  Gem  Valley,  when  the  spring- 
time breezes  blow — 

When  old  nature  seems  to  answer,  to  the  sun's  warm 
golden  glow? 

Have  you  ever  felt  the  stirring  of  new  life  so  rich 
and  free? 

Have  you  lingered  in  this  valley,  Western  beauties 
here  to  see? 

Have  you  ever  lived  in  Gem  Valley,  when  the  summers 

golden  haze 
Overspreads  the  hills  and  valleys  with  its  warm  life-giving 

rays? 
When  the  grass,  the  trees,  the  flowers,  seem  made  for 

you  alone. 

Have  you  seen  the  glorious  sunset,  back  of  Baldy's snow-clad  dome? 

Have  you  ever  lived  in  Gem  Valley,  when  the  summer's 
days  are  fled. 

And  October's  gorgeous  colors,  turn  the  green  to 
gold  and  red? 

And  have  you  stood  upon  the  hill — the  valley 
far  below, 

And  felt  the  sweep  of  frost-touched  air  make  your  blood 
the  faster  flow? 

Have  you  ever  lived  in  Gem  Valley,  on  a  radiant 

frosty  morn — 
Ever  seen  the  transformation,  when  the  trees 

so  bare,  forlorn. 
Sparkled  with  dazzling  beauty;  and  the  hills 

no  longer  bare 
Rise  in  rugged,  untouched  splendor  in  the  clear 

and  bracing  air! 

If  you  have  never  lived  in  Gem  Valley,  and  the  spirit 
of  the  West 

Never  touched  your  heart  and  conscience,  you  have  missed 
of  life  the  best; 

And  methinks  this  charming  valley  would  ne'er  have  been so  fair, 

Had  not  the  wise  Creator  planned  it  all  and 

put  it  there. 
by  Elsie  Hubbard 
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CHAPTER  I 

Beginnings 

"Early  in  February  Ogden  moved  his  camp  across  Gem  Valley  to  the 
Bear  River,  near  where  Grace  is  now.  That  day  he  wrote:  'We  reached 
the  Bear  River  at  2:00  p.m. — a  most  fatiguing  march  for  our  horses, 
having  nearly  two  feet  of  snow  (on  the  level).  Within  a  mile  of  the  river 

we  passed  a  camp  of  snakes,  six  lodges,  in  a  starving  state  .  .  .'  " 
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Don  R.  Mabey, 

a  member 

of  the  U.S.  Geological 
Service  in  Denver, 
Colorado,  formerly  of 
Bancroft,  Idaho.  Author 
of  first  chapter. 
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Index  map  of  northern  Utah  and  southeastern  Idaho, 
showing  location  of  Gem  Valley. 

Map  of  Gem  Valley 
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Indians  —  Fur  Trappers  — 
California  Gold  Seekers 

B EFORE  THE  white  man  came  to  what  is 
now  known  as  Gem  Valley  several  tribes  of  In- 

dians roamed  at  will  through  this  section  of  the 

country.  None  of  them  made  this  area  a  per- 
manent home  for  they  were  inherently 

wanderers,  seeking  food  and  shelter  wherever 

they  could  find  it. 
The  Bannock  Indians  were  restless  and 

roving,  essentially  a  brave  and  war-like  people 
and  considered  inferior  to  the  Shoshonean. 

(Hawley)  The  Blackfeet  did  not  often  come 
this  far  south  but  the  Bannock  and  Shoshones, 

along  with  various  other  tribes,  wandered 

south  and  east  into  Utah,  Nevada  and  Wyom- 
ing, as  well  as  north  into  Montana. 

These  people,  in  common  with  other 

Shoshonean  tribes  were  superstitious.  They 

had  a  firm  belief  in  fairies,  evil  spirits,  etc. 

They  also  believed  in  a  demon  of  bad  luck  who 

resembled  a  short  stocky  human  dressed  in 

goat  skin  garments,  and  who  carried  a  quiver 

filled  with  invisible  arrows.  Anyone  shot  with 
these  arrows  did  not  die  but  was  certain  to  ex- 

perience adverse  conditions  in  health  or  for- 
tune. The  only  way  to  obtain  relief  was  to 

move  to  another  part  of  the  country. 

Sometime  later  he  could  move  back  again  and 

the  spell  would  be  gone.  (Hawley) 

About  the  time  of  the  Louisiana 

Purchase,  men  developed  a  desire  to  see  this 

new  land;  hence  the  roving  trappers  and 

traders  were  the  first  to  venture  into  the  great 

unexplored  West  in  any  numbers. 

The  fur  trappers  adopted  the  Indian  mode 

of  living  and  dress  with  buckskin  hunting  shirt 

and  leggings,  these  being  better  suited  to  the 

rough  usage  of  the  wilderness,  giving  them  a 

better  chance  of  survival.  The  fur  trappers' 
outfit  consisted  of  as  many  traps  as  he  could 

obtain,  a  short  handled  ax,  a  hunting  knife, 

sometimes  a  horse  and  saddle,  a  few  simple 

cooking  utensils,  a  small  stock  of  provisions 
(often  no  more  than  a  sack  of  fiour  and  a  little 

salt)  and  his  inevitable  rifie,  in  the  use  of  which 

he  was  an  expert.  His  dwelling,  if  he  had  one, 
was  a  crude  cabin  on  the  banks  of  a  creek  or 

river.  As  often  as  not  he  slept  in  the  open,  with 

a  buffalo  robe  for  a  bed,  a  pack  of  peltries  for  a 

pillow,  and  the  canopy  of  heaven  overhead. 

The  early  trappers  had  no  desire  to  settle  down 
or  to  own  the  land, 

Chittenden  said,  "It  was  the  trader  and 
trapper  who  first  explored  and  established  the 
routes  of  travel  which  opened  up  the  modern 

avenues  of  commerce." 
Among  the  first  white  men  known  to  have 

been  in  Gem  Valley,  formerly  Gentile  Valley, 

were  John  Hoback,  Jacob  Reznor  and  Edward 

Robinson.  These  three  were  known  as  the  Ken- 

tuckians.  Robinson  was  an  experienced  Indian 

fighter  and  always  wore  a  handerchief  around 

his  head  to  protect  a  tender  spot  where  he  had 

been  scalped.  These  men  did  not  leave  an  ac- 
count of  their  travels  but  later,  when  they  join- 

ed Robert  Stuart  they  told  him  of  their  adven- 
tures and  he  wrote  of  them  in  his  journal. 

Stuart  was  seeking  an  easier  route  to  return 
East. 

After  outfitting  the  Kentuckians,  Stuart's 
party,  which  now  consisted  of  seven  men, 
traveled  up  the  Snake  to  the  Portneuf  River. 

Here  Stuart  left  Hunt's  westward  route  and 
followed  the  Portneuf  River. 

Stuart  named  the  Portneuf  River  "Falls 
River"  because  of  the  numerous  small  falls  in 
that  section  where  he  traveled.  He  named  the 

Bear  River  "Miller's  River"  because  it  was 
discovered  by  Joseph  Miller. 

Beginnings  —  3 



These  men  were  all  in  Gem  Valley  at 

different  times  during  1811. 

On  September  9,  1812,  according  to  his 

journal,  Stuart  left  the  Portneuf  above  Lava 

Hot  Springs,  going  up  Fish  Creek  and  crossed 
the  Fish  Creek  Divide  into  Gem  Valley.  The 

Kentuckians  preferred  trapping  in  the  West 

and  did  not  go  with  the  party  headed  east.  The 

following  is  the  last  paragraph  of  Stuart's  jour- 
nal for  that  date,  and  is  the  first  description  of 

Gem  Valley:  "Here  ascending,  we  passed 
through  a  gap  in  the  mountains  on  the  left, 

which  soon  brought  us  to  the  opposite  descent 

and  discovered  an  extensive  plain  lying  before 

us.  Through  this  we  steered  due  east  and  in  18 

miles  struck  a  river  running  through  an  ap- 
parently level  country  in  about  a  southerly 

direction,  which  Mr.  Miller  at  once  pronounc- 

ed the  stream  where  he  had  made  his  last  Fall's 
hunt  .  .  .  This  River  is  100  yards  wide  and  is 

here  confined  by  a  high  rocky  bluff  and  a  hill 

partially  covered  with  trees  of  the  Pine  species, 

but  at  present  appears  to  be  more  the  asylum 

of  the  ingenious  beaver,  than  do  the  black 

summits  of  the  Cordilleras;  the  prairies  here 

being  burned  smooth,  we  were  obliged  (though 

now  dusk)  to  proceed  2  miles  farther  ere  we 

could  find  grass  enough  to  satisfy  our  hungry 

horses  for  the  night,  having  come  in  all  this 

day  42  miles  nearly  due  East."  .  .  .  Later 
Stuart  added:  "In  the  large  plain  we  passed 
thro  (sic)  there  are  considerable  fresh  signs  of 

buffalo,  which  we  are  in  hopes  of  overtaking  in 

a  few  days." 
Stuart  had  reached  Bear  River  near  Soda 

Point  and  moved  east  to  camp.  His  estimate  of 

Gem  Valley  is  too  large.  His  statement  that 

the  valley  had  been  burned  suggests  that  the 

Indians  might  have  used  fire  in  their  hunting. 

The  following  day  Stuart  recorded  that 

they  had  hunted  "goats".  Perhaps  they  hunted 
mountain  sheep  in  the  Bear  River  Range. 

On  his  way  east  Stuart  encountered  a 

band  of  Crow  Indians  northeast  of  Bear  Lake. 

These  Indians  harassed  him  and  his  party  until 

they  had  stolen  all  of  his  horses.  The  party 

eventually  reached  St.  Louis  by  the  end  of 

April,  1813. 
The  Kentuckians  were  all  killed  by  In- 

dians August  30,  1812. 
The  North  West  Fur  Company  did  not 

move  into  southern  Idaho  until  1818  when 

Donald  McKenzie  led  a  party  of  trappers  into 
southern  Idaho  in  each  of  the  trapping  years 

from  1818-21.  We  have  no  details  of  the  work 

of  these  expeditions  but  their  activities  are  well 
known. 

Michel  Bourden,  one  of  McKenzie's  men, 
was  on  the  Bear  River  in  1819,  and  named  the 

Bear  River,  "From  the  great  number  of  these 

animals  on  its  borders." 
The  American  Fur  Company  was  under 

the  ownership  of  John  Jacob  Astor,  who,  when 
he  found  he  could  not  drive  the  individual 

trappers  from  the  field,  absorbed  them  into  his 

company.  The  North  West  Co.  men  were  also 
said  to  have  been  in  Gem  Valley  even  before 

they  merged  with  the  Hudson's  Bay  Company 
in  1821.  Few  of  these  early  trappers  kept  an 

account  of  their  activities,  but  among  those 
who  did  were  Jedediah  Smith  of  the  American 

Fur  Company,  and  Peter  Skene  Ogden  of 
H.B.C. 

Gem  Valley  lay  in  a  strategic  route  for 

those  seeking  a  southerly  route  or  a  lush  valley 

in  which  to  spend  the  cold  winter  months.  The 

upper  end  of  the  valley  later  became  a  part  of 
the  Old  Oregon  Trail. 

The  Hudson  Bay  Company,  based  in 

London,  England,  extended  its  fur-gathering 
operations  into  what  is  now  Idaho  as  early  as 

1809  when  they  set  up  posts  and  trapped  in  the 

upper  reaches  of  the  panhandle.  But  by 

1818 — 19  they  had  extended  their  operations 

to  what  became  known  as  "the  Snake  Coun- 
try" in  eastern  Idaho. 

4  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



Since  it  was  understood  that  both  coun- 

tries could  trap  in  this  area,  the  trappers, 

themselves,  paid  little  attention  to  "paper 
boundaries"  but  each  party  tried  to  out- 
maneuver  the  other  when  at  all  possible.  Even 

so,  they  might  play  host  to  individuals  of  the 

opposing  nation.  The  deadly  enemy,  and  one 
they  all  feared,  were  the  Blackfeet  Indians. 

The  Snakes  (as  the  fur  trappers  called  all  other 

Indian  tribes)  were,  for  the  most  part,  friendly 
toward  the  whites,  but  these  Indians,  too,  were 

afraid  of  the  warlike  Blackfeet.  However,  the 

Snakes  would  also  steal  your  horses  and 

property  of  any  kind  if  they  could  get  away 

with  it  for  this  was  their  way  of  life.  Later,  they 

might  return  the  property  or  barter  it  in  trade. 
The  bitter  cold  in  the  winter  time  made  it 

difficult  for  the  horses  to  survive  since  they 

must  be  kept  closely  guarded  at  all  times.  The 

journals  of  both  Ogden  and  Jedediah  Smith 
dwell  on  the  difficulties  of  the  winter  season 

when  the  principal  effort  appeared  to  be  for 

the  hunters  to  survive  until  spring.  Whenever 

possible  they  set  out  traps  and  the  take  was 

either  good  or  bad  depending  on  the  weather 

or  whether  the  area  had  been  trapped  by  a  rival 

party.  There  was  also  a  good  deal  of  fur 

trading  among  the  Indian  camps  by  the 

members  of  the  Brigade  and  occasionally  a 

free  trapper  might  part  with  his  furs  for  much 

needed  supplies. 

The  fact  that  the  American  free  trappers 
received  more  for  their  furs  as  individuals  than 

the  "servants"  of  the  H.  B.  C.  caused  some 
dissatisfaction  among  the  latter,  who  found  it 

practically  impossible  to  pay  for  their  traps, 

guns  and  ammunition  without  still  being  in- 
debted to  the  company  at  the  end  of  the 

season.  No  doubt  this  was  one  of  the  reasons 

for  some  of  the  H.  B.  C.  men  to  desert  and  join 
the  Americans.  This  caused  considerable 

irritation  between  the  two  groups. 
Michel  Bourdon  in  1822  and  Finnan  Mac 

Donald  in  1823  led  the  H.  B.  C.  Brigade  into 

southeastern  Idaho,  but  again  we  have  few 
details  of  their  activities.  However,  we  can 

safely  conclude  that  the  mixture  of  Iroquois 

and  French  Canadians  working  for  the  joined 

companies  was  usually  led  by  a  Scotchman, 

and  that  they  explored  and  trapped  most  of  the 

streams  in  the  Gem  Valley  area  between  1818- 23. 

Two  parties  of  American  trappers 

employed  by  Wm.  Ashley  were  also  in 
Southeastern  Idaho  in  the  fall  of 

1824  .  .  .  Jedediah  Smith  with  a  party  of  six 

men  passed  east  of  Gem  Valley  where  they 

later  rescued  a  small  party  of  H.  B.  C.  men 
near  the  bottoms,  who  had  been  stripped  of 

their  horses,  furs  and  clothes.  Smith  gave  them 

equipment  and  helped  them  escape  to  rejoin 

the  main  brigade  under  Alexander  Ross. 

Smith,  who  had  always  wanted  a  closer  view  of 

the  brigade  seized  this  opportunity  to  return 
with  them  to  the  home  base,  much  to  the 

chagrin  of  Ross  and  his  superiors. 

The  other  American  party,  led  by  John 

Weber,  consisted  of  some  25  men,  including 

James  Bridger  and  Daniel  Potts.  This  latter 

party  traveled  down  the  Bear  River  through 
Gem  Valley  to  winter  in  Cache  Valley. 

The  contrast  between  Ogden's  and 
Smith's  parties  illustrates  the  difference 

between  H.  B.  C.'s  and  Ashley's  American 
Company  and  their  approach  to  trapping  in 

the  region  at  that  time.  Ogden's  party  con- 
sisted of  59  men,  equipped  with  guns,  352  traps 

and  268  horses.  Also  accompanying  the  men 
were  30  women  and  35  children  .  .  .  The 

women  were  the  Indian  wives  of  the  trappers. 

The  H.  B.  C.  brigade  returned  annually  to  the 

company  posts  to  deliver  their  furs  and  to  ob- 
tain supplies. 

Smith's  party  consisted  of  seven  men  and 
their  supplies.  Ashley  arranged  to  keep  the 

men  in  the  field  by  picking  up  their  furs  and 
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delivering  supplies  at  an  annual  rendezvous 
held  in  the  area  of  major  activities. 

During  the  winter  both  Ogden's  and 
Smith's  parties  were  hindered  by  deep  snow  on 
the  Blackfoot  River  causing  them  to  cross  over 

to  the  head  waters  of  the  Portneuf.  Both  par- 
ties crossed  Gem  Valley  to  the  Bear  River  near 

Soda  Point.  At  this  time  Smith  moved  up  the 

river  and  Ogden  moved  down  stream.  It  is 

reported  that  Ogden's  party  killed  both 
antelope  and  buffalo  as  they  crossed  Gem 

Valley.  Ogden  described  the  country  between 

the  Portneuf  and  the  Bear  River  as  "a  fine 

plain"  and  "a  fine  country". 
In  the  early  spring  Ogden  was  camped  on 

the  west  bank  of  Bear  River  just  north  of  the 

present  site  of  Grace.  A  few  days  later  he 
crossed  the  river  and  camped  on  the  east  side 

of  Gem  Valley.  Here,  he  noted,  was  fine  feed 
for  his  horses  and  Kittson,  his  clerk,  recorded: 

"Came  through  fine  level  country  and  we 

camped  on  a  beautiful  green  plain." 
Ogden  soon  moved  south  crossing  to  the 

southeast  side  of  the  river  and  camped  near  the 

present  site  of  Thatcher.  The  following  day 

they  left  the  Bear  River  at  the  head  of  the 
Oneida  Narrows  and  traveled  southward 

towards  Cache  Valley. 

After  starting  up  the  Bear  River,  Smith 

learned  that  Weber's  party  was  in  Cache 
Valley.  He  reversed  his  course  and  followed 

Ogden  down  to  Cache  Valley  where  he  joined 
Weber. 

Cache  Valley  was  a  favorite  area  for 

American  trappers  and  a  commonly  used 

route  to  that  valley  was  down  the  Bear  River, 

through  Gem  Valley.  Jedediah  Smith  brought 

supplies  from  St.  Louis  by  this  route  in  the  fall 

of  1825.  In  the  spring  of  1826,  Jim  Beckworth, 

the  famous  black  trapper,  was  in  a  party  led  by 
Thomas  Fitzpatrick  that  followed  the  Bear 

River  from  Cache  Valley  to  Soda  Point.  Here 

they  were  blocked  by  snow  and  crossed  Gem 

Valley  to  the  Portneuf.  Beckworth  calls  Soda 

Point  "Sheep  Mountain"  and  "Sheep-horn 

Mountain".  It  was  also  known  as  "Sheep 

Rock"  by  early  trappers.  Mountain  sheep 
were  numerous  in  the  Bear  River  Range  and 
could  often  be  seen  on  Soda  Point. 

The  annual  rendezvous  for  American 

trappers  was  held  in  Cache  Valley  in  1826  and 

in  Bear  Lake  Valley  in  1827-28. 
Ogden  returned  to  Gem  Valley  with  his 

H.  B.  C.  brigade  in  January,  1829.  During  that 

month,  while  camped  on  Pebble  Creek,  his 

men  killed  eight  buffalo  bulls  but  did  not  see  a 

single  cow.  Ogden  commented  on  the  21st  that 
the  weather  was  mild  and  that  might  be 

why  the  buffalo  were  scarce  in  the  valley.  But  a 

storm  commenced  on  the  24th  and  a  few  days 

later  Ogden  wrote:  "Previous  to  this  weather  I 
had  some  hopes  we  should  have  a  mild  winter, 

but  it  will  be  the  reverse  ..." 
Early  in  February  Ogden  moved  his  camp 

to  Squaw  Creek  near  present  day  Bancroft.  A 

few  days  later  he  moved  across  Gem  Valley  to 
the  Bear  River  near  where  Grace  is  now.  That 

day  he  wrote:  "Although  cloudy  and  cold  there 
being  no  buffalo  in  this  quarter  nor,  I  do 

believe  this  year,  in  any  other  quarter.  What 

has  become  of  them  I  cannot  say.  The  severity 

of  last  year  has  driven  them  beyond  our  reach. 

At  9:00  a.m.  we  raised  camp  and  reached  the 
Bear  River  at  2:00  p.m.,  a  most  fatiguing 

march  for  our  horses,  having  nearly  two  feet  of 

snow  (on  the  level).  Within  a  mile  of  the  river 

we  passed  a  camp  of  Snakes,  six  lodges,  in  a 

starving  state;  this  is  not  very  pleasing  to  us  in 

our  own  present  state.  The  hunters  killed  two 

mountain  sheep,  three  of  our  horses  remained 
in  the  rear.  The  river  we  found  fast  with  ice 

and  although  all  horses  succeeded  in  crossing 

with  their  load,  one  without  a  load  fell  in  and 
drowned.  Had  he  not  been  so  weak  he  could 

have  with  ease  extricated  himself." 
Ogden  remained  camped  in  this  area  until 
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late  in  February.  During  most  of  the  time  the 

weather  was  bad  and  the  hunting 

poor  ...  He  traded  with  the  Snakes  and  ob- 
tained two  horses,  five  beaver  and  one  otter 

skin  and  four  dogs.  By  this  time  the  Indian 

camp  had  grown  to  30  lodges. 

The  bitter  cold  with  heavy  snow  persisted, 

even  the  horses  were  starving.  One  died  the 

same  day  Ogden  sent  a  party  of  hunters  after 

any  game  they  could  find.  The  hunting  party 

returned  in  two  days  instead  of  the  week  they 

had  planned  because  one  of  the  men  took 

seriously  ill  and  it  became  necessary  to  make  a 

drag  to  bring  him  back  to  camp.  They  had  kill- 
ed two  buffalo  bulls  and  three  sheep.  They 

reported  that  they  had  seen  three  herds  of  bulls 

but  thought  it  best  to  return  to  camp  with  the 
sick  man. 

Upon  their  arrival  Ogden  administered  an 

emetic  to  the  sick  man  which  he  said  operated 

well,  but  a  couple  of  days  later  the  famed 
leader  was  disturbed  when  more  horses  died  of 

starvation  and  the  sick  man  was  still  complain- 
ing. 

"I  have  given  him  all  the  purges  and 

vomits  I  had,"  Ogden  said,  then  added  that  it 

was  the  man's  "duty  to  the  Company"  to  get 

well.  'Tt  is  his  duty  to  recover,  for  he  can  ex- 

pect no  longer  any  assistance  from  me!"  And 
strangely  enough  the  man  did  recover  that 
winter  of  1829. 

Ogden  was  constantly  distressed  with  the 
condition  of  the  horses.  To  those  who  have 

traveled  these  wilds  it  may  be  interesting  to 

know  how  the  trapper's  horses  were  cared  for 
during  the  winter.  They  could  not  be  allowed 

to  roam  free  because  they  would  soon  be 

stolen.  Up  to  their  bellies  in  snow,  which  often 

crusted  on  top  as  hard  as  ice,  the  horses  beat 
down  the  crust  with  their  fore-feet  to  feed  on 

the  dry  withered  grass  at  the  bottom.  They 

often  passed  the  winter  without  a  drop  of 

water,  except  for  the  icicles  and  snow  they 

happened  to  eat  with  their  dry,  tasteless  food. 
(Fur  Hunters  of  the  Far  West) 

The  cold  and  violent  storms  kept  the  par- 
ty from  moving  although  they  were  trying  to 

lay  in  a  supply  of  meat  for  the  long  trip  north 
to  their  home  base.  Nearly  ten  inches  of  snow 

fell  one  night  and  Ogden  wrote:  "This  is  trying 
weather  for  the  horses  and  I  am  sure  we  will 

lose  many." As  the  weeks  passed  the  trappers  were 

forced  to  turn  their  horses  loose  since  they 

were  fearful  that  they  would  lose  too  many  by 

keeping  them  so  closely  guarded. 

Ogden  was  also  concerned  about  the 
health  of  his  men  for  his  ability  as  a  doctor 

was  limited,  usually  to  a  dose  of  gunpowder 
and  vinegar. 

In  March  the  weather  suddenly  changed 

and  the  hunters  killed  three  sheep.  The  Brigade 

camped  near  the  present  Preston,  Idaho,  and 

with  a  few  more  stops  moved  on  into  Utah  and 
out  of  Idaho. 

Ogden  and  his  brigade  reached  Fort  Van- 
couver at  the  end  of  July  with  2,182  large 

beaver;  911  small  beaver;  and  52  otter  skins. 

Nathaniel  Wyeth  built  Fort  Hall  in  1834, 

and  it  was  operated  as  a  trading  post  until  1855 

when  it  was  abandoned.  The  height  of  the  fur 

trade  ended  about  1840  when  over-trapping 

and  a  change  in  men's  hats  from  fur  to  silk 
caused  the  fur  market  to  fall  off  dramatically. 

Many  trappers  turned  to  other  types  of  work. 

The  Old  Oregon  Trail  or  "Great 
Medicine  Road,"  as  the  Indians  called  it,  was 
started  as  early  as  1825-26  when  Jedediah 
Smith  led  a  party  of  60  or  more  men  from  St. 

Louis  to  the  Rocky  Mountains. 

It  was  approximately  136  miles  from  Fort 
Bridger  to  Beer  Springs  (Soda  Spring),  Idaho, 

and  by  1842  travel  increased  rapidly  over  this 
route.  Most  of  these  people  were  on  their  way 

to  either  California  or  Oregon. 

The  Reverend  Henry  Spaulding  and  Mrs. 
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Spaulding  along  with  Dr.  and  Mrs.  Whitman, 

passed  through  Gem  Valley  on  the  Oregon 
Trail  while  on  their  way  to  set  up  a  mission  for 

the  Indians  in  the  Oregon  country. 

With  the  discovery  of  gold  in  California  in 

1849  the  mad  rush  began,  with  not  only  miners 

seeking  a  fortune  but  camp  followers  as  well. 

There  were  merchants,  rangers,  lawyers,  spor- 
ting men  and  women  as  well  as  various 

hangers-on.  For  the  first  few  years  the  majori- 
ty of  these  people  came  through  a  part  of  Gem 

Valley.  Eventually,  the  stock  had  eaten  the 

forage  near  the  trail  and  "cutoffs"  and  new 
roads  were  being  searched  out. 

It  was  in  the  early  1860's  that  gold  was 
discovered  in  Boise  Basin  but  the  majority  of 
these  miners  came  from  California  and 

Oregon.  Although  travel  through  Gem  Valley 

on  the  Old  Oregon  Trail  continued  for  many 

years,  another  cycle  had  ended  in  the  history  of 
Gem  Valley. 

■  *  •  «■  "'Ar  >■■ 

8  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



CHAPTER  II 

Then  They  Came: 
The  Homesteaders 

'Across  an  ocean,  across  a  continent,  through  treacherous  and  wild 
country — they  came — and  found  our  Valley" 
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A  Valley  Comes  Alive 
H  ISTORIANS  AGREE  that  from  1805  to 

1860  thousands  of  people  had  made  the  trek 

through  Southeastern  Idaho.  They  were  the 

fur  trappers,  explorers,  freighters,  mis- 
sionaries, and  immigrants  looking  for  a  new 

and  better  life  in  Oregon  or  the  gold  fields  of 

California.  Millions  of  dollars  in  furs  and  gold 

had  been  taken  from  its  rivers  and  valleys;  but, 

of  the  thousands  who  passed  through  our 

Valley,  not  one  thought  of  stopping  to  make  a 

home  in  this  rugged,  untamed  wilderness.  This 

was  soon  to  change. 

The  Homestead  Act  was  passed  by 

Congress  in  1862.  Under  this  Act,  any  head  of 

a  family  or  any  adult,  who  had  not  borne  arms 

against  the  Government,  could  become  owner 

of  one  hundred  sixty  acres  of  public  land.  All 
he  had  to  do  was  live  on  it,  cultivate  it  for  five 

years,  and  pay  a  small  fee  to  have  his 

ownership  recorded.  This  law  helped  immense- 
ly to  open  up  this  vast  Western  country  for 

settlement. 

And  thus,  in  the  early  1860's,  they 
came — the  hungry  homesteaders.  Across  an 
ocean,  across  a  continent,  through  treacherous 

and  wild  country  they  came — and  stopped;  not 
to  find  riches  and  wealth,  but  land  upon  which 

to  build  a  home  and  secure  a  livelihood.  They 

found  our  Valley,  and  with  great  strength,  un- 

believable courage,  perseverance  and  faith  un- 
wavering, they  made  their  dream  come  true. 

But  it  was  not  an  easy  task. 

One  of  the  first  to  recognize  the  hidden 

wealth  and  great  potential  of  Utah's  neighbor 
to  the  north  was  Brigham  Young.  At  October 

conference  in  Salt  Lake  City  in  1870,  it  was  he 

who  called  for  volunteers  to  help  colonize  the 

land  200  miles  north  in  the  Idaho  Territory — a 
land  with  an  abundance  of  water  and  good  soil. 

The  men  who  would  be  willing  to  go  would  be 

given  the  assignment  as  missionaries,  but 

would  be  obliged  to  take  their  families  with 
them,  to  till  the  soil,  build  church  houses  and 

to  promote  culture  and  learning.  They  were  in- 
formed of  the  beauty  and  great  natural 

resources  of  the  Idaho  Territory,  but  were  also 

told  of  the  rugged  terrain  and  severe  climate. 

Brigham  Young  knew  whereof  he  spoke,  as  he 

had  made  several  trips  to  the  Bear  Lake  and 

Soda  Springs  area,  which  had  already  been 
settled. 

But  the  Mormons  were  not  the  first  to 

grub  out  the  sage  in  Gem  Valley.  As  early  as 

1865,  a  "Gentile"  or  non-Mormon  by  the 
name  of  Robert  Fellows  was  the  first  man  with 

a  family  to  make  his  home  here.  They  lived  in 

a  little  log  house  located  on  the  north  bank  of 
Williams  Creek. 

The  area  in  Mound  \  alley  where  Robert  Fellows,  first 
man  with  a  family  to  make  his  home  in  early  Gentile 

Valley,  settled. 

Thomas  G.  Lowe  of  Franklin  had  been 

sent  by  his  father  to  take  a  traveler  to  Soda 

Springs  through  this  valley.  On  his  return  trip 
he  saw  a  campfire  and  reported  it  to  his  father 
in  Franklin.  His  father,  being  curious,  came  up 

to  see  the  people  who  had  settled  here.  It  was 
Robert  Fellows  and  for  quite  a  time  the  people 
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The  knoll  in  Elbert  Williams'  field,  where  the  Fellows 
children  are  buried. 

in  Franklin  called  this  valley,  "Fellows 

Valley."  Two  of  the  Fellows'  children  are 
buried  on  a  knoll,  just  north  of  where  the  house 

stood.  At  present  this  is  part  of  Elbert 
Williams  field. 

About  1870  a  Mr.  Burton  located  near  the 

center  of  the  valley  on  Burton  Creek.  This  was 

on  the  west  side  of  Bear  River.  Two  men, 

Harry  King,  and  a  Mr.  Howell  located  on  Cot- 
tonwood Creek  in  Cleveland  the  same  year. 

There  were  also  Tom  Arnett  and  Peg-leg 
Smith,  an  old  trapper;  the  Collins,  Joe  and  Hy, 

and  their  mother  on  Hoopes  Creeek;  Frank 

Lusher  and  Eli  Morgan  at  Trout  Creek;  and 

an  Irishman  by  the  name  of  Pat  McMarr  on 
the  west  side  of  the  river,  where  our  Swiss 

Cheese  factory  now  stands.  These  men  were  all 
non-Mormons. 

In  1871  three  Mormons — Ephraim 
Bennett,  Hyrum  H.  Bennett,  and  Oscar  P. 

Cutler — located  claims  north  of  the  Fellows' 
ranch.  Also,  in  1871,  Alexander  Harris  Sr., 

who  had  bought  the  Fellows'  ranch,  moved 
into  the  valley.  Soon  after,  Robert  H. 

Williams,  a  great  leader  and  colonizer  who 

had  been  sent  by  Brigham  Young,  arrived  with 

his  family.  The  old  Williams'  home  still  stands 
where  these  early  Saints  settled. 

Among  those  who  came  soon  after  were 
John  Thatcher,  Solomon  Hale,  Hezekiah 

Peck,  David  Brown,  William  H.  Larkin,  Fred 

and  E.  J.  Turner,  Henry  Perry  Sr.,  Fred 

Collins,  John  Trappett,  William  Clemens, 

Will  McGregor,  John  Tanner,  the  Calkins  and 
Jonathan  Hale. 

The  first  homesteads  were  taken  up  along 

the  mountain  streams  and  lush  meadow-land 

of  the  river  bottoms.  But,  as  more  people  came 

in,  they  pushed  gradually  northward.  Here,  in 
the  northern  end  of  the  valley,  Bear  River 

flows  through  a  deep  and  rocky  gorge  and  the 
land  for  miles  around  was  arid  but  fertile. 

Lava  outcroppings  dot  the  undulating  plains. 

Rain  fall  was  not  sufficient  to  produce  any  but 

dry-farm   crops,    and   it   was   impossible   to 

The  old  Robert  Hanna  Williams'  home— still  standing. Another  view  of  the  Williams'  home. 
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produce  enough  hay  to  feed  any  number  of 

stock  through  the  winter.  The  many  heart- 
breaking attempts  to  get  water  out  of  the  river 

and  on  to  the  land  is  told  in  a  later  chapter. 

Many  of  the  men  in  the  early  days  of  the 

valley  were  occupied  with  freighting  and  logg- 
ing. Logs  were  cut  and  shaped  into  railroad 

ties  with  a  broad-bladed  axe,  and  in  the  spring 
were  floated  into  Corinne,  Utah,  with  the  high 
water. 

The  men  were  paid  for  their  work  with 

$20  gold  pieces.  There  were  no  banks  then  and 

trading  was  done  with  coins  or  produce.  Before 

the  coming  of  the  railroad  through  this  valley, 

supplies  were  brought  in  in  huge  freight 

wagons,  drawn  sometimes  by  as  many  as  four- 
teen head  of  mules,  which  were  driven  with  a 

jerk  line. 
Mails  were  few  and  far  between  in  the 

early  days  of  Gem  Valley.  When  the  people 

first  came  into  the  valley,  they  got  their  mail  at 

Franklin.  Any  member  of  the  community  who 

happened  to  go  out  to  do  his  trading,  brought 

the  mail  back.  About  1872,  a  carrier  was  ap- 
pointed by  the  government  to  bring  the  mail  in 

from  Franklin. 

The  first  carrier  was  a  man  by  the  name 

of  Morris,  who  brought  the  mail  in  on  horse 

back  in  the  summer  and  on  snow  shoes  during 
the  winter. 

The  first  bridge  across  the  river  in  the 

valley  was  built  at  Thatcher.  It  was  built  with 
volunteer  labor,  under  the  direction  of  Robert 

H.  Williams  as  a  county  project.  The  frames 

and  stringers  were  hewn  logs,  and  for  about 

two  years  the  settlers  on  the  -east  side  of  the 
river  used  to  cross  on  the  stringers  to  get  their 
mail. 

An  amusing  incident  is  told  of  one  man 

who  led  his  mule  across  these  stringers  during 

very  high  water,  when  the  water  was  lapping 

over  the  logs.  By  dint  of  coaxing,  pleading,  and 

persuasion,  both  mule  and  master  arrived  safe- 

ly on  the  other  side.  The  mule  wouldn't  make 
the  crossing  back. 

Winters  in  Gentile  Valley  were  long  and 
hard,  with  snow  sometimes  four  or  five  feet 

deep.  With  no  roads  but  wagon  trails,  the  early 

settlers  were  practically  isolated.  In  the  fall  of 

the  year  they  laid  up  supplies  to  last  for 

months  at  a  time.  Many  were  the  trials  and 

hardships  which  these  sturdy  people  endured 

to  eke  out  a  living  and  "prove  up"  on  their 
homestead.  Most  of  the  early  homes  were  one- 
room  log  cabins  with  a  dirt  roof  and  often  a 

dirt  fioor;  yet,  children  were  born  and  thrived 
under  these  circumstances. 

To  get  a  true  vision  of  these  Pioneer  Days, 

let  us  take  an  imaginary  trip  and  .  .  . 

Go  back  —  to  when  all  work  was  done  by 
brawn  or  hard  labor.  There  were 

no   power   machines   or   labor- 
saving    devices.    The    great 
benefits  of  electricity  were  years away. 

Go  back  —  to    when    mothers    scrubbed, 

scrubbed,  scrubbed  on  a  wash 
board  in  an  old  tin  tub  until  their 

knuckles  were  raw. 

Go  back  —  to  when  there  was  no  soap  or 

detergent,  save  that  made  with  a 

can  of  lye  and  some  animal  fat 
cooked  on  a  stove  and  dried  in 
the  sun. 

Go  back  —  to  when  there  was  no  refrigera- 
tion and  no  ice,  and  milk  was 

often    spoiled    by    midday. 
Clabber  was  often  eaten. 

Go  back  —  to  the  tallow  candles  or  kerosene 

lamps  with  blackened  chimney 

and    the    long    evenings    with 

nothing  to  do  but   poke  wood 
into  the  stove  often,  and  just  sit. 

Go  back  —  to  the  tin  tub  bath  and  the  pot 
under  the  bed. 
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Go  back  —  to  the  days  when  all 

produce — grain,  pigs  etc. —  was 
hauled  to  market  in  bobsleds  or 

wagons  and  exchanged  for  flour 
and  needed  supplies. 

Go  back  —  to  when  they  had  to  go  to  the  ca- 

nyon for  firewood — summer  and 
winter,  in  all  kinds  of  weather, 

usually  cold,  and  walking  much 

of  the  way  to  keep  warm — and 
getting  back  after  dark,  chilled 
to  the  bone  and  with  chores  to 
do. 

No,  these  are  not  all — ^just  a  few  of  the 

many  hardships  they  endured.  Let's  hope  they 
are  gone  forever. 

The  Good  Old  Days 

(Author  unknown) 

When  we  were  living  those  "good  old  days" 

They  didn't  seem  so  good. 
We  read  by  the  light  of  a  kerosene  lamp 
And  heated  our  homes  with  wood. 

We  carried  the  water  up  the  hill 
To  wash  with,  cook  and  scrub; 
And  we  took  our  bath  behind  the  stove 

In  a  galvanized  laundry  tub. 

I  can  still  smell  the  old  lye  soap 
And  feel  the  sting  and  hurt 

When  some  of  it  got  into  my  eyes. 

But  it  really  got  the  dirt. 

We  slept  on  oat  straw  mattresses, 
Sometimes  three  in  a  bed; 

If  you  were  late  you  got  the  foot. 

The  early  ones  took  the  head. 

We  waded  snow  and  ice  and  mud 

To  get  to  the  seat  of  learning; 

With  a  pot-bellied  stove,  that  froze  our  backs 
While  our  fronts  were  nearly  burning. 

We  drank  from  a  cup  by  the  water  pail 

On  a  bench  where  the  teacher  put  it; 

And  whatever  ailment  any  kid  had. 

The  rest  were  sure  to  get  it. 

In  winter  we  milked  the  cows  in  a  drafty  barn. 

While  the  wind  whistled  through  the  cracks; 

And  the  swirling  snow,  while  you  were  inside. 

Filled  up  your  fresh-made  tracks. 

A  little  house  at  the  end  of  a  patch, 

Half-hidden  with  brush  and  weeds; 

In  summer's  heat  and  winter's  cold 
Served  other  family  needs. 

Now  you  may  look  with  envious  eyes 
To  these  times,  if  you  are  twenty; 

But  I've  been  through  those  "good  old  days" 
And  once,  my  friend,  is  plenty. 

Gentile  Valley — The  Why  and  Wherefore 

Who,  among  us,  has  not  wondered  and 

asked — yes,  even  he  who  got  the  word  on  his 

grandfather's  knee — How  did  our  valley  come 

to  be  called  "Gentile  Valley?" 
One  interesting  answer  is  contained  in  the 

personal  history  of  Robert  Hanna  Williams, 

one  of  the  earliest  settlers  in  the  valley.  This 

same  information  also  appeared  in  an  article 

written  by  Henry  A.  Smith,  which  was  printed 
in  the  Church  News  on  August  1,  1948;  so, 

here  is  one  story  of  the  "Why  and  Wherefore 

of  Gentile  Valley." 

Harry  King,  who  had  located  on  Cot- 
tonwood Creek  in  Cleveland  in  1870,  was  a 

bitter,  anti-Mormon.  By  1875  several  other 

"Mormon-hating"  Gentiles  had  moved  into 
the  west  part  of  the  valley,  and  they  took  the 

stand  that  they  would  keep  out  any  Mormons 

who  attempted  to  gain  a  foothold  in  that  sec- 
tion. They  expressed  their  determination  not 
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to  sell  out  any  of  their  claims  to  Mormons,  but 

they  soon  went  back  on  this  word  when 

Solomon  H.  Hale  moved  into  the  valley  with 

his  family  December  18,  1874,  and  bought  out 

the  Tunley  Ranch  on  Burton  Creek.  He  thus 
became  the  first  Mormon  settler  on  the  west 

side  of  the  river.  The  following  year,  Hale's 
brother-in-law,  Samuel  Clark,  moved  in  with 
his  family  and  became  the  second  Mormon 

family  on  the  west  side  of  the  valley.  Some  of 
the  Mormons  who  would  have  settled  there 

were  actually  driven  out  at  the  point  of  a  gun 

during  that  period,  the  non-Mormons  being 
determined  to  control  that  side  of  the  valley. 
Associated  with  the  Gentiles  were  a  number  of 

apostate  Mormons. 

The  first  post  office  established  in  the 

valley  was  known  as  Cinder  Creek  Post  Office, 
situated  on  Cottonwood  Creek  on  the  west  side 

of  Bear  River.  Thomas  Johnson,  a  Mormon, 

was  postmaster.  After  he  moved  away,  the 

next  post  office  was  established  further  up  the 
river  and  was  called  Gentile  Post  Office  with 

Harry  King,  the  bitter  anti-Mormon,  as  post- 
master. King  also  ran  a  store  and  saloon.  The 

name  was  selected  by  the  group  of  Gentiles 
who  had  settled  on  this  side  of  the  river  and 

were  still  determined  to  have  full  control  of  the 

west  side  of  the  valley.  So  bitter  were  their 

feelings  and  in  order  to  force  a  recognition  of 

their  pet  name  "Gentile  Valley,"  the  post- 
master refused  to  deliver  mail  that  happened 

to  come  into  his  hands  addressed  to  "Mound 

Valley". 

In  due  course.  King  and  Howell  sold  out 

their  holdings  on  Cottonwood  Creek,  as  also 
did  Burton.  Other  Gentiles  on  the  west  side  of 

the  river,  still  holding  to  their  original  inten- 
tions, declared  that  no  Mormon  meeting  house 

should  ever  be  built  nor  Mormon  meetings 
held  on  the  west  side.  Solomon  Hale,  when 

hearing  of  these  threats  on  the  part  of  non- 

Mormons,  immediately  opened  his  house  and 

the  first  "west-side"  Latter-day  Saint  meeting 
was  held  in  his  home,  under  the  direction  of 
Bishop  Williams  of  the  Mound  Valley  Ward. 

The  Hale  house,  for  that  first  meeting,  con- 
tained a  number  of  Gentiles  who  had  come  for 

the  purpose  of  making  a  disturbance,  but 

strangely  enough,  they  all  kept  quiet  and  the 

meeting  proceeded  with  addresses  by  Bishop 
Williams  and  Hale  and  Jeppe  Folkman. 

As  the  years  rolled  past,  the  Gentiles,  one 

by  one,  sold  their  holdings  to  Latter-day 
Saints  until  in  1891  there  were  only  a  half  a 
dozen  non-Mormon  families  left  on  the  west 

side  of  the  river.  Thus,  "Mormon  Ward"  was 

created,  named  in  contradistinction  to  "Gen- 

tile Valley"  and  was  organized  in  1881  with 
Solomon  Hale  as  Bishop. 

And  so,  we  have  the  interesting  story  of 
what's  in  a  name. 

Another  Version 

Gentile  Valley:  The  Name 

"Along  about  the  middle  of  the  last  cen- 
tury, quite  some  time  before  the  hardy  Mor- 
mon people  came  to  settle  in  this  beautiful  and 

sequestered  valley,  several  hardy  gold  miners 
from  the  Caribou  Mountain  mines  found  the 

winters  too  severe  to  endure,  along  with  the 

scarcity  of  feed  for  their  horses;  therefore,  they 

sought  a  place  to  sojourn  during  the  winter 

months  to  avoid  the  bitter  cold." 

"Word  of  mouth  came  to  those  gold- 
seekers  from  trappers  of  this  wild,  untamed 

region  that  in  this  valley,  far  to  the  south,  there 
was  an  area  warmed  by  warm  springs  and 

geysers  which  kept  snow  off  for  most  of  the 
winter  season,  and  that  feed  was  sufficient  for 

their  mounts,  plus  the  fact  that  wild  game  was 

plentiful.  So  it  came  about  that  those  Caribou 
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Mountain  gold  seekers  wintered  in  the  south 

end  of  this  beautiful  valley." 
"When  a  number  of  Mormon  people 

decided  to  settle  in  the  valley,  they  found  the 

gold  miners  dwelling  there  during  the  winter 
season.  Since  those  miners  did  not  belong  to 

the  Latter-day  Saints  Church,  the  Mormon 

people  simply  referred  to  the  miners  as  Gen- 
tiles. The  name  stuck  and  so  from  then  on  the 

valley  was  known  as  Gentile  Valley." 
"This  is  the  true  version  of  how  the  valley 

got  its  name.  I  heard  the  story  from  the 

Williams'  people  who  were  among  the  very 
earliest  settlers.  They  knew  because  they  lived 

near  the  Warm  Springs  and  had  many  social 

contacts  with  Caribou  Mountain  gold  miners. 

You  can  rely  on  my  account;  it  is  accurate  and 

authentic."  (Don  Stalker,  early  resident  of  the valley) 

The  valley  continued  to  be  known  as  Gen- 
tile Valley  until  1910.  At  this  time  a  delegation 

of  men,  led  by  John  Allsop,  Joseph 
Christensen,  and  Sumner  Pond  met  in  Grace 

and  gave  the  whole  of  the  valley  the  name  by 

which  it  is  known  today — "Gem  Valley." 

Mound  Valley 

Mound  Valley,  the  first  area  to  be  settled 

in  Gem  Valley,  is  located  in  the  southern  end 

of  the  valley  on  the  east  side  of  Bear  River. 

The  name,  Mound  Valley,  was  considered  ap- 
propriate in  view  of  the  numerous  mounds, 

ridges,  and  hills  with  which  the  valley  abounds. 

As  we  have  learned,  this  is  where  the 

history  of  Gem  Valley  began — when  its  first 
settler,  Robert  Fellows,  staked  out  a 
homestead  in  1865  in  the  area  which  is  now  a 

part  of  the  Elbert  Williams  farm. 

Mound  Valley  was  first  organized  as  a 

Branch  of  Franklin  Ward  in  1872,  with 

Thomas  Bennett  as  presiding  Elder.  At  this 

time  meetings  were  held  in  private  homes.  It 

was  organized  as  a  ward  in  1874,  and  Robert 

H.  Williams  was  sustained  as  the  first  bishop. 
He  acted  without  counselors  until  1877  when 

David  V.  Brown  and  Hezekiah  Peck  were 

chosen  as  first  and  second  counselors  respec- tively. 

Robert  Williams  had  been  sent  by 

Brigham  Young  to  help  in  the  pioneering  of 

this  area,  and  he  was  already  an  ordained 

bishop.  He  was  a  man  of  sound  judgment  and 

rare  leadership.  As  a  restless  young  man  in 
Carmi,  Illinois,  Robert  Williams  had  ridden 

away  from  the  family  farm  and  turned  his 
horse  west.  He  soon  joined  a  group  of  men 

Williams  Creek,  named  after  Robert  Hanna 
Williams,  showing  the  arched,  natural  stone 
bridge;  below  the  bridge  is  a  beautiful  water 

fall  and  cave. 
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The  five  daughters  of  Robert  Hanna  Williams,  first  Bishop  of  Mound  Valley  Ward.  L  to  R:  Back,  Mana  Williams  Hub- 
bard, Mary  Williams  Schvaneveldt,  Harriet  Williams  Fullmer.  Front,  Amy  Williams  Perry,  Anna  Jane  Williams  Clegg. 

heading  for  the  goldfields  of  California,  but  a 

higher  providence  guided  him  and  caused  him 

to  forego  this  planned  journey.  Instead,  he  cast 

his  lot  with  the  Mormon  people  when  he  reach- 
ed Salt  Lake  in  1852.  Rejoined  the  church  in 

North  Ogden  the  following  year.  From  this 

time  forward  he  became  a  great  scout  and 

colonizer  for  Brigham  Young. 

The  Mound  Valley  Ward,  at  the  time  of 

its  organization  included  the  whole  of  Gentile 

Valley  as  it  was  then  called,  and  comprised  this 

territory  until  1881  when  "Mormon"  Ward 
was  organized.  In  1884  Mound  Valley  became 

a  part  of  Oneida  Stake,  which  had  been  newly 

organized,  and  existed  as  such  until  Bannock 

Stake  was  organized  in  1898. 

During  the  early  settlement  of  Mound 

Valley,  many  of  the  Church  leaders,  including 

Robert  H.  Williams,  were  polygamists.  This 

created  a  great  deal  of  hardships  as  U.  S. 

Marshalls  were  constantly  raiding  and 

searching  out  men  with  more  than  one  wife. 
Most  of  these  raids  were  conducted  at  night  or 

in  the  early  hours  of  morning  when  the 
marshalls  would  break  into  the  homes  and 

even  the  bedrooms.  This  was  most  em- 

barrassing to  the  womenfolk  and  many  plural 
wives  left  their  husbands  rather  than  suffer 

such  indignities.  The  cancellation  of  the  Tem- 

ple sealing  of  Robert  H.  Williams  and  his  se- 
cond plural  wife,  Sarah  Ann  Cotterell,  is  dated 

March  30,  1872. 
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During  winters  in  Mound  Valley,  snow  at 
times  was  so  deep  and  crusted  that  the  best 

means  to  travel  was  on  snowshoes.  To  provide 
for  their  families  men  would  snowshoe  over 

the  mountain  to  Montpelier  for  needed 

supplies  and  carry  them  back  in  a  sack  on  their 
back. 

No  bridges  in  the  early  days;  picture  shows  white-top 
buggy  fording  the  river  at  Yellowstone;  John  Tanner, 

early  pioneer  in  Mound  Valley,  is  the  driver. 

In  the  early  1800's  a  post  office  was  es- 
tablished in  Mound  Valley  and  called  the 

Perry  Post  Office;  it  was  named  after  Henry 

Perry,  one  of  the  early  settlers  in  the  area.  This 

post  office  was  located  in  the  little  white  home, 

formerly  owned  by  Wilford  and  Vinnie  Panter 

and  now  owned  by  Bob  Mendenhall.  Annie 

Harris  Anderson  (mother  of  Nona 

Whitehead)  served  as  post  mistress  there 

before  her  marriage.  For  several  years  this 

area  was  referred  to  as  both  Mound  Valley  and 
Perry. 

In  1892  the  construction  of  a  new  meeting 

house  was  begun  1  Vi  miles  south  of  the  old  log 

house  on  Spring  Creek.  It  was  a  brick 

building,  28'  x  44',  completed  in  1894  at  a  cost 
of  $3,000. 

The  Mound  Valley  Ward  existed  until 

1952  when,  on  September  7,  it  was  disorganiz- 
ed and  annexed  to  Cleveland  Ward. 

The  warm   spring   of  water   in   Mound 

Location  of  the  Perry  Post  Office  in  Mound  Valley,  es- 

tablished in  the  early  1880's.  This  home  is  now  owned 
by  Bob  Mendenhall. 

Valley  has  been  a  source  of  fascination  and  in- 
spiration for  four  generations.  Its  temperature 

is  always  the  same.  Its  volume  is  always  the 
same.  It  never  freezes  but  always  keeps  its 

channels  open.  It  is  a  home  for  minnows, 

crawfish,  frogs  and  choice  watercress. 
In  the  early  days  of  Mound  Valley,  life 

was  indeed  dull,  compared  to  our  life  today; 

and  yet  there  were  ways  of  passing  time.  Hun- 
ting game  was  generally  good  the  year  around, 

likewise  was  fishing.  There  was  horseshoe 

pitching  and  wood  cutting  bees.  A  dramatic 

club  was  organized  among  the  four  wards  in 

the  lower  end  of  the  valley.  Members  who 

belonged  to  the  troupe  were  Amy,  Maria  and 

Will  Williams,  Aroet  Hale  and  wife,  Edgar 

Hale  and  wife,  John  Tanner,  Thomas  Panter, 

John  Perry,  Olive  and  Jonathan  Hale  and 
Laura  Bennett. 

In  addition  to  wood  cutting  bees,  there 

were  hog  killing  bees  where  several  men  would 
kill  and  cure  their  meat  together.  The  meat 

was  placed  in  large  barrels  of  salt  brine  or  salt- 
peter. After  a  period  of  several  weeks  it  was 

taken  out  and  smoked  in  a  smoke  house  and 

then  sealed  in  sacks  to  keep  out  larva.  Baseball 

was  very  popular  and  each  player  would  chip 
in  a  dime,  to  purchase  a  ball  and  bat  for  the 
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Early  ball  team in  Mound  Valley, 
from  L  to  R:  Back, 

Wayne  Warner, 
Charles  Panter, 

Ralph  Perry,  Aroet 
Hale.  Front:  John 
Tanner,  James 

McGregor,  Andrew 

Gray,  William McGregor,  Parley 
Andersen.  Baby  in 
front  is  LaVina 
Tanner  Nielson. 

Another  group 
of  old-time 

baseball  players 
in  Mound  Valley: 

Back  Row,  L  to  R: 
Charles  Panter, 
Will  McGregor,  (?), 
(?),  Connie  Jensen. 

Front:  John  Tanner, 
Les  Wright, 

Bob  Eldridge, 
Ralph  Perry, 

Jim  McGregor, 
Leaning: 

Charles  McGregor, 
Slim  Rodeback. 

season.  They  had  no  mits  or  gloves  or  mask 
and  the  catcher  was  wholly  unprotected.  A 

base  runner  could  be  "crossed  out"  by  throw- 
ing the  ball  in  between  the  runner  and  the  base. 

Two  of  the  players  would  "choose  up"  sides 
and  if  there  were  only  enough  men  to  make 

five  or  six  men  on  a  side,  the  game  went  on 

anyway. 

Families  were  widely  scattered,  literally 

miles  apart.  The  roads  were  very  poor  and 

there  was  scarcely  any  means  of  travel.  People 

didn't  read  because  often  they  couldn't  read. 

Books  were  not  to  be  had.  The  mail  traveled 

but  once  a  week  from  Franklin,  Idaho  to  Soda 

Springs.  The  only  music  heard  was  what  they 
made. 

An  interesting  description  is  given  by 

Charles  P.  McGregor  of  the  first  McGregor 
home  in  Mound  Valley: 

"Our  home  was  built  of  logs  which  were 
hewn  by  dad  with  a  broad  axe  and  chinked 

with  split  poles  quarterwise.  It  consisted  of  a 

front  part  with  two  rooms  and  a  lean-to  on  the 
back  with  a  kitchen  and  small  bedroom.  The 

'ir. 
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The  old  Hale  home  up  Williams  Creek  in  Mound 
Valley,  purchased  from  Nellie  Hale  by  Daniel  and 
Carrie  Harris  in  1904,  where  they  raised  a  family  of 
eight  children.  The  home  is  still  standing  today  and  is 

owned  by  Howard  Harris. 

lean-to  had  a  very  flat  roof  and  leaked  badly 
when  it  rained.  The  walls  were  white-washed 

inside  and  the  ceiling  was  covered  with  factory 
cloth. 

"Our  kitchen  stove  was  a  ',  mall  flat  top 
deal  with  an  open  hearth.  Mother  raised 

turkeys  for  her  first  range  stove,  one  with  a 

warming  oven  and  reservior  which  she  bought 
from  Sears  for  $28.00.  This  was  when  she 

moved  into  her  new  home  in  1908. 

"There  was  a  small  shanty  wash  room  out 
the  back  door  of  the  old  home.  This  building 
stood  about  where  the  home  of  Reed 

McGregor  now  stands.  To  the  north  of  the 
house  was  a  dirt  cellar  where  fruit  shelves  were 

made  about  the  walls  and  a  large  milk  rack 

was  in  the  center  where  milk  in  large  pans  was 
set  to  cool. 

"Our  home  was  very  poorly  furnished.  A 
rag  carpet  was  in  the  front  room  and  the  other 
floors  were  bare.  There  were  two  iron  beds  in 

the  little  back  room  in  which  the  four  boys 

slept  and  sometimes  Granddad  Perry,  making 
five  in  a  room,  with  about  two  feet  between  the 

beds.  When  it  rained  we  really  got  wet — but  it 

was  home!!" 
A  beautiful  description  of  Mound  Valley 

was  given  by  Evelyn  AUsop  Sessions  as 

follows:  "Mound  Valley  was  much  more 
beautiful  than  any  of  the  other  localities.  It 

was  so  peaceful,  the  writer  fancies,  she  could 

see  our  Saviour  walking  leisurely  down  the 

road  with  his  long  white  robe,  his  sandaled 

feet,  and  bare  head,  looking  to  the  right  and 
the  left,  as  if  to  admire  his  own  handiwork.  As 

Ida  Baker  Condie, 

early  resident  of 

Mound  Valley. 
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One  of  the  oldest  pictures  in  existence  of  the  Thatcher 
area  taken  in  1898. 

he  walked  he  must  have  pronounced  a  special 

blessing  on  Mound  Valley.  The  country  from 
there  to  Preston  is  so  like  descriptions  she  has 

read  of  the  hilly  country  of  Judea." 

Thatcher 

Almost  as  old  in  settlement  as  Mound 

Valley  is  the  Thatcher  area,  situated  on  the 

west  side  of  Bear  River,  extending  from  the 

junction  of  Cottonwood  Creek  and  Bear  River 
on  the  south,  northward  seventeen  miles  to 

Hendricks  Springs,  or  the  place  where  the  pre- 
sent Thatcher  Ward  meeting  house  is  located. 

Thatcher  Ward  was  organized  in  the 

beginning    as    ''Mormon    Ward,"    in    con- 

The  old  Wright  home  in  Thatcher. 

Joe  Bevins  in  his  bob-sleigh;  long-time  teacher  in  Gem 
Valley. 

Sagebrush  grew  high  in  the  early  days  of  Gem  Valley. 

Mrs.  Joe  Bevins 

tradistinction  to  "Gentile  Valley."  This  was  in 
1881  and  Solomon  Hale,  a  great  scout  and  in- 

terpreter for  the  Indians,  who  had  settled  in 
the  valley  in  1874,  was  made  the  first  bishop. 

Thatcher  very  soon  became  the  "hub"  of 
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The  first  store  in  Thatcher,  built  and  owned  by  James 
Herd  and  William  H.  Mendenhall. 

activity  in  early  Gentile  Valley.  Here  the  U.S. 

Cavalry  had  built  a  huge  combination  horse 

barn  and  hay  shed.  Here,  also,  was  a 

stagecoach  stop  for  the  stage  on  its  run  from 

Soda  Springs  down  the  west  side  of  Bear  River 

and  on  to  Oxford,  Idaho,  which,  at  the  time, 

Old  blacksmith 

shop 

and  post  office 
in  Thatcher. 

Later  store  in  Thatcher,  called  the  "Tumble  In" 
operated  by  Vernon  and  Ethel  Mendenhall;  it  was  later 

called  MendenhalPs. 

was  the  County  seat  of  Oneida  County.  The 

store,  known  as  the  Herd  and  Mendenhall 

Mercantile  Co.,  was  established  when  William 

H.  Mendenhall  and  his  father-in-law,  James 
Herd,  came  to  the  valley  for  this  purpose.  In 

order  for  them  to  get  the  store  site  at  the 

crossroads,  they  had  to  purchase  the  farm  of 
120  acres  from  Thomas  Panter.  Arrangements 

were  made  with  the  Hillyard  Sawmill  Co.  for 

lumber,  to  be  paid  for  in  merchandise.  Rais 
Cahoon  and  Samuel  Orison  constructed  the 

building.  This  was  the  first  store  in  Thatcher. 
Later  Pond  and  Greaves  built  a  large  general 

merchandise  store  with  Ira  Neeley  as 

manager.  This  store  later  burned  down.  There 

was  also  a  U.S.  post  office  and  a  community 

blacksmith's  shop.  At  one  time  a  traveling  cir- 
cus performed  for  two  days  in  the  north 

meadow  of  the  present  Izatt  farm. 

A  cheese  plant  was  built  about  three- 
fourths  of  a  mile  north  of  the  Thatcher  bridge, 

where  there  were  some  clear,  cool  springs.  A 

man  by  the  name  of  John  Harrington  hauled 

the  milk  every  morning  to  the  plant  for  cheese 

making.  This  plant  was  soon  turned  over  to 
butter  making,  which,  by  the  way,  was  selling 

for  13  cents  a  pound  at  the  time.  William  H. 

Mendenhall  was  hired  as  manager  for  a  short 

time,  then  L.  J.  Durrant  came  up  from  Provo 

as  a  young  man  and  purchased  the  plant.  He 
maintained  it  for  many  years,  then  took  Henry 

Christensen  in  as  a  partner.  He  later  sold  the 
business  to  Mr.  Christensen,  who,  soon  after, 
moved  it  to  Grace. 

In  the  year,  1903,  the  communities  in  the 

south  end  of  the  valley  decided  to  build  a  com- 
munity center.  It  included  a  dance  hall  on  the 

top  story  and  several  rooms  in  the  basement. 

Conferences  and  many  community  activities 

were  held  here.  It  became  known  as  "Four- 
Points"  as  it  accommodated  Cleveland  on  the 
west  of  the  river  and  Mound  Valley  on  the 
east;  Thatcher  on  the  west  up  to  China  Camp 

22  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



f^**^  * 

Beautiful   homes   in   the   Thatcher   area  built  by   Barnes 
Rodeback:  The  George  Hogan  home. 

If 

The  Alexander  Harris  home. 

The  Larkin  Home. 

The  Alexander  Harris  family.  L  to 
R  Back:  Ethel  H.  Elsmore,  Alex- 

ander Harris,  Sadie  H.  Mickelson. 
Front,  Wells  Harris,  Josephine  W. 

Harris,  Frank  Harris. 
The  Thatcher  Church,  built  between  1903-1905,  on  high  ground  overlooking 

the  valley— on  the  site  of  the  present  church  house. 
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Hill;  and  Lago  on  the  east.  Later  this  com- 
munity center  became  the  Central  High 

School.  The  cost  of  the  building  was  $10,099. 
There  was  also  a  brick  kiln  at  Thatcher 

directly  south  of  the  present  school  site.  Here 
bricks  were  made  to  build  many  of  the  homes 

around  the  valley. 
When  the  first  church  house  in  Thatcher 

burned  down  in  about  1902,  the  old  house  near 

the  Cavalry  barn  was  used  for  meetings  until 

another  building  could  be  financed  and  built. 

The  new  meeting  house  was  finished  in  1903 

One  of  the  biggest  events  in  Thatcher  in 

the  early  days  was  the  annual  Spring  Round- 
up and  Rodeo.  The  ranchers  would  gather 

enough  of  their  own  cattle  from  the  range  and 

get  some  bucking  horses  from  the  field  and 
have  an  amateur  rodeo  on  the  first  Saturday  in 

June.  Ticket  money  was  put  into  prizes  for 

each  event.  A  big  cowboy  dance  was  held  at 

night  and  everybody  had  a  great  time.  It  later 
became  known  as  the  Thatcher  Rodeo  and  fur- 

nished a  lot  of  excitement. 

In  1914  the  Thatcher  Ward  was  divided 

$ 

Annual  Spring  Round-up  and  Rodeo  held  at  Thatcher 
in  the  early  days. 

Early  promotors  of  the  Thatcher  Rodeo;  from  L  to  R: 
Los  Toone,  Dave  Barthlome,  Simpson  Roper,  Charles 

Izatt,  Brig  Young. 

and  was  located  on  Adler  Creek  on  high 

ground  overlooking  the  valley  to  the  north  and 
south.  It  was  later  redecorated  and  a  central 

heating  system  installed. 

u-.f. 

.  '\ 

Action  in  the  arena. 

into  two  wards,  and  then,  in  1924  was  organiz- 
ed again  as  one  ward. 

The  story  of  the  Thatcher  irrigation 

canals,  so  vital  to  the  area,  is  an  interesting 

one.  The  following  information  was  taken 

from  early  minutes  of  The  Gentile  Valley 
Irrigation  Company: 

The  Gentile  Valley  Irrigation  Company 

was  organized  by  four  men — Alex  Harris, 
William  Larkin,  Walter  Harris,  and  L.  S. 

Pond.  The  minutes  of  their  meeting  of  April  6, 

1896,  show  all  four  men  present.  At  this 

meeting  wages  were  set  at  $1.25  per  day  for  a 

single  man  and  $2.00  per  day  for  a  man  and 
team  of  horses. 

By  January  4,  1897,  there  were  three  new 

members— Ira  Hogan  Sr.,  Lars  Christensen 
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Diversion  point  for  Gentile  Valley  Canal  Co.,  Thatcher 
Canal  Co.,  Pond  and  Barthlome  Co. 

and  Sol  Hendricks,  making  a  total  of  seven 
members. 

Their  application  to  file  on  eighty  cubic 
feet  of  water  from  Bear  River  had  been  denied, 

but  they  were  granted  thirty-three  feet  flow.  At 
this  time  there  was  only  one  filing  prior  to 

their's  on  Bear  River.  Their  filing  date  was 
June  1,  1889. 

On  February  23,  1901,  the  Thatcher 

Irrigation  Canal  Company  was  granted  a  fil- 

ing of  thirty-five  feet  of  Bear  River  Water. 
On  April  1,  1901,  the  Gentile  Valley 

Irrigation  Company  decided  to  extend  the 
canal  from  Densmore  Creek  to  Adler  Creek. 

On  motion  from  William  Larkin  the  canal  was 

!?^-, 

Cleaning  canal  in  Johny's  Hole  involves  work  with 
Bulldozers,  drag-lines  and  carryalls.  The  sticky,  white 

clay  is  very  difficult  to  move. 

Shown  here  is  a  metal  pipe  installed  to  carry  canal 
waters  past  solid  cliff  of  rocks.  It  is  60  feet  in  length, 

near  the  Harris  ranch. 

to  end  at  Adler  Creek.  Little  did  they  realize  at 

the  time  the  troubles  which  lay  in  store  at 

Johnny's  Hole.  During  the  ensuing  years  it 
became  a  constant  problem  and  expense  to 

keep  the  canal  cleaned  out.  It  was  necessary  to 

bring  in  bulldozers  and  drag  lines  to  remove 

the  heavy,  sticky  white  clay  which  constantly 

clogged  the  canal  at  this  point. 
On  December  14,  1903,  Joseph  T.  Pond 

was  allowed  two-tenths  interest  in  the  Gentile 

Valley  Irrigation  Company  and  George  D. 

Anderson  was  allowed  one-tenth.  Also,  in 

1903,  permission  was  granted  to  J.  B.  Thatcher 

for  a  right-of-way  through  the  canal  for  the 

■*t.^:-V. 
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Shown  here  is  the  spill  gate  on  Adler  Creek  where  the 
Gentile  Valley  Irrigation  Co.  ends,  and  the  headgate 

where  the  Thatcher  Canal  Co.  begins. 
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An  improvement  made  in  1957  was  the  installation  of  a 
partial  flume  by  the  Thatcher  Canal  Co.  to  measure 
the  water  delivered  by  the  Gentile  Valley  Irrigation  Co. 
The  measuring  device  and  Charles  Izatt,  who  was 
president  of  the  Thatcher  Canal  Co.  are  shown  in  the 

picture. 

Thatcher  Canal  Company  Limited,  subject  to 

work  and  assessment  agreements. 

On  April  20,  1904,  the  Thatcher  Canal 

partnership  was  granted  twelve  feet  of  water 
from  Bear  River.  Thus,  a  total  flow  of  eighty 

cubic  feet  of  water  had  the  same  point  of  diver- 
sion from  Bear  River  and  entered  a  canal 

system  reaching  from  the  Cove  Plant  of  the 

Utah  Power  &  Light  Company  southward  to 

the  Bernard  White  ranch  in  Cleveland,  a  dis- 

tance of  approximately  twenty  miles. 

On  April  20,  1804,  the  Thatcher  Canal 

Company  agreed  to  pay  to  the  Gentile  Valley 

Irrigation  Company  the  sum  of  fifteen  hun- 

dred dollars  for  a  right-of-way  for  their  water 

through  the  Gentile  Valley  Irrigation  Com- 
pany canal  system,  and  also  to  enlarge  the 

canal  to  carrying  capacity  and  assume  one- 
third  of  all  future  costs  of  repairs  and 
maintenance. 

Elvard  F.  Ziegler  was  one  of  the  first  men 

in  the  valley  to  install  a  water  sprinkler  system 

for  irrigation.  Since  that  time  many  water 
pumps  and  sprinklers  have  been  installed 

throughout  the  entire  valley.  This  put  more 

land  under  irrigation  and  made  it  necessary  for 

The  strip  of  road  known  as  "Johny's  Hole". 

the  Thatcher  Canal  Company  to  install  a  par- 
tial flume  to  measure  the  water  delivered  by 

the  Gentile  Valley  Irrigation  Company. 

Charles  Izatt,  who  was  president  of  the 

Thatcher  Canal  Company  at  that  time  reports 

that  this  was  a  big  improvement  and  resulted 

in  a  good  deal  more  water  being  delivered  to 

the  Thatcher  Canal  Company.  This  was  done 

in  May  of  1957. 

A  strip  of  road  that  reached  from  Toone's 

Point  to  Coryell  Hill  was  known  as  "Johnny's 
Hole."  Here  travelers  were  plagued  with 
several  bogs  caused  by  water  springs  seeping 
out  of  the  base  of  a  hill  on  one  side  and  Bear 

River  on  the  other.  In  springtime  it  became 

impassable,  and  it  was  necessary  to  ford  the 

river  in  Hogan's  field  and  go  over  past  George 

Anderson's  place,  or  climb  the  hill  past  Olaf 

Nelson's  shack  and  drive  down  past  Tom 
Allsop's  place. 

Enough  poles  were  finally  hauled  to  prac- 

tically bridge  the  bogs.  This  was  done  by  cut- 
ting the  poles  to  road  width  and  then  laying 

them  length-ways  across  the  road,  pole  on  top 

of  pole  in  the  mud  until  they  would  eventually 

buoy  up  a  wagon  or  buggy  and  team. 
Even  now  that  the  road  has  been  graded 

and  oiled,  every  spring  the  oil  mat  buckles  and 

men  bet  on  how  much  longer  before  it  all  slides 
out  into  the  river. 
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The  first 

Trout  Creek  (Lago) 

Lago  is  situated  approximately  twelve 

miles  south  and  east  of  the  city  of  Grace. 

Within  the  limits  of  Lago  there  is  some  fine 

and  productive  farming  land,  though 

somewhat  hilly.  With  the  coming  of  sprinkler 

systems,  almost  all  of  it  is  now  under  irriga- 
tion. There  are  also  several  large  dairy  herds, 

and  a  thriving  beef  cattle  industry.  At  one  time 

Lago  had  a  General  Merchandise  store,  a 

blacksmith  shop  and  a  water-powered  sawmill. 
Lago  Ward,  which  was  known  as  Trout 

Creek  Ward  untl  1926,  was  first  organized  as  a 
ward  in  1891.  John  Gibbs  had  served  as 

presiding  elder  from  1888  to  1891,  when  the 

ward  was  organized  and  William  McGee 

Harris  was  appointed  as  first  bishop  with  Ben- 
jamin Clegg  and  Jonathan  Gibbs  as 

counselors.  One  of  the  oldest  wards  in  Gem 

church  in  Lago. 

Valley,  it  reached  at  that  time  all  the  way 

north  to  Soda  Springs  and  to  Chesterfield  on 
the  northwest. 

Lago  has  two  creeks  running  through  it. 
Trout  Creek,  for  which  it  was  first  named  and 

Whiskey  Creek.  Trout  Creek  was  so  named 

for  the  large  number  of  native  trout  which 

were  in  the  creek.  Whiskey  Creek  was  named 

(so  the  story  goes)  when  a  large  amount  of 
whiskey  mash  was  dumped  in  the  creek  by 

bootleggers  when  the  law  was  after  them. 

Among  the  early  Gentiles  in  the  Lago 

area  were  Eli  Morgan  and  Frank  Luscher.  Eli 

Morgan  settled  where  Alan  Ruud  now  lives; 

and  Morgan  Ridge,  just  north  of  Trout  Creek 

Spring  where  a  mine  was  started,  was  named 

after  Morgan.  Frank  Luscher  was  the  first 
postmaster  at  Lago.  In  the  very  early  days, 
mail  for  this  area  was  delivered  to  Thatcher. 

For  several  years  the  settlers  on  the  east  side 
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took  turns  going  after  the  mail,  and  it  was  dis- 
tributed to  ail  the  Trout  Creek  settlement  from 

the  Frank  Luscher  home,  which  was  later 

named  the  Lago  Post  Office. 
The  Swenson  brothers  had  the  contract  to 

carry  this  mail  for  twelve  years,  and  during  the 

springtime  were  able  to  go  in  a  boat  from  the 

old  Fred  Collins'  home  (now  the  Harris 
Mickelson  farm)  clear  across  to  the  Peck 

Brothers'  store  in  Thatcher.  Other  times  they 
went  on  horseback  and  forded  the  river  and 

later  crossed  the  old  log  bridge  near  Thatcher 

High  School.  In  the  latter  years  this  route  was 
discontinued  and  the  Oxford  route  was  con- 

tinued on  to  Lago.  When  the  Oregon  Short 

Line  Railroad  was  completed  there  was  also  a 

mail  route  established  from  Soda  Springs  to 

Lago,  carrying  mail  from  the  north  in  much 
the  same  manner  as  it  is  today. 

After  Frank  Luscher  moved  away,  the 

post  office  was  moved  to  the  W.  H.  Bassett 

store.  After  his  death,  his  daughter,  Lutie,  and 

her  husband,  Hiram  Swensen,  bought  the  store 

and  post  office.  After  Lutie's  death,  the  post 
office  was  moved  to  Thatcher. 

Another  gentile  of  this  early  period  was 
Pat  McMarr,  who  settled  west  of  Bear  River 

in  the  area  near  the  Swiss  Cheese  Factory.  He 

ran  cattle  in  the  summer  in  the  vicinity  of  the 

ice  cave  knoll — south,  east  and  west  on  all  of 
the  bench  land.  The  field  east  of  the  river  by 

the  Swiss  Cheese  Factory  is  called  the  "Pat" 
field.  "Peck's  Bend"  is  a  bend  in  the  river  just 
west  of  the  Harris  Mickelson  home. 

It  is  interesting  that  when  the  name  was 

changed  from  Trout  Creek  to  Lago  it  was 

meant  to  be  Sego.  W.  H.  Bassett,  who  was 

postmaster  at  the  time,  chose  the  name,  Sego, 
because  the  hill  east  of  the  store  used  to  be 

covered  with  Sego  Lillies.  The  Postal  Depart- 
ment misread  the  name  Sego  as  Lago. 

W.  H.  Bassett  started  the  store  in  Lago 

and  gave  great  service  to  the  whole  coun- 

W.H.  Bassett, 

postmaster  and owner  of  the 
W.H.  Bassett 

General  Merchandise 
store  in  Lago. 
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The  first  store  in  Lago,  owned  by  W.H.  Bassett,  the 

post  office  was  also  located  here. 
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The  second  W.H.  Bassett  store,  shown  next  to  the  old 
one. 

tryside.  He  had  had  training  in  this  line  by 

working  for  Z.C.M.I.  out  of  Salt  Lake,  and 
had  been  sent  to  Cedar  Fort,  Utah  to  start  a 
store  there.  He  was  a  dealer  in  General 

Merchandise  and  carried  almost  everything 

anyone  in  the  valley  needed.  He  was  fair  and 

honest  in  his  dealings  and  people  loved  and 

respected  him.  He  served  the  entire  valley 
from  Preston  to  Alexander. 

The    Blacksmith    shop    was    owned    by 
James  Fowler  and  was  located  on  the  corner 

28  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



south  of  where  Reed  Kirby  now  lives.  Here  he 

did  a  flourishing  business  taking  care  of  the 

blacksmithing  needs  of  the  community. 

At  the  mouth  of  Ant  Canyon,  just  across 
the  road  from  where  Phil  Hansen  now  lives, 

was  a  water-powered  sawmill  owned  by  a  man 
named  Hillyard. 

The  first  telephone  line  in  Lago  was  built 
from  the  home  of  W.  H.  Bassett  to  Soda 

Springs.  Along  the  way  several  other  com- 
munities had  a  phone  connected  to  the  line. 

The  line  was  built  mainly  for  emergency  use, 

such  as  contacting  Dr.  Kackley  in  Soda 

Springs,  who  would  then,  in  any  kind  of 
weather,  travel  to  the  home  of  those  who  had 
called  him. 

The  Lago  church  house,  which  was  built 
in  1894,  was  situated  on  the  corner  east  of 
where  Rex  Bassett  now  lives.  The  first  school 

house  was  located  where  a  cottonwood  tree 

now  stands  on  the  bend  in  the  road  south  of 

Duane  Bitton's  home. 
An  interesting  bit  of  information  concer- 
ning Lago  was  printed  in  a  newspaper  several 

years  ago.  It  reads  as  follows: 
LAGO,  SANS  POST  OFFICE  OR 

STORES,  HAS  TWO  CEMETERIES 

"Most  small  towns  have  but  one 
cemetery,  or  burial  grounds.  Not  so,  with  the 

small  community  of  Lago.  Even  though  they 

have  no  post  office  or  a  store  now.  they  can 
boast  of  two  cemeteries. 

The  historians  of  that  small  hamlet  state 

that  they  had  three  different  cemeteries.  This  is 

not  common  knowledge  to  the  present  genera- 
tion, and  many  residents  who  live  in  that  area 

at  the  present  time.  The  first  cemetery  was  on 

the  Loveland  place,  states  Alfred  Hansen,  a 

life-long  farmer  in  that  vicinity.  Later  the 
Loveland  farm  was  purchased  by  the  late  C. 

H.  Bassett,  former  Bannock  County  Com- 
missioner. Joe  Fowler  gave  two  acres  of  land, 

along  with  the  deed  to  the  L.D.S.  Church  for 

internments.  The  graves  were  removed  from 

the  Bassett  ranch  to  the  newly  acquired  spot, 

which  came  to  be  known  as  the  Lago 
cemetery. 

Through  the  efforts  of  the  late  James 

Swensen,  a  cemetery  district  was  created, 
which  necessitated  the  transferal  of  the  deeds 

to  this  district,  which  the  church  did  willingly. 

Through  the  creation  of  the  district,  funds 
were  derived,  after  a  unanimous  vote  of  the 

people,  to  beautify  the  spot  with  lawn, 
shrubbery,  and  fencing,  along  with  perpetual 
care. 

In  contrast  to  this  lovely  place  is  a  picture 

of  opposite  nature;  this  other  cemetery  is 

located  on  the  old  Elliot  place,  now  owned  by 
Alfred  Hansen  and  sons.  In  order  to  reach  this 

you  take  one  of  the  side  roads  and  then 

another,  which  takes  you  through  grain  fields, 

then  plowed  ground  for  three-eights  of  a  mile, 
and  then  the  last  block  is  taken  on  foot — all  of 

this  is  up  hill.  On  top  of  the  knoll  is  the  other 

cemetery,  containing  about  15  graves.  Some 

call  it  the  Presbyterian  Cemetery,  others,  the 
Gentile.  No  one  knows  for  sure.  However, 
here  lie  some  of  the  members  of  the 

Mickelson,  Luscher,  and  Collins  families.  The 
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The  old  Presbyterian  cemetery  in  Lago,  located  on  the 
old  Elliot  place,  now  owned  by  Phil  Hansen.  Shown  in 

picture  Alfred  Hansen. 
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deeds  to  this  plot  were  made  in  trust  to  the 

late  Michael  Mickelson.  Some  of  the 

tombstones  date  back  to  1893.  The  last  burial 

was  made  in  about  1926,  that  of  the  late  Hy 

Collins.  Two  family  plots,  the  Luscher's  and 
Chris  Mickeson's,  are  enclosed  with  special  or- 

namental fences.  Plowed  land  surrounds  the 

hallowed  spot,  but  the  graves  are  not  molested. 

In  place  of  trees,  sage  brush  stands  giantly, 

shading  their  care;  and  even  without  water,  the 

hardy  iris  bloom  on  this  forgotten  spot. 
Flowers  are  taken  there  on  Decoration  Day, 

usually  by  young  people  on  horse  back,  as  cars 

cannot  make  the  steep  grade;  nor  can  older 

people,  due  to  the  steep  climb  that  is  necessary 

to  get  there." 
The  early  settlers  of  the  lower  end  of  the 

valley  established  a  Presbyterian  Church  at 

Lago,  Idaho.  It  was  located  north  of  Daniel 

Mickelson's  new  home. 
Mr.  Alfred  Hansen,  of  Grace,  recalls  that  it 

was  a  fine  church,  tall  with  a  steep  roof, 

wooden  pillars  that  supported  a  bell  on  the 

steep  roof.  He  remembers  the  outstanding 

ministry  of  Reverend  Woodman  when  the 

church  was  filled  with  people  and  busy  with  ac- 
tivity. The  church  established  a  cemetery, 

which  is  still  located  on  a  hill  south  of  the  old 

red  brick  Harris  home. 

Clark  Mickelson,  of  Lago,  says  it  was  there 

in  the  early  1880's  and  he  thinks  it  continued 
until  about  1910,  when  there  was  no  minister. 

The  building  was  then  used  for  a  school  house 

for  a  few  years,  then  stood  empty  and  finally 

burned.  The  property  was  bought  by  Grandpa 
Olorenshaw. 

Lorenzo  Barnes  Rodeback,  early  settler  in 

the  Lago  area,  was  a  great  builder  and 
architect.  He  constructed  most  all  of  the 

beautiful  homes  in  lower  Gem  Valley;  such  as 

the  Larkins  and  George  Hogan  homes  in 

Thatcher;  the  John  Sorenson  home  in  Lago, 

now  owned  and  occupied  by  the  Val  Steele 

family;  and  the  lovely  homes  owned  by  the 
Bassett  brothers,  W.  H.  and  C.  H.  in  Lago. 

Barnes  Rodeback,  builder 

of  beautiful  homes  in 
lower  Gem  Valley. 

Mary    Ellen   (Bassett) 

Rodeback,    wife   of 
Barnes  Rodeback. 

Many  beautiful  homes  in  the  Lago  area  were  built  by 
Barnes  Rodeback. 
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The  William  H.  Bassett  home. 

The  Charles  H.  Bassett  home. 
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The  John  Sorensen  home,  now  owned  and  occupied  by 
the  Val  Steele  family. 

Home  of  Michael  and  Sadie  Mickelson. 

The  Rodeback  ''mansion"  first  home  of  Barnes 
Rodeback,  ladies  shown  here  are:   from  left, 
Mel,  Myra,  and  Ruby  Rodeback.  The  man  on 

the  right  is  Barnes  Rodeback. 

An  old-timer  of  Lago: 
Soren  Jensen 

Michael  Mickelson 
and  his  Ave  sons. 
Back:  Melvin, 
Harris.  Front: 
F.  (Mike),  Reao, 

Clark,  Michael. 
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Thanksgiving   at   the   home   of  Michael   and   Sadie 

Mickelson  in  Lago. 

Growing  up  in  Lago:  Carl  Rasmussen,  Verio  Bennett, 
Lloyd   Bennett,  Alan   Bennett,  Orrin   Bennett,   Darrell 
Bennett,    Weldon,    Herd,    Gretta    Wright,    Verna 

Rasmussen,  Wesley  Sorenson,  Ruth  Mendenhall. 
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Cleveland 

Cleveland,  as  a  settlement,  dates  back  to 

1869  when  Harry  King  located  a  Squatter's 
right  on  ground  adjacent  to  the  lower  Cot- 

tonwood Creek.  This  is  in  the  south  or  lower 

end  of  Gem  Valley  on  the  west  side  of  Bear 

River.  King  was  followed  in  the  early  1870's  by 
other  pioneers,  among  whom  were  James 

Vaughan,  Frank  Spidell,  and  Mr.  Howell  who 

became  a  partner  of  Harry  King.  James 

Packer  and  a  Mr.  Caldwell  also  settled  along 
the  Cottonwood. 

In  considering  the  early  church  history  of 

Cleveland  Ward,  we  find  that  in  a  little  log 

house  located  about  30  yards  east  of  the 

former  J.  V.  Adams'  home  was  held  the  first 
L.D.S.   Sunday   School,   with    Ira   Ames   in 

charge.  This  was  during  the  year  of  1883.  Dur- 
ing the  year  1885  the  saints  residing  in  this 

southern  section  of  Mormon  Ward  erected  a 

log  meeting  house,  which  stood  close  by  the 

present  site  of  the  Catherine  B.  Neilson  home. 
Services  in  this  structure  were  conducted  by 

James  C.  Nelson,  who  was  presiding  elder  un- 
der the  Mormon  Ward  bishop.  At  the  death  of 

Mr.  Nelson,  Jed  Hammond  followed  in  the 

position  of  presiding  elder,  and  held  this  ap- 
pointment until  1892  when  Mormon  Ward  was 

divided  and  the  lower  half  became  the 

Cleveland  Ward,  named  in  honor  of  Grover 

Cleveland,  President  of  the  U.  S.  at  the  time. 

Ernest  F.  Hale  who  was  bishop  of  Mormon 

Ward  became  bishop  of  the  new  Cleveland Ward. 

Cleveland  Ward— 1905;  the  man  standing  on  left  with  light  suit  and  hat  was  Lewis  Sumner  Pond,  first  Bannock  Stake 
President.  Lady  at  right  front  with  flowery  hat  was  sister  Lundgreen,  midwife  for  a  long  period  of  time.  Man  standing  near 
Mrs.  Lundgreen  with  hat  and  'x'  was  Peter  Nielsen.  The  tall  man  on  the  porch  was  Earnest  F.  Hale,  Bishop  of  Cleveland Ward.  See  how  many  others  you  can  identify. 



The  following  is  an  interesting  account  of 

the  early  history  of  Cleveland  as  narrated  by 

Nathan  LeRoy  Smith  to  Charles  Izatt: 

"The  two,  first  white  settlers  in  this  area 
were  a  man  by  the  name  of  Watkins  and  his 

partner,  a  Mr.  Offhammer.  According  to 

legend,  these  two  partners  built  a  cabin  near 

the  Cleveland  Hot  Springs.  They  were 

trappers,  traders,  guides  and  also  prospectors. 
There  came  a  time  when  the  two  men  decided 

to  call  it  "quits"  and  break  off  their 

partnership.  One  partner  bought  the  other's 
half,  paying  him  with  gold  for  one-half  of 
everything  they  had  accumulated.  Saying 

farewell  to  his  partner  the  one  mounted  his 

horse  and  rode  away  to  the  south.  Less  than 

two  miles  on  the  old  trail,  just  where  the  crest 

of  the  first  ridge  joines  the  famous  Devil's  rock 

"hand"  in  Rocky  Canyon,  he  was  overtaken 
by  his  partner.  A  quarrel  ensued  and  his 

partner  shot  and  killed  him,  retrieved  the  gold 
and  buried  the  victim  in  the  rocks  that  form 

the  big  hand.  Years  later  some  boys  from 

Cleveland  were  hunting  rock-chucks  in  this 
area  and  discovered  the  skeleton.  The  skull 

was  taken  to  Dr.  Ellis  Kackley  at  Soda 

Springs  who  said  it  was  the  skull  of  a  white 
man  and  not  an  Indian. 

In  1885  a  man  from  Bountiful,  Utah, 

Adelbert  Werts  Eldridge  and  his  bride,  Edith 
Olive  Pack  were  married  and  moved  to  the 

Cleveland  area.  She  was  the  daughter  of  John 
Pack,  who  came  with  the  first  Mormon 

Pioneers,  and  has  his  name  placed  on  the 

"THIS  IS  THE  PLACE"  monument,  east  of 
Salt  Lake  City  in  Emigration  Canyon.  She 

was  also  the  sister  of  Quince  Rufus  Pack, 

carpenter  and  contractor  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

They  accumulated  a  large  ranch  that 
would  later  be  known  as  the  Bennion  Ranch 

near  the  Cleveland  Hot  Springs.  It  was  here 

that  Quince  R.  Pack  and  Adelbert  W. Eldridge 

built  a  modest  but  impressive  two-story  home. 

It  was  painted  white  and  soon  became  a  half- 
way house  for  travelers  to  stop  at  overnight. 

I  have  helped  trail  beef  cattle  many  times 

to  feed  lots  in  Cache  Valley  for  John  Dunkley, 

Merle  Hires,  and  other  cattle  buyers.  Many 

times  we  used  the  Bennion  place  for  our  first 

overnight  stop.  I  remember  sleeping  upstairs 
in  the  white  house  and  remember  the  beautiful 

stairway.  When  the  house  was  torn  down,  my 

wife  got  one  of  the  big,  beautiful  glass  doors 

and  had  it  put  in  our  back  room. 
The  first  school  was  built  on  the  south 

side  of  the  Cottonwood  Creek  directly  south 

and  a  bit  west  of  the  house  built,  but  now  aban- 
doned, by  Watkins  and  Offhammer.  It  nestled 

among  some  cottonwood  trees  at  the  base  of 
the  mountain.  Ira  Ames  was  the  first  school 
teacher. 

About  the  turn  of  the  century  the  L.D.S. 

Church  sponsored  a  Co-Op  store  and  hired 
James  Larsen  to  run  it.  A  new  school  and  store 

were  built  about  a  quarter  mile  east  of  where 

the  Smith  Telephone  Co.  later  located.  This 

was  the  first  school  that  Roy  attended.  He  said 
that  a  man  named  Al  Stalker  was  his  first 

school  teacher. 

Roy  recalled  that  later  he  had  a  job  haul- 

ing the  water  for  the  workmen  to  mix  the  ce- 
ment and  mortar  when  a  new  school  was  built. 

This  was  some  distance  east  of  the  road  near 

the  site  of  the  Cleveland  Meeting  House.  This 

school  served  the  public  many  years  and  was 

the  gathering  place  for  many  occasions.  These 
included  all  patriotic  celebrations,  baseball 

games,  school  programs  and  other  public 

meetings.  There  was  a  wonderful  baseball  dia- 
mond and  playground,  but  there  was  no  water 

available  and  it  was  all  in  the  center  of  a  good 

fertile  field;  so  later  another  school  was  built 

close  to  the  county  road,  complete  with  water 
facilities  and  a  nice  gymnasium. 

When  James  Larsen  quit  the  store  and 

moved  to  Joe  Larsen's  place  in  Thatcher,  he 
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opened  another  store  there  and  Byron  Prescott 

opened  a  store  in  Cleveland  just  south  of  the 

Smith  family's  residence.  Mr.  Prescott  at  this 
time  was  operating  a  freight  route  between 

Gentile  Valley  and  Oxford,  Idaho.  George  R. 

Ransom  later  built  a  larger  store  located  at  the 

Cleveland  Hot  Springs.  His  son,  George  A. 
Ransom,  ran  it.  The  store  was  known  as  the 
Cleveland  Mercantile  Co. 

This  store  soon  became  the  gathering  place 

for  the  populace  of  the  countryside.  A  post  of- 
fice was  soon  added.  I  can  remember  being 

there  when  many  teams  and  saddle  horses  were 
tied  to  the  hitching  rail  in  front  of  the  store. 
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The  old  Cleveland  Store. 

George  R.  Ransom,  father  of  a  family  of 

twelve  children,  was  a  sawmill  operator.  He 

located  his  sawmill  in  various  places  in  the 
west  mountains.  It  was  from  this  mill  that 

much  of  the  lumber  came  for  the  schools, 

church,  and  the  homes  of  many  of  the  settlers 
and  homesteaders. 

Cottonwood  Creek,  which  is  the  main 

watershed  of  the  west  hills,  flows  through  the 
south  end  of  Cleveland.  Darwin  Walton  was 

the  first  man  to  file  on  a  water  right  for  irriga- 
tion from  Cottonwood  Creek.  He  was  soon 

followed  by  George  R.  Ransom,  Ernest  Hale, 

Nathan  Smith  Jr.  and  James  Larsen.  They 
soon  incorporated  and  formed  the  Cleveland 

Canal  Co.  Roy  Smith  was  the  first  water- 
master. 

With  the  coming  of  the  post  office  and 

Cleveland  Store,  the  main  pool  in  the  Hot 

Springs  was  commercialized.  A  row  of  dress- 
ing rooms  was  built  and  a  small  fee  charged  to 

swim. 

I  remember  Charley  Cahoon  telling  me  of 

one  time  that  he  and  a  group  of  young  men  had 

been  swimming  in  this  pool  and  had  just  finish- 
ed their  swim  when  the  water  in  the  pool  began 

to  circle  and  go  round  faster  and  faster.  Then, 

quite  suddenly  it  sank  in  a  whirlpool  leaving 

the  pool  quite  empty.  He  said  there  was  a  hole 
in  the  bottom  not  more  than  four  feet  across. 

A  short  time  later,  as  the  boys  stood  there 

wondering  about  their  escape,  the  pool  slowly 

filled  again.  As  incredulous  as  this  story  is, 

LeRoy  verified  it  when  I  mentioned  it  to  him. 

If  the  boys  had  continued  their  swim  just  a  few 

minutes  longer,  all  would  have  been  caught  in 

the  boiling  water  pool. 

Roy  likes  to  recall  the  memories  of  the 
men  who  homesteaded  along  the 

foothills — Bill  Ransom,  Ivan  Goff,  John 
Clawson,  Fred  Baker,  Leonard  Eskelsin,  and 

many  others.  Jim  Ransom  settled  out  on  Rose 

Hill  and  was  also  the  first  bishop  of  the  Rose 

Hill  Ward.  Roy  said  it  was  Sam  Ames  who 

first  discovered  manganese  in  the  hills  on  the 
east  side  of  Bear  River  across  from  Cleveland. 

Roy  and  his  brothers  formed  a  mining  com- 
pany and  before  the  vein  of  manganese  ran 

out,  they  had  dug  better  than  seventeen  hun- 
dred feet  of  tunnel,  and  delivered  over  ten 

thousand  ton  of  high-grade  ore  to  the  rail  head 
in  Grace.  It  was  hauled  to  Grace  in  a  fleet  of 
one-ton  trucks. 

Roy  likes  to  recall  that  back  in  about 
1904  his  father  started  to  break  oxen;  this  took 

place  in  the  Cleveland  Park.  One  of  my 

earliest  recollections  is  of  Roy  using  some  of 
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these  oxen  to  plow  our  big  hill.  I  don't 
remember  the  oxen  hitched  to  the  plow,  but  I 

remember  the  oxen  coming  in  from  the  field  at 

noon  and  my  dad  calling  "Whoa  Haw  Brady" 

or  "Geee  Red";  Brady  being  an  ox  named 
after  Governor  Brady  of  Idaho  and  Red  was 
his  mate. 

Roy  filled  a  mission  for  the  L.D.S. 
Church  in  Hawaii.  After  his  return  he  came 

and  worked  on  the  ranch  for  my  dad.  He  was  a 

lot  of  fun,  and  at  this  time  he  played  the 

trumpet  in  the  Smith  family  orchestra.  The 

whole  family  were  musicians  and  furnished  the 

music  for  public  dances  and  entertainments. 

After  the  day's  work  was  over  Roy  would  get 
his  horn  and  sit  out  on  the  front  porch  and 

practice.  He  was  also  a  very  good  singer  and 

many  times  my  dad  would  ask  him  to  sing 

something.  His  favorite  was  "Smile  the  While 

You  Kiss  Me  Sad  Adieu." 
I  would  like  to  say  that  there  are  few 

families  in  the  Gentile  Valley  who  have  left  a 

better  record,  or  had  greater  infiuence  on  those 

with  whom  they  associated  than  this  family  of 

Nathan  Smith,  Sr — hardy  pioneer  people; 

homesteaders,  athletes,  musicians — loyal  to 

their  church,  their  country  and  their  fellow- 

man." 

By  Charles  Izatt  Jr. 

The  Smith  Telephone  Company 

Written  By  Jennie  Smith  Perry 

In  the  early  spring  of  1911,  the  Smith 

Telephone  Co.  had  its  beginning.  The  whole 

idea  of  a  telephone  line  in  Cleveland,  Idaho, 

Cleveland  Relief  Socity— 1939,  the  presidency  in  front  from  L  to  R.  Mildred  Smith,  secretary;  Etheleen  Andreasen,  2nd 
Counselor:  Vera  Nielsen,  1st  Counselor;  Mary  Smith,  President. 
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came  out  of  necessity — the  need  for  an  easier 
and  faster  way  of  communication  between  a 
father,  William  Smith,  and  his  two  sons,  John 

and  Arthur,  who  all  had  families  and  farms 

some  distance  apart.  They  did  their  work 

together  and,  therefore,  needed  to  know  each 

morning  what  the  program  was.  So  it  was 

necessary  to  get  on  a  saddle  horse  or  hitch  up  a 

team  and  make  a  trip  of  several  miles  just  to 

find  out  what  the  plans  were. 

So  after  some  discussion  and  a  little  plan- 
ning, Arth,  as  we  all  called  him,  got  together 

enough  money  by  selling  a  cow,  one  case  of 

eggs  (30  dozen),  and  some  40  bushels  of  oats; 

and  went  to  Ogden,  Utah,  to  buy  the  necessary 

supplies  to  put  telephones  in  the  three  homes. 

The  trip  to  Ogden  was  no  little  task,  going  part 

way  by  team  and  buggy,  then  by  train  to 
Ogden  and  back  to  Oxford,  Idaho.  He  came 

home  with  a  bail  of  telephone  wire,  insulators, 
brackets,  nails,  and  best  of  all,  three  new 

telephones,  which  was  a  real  thrill  for  all  of  us, 
his  two  sisters,  Jennie  and  Alice,  his  mother, 

Dad  and  John.  Annie,  my  youngest  sister, 

wasn't  there  for  this  experience  because  she 

wasn't  born  until  1913,  the  year  the 
switchboard  was  installed,  but  she  surely  came 

in  at  the  finish.  Telephones  then  were  very  un- 
usual, there  being  only  two  phones  in  the  main 

part  of  Gem  Valley.  Grace  had  some,  but 
between  there  and  Treasureton  there  was  one 

phone  in  William  Larkins'  home  in  upper 

Thatcher  and  one  in  Ira  Neeley's  store,  which 
was  located  just  south  of  where  Buelah 

Mendenhall's  home  is  now.  So  it  was  very  un- 
handy to  make  a  phone  call  from  anywhere  in 

the  valley. 

Well,  now  we  had  the  phones,  the  wire 

and  other  tools,  but  the  problem  was  how  to 

install  and  make  them  work.  One  phone  was 

put  in  our  house  and  one  in  the  shop  just  to 

learn  by  trial  and  error  how  to  make  them 

work.  It  didn't  take  long  and  a  couple  of 
days  later  some  long,  tall  quaken  asp  trees 

were  cut  and  trimmed  to  make  telephone 

poles.  They  were  set,  the  insulators  and 
brackets  put  on,  and  the  wire  stretched  on 

them  between  Dad's  farm,  where  Dell  Smith's 

quonset  machine  shed  now  is,  and  Arth's  farm, 
where  Floyd  and  Oliver  Hansen  now  live.  The 

first  conversation  between  Arth  and  my  dad 

was  really  quite  some  experience.  Of  course, 

we  all  had  to  say  "hello,"  and  could  hardly 
believe  that  we  were  talking  over  a  wire  two 
miles  away. 

Well,  the  third  phone  was  then  put  in 

John's  house,  all  on  one  line.  That  was  the 
beginning.  Next,  my  two  uncles,  who  lived 

between  our  place  and  Arth's  place,  wanted  to 
talk,  too,  then  many  neighbors  and  friends,  so 

the  idea  of  a  company  was  born.  The  next  step 

was  to  apply  to  the  Public  Utilities  Commis- 
sion for  a  franchise  to  operate  a  telephone 

company  in  lower  Gem  Valley.  This  called  for 

a  trip  to  Boise,  Idaho,  by  my  dad,  William 
Smith,  and  A.  T.  Smith.  John  had  to  stay 

home  to  do  chores  and  get  more  poles  ready. 

Now  that  all  the  important  things  were 

done,  it  was  line-building  time.  At  first  there 
was  only  one  line  with  9  phones  on  it,  then,  as 

people  v/anted  more  phones,  it  expanded  to 
nine  local  lines  and  one  long  distance,  or  one 
line  which  connected  with  Mountain  States 

Telephone  Co.  For  the  first  few  years  there 

was  a  local  telphone  in  the  Neeley  store  and  he 

still  had  a  phone  on  the  Mountain  State's  line; 
so  people  who  wanted  to  get  messages  further 

away  would  call  Mr.  Neeley  and  he  would 
transfer  a  message  to  long  distance  points  for 

them.  This  was  a  very  complicated  and  unhan- 
dy way,  so  in  1914  the  Mountain  States  people 

sent  two  men  with  a  lot  of  new  telephone  poles 
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and  wire  and  put  the  long  distance  line  across 

the  river  from  their  line,  which  was  up  the  east 
side  of  the  river,  into  the  switch  board  which 

had  ten  lines,  each  with  its  own  bell,  and  each 

bell  having  its  own  sound. 

Now  with  a  long  distance  connection  and 

plenty  of  know-how,  by  trial  and  error,  the 
telephone  company  was  well  on  its  way.  Each 

line  at  its  best  had  anywhere  from  5  to  18  peo- 
ple on  it.  At  one  time  the  company  had  180 

telephones  and  extended  from  about  10  miles 
south  of  Cleveland  to  the  William  Larkin 

ranch  in  upper  Thatcher  with  each  subscriber 

paying  only  $1.50  per  month.  My  mother. 

Aunt  Maggie,  as  everyone  lovingly  called  her 

was  the  main  operator  with  the  help  of  a  hired 

girl  part  time.  We  girls  helped  out,  too.  Dad, 

Maggie  Smith,  (Aunt  Maggie),  telephone  operator  for 
the  Smith  Telephone  Co.  in  Cleveland.  This  and  spin- 

ning yarn  were  her  life's  work  and  greatest  joy. 

Arth  and  John  were  the  linemen  and  trouble 

shooters  as  they  were  called.  For  many  years 

the  Smith  Telephone  Co.  served  the  valley  very 

well.  My  mother  had  the  telephone  exchange 

in  her  home  for  more  than  30  years  and  was 

known  by  all  by  her  kind  voice  and  willing  ser- 

vice day  or  night.  Whenever  a  family  was  ex- 
pecting a  new  baby,  they  would  call  Aunt 

Maggie  and  ask  her  if  she  would  sleep  with  one 

ear  open  so  she  could  get  the  doctor  for  them. 

It  seemed  it  was  always  at  night.  She  was 

always  there  and  "Aunt  Maggie"  was  known 
and  loved  by  everyone.  She  finally  gave  up  in 

1944,  and  moved  to  Preston.  My  sister  Ann, 
and  her  husband,  Rulon  Burton, then  took  over 

the  job.  The  lines  had  gone  down  a  lot  on  ac- 

count of  Dad's  age  and  inability  to  keep  them 
up,  so  in  1949,  the  Mountain  States  Telephone 

Company  took  over  the  Smith  Telephone 

Company  and  put  in  the  new,  modern  phones 
they  now  have.  There  were  many  ups  and 

downs  in  all  those  years;  telephone  bills  were 

hard  to  collect,  even  at  $1.50  per  month.  I 

remember  my  dad  going  out  collecting  and 

coming  home  with  a  few  bushels  of  wheat,  a 

calf,  a  couple  of  sheep,  a  little  pig,  or  anything 

that  people  could  dig  up  to  pay  their  phone 

bill.  I  still  have  my  dad's  old  ledger  and  there 
are  still  accounts  of  anywhere  from  $5  to  $95 

unpaid.  Maybe  my  dad,  "Will",  as  he  was 
known,  wasn't  a  very  good  collector.  He 
always  said  it  was  better  to  have  friends  than 
foes. 

The  Smith  Telephone  Company  finished 
its  term  in  1949.  Arthur,  or  A.  T.  Smith,  sold 

his  share  to  Dad  when  he  went  into  the  in- 

surance business,  and  John  got  busy  with  his 

own  work;  so  Dad  came  out  with  all  of  it.  My 

youngest  sister,  Annie,  and  her  husband, 
Rulon,  and  their  two  children,  Dean  and 

Dorothy,  were  the  last  linemen  and  operators 

of  the  exchange  in  Cleveland. 

Grace  (Early) 

As  the  early  homesteaders  had  taken  up 

claims  along  the  fertile  river  bottoms  in  the 

southern  end  of  the  valley,  the  growing  popula- 
tion began  spreading  northward  to  a  higher 

table  of  land.  Here  the  land  was  very  dry  and 
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arid  as  Bear  River  ran  through  a  deep,  rocky 

canyon  gorge. 

In  about  1889,  a  little  colony  of  people 
from  West  Jordan,  Utah,  came  to  this  area 

and  settled.  Among  them  were  Samuel  W. 

Egbert  and  family.  They  moved  from  West 
Jordan  in  two  covered  wagons  and  were  ten 

days  making  the  journey.  Soon  after,  Edward 

Montague  and  Olaf  Olsen  arrived,  and  in 
1893,  David  D.  Sullivan  moved  to  the  area 
from  Trout  Creek.  At  the  time  these  settlers 

came,  there  were  only  two  homesteads  here. 
Both  were  located  in  the  two  canyons  on  the 

east  side  of  the  valley.  One  was  owned  by  a 
man  named  Robert  Kirkham,  who  had 

purchased  his  rights  from  an  old  fellow  named 
Tom  Arnett.  In  1891,  Kirkham  sold  this  place 

to  Fred  Burton,  Sr.  of  Kaysville,  Utah,  who 

had  come  to  Idaho  in  search  of  range  land  for 

his  sheep.  The  other  homestead  in  the  east  ca- 
nyon belonged  to  Jim  Mickelson.  Farther  up 

the  canyon  was  the  squatter's  claim  of  Edward 
Nelson,  who  was  probably  the  first  man  in  the 

This  bridge,  the  first  across  Bear  River  at  Grace  was  built  about  1893.  The  log  cribs  for  the  bridge  were  built  on  the  ice  when 
the  river  was  frozen  over  and  left  there  to  settle  when  spring  should  come.  Then  the  boards  were  laid  and  the  sides  built. 
Looking  at  this  picture  you  will  see  how  deep  the  water  was  before  it  was  taken  out  for  irrigation  and  power.  Those  who  liv- 

ed here  then  will  remember  the  roar  of  the  river  could  be  heard  anywhere  in  the  valley,  night  or  day.  This  bridge  was  used  un- 
til 1908  when  the  "steel  bridge"  was  built  east  of  this  location.  Both  of  these  are  gone  now  and  the  present  one  is  almost 

where  the  first  one  was.  The  old  building  on  the  north  side  of  the  river  was  the  only  'town'  there  was  at  the  time  and  was  built 
around  1900.  It  was  owned  by  the  late  Q.R.  Pack  and  housed  a  general  store,  a  saloon,  living  quarters  in  the  back,  and  a 

dancehall  upstairs. 
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area.  This  family  had  sons  who  lived  on  the 

east  side  of  the  river,  north  of  the  dam,  so  they 
built  a  ford  across  the  river  which  was  called 

Nelson's  Ford.  They  could  also  get  to  their 
land  by  going  around  White  Tail  Mountain. 
Later,  Charles  and  Ella  A.  Burns  homesteaded 
in  this  area. 

The  first  bridge  crossing  Bear  River  in 

this  end  of  the  valley  was  built  in  1893,  and  the 

town  of  Grace  had  its  beginning  there  on  the 
north  side  of  the  river. 

The  Sullivan  home  was  located  near  the 

river  just  north  of  the  bridge.  In  the  summer 

large  bands  of  Indians  would  come  to  camp 

they  would  stretch  canvas  over  a  willow  frame 

for  sleeping.  They  had  few  wagons;  most  of 
them  rode  horses  and  always  had  horses  to 

trade  or  sell,  mostly  small  ponies  which  were 
well  broken. 

By  1894  many  new  settlers  had  arrived 
from  other  parts  of  Idaho  and  Utah.  Among 

the  foremost  to  come  were  John  Trappett, 

Landon  Rich,  George  Hamp,  John  AUsop,  Oli 

Oleson  and  John  J.  Cherry.  A  short  time  later, 
the  Bannisters,  Germans,  Greens,  Stoddards 

and  Packs  came.  Most  of  these  men  engaged 

in  dry  farming  but  were  not  very  successful  on 

account  of  the  scarcity  of  rainfall.  They  were 

n« 1 
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The  old  Sullivan  home,  built  in  1894,  had  3  bedrooms, 

living  room  and  kitchen — was  the  first  house  in  Grace 
with  a  shingled  roof.  The  first  post  offlce  in  Grace  was 
housed  here,  and  later,  about  1900,  the  first  telephone. 
The  two  boys  in  the  picture  are:  George  Stoddard  and 
Jared  Williams. 

nearby.  The  Indian  squaws  would  come  to  the 

house  almost  every  day  to  trade  beads  for 

meat  or  whatever  food  could  be  spared.  At 
that  time  there  was  no  store  closer  than  Soda 

Springs;  so  food  was  scarce,  but  families  had 

been  encouraged  to  be  good  to  the  Indians,  so 

they  shared  what  they  had.  The  main  food  of 

the  Indians,  which  they  furnished  for 

themselves  was  fish,  rock  chucks  and  squirrels. 

They  would  roast  these  latter  two  in  their 

campfires  and  would  dry  them  on  large  racks 

for  their  winter  meat  supply.  When  it  rained 

This  old  house  once  stood  on  the  southeast  corner  in  the 

center  of  town,  now  occupied  by  the  Conoco  Service 
Station.  It  was  built  in  1894  by  George  Hamp,  Sr.  It 
had  a  dirt  roof  and  a  dirt  floor.  This  actually  can  be 
said  to  have  been  the  first  hotel  in  Grace,  since  this  was 
the  place  where  people  stayed  in  the  early  days.  This  is 
where  Mr.  L.L.  Nunn  stayed  when  the  plant  and  dam 
were  being  built.  Here  also  was  a  school  for  small 

children  in  the  early  1900;s.  The  school  teachers  board- 
ed at  this  house  and  the  drummers  (salesmen)  of  the 

day  stayed  here.  The  old  log  building  was  torn  down  in 1913. 

unable  to  raise  enough  hay  to  feed  their  stock, 

so  the  great  need  for  water  became  more  in- 
tense each  day.  Many  had  to  haul  their  water 

for  home  purposes  from  Bear  River.  "My 

mother  used  to  hitch  a  horse  to  a  "go-devil," 
which  was  made  by  nailing  boards  across  two 

logs  for  runners.  She  had  a  big  barrel  and  a 

bucket  to  dip  with  and  would  go  to  the  river  a 

mile  away."  (Telford  His.) 
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Settlers  started  life  here,  as  elsewhere  in 

the  valley,  in  log  cabins,  some  with  dirt  roofs 
and  dirt  floors.  Most,  however,  had  floors 

made  with  rough,  wide  boards.  These  were  not 

tongued  and  grooved  as  the  flooring  of  today, 
so  there  were  often  large  cracks.  Many  of  these 

floors  were  carpeted  with  home  made 

carpeting,  even  in  the  kitchens.  This  made  a 

great  deal  of  hard  work  as  they  had  to  be  taken 

up  often,  washed  and  the  straw,  which  was  the 

padding  of  the  day,  changed. 
In  the  fall  of  1894,  Sam  Egbert  and  D.  D. 

Sullivan  circulated  a  petition  to  obtain  a  post 

office.  The  federal  government  then  establish- 
ed a  post  office  on  January  1,  1895,  with  David 

D.  Sullivan  as  postmaster  and  J.  Fred  Potter 

as  mail  carrier.  The  post  office  was  located  in 

the  Sullivan  home.  To  have  a  post  office  it  was 

necessary  to  have  a  name  and  "Grace"  was 
chosen  at  the  suggestion  of  Attorney  Frank 
Bean  of  the  Land  Office  in  Blackfoot  whose 

wife's  name  was  Grace. 
In  1897  application  was  made  to  Bishop 

McGee  Harris  of  the  Trout  Creek  Ward  for  a 

branch  of  the  L.D.S.  Church.  He  interceded 

with  President  Hendrickson  of  Oneida  Stake 

and  permission  was  granted.  Grace  was 

organized  as  a  branch  on  June  6,  1897,  with 

Landon  Rich  as  presiding  elder. 

In  the  year  1899  the  Grace  Ward  was 

organized  with  Alma  Hubbard  as  first  bishop, 

and  Landon  Rich  and  Richard  W.  Hayes  as 
counselors. 

In  this  year  of  1899,  the  town  of  Grace 

(our  present  main  street)  consisted  of  four,  lit- 
tle log  cabins  with  dirt  roofs.  Olaf  Olsen  lived 

on  the  corner  where  the  bank  is  now  located. 

The  John  Allsop  family  lived  across  the  street 
to  the  east.  Across  the  street,  south  and  back  a 

little  was  George  Hamp's  home;  and  across 
the  street,  about  where  Sanders  Furniture  Co. 

is  now,  Harry  Hughes  lived.  A  few  years  later 

Chris  Poulson  bought  this  place. 

The  old  Pack  building,  Tirst  owned  by  J. J.  Trappett. 

The  first  General  Merchandise  Store  was 

established  by  Q.  R.  Pack  around  1900  on  the 
north  bend  of  the  Bear  River  on  the  east  side  of 

the  bridge.  This  was  a  great  boon  to  residents 
in  the  area.  This  store  was  later  sold  to 

"Grandma"  Stoddard,  who  was  loved  by  all 
who  knew  her.  The  next  year  a  two-story 
building  was  erected  on  the  west  side  by  John 

Trappett.  The  lower  story  was  used  for 

dwellings  and  the  upper  story  for  an  amuse- 
ment hall.  It  became  a  very  popular  place,  with 

people  coming  from  all  the  surrounding  area 

to  enjoy  the  good  times  there.  Mr.  Trappett 
later  sold  this  building  to  Q.  R.  Pack,  who 

enlarged  it  to  include  a  store,  a  saloon,  a  dance 

hall  upstairs,  and  living  quarters  in  the  back. 

The  first  store  in  what  is  now  the  city  of 

Grace  was  opened  by  the  Pond  and  Greaves 
Mercantile  Co.  It  was  located  on  the  corner  of 

Main  and  Center  Streets  where  the  American 

Oil  Service  Station  is  now.  Mr.  J.  C.  Greaves 

(Vera  Medford's  father)  was  the  manager  and 
it  was  called  the  Grace  Mercantile  Store.  It 

was  later  managed  by  L.  Sumner  Pond. 

The  post  office  remained  at  the  Sullivan 
home  north  of  Grace  until  October  1,  1906, 

when  it  was  moved  to  a  small  building  built  by 

Mr.  Pond  just  a  short  distance  south  of  the 
Grace  Mercantile  Store.  This  building  was 

later  moved  west  of  the  store  and  was  occupied 
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The  Elias  and  May  Stoddard  family;  one  of  the  first 
orchards  in  Grace. 

for  some  time  by  the  Federal   Farm  Loan 
Association. 

The  story  of  the  rapid  growth  and 

development  of  Grace  as  the  business  center  of 

Gem  Valley  is  told  in  a  later  chapter,  "A 
Thriving  Village."  Also,  the  heart-rending  and 

John  J.  Trappett,  wife  and  four  children  in  his  beautiful 
flower  garden. 

almost  unbelievable  story  of  how  these 

courageous  men  of  Grace  and  other  parts  of 

the  valley  finally  succeeded  in  getting  water 
from  the  Bear  River  out  onto  the  land, 

deserves  a  chapter  of  its  own,  "The  Last 
Chance."  Truly,  this  story  is  the  heart  and  soul 
of  the  history  of  Gem  Valley. 

The  Grace  Mercantile  Co.  opened  for  business  on  May  28, 1906,  with  John  Greaves  as  manager  and  Caroline  Sullivan  as  clerk. 
The  ceiling  was  very  high  and  the  shelves  were  built  up  to  it;  therefore  it  was  necessary  to  have  a  tall  ladder  with  rollers  to  move 
along  and  reach  merchandise  on  the  top.  Horses  were  tied  to  rail  in  front  and  waited  most  of  the  day  until  business  was  done. 

The  two  men  in  front  are:  Harley  Greaves  and  Fred  Sant.  The  building  burned  in  1950. 
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Turner 

Turner,  an  excellent  farming  area,  lies 

west  of  the  town  of  Grace.  It  was  settled  by 

homesteaders  about  1897-1898,  and  was  once 
known  as  China  Flat.  It  is  said  that  after  the 

gold  rush  was  over  on  Caribou  Mountain,  a 
Chinese  man  called  Columbus  camped  near 

the  bottom  of  the  hill  south  of  Turner — thus 
the  name,  China  Flat.  It  was  also  called  the 
Desert  and  several  other  names  until  about 

1900  when,  through  the  efforts  of  Theodore 
Turner,  a  land  commissioner  in  Pocatello,  a 

school  and  post  office  were  obtained.  The  area 
was  then  named  after  Mr.  Turner. 

As  nearly  as  can  be  determined.  Smith 
Gummersall  built  the  first  house  in  Turner 

where  he  had  filed  on  160  acres  of  land.  It  was 

a  small  log  house  with  one  window  in  it  and 
bunks  around  the  walls  for  beds.  Later  he  built 

a  home  that  had  one  large  room  and  a 

bedroom  and  shortly  after  added  another 

room,  a  pantry  and  an  upstairs  room  for  boys. 

They  climbed  a  stepladder  to  get  to  their 
room. 

By  this  time  there  was  a  great  need  for  a 
school  as  it  was  necessary  to  drive  six  miles  to 
Cove  in  order  for  the  children  to  attend  school. 

One  of  the  requirements  for  a  school  was  that 
there  had  to  be  at  least  six  children.  Smith 

Gummersall  had  the  required  number  so  a 

school  was  started  in  the  first  log  house  he  had 

built  while  proving  up  on  the  land.  The 

school's  first  teacher  was  George  Toolson. 
Mr.  Gummersall  was  also  the  first  post- 

master and  held  this  position  until  he  moved  in 

1909.  It  had  been  a  very  difficult  job  to  eke  out 

a  livelihood  on  this  unyielding  land  before  the 

dam  was  completed,  and  many  early  settlers, 

like  Smith  Gummersall,  gave  up  and  left. 

The  first  store  was  owned  by  Frank 

Gummersall,  Smith's  eldest  son,  and  it  is 
believed  that  in  this  store  was  also  the  first 

telephone  in  the  Turner  area.  The  store  was 
built  in  the  front  part  of  the  Gummersall  home 

and  in  1921  both  burned  to  the  ground.  Mrs. 

Gummersall  had  built  a  fire  in  the  potbellied 

stove  in  the  store  part,  and  not  feeling  too  well, 

she  retired  to  the  family  living  quarters.  The 

stove  became  very  hot  and  some  suits  of 

clothes   hanging   nearby   ignited.    Everything 

The  old  log  school  house  at  Turner. 

School  at  Turner  in  1914.  Students  shown  are:  L  to  R, 
Top  Row:  Florence  Allsop,  Christine  Keller,  Elizabeth 
Johnson,  Jack  Thomas,  Melvin  Rash,  Herbert  Purvis, 
Oliver  McLain.  2nd  Row:  Ethel  Corbett,  Lavera 
Smith,  W.  Samuel  Smith,  Susie  McCann,  Coleman 
Smith,  Ina  Egbert.  Front  Row:  John  McCann,  Roland 
Baker,  Weldon  Rash,  Clark  Baker.  Leo  Thomas. 
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Old  truck  used  at  store  in  Turner,  Idaho.  Those  seated, 
from  L  to  R:  F.A.  Gummersall,  owner  of  the  store; 

Muril  Gummersal,  his  son,  and  Dave  Revior. 
Paul  Leffler's  home  in  Turner,  before  1920. 

One  of  the  First  log  cabins  built  in  Turner;  sitting  in 
doorway    are    Warren    Smith    and    an    unidentified 
schoolteacher.  LaVeri  (Ted)  Smith  was  born  in  this 

cabin. 

The  Turner  bridge — was  called  the  Cherry  bridge. 
Before  this  bridge  was  built,  people  going  to  Turner 
had  to  go  a  mile  north  and  pass  the  old  Telford  place,  it 

was  built  about  1913  or  1914. 

Fourth  of  July  celebration  at  Turner  Ward.  Note  how 
nicely  all  are  dressed.  These  patriotic  celebrations  were 

a  big  part  of  early  pioneer  life. 
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was  completely  destroyed.  That  night  twins 
were  born  to  Mrs.  Frank  (Bertha)  Gummersall 

at  the  home  of  Frank's  mother,  Phoebe 
Gummersall.  The  store  was  located  where  the 

old  Leo  Thomas  home  is. 

The  early  residents  of  this  area  had  to 

haul  most  of  their  supplies,  including  wood 

and  water  until  they  either  tapped  a  spring  or 

dug  a  well.  Food  and  dry  goods  were  also  a 

problem;  as  there  were  no  stores  in  Grace  at 

this  time,  the  settlers  had  to  go  to  Bancroft  or 

Soda  Springs  for  supplies.  The  trips  were 

made  by  teams  and  buggy  and  several  would 

go  together.  The  road  was  in  a  different  loca- 
tion than  it  is  at  present.  If  you  were  going  to 

the  Grace  area  from  the  west,  you  followed  the 

road  in  its  present  place  until  it  got  to  where 
Everett  Smith  now  lives;  then  the  road  turned 

north,  passed  Lynn  Smith's  house  and  wound 
its  way  north  and  east  until  it  came  out  near 

the  Ribgy  Ranch  north  of  Grace. 
At  one  time  there  was  an  L.D.S.  Ward  in 

Turner.  It  was  organized  from  the  Lund  Ward 

on  February  11,  1906,  with  Joseph  Greene  as 

bishop.  James  M.  Brower  and  William 
Corbett  served  as  first  and  second  counselors. 

The  ward  was  disorganized  in  1930.  Warren 

Samuel  Smith  was  branch  president  when  they 

joined  the  Grace  Second  Ward.  The  Turner 
Ward  was  south  of  the  school  and  west  of 

where  Russell  Rich  now  lives.  Russell  has  a 

potato  cellar  on  the  land  where  the  church  was 
located.  This  church  was  built  in  1908  and 

dedicated  in  1911.  Previous  to  this  time, 

church  had  been  held  in  the  one-room  log 
school  house. 

The  greatest  tragedy  that  has  ever  taken 

place  in  Gem  Valley  happened  on  a  cold, 

winter  night  in  January  at  the  Turner  Church 

house.  A  personal  account  of  that  tragedy  is 
told  by  Millen  Mendenhall,  who  was  there  that 

night: 

"It  was  a  cold,  snowy  Wednesday  night, 

Si    B    Si 
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Turner  Church — the  scene  of  the  worst  tragedy  in  the 
history  of  the  valley. 

January  27,  1927.  This  is  not  unusual  in  Idaho 

for  this  time  of  year.  The  roads  were  im- 
passable for  cars,  so  the  only  means  of 

transportation  was  by  team  and  sleigh. 

"A  basketball  game  was  scheduled  for  the 
night  of  January  27.  The  game  was  between 
the  M  Men  of  the  Central  Ward  and  the  M 

Men  of  the  Turner  Ward.  The  Central  team 

had  to  travel  several  miles  to  the  Turner 

Church  house,  but  we  arrived  early.  There 

were  no  dressing  rooms  in  the  church  so  it  was 

necessary  for  us  to  dress  in  our  basketball  suits 

in  the  schoolhouse  just  across  the  highway  to 

the  north.  We  dressed  and  came  out  flying  to 

get  to  the  church — pretty  cold,  dressed  in  a 
basketball  suit  in  Idaho  weather  in  January. 

It's  like  going  swimming  in  Trout  Creek  on 

April  Fool's  Day. 
"The  Turner  Church  house  was  a  one- 

room  frame  structure  about  half  the  size  of  a 

basketball  court.  In  the  west  end  a  stage  oc- 

cupied approximately  15  feet  of  the  length  of 
the  building.  Under  the  stage  was  a  small  pit  in 

which  the  Carbide  plant  was  located  to  provide 

lighting  for  the  building.  The  gas  from  the 

plant  was  generated  and  sent  to  a  number  of 

jets  stationed  throughout  the  room,  which 
provided  the  flame  for  each  light. 

"Folding  chairs  and  benches  were  provid- 
ed for  the  spectators  to  watch  the  game.  The 
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building  was  soon  filled  to  a  capacity  crowd  of 

about  300  people.  The  building  was  heated 
from  a  small  stove  in  one  corner.  It  seemed  to 

be  red  hot  in  order  to  keep  the  crowd  comfor- 
table. A  piano  was  on  the  stage  just  above  the 

carbide  pit.  Entrance  to  the  pit  was  through  a 

trap  door  to  the  right  of  the  stage.  The  baskets 

on  the  court  were  placed  close  to  the  wall  on 

the  east  end  and  hung  from  the  ceiling  over  the 

stage  on  the  west  end. 

"The  whistle  blew  and  the  game  was  off 
to  a  good  start.  Our  center,  Elmer  Anderson  (6 

feet  4  inches)  was  able  to  get  the  tip  to  the  right 
forward,  then  to  the  other  forward,  and  into 

the  basket.  Talk  about  speed!  You  don't  see 
this  now  days.  This  was  repeated  four  times 

and  gave  us  the  score  8  to  0 — and  the  lights 
went  out.  For  the  next  few  minutes  the  lights 

were  off  and  on,  off  and  on.  Finally,  in  the  se- 

cond period  of  the  game  the  lights  went  com- 
pletely out.  Elmer  and  I  were  standing  about  in 

the  center  of  the  room  chatting.  I  suggested  we 

discontinue  until  we  could  see.  Elmer  explain- 

ed, "I  want  one  more  shot",  and  fired  away. 
The  ball  hit  the  rim  of  the  basket  and  fell  to 

the  floor.  The  next  morning  the  ball  was  found 

flat  as  a  pancake.  The  hall  now  was  completely 

dark.  All  during  this  time  Carbide  gas  was  fill- 
ing the  room  with  deadly  fumes.  The  last  I  saw 

and  remember  was  Bishop  McCann  crossing 

the  stage,  opening  the  trap  door  and  starting 
down. 

"A  flash  just  like  lightning  went  through 
the  room  and  BANG!  THE  LOUDEST 

BLAST  I  EVER  HEARD  OR  WILL  EVER 

HEAR!!  The  explosion  was  so  forceful  it  sent 

the  roof  into  the  air  far  enough  to  let  the  four 

walls  out,  then  the  roof  came  down.  Spectators 

were  trapped  under  the  roof,  others  blown 

clear  of  the  building.  Thomas  J.  McCann  was 

blown  to  pieces  and  the  other  dead  and  injured 

were  trapped  under  the  wreckage.  Elmer 
Anderson  and  I  were  still  in  the  center  of  the 

The  Turner  explosion;  it  was  so  forceful  it  sent  the  roof 
into  the  air,  and  the  four  walls  fell  outward — then  the 
roof  come  down  on  the  floor,  trapping  many  spectators. 

Look  carefully  for  six  men  in  this  picture,  each  one 

stands  on  the  spot  where  a  person  was  killed  in  the  ex- 

plosion. 

k    

Collapsed  wall  the  wrecked  piano  clearly  visible. 

Collapsed  roof  and  wrecked  furniture  in  the  interior. 
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room.  He  lay  on  his  back  with  a  rafter  across 

his  head,  apparently  killed  instantly.  I  lay  just 

a  few  feet  from  him  on  my  stomach  with  the 

right  leg  under  me.  A  large  rafter  pinned  me  to 

the  floor  so  as  to  prevent  me  from  moving  a 
limb. 

"A  large  stick  went  through  my  left  arm 
below  the  elbow.  Another  large  piece  of  timber 

penetrated  my  right  leg  above  the  knee.  As  I 

came  to,  the  dust  from  the  plaster  was  so  thick 

I  was  hardly  able  to  breathe.  Not  a  sound 

could  be  heard.  My  first  thought  was,  'All  are 
dead'.  Suddenly,  screams  came  from  every 
direction.  I  heard  someone  say,  (it  sounded 

like  Neils  Anderson)  'Let's  put  out  the  fire.'  A 
fire  had  started  burning  the  splintered 

building.  At  this  time  I  thought  my  life  was 

doomed  and  that  I  would  not  see  my  dear  wife 

alive.  I,  therefore,  uttered  a  silent  prayer  to  my 

Heavenly  Father  and  asked  that  if  my  life  was 

spared  the  church  would  come  first  for  the 

remainder  of  my  life.  I  have  never  been 

without  a  position  since. 

"This  night  was  a  restless  one  I  shall 
never  forget.  Just  a  few  minutes  went  by  and  I 

felt  foot  stpes  above  where  I  lay.  I  yelled  with 

all  the  power  I  could  muster  and  Willy  (Bill) 

Lloyd  heard  my  call.  Immediately  he  and 

others  began  moving  the  roof  which  held  me 

bound.  Was  I  ever  happy  when  they  were  able 

to  remove  the  weight  of  the  roof  enough  to  let 

me  squirm  out.  Bill  was  one  of  my  teammates. 

He  helped  me  out  of  the  wreckage  and  then  I 

suggested  he  help  and  find  others.  I  was  unable 
to  walk  so  I  crawled  on  hands  and  knees  across 

the  road  to  the  schoolhouse  in  a  foot  of  snow  in 

a  basketball  suit.  This  was  a  night  to 
remember! 

"The  townspeople  and  community  were 
on  hand  in  just  a  short  time  to  give  assistance. 
They  were  amazed  that  no  more  than  six  lives 
were  lost. 

"A    list    of   the   dead    follows:    Thomas 

James  McCann,  61,  of  turner;  James  M. 

McCann,  31,  a  son;  Thomas  J.  McCann  Jr., 

11,  a  son;  Brigham  McCann,  54,  a  brother, 
also  of  Turner;  Elmer  G.  Anderson,  30, 

basketball  player  from  Central;  Irel  Lowe,  30 

basketball  player  from  Turner. 

"Note:  The  explosion  also  killed  a  team 
of  horses  and  a  dog  outside  the  building.  The 
blast  was  seen  and  heard  in  Grace,  four  and  a 

half  miles  away.  An  emergency  hospital  was 

set  up  in  the  school  across  the  street.  Seventy- 

five  Grace  citizens,  including  Dr.  Ottie,  form- 
ed a  rescue  party  and  rushed  to  Turner.  The 

McCann  family  funeral  was  held  jointly  on 

Sunday  where  Elder  David  O.  McKay, 

representing  the  First  Presidency  of  the 

Church,  spoke  at  the  funeral.  The  funeral  for 
Mr.  Lowe  and  Mr.  Anderson  was  held  the  next 

day." 
Central 

Although  the  first  settlers  came  to  Cen- 
tral about  1890,  the  town  did  not  receive  its 

name  until  about  10  years  later  when  Henry 

Bjorkman  suggested  it  be  called  Central 
because  it  was  located  in  the  central  part  of  the 

fiat.  The  vegetation  at  this  period  was  mostly 

sagebrush,  wild  currant  bushes,  and  native 

grass. These  pioneers  had  very  little  to  start  with 

when  they  came,  but  they  did  have  determina- 
tion, courage  and  faith.  They  built  their  homes 

of  logs,  which  they  hauled  for  many  m.iles  from 

the  surrounding  hills.  The  different  families 

would  help  each  other  erect  their  homes,  which 

usually  consisted  of  crude  one-room  log 
cabins.  There  were  those  who  settled  for  even 

less,  i.e.  "Our  first  home  consisted  of  a  cellar 

about  8'  by  12'  and  about  5'  deep  with  some 
dirt  steps  leading  down  into  it.  Three  logs,  a 

good  layer  of  bunch  grass,  and  a  dirt  roof 
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Early  pioneer  home  of  the  Fred  Qualman  Family  in 
Central.  Arnold  and  his  brothers  and  sisters  were  born 

here.  It  is  still  standing. 

protected  us  from  the  sun  and  storms.  Mother 

used  this  cellar  as  a  kitchen  and  eating  place. 

We  used  the  wagon  box  as  a  bedroom."  (Neils 
Andersen,  Jr.) 

In  1902  the  first  schoolhouse  was  built.  It 

was  a  large  one-room  log  building  and  was 
also  used  for  all  religious  meetings.  Before  this 

building  was  erected,  the  people  belonged  to 
the  Lund  Ward,  which  was  about  four  miles  to 

the  west.  They  would  ride  in  wagons  and 

buggies  to  attend  their  meetings.  Many  times, 

when  the  men  were  busy  with  the  teams  in  the 
fields,  the  women  would  walk  to  their  Relief 

Society  meeting.  In  1917  a  large  school,  which 

had  eight  grades  and  two  years  of  high  school 

was  built;  later  a  gymnasium  was  built  on  the 

K 
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The  first  school  house  in  Central  with  some  of  the 
children  who  attended. 

back.  Dances,  reunions,  and  parties  were  often 

held  there.  Everyone  in  the  surrounding  com- 
munities enjoyed  the  dances  at  Central. 

Most  of  the  families  were  quite  large  and 

it  was  a  real  struggle  to  make  a  living.  There 
were  no  fences  for  miles  around,  and  the 

livestock  would  wander  all  over  the  flat.  Many 
times  the  mothers  or  children  had  to  walk 

miles  to  find  their  cows;  eg.  "One  evening  the 
Kendall  girls,  Winona  and  Sabra,  and  I  found 

the  cows  out  close  to  the  railroad  track,  a  dis- 

tance of  4'/2  miles."  (N.  A.  His.) 
The  winters  were  very  severe  in  the  early 

days  of  Central.  When  people  went  to  town  it 

was  necessary  to  follow  along  the  Soda  Canal 

bank  or  they  would  become  lost.  The  snow  was 

often  so  deep  it  would  cover  the  stables  and 

chicken  coops.  It  was  necessary  to  get  wood  in 

before  Christmas,  as  it  was  practically  im- 

^"^^'^^J-^:-^^^ 

The  last  school  house  built  in  Central — in  1917.  It  con- 
tained eight  grades  and  two  years  of  high  school.  A 

gymnasium  was  later  built  on  the  back  and  also  used 
for  a  recreation  hall.  After  the  Central  school  con- 

solidated with  Grace,  this  building  was  used  as  the  Cen- 
tral Ward  Church  House. The  Central  school  and  children — taken  about  1918. 
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possible  to  get  it  after.  People  were  not  able  to 

get  coal  in  those  days;  and,  if  they  could,  they 

would  not  have  had  money  to  pay  for  it.  Very 

few  people  had  any  money.  Water  was  also 

very  difficult  to  obtain.  Those  living  in  the 

northern  part  of  Central  hauled  water  from 
Bear  River,  five  or  six  miles  away,  until  the 
North  Extension  Canal  was  finished  in  1904. 

"We  had  to  haul  water  to  drink,  cook  with  and 
to  water  horses,  cows  and  chickens.  Father 

used  4  or  5  old  wooden  vinegar  barrels  to  haul 

the  water  in  from  down  in  Grace  by  the  old 

wooden  bridge  over  Bear  River,  which  was  a 

distance  of  8  miles.  By  the  time  we  arrived 
home  with  our  load  of  barrels  and  water,  we 

would  only  have  about  half  a  load  as  the  roads 

were  rough  and  the  water  would  spill  over  the 

top  of  the  barrels."  (N.  A.  His.) 
The  Oregon  Trail,  which  the  early 

pioneers  used,  crossed  through  Central.  The 

Indians,  at  one  time,  attacked  an  emigrant 

train  while  crossing  through  the  valley.  Indian 

The  Central  church  house,  built  about  1914. 
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The  Central 

Sunday  School —1913. 

The  Parent's  class- Central  Ward, 
about  1913. 
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The  house  part  was  built  by  Leonard  Ranstrom  about  1910. 
Later  it  was  used  for  a  store,  and  a  smalt  post  office  was  built 
on  the  back  by  Nels  Hanson,  who  operated  both  store  and  post 
offlce.  Nels  Hanson  is  seen  standing  in  the  doorway  of  the  post 

office. 

spear  heads  and  relics  can  still  be  found  where 

the  battle  was  fought. 
Mr.  John  Cranor  was  the  first  mail 

carrier,  and  brought  the  mail  out  from  Ban- 
croft, Very  often  in  the  winter  he  had  to  come 

on  snow  shoes.  The  first  postoffice,  in  1902, 
was  in  the  home  of  Andrew  Rosdahl. 

Albert  Ransom  was  the  first  mason  and 

carpenter,  and  directed  the  building  of  most  of 
the  homes  in  the  Central  area. 

The  Central  Ward  was  originally  a 
branch  of  the  Lund  Ward,  with  Rasmus  G. 

Jorgenson  as  presiding  elder.  He  was  succeed- 
ed by  Robert  B.  Gunnell  in  1899.  The  Central 

Ward  was  organized  in  1901  with  Daniel  P. 

Lloyd  as  first  bishop  and  Rasmus  G.  Jorgen- 
son and  Thomas  Gunnell  as  counselors.  The 

Central  Ward  was  disorganized  in  1952  when 

it  became  a  part  of  the  Grace  Second  Ward. 

Succeeding  Andrew  Rosdahl  as  post- 

master was  Nels  Hanson,  followed  later  by 

Walter  Egan.  By  this  time  a  small  building  had 
been  built  to  house  the  post  office  and  a  store. 

In  1921  this  combined  post  office  and 

store  was  purchased  from  Walter  Egan  by 

Neils  Andersen,  Jr.  For  23  years  Mr. 

Andersen  held  the  position  of  postmaster  and 

Central  store  and  post  office  purchased  from  Walter 
Egan  by  Niels  Andersen  and  his  wife,  Elsie,  who 
operated  the  store  and  post  office  a  total  of  44  years. 

Store  keeper.  In  1944  he  was  appointed  a  Ban- 
nock County  Road  Overseer  and  his  wife, 

Elsie,  took  over  as  postmistress.  She  served 

faithfully  for  21  years,  making  a  combined 

total  of  44  years  that  Neils  and  his  wife 

operated  the  post  office  and  Central  store. 

Central  was  a  very  popular  place  in  the 

valley  for  good  times  and  entertainment.  A 

Commercial  Club,  organized  under  the  direc- 
tion of  Henry  Bjorkman,  led  out  in  many  of 

these  activities.  The  Central  "Silver  Band" 
was  started  and  furnished  music  for  many 
entertainments  in  Central  as  well  as  other 

parts  of  the  valley.  This  band  led  to  the  forma- 
tion of  a  dance  orchestra  with  Emery  Hansen 

as  manager,  called  the  Central  Orchestra. 

Those  who  played  were  Emery  on  the 

trumpet  and  saxophone;  Neils  Andersen,  ban- 
jo; Roy  Hanson,  drums;  Spence  Jenkins, 

saxophone;  Ruby  Hegstrom,  piano.  Others 
who  assisted  often  were  Glen  Anderson  onthe 

violin;  Edna  and  Agnes  Anderson,  Ina 

Christensen,  Luella  Hegstrom,  and  June  Han- 
son on  the  piano.  This  group  became  very  pop- 

ular, playing  far  and  near  in  over  forty 
different  localities. 

Central  was  also  very  sports-minded,  with 
two  baseball  teams.  The  games  were  the  main 

attraction   at  the  24th   of  July  celebrations. 
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There  were  also  foot-races,  horse-racing,  and, 
of  course,  the  big  dance  at  night. 

After  the  church  and  school  were  moved 

to  Grace,  there  was  a  trend  toward  larger 

farms  and  many  of  the  older  residents  sold  out. 

Today  there  are  only  about  one-fifth  as  many 
residents  living  in  Central  as  formerly. 

Bench 

The  Bench  area  is  comprised  of  the  dis- 
trict north  of  Lago,  bordered  on  the  east  by  the 

foothills  and  canyons  of  the  Wasatch  Moun- 
tain Range,  on  the  south  by  a  chain  of  lava 

rock  which  runs  from  the  mountains  on  the 

east  in  a  westerly  direction  across  Gem  Valley, 

crossing  highway  34  to  approximately  P/2 

miles  west  of  the  highway,  then  it  turns 

northward  along  the  east  bank  of  Bear  River. 

On  the  north  it  is  bordered  by  the  road  running 

east  past  the  ice-cave  knoll. 
In  the  early  days  when  the  settlers  of  Lago 

or  the  southern  part  of  the  valley  spoke  of 

coming  up  to  this  area,  the  common  remark 

was  "up  on  the  bench"  as  the  land  north  of  the 
Lago  area  was  higher  above  the  lava  ridge. 

Thus,  this  area  has  always  been  known  as 
"Bench". 

This  portion  of  the  valley  was  first 

organized  as  a  branch  of  the  Trout  Creek 

Ward  on  January  13,  1901.  On  May  8,  1904,  it 

was  organized  as  a  ward  with  James  Willard 

Hubbard  as  first  bishop.  Alma  E.  Hubbard 

and  Canute  Mickelson  served  as  first  and  se- 
cond counselors,  respectively. 

The  headquarters  of  the  ward  in  those 

early  days,  from  1904  to  1922,  was  a  chapel 

whch  stood  approximately  where  the  Delbert 
and  Lavinia  Nielson  home  now  stands.  In  1922 

the  headquarters  were  moved  three  miles  east 

of  the  Niter  crossroads  and  the  territory 

known  as  Niter  on  the  west  side  was  organized 

into  a  branch  of  the  Bench  Ward.  From  May 

1922  until  the  new  chapel  was  partly  con- 
structed, the  Bench  Ward  held  its  meetings  in 

the  Bench  grade  school  building.  This  stood  on 

the  northeast  corner  of  the  road  one-half  mile 
west  of  the  Bench  crossroads. 

Construction  was  started  on  the  new 

chapel  in  1929  while  Robert  Clegg  was  bishop. 

The  men  worked  hard  getting  logs  from  the 

canyon,  hauling  and  sawing  and  giving  their 
time  to  the  actual  construction.  The  women 
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Pioneer  home  of  the  Benjamin  Clegg 

family  in  Bench. 
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The  Bench  Ward  Chapel  at  the  time  of  dedication— 1936. 
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President 
Heber  J.  Grant 
who  dedicated 
the  new  Bench 
church  house, 

and  Robert Clegg 

who  was  Bishop 
of  the  Bench 

ward  at 
the  time. 

often  prepared  and  served  food  to  the  men  who 

were  working  on  the  chapel.  When  it  was 

finished,  the  women  did  the  sanding,  painting 

and  varnishing.  It  was  small  but  beautiful.  The 

total  cost  of  the  chapel  when  finished,  in- 

cluding  furniture   and   equipment,   was   $9,- 
828.15. 

The  new  chapel  was  dedicated  on  June  28, 

1936,  by  President  Heber  J.  Grant.  The  chapel 

was  filled  to  overflowing  as  people  had  come 

from  all  over  the  valley  to  see  and  hear  Presi- 
dent Grant  speak. 

Early  Days  of  the  Bench  Community 

By  Charles  W.  Hubbard 

"I  can  remember  some  things  about  those 
early  days — back  as  far  as  1894;  the  kind  of 
house  we  lived  in — a  little  dirt-roof  cabin  con- 

sisting of  two  rooms.  The  floors  were  made  of 

rough  lumber,  but  these  were  not  endured  for 

long,  as  we  soon  had  a  better  board  floor.  This 

also  required  a  lot  of  work  and  cleaning  as  so 

much  mud  and  dirt  was  tracked  in  from  out- 

Young  "blades" of    Bench    — Robert 

Clegg  and 
Charles 
Hubbard  taken 
about  1911. 

side.  I  knew  my  father  would  not  be  long  in 

making  improvements  so  it  would  be  easier  to 

get  along  in  early-day  housekeeping. 

"One  thing  I  remember  so  vividly  is  help- 
ing scrub  and  clean  the  rough  lumber  floor.  In 

fact,  I  rather  enjoyed  helping  do  it.  We  would 

go  to  the  far  side  of  the  room  and  kneel  down 
on  a  rug  to  start  scrubbing  and  wiping  up  as  we 

backed  toward  the  door.  The  cleaning  solution 

was  warm  water  and  homemade  lye.  This  was 

a  good  cleanser  and  also  a  disinfectant.  Lye 

was  plentiful  in  those  early  days.  It  was  made 
from  wood  ashes  and  mixed  with  water.  The 

ashes  were  usually  put  in  a  barrel  and  water 

poured  over  them.  As  the  solution  drained 

through  an  opening  at  the  base  of  the  barrel, 

we  had  early-day  lye  in  liquid  form.  The  lye 
was  then  mixed  with  grease  to  make 

homemade  soap.  This  was  used  for  cleaning, 
washing  ,  etc. 

The  Cheat  Beck  Canyon  came  from  the 
east  a  bit  south  of  our  home.  From  this 

canyon  came  a  nice  stream  of  spring  water. 

The  spring  was  about  one  mile  above  and  the 
stream  came  straight  down  to  our  house. 
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This  home  was  orginally  built  and  owned  by  James  Willard 
Hubbard.  It  was  later  purchased  by  Benjamin  Clegg  and  his 
family  lived  in  it  for  many  years.  It  is  still  in  possession  of  the 
Clegg  family,  being  lived  in  at  the  present  by  the  Grant  Clegg 
family.  Grant  is  a  grandson  of  Benjamin  Clegg.  The  Ben- 

jamin Clegg  family  are  standing  in  front  of  the  house,  from  L 
to  R:  Don,  Joe,  William,  Benjamin,  Anna  (Davis),  and  Mrs. 

Anna  Jane  W.  Clegg. 

About  1900  my  father,  James  Willard 

Hubbard,  bought  the  farm  which  the  Clegg 

family  now  own. This  house  is  still  standing. 
Later  he  built  a  nice  home  farther  south  and 

this  home  and  property  is  still  owned  by  the 

Benjamin  Clegg  family — his  son,  Don  W. 
Clegg.  This  house  is  still  standing  and  is  the 

home  of  the  Grant  Clegg  family.  It  was  a 

good,  well-built  home. 
The  people  who  lived  in  these  little 

settlments  were  almost  like  one  big 

family — friendly,  neighborly,  and  helpful  to 
each  other  in  time  of  trouble. 

Ray  Christensen,  who  lived  near  our 
home,  was  the  eldest  son  of  Frank 

Christensen.  He  had  a  real,  nice,  black  pony 

called  Coley.  I  learned  to  ride  by  climbing 

upon  the  fence  and  getting  on  the  pony  behind 

Ray  and  away  we  would  go — all  around  the 
neighborhood. 

"Another  real  fun  experience  was  hunting 
ground  squirrels  that  were  so  numerous.  They 

would  eat  around  the  patches  of  grain.  Father 

The  wedding  picture  of  Benjamin  Clegg  and  Anna Jane  Williams  Clegg. 

bought  a  little  Stevens  22  rifle,  single  shot  and 
furnished  me  with  plenty  of  ammunition.  I 

shot  and  also  poisoned  squirrels  almost  every 

day  in  the  spring  and  summer.  These  squirrels 
also  liked  to  get  into  the  alfalfa  hay  fields,  too; 

then  when  the  hay  was  mowed,  going  around 

the  field,  the  squirrels  were  driven  toward  the 
center.  When  we  came  to  the  last  swath,  the 
mower  knife  cut  and  killed  several.  We  also 

killed  a  few  with  sticks.  They  couldn't  run  very 
fast  in  the  mowed  hay,  so  we  would  stop  the 

team  and  have  fun  chasing  squirrels  down.  The 

dogs  helped  and  also  had  fun. 

'T  also  had  fun  shooting  rock  chucks.  So 
many  of  these  animals  lived  in  the  big  lava 

beds  just  south  of  our  place.  Even  when  we  hit 
them,  it  was  hard  to  get  them  because  they  fell 
into  the  lava  rock  cracks.  These  were  our 

summer  sports. 

"The  Indians  used  to  come  from  Fort 
Hall  near  Pocatello  and  camp  up  the  Cheat 

Beck  Canyon  on  the  creek  and  hunt  squirrels 
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and  rock  chucks.  They  used  these  as  their 

winter  supply  of  meat.  They  had  a  way  of  dry- 
ing the  meat  so  it  would  keep  safely. 

"Shooting  squirrels  and  rock  chucks  and 
playing  with  the  Frank  Christensen  family 

children  was  not  all  I  had  to  do.  My  father  saw 

to  that.  There  was  weeding  the  orchard  and 

garden,  picking  up  rocks,  tromping  hay  and 

shocking  grain  bundles  after  the  old  self- 
binder.  We  would  get  up  at  5:00  a.m.  and  help 

with  the  chores.  One  of  these  was  to  go  up  on 

the  hill  to  get  the  work  horses  and  get  them 

ready  for  the  day's  work.  My  father  insisted  on 
being  in  the  field  by  7:00  a.m.  There  was  one 

hour  for  noon  and  into  the  fields  again  until 

6:00  p.m.  After  this  day  there  were  one  or  two 

hours  for  chores,  making  a  ten  or  twelve  hour 

day.  What  recreation  we  had  was  between  9:00 

p.m.  and  5:00  a.m.  We  would  go  to  Trout 

Creek  (Lago)  for  dances  most  of  the  time. 

Sometimes  we  went  to  Pack's  dance  hall, 
located  on  the  north  side  of  Bear  River  near 

Grace  where  the  bridge  is.  At  first  we  had  to 

ford  the  river  while  a  new  bridge  was  being 

built.  It  took  about  two  hours  to  go  a  distance 

of  nine  miles.  Sometimes  we  would  dance  late 

and  by  the  time  we  got  home  daylight  was 

coming.  Often  we  would  go  right  to  work  with 

no  sleep  at  all." 

The  Frank  Christensen  family,  one  of  the  first  three  families  to  settle  in  the  Bench  area.  They  are  identified  as  follows,  L  to 
R:  Front  Row:  Sarah  Emeline  Christensen,  Joseph  B.,  Frank  C.  Christensen,  Jane,  Gayle.  Second  Row:  Josie,  Dean,  Card, 

Alvin.  Back  Row:  Anna,  Veir,  Melvin,  Ray,  Inez,  Lucy,  Florence. 
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Joe  Clegg  and  his  father,  Benjamin.  At  this  time  Joe 
was  serving  as  assistant  supervisor  at  a  school  for 
delinquent  boys  in  Salt  Lake  City.  This  picture  was 
taken  about  1916.  Soon  after,  Joe  joined  the  Marine 

Corps  and  left  for  the  service. 

The  Bench  post  office  was  first  kept  in  the 
home  of  Hans  Sorensen.  Mr.  and  Mrs. 

Sorensen  lived  on  the  northeast  corner  of  the 

Bench  crossroad.  Later  the  James  Hansen,  Sr. 

family  moved  into  the  area.  They  lived  where 

the  Burgetta  Christensen  mobile  home  is  now 
located.  These  Hansens  were  the  parents  of 

James  (Jimmy)  Hansen,  Jr.,  well  known 

painter  and  artist  in  the  valley.  The  mother  of 

Jimmy,  Emelia  Berg  Hansen,  had  a  small 
store  and  took  over  the  post  office.  The  postal 
service  continued  here  until  the  death  of  Mrs. 

Hansen.  She  died  on  June  10,  1923.  By  this 

time  rurual  routes  were  being  provided  by  the 

U.  S.  Postal  service  from  the  Grace  Post  Of- fice. 

The  first  settlers  in  the  Bench  area  were 

the  Collins  brothers,  the  Frank  Christensens, 
and  the  J.  W.  Hubbards.  From  about  1887  to 

1890  they  were  the  only  three  families  there.  It 
is  interesting  to  note  that  descendants  of  all 
these  families,  and  also  of  the  Benjamin  Clegg 

family,  who  came  shortly  after,  are  still  living 
in  Bench. 

Hyrum  Collins  settled  in  the  entrance  to 

the  canyon  known  as  the  Collins'  Canyon  from 
which  flows  the  north  fork  of  Trout  Creek. 

A  bit  of  Bench. 
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Alice  (Schmeer) 

Clegg  soon  after 
she  arrived  in 

Bench  to  teach 
school — about  1919. 

Until  about  1900  a  road  came  straight  north 

from  the  Collin's  home,  located  where  it  is 
now,  to  the  Joe  Collins  place,  he  being  the  first 

to  file  a  squatter's  claim  in  the  entrance  to 
Cheat  Beck  Canyon. 

Joe  Tolman  located  his  sawmill  about 

one-fourth  of  a  mile  north  from  the  Charles 
Hubbard  sawmill  in  1895.. 

There  were  about  six  homes  hastily  set  up 

to  house  the  men  and  families  who  logged  and 

worked  at  the  mill.  The  school  was  well-filled 
with  all  the  kids  from  the  mill  families. 

The  Bench  Ward  consolidated  with 

Williams  Ward  on  November  30,  1952.  Three 

years  later  the  Bench  Ward  Chapel  was  sold  to 

former  Bishop  Robert  W.  Clegg,  who  had 

been  bishop  at  the  time  the  chapel  was  built. 

Mr.  Clegg  converted  this  building  into  a  lovely 

dwelling  on  the  same  site.  It  is  presently  owned 

and  occupied  by  the  Reao  Mickelson  family. 

Niter 

Niter  is  a  thriving  community  in  beautiful 

Gem  Valley,  bounded  on  the  north  by  Grace, 

on  the  east  by  Bench  and  Lago,  on  the  west  by 

Thatcher,  and  on  the  south  by  Mound  Valley 
and  Cleveland.  It  was  the  last  of  the  small 

The  Charles 
Hubbard  farm 
and  sawmill. 

communities  in  Gem  Valley  to  be  settled  and 

highway  34  runs  through  its  center. 

The  community  was  originally  called 

Hanna  and  the  Hanna  Post  Office  was  kept  in 

the  home  of  John  Dalton.  He  lived  in  a  two- 

story  log  house  near  the  ice  cave.  There  was 
also  a  settlement  in  Wyoming  named  Hanna 

and  the  mail  was  continually  being  missent  to 

these  two  places,  so  it  became  necessary  to 
select  a  new  name,  A  few  miles  west  of  the 

village  was  a  spring  containing  nitre,  a  salt  ob- 
tained from  potash;  so  when  names  were  being 

considered,  William  (Billy)  Clemens,  one  of 

the  earliest  settlers,  suggested  it  be  called 

Niter.  This  was  made  official  by  the  Post- 
master General  of  the  U.S.  in  1904  or  1905. 

Arthur  Peck  owned  a  blacksmith  shop 

about  one-half  mile  east  of  the  township  of 
Niter.  He  later  sold  this  to  Jack  Sharp,  who 

had  decided  to  quit  farming  and  operate  a 

general  store.  Sharp's  store  was  the  first  store 
in  Niter.  The  post  office  was  moved  to  the 
store  where  it  remained  for  several  years. 

Sharp's  store  also  had  the  first  public 
telephone  in  this  area  and  people  came  from 

miles  around  to  see  this  "new-fangled  contrap- 
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When  the  Sharp's  store  went  out  of 
business,  a  man  by  the  name  of  Harry  Bassett 

opened  a  store  near  where  the  Lloyd  Bennett 

home  now  stands;  he  also  had  the  post  office. 

The  next  store  was  the  Greaves'  store,  and  on 
the  foundation  of  this  store,  the  present  Niter 
Service  Station  was  built. 

When  Harry  Bassett  decided  he  could  no 
longer  operate  the  post  office,  a  small  building 

was  set  up  on  the  corner  where  the  Bailey 
Market  is  now  situated.  Nels  Graham  was  the 

postmaster.  In  1912  he  was  found  dead  in  this 

building.  The  post  office  was  transferred  once 

again — this  time  to  the  Pond  and  Greaves' 
Mercantile  store.  Several  years  later  the  rural 
routes  were  established.  The  first  mail  carrier 

was  George  Small  of  Soda  Springs  and  he 
brought  the  mail  in  three  times  a  week.  When 
the  rural  boxes  were  established,  mail  came 
in  daily. 

r 

A  one-room  amusement  hall  was  built  in 

1902  on  the  corner  where  the  Nielson  Garage 

is  standing.  Later  on  this  building  was  used  for 
church  and  school  as  well.  In  about  1910  a 

two-roomed  schoolhouse  was  built  one-half 

mile  east  and  after  the  Niter  school  con- 
solidated with  the  Grace  schools,  this  school 

building  was  used  as  the  church  house. 

On  July  16,  1922,  the  Bench  Ward  was 
divided  and  the  West  Branch  (the  Niter  area) 

was  organized  with  Robert  Kingsford  as 

presiding  elder.  On  September  16,  1923,  this 
branch  became  the  Williams  Ward,  named 

after  Robert  Hanna  Williams,  one  of  the  first 

settlers  in  Gem  Valley.  Robert  Kingsford  serv- 

The  old  Bench 
church  house, 

located  in  Niter 
on  the  spot 

where  the  present 
home  of  LaVina 
Nielson  stands. 
It  was  built  in 
about  1904, 
and  was  also  used 
for  the 

community  center. 

Nels  Graham,  postmaster  at  Niter,  and  wife.  Mr. 
Graham  was  found  dead  in  the  post  office  seated  in  a 

chair.  This  was  in  an  early  period  of  time. 

Entrance  to  the  Ice  Cave  in  Niter;  a  group  of  tourists 
standing  in  front. 
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ed  as  first  bishop,  with  J.  Alfred  Toone  and 

Joseph  D.  Miles  as  counselors. 
One  of  the  earliest  and  most  colorful 

settlers  in  this  area  was  William  Clemens.  He 

was  a  great  story  teller  and  a  most  adven- 

turesome individual.  One  of  his  greatest  am- 

bitions— to  become  a  gold  miner — was  realiz- 
ed when  he  accompanied  his  cousin,  Samuel 

Langhorne  Clemens  (Mark  Twain),  on  a  tour 

to  California,  prospecting  for  gold.  He  seemed 

to  have  a  natural  instinct  for  locating  gold 

deposits.  He  mined  for  gold  in  California, 

Nevada,  Oregon,  British  Columbia,  and  in 
1870,  he  staked  out  four  claims  in  the  Caribou 

Mining  District  in  Idaho.  His  claim  was  the 

nearest  mine  to  Caribou  City.  Mr.  Clemens 

ran  a  bar  at  this  mining  town  and  also  served 

as  postmaster.  The  family  stayed  at  the  mine 

during  the  summers  and  spent  the  winters  at 

their  homestead  in  Gentile  Valley,  proving  up 
on  their  homestead  in  1882.  In  1888  the 

Clemens  holdings  were  sold  to  John  P.  Scarff 

on  the  Chicago  Syndicate  for  twenty-five 
thousand  dollars.  William  Clemens  died 

September  13,  1913  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho, 

(from  the  book,  Tosoiba) 

During  the  depression  years,  Howard  L. 

Thomas  organized  a  family  orchestra.  This 

group  became  very  popular  and  played  for 

many  years,  not  only  in  Grace  and  Niter,  but 

also  in  Bancroft,Soda  Springs,  Chesterfield 

and  Wayan. 
One  of  the  scenic  attractions  in  Niter  is 

the  ice  cave.  It  is  one  of  the  most  unusual  ice 

caves  in  the  State  of  Idaho,  and  many  visitors 

come  to  enjoy  its  attractions  each  summer.  An 

interesting  article  concerning  the  Ice  Cave  was 

written  by  Mrs.  Elsie  Dalton  Hubbard,  whose 

home  during  her  childhood  was  from  8  to  10 

rods  west  of  what  they  called  the  window  of  the 

Ice  Cave;  her  story  follows: 

"As  near  as  I  can  describe  it,  the  earth 
was  sunken  about  four  feet  gradually  to  the 

center.  It  was  two  rods  or  more  in  diameter 

each  way  with  rather  smooth  layers  of  lava 

rock  going  down  to  the  opening  in  the  center. 

This  was  fairly  good  size  and  Dad  put  a  ladder 

in  it  so  we  could  safely  go  up  and  down  it  and 

carry  such  things  as  our  milk,  butter,  cream 
etc.  He  made  shelves  and  we  used  this  as  a 
cellar. 

"It  remained  open  and  the  road  went  out 
around  it  on  the  north  side  until  the  winter  of 

1934  when  my  husband,  Charles  Hubbard,  was 

road  supervisor.  In  order  to  straighten  the 

road  the  county  had  him  fill  it  in  with  rocks 

and  dirt  until  now  there  is  no  sign  of  where  it 
used  to  be. 

"The  Nels  Johnson  log  cabin  was  south 
and  a  little  east  of  the  west  opening,  known  as 

the  mouth  of  the  ice  cave.  I  guess  it  got  that 

name  because  in  those  early  days,  when  it 

snowed  so  much,  in  the  spring  it  melted,  ran 
down  into  the  cave  and  froze.  Sometimes  on 

the  fourth  of  July  we  would  get  ice  and  make 
ice  cream.  That  was  a  real  treat. 

"Around  about  that  time  (1900)  the  ice 
cave  was  quite  an  attraction.  It  was  nice  and 

clean  in  the  spring  and  in  the  early  summer 

grass  grew  abundantly.  Folks  sometimes 

brought  their  friends  and  a  picnic  lunch  and 

made  an  outing  of  it.  We  children  had  a 
lantern  and  would  sometimes  take  them 

through  the  ice  cave  as  guides.  They  would 
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Minnie  Johnson — a  good  Held  hand. 
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often  give  us  a  dime,  and  a  dime  in  those  days 
for  kids  seemed  a  lot  of  money. 

"I  remember  once,  when  a  group  of 
young  folks  was  in  there,  a  lot  of  bats  were 

hanging  on  the  sides  of  the  cave.  They  were  so 

cold  you  could  just  pick  them  off.  I  got  one  by 

the  wings  and  started  toward  Wayne  Warner. 
He  screamed  and  ran  like  a  Httle  girl  from  a 

mouse.  He  said  he  had  been  bitten  by  one  once 

and  it  wouldn't  let  go,  and  how  those  sharp,  lit- 
tle teeth  hurt. 

"The  cave,  from  the  mouth  of  it  to  the 
end,  would  be  quite  close  to  one  quarter  of  a 

mile  long,  and  the  window  was  about  half- 

way." 
A  beautiful  new  church  was  built  in  1948 

and  1949,  east,  across  the  highway,  from  the 
Niter  Service  Station.  Robert  W.  Hubbard 

was  bishop  at  this  time.  In  1952  the  Bench 
Ward  was  consolidated  with  the  Williams 

Ward.  In  1955  under  the  leadership  of  Bishop 

Elvin  Hubbard,  the  church  was  enlarged.  In 
1956  the  Lago  Ward  was  also  consolidated 

with  Williams,  the  ward  retaining  its  original 

name  "Williams  Ward." 
The  membership  of  the  ward  continued  to 

grow  and  in  the  early  1970's,  once  again  there 
was  a  need  for  enlargement.  Norval 

Whitehead  was  the  bishop  during  this  enlarge- 
ment and  remodeling.  Williams  Ward  now  has 

a  most  beautiful  church  house  with  over  400 

members.  Grant  Matthews  is  bishop  at  the 

present  time  (1977). 

Niter  is  a  progressive,  friendly  place  with 

beautiful  homes  and  well-kept  farms.  There 

are  several  grade-A  dairy  farms  with  purebred 
cattle  and  many  herds  of  beef  stock;  also  some 

purebred  show  horses.  Potato  growing  has 

steadily  increased  and  this  area  has  become 

one  of  the  largest  producers  of  certified  blue 

ribbon  seed  potatoes  in  the  state  of  Idaho. 
Much  of  the  credit  for  this  progress  should  go 

^ 1 ■ 
w\ 

M^^4fl ^^Ik^^P    ■*• 

7^ 

9 
^m^ 

^4  ipy-^jL 

;i! 
\ 

sH^^^  \~^^^^^^l 

1^ 
K k 

1' 

vV*"  w#c '               ̂ ^^^^^^^^^^^^H 

•     ̂ ^ 

H In 

PF'
 

pl^^^ 

r 

i^-^
" 

df 

The  family  of  Nels  and  Minnie  Ann  Johnson.  This  family  came  to  the  Niter  area  in  about  1899.  L  to 
R:  Back:  Elsie,  Frank,  Lucian,  Denzil,  Alzina.  Sitting:  Leo,  Nels,  Minnie,  Ace. 
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to  such  men  as  Jack  Gibbs,  E.  F.  Ziegler, 

Lawrence  Burgin,  and  Wesley  and  Robert 
Hubbard. 

In  1908  the  sugar  beet  and  beet  seed  in- 
dustry was  introduced  into  the  valley.  The  pea 

industry  was  introduced  directly  into  Niter. 
This  was  the  first  time  that  Mexican  labor  was 

brought  into  the  area  for  the  summer  months. 
Now  several  Mexican  families  live  here  the 

year  around. 

Niter  is  presently  supporting  two  grocery 
stores  and  combined  service  stations,  a 

machine  repair  shop  and  sprinkler  pipe  shop 

owned  and  operated  by  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Alvin 

Kingsford. 
Joseph  Miles  was  an  early  settler  and  a  long-time  resi- 

dent of  the  Niter  area.  His  family  are  shown  here,  L  to 
R:  Back:  Farrell,  Elsie,  Joe,  Alba  Miles  Rasmussen. 

Front:  Lowell  and  Ruth  Miles  Bennett. 

The  Niter  service 

and  store  today  (1977). 
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Bailey's  Market  in  Niter. 
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History  of  the  Beaver  Dams— And  The  People 
Who  Lived  There 

As  Written  By  BlancheLeffler 

The  valley  has  about  3,000  acres.  About 

1905  it  was  being  grazed  by  cattle.  Harry 
Williams  and  his  little  dog  herded  for  A.  K. 

Knowlin.  Harry  came  from  around  Pocatello. 

About  1906  Dexter  Knight  and  his  wife, 

Mary  Jane,  came  to  the  Beaver  Dams  from 

Grace.  They  homesteaded  120  acres  and  later, 

in  1913,  under  the  Desert  Act,  took  forty 

more.  Prior  to  this  time  three  bachelors — L. 

C.  Larsen,  Andrew  Hansen  and  Lewey  Mat- 
son —  had  each  homesteaded  160  acres.  When 

they  made  final  proof  on  their  land,  they  had 

seeded  to  alfalfa  much  more  than  that;  so  my 

father  was  lucky  ent.ugh  to  have  about  20 

acres  of  his  land  in  alfalfa  —  a  mighty  big 
boost  in  those  days.  My  father.  Dexter  Knight, 

had  three  children  when  they  came  here.  I  was 

born  on  August  25,  1907.  Later,  four  more 

children  were  to  be  born,  making  a  total  of 
eight  children.  I  was  the  first  white  child  born 
in  the  Beaver  Dams. 

They  called  the  place  Beaver  Dams 
because  the  beaver  built  dams  across  the  creek, 
which  is  also  called  Beaver  Dam  Creek.  The 

beaver,  with  their  sharp  teeth  cut  trees  and 

willows,  dragged  them  to  the  stream,  put  mud 

Blanche  Knight  Lefller. 
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around  them  and  slapped  it  in  with  their  large 
fiat  tails,  almost  like  cement  work.  We 

children  would  go  quietly  to  the  stream,  watch 

them  work,  then  swim  our  ponies  across  the 

ponds. My  father  first  pitched  a  tent  in  a 
beautiful  grove  of  Quaking  Asp,  and  lived 

there  part  of  one  summer  on  the  southwest 
corner  of  his  homestead.  When  his  lines  were 

checked,  he  had  a  little  log  cabin  and  a  well  on 

it.  This  cabin  was  my  birthplace.  Lewey  Mat- 

son  had  built  it.  Later  my  father  built  a  two- 
story  log  house  covered  with  lumber  standing 

upright.  It  had  five  rooms,  2  clothes  closets, 

pantry,  hall  and  screened  porch.  When  the  new 
home  was  built,  he  moved  the  log  cabin  down 

over  a  new  well  he  had  dug,  and  constructed  a 
board  walk  down  to  it.  This  cabin  was  used  for 

a  wash  house  and  sometimes  a  bunk  house. 

The  wells  were  not  very  deep,  10'  to  16'  and 

The  old  Dexter  Knight  home— taken  several  years 
after  the  family  moved  away. 

Beaver  Dam  in  the  early  1900's.  The  lady  is  Hannah 
Larsen,  wife  of  L.C.  Larsen. 
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most  had  a  windlass.  It  rolled  the  rope  or  chain 

around  and  brought  the  bucket  up  full  of 

water.  He  also  built  a  long  slab  barn,  log  hen 

house,  with  a  scratching  pen  stuffed  with 

straw,  a  granary,  machine  shed,  and  hog  pen. 

My  father  raised  potatoes,  hay,  grain 

and  a  garden.  He  had  blue  potatoes  that 

weighed  five  pounds  a  piece.  He  also  planted 

red,  white  and  black  currants,  gooseberries, 

plums,  rhubarb  and  apple  trees;  also,  multiply- 
ing onions,  tame  sage  and  raspberries,  which 

always  froze.  Apples  wouldn't  mature;  the 
plums  made  it  a  few  times. 

We  used  kerosene  lamps  until  we  got 

Coleman  lamps;  then  we  thought  we  had  the 

world  by  the  tail.  Then  came  the  gasoline 

washers  to  take  the  place  of  the  scrubbing 

board.  They  made  their  own  soap  from 
cracklins  and  waste  fat  from  the  pig,  cooked 

on  the  old  wood  stove  which  burned  Quaking 

Asp.  Potbellied  heaters  were  used  to  ward  off 

Jack  Frost.  The  women  made  piece-work 
quilts  and  braided  rugs.  We  churned  our  butter 

in  a  wooden  churn  with  a  dash  that  went  up 

and  down.  In  the  early  days  most  slept  on 
straw  ticks  and  feather  ticks  which  were 

warmer  than  mattresses.  Most  homes  had  bare 

wood  floors  which  were  scrubbed  till  they  shin- 
ed,  and  braided  rugs  were  used  here  and  there. 

We  had  Sunday  School  in  a  little  yellow 

schoolhouse  in  1920,  but  it  only  lasted  about 

one  year.  Several  moved  out. 

When  the  spring  thaw  came,  water, 

pushing  through  the  snow  and  melting  it,  made 
the  Beaver  Dam  Creek  roar  until  one  could 

hear  it  a  mile  away.  It  often  woke  us  up  in  the 
middle  of  the  night. 

Snow  got  so  deep  they  staked  the  road 

with  willows.  If  a  horse  got  off  the  trail 
sometimes,  all  that  would  stick  out  were  his 
ears. 

We  walked  and  skied  right  over  the  fence 

posts.  Many  a  time  they  took  four  head  of 
horses  to  break  a  road  out  to  Turner. 

There  were  many  rattlesnakes  in  the  early 

1900's,  especially  on  Rattle  Snake  Hill.  There 
were  also  lots  of  coyotes,  jackrabbits, 

squirrels,  and  a  few  cougars.  Later  deer  were 
planted  in  the  Basin,  but  now  there  are  more 
hunters  than  deer. 

We  first  got  our  mail  at  the  Turner  Post 

Office,  ran  by  Frank  and  Bertha  Gummersall, 

along  with  a  small  grocery  store.  Later  we  got 
our  mail  in  mail  boxes  at  the  foot  of  the 

hill — Route  1.  This  was  3'/2  miles  away.  We 
rode  our  ponies  there  almost  every  day. 

They  wrangled  cattle  and  held  their  own 
rodeos. 

In  the  winter  men  pulled  bob  sleighs  to 

the  top  of  a  ridge,  all  got  on  and  rode  it  down, 

usually  ending  up  with  bruised  bodies  and 

skinned  legs.  Homemade  sleighs  and  skis  were 

made  for  the  children  which  worked  very  well. 

Many  24th  of  July  celebrations  were  held 

in  the  canyons  by  a  cold  stream.  The  men 

would  go  to  Baldy  to  get  snow  to  make  ice 

cream.  We  picked  wild  berries,  especially  ser- 
vice berries.  In  those  days  they  were  plump 

and  juicy. 

The  People  Who  Lived  There 

Dexter  and  Mary  Jane  Knight: 

Dexter  was  born  in  Plain  City  and  Mary 

Jane  in  Farmington,  Utah.  They  came  with 

their  three  children — Charlotte,  Myrtle,  and 
Alonzo — to  the  Beaver  Dams  in  1906.  Here 

they  homesteaded  160  acres.  They  later  had 

five  more  children — Blanche,  Marguerite, 
Roszella,  Edward  and  Lavina.  DexterKnight 
served  as  chairman  of  the  school  board  for 

many  years.  The  story  of  their  years  in  Beaver 
Dams  was  told  in  the  previous  history.  Dexter 
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Knight  invented  a  coyote  trap  and  a  mouse 

trap  that  would  catch  several  mice  at  a  time. 

He  invented  a  washing  machine,  also;  none  of 

these  were  ever  patented.  He  loved  to  hunt  and 
fish  and  was  an  excellent  shot.  He  sold  his 

farm  in  1932  to  Ezra  Hamp  and  moved  to 

Centerville,  Utah;  then  out  on  the  big  Bam- 
burger  Ranch.  The  ranch  is  presently  owned 

by  Don  Gilbert  of  Grace.  Dexter  Knight  died 

in  Bountiful,  Utah,  in  1944  at  the  age  of  84. 

Mary  Jane  passed  away  in  Salt  Lake  City  in 
1954  at  the  age  of  78. 

L.  C.  Larsen 

L.  C.  Larsen  homsteaded  in  the  northwest 

part  in  1897.  He  was  a  very  industrious  man. 

He  farmed,  ran  sheep,  cattle,  horses  and  also 

kept  ducks,  geese,  pigeons,  doves,  and  five 

dogs.  The  dogs  followed  him  everywhere  he 

went  on  foot.  He  irrigated  some  of  his  land 
from  a  big  reservoir  that  he  built  to  catch  the 

run-off  when  the  snow  melted. 

He  raised  alfalfa,  timothy,  wheat,  barley 

and  oats.  He  fenced  his  hay  to  keep  the  rabbits 

from  eating  it— nailed  slabs  upright  close  to 
the  hay  to  keep  them  out. 

His  wife,  Hannah,  was  a  very  friendly 
person.  She  herded  his  sheep  on  the  moun- 

tains, milked  his  cows  and  cooked,  except  dur- 

ing haying  and  threshing,  when  he  hired  a  man 
and  his  wife  to  do  the  cooking.  He  had  a  lot  of 
hired  help.  Joe  Miles  worked  for  him  a  lot.  Joe 
milked  his  own  cows,  walked  to  L.  C. 

Larsen's,  worked  all  day,  then  walked  home 
and  did  his  own  chores.  He  lived  in  the  Fish 
Creek  Basin. 

Lewey  built  Hannah  a  rock  monument  on 

the  hill  in  the  center  of  the  valley.  She  used  this 
for  a  wind  break  and  look-out  point  when  out 
with  the  sheep. 

He  was  the  first  clerk  of  the  school  board 
and  boarded  some  of  the  school  teachers.  He 
took  them  to  town  in  a  little  cutter  sleigh 

behind  a  snappy  team.  He  was  the  first  to  own 
a  car  in  the  Beaver  Dams. 

L.  C.  had  an  excellent  set  of  teeth.  He 

used  them  for  pliers,  cut  wire  and  cracked  nuts 

easily.  He  bought  the  Fuller  place  and  the 

Hancock  place,  and  built  a  house  on  the  Han- 
cock place  for  hired  help.  Then  L.  C.  lost  to 

mortgage  company,  sold  his  personal  property 

and  what  the  mortgage  company  didn't  take. 
He  and  Hannah  moved  to  Wendell,  Idaho, 

where  they  raised  fruit  and  spent  their  last 
days. 

The  Widow  Leffler,  and  four  sons: 

Sarah  Jane  Leffler,  a  widow  with  four 

sons —  Paul  W.,  Raymond  L.,  Emil  Ross,  and 
Victor  K. — homesteaded  in  the  center  of  the 

valley  on  160  acres.  Ross  farmed  for  his 

mother;  Raymond  and  Victor  worked  for 

wages.  Paul  married  and  moved  to  Turner. 

The  boys  were  good  ball  players  and  fast 

runners.  They  had  a  ball  diamond  of  their  own 

in  a  meadow  on  their  farm.  They  were  all  good 

horsemen  and  took  great  pride  in  their  horses, 

kept  them  roached  and  curried  and  had  lots  of 

rings  and  tassels  on  the  harness.  In  the  winter 

they  had  their  sleigh  bells.  Ross  served  as  clerk 
of  the  school  board.  He  married  Blanche 

Knight  and  they  had  one  son,  Floyd.  Ross 

hauled  his  son,  Floyd,  to  school  at  Turner  in  a 
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The  Ross  Leffler  farm  in  Beaver  Dans  and  Wager 
knoll;  the  barn  is  the  oldest  barn  in  the  Beaver  Dams 

and  one  of  the  first  ones  built. 
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little  covered  bobsleigh  for  the  3rd,  4th,  and 

5th  grades.  He  attended  the  6th,  7th  and  8th  at 

Cove.  The  family  then  moved  to  Turner  for 

three  winters  during  high  school;  then  moved 
back  to  Cove  in  1946  and  1947.  Floyd 

graduated  from  the  Grace  High  School  in 
1947.  Sarah  Jane  Leffler  went  east  and  sold 

her  shares  to  Ross.  Ross  farmed  in  the  Beaver 

Dams  until  1949  when  he  and  Blanche  moved 

to  Blackfoot,  where  they  purchased  80  acres. 

He  and  his  son  Floyd  then  farmed  both  places. 
Ross  passed  away  of  cancer  on  Mar.  29,  1965. 

His  son  Floyd  married  BeVaun  Beasley  in 

1950  and  they  have  five  children.  Blanche  took 

a  course  in  practical  nursing  and  spent  several 

years  doing  this  work.  She  is  retired  now;  still 
lives  in  Blackfoot  on  the  farm.  She  travels  a  lot 

and  sells  Tri-Chem  for  a  hobby.  Floyd  and  his 

boys  still  farm  the  Beaver  Dam  property.  It 
has  never  been  out  of  the  Leffler  family. 

Lewey  Matson: 

Lewey  Matson  homesteaded  on  160  acres 

in  the  south  part  of  the  valley.  Lewey  was 

everybody's  friend,  especially  the  children's. 
He  had  a  little  log  house  with  a  lumber  lean-to 
and  a  huge  barn.  The  barn  was  painted  red.  He 

had  a  bowery  in  front  of  his  house,  which  he 

made  with  willows  on  top  for  shade.  He  had  a 

large  garden  and  lots  of  flowers — Iris  and 

Hollyhocks.  He  laid  a  foundation  for  a  three- 
room  house  but  never  got  it  finished.  Lewey 

came  to  our  house  often  as  he  was  courting  my 

sister.  Myrtle.  Lewey  made  huge  fruit  cakes 
with  lots  of  raisins  and  currants  in  it  and  a 

sweet,  gooey  topping.  He  served  this  to  all  his 

visitors  and  it  was  really  delicious. 

He  built  a  reservoir  on  what  was  later 

Steve  Livermore's  homestead.  He  irrigated 
from  this.  It  was  fed  from  the  springs  and  run- 

off in  the  south  canyon.  The  boys  used  to  swim 
in  it. 

Lewey  Matson's  cabin.  Lewey  was  killed  by  a  bull  in 
1912.  Picture  taken  in  1920. 

Lewey  ran  a  herd  of  Holstein  dairy  cattle 

and  a  big  registered  bull.  This  bull  was  his 

pride  and  joy.  One  sunny  day  on  August  12, 

1912,  my  mother,  my  two  sisters  and  myself 

were  going  across  Lewey's  place  to  Liver- 
more's to  pick  strawberries.  Lewey  yelled  to 

mother  to  wait — that  the  bull  was  ornery  this 
morning.  He  said  he  would  drive  him  to 

pasture.  He  used  a  small  willow  about  two  or 

three  feet  long  with  a  buckskin  shoelace  tied 

on  it.  He  had  always  controlled  the  bull  with 

this  before.  He  kept  hitting  the  bull  on  the  nose 

as  the  bull  was  backing  up.  The  bull  would  not 
turn  around.  He  backed  and  backed  nearly 

half-way  to  the  Creek,  and  finally  lunged  at 
Lewey  and  goured  him  to  the  ground.  My 

brother-in-law,  George  Wager,  had  come  to 

mother's  home  for  a  loaf  of  homemade  bread. 

Mother  saw  him  and  waved  her  big,  long- 
checkered  apron  and  screamed!  George  came 

tearing  up  through  the  field  on  his  wild  steed. 

He  was  wearing  a  big  six  shooter  gun  which  he 

banged  away  driving  the  bull  off.  The  shots 

brought  the  hay  men  from  their  mowers  to  the 

scene.  They  carried  Lewey  into  the  house  and 

rushed  to  Turner  for  help.  They  decided  to 
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shoot  the  bull,  which  they  did.  Sam  Thomas 

was  elected  to  do  the  job.  Lewey  died  and  was 

buried  in  the  Turner  cemetery.  Chris,  his 
brother  is  buried  next  to  him  on  the  north. 

The  Lewey  Matson  place  is  now  owned  by 

Inez  Gilbert;  also  the  Livermore  place,  where 

the  Gilberts  lived  for  a  few  years.  Inez  now 
lives  in  Grace, 

Andrew  Hansen 

Andrew  Hansen  homesteaded  on  the 

west.  He  was  a  small  Danish  man  from  Den- 

mark. He  had  a  pitch-black  dog  named  Coon. 
He  and  L.  C.  Larsen  built  a  log  cabin  together 

when  they  first  settled  there  in  1904  or  1905. 

When  they  went  to  make  final  proof  on  their 

land,  they  decided  whoever  had  the  best  team 

would  get  the  cabin.  So  they  each  ran  their 

teams  across  the  reservation  through  Chester- 
field to  Blackfoot  where  the  land  office  was  at 

that  time.  First  there  was  to  get  the  cabin.  An- 
drew won  the  race,  so  he  got  the  two  room 

cabin.  They  split  a  40  acre  piece  to  square  up 

their  property.  Soon  Andrew  sold  or  traded 
with  Henry  Rash. 

Henry  Rash 

Henry  Rash  moved  in  with  several 

children.  He  built  a  two-room  frame  house 

with  attic  and  pantry.  His  children  were 

Melvin,  called  "Meg",  Weldon,  called  "Weg", 
Charles  was  "Chuck",  Vosco  was  "Bock", 

Venda  was  "Men",  Phyllis  was  "Phil",  Rober- 

ta was  "Bertie",  Hugh  was  Hugh.  Scott  was 
born  after  they  went  to  Castle  Dale,  Utah. 

They  traded  places  with  Hector  Evans.  Henry 
Rash  was  on  the  school  board  when  it  started. 

He  farmed  and  did  carpentry  work.  They  were 
not  satisfied  in  Castle  Dale  so  returned  to 

Idaho.  Henry  and  Lizzie  passed  away  at 
Roberts,  Idaho,  and  are  buried  at  Lorenzo. 

Hector  Evans 

Hector  had  a  large  family — Hector, 
Melba,  Waldo,  Eleanora,  Donna,  and  another 

girl.  Hector's  wife  and  his  son,  Hector  Jr., 
farmed  while  he  published  the  Grace  Herald. 

Mr.  Evans  passed  away  in  Ogden.  Mrs.  Evans 

passed  away  at  her  daughter's  home  in 
Syracuse,  Utah.  Evans  sold  to  Earnest  John- 

son from  Happy  Hollow. 

Earnest  Johnson 

He  farmed  and  did  carpentry  work.  He 

had  a  large  family — Dot,  Don,  Bethea,  Ada, 
Glenn,  Marie,  Zella,  Ellen,  and  Kenneth.  Mr. 
and  Mrs.  Johnson  moved  to  Grace  and  both 

passed  away  there.  Dr.  Kackley  got  this  place 

and  Edward  Knight  farmed  it  a  couple  of 

years;  then,  Jack  and  Myrtle  Rasmussen  mov- 
ed on  it. 

Jack  Rasmussen 

Jack  trapped  and  did  a  bit  of  farming.  He 

ran  a  few  sheep,  trapped  on  Bear  River  and 

some  of  the  larger  streams.  He  also  trapped 

and  poisoned  coyotes  for  the  government.  He 

had  a  large  family — Fred,  Irene,  Dewey, 
Lucille,  Verda,  Leonard  and  Leo.  Alfred  and 

Rosezilla  Crandall  bought  this  place  from  Dr. 

Kackley.  They  farmed  one  year  und  then 

Rosezilla  passed  away  during  her  third  child- 
birth. Alfred  raised  one  girl,  Juanita,  who  has 

four  children  and  lives  in  Sacramento.  Alfred 

worked  for  Dean  Howell,  then  he  went  to 

Idaho  Falls,  joined  the  L.D.S.  Church  and 
m.arried  his  childhood  sweetheart,  Luella,  who 

had  lost  her  husband.  Alfred  had  purchased 

the  Chris  Jensen  place  also,  but  gave  them  up; 

then  Walter  and  Caroline  Haglund  bought 
both  places. 

Walter  &  Caroline  Haglund 

Walter  and  Caroline  had  two  girls,  Joan 
and  Alene.  Caroline  had  a  son,  Frank  Miles, 
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by  a  former  marriage.  Walter  farmed,  sold 

logs  and  did  carpenter  work.  He  cleared  the 

place  of  many  noxious  weeds  and  rocks  and 

broke  up  a  lot  more  ground  from  sagebrush. 
Joan  lives  in  Grace  and  is  married  to  Milo 

Farnworth.  They  have  several  children.  Alene 
lives  in  Chubbuck  and  also  has  several 

children.  Frank  lives  in  Washington  and  is  a 

professor.  Caroline  passed  away  with  cancer 

and  Walter  still  owns  this  place. 

Martin  Rash 

Martin  Rash  homesteaded  just  under  Fish 
Creek  road.  He  married  a  widow  named  Delia 

White,  who  had  a  daughter  by  a  previous 

marriage.  Martin  and  Delia  had  three 

boys — Willard,  Armstrong  and  Keith.  These 
boys,  with  other  children,  were  sleigh  riding  on 

the  hillside  one  day.  They  came  down  the  hill 
too  fast  and  ran  into  a  barbed  wire  fence. 

Armstrong's  neck  was  broken  and  he  was 

pronounced  dead  on  arrival  at  the  doctor's  of- 
fice in  Grace.  Martin  Rash  sold  this  place  to 

Irvin  Hamp.  Irvin  sold  it  to  Wayne  Revoir. 

Wayne  also  bought  the  Fuller  place  and  sold 

both  to  Wally  Evans  from  Preston.  Wally 
rented  to  H.  C.  and  Earl  Larsen  for  a  few 

years,  then  Park  and  Norman  Campbell  farm- 
ed it.  Wally  then  sold  to  J.  B.  Irick  from  Lava 

Hot  Springs.  He  farmed  a  few  years  and  then 
sold  to  Clem  Rasmussen.  Clem  and  Alba  still 

own  it.  They  run  sheep  and  cattle,  mostly  in 

the  Fish  Creek  area  and  camp  there  part  time 
in  the  summer.  Their  home  is  in  Thatcher. 

Jim  Fuller 

Homesteaded  160  acres  in  the  northeast 

part.  He  built  a  small  two-room  log  cabin.  He 

had  a  family  of  five — Alvin,  lona,  Mary, 
Darlene  and  Willard.  They  moved  to  Tremon- 

ton,  Utah,  in  1918  when  the  Flu  was  raging 

there.  Jim  and  Alvin  passed  away.  Mrs.  Fuller 

and  the  remainder  of  her  family  moved  to 
Ogden.  Here  she  married  a  Mr.  Pike  and  had 

two  more  children.  She  lived  into  her  90's  and 
passed  away  in  1974. 

George  and  Charlotte  Wager 

Homesteaded  80  acres  in  the  northeast 

corner.  They  had  three  children,  though  two 

boys  died  at  birth.  They  were  divorced  and 

Lottie  raised  her  daughter,  Ada.  This  place 

was  sold  to  W.  P.  Leffler.  Charlotte  passed 

away  in  1936  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah,  of 
cancer. 

W.  P.  Leffler 

Had  six  children — Ellis,  Ray,  Wayne, 
Marie  and  Hal.  A  daughter,  Beulah,  died 

before  they  came  to  Beaver  Dams.  He  farmed 

a  few  years,  traded  horses,  and  sold  Watkins, 

Raleigh,  and  McNess  Products.  He  was 
divorced  and  then  went  to  Grace  to  live.  He 

later  married  Sarah  Stalls,  Paul  passed  away 
in  1955. 

Chris  Matson 

Homesteaded  160  acres  on  the  southeast 

part.  He  was  Lewey  Matson's  brother.  Both 
were  from  Denmark.  Chris's  wife  passed  away 
in  Denmark,  before  he  came  here.  He  was  a 

large,  jolly  good  fellow  but  he  liked  his 
whiskey.  He  bought  his  tobacco  in  pretty  tin 

cans.  When  empty  he  gave  them  to  the 

children  for  school  lunch  buckets.  He  always 

had  something  for  the  children.  He  was  the 

Beaver  Dams'  barber.  He  made  sour  dough 
hot  cakes,  rolled  them  in  sugar  and  they  were 

really  delicious.  He  had  a  trusty  shot  gun  to 

kill  the  hawks.  He  kept  a  few  hens  on  his  back 

porch.  The  neighbors  kept  him  in  wheat  after 

he  wasn't  able  to  do  much  work.  He  never  fail- 
ed to  raise  a  flag  each  fourth  of  July.  He  had  a 

stroke  and  my  brother,  Edward,  found  him  ly- 
ing on  his  cabin  floor.  My  mother  and  dad 

took  him  in  and  cared  for  him  until  he  passed 

away   March  29,    1928.   He  is  buried  in  the 
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Turner  cemetery.  His  farm  went  to  a  mortgage 

company  but  was  later  sold  to  the  Smith 
brothers— Marvin,  Dick  and  Everett.  They  ran 

cattle  there  and  in  Cherry  Hollow,  also  on  the 
school  section.  These  brothers  with  their 

families  all  live  in  Grace. 

George  Adams 

George  married  Myrtle  Chadwick  from 

Preston.  They  homesteaded  160  acres  in  the 

northeast  part.  He  sold  part  to  Ed  Miles,  who 

ran  sheep.  George  had  a  family  of  five — Ella, 
Claude,  Emily,  Harvey  and  Harley.  He  had  a 

little  log  house  with  two  bedrooms  upstairs 
and  a  kitchen  built  on.  He  farmed  for  several 

years  then  sold  to  David  McClain  from 

Turner.  George  and  Myrtle  moved  to  Grace, 

then  to  Wapello,  and  then  to  Blackfoot. 

Geroge  ran  sheep  in  the  Wapello  area.  He  died 

of  cancer.  Myrtle  later  married  Ralph 

Nebeker.  She  passed  away  at  Blackfoot. 

David  McClain 

He  had  a  large  family — Hannah,  Delia, 
Ellen,  Clifford,  Oliver,  Wilburn,  Vernal  and 

Mary  Ann.  He  sold  his  place  in  Turner  and 

later  moved  to  Montana  where  he  passed 

away.  He  is  buried  at  Turner.  Lee  Thomas 

bought  this  place. 

Lee  Thomas 

Lee  and  Vera  bought  this  place,  the  Han- 
cock place  and  the  Wager  place,  the  school 

house  and  acreage.  He  farmed.  They  have  five 

children — Lorna,  Cheryl,  Glenna,  Howard 
and  Odell.  Lee  sold  to  his  boys,  Howard  and 

Odell.  They  farm  it  but  live  in  Turner.  Lee 

cleared  a  lot  more  of  the  ground. 

Nehm  Hancock 

Proved  upon  160  acres  in  the  center  of  the 

valley.  He  had  a  small  log  house.  The  log 
house  was  used  for  the  first  schoolhouse  for 

two  years.  Then  they  built  a  modern  one.  L.  C. 

Larsen  bought  this  place.  Later  Martin  Rash 

bought  it  and  then  sold  to  Lee  Thomas.  Lee 
moved  the  schoolhouse  to  Turner  and  used  it 

for  a  machine  shop. 

George  A.  Toolson 

He  proved  up  in  1897  in  the  northwest 

corner  of  the  canyon.  He  sold  to  William  Pur- 
vis in  1917.  Purvis  sold  to  Warren  Smith. 

Warren  Smith  passed  away.  When  the  boys 

got  their  share,  Sam  got  the  Beaver  Dams 

property.  He  traded  with  Harlan.  About  this 
time  Oliver  McClain  rented  the  place  for  two 

or  three  years.  They  sent  their  three 

children — Gene,  Marie  and  Bob — to  the 
Turner  school.  We  took  turns  hauling  school 

children.  Blanche  Leffler  (me)  and  Inez 

Gilbert  did  most  of  the  hauling  when  the 

weather  was  good,  and  sometimes  when  it 
wasn't  so  good. 

Harlan  Smith 

Harlan  married  Marvel  Aylett.  They 

had  four  children,  three  boys  and  one 

girl — Earl,  Raymond,  Roy  and  Mary.  Harlan 
put  a  sprinkler  system  in  and  cleared  it  of 

many  rocks.  He  said  for  every  one  he  picked 

up,  ten  came  to  its  funeral.  He  raised  hay, 

grain  and  a  good  garden,  including  raspberries 
and  strawberries.  He  also  had  currants  and 

gooseberries.  Harlan  retired  and  Earl  took 

over.  The  place  was  sold  to  Earl.  He  and  his 

wife  still  farm  it  but  live  in  Lava  Hot  Springs. 

They  have  six  children.  Harlan  passed  away 

April  1,  1969.  Marvel  passed  away  October 
27,  1975.  Both  are  buried  in  Grace. 

Chris  Jensen 

Filed  on  80  acres  in  the  west  part  of  the 

valley.  He  was  a  small  man  from  Denmark. 

He  had  a  daughter,  Lillie.  Chris  cleared  most 

of  his  land  with  a  grubbing  hoe.  He  had  a  team 
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of  bays  called  Laura  and  Nellie.  Laura  would 

open  any  latch  or  fastener  put  on  any  gate  or 
barn  door.  His  chicken  house  was  joined  right 

on  to  the  one  room  he  had  for  living  quarters. 

He  did  most  of  the  well  cleaning  in  those  days. 

He  would  go  down  the  well  and  fill  the  buckets 

with  sediment;  then,  someone  on  top  turned 

the  windlass,  winding  the  the  rope  around  and 

pulling  up  the  buckets. 
Alfred  Crandall  later  bought  this  place 

and  the  Henry  Rash  place  from  Dr.  Kackley. 

When  Alfred  gave  it  up,  it  went  back  to  Dr. 

Kackley.  It  was  idle  for  a  few  years,  then 

Walter  Haglund  bought  both  places. 

William  Szybrowsky 
William  and  his  wife,  Johanna,  worked 

for  L.  C.  Larsen  and  lived  for  a  short  time  in 
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Playground  and  school  children  at  the  Beaver  Dams 
School. 

Ross  and  Floyd  Leffler 
and  the  tip-over  on  China 

Hill  (icy  road)  Ross*  last team — Nig  and  Cooly. 
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Paul  and  Ellis  Leffler  and 
the  Leffler  horses. 
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the  little  log  house  Nehm  Hancock  built;  then 

they  moved  into  the  new  house  L.  C.  built,  and 

then  into  the  Livermore  place.  The 

Szybrowsky  children  were  Johanna,  Ella, 
Vera,  Axel,  Ruth,  John  and  Ellen.  Paul  was 

born  after  they  moved  to  Sandy,  Utah,  in 

1918.  Mr.  Szybrowsky  passed  away  at  Sandy 

in  1935.  Mrs.  Johanna  Szybrowsky  died  in 

Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  in  1973.  She  was  ninety- 
four  years  old. Paul  Leffler  and  Hal. 

Gem  Valley  Pioneers 
By  Elsie  Hubbard 

Hats  off  to  you.  Gem  Valley  Pioneers, 

For  all  the  good  you  have  done; 

For  your  patience  and  perseverance — 
For  the  battle  you  finally  won. 

For  this  valley  when  you  came  here 
Was  less  pleasing  to  the  eye; 

It  was  sage  brush,  and  more  sage  brush 

And  lava  reefs  piled  high. 

And  scattered  along  the  foot  hills. 

Perhaps  near  a  canyon  stream, 

Owned  by  a  rancher  or  trapper 

Little  log  huts  could  be  seen. 

These  people  were  "mormon  haters" 
And  each  of  them  solemnly  vowed 

That  in  this,  their  Gentile  Valley 

No  mormons  would  e'er  be  allowed. 
But  I  guess  they  were  only  bluffing. 
For  anyway  you  came. 

With  your  scanty  possessions,  and  settled 
On  your  barren  homestead  claim. 

It  took  many  long  trips  to  the  canyon 

Ere  your  little  log  cabins  were  made, 

With  dirt  roofs  and  rough  board  floor, 
And  not  one  tree  for  shade. 
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Long  weary  hours  you  labored, 
From  dawn  till  the  close  of  day, 

Plodding  along  behind  your  plows 

Clearing  the  sage  brush  away. 

Folks  ask  what  you  did  for  water; 

To  some,  this  may  be  quite  a  shock — 
For  water  was  hauled  from  Bear  River 

For  the  house,  and  also  the  stock. 

But  the  picture  was  different  in  winter, 

There  were  heaps  of  white  drifted  snow, 

To  be  scooped  in  the  boiler  and  melted 
When  the  fire  was  all  aglow. 

In  time,  "Last  Chance  Dam"  was  completed, 
Canals  and  ditches  were  made; 

Water  was  brought  to  garden  and  field — 
New  orchards  and  trees  for  shade. 

Soon  lawns  and  flowers  were  planted,  too, 

Where  sage  and  wild  grass  had  been; 

And  the  little  log  hut  was  deserted 

For  the  house  that  had  long  been  your  dream. 
New  churches  and  schools  were  in  order. 

And  some  modern  homes  far  and  near, 

No  murky  Bear  River  water  to  drink 

From  the  tap  it  came — cold  and  clear. 

Yes,  we're  proud  of  you.  Gem  Valley  Pioneers, 
For  the  couage  and  strength  you  had. 

You  had  what  it  took,  clung  to  it  and  stuck 

When  the  going  was  really  bad. 
And  this  beautiful,  green  fertile  valley 

This,  Gem  Valley,  you  helped  to  make. 

It  was  not  for  yourselves  alone  you  planned. 

But  for  your  children's  sake. 
And  the  things  you  accomplished  and  stood 

for 

Will  go  down  with  your  names  through  the 

years; 
So  again  we  say,  "Hats  off  to  you — 

Dear  Gem  Valley  Pioneers." 
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CHAPTER  III 

The  Last  Chance 

but  nobody  tried  to  get  rich — the  only  thing  they  could  think  of 

was  getting  the  water  out  on  to  the  land." 

i;; 1: 



j'T.dl^'-'4^'f^' 

The  old  flume  of  the  Last  Chance  canal  that  went  around  the  hill,  built  about  1909. 
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Life-Blood  of  our  Valley 
1  T  HAS  been  said  that  bread  is  the  staff  of 

life,  but  to  those  early  homesteaders  on  the 

Bench  and  flat  lands  of  Gem  Valley,  the  great, 

all  consuming  need  was  for  water  on  the  l^d; 
without  this  there  would  be  no  bread  and 

claims  would  have  to  be  abandoned.  Rainfall 

was  insufficient  to  produce  successful  dry  farm 

crops,  and  it  was  impossible  to  produce 

enough  hay  to  feed  the  stock  through  the 

winter.  The  only  water  available  was  that 
which  was  hauled  in  barrels  from  Bear  River. 

Between  1895  and  1902  many  heart- 
breaking attempts  had  been  made  to  get  water 

out  of  the  river  to  irrigate  this  land.  Perhaps 

the  earliest  was  made  by  Samuel  Egbert  and 

his  company  of  followers  from  West  Jordan, 

Utah.  They  built  a  wooden  flume  along  the 

great  walls  of  the  canyon  bed,  on  the  south 

side,  working  under  the  most  difficult  con- 
ditions. During  the  first  winter  heavy  snows 

drifted  over  it,  breaking  it  down.  Another 

attempt  was  organized  under  the  direction  of 

Turner,  Emmett  and  Sullivan.  They  likewise 

built  a  wooden  flume  along  the  river  bed  and 

again  the  same  destruction  was  wrought  by  the 

heavy  snows;  so  two  more  years  of  back- 

breaking  labor  and  the  sum  of  several  thou- 
sand dollars  were  lost.  But  these  courageous 

men  refused  to  give  up.  They  decided  to  make 

another  attempt  and  a  dam  site  was  selected 

one-half  mile  east  of  the  river  bridge.  They 

began  hauling  logs  from  the  canyon  and  work- 
ed nearly  all  winter,  but  for  lack  of  finances, 

and  upon  the  advice  of  experts  who  deemed 

the  site  unsuitable,  this  attempt  was  aban- 
doned. 

During  these  years  "Dam"  meetings  were 
held  often  with  men  from  all  over  the  valley 

attending — even  as  far  away  as  Chesterfield. 
Just  what  kind  of  dam  they  could  afford  to 

build  seemed  to  be  the  most  important  ques- 
tion. 

As  a  result  of  these  meetings,  on  March  4, 

1897,  three  men — John  Trappett,  George 

Stoddard,  and  David  Sullivan — went  to  the 
land  office  in  Blackfoot  and  made  the  first  fil- 

ing on  water  from  Bear  River.  This  was  a  prior 

right  to  200  cubic  feet  per  second.  It  was  filed 
on  in  the  name  of  The  Last  Chance  Irrigation 

Co.  The  name  was  selected  by  John  Trappett 

because  it  was  descriptive  of  their  situation.  If 

this  attempt  failed,  many  settlers  would  be 

forced  to  give  up  their  claims. 

Work  began  immediately  to  get  the  water 
out.  A  new  dam  site  was  selected  on  the  river 

about  a  mile  and  a  half  below  Alexander 

Point.  Men  with  crowbars,  shovels  and  crude 

instruments  of  all  sorts  dislodged  and  rolled 

boulders  down  the  hill.  Logs  were  hauled  from 

the  canyon  and  preparations  were  made  to 

begin  work  on  the  dam,  but  again  great  dif- 
ficulties were  encountered.  It  was  a  year  and  a 

half  before  the  actual  work  was  begun  on  the 
dam. 

In  1899,  on  February  14,  the  company 

organized  again  and  was  incorporated  under 

the  name  of  "The  Last  Chance  Canal  Co." 
(Ltd.)  The  directors  appointed  at  this  time 
were  Peter  Peterson  who  lived  in  Cove,  Frank 

C.  Christensen  of  Bench  and  Albert  Medford, 

John  Allsop  and  Edward  Turner  of  Grace. 

They  chose  as  their  officers  E.  J.  Turner,  presi- 
dent; F.  C.  Christensen,  vice  president;  and 

Albert  Medford,  secretary.  They  incorporated 

for  50,000  shares  with  a  par  value  of  $1  per 
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NOTICE   OF  V/ATER   RIGHT. 

STATE   OF   IDAHO,  ) 

)   SS. 
CCUNrV'  0?  BAiraocK, ) 

?C    /XJ>   COKCTuKlCE, 

iCTICE   IS  HEREBY  GIVEN: 

Ist.    That   re   the  ur.dersigned.ncnbcrs   of  The  Last    Chance   Irri- 

gation Co. of  Grace, Bannoc'K.   Co. ,  Idaho, hereby  claim  the  use  of  the 
waters   of  Bear  River    in  above  named  Co\mty  and  State  to  the  ex- 

tent  of  four  hundred  cubic  feet   per  second. 

2d.    It    is   intended  to  divert   said  water  at   or  near  the  point 

T7hore   a  copy   of  this  notice   is  posted  and  more  d  finitely  de- 
scribed as  folloK-s: —  At   the  South-east   corner  of  Section 

thirty  ( 30  ), Tormship  9, Range  41  E.B,U.,near  the  North  end  of 

what    is  kno'Tn  as  the  White  Tail  IJountiin  (In  above  description 
give   legal   cubdivicion  of   iJind  or  describe  the  place  with  ref- 

erence to  some  prominent   land-mark). 
3d.    The  puiTJOiie  for  which  said  wr.tor   is   intended  to  be  used 

is  for    irrigation  ani  culinary   and  such  other  purposes   as  we 

may  desire. 
Ti\c  pliico  of   intended  use    is   township  nine   (9), and  ten  (10) 

Ringc  39  and  40  E.and  Tovmshlp   IC  Range  41  2.3.11. 
4th.    It    iu    intended  to  divert   said  water  by  means  of  a  dam 

8  or  10  ft.uigh   -.ni  flume  about   30CC  ft.  in  length  &.  2  canals. 

The  general  course  of  the  proposed  cjials    is  South-easterly 
and  North-westerly. 

The   length  of  the  proposed  c-.nals   is   each  8  miles. 
It    is    intended  to  uue  said  water  for    irrigating  the  following 

dencrlbod   landr,: —  A  part   of  To.Tiship  0  and  10  Rmge  39  and  40 
E.and  a  part   of  Tofmshlp  10  Range  41  E.B.iu. 

5th.    I*    ii;    intended  to  have  the  works  for  the  diversion  and 

use    -f  sai^  w  ter   as   a  foresaid  completed  within  five  years. 
(This  nnist    in  no  case  exceed  five  years). 

v.'ltnccc   our  hand  at    Grace, Ban;. ock   County  ,  Idaho, this   Ist   day 
of  IvlTrch.lSO?. 

D.E.Sullivan. 
John  J.Trippctt. 
Geo.GtodCrjd, 

CI'  ir.anto. 

STAT"   C?   ID^UIO,         ) 

)   SS. ccL^:7^"  0":'  BAirAOCK, ) 

Joh:.  J.Trapp  tt   oj    Grace, Bam. ocK   County ,  Idaho, being  first, 
duly  sworii, deposes  and  says  that  he   is   of   laT.Tul  age  and  one   of 
the  claimants  of  the  w-.ter  right  mentioned   in  the  foregoing 
notice  and  .vhose  name   is   subscribed  t)jereto.Tha',   the   statements 
in  sal-  notice  are  true, and  and  that   the  original  notice, of 
which  the  for-.-goin£  notice   is  a  true  copy  was  posted   in   i  con- 

spicuous plice  at   or  near  the  place  of    intended  diversion  (as 
provided  by   liw), on  t)io  24th  day  of  February , 1807, at   30  minutes 

pa£ 

10   o'clock  A.U. 

JOini   J.TRATPETT. 

Subscribed  and  sworn  to  before  me  this   1st   day  of  March, 
1897, 

(Seal  ). 
E.S.T.hlttier, 

Notar"/  Public. 

Recorded  at  the  request  of  L.D. Sullivan, i:.arch  4th,  1897, at  9.10 
A. U. Fee. Cl. 00. John  Scott .Recorder. 

First  and  original  filing  on  the  waters  of  Bear  River  by  D.D.  Sullivan,  John  J.  Trappett  and 
George  Stoddard. 
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Some  of  the  men  who  worked  long  and  hard  on  the  Last 
Chance  Canal.  L  to  R:  John  Allsop,  (unknown),  Frank 
Christensen,  Ed  Kirby,  David  Sullivan,  George 
Swensen.  They  are  standing  in  front  of  a  crib  they  filled 
with  rock  and  left  on  the  ice  of  Bear  Riber  until  it  thaw- 

ed and  sunk,  making  the  foundation  for  the  dam. 

share.  Of  this  amount  12,272  shares  were  sub- 
scribed at  the  time  of  incorporation  and  37,728 

shares  were  later  subscribed.  Subscribing  for 

stock  did  not  require  a  cash  payment;  credit 

for  work  already  done  or  work  that  each  man 

pledged  he  would  do  later  could  be  applied  on 
the  subscribed  stock.  Then,  D.  D.  Sullivan,  Jr., 

Charles  Rich,  and  John  J.  Allsop  were  given 

the  assignment  of  commencing  the  work. 

So  once  again  work  was  begun  on  the 

dam.  The  lumber  was  logged  from  the  moun- 
tains above  and  floated  down  the  river  to  the 

dam  site.  Here  log  cribs  were  built,  filled  with 

lava  rock,  and  pulled  onto  the  ice  the  width  of 

the  river,  and  as  the  ice  melted  or  thawed,  they 

sunk  into  place  forming  the  main  bulwark  of 
the  dam. 

The  men  workea  diligently  and  un- 
faltering in  their  efforts  with  the  very  crudest 

equipment.  Many  came  for  miles  on  horses 

through  the  often  bitter  cold  and  deep  snow, 

sometimes  poorly  clad  with  feet  wrapped  in 

burlap  against  freezing.  The  people  at  this  time 

were  suffering  much  poverty  and  privation  and 

often  all  the  men  had  to  eat  was  a  little  bread 

and  gravy — perhaps  a  bit  of  bacon  for 
breakfast  and  only  bread  and  syrup  for  lunch. 
Some  men  shared  their  lunch  with  those  who 

had  nothing.  Many  times  after  work  the  men 

had  to  stop  at  the  Sullivan  home  nearby  to 

thaw  the  wet  and  frozen  burlap  from  their  feet 

and  get  warm  before  going  home. 

As  time  went  on  they  felt  they  should  have 

more  water,  so  on  the  14th  of  May,  1901,  a  fil- 
ing for  an  additional  240  cubic  feet  was  made. 

A  Mr.  Haliday  made  the  first  survey  using  a 

gun  barrel  for  a  spirit  level.  Another  surveyor, 
a  Mr.  Atkinson  from  Richmond,  Utah,  while 

he  was  surveying,  saw  a  rabbit  half  swallowed 

by  a  rattlesnake,  the  heels  of  the  rabbit  still 

kicking,  and  he  said,  "Fm  afraid  you  have  dif- 
ficulties ahead  of  you  in  building  this  dam  as 

severe  as  those  of  that  rabbit."  That  day  of  the 
first  survey  they  killed  forty-nine  rattlesnakes 
where  they  were  working. 

Also,  in  1901,  funds  were  running  low  and 

it  was  necessary  for  the  company  to  bond  itself 

to  Miller  and  Viele,  a  loan  company  of  Logan, 

Utah.  To  make  a  loan  required  an  abstract  of 

title.  When  this  was  applied  for,  it  was  found 
that  The  Last  Chance  Canal  Co.  did  not  own 

any  water.  It  was  owned  by  The  Last  Chance 

Irrigation  Co.  and  its  stockholders  were  John 

J.  Trappett,  David  Sullivan  and  Mora  Stod- 
dard. Without  legal  action  these  stockholders 

gave  a  quitclaim  deed,  conveying  all  their 
rights  and  title  to  The  Last  Chance  Canal  Co. 

With  the  title  cleared,  they  were  able  to  make 
the  first  loan  of  $1 5,000.  The  J.  B.  Slick  Co.  of 

Salt  Lake  City  was  the  contractor  on  this  job. 

As  is  usually  the  case  the  money  ran  out  before 

the  job  was  completed;  so  on  February  3,  1902, 

another  $5,000  was  borrowed  from  the  same 

company.  This  money  was  used  in  completion 
of  the  dam. 
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The  old  flume  across  Bear  River  which  carried  the 
water  to  the  west  side. 

To  comply  with  a  government  ruling,  the 

water  had  to  be  over  the  "right  of  way"  by 
February  12,  1902.  About  two  weeks  before 

this  time  expired  they  still  had  1 100  feet  to  go. 

The  ground  was  frozen  so  hard  that  it  was  im- 

possible to  dig  it.  Mr.  J.  B.  Slick,  the  contrac- 
tor from  Salt  Lake  City,  said  it  was  impossible 

to  finish  the  ditch  in  the  alloted  time  and  that 

the  Bothwell  Canal  Co.  was  ready  to  file  on  the 

water  if  they  didn't  have  it  over  the  right  of 
way  by  the  12th.  Discouraged,  everyone  had 
left  the  works  with  the  exception  of  Mr.  Slick, 

his  helpers,  and  Frank  Christensen.  After 

much  thought  Frank  suggested  they  make  a 

snow  ditch.  Mr.  Slick  thought  he  was  out  of 

his  mind  but  after  thinking  it  over,  told  him  to 

go  ahead.  He  got  some  men  to  come  back  and 

they  ploughed  an  1 100  foot  ditch  in  the  snow. 
They  ran  in  a  small  amount  of  water  at  a  time 

and  let  it  freeze  gradually,  making  an  1100- 
foot  ice  ditch  through  which  they  got  the  water 

over  the  right  of  way;  thus  saving  their  filing. 
It  took  one  hour  and  35  minutes  to  run  the 

water  through  this  ditch. 

In  building  the  canal  it  was  necessary  to 

blast  a  ditch  around  the  point  of  a  hill  on  the 
south  side  of  the  river.  This  was  a  long,  hard 

task.  One  man,  Freeborn  (Tob)  Merril  lost  his 

life  by  rolling  rocks. 

At  last  the  water  was  turned  in,  which 

secured  to  them  forever  the  right  to  the  water 

they  had  previously  filed  on.  The  canal  around 

this  point  proved  a  great  disappointment.  In  a 
short  time  the  water  found  its  way  between  the 
rocks  and  went  back  down  to  the  river.  After 

many  attempts  to  repair  this  damage  without 

success,  it  was  decided  to  secure  money 

enough  to  make  a  permanent  flume  around 
this  point. 

^:^:-| 
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The  arch — built  in  1917,  supported  the  old  flume.  The 
new  flume  built  of  steel  in  1946,  did  not  require  the  sup- 

port of  the  arch,  but  it  was  retained,  perhaps  for  sen- 
timental reasons. 

The  water  was  turned  out  on  the  east  side 

of  the  river  in  the  spring  of  1902,  with  the  East 

Branch  Canal  being  the  first  one  completed. 
Before  there  could  be  water  on  the  west  side, 

there  had  to  be  a  flume  built  across  the  river. 

This  was  built  of  lumber  and  leaked  constantly 

and  was  always  in  need  of  repairs.  The  last 
canal  to  be  finished  was  the  North  Extension 

on  the  west  side  and  this  was  completed  in 

May,  1904.  An  interesting  comment  is  made  in 
the  history  written  by  Alice  Sorensen, 

daughter  of  George  Telford,  which  depicts  the 

great  joy  and  exhilaration  feh  when  this  canal 
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was  completed: 

"As  a  little  girl  I  can  remember  when  the 
last  work  was  done  on  the  Last  Chance  Canal. 

My  father,  George  Telford,  along  with  others, 

came  home  standing  up  in  the  wagon  swinging 

the  reins  around  his  head,  shouting  and  singing 

with  the  joy  of  it.  Wagons  could  be  heard 

rumbling  all  over  the  valley  for  sometime  that 

evening." 

A  great  many  improvements  were  later 
made.  In  November  of  1916,  it  was  voted  to 

build  a  tunnel  through  the  hill  to  replace  the 

flume  running  around  the  hill.  The  contract 
was  awarded  to  Morrison  Knudson  Co.  of 

Boise,  Idaho  on  Sept.  12,  1916  for  the  con- 
struction of  1 ,476  feet  of  tunnel  for  the  sum  of 

$12,500.00.  The  job  was  completed  in  1917.  It 

has  been  said  that  the  tunnel  was  dug  by  two 

"Swedes"  who  were  brothers.  Each  began 
digging  at  the  opposite  end  and  met,  almost 

miraculously,  right  in  the  middle.  Another  in- 

teresting "tidbit"  concerning  the  tunnel  is  that 
one  can  stand  at  one  end  and  look  through  and 

see  the  daylight  out  the  other  end;  yet,  in  walk- 
ing through,  when  one  reaches  midway  it  is 

pitch  black  and  neither  end  can  be  seen.  No 

one  has  found  an  explanation  for  this  yet.  The 

great  arch  which  was  built  of  concrete  to  sup- 
port the  flume  across  the  river  was  also  built  at 

this  time.  It  still  stands  and  was  considered  at 

one  time  to  be  one  of  the  seven  wonders  of  the 

world  (so  the  story  goes).  There  has  been  built 

nearly  a  mile  of  earth  work  banks  to  replace 
the  flume  which  conducted  water  from  the 

dam  itself.  The  original  wooden  flumes  leaked 

a  great  deal  and  were  subject  to  decay.  They 

were  repeatedly  replaced  with  wood,  and  each 

time  the  builders  investigated  the  cost  of  metal 

construction,  which  was  prohibitive  until  1926 
and  1927.  At  this  time  both  flumes  were 

replaced  with  all  steel  flumes. 

The  Last  Chance  Canal  Co.  has  been 

famous  throughout  the  West  because  of  the 

fact  that  it  was  built  without  federal  assistance, 

and  also  without  the  outside  capital  that  usual- 
ly is  necessary  in  an  undertaking  of  this 

magnitude.  It  is  also  unique  in  that  it  does  not 

deliver  water  directly  to  the  farmers.  Instead  it 

delivers  water  to  five  laterals  owned  by  three 

independent  companies — the  Bench  Canal 
Co.,  the  North  Extension  Canal  Co.,  and  the 

Tanner  Canal  Co.  These  three  companies 

delivered  water  at  one  time  to  approximately 

275  stockholder  farmers.  At  the  present  time 
there  are  about  170  stockholders  with  the 

water  covering  around  36,000  acres  of  ground. 

The  Canal  Co.  at  the  present  time  owns  657 

cubic  feet  of  water.  This  was  made  possible 

when,  in  April,  1919,  other  filings  made  by 

separate  canal  companies  were  traded  to  The 

Last  Chance  for  4,500  shares  of  capital  stock. 

This,  added  to  their  440  feet,  brought  their 

holdings  to  over  600  feet  of  water. 

The  total  length  of  The  Last  Chance 
Canal  is  about  three  miles  and  includes  a  dam, 

levy,  tunnel,  fiumes,  headgates,  measuring 
devices,  and  two  branch  canals.  The  dam 

forces  the  water  into  a  headgate  where  it  flows 

into  a  1,650  foot  earth-lined  canal;  a  2,200- 

foot  tunnel  conveys  the  water  to  a  700-foot 
flume,  which  spans  the  Bear  River.  The  water 

then  travels  an  1 100-foot  arc  before  emptying 
into  the  three  major  laterals,  owned  by  the 

private  companies. 

During  the  first  40  years  all  the  designs 

were  made  by  private  engineers  and  surveyors. 
Since  1945  technical  assistance  has  been  given 

by  S.C.S.  engineers.  The  S.C.S.  engineers 

designed  all  the  headgates,  measuring  devices 
and  the  1,650  foot  of  unlined  canal  from  the 

dam  to  the  tunnel  which  replaced  the  wooden 
flume. 
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In  June,  1917,  the  Utah  Power  and  Light 

Co.  brought  suit  against  the  Last  Chance 

Canal  Co.  Ltd.  to  get  a  decree  on  the  waters  of 

Bear  River  and  Bear  Lake.  This  was  a  bitterly 

fought  lawsuit  and  cost  the  canal  co.  a  great 
deal  of  money.  It  lasted  for  three  years,  ending 

in  June,  1920.  Men  who  spent  time  in 

Pocatello  working  on  this  case  were  John 
Williams,  W.C.  Creer,  George  Telford, 

William  Corbett,  and  their  lawyer,  J.H.  Peter- 
son. In  1923  the  Canal  Co.  was  notified  that, 

according  to  the  court  decree,  they  could  in  the 

future  use  only  40  percent  of  their  water 
measurement  before  April  and  after 

September  15.  This  caused  extreme  hardship 

to  many  farmers  and  more  time  and  money 

was  spent  fighting  this  through  the  federal 
water  commission  as  their  lawyer  advised 

them  to  do;  but  the  ruling  still  holds,  so  their 
efforts  were  in  vain. 

In  order  for  the  farms  to  have  electricity, 

the  Last  Chance  Co.  made  arrangements  for  a 

power  site  and  attempted  to  file  on  water  for 

Another  view  of  the  flume;  note  old  timbers  lying 
around  after  construction. 

Last  Chance  Dam; 

Fred  VanVleet 
testing  the 
water  of 

Bear  River. 
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the  purpose  but  found  that  the  Power  Co.  had 
filed  on  the  last  water  available.  It  was  not  un- 

til the  government  ruled  many  years  later  that 

power  must  be  extended  wherever  it  was 
demanded,  that  the  farms  were  electrified. 

In  1917  a  Ford  car  was  purchased,  a  two- 
passenger  model,  and  it  cost  them  the  sum  of 
$385.  This  car  was  used  for  22  years. 

Directors  were  paid  in  those  days  $2.50 

per  meeting;  the  president  was  paid  $50.00  per 

year;  and  the  secretary  was  paid  from  $100  to 

$125  per  year  until  about  1920  when  his  salary 
was  raised  to  $300. 

In  1946  another  all-steel  flume  was  built 

above  the  arch  and,  although  no  longer 

necessary,  the  arch  has  never  been  removed. 

This  was  the  last  flume  built  by  the  Company. 

It  took  fifteen  years  to  pay  off  the  original 

indebtedness  and  on  February  23,  1914  (exact- 
ly 15  years  from  the  date  of  incorporation)  a 

big  celebration  was  held  in  the  Columbia  Hall. 

There  was  feasting  and  dancing  and  speakers 

who  retold  stories  of  the  building  of  the  system 

and  a  fine  musical  program  was  arranged.  No 

one  who  was  there  would  ever  forget. 

Fred  Cooper,  who  served  as  secretary  of 
the  Last  Chance  Canal  Co.  from  1928  until  his 

death  in  1961  had  this  to  say: 

"It  can  be  said  of  the  men  who  organized 
this  company  and  carried  out  the  work 

necessary  to  complete  the  canal,  that  they  were 

real  pioneers  in  every  sense  of  the  word.  They 

were  willing  to  make  the  sacrifice  necessary 

without  a  murmur  of  discouragement,  always 

forging  ahead  and  helping  one  another  in  com- 

mon endeavor." 

Throughout  the  years  a  great  many  men 

throughout  the  valley  contributed  greatly,  not 

only  of  their  time,  but  of  their  money  to  assist 

in  this  tremendous  accomplishment.  In- 
dividuals loaned  $117,391.26  to  the  company 

at  6  percent  interest.  In  1962  a  loan  was 

secured  so  that  these  men  could  be  totally 

repaid.  The  company  at  the  present  time  is 

competely  out  of  debt  except  for  a  few  thou- 
sand dollars  due  to  the  Utah  Mortgage  & 

Loan  Co.  on  the  above  loan. 

We  would  urge  all  of  you  who  read  this 

book  to  go  up  to  the  Dam — ^just  a  short  dis- 
tance east  of  Grace — and  while  you  look,  try 

to  envision  the  problems  faced  by  these  brave 

men  in  the  early  1900's  with  the  tools  that  were 
then  available.  How  did  they  hold  the  water 

under  control  while  getting  the  dam  in  where 

the  walls  were  so  steep  and  high — and  the 
water  so  swift  and  deep?  The  amazing  tunnel! 

The  massive  concrete  arch!  Surely  a  deep  feel- 
ing of  humility  will  come  over  you  and  a 

greater  appreciation  for  the  men  who  fought  so 

desperately  to  get  water  out  on  the  land  and 

who  finally  succeeded  in  their  great  effort.  We 

have  reaped  the  benefits.  Our  valley  has 

become  a  choice,  fertile  area  where  hundreds 

of  thousands  of  bushels  of  grain  are  produced 

each  year.  The  seed  potatoes  raised  in  our 

valley  are  unsurpassed  anywhere  in  the  state  or 
nation.  Thousands  of  dollars  worth  of  cattle 

and  sheep  are  shipped  or  trucked  out  every 

year.  The  dairy  industry  in  our  valley  has  gain- 

ed fame  and  national  recognition  for  produc- 

ing some  of  the  outstanding  dairy  cows  in  the 

nation.  Many  grade-A  dairy  farms  dot  the 
valley.  Until  recently  two  cheese  factories  were 

in  operation.  Yes — because  of  the  "The  Last 

Chance"  our  valley  has  become  a  true  "Gem" 
of  Idaho. 
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List  of  the  first  stockholders  in  The  Last 

Chance  Canal  Co.  (Incorporated  February  14, 
1899): 

Allsop,    John;    AUsop,    Reuben;    Anderson, 

George  D.;  Black,  Martin;  Bannister,  Josiah; 

Calkins,    J.    P.;    Cragan,    James;    Cragan, 
Thomas;  Cole,  W.  G.;  Christensen,  Frank  C; 

Detton,  John;  Dalton,  John;  Eckersley,  John; 

Ellis,  Thomas  M.;  Egbert,  Joseph  S.;  Egbert, 

Wm.  R.;  Egley,  Jacob;  Egley,  Charles;  Ellis, 

George  W.;   Ellefsen,   P.   M.;  Gibbs,  John; 
Green,  Mark;  Green,  James;  Harris,  Frank 

A.;  Hayes,  Richard;  Harris,  Daniel;  Hawkins, 

J.  W.;  Hamp,  George;  Hansen,  Joseph   L.; 

Hansen,  E.  O.;  Hughes,  H.  C;  Jerman,  Daniel 

S.;  Jensen,  James;  Johnson,  Nels;  Kingsford 

Robert;  Kirby,  Edward;  Kirby,  James;  Kirby 
John;    Merrill,    Freeborn;    Medford,   Albert 

Mickelson,  Chris;  Mickelson,  Canute;  Mon 

tague,    E.    E.;    Nanney,    L    W.;    Nanney 

Sylvarius;  Olsen,  Olaf;  Ormond,  W.  C;  Perry 
Henry;  Peterson  Brothers;  Rasmussen,  Hans 

J.;  Rich,  Landon;  Rainey,  George  W.;  Stod- 
dard,   Elias;   Steadman,   Thomas;   Sorensen, 

Charles;  Sharp,  J.  M.;  Sorensen,  John;  Stead- 
man,  John;  Sharp,  G.  M.;  Turner,  John  R.; 

Trappett,  John  J.;  Turner,  Edward  J.;  Tanner, 

George;  Willis,  Steven. 

Presidents  and  secretaries  of  The  Last 

Chance  Canal  Co.  (from  1899  to  1976): 
President:  E.  J.  Turner,  1899  to  Feb.  1904; 

David  Miles,  Feb.  1904  to  Feb.  1907;  John 

Williams,  Feb.  1907  to  Jan.  31,  1922;  David 

Miles,  Feb.  1922  to  Jan.  1923;  Wm.  Corbett, 

Jan.  1923  to  Jan.  1925;  John  Kirby,  Feb.  1925 
to  Jan.  1934;  A.  E.  Hubbard,  Jan.  1934  to 

Nov.  1935;  Andrew  Adams,  Nov.  1935  to  Oct. 

1948;  Roe  White,  Nov.  1948  to  Oct.  1949; 

Wesley  Hubbard,  Nov.  1949  to  Oct.  1963; 

Lowell  Hansen,  Nov.  1963  to  Nov.  1964;  Jack 

Gibbs,  Nov.  1964  to  Oct.  1965;  Harold 

Varley,    Nov.    1965    to    Nov.    1966;    Lowell 

Hansen,  Nov.  1966  to  Nov.  1967;  Kenneth 

Tarbet,  Nov.  1967  to  Nov.  1976;  Don  W. 

Gilbert,  Nov.  1976  to  present. 

Present  Board  of  Directors:  1976;  Don  W. 

Gilbert,  President;  W.  Kenneth  Tarbet,  Vice- 
President;  Orrin  Harris,  Secretary;  Directors: 
Merrill  Hubbard,  Glen  Allen,  John  Jr. 

Thomas  (Q.  R.  Pack  was  the  local  foreman  in 

charge  of  the  over-all  construction.) 
Secretary;  Albert  Medford,  1899  to  1901; 

George  Tanner,  1901  to  1902;  T.  J.  McCann, 

1902  to  1904;  George  Telford,  1904  to  1928;  F. 

M  Cooper,  1928  to  1961;  Lawrence  Burgin, 

1961  to  1972;  Orrin  Harris,  1972  to  present. 

Watermasters:  John  J.  Trappett,  1905  to 
1907;  John  Gibbs,  1907  to  1931;  John 

Williams,  1931  to  1939;  Fred  VanVleet,  1939 

to  present.  Mr.  Slick  was  the  engineer  who 

directed  the  building  of  the  first  fiumes  and 

Dam.  W.  A.  Samms  was  the  engineer  in 

charge  of  tunnel  and  arch. 

The  Banquet 

(As  reported  by  The  Soda  Springs  Chieftain, 
published  February  26,  1914) 

By  all  odds  one  of  the  largest  gatherings 

in  the  history  of  the  great  Gem  Valley 

assembled  at  the  thriving  little  village  of  Grace 

last  Monday  afternoon  and  evening  through 
invitation  of  The  Last  Chance  Canal  Company 

to  celebrate  and  honor  the  pioneers  and 

promoters  of  the  Last  Chance  Canal  and  of  the 

payment  of  their  bonded  indebtedness.  The  af- 
fair will  never  be  forgotten  by  those  who  were 

fortunate  enough  to  receive  an  invitation,  and 

the  committee  composed  of  Messrs.  John 
Williams,  Frank  Merrill,  John  Reeder,  Frank 
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Harris,  and  J.  Fred  Potter  did  themselves 

proud  in  managing  the  affair  and  the  large 

crowd  of  people  without  one  single  hitch. 

The  affair,  proper,  took  place  in  the  large 
and  commodious  Columbia  Amusement  Hall, 

which  building,  by  the  way,  would  be  a  credit 

to  a  city  of  ten  thousand  people,  although  a 

part  of  the  program  was  carried  out  at  the  fine 

new  tabernacle.  At  this  place  the  Grace  band 

dispensed  music  and  there  was  singing,  speak- 
ing, and  other  pleasing  events.  Stories  by  the 

early  settlers,  how  they  struggled  along, 

meeting  every  known  adversity,  but  persistent 

to  the  last,  when  victory  finally  crowned  their 
efforts,  were  told. 

At  6:30  the  guests  were  seated  at  the 

banquet  tables,  when  President  John  Williams 

opened  the  ceremonies  with  a  well-worded  ad- 
dress after  which  he  introduced  L.  Sumner 

Pond  as  Toastmaster.  He  in  his  usual  classic 

and  witty  manner  called  attention  to  the  many 

good  things  in  waiting  and  admonished  all  to 

be  slow  about  their  eating  and  not  to  eat  too 

fast,  for  they  would  be  in  their  seats  for 

sometime  to  listen  to  the  program  that  had 

been  arranged. 

Bishop  McGee  Harris  offered  the  bless- 
ing. 

Toastmaster  Pond  was  in  doubt  about 

everyone  present  being  able  to  obtain  a  seat;  it 

was  beyond  his  mind  to  conceive,  and  he  called 

upon  Bishop  Hubbard  (A.  E.  Hubbard)  to 

mount  to  the  platform  and  tell  the  crowd  that 

they  were  welcome.  This,  Mr.  Hubbard  did 
and  he  bid  them  welcome  in  a  most  excellent 

manner. 

The  next  speaker  was  E.  J.  Turner,  and 

intorucing  him,  Toastmaster  Pond  paid  him  a 

most  glowing  tribute.  Mr.  Turner  gave  quite  a 

bit  of  history  in  connection  with  the  building  of 

The  Last  Chance  Canal,  the  many  starts,  the 

quits,  and  finally  the  finishing  of  the  canals 

that  made  a  garden  spot  of  Gem  Valley.  He 

told  of  coming  to  the  valley  in  1877,  of  the 

possibility  of  getting  water  from  the  big  Bear 
River  to  water  thousands  of  rich  acres  and 

finally  of  work  being  started  on  the  canal  in 

1897,  of  its  incorporation  on  February  14, 

1899,  and  of  its  completion  and  water  turned 

on  in  February  of  1902.  He  was  the  company's 
first  president  and  he  was  a  very  proud  man  to 

be  present  on  this  night  to  help  his  co-workers 
celebrate. 

J.  J.  Trappett  was  called  upon  by  the 

toastmaster  and  he  told  the  history  of  the  Last 
Chance,  of  his  work  on  it  and  of  his  faith  in  its 

success  from  the  very  start.  It  was  Mr. 

Trappett  who  named  the  canal  "The  Last 

Chance  Canal". 

Other  speakers  who  gave  interesting 

history  of  the  early  days  in  the  building  of  the 

canal  were:  David  Miles,  John  Allsop,  T.  J. 

McCann,  Lewis  S.  Pond,  Mrs.  J.  J.  Cherry, 
and  Albert  Medford. 

During  the  time  in  between  the  speakers  a 

most  splendidly  arranged  program  was 

presented,  consisting  of  band  music, 

quartettes,  piano  solos,  etc.  which  were 
thoroughly  enjoyed. 

A  toast  to  the  ladies  by  the  Hon.  W.  H. 

Mendenhall  was  a  happy  thought  of  the  toast- 
master,  after  which  the  Egbert  Quartette  sang 

"Hard  Times  Come  Again  No  More".  This 
marked  the  finishing  of  the  banquet  and  of  the 

greatest  event  ever  held  in  Grace  or  the  entire 
Gem  Valley. 

The  menu  was  splendidly  arranged  and 

was  served  by  forty  or  more  young  ladies  who 

added  to  the  pretty  scene.  The  hall  was 

tastefully  decorated  and  immediately  over  the 
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stage  in  great  big  letters  was  this  sign:  "FREE 
FROM  BONDAGE". 

After  the  hall  had  been  cleared,  dancing 

was  indulged  in.  Before  the  evening  was  over, 

word  was  brought  that  the  Bench  Canal  had 
overflowed  its  banks  and  the  road  north  was 

under  deep  water  and  it  would  be  safer  to  wait 

until  daylight  to  go  home,  so  many  just  danced 
or  sat  around  and  visited  until  dawn.  It  was 

truly  a  memorable  evening  for  all  who  attend- 
ed. 

The  following  guests  were  present:  Mr. 
and  Mrs:  A.L.  Andreasen,  M.  W.  Lowe,  John 

Roghaar,  Olaf  Norseth,  Mathias  Lowe,  Frank 

Harris,  C.H.  Poulsen,  John  Allsop,  Elias 

Stoddard,  George  Hamp,  Sr.,  George  Hamp, 
Jr.,  Frank  Potter,  John  A.  Dalton,  John  J. 

Trappett,  W.A.  Larsen,  J.H.  Tolman,  John 

Wiliams,  Ernest  Egbert,  E.  Andrew  Adams, 

Charles  Rich,  Thurber  Johnson,  O.H.  Warner, 

Charles  Eddy,  E.E.  Montague,  L.E.  Hansen, 

W.  R.  Egbert,  Doris  Peterson,  McGee  Harris, 

Lars  Rasmussen,  W.W.  Hayes,  O.F.  Rosdale, 
Frank  Merrill,  Robert  Cornish,  Alec 

Beckstead,  J.F.  Jeppson,  C.  Rosdale,  George 

Allsop,  Rufus  Adams,  George  Tanner,  Christ 

Johnson,  John  Allsop,  William  Corbett,  John 

Van  Vleet,  Frank  Snow,  John  Thompson, 

T.M.  Ellis,  Robert  Sharp,  Jack  Bennett,  An- 
drew Anderson,  Fred  C.  Olsen,  H. 

Westenfelder,  C.B.  Goldsberry,  Stewart 

Mingo,  Geo  McClellan,  Richard  Turner, 

Almon  Myers,  E.J.  Turner,  S.  Thomas,  Fred 
Burton,  C.C.  Call,  Ira  VandenAkker,  W.B. 

Wright,  Arthur  Peck,  Lewis  S.  Pond,  Roy 
Green,  W.H.  Mendenhall,  W.C.  Ormond, 

David  Miles,  P.C.  Calkins,  F.  Rindlisbaker, 

John  Yost,  Henry  Mickelson,  Fred  Sant,  Ed 

Kirby,  Ed  Reddish,  Albert  Johnson,  Joseph 

Purvis,  Robert  Kirkham,  Francis  Allen,  Roy 
Stanford,  J.W.  Whitehead,  Nels  Peterson, 

John    VandenAkker,    F.C.    Crhistensen, 

Edward  Peterson,  William  Gilbert,  I.W. 

Nanney,  Percy  Purvis,  Harvey  Gibson,  D.H. 

Bassett,  Hy  Swensen,  Oscar  Fullmer,  Andrew 

Gray,  C.H.  Mickelson,  N.P.  Neilsen,  Carl 
Anderson,  Charles  Hubbard,  L.  Sumner 

Pond,  R.E.  Lord,  M.  McMearty,  Warren 
Smith,  Melbourne  Green,  Dave  Revoir, 

George  Telford,  Charles  Lund,  Benjamin 

Clegg,  J.H.  Hubbard,  A.E.  Hubbard,  Ellis 
George,  Frank  Whitehead,  S.  Nanney,  Joseph 

Wright,  Sam  Egbert,  Jesse  Aylett,  Frank 
Gummersall,  Albert  Hayes,  Albert  Hansen, 

Arch  Gunnell,  George  Bybee,  Peter  Johnson, 

Robert  Burns,  Joseph  Pond,  Reuben  Allsop, 

Joseph  Christensen,  J. A.  Reeder,  Fred  Potter, 
Frank  Harris,  C.W.  Harris,  E.B.  Ratcliff, 
Thomas  Cully. 

Mrs.  C.C.  Sullivan,  Mrs.  J. A.  Toone, 

Mrs.  Martin  Black.  Messrs:  W.E.  Hammond, 

Emil  Eliason,  Gus  Peterson,  Joseph 

VanMarker,  R.  Beckstead,  Walter  Sullivan, 

N.  Barton,  Frank  Christensen,  Albert  Med- 
ford,  Nels  Johnson,  Robert  Kingsford,  John 

Gibbs,  John  Kirby,  A.  Longenbohn,  Calvin 
Bennett,  Leo  Bennett,  James  McCann,  Arthur 

Collins,  William  Poulson,  James  Mills,  Fred 

Barfuss,  H.  Hale,  Jr.,  Royal  Bowler,  Fred 

Blower,  Ernest  Galey,  W.H.  Smith,  David  J. 

McClain,  George  Rich,  Peter  Hansen,  John 
Anderson,  Denzil  Poulsen,  Oscar  Ransom,  C. 

A.  Williams.  O.  H.  Thompson,  L.J.  Durrant, 

Frank  Merrill,  M.  Harris,  Roy  Harris,  Roy 

and  Curtis  Quails,  Israel  Green,  Parley  White, 

George  Small,  W.H.Hildreth. 

Waitresses:  Myrtle  Pond,  Frances  Gray, 

Alba  Tanner,  Virda  Hamp,  Florence  Reeder, 

lone  Bird,  Gladys  Sullivan,  Caroline  Sullivan, 

Ada  Ormond,  Louise  Mingo,  Louise  and 

Grace  Joseph,  Jennie  Dalton,  Nessie  Quails, 

Reta  Kirby,  Alice  Telford,  Addie  Poulson, 
Leah  Poulson,  Lillie  Lowe,  Rachel  Hardy, 

Madge  Bassett,  Ollie  Larsen. 
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J     C     GRe.Aves    a    SONS 
1          A    STRICTLY  CASH  'STORE          | 

L     SUMNER    POND 

HARDWARE 

FURNITURE 

HARNESS 

SADDLES 

GRACE    MERCANTILE  CO 
FARM   PRODUCE 

BOUGHT»~dSOLD 

alexander   idaho 

DEALERS   IN   GENERAL    MERCHANDISE 

40 
25 

40 25 

1   31c  Flour  1 .5  3 
50   ;/  Sugar  2. BO 
20l  Raisins  10/ 
20   }  Currants        IZ 
20.V    Butter  25 
1   9^   ̂ g?s 
20«-  I'ov>fuer  ugar 
5,/  Baking  lov.der 
3  Lish  ians  79 iiutrneg 

Allspice 
Cinnamon 
IColasses 
Vanilla 

1  jjoz   Lemnos 
5,;'    Almonds 
3    Telephones    to   loc. 
50   Tin   ?4e  Hates 
50.r   Flour Starch 
2  Loz   l.emons 
3  "        3ggs 
Sugar 
xicid 

50  Yds   jiunting      5(/ 
Cash   for  Flowers 

1  Tub 
5.;-  Lard 
64,,-^  Boiled  liam  £8/ 
6  Loz  ̂ ggs      25 
107  yds  -heeting25 
10;  Kails       4/ 
4  C'ts  ̂ -ar  Cherries 
2  '^al  Sweet   ickles 
1  doz  larsley 
2  3oto  Olive  Oil 
20   "  Olives  00 
2   '^al  Oweet  -ickles 
1  5ox  Apples 
bleach 

30,/   -ijard Vir.ef  ar 
i  i tchers 
2  TuLs 
lepper    .^tlt 
I'''   Jatsup- 
'^u    .'ust!  rd 

b 
hekcrs 

;o 

GRACE,    IDAHO, ::8  ivi4 

to    Dfrden    .2 

4/" 

oda 

1.8^ 

2.r0 

2.00 
2.60 
5.00 

7.5^:^ 

2.75 

2.00 

2.37 
.40 

.20 .30 

.80 
1.50 

.40 1.25 4  . .  5 

2.00 
1.05 

.10 

1.20 .75 
1.00 
..10 1.50 
9.00 

.75 

.75 

18.92 

1.50 26.75 

.40 
2.85 

?,no 

.40 1.00 
6.00 2.70 
1.75 

.27 

4.25 

.60 l.S^ 

1.50 1.10 

5.5". 

List  of  groceries  purchased  at  tlie  Grace  Mercantile  Co.  for  the  banquet. 
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PROPDlETonS 
1         A   STRICTLY  CASH    STORE         | 

'  '".1:1":°"° 
HARDWARE 

FURNITURE 

HARNESS 

SADDLES 

GRACE    MERCANTILE  CO 
FARM   PRODUCE 

BOUGHTandSOLD 

alexander.  idaho 
DEALERS    IN    GENERAL    MERCHANDISE 

GRACE,    IDAHO, 

xvmount  brj't    -  or\.fird   
1^'    "^  ̂ t  iuustared 
;'125  leper  i-lates 
1  ran 
1   iail 

2'  ̂   Oran.ecs  2  .00 
S   y   -:>?^r.r.as  .^.7  5 
1    -    iipples 
30,    Butter  25 

1    Jk  ?'lour 20,r»r.ute  20 
8   doz    celery  86 
150   Fryers      549,    y20(/ 
1    Jrate    Jabba^e 
10   Gal   -lince    -est     1.00 

1A5'^    raper  1  apples  1.75 
4  GrooB  opooriS   1.50 
4  5  *>oniino  ougar   70 
5  2/    "      "      50 
1  :•'  Lobsters 
75  3ricl:s  Ice  Oream  40 
--xpress  Bills 

i'ranV:  uerrill  Cream 
'.  rank  riarrip  " :; ._  .Hr.rris  i^abor 

rheo  i-^eoford  " 

Loyal  Egbert  " 
James  -toulcen  " 
eldon  Ledford  " 

17  5  idc-  rtunting 

:.ess  ^reiits 

6  .16 

1.70 
4.eo 

.79 .75 

6.00 11.25 

1.75 7.50 

1.05 4.00 6.40 
69.80 
4.50 

10. on 25.50 

6.00 
2,80 

.90 
]_/!  ̂ OO 

5o!0O 

1.10 
1.73 
5.50 
1.44 

.45 

7  28 
7!50 

1.50 
2.25 

4/ 
50 
25 
25 
25 

.75 
7.00 

Balance  Due  Uf 

.^•
 

385    .80 
20    .73 

5     .07 

<J  t»  o* 

List  of  groceries  purchased  at  the  Grace  Mercantile  Co.  for  the  banquet. 
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CHAPTER  IV 

The  Power  Companies 

Thi^  plant  was  one  of  the  first  multi-purpose,  hydro-electric  plants  in 

the  world  ..." 

■m 

1)1, 

■Hi 

f^.  /\4a^a^^« 

%  -  ' \... 

\n- 4t 



^  .»«»  J  \m  M 

Quince  Pack,  first  storekeeper  in  Grace,  standing  on  the  first  pipeline  built  by  the  power  company. 
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Telluride  and  Utah  Power  &  Light  Co. 
T HE  STORY  of  electricity  is  such  a 
fascinating  one,  that,  aUhough  this  story  is  to 

be  confined  to  Grace  as  nearly  as  possible,  we 

must  include  some  of  the  early  beginnings  of 

electrical  power  to  gain  a  proper  appreciation 

of  one  of  the  great  achievements  of  this  section 

of  our  country. 

Two  years  after  Edison  invented  the  elec- 
tric light,  the  Salt  Lake  Power,  Light  and 

Heating  Co.  was  formed;  and  Salt  Lake  City 

became,  in  April  1881,  the  fifth  city  in  the 

world  to  have  a  central — powered  electric 
lighting  system.  In  1889  Salt  Lake  City 

launched  its  first  street  car  powered  with  elec- 
tricity. 

L.  L.  Nunn,  a  lawyer,  interested  in  mining 

in  Utah  and  desiring  to  develop  electric  power 

for  mining  purposes,  built  a  plant  at  Ames, 

Colorado,  to  supply  the  Gold  King  mine  with 

power.  This  became  the  Telluride  Power  Co. 

and  was  built  in  1891.  Here  was  the  first  plant 

in  the  world  to  transmit  alternating  current  at 

high  voltage  for  power  purposes.  Mr.  Nunn's 
brother,  Paul  N.  Nunn,  was  the  engineer  and 

many  of  the  construction  practices  and  equip- 
ment, now  standard,  orginated  at  this  plant  in 

Ames.  It  was  here  that  many  of  the  ideas  for 

the  Niagara  Falls  Power  Company  originated. 

Paul  N.  Nunn  became  the  superintendent  of 

the  Niagara  Falls  Company. 

In  1897  Mr.  Nunn  built  a  hydroelectric 

plant  on  the  Provo  river  in  Utah  which  was  the 
first  in  the  United  States  to  transmit  44,000 

volts.  The  32-mile  line  to  the  Mercur  Mine  was 

in  use  in  1898  and  made  Mercur  the  first  fully 

electrically  equipped  mine  in  the  history  of 
mining. 

At  this  time  there  were  no  trained  men 

available  and  only  one  college  in  the  United 

States  where  electrical  engineering  was  taught. 

This  was  in  Ohio.  These  were  the  reasons  for 

promoting  the  renowned  educational  program 
of  the  Nunn  Brothers. 

In  1903  the  Olmstead  Plant  was  built  in 

Provo  Canyon  with  a  school,  a  library,  a 

beautiful  dormitory,  classrooms  and  a  recrea- 
tion room.  Here  selected  young  men  were 

given  jobs  at  which  they  worked  a  full  shift  and 
attended  classes.  They  received  an  education 

which  could  not  be  duplicated  anywhere  else 

and  after  two  years  they  were  prepared  for  en- 
trance to  their  choice  of  college  at  Yale  or 

Cornell  Universities  with  $1,000.00  per  year 

available  to  them  while  they  attended. 

In  1906,  L.  L.  Nunn  came  to  Grace  with  a 

company  of  men  and  began  the  construction  of 
the  Telluride  Power  Company  with  the  dam 

north  of  Grace  on  the  Bear  River  and  the  plant 

buildings  a  few  miles  down  in  the  valley.  This 

plant  was  one  of  the  first  multi-purpose, 
hydroelectric  plants  in  the  world.  The  first 

Grace  dam,  pipeline  number  one,  surge  tank 

number  one,  first  powerhouse  and  first  two  un- 
its were  built  in  1906-08  to  generate  1 1,000  kw. 

A  wooden  crib,  rock-filled  dam  44  feet  high 
and  185  feet  wide  was  built  on  the  river  a  mile 

and  a  half  north  of  the  village  of  Grace.  Water 

was  diverted  from  the  river  at  this  point  and 
carried  some  four  and  a  half  miles  across  a 

plateau  by  pipeline  to  connect  again  with  Bear 
River  at  the  present  site  of  the  Grace  Plant. 
The  river  in  this  area  makes  a  wide  bend  and 

drops  some  530  feet  between  the  dam  site  and 

powerhouse  site.  This  provides  a  static  head  of 
524  feet.  The  upper  end  of  this  early  pipeline 

was  wood-stave  construction,  eight  feet  six  in- 
ches in  diameter,  while  the  lower  three-fourths 

of  the  fiowline  was  made  of  seven  million 

pounds  of  riveted  steel  plate. 

Expansion  of  the  Grace  plant  was  begun 
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in  1913  by  Utah  Power  and  within  13  months 

capacity  at  the  plant  had  trebled.  A  new 

powerhouse  was  built  beside  the  old  one  and 
units  three  and  four  installed  with  provisions 

for  a  fifth  unit.  A  new  intake  and  gate  house 
was  built  at  the  Grace  dam  and  number  two 

pipeline,  and  an  1 1  foot  diameter  wood-stave 
flowline  was  constructed.  Another  surge  tank 

was  built.  The  old  quarters  building  burned 

down  in  1914  and  the  present  quarters  building 

was  completed  in  1915.  Grace  was  then  the 

biggest  station  on  the  newly  integrated  UP&L 

system. 
By  the  time  World  War  I  hit  in  1917, 

number  five  unit  was  planned  for  Grace  and 
materials  had  started  to  arrive.  These 

materials  were  stockpiled  and  the  project 
shelved  until  the  war  was  over.  Grace  had 

taken  on  great  importance  to  the  area 

economy  and  the  national  defense.  Troops 

were  garrisoned  on  the  station  as  guards 

against  sabotage.  Their  barracks  building  later 
was  made  into  a  recreation  hall  for  the  station. 

With  the  coming  of  peace,  work  on  the 
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A  view  of  the  first  dam  and  pipeline. 

Tlie  first  Dam 

and  flowline — 
taken  in  1913. 
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The  old  Grace 

Station  Intake- 1913. 
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fifth  unit  was  started  again.  Flowline  number 

three,  a  13  foot,  six  inch  wood  pipe,  was  con- 
structed from  a  new  gate  house  and  intake  to 

join  tlowline  number  two  about  half  way 

between  the  dam  and  the  plant.  It  provided  ad- 
ditional water  for  the  new  unit.  This  unit  went 

Grace  Station 
Power  House 

1913. 
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Old  Grace 

Station 
Switchboard. 
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Old  Grace 
Station 

Generator. 
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into  operation  in  1923  to  give  Grace  its  44,000 

kw  capacity  and  make  it  the  mightiest  UP&L 

hydro  plant.  (1957) 

Penstock  No.  4,  looking  N.E.—  1915. 

Old  timers  will  remember  when  transpor- 
tation to  the  station  was  furnished  by  a  team  of 

horses  pulUng  a  white-top  wagon  in  summer 
and  a  sled  in  winter.  They  will  remember 

driver,  Artie  Bannister,  who  eagerly  awaited 

the  arrival  of  each  new  engineer  to  challenge 

him  to  a  game  of  cribbage  or  pool.  And  they'll 
remember  the  great  difficulty  dam  attendants 

had  with  mush  ice.  Fast  running  water,  expos- 
ed to  chilling,  freezing  air,  formed  little  pellets 

of  ice  which  soon  jammed  the  screens  at  the  in- 
takes. During  heavy  freezing,  steam  heat  and 

compressed  air  were  used  to  keep  the  intakes 
free.  Construction  of  the  Soda  Dam  in  1927 

upstream  from  Grace  dam  eliminated  most  of 
the  trouble. 

By  1924,  13  cottages  and  two  warehouses 
had  been  built  at  the  station.  Between  the  years 
1937  and  1952  the  entire  number  two  flowline 

was  rebuilt.  Number  one  pipeline  was  con- 
nected to  the  new  number  three  line  to 

eliminate  the  old  wood  section  of  the  first  line. 

The  switchyard  was  enlarged  once  again  in 
1941  and  Grace  took  on  a  new  importance  as  a 

major  switching  center. 
A  new  dam  was  built  in  1951  directly 

below  the  old  dam.  Other  additions  were  made 

in  1954  when  a  new  surge  tank  was  built  to 

Unloading 

first  section 
of  steel 

from  car — 1915. 
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View  of 

Dam — Julv  1917. 
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Construction 

at  Plant- 
mixer  in 

operation — note  the 

new  Quarters 
building— 1922. 
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Excavation,  Looking 
S.W.  from 

Station— 1917. 
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Construction  of  new  dam — February  27,  1924. 

replace  the  inadequate  and  aging  surge  tank 

number  one;  some  750  feet  of  penstocks  were 

replaced  and  in  1955  new  automatic 

transformers  were  added  to  the  switchyard. 

Grace  camp  today  is  a  green  oasis  sur- 

rounded by  beautiful  farm  lands.  Its  half- 
century  old  trees  provide  a  protective  cover 

from  summer's  hot  sun  for  the  ten  families 
who  make  their  homes  at  the  station. 

Once  almost  isolated,  Grace  today  is  con- 
nected to  the  system  dispatcher  and  company 

telephone  system  by  ultra-high  frequency 
microwave  communications.  Now  a  vital 

switching  point  as  well  as  power  plant,  Grace 

maintains  a  place  of  great  import  to  the  whole 

UP&L  system. 

Cove  Plant 

Utah  Power's  plans  to  utilize  the  waters 
of  Bear  River  for  a  dependable  hydro-electric 

power  supply  were  well  under  way  by  the  time 
the  third  and  fourth  units  at  Grace  were  com- 

pleted in  1915.  These  four  units  used  a  good 

portion  of  the  Bear  River  water  except  during 

flood  stages.  Leaving  the  tail  race,  the  water 
tumbled  down  a  river  bed  which  dropped 
almost  a  hundred  feet  in  the  next  mile  and  a 
half. 

Utah  Power's  engineers  were  quick  to 
make  use  of  this  natural  drop  and  started  con- 

struction on  Cove  station.  By  taking  the  water 

directly  from  the  tailrace,  and  running  it 

parallel  to  the  river  in  a  huge  wooden  flume. 
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another  7,500  kw  could  be  generated  before 

returning  the  water  to  the  river. 

This  huge  wood-lined  flume,  supported  by 
concrete  saddles,  is  20  feet  wide  and  14  feet 

high.  A  spillway  provides  an  overflow  just 

before  the  water  enters  the  penstock.  A  12- 

foot,  six-inch  steel  penstock  drops  the  water  94 
feet  to  a  single  7,500  kw  unit. 

One  unique  feature  of  the  station  is  that 
the  60-ton  crane  used  for  overhauls  is  located 

above  the  roof  of  the  building.  When  the  crane 
is  used,  the  roof  is  rolled  back  on  steel  beams 

and  the  building  is  then  open  on  top.  Three 

cottages  have  been  built  at  the  Cove  station. 
Mr.  Nunn  seemed  to  have  little  interest  in 

selling  power  to  the  public.  He  was  primarily  a 

mining  man  and  the  power  of  electricity  for 

mining  was  his  obsession.  The  town  of  Grace 
had  to  build  its  own  transmission  lines  in  order 

to  have  electricity.  As  soon  as  power  was 

available,  three  men  paid  for  a  line  to  Grace 

and  then  were  repaid  by  charging  a  fee  for  con- 
necting to  homes  and  businesses.  These  men 

were  George  Hamp  Sr.,  Chris  Poulsen,  and 
John  C.  Greaves,  Sr. 

While  here  (it  has  been  said)  the  Utah 

Power  and  Light  Company  financed  the 

education  of  about  twenty  young  men  from 

different  parts  of  the  country.  Many  will 

remember  them  as  "the  Pinheads,"  who  work- 
ed here  in  the  summer  getting  their  practical 

training  and  attended  Cornell  University  in  the 

winter.  One  of  these  "Pinheads"  by  the  name 
of  Beersock  married  a  local  girl,  Madge 

Bassett,  a  daughter  of  C.  H.  Bassett,  who  serv- 
ed as  Bannock  County  Commissioner  for 

many  years  and  was  a  prominent  resident  of 
the  Lago  area. 

Most  of  the  heavy  construction  on  the 

power  plant  was  done  by  the  Phoenix 

Construction  Company.  Much  of  the  excava- 
tion for  the  pipe  line  as  well  as  the  power  plant 

itself  was  in  solid  lava  rock.  All  of  the  holes  for 

setting  the  powerline  poles  had  to  be  dug  by 

hand;  horses  were  used  to  pull  the  poles  up- 
right, also  to  haul  the  poles  to  where  they  were 

to  be  set.  Building  power  lines  this  way 

through  the  mountains  was  very  difficult. 

When  construction  got  under  way  and 

many  men  were  employed,  it  was  necessary  to 

provide  food  and  lodging  for  the  men;  so 
barracks  and  a  cook  shack  were  supplied. 

There  was  also  a  show  house,  a  store  or  a  com- 

missary where  work  clothes,  groceries  and 

tobacco  could  be  purchased,  and  a  post  office. 
Later  a  school  and  church  were  built. 

James  A.  Elsmore  contracted  the  gravel 

to  make  concrete  from  a  gravel  pit  just  across 

the  river  on  the  west  side  of  the  plant.  He  also 

sold  milk  and  eggs  to  the  commissary.  George 

and  Grover  Hogan  contracted  to  supply  the 
fresh  beef  whenever  needed. 

Two  prominent  men  of  Gem  Valley  who 
came  in  with  the  Telluride  Power  Co.  were 

Harry  Westenfelder  and  Lowell  Merriam. 
Both  married  Sullivan  girls,  Irene  and 

Caroline.  Harry  continued  to  work  for  the 

Power  Company  until  his  retirement,  and 
Lowell  Merriam  served  as  postmaster  in 
Grace  for  a  great  many  years. 

The  electric  system  in  Grace  was  bought 

by  the  Power  Company  from  the  Village  of 
Grace  in  1929  according  to  the  files  at  the  city 
office. 

The  following  is  a  list  of  names  of  the  men 

who  were  Superintendents  of  the  Telluride 

Power  Company  and  the  Utah  Power  &  Light 

from  the  beginning  until  the  present  (1977): 
Arthur  Fairbanks,  C.  G.  Wolfrom.  P.  G. 

McFarland,  A.  C.  Kelm,  B.  E.  Gordon,  A.  W. 

Adams,  C.  G.  Stanton,  P.  F.  Thompson,  L.  L. 

Deardorff,  D.  L.  Dutton,  Joe  Sargent,  Marvin 

Nungesser,  Paul  Rasmussen,  Douglas 
Ashbaker  (present). 

The  Poner  Companies  —  95 



The  "Dinkey"  Engine 

"Out  of  the  deep  comes  a  real  antique". 
In  October,  1975,  an  unusual  event  occured 

which  aroused  the  curiosity  of  hundreds  of 

people. 
When  the  water  was  drained  from  the 

Alexander  Reservoir  for  the  purpose  of  inspec- 
ting the  back  side  of  the  dam,  what  should 

appear  but  a  genuine,  antique  "Dinky  Steam 
Engine",  still  sitting  on  the  tracks  where  it  was 
left  in  1924 — 51  years  under  water! 

According  to  Utah  Power  and  Light  Co. 

officials,  the  "Dinkey"  engines  were  operated 
by  the  Phoenix  Construction  Company  to  con- 

vey materials  back  and  forth  from  the  main 

line  when  construction  was  being  done  at  the 
Power  Plant  in  1923  and  1924. 

After  several  days  of  concentrated  and 

united  effort,  the  engine  was  successfully  rais- 
ed, intact  and  in  excellent  condition;  and  then 

the  droves  of  curious  came  to  view  this  strange 

contraption.  It  became  necessary  to  hurriedly 

erect  a  fence  around  it  to  prevent  dismantling 

by  antique  hunters  until  it  could  be  determined 
what  was  to  be  done. 

Shortly  after,  spear-headed  by  Beker  In- 
dustries, the  Union  Pacific  Railroad  agreed  to 

ship  it  to  the  shops  in  Omaha,  Nebraska,  for 
restoration. 

This  job  was  completed  in  early  February, 

1977,  and  the  antique  engine  was  shipped  back 

to  Soda  Springs  in  great  shape.  Through 

voluntary  contributions  from  interested 

citizens  and  businesses,  an  appropriate  site  was 

acquired  in  the  city  park.  Here  the  renovated 

"Dinky  Engine"  was  placed  on  a  short  section 
of  narrow  track — surrounded  and  protected  by 

a  strong,  but  attractive,  black  steel  fence.  A 

public  unveiling  and  dedication  ceremony  was 

held  before  a  large  and  appreciative  crowd  on 

July  2,  1977. 

The  little  camelback  locomotive 

(Dinky  Engine)  used 
by  the  Utah  Power  and 

Light  in  the  1920's  and  left at  the  bottom  of  the 
Alexander  Reservior  when 
the  dam  was  completed  in 
1923,  is  shown  here  before 
and  after  restoration. 

It's  new  resting  place  will 
be  the  City  Park 
at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

96  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



CHAPTER  V 

Gem  Valley  Industry 
"...  hundreds  of  thousands  of  bushels  of  grain  produced  each 
year  .  .  .  seed  potatoes  unsurpassed  .  .  .  thousands  of  dollars  worth 
of  cattle  and  sheep  trucked  out  each  year  .  .  .  national  recognition  for 

our  dairy  industry  .  .  .  Our   Valley  has  become  a  true    Gem'  of 

Idaho." 
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Harvesting  grain  with  a  header  about  1914,  used  mostly  on  dry  farms. 

Grain  Caravan — 
method  of  hauling 

grain  to  the 
elevator  about 

1918— note  two 

wagons  and 
four-horse 

team. 
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Cattle  and  Sheep  Country 

X  ROM  TIME  immemorial,  the  land  of 

Southeastern  Idaho  has  provided  excellent 

grazing  conditions.  Twenty  thousand  years 

ago  its  grassy  valleys  supported  herds  of  mam- 

moths, bison,  camels  and  early  horses.  Jour- 
nals of  early  explorers  attest  to  the  fact  that 

there  were  teeming  bands  of  deer,  elk, 

antelope,  and  buffalo  that  roamed  these  hills 

and  vales."  (His.  of  S.  E.  Idaho) 
About  1870,  Alexander  Harris,  Sr.  and 

Alexander  Harris,  Jr.  were  driving  freight 

wagons  through  Gentile  Valley  en  route  from 
Corinne,  Utah  to  Butte,  Montana.  The  tracks 

made  by  those  wagons  may  still  be  seen  in  the 
meadow  of  the  Harris  ranch. 

Alexander,  Jr.  liked  this  valley  so  well 

that  he  quit  the  freighting  business  and  came 

to  the  valley  and  homesteaded.  There  were 

very  few  settlers  in  the  valley  at  that  time. 

After  several  years  of  hard  work,  he  ac- 
quired a  herd  of  cattle,  as  did  other  settlers  in 

the  valley.  In  order  to  have  a  good  pasture  for 

their  cattle,  they  would  trail  them  to  Grays 
Lake  in  the  summer — a  distance  of  about  60 

miles.  It  seemed  like  100  when  riding  a  horse 

behind  a  herd  of  bawling  cows  and  calves. 

Many  established  cattle  and  sheep  men 

from  Utah,  recognizing  the  ideal  range  con- 
ditions of  this  area,  its  lush  meadow  land  and 

abundance  of  clear  water,  brought  their  cattle 

up  for  summer  grazing.  Gradually,  however, 

they  sold  their  holdings  in  Utah  and  moved  to 
Gem  Valley.  Thus,  in  the  early  days  of  Gem 

Valley,  the  livestock  industry — cattle,  sheep 

and  horses — provided  the  main  livelihood  of 
its  pioneers. 

Among  the  earliest  cattlemen  were  Eli 
Morgan  and  Frank  Luscher,  in  the  Lago  area; 

Harry  King  and  Pat  McMarr  along  the  west 
side  of  the  river;  and  Fred  Collins  on  the  east 

side.  In  about  1882,  William  McGee  Harris 

brought  in  a  large  herd  of  cattle.  Not  long 

after  Fred  Burton,  Sr.  brought  in  two  large 

herds  of  sheep.  Several  years  later  L.  K.  Bit- 
ton,  Sr.,  a  prominent  Utah  cattleman,  decided 

to  sell  his  holdings  in  Utah  and  come  to  Gem 

Valley.  He  purchased  a  large,  800  acre  ranch 

in  Lago,  Idaho,  and  stocked  it  with  purebred 

Ellis  Wright, 
cutting  claves. 
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A  typical Gem  Valley 

cattle 
herd. 

■mammam 

Oxen  in  early  Gem  Valley— showing  wagons  and  teams  of  freighting  companies. 
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Team  of  oxen  used  in  the  early  days  of  Grace — property  of  Mr.  J.J.  Cherry  before  the  first  world  war.  Man  in 
front  was  his  son,  Bruce. 
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Dave  Revoir's  sheep — in  beautiful  Gem  Valley.  Erv  Hamp  in  background. 
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Joe  Pond  was  one  of  the  early  cattle  and  sheep  men  in  Gem  Valley.  This  was  the  Joe  Pond  home  at  Thatcher.  The 
men  and  teams  are  getting  ready  to  put  up  hay. 

Hereford  cattle.  This  ranch  is  still  in  the  hands 

of  his  sons — Louis  B.  and  Willard — and  his 

grandsons — Duane,  Keith  and  Junior  Bitton. 
They  run  around  1200  head  of  cattle  and  a 

band  of  sheep. 
Other  cattlemen  who  soon  moved  into  the 

valley  were  Joe  Schvaneveldt,  Louis  and  Joe 

Pond,  Bill  Larkins,  Nels  Hogan,  Ted  Bennion, 
John  and  Will  Williams,  Pete  Hanson,  John 

Sorenson,  Ira  Hogan,  Sr.,  the  McGregors  and 

many  more.  At  this  time  the  ranges  were  free 

grazing. 
On  April  15,  1904,  Lewis  S.  Pond,  Joseph 

T.  Pond,  Ira  Hogan,  William  H.  Larkin, 
Edward  J.  Turner,  Alexander  Harris,  and 

Charles  H.  Bassett  incorporated  the  Gentile 

Valley  Land  and  Livestock  Company  for  the 

purpose  of  acquiring  land  and  grazing  their 

cattle  in  Grays  Lake.  For  many  years  about 
3000  head  of  cattle  were  trailed  from  Gentile 

Valley  to  Grays  Lake  in  the  spring,  and  back 

in  the  fall  or  early  winter.  It  was  a  long,  hard 

four-or-five  day  trail  in  the  spring  when  the 
The  Barthlome  team. 
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Sheep  grazing  on  the  Barthlome  ranch  at  Thatcher. 

baby  calves  were  so  slow  to  move;  a  much 

shorter,  three-or-four  day,  but  much  colder 
trail  when  the  cattle  came  home.  Sometimes  it 

would  be  as  cold  as  thirty  below  when  they 

were  trailed  home.  Now,  because  of  the  heavy 

traffic,  most  of  the  cattle  and  sheep  are  hauled 

to  and  from  the  summer  range. 

In  the  early  days  there  were  practically  no 

fences  between  Soda  Springs  and  Idaho  Falls, 

so  the  fall  round-up  would  take  about  two 
weeks,  with  20  or  30  riders  working  from 
daybreak  to  dark. 

After  the  railroad  came  through  in  1884, 
most  of  the  cattle  were  marketed  in  Omaha, 

Nebraska.  They  were  paid  for  in  gold,  which 

was  usually  kept  in  a  buckskin  bag  or  pouch, 

put  under  the  mattress  when  the  owner  slept, 

or  sometimes  buried  in  the  ground  for 
safekeeping. 
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Still  pushing  the  "Beef  industry  in  1976;  Amy  Clegg 
gives  a  4-H  demonstration. 

The  Gentile  Valley  Land  and  Cattle  Com- 

pany was  in  force  for  50  years  and  was  re- 
incorporated in  1954.  At  this  time  the  com- 

pany owned  15,000  acres  of  rich  meadow  land 

in  and  around  Grays  Lake  and  ran  3000  head 

of  cattle.  Ira  Hogan  was  manager  of  this  com- 
pany for  forty  years. 

About  1912  the  United  States  Forest  Ser- 

vice was  organized.  The  cattlemen  were  given 

allotments  and  permits  on  the  forest.  After  the 

Forest  Service  came  into  being,  many  different 

cattle  associations  were  organized.  Among 

them  were — The  Gem  Valley  Cattle  Associa- 
tion, The  Chesterfield  Land  and  Livestock 

Co.,  The  Idaho  Citizens'  Grazing  Association. 
The  Dry  Valley  Association,  and  the  Idaho 
State  Horse  and  Cattlemen  Association.  These 

various  associations  employed  range  riders  to 

The  Round-up  crew,  ready  for  a  day's  work  for  the  Gentile  Valley  Cattle  Company. 
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keep  the  cattle  on  their  allotted  range,  to 

replenish  the  salt  at  the  salt  licks,  and  to  make 

proper  use  of  the  range  feed. 

Today  the  cattle  industry  continues  to 

play  a  very  vital  part  in  the  economy  of  the 

valley.  Stockmen  living  within  our  valley  are 
too  numerous  to  mention,  but  they  are  among 

the  most  prominent  and  prosperous  residents 

in  Gem  Valley. 

choose  them.  The  brand  establishes  the 

owner's  claim  to  his  cattle  and  identifies  them 
not  only  on  home  range  but  on  distant  ranges 

where  they  might  stray,  or  in  markets  to  which 
thieves  may  sneak  them.  The  branding  is  done 

with  a  hot  iron,  for  which  no  substitute  has  yet 
been  found. 

The  Lumber  Mills 

The  Cowboy 

The  cowboy  is  to  the  Cattle  Industry  as 

indispensable  as  the  herder  is  to  the  sheep 

business.  Usually,  he  is  a  strong,  wiry  in- 
dividual who  lives  on  his  horse,  rounding  up 

and  keeping  under  control  the  vast  herds  of 

cattle  in  his  charge.  He  also  has  a  dog,  called  a 

'cow-dog',  who  is  of  great  importance,  usually 
of  the  shepherd  dog  breed,  who  has  been  well 

trained  in  handling  cattle. 

The  Cattle  Round-Up 

The  Cattle  Round-Up  is  an  interesting 
and  colorful  affair.  On  a  specified  day  the 

owners  and  numerous  riders  go  out  to  the 

range  to  gather  in  the  cattle.  First,  the  beef  cat- 
tle are  gathered;  each  owner  or  representative 

is  there  to  cut  out  his  own  brand  cattle  as  they 

are  herded  into  the  cutting-out  area.  The  beef 
cattle  are  the  ones  that  will  be  shipped  to  the 

markets.  Later,  the  general  round-up  gathers 
in  every  remaining  critter. 

The  Brand 

Each  cattleman  has  his  own  brand.  They 
are  the  marks  of  the  individual  owners  and  are 

as   varied   and   interesting  as  the  men  who 

Because  of  the  near  proximity  of  Gem 

Valley  to  the  Wasatch  Mountain  Range  and 

other  wooded  areas,  homesteaders  had  a  readi- 

ly available  source  of  logs  with  which  to  build 

their  crude  log  cabins,  and  to  provide  firewood 

for  heating  and  cooking  purposes.  No  coal  was 

used  in  the  valley  prior  to  1900;  it  was  too  ex- 
pensive and  wood  and  chips  were  plentiful. 

It  wasn't  long  after  the  first  settlers  came 
that  sawmills  began  to  make  their  appearance 

in  different  areas  along  the  eastern  foothills. 

"At  the  mouth  of  Ant  Canyon  in  Lago,  a  man 
by  the  name  of  Hillyard  came  up  from 

Smithfield,  Utah,  and  erected  a  sawmill  for 

the  purpose  of  making  lumber,  finished  or 

common  rough.  A  penstock  was  built  and  the 

mill  was  run  by  water  power.  After  a  few  years 

The  old  Morehead's  sawmill  in  Lago — later  purchased 
and  operated  for  many  years  by  Michael  Mickelson. 
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the  penstock  leaked  and  gave  trouble.  Mr. 

Hillyard  sold  out  to  a  man  named,  D. 

Clayborne  Morehead.  Mr.  Morehead  aban- 

doned the  old  method  and  installed  a  16" 
wooden  wire-wrapped  pipeline,  reduced  to  a 

3"  nozzle.  This  drove  a  Pelton  water  wheel, 
which  in  turn  ran  a  circular  saw  by  pulleys  and 
drive  belt.  Mr.  Morehead  ran  the  mill  for 

several  years.  He  sold  out  to  Alfred  Hansen. 

After  a  year  or  two  Alfred  sold  to  Michael 

Mickelson  and  George  Hulse.  Mr.  Hulse  sold 
his  share  to  Mr.  Mickelson.  Mr.  Mickelson 

ran  it  until  he  became  too  old  to  operate  it  any 
longer.  He  sold  out  to  the  Robinson  Brothers 

of  Preston.  They  ran  it  for  about  10  to  15 

years — moved  the  mill  out  and  quit."  (Harris Mickelson) 

Jerry  Elliot  with  a  load  of  logs,  top  of  south  Ant  Ca- 

nyon. 
^a* 

The  Charles 
Hubbard  Sawmill 

in  Bench — showing 

Mr.  Hubbard 

in  foreground 
and  workers. 
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The  Hubbard 

sawmill 
about  1938. 

Gcni   I 'alley  Indmtrv 
105 



In  the  Bench  area,  the  Joe  Tolman  Saw- 
mill, built  in  approximately  1895,  was  the  first 

one  in  operation.  Tolman  was  the  first  man  to 

pipe  water  from  the  spring  in  Middle  Canyon 

in  a  pipe  made  out  of  1"  x  3"  strips  of  lumber 
nailed  together.  This  water  furnished  the  needs 

of  the  homes  located  there,  and  also  energy  for 

the  steam  engine  that  furnished  power  to  run 

the  mill.  Joe  Tolman  was  a  typical  old  sawmill 

man  who  moved  from  place  to  place  when  the 

handy  lumber  was  all  logged  out.  In  1903,  he 
left  Bench  and  moved  to  a  new  location  on 

Dempsey  Creek. 
Later,  in  1902  J.  W.  Hubbard  established 

a  sawmill  about  a  quarter  of  a  mile  east  of 

their  home  at  the  mouth  of  Cheat  Beck  Ca- 

nyon. It  was  powered  by  the  first  steam  tractor 
which  came  into  the  section  of  the  country. 

This  tractor  was  used  to  operate  the  sawmill 

and  the  threshing  machine  and  was  the  first 

power  used  to  replace  the  old  horse  power  in 

operating  a  threshing  machine.  In  1907, 
Charlie  Hubbard  took  this  steam  tractor  to 

Grace  to  dig  the  first  water  trench  from  Grace 

to  a  spring  in  Burton's  Canyon,  this  being  the 
first  culinary  water  which  came  into  Grace. 

The  tractor  was  hitched  to  a  huge,  heavy 

digger,  straddling  the  trench  with  the  tractor 

and  pulling  the  digger  to  loosen  the  gravel.  The 

men  then  followed  along  and  shoveled  the 

loose  gravel  out  to  make  a  ditch.  The  Hubbard 
sawmill  was  later  moved  near  the  Hubbard 

home,  where  Charles  Hubbard,  son  of  J.  W. 

Hubbard,  operated  it  for  many  years.  This  mill 

is  still  in  operation  (1977). 
In    the    Grace    area    Pat    McPherson 

operated  a  sawmill  inMcPherson's  Canyon  for 

several  years,  and  also  one  in  Child's  Canyon. 
There  was  a  great  demand  for  sawed  lumber  in 

the  early  1900's,  with  many  of  the  early  settlers 
putting  board  floors  in  their  cabins,  which 
previously  had  only  dirt.  There  was  also  much 
construction  going  on  for  the  Last  Chance 
Canal  system  and  the  Power  Plant. 

^M 

Cutting  wood  at  Thatcher. 

In  the  Beaver  Dams  area,  John  Ira  Allsop 

owned  and  operated  a  sawmill  which  provided 

a  great  deal  of  the  lumber  used  in  the  construc- 
tion of  the  flumes  for  the  Last  Chance  Canal 

as  well  as  for  their  maintenance.  This  sawmill 

was  later  operated  by  his  son,  George.  Also  in 

Beaver  Dams  were  sawmills  operated  by 

Robert  Kirkham  and  George  Ransom. 

The  Pioneer  Log  Cabin 

By  Charles  W.  Hubbard 

These  early  pioneer  homes  were  con- 
structed entirely  with  the  nice,  straight  lodge 

pole  pines,  sometimes  called  Bird's  Eye,  that 
were  so  plentiful  in  the  canyons  bordering  the 

Gem  (Gentile)  Valley  on  both  east  and  west 

and  running  the  entire  length  of  the  valley. 

Typical  pioneer  log  cabin. 
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This  made  it  quite  handy  for  people  soon  to  get 

enough  of  these  poles  which  were  referred  to  as 

house  logs.  They  were  cut  into  the  lengths 

needed  for  the  width  and  length  of  the 

cabin — the  ideal  size  in  diameter  being  six  in- 
ches. These  poles  grow  tall  and  straight  in 

large  groves,  quite  close  together  and  do  not 

taper  but  very  little  the  first  30  or  40  feet.  This 

made  it  possible  to  cut  two  or  three  lengths 

from  each  tree,  making  suitable  logs  to  lay  up 

the  walls  and  gable  ends,  leaving  the  smaller 

tip  ends  to  frame  the  roof.  These  log  homes 
were  different  in  size  depending  on  the  size  of 

the  family.  For  a  two-room  cabin,  a  building 
16  X  32  ft.  was  quite  a  popular  size  for  a  family 

of  three  or  four  children  and  the  parents.  For  a 

one-room  cabin,  16x16  feet  was  the  standard 

size,  or  maybe  some  12  x  16,  there  being  just 
one  door  and  one  window  in  these  little  houses. 

The  casings  for  the  door  and  window  were 

made  by  splitting  some  flat  pieces  1  Vi  inch 

thick  out  of  a  good,  straight  grained  log,  hew- 
ing them  quite  smooth  with  a  good  sharp  foot 

adz  or  the  broad  ax.  It  was  necessary  to  have 

these  good,  flat  pieces  to  hold  the  logs  in  place 

where  the  opening  for  the  door  and  window 
were  cut. 

To  form  the  walls,  the  nice,  uniform  logs 

were  laid  one  on  top  of  the  other  with  the  in- 
side being  as  straight  as  possible,  leaving  the 

uneveness  of  diameter  of  the  logs  on  the  out- 

side. Wedge-shaped  pieces  were  split  out  of 

good,  straight-grained  logs  to  fit  in  between 

the  logs  and  nailed  into  place.  Clay  mud,  mix- 
ed with  straw  or  grass,  called  chinkin,  was 

plastered  over  these  wedged-shaped  strips  to 
seal  the  cracks  between  the  logs,  making  a 

good,  solid,  tight  wall.  The  partition  between 
the  two  rooms  in  a  two-room  cabin  was  also 

made  of  logs. 

Now,  the  roof — how  can  I  describe  that? 

It  was  constructed  to  have  about  a  1/4  pitch  or 
slope  so  the  water  would  drain  off.  To  make  a 

good,  strong  roof,  the  6-inch  poles  were  cut  to 
go  the  full  length  of  the  building  and  supported 

in  the  center  by  the  partition,  the  ends  resting 

on  the  gable  ends.  The  small  ends  of  the  poles, 

or  split  pieces  out  of  the  larger  logs  about  2  in- 
ches thick,  were  laid  tight  together  up  and 

down  over  the  top  of  the  logs  that  ran 

lengthwise.  Next,  a  good  layer  of  straw  or 

grass  was  put  on  and  a  5-or-6  inch  layer  of  dirt 
placed  over  the  straw.  The  first  cabins  had 

only  a  dirt  fioor  and  the  ceiling  was  the  under- 
side of  the  roof.  Grass  often  grew  on  top  of  the 

roof  in  the  layer  of  dirt  that  covered  the 

straw — this  even  helped  it  be  a  more  solid 
covering  and  even  made  it  interesting  to  see. 

One  of  the  real  early  settlers,  named  Joe 

Banister,  lived  on  a  choice  160-acre  piece  of 

land  and  he  had  one  of  the  typical  2-room  log 
houses  with  a  lumber  fioor.  This  little  cabin 

and  the  land  were  located  just  south  of  the  Jess 

Aylett  place  in  the  center  of  the  fiat.  Joe 

Banister  was  a  typical  old  English  bachelor 

who  smoked  a  pipe  and  played  the  fiddle  for 

all  of  our  dances.  He  was  a  real,  good  farmer 

and  the  whole  fiat  was  dry-farmed  in  those 
days.  He  did  not  belong  to  any  church  but  he 

was  a  real  nice,  old  man.  Everyone  loved  him, 

especially  the  young  folks  who  danced  to  the 

music  from  his  jolly,  old  fiddle.  Elsie  Dalton 

accompanied  him  by  chording  on  the  organ  for 
these  dances. 

Farming — Then  and  Now 

''Our  system  of  farming  the  first  few 
years  was  plowing  the  ground  with  hand  plows. 
The  grain  was  cut  with  a  reaper  and  bound  by 

hand,  then  we  tromped  the  wheat  out  with 

horses.  The  chaff  was  blown  out  with  a  fanning 
machine.  It  was  then  hauled  to  Franklin  and 

we  got  enough  fiour  to  last  a  year."  (John Tanner  History) 

Gem  Valley  Indmtrv  —  107 



■aat.^* 

frrf^C-' 

The  old  horse-power  threshing  machine — ready  for  action. 

An  even  more  primitive  method  was 

waiting  for  a  windy  day  and  then  tossing  the 
grain  and  chaff  up  in  the  air;  the  wind  blew  the 

chaff  away,  leaving  the  heavier  grain  to  fall  on 

the  floor  or  canvas.  This  procedure  was  con- 
tinued until  the  grain  was  clean. 

For  cutting,  the  scythe  was  better  than  the 

sickle;  but  when  the  McCormick  Deering 

Machine  Company  built  the  self-binder,  it  was 
considered  the  greatest  breakthrough  of  the 
times.  With  the  binder,  one  man  and  three 

horses  could  cut  and  bind  more  grain  than  20 

men  by  hand.  With  the  coming  of  the  binder, 

larger  acreages  began  to  be  planted. 

The  bundles  had  to  be  shocked,  or  stood 

up  so  the  heads  would  be  dry  for  threshing. 

Charles  Hubbard  remembers  that  his  job  was 

to  cut  the  bands  on  these  bundles  as  they  were 

fed  into  his  father's  old  horse  powered 
threshing  machine  (the  first  in  the  Bench  area). 

Charles  was  12  years  old  then  and  it  was  an  all- 
day  job.  Two  men  took  turns  feeding  the 

bundles  into  the  machine  but  the  "band 

cutter"  had  to  stand  there  all  day  long  with  the 
dirt  and  the  chaff  in  his  clothes  and  eyes. 

Even  the  horse-powered  thresher  was  a 
boon  to  the  farmer  if  he  was  lucky  enough  to 

get  a  thresher.  They  would  come  and  set  up  the 
machine,  then  haul  the  bundles  out  of  the  field 
with  team  and  wagon. 

Threshing  could  take  from  two  or  three 

days  to  two  or  three  weeks.  The  farmer  was 
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The  steam  thresher— a  big  improvement. 

obligated  to  feed  8  to  12  teams  and  all  the  men 

it  took  to  take  care  of  the  grain.  The  straw  also 
had  to  be  stacked  as  it  came  from  the  thresher. 

It  took  four  or  five  men  to  catch  the  grain  and 

dump  it  into  the  sacks.  Half-bushel  cans  were 
used  to  keep  count  of  the  grain.  The  sacks  were 

sewed  or  tied,  then  hoisted  up  into  the  wagon 
beds,  by  hand. 

Jim  and  Tom  Ransom  were  the  first  to 

bring  a  steam  thresher  into  the  area;  and  in 

about  1900,  James  Willard  Hubbard  purchas- 
ed a  45  HP  steam  engine  to  furnish  power 

for  the  thresher  and  sawmill.  This  was  a  big 

step  forward.  About  this  time,  the  self-feeder 

was  put  on  to  feed  the  bundles  and  headings 

into  the  machine  instead  of  handfeeding 

method.  Also,  the  blower  was  put  on  the  back 
of  the  machine  to  blow  the  straw  onto  the 

stack  to  take  the  place  of  the  old  straw  carrier. 

This  did  away  with  two  straw  stackers,  (much 

to  their  joy)  two  feeders  and  one  band  cutter, 

one  horse-power  driver  and  twelve  head  of 
horses,  and  saved  hours  and  hours  of  moving 

time.  Another  big  improvement  was  the  grain 

elevator  that  took  the  threshed  grain  up  to  the 

top  of  the  machine  where  it  was  measured  in  a 
V2  bushel  container  and  tallied.  Then  it  was 

automatically  dumped  to  fiow  down  a  pipe 

directly  into  the  sack.  It  took  one  man  to  take 

care  of  this  job;  so  it  required  one  man  to 
shovel  coal  on  the  fire  and  keep  125  pounds  of 

steam  pressure  up,  and  also  see  that  water  was 
injected  into  the  boiler  to  furnish  the  steam. 

This  took  quite  a  lot  of  water  and  took  one 
man  and  a  team  to  haul  water.  The  water  was 

pumped  from  a  canal  or  ditch  into  the  water 
tank  which  was  mounted  on  a  wide-wheeled 

wagon  and  hauled  to  the  machine.  It  would 

take  about  three  loads  of  water  a  day.  It  re- 
quired a  trained  engineer  to  take  care  of  the 

engine  as  it  needed  constant  care. 
Charles  W.  Hubbard  and  his  father, 

James  W.  Hubbard,  serviced  this  area  for 

many  years  with  their  steam  thresher.  Charles 
hired  a  man  by  the  name  of  Emmert  Miller  as 

engineer  for  several  years.  This  left  Mr.  Hub- 
bard free  to  inspect  and  keep  the  machine 

operating  more  hours  per  day. 
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Charles  W.  Hubbard 
and  thresher  all 

ready  to  go — in  front  of  the 
Joe  Clegg  home 

in  Bench— 1913 

Charles  W.  Hubbard 
and  his  threshing 

crew;  from  R  to  L: 
Emmett  Miller 

on  engine, 
Frank  Anderson, 

Charles  Elliot, 
Charles  W.  Hubbard, 

Earl  Whitehead, 
Billie  Clegg, 

George,  Bieler, 
Howard  Call, 

Joe  Clegg, 

John  Whitehead, 
Reese  Wilson, 
unknown;  on 

the  Owen  Clegg 
Ranch. 
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Old  Header 

on  Burton  Farm- used  to  cut 

grain. 
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White  Top  Buggies  in  Held. 
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Plowing  on  the  Ctegg  farm. 

Joe  Nichols  binding  oats  on  the  Clark  Mickelson  farm; 
horses;  Jack  and  Chub;  Fox  and  Chief — four  very  fine 

horses. 

Don  Clegg  putting  hay  in  the  barn  for  winter  feeding 
with  the  Jackson  Fork.  The  Jackson  Fork  looked 
something  like  a  rake  with  tines  which  picked  up  the 
hay  and  was  operated  similar  to  a  power  shovel.  It  was 
raised  with  its  load  to  the  track  and  moved  along  inside 
to  the  desired  point,  then  tripped  by  the  operator. 

A  complete  threshing  crew  for  the  old 

horse-powered  outfit  consisted  of  an  average 
of  14  men  and  8  teams  of  horses.  An  average 

crew  for  the  steam  outfit  was  12  men  (4 

pitchers)  and  3  teams  of  horses. 
During  the  days  of  the  threshing  crews, 

women  watched  for  the  men  to  move  onto 

their  farms  so  they  would  know  if  they  would 

have  a  crowd  for  dinner  or  supper.  These  crews 
moved  from  one  farm  to  another.  Harris 

Mickelson  writes,  "I  well  remember  my 
mother  having  breakfast  on  the  table  for  the 

threshing  crew  at  4:00  a.m.  for  many  men.  The 

threshing  machine  was  going  by  daylight." 
Meals  were  massive  with  huge  roasts, 

vegetables  from  the  garden,  pies  and  cakes 

prepared,  and  always  home-made  bread  and 
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butter.  Often  the  women  would  set  out  tubs  of 

water  to  warm  in  the  sun,  so  that  the  men 

could  wash  outside  before  they  came  in  for 

their  meals.  Benches  provided  a  place  for 

tubs  and  soap,  and  towels  were  hung  from  con- 
venient shade  trees. 

Noon  hour  was  not  only  a  time  for  the 
men  to  eat  and  rest,  but  the  horses  needed  to 

be  fed  and  taken  to  the  watering  troughs,  and 
rested  before  an  afternoon  of  work  in  the 

long,  hot  July  and  August  afternoons. 
There  were  no  telephones  at  the  time;  so, 

when  the  family  knew  the  threshing  crew  was 

coming,  they  would  send  one  of  the  children 

with  a  note  to  the  neighbors  telling  them  how 

many  men  would  be  needed  to  help.  The 

neighbors  would  send  a  note  back.  It  seemed 

that  no  one  was  ever  short-handed. 
Charles  Hubbard  was  the  first  one  to  do 

away  with  the  steam  engine  in  1921.  He 

purchased  a  40  HP  Case  gas  tractor  for 

threshing  and  sawmilling.  This  engine  was 

used  for  threshing  for  many  years.  He  also 

used  it  to  plow  with.  James  Olorenshaw  was 

hired  by  Mr.  Hubbard  for  many  years  as 

engineer  and  thresher  operator.  The  gas  or  oil 

tractor  was  much  lighter  and  handier  to  move 

around  than  the  heavy  steam  engine. 

"Threshing  time  was  a  jolly  time  and  a 
busy  time  with  so  many  men  working  together 

and  sharing  the  dirt  and  chaff  and  good  meals. 

Many  good  times  were  had  in  working,  sleep- 

ing in  the  straw  stack  or  in  the  farmer's  barn  or 
sheds,  getting  up  early  and  off  for  another 

long,  hard  day's  work.  The  farmer  and  his  wife 
were  glad  to  get  the  men  fed  and  on  the  job,  so 

they  could  finish  with  their  threshing  and  get 

on  to  the  next  job.  People  had  to  cut  their  grain 
and  stack  it  and  wait  their  turn  for  the 

threshing  outfit  to  get  to  them.  Sometimes 

there  would  be  quite  a  loss  as  the  stacks  would 
get  rained  on,  or  even  snowed  on,  but  at  that 
time  it  was  the  best  that  could  be  done.  In 

about  10  or  12  years,  we  began  to  hear  talk  of 
a  combine  harvester  that  could  do  the 

harvesting  and  threshing  in  one  operation. 

Well,  that  would  be  something!" 
The  first  combine  harvester  that  came 

into  the  Bench  country  was  purchased  by 
Rufus  and  Zerrie  Pond  and  Oscar  Fullmer. 

This  was  a  big  heavy  machine  and  was  pulled 

by  6  or  8  teams  of  horses.  Then  came  smaller 
machines  of  different  makes.  Case,  John 

Deere,  McCormic,  Deering,  Allis  Chalmers 
and  others.  Farmers  hailed  the  combine 

harvester  as  a  great  invention  and  it  quickly 

took  the  place  of  the  header,  header  box,  and 

thresher.  It  harvested  the  grain  right  in  the 

field.  Golden  kernels  of  grain  flowed  out  of  a 

spout  on  the  side  of  the  combine  and  plunged 

into  a  gunny  sack  arranged  by  the  bagger.  The 

bagger  then  hefted  each  sack  to  see  that  it  fill- 
ed properly,  and  tied  it  just  so,  so  that  a  single 

yank  would  open  it  later. 

Baggers  on  combines  were  a  special  sort 
of  courageous  worker.  When  they  began  in  the 
fall,  their  hands  would  crack  and  bleed  from 

the  rough  work  and  dust-filled  air  until  they 
became  calloused  with  the  handling  of  sacks 

and  twine.  They  had  to  work  fast  to  keep  up 

with  the  header  and  it  was  a  disgrace  to  fall 

behind.  A  good  bagger  was  well-known  and 

sought  after. 

Today's  combines,  with  their  cooling 
systems,  enclosed  cabs,  and  even  stereophonic 
music,  are  far  from  the  machines  of 

yesteryear.  But  harvesting  is  still  a  big  concern 

for  the  farmer,  who  must  worry  about  frost, 

drought,  hail,  rain,  smut,  weeds,  and  insects 

that  can  infest  and  interfere  with  his  year-long 
pursuit  to  provide  a  living  for  his  family. 

Huge  elevators  in  town,  grain  storage 
facilities  and  elevators  on  the  farm,  make  life 

more  pleasant,  as  do  fine  machinery  and 

trucks.  But  it's  still  a  gamble  and  it's  still  hard 
work  every  year. 
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The  Gem  Valley  Grain  Co-op;  owned  by  Gem  Valley 
farmers,  includes  four  steel  bins,  one  wooden  elevator, 
a  grain  storage  quonset  and  a  seed  warehouse,  with 
General  Mills  in  the  background.  (Six,  huge  additional 

bins  were  built  in  1976). 

Los  Toone  proudly  poses  with  his  Belgian  Stallion. 

Evolution  of  Hay  Harvesting 

Seventy  years  ago  in  Gem  Valley,  the  ear- 
ly settlers  could  farm  only  small  plots  of  land, 

as  most  all  of  the  work  had  to  be  done  by  hand. 

Hay  was  cut  with  a  scythe,  cured  and  stacked 

in  some  kind  of  a  shelter  to  keep  it  dry.  It  was 

very  precious  feed  for  the  cows  and  horses, 

«*T-l 

Modern  irrigation — the  sprinkler  system. 
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which  in  turn  were  so  necessary  for  the 

HveHhood  of  the  family.  It  was  not  long  before 

a  mowing  machine  was  invented,  proving  the 

truth  of  the  saying,  "Necessity  is  the  mother  of 
invention."  The  mowing  machine,  like  all 
other  harvesting  or  tilling  machinery  and  farm 

implements,  had  a  lot  of  "bugs"  and  imperfec- 
tions, but  it  was  a  beginning  in  the  direction  of 

expanded  and  more  efficient  machinery.  By 

practical  use  and  proper  care,  it  was  soon  im- 
proved and  served  well  the  needs  of  the  farmer. 

In  raking  and  piling  the  hay,  the  hand 

dump  rake  was  quite  practical.  It  consisted  of 
a  pair  of  shafts,  one  horse,  and  a  man  or  boy 

with  a  good,  strong  right  arm.  He  could  rake 

into  winrows  two  swaths  of  the  mowed  hay  and 

then  put  it  in  piles.  The  self-dump  rake  came 
into  use,  although  much  of  the  time  the  hay 

was  put  into  nice  piles  by  hand,  just  the  right 

size  to  handle.  The  hay,  when  dry,  was  pitched 

on  the  wagon  that  had  a  rack,  which  could 

hold  quite  a  good  load  if  it  was  tromped  good. 

This  was  usually  the  job  for  the  kids.  It  was 

then  hauled  into  the  yard  and  pitched  on  the 

stack  by  hand.  A  little  later  the  derrick  and 

Jackson  fork  and  nets  came  along. 

The  latest  now  is  a  machine  that  picks  up 

the  bales  in  the  field,  brings  them  in  and  stacks 

them,  one  man  doing  the  entire  job. 

Milk,  Butter  and  Cheese 

When  the  Mormon  homesteaders  came 

into  Gem  Valley,  most  of  them  came  as 

farmers,  with  the  intent  of  breaking  up  the 

ground  for  growing  grain  and  hay.  Of  course, 

early  farming  was  all  dry  farming.  They  also 

brought  a  few  milk  (or  milch)  cows  for  family 

use.  The  cows  were  usually  the  Red  or  Roan 

Durham  or  Shorthorn.  All  the  milk  produced 

was  consumed  by  the  immediate  family 

and/or  close  neighbors.  At  this  time  the  milk 
was  largely  used  fresh  to  drink  and  to  cook 

with.  There  was  no  refrigeration,  so  it  was  put 

into  milk  pans;  these  were  about  4  or  5  inches 

deep  and  about  12  or  16  inches  wide.  These 

pans  were  filled  and  placed  in  the  coolest  room 
in  the  house  or  a  cellar  near  by  to  cool.  The 

cream  would  rise  to  the  top  and  could  be 
skimmed  off  and  used  to  make  butter. 

Early  Butter  Making 

There  were  several  different  kinds  of 

churns  used  for  butter  making.  Some  were 

called  "up  and  down"  churns,  where  a  tall  jug 
or  receptacle  was  used  to  contain  the  cream, 

this  being  splashed  by  one  using  a  'broomstick' 
with  crossed  sticks  or  a  round  piece  of  wood 
with  a  hole  to  fit  the  broomstick  or  plunger. 

The  receptacle  was  fitted  with  a  wooden  or 
crock  lid  with  a  hole  to  allow  the  plunger  to 

work  up  and  down.  This  was  worked  con- 
tinually until  butter  was  formed.  Another  type 

of  churn  was  called  a  'Dasher'  churn.  This  type 
had  a  rotary  handle  with  saddles  attached  and 

was  continually  cranked  around  and  around 
till  butter  was  formed.  Also,  a  two  quart  jar  or 
tin  container  with  lid  was  sometimes  used  and 

shaken  until  the  butter  was  formed. 

After  the  butterfat  globules  had  adhered 

or  collected  together  into  a  lump  or  mass,  it 

was  taken  from  the  churn  and  placed  into  a 

milk  pan  or  other  suitable  container.  Then 
cold  water  was  used  to  cool  the  butter  and 

wash  out  the  buttermilk.  Salt  was  then  added 

and  the  butter  worked  by  hand  with  a  butter 

paddle  to  remove  all  excess  buttermilk.  The 
butter  was  then  placed  into  butter  molds  (each 

one  made  to  weigh  a  pound)  or  into  an  oval 
loaf  for  immediate  use.  The  square  pound  type 

could  be  used  for  trade  to  neighbors  or  traded 

to  grocerymen  for  other  groceries  such  as 

beans,  rice,  raisins,  dried  fruit,  flour  and  can- 
ned goods.  For  many  pioneer  families, 

homemade  butter  was  their  only  source  of  in- 
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come.  Butter  was  often  used  to  barter  for 

sugar,  tea,  spices,  and  other  items  the  pioneer 
needed  but  could  not  produce.  The  buttermilk 

was  used  for  drinking  or  cooking  and  made  ex- 
cellent pancakes. 

The  skimmed  milke  left  in  the  pans  after 

buttermaking  was  either  used  to  cook  with  or, 

when  sour  or  clabbered,  made  into  cottage  or 
dutch  cheese. 

Other  Uses  of  Milk 

Another  use  of  fresh  milk  was  to  make 

what  was  known  as  Bulgaria  Buttermilk.  In 

fresh,  whole  milk  was  placed  a  starter  of  a  type 

of  bacteria  called  Bulgaria  starter  or  butter- 
milk bugs;  then  it  was  set  to  work  or  ferment 

for  24  hours  after  which  it  was  ready  to  use. 

Many  people  used  this  for  relief  from  stomach 
ulcers. 

Yogurt  was  also  made  by  a  similar 
method.  This  is  a  thick,  semisolid  food  made 

from  milk  fermented  by  a  bacterium, 

originating  in  Turkey,  Bulgaria  etc.  It  is 

believed  to  have  a  beneficial  effect  on  the  in- 

testines and  is  now  sometimes  prescribed 

dietetically. 
Another  use  was  clabber  or  sour 

milk — thick,  curdled  milk.  There  were  not  too 
many  people  who  used  clabber  as  such,  but 

some  did  eat  it  that  way.  Sometimes  it  was 

placed  in  a  bowl  and  served  with  thick  cream 

and  sugar. 

Thickened  milk,  or  Lumpy  Dick,  was  a 

favorite  use  of  milk  by  many  people.  It  is  made 

by  heating  milk  and  adding  flour  slowly  until 
the  mixture  becomes  thick  or  forms  small 

lumps.  It  is  then  served  hot,  seasoned  to  taste. 

A  very  special,  favorite  use  of  milk,  still 

popular  today,  was  hot  bread  and  milk.  Slices 
of  bread  were  toasted  brown,  then  buttered 
and  covered  with  hot  milk  and  seasoned  with 

salt  and  pepper,  popularly  called  'milk  toast'. 

Last  but  not  least  was  the  home-made  ice 

cream,  a  very  delicious  treat,  made  by  most 
families  and  used  at  church  socials  and  a 

"must"  for  family  Sunday  dinner.  There  were 
many  ways  to  make  ice  cream.  It  was  made 

and  frozen  in  an  ice  cream  freezer  if  you  were 

lucky  enough  to  own  one  or  could  borrow  one 

from  a  neighbor.  An  ice  cream  freezer  was  a 

wooden  bucket,  with  a  metal  receptacle  in  the 

center;  the  lid  had  cogs  on  top  which  fit  a  tur- 
ning handle,  which  was  manually  turned  or 

cranked.  In  the  center  were  wooden  dashers  or 

scrapers  which  continually  kept  the  freezing 

liquid  scraped  from  the  freezing  outer  edges  of 

the  revolving  container.  A  space  was  provided 

where  ice  or  snow  could  be  placed  inside  the 

wooden  bucket,  salt  added  to  cause  the  melting 
of  the  ice  or  snow,  then  crancked  until  the 

desired  consistency  was  reached.  Some  people 

used  a  common  tin  can  with  a  lid,  placed  into  a 

common  pail  or  bucket  where  snow  had  been 

placed,  spun  by  hand  or  turned  back  and  forth 
causing  freezing  to  take  place,  then  scraped 

from  the  sides  occasionally  by  removing  the  lid 

and  scraping  off  with  a  knife  or  large  spoon. 

Cheese  Making 

A  family  by  the  name  of  Kunz  from  Bear 

Lake  Valley  settled  on  land  at  the  head  of 

Blackfoot  River.  These  people  were  of  Swiss 

or  Dutch  origin  and  knew  the  art  of 

cheesemaking.  Each  spring,  after  grass  pasture 

had  grown  enough  for  grazing,  these  people 
would  come  around  to  the  ranchers  and  rent 

cows,  one  or  two  from  each  rancher,  take  them 

to  their  dairy,  milk  them  all  summer  by  hand, 
make  cheese  and  then  return  them  in  the  fall 

and  pay  rent  in  cheese  for  the  rent  of  the  cows; 

thus  giving  the  Kunz  family  cheese  to  sell  on 
the  market. 

This  practice  went  on  for  several  years  or 

until  a  cheese  plant  was  built  at  Thatcher  by  a 
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co-operative  group  of  ranchers.  A  man  by 
name  of  John  Harrington  was  hired  to  haul 

milk  to  the  cheese  plant  with  a  team  of  horses 

and  a  wagon.  He  always  came  early  in  the 

morning  to  gather  the  milk  (in  8-or  10-gallon 

cans),  so  the  milk  did  not  go  sour  or  a  separa- 
tion of  butterfat,  solids,  protein  and  water  take 

place.  One  hundred  pounds  of  milk  at  average 
test  of  3.5%  butterfat  contains  3.5  lbs.  of 

butterfat,  but  will  yield  about  4  lbs.  of  butter 

and  about  7  to  9  lbs  of  solids  non-fat,  or  pro- 
tein cheese,  the  remainder  is  water  and  milk 

sugar. 

The  cheese  plant  at  Thatcher  was  short- 

lived and  soon  converted  into  a  butter-making 

creamery.  Cream  separators  were  now  becom- 
ing popular,  and  provided  a  cash  return  for 

separated  sweet  cream  for  butter-making.  The 
cream  was  picked  up  twice  a  week  by  haulers 

and  taken  to  the  creamery  for  butter-making, 
tested,  and  paid  for  accordingly.  One  had  the 

privilege  of  having  butter  delivered  back  from 

the  creamery  to  the  ranchers  whenever 
desired. 

All  of  the  skim  milk  was  utilized  at  the 

farm  as  feed  for  young  calves  and  feeding  pigs. 

Along  about  1921  or  1922  the  Laabs 

Cheese  Company  signed  up  enough  farmers  or 

ranchers  to  start  a  cheese  factory  in  Grace. 

Cheese  was  again  made  in  the  valley  and  seem- 
ed to  be  the  best  way  to  market  milk. 

Dairymen  began  to  increase  their  dairy 

herds  to  more  milking  cows.  Later,  Kraft 

Cheese  Company  bought  out  Laabs  and  ex- 
panded their  facilities,  built  a  new  plant  on 

main  street  at  Grace,  and  solicited  more  milk. 

At  this  time  there  were  new  producers  going 

into  the  dairy  business,  each  adding  a  few 

more  cows.  This  practice  continued  (cows  be- 

ing milked  by  hand)  until  about  1927-1928, 
when  the  milking  machine  came  into  the 

valley.  William  Warner  and  Harris  Mickelson 

were  the  first  to  purchase  one.  A  gasoline 

The  Kraft  Cheese  plant  in  Grace. 

The  old  Thatcher  Co-op  Dairy. 

The  Swiss  Cheese  plant  at  Cove. 

116  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



Directors  of  the  Gem  Valley  Dairymen's  Co-op  at  Thatcher,  celebrating  the  burning  of  the  mortgage.  Directors  standing  in 
front;  from  L  to  R:  Eli  Forsgren,  Joseph  Clegg,  Alma  Pond,  Clark  Mickelson,  Leslie  Wright,  Wesley  Hubbard,  Reau 

Weaver  (employee),  J.A.  Toone,  President. 

engine,  which  had  to  be  hand  cranked  for  star- 
ting, was  used  to  create  a  vacuum  to  milk  with. 

In  the  course  of  four  or  five  years  most  people 

had  installed  milking  machines  and  had  again 

increased  their  dairy  herds. 

By  this  time  trucks  were  being  used  to 

gather  and  haul  milk  to  the  cheese  plants. 

Kraft  Cheese  Plant  was  running  at  full  capaci- 
ty. 

Alvin  and  Melvin  Whitehead  decided  to 

build  a  Swiss  Cheese  Plant  at  Cove  on  the  Bear 

River  (American  Cheddar  cheese  was  being 

made  by  Kraft).  This  plant  was  built  and  for 

many  years  did  a  good  business. 

Later,  a  group  of  dairymen  got  together 

and  decided  they  would  build  a  Gem  Valley 

Dairymen's  Co-op  at  Thatcher,  so  a  meeting 
was  called  and  an  association  organized  with 

officers  and  directors  as  needed  to  operate. 

Money  was  secured  thorugh  a  loan  from  the 

Farm  Security  Administration  to  build  the 

plant  and  buy  equipment.  This  was  done  and 

the  plant  did  a  fair  job  for  a  few  years  and  the 

loan  was  paid  off.  Production  lagged  and  the 

plant  was  sold  to  Cache  Valley  Dairymen's 
Co-op.,  who  closed  the  plant  and  hauled  the 
milk  to  Smithfield,  Utah. 

The  Kraft  Cheese  Plant  in  Grace  was  dis- 

posed of  in  a  like  manner,  being  run  for  a  short 
time  and  then  closed  out. 

Homogenized  Milk 

Before  these  two  plants  were  closed, 

Rowland  Brothers  Dairy  of  Pocatello  had 

begun  to  package  and  sell  homogenized  milk 

in  bottles,  (later  in  the  cardboard,  waxed  car- 
tons now  in  use).  Ben  Rowland  solicited  the 

Bancroft,  Chesterfield,  and  Grace  area  for 

Grade  A  market  milk,  with  producers  having 

to  stand  inspection  by  the  Food  and  Drug 

Department.  Warren  King  was  first  to  build  a 

new  Grade-A  barn,  followed  by  Lloyd  Burton, 
Elvin  Hubbard,  Melvin  Mickelson  and  others 

from  Gem  Valley  and  several  from  the 

Bancroft-Chesterfield  area.  Lloyd  Burton  was 
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elected  a  director  at  that  time.  All  producers 

belonging  to  the  Bannock  Dairymen's 
Association,  Inc.,  sold  their  milk  oi^  bid  con- 

tract to  either  Rowland  Brothers  Dairy, 

Cream  Top  Dairy,  or  Wards  Dairy. 
When  Rowland  Brothers  were  getting 

milk  from  this  valley,  they  picked  it  up  in  10 

gallon  cans,  as  did  Gem  Valley  Swiss  Cheese 

Company  and  the  Cache  Valley  Dairymen's 
Co-op.  Bulk  tanks  were  being  used  with 
success  in  California  and  were  getting  a  start 

in  Utah.  By  this  time  more  producers  had  been 

taken  on  contract,  among  whom  were,  Harris 
Mickelson,  Clark  Mickelson,  F.  M. 

Mickelson,  George  Dalton,  Marvin  Prescott, 

Alan  Ruud,  and  Horace  Wright. 

Ben  Rowland  had  decided  to  change  over 

to  bulk  tanks  and  tanker  as  a  means  of  produc- 
ing a  higher  quality  of  milk  and  a  better  way  of 

transportation.  He  patented  a  vacuum  bulk 
tank,  had  it  built  in  California  and  sold  each  of 

the  producers  one.  The  tanks  were  built  in  250 

gallon  to  450  gallon  sizes,  the  larger  size  being 

considered  a  big  patron's.  At  this  time  new 
members  had  again  increased  their  dairy  herds 

and  realized  a  better  price  for  their  milk. 
Harris  Mickelson  was  elected  to  the 

board  of  directors  in  place  of  Lloyd  Burton  at 

this  time.  He  served  as  director  for  two  years, 

DeAnne  Gilbert  presenting  a  winning  demonstration  to 
promote  dairy  products. 

then  was  elected  as  vice-president  for  two 
years  and  then  president  for  six  years. 

The  homogenized  milk  in  cartons  had 

become  very  popular  in  stores  by  this  time; 
also  cottage  cheese,  egg  nog,  yogurt,  whipping 

cream  and  packaged  ice  cream.  Rowland 

Brothers  Dairy  was  delivering  milk  as  far 
north  as  West  Yellowstone  and  all  towns  in 

between  and  as  far  east  as  Montpelier,  Grace, 
Downey  and  Soda  Springs. 

The  dairy  business  looked  good  all 

around,  and  competition  became  very  keen; 

therefore,  the  price  of  milk  to  the  producers 

began  to  drop.  Rowland  Brothers,  Cream  Top, 

and   Bannock   Dairymen's  Inc.   patrons  lost 

^h^^M^-Mt;^ 
Super  View  S.  Burke  Dutchess — the  first  cow  to  be 

classified  excellent  in  this  part  of  Idaho. 
The  Grand  Champion  Bull  at  E.I.S.  Fair— 1963. 
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part  of  their  market.  Rowlands  made  a  deal 

with  Gem  Valley  Swiss  Cheese  Company  to 
use  all  of  their  excess  milk.  This  arrangement 

went  on  for  the  course  of  two  or  three  years; 

finally.  Gem  Valley  Swiss  Cheese  began  to 

haul  the  milk  to  their  plant  free  as  a  means  of 

obtaining  the  Grade-A  milk  for  cheese  mak- 
ing. 

By  this  time  the  market  looked  very  un- 
stable, so  a  delegation  was  sent  to  investigate 

the  possibilities  of  securing  other  markets. 

Several  dairymen's  associations  were  visited  in 
Utah  and  Idaho,  but  there  didn't  seem  to  be 
any  decided  advantage  in  moving.  Later,  a 

delegation  visited  Glen  Garrett,  manager  of 

Cream  O'Weber  at  Ogden,  about  joining  them 
as  producers.  Mr.  Garrett  talked  very 

favorable,  promising  to  call  as  soon  as  there 

was  an  opening.  After  about  3  months  he  call- 
ed for  us  to  come  and  see  him,  which  we  did. 

We  were  allotted  a  small  Grade-A  base  (which 
we  paid  for  from  withholdings  from  our  checks 

over  a  period  of  time).  We  were  allowed  to 

build  base  according  to  our  yearly  production. 

Cream  O'Weber  liked  the  quality  of  milk  we 
produced,  and  we  liked  to  market  our  milk 

there;  so  after  two  years  others  were  accepted 

until  a  truck  and  tanker  trailer  was  picked  up 

in  this  area.  At  present  there  are  ten  producers 

who  produce  enough  milk  to  fill  the  entire 

truck  and  trailer,  which  carries  58,000  pounds. 

Some  of  the  producers  are  now  exceeding 

10,000  lbs.  of  milk  per  pick-up.  The  farm  tank 
ranges  from  800  gal.  to  2,000  gal.  tanks. 

The  cows  are  kept  on  concrete  feed  lots 

and  the  barns  are  glazed  cinder  block  for  easy 
cleaning  and  more  sanitary  upkeep.  Eight 
cows  are  milked  at  one  time  in  most  cases; 

some  have  preparation  stalls  where  the  cows 

are  washed  previously,  then  turned  into  a  milk- 
ing stall  later. 

Besides  Cream  O'Weber,  Highland 

Dairy,  and  Gossners  of  Logan,  Utah,  also  get 
a  load  of  milk  from  Gem  Valley. 

All  of  the  small  cheese  plants  and  the 

creamery  are  now  closed;  but  the  dairy  in- 
dustry in  Gem  Valley  is  booming  and  stable. 

We  shall  continue  to  do  our  part  in  producing 

a  top-quality  dairy  food.  (By  Harris Mickelson) 

«viBf<Wfy3 

■^j^^T- 

An  early  "Black  and  White"  days  celebration  held  on 
the  school  grounds.  The  junior  champion  bull  is  being 
shown  by  T.B.  LeBailey,  chairman  of  the  Bannock 

County  Fair  Board;  1943. 

Black  and  White  Days — 
The  Caribou  County  Fair 

By  Harris  Mickelson 

It  was  in  the  summer  of  1928  and  again  in 

1929,  when  Stanley  Richardson  was  the 

Vocational  Agriculture  instructor  at  The 

Grace  High  School.  He  decided  to  try  for  a 

Dairy  Cattle  Show.  Some  of  the  dairymen 

cooperated  and  the  dairy  show  was  held  in  the 

Cavalry  Barn  where  the  old  Grace  Cheese 
Plant  now  stands.  I  well  remember  that  Blaine 

Whitehead,  Wells  Harris,  Cleve  Chatterton, 

William  Warner,  Francis  Allen,  and  George 
Dalton  drove  their  cattle  in  on  a  saddle  horse.  I 

was  the  proud  owner  of  a  new  Ford  truck,  so  I 

took  my  two  in  the  truck. 
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Senator  Inka  Man-O-War,  4th  prize  bull  at  world's 
fair  at  Treasure  Island  in  1940;  was  grand  champion 
wherever  shown  in  Idaho  for  five  years.  Shown  here  at 

an  early  Black  and  White  fair  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

Sometime  later  another  "Black  and 

White"  show  was  held  on  Bert  Orr's  lot  across 
the  street  south  of  Walters  Lumber  Company. 

It  was  held  for  just  one  day  and  not  too  many 

exhibitors  took  part.  This  had  to  be  in  about 

1930  or  1931.  I  remember  seeing  at  this  time 

Ellis  Lloyd's  new  automobile.  It  was  the  first 
one  I  had  ever  seen  enclosed  in  glass. 

T.  B.  LeBailey,  chairman  of  the  Bannock 

County  Fair  Board,  was  very  helpful.  He 

praised  and  encouraged  us  in  our  efforts  to  put 
on  successful  fairs. 

In  1940  Alf  Toone,  Henry  Lloyd,  George 

Hogan,  and  Harris  Mickelson  got  together 
and  decided  to  have  a  Black  and  white  Show 

again  at  Grace.  At  that  time,  E.  F.  Ziegler  was 

a  director  of  the  Bannock  County  Fair  Board, 

and  he  got  the  premium  money  and  ribbons  for 

us.  We  also  helped  out  by  selling  ads  in  the 

Fair  books  around  the  valley  to  business  firms. 

The  cattle  were  selected  by  a  committee  from 

the  various  dairymen  around  the  valley;  then 

Fred  Sant,  Bryce  Turner,  Roy  Corbett,  Orson 

Clegg,  and  Darrell  Toone  went  around  with 
their  trucks  and  hauled  them  into  the  show  and 

hauled  them  back  home  after  the  show  was 

over.  These  men  were  cattle  buyers  who  owned 
trucks. 

At  first  the  show  was  held  a  block  east  of 

the  main  intersection  (Bank  corner)  at  an  old 

livery  barn  which  had  been  purchased  by  Fred 

Sant.  It  had  also  been  used  by  the  Grace 

Cavalry  Unit  to  stable  their  horses.  We  held 

the  show  here  for  two  years  and  then  moved  to 

the  school  lot  where  the  high  school  is  located 

(football  field).  Each  year  we  procured  large 

tents  which  were  used  by  sheep  men  to  lamb 
out  their  flocks  in  early  spring. 

We  always  spent  several  days  setting  up 

the  tents,  which  we  borrowed  from  Andy 

Hooper  of  Lava  Hot  Springs  and  Fred  Cooper 

of  Grace.  It  was  a  big  job  to  secure  posts  and 

poles  enough  to  support  the  tents  and  build  tie 
racks  for  all  the  cattle  and  horses,  and  panels 

for  the  sheep  and  hogs.  All  was  removed  and 

returned  after  the  show,  which  usually  took  a 
week. 

With  the  thought  in  mind  of  improving 

the  dairy  business  and  stimulating  interest 

among  4H  and  F.  F.  A.  members,  we  appealed 

to  the  cheese  companies  and  the  First  National 

Bank  to  help  sponsor  a  calf  to  be  given  away 

to  the  boy  or  girl  who  exhibited  the 

most  outstanding  project.  A  committee  was 

selected  who  went  to  each  member's  home 
previous  to  Fair  day  to  inspect  each  project. 

Records  were  kept  of  conditions  and  a  winner 
was  chosen.  The  winner  was  awarded  a 

registered  heifer  calf.  These  calves  were  usual- 

ly purchased  in  Utah  by  a  committee  con- 
sisting of  a  fair  board  member,  F.  F.  A.  in- 

structor, county  4-H  agent,  and  a  cheese  com- 

pany representative. 
The  Black  and  White  Fair  consisted  of  all 

dairy  breeds,  horse  pulling  contest,  pleasure 

horses — both  ladies'  and  men's,  and  children's 
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mounted — as  well  as  individual  breeds  of 

horses,  matched  teams,  hogs  and  sheep.  Beef 
cattle  were  also  included  in  1944  for  the  first 

time. 

For  several  years,  beginning  in  1943,  we 
encouraged  the  planting  of  victory  gardens  to 

help  in  the  war  effort.  They  were  judged  by  a 

committee  and  prizes  were  given  to  adult  and 

school-age  projects.  Also,  there  was  a  greased 
pig  contest  where  six  small  greased  pigs  were 

turned  loose  for  different  aged  groups  of 

children  to  catch  and  hold  for  keeps.  Tractor 

driving  contests  were  also  added  for  young 

boys  in  F.  F.  A. 

It  was  in  1946  that  a  Women's  Depart- 
ment was  added  for  canned  fruit,  vegetables, 

meats  and  jellies;  also  needlecraft,  sewing,  and 

other  ladies'  projects.  These  exhibits  were  dis- 
played on  tables  and  benches  at  the  school. 

Some  of  the  women  who  were  instrumental  in 

adding  this  department  were — Eva  Jensen, 
Helen  Burton,  Norma  Mickelson,  Leora 

Tarbet,  Mary  Mickelson,  Ila  Turner  and  Mary 
Allen. 

The  general  committee  at  this  time  seem- 
ed to  be  aware  of  the  fact  that  if  the  Fair  was 

to  continue,  a  move  must  be  made  to  secure 

land  where  permanent  buildings  could  be  built. 

A  committee  of  eight  men  was  selected  to  find 

the  land  and  buy  it  for  the  Fair.  J.  A.  Toone 

was  president;  Brig  Young,  Harris  Mickelson, 

Marcus  Medford,  Glen  Palmer,  Henry  Lloyd, 
Glenn  Allen,  John  Wiswall  and  Jack  Gibbs 
were  committee  members.  The  committee 

went  out  and  collected  money  to  pay  for  a  site. 

Land  was  found  and  purchased  from  Charlotte 

L.  Hubbard,  February  21,  1944.  It  was  paid 

for  by  the  directors  and  contributions  of  others 
who  volunteered  to  donate.  The  deeds  were 

recorded  December  14,  1945,  in  the  name  of 

Gem  Valley  Fair  Association.  After  we 

procured  the  land,  we  allowed  the  Soil  Conser- 

vation Service  to  set  up  barracks  for  conscien- 
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Caribou  County  Fairgrounds  in  Grace,  with  barns  in 
foreground. 

^^••■Bis 

A  view  of  the  grandstand  at  the  Caribou  County 
Fairgrounds  in  Grace. 

A  group  of  ladies  who  have  been  active  in  promoting  the 
ladies  department  at  the  Caribou  County  Fair  in 
Grace,  Idaho.  From  L  to  R:  Joan  Farnworth,  Veloy 
McLain,  Gladys  Williams,  Alice  Smith  (chairman),  Ila 

Roholt,  Eva  Sorenson. 
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Orpha  Cornish  showing  her  rock  collection  at  the  Fair 
in  Grace. 

tious  objectors  to  live  in  while  they  worked  for 

the  service.  Through  this  arrangement,  we  got 

the  20  acres  of  land  leveled  at  a  reduced  price. 

(The  land  was  very  unlevel  when  purchased). 
On  February  5,  1948,  the  Fair  Board 

members  had  a  meeting  and  decided  to  get  out 

logs  and  have  them  sawed  into  lumber  for  use 
of  building  bleachers  and  sheds  on  the  fair 

grounds. Eleven  men  turned  out  to  cut  the  trees 

Libby  Maughan  and  Eileen  Farnsworth  in  the  'home- canned'  Dept. 

and  haul  them  to  the  sawmill.  Harris 

Mickelson,  Warren  King,  and  Dell  Thompson 

supervised  the  building  of  six  bleachers.  There 

was  enough  lumber  left  over  to  build  four 

livestock  barns  and  put  mangers  in  all  six  of 
them.  One  rest  room  was  built  at  the  same 

time  in  the  livestock  area.  On  January  9,  1950, 

Senior  King  and  Queen  of  the  Caribou  County  Fair  in 
Grace  in  1976.  Dale  Simons  and  Ora  Barthlome. 

A  bevy  of  "beauties"  on  the  FIRST  BANK  AND 
TRUST'S  float,  which  won  top  honors  in  the  parade. 
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the  fair  grounds  was  deeded  to  Caribou  Coun- 
ty by  decision  of  the  fair  board. 
Since  that  time  much  progress  has  been 

made.  A  large,  concrete  block  building  to  ac- 

comodate all  ladies'  handiwork  and  hobbies, 
garden  exhibits,  field  crops,  wool,  commercial 

Mr.  and  Mrs.  Hy  Miles  of  Grace  on  the  "oldest 

couples''  float. 

exhibits,  another  rest  room,  a  steel  and  wire 

fence,  rodeo  facilties,  permanent  seating  for 

spectators,  race  track,  improved  water 
facilities,  lawn,  and  a  large,  steel  barn  have  all 
been  added.  In  1957  new  wash  racks  for  the 

animals,  new  loading  facilities  and  more  cor- 

i=,J^, 
The  Grace  City  Council  smiles  from  this  entry  in  one  of 

the  longest  and  best  parades  in  Grace  History. 
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An  exciting  moment  at  the  annual  rodeo. 
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rals  were  added.  In  1964  a  new  horse  barn  was 

built  on  the  grounds.  Then  new  steel  bleachers 

replaced  the  old  with  a  partial  cover  for 

audience  protection  and  comfort.  A  parking 

lot  was  acquired.  In  1973  a  new  beef  barn  was 

added  to  the  west  of  the  large  steel  building. 

Property  lying  south  from  the  cinder  block 

building  and  running  through  to  center  street 

was  purchased  in  1975.  This  will  provide  better 

accomodations  for  the  carnival  and  midway. 

In  1976  a  new  flag  pole  was  erected. 

The  Caribou  County  Fair  Board,  through 

the  cooperation  of  the  people,  and  the  Caribou 

County  Commissioners  have  done  a  great  job 

in  making  the  Caribou  County  Fair  the 

oustanding  event  of  the  year,  not  only  in  Gem 

Valley,  but  in  all  of  Caribou  County. 

A  plaque  in  the  exhibit  building  bears  the 
names  of  the  founders  and  each  board  member 

who  has  served  to  this  date. 

Gem  Valley  Potato  Seed  Industry 

By  Warren  King 

The  first  potatoes  raised  in  Gem  Valley 

on  a  commercial  basis  were  planted  by  Alma 

Hubbard  in  about  1922  or  1923.  The  first  year 

he  raised  about  12-13  acres.  Most  of  those 

potatoes  were  picked  up  by  local  farmers  who 

came  to  Hubbard  to  get  their  winter  potatoes. 

Mildred  Hansen  Burgin  worked  in  the 

kitchen  at  Alma  Hubbard's  when  she  came  to 
Grace  in  the  early  spring  of  1922.  She  can 

remember  the  planting  of  the  potatoes  and 

what  a  busy  time  it  was.  Everybody  had  to 
help. 

As  the  news  traveled,  more  ranchers  came 

for  potatoes  each  fall.  Mildred  can  remember 

people  coming  in  wagons  from  as  far  away  as 

Chesterfield  and  Gray's  Lake  to  get  their 

winter's  supply  of  potatoes. 

In  the  early  spring  of  1928  Lawrence  and 

Mildred  Burgin  leased  and  moved  onto  the 
Therber  Johnson  farm  a  half  mile  east  of 

Grace.  Lawrence  immediately  planted  some 

potatoes.  On  the  farm  there  was  an  un- 
derground henhouse,  which  Lawrence 

renovated  and  enlarged.  It  was  from  this  cellar 

that  the  first  potatoes  were  shipped  out  of  the 

area.  Some  truckers  from  Wyoming  became 

snowbound  (the  road  to  Bancroft  was  closed) 

and  came  to  Grace  looking  for  potatoes. 

Lawrence  Burgin  was  able  to  supply  their 
needs. 

From  that  time  on  there  was  a  steady  in- 
crease in  potato  production.  Harold  Nagel 

came  into  the  valley  in  the  winter  of  1943.  He 
leased  land  from  the  U.  P.  R.  R.  and  built  a 

large  cellar  and  sorting  facility  trackside.  He 

leased  land  in  the  Grace  and  Turner  area  upon 

which  he  raised  potatoes. 

By  this  time  a  number  of  farmers  were 

looking  toward  potatoes  as  part  of  their  crop 
rotation. 

The  first  certified  seed  was  planted  in  the 

valley  by  Don  Peterson  in  1943  and  Jack 
Gibbs  in  1944. 

The  next  year  Harold  Varley  purchased 

the  Albert  Hayes  ranch  and  started  raising  cer- 
tified seed.  He  was  followed  by  Lawrence 

Burgin,  Rufus  Smith,  Joseph  Murray,  Warren 

King,  Marvin  Smith,  Roy  Corbett,  Lloyd 

Ashbaker,  and  others.  Almost  yearly  a  few 

more  farmers  planted  certified  seed. 

In  1956  the  seed  growers  could  see  the 

need  of  an  association,  so  a  meeting  was  called 

and  the  Gem  Valley  Certified  Seed  Potato 
Association  was  formed.  Soon  every  grower 

joined,  the  rules  were  tightened,  and  all 
growers  raised  only  certified  seed.  Not  long 

after,  it  was  found  that  a  disease  prevention 

program  was  necessary  and  again  the  policies 
of  the  Association  were  upgraded  and  changed 

to  help  improve  the  quality  of  the  potato  seed. 
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A  number  of  practices  were  initiated  to 

help  reduce  the  leaf  roll  threat:  (1)  All  peach 

and  apricot  trees  were  located,  purchased,  and 

burned  (these  trees  were  a  winter  host  plant  for 

the  green  peach  aphid  which  in  the  summer 

time  would  transmit  leaf  roll  from  potato 

plant  to  plant  and  from  field  to  field);  (2)  a 

garden  spray  program  was  started  as  was  a  (3) 

garden  potato  seed  give-away  program.  These 
were  only  three  of  the  practices  put  into  effect 

by  the  Association  and  they  soon  began  to 
show  results. 

By  now  the  reputation  of  Grace  seed  was 

becoming  known  and  sales  were  being  made 

all  across  Idaho  and  into  Oregon  and 

Washington  with  some  shipments  going  to 

Wyoming,  California,  Arizona  and  Nevada. 
With  the  inception  of  the  certified  seed 

program  came  extra  sales  and  an  ever- 
expanding  demand  for  our  seed. 

In  1956  a  total  of  1156  acres  of  certified 

seed  were  planted  with  273  acres  rejected  for 
disease  or  24%.  In  1976  a  total  of  6,389  acres 

were  planted  and  only  45  acres  were  rejected 

because  of  potato  diseases  or  .7%.  This  is  an 

improvement  of  34  times. 

In  1948  Rufus  Smith  and  Don  Peterson 

built  a  potato  packing  plant  at  trackside  and 

began  grading  and  shipping  on  a  daily  basis. 

Part  of  the  crop  went  for  seed  and  the  top  end 

(large  sized  potatoes)  were  shipped  to  the  fresh 

potato  market. 
This  packing  shed  was  sold  to  Gregg 

Anderson  of  Burley  in  1961.  It  was  their  prac- 
tice to  purchase  potatoes  on  a  cellar  basis,  then 

sort  and  ship  seed  as  well  as  commercial 

potatoes. 
Almost  every  year  one  or  more  new 

potato  cellars  were  built  and  the  acreage  kept 

increasing.  As  the  acreage  increased  and  as 

farm  improvements  were  made,  the  whole 

potato  industry  in  a  few  short  years  changed 

procedures.  A  practice  which  was  up-to-date 
and  approved  one  year  could  be  completely 
obsolete  in  two  or  three  years. 

In  about  20  years  the  industry  changed 

from  horse-drawn  to  self  propelled  harvesters, 
and  in  a  period  of  less  than  ten  years  from 

sacks  to  all  bulk  handling.  The  average  farmer 

can  now  grow,  store,  and  ship  10-15  times  as 
many  acres  as  a  couple  of  decades  ago. 

Annually  since  about  1943,  the  school  has 

taken    a   two-week    potato   harvest   vaction. 

Idaho  Russets,  the  country's 
number  one  potato,  tumble  from 
harvestor  to  truck  in  Southeast 
Idaho  spud  harvest.  (Newspaper 

pic.) 
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Here  workers  are  shown  sorting  Mark  Peterson's  potatoes.  The  truck,  when  loaded,  will  take  the  spuds  to  Washington. 
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Several  times  the  school  board  has  tried  to  dis- 

continue this  practice;  but,  when  the  harvest 

starts  there  are  not  enough  children  in  school 
to  hold  classes,  so  school  is  dismissed. 

In  the  spring  of  1970  the  first  Virus  X  free 

seed  was  brought  into  the  valley  from  Canada. 

Each  year  more  growers  were  able  to  see  the 
benefits  and  merits  of  this  seed  and  its  use 

grew  rapidly.  It  wasn't  long  until  several 
growers  were  testing  and  improving  their  own 

plots. 
Potatoes  have  probably  had  a  greater  im- 
pact on  the  economy  of  the  valley  than  any 

other  single  agricultural  crop.  The  sorting  and 

shipping,  the  planting  and  harvesting  have 
been  a  great  asset  to  the  whole  community. 

This  pay  roll  has  been  a  nice  bonus  to  many 
farm  and  urban  families. 

The  State  of  Idaho  Grace  Fish  Hatchery 

(Also;  the  Gem  Valley  Rod  and  Gun  Club) 

The  Gem  Valley  Rod  and  Gun  Club  at 

one  time  had  a  membership  of  over  600.  These 

memberships  sold  for  $1.00  each,  but  activities 
and  donations  raised  considerable  funds  for 

projects  involving  fish  and  game.  Many 

pheasants    were    raised    and    released    by 

The  main  Fish  Hatchery  building  at  the  Grace  Fish 
Hatchery,  located  on  Whiskey  Creek  in  the  Lago  area. 

Calvin   Coziah,   Superintendent   of  the   Grace   Fish 
Hatchery,  at  work  on  the  ponds. 
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members'  sons  and  daughters.  Fish  were 
transplanted  over  the  Black  Canyon  rim 

through  a  6"  irrigation  pipe.  Trout  were  reared 
and  released  into  Bear  River  from  two  rearing 

ponds,  one  located  near  the  main  Utah  Power 

and  Light  Plant  and  the  other  upstream  about 

a  mile  north  of  the  Utah  Power  and  Light  foot- 
bridge. 

The  Gem  Valley  Rod  and  Gun  Club  for 

years  held  a  duck  banquet,  which  was  served  in 
the  Grace  Elementary  School  building.  As 

many  as  400  ducks  were  served  to  a  group  of 

enthusiastic  sportsmen  and  their  wives. 

Dignitaries  from  the  State  Fish  and  Game 

Department,  the  Wildlife  Federation,  and 

neighboring  sportsman's  clubs  always  attend- 
ed. 

It  was  at  some  of  these  gatherings  that 

plans  were  laid  to  promote  a  Fish  Hatchery  for 
the  area.  Three  sites  were  mentioned  and 

tested.  Water  samples  and  temperature  were 

monitored  for  two  years. 

G.  Heber  Smith  was  president  of  the  Gem 

Valley  Rod  and  Gun  Club  when  the  greatest 

activities  occurred  through  this  organization. 

Other  officers  and  board  members  who  active- 

ly helped  were  Michael  Mickelson,  Rex 
Bassett,  Harold  Lowe,  Willis  Swensen,  Bill 

Stalder,  Dean  Christensen,  Floyd  Sorensen, 

Earl  Cox,  Brig  Young,  and  Theo  Harris. 

Heber  Smith  cultivated  an  acquaintance 

with  the  State  Fish  Culturist,  a  Mr.  Simpson, 

and  Fish  and  Game  Director,  Mr.  Murray, 

and  kept  promoting  the  Whiskey  Creek 

Hatchery  site.  Eventually  the  plant  became  a 
reality. 

The  Gem  Valley  Rod  and  Gun  Club  had 

an  active  membership  in  the  National  Rifle 
Association.  The  Club  was  furnished  3006 

rifles  and  52  Winchester,  22  target  rifles, 

targets  for  indoors  and  outdoor  ranges  and 

ammunition.  The  Gem  Valley  Rod  and  Gun 

Club  had  a  small  bore  rifle  team  for  both  in- 

door and  outoor  shooting.  The  team  shot  in 

competition  with  teams  statewide.  Bill  Stalder, 

Jamie  Stalder,  Al  Alsop,  H.  B.  Lowe,  and  Brig 

Young  were  some  of  the  top  contenders. 

Magpie  extermination  drivers  were  con- 
ducted each  year,  and  bounties  on  heads  and 

eggs  were  paid  by  the  Club.  As  many  as  10,000 
heads  and  eggs  were  involved  each  year  in  this 

program. The  Grace  Fish  Hatchery,  sometimes 

known  as  Whiskey  Creek  Hatchery,  was  com- 
pleted in  April,  1946.  Harvey  Albrethson  was 

the  first  superintendent.  At  this  time  there  was 

just  the  hatchery  building,  a  few  rearing  ponds, 
and  one  house.  In  June  of  1947,  Albrethson 

was  transferred  to  the  hatchery  at  Ashton,  and 

Charles  Sherwood  became  the  superintendent. 

In  1948,  Norman  Floyd  became  the 

superintendent.  Sometime  later,  a  second 

house  was  built.  During  the  1950's,  Bob 
Quidor,  Morris  Harding,  and  Gayle  Ward 
worked  at  the  hatchery. 

In  July  of  1962,  Norman  Floyd  was 
transferred  to  the  American  Falls  hatchery, 

and  Calvin  Coziah  became  the  superintendent. 

John  Austin  was  the  hatchery  helper  with  Bill 

Hollingsworth  serving  as  a  summer  helper.  In 

May,  1946,  a  third  house  was  completed,  and 
since  then  there  have  been  three  men  and  their 

families  stationed  at  the  hatchery  year  around, 

plus  a  summer  helper. 

The  combined  office  building  and 

summer  helper's  quarters  was  completed  in  the 

spring  of  1973.  The  hatchery's  supply  of  water 
is  from  springs.  The  temperature  of  the  water 

year  around  is  53  degrees,  which  is  considered 

ideal.  The  hatchery  is  equipped  to  raise  130,- 
000  pounds  of  trout  each  year.  Rainbow  trout, 
cutthroat  trout,  mackinaw  or  lake  trout  and 

eastern  brook  are  among  the  kinds  raised. 

These  fish  are  planted  in  southeastern  Idaho 
streams,  reservoirs,  and  one  natural  lake. 

Gem  Valley  Indmtry  —  127 



The  Andreasen  Stables  in  Grace,  Idaho 

Valjean  Andreasen,  owner;  Jockey  astride  race  horse 
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CHAPTER  VI 

Early  Doctors:  Kackley 
&  Hubbard 

"...  the  weather  was  never  too  bitter,  the  snow  too  deep,  or  the 
nights  too  long — to  prevent  their  venturing  forth  to  answer  the  call  of 

the  sick." 
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Early  picture  of  Dr.  Kackley,  soon  after  arriving  in 
Soda  Springs. 
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A  Savior  In  The  Valley 
It  would  be  unthinkable  to  write  a  history  of 
Gem  Valley  without  including  a  history  of  its 
very  earliest  doctor.  Dr.  Ellis  Kackley,  who  was 

truly,  "A  Savior  in  the  Valley".  His  history,  as 
written  by  his  son.  Dr.  Evan  Kackley,  follows: 

UlLIS  kackley  was  born  on  July  14, 

1870,  of  a  humble  and  very  poor  family  in 

Tennessee.  He  received  barely  enough  educa- 
tion to  become  a  teacher. 

He  was  teaching  in  a  country  school  in 
southern  Indiana  when  at  an  Institute  he  met 

Ida  Sarver,  a  teacher  raised  under  like  cir- 
cumstances in  Kentucky,  who  was  to  become 

his  wife. 

He  had  the  practice  of  medicine  in  his 

head  for  years,  but  of  course  this  was  denied  to 

him  because  of  a  poor  background  and  lack  of 
finances.  After  he  and  Ida  Sarver  were 

married,  his  wife  continued  to  teach,  and  he 

entered  the  University  of  Louisville  Medical 

School  in  Kentucky.  After  one  year  they  mov- 
ed to  Nashville,  Tennessee,  to  the  University 

of  Tennessee  where  she  taught  and  he  attended 

Medical  school  for  two  years.  Three,  or  even 

two  years  was  the  length  of  medical  education 

necessary  then  in  the  United  States  to  become 
a  doctor. 

In  that  time  they  could  save  no  funds. 

They  concluded  it  was  necessary  that  he  begin 

the  practice  of  medicine  where  funds  would  not 

be  delayed  for  them  to  live  on.  Principally, 

they  considered  two  places — Flagstaff, 
Arizona,  or  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  At  that  time 

these  towns  were  very  much  the  same.  Soda 

Springs  seemed  to  offer  the  best  opportunity 
as  there  were  no  doctors  within  the  area  from 

Pocatello  to  Montpelier,  a  distance  of  a  hun- 
dred miles  east  and  west,  or  from  Idaho  Falls 

to  Preston,  a  similar  distance  north  and  south. 

The  story  has  been  told,  without  founda- 

tion, that  Soda  Springs  was  chosen  because 
Ellis  Kackley  suffered  from  tuberculosis. 

While  he  was  small  of  bone,  lean  and  husky 

from  hard  work,  he  was  of  good  health.  He 

stood  about  5  foot  8  inches  tall  and  weighed 

approximately  100  to  115  pounds. 

Funds  were  so  short  that  his  wife,  Ida, 
had  to  remain  in  the  East  with  relatives  until 

he  could  come  West  to  earn  the  funds  to  pay 

her  fare  out.  He  arrived  in  Soda  Springs  the 

year  he  graduated,  in  1898.  His  wife  followed 
several  weeks  later. 

Idaho,  like  all  western  states,  had  in  its 

early  days  a  migratory  group  of  doctors.  At 

one  time  there  was  one  at  the  village  of  Alex- 
ander, a  bustling  area  in  those  days.  At  Soda 

Springs,  before  Ellis  Kackley  arrived,  there 
was  Doctor  Wilson,  a  brother  of  C.  B.  Wilson, 

who  was  a  graduate  of  one  of  the  great  medical 

schools  of  the  world  in  Edinburgh,  Scotland. 

Dr.  Kackley  was  well  received  and  fitted 

into  the  community  in  that  vast  area.  It  was 

stated  that  when  asked  the  date  of  his  birth,  he 

said  1898,  the  year  he  arrived  in  Idaho. 

It  was  a  hard  practice,  by  team  and 

buggy,  team  and  sled,  mules  and  snowshoes,  as 
well  as  walking.  His  office  was  in  the  old 

Fryar's  Hotel  on  the  second  floor.  Here  was 
his  own  small,  miniature  hospital  where  he 

often  performed  surgery,  assisted  by  Dr. 

Anderson,  a  pharmacist  who  owned  the 

Anderson  Drug  Store  (now  the  City  Drug  un- 
der Frank  Lallatin). 

He  was  not  only  the  sole  doctor  between 

Montpelier  and  Pocatello,  but  he  served  the 

vast  Gem  Valley  area  from  Alexander  on  the 
north  of  Grace  to  Treasureton  on  the  south. 

During  these  early  years  the  weather  was  never 
too  bitter,  the  snow  to  deep,  or  the  nights  too 
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long  to  prevent  him  from  venturing  forth  to 
answer  the  call  of  the  sick.  He  sometimes  had 

to  go  40  or  50  miles  through  a  winter  blizzard. 

The  winters  were  long  and  hard  and  Grace  was 
often  isolated. 

In  the  January  16,  1975  edition  of  the 

Caribou  County  Sun,  there  is  an  excerpt  in 

Pages  of  the  Past  of  68  years  ago,  which  would 

be  the  year  of  1907.  This  is  quoted  as  follows: 

"Sunday's  snowstorm  caused  many 
problems.  People  walking  home  over  well- 
known  routes  were  obliged  to  follow  fences 

etc.  in  order  to  keep  their  course  and  at  times  it 

was  impossible  to  see  at  all  .  .  . 

"Dr.  Kackley  was  out  in  most  of  the 
storm  and  had  a  rather  hard  time  of  it.  While 

trying  to  get  home  from  the  Valley  (Grace),  he 

was  blown  out  of  his  rig  twice,  at  one  time 

landing  against  a  fence  with  such  force  that  his 

big  fur  coat  was  all  that  prevented  a  broken 

arm.  He  was  over  an  hour  finding  the  bridge 
across  Bear  River  at  Grace  and  about  the  same 

time  finding  a  crossing  at  Soda  Creek.  His 

team  was  blown  down  once  and  were  so  ex- 

hausted that  they  lay  still  for  sometime  before 

attempting  to  get  on  their  feet.  The  Doctor 

finally  made  his  way  home,  though  exhausted 

in  both  mind  and  body." 
Personal  stories,  pointing  out  locations, 

were  told  over  the  dining  room  table  at  home 

of  this  very  long  night  battling  the  blizzard.  In 

a  blizzard  the  snow  and  winds  blow  in  every 

direction  at  the  same  time.  Roads  are  easy  to 

lose,  and  one  depends  entirely  on  the  inherent 

ability  of  a  team  to  hold  the  snow  road,  or  on  a 

buggy  whip  held  out  to  touch  markers  along 
the  side  of  the  road.  These  markers  were  cut 

from  willows  in  the  fall  and  spaced  far  apart 

along  the  road.  By  holding  the  buggy  whip  out 
to  the  side,  if  the  stakes  were  there  they  could 

be  felt  as  the  tip  of  the  whip  brushed  against 
them. 

The  second  time  he  was  blown  from  the 

sled,  which  was  a  small  double  bob,  open  sled, 

he  was  so  chilled  from  the  wind  that  fortunate- 

ly he  crawled  into  one  of  the  culverts  under  the 
Union  Pacific  Railroad  east  of  Davisville. 

When  Ida  Kackley,  who  was  waiting  up 

for  him  through  the  blizzard,  heard  the 

snowbells  and  went  to  the  barn  to  help  him  un- 
hitch, she  thought  the  team  had  come  home 

without  him.  She  found  him  lying  in  the  sled 

bottom  barely  conscious,  the  lines  clasped  in 
stiff  hands. 

Ellis  Kackley  said  in  his  lifetime  there  had 

been  two  dramatic  events  in  the  history  of 

Grace  and  Gem  Valley.  One  was  the  coming  of 

the  Telluride  Power  Co.  to  build  the  largest 

power  plant  then  west  of  Omaha,  a  tremen- 
dous undertaking;  for  it  embodied 

revolutionary  concepts  in  large  electrical 

generation  and  transmission,  and  opened  what 

today  is  known  as  pit  mining.  Ellis  Kackley 

was  the  physician  for  all  the  power  plants 

along  the  Idaho  Bear  River  and  the  transmis- 
sion line  as  far  south  as  Preston.  He  knew  the 

great  engineers  as  well  as  the  workmen  who 

put  in  these  giant  constructions. 
The  other  event  was  the  development  by 

the  pioneers  of  The  Last  Chance  Canal  system 

and  the  Farmers  Land  &  Irrigation  canals. 

This  completely  changed  the  arid  acres  north 
of  the  Bear  River  bottoms  and  made  it  into  the 

great  economic,  social,  and  cultural  develop- 
ment center  it  has  now  become. 

In  1912  Dr.  Kackley  stated  he  had  112 

cases  of  typhoid  along  the  systems  of  these 

canals.  Typhoid  was  a  dread  disease  then  and 

was  carried  by  water.  These  cases  were  all 
within  the  homes  there,  small  and  alone.  He 

covered  the  area  with  horse  and  buggy,  and 

quite  often  on  the  back  of  a  white  mule.  Once 
he  stated  that  the  most  distressing  sight  he 

could  see  when  he  was  called  was  the  sight  of 

bedclothes  hanging  on  the  line,  for  then  he 
knew  death  had  struck. 
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Dr.  Kackley,  because  of  the  difficulty  in 

obtaining  his  own  education,  especially  his 

medical  one,  was  always  interested  in  helping 

others  become  educated.  He  helped  many 

young  people  to  become  doctors,  which  includ- 
ed a  very  outstanding  one,  Cyril  Rich  of 

Grace,  Idaho,  who  practiced  at  Lava  Hot 

Springs  until  his  death. 

He  had  no  animosities  toward  anyone  in 

the  healing  arts,  and  became  close  friends  with 

midwives  and  those  of  the  community  who  lent 

themselves  to  the  healing  and  nursing  of  the 

sick.  There  were  many  of  these  in  Grace  and 

Gem  Valley. 

Dr.  Kackley  died  in  November,  1943,  of 

coronary  thrombosis,  which  came  on  while  he 

was  operating.  He  completed  the  operation 

and  passed  on  several  days  later;  the  way  he 

always  said  he  wished  to  close  his  career. 
Dr.  Evan  Kackley 

As  an  example  of  the  great  affection 

which  children  had  for  Dr.  Kackley,  the 

following  quote,  taken  from  the  "Letters  to  the 

Editors"  section  in  the  Caribou  County  Sun, 
was  written  by  Mrs.  Delia  Murphy  Harris  of 
Clearfield,  Utah,  who,  as  a  child,  lived  near 

Dr.  Kackley  in  Soda  Springs. 

"I  worshipped  Dr.  Kackley  and  he  loved 
me  like  a  daughter. 

"He  told  my  folks  lots  of  times  he  would 
like  to  adopt  me.  I  spent  lots  of  time  at  his 

house.  I  used  to  help  his  housekeeper,  Maggie 
Bolton,  do  dishes,  make  beds,  dust  and  other 
chores. 

"Dr.  Kackley  was  like  a  father  to  me.  I 
remember  how  I  cried  the  day  Dr.  Kackley 

went  to  war.  I  was  so  afraid  he  would  get  kill- 
ed. 

"I  had  a  picture  of  Dr.  Kackley  holding 
me  and  I  went  to  sleep  in  his  arms. 

"I  had  another  taken  with  him  in  his  un- 

iform the  day  he  left  for  war  .  .  ." 
The  following  verses  are  taken  from  the 

long    poem,    "Winter    Night's    Reverie"    by 
Mildred  Burton  of  Grace,  Idaho. 

You  know,  she  had  pneumonia  once — 
Scared  every  one  she  knew; 

And  all  the  neighbors  gathered  round 

To  see  what  they  could  do. 

They  came  in  whitetop  buggies, 

Or  any  way  they  could. 

Brought  all  their  homemade  remedies 

To  see  if  they'd  do  any  good. 

Well,  as  they  gathered  round. 

Thinking  each  breath  would  be  her  last. 
Some  one  looked  out  of  the  window 

And  saw  Doc  Kackley  coming  past. 

Dr.  Kackley  with  his  devoted  dog — many  years  later. 
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He  was  leaning  over  the  dashboard 

Giving  his  poor  team  the  lash; 
He  made  the  turn  on  two  wheels; 

They  thought  sure  that  he  would  crash. 

He  pulled  the  team  up  sharply 

The  first  place  that  he  could  find, 

Leaped  nimbly  from  the  buggy, 

His  shabby  black  bag  in  one  hand; 

His  long  coat  flying  out  behind. 

"Is  she  dead?"  they  heard  him  whisper 
As  he  started  for  the  door, 

And  saw  all  the  people  standing  there, 

There  wasn't  room  for  any  more. 

He  went  into  the  bedroom. 

Took  off  his  old  felt  hat, 

Ran  his  fingers  through  his  hair, 

Then  by  her  bed  he  sat. 

First  he  felt  her  pulse; 
Then  he  listened  to  her  chest. 

In  those  days  when  you  had  Doc  Kackley, 

You  had  the  very  best. 

He  opened  up  the  old  black  bag. 

Took  out  a  tiny  vial 

Of  cresote,  which  he  mixed  with  milk. 

Then  he  began  to  smile. 

Just  give  a  few  drops  now  and  then — 
That  is  all  you  will  need  to  do; 

I'm  sure  that  in  no  time  at  all 
She  will  be  as  good  as  new. 

He  ruffied  up  his  shaggy  hair; 
Put  on  his  coat  and  hat; 

Gathered  up  his  old  black  bag; 

Gave  Aunt  Sadie  Egbert  a  friendly  pat. 

He  jumped  into  his  buggy 

And  again  was  on  his  way, 

For  he  had  many  other  calls 
Which  he  must  make  that  day. 

When  the  roll  is  called  up  yonder. 

He'll  be  first  upon  his  feet; 

He'll  run  his  fingers  through  his  hair, 

Then  all  his  friends  he'll  greet. 

Dr.  Hubbard — Our  Own  Country  Doctor 

The  first  doctor  to  move  into  Grace,  live 

here,  and  serve  the  people  of  Gem  Valley  for 

the  rest  of  his  life,  was  our  well-loved  Doctor 

Hubbard.  Dr.  John  Hyrum  Hubbard  was  born 

April  18,  1867,  in  Willard,  Utah,  the  son  of 

Charles  Wesley  Hubbard  and  Mary  Edwards 
Hubbard.  He  was  raised  in  that  area  and  serv- 

ed a  mission  to  the  Southern  States  in  1890.  In 

about  1896,  he  married  Jeanette  Reading.  He 

attended  the  University  of  Utah  before  his 

marriage  and  became  a  successful  teacher  and 

principal,  staying  in  that  profession  only  a  few 

years. 
He  loved  the  land,  but  his  health  would 

not  permit  him  to  do  the  hard  physical  labor 

required  in  those  early  days;  therefore,  he  went 

to  Chicago  and  attended  medical  school.  Here 

he  received  his  M.  D.  degree  and  followed  this 

profession  for  the  rest  of  his  life.  He  first  went 

to  Legrande,  Oregon,  where  he  practiced 

medicine  for  a  few  years;  and  then,  in  about 
1910,  he  moved  to  Grace,  Idaho,  where  he 

spent  the  rest  of  his  life  in  service  to  the  people 

of  Gem  Valley.  It  can  truly  be  said  there  was 

never  a  more  kind,  willing  and  dedicated  doc- 
tor. He  would  hitch  his  team  to  the  little  buggy 

and  go,  night  or  day,  far  or  near,  in  all  kinds  of 

weather  to  deliver  a  baby  or  doctor  a  sick  per- 

son. The  automobile  didn't  come  into  general 
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Early  picture 
of  Dr.  Hubbard, 

a  much-loved 
and  long-time 
doctor 
in  Grace,  Idaho. 

use,  except  for  the  more  well-to-do  people,  un- 
til about  1912  when  most  every  family  was 

able  to  purchase  a  model  T  Ford  for  about  five 
hundred  dollars. 

Traveling  over  the  unimproved  roads,  es- 

pecially in  the  winter  and  spring,  was  extreme- 
ly difficult  with  deep  snow  to  buck  and  mud 

and  ruts  hub-deep  in  the  spring.  Nevertheless, 
these  two  early  doctors  for  Gem  Valley  never 

failed  in  their  high  purpose  and  dedication  and 
won  the  hearts  and  confidence  of  all  whom 

they  attended. 
Dr.  Hubbard  and  his  wife,  Jeanette,  were 

parents  of  three  children,  Walter  Isom,  David 
Samuel,  and  Clara.  After  the  death  of  his  wife 

in  1915,  he  married  her  widowed  sister,  Lottie 

Reading  Pierce.  Dr.  Hubbard  died  Dec.  5, 

1928.  He  will  long  be  remembered  by  all  who 
knew  him. 

Other  doctors  who  later  served  the  Gem 

Valley  area  are  as  follows:  Dr.  Ottie,  Dr. 

LeRoy  C.  Potter,  Dr.  B.  K.  Zaring,  Dr.  Earl 
S.  Bovenmyer,  Dr.  J.  B.  Koehler,  Dr.  C.  C. 

Johnson,  and  Dr.  Emmett  E.  Herron  (present). 
We  have  been  unable  to  locate  Dr.  Ottie 

and  Dr.  Zaring,  but  short  biographies  of  the 

remaining  doctors  are  included  as  follows: 

Those  Who  Came  Later 

Dr.  Earl  S.  Bovenmyer 

Dr.  Bovenmyer  was  born  in  Tama  Coun- 
ty, Iowa,  on  January  17,  1910.  He  was  the  son 

of  Wilhelmina  and  Samuel  Bovenmyer,  the 

youngest  of  8  children. 

He  attended  grade  and  high  school  in 

Toledo,  Iowa,  graduating  in  1927.  He  then 

entered  the  University  of  Iowa  and  graduated 

from  the  University  of  Iowa  Medical  School  in 

June,  1933. 

He  interned  in  Seattle,  Washington,  at 

Swedish  Hospital.  In  July,  1934,  he  establish- 
ed a  general  practice  in  Grace,  Idaho,  in  what 

was  then  the  Sant  Hotel.  In  March  1937,  he 

married  Nell  Hulett,  who  was  the  local  Public 
Health  Nurse. 

In  1938  he  moved  to  Pocatello,  Idaho, 

where  he  became  a  physician  for  the  Union 

Pacific  Railroad  and  engaged  in  private  prac- 
tice. 

In  1940  he  was  transfered  to  Sun  Valley, 

Idaho,  by  the  Union  Pacific  Railroad  where  he 
became  medical  Director. 

In  October,  1940,  he  was  called  into  the 

Army  on  Active  Reserve  Duty  at  Ft.  Ord, 

California.  He  served  in  the  army  until 

February,  1946,  including  duty  in  the  Euro- 

pean Theater  of  Operations  with  the  5th  Aux- 
iliary Surgical  Group.  He  returned  from 

Europe  as  a  patient  on  a  hospital  ship.  Follow- 
ing honorable  discharge  from  service,  he 

entered  Knoxville,  Tennessee  General 

Hospital  for  a  Surgical  Residency. 

He  then  returned  to  practice  in  Pocatello, 

Idaho,  for  a  time  and  then  practiced  in  River- 
ton,  Wyoming,  becoming  the  first  Chief  of 

Staff  at  a  newly  constructed  hc'Spital  there. 

Dr.  Bovenmyer  then  moved  to  Dubois, 

Wyoming,  where  he  was  semi-retired  for  8 

years. In  September  1964,  he  became  a  physi- 
cian in  the  Outpatient  Department  of  the  Boise 
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Veteran's  Hospital,  eventually  becoming  Chief 
of  the  Outpatient  Dept. 

He  retired  on  December  31,  1974,  and 

now  resides  in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

Joseph  Benton  Koehler,  M.D. 

Joseph  Benton  Koehler  was  born  in 
Denver,  Colorado.  After  graduating  from 

high  school,  he  attended  the  University  of 

Colorado,  where  he  received  a  degree  in 

chemical  engineering.  He  worked  as  a 

chemical  engineer  for  the  Gates  Rubber  Com- 
pany of  Denver  for  two  years. 

Since  boyhood,  Joe  had  harbored  the  am- 

bition of  being  a  doctor.  The  economic  depres- 

sion of  1929  meant  that  returning  to  the  un- 
iversity to  study  medicine  would  involve  many 

sacrifices,  working  weekends  and  during 

vacations.  Many  people — even  his  own 

father — advised  against  giving  up  his  position 
at  the  Gates  Rubber  Company  to  return  to 

school.  But  Joe  persisted  in  his  goal  to  become 

a  doctor.  In  1932  he  returned  to  the  university, 

and  in  1937  he  received  his  degree  in  medicine. 

After  serving  a  year's  internship  at  the 
University  of  Colorado,  he  was  told  by  a  friend 

from  Idaho  that  the  community  of  Grace, 
Idaho  was  in  need  of  a  doctor. 

Dr.  Koehler  went  to  Grace  to  look  over 

the  town,  but  his  first  impression  was  that  such 

a  small  town  could  not  possibly  support  a  doc- 
tor. However,  after  talking  to  several  people  in 

the  community,  he  realized  that  the  medical 

practice  there  would  comprise  not  only  the 

town  of  Grace  but  also  a  large  surrounding 
area.  Therefore,  he  announced  that  he  was 

starting  a  practice  in  Grace  on  June  28,  1938. 

After  renting  a  residence  which  would  allow 

office  space,  two  treatment  rooms  and  a  small 

hall  for  a  reception  room,  as  well  as  living 

quarters,    he   returned   to    Denver   to   make 

arrangements  for  the  move  from  Denver  to 
Grace,  Idaho. 

On  June  26,  1938,  he  married  Grace 

Furness  of  Denver,  whom  he  had  known  at  the 

University  of  Colorado.  She  had  graduated 

from  the  University  of  Colorado  in  1929,  and 

had  been  teaching  Spanish  and  Latin. 

Shortly  after  the  marriage  ceremony  in 

Denver,  Dr.  Koehler  and  his  bride  left  for 

Grace,  Idaho.  On  the  way  both  shared 

thoughts  as  to  how  two  individuals  from  a  big 

city  would  adjust  to  life  in  a  small  town. 
From  the  beginning  of  a  new  life  in  the 

area,  there  was  no  time  for  even  thinking 

about  adjustment.  On  arrival  in  Grace,  there 

were  already  patients  waiting  to  be  treated. 

The  six  years  of  practice  there  were  extremely 

busy  ones.  The  hours  were  long.  Many  times 

Dr.  Koehler  was  out  all  night  long  on  serious 

cases.  Also,  those  were  the  days  of  home 
deliveries  of  babies.  On  several  occasions  in 

the  depth  of  winter,  he  would  drive  on  the  main 
road  as  far  as  possible,  and  be  met  by  the 
driver  of  a  bobsled  in  order  to  arrive  at  the 

home  of  the  expectant  mother. 

However,  life  during  those  years  was 

highly  rewarding,  for  Dr.  Koehler  experienced 

a  real  joy  in  treating  everyone  from  "baby  to 
grandpa."  Also,  there  was  a  warm  feeling  of 
love  and  affection  between  him  and  the  people 
of  the  community. 

Because  of  the  facilities  and  conveniences 

of  a  hospital.  Dr.  Koehler  moved  from  Grace 

to  Soda  Springs,  where  he  practiced  for  four 

years. 
In  1949  he  had  the  opportunity  to  do  a 

year's  graduate  work  in  eye,  ear,  nose  and 
throat,  at  the  University  of  Pennsylvania  in 

Philadelphia.  After  this  study,  he  fulfilled  a 

two-year  residency  at  St.  Luke's  Hospital  in 
Cleveland,  Ohio.  He  did  further  postgraduate 

work  at  Western  Reserve  University  in 
Cleveland. 

136  —  Genu  Oj  Our  Valley 



In  1951,  Dr.  Koehler  with  his  wife  and 

two  children — Peggy  Lue  and  Joseph 
Jr. — returned  to  Pocatelio,  Idaho,  to  practice 
his  specialty. 

The  son,  Joseph,  Jr.,  died  December  5, 

1961.  On  Thanksgiving  Day  of  1962,  Dr. 

Koehler,  age  55,  died  of  a  heart  attack. 

He  was  a  member  of  the  First 

Congregational  Church  of  Pocatelio,  the 

Caribou  Lodge  84,  AF  and  AM,  El  Korah 

Shrine  of  Boise,  Idaho,  The  Pocatelio  Rotary 
Club,  the  Idaho  Medical  Association,  The 

Southeast  Idaho  Medical  Association,  the 

American  Medical  Association,  and  other 

professional  societies.  He  served  during  World 

War  II  as  a  first  lieutenant  in  the  Army 

Medical  Corps. 

Dr.  Charles  C.  Johnson 

Dr.  Charles  C.  Johnson  vvas  born  in 

Logan,  Utah,  September  1,  1895.  His  family 
moved  to  Pocatelio  in  1901  and  to  American 

Falls  in  1902,  where  his  father  was  superinten- 
dent of  the  newly  built  power  plant. 

He  attended  grade  and  high  school  in  the 
American  Falls  Public  Schools.  From  1913  to 

1916  he  attended  pre-medic  at  the  University 
of  Utah.  He  then  served  in  the  U.S.  Navy 

Hospital  Corps  from  1917  to  1919.  The  next 

two  years  were  spent  in  the  Idaho  office  of 
Internal  Revenue. 

He  married  Drucilla  McKay  of  Malad  on 
June  20,  1921. 

Following  his  marriage,  he  attended  the 

A.  B.  Stanford  University  from  1924  to  1928 

when  he  obtained  his  medical  degree.  He  then 
taught  at  the  Stanford  Medical  School  from 

1928  to  1930.  Returning  to  Utah,  he  taught  at 

the  University  of  Utah  Medical  School  from 

1930  to  1944,  and  then  interned  at  the  Holy 

Cross  Hospital,  Salt  Lake  City  from  1944  to 
1945. 

In  the  summer  of  1945  he  and  his  wife 

moved  to  Grace,  Idaho  where  Doctor  Johnson 

began  his  first  practice  of  medicine  in  January, 
1946. 

He  and  his  wife,  Dru,  are  parents  of  three 

children — Dorothy  (Guill),  of  Beaverton, 

Oregon;  Bill  and  James. 
Dr.  Johnson  has  retired  and  he  and  his 

wife  are  now  living  in  Oregon. 

Dr.  Emmett  E.  Herron 

Dr.  Emmett  E.  Herron,  long-time  and 
present  doctor  of  Grace,  Idaho,  was  born  in 
Greenriver,  Utah  on  Augut  19,  1920,  to  Phillip 
and  Marie  Parnack  Herron.  His  mother  is  still 

living  in  Greenriver,  Utah. 

He  graduated  from  Greenriver,  Utah 

High  School  as  valedictorian  in  1938.  He  then 

attended  the  University  of  Utah  where  he  ob- 
tained his  B.  S.  degree  in  1942.  Four  years 

later,  in  1946,  he  graduated  from  the  Universi- 
ty of  Utah  Medical  School.  He  also  served  in 

the  U.  S.  Army  Reserves  from  1943   to  1946. 

Dr.  Herron  interned  at  St.  Joseph's 
Hospital  in  Tacoma,  Washington  from  1946  to 

1947  and  spent  three  months  in  senior  in- 
ternship in  1947. 

He  returned  to  active  duty  in  the  U.  S. 

Army  in  1947  and  spent  a  year  in  Japan  as  a 

public  health  officer  on  a  military  government 
team. 

He  was  discharged  in  August  1949  and 

came  immediately  to  Grace,  Idaho  and  set  up 

a  general  practice,  where  he  is  still  practicing. 

Dr.  Herron  was  an  avid  sportsman  for 

years,  especially  enjoying  hunting  and  fishing; 

loading  his  own  ammunition  and  building  his 
own  fishing  rods. 

He  has  served  twice  as  Commander  of  the 
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Local  Albert  Van  Vleet  Post  No.  50  of  the 

American  Legion.  He  served  as  Commander 
of  the  Sixth  District  of  southern  Idaho,  First 

Vice  Commander  of  Department  in  Idaho, 

and  several  years  as  Adjutant  of  local  post. 
He  has  served  as  chairman  of  the  Caribou 

County  American  Red  Cross  for  20  years,  be- 
ing instrumental  in  getting  and  maintaining  a 

blood  bank  in  our  local  hospital. 

In   1942  he  and  Dorothy  Johnson  were 

married  and  were  parents  of  the  following 
children:  Mrs.  Dale  (Margaret)  Young,  Mrs. 

Eugene  (Barbara)  Reynolds  of  Boise,  Idaho; 
Mrs.  Donn  (Susan)  Easton;  and  son,  James  C. 

Herron  of  Grace,  Idaho.  Later  divorced,  he 

then  married  Nelda  Spackman  Thomas  in 

1964,  who  was  the  mother  of  the  following 
children:  Kenneth  G.  Thomas;  Robert  L. 

Thomas;  Mrs.  Richard  (Lorraine)  Dickson, 
Brent  J.  Thomas  and  William  G.  Thomas. 
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CHAPTER  VII 

The  Women 

"/  could  fill  a  volume  with  names  of  great  and  good  women  in  that 
valley;  the  ones  that  stood  by  the  guns  day  and  night,  ready  to  give  a 

helping  hand."  (Dr.  Kackley) 
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Ella  Austin  Hill- 
struggled  against  adversity. 

Ellen  Christensen — knew 
poverty  and  hunger;  cared 
for  large  family  while  husband 
served  a  mission. 

Phoebe  Gummersall — courageous  homesteader; 
early  midwife  and  nurse  to  the  sick. 
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1  HERE  WAS  a  period  in  our  history 
that  was  not  kind  to  our  women;  a  time  when 

the  white  man  battled  a  strange  land  to  build 

homes  and  to  make  fruitful  fields  of  an  aged 
desert.  Women  shared  that  battle  with  their 

men.  Some  were  fortunate;  for  others  the 

struggle  to  raise  their  children  in  an  alien 

world  tested  the  metal  of  a  strong  soul.  Ella 

Austin  Hill  was  one  of  the  latter."  (Pearl 
Oberg — The  History  of  Ella  Austin  Hill) 

Ella  Austin  Hill,  mother  of  John 

VanVleet  and  Albert  VanVleet,  the  first 

casualty  from  Gem  Valley  in  World  War  I, 

was  an  early  settler  in  the  Grace  area.  The 

following  are  excerpts  from  her  life  history: 

"That  night  we  camped  near  the  edge  of 
town.  The  mosquitoes  were  thick  as  the  hair  on 

a  dog's  back.  They  settled  on  the  buckskin 
horse  and  made  him  look  black.  We  were  fry- 

ing spuds  for  supper  on  the  camp  fire  and 

everytime  I  lifted  the  lid  to  stir  the  potatoes  the 

mosquitoes  crawled  into  the  pan,  until  the  food 

looked  as  if  it  had  been  peppered.  There  was 

no  way  to  keep  them  out."  (On  the  trek  from 
Colorado  to  Idaho  in  a  covered  wagon.) 

"One  day  I  was  hauling  a  load  of  grain 
across  the  river  when  the  wheel  came  off  and 

let  the  wagon  box  sag  terribly,  and  I  was  afraid 

the  whole  thing  was  going  to  tip  over  into  the 

water.  The  only  thing  I  could  think  of  doing 

was  to  get  a  wagon  someone  had  left  on  the 

place — drive  it  into  the  river — and  dip  the 
grain  out  in  buckets. 

"It  took  a  long  time  to  lift  the  grain  from 
one  wagon  to  the  other  with  a  bucket  but  I  did 

not  lose  much  of  it  in  the  process.  I  hauled  the 

grain  out  of  the  river  before  I  dragged  the 

broken  wagon  on  the  bank  and  rescued  the 

wheel."  (While  living  in  Grace) 

"Later,  that  same  fall,  our  cow  got  loose 
and  waded  out  into  the  river  while  I  was  trying 
to  chase  her  back  into  the  corral;  before  I 

could  turn  her  back,  she  had  discovered  that 
she  was  free  and  had  thrown  her  head  and  tail 

in  the  air  and  had  taken  out  through  the  icy 
water  to  the  other  side  of  the  river. 

"There  were  no  horses  on  the  place  at  the 
time  and  the  only  way  to  cross  the  river  was 

through  the  water,  so  I  plunged  in.  The  icy 

cold  water  came  up  to  my  armpits,  in  the 

deepest  part  of  the  river,  and  by  the  time  I  had 

reached  the  opposite  bank,  old  Betsy  had  set- 
tled down  and  was  eating  dry  grass.  The  fight 

had  gone  out  of  her  and  it  was  a  very  subdued 

Bossy  that  allowed  me  to  tie  the  rope  around 

her  neck  and  lead  her  back  through  the  river." 
(In  Grace) 

"During  the  summer  I  started  washing 
clothes  for  some  of  the  families  in  Grace,  just 

to  help  out.  There  never  seemed  to  be  enough 

money  to  do  all  the  things  that  were  necessary. 

"In  the  fall  I  cut  a  small  field  of  hay  with 
the  butcher  knife,  and  stacked  it  up  for  cow 

feed.  We  had  a  cellar  dug  in  the  hillside  and 

there  we  stored  our  vegetables  for  the  winter. 

"After  the  harvest  was  taken  care  of  I 
went  into  the  cedars  and  cut  fence  posts,  then 

hauled  them  to  the  lumber  yard  where  I  got  a 

good  price  for  them.  I  found  that  I  could  make 
more  money  this  way  than  by  taking  in 

washing,  but  I  thought  it  wise  to  keep  on  with 

the  washing  anyway,  for  in  the  winter  time 

when  the  snow  got  deep  it  would  be  impossible 

to  get  the  posts  out. 

"The  next  winter  we  moved  into  town  and 
I  took  in  washings.  At  first  I  had  only  the 

washboard  to  wash  on  but  after  a  time  I 

bought  a  washing  machine  and  what  a  blessing 

it  was  to  have  the  help  of  the  machine.  At  that 

time  I  was  washing  for  thirteen  families,  the 

hotel,  the  barber  shop,  and  a  number  of 
bachelors.  It  meant  washing  every  day  of  the 

week,  but  it  was  the  only  way  I  could  manage. 

During  the  winter  months,  drying  the  clothes 

became  a  difficult  problem."  (In  Grace) 
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Excerpts  from  Other  Histories: 

"Frequently  the  women  were  left  alone  to 
take  care  of  the  stock  and  maintain  the 

household  while  the  husband  was  away 

freighting  or  logging.  The  Indians  were 

numerous  and  often  troublesome.  Many  a 
Pioneer  woman  has  barricaded  her  door  at 

night,  hardly  daring  to  go  to  sleep  because  of 

prowling  Indians." 
"For  years  there  were  no  doctors,  and 

women  had  to  do  everything  for  their 

families — doctor,  nurse,  manufacturer  of  both 
food  and  clothing,  and  teacher.  Will  Williams 
tells  of  the  time  when  as  a  child  of  four  he 

broke  his  leg,  and  his  mother  made  splints  and 
set  it  herself.  She  then  fashioned  a  little  box  to 

hold  it  and  padded  it  inside.  His  leg  healed 

without  complications." 

Tribute  Given  by  Dr.  Kackley  to  Women  of 
Gem  Valley 

"I  could  fill  a  volume  with  names  of 
Great  and  Good  women  in  that  Valley.  The 

ones  that  stood  by  the  guns  day  and  night, 

ready  to  give  a  helping  hand.  You  know  them 

all,  but  I  might  just  mention  a  few  of  the  old 

"Wheel  Horses",  such  as  Mollie  and  Mrs. 
Will  Bassett,  Mary  Swenson,  Mrs.  Toone  and 

Mrs.  Larkins,  and  hundreds  more  in  your 

valley.  Then  on  the  flat  you  had  Grandma 

Allsop,  Grandma  Stoddard,  the  late  Mrs. 

Gibbs  out  by  Niter,  Mrs.  Steadman,  Grandma 

Gummersall  and  Grandma  Egbert.  Down  in 

Cleveland  we  had  Grandma  Gray,  Aunt 

Charity  as  we  called  her.  Mrs.  Barney  White 

was  always  ready  and  willing.  Then  away 

further  down  we  had  Sister  Lundgreen  as  she 

was  so  kindly  spoken  of  and  Mrs.  Williams. 

To  speak  of  good  people  and  experiences  in  the 

early  settlement  of  this  country  would  require 

a  better  pen  than  mine  to  even  give  you  an  in- 
dex to  their  true  characters.  To  administer 

help  in  this  world,  to  go  into  the  homes  and 
relieve  suffering  are  the  very  things  the  Savior 

did  while  he  was  here  among  us."  (The  words 
of  Dr.  Kackley  to  Sister  Sadie  Mickelson, 

president  of  the  Lago  Ward  Relief  Society,  in 

response  to  her  request  for  his  picture  to  put  in 
the  Ward  Scrapbook.) 

Midwives  in  the  Valley 

With  the  nearest  doctor  often  30  or  40 

miles  away  and  wagon  trails  that  were  often 

impassable,  it  became  imperative  for  many 

early  pioneer  women  to  learn  the  art  of 

midwifery.  Those  who  were  able,  took  a  short 

training  course  from  Dr.  Kackley  or  from  Dr. 

Shipp  in  Salt  Lake  City — but  most  just  learn- 
ed from  experience.  The  first  midwife  in  our 

valley  was  sister  Ann  Bennett,  known  as 

Grandma  Bennett.  Another  was  Mary  Ann 
Turner,  who  is  said  to  have  delivered  over  1500 

babies.  Mary  Ellen  Egbert  was  another  who 

was  well  accomplished  in  this  art  and  often 
called.  Besides  the  ones  mentioned  in  the 

quotation  from  Dr.  Kackley,  there  were  many 

others  in  the  valley,  too  numerous  to  mention, 

who  often  assisted  and  became  very  proficient. 

On  Preparing  the  Dead  for  Burial 

"In  the  early  days  of  this  valley  the  dead 
were  not  taken  to  funeral  homes  as  is  now  the 

custom.  The  bodies  were  prepared  for  burial 

by  the  Relief  Society  women.  This  consisted  of 

washing  the  corpse  and  laying  them  out 

straight  on  a  long  table  made  of  ordinary 
lumber  covered  with  a  sheet.  Bottles  of  ice 

water  were  packed  around  the  body,  also 

cloths  dipped  in  ice  water  and  formaldehyde 

were  laid  over  the  face  and  changed  at  close  in- 
tervals to  prevent  discoloring.  Very  often  the 

women  also  made  most  of  the  burial  clothes. 

They  likewise  lined  and  prepared  the  casket 

which  the  men  made  from  rough  lumber." 
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The  following  is  an  excerpt  from 

"Winter's  Night  Reverie",  written  by  Mildred 
Burton,  an  early  settler  and  long-time  resident 
of  Grace,  Idaho. 

Now  I  think  about  a  story 
That  Chris  Christensen  told  to  me; 

It  will  help  you  see  a  little 

How  things  out  there  used  to  be. 

It  was  back  in  about  1900 — 

Folks  out  there  were  pretty  poor; 

It  really  kept  them  guessing 

To  keep  that  old  wolf  from  the  door. 

The  Christensens  weren't  any  different; 
It  was  a  struggle  every  day 

Just  to  keep  their  bodies  covered 

And  for  a  few  groceries  pay. 

So,  to  add  a  few  more  dollars 

To  their  meager  little  pile 
Father  Christensen  took  his  oldest  son 

And  went  out  to  Henry  for  a  while. 

Soon  the  flour  bin  was  empty 

And  the  cupboard  mighty  bare; 
The  Mother  went  into  the  cellar 

And  found  only  a  few  carrots  there. 

Only  half  enough  by  any  count 

To  feed  her  hungry  brood; 

She  knew  she  must  do  something 

To  provide  her  family  food. 

So  she  started  Chris  to  Lund 

To  see  what  he  could  do; 

Though  he  was  just  a  little  boy, 

She  knew  that  he'd  get  through. 

When  he  reached  the  store  in  Lund, 
He  asked  the  merchant  there 

To  trust  them  for  a  sack  of  flour 

And  what  else  he  had  to  spare. 

But  the  merchant  very  gruffly. 

Never  waiting  to  ask  why. 

Said,  "We  don't  trust  folks  for  flour — 

If  you've  no  money,  you  can't  buy." 

So  with  an  empty  stomach 

And  eyes  o'erflowed  with  tears, 
He  started  back  for  home 

To  his  mother  and  her  fears. 

Then  this  plucky,  little  woman 
Took  what  carrots  she  could  find, 
Put  them  on  the  stove  in  water 

Told  her  children  not  to  mind. 

That  she'd  fix  them  a  fine  supper 
And  then  tuck  them  all  in  bed — 

That  soon  they'd  be  asleep 

And  forget  they'd  had  no  bread. 

Now  the  carrots  begin  to  bubble 
And  the  room  is  filled  with  steam 

And  the  smell  of  boiling  carrots 

Make  things  much  brighter  seem. 

She  put  the  dishes  on  the  table 
Each  child  scrambled  to  his  place 
Then  a  look  of  consternation 

Came  across  each  childish  face. 

For  the  littlest  place  was  empty 

No  one  waiting  to  sit  there 

And  they  couldn't  find  the  baby 
Though  they  searched  and  called  everywhere. 

Now  the  supper  is  forgotten. 
Out  the  door  the  children  fiy; 

All  they  see  is  dust  that's  settling 
From  a  sheep  herd  that  went  by. 

Dust  that's  settling  on  the  sagebrush 
Growing  high  as  they  could  see 

Blotting  out  their  chance  of  seeing 

Where  the  baby  boy  might  be. 
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But  they  found  him  plodding  sl
owly 

In  the  dust  along  the  way, 

In  the  tracks  the  sheep  had  mad
e 

When  they  passed  the  place  that
  day. 

So  they  picked  him  up  and  hugged  
him, 

Let  him  ride  upon  their  back; 

Hurried  home  to  find  their  supper 

Which,  by  now,  was  all  burned  b
lack. 

Tired  now  and  very  hungry 

Dropped  each  sleepy  little  head. 

And  the  mother,  sick  and  weary, 

Put  them  supperless  to  bed. 

When  daylight  came,  the  children 
 woke 

And  tumbled  from  their  bed. 

They'd  forgot  about  the  night  before 

And  were  waiting  to  be  fed. 

They  began  to  look  for  mother
 

But  no  mother  could  they  see- 

So  Chris  said,  "I'm  going  out  to  find
  her 

Wherever  she  may  be. 

He  looked  around  bewildered; 

He  knew  she  must  be  found 

It  was  then  he  spied  an  object 

Lying  on  the  ground. 

He  hurried  over  to  it; 

And  there  to  his  surprise 

Was  his  loving  mother 

Lying  there  before  his  eyes. 

He  could  see  that  she'd  been  crying 

And  was  weary  through  and  through 

That  she'd  fallen  there  exhausted 

But  something  else  he  saw  there,  too. 

In  her  hand  she  held  a  little  bag  of 
 flour. 

Worth  its  weight  in  gold. 

And  as  he  knelt  by  her  side 

Here's  the  story  she  told. 

She'd  gotten  up  real  early 

And  had  hurried  through  the  fi
eld 

To  her  good  friends  the  Gus 
 Andersons 

And  to  them  had  appealed 

Well,  they  took  the  fiour  home 

And  she  made  a  johnny  cake; 

And  everyone  had  some  of  it— 

What  a  difference  that  did  make! 

Then  this  little  mother  told  her  son 

'T  have  just  one  more  thing  to  say. 

You  go  to  Pack's  store  by  the  r
iver- 

He  won't  turn  you  away. 

"You  tell  him  that  your  father 

Will  be  home  soon  and  then 

He  will  pay  him  for  the  flour 

And  things  will  be  all  right  again." 

As  he  came  into  the  store 

He  was  met  by  friendly  folk 

Who  greeted  him  most  warmly 

And  kindly  to  him  spoke. 

He  told  them  of  his  errand- 
How  his  father  was  away. 

That  they  needed  flour  badly— 
That  his  father  soon  would  pay. 

Q.  R.  Pack  said,  "Chris,  I'm  sorry 
But  there's  no  flour  in  the  store, 

I've  sold  the  very  last  sack 

And  I  don't  know  when  I'll  get  more. 

"I'll  tell  you  what  I'll  do  though— 

You  come  along  with  me. 

We'll  go  in  and  talk  to  my  wife 

And  see  what  we  can  see." 
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Well,  he  shared  the  flour  in  his  bin 

And  didn't  even  mind 

Cause  that's  the  kind  of  man  he  was 
Generous  and  kind. 

You  know,  Q.  R.  Pack  made  a  friend  that  day 
That  lasted  all  his  days 

Just  for  being  friendly 

And  for  his  Christian  ways. 

Old  timers  of  Central 
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Four  generations:  from  left  to  right,  Jocosa  June  Whitehead,  Minnie  Ann  W.  Johnson, 
Elsie  Ann  J.  Miles  and  Alba  Miles. 

Polly  Roghaar,  early  resident  of  Gem  Valley 
An  early  group  of  visiting  teachers. 
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CHAPTER  VIII 

Our  Schools 

"I  think  I  shall  never  forget  our  school  bell — George  Toolson  was  the 
teacher  and  he  had  a  crowbar  hanging  on  the  front  of  the  building — and 
when  he  would  go  to  ring  the  bell,  he  would  tap  that  with  a  harrow 

tooth." 
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The  first  graduating  class  of  Grace  High  School — 1920;  left  to  right.  Back  Row:  Dams  Warner,  Ann  Cherry,  lvalue  Gibbs, 
Phoebe  Cherry,  Edward  Hayes.  Front  Row:  Charlotte  Warner,  Edward  Smith  (Principal),  Diantha  Kingsford. 
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1  HERE  WERE  in  the  Valley  about  1920  the 

following  schools — Grace,  Central,  Turner, 
Beaver  Dams,  Telluride,  Cove,  Thatcher 

District  No.  20,  Buttermilk,  Cleveland, 

Mound  Valley,  Rose  Hill,  Lago  District  No.  9, 

Lago  District  No.  19,  Bench,  Niter,  and  Way, 

with  high  schools  at  Grace  and  Thatcher. 
These  schools  were  all  in  Bannock  County  and 

supervised  by  the  County  Superintendent  of 
Schools,  Miss  Nora  A.  Boyum.  She  was  a  very 

ably  qualified  educator  and  was  respected  by 

the  teachers  of  the  county.  She  planned  to  visit 

each  school  at  least  twice  during  the  school 

year,  spending  at  least  two  days  in  each  school, 

instructing,  encouraging,  and  making 

suggestions  to  create  a  better  experience  for 

each  child.  She  was  especially  interested  in  the 

beginning  teacher  and  the  method  used  to 
teach  the  children  to  read.  She  stressed  the 

Phonetic  Method  of  teaching  spelling  and 

reading.  It  was  a  choice  experience  to  have  her 
visit. 

On  the  local  level  a  school  board  of  three 

members  supervised  each  school  district.  They 

were  elected  by  the  patrons  of  the  school  dis- 
trict and  their  chief  duty  was  to  see  that  the 

school  was  operated  according  to  the  Idaho 

school  laws.  The  schools  employed  one  or  two 

teachers  depending  on  the  size  of  the  buildings 

and  the  number  of  pupils  in  the  district.  There 

was  no  running  water  in  the  buildings;  drink- 
ing water  was  hauled  in  barrels.  The  drmking 

fountain  was  a  water  bucket  with  a  dipping  cup 

for  all  the  children.  The  salary  for  the  teachers 

was  from  $75.00  to  $150.00  per  month,  usually 

with  only  eight  months  of  school.  Each  teacher 

in  a  two-room  school  had  from  thirty  to  forty 

students  and  four  grades.  In  the  one-room 
school,  one  teacher  had  all  eight  grades.  Two 
facts  were  established  under  these  conditions: 

(1)  children  learned  how  to  study,  and  (2) 

children  learned  to  work  by  themselves. 

To  qualify  for  high  school,  the  eighth 

grade  was  given  a  written  examination  in  the 

following  subjects:  reading,  arithmetic,  spell- 
ing, history,  geography,  language,  civics, 

writing,  and  health.  To  pass  these  ex- 
aminations, a  student  could  not  get  less  than 

70  percent  in  each  subject  and  must  maintain 

an  average  of  85  percent.  The  questions 

were  made  up  by  the  state  of  Idaho  and  dis- 
tributed by  the  County  Superintendent  in  each 

county.  A  supervisor  was  sent  to  the  schools  to 

administer  the  tests.  After  a  week's  testing  the 
papers  were  returned  to  the  County 

Superintendent  for  correcting  and  the  results 

were  later  sent  to  each  school.  The  anxiety  was 
tremendous  until  the  results  were  returned. 

The  following  incident  was  experienced 

by  one  of  the  schools:  The  superintendent 

reported  back  to  the  school  that  two  boys  had 

failed,  and  she  couldn't  understand  why  all  of 
the  class  had  failed  problem  No.  6,  which  was 

to  figure  the  number  of  board  feet  in  a  bill  of 

lumber.  The  problem  stated  that  if  a  board  was 

91^2  feet  long  it  should  be  figured  as  having  a 
length  of  10  feet.  This  was  the  way  the  students 

figured  it  and  of  course  got  the  right  answer. 

The  superintendent's  office  hadn't  read  this 
and  of  course  figured  the  lumber  at  9'/2  feet 
long  which  was  in  error.  This  required  a  trip  to 

Pocatello,  but  it  was  worth  every  bit  of  it.  Each 

student  received  a  higher  grade  in  arithmetic 

and  the  two  boys  received  an  average  of 

84y8percent  which  allowed  them  a  passing 

grade. 

Mound  Valley 

Some  of  the  first  settlers  in  the  lower 

Thatcher  Valley,  at  that  time  called  Gentile 

Valley  and  later  known  as  Mound  Valley,  were 

Thomas  and  Hyrum  Bennett,  Robert 
Williams,  Hezekiah  Peck,  Dave  Brown,  Alex 
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Harris,  Sr.,  James  McGregor  and  Dave 

Sullivan.  This  was  around  the  year  of  1871. 

The  first  school  in  Mound  Valley  was 

built  by  Hyrum  Bennett  in  about  1876.  It  was 

a  small  log  building  erected  about  two  hundred 

yards  north  of  Spring  Creek  near  the  William 
Condie  home.  Dave  Sullivan  was  the  first 

teacher.  The  roof  was  covered  with  shingles 

and  the  cracks  were  plastered  with  just  com- 
mon mud  to  keep  the  snow  out.  It  was  the  first 

public  building  in  the  valley  and  was  used  for 

both  church  and  school.  This  school  was  aban- 

doned and  a  new  one  built  just  south  of  the 

former  Gloyd  Bennett  home.  It  was  called  the 

Perry  School  and  later  became  the  Mound 

Valley  School  for  grades  one  through  eight, 

with  the  high  school  age  children  going  to  the 

Thatcher  High  School.  The  Mound  Valley 

School  was  also  used  as  a  church  and  com- 

munity center. 

one  to  eight.  The  bricks  were  made  in  a  brick 

kiln  on  Adler  Creek,  which  is  about  one-half 

mile  north  of  the  Thatcher  cemetery.  The 

foundation  for  the  building  was  of  native  rock. 
The  school  was  located  between  the  former 

homes  of  LeRoy  Pond  and  Letho  Pond. 

Charles  Izatt  says  it  was  hard  to  keep  warm 

with  the  round,  potbellied  stove  because  a  tin 

jacket  surrounded  the  stove  to  protect  the 

children,  and  this  sent  most  of  the  heat  up  to 

the  high  ceiling.  Water  was  carried  from  the 
Ponds  home  and  all  shared  a  common  drink- 

ing cup.  Charles  Izatt  remembers  the  greatest 
thing  for  the  children  was  when  Ras  Hansen 

brought  a  fancy  stage  coach  to  the  valley  and 
in  the  winter  he  hauled  the  children  to  school 

with  his  big  grey  team. 

Mrs.  Esther  Zeigler  began  her  long 

teaching  career  in  this  school.  Later  the 
District  consolidated  with  the  Buttermilk 
School. 

Thatcher  School  District  No.  20 

Before  the  turn  of  the  century  a  large  one- 
room  red  brick  building  was  built  for  grades 

Buttermilk  School  District 

In  December,  1910,  a  new  school  district 

Early  school  in  Mound  Valley;  the  students  are  identified  from  left  to  right  as  follows:  Back  Row:  Miss  Nelson  (teacher); 
Vada  Bennett,  George  Bennett,  Elia  Gray,  Reynolds  Panter,  Letha  Orson,  Elmer  Ames,  Reta  Orson,  Fred  Forman,  Recey 
Anderson,  Marce  Ames,  Ivy  Gray,  Wilford  Panter,  Martha  Forman,  Althea  Ames,  Vera  Panter,  Alice  Merrill,  Don  Stalker, 
Claude  Orson.  Front  Row:  Wayne  Tanner,  William  Panter,  Edith  Williams,  Letha  Perry,  Thelma  Perry,  Hannah  Dalton, 
Emily  Forman,  Pearl  Orson,  Lena  Behle,  Ida  Ames,  Scott  Stalker,  Glen  Merrill,  William  Williams,  Melvin  Seamons, 
Kenneth  Panter,  William  Behle,  Aroet  Behle,  Aroet  Bennett. 
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Red  brick  school  at  Thatcher. 

was  created  from  the  south  part  of  District  No. 

20  and  a  part  of  District  No.  19  at  Lago, 

across  the  river  by  the  Thatcher  Store.  It  was 

organized  for  the  purpose  of  accomodating  the 

large  number  of  students  in  the  area,  and  also 

to  eliminate  the  long  distance  of  travel.  A  piece 
of  land  near  the  center  of  the  district  was 

selected,  it  being  about  three-fourths  of  a  mile 
south  of  the  Thatcher  home.  A  building  that 

had  been  a  creamery  operated  by  John  B. 

Thatcher  and  Sons  was  purchased  and  moved 

south  on  the  hill;  it  was  remodeled,  painted, 

and  fixed  for  the  school.  It  was  a  one-room, 
frame  building  with  a  large  entrance  on  the 
south  side  which  led  into  the  main  room.  Coal 

and  wood  as  well  as  caps,  coats,  and  boots 

were  kept  in  a  lean-to  built  for  storage  pur- 
poses. Because  the  first  school  building  was  a 

creamery,  the  district  was  known  as  the 
Buttermilk  School  District. 

During  the  summer  of  1916  a  new  two- 
room  cinder  block  building  was  built  and  the 

School  house  in  Thatcher  District  No.  20,  commonly 
known  as  just  the  Redbrick  school.  Some  of  the 
students  on  the  front  steps  have  been  identified  as:  Iris 
Olsen,  Fleda  Thatcher,  Donetta  Thatcher,  LaVar 
Thatcher,  Jack  Izatt,  Isabelle  Izatt,  Hazel  Hansen, 

Lucy  Crossley,  Mary  Crossley,  Lawrence  Biorn,  An- 
drew Biorn,  George  Crossley,  Annie  Crossley,  Charles 

Izatt,  Genevieve  Hansen,  Martin  Martinson,  Ephraim 
Crossley.  The  new  basketball  held  by  Fleda  Thatcher 
was  the  occasion  for  the  picture. 

creamery  building  torn  down.  Two  teachers 

were  employed  and  school  began.  Water  had 
to  be  hauled  in  tin  cans  to  the  school  as  the 

board  was  unsuccessful  in  digging  a  well.  In 

the  spring  of  1936,  it  was  decided  to  build  a 
new  school  house  and  to  move  the  site  where 

they  could  obtain  water.  The  site  was  selected 

just  across  the  road  from  the  Thatcher  home, 

presently  owned  by  the  David  Coombs  family. 
The  new  building  was  of  red  brick,  with  two 

class  rooms,  basement  for  play-room,  modern 
conveniences,  hot  and  cold  water,  and  a  hot-air 
furnace.  Soon  after  this  building  was  built. 

District  No.  20  Thatcher  joined  the  Buttermilk 
District.  In  the  fall  of  1944  the  districts  in  the 

lower  end  of  the  valley  all  consolidated  and 
formed  the  Thatcher  Grade  School. 
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Cove  School now  a  home  owned  by  the  Charles  Capell family. 

The  first  school  at  Cove  was  a  one-room 

frame  building  with  a  cloak  room  for  lunches 

and  coats.  The  school  was  located  about  one- 

fourth  mile  south  of  the  Larkin  Home,  at  the 
foot  of  the  sand  hill  to  the  west.  Water  was 

carried  in  buckets  from  a  spring  south  and  by 

the  river.  In  the  spring  the  children  would  sit 
on  an  old  flume  and  eat  their  lunches  with 

water  cress.  Grades  one  through  eight  went  to 

school  there.  The  school  was  heated  by  a  large 

potbellied  stove — the  children  in  the  front  of 
the  room  cooked  and  the  ones  in  the  back  of 

the  room  froze.  Around  1919  to  1920  a  new 

school  was  built  at  this  same  location.  It  was  a 

brick  building  consisting  of  two  rooms,  rest 

rooms,  and  a  gym  in  the  basement.  About  five 

years  later  Harrises,  Larkins,  and  Hogans 

built  a  water  system  and  the  school  had 
modern  water  facilities.  This  school  continued 

until  the  consolidation  with  Thatcher  Elemen- 

tary. Some  of  the  teachers  who  taught  at  this 

school  were  Delia  Mendenhall  and  J.  Stanley 

Harrison.  This  building  is  still  standing  and  is 

Thatcher  High  School 

In  the  year  of  1903,  a  large,  community 

center  was  built  in  the  south  end  of  the  valley. 

This  building  was  called  Four-Points  because 
it  accomodated  the  four  communities  in  the 

area — Cleveland,  Mound  Valley,  Thatcher 
and  Lago.  Later  this  community  center 

became  known  as  the  Central  High  School. 

In  the  year  1914  the  Central  High  School 

was  organized  with  the  following  men  as  board 

members:  Joseph  B,  Wright,  Sard  Stalker, 
Charles  Izatt,  Sr.,  and  William  H. 
Mendenhall.  Mr.  Mendenhall  served  as  clerk 

of  the  board  for  twenty-seven  years.  Before 
this  time  students  who  wanted  a  high  school 
education  went  without  it  or  to  towns  such  as 

Preston,  Montpelier,  Logan,  Utah,  or 
elsewhere. 

On  Monday,  September  14,  1914,  this 

school  opened  its  doors  to  the  thirty-one  boys 
and  girls  who  appeared.  They  were  ready  to 

begin  their  high  school  years,  all  under  the 
direction   of  Principal   William   H.   Egly,   a 

Present  Thatcher  Elementary  School;  formerly  the  Thatcher  High  School,  before  consolidation  with  Grace. 
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highly  educated  man  from  Indiana,  and 
teacher,  Miss  Mabel  Johnson  from  West 

Virginia.  Four  years  later,  May  13,  1918, 
Maud  Stalker,  Ellis  Wright  and  Donald  D. 

Stalker  were  the  first  students  to  be  graduated 

from  that  high  school.  Don  Stalker  was 
valedictorian. 

On  October  10,  1922,  the  Central  High 

School  burned  down.  Nothing  was  left  except 

the  rock  and  wall  foundation.  This  part  of  the 

structure  proved  satisfactory  for  the  erection 

of  a  new  building.  At  the  time  of  the  fire 

Charles  Izatt,  Sr.  was  chairman  of  the  board 
and  William  H.  Mendenhall  was  the  clerk. 

Both  men  were  firm  believers  in  higher  educa- 
tion and  when  bonds  were  not  available  for  re- 

building the  school,  these  two  men  posted  their 

own  personal  bonds  to  save  the  franchise  and 

commence  the  building  of  a  new  school. 

Construction  was  begun  immediately  on  the 

new  building  and  it  was  ready  for  school  in 

September  1923.  This  building  served  well  as 

the  Thatcher  High  School  until  1944.  At  this 

time  it  was  the  feeling  of  the  community  and 

school  officials  that  the  high  school  should 

consolidate  with  the  Grace  High  School,  and 

all  elementary  schools  be  united  together  in 

one  high  school  district.  The  Thatcher  Grade 
School  was  then  remodeled  and  made  into 

what  is  now  the  Thatcher  Grade  School. 

Grades  one  through  eight  were  educated  in  this 

school  until  the  close  of  the  school  year  in 

May,  1963.  Since  the  fall  of  1963,  the  seventh 

and  eighth  grades  have  been  schooled  at 
Grace. 

At  the  present  time  (1976-1977)  because  of 
the  overcrowded  school  conditions  in  Grace, 

about  97  children  from  the  Grace  wicinity  are 

transported  to  the  Thatcher  School.  Grades 

one  through  six  are  at  this  school  with  a 

teacher  for  each  grade  with  an  average  of  thir- 

ty students.  Teachers'  Aids  and  Special  Educa- 
tion teachers  are  also  provided. 

Lago  School  District  No.  9  and  No.  19 

In  about  1882  the  first  school  for  District 

No.  9  was  held  in  one  room  of  the  two-room 

home  of  James  Elliot,  located  on  Whiskey 
Creek,  north  of  the  James  Swensen  home.  Mr. 

Elliot  was  the  first  teacher  in  District  No.  9 

Students  attended  only  in  the  summer  because 
the  weather  was  so  bad  in  the  winter.  James 

Elliot  was  the  grandfather  of  Arlene  Gibson. 
The  mother  of  Lorette  Hansen  attended  this 

school.  The  second  school  house  for  District 

No.  9  was  built  of  logs  and  was  located  where 
a  Cottonwood  tree  now  stands  on  the  bend  in 

the  road  south  of  Duane  Bitton's  home.  It  was 
a  one-room  building.  School  was  held  there 
until  the  building  burned  down  in  the  middle  of 

the  school  year  in  1917.  School  for  District 

James  Elliot, 

flrst  teacher  in 
the  first  school  held in  Lago. 

It  was  held  in  one 

room  of  Mr.  Elliot's two-room  home. 

School  District  No.  9  in  Lago;  a  one-room  building 
where  school  was  held  until  it  burned  in  1917. 
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Lago  School  District  No.  19, 
situated  east  of  the 

Lago  Cemetery  on  the  hill 
where  the  Clark  Mickelson 
home  now  stands.  (Note  the 

pile  of  wood  used 
in  stove  to  heat  the building). 

No.    9   was   then   held    in   the   Presbyterian 
Church. 

The  Lago  School  District  No.  19  school 
was  erected  on  the  hill  on  the  north  side  of  the 

road  by  the  Lago  cemetery.  It  was  a  frame 

structure.  Lago  District  No.  9  was  still  using 
the  Presbyterian  Church  for  their  school 

and  District  No.  19  was  becoming  crowded; 

so,  in  1919  these  two  districts  were  combined 

into  an  independent  school  district.  A  new 

Lago  Consolidated  School  District  No.  9  (1929).  Students  left  to  right.  Front  Row:  Franklin  (Mike)  Mickelson,  Pauline 
Bassett,  Max  Bitton,  Dallas  Hansen,  Lowell  Thomas,  Jack  Bitton,  Dale  Fowler,  Ruth  Hulse,  Donna  Sorensen,  Dwayne 
Kendall,  Max  Thomas,  Roe  Bennett,  Leo  Fowler,  Carl  (Bud)  Bassett,  Yard  Harris,  Grant  Sorensen,  Edsel  Meacham,  Dahrl 
Bitton,  Lorette  Hansen  (teacher).  Middle  Row:  Arbie  McMurray  (teacher).  Norma  Bassett.  Back  Row:  Clark  Mickelson, 
Rex  Bassett,  Russell  Fowler,  Emery  Rasmussen,  Beatrice  Bennett,  Reao  Mickelson,  Max  Fowler,  Iris  Meacham,  Jack 
Bassett,  Dennis  Bennett,  Merrill  Hulse,  Mildred  Meacham,  Homer  Bassett,  Pete  Rasmussen,  Marvel  Sorensen,  Mary 

Hulse,  Lilas  Rasmussen. 
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two-room  building  was  built  with  a  basement. 
The  school  was  about  one-fourth  mile  from  the 

Rex  Bassett  home.  The  Lago  Church  house 

was  just  west  of  the  school.  Lago's  well- 
attended  dances,  as  well  as  community 

gatherings,  were  held  in  the  school  basement. 

High  school  age  children  attended  the  Central 

High  at  Thatcher.  When  Thatcher  High 

School  consolidated  with  Grace  High  School 

in  the  school  year  of  1944-1945,  the  Lago 
elementary  children  went  to  Thatcher  for 

grade  school. 

Cleveland 

The  first  school  in  Cleveland  was  a  one- 

room  log  building  built  on  the  south  side  of 

Cottonwood  Creek  directly  south  and  a  bit 

west  of  the  house  built,  but  now  abandoned,  by 

Watkins  and  Offhammer.  It  nestled  among 
some  Cottonwood  trees  at  the  base  of  the 

mountain.  Ira  Ames  was  the  first  school 

teacher.  A  new  school  and  the  store  were  built 

about  a  quarter  mile  east  of  where  the  Smith 

Telephone  Co.  later  located.  This  was  the  first 

Cleveland  School 
at  a  later  period; 

Truman  Rigby,  teacher. 
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school  that  N.  LeRoy  Smith  attended.  A  man 

by  the  name  of  Al  Stalker  was  his  first  teacher. 

Roy  recalled  that  later  he  had  a  job  hauling 
water  for  the  workmen  to  mix  cement  and 

mortar  when  a  new  school  was  built  some  dis- 
tance east  of  the  road  near  the  site  of  the 

Cleveland  Meeting  House.  This  school  served 

the  public  for  many  years  and  was  the  gather- 
ing place  for  many  occasions,  such  as  patriotic 

celebrations,  baseball  games,  school  programs 

and  other  public  meetings.  There  was  a 

wonderful  baseball  diamond  and  playground 
but  there  was  no  water  available  and  it  was  all 

in  the  center  of  a  good  field.  Later  another 

school  house  was  built  close  to  the  county 

road,  complete  with  water  facilities  and  a  nice 

gymnasium.  It  was  a  larger  two-room  brick 

building  and  was  used  as  a  church  and  com- 
munity center  until  the  Cleveland  Church  was 

built  nearby.  This  church  is  now  the  home  of 
Kenneth  Burnham. 

Rose  Hill 

South  of  the  former  Owen  Andreasen 

home  still  stands  a  grayish-tan  cement  block 

building  where  all  eight  grades  of  school 

attended  until  they  consolidated  with 
Cleveland.  The  school  consisted  of  one  room 

and  a  cloak  room.  The  school  room  was 

heated  by  a  wood  and  coal  stove  in  the  center 
of  the  room.  The  cloak  room  was  sometimes 

used  as  a  place  to  send  the  student  as  a  punish- 
ment. 

Lulu  Williams  was  one  of  the  teachers 

who  taught  at  Rose  Hill  shortly  before  it  con- 
solidated with  Cleveland  around  1930. 

i^PfeV: 

The  old  cement  block  Rose  Hill  School;  it  still  stands  south  of  the  former  Owen  Andreasen  home.  Some  of  the  children  are 
identified  as  follows:  Left  to  Right:  Back  Row:  Gray  Smith,  Ruby  Andreasen,  Mildren  Burton,  (?),  Willis  Burton.  Front 

Row:  (?),  (?),  Devon  Andreasen,  (?),  (?),  Lincoln  Burton,  Valoy  Andreasen. 
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Grace 

In  the  year  of  1894,  the  pioneers  of  Grace 

felt  the  pressing  need  of  a  school  and  church 

because  they  all  had  large  families,  and  they 

were  desirous  that  their  children  might  have 

the  privilege  of  educational  and  religious  train- 
ing. A  mass  meeting  was  called  to  decide  on 

building  a  school  house  and  also  they  made 

application  for  a  school  district.  The  applica- 
tion was  granted  and  plans  for  the  school 

building  were  started.  The  school  was  built 

one-half  mile  east  of  the  present  block 

building,  on  the  Frank  Merrill  farm  now  own- 
ed by  Orrin  Harris.  The  school  was  a  log 

building  about  20  feet  by  36  feet  with  a  dirt 

roof  and  had  a  hand-planed  floor  of  red  pine. 
A  Mr.  Nelson  helped  build  this  school.  David 

D.  Sullivan  was  a  carpenter  who  planed  rough 

lumber  to  make  the  window  casings,  door 

casings,  and  the  floor.  The  school  faced  the 
east  with  two  windows  in  the  south  and  two  in 

the  north.  On  February  22,  1895,  an  opening 

party  was  held  and  every  member  in  the  com- 
munity was  present.  They  came  at  7:30  p.m., 

brought  their  picnic  and  had  a  very  happy 

evening  participating  in  dancing,  speeches, 

songs,  reading,  and  step-dancing. 

The  first  school  classes  were  held  in  April, 

May,  and  June  of  1895.  The  teacher  was 

James  E.  Shorten.  Each  family  furnished  its 
own  desks,  seats,  and  most  of  the  books  for  the 

first  two  years;  then  the  county  allowed  the 

district  enough  money  to  buy  desks,  seats,  and 
books.  The  first  school  trustees  were  David 

Sullivan,  Samuel  W.  Egbert,  and  William  R. 

Egbert.  The  pupils  were  Stella  Egbert,  Roy 

Egbert,  Reuben  G.  Egbert,  Maud  Egbert, 
Helen  Sullivan,  Minnie  Sullivan,  David  D. 

Sullivan,  Jr.,  Mary  E.  Sullivan,  Caroline 

Sullivan,  Delilah  Nelson,  Maud  Nelson,  Hazel 

Nelson,  Charles  Steadman,  Walter  Steadman, 

Mary  E.  Egbert,  Bert  German,  May  Burton, 

Annie    Burton,    Pierce    Egbert,    and   Cora Cherry. 

There  were  no  grades.  School  started  with 

a  chart  class  for  beginners.  There  were  first, 
second,  third,  fourth,  and  fifth  readers.  As  the 

students  progressed  from  one  reader  to 

another,  they  took  up  other  subjects.  Spelling 

and  penmanship  were  in  all  of  them  as  well  as 
arithmetic,  history,  geography,  grammar. 

Physiology  came  as  they  advanced  beyond  the 
third  reader.  There  was  only  one  teacher. 

Sometimes  the  enrollment  was  thirty-five 
pupils,  sometimes  more,  sometimes  less.  The 

bustling  city  of  Grace  was  then  complete  with 

four  log  cabins  and  the  school  house,  which 

was  also  used  for  church,  parties  and  other 
social  functions. 

About  1902  a  new  school  was  built  at  this 

same  location.  It  was  divided  into  two-rooms 

by  folding  doors,  which  were  thrown  open  for 

social  gatherings.  A  few  years  later  the  school 
became  too  small  for  all  of  the  students;  so  the 

younger  children  in  grades  one  through  four, 

went  to  school  in  a  log  building  back  of  the 

present  Custom  Heating  Co.  Robert  Burton, 
Sr.  remembers  this  because  of  the  interest  the 

children  had  in  seeing  Halley's  comet  in  1909. 
Grades  one  through  eight  attended  these 

schools,  and  the  older  children  either  stayed 
home  and  worked,  or  went  to  Preston  to  the 

Oneida  academy  or  elsewhere  for  their  high 
school  education. 

In  the  winter  of  1909  school  was  unable  to 

continue  classes  for  lack  of  money.  Trustees 

Elias  Stoddard,  Joseph  Christensen,  and 

George  Telford  circulated  a  petition  so  taxes 

could  be  levied  locally.  An  election  was  held 

and  passed  making  it  possible  to  vote  a  tax  and 
raise  sufficient  funds  to  keep  the  school  going 

for  a  full  year.  In  1910  the  people  had  out- 
grown the  second  school  house  for  religious 

gatherings  so  they  built  a  cement  block  taber- 
nacle with  a  full  basement.  At  this  same  time 
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Cement  block  school  built 
in  1910  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

Two  other  schools 

preceeded  this  building; 
it  is  still 

standing  and  being 
used  for  a  Jr.  High 

School  building  in  1976. 
C-nx*  *'*.    --   • 

The  first  Grace  High 
School  Basketball  Team, 

about  1916. 
Left  to  right:  Bill  Purvis, 
Paul  Ratcliffe,  Blaine 
Whitehead,  Clifford  Lord, 
Leiand  Harris. 

The  first  high  school  building  was  built  in  Grace  in  1919-1920;  it  burned  at  Thanksgiving  time  in  1928.  The  two  pictures  were 
taken  shortly  after  the  school  burned;  a  view  from  the  front  and  a  view  from  the  southeast. 
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the  school  house  became  too  small;  so  a  new 

school  was  built  of  cement  blocks,  having 

eleven  rooms  and  employing  eight  to  ten 

teachers.  This  building  is  still  standing  and  is 

being  used  as  the  Junior  High  School  today 

(1977). 

In  1915  was  the  beginning  of  the  first  high 

school  in  Grace.  It  took  a  great  deal  of  work 

and  persuasion  to  get  people  to  vote  to  con- 

solidate districts  to  make  a  high  school  possi- 

ble, so  high  school  was  first  held  in  the  two  up- 
per rooms  of  the  cement  block  building.  The 

first  year  only  the  freshman  class  was  held;  in 

1916  the  freshman  and  sophomore  classes 

were  held;  in  1917  freshman,  sophomore,  and 

junior  classes  were  held.  From  then  on  it  was  a 

four-year  high  school. 

The  first  high  school  building  was  built  in 

1919-1920,  and  burned  down  at  Thanksgiving 
time  in  1928.  The  high  school  classes  were  then 

held  in  the  cement-block  grade  school,  with 

basketball  practice  held  in  the  Utah-Idaho 
Sugar  Co.  seed  house  by  the  railroad  tracks. 

Basketball  games  were  played  in  the  Thatcher 
school  house.  Grade  school  students  went  to 

the  church  and  various  buildings  around  town 

to  make  room  for  the  high  school.  School 
trustees  at  this  time  were  L.  Sumner  Pond, 

Emil  Peterson,  Charles  W.  Hubbard,  Alvin 

Whitehead,  and  William  Corbett,  with  the 

latter  as  chairman.  These  men  immediately 

made  plans  for  rebuilding  the  high  school  and 
the  students  started  classes  in  the  fall  of  1929 

in  an  unfinished  building  on  the  same  site  as 

the  one  that  burned.  This  building  is  now  being 
used  as  the  Grace  Elementary. 

In  1950  construction  was  started  on  a  new 

high  school  in  Grace.  Milton  F.  Hartvigsen 

was  superintendent  and  the  trustees  were  Fred 

Burton,  Chairman;  Alfred  Hansen,  clerk;  Vin- 

cent Wright,  Lloyd  Ashbaker,  Ellis  Leavitt; 

and  Freeman  Ashbaker,  secretary.  The  school 

was  completed  in  1951  and  the  students  moved 

into  the  building  in  the  fall  of  1951.  The  new 

gymnasium  was  named  in  honor  of  Fred  E. 

Greenwood  in  appreciation  for  his  generous 

labor  in  the  interest  of  boys  and  girls  for  nearly 

35  years  as  custodian  of  the  elementary 

building.  At  that  time  the  grade  school  went  to 

school  in  the  former  high  school  building,  the 

junior  high  in  the  former  grade  school 

building,    and   the   high   school   in   the   new 

This  is  the  former  high  school  building  in  Grace  which  was  built  in  1929  to  replace  the  building  which  burned.  This  building  is 
now  used  for  the  Grace  Elementary. 
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building.  This  same  arrangement  is  being  used 
today. 

In  1976-1977  the  schools  accommodating 
our  young  people  include:  two  grade 

schools — one  at  Thatcher  and  one  in  Grace,  a 

junior  high  school,  and  a  comparatively  new 

high  school.  Since  there  are  too  many  children 

for  the  Grace  Elementary,  a  number  of  these 

children,  whose  parents  agree,  are  bussed  to 

Thatcher  where  a  pleasant  up-dated  school  is 
located.  The  enrollments  for  the  individual 

schools  are  as  follows:  Grace  Elementary,  251; 

Thatcher  Elementary,  178;  junior  high,  98;  and 

high  school,  212;  making  a  total  of  739 

students.  The  district  employs  one  superinten- 

dent, one  principal,  two  head  teachers,  thirty- 

five  teachers,  twelve  teachers'  aids,  and  three 
secretaries.  Two  seminary  teachers  are  also 
provided.  A  fine  school  lunch  program,  which 
provides  a  hot  noon  meal  each  school  day  for  a 
nominal  fee  operates  in  both  Grace  and 
Thatcher. 

Fred  E.  Greenwood 
for  whom  the 

gymnasium  was  named. 

The  new  Grace  High  School, 
completed  in  1951. 

The  Thatcher  and  Grace 

High  Schools  were 
consolidated  in  1945  with 

all  high  school  students 
in  the  valley  attending 
high  school  in  Grace. 

The  Grace  High  School  basketball 
team  in  1959  were  State  Cham- 

pions. The  player  holding  the  ball  in 
the  center  is  Phillip  Johnson,  who  is 
now  the  coach  of  the  Kansas  City 
Kings  of  the  N.B.A.  professional 
team.  The  man  on  the  right  is  Dick 
Motta,  now  coach  of  the 
Washington  Bullets,  also  a 
professional  N.B.A.  team.  From 
left  to  right  the  players  are:  Nor- 

man Prince,  assistant  coach, 
Wayne  Anderson,  Curtis  Wilker, 
Gary  Sorensen,  Gary  Lloyd,  Boyd 
Christensen,  Phil  Johnson,  Richard 
Garbett,  Barry  Adams,  Lynn 
Smith,  Bart  Hogan,  Coach  Dick 
Motta,  Mark  Thomas. 
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Telluride 

Telluride's  first  school  was  about  one 
block  east  of  the  present  Gene  Olsen  home.  It 

was  about  12  feet  by  12  feet  and  made  of  logs. 

After  a  few  years  a  cement  one-room  school 
was  built  south  and  west  of  the  former  William 

Trappet  home,  now  owned  by  Vester  Olsen. 
This  school  was  heated  by  a  large  potbellied 
stove.  Inez  Gilbert  remembers  water  was 

carried  from  a  spring  north  of  the  Trappet 

home  for  drinking.  Ida  Stone  was  one  of  the 

early  teachers.  This  school  became  too  small 

for  the  number  of  children,  so  grades  one 

through  four  went  to  the  old  Bob  Oland  home 
for  school;  later  another  room  was  added  to 

the  cement  building.  This  school  was  called 

Cedar  Hollow.  Families  grew  and  demand  for 

a  larger  school  brought  about  the  building  of  a 
new  school  between  1920-1930.  It  was  a  fine 

looking  brick  building  with  two  rooms  and  an 

excellent  gym,  accommodating  grades  one 

through  eight.  It  was  located  near  the  present 
Don  Gilbert  home.  The  children  from  the 

Utah  Power  and  Light  Co.  Plant  attended  this 
school  also.  After  Telluride  consolidated  with 

Grace,  the  school  had  many  uses,  one  of  which 

was  as  a  chicken  house  before  it  was  finally 
torn  down. 

"I  think  I  shall  never  forget  our  school 
bell — George  Toolson  was  the  teacher  and  he 

had  a  crow-bar  hanging  on  the  front  on  the 

building — and  when  he  would  go  to  ring  the 

bell,  he  would  tap  that  with  a  harrow  tooth." 
Mr.  Toolson  was  a  tall  man  and  the  only 

place  he  could  stand  up  in  the  school  room  was 

right  in  the  middle  because  of  the  ceiling  and 

slanted  roof.  School  was  held  for  only  four 

months  out  of  the  year  because  there  weren't 
enough  funds.  As  time  went  on  and  more  peo- 

ple moved  to  Turner,  a  larger  school  was  built 
in  1904  on  the  Ellen  Egbert  farm,  now  owned 

by  Howard  and  Odell  Thomas.  It  was  a  large 

one-room  log  building  serving  all  eight  grades. 
It  also  served  as  a  church  and  community 

center.  Later  another  school  with  two  larger 

rooms,  cloak  halls,  and  coal  and  wood  storage 

building  was  built.  Large  coal  and  wood- 
burning  stoves  were  in  each  room  for  heat. 

This  school  was  also  for  grades  one  through 

eight.  It  was  built  at  the  crossroads  on  the  land 

now  owned  by  John  Junior  Thomas.  Children 

traveled  many  miles,  from  the  Lowell  Hansen 

farm,  up  China  Hill  to  seven  miles  north  and 

east  from  the  William  Perry  farm.  Horses, 

sleighs,  and  buggies  were  used  during  bad 

weather,  but  walking  was  the  usual  way  for 

most.  Later  a  basement  was  dug  under  the 

Turner  School 

The  first  settlers  in  Turner  sent  their 

children  to  the  Cove  School  which  was  quite  a 

distance  to  travel.  Inquiries  were  made  about 
schools  and  it  was  found  that,  if  there  were  six 

children  to  be  schooled,  a  community  could 

have  a  school.  Smith  Gummersall  had  the  re- 

quired number.  He  had  built  a  new  three-room 

home  for  his  family  and  their  former  one-room 
log  cabin  home  became  the  school.  George 

Toolson  was  the  teacher.  An  interesting  quote 

from  the  May  Revoir  history  reads  as  follows: 

The  third  schoolhouse  in  Turner,  abandoned  about 
1940. 
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The  Turner  school  and  students  in  1914;  students  from  left  to  right:  Back  Row:  Florence  Allsop,  Christine  Keller,  Alta 
Bowers,  Oliver  McLain,  Weldon  Rash,  Leo  Thomas,  Jack  Thomas,  Ina  Egbert,  Ethel  Corbett,  Melvin  Rash,  Elizabeth  John- 

son, Herbert  Purvis,  Samuel  Smith,  Guy  Gilbert.  Third  Row:  Susie  McCann,  La  Vera  Smith,  Coleman  Smith,  Clark  Baker, 
Rulon  Allsop,  Charles  Rash,  John  McCann,  Wilbum  McLain,  Desmond  Thomas.  Next  Row:  Eva  Green,  Harlan  Smith, 
Roland  Baker,  Raymond  Keller,  Ilah  Thomas,  Veria  McCann,  Jack  Purvis,  Don  Johnson.  Front  Row:  Dan  Corbett,  Marlin 
Egbert,  Leda  Egbert,  James  Purvis,  Vosco  Rash,  Leah  Thomas,  Alba  Corbett,  Freeman  Thomas. 

school  building  and  water  was  piped  in,  mak- 

ing it  a  more  modern  school.  By  1915  the  high- 

school-age  children  were  able  to  go  to  Grace 
for  schooling  as  high  school  was  finally  being 
held  in  Grace.  About  1934  the  Turner  school 

consolidated  with  Grace  and  the  school  house 

has  now  been  torn  down. 

Central 

In  1902  the  first  school  house  was  built  in 

Central.  It  was  a  large  one-room,  log  building 
and  was  used  for  all  religious  and  community 

gatherings.  Later  a  two-room  school  house, 
with  a  wide  hall  between,  was  built.  It  was 

heated  by  two,  large,  potbellied  stoves  and  was 

located  on  the  land  where  the  present  Clifford 

Welch  home  is.  In  1917  a  new  brick  building 

was  built.  It  had  four,  large  classrooms  and  a 
basement.  The  first  fioor  was  for  grades  one, 

two,  and  three,  in  one  room;  and  grades  four, 

five  and  six  in  the  other  room.  The  upper  fioor 

was  for  the  seventh,  eighth,  and  two  years  of 

high  school.  Soon  a  gymnasium  and  stage 
were  built  on  the  back.  Parties,  reunions  and 

dances  were  held  there;  in  fact,  the  dances  were 

famous  and  people  from  all  the  other  com- 
munities attended.  The  Central  Orchestra  was 

made  up  of  local  talent  and  was  so  full  of 

rhythm  that  it  made  everyone  want  to  dance. 
In  the  thirties,  with  the  coming  of  buses  and 

better  roads,  the  Central  School  District  was 
consolidated  with  The  Grace  District,  with  the 

grade  school  staying  at  the  Central  school  and 
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The  second  school  house 
built  in  Central, 

located  on  the  land 
where  the  present  ClifTord 

Welch  home  is. 

This  picture  was  taken 
in  1914.  Students  are 

lined  up  from  youngest 
to  oldest,  ready 

to  enter  building. 
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The  large  brick 
school  house 
in  Central, 

built  in  1917. 

Students  in  front 
of  the  new 

building  in  Central. 
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More  students  and  the  new  Central  school. 

the  high  school  going  to  Grace.  In  1943-44  the 
school  was  abandoned  and  the  grade  school 
also  went  to  the  Grace  schools.  One  of  the 

teachers  who  taught  in  the  Central  School  for 

many  years  was  Tilda  Anderson.  Tilda,  now 

82  years  old  (1977),  still  teaches  music  lessons 
in  American  Falls  where  she  lives. 

Way  District 

This  school  was  a  two-room  frame 

building  with  one  room  being  used  as  a  school 

room  and  the  other  used  by  the  teacher  as  liv- 
ing quarters,  if  so  desired.  The  school  was 

located  to  the  east  of  the  former  Ezra  Soren- 

son  home,  now  owned  by  Carl  Jorgensen. 

School  was  last  held  here  during  the 

school  year  of  1932-1933.  At  that  time  only 
eleven  students  were  enrolled  in  grades  one 

through  eight  with  none  in  the  third  grade.  The 

children  belonged  to  the  families  of  Loran 

Jenkins,  Dell  Maughan,  Sr.,  Melissa  Metcalf, 
and  Ezra  Sorenson.  At  that  time  there  was 
much  interest  in  consolidation  with  the  Grace 

district.  The  school  board  of  the  Way  district 

said  they  would  consolidate  if  the  Grace  dis- 
trict would  give  their  teacher  a  job.  After  due 

consideration,  the  Grace  Board  said,  yes.  This 

was  quite  a  surprise  because  at  the  time  Grace 

had  a  ruling  that  no  married  women  could  be 

employed  as  teachers.  Many  an  eyebrow  was 
raised  at  first,  but  this  teacher,  Melva  Smith 

Stoddard,  stayed  on  to  teach  in  the  schools  of 
Grace  for  nearly  forty  years. 

The  year  of  1932-1933  also  gave  the 
students  the  opportunity  of  seeing  for  the  first 

time  the  operation  of  a  huge  rotary  snow  plow. 

The  road  from  Bancroft  to  Soda  Springs  was 
closed  for  two  weeks,  and  when  the  children 

heard  the  plow  coming,  even  a  mile  away,  they 

ran  to  the  windows  to  watch  the  huge  cloud  of 

snow  being  shot  into  the  air. 

Bench 

The  people  in  the  early  days  believed  in 
schooling  for  their  children.  The  first  school  in 
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Bench  was  held  in  a  little  room  that  was  added 

on  the  north  end  of  the  Charles  W.  Hubbard 

home.  It  was  constructed  of  logs  with  a  dirt 
roof.  School  was  held  in  this  one  little  room 

for  one  or  two  years  with  Mrs.  Ed  Turner  as 

the  teacher.  While  school  was  being  held  in 

this  one  room,  the  men  of  the  community  were 

busy  putting  up  another  building.  This  school 

was  built  of  logs  logged  out  of  the  canyons  to 
the  east;  the  foundation  was  of  native  lava 

rock.  It  had  a  dirt  roof,  which  was  soon  replac- 
ed with  a  board  roof.  The  floor  was  rough 

lumber  and  the  students  sat  on  homemade 

benches.  This  building  was  used  for  about  fif- 
teen years.  This  log  school  was  built  onthe  lot 

on  the  northeast  corner  of  the  George  Rainey 

place  which  is  now  owned  by  Robert  Fraser. 
Some  of  the  students  who  went  to  this  school 

were  from  the  families  of  Hans  Sorensen, 

Benjamin  Clegg,  Frank  Christensen,  Willard 

Hubbard,  and  Issac  Nanney.  This  school  was 
disbanded  about  1900,  and  was  used  as  a 

dwelling  for  a  few  years. 
From  1900  to  1904  the  children  went  to 

the  Niter  School  by  horseback,  sleighs  and 

wagons,  for  their  education.  In  1904-1905  a 
frame  structure  was  built  on  the  southwest  cor- 

ner of  the  ranch  now  owned  by  the  Reao 

Mickelson  family.  School  continued  there  un- 
til   1937   when   the   Bench   Elementary   con- 

^IhwA. 

The  first  school  house  in  Bench;  students  from  left  to  right,  Back  Row:  Ray  Christensen,  Joseph  Bevins  (teacher),  Inez 
Christensen,  Zelda  Collins,  Edith  Hubbard,  Ida  Hubbard,  Jess  Jensen,  Johnnie  Collins.  Front  Row:  Robert  Clegg,  Melvin 
Christensen,  Ethel  Sorensen,  Florence  Christensen,  Vara  Hubbard,  Jane  Hubbard,  Joe  Clegg,  Lucy  Christensen,  Veir 

Christensen,  Orson  Clegg. 
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solidated  with  the  Grace  school  system.  Some 

of  the  teachers  who  taught  at  this  school  were 

Clark  Gray,  Mrs.  Joseph  (Alice)  Clegg,  Mrs. 

Melvin  (Burgetta)  Christensen,  and  Mrs.  Card 

(Golda)  Christensen.  After  consolidation  with 

the  Grace  school,  the  school  building  was  torn 
down  and  the  site  was  used  to  construct  the 

Bench  Church. 

Niter 

In  1902  a  log  house  was  built  on  the  cor- 
ner where  the  Delbert  Nielson  garage  is  now 

standing.  This  building  was  used  for  an  amuse- 
ment hall.  Later  on  the  building  was  used  for  a 

church  and  school  as  well.  In  about  1910  a 

two-room  school  house  with  a  basement  was 

built  one-fourth  mile  east.  In  those  days  many 

of  the  boys  were  nearly  grown.  The  teacher  at 

one  time  kept  discipline  by  walking  about  the 

Frame  school  house  in  Bench;  built  in  1904-1905. 

Frame  school  west  of  Bench  crossroads;  students  from  left  to  right,  Back  Row:  Alvin  Whitehead,  Melvin  Whitehead,  Cleo 
Mickelson,  Anna  Christensen,  Flossie  Gordon,  Irmer  Mickelson,  Maud  Hansen,  Blaine  Whitehead,  Mrs.  Yoh  (teacher), 
Webber  Ellis,  Dewey  Jensen,  Donald  Clegg.  Second  Row:  Josie  Christensen,  Edres  Call,  Newell  Whitehead,  Alvin 
Christensen,  Alverta  Nanney,  Ann  Clegg,  Gladwin  Mickelson,  Lenna  Whitehead,  Inez  Whitehead,  Calvin  Ellis,  James 

Jensen,  Cyrus  Jensen,  Dean  Christensen.  Front:  Homer  Call,  Georgia  Hulse,  Leora  Peterson,  Andy  Gordon. 
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The  Niter  School — 
about  1916;  later  used 

as  a  church  and 
community  center. 

Some  of  the 

students  who  attended. 

room  carrying  a  buggy  whip.  This  school  was 

for  grades  one  through  eight.  Mrs.  Denzii 

(Neva)  Johnson  remembers  going  to  school 

there  and  the  students  drawing  names  for 

Christmas.  Mary  Hubbard  and  Melvin  Grif- 
fith were  two  of  the  last  teachers  at  the  Niter 

School.  About  1935  the  Niter  School  con- 

solidated with  the  Grace  School  and  Denzii 

Johnson  drove  the  first  school  bus  to  bring  the 
grade  school  students  to  Grace.  The  school 
house  was  then  used  as  the  Williams  Ward 

Church  and  Community  Center. 

Beaver  Dams 

^M<W&m 
see  us.  In  order  to  do  this  we  took  turns  asking 

to  leave  the  room.  The  teacher  was  a  bit  upset, 

but  she  let  us  go.  At  noon  the  big  boys  locked 

her  in  the  library  where  she  kept  her  lunch  till 

we  got  her  desk  set  with  goodies.  She  was  so 

angry  they  had  to  pull  her  out  when  everything 

was  ready.  We  all  hollered,  'Surprise!  and 

Happy  Birthday!'  She  was  so  happy  we 

thought  she  was  going  to  cry!" 

As  with  all  early  schools,  it  was  the  com- 
munity center.  Many  dances  were  held  there 

with  the  Thomas  Orchestra  furnishing  the 

music.  Most  of  the  families  moved  away  or  to 
Grace  for  the  winter  so  the  school  was  closed. 

A  one-room  frame  school  served  the 
students  of  Beaver  Dams.  It  was  located  on  the 

old  Mort  Rash  place,  which  is  now  owned  by 

the  Leo  Thomas  family.  Knights,  Lefflers, 

Rashes,  Wagers,  and  Larsens  were  families 
with  children  who  attended  this  school. 

Blanche  Knight  Leffler  was  in  the  first 

eighth  grade  graduating  class.  This  is  one  of 

the  stories  she  tells:  "On  one  teacher's  birth- 

day. Flora  Hoefling's,  we  took  a  picnic  lunch 
and  hid  it.  We  churned  ice  cream  in  the  snow 

bank  west  of  the  school  house  so  she  wouldn't 

The  Beaver  Dams  School;  teacher  and  children. 
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School  Hot  Lunch  Program Seminary  in  Gem  Valley 

The  Grace  School  hot  lunch  program  was 

started  in  the  fall  of  1935  with  the  recommen- 

dation of  Mrs.  E.  S.  Bovenmyer,  the  local 
health  nurse.  Mrs.  Emma  Ellis  was  head  cook, 

with  Susie  Smith,  Melissa  Metcalf,  and  Alta 

McCann  as  cooks.  This  project  was  started 

through  the  hard  efforts  of  Mrs.  Susan  Turner 

and  Mrs.  Warren  King,  Sr.,  representing  the 

Relief  Society,  and  Nellie  V.  Johnson,  the 

president  of  the  American  Legion  Auxiliary. 

They  had  spent  all  summer  on  it  and  made 

many  trips  to  Pocatello  to  get  it  under  way. 

The  government  paid  the  cooks  $44  each 

month.  The  first  year  Nellie  Johnson  was  the 

non-paid  supervisor.  Meals  were  ten  cents  per 
student,  which  paid  for  the  food  and  cooking 

and  serving  utensils. 

The  next  year  it  was  turned  over  to  the 

P.T.A.  to  administer  with  Myrta  Longenbohn 

and  Ruth  Peterson  as  the  presidents.  A  great 

deal  of  fruit  was  canned  for  the  lunch  program. 

Later  it  was  taken  over  as  a  school  program 
with  Hazel  Clark,  Irene  Weaver,  Rose  Smart 

and  Myrta  Longenbohn  as  supervisors.  Since 

1966  Effie  Hoopes  has  supervised  the 

program. 

The  Thatcher  School  hot  lunch  program 

was  started  in  1943  by  Mrs.  Henry  Turner  and 

Mrs.  Chloe  Barthlome  in  conjunction  with 

Millen  Mendenhall,  principal  of  the  school. 
The  ladies  furnished  their  own  kitchen  utensils. 

These  ladies  worked  six  years  in  this  program. 

At  the  present  time  (1977),  the  Thatcher 

school  hot  lunch  program  is  supervised  by  Gay 
Panter,  Marintha  Covert  and  Julie  Skinner. 

With  some  government  aid,  the  hot  lunch 

program  at  both  schools  is  self-supporting. 

In  the  fall  of  1925,  seminary  instruction 

began  in  Grace.  Eighty-nine  students  attended 
classes  that  first  year  in  the  basement  of  the 
old  rock  tabernacle.  Brother  J.  J.  Andrews  was 

the  first  instructor.  Within  the  pages  of 

Brother  Andrews'  grade  book  were  names  of 
the  eighty-nine  students.  It  is  interesting  to 

note  the  names  here  of  the  "A" 
students — Harold  Lowe,  Josephine  Roghaar, 
Delia  Williamson  and  Dora  Williamson  in 

first  hour.  From  the  other  hours  the  following 

were  honor  students:  Anna  Christensen,  June 

Atkinson,  Mabel  Hayes,  Lois  Lloyd,  Margriet 

Roghaar,  and  Melva  Smith. 

From  its  inception,  the  purpose  of  the 

seminary  program  has  been  to  assist  the  home 
in  cultivating  and  nourishing  the  divine  nature 

of  the  youth  of  the  Church  through  a  weekday 

religious  education  program.  This  is  still,  to- 
day, the  basic  objective. 

Giving  direction  to  the  first  seminary 
class  in  Grace  was  William  H.  Mendenhall, 

the  Stake  President  at  the  time.  Members  of 

the  stake  board  of  education  were — Bishop 
Moroni  W.  Lowe,  John  Roghaar,  Parley 

Lloyd,  Sr.,  William  Corbett,  Alma  E.  Hub- 
bard, and  C.  Enoch  Peterson.  Each  had  com- 
mittee assignments  and  gave  sincere  assistance 

to  the  seminary  program. 

The  first  ten  years  of  seminary  teaching  in 
Grace  saw  several  men  serve  as  instructors. 

Following  brother  Andrews  were — E.  Edgar 
Fuller,  J.  Lyman  Smith,  Wesley  P.  Lloyd,  and 
Harold  S.  Nelson. 

Financial  problems  were  a  concern  during 

those  early  years.  However,  this  obstacle  was 
overcome  for  the  most  part  by  1937  when  the 

present  seminary  building  was  erected.  The 

sum  of  $13,000.00  was  raised  by  generous  con- 

tributors of  this  good  valley.  The  two-room 

building    with    multi-colored   glass    windows 
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Grace  Seminary, 

erected  in  1937. 

provided  a  good  atmosphere  for  religious 

education.  The  building  was  dedicated  by 

Apostle  Charles  A.  Callis  on  August  7,  1938. 

The  ten-year  period  of  seminary  following 
the  dedication  of  the  building  received  such 

teachers  as — Heber  D.  Clark,  Howard  Evans, 
O.  Wendell  Rich,  Jack  Cherrington,  Lyman 
C.  Berrett,  and  Clawson  C.  Richardson. 

Courses  in  Church  History,  Old  Testament, 
and  New  Testament  constituted  the 

curriculum  in  early  years,  with  the  study  of  the 

Book  of  Mormon  being  added  later.  Grace 

seminary  has  been  fortunate  during  its  fifty 

years  of  existence  to  operate  under  a 

"released-time"  setting.  This  approach  to 
seminary  allows  students  who  have  permission 

of  their  parents  and  the  sanction  of  the  local 

school  board  to  attend  seminary  classes  during 
school  hours. 

For  many  years  the  seminary  sponsored  a 

"Lucky  Star"  dance.  The  proceeds  of  the 
dance  were  used  to  help  meet  the  expenses  of  a 

yearly  trip  to  Salt  Lake  City  to  view  many  of 
the  historical  sites  of  the  Church. 

Until  recently,  participation  in  a  "Red 

Letter  Day"  activity  was  an  annual  event. 
These  events  were  generally  held  in  Montpelier 
or   Afton   with    from    six   to    nine   of  the 

seminaries  of  the  area  participating.  They  were 

marked  by  entertainment  and  a  fine  meal,  with 

a  chance  to  meet  and  mingle  with  students 

from  other  seminaries.  The  highlight  was 

always  the  testimony  meeting  which  climaxed 

the  day.  Junior  and  Senior  students  were  in- 
volved in  the  Red  Letter  Day  activity. 

Numerous  seminary  classes  over  the 

years  have  journeyed  to  Logan  and  done  bap- 
tisms for  the  dead.  Participation  in  local 

Sacrament  Meeting  programs  has  been  a  com- 
mon and  special  experience  for  scores  of  Grace 

seminary  students.  This  has  given  students  the 

opportunity  to  expound  upon  the  principles  of 

the  gospel  learned  in  the  classroom.  Many  ser- 
vice projects  have  also  been  completed  by  the 

seminary  students. 

Leadership  development  has  been  an  im- 
portant part  of  the  seminary  program  in 

Grace.  In  addition  to  the  seminary  student 

council,  there  are  class  presidencies  and  special 

committee  assignments.  Participation  of  each 
student  has  been  the  desired  end. 

The  seminary  building  has  seen  some 

change  since  1937.  In  recent  years  the  tables 

have  been  replaced  by  modern  desks.  New 

drapes  and  carpet,  along  with  new  chalk- 
boards, lights,  a  bell  system,  and  intercom 
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with  the  high  school  have  added  greatly  to  the 

learning  environment.  Much  of  the  money 

needed  for  these  recent  improvements  has 

come  from  fund-raising  projects.  Serving  at 
banquets,  selling  candy,  selling  Church 
Almanacs  and  other  books  are  but  a  few  of  the 

methods  used  by  the  students  to  raise  money. 

A  good  number  of  seminary  teachers  have 

served  in  Grace  in  recent  years.  The  following 

names  will  be  familiar  to  many:  Mrs.  Roland 

Allen,  Ernest  M.  Skinner,  Frank  H.  Wirig, 
Willard  Christensen,  Delworth  K.  Young,  Don 
Jewett,  R.  Gordon  LaBaron,  Mrs.  Mildred 

Burton,  Larry   Murdoch,  Gary  Niederhauser, 

Robert  Craner,  Corie  Anderson,  Dale  Hunt, 
Nathan  Vorwaller,  Michael  P.  Zundel,  Ron  R. 

Munns,  and  Timothy  Taggart. 

The  Grace  Seminary  has  been  and  is  an 

important  part  of  the  history  of  the  valley.  The 
contributions  that  it  has  made  to  individuals 

and  the  community  in  general  cannot  be 
minimized. 

Grace  students  of  the  seminary  today  par- 

ticipate in  a  program  that  has  grown  to  where, 

in  1977,  it  reaches  over  one-third  of  a  million 

youth  in  over  fifty  countries  in  more  than  six- 
teen different  languages. 

Grace  High  School  Devilettes  (1976) 
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CHAPTER  IX 

A  Thriving  Village 
"At  this  time  there  were  4  hotels,  2  cafes,  4  clothing  stores,  2  furniture 
stores,  2  pool  halls,  2  drug  stores,  1  confectionery,  4  grocery  stores,  2 

grain  elevators,  I  flour  mill,  a  printing  office,  a  real-estate  office,  2 
theatres  and  dance  halls,  3  lumber  yards,  a  bank,  a  telephone  office  and 

2  livery  stables." 
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John  Ira  and  Mary  Allsop  in  their  new  autom
obile. 
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W  ITH  THE  water  finally  out  on  the  land,  it 

wasn't  long  before  large  alfalfa  fields  dotted 
the  countryside.  Shade  and  fruit  trees  were 

also  planted,  and  all  kinds  of  small  fruits. 

More  people  began  to  raise  livestock,  and,  all 

in  all,  1904  was  the  beginning  of  prosperity  in 

Gem  Valley.  Soon  new  homes  were  built  and 

new  furniture  purchased,  as  well  as  clothes  and 

other  things  to  make  life  more  pleasant. 

When  the  Telluride  Power  Company 

came  to  Grace  in  1906  to  begin  construction  of 

a  power  plant  and  dam  on  Bear  River,  many 

new  jobs  were  created.  Businesses  began  to 
move  to  Grace  and  soon  there  was  a  thriving 

little  village  in  the  making. 

It  has  already  been  mentioned  that  Pond 
and  Greaves  built  the  first  store  in  Grace 

Village    proper    in    1906.    In    1907    Hyrum 

Toolson  opened  a  saloon,  which  he  maintained 

until  the  bill  for  local  option  came  into  effect 

and  the  people  voted  it  closed. 

A  new  cement-block  school  house,  having 
eleven  rooms,  was  built  in  1910  (this  building 

is  still  in  use  as  a  junior  high  building).  This 

same  year  a  new  tabernacle,  with  a  full  base- 
ment and  auditorium  to  seat  700  people,  was 

also  constructed  of  cement  blocks.  This 

building  was  dedicated  in  1917;  it  burned  in 

February,  1949. 

In  1911  John  Roghaar  of  Ogden,  Utah, 

came  and  established  a  general  merchandise 
store  known  as  the  Intermountain  Mercantile 

Company.  He  was  a  young  man  of  limited 
means,  but  due  to  his  thrift  and  enterprising 

ability,  his  establishment  grew  until  it  was  se- 
cond to  none  in  the  village  and  surrounding 

communities. 

Main  Street  in  Grace 
about  1913.  The  building 
to  the  left,  with  a 
balcony,  is  the  old 
Christensen  Hotel. 

-a^ 

Early  Grace — looking 
south;  horses  and  buggies 

still  the  main  mode 

of  transportation. 
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Winter  in  Grace  about 

1911;  no  cars,  teams  all 
tied  in  front  of 
business  concerns  along 
Main  Street. 

Sunday  meeting  day; 

the  cement  block  tabernacle 
was  built  in  1910. 

mw 
■^i^i^^^A^ 

Members  of  the  VandenAkker 
family  on  their  way  to 

church;  Nellie  Johnson 

is  the  girl    with 
the  large  hat  on. 
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Typical  barnyard— Sunday, 
after  church.  Left  to 

right:  Francis  Ormond, 

George  Rich,  Burnis  Ormond. 

The  William  Ormond  home,  one 

of  the  first  and  nicest  in the  valley. 

**i*"
' 

l^    ̂̂ ^    ̂  

This  is  the  Roghaar  store 

in  its  early  days  and  this,  as 

you  see,  is  the  dry  goods 

department;  Mr.  Roghaar  is  on 
the  left  and  Mr.  Neeley  on 
the  right. 
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The  grocery  department 
in  the  old  Roghaar  Store. 

The  men  from  left  to 

right  are:  Mr.  William 
Fowler,  Mr.  John  Roghaar, 

and  Mr.  Neeley. 
Ladies  are  unidentifled. 

Grace  about  1913— looking 
south.  The  Grace  Opera 

House  can  be  seen  on  the  right 
with  the  curved  entrance. 

The  first  train  to  come  into 
Grace  in  1913. 

The  building  you  see 
is  the  corner  of  a  log 

cabin— first  home  of  the 
J.  J.  Cherry  family. 

■•4-V-^. Z:-\  :>  ». '^IdSiiMc:^*'^^ 
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In  spite  of  a  new  power  plant  in  the  near 

vicinity,  the  people  of  Grace  were  without  elec- 
tric power.  It  was  necessary  for  the  people  to 

build  their  own  lines,  so  George  Hamp,  John 

Greaves,  and  Chris  Poulson  financed  the 

building  of  a  line  to  the  town.  They  extended 

power  to  others  and  charged  fees  to  get  their 

money  back. 

The  second  amusement  hall  that  was  built 

in  Grace  was  called  the  Columbia  Hall.  It  was 

first  owned  by  a  stock  company  of  people;  then 

purchased  by  John  Allsop,  Joseph  Christensen 
and  Christian  Poulson  and  Mr.  Allsop  became 

the  manager.  This  became  a  very  popular 

place  for  amusements  of  all  kinds — dancing, 
skating,  banquets,  and  traveling  shows.  This 
building  still  stands  and  is  in  use  as  Sanders 

Bargain  Barn.  The  next  amusement  hall  and 
theatre  was  built  by  Henry  Ferstein.  It  had  a 

floor  which  could  be  adjusted  for  either  movies 

or  dancing.  This  building  was  purchased  by 
Albert  C.  Orr  and  was  known  as  The  Grace 

Opera  House. 
In  1913  the  first  train  came  into  Grace, 

making  possible  the  operation  of  the  flour  mill 
and  elevator  in  the  town.  In  1914  the  Equity 

J^"»^'- 
Alexander — 1913;    here   all    train       '; connections  were  made. 

r*    '*3  ■^''    ̂       Grace  as  seen  from  the  west;  in 
*3i!l^-." /^ '*^'nj«3u>^    "         front,  early  flour  mill. 
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Elevator  and  Trading  Company  was  built  on 
the  west  side  of  the  track.  As  nearly  as  can  be 

determined,  the  first  agent  in  Grace  for  the 

railroad  was  a  man  by  the  name  of  Ross.  He 

was  followed  by  a  Mr.  Johnson  and  then 

Frank  Flannery.  Henry  Martinson  came 

to  Grace  as  an  agent  in  1950  and  served  for  22 

years.  He  was  then  assigned  as  a  combination 

agent  for  both  Grace  and  Bancroft. 

In  1915  the  Village  of  Grace  was  incor- 
porated with  A.  L.  Andreasen,  John  Roghaar, 

L.  Sumner  Pond,  John  Kirby  and  A.  E.  Lloyd 

as  trustees,  with  L.  Sumner  Pond  appointed  as 
chairman.  A.  E.  Haines  was  the  first  clerk. 

By  1916  there  were  in  the  village  of  Grace 

the  following:  4  hotels,   2  cafes,  4  clothing 

stores,  2  furniture  stores,  2  pool  halls,  2  drug 

stores,  1  confectionery,  1  barber  shop,  4 

grocery  stores,  2  grain  elevators,  1  fiour  mill,  a 

printing  office,  a  real  estate  office,  2  theatres 
and  dance  halls,  where  dances  were  held  two  or 

three  times  a  week  and  were  crowded,  3 

lumberyards,  a  bank,  a  telephone  office,  post 
office  and  2  livery  stables. 

At  Fred's  Cafe,  where  the  Lounge  is  now, 
you  could  get  a  great  meal  for  35c;  and  at 

King's  barbershop  a  haircut  cost  25c  and  a 
shave  a  dime. 

In  early  1916,  the  Grace  townsite  was  sur- 

veyed and  plotted  and  between  1916-1918,  45 
blocks  of  pavement  were  laid  for  sidewalks. 
W.  A.  Samms  was  the  engineer  in  charge. 

1 
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A   thriving  village;  cars  begin  to 
make  their  appearance. 

Looking    north    on    main    street, 
Grace,  Idaho;  1914-1915, 
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The  first  culinary  water  system  in  Grace 

was  a  stock-owned  company.  It  belonged  to  a 
few  individuals  and  came  from  two  springs  in 

Burton's  canyon.  This  system  had  a  four-inch 
wood  line  and  was  completed  in  1906-1907. 

The  springs  were  called  "Orchard  Springs" 
and  in  1916,  they  were  deeded  to  the  city  by 

Fred  Burton,  Sr.  for  $350.  The  city  still  has 

ownership    of  these   springs.    In    September 

The  old  2H  Livery  and  Feed  Stable,  built  in  1912  by 
Alvin  Hamp;  operated  first  by  George  Hamp  and  in 
1914-1915  by  Alvin  Hamp  and  C.  W.  Harris.  Saddle 
horses  could  be  hired  here  or  a  driver  would  take  you 
anywhere  you  wished  to  go.  This  building  was  also  used 
by  the  U.  S.  Cavalry  horses  for  a  short  time.  Years 
later  the  building  was  used  by  Fred  Sant  to  house  his 

stock. 

View  of  Grace  from  the 
west — about  1920. 

1916,  the  village  of  Grace  bonded  for  the 

purchase  of  the  Child's  Ranch  and  water  in 

McPherson's  Canyon  (also  known  as  Child's 
Canyon).  They  paid  $25,000.  They  later  sold 
the  ranch  for  $15,000.  This  water  system  was 

finished  in  1918  with  wooden  pipe  lines  that 

were  wrapped  with  steel  wire.  The  total  cost 

was  $125,000.  The  wooden  pipe  was  later 

replaced  with  steel  and  asbestos  cement  pipe. 

A  new  reservoir  that  will  hold  240,000  gallons 

of  water  and  is  completely  closed  in  was  com- 
pleted many  years  later  at  a  cost  of  $15,000. 

The  tank  is  44  feet  across  and  20  feet  deep.  The 

Buggy  of  long  ago;  the  driver  is  a  Medford,  relative  of Belle  Smith. 
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Old  Livery  Stable — owned 
and  operated  by  Reuben 

Allsop,  1914-1919. 
Horses  could  be  hired 
to  ride  or  drive  or  a 

driver  could  be  hired. 
A  stage  met  all  trains 

at  Alexander  each  day. 
Men  in  front  are: 

Reuben  Allsop  and  David Allsop. 

I : 

Fire  at  the  Consolidated  Wagon 
and  Machine  Co. — 1915. 

Last  of  the  "101";  Grace; 
January  2,  1915. 
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town  also  established  ownership  of  ap- 

proximately 30  springs.  An  auxiliary  pump  on 

the  town  well,  which  is  220'  deep,  will  supply 
900  gallons  of  water  each  minute. 

In  1916,  the  Village  of  Grace  purchased 

the  Grace  Light  Company  from  Hamp  and 
Pond  for  $5,000,  and  in  June,  1922,  it  was  sold 

to  the  Utah  Power  &  Light  Company  for  $9,- 
000. 

During  this  "booming"  period  two  large 
Cavalry  Barns  existed  in  our  town.  One  was 

located  just  west  of  the  city  office  building  and 

was  later  used  by  Fred  Sant  for  buying  and 

selling  of  cattle.  This  also  included  a  large  cor- 
ral. 

In  the  early  1920's,  the  government  ap- 
propriated enough  money  to  build  a  huge 

Cavalry  Barn  a  bit  north  and  west  of  where 

Lyle  Barthlome's  home  is  presently  located. 

This  barn  was  160'  wide  and  200'  long,  and 
within  this  massive  arena,  cavalry  men,  with 
32  matched  saddle  horses  trained  for  drill 

maneuvers.  The  horses  were  beautiful  and 

equipped  with  saddles  and  other  necessary 

gear.  A  magnificent  job  of  training  these 
horses  was  done  by  Floyd  Sorensen  and  Earl 

Cox.  One  of  the  horses  was  entered  one  year  in 

a  long  distance  endurance  race  and  took  first 

place  in  the  State  of  Idaho.  It  was  a  proud  mo- 
ment for  Earl  Cox,  who  rode  the  horse.  During 

the  winter  months  horse  pulling  contests  were 

Mr.  Ira  VandenAkker,  Sr. 
with  young  son,  Leonard, 

working  on  ancient 
model  auto.  The  log 

cabin  in  the  background 
was  the  first  home 
of  the  John  Allsop 

family  in  Grace. 

This  house  is  still  standing;  it  was  built 
and  owned  by  Archie  Gunnell  in  1911  or 
1912 — was  bought  by  the  Lords  in  1917 
and  the  Roghaars  moved  into  it  about  1918 
and  lived  there  for  many  years.  The  car, 

a  "Mitchell",  is  waiting  to  take  the 
Lords  to  their  new  home  in  California. 
It  was  one  of  the  fine  cars 
of  the  day. 
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Old  garage,  owned  and  operated 
by  Orson  C.  Childs, 
the  man  on  the  left  with  the 
hat  on.  It  stood  next  to 

the  Wyss  Blacksmith  Shop. 
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The  beautiful  old  Telford  home,  built  in  1916,  home  of 
the  George  Telford  family.  This  home  is  now  the 

property  of  the  John  Gibson  family. Clearing  snow  on  center  street. 
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Plowing  the  snow  to 
clear  the  roads 

in  the  early  days  of  Grace. 
The  two  men  in  the  middle 
are  William  Lasley 

and  John  Roghaar. 

held  in  this  large  Cavalry  Barn,  and  were  a 

very  popular  form  of  recreation  for  many  area 
residents.  This  building  was  in  existence  for 
about  ten  years. 

During  this  time,  practically  all  the 

produce  raised  in  the  valley  was  sold  here.  Peo- 
ple received  their  checks  and  spent  them  here. 

But  by  1918,  trucks  were  beginning  to  come 

into  use  and  the  automobile  was  becoming  the 

major  means  of  transportation — so  Grace 
went  the  way  of  most  small  towns  of  the  day. 

Buyers  hauled  their  produce  out  of  town  and 

shoppers  went  out  to  buy.  This,  and  the  decline 

in  farm  income  after  the  war,  brought  about 

the  closing  of  many  businesses. 

A  brief  history  of  some  of  the  es- 
tablishments that  had  their  beginning  at  this 

time  follows: 

Bank 

The  Gem  Valley  State  Bank  was  organiz- 
ed in  1912  by  local  stock  holders,  with  a 

capital  stock  of  $15,000.  In  1917,  it  became  a 

national  bank  with  a  capital  stock  of  $25,000, 

which  was  required  by  law.  It  was  then,  and 
now,  known  as  The  First  National  Bank  of 

Grace,  Idaho. 

Carl  Valentine  of  Pocatello,  was  the  first 

president,  and  other  directors  were  W.  B. 

Wright,  Bill  Larkins,  Alex  and  McGee  Harris. 

Carl  Valentine  resigned  as  president  and 
C.  W.  Bennett,  Sr.  was  elected  in  1929.  He 

served  until  1956,  when  he  resigned  due  to  ill 
health.  Leo  Bennett  was  then  elected  and  serv- 

ed until  1968.  Calvin  Bennett,  Jr.  was  elected 
in  1968  and  served  until  1972.  Clair  Chadwick 

was  then  elected  as  president  in  1972.  He  later 

resigned  and  Calvin  Bennett,  Jr.  was  again 
elected  in  1974.  Those  who  have  served  as 

managers  or  cashiers  are  Fred  Ball,  N.  P. 

Neilson,  Paul  Bryan,  A.  R.  Dawson,  Alvin 
Whitehead,  Rex  Whitehead,  Bryan 

Mendenhall,  Arlene  Wilker,  Duane  Rice,  and 

Eddie  Panter  (present  manager).  It  is  in- 
teresting to  note  that  Alvin  Whitehead  went  to 

work  in  the  bank  in  1918  and  served  until 

1972,  a  total  of  54  years  of  dedicated  service. 

The  bank  was  moved  into  a  new  building 

on  November  10,  1948,  where  it  is  presently 
located.  The  old  bank  was  sold  to  Earnest 

Young,  who  remodeled  it  into  a  cafe.  The 

building  burned  in  1966. 

Currently  serving  as  president  of  FNB  is 
Rex  Whitehead,  son  of  Alvin  Whitehead. 

Other  officers  are  Eddie  Panter,  manager;  Roy 

Corbett,  vice  president;  Calvin  Bennett,  vice 
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president;    Roger   Facer,   assistant   manager; 
and  Arlene  Wilker,  cashier;  all  of  Grace. 

A  proposed  merger  between  the  First 
National  Bank  of  Grace  and  The  First  Bank 

and  Trust  of  Idaho  is  now  underway  and 

should  be  completed  before  the  year,  1977,  is 

over.  After  the  merger  has  been  completed,  the 

bank  will  be  remodeled  and  expanded  in 
size. 

The  Telephone  Company 

A  telephone  line  was  built  from  Soda 

Springs  to  Lago  in  about  1907  and  was  called 

the  Soda  Springs-Lago  Telephone  Company 
with  C.  H.  Mickelson  as  president  and  George 

Telford  as  vice  president.  This  put  the 

telephone  in  each  community  and  messengers 

were  sent  for  any  one  that  was  called.  The 

Cleveland-Thatcher  area  was  handled  by  the 
Smith  Telephone  Company  in  Cleveland. 

The  office  was  established  upstairs  in  the 

First  National  Bank  building  in  the  two  front 

offices  facing  east.  Directors  of  the  company 

were  Percy  Purvis,  George  Telford,  Alex  and 

McGee  Harris,  with  C.  W,  Harris  as  manager 
and  Alice  Telford  Sorensen  as  the  first 

operator. 

This  company  was  sold  to  M.  S.  T.  &  T. 

Co.  the  latter  part  of  1914.  Gladys  Winchell 

was  the  first  operator  hired  by  this  company. 
Those  who  followed  her  were  Stella  Childs 

Larsen  and  Nellie  V.  Johnson.  While  Nellie 

was  serving,  the  armistice  was  signed  on 
November  11,  1918,  at  11:00  a.m.  in  Paris, 

France.  Having  no  radios  or  T.V.  then,  she 

received  the  message  at  2:00  a.m.  the  next 

morning.  She  immediately  roused  the  people 

out  of  their  beds,  and  soon  they  were  all  down 

town  burning  the  effigy  of  Kaiser  Bill  on  Main 

Street.  After  Nellie's  marriage,  Louise  Allsop 
Perry  became  the  next  chief  operator. 

In  11 

First  bank  in  Grace,  built  in  1914.  This  building  was 
purchased  many  years  later  by  Earnest  Young  for  a 

cafe.  It  burned  in  1966. 

The  company  was  then  put  under  the 

agency  plan,  with  Jennie  McClellan 
Mendenhall  as  manager,  with  others  hired  to 

assist.  Later  managers  to  serve  were  as 

follows:  Mrs.  Jessie  Baldwin,  Sylvia  Tapper, 

Helen  Stephenson,  Arvilla  W.  Bassett,  Mattie 

McGinnis,  and  Lytha  Ellis,  who  held  the  job 

until  the  dialing  was  changed  to  the  automatic 

system  in  August  of  1949.  Mrs.  Ellis  was  then 

Telephone  crew  installing  first  telephone  lines  in  the 
valley.  Casper  A.  Harris  was  supervisor. 
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The  Gem  Valley  Telephone  office  was  installed  up- 
stairs in  the  bank.  This  is  a  picture  of  the  first 

switchboard  of  the  Telephone  Co.  Notice  little  crank  at 
right  in  front,  which  had  to  be  used  whenever  a  number was  rung. 

transferred  to  Soda  Springs  where  she  served 
until  her  retirement. 

Gem  Valley  Newspapers 

The  first  newspaper  published  and  printed 

in  Grace  was  started  in  1914  by  A.  E.  Haines 

and  son,  and  was  known  as  The  Gem  Valley 
Tribune.  However,  the  town  was  too  small  to 

support  a  newspaper  and  they  left  the  valley. 

In  1918,  Hector  T.  Evans  published  and 

printed  locally  The  Gem  Valley  Progress.  He 

later  left  and  moved  his  family  to  Ogden  for 
more  money. 

The  town  was  without  a  newspaper  for 

sometime,  and  then  J.  F.  Whitney  of  McCam- 
mon,  owner  of  the  McCammon  News,  The 

Downey  Comet,  and  later  The  Bancroft  Stan- 

dard, decided  to  enlarge  his  enterprises.  In 

1923  he  put  out  his  first  edition  here  known  as 

The  Grace  Herald.  The  printing  was  done  in 
the  McCammon  Plant.  He  hired  Mrs. 

Leonard  Hacking  as  correspondent  to  get  the 

news  and  he  came  once  a  week  to  pick  up  the 
advertising  and  job  printing. 

Due  to  home  obligations,  Mrs.  Hacking 

resigned  and  then  Austin  Merrill,  who  ran  an 
insurance  office  on  main  street,  was  hired. 

When  he  resigned,  Nellie  V.  Johnson,  who  was 

then  a  correspondent  for  the  Pocatello 
Tribune,  was  hired. 

Mr.  Whitney  suffered  a  severe  and  long  il- 
lness and  his  wife,  Kate,  took  over  the 

management,  hiring  printers  and  taking  care 

of  the  business  end  of  the  operation  herself. 

They  survived  the  depression  in  the  1930's  and 
kept  things  in  the  black.  Printers  were  not 

always  available,  so  she  leased  the  plant  to 

Paysen  and  Leek,  then  the  Swisher  Brothers, 
and  then  to  Lowell  Leek  and  wife,  both  of 

whom  were  linotype  operators.  Soon  they  were 

offered  better  positions  with  more  money  and 
severed  the  lease. 

On  November  1,  1967,  Myron  Boyce  of 

McCammon,  bought  the  entire  plant  and 

building  and  felt  that  the  operation  of  all  the 

papers  was  too  much  for  one  man  to  handle. 

So,  that  very  day,  he  sold  the  Grace  Herald 
rights  to  Ross  and  Bell  of  Preston,  who 

published  The  Preston  Citizen.  This  concern 

then  changed  the  name  of  the  paper  to  The 

Grace  Citizen,  hiring  Mrs.  Johnson  as  cor- 
respondent and  editor. 

The  Grace  Citizen  is  printed  in  Preston, 

but  is  sent  in  bulk  form  and  distributed  directly 
from  the  Grace  Post  Office. 

The  Grace  Citizen  and  its  editor  were 
honored  in  March,  1975,  receiving  first  place 

for  excellence  of  papers  under  1000  subscrip- 
tions, by  the  Idaho  Press  Association.  They 

received  a  plaque  for  the  honor  which  hangs  in 
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the  main  office  in  Preston.  Again,  in  1976,  the 

Grace  paper  received  the  award  of  excellence. 

The  Grace  Post  Office 

Before  the  Grace  Post  Office  was  establish- 

ed the  settlers  of  the  "Bench"  area,  as  it  was 
then  called,  had  to  go  to  Lago,  Idaho,  eight  to 

ten  miles  south  to  get  their  mail. 

In  1894,  a  petition  was  circulated  among 

the  residents  of  the  "Bench"  for  the  govern- 
ment to  establish  a  post  office  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

This  was  approved  and  David  D.  Sullivan  was 

appointed  first  postmaster  in  October,  1894. 

The  office  was  located  in  the  home  of  the  post- 
master until  1906,  when  it  was  moved  into  the 

newly  established  town. 

In  1912,  Caroline  Sullivan,  daughter  of 

David  D.  Sullivan,  was  appointed  postmaster 

at  a  salary  of  $100  per  month.  She  received 

this  salary  until  July  1,  1917.  During  this  time, 

boxes  were  put  in  and  assigned  to  those  who 

desired  them.  Some  of  these  boxes  are  still  be- 

ing used  by  members  of  the  family. 

In  1917,  the  Grace  Post  Office  was  chang- 
ed from  a  4th  class  to  a  3rd  class  post  office  by 

presidential  appointment.  This  was  during  the 
democratic  term  of  Woodrow  Wilson. 

Caroline  Sullivan,  who  was  a  republican,  had 
married  Lowell  H.  Merriam  in  1914.  He  was  a 

devout  democrat,  so  she  resigned  her  position 

and  her  husband  applied  for  and  was  ap- 
pointed postmaster,  taking  office  officially  on 

July  1,  1917.  Mrs.  Merriam  was  then  assigned 

the  clerk's  job. 
The  mail  first  came  into  Grace  by  stage 

from  Soda  Springs  three  times  a  week,  carried 

by  a  man  by  the  name  of  George  Small.  Later, 

a  depot  was  built  at  Alexander  and  the  mail 

came  from  there  by  stage.  The  first  mail 
carrier  from  there  was  a  Mr.  Cal  Bowen. 

Later,  Ira  K.  VandenAkker  ran  the  stage  and 

hauled  mail  and  passengers  from  Alexander  to 

Grace.  Mail  came  in  and  went  out  twice  a  day. 

As  the  valley  grew,  rural  routes  were  es- 
tablished to  deliver  mail  to  the  outlying  coun- 

try. Ira  VandenAkker  was  the  first  rural 

route  mail  carrier  and  his  job  was  not  an  easy 

one.  Deep  snow  in  winter  and  mud,  hub  deep, 

during  the  fall  and  spring,  made  it  extremely 
difficult.  Mr.  VandenAkker  drove  for  several 

years  and  then  the  government  decided  to 
make  it  a  civil  service  job.  A  school  teacher  by 

the  name  of  James  Murray  took  the  exam  and 

became  the  rural  carrier.  After  several  years 

he  retired  and  left  the  valley;  then  another 

devoted  school  teacher,  Willis  D.  Page,  com- 
pleted the  exam  and  became  the  new  carrier. 

He  served  very  diligently  from  his  appoint- 

ment on  October  8,  1928,  until  his  death  Oc- 

tober 25,  1961 — a  time  span  of  33  years. 

Wayne  Egbert  became  the  next  rural 
carrier  in  February,  1962,  with  Norma  Taylor 
as  relief  carrier. 

There  was  also  a  star  mail  route  that 

took  mail  to  patrons  on  the  east  Bench  and  to 

the  Lago  Post  Office.  Here  the  carrier  was  met 

by  a  carrier  from  Preston,  Idaho,  and  they  ex- 
changed mail.  The  carrier  from  Grace  was  Ira 

K.  VandenAkker,  who  very  ably,  with  the  help 

of  his  four  sons,  performed  the  job.  The  star 

route  carrier  was  a  bid  job,  obtained  by  sen- 
ding in  a  sealed  bid.  This  route,  as  others,  had 

a  great  many  problems  with  mud  and  snow.  In 
1936  it  was  so  bad  that  James  Olorenshaw  was 

hired  to  take  the  mail  from  Lago  to  meet  the 
Preston  carrier  at  Rose  Hill  in  lower 

Cleveland,  because  the  Preston  carrier 

couldn't  make  his  run  from  Preston  to  Lago 
and  back  in  one  day. 

Mr.  VandenAkker  gave  up  the  star  route 

and  Edward  Kesler  brought  the  mail  and  a  few 

passengers  from  Alexander  to  Grace  and  the 

Lafe  Rawlins'  route  was  extended  to  include 
the  Alexander  route. 
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When  the  Rawlinses  gave  up  their  route,  it 

was  taken  over  by  Ray  and  Katherine  Dalton. 

They  were  followed  by  Howard  Corbett,  who 

was  followed  by  Max  and  Chloe  Fowler.  Max 

later  accepted  a  job  as  milk  hauler  for  the 

Rowland  Dairy,  but  his  wife,  Chloe,  continued 
as  the  main  mail  carrier  and  is  still  (1977) 

diligently  and  pleasantly  delivering  that  impor- 

tant mail — rain  or  shine,  after  almost  twenty 

years. 
Caroline  Merriam  retired  March  31, 

1952,  and  was  replaced  by  LaVera  "Toots" 
Henderson,  who  had  worked  in  the  Grace  Post 

Office  intermittently,  since  June,  1930,  after 

her  graduation  from  high  school.  Others  who 
served  as  clerks  in  the  Grace  Post  Office  were 

Elias  Mather  and  his  son,  Leon  Mather. 

After  38  years  of  service,  Lowell  H. 

Merriam  retired  from  the  position  of  post- 
master on  April  30,  1952.  Gail  Ray,  who  had 

passed  the  civil  service  exam  for  postal  clerk  in 

1947,  was  officially  appointed  postmaster  on 
October  1,  1953. 

On  February  28,  1974,  LaVera  Hender- 
son retired  from  the  post  office  after  serving  42 

years.    Her   position   was   taken   by   Vee   L. 

Taylor,  and  Carma  Carver,  after  passing  the 

civil  service  exam  was  appointed  as  sub-clerk. 
Since  its  authorization,  the  Grace  Post 

Office  has  seen  many  changes  and  has  been 

moved  seven  times.  In  1970,  a  lovely,  new, 

brick  U.  S.  Post  Office  building  was  built  by 

the  U.  S.  Postal  Department  for  Grace,  Idaho. 
It  is  interesting  to  note  that  from  the  time 

the  Grace  Post  Office  was  established  in  1894, 

until  LaVera  Henderson  retired  in  1974,  a 

descendant  of  the  first  appointed  postmaster, 

David  D.  Sullivan,  was  employed  in  the  Grace 
Post  Office. 

The  Grace  Cemetery 

Alma  E.  Hubbard,  who  was  made  bishop 

of  the  newly  organized  Grace  Ward  in  April, 

1899,  selected  the  site  for  the  Grace  Cemetery. 

His  first  child,  a  little  girl  named  Mana  after 

her  mother,  was  born  January  16,  1900,  and 

died  February  1,  1900.  She  was  the  first  to  be 

buried  in  this  cemetery,  which,  at  the  time,  was 

nothing  but  sagebrush.  The  Hubbard's  second 
child.  Alma  W.,  who  was  born  and  died  in 

1901,  was  the  third  person  to  be  buried  there. 
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The  Grace  Cemetery  today  (1977), 

In  about  1929,  M.  D.  Chambers  was  ap- 
pointed Sexton  for  the  Village  of  Grace.  He 

was  paid  $5  per  lot;  $7.50  for  each  grave  of  a 

person  over  twelve  years  of  age;  $5  for  graves 
of  those  under  twelve. 

A  cemetery  district  was  not  created  until 

1934.  At  that  time  John  Van  Vleet  was  ap- 
pointed Sexton.  Later  a  cemetery  board  was 

appointed,  who  selected  a  caretaker.  This  plan 

has  been  continued  to  the  present  time. 

The  first  men  to  serve  on  the  cemetery 

board  were — John  Roghaar,  Emil  Peterson 
and  Joe  Clegg. 

Early  Hotels  in  Grace 

On  November  16,  1894,  George  and 

Elizabeth  Hamp  and  their  four  small  children 
moved  from  Richmond,  Utah,  to  the  site  now 

known  as  Grace.  George  filed  a  claim  on  the 

land  extending  from  the  present  Conoco  sta- 
tion, east  to  the  Last  Chance  Canal  and  south, 

to  and  including  the  present  Orrin  Harris 

farm.  He  built  a  two-room  log  house  for  a 
home;  it  was  located  just  north  of  the  present 

Rulon  and  Gladys  Burton  residence.  Later,  as 

time  and  money  permitted,  he  added  four 
more  rooms  to  the  house. 

After  a  school  was  built  in  this  area,  the 

teacher,  needing  a  place  to  board,  roomed  at 

the  large  Hamp  home.  As  stores  were  built  in 

town,  there  was  no  place  for  the  drummers 

(salesmen)  to  stay;  so  they,  too,  found  lodging 

at  the  Hamp  residence;  thus,  the  six-room  log 
home  of  George  and  Elizabeth  Hamp  became 
the  first  hotel  in  Grace. 

In  1906.  the  Hamps  built  a  large,  three 

story  hotel  on  the  site  now  occupied  by  The 

Grace  Equipment  Co.  There  were  six 
bedrooms  on  the  second  floor  with  the  first  in- 

side bathroom  in  the  valley.  The  bedroom  fix- 
tures were  hauled  from  Logan,  Utah,  in  a 

wagon.  The  third  floor  was  as  large  as  the  se- 
cond, but  was  not  divided  into  rooms.  Instead, 

a  half  dozen  beds  were  set  up  in  the  large  room 

and  rented  out  to  men  who  were  working  on 
construction.  All  the  beds  were  covered  with 

home  made  quilts  Elizabeth  had  made  in  her 

"spare"  time.  The  ground  fioor  was  the  family 
living  quarters,  as  well  as  the  large  dining 
room  where  meals  were  served,  family  style,  to 

anyone  living  at  the  hotel.  In  the  southwest 
corner  was  a  larger  parlor  where  the  family 

and  guests  congregated  in  the  evening.  It  was 

heated  by  a  large  potbellied  stove.  In  the  back 

area  was  a  large  kitchen  where  the  many  meals 

were  prepared,  and  also  bedrooms  for  the 

family.  A  large,  enclosed  porch  was  built  on 
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First  hotel  built  in  Grace; 
was  also  the  home  of  the 

George  Hamp,  Sr. 

family— built  in  1907. 
It  was  the  first  home  to  have 

running  water  and  bathroom. 
It  was  later  sold  to  D.  T. 

Sant,  who  operated  it 
for  many  years,  then 
sold  to  Mr.  and  Mrs. 

John  Lloyd.  It  burned 
in  1931 — was  situated  where 
the  Grace  Equipment  now 
stands.  Those  shown  on  the 

lower  porch  are:  Elizabeth 
Hamp  and  Leonard  Hamp. 
On  top  porch:  Llewelyn  Smith, 
Olive  Hamp  Smith,  Pearl  Hamp, 
George  Hamp,  Jr. 

George  Hamp,  owner  of  the  first  hotel  in  Grace. Elizabeth  Hamp,  wife  of  George  Hamp,  and  Verda 

Hamp  Farrell. 
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the  east  side  in  which  to  hang  coats,  boots  and 

other  items.  A  large  cellar  was  built  un- 
derground where  you  could  enter  from  the 

kitchen.  Here  hundreds  of  quarts  of  fruits  and 

vegetables  were  stored  for  use  in  the  winter.  A 

large  pantry  was  off  the  kitchen  with  lots  of 

storage  to  save  so  many  trips  to  the  cellar.  A 

large  quantity  of  raspberries,  currants,  and 
strawberries  were  raised  on  the  property;  also, 

a  large  vegetable  garden,  to  help  with  the 
meals,  was  cultivated. 

Long,  polished  banisters  on  the  stairs 

leading  up  to  the  bedrooms  were  a  great  temp- 
tation for  the  grandchildren,  who  enjoyed 

sliding  down  them  when  the  grown-ups  weren't 
watching. 

Millicent  S.  Gibson  (left)  and  Cwen  S. 
Byington,    granddaughters    of    George 
Hamp,  Sr.     Much  of  their  growing-up 

time  was  spent  in  the  Hamp  Hotel. 

A  sink  and  plenty  of  water,  heated  by  a 

water  jacket  attached  to  the  coal  stove,  made 
hot  water  available  for  the  many  dishes  to  be 
washed  and  the  numerous  sheets  to  be 
laundered. 

A  theatre  group  called  The  E.  Forest 

Taylor  Players,  came  to  Grace  to  put  on  live 
drama  at  the  Columbia  Hall  and  the  actors 

and  actresses  always  stayed  at  the  Hamp 
Hotel. 

A  large  livery  stable  was  built  on  the  south 

end  of  the  lot  where  the  city  office  now  stands. 

People  staying  at  the  Hamp  hotel  could  put  up 

their  horses  at  the  Hamp  livery  barn  or  rent  a 

fast  team  and  buggy  if  they  wished  to  travel 
farther  from  Grace. 

In  about  1913  or  1914  Mr.  Fred  Olsen 

(father  of  Mrs.  Henry  Turner),  built  a  hotel  on 

the  site  now  occupied  by  the  Grace  Library.  It 

was  a  huge  building  with  fourteen  bedrooms 

upstairs  and  living  quarters  downstairs.  There 
were  also  several  apartments  on  the  ground 
floor.  This  hotel  was  called  The  Paratus  Hotel. 

A  large  red  barn  was  built  on  the  property, 

presently  owned  by  Berdell  McCurdy,  so  peo- 
ple traveling  in  cutters  or  team  and  buggy 

could  put  their  horses  up  for  the  night.  There 

were  fourteen  rooms  upstairs,  but  no  one 

wanted  to  stay  in  room  13,  so  number  13  was 

skipped  and  the  rooms  were  numbered  1 

through  12,  then  numbers  14  and  15. 

There  was  also  a  hotel  called  the 

Christensen  Hotel.  It  was  built  on  the  site 

between  the  present  Grace  Hardware  and 

Sanders  Bargain  Barn,  which,  originally,  was 
the  Columbia  Hall  where  all  the  social  events 
in  Grace  were  held. 

The  Christensen  Hotel  was  a  two-story 
structure  with  a  large  porch  on  the  ground 

floor  and  a  balcony  above  it  on  the  second 

floor.  It  was  probably  built  around  1912  or 
1913.   The   Hotel   was   managed   by  Joseph 
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Christensen,  his  wife  and  three  children — Af- 
ton,  Eddie,  and  Natalia. 

As  there  was  no  confectionery  in  town  at 
this  time,  Mrs.  Christensen  served  homemade 

ice  cream  each  Sunday  in  the  summer;  and  the 

young  men,  courting  their  girls,  could  go  in 
and  have  a  dish  of  ice  cream  for  15  cents. 

In  about  1917,  Mr.  Fred  Olsen  built  the 

hotel  now  known  as  the  Grace  Lounge  and 

Hotel.  He  and  his  family  moved  to  an  apart- 
ment in  the  northwest  corner  of  the  hotel.  The 

other  rooms  were  rented  as  small  apartments 

or  by  the  night. There  was  one  large  bathroom 
at  the  west  end  of  the  hotel  and  hand  basins  in 

each  room. 

On  the  ground  floor  Mr.  Olsen  turned  the 

south  half  of  the  building  into  a  store  which 

was  run  by  Fred  Sant  for  many  years.  In  the 
north  side  Mr,  Olsen  built  facilities  for  a  cafe 

and  hired  a  Japanese  family  by  the  name  of 

Fred  Acutagawa  to  run  the  cafe.  The  meals 

were  excellent  and  it  was  quite  an  event  when 

dad  took  the  whole  family  out  to  dinner  on 

Sunday.  A  good  meal  was  35  cents  for  adults 
and  25  cents  for  children  under  12. 

The  cafe  was  sort  of  a  social  center  in 

Grace  in  the  1920's.  After  a  dance  all  the 
young  people  went  into  the  cafe  for  sandwiches 

or  their  delicious  pie  which  cost  10c  per  piece. 
Ice  cream,  as  we  know  it  now,  was  not  served 

due  to  lack  of  refrigeration.  After  Mr. 

Acutagawa  moved  from  Grace,  the  cafe  was 

converted  to  a  bowling  alley  and  was  managed 

by  Page  Medford.  Later,  Conrad  Sanders  had 
his  furniture  store  there  for  a  short  time. 

Fred  Sant  bought  the  hotel  from  Mr. 

Olsen  and  ran  it  for  many  years.  The  store  was 

converted  ino  a  confectionery  where  they  serv- 
ed ice  cream,  candy,  and  the  like  and  dances 

were  held  in  the  rear  of  the  building.  Later,  the 

confectionery  was  converted  into  three 

apartments.  Many  of  our  school  teachers  lived 

there    while    they    taught    school    in    Grace. 

Among  them  were  Howard  and  Fannie  Peter- 
son and  Milton  and  Virgil  Hartvigsen.  Mr. 

and  Mrs.  Sant  later  sold  the  hotel  to  John 

Kunz  and  wife.  They  operated  it  for  several 
years  and  then  sold  to  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Orin 

Lindhart.  This  building  is  the  only  one  of  the 

original  four  hotels  which  still  stands.  The  up- 
per part  is  still  used  as  a  hotel  and  the  lower 

part  has  been  converted  into  a  lounge;  both  are 

owned  and  operated  at  the  present  time  by  Mr. 

and  Mrs.  Don  Noble,  who  purchased  the 

building  shortly  after  the  death  of  Orin 
Lindhart. 

The  Village  Blacksmith 

For  forty-four  years  he  plied  his 

trade — this  burly,  mustachioed  "Smithy" — as 
the  Village  Blacksmith  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

Adolph  Wyss,  born  in  Hagadorf, 
Soloden,  Canton,  Switzerland,  in  1879, 

learned  early  the  trade  of  blacksmithing.  At 

the  age  of  15,  he  worked  as  an  apprentice  from 

10  to  12  hours  a  day,  six  days  a  week,  receiving 

his  diploma  as  a  full-fledged  blacksmith  at  the 
tender  age  of  18. 

With  20  francs  in  his  pocket,  he  took  off 

with  a  pack  on  his  back — up  through  Ger- 
many, Alsace,  Bavaria  and  Austria,  working 

in  each  place  to  perfect  his  trade. 

With  his  mother  and  five  brothers  he 

emigrated  to  the  United  States  in  October, 

1906,  where  they  purchased  land  in  Howell 

County,  Missouri.  Here  he  met  and  married 
Anna  Zumstein.  They  came  west  to  Pueblo, 

Colorado,  and  in  19 13  came  to  Gentile  Valley 
with  the  Phoenix  Construction  Co.  Here  he 

took  part  in  the  construction  of  the  pipeline  for 

the  power  plant;  then,  in  1919,  he  opened  a 

blacksmith's  shop  on  the  outskirts  of  Grace, 
and  thus  began  his  long  career  as  our  village 
blacksmith. 
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Adolph  Wyss,  shown  at  the  age  of  82,  operating  his 
homemade  concrete  mixer  in  his  blacksmith  shop  in 

Grace,  Idaho. 

In  1961,  shortly  before  his  retirement,  a 

personal  interview  and  tour  of  his  ancient  shop 

was  conducted  by  Nellie  Johnson,  reporter  for 

The  Grace  Herald.  Her  interesting  report 
follows: 

"His  shop,  a  ramshackle  building  at  the 
outskirts  of  the  community,  is  braced  with 

timbers  to  keep  the  aging  structure  up- 

right— large,  gaping  holes  provide  plenty  of 
ventilation — and  in  the  winter,  as  Mr.  Wyss 

commented,  'a  man  has  to  work  hard  to  keep 

warm.' 
"From  dawn  to  dark — summer  and 

winter,  Mr.  Wyss  has  been  available  to  repair 

anything  and  everything;  he  is  considered  by 

farmers  in  this  area  to  be  one  of  the  best  plow 

sharpeners  around. 

"As  one  enters  the  shop's  creaking, 
wooden  doors  and  surveys  the  interior,  he  is 

quite  taken  aback  at  the  odd  disarray  of  steel 

scraps,  old  plow  shares  and  rubble  left  from 

years  of  labor.  Almost  everything  in  the  shop, 

which,  by  the  way,  has  a  dirt  floor,  is  of  steel 
and  most  of  the  tools  and  work  benches  were 

fashioned  by  Mr.  Wyss.  An  intricate  maze  of 

wheels  and  pulleys  is  connected  to  a  small  elec- 
tric motor,  supported  in  the  beams  of  the 

building,  to  run  a  hammer.  Against  one  wall  is 

a  forge  where  Adolph  has  spent  innumerable 

hours  shaping  his  metal.  The  old-fashioned 
bellows  to  fan  the  flames  has  given  way  to  an 

electric  motor — 'This  saves  my  back  and  is 

much  faster,'  the  Smithy  said. 
"One  is  somewhat  startled  to  see  a  modern 

welding  outfit  among  the  ancient  surroun- 

dings, but,  as  Mr.  Wyss  explained,  it  was  need- 

ed to  fuse  today's  metals,  which  are  harder. 

"Tools,  long  out-dated  for  shoeing  horses, 
horseshoes  hammered  into  shape  on  an  anvil, 

measuring  devices  and  other  antiques  hang  on 

hand-made  nails  or  lie  on  warped  shelves." 
"By  1963,  business  was  pretty 

slack — 'There  are  few  horses  to  shoe,  no 

wagon  beds  to  fix  now-days,'  he  said;  'It's  hard 

to  get  business  in  my  kind  of  shop.'  Then  he 
laughed,  'Well,  I  figure  I've  worked  plenty 

long  enough  anyway.'" Adolph  Wyss  retired  in  1963,  and  in  1969, 
celebrated  his  90th  birthday. 

Adolph  and  his  faithful  wife,  Annie,  a 

character  in  her  own  right,  who  operated  the 

Wyss  Dairy  and  delivered  milk  from  door  to 

door  for  many  years,  have  played  a  vital  part 

in  the  history  of  Grace  and  earned  the  love  and 

respect  of  all  who  knew  them. 

Our  Park 

On  October  25,  1970  in  special  services 

conducted  by  Douglas  Campbell  of  the  Grace 

City  Council,  The  Grace  Park  was  renamed 

the  "John  VanVleet  Park,"  in  appreciation  for 
an  outstanding  citizen  who  devoted  40  years  of 

his  life  to  the  betterment  of  the  city  of  Grace. 

A  plaque  was  presented  in  a  dedication  given 
by  Mayor  C.  D.  Simmons  and  accepted  by 
Fred  VanVleet,  son  of  the  late  John  VanVleet. 
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The  City  Cash  Market,  about 
1937  or  193»;  Ken  Peterson, 
owner  and  manager.  This  store 
was  later  purchased  by  Harold 
Peterson,  at  the  death  of  his 
brother.  It  was  the 

beginning  of  a  long  career 
in  the  grocery  business  for 
Harry  and  Lillian  Peterson 
who,  in  1977,  are  still 
assisting  their  son,  Roger  and 
daughter,  Jan  and  her  husband. 
Randy  Short,  in  managing 
The  Valley  Market. 

'"^m^. 

The  old  Lasley  and  Johnson  Garage  (formerly  the  Childs  Building).  It  was  later  operated  for  many  years  by  William  Lasley's 
son,  Angus  and  Lou  Stalker  and  called  the  Lasley  and  Stalker  garage.  The  three  men  in  front  are  from  left  to  right:  Frank 

Sant,  Angus  Lasley  and  Bill  Lasley. 
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To  Our  Many 
Patrons  &  Friends 

Wl^  HAVE  appreciated  your  patron- 
^  ̂  age  the  past  quarter  of  a  century, 
by  making  it  possible  for  us  to  reunion  in 
business,  even  passing  through  the  greatest 
depression  the  world  has  ever  known. 

Thursday  Night,  May  7th 
at  the 

High  School  Gymnasium 
We  are  giving  a 

Free  Dancing  Party 
and  we  would  appreciate  to  have  all  our 
kind  friends  and  business  associates  come 

out  and  a  good  lime  with  us,  to  com- 
memorate this  event. 

ROGHAAR'S Grace,  Idaho 

In  1936  Bishop  John  Roghaar  had  been  in  business  in 
Grace  for  twenty-five  years  and  to  celebrate  his  silver 
anniversary  he  gave  a  dance  in  the  high  school  gym- 

nasium for  the  public.  Here  is  his  invitation  to  the 
dance  party  and  his  announcement  of  his  anniversary. 

At  this  time,  a  brief  history  of  the  park 

was  given  by  Caroline  Merriam  as  follows: 

"At  a  village  board  meeting  in  September 
of  1937,  it  was  first  mentioned,  moved  and 

passed  that  the  Grace  Village  purchase  the  D. 

A.  Banks  place  for  a  playground.  At  that  time, 
L.  S.  Pond  was  chairman  of  the  board.  Moroni 

W.  Lowe,  Floyd  Smart,  Kenneth  Peterson, 
and  C.  A,  Orr  were  members  of  the  board. 

Later,  on  March  12,  1940,  quoting  from 

the  minutes,  "The  Village  purchased  Block  15, 
Citizen  addition  to  Grace,  having  some 
buildings  which  must  be  moved,  that  it  may  be 

improved  as  a  park.  The  chairman  appointed 
Floyd  Smart  and  William  Stalder  to  take  care 

John  Van  VIeet, 
after  whom 

the    Grace    City 

Park  was  re- 
named the  John 

VanVleet  Park  in 
1970,  in 

appreciation  for 
40  years 

of  outstanding 
service  to  the 

community  of  Grace. 

of  the  disposal  of  the  buildings  and  repairing  of 

the  house  that  it  may  be  sold." 
Sometime  prior  to  the  spring  of  1951, 

grass  was  planted,  and  also  some  trees  and 
shrubs.  But,  as  there  was  no  water  available 

for  irrigation,  the  new  plantings  did  not  sur- vive. 

By  this  time  the  Grace  Literary  Club  was 

firmly  established  and  saw  the  need  of  a  com- 
munity project  for  the  club  to  carry  out.  They 

chose  the  beautification  of  the  village  park. 

Two  members  of  the  club — Mrs.  Frank 

Taylor  and  Mrs.  Fred  VanVleet — were  chosen 
to  head  this  committee.  They  readily  saw  that 

the  first  thing  to  do  was  to  acquire  water  for 

irrigation.  On  April  13,  they  met  with  the 

water  commissioner  on  the  Village  Board,  who 

advised  them  that  the  County  Fair  Board 

might  spare  them  some  ditch  water.  On  April 

15,  this  permission  was  granted  by  the  Fair 

Board.  It  was  discovered  that  canal  rights  had 

to  be  provided  to  bring  the  water  to  the  park. 

This  was  secured  April  22,  1951. 

The  Village  Board  paid  the  water 

assessments  and  built  the  headgate  for  the 
ditch. 

It  was  then  decided  that  landscaping  for 

the  park  was  necessary.  The  county  agent  and 
the  Farm  Bureau  were  asked  for  advice.  This 

resulted  in  the  hiring  of  a  landscaper  who 

sketched  a  plan  that  was  followed. 
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A  meeting  was  called  April  25,  at  which 

time  the  Lions  Club,  the  American  Legion  and 

Auxiliary,  The  Boy  Scouts,  and  MIA  Miads  of 

both  wards,  and  the  Literary  Club  were 

represented.  This  group  appointed  a  com- 
mittee to  present  a  request  to  the  Village 

Board  that  they  appoint  a  park  commissioner 

whose  duty  it  would  be  to  see  that  the  park  was 

watered  and  cared  for;  also  that  they  provide  a 

drinking  fountain,  a  hydrant,  and  lights.  The 

group  promised  that,  in  return  for  these  favors, 
they  would  carry  out  projects  of  improvement. 

The  Village  Board  was  not  too  happy 

about  this,  but  the  lights,  fountain,  and 

hydrant  were  installed  by  them  in  August  of 
1951. 

A  view  of  our  City  Park, 
showing  Canopy 

and  playground 

equipment. 

Another  view  of  the  park 

and  canopy;  the  canopy  was 
Financed  by  the 

Grace  Literary  Club 

and  built  by  members  of 
the  Grace  Lions  Club. 
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The  park  was  then  given  a  good  cleaning. 
Two  Lions  Club  members  mowed  the  lawn,  six 

scouts  and  three  Literary  Club  mumbers  raked 

it.  Scout  leaders,  scouts  and  Legion  members 

hauled  the  rubbish  away,  and  the  park  had  the 

first  installment  of  facelifting. 

This  was  when  Johnny  VanVleet  was  put  in 

charge  of  the  park.  As  time  went  on,  a  glider 

and  two  swings  were  installed  by  the  Literary 

Club.  They  raffled  two  bicycles — one  for  a  boy 

and  one  for  a  girl — to  pay  for  these  items. 

In  the  spring  of  1952,  the  Lions  Club  in- 

stalled two  fire-places  and  the  scouts,  the 

barbeque  pit.  The  legion  and  Auxiliary  provid- 

ed the  slippery  slide.  The  school  children  con- 
tributed to  a  fund  to  buy  more  trees  and 

shrubs.  Soon  other  improvements  were  made. 

The  merry-go-round  arrived  and  was  installed 
by  Hugh  Farnworth.  This  was  purchased  by 

the  Grace  Lions  Club  and  the  Literary  Club. 

I  think  it  is  very  fitting  that  this  park  be 

named  in  honor  of  Johnny  VanVleet.  He  cared 
for  it  well.  It  was  at  his  insistence  that  a  more 

convenient  system  of  irrigation  was  installed, 

so  ths  lovely  park  could  be  kept  green.  Johnny 

made  sure  the  grass  was  cut  and  that  the  trees 

had  proper  care.  It  is  a  joy  to  everyone  when 

we  see  these  lovely  pine  trees  decorated  at  the 
Christmas  season. 

The  park  pavilion  was  another  project  of 

the  Literary  Club,  who  contributed  funds, 
while  the  Lions  Club  furnished  the  labor. 

Other  groups  in  the  community  also  helped. 

Our  park  now  is  a  gathering  place  for  many 

family  reunions,  church  gatherings,  class 

reunions,   picnics  and  is  open  daily  to  any 

group  or  family  who  needs  a  rest  period  as 
they  travel  through  our  town.  They  can  stop 

and  have  lunch  where  there  is  plenty  of  good 

clean  water  and  a  place  for  children  to  play. 

Much  of  this  accomplishment  can  be 

credited  to  "Johnny." 

"When  you  think  of  a  man,  you  seldom  think 
of  the  knowledge  he  has  of  books. 

You  seldom  think  of  the  clothes  he  wears, 
his  habits,  faults  or  looks. 

You  seldom  think  of  the  car  he  drives 

or  the  bonds  his  gold  has  bought. 

When  you  think  of  a  man,  you  mostly  think 

of  the  kindness  he  has  brought. 

You  judge  him  not  by  his  flocks  and  stock 

nor  his  power  of  name  or  pen. 

You  judge  him  a  man  by  the  place  he  has  made 
in  the  hearts  of  his  fellow  men. 

You  judge  him  more  by  the  fights  he  has  made, 

by  the  way  he  has  faced  strife; 

And  not  by  the  amount  of  the  bank  account 

he  has  managed  to  get  in  life. 

You  think  of  the  friend  he  has  been  to  man, 

the  good  that  he  has  done; 

And  you  judge  the  sort  of  man  he  was  by  the 

friends  that  he  has  won." 
(Author  unknown) 

"Lm  sure  this  is  the  way  we  who  knew 

him  judged  Johnny." Caroline  Merriam 
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Mainstreet— Grace,  Idaho  about  1946 

I  '  I 

Left:  A  prominent  Grace  Citizen 

with    younger   brother — Can   you 

guess  who? 
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CHAPTER  X 

Fun  and  Recreation 

"/  remember  when  we  were  still  living  in  the  one  room  log  cabin  and 
Mother  would  have  parties — she  would  invite  the  whole  neighborhood. 
We  moved  the  bunk  beds  and  straw  ticks  and  everything  except  the 
stove  and  cupboard  outside.  Tave  Egbert  would  play  the  mouth  organ 

and  they  would  dance  on  the  rough  board  floor — then  they  would 

always  have  something  to  eat — these  were  joyous  times." 
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Minstrel  show  performed  in  Grace  in  1927.  Some  of  those  in  the  picture  are  identified  as  follows:  Dean  Christensen,  Walter 
Sullivan,  Frank  Thomas,  Deli  Maughan,  Alfred  Hansen,  Howard  Thomas,  Adolph  Wyss,  Floyd  Palmer,  Floyd  Smart,  John 
Greaves,  John  Roghaar,  Alvin  Whitehead,  Henry  Christensen,  Meivin  Whitehead,  Angus  Lasley,  David  Westenfelder,  Dr. 
Ottie,  Wallace  Bowen,  Chad  Westenfelder,  Hyrum  Swensen,  George  Harman,  Ruth  P.  Jenkins, — see  if  you  can  pick  them 

out  and  identify  the  others. 
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Good  Times  In  The  Valley 
L  HE  EARLY  times  of  our  valley  were 

characterized,  largely,  by  toil  and  sweat — back 
breaking  labor,  from  dawn  to  dusk,  in  order  to 

eke  out  a  bare  living — but  there  were  good 

times,  too — fun  and  entertainment  to  meet 
their  social  needs.  Radio  and  television  were 

unknown;  travel  was  very  limited,  so  the  peo- 
ple created  their  own  entertainment. 

The  following  excerpts  attest  to  the  good 

times  in  the  early  days  of  our  valley: 

"John  Ira  Allsop  paid  $300  for  160  acres 
of  land  on  the  hill  east  of  the  James  McGregor 

place  in  Mound  Valley.  One  afternoon,  John 

Ira,  his  brother  Charles,  Johnny  Perry,  and 

James  McGregor  decided  they  needed  some 

recreation.  It  was  midwinter,  so  they  took  a 

pair  of  skis  and  fastened  a  barn  door  on  top  of 
them.  They  took  it  even  higher  on  the  hill  than 

the  house,  which  gave  them  about  %  of  a  mile 

run  before  they  reached  the  river.  It  went  down 

the  first  slope,  across  the  level  portion  where 

the  buildings  were,  and  headed  for  the 

river — gaining  momentum  every  yard  it  travel- 
ed. There  was  snow  enough  to  take  it  over  the 

rocks  and  the  stiffest  of  the  shrubs;  then  they 

came  to  a  sudden  drop  and  their  humble  little 

barn  door  arrangement  immediately  took  on 

the  dignity  of  a  great  air  liner.  Headed 

downward,  it  maintained  this  angle,  until  it 

landed  in  the  middle  of  Bear  River.  The  im- 

pact broke  the  ice,  and  the  whole  passenger  list 

was  thrown  into  the  river.  Fortunately,  the 

water  was  shallow  enough  for  them  all  to  get 

their  footing.  They  took  time  out  to  drag  their 

precious  craft  to  safety,  then  all  set  out  for 

home  sincerely  hoping  they  would  find  a  nice 
warm  fire  and  some  clothes  that  were  not  so 

stiff." 
(From  the  history  of  John  Allsop;  also  men- 

tioned in  the  McGregor  history). 

"We  had  good  times  in  those  days.  We 
had  dances,  surprise  parties,  and  other  social 

doings.  Everything  went  along  nicely  without 

money.  I  remember  the  first  50c  piece  I  ever 

had.  I  kept  it  so  long  and  kept  rubbing  it  till  it 

wore  smooth.  One  thing  they  had  plenty  of  in 

those  days  was  "brotherly  love."  We  were  all 

alike;  there  was  no  class  distinction." 
(From  a  talk  given  in  1942  by  James  P. Jensen) 

One  of  the  first  dance  halls  in  Grace  was 

built  by  J.  J.  Trappett — the  top  fioor  of  a  four 
roomed  house  where  the  family  lived. 

"Dad  had  Mr.  Fred  Mann  play  the  fiddle 
and  a  lady  played  the  organ;  he  charged  one 

fence  post  of  cedar  for  a  ticket  to  the  dance. 

They  would  bring  them  and  if  Dad  did  not 

keep  an  eye  on  them  some  of  them  took  them 
back  home  for  the  next  time.  Dad  only  got  lOc 

a  piece  for  them  in  Preston,  so  he  didn't  get 

rich." 

(Harriet  Trappett  Parkhouse  history) 

"I  remember  when  we  were  still  living  in 
the  one  room  cabin  and  mother  would  have 

parties;  she  would  invite  the  whole 

neighborhood.  I  can  remember  one  time  there 

were  twenty-eight  came.  We  moved  the  bunk 
beds  and  straw  ticks  and  everything  except  the 

stove  and  cupboard  outside.  Robert  Egbert 

(Tave)  would  play  the  mouth  organ  and  they 

would  dance  on  the  rough  board  fioor.  Then 

they  would  always  have  something  to  eat. 

These  were  joyous  times." 
(Martha  Mae  Gummersall  Revoir  History) 

The  dances  in  pioneer  times  were  quite 

different  from  those  of  today.  "Round  dances" 
such  as  we  have  today  were  considered  sinful 
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One  of  the  first 
baseball  teams 
in  Grace. 

A  play  produced  by  a 
group  of  ladies  from 

the  Bench  Ward  for  a  24th  of 

July  celebration. 
From  left  to  right,  Standing: 

Mary  S.  Mickelson,  Esther  S. 
Peterson,  Emma  A.  Sorensen, 

Maggy  Nanney,  Edith  Whitehead, 
(?),  (?),  Chloe  H.  Mickelson; 

Two  ladies  kneeling  in 
center  are  not  known.  Sitting: 
Anna  W.  Clegg,  Mrs.  Cherry, 

Emma  Hubbard. 
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Men  from  Mound  Valley who  loved  to  play 

baseball. 
From  left  to  right: 
Back:  Wayne  Warner, 
Charles  Panter,  Ralph 

Perry,  Aroet  Hale. 
Front:  John  Tanner, 

James  McGregor,  Andrew 
Gray,  William  McGregor, 
Parley  Anderson. 
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and  never  over  two  round  dances  were  per- 
mitted in  an  evening.  The  Plain  Quadrille, 

Virginia  Reel,  Schottische,  French  Four,  and 

Monkey  Musk  were  the  dances  of  the  day. 

"John  Ira  had  a  strong  musical  voice,  and 

almost  always  called  for  the  "quadrille".  He 
would  fairly  sing  his  dancing  instructions  with 

the  music.  If  he  ever  had  to  stop  for  a  rest,  the 

dance  was  simply  not  the  same." 
(John  Ira  Allsop  History) 

"An  outstanding  occasion  in  my  memory 
was  our  24th  of  July  celebrations  at  Central. 

For  these  we  would  get  up  at  daybreak  to  get 

our  chores  done  for  the  day.  Ed  Qualman 

would  raise  the  flag.  We  would  dress  up  in  our 

best  and  at  10:00  a.m.  we  would  have  a  parade. 

We  would  then  have  a  program — after 
that — lunch;  then  we  would  have  races  for 

both  grown-ups  and  kids.  Everyone  took  part. 
In  the  afternoon  we  always  had  a  good  ball 

game  with  Lund,  Turner,  or  some  other  town. 

These  were  always  exciting  with  plenty  of 

quarreling  and  sometimes  fighting.  We  used  to 

get  20  or  25c  to  spend  and  that  seemed  to  be  a 

great  deal  of  money.  Maybe,  if  we  were  lucky, 

we  would  win  still  more  money  in  the  races. 

We  really  had  a  good  time  at  these  annual 

celebrations." 
(Mrs.  Neils  Andersen  History) 

"At  the  turn  of  the  century  the  people  in 
Gentile  Valley — Cleveland,  Lago,  Perry  and 

Thatcher — enjoyed  having  fun  along  with  all 
the  hard  work  they  did.  Large  and  small 

groups  came  together  and  feasted  at  picnics. 

They  played  baseball  games,  and,  especially  on 

the  Fourth  of  July  when  the  Perry  team  would 

play  the  Lago  boys,  or  when  Thatcher  squared 

off  against  the  Cleveland  nine,  the  people 

cheered  on  their  local  players.  The  players  lov- 
ed this  vocal  attention.  The  writer  ought  to 

know,  for  he  was  on  the  Perry  team  for  many 

years. The  climax  of  the  Fourth  of  July  celebra- 
tion came  when  people  of  all  ages  went  to  the 

dance  at  the  Central  hall.  The  Wright 

boys — Les  and  Roy —  and  the  McGregor 

boys — Jim,  Dan  and  Chas — furnished  the 

music." 

(Stalkers  in  Gem  Valley  History) 

When  Brigham  Young  built  the  Salt  Lake 
Theatre  in  1861,  reverberations  were  felt  in 

almost  every  village;  Gem  Valley  was  no  ex- 

ception. Home  dramatics  were  a  great  diver- 
sion during  the  long  winter  months.  The 

beneficial  effects  of  this  dramatic  activity 

were  great  indeed.  It  brought  people  out  of 

themselves,  away  from  their  daily  cares,  and 

helped  to  banish  the  loneliness  of  pioneer  life. 

"John  Ira  was  always  organizing  and  con- 
ducting home  dramatic  companies,  and  he  was 

really  gifted  in  this  work.  This  early  fall  and 
winter  a  lovely  company  was  built  up.  Among 

those  who  took  part  were  Amy  and  Mana 

Williams,  Arvet  Hale,  his  wife;  Edgar  Hale 
and  wife;  John  A.  Tanner,  Thomas  Panter, 

Emma  Perry,  Will  Williams,  Olive  and 
Jonathan  Hale,  Laura  Bennett  and  others. 

John  Ira  painted  the  scenery. 

A  brass  band  was  organized  under  the 

direction  of  Edgar  and  Arvet  Hale.  Both 

organizations  were  a  credit  to  the  little  com- 
munity. They  traveled  from  one  ward  to 

another.  While  they  were  traveling  to  present 

one  play,  they  were  studying  the  script  for 
another. 

Nearly  every  play  had  a  negro  in  it,  and 

that  was  always  John  Ira's  part.  He  paid  little 
attention  to  his  own  lines,  only  giving  the  right 

cue.  His  players  often  became  so  confused  by 

his  prattle  they  would  not  recognize  their  cue. 
In  one  of  these  plays  a  family  was  giving  a 
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The  first  band  in  Grace,  1908-09.  Reading  from  left  to  right.  Bottom  Row:  Burnis  Ormond,  William  Warner,  Victor  Telford, 
Lozein  Kirby,  Myron  Poulson,  Delbert  Kirby.  Second  Row:  Joe  Christensen,  J.  W.  King,  Parley  White,  Alvin  Hamp,  Fred 
Burton,  Francis  Ormond,  John  Van  VIeet.  Third  Row:  Louis  Montague,  Guy  Joseph,  Will  Montague,  Horace  Cherry,  An- 

drew Andreasen,  George  Hamp,  Guy  Nelson,  Alma  Allsop. 

dinner  for  some  of  their  aristocratic  friends. 

He  (the  negro)  happened  into  the  kitchen,  saw 

the  chicken,  picked  it  up  and  (we  will  let  his 

niece,  Mrs.  Effie  Allsop  Greene,  tell  the  story 
in  her  own  words:) 

I  do  not  remember  the  sweet  leading  lady, 

The  hero,  to  me,  could  have  been  a  doll  baby. 

The  villain  supposedly  must  be  a  scamp. 

But  how  well  I  remember.  Uncle  John  was  a tramp. 

"Twas  the  night  of  the  drama 
And  all  through  the  house, 

Not  a  creature  was  stirring,  not  even  a  mouse 

The  curtain  was  closed — behind  it,  the  actors 

And  John  Allsop,  my  uncle,  was  one  of  the 
factors. 

The  curtain  ascended,  each  one  played  his 

part; I  suppose  did  it  well,  and  spoke  from  his heart, 

But  Where's  Uncle  John?  Things  to  me  were not  clicking. 

But  lo!  here  he  comes  with  a  bowl  of  fried 
chicken. 
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He.  a  tramp,  just  imagine,  had  been  to  the  cup- 
board 

And  left  it  all  empty  for  poor  Mother  Hub- 
bard. 

He  was  seized  with  pure  fright,  and  attempted 
to  hide 

So  under  the  table  he  went  with  a  slide. 

The  show  moved  on  quickly,  but  he  sat  there 
with  ease 

And  holding  the  bowl  between  his  two  knees. 

He  gobbled  the  chicken  and  flung  all  the  bones 

To  the  folk  in  the  audience,  while  we  dodged 
and  moaned. 

As  dancing  seemed  to  be  the  most  popular 

form  of  entertainment,  orchestras  sprang  up  in 

every  section  of  the  valley.  The  Smith 
Orchestra  and  the  McGregor  Orchestra  were 

kept  busy  in  the  lower  end  of  the  valley.  A  very 

popular  group  throughout  the  valley  was  the 
Central  Orchestra,  already  discussed  in  the 

story  of  Central.  Another  very  popular  and  un- 

ique group  was  the  Thomas  Family  Orchestra 
from  Niter.  An  interesting  article  concerning 

the  Thomas  Family  orchestra  appeared  in  the 

Idaho  State  Journal  on  July  5,  1941.  It  follows 
verbatim: 

That's  all  I  can  tell  you  regarding  the  show — 
Just  he  and  the  chicken,  seems  to  be  all  I 

know, 

But  the  memory  lingers  with  me  to  this  day. 

He  just  ate  and  ate,  not  a  word  did  he  say. 

I  also  remember  his  eyes  how  they  twinkled 

And  that  chicken  I'm  sure  pushed  out  all  the 
wrinkles. 

Now  that's  the  beginning,  and  also  the  end 
Of  a  show,  as  a  child,  I  cried  to  attend. 

(John  Ira  Allsop  History,  by  Evelyn  Allsop 
Sessions,  his  daughter) 

Family  Musicians  Play  Together  For  17  Years 

When  folks  down  southern  Idaho  way 

want  music  for  a  dancing  party,  it's  very  sim- 
ple. They  call  Howard  Thomas  of  Grace  and 

tell  him  to  bring  along  his  family. 

They  have  been  doing  it  for  17  years— ever 
since  Bishop  Kingsford  of  Williams  Ward  en- 

couraged them  to  start  an  orchestra  as  music 
was  needed  for  the  wards  to  have  dances.  This 

was  how  the  wards  raised  money  to  pay  their 

expenses,  and  there  were  nine  wards  at  the 
time. 

The  Central  Dance 

Orchestra — popular  group 
who  played  in  over 

forty  localities.  They 
are  shown  from 

left  to  right:  Roy 
Hanson,  Glenn  Anderson, 

Spencer  Jenkins,  Ina 
Christensen,  Emery 

Hanson,  Neils  Andersen. 
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Ill; 

The  Thomas  Family 

Orchestra:  Back  Row: 
Annie  M.  Thomas  (mother) 
Lillian  T.  Peterson, 

Keith  Thomas,  Kenneth 
Thomas.  Front  Row: 
Harrison  Thomas,  Frank 
Thomas,  Neva  T. 
Johnson,  Aileen  T. 
Westerberg,  Howard 
Thomas  (father). 

At  first  there  were  just  five  family 

members  in  the  orchestra;  Neva  T.  Johnson 

was  the  pianist,  Aileen  T.  Westerberg  was  the 

banjo  player,  Lillian  T.  Peterson,  the 

drummer,  Frank  Thomas  played  the  sax- 

ophone, and  Howard  Thomas,  who  kept  them 

all  in  tune,  played  the  violin.  Mother,  Annie 

Thomas  and  Denzil  Johnson  served  as  relief 

drummers. 

The  proceeds  were  shared  by  all,   and 

many    times    benefit    dances    were    played 
without  charge. 

Tween  the  Rocks'— Open  air  dance  hall,  built  by 
Leonard  Hacking  and  Gardner  Egbert.  The  Floyd 
Dalton  Orchestra   played   here  often.   Dancers  are 

Chuck  Izatt  and  Selma  Adams  (Hubbard). 

Winners  in  waltz  competition  at  dance  festival,  Helen 
and  Robert  Burton.  Robert  also  won  the  grand  prize 

for  the  best  dressed  costume.  These  costumes  were  used 

often  by  Harriet  Titus  and  Annie  Lowe  when  they  per- 

formed the  "Cake  Walk". 
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The  old  Columbia  Hall 

(now  Sanders  Bargain 
Barn);  built  and 

managed  by  John  Allsop. 
The  hall  was  an  entertainment 

center;  traveling  troupes 
and  shows  performed  here 

regularly.  The  hall 
was  also  used  for 

dancing,  banquets, 
skating  and  other 

social  activities. 

if^ SANDERS 
BARGAIN    BARN 

m 

Horse-back  riding — a 

favorite  sport — then 
and  now.  Shown  in  the 

picture  are: Ted  Kessler  and 
Delia  Whitehead. 

)  111  J 

ml- 

One  of  the  first 

old  folks  parties 
held  in  the 

valley— at  the 
old  4-Points 

Central  amusement 
hall  in  Thatcher. 

Ill' 
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Alexander  Harris,  Jr.,  celebrating  Jim 
Bridger  Days  at  Hooper  Springs. 

Having  two  sets  of  twins  in  the  family 

helped  in  organizing  the  Orchestra  which  has 
done  much  to  unite  and  keep  the  family 

together."  (Idaho  State  Journal) 

After  the  Columbia  Hall  was  built  in  the 

early  1900's  by  a  group  of  stockholders,  travel- 
ing shows  and  troupes  came  regularly  to  per- 

form. Among  them  was  the  E.  Forrest  Taylor 

Stock  Co.,  from  Salt  Lake  City.  Many  of 

these  performers  later  found  fame  in 

Hollywood.  The  hall  was  also  used  for  dan- 

cing, skating,  banquets  and  other  social  ac- 
tivities. It  was  managed  by  John  AUsop,  who, 

himself,  was  a  supreme  entertainer  and  one 
who  had  a  great  love  for  people,  particularly 
children. 

Other  forms  of  entertainment  that  were 

popular  in  the  early  pioneer  days  were  horse 
racing,  baseball,  and  foot  racing.  Community 
celebrations  on  all  holidays  were  very  common 

and  entire  families  participated,  especially  on 

the  Fourth  of  July  celebrations.  Women  en- 
joyed spinning  bees,  quilting  parties,  rag  bees, 

and  husking  bees.  Yes,  good  times  could  be 
had  by  all. 

The  four  oldest 

people  in  the  valley 
at  the  time— 1910. 
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Frieridship  luncheon  given  by  Mrs. 
Fred  Akutagawa,  in  her  Grace  cafe, 

occasioned  by  her  departure 
for  Kemmerer,  Wyoming.  Mrs. 

Akutagawa  is  shown  in  the 
center  of  the  picture.  Other 
guests  were:  The  Mesdames 

Leonard  Hacking,  J.  E.  Otte, 
Bert  Medford,  Louise  Medford, 

A.  R.  Dawson,  H.  A.  W'estenfelder, 
M.  D.  Chambers,  Ervin  Nelson,  J.  H. 

Hubbard,  Alvin  Whitehead,  Austin 
Merrill,  Andrew  Gray,  John 
Egbert,  Elias  Mather,  Earl 

Cox,  Carrie  McFadden,  Fred 
Olsen,  George  Walters,  Al 

Stalker,  William  Robbins,  S. 
Johns,  George  Harnem,  Peter 

Johnson,  M.  Fisher,  Olaf  Norseth,  Ace 
Dalton,  Tom  Ellis,  and  Miss  Gladys  Gray. 

(All  are  not  shown) 

Davie  Egbert  and  His  Fiddle 

"From  about  1913  to  1923  there  lived  in 
Thatcher  Ward  a  man  named  David  Egbert. 

He  had  been  blind  since  boyhood,  and  lived 

with  his  spinster  sister,  Anna  Egbert.  He  was 

an  expert  Old  Time  Fiddler  and  with  Wm. 

(Bill)  Irish  to  chord  on  the  reed  organ,  fur- 
nished practically  all  the  dance  music  for  that 

area.  No  other  instruments  were  used  or  need- 
ed. 

These  were  the  pre-war  days  before 

World  War  I — the  period  during  the  war — the 

days  of  the  influenze  epidemic — and  the  post- 

war days  when  the  soldier  boys  came  home. 

Thatcher  Ward  was  a  big  ward  and  there 

was  but  very  little  means  of  communication 

with  anyone  outside  the  valley.  The  Smith 

Telephone  Company  and  the  semi-weekly 
Deseret  News  furnished  most  of  the  news. 

The  European  war  clouds  loomed  bigger 

and  blacker.  Woodrow  Wilson  was  winning  an 

election  with  the  slogan  "Who  kept  your  sons 

out  of  war?"  Political  feeling  was  running 
high.  A  few  days  after  the  election  there  came 

a  declaration  of  war  and  every  man  up  to  forty 

years  old  had  to  register  for  military  duty. 
The  Thatcher  Church  became  a  literal 

meeting   house.    There   were   no   radios,    no 

television,  no  daily  mail,  and  people  flocked  to 

every  public  meeting  and  entertainment  eager 

and  anxious  to  exchange  news  items. 

Summer  meant  work  from  daylight  till 

dark,  but  with  winter  came  time  for  socializ- 

ing. Dancing  was  the  favorite  recreation.  With 

music  furnished  by  Davie  and  Bill  they  waltzed 

and  two-stepped;  they  danced  the  schottische 

and  polka,  rye  waltz  and  tucker  waltz,  one 

step,  two-step,  and  three-step,  Virginia  Reel 

and  plain  quadrille. 

Popular  wartime  tunes  were — Till  We  Meet 

Again;  It's  a  Long.  Long  Way  to  Tipperary: 

But  My  Daddy  Won't  Come  Back:  There's  a 
Long,  Long  Trail  a  Winding:  Over  the  Waves: 

Blue  Danube  Waltz:  Let  the  Rest  of  the  World 

Go  By:  Hinky  Dinky  Parley  Vous:  The  Beast 

of  Berlin:  When  Daddy  Comes  Marching 

Home:  Irish  Washerwoman:  Redwing: 

Beautiful  Ohio:  and  Turkey  in  the  Straw. 

Each  of  the  ward  organizations  had  to 
finance  themselves  as  there  was  no  ward 

budget.  Tickets  to  the  dances  or  donations 

were  their  only  means  of  support.  A  dance  or 

party  was  held  nearly  every  night  of  each 

week.  For  variety,  they  had  costume  balls,  box 

lunch   parties,   masquerades,  character  balls, 
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and  ladies'  choice.  There  was  a  lot  of  good 
talent  in  the  ward  and  many  times  they  just 

had  special  programs.  Hazel  Toone  was  the 

best  step-dancer  and  she  was  always  in  de- 
mand at  some  point  or  other  in  the  evening. 

Only  two  or  sometimes  three  round  dances 

were  allowed  during  the  evening.  The  Bishop, 

who  was  also  the  floor  manager,  would  remind 

anyone  on  the  dance  floor  if  he  thought  they 

were  dancing  too  close.  Home-made  ice 
cream,  pie,  cake,  and  lemonade  were  almost 

always  sold  for  refreshments. 

Many  afternoons  were  given  over  for 

children's  dances.  They  were  closely  super- 
vised and  the  children  were  taught  all  the  pop- 
ular dances  and  a  certain  amount  of  dance 

etiquette. 

Not  long  after  this  period  of  time.  Bill 

Irish  had  the  first  radio  in  Thatcher  Ward  in- 

stalled in  his  home.  Other  people  followed  and 

a  whole  new  era  was  ushered  in."  (Charles 
Izatt) 

The  people  of  Gem  Valley  and  the  sur- 
rounding area  looked  forward  each  year  to  the 

big  HENRY  STAMPEDE  held  at  Henry, 

Idaho.  This  was  cattlemen's  country  and  the 
excitement  ran  high.  No  expense  was  spared  to 

put  on  a  good  "show". 
Gem  Valley,  especially  in  the  "good  old 

days,"  was  a  paradise  for  fishermen  and  game 
hunters.  Within  just  a  few  miles  of  any 

residence  in  the  valley,  a  mess  of  fresh  river 

trout  could  be  hooked  within  minutes;  and  a 

short  trip  to  the  mountains  in  the  east  or  west 

would  yield  sufficient  game  for  a  winter's 

supply  of  meat. 

Homer 
Holcombe, 

clown  at  the     gt^ 

Henry  Stampede 

"fe-- 

Dr.  Kackley  and  Wiiliam  (Bill)  Lasley  at  the  Henry 
Stampede  celebration. 

Chutes  at  the  Henry  Stampede 
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An  avid  Grace  flsherman — Ted  Smith,  with  two  "big 
ones"  caught  nearby. 

A  beautiful  string  of  trout  caught  by  DeVal  Gillette  at 
Alexander  Point. 

Even  now,  as  evidenced  by  recent  photos, 

fishing  in  our  area  can  be  an  exciting  sport. 

Favorite  haunts,  then  and  now,  are  the  "Black 

Canyon,"  Blackfoot  Reservoir,  "Alexander 
Point,"  Chesterfield  Reservoir,  "Nelson's 

Fjord,"  "Last  Chance,"  and  "The  Arch." 

Hunters  in  Gem  Valley  have  taken  deer, 
elk.  mountain  lion,  bear,  fox,  bobcat,  lynx, 

ducks,  geese,  rabbits,  pheasants,  partridge, 

quail,  and  of  course  the  damaging  rockchucks 

and  squirrels. 

Beautiful  canyons  nearby  are  an  entice- 
ment for  camping  and  hiking  in  the  summer 

and  snow-machining  in  the  winter. 

"Fisherman  Sam"  who  looks  mighty  pleased  with  his 
catch. 

LaVerl  Smith,  Ches  Edrington,  Terry  Smith — with  a 

good  catch. 
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IT 

i  l A  nice  display  of  ducks  and  happy  hunters.  On  the  left 
are  Frank  Thomas  and  Sam  Smith;  others  uniden- tified. 

A  successful  hunt  in  Gem  Valley. 

Bert  Orr  and  His  Grace  Opera  House 

(Prepared  By  Hugh  Benfer) 
Bert's  Son-in-law 

No  history  of  Grace  would  be  complete 
without  mention  of  its  most  ardent  booster, 

energetic  citizen,  C.  A.  (Bert)  Orr — 
entrepreneur,  showman,  fur  trader,  salesman 

extraordinary,  booster  unequaled  and 

character  personified.  Who  can  ever  forget  the 

famous  megaphone  announcement,  "good 
show  tonight — Best  show  in  town  at  the  Opera 

House!"  His  ardent  critics  swear  they  could 

Beautiful  Bear 

River  Canyon — a favorite  picnic  spot 
in  early  days. 

hear  Bert's  show  calling  on  their  farms  four 
and  five  miles  away.  Advertising  was  his 

business  and  people  all  over  the  United  States 

and  Canada  knew  about  Grace,  Idaho,  "Best 

little  town  in  the  West". 
Promoting  policiticians  was  his  great 

delight.  In  fact,  he  would  campaign  and  adver- 
tise for  both  parties  at  the  same  time. 

Yes,  our  Bert  was  the  last  of  a  dying 

breed,  the  type  of  a  man  who  made  our  coun- 

try great.  He  grew  up  in  the  little  town  of 
Byesville,  Ohio,  where  his  father  owned  and 
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operated  a  coal  mine.  Bert's  first  job  was 
weighing  coal  there.  At  the  ripe  age  of  14  he 
owned  his  own  restaurant,  which  developed 

into  a  bowling  alley  and  pool  hall,  but  Bert  was 

restless!  His  wife's  brother,  Dr.  L.  W.  Meek, 
had  recently  gone  west,  settling  in  Soda 

Springs.  So  one  blustery  day  in  February, 
1914,  Bert,  wife  Blanche,  and  baby  daughter, 

Jane,  got  off  the  train  at  Alexander  and  sur- 
veyed the  bleak  wintry  terrain,  which  was  to 

become  their  home  for  the  next  34  years. 

Undaunted  by  his  jobless  situation,  our 

"tenderfoot"  rented  a  small  space  in  Grace 
and  ordered  a  car  of  coal.  Old  timers  are  fond 

of  telling  how  Bert  would  wait  outside  until 

church  was  out,  then  greet  the  outpouring  con- 

gregation with,  "Hey,  brother,  how  about 

some  coal?" 
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Bert  Orr — Grace's  most  ardent  "booster",  showman, 
and  salesman  extraordinary — owner  of  The  Grace 

Opera  House. 

The  old  Grace  Opera  House  under  construction — the  floor  could  adjust  to  a  level  position  for  dancing  and  all  sorts  of 
amusements.  The  "Talkies"  came  to  Grace  in  1927.  This  theatre  burned  in  1956. 
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Persistence  won  out  and  by  the  time 

World  War  I  was  upon  us,  Bert  had  purchased 
the  Princess  Theatre,  which  he  renamed 

'Opera  House,'  and  was  running  all  the  silent 
heartbreakers  of  the  day.  The  Orrs  were  a 
well  balanced  team.  Bert  made  the  money  and 

Blanche  helped  save  it.  Every  night  found 

Blanche  in  the  ticket  office,  her  smiling  face 

framed  behind  the  glass.  Hers  was  the  steady- 

ing, steadfast  influence  in  his  life,  and  she  gain- 
ed so  much  respect  in  the  community  that  she 

was  elected  to  the  school  board.  She  was  a  gen- 
tle yet  firm  woman  who  loved  God  with  deep 

conviction.  They  took  the  famous  World  War 

I  movie,  "Mein  Gott"  on  tour,  but  the  infiuen- 
za  epidemic  spoiled  the  run  and  about  broke 

our  enterprising  showman.  The  theatre 

business  was  often  slow,  so  Bert  supplemented 

his  income  by  taking  a  mail  and  passenger 

stage  contract  from  Grace  to  the  main  Union 

Pacific  line  six  miles  away  at  Alexander.  This 

meant  bumping  over  the  rough,  dusty,  rutted 

roads  in  the  summer,  the  hub-deep  mud  in  fall 
and  spring,  in  a  white  topped  buggy,  and 

fighting  blizzards  and  snow  drifts  with  horses 

and  a  covered  sleigh,  complete  with  inside 

stove  during  the  winter  months. 

The  construction  of  the  Grace  and  Alex- 

ander power  plants  was  a  boon  to  the  little 

community  and  our  "Bert"  lost  no  time  taking 

advantage  of  it.  He  coined  the  phrase,  "Grace, 
Idaho,  the  best  little  town  on  earth  where 

currants  grow  on  wires."  He  installed  a  floor  in 
the  theatre  which  could  be  tilted  for  the  picture 

show  and  leveled  for  dancing  afterward.  The 

best  road  shows  played  here  and  big  name 
bands  of  the  west  entertained  the  workmen 

and  natives  alike.  An  outdoor  pavilion  provid- 

ed cool,  summer  dancing.  Our  perpetual  mo- 
tion man  was  not  content  just  to  work  all 

night,  so  he  procured  two  Model  T  Fords  and 

provided  taxi  service  between  the  various  work 

camps  and  town. 

The  years  rolled  by  happily  until  the  ad- 
vent of  the  Great  Depression.  All  businesses 

were  suffering  and  the  Opera  House  was  no  ex- 
ception. Even  with  tickets  at  25c  for  adults  and 

10c  for  kids,  it  was  not  easy  to  get  customers 

for  a  show  every  night.  So  the  "Best  show  in 

town"  had  some  dark  nights.  Our  showman 
was  undaunted,  however;  he  began  trading 
show  tickets  for  chickens,  old  batteries, 

muskrat  pelts,  or — you  name  it.  Some  of  the 

local  young  fry  thought  they  were  fooling  "Old 
Bert"  when  they  went  to  the  Orr's  home  and 
brought  back  old  batteries  for  resale  for  more 

show  tickets.  They  didn't  know  that  "Old 
Bert"  couldn't  sleep  at  night  if  he  thought 

some  poor  kid  couldn't  see  a  show.  Many  a 
prominent  citizen  of  Grace  today  can  recall 

standing  penniless  outside  the  ticket  office 
when  Bert  would  come  out  and  state  gruffly, 

"Go  on  in.  Don't  stand  around  out  here." 

Even  bartering  couldn't  put  enough  food 
on  the  table  during  those  rough  years  so  Bert 

became  a  procurer  of  livestock  and  poultry  for 

Utah  buyers.  Many  remember  the  phone  ring- 

ing and  Bert  answering,  "Good  show  tonight 
at  the  Opera  House.  By  the  way  do  you  have 

any  chickens  or  livestock  for  sale?"  Bartering 
pelts  for  show  tickets  developed  into  a 

flourishing  fur  business.  Bert  bought  local 

muskrat  and  silver  fox  furs,  and  accompanied 

New  York  fur  buyers  around  Grace  and  vicini- 
ty lining  up  pelts  for  market.  The  local  people 

affectionately  dubbed  him,  "Bert  Orrstein," 
because  of  his  prowess  in  fur  buying. 

World  War  H  came  along  and  the  Great 

Depression  became  just  a  bad  memory. 

Business  was  good  again,  and  the  old  showman 

decided  to  call  it  quits  and  move  to  new 

territory  where  his  daughter  and  family  lived 
in  Idaho  Falls.  In  1947  the  old  Opera  House 

was  sold  and  the  man  who  had  put  Grace  on 

the  map  moved  on  with  Grace  still  in  his  heart. 

At  an  age  when  most  men  had  retired,  Bert 
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entered  a  new  field  of  endeavor,  acting  as  an  The  years  finally  slowed  down  the  silver- 

advance  man  and  booking  agent  for  Donkey  Paired  dynamo.  In  1963  it  was  time  for  the  old 
showman's  final  curtain,  but  he  will  never  be 

Baseball    and    Basketball    games    and    the  r        ..  i  r-  u  u      •  .u 
forgotten  as  long  as  Grace,  Idaho,  is  on  the 

Harlem  Globe  Trotters.  map. 
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CHAPTER  XI 

Civic  Clubs  And 
Organizations 

"We  give  of  ourselves  when  we  give  the  gift  of  time;  when  we  are  minute 
builders  of  more  abundant  living  for  others.  "(Wilferd  A.  Peterson) 
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Junior  Van  Noy  was  born  in  Gem  Valley  and  attended  school  in  Grace  before  moving  to  Preston.  He  was  killed  in  action  in 

World  War  II,  and  was  awarded,  posthumously,  the  Congressional  Medal  of  Honor.  His  mother  is  shown  here  with  his  pic- 
ture at  the  time  the  award  was  presented. 
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The  American  Legion 
1  HE  LOCAL  American  Legion  Post  was 

organized,  as  nearly  as  can  be  determined,  in 

the  early  1920's.  It  was  named  the  Albert  Van 
Vleet  Post  No.  50,  in  honor  of  Albert  Van 

Vleet,  who  was  the  first  man  from  Gem  Valley 
to  be  killed  in  action  in  World  War  L  A  brief 

biography  of  Albert  Van  Vleet  follows: 

Albert  Van  Vleet,  son  of  Cummings  V. 
Van  Vleet  and  Ella  Austin  Van  Vleet  Burns, 

was  born  January  13,  1892,  at  Denver, 
Colorado. 

He  enlisted  in  the  National  Guard  of 

Colorado  in  July  1915,  and  was  mustered  into 

Government  service  August  7,  1915,  and  serv- 
ed eleven  months  on  the  Mexican  border.  He 

received  an  honorable  discharge  at  Fort  D.  A. 

Russell,  Wyoming,  in  May  1917.  He  was 
drafted  for  service  in  World  War  I  on  June  28, 

1918.  He  was  a  resident  of  Grace,  Idaho,  at 
this  time. 

He  left  the  United  States  for  overseas  ser- 

vice July  26,  1918,  with  Company  "O,"  I59th 
Infantry.  After  arriving  overseas,  he  was 

transferred  to  Company  "A",  308th  Infantry. 
He  was  killed  in  action  October  12,  1918, 

in  the  battle  of  the  Argonne.  In  1921  his  body 

was  shipped  home  for  burial.  The  funeral  was 

held  at  Grace,  Idaho,  September  22,  1921. 

Only  two  Charter  members  of  the  Grace 

Post  are  now  living — Henry  Turner  and  Blaine 
Whitehead. 

The  following  is  a  list  of  the  known 

deceased  veterans  in  Gem  Valley,  which  the 
Albert  Van  Vleet  Post  No.  50  of  the  American 

Legion  and  the  American  Legion  Auxiliary 

commemorate  each  Memorial  Day  by  placing 

a  flag  and  a  poppy  wreath  on  each  grave. 
These  deceased  Veterans  served  in  one  of 

the  following  wars:  The  Indian  War,  Civil 

War,  World  War  I,  World  War  II,  Korean 

War,  and  the  Vietnam  War. 

> 

Albert  Van  Vleet, 

after  whom  the  Grace  American  Legion  Post  No.  50 
was  named.  He  was  the  first  boy  from  Gem  Valley  to 
be  killed  in  action.  He  was  the  son  of  Ella  Burns  and 

brother  of  John  Van  Vleet. 

Joe  Johnson,  David  D.  Sullivan,  Orange 

H.  Warner,  Arthur  Sabin,  Ison  Hubbard, 

Ernest  Larsen,  Leo  Johnson,  Albert  Van 

Vleet,  B.  Orson  Clegg,  Joseph  Clegg,  Elmer 

Egbert,  James  Hansen,  R.  DeMar  Merrill, 
Norman  Chrishop,  Earl  Cox,  WilUs  Page,  Dell 

Kesler,  Edward  Lozien  Kirby,  Minnie  S. 

Rasmason,  WilUam  Guy  Joseph,  Charles  E. 

Smith,  George  Perry,  Melvin  Christensen,  C. 
F.  Beckstead,  Jack  Thomas,  C.  P.  McGregor, 

Hyrum  Peterson,  Horatio  Calkins,  Ralph 

Sharp,  Andrew  Ruud,  George  C.  Fowler, 
Willis  Bassett,  Thomas  Harris,  Glen  Ruud, 

Dr.  Earl  Harris,  Ben  Corryell,  J.  H.  Bevins, 

Alma  W.  Short,  Leo  Anderson,  Oscar 

Gulbransen,  John  P.  Clifford,  Wayne  Tanner, 

George  L.  Smith,  Otto  Roholt,  James  Grady, 
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Reuben  E.  Covert,  George  A.  Qualman, 
Heber  Christensen,  Emil  Ross  Leffler,  Keith 

Roper,  Everett  Hale,  George  Bybee,  Junior 

Van  Noy,  Charles  Kingsford,  Vernon  Simon- 
son,  Claude  Bischoff,  Gene  Sorenson, 

Frederick  Westenfelder,  Viola  Kirkham, 

Roscoe  Hayes,  Kenneth  Thomas,  Dean  W. 
Gibson,  Harriman  Hale,  John  Van  Den 

Akker,  Devere  T.  Harwood,  Arnold  Benson, 

Gerald  Monte  Allsop,  Lavere  Windley, 

Donald  Thompson,  Brad  Wakely,  Dee 

Mauck,  Jay  Kirby,  Ross  Banks,  Eugene 
McLain,  Reece  Headman,  Lucille  Parkhouse, 

Stanley  Smith,  Verl  O.  Neeley,  Junior  Allen, 

Don  Toone,  Floyd  C.  Fowler,  Roland  H. 

Hogan,  Dennis  Crossley,  Earl  Nielson,  Parley 

J.  Covert,  Lynn  Harrison,  Ray  Egbert,  Davis 

Gummersall,  Hal  Hollingsworth,  Leonard 

Rich,  Billy  Steele,  Bruce  Goodsell. 

The  Heroic  Death  of  Private  Van  Noy 

By  Mark  Hart 

Look  Magazine  has  said:  "Probably  no 
one  has  more  clearly  earned  the  Congressional 

Medal  of  Honor  award,  presented 

posthumously  to  his  mother  by  a  represen- 

Servicemen  pictured  were  killed  in  action. 

*^     ̂  

\ 

Gene  Sorensen 
Son  of  Ronald  and  Alice  T. 
Sorensen.  (World  War  II) 

Eidon  Jenkins 
Son     of     Loren     and 

Margaret  Jenkins.  (World War  II) 

Frederick  Westenfelder 
Son   of  Harry   and   Irene 
Westenfelder.  (World  War 

11) 

Everett  Hale 

Son    of    Jonathan    and 
Rosetta  Hale.  (World  War 

II) 

Leonard  Rich 
Son  of  Charles  and  Ruth 

Ormond  Rich  —  foster 
parents  were  Vera  and 
Frank  Fowler.  (World  War 

II) 

Vernon  Simonson 
Son   of  Alma   and   Sarah 
Simonson.  (World  War  II) 

Charles  Kingsford 
Son  of  Robert  and  Martha 

Kingsford.  (World  War  II) 

Don  Smith 

Son  of  Arthur  and  Carrie 
Nelson  Smith.  (World  War 

II) 
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Earl  Nielsen  Lynn  Harrison 
Son   of  Albert   and   Vera  Son  of  Ralph  and  Idella 
Panter    Nielsen.    (World  Harrison.  (Korean  War) 

War  II) 

r>. 

Hal  T.  Hollingsworth 
Son    of   Ezra    and    Dora 

Hollingsworth.      (Vietnam War) 

Robert  Campbell 
Son  of  Fred  and  Millie  G. 

Campbell.  (World  War  II) 

Bruce  Goodsell 
Son  of  Lynn  and  Carma 
Goodsell.  (Vietnam  War) 

Billy  Steele 
Son  of  Val  and  Merle 
Steele.  (Billy  was  not  killed 
in  action,  but  lost  his  life  in 
an  automobile  accident  in 

Germany  while  in  the  ser- 
vice of  his  country.) 

tative  of  President  Franklin  D.  Roosevelt  on 

March  17,  1944.  Wounded  and  sick  the  youth 

died  at  his  post  on  October  17,  1943,  when  the 

Japanese  landing  forces  stormed  tenuously 
held  Scarlet  Beach,  New  Guinea.  Pvt.  Van 

Noy  killed  at  least  half  of  the  39  enemy  taking 

part  in  the  landing  nearest  his  position."  His 
citation  reads:  "His  heroic  tenacity  not  only 
saved  the  lives  of  many  of  his  comrades,  but 

enabled  them  to  annihilate  the  attacking 

detachment." Million  Dollar  Poem  "Of  the  hundreds  of 
magazine  and  newspaper  articles  that  have 

been  written  about  my  son,"  says  Mrs.  Pauline 
Van  Noy,  mother  of  Nathan  Van  Noy,  Jr., 

"this  poem,  which  agrees  with  eyewitness  ac- 
counts in  every  detail,  has  come  nearer  to  tak- 

ing the  sting  out  of  my  son's  death  than  any 

other  thing.  I  wouldn't  take  a  million  dollars 

for  it." 
The  Heroic  Death  Of  Private  Van  Noy 

They  figured  that  he  was  a  mama's  boy, 
That  tow-headed  youth  who  recently  came; 

They    were   thinking    of   course    of   Private Van  Noy, 

The    lad    who    could    speak    without    being 

profane; 
But  he  wasn't  a  soldier — that  is — you  see — 
Well,  he  had  no  stripes  or  medals  or  bars; 

But  when  he  fought  by  the  Coral  Sea, 

He  fought  like  a  true  son  of  Mars. 

He  had  just  joined  the  outfit  a  few  days  before, 

That  quiet  young  blade  of  nineteen; 

Perhaps  they  thought  he  was  green  to  the  core 
Because  of  his  juvenile  mien; 

Fact  is,  they  took  little  note  of  the  boy. 

Just    called    him    "Whitey"    or    "Junior" 
by  name; 

But  little  they  knew  that  Nathan  Van  Noy, 

Like  Nathan  Hale,  was  slated  for  fame. 
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But  Junior  Van  Noy,  in  spite  of  his  youth, 

Got  a  Zero  at  Red  Beach  the  very  next  day; 

And  that  to  his  comrades  was  plenty  of  proof 

That  you  can't  judge  a  man  till  he's  been  in 
the  fray; 

But  Whitey's  luck  changed  when  the  bombers 
came  back 

To    strafe    the    barges    at    Scarlet    Beach 
landing; 

For  after  they'd  beaten  off  the  attack, 
Van  Noy  had  five  wounds  and  was  hardly 

left  standing. 

The  medics  agreed  there  was  only  one  place 
For  the  wounded  soldier  to  be. 

And  that  was  back  at  a  hospital  base, 

But  the  Private  didn't  agree; 
He  knew  that  the  fighting  was  soon  to  begin; 

So  he'd  take  special  treatments  each  day. 
And  stay  at  his  post  and  help  them  dig  in; 

They  needed  his  help  and  he'd  stay. 

In   his  hammock  that  night  he  gave  glory 

and  praise 
To  his  God  in  a  downpour  of  rain; 

He  dreamed  no  doubt  of  his  high  school  days, 

And  slept  in  spite  of  his  pain; 
But  when  the  rain  ceased  in  the  blackness 

ere  dawn, 

Three  smudges  were  seen  off  the  shore; 

And  Junior  was  ready  when  word  came  along 

That  the  Japs  were  at  it  once  more. 

He  rolled  from  his  hammock  and  crawled  to 

his  pit; 

His  loader  was  soon  by  his  side; 

One  barge  was  hit  by  the  first  gun  to  spit. 

And  the  Japs  were  dumped  in  the  tide; 

An  Aussie  two-pounder  gun  landed  the  blow. 
Which  was  followed  by  two  armor  shells; 
And  as  she  sank  to  the  coral  below. 

The  dawn  was  ringing  with  Japanese  yells. 

The  other  two  barges  hove  straight  within reach. 

From  their  peaked  prows  they  vomited  ire; 

Then  scores  of  grenades  peppered  down  on 
the  beach. 

But  Private  Van  Noy  held  his  fire; 

It   was   not   till   the   ramps   were  down   all the  way. 

And  the  Japs  heard  the  bugle  to  charge. 

That  Private  Van  Noy  gave  the  trigger full  play 

And  began  pouring  lead  at  the  barge. 

His  loader  was  soon  crawling  back  from 
the  field. 

His  shattered  leg  trailing  behind; 

He  thought  that  Van  Noy  had  no  choice  but 
to  yield, 

But  Van  Noy  was  not  of  that  mind; 

The  Aussie  Bren  gunners  so  thorough  and  cool 

Were  shouting  for  Whitey  to  run: 

"Get  the  hell  out  of  there,  you  bloody  fool!" 
But  he  was  reloading  his  gun. 

It  was  just  about  then  that  a  hand  grenade  fell 

In  the  spot  where  his  loader  had  been; 

He  staggered  a  little  and  gave  a  sharp  yell. 
But  still  was  determined  to  win; 

Two  officers  charged  him  with  fiame 
throwers  on. 

To  scorch  Van  Noy  from  his  nest; 

But  Junior  held  on  though  his  left  leg 
was  gone. 

And  the  flame  throwers  died  with  the  rest. 

Then  other  guns  flashed  from  the  hulls  of 
the  ships 

And  were  answered  by  guns  from  the  hill; 
The  Yanks  and  the  Aussies  fired  hundreds of  clips, 

But  Nathan  Van  Noy's  gun  was  still; 
Then  the  infantry  came  in  a  mopping  deploy. 

But  when  they  got  there  they  knew 

That  the  lad  who  they  figured  was  mama's  boy 
Had  refused  to  let  the  Japs  through. 
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'Twas  a  sad  lot  of  victors  when  they 
learned  the  truth. 

When  they  saw  that  his  bullets  were  gone; 

For  they  knew  that  Van  Noy,  the  tow-headed 

youth, 
With  only  one  leg  carried  on; 

Of  the  39  Japs  that  attempted  to  land 

From  the  boats  of  the  Rising  Sun, 

More  than  twenty  of  them  lay  dead  in  the  sand 

In  front  of  Van  Noy's  Browning  gun. 

And  when  the  sun  climbed  from  the 
Bismark  Sea, 

And  the  mists  were  beginning  to  rise, 

His  comrades  buried  young  Private  Van  Noy, 
Who  was  shot  between  the  eyes; 

Van  Noy  was  a  Yank  and  he  wouldn't  run; 
He  was  the  only  soldier  to  fall; 

When  he  died.  Van  Noy  was  his  mother's  son, 
But  now  he  belongs  to  us  all. 

(used  by  permission  of  Mark  Hart) 

This  picture  shows  Mrs.  Nathan  K.  Van  Noy  accepting  the  Congressional  Medal  of  Honor  in  behalf  of  her  son,  Junior,  who 
was  killed  at  Iwo  Jima. 
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Response 

By  Mildred  Burton 

If  you  break  faith,  the  poet  said, 

We  shall  not  sleep  though  we  are  dead. 

You  flung  the  torch  that  long  past  day 

From  Flanders  Field  so  far  away. 

They  caught  it  blazing  ere  it  fell 

To  hold  it  high,  to  guard  it  well. 

The  sons  of  you  whose  blood  was  shed 
On  Flanders  Field,  our  honored  dead. 

This  time  with  monsters  in  the  sky 

Like  hungry  vultures  circling  by, 

They  came,  this  dark  benighted  foe 

And  spread  destruction  down  below. 

They  broke  the  sabbath's  peaceful  calm 
The  bombs  of  death  mixed  with  the  choir's 

psalm. 

And  once  again  men's  blood  was  shed 
As  on  Flanders  Field  our  boys  lay  dead. 

They  have  kept  that  banner  flying  high 

Spite  of  motors  roar  and  bullets  cry. 

There  are  those  who  sleep  on  foreign  sod 

Their  Bivouac  only  known  to  God. 

There  are  those,  though  maimed  in  mind  and 
limb. 

Whose  life  to  them  seems  dark  and  grim, 

To  freedom's  cause  they  gave  their  all; 
They  held  the  banner  lest  it  fall. 

It  is  ever  thus  where  free  men  dwell 

The  foe  may  change,  a  different  story  tell. 
But  it  is  ever  the  same,  wrong  against  right. 

Freedom   against  tyranny,  darkness  against 

light. 

So  whether  poppies  bloom  today 
Mid  crosses  white  where  heroes  lay, 

Or  whether  angels  vigil  keep 

Over  those  who  rest  in  ocean  deep. 

We'll  let  these  poppies  bleeding  red 

Be  emblem  of  the  blood  that's  shed 

In  freedom's  name  on  land  and  sea. 

From  Korea's  mud  to  Calvary. 

Sleep  on,  you  dead  in  Flanders  Field 
The  sons  you  left  will  never  yield. 

The  torch  your  failing  hands  held  high 
Still  blazes  freedom  to  the  sky. 

The  American  Legion  Auxiliary 

The  American  Legion  Auxiliary  of  the 
Albert  Van  Vleet  Post  No.  50  of  Grace,  Idaho, 

was  organized  August  17,  1928,  by  the  district 

president,  Monida  Vaughn  of  Soda  Springs, 
Idaho. 

At  this  time  the  following  officers  were 

elected:  Lydia  A.  Hilton,  president;  Cora  L. 

Thatcher,  vice-president;  Nellie  V.  Johnson, 
secretary  and  treasurer;  Mary  E.  Snow, 

chaplain;  Isal  Wintercheid,  sergeant  at  arms; 

Caroline  Merriam,  historian  (Edna  Hacking 
was  later  elected). 

Charter  members  of  the  Auxiliary  were: 
Wilma  D.  Wilson,  Isal  C.  Wintercheid,  Cora 

L.  Thatcher,  Vera  C.  Clark,  Caroline 

Merriam,  Alice  P.  Merrill,  Mary  E.  Snow, 

Irene  S.  Westenfelder,  Nellie  Johnson,  Lydia 

A.  Hilton,  Blanche  F.  Sawyer,  Dora  K.  Stod- 
dard, Virginia  P.  McGuire,  Gladys  Gray, 

Alice  T.  Sorensen,  Flora  P.  Peterson,  Louise 

A.  Perry,  Helen  L.  Palmer,  Mae  H.  Kirby, 

Mary  C.  Melcher,  Delia  Whitehead,  Flora  P. 
Wright,  Sarah  B.  Gordon,  Alice  S.  Clegg, 

Clara  Hubbard,  Francis  W.  Bassett,  Amanda 

Bassett,  Alpha  J.  Ellis,  Blanche  Whitehead. 
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The  Auxiliary  has  supported  the  Legion 

in  its  many  endeavors  and  has  been  active  in 

carrying  out  many  of  their  own  projects.  The 

Auxiliary  has:  sent  gifts  to  the  Veteran's 
Hospital  in  Boise,  not  only  for  the  veterans, 
but  also  gifts  that  the  veterans  may  select  to 

send  to  their  own  families;  conducted  the  an- 

nual poppy  sale  to  raise  funds  for  the  hospital- 
ized veterans  who  make  the  poppies;  planted 

trees  in  the  Grace  Cemetery  and  the  Grace 

City  Park;  served  the  annual  Veteran's  Day 

dinner  on  November  11;  sponsored  the  Girl's 
State  Program;  held  an  annual  rummage  sale 

and  quilt  raffle;  and  made  poppy  wreaths  or 

sprays  for  graves  of  deceased  veterans. 

The  American  Legion  and  Auxiliary 

building  has  recently  been  enlarged  and 

renovated.  It  is  paneled  and  carpeted  and  in- 
cludes a  modern  kitchen.  The  building  is 

rented  out  to  other  organizations  and  groups 

and  is  a  great  asset  to  the  community  of  Grace. 

Those  who  have  served  as  presidents  of 

the  Auxiliary  are:  Lydia  A.  Hilton,  Minnie 

Sorensen,  Caroline  Merriam,  Anna  Page, 
Viola  Matthews,  Nellie  V.  Johnson,  Mrs. 

Claude  Winterscheid,  Zetta  Davis,  Irene 

Westenfelder,  Mary  Rigby,  Jamie  Stalder, 

Alice  Clegg,  Delia  Whitehead,  Rita  Stanton, 
Verda  Weeks,  Alice  Sorensen,  Leda 

Matthews,  Clara  Gibson,  Nyda  Christensen, 
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The  Grace  American  Legion  Auxiliary  Chorus  won  first  place  at  the  1959  Department  Convention.  Reading  from  left  to 
right:  Back  Row:  Lucile  Clegg  (director),  Nellie  Johnson,  Luella  Hymas,  Golda  Christensen,  Burgetta  Christensen,  Gladys 
Sullivan,  Jennie  Norcutt,  Alta  Hansen,  June  Swensen,  Dorothy  Herron,  Katherine  Hansen  (accompanist).  Front  Row:  Merle 

Steele,  Mae  Whitehead,  Marie  Martinson,  Rosetta  Hale,  Laura  Clegg,  Emma  Gillette,  Hazel  Sullivan. 
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The  American  Legion  Auxiliary  Service  Flag,  made  by 
members  of  the  Auxiliary  (1942-1944).  A  picture  of 
this  flag  was  enclosed  in  a  Christmas  card  and  sent  to 
Gem  Valley  servicemen  in  World  War  II.  Ladies  in  pic- 

ture are:  (Clockwise)  Alice  Clegg,  Caroline  Merriam, 
Julia  Kirby,  Laura  Clegg,  Viola  Mathews,  Verna 
Merrill,  Rita  Thompson,  Nellie  Johnson,  Burgetta 
Christensen,  Jamie  Stalder. 

Burgetta  Christensen,  Dorothy  Herron,  Marie 
Martinson,  Hazel  SulHvan,  Jennie  Norcutt, 

Mae  Whitehead,  Merle  Steele,  Donna 

Sullivan,  Mary  Ann  Hansen,  Leora  Tarbett, 

Dolores  Gilbert,  and  Bonnie  Rasmussen  (in- 
cumbent). The  organization  has  83  members. 

Grace  Lions  Club 

The  Grace  Lions  club  was  organized  on 

October  25,  1927,  at  Grace,  Idaho,  and  is  to- 

Auxiliary  officers  for  1977  busy  making  poppy 
wreaths.  Left  to  right  in  back:  Ermine  Egbert,  Vera 
Fowler,  Jennie  Norcutt,  Karen  Beckstead,  Verda 
Weeks  and  Marlene  Rasmussen.  Front:  Leora 
Tarbett,  Bonnie  Rasmussen  and  Artie  Rasmussen. 

day  the  second  oldest  Lions  Club  in  the  state  of 

Idaho.  With  its  organization,  the  Grace  Lions 

Club  became  a  part  of  Lions  International 
District  28. 

Over  the  years  the  International  Districts 
have  been  changed  many  times.  The  Grace 

Club  at  the  present  is  in  District  39-E,  known 

as  a  multiple  district,  and  is  one  of  the  thirty- 
four  clubs  in  the  district. 

Charter  members  of  the  Grace  Lions 

Club  were  as  follows:  George  S.  Ellis,  J.  C. 

Greaves,  L.  H.  Merriam,  John  Roghaar,  M. 

W.  Lowe,  G.  H.  Harnem,  H.  W.  Lasley,  G. 

The  American  Legion 
and  Auxiliary  Building. 
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Each  year  the  Grace  American  Legion  Auxiliary  sponsors 

two  girls  to  attend  Girls' State.  The  girls' chosen  in  1977 
are  pictured — from  left  to  right:  Kathleen  Carter,  Carol 
Rasmussen  (alternate),  Jill  Johnson  (alternate),  Susan 

Lloyd. 

W.  Walters,  James  W.  Scott,  Peter  Johnson, 

J.  F.  Flannery,  A.  R.  Dawson,  A.  T.  Merrill, 

V.  W.  Parr,  G.  S.  McLaughlin,  B.  E.  Gordon, 

Adolph  Wyss,  H,  C.  Christensen,  H.  A. 
Westenfelder,  C.  A.  Orr,  J.  E.  Otte,  William 
Headman. 

George  S.  Ellis  served  as  first  president. 
The  Grace  Lions  have  served  well  for 

nearly  fifty  years  and  have  contributed  three  of 
their  members  to  serve  as  District  Governors. 

These  men  are:  L.  Sumner  Pond,  1935-1936; 

H.  Weiter  Jenkins,  1943-1944;  Kenneth  Lloyd, 

1970-1971.  Many  other  Grace  Lions  have  serv- 

ed in  lesser  district  offices  such  as  deputy  dis- 

Distinguished  members  of  the  American  Legion  Aux- 
iliary— all  past  presidents  of  the  Grace  unit: 

Verda  Weeks Nellie  Johnson 

Mae  Whitehead 
Alice  Clegg 

trict  governor,  cabinet  secretaries,  zone 
chairmen,  and  committee  chairmen. 

Grace  Lions  are  proud  of  their  part  in 

furthering  Lionism  in  Southeast  Idaho.  They 

have  been  directly  responsible  for  the  charter- 
ing of  four  Lions  Clubs,  which  they  sponsored. 

These  Clubs  and  the  dates  of  their  organiza- 
tion are  as  follows:  The  Preston  Lions  Club, 

February  10,  1936;  Bancroft  Lions  Club, 

February  17,  1944;  Lava  Lions  Club, 

November  15,  1945;  Inkom  Lions  Club,  May 

26,  1972. 

Sight  and  Hearing  Conservation  are 

among  the  basic  tenets  of  Lionism  and  the 

Grace  Lions  are  proud  that  they  have  been 

able  to  help  many  people  of  our  area.  Eye  ex- 
aminations are  paid  for  and  eye  glasses  are 

purchased  by  the  Lions  Club  for  those  people 
who  have  the  need  but  are  unable,  for  financial 

or  other  reasons,  to  satisfy  this  need. 

Each  year  the  Grace  Lions  provide  sight 

and  hearing  screening  for  our  school  children. 

This  is  done  to  help  determine  those  children 

who  may  need  professional  help.  Many 

children  with  eye  problems  have  been  dis- 
covered through  the  eye  screening  program. 

Lions  Clubs  are  international  in  scope 

and  are  organized  for  the  service  they  can 

provide  to  their  communities.  Over  the  years 

the  Grace  Lions  Club  has  provided  many  ser- 

vices to  the  community  of  Grace  and  the  sur- 
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rounding  area.  A  few  of  the  major  ones  are 
listed  here: 

1.  GRACE  LIONS  contributed  a  por- 
tion of  the  money  necessary  to  purchase  the 

organ  presently  used  in  our  Stake  House. 

2.  GRACE  LIONS  purchased  the  elec- 
tric scoreboard  for  the  Grace  High  School 

Gymnasium. 

3.  GRACE  LIONS  built  drinking  foun- 
tains and  provided  garbage  cans  for  use  on  the 

main  street  of  Grace. 

A  group  of  Lions  Club 
Officers  at  an 
early  Anniversary  party. 

Reading  from  left  to 
right:  Adolph  Wyss, 

John  Roghaar,  Frank 
Thomas,  (unknown), 
William  Lasley, 

Lowell  Merriam. 

4.  GRACE  LIONS  furnished  the  labor 

to  build  the  pavilion  and  rest  rooms  in  our  city 

park. 

5.  GRACE  LIONS  purchased 

playground  equipment  for  the  city  park. 

6.  GRACE  LIONS  cooperate  with  the 

Grace  Businessmen  during  the  holiday  season 

to  bring  Santa  Claus  to  the  city  of  Grace. 

7.  GRACE  LIONS  sponsor  and 

operate  a  fine  Little  League  Baseball  and 
Basketball  program. 

Current  officers  of 
the  Grace  Lions  Club 

(1976)  Back:  left  to  right, 
James  Herron,  James 
Benson,  R.  V.  Weeks, 

ValGene  Andreasen,  Neal 
Sanders.  Front:  Frank 

Thomas,  Harold  Peterson 
(President),  Robert  Hill, 

Jack  Marshall. 
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8.  GRACE  LIONS,  with  the  help  of 

other  Lions  Clubs  in  the  county,  co-sponsor 
the  annual  Miss  Caribou  Pageant. 

9.  GRACE  LIONS  maintain  an 

interest-free  student  loan  fund  to  help  needy 
students  complete  their  higher  education. 

10.  GRACE  LIONS  placed  street 

markers  throughout  the  city  of  Grace,  and 

painted  curb  line  parking  stalls  along  main 
street. 

11.  GRACE  LIONS  distribute  the 

Lions'  Birthday  Calendar  throughout  the 
valley  as  a  fund-raising  project. 

To  this  fine  service  club,  the  citizens  of 

Grace  owe  a  debt  of  gratitude.  Lions:  On  your 

50th  Anniversary,  1927-1977,  we  salute  you! 
Those  who  have  served  as  presidents  of 

the  Grace  Lions  Club  are  as  follows:  George 
Ellis,  Lowell  H.  Merriam,  C.  A.  Orr,  Burt 

Gordon,  John  Roghaar,  Arthur  W.  Adams,  L. 

Sumner  Pond,  Stanley  S.  Richardson,  Fred 

M.  Cooper,  J.  Floyd  Smart,  E.  W.  Davis, 

Milton  F.  Hartvigsen,  Peter  Johnson,  Vernon 
Mendenhall,  H.  Weiter  Jenkins,  Howard 

Peterson,  Harold  T.  Peterson,  John  W.  Webb, 

Claudius  G.  Stanton,  John  Wiswall,  G.  Heber 

5C  %^ 

Members  of  the  Grace  Lions  Club  donated  labor  on  the 
pavilion  and  rest  rooms  at  the  city  park.  Here  they  take 
a  break  from  their  labors;  from  left  to  right.  Back:  Dr. 
Charles  C.  Johnson,  Sam  Smith,  Kenneth  Roberts, 
DeVal  Gillette,  Dr.  Richard  Meek,  Dean  Dutton. 
Front:  Henry  Martinson,  Glen  Palmer,  Louis  Stalker, 

James  Benson. 

Smith,  Angus  Lasley,  Loren  Jenkins,  Earnest 

Skinner,  Sterling  K.  Hixson,  Dr.  Charles  C. 

Johnson,  Lawrence  Burgin,  Oleen  Anderson, 
Harold  B.  Lowe,  Louis  Stalker,  Frank 
Thomas,  W.  Samuel  Smith,  DeVal  Gillette, 

James  Benson,  Dean  L.  Dutton,  Donald  Peter- 
son, Kenneth  Roberts,  Harold  Varley, 

Kenneth  Lloyd,  Virgil  Benson,  Henry  Mar- 
tinsen,  Joseph  N.  Sargent,  Louis  Benson, 

Willis  Rowsell,  Jack  Marshall,  Douglas  A. 

Campbell,  Glenn  Allen,  Lloyd  Painter,  Neal 

Sanders,  Harold  T.  Peterson  (2nd  time,  in- 
cumbent). 

The  Lions  Little  League  All-Star  Baseball 
team — 1976.  Back  row,  left  to  right:  Ray  Welker 
(manager).  Kirk  Swensen,  Kenneth  Hamp,  Rhett 
Burnham,  Chris  McCurdy.  Middle  Row:  Mike  Ward, 
Robert  Mansfield,  Alan  Adier,  Steven  Shaw.  Front 
Row:  Ron  Welker,  Shane  Jensen,  Richard  Peterson. 
Coach  Ellis  Smith  (left;  Coach  David  Smith  right). 

The  Grace  Lions  Club  has  a  beautiful 

wooden  plaque  with  the  above  presidents 

names  engraved  in  a  copper  metal  tone. 

Grace  Literary  Club 

On  the  first  Monday  of  October,  1940,  a 

group  of  twenty-five  civic-minded  women  of 
Grace  met  to  discuss  plans  for  organizing  a 

Ladies  Literary  Club.  They  were  keenly  aware 

of  a  great  need  in  the  small,  somewhat  isolated 

community,  for  reading  material  and  cultural 
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The  Miss  Caribou  Pageant  is  one  of  the  outstanding  events  of  the  year  in  Caribou  County,  Idaho.  It  is  sponsored  by  Lions 

Clubs  of  Grace,  Soda  Springs,  and  Bancroft.  Girls  from  Grace  who  have  won  the  coveted  title  since  the  Pageant's  beginning 
are  shown  in  their  regal  splendor: 
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Sherrie  Ann  Olsen 
Daughter  of  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Harley  G.  Olsen.  Sherrie 
won  the  title  in  1959  and  was  the  first  girl  from  Gem 
Valley  to  be  crowned  Miss  Caribou.  She  is  now  Mrs. 
Duane  M.  Rubink,  living  in  Phoenix,  Arizona  and  the 

mother  of  four  children. 

Kathleen  Hunter 

Daughter  of  Gladys  and  the  late  Harold  Hunter,  made 
a  beautiful  picture  as  Miss  Caribou  in  1964.  Kathleen 
is  an  accomplished  dancer  and  dance  instructor.  She  is 
now  married  to  John  Williamson.  They  reside  in  Har- 

din, Montana  and  are  the  parents  of  three  little  girls. 

\ 
Sally  Westerberg 

Daughter  of  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Ferd  Westerberg,  reigned 
as  Miss  Caribou  in  1960.  Sally  is  now  Mrs.  Russell 
Rindlisbaker;  has  one  child  and  still  resides  in  Grace. 
She  has  been  director  of  the  Miss  Caribou  Pageant  for 

the  past  three  years. 

Luann  Taylor 

Daughter  of  LaVar  and  Norma  Taylor,  was  a  queenly 
and  poised  Miss  Caribou  in  1967.  She  is  now  the  wife 
of  Dr.  Calvin  Candland  and  they  reside  in  Aberdeen, 

Maryland.  They  are  parents  of  3  children. 
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Wendy  Simmons 
Daughter  of  Mr.  and  Mrs.  C.  D.  Simmons,  danced  her 
way  to  the  title  of  Miss  Caribou  and  reigned  in  1969. 
She  is  now  Mrs.  Don  Meacham  and  the  mother  of  two 

little  boys. 

programs.  A  constitution  was  drawn  up,  and 

the  avowed  purpose  of  the  Club,  as  stated  in 

Article  II  of  the  constitution,  was  "to  provide 
cultural  programs  and  build  a  library  for  Club 

members,  which  might  eventually  develop  into 

a  community  library."  Article  IV  read  in  part, 

"Fifty  dollars  is  to  be  set  aside  each  year  for 
the  purchase  of  books  for  a  community 

library." 
At  the  first  official  meeting  on  the  first 

Monday  in  November,  officers  were  elected  as 

follows:  President,  Grace  Koehler;  Vice- 

President,  Gwen  Stalker;  Sec.  and  Treas.,  Vi- 

vian Simmons;  Reporter,  Mae  Whitehead.  A 

book  review,  "How  Green  Was  My  Valley," 
was  presented  by  Laverna  Fowler,  and  a 
musical  number  rendered. 

The  Club  flourished,  with  over  50 

members  enrolled  at  the  end  of  the  first  year, 

and  twenty-five  books  purchased.  The  Club 

soon  recognized  a  great  need  for  children's 

books  and  established  a  Children's  Library.  By 

Pamela  Wilker 

Captured   the   audience   and   was   selected  as  Miss 
Caribou  for  1970.  Pamela  is  married  to  Steve  Cook, 
and  with  three  children,  they   make  their  home  in 

Sandy,  Utah. 

1947,  175  books  were  made  available  to  school 

children.  The  Club  also  sponsored  a  story 
hour. 

The  Club  continued  to  grow  and 

membership  dues  were  increased  to  $5  per  year 

(where  they  remain  at  the  present  time.)  In 
1949,  the  Club  became  affiliated  with  the  State 

and  National  Federation  of  Women's  Clubs. 
Although  a  public  library  continued  to  be  its 

foremost  goal,  the  club  began  to  initiate  other 

community  projects.  The  first  of  these  was  the 
improvement  of  the  city  park.  Other 

organizations  were  contacted  to  help  and 

much  was  accomplished.  Water  rights  were 

secured,  landscaping  was  provided,  and 

playground  equipment  was  purchased.  The 
Lions  Club  agreed  to  construct  a  fireplace  and 

the  Boy  Scouts  a  barbeque  pit. 

Each  year,  as  the  constitution  stipulated, 

$50  had  been  set  aside  for  the  purchase  of 

books.  This,  together  with  other  small  con- 
tributions, amounted  to  $  1 ,000  cash  on  hand  in 
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1955.  It  was  during  this  year  that  S.  B.  124 

came  up  for  consideration  in  the  Idaho  State 

Legislature.  This  bill  would  enable  counties  to 

levy  up  to  two  mills  for  library  purposes.  Upon 

hearing  of  this  bill,  the  Literary  Club  wrote 

their  senator,  asking  for  his  support,  which  he 

gave  whole-heartedly.  The  bill  passed  and  soon 
after,  the  Club  presented  a  petition  to  their 

County  Commissioners  to  create  a  Library 

District  for  the  Grace  area.  Their  petition  was 

granted,  an  election  was  held,  and  Grace 

became  the  first  Library  District  to  be  formed 
in  the  State  of  Idaho. 

The  Club's  main  purpose,  to  establish  a 
public  library  in  Grace,  was  now  fulfilled,  and 
it  turned  to  other  projects. 

In  1959,  the  Literary  Club  agreed  to  raise 

the  funds  if  the  Lions  Club  would  provide  the 

labor  to  erect  a  pavilion  in  the  city  park.  This 

project  was  successfully  completed  in  1960.  In 
1965,  the  Club  filed  all  back  issues  of  the  local 

paper.  The  Grace  Herald,  from  the  year  1928 

to  the  present,  and  placed  them  in  the  base- 
ment of  the  Library  for  reference  material.  An 

outdoor  lantern  and  GRACE  PUBLIC 

LIBRARY  sign  were  installed  in  front  of  the 

Library  building;  also  shrubs  were  planted. 

In  1968,  the  Community  Improvement 

Project  for  which  the  Grace  Literary  Club 

received  first  place  in  the  State  from  the  Shell 
Oil  Contest,  and  also  first  in  the  CLP. 

Contest  sponsored  by  the  Sears  Foundation, 

was  begun.  This  was  the  establishment  of  a 

Special  Education  School  for  Retarded 
Children  in  Caribou  County.  Finally,  after  two 

years  of  concentrated  effort,  the  club  was 
successful  in  establishing  this  school  and  hiring 

a  teacher  for  the  mentally  retarded  in  Caribou 

County.  This  Special  Education  class  has  now 
been  integrated  into  the  school  systems  in  the county. 

There  have  been  many  other  projects,  too 
numerous  to  mention.  The  club  was  especially 

happy  to  have  the  opportunity  of  soliciting 
funds  to  purchase  a  lovely  building  on  south 

Main  Street  to  house  the  public  library  and 

to  help  in  the  renovation  of  this  building.  The 
basement  room  of  the  library  was  carpeted  and 

paneled  for  a  public  meeting  place.  The. 

Literary  Club  shared  in  the  cost  of  purchasing 

40  folding  chairs,  and  the  club  purchased  a 

beautiful  second-hand  Wurlitzer  piano. 

The  Club  was  happy  to  promote  the  sale 

of  the  book,  "I  Think,  Therefore  I  Am",  by 

The  Grace  Literary  Club 
was  instrumental  in 
establishing  the  flrst  public 
library  in  the  city  of 
Grace.  The  Grace  Library 
District  was  the  first 
to  be  formed  in  the 
state  of  Idaho.  This 
building  was  acquired  as 
a  Library  in  1958.  It 
was  built  in  1914-1915  and  was 
first  a  printing  office.  It 
was  then  a  residence  where 
the  Albert  Medford  family 
lived  for  many  years;  and  later 

the  Lyie  Tuttles. 

232  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



TP 

4 

^ 

f^^.m 
^ 

^.r 
J 

School  children  of  Grace  carry  books  from  old  library 
building  to  the  new  one. 

Art  and  Poetry  Contest,  sponsored  by  the  Grace 
Literary  Club  each  year  for  school  children.  Shown  in 
top  picture,  left  to  right  are:  Back  Row:  Angela  Smith, 
Karia  Harris,  Clark  Bitton,  Vance  Smith.  Front  Row: 
Michael  Hulse,  Michael  Clegg,  Terese  Smith.  Shown 
in  the  bottom  picture  on  the  left  are  left  to  right:  Evan 
Wilson,  Stephanie  Peterson,  Kathy  Adier.  On  the  right 
in  bottom  picture  are:  Sara  Jo  Hansen,  Sharon 

Kingsford,  Tina  Farnsworth,  Leanne  Waller. 

Elsie  Hubbard  presents  her  original  poetry  before 
members  of  Grace  Literary  Club.  She  is  holding  an 
original  painting  done  by  Lovenia  Peterson,  former 

resident  of  Gem  Valley. 

- — .    <-i. 
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In  1972  the  Grace  Literary  Club  contributed  about  $1,- 
800  toward  the  purchase  of  this  brick  building  on  Main 
Street  and  assisted  with  the  remodeling  and  renovating 

of  the  building  for  our  public  library. 

Current  Literary  Club  officers:  (1977)  Back:  Ramona 
Barthlome  (assis.  sec.)  Beth  Weaver  (1st  vice  pres.) 
Charlotte  Peterson  (sec.)  Front:  Phyllis  Olsen  (presi- 

dent) Alta  Peck  (2nd  vice  president). 
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local  author,  J.  Stanley  Harrison,  from  which 
it  realized  a  small  commission. 

An  Art  and  Poetry  contest,  held  each 

year  for  the  school  children,  has  been  well- 
received,  and  many  prizes  have  been  won  in 
district  and  state  contests. 

Through  the  years,  scrapbooks  have  been 

prepared  each  year  by  the  Club  Historian,  with 

pictures  and  news-clippings  of  the  Club's  ac- 
tivities. The  Club  has  been  fortunate  in  win- 

ning either  first  or  second  place  with  its  scrap- 
books  in  district  and  state  contests.  A  small 

yearbook  is  also  printed  each  year  and 
presented  to  each  member. 

Regular  monthly  meetings  are  held  from 

September  through  May  on  the  first  Monday 

of  the  month  at  2  p.m.  Cultural  and 

educational  programs  are  presented  at  these 

meetings.  Club  officers  are  elected  every  two 

years,  with  the  first  vice-president  succeeding 

to  the  presidency.  This  book,  "Gems"  of  Our 
Valley  has  been  a  club  project  for  the  last  three 

years. 
Past  Presidents  of  the  Grace  Literary 

Club:  Mrs.  J.  B.  Koehler  (Grace),  Mrs.  Willis 

Bassett  (Frances),  Mrs.  Frank  Stoddard 

(Melva),  Mrs.  Floyd  Sorensen  (Ethel),  Mrs.  J. 

N.  Sargent  (June),  Mrs.  John  Wiswall 

(Eleanor),  Mrs.  Alvin  Whitehead  (Mae),  Mrs. 

Louis  Stalker  (Gwen),  Mrs.  Milton  F.  Hart- 
vigsen  (Virgil),  Mrs.  Bryce  Turner  (Henrietta), 

Mrs.  Homer  Williams  (Ruby),  Mrs.  Marvin 

Smith  (Peggy),  Mrs.  William  Stalder  (Jamie), 

Mrs.  F.  J.  Hale  (Marjorie),  Mrs.  Dean  Dutton 

(Berniece),  Mrs.  Thomas  Harris  (Violet),  Mrs. 

Harold  Varley  (Ruth),  Mrs.  Leo  Johnson 

(Nellie),  Mrs.  George  Revoir  (Elza),  Mrs. 

Terrell  Pack  (Mardean),  Mrs.  Fred  Van  Vleet 

(Lilas),  Mrs.  R.  V.  Weeks  (Verda),  Mrs. 

James  Parkhouse  (Lucile),  Mrs.  Don  Clegg 

(Lucile),  Mrs.  Wayne  Peck  (Elaine),  Mrs. 
Samuel  Krebs  (Treva),  Mrs.  Don  Gilbert 

(Dolores),  Mrs.  J.  N.  Sargent  (June  (2)),  Mrs. 

Dick  Holsten  (Ila),  Mrs.  F.  J.  Hale  (Marjorie 

(2)),  Mrs.  Everett  Smith  (Viola),  Mrs.  C.  D. 
Simmons  (Vivian),  Mrs.  Harold  Varley  (Ruth 

(2)),  Mrs.  Harley  Olsen  (Phyllis)  (current). 

Daughters  of  the  Utah  Pioneers — Mt.  Sherman 

Camp,  Grace 

The  Mt.  Sherman  Camp  of  the  Daughters 
of  Utah  Pioneers  was  organized  October  24, 

1950,  at  3:30  p.m.  in  the  Grace  Second  Ward 

Church  house.  From  a  panel  of  delegates  the 

following  officers  were  chosen:  Hazel  Sullivan 

as  first  captain.  She  served  from  1950  to  1954; 

Cora  Palmer  served  as  captain  from  1954  to 

1958;  Lydia  Hawker,  captain  from  1958  to 

1960;  Ethel  Smith,  captain  from  1960  to  1962 

Roxie  Marshall,  captain  from  1962  to  1966 

Grace  Johnson,  captain  from  1966  to  1968 

Caroline  Merriam,  captain  from  1968  to  1970 
Roxie  Marshall,  from    1970  to   1976.  Neva 

Johnson  was  appointed  in  1976  and  is  serving 

at  the  present  time. 

On  December  8,  1950,  the  group  voted  by 

secret  ballot  for  a  name  for  their  camp.  Mt. 
Sherman  was  announced  as  the  official  name, 

taken  from  the  highest  mountain  on  the  east  of 
Grace. 

Women  are  eligible  to  join  the  camps  who 

are  descendants  of  at  least  one  pioneer  who 

reached  the  Great  Salt  Lake  Valley  before 

1869.  New  members  are  always  welcome. 

The  D.  U.  P.  seeks  to  perpetuate  the 
names  and  achievements  of  men,  women,  and 

children  who  were  pioneers,  by  preserving  oki 

landmarks,  marking  historical  places,  collec- 
ting relics  and  histories,  establishing  a  library 

of  historical  matters  and  publishing  their  fin- dings. 

Meetings  are  held  monthly,  and  at  each 

meeting  a  history  is  read,  and  then  sent  to  Salt 
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A  monument  at  the  City  Park  honoring  the  pioneers  of 

the  Last  Chance  Canal  Company.  The  plaque  was  fur- 
nished by  members  of  the  Mt.  Sherman  Chapter  of  the 

D.  U.  P. 

Lake  City  to  the  Central  D.  U.  P.  Company. 

These  are  filed  permanently  for  future  use. 

In  the  fall  of  1956,  at  the  Grace  City 

Park,  a  monument  was  unveiled  and  dedicated 

honoring  the   pioneers   of  the   Last  Chance 

Present  officers  of  the  Grace  Chapter  of  the  Daughters 
of  Utah  Pioneers  (Mt.  Sherman  Camp)  from  left  to 
right:  Grace  Johnson  (first  vice-captain),  Evelyn 
McCammon  (2nd  vice-captain),  Neva  Johnson  (cap- 

tain), LaVine  Neilsen,  (secretary). 

Canal  Co.  The  plaque  was  furnished  by 
members  of  the  D.U.P.  The  slate  rock  marker 

stands  facing  the  west  in  the  park. 

4-H  in  Gem  Valley 

About  50  years  ago,  with  the  passage  of 

the  Smith-Lever  Act,  through  the  Cooperative 

Extension  Service,  the  4-H  program  was 

developed  for  rural  boys  and  girls  to  "learn  by 
doing"  in  farm  and  home  enterprises.  Club 
members  demonstrated  the  ideas  at  home  un- 

der the  guidance  of  local  volunteer  leaders  and 

parents.  The  same  broad  principles  guide  the 

present  4-H  club  program,  although  it  has 
been  opened  up  with  its  varied  projects  to  now 
include  the  urban  youth. 

More  than  two  million  boys  and  girls 

make  up  4-H  club  membership  in  the  United 
States.  In  Idaho,  nearly  20,000  boys  and  girls 

belong  to  4-H  clubs.  At  the  peak  of  enroll- 
ment. Caribou  County  had  over  650  members 

enrolled;  now  it  is  down  to  405  because  of 

competitive  interests.  The  area  has  had  many 

dedicated  Extension  Agents  to  help  organize 

the  clubs,  train  and  guide  the  leaders  in  plan- 
ning club  programs  and  activities. 
J.  W.  Thometz  was  the  first  extension 

agent  to  start  the  4-H  program  in  Gem  Valley. 
He  came  to  Grace  around  1920  and  started 

Cyril  Allen,  son  of  Francis  Allen,  and  Harold 

(Harry)  T.  Peterson,  son  of  Emil  Peterson, 
with  registered  Duroc  Hog  projects.  These 

were  among  the  first  registered  Duroc  hogs 

brought  into  the  valley.  These  boys  fed  and 

cared  for  the  gilts  and  later  entered  them  in  the 

fair  at  Blackfoot.  Later,  Cyril  had  the  grand 

champion  sow  at  Blackfoot.  This  hog  project 

was  infiuential  in  Cyril's  receiving  the  Union 
Pacific  scholarship  to  the  University  of  Idaho. 

There  is  no  record  of  when  the  first  cook- 

ing, sewing  and  livestock  clubs  were  organized 
in  Gem  Valley. 
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In  1927,  Bert  Hayes  was  the  leader  of  a 
Calf  Club  with  Martin  Telford,  Conrad  and 

Darrel  Toone,  Delos  Hubbard,  Glen  Allen, 

Ellis  and  John  Chatterton,  and  Merlin  Hayes 

as  members.  Miss  Ada  Ashbaker,  in  1928,  led 

a  canning  and  baking  club  whose  members 

were  Sara  Hansen,  Irene  Olund,  Vera 

Howard,  Jessie  Parkhouse,  Millie  Bennett,  Af- 
ton  Thatcher,  Elsie  Ashbaker,  Lillie  Bennett, 
and  Vonda  Hansen. 

In  1929,  Mrs.  Ruth  (J.  D.)  McGregor  of 

Cleveland,  began  an  outstanding  career  in  4-H 

Members  of  the  Ex-Cello  Club, 
under  the  direction  of 

Ruth  McGregor;  fifteen 
of  her  club  members  won 

trips  to  the  National  4-H 
Congress  in  Chicago.  Club 

members  shown  in  the  picture 
are,  left  to  right:  Back 

Row:  Martha  Harris  Hansen, 
Sara  McGregor  Westerberg, 

Margaret  McGregor 
Nuffer,  LaRene 

Panter  Corbett,  Wanda 
Harris  Miles.  Front  Row: 

Harriette  McGregor 
Williams,  Ruth 

Curtis  McGregor  (leader), 
Merna  McGregor  Clegg, 

LaVon  Gray  Westover. 

leadership.  Not  only  did  she  guide  a  whole 

generation  of  4-H  girls,  but  she  raised  10 
children  of  her  own,  who  also  became  4-H 

leaders.  Through  her  leadership  of  the  Ex- 
Cello  Club,  1 5  of  the  members  won  trips  to  the 

National  4-H  Congress  in  Chicago.  Four  of 

these  were  her  own  daughters — Sara, 
Margaret,  Harriette,  and  Merna.  Mrs. 

McGregor  was  honored  at  a  4-H  leaders 
recognition  awards  banquet  in  1954  and 
received  her  Emerald  Clover  Award  pin  for  25 

years  of  service.  She  also  served  on  the  Ban- 

Four  members  of  the 
Harris  Mickelson  family 
who  have  contributed  much 
to  the  4-H  program. 
From  left  to  right: 
Lawrence,  Daniel,  Harris,  Riley, 

Norris.  They  have  all  excelled 
in  Dairy  Club  projects. 
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nock  County  4-H  Advisory  Council  for  several 

years. 

Four  generations  of  the  Harris  Mickelson 

family  have  contributed  much  to  the  4-H 
program.  His  wife,  Norma,  and  all  eleven  of 

their  children  have  participated  in  club  work, 

winning  many  awards  for  outstanding  achieve- 
ment. In  1952,  Harris  built  the  recreation  hall 

and  cabins  at  Alpine  4-H  Camp.  In  1954,  he 
donated  a  Holstein  bull  calf  that  was  raffled 

to  build  two  cabins  for  Caribou  County. 

In  1950,  Wallace  Peterson,  county  exten- 

sion agent,  organized  a  county  4-H  club  coun- 

cil to  assist  him  in  planning  the  county's  4-H 
activities.  Harold  Pack  and  Max  Rigby  served 

on  the  first  council  with  Max  later  serving  as 

president.  Other  presidents  and  members  of 

the  council  from  this  valley  have  been — Daniel 
Mickelson,  Glen  Allen,  Mary  Allen,  Floyd 
Toone,  Gwen  Toone,  Dolores  Gilbert,  as 

presidents;  as  members — Roxie  Marshall, 
Elaine  Gibson,  Joan  Farnworth,  Norris  and 
Nadine  Mickelson. 

Caroline  Haglund  began  her  dedicated 

career  as  a  leader  in  Caribou  County  in  1937, 

where  she  helped  to  recruit  and  train  leaders. 

Moving  to  Grace  in  1945,  she  continued 

her  work  in  Bannock  County,  attending  the 

club  congress  at  Moscow  in  1945.  Caroline 

was  chairman  of  the  4-H  department  at  the 
Black  and  White  Fair,  and  later,  the  Caribou 

County  Fair.  Caroline  led  a  sewing  club  for  20 

years,  teaching  all  the  girls  in  her  own  home. 

Both  daughters,  Joan  and  Allene,  were  active, 

with  Joan  assisting  her  mother  for  four  years. 

In  1957,  Cecil  AUdaffer,  Caribou  County  Ex- 
tension Agent,  presented  Mrs.  Haglund,  while 

she  was  ill  in  the  hospital,  her  diamond  Clover 

pin  for  20  years  service,  before  her  death  late 

that  year.  A  County  4-H  council  scholarship 

was  given  in  her  honor  and  has  been  presented 

every  year  since  to  the  outstanding  4-H  boy  or 
girl  in  the  county.  Her  daughter,  Joan,  inspired 

by  her  mother's  dedication,  has  led  a  club  for  6 
years,  whose  members  have  excelled  in 

clothing  projects,  especially  modeling. 

Jack  Gibbs,  with  his  registered  Hereford 

cattle,  was  one  of  the  outstanding  beef 

breeders  and  4-H  leaders  in  the  county.  In 
1936,  he  started  a  dairy  club  at  Niter,  and 

later,  promoted  beef  projects.  His  daughter, 

Sidney  Ann,  won  the  Grand  Championship 

Award  with  her  beef  at  the  Golden  Spike  Show 

at  Ogden  one  year.  His  son,  Mark,  also  won 

many  awards  with  his  projects. 

Jack's  wife,  Afton,  was  a  dedicated 
clothing  leader  with  her  girls  winning  awards 

at  fairs,  and  at  the  "Make  it  With  Wool"  con- 
test. Afton  has  instructed  several  clothing 

workshops  in  the  area. 

Mrs.  Marjorie  Stone  came  to  Grace  as  a 

Home  Demonstration  Agent  at  Large  to  assist 

and  instruct  leaders.  After  her  marriage  to 

Frank  Hale,  she  led  a  clothing  club  for  15 

Caroline  Haglund,  awarded  a  diamond  clover  pin  for 
twenty  years  of  service  to  4-H  work.  A  scholarship  was 

also  given  in  her  honor. 
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years.  Her  two  daughters,  Kaye  and  Jessye, 

were  both  very  active  and  excelled  in  all  their 

projects. 

Another  prominent  family  in  promoting 

4-H  through  an  outstanding  registered  dairy 
herd  has  been  the  Alfred  Toone  family.  All 

four  sons — Conrad,  Harmon,  Darrel  and 

Floyd — were  active  in  dairy  projects  under 

their  father's  leadership.  Both  Mr.  and  Mrs. 
Floyd  Toone  were  4-H  club  leaders  and  served 

as  County  4-H  Club  Council  members  for 

many  years  and  each  in  turn  as  council  presi- 

dent. In  1973,  they  received  an  award  for  out- 

% 

Joan  Farnworth,  daughter  of  Caroline  Haglund,  in- 

spired by  her  mother's  dedication,  has  led  a  club  for  six 
years.  Her  club  members  have  excelled  in  clothing 
projects,  especially  modeling.  Shown  in  picture  is  her 
daughter,  Penny,  who  has  won  a  great  many  awards 

both  in  sewing  and  modeling. 

Standing  service  in  the  4-H  program.  Their 
own  four  sons  have  also  been  very  active. 

Roxie  Marshall  has  been  an  outstanding 

4-H  leader  for  many  years,  receiving,  in  1969, 
her  15  years  ruby  Clover  Award  pin.  As  an  R. 

N.  she  served  as  camp  nurse  at  the  annual  4-H 
camp  at  Alpine  for  many  years.  Her 

remarkable  talents  enabled  her  to  lead  a  varie- 

ty of  projects.  In  1969,  she  attended  the 

western  regional  4-H  training  forum  at  the 
Colorado  State  University  at  Ft.  Collins, 

Colorado,  as  a  4-H  leader  delegate  from 
Idaho.  Both  of  her  children  have  excelled  and 

won  various  awards  in  4-H  projects. 

The  Glenn  Allen  family  have  also  been 

active  in  the  4-H  program.  Glen  was  one  of  the 

•p^iifl^*' 
Jack  Gibbs  and  wife,  Afton,  with  children,  Sidney  Ann 

and  Mark  who  won  many  awards  with  their  beef  pro- 
jects. Afton  was  also  a  clothing  leader  for  many  years. 

Marjorie  Hale led  a  clothing 

club  for  15  years. 
Her  two  daughters, 
Kaye  and  Jessye, 

excelled  in  all 
their  projects. 
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early  leaders  in  dairying.  He  later  led  a  hog 
club,  and  assisted  at  the  club  and  county  fairs. 

Both  Glenn  and  Mary  have  served  on  the 

Caribou  County  4-H  council  for  many  years, 
and  each,  in  turn,  served  as  council  president. 

4-H  Club  Council  In  1965.  Glen  Allen  seated  at  left; 
Gwen  and  Floyd  Toone  at  far  right. 

Roxie  Marshall, 

outstanding  4-H 
leader,  received  her 

15  years  ruby 
clover  award 

pin  in  1969. 

m 

Glen    and    Mary    Allen    have    served    as    Council 
Presidents;  Mary  has  been  a  4-H  leader  for  27  years 
and  received  her  emerald  Clover  pin  for  25  years  of  ser- vice. 

Mary  has  been  a  leader  for  27  years.  In  1975, 

she  received  an  Emerald  Clover  for  25  years  of 

service.  She  has  specialized  in  food  prepara- 
tion, with  demonstrations  and  illustrated  talks 

for  her  club  members,  who  have  received 
numerous  awards  in  this  area.  She  was 

selected  as  one  of  the  Idaho  delegates  to  attend 

the  first  Western  Regional  4-H  Training 
Forum  at  Pacific  Grove,  California,  in  March, 

1966.  The  family  hosted  Miss  Sumiko  Aso, 

farm  youth  exchange  student  from  Japan,  in 

1969.  Their  children,  Larry  and  JoAnn,  have 

won  wide  recognition  for  their  numerous 
awards. 

Wanda  Miles,  inspired  as  a  member  of 

Mrs.  McGregor's  club,  was  an  active  leader 
for  several  years,  as  were  her  daughters. 

The  Don  Gilbert  family  has  contributed 

much  to  the  4-H  program.  Don  and  Dolores 
have  served  on  the  council  for  many  years, 

with  Dolores  presiding  as  president  for  two 

Larry  Allen,  son 
of  Mr.  and  Mrs. 
Glen  Allen  won 

the  Idaho  State  Dairy 
Award  and  trip  to 

Chicago  to  the 
National  4-H  Club 

Congress;  received 
both  Union  Pacific 
and  Standard  Oil 

scholarships. 
--%. 
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JoAnn  Allen, 

daughter  of Mr.  and  Mrs.  Glen 
Allen  won  the 
Idaho  State  Veterinary 

Science  Award — completed 

56  projects  in  nine 
years  and  received  both 
the  Union  Pacific  and 
Standard  Oil 
scholarships. 
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years.  All  four  of  their  children  have  been  ac- 

tively engaged  in  4-H  projects,  winning  many 
county  and  district  awards  for  excellence. 

The  same  can  be  said  of  the  Harold 

Varley  family,  whose  four  daughters  have  ex- 

celled in  4-H  projects,  winning  various  awards, 
trophies  and  scholarships. 

Norma  Taylor  served  as  a  clothing  leader 

for  seven  years,  with  her  own  daughters  and 

other  club  members  doing  outstanding  work. 

Their  clothing  projects  and  modeling  won 

many  awards  for  them  at  county  and  district 

fairs  and  the  "Make  It  With  Wool"  contest. 
Jean  Thomas,  daughter  of  Mr.  and  Mrs. 

Harrison  Thomas  of  Grace,  was  active  in  4-H 
for  9  years.  Of  the  many  awards  she  received, 

her  cherry  pie  taking  first  place  in  the  Idaho 

State  cherry  pie  contest  was  her  biggest  thrill. 

This  won  for  her  a  trip  to  Chicago  in  1961. 

Cindy  Gilbert, 

daughter  of  Mr. 
and  Mrs.  Don  Gilbert, 

has  been  active 
in  4-H  for  10  years, 

completing  24  projects. 
She  was  the 

state  of  Idaho's outstanding  4-H  Club 
member  in  Dairy  Foods; 

won  an  all  expense-paid 
trip  to  Chicago  to  the 

National  4-H  Club 

Congress  in  1974. 

Jean  Thomas,  daughter  of  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Harrison 
Thomas,  was  active  in  4-H  for  9  years.  Of  the  many 
awards  she  received,  taking  first  place  in  the  Idaho 

State  Cherry  Pie  Contest  was  her  biggest  thrill. 

Don  and  Dolores  Gilbert  and  all  four  of  their  children 

have  been  very  active  in  4-H  work.  Representing 
Caribou  County  at  the  national  4-H  Citizenship  Short 
Course  in  Washington,  D.C.  are  two  Grace  girls, 
shown  in  the  picture:  Susan  Varley  and  Cindy  Gilbert. 
Don  Gilbert  is  at  left  and  Mrs.  Gilbert  and 

Congressman,  Orval  Hansen,  are  at  right. 

Jayne  Condie,  active  in  4-H,  has  won  many  awards 
with  her  modeling  and  demonstrations. 
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Jayne  Condie  has  participated  in  4-H  for 

8  years  and  has  accumulated  a  large  assort- 
ment of  awards  with  her  projects,  modeling, 

and  demonstrations. 

Most  boys  on  entering  high  school  discon- 
tinue their  4-H  projects  to  become  active  in  F. 

F.  A.  and  through  their  earlier  training  in  4-H, 
have  become  oustanding  in  the  F.  F.  A. 

program. 

Since  the  early  1960's  there  has  been  in- 
creased interest  in  horse  clubs  in  the  county, 

with  nearly  100  entries  in  the  4-H  horse  divi- 
sion at  the  1976  Caribou  County  Fair. 

Mrs.  Mae  Wheatley  was  the  first  horse- 

club  leader.  Later,  Joyce  Kirby,  Saralyn  Gib- 
son, Jo  Ann  Allen,  Loy  Raye  Keller,  Joylene 

Lloyd,  Phyllis  Barthlome,  and  Annetta  Ander- 
son served  as  leaders.  Joyce  Kirby  received  her 

10-year  pin  in  1976.  Bryce  Turner  has  con- 
tributed much  to  the  horse  program. 

The  4-H  program  has  varied  activities 

such  as  4-H  camp,  community  service,  com- 

munity pride,  builder's  clubs  and  4-H  Club 
Congress  (state  and  national). 

The  Union  Pacific  Scholarship  and  Stan- 
dard Oil  Scholarships  have  made  it  possible 

for  many  4-H  members  to  further  their  educa- 
tion. 

There  are  now  more  than  40  club  projects 

for  urban  youth  as  well  as  rural. 

Many,  many  leaders  and  4-H  members, 
who  have  not  been  listed  because  of  lack  of 

record  or  space,  have,  through  their  ac- 
complishments, contributed  much  to  the 

progressive  development  of  4-H  in  Gem 
Valley.  Our  homes  and  community  have  been 

enriched  by  their  efforts. 

s  A 

One  of  the  cabins  built  at  the  Alpine  4-H  Camp  by 
Harris  Mickelson. 

^       ̂ .^ 

4-H  Horse  Project;  Halter  Class— showing  at  County 
Fair. 

Receiving  the  Friend  of  4-H  Award— Floyd  and  Gwen 
Toone  of  Grace,  Idaho  at  left;  Cecil  Alldaffer,  County 
Extension  Agent,  and  Clara  Archibald,  Council  Presi- 

dent at  right— 1973. 
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Wherever  they  are,  4-H  club  members  relationships  and  better  world  understanding 

strive  individually  and  cooperatively  for  better  by  making  "the  best  better", 
citizenship,    better    living,    better    family 
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CHAPTER  XII 

True  Stories, 
Experiences  And  Tidbits 
"Around  about  1900,  the  ice  cave  was  quite  an  attraction.  I  remember  a 
group  of  young  folks  were  in  there  once  and  a  lot  of  bats  were  hanging 
on  the  sides  of  the  cave.  They  were  so  cold  you  could  just  pick  them  off. 
I  got  one  by  the  wings  and  started  toward  Wayne  Warner  and  he 

screamed  and  ran  like  a  girl  from  a  mouse — he  said  he  got  bit  by  one 

once  and  it  wouldn't  let  go." 
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Dog  tread  mill  wheel,  built  by  Alma  Hubbard  to  pump  water.  The  door  through  which  the  dog 
entered  is  at  the  top  ot  the  picture.  The  dog  was  kept  chained  up  until  water  was  needed,  then  was 
placed  in  the  wheel;  as  he  ran  for  exercise,  the  wheel  turned  and  pumped  water  from  a  well. 

V.^>' 

The  dog  that  pumped  the  water  and  his  friend  and  tender,  Deles  Hubbard.  When  the  dog  tired  and 
quit,  Delos  and  his  younger  brother,  Robert  replaced  the  dog  in  the  wheel. 
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Stones  of  Frank  C.  and  Sarah  E.  Christensen 

The  Rabid  Coyote 
Between  THEfarm  house  and  .hebarn 

Stood  the  bunk  house  where  John  Busten- 

garri  and  Melvin  Christensen  slept.  The 
two  had  finished  breakfast  and  were  back  at 

the  bunk  house  getting  ready  for  a  spring  day's 
work  when  a  strange  noise  assailed  their  ears. 

They  looked  out  and  saw  this  coyote  running 

boldly  down  from  the  hills,  and  like  a  stray 

dog,  began  weaving  in  and  out  among  the 

range  cattle,  nipping  at  them  as  he  ran. 

Melvin  and  John  stared  at  it  in  astonish- 

ment. They  looked  at  each  other  and  breath- 

ed the  dreaded  word,  "Rabies?" 
Melvin  ran  for  a  rifle  and  John  tried  to 

find  shells  for  it.  He  could  find  none.  Melvin 

grabbed  the  gun,  jumped  on  the  horse  and 

gave  chase.  The  coyote  was  too  fast.  He 

quickly  ran  through  the  herd  of  calves  in  the 

east  field.  His  pointed  ears  erect  and  his 

bushy  tail  dragging,  he  disappeared  in  low 
bushes  near  the  foothills  beforeMelvin  could 

get  through  the  pasture  gate. 

In  the  afternoon  of  the  same  day, 

between  3  and  4  o'clock,  John  Bustengarri 
was  cleaning  the  cow  barn  when  he  heard  a 

commotion  outside  among  the  milk  cows. 

With  pitchfork  in  hand,  he  ran  out  of  the 
barn. 

The  cows  crowded  each  other  against 

the  corral  fence,  bawling  and  pushing  to  get 

out  of  the  gateway.  Snarling  and  snapping 

savagely  at  them  was  the  coyote.  John  rais- 
ed his  pitchfork  and  when  the  coyote  whirled 

near,  rammed  the  fork  through  his  body,  pin- 
ning him  to  the  ground.  He  was  dead  when 

Melvin  came  running  to  the  barn. 

Just  as  they  began  skinning  him,  Grand- 
pa rattled  up  on  the  buckboard.  When  he 

heard  their  story  he  commanded,  "Stop!  Go 
clean  your  knives  and  hands.  If  that  coyote  is 

rabid,  you,  yourselves  can  get  rabies  from 

it.  Call  Tom  and  Joe  and  let's  get  the  cattle 
separated.  All  those  that  have  been  near 

this  coyote  must  be  kept  in  a  corral  away 

from  the  others." 
This  should  have  been  the  end  of  the 

story.  The  villain  had  been  killed  and  the  in- 
fected cattle  corraled.  But  it  was  not  so. 

This  was  the  beginning  of  a  nightmare 
that  lasted  all  summer  and  late  into  the  fall. 

One  story  has  it  that  Grandpa  chopped  the 

coyote's  head  off  and  sent  it  to  Boise  to  the 
Health  Department  to  determine  if  it  was 

rabid ;  another  says  he  sent  part  of  the  brain. 

At  the  same  time,  at  the  town  of  Grace, 

a  dog  had  bitten  a  child.  John  Kirby  sent  in 

part  of  the  dog's  head  to  be  diagnosed.  When 
the  reports  came  back,  the  tests  on  the  dog 

were  positive,  but,  strangely,  all  tests  on  the 

coyote  were  negative. 

Meanwhile,  back  at  the  ranch,  the  cor- 
raled cattle  seemed  to  be  well — until  about 

the  21st  day.  A  hired  man  was  looking  them 

over.  A  large  steer  suddenly  whirled  around, 

lowered  his  head  and  charged  after  him.  The 
man  rolled  under  the  fence  as  the  animal 

slid  to  a  halt,  its  eyes  rolling  wildly  and  the 

muscles  in  its  neck  jerking  convulsively. 

Within  three  days  it  died.  Thirteen  more 
died  before  it  was  time  to  send  them  to  the 

range.  It  seemed  like  rabies,  yet  the  Health 

Department  said,  "No." 
After  another  two  weeks  wait  the  cattle 

were  sent  to  the  range.  Another  waiting 

period,  another  death.  Were  horse  flies 

spreading  a  disease? 
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The  men  rounded  up  the  cattle  and  drove 

them  into  a  fenced  field,  so  other  range  cat- 
tle would  not  get  infected.  Each  day  a  man 

would  ride  through  the  herd  and  shoot  any 
animal   which    acted   irritable  or   excited. 

The  question  each  day  at  the  ranch  was, 

"How  many  did  you  kill  today?"  On  one  day 
eleven  cattle  were  killed.  During  the 
summer  and  fall  140  head  of  cattle  died  or 
had  to  be  shot. 

(Source:  Members  of  the  Frank 
Christensen  family.  Written  by  Golda 

Christensen,  a  daughter-in-law.) 

"Frank  and  Sarah  and  baby  Ray  left 
Richmond,  Utah  for  Gentile  Valley  in  the 

spring  of  1888.  They  rode  in  a  homemade 

wagon  and  led  a  cow  behind  it.  When  they 
reached  the  southern  outskirts  of  Preston, 

Grandma  asked  Grandpa  to  let  her  out. 

Carrying  the  baby,  she  walked  through  the 
town.  She  was  too  proud  to  have  people  see 
her  ride  in  such  a  crude  outfit.  On  the  north 

end  of  town  she  climbed  aboard  again  and 

they  jogged  along  the  way.  When  they  reach- 
ed Bear  River  in  what  is  now  Riverdale,  one 

of  the  horses  became  sick  and  Grandpa  had 

to  go  back  to  Preston  and  buy  another." 

"Grandma  moved  between  the 
cookstove  and  the  kitchen  table  getting  the 

food  ready  for  supper. 

Grandpa  stared  curiously  at  her.  She 

tossed  her  head  as  she  thumped  a  large  bowl 
of  baked  beans  on  the  table. 

"You  needn't  stare  at  me  that  way, 

Frank,"  she  scolded.  "It's  the  style  to  have 

bobbed  hair  now.  I'm  not  going  to  be  old- 

fashioned."  She  fluffed  her  short  hair  over 
one  ear. 

There  was  no  answer.  Grandpa  got  up 
and  went  into  the  small  washroom. 

Shortly,  the  food  was  on  the  table  and 

the  children  seated  around  it.  "Frank,  what 
is  taking  you  so  long?  The  food  will  get 

cold,"  called  Grandma.  He  came  through 
the  kitchen  door.  "Dad!"  screamed  the 

girls,  "Where  is  your  mustache?"  He 
chuckled,  "I  have  to  be  in  style,  too." 

Snake  Story 

There  were  plenty  of  rattlesnakes 

among  the  lava  rocks  where  the  men  were 

digging  the  "Last  Chance"  canal.  One 
worker,  Tony,  was  terrified  of  them. 

The  men  slept  in  tents  on  the  ground. 

Grandpa  noticed  Tony  always  reached  for 
his  shoes  before  he  swung  his  feet  out  of  the 
bed  in  the  morning. 

One  night  after  Tony  was  asleep,  Grand- 

pa coiled  a  large,  dead  rattlesnake  around 
his  shoes.  Then  he  hurried  to  the  outskirts  of 

the  camp  to  sleep. 

Early  in  the  morning  one  of  the  men 

shook  Grandpa  roughly,  "Get  out  of  here  as 
fast  as  you  can.  That  Tony  has  his  gun  load- 

ed. He  is  crazy  with  fear.  If  he  finds  you,  he 

will  kill  you." 
Grandpa  grabbed  his  shoes  and  ran 

through  the  sage  brush  and  lava  rocks.  He 

came  to  a  supply  wagon.  Crawling  under  the 

wagon  he  squeezed  himself  up  on  the 
"reach"  (the  'reach'  was  a  coupling  pole 

reaching  from  the  hind  axle  to  the  bar  on  the 
front  wheels.)  and  lay  there  all  day  in  the 

boiling  sun  until  the  workers  had  finished 

their  day  and  gone  to  bed  at  night.  Stiff  and 
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cramped,  he  crept  back  to  camp.  The  next 

morning  Tony's  anger  had  cooled  down. 
(Stories  compiled  and  written  by  Golda 

Christensen) 

Chandler,  Dart,  Rao,  Durrant,  Esset,  Grant, 

Hupmobile,  Star,  Moon,  Mitchell,  Oakland, 

Overland,  Wyllys,  Paige,  Pierce  Arrow, 
Rambler,  Studebaker,  Maxwell. 

The  New  Thresher 

All  the  men  in  the  neighborhood  were 

there.  They  came  to  learn  about  it,  to  be  part 
of  the  excitement,  to  admire  it,  and  to  work. 

The  massive  Reeves  engine  crawled  into 

the  George  Dalton  place.  It  dragged  the 

threshing  machine  to  the  header  stacks  of 

wheat.  Eagerly  the  men  positioned  it  just 

right.  Then  the  rain  came.  It  rained  for  three 

weeks.  First  the  stacks  just  looked  wet,  then 

they  turned  brown,  and  lastly  they  were  ting- 
ed with  green  as  the  wheat  began  sprouting. 

To  give  them  time  to  dry  out  the 
thresher  moved  over  to  the  Bench  to  thresh 

for  Grandpa  Christensen.  Again  the  men 

angled  it  into  the  right  position.  This  time  it 

didn't  rain.  This  time  two  heavy  wheels 
dropped  into  a  lava  crack. 

(Golda  Christensen) 

The  New  Car 

It  was  an  impressive  sight.  Grandpa 

brought  it  to  a  stop  right  in  front  of  the 
house.  The  Mitchell  was  all  black  with 

beautiful  red  wheels.  It  had  seats  for  seven 

passengers  and  a  top  you  could  roll  down  to 

let  the  sunshine  in.  The  family  crowded  in 

and  drove  it  forty  miles  to  the  Goose  Lake 

ranch.  That  was  the  day! 

(Golda  Christensen) 

Automobiles  which  have  been  manufac- 

tured over  the  years  since  cars  came  into 
use,  but  are  no  longer  made:  Auburn,  Austin, 

Not  An  Eyelid  Could  She  Flutter  .  .  . 

Grandma  Gummersall  everyone  called  her 

And  it  pleased  her  you  could  see; 

To  her  each  one  was  very  special 
A  real  Grandma  was  she. 

Only  big  as  half  a  minute 

If  you're  judging  by  her  size, 
But  her  lips  were  curved  with  laughter 

And  love  of  God  was  in  her  eyes. 

She  could  sing  a  song  or  tell  a  story 
Even  dance  a  little  jig; 

But  if  someone  was  in  trouble, 

She  would  jump  into  the  rig — 

Put  a  warm  brick  at  her  feet, 

A  shawl  across  her  knee; 

Away  she'd  go  across  the  valley 
To  wherever  trouble  chanced  to  be. 

Be  it  a  new  born  baby 

Or  a  family  with  the  grip, 

She  would  stay  right  there  beside  them 
To  make  sure  no  life  would  slip. 

I  recall  a  story  she  once  told  me; 
It  was  back  in  early  days 

When  the  valley  was  still  a  wilderness. 

And  folks  had  primitive  ways. 

But  they  had  the  nicest  custom 
(We  have  lost  it  along  the  way) 

They  used  to  go  a  visiting 
And  stay  and  stay  and  stay. 
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And  so  it  was  that  Grandma  and  her  husband 

Started  out  that  winter  day 
To  visit  the  Alex  Harrises, 

Who  lived  some  five  miles  away. 

Soon  they  reached  their  home  and  children 
And  he  struggled  to  the  door; 

Stood  her  wrapped  in  all  her  blankets 
In  the  middle  of  the  floor. 

They  had  the  nicest  visit 

And  the  time  flew  by  so  fast; 

It  grew  late  before  they  knew  it 

But  they  started  home  at  last. 

Soon  the  darkness  was  upon  them 

And  the  snow  began  to  fall, 

The  horses  seemed  to  falter — 

Couldn't  find  the  trail  at  all. 

So  her  husband  told  her  plainly 

That  he  couldn't  find  the  way; 
Then  he  lifted  her  so  gently 

To  the  ground  out  of  the  sleigh. 

Wrapped  the  quilts  so  close  about  her — 
Laid  her  in  the  snow  with  ease; 

Placed  the  sleigh  seat  across  her  body, 
Covered  her  over  with  snow  lest  she  should 

freeze. 

Then  he  started  out  in  earnest 

Asking  God  to  show  the  way; 
Thus  he  floundered  in  the  snow  banks 

Until  the  break  of  day. 

When  he  took  her  from  her  shelter 

His  heart  within  him  failed, 

As  he  looked  upon  her  visage 

And  saw  how  her  face  had  paled. 

Put  her  in  the  sleigh  so  quickly. 

Gave  the  team  a  mighty  hack — 

Started  up  the  road  full  gallop — 
Grandma  lying  in  the  back. 

As  her  children  gathered  around  her — 

A  frightened,  wide-eyed  horde. 
There  she  stood  just  like  a  statue 
Frozen  stiff  as  a  board. 

Not  an  eyelid  could  she  flutter. 

Not  a  whisper  could  she  make; 

So  they  wrapped  her  in  fresh  blankets 
And  warm  food  they  made  her  take. 

Soon  she  thawed  out  good  as  ever — 
Never  paid  it  any  mind, 

Went  on  like  it  hadn't  happened 
Just  doing  good  to  all  mankind. 

When  she  told  me  all  about  it 

With  a  twinkle  in  her  eye. 

She  was  crowding  close  to  eighty 

Most  of  her  life  had  gone  by. 

(Taken  from  "Winter  Night's  Reverie"  by 
Mildred  Burton) 

James  Fowler,  who  lived  where  Reed 

and  Joyce  Kirby  now  live,  went  to  the  can- 
yon one  early  winter  morning,  being  the 

first  along  the  new  snow-covered  road.  Ed 
Meacham  was  the  second  man  up.  When  Ed 
came  to  a  snow  slide  across  the  road,  he 

noticed  the  tracks  of  Mr.  Fowler's  team  and 
sled  didn't  come  out  on  the  other  side  of  the 

slide.  Ed  yelled,  "Where  are  you?"  A  faint 

answer  came  from  under  the  snow,  "I'm 
right  here."  Mr.  Meacham  soon  got  his 
shovel  and  found  Mr.  Fowler  in  a  standing 
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position  against  a  small  quaking  Aspen  tree. 
Air  had  come  down  beside  the  tree  so  he 

could  breathe.  The  next  day,  neighbors  went 

up  and  dug  the  dead  team  of  horses  out  from 

under  the  snow.  They  retrieved  the  harness 
and  sled. 

(Told  by  Harris  Mickelson) 

Solomon  H.  Hale  was  a  Scout  and  Indian 

Interpreter.  He  told  me  once  of  being  taken 

up  by  the  Indians  while  searching  for  stolen 
horses.  When  he  told  the  Indians  he  was 

looking  for  Alex  HarrisSr.'s  horses  theChief 

said,  "Boy,  you  lie — Alex  dead."  Sol  said, 

"Yes,  Alex  dead,  he  got  two  squaw,  four 

papoose,  and  no  horses."  TheChief  then  let 
him  have  the  horses  and  sent  him  on  his  way. 

(Told  by  Harris  Mickelson) 

My  Grandfather,  Alex  Harris,  Jr.,  told 

me  this  story  about  the  Indians.  It  was  the 

battle  of  Battlecreek,  northwest  of  Preston 

on  the  west  side  of  the  river.  He  said,  "I  was 
just  a  boy  and  the  battle  was  a  fierce  one. 

Most  of  the  Indians  were  killed  and  many  of 
the  Whites.  Some  of  the  Indians  were 

brought  to  my  dad's  home  and  put  down  un- 
der the  floor,  where  there  was  a  trap  door  to 

the  cellar.  Sometimes  I  would  peek  down 

through  a  crack  and  watch  them.  I  was  real 

scared." 
(Told  by  Harris  Mickelson) 

(The  following  story  was  written  by 

Shirley  Christensen,  daughter  of  Mr.  and 
Mrs.  Melvin  Christensen  of  Bench.  It  won 

first   place   in   the   stake   in   a   Church-wide 

Primary    Contest    on    true    incidents    in 
Pioneer  life: 

My  story,  as  told  to  me  by  my  Grand- 
father, Frank  Christensen,  happened  about 

seven  miles  south  and  east  of  Grace. 

Baby's  New  Mother 

In  the  fall  of  the  year,  about  1882  or  1883, 

a  family  by  the  name  of  Vaughn  lived  about 
two  blocks  east  of  our  home.  The  Williams 

family  lived  where  we  live  now.  Mr.  and 

Mrs.  Vaughn  had  a  small  baby  boy  who  had 

just  learned  to  walk  fairly  well.  In  the  late 

afternoon  the  baby  wandered  outside  and 

was  gone  only  a  few  minutes  when  the 

mother  stepped  out  to  get  him.  She  looked  all 

around  but  could  not  see  him  anywhere. 

There  was  a  deep  gully  that  came  down  from 
the  canyon  past  the  house.  Thinking  he 

might  have  fallen  in  it,  she  looked  but  he  was 

not  in  sight.  Getting  very  excited  she  ran 

over  to  the  Williams'  home  to  get  some  of 
them  to  help  hunt  for  the  baby.  They  and 

others  in  the  community  came;  everyone 

hunted  until  it  was  too  dark  to  see,  but 
without  success. 

Next  morning,  early,  they  renewed  their 
search.  After  sometime  they  discovered 

bear  tracks  leading  past  the  house  and  up 

toward  the  canyon.  Being  frantic  with  fear, 

they  followed  the  tracks  and  every  few  steps 

was  the  print  of  a  baby's  hand  where  it  had 
been  put  down  or  dragged.  When  they  had 

gone  about  a  mile  and  a  half  up  the  canyon, 

they  came  to  a  pile  of  leaves.  Under  it  the 

baby  lay  sleeping  soundly,  exhausted  from 

crying  and  hunger.  There  was  not  a  single 
scratch  on  him  anywhere. 

I  think  the  mother  bear  must  have 

wanted  to  adopt  a  new  baby. 
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(The  following  story  won  2nd  place  in 

the  "True  Pioneer  Story"  Contest) 

How  Grandfather  Came  To  Utah 

My  grandfather  was  born  May  14,  1856, 

in  Bradford,  England.  His  father  was  con- 
verted by  the  first  L.D.S.  Elders  to  come  to 

Bradford,  so  when  my  grandfather,  whose 

name  is  Fred  Burton,  was  eight  years  old,  he 

was  baptized  also.  They  put  a  ladder  down 

into  a  well  and  this  is  where  he  was  baptized 
so  that  no  one  would  know  about  it. 

When  he  was  ten  years  old  his  people 

decided  to  come  to  Utah.  They  left  England 

on  the  tenth  of  April,  1866.  They  landed  in 

New  York  two  months  and  ten  days  later. 

They  went  by  train  to  Nebraska.  From  there 

they  started  out  to  Utah  with  a  train  of  forty 

wagons  pulled  by  oxen.  They  used  three 

teams  to  each  wagon  and  although  Grand- 
father was  only  ten  years  old,  it  was  his  job 

to  drive  one  of  the  wagons. 

When  they  came  to  the  Sweetwater 

River  the  water  was  so  high  that  it  washed 

him  out  of  the  wagon  and  into  the  water.  He 

could  not  swim  very  well  and  someone 

shouted,  "grab  the  oxen's  tail!",  which  he 
did  and  in  this  way  got  safely  across. 

By  the  time  they  reached  Parley's  Can- 
yon the  first  snow  had  fallen.  As  Grandfather's 

shoes  were  worn  out,  he  froze  his  feet  in  the 
new  snow. 

As  they  came  out  into  the  valley,  they 

were  met  by  a  man  on  horseback  who  said  he 

was  President  Brigham  Young.  He  shook 

hands  with  everyone  and  asked  them  if  they 

had  a  place  to  go  and  told  them  he  would  be 

glad  to  help  them  in  any  way  he  could. 

(By  Margene  Burton,  granddaughter) 

An  Answer  to  Prayer 

(From  Neils  Andersen's  History) 

"I  remember  kneeling  down  on  the  dirt 

floor  in  the  cellar;  it  was  Mother's  turn  to 
pray.  As  she  was  praying,  she  burst  into 
tears  and  began  to  cry.  She  begged  God  to 

open  the  way  so  we  could  get  something  to 
feed  the  family.  After  we  all  had  said, 

'Amen',  we  heard  and  saw  a  nice  fat  sheep 

standing  at  the  head  of  the  stairs.  We  hadn't 
seen  any  sheep  in  the  valley  for  several 

weeks,  so  we  caught  the  sheep  and  had  meat 

again.  We  always  felt  that  Mother's  prayer 

had  been  answered." 

The  Captain  and  the  Kids 

(From  the  John  Ira  Allsop  History) 

The  Armistice  was  signed  on  November 

11,  1918.  The  city  dads  were  celebrating  by 

tying  long  cables  to  their  cars,  to  which  tin 
cans,  old  tubs,  boilers,  or  anything  from  the 

dump  yards  that  would  make  a  big  noise 
were  attached.  (John  Ira  was  Justice  of  the 

Peace  and  had  tried  several  cases  for  going 

over  the  speed  limit  of  25  miles  per  hour). 

Libby's  youngest  child  came  running  into  the 

house  and  said,  "Grandpa,  they're  out  there 
just  speed  limit-in  and  the  very  bunch  that 

hadn't  ought  to  do  it." 
John  Ira  said  he  was  going  to  celebrate 

with  the  group  that  would  remember  it  the 

longest,  so  he  gathered  up  all  the  children  in 
the  neighborhood  and  took  them  over  to  the 

Columbia  Hall,  tore  down  yard  after  yard  of 

red,  white  and  blue  bunting,  while  tying 

sashes  on  the  children,  explaining  why  they 

were  celebrating.  Then  he  put  his  own  sash 
on  and  each  one  taking  a  little  flag,  started 
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marching  up  one  street  and  down  another. 

After  awhile,  the  big  Captain  of  those  little 

patriots  was  seen  leading  his  band  back 
home,  with  two  of  them  in  his  arms,  too 

tired  to  go  any  farther.  Most  every  day  the 

big  Captain  would  gather  up  his  group  of  fif- 
teen or  twenty  and  take  them  to  the  drug 

store  for  an  ice  cream  cone. 

How  The  First  Brick  Home  In  The 

Valley  Was  Built 

(Mana  Hubbard  History) 

Her  father  hired  a  brick  mason  to  come 

to  Mound  Valley  to  make  brick  for  their 

home.  She  helped  dig  the  clay  out  of  a  nearby 
hill,  mold  it  into  bricks,  and  bake  it  in  a 
homemade  kiln.  The  home  made  from  these 

bricks  still  stands  on  the  east  side  of  the 

highway  just  north  of  the  Bear  River  bridge  in 

Mound  Valley. 

Seining  Fish 

(From  Fred  Qualman  History) 

In  1900,  word  came  of  seining  fish  at  the 

south  end  of  Bear  Lake  and  selling  them  for 

1  '/2<;  apiece.  Fred  went  to  Bear  Lake  and 
bought  500  suckers,  and  then  he  sat  up  all 

night  long  cleaning  the  fish  and  salting  them 

down  in  a  barrel  to  sell.  He  peddled  a  few  on 

his  way  home,  then  people  came  to  the  house 

and  bought  them  for  5C  a  pound.  Fred 

recollected  selling  butter  for  llC  a  pound, 

eggs  for  6C  a  dozen,  and  wheat  for  250  a 
bushel. 

Pioneer  Experiences 

(Mrs.  John  Dalton) 

"The  first  home  I  remember  was  a  log 
cabin   with  a  dirt  floor.  There  was  a  big 

fireplace  where  the  cooking  was  done.  A 

large  hook  hung  down  from  the  chimney  to 

hang  kettles  on.  There  was  a  big  oven  to 
bake  bread  with  a  rim  to  set  the  coals  on,  so 

they  would  not  fall  off.  It  was  set  over  a  hot 

fire  and  the  coals  were  put  on  top. 

The  first  trip  I  made  to  Salt  Lake  City 

was  in  a  wagon  behind  an  ox  team.  I 

remember  them  telling  how  they  could  not 

get  matches.  My  mother  would  cover  the 

ashes  in  the  open  fireplace  to  have  a  fire  in 

the  morning.  The  neighbors  and  my  father 

paid  $1 .50  to  get  a  teamster  to  get  a  package 

of  matches  in  the  East.  Matches  were  a  lux- 

ury and  not  to  be  had  like  they  are  now." 

Lucy^s  Homemade  Remedies 

(Harvey  Gibson  History) 

Mustard  Plasters — Prickly-Pear 

Tea — Gravel  root — dandelions — yaro — bread 

and  milk  poultices — soot,  egg-shell  ground 
fine  and  honey  for  worms. 

A  Dreadful  Year 

(From  Harris  Mickelson  History) 

It  was  the  spring  of  1918;  the  snow  lay 

three  feet  deep  well  into  May;  cattle  were 

starving;  the  flu  was  raging;  and  people 

were  dying.  I  remember  my  father,  Michael 

Mickelson,  happened  to  have  a  stack  of 
threshed  straw  (wheat  and  oats).  He  told  the 

neighbors  to  come  and  get  a  load  of  straw 

each  without  charge.  He  let  each  have  a  ton 

of  hay  at  $16.00  per  ton.  One  neighbor  fed  the 
straw  roof  off  his  shed  to  his  cattle,  to  save 

some  from  starvation.  Another  cut  and  peel- 
ed willows  and  quaking  aspen  to  save  the 

lives  of  some  of  his  cattle. 

The  Spanish  Influenza  was  raging,  and 

many  men  and  expectant  mothers  died.  One 
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family  had  lost  three  of  their  children  within 

a  day  or  two.  Another  family  had  lost  a 

small  girl ;  the  father  went  out  to  get  boards 

to  lay  the  child  on  (no  morticians),  and  he 

caught  a  bad  cold  and  died,  also.  The  situa- 
tion got  so  bad  people  became  reluctant  to 

help  others  bury  their  dead. 

A  Most  Embarrassing  Moment 

(Elsie  Hubbard) 

Now  I  am  going  to  tell  you  a  funny  little 

true  story.  This  happened  in  1920.  We  had 

just  moved  from  Lago  up  by  the  sawmill  in 

Bench.  Of  course,  the  first  thing  we  had  to 

have  was  a  house ;  next  of  importance  was  a 

little  outhouse  commonly  called  the  privy. 

We  had  a  pig  and  we  had  to  have  a  pen  to 

keep  it  from  straying.  Well,  wash  day  came 

around  and  I  didn't  have  a  clothes  line  to 

hang  my  washing  on  to  dry.  So  Charles  nail- 
ed a  2  x  4  up  in  the  corner  of  the  pigpen, 

fastened  one  end  of  a  good  strong  wire  to  it 

and  the  other  end  to  the  corner  of  the  privy. 

This  was  pretty  good  and  I  used  it  for  quite 
some  time. 

There  was  a  very  wonderful  young  man 

living  near-by  who  came  and  helped  Charles 
when  he  needed  extra  help  sawing  etc. 

James  lived  at  home  and  just  came  for  the 

day  but  always  had  dinner  with  us. 

On  this  particular  morning  I  noticed 

them  out  by  the  pig  pen  with  the  big  steam 

engine  they  used  for  sawing.  I  had  no  idea 

what  they  were  planning  to  do,  but  they 

were  there  quite  a  while  and — mother  nature 
was  calling.  We  were  so  modest  in  those 

days  we  didn't  like  anyone  to  see  us  go  to  the 

privy.  But  I  thought,  "Oh, — shucks,  I  can 

slip  out  there  and  they  are  so  busy  they  won't 
even  notice  me,"   which  I  did.  I  had  just 

gotten  very  comfortably  seated  with  a  big 
Sears  and  Roebuck  catalogue  on  my  lap, 

when  the  little  outhouse  began  to  tremble; 
then  it  reared  about  2  feet  on  one  end.  Wow! 

All  modesty  was  forgotten!  I  dashed  out  of 

there  and  shouted,  "Hey !  What  are  you  guys 

trying  to  do?"  They  were  going  to  move  the 
pigpen  out  in  the  alfalfa  field  and  had 
forgotten  about  the  clothes  line.  I  never  saw 

two  fellows  laugh  so  hard  in  my  life;  and  you 

can  guess  what  would  have  happened  if  I  had 

not  gotten  out  of  there  when  I  did.  James 

was  very  quiet  and  never  said  much,  but 
every  day  when  he  came  in  for  dinner,  he 

would  look  at  me  out  of  the  corner  of  his  eye 

with  a  big  grin  on  his  face,  and  I  knew  what 

he  was  thinking  about.  Really,  it  WAS  funny. 

Excerpts  From  J.  Stanley  Harrison's Autobiography 

(Note:  J.  Stanley  Harrison  was  a  con- 
vert to  the  L.D.S.  Church  in  England  and  has 

been  a  resident  of  Gem  Valley  for  sixty 

years.  He  is  the  author  of  two  published 

books.  This  Way  But  Once  and  I  Think, 
Therefore  I  am. 

"In  May,  1916,  I  decided  to  pay  a  visit  to 
the  Smiths  in  Thatcher,  Idaho.  This  is  where 

Elmer  Smith  was  from  who  served  a  mis- 

sion in  England.  I  also  knew  Wendell, 

Elmer's  brother,  because  he  had  paid  our 
family  a  visit  in  Knightville,  Utah.  I  rode  the 

train  of  course.  I  changed  trains  at  Salt  Lake 

and  McCammon,  Idaho.  I  rode  the  train  that 

ran  daily  between  Pocatello  andMontpelier, 

Idaho.  It  was  named  the  "Ping-Pong"  by  the 
local  residents  because  it  went  back  and 

forth  each  day  and  stopped  anywhere  for 

anything  and  anybody  at  anytime.  Slow  did 

you   say.  I   later  facetiously  said  that  the 
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"Ping-Pong"  was  mentioned  in  the  Bible, 
for  isn't  it  recorded  that  the  Lord  ''created 

every  creeping  thing"? 
I  remember  as  I  passed  through  Ban- 

croft, Idaho,  it  was  snowing.  When  I  left  the 

train  at  Alexander,  Idaho  (where  the  wind 

blows  all  four  directions  at  once),  Wendell 

Smith  was  waiting  for  me  with  a  team  of 

horses  and  a  black-top  buggy.  The  horses' 
tails  were  "bobbed."  The  road  was  muddy 
and  we  splashed  our  way  seventeen  miles 

down  the  Gem  Valley.  Wendell  took  me  to 

his  brother's  place,  Sivell  Smith's,  across 
the  Bear  River  near  the  Western  Mountains. 

All  roads  were  dirt  roads  then. 

Instead  of  returning  to  Knightville  after 

my  vacation,  the  Smiths  persuaded  me  to 

stay  and  help  with  the  farmwork  that 

summer.  So  this  "greenhorn"  learned  to 
milk  cows,  rake  and  pitch  hay,  harness 

horses,  fix  fences,  and  do  a  lot  of  things 

foreign  to  my  abilities.  Naturally,  I  made 

mistakes.  Once  I  hitched  up  the  team  for 

sister  Ethel  Smith  to  attend  Relief  Society. 

She  drove  some  distance  before  she  dis- 

covered I  had  placed  the  neck  yoke  under  the 

buggy  tongue. 
Shortly  after  arriving  in  Thatcher, 

Parley  Smith  and  I  attended  a  dance  at  the 

Central  High  School.  My  Methodist  feet 

were  not  trained  for  dancing,  but  the  Relief 

Society  ladies  in  Eureka,  Utah,  had  manag- 
ed to  teach  me  enough  steps  so  that  I  could 

get  by.  I  don't  recall  ever  trying  to  dance 
that  night,  but  I  do  remember  seeing  a 

rather  small  girl  surrounded  by  a  group  of 

admiring  boys  who  were  vying  for  a  chance 

to  dance  with  her.  My  first  impression  was 

that  she  was  having  a  good  time  flirting  with 

them.  From  a  distance  she  intrigued  me 

enough  that  I  asked  Parley  what  her  name 

was.  When  he  said,  "Ruth  Bollwinkel,"  I 
thought  it  was  the  queerest  name  I  had  ever 

heard.  I  was  rude  enough  to  reply,  "That 
name  is  odd  enough  that  it  will  be  the  first 

name  I  shall  remember  on  the  morning  of 

the  resurrection." 
The  old  Thatcher  Church  was  a  two- 

story  building.  It  had  three  long  outside 

stairways  by  which  people  reached  the  up- 
per floor  where  services  were  held.  The 

Ward  dances  and  socials  were  held  in  the 

basement. 

The  first  Sunday  School  I  attended  in 
Thatcher  was  with  the  Smiths.  Guess  who 

was  sitting  up  near  the  pulpit  as  the 

secretary  of  the  Sunday  School?  That  small 

girl  of  the  dance  named  Ruth  Bollwinkel.  I 

thought  to  myself,  "She's  a  fluffy  little 
thing."  The  class  I  attended  was  taught  by 
Charles  Izatt,  Sr.  We  occupied  one  corner  of 

the  chapel  and  I  must  confess  that  my  eyes 

were  not  always  focused  on  the  teacher,  but 

they  strayed  often  to  where  the  secretary 

was  taking  the  minutes. 

Instead  of  going  back  to  Knightville 

when  the  summer  was  over,  I  decided  to  at- 
tend the  Central  High  School  at  Thatcher 

even  though  it  was  a  repetition  of  my  English 

schooling.  But  then  wasn't  Ruth  one  of  the 
students?  This  was  the  winter  of  1916-17.  I 

was  then  twenty-three  years  old.  I  did  chores 
and  rode  fourteen  miles  a  day 

horseback — many  times  I  rode  backwards  in 

sub-zero  weather.  I  was  never  tardy. 
That  winter  I  became  President  of  the 

Mutual  Improvement  Association.  There 

was  no  electricity  then.  We  carried  gas 

lamps  from  one  room  to  another  for  light. 

The  Christmas  season  of  1917-1918  my 
brother,  Walter,  and  I  visited  Thatcher, 

Idaho,  and  this  was  the  time  that  I  asked  the 

"fluffy"  girl  with  the  funny  name  of 

"Bollwinkel"  if  she  would  marry  me.  I  won't 
give  you  all  the  conditions  and  particulars, 
but  Ruth  and  I  were  in  the  back  seat  of  a 
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white-top  buggy.  Parley  Smith  was  driving 
and  Walter  was  sitting  beside  him  in  the 

front  seat.  It  was  night  and  we  were  travel- 
ing the  road  along  Bear  River  through 

"Johnny's  Hole,"  and  Ruth  did  say  "Yes." 
Ruth  and  I  built  a  one-room  house  on  an 

acre  of  ground  her  folks  let  us  use.  The  room 

was  16'  by  16'  square  built  solely  of  native 
lumber  I  hauled  by  team  and  wagon  from 

Michael  Mickelson's  sawmill  in  Lago.  For 
the  foundation  Ruth  and  I  mixed  cement  by 
hand,  a  wheelbarrow  load  at  a  time.  She 

helped  me  build  the  forms  and  tamped  the 

cement.  ElmerSmith  helped  a  little  with  the 

difficult  hip  roof.  So  now  we  had  bedroom, 

kitchen,  bathroom  and  parlor  all  one  and  the 

same  room.  The  bathroom,  by  the  way,  con- 
sisted of  a  number  three  galvanized  round 

tub  which,  when  not  in  use,  hung  on  a  nail  on 
the  outside  of  the  house.  For  an  adult  to 

bathe  in  one  of  these  tubs  was  an  artistic, 

athletic  procedure.  You  either  folded  up  in 

a  jack-knife  position  or  you  let  some  of  your 

body  parts  hang  over  the  rim  while  the  other 
parts  were  being  washed.  The  rest  of  the 
bathroom  was  a  two-holer  outhouse  within 

dashing  distance  from  the  east  door.  We  had 

running  water  all  right,  but  it  was  in  the  creek 

and  I  had  to  carry  it  in  buckets  a  hundred 

yards  or  so." 
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CHAPTER  XIII 

Church  History 
and  Chronology 

"One  of  the  first  things  that  took  place  upon  the  arrival  of  the  Mormon 
settlers  was  the  organization  of  a  Branch  with  Thomas  G.  Bennett  as 

presiding  elder." 
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Church  History  and  Chronology 
W HEN  THE  first  settlers  arrived  in  Gem 

(Gentile)  Valley  in  the  1860's  and  1870's  the 
entire  area  was  part  of  Cache  Stake.  One  of 

the  earliest  settlers  was  Ephraim  Bennett,  and 

the  first  public  meeting  was  held  in  his  home  in 
1872.  At  this  time  a  branch  of  Franklin  Ward 

was  organized  with  Thomas  G.  Bennett  as 

presiding  elder.  In  1874  the  first  ward  in  Gen- 
tile Valley  was  organized.  This  was  the  Mound 

Valley  Ward,  with  Robert  Hanna  Williams  as 

Bishop.  Another  Ward,  Mormon  Ward,  was 

organized  in  1881,  while  Gentile  Valley  was 

still  a  part  of  Cache  Stake.  In  1884  the  Oneida 

Stake  was  organized,  which  included  all  of 

Gentile  Valley.  While  a  part  of  Oneida  Stake, 

three  other  wards  were  organized  in  the 

valley — Trout  Creek  (Lago),  Cleveland,  and 
Thatcher, (from  the  original  Mormon  Ward). 

In  1898  the  Bannock  Stake  was  organized 

by  President  Heber  J.  Grant,  who,  at  the  time, 
was  an  apostle.  The  new  stake  comprised  the 

north  part  of  Oneida  Stake  and  a  small  part  of 

Bear  Lake  Stake.  It  extended  all  the  way  from 
Treasureton  on  the  south  to  Chesterfield  on 

the  north.  Lewis  S.  Pond  was  chosen  as  first 

president,  with  Denmark  Jensen  and  Clarence 

Eldridge  as  counselors.  At  this  time,  Bannock 

Stake  included,  not  only  all  of  Gem  Valley, 

but  also,  all  of  the  present  Idaho  Stake,  which 

wasn't  organized  until  1916.  At  one  time  there 
was  a  total  of  eighteen  wards  in  Bannock 

Stake.  They  were  as  follows:  Soda  Springs, 

Mound  Valley,  Thatcher  (first  and  second), 

Chesterfield,  Trout  Creek  (Lago),  Cleveland, 
Lund,  Hatch,  Grace,  Central,  Bench,  Turner, 

Bancroft,  Gray's  Lake,  Ivins,  Kelley,  and 
Wilson.  The  first  Bannock  stake  house  was 

constructed  of  cement  blocks  in  1910. 

When  Idaho  Stake  was  organized  in  1916, 

the  following  wards  were  transferred  from 
Bannock  to  Idaho:  Bancroft,  Chesterfield, 

Gray's  Lake,  Hatch,  Kelley,  Lund,  and  Soda 
Springs. 

In  1920  Bannock  Stake  was  comprised  of 

the  following  wards:  Mound  Valley,  Thatcher 

First,  Thatcher  Second,  Cleveland,  Lago 

(Trout  Creek),  Grace  First,  Grace  Second, 
Central,  Turner  and  Bench. 

With  improved  roads  and  transportation, 

consolidation  developed;  in  1924,  the  two 
Thatcher  wards  were  reunited  as  one,  and  in 

1930  the  Turner  Ward  membership  was 
transferred  to  the  Grace  2nd  Ward.  Bench 

Ward  was  consolidated  with  Williams  Ward  in 

1952,  and  in  1956,  Lago  Ward  was  disorganiz- 
ed and  also  transferred  to  Williams.  Also,  in 

1952,  Mound  Valley  and  Cleveland  con- 
solidated with  headquarters  at  Cleveland,  and 

Central  Ward  came  in  with  Grace  2nd  Ward. 

This  was  the  status  of  Bannock  Stake  until 

1974;  at  this  time,  Cleveland  and  Thatcher 

Wards  were  consolidated,  with  headquarters 

at  Thatcher.  Also  at  this  time,  the  name,  Ban- 
nock Stake,  was  changed  to  Grace  Idaho 

Stake.  Thus,  in  1977,  the  Grace  Idaho  Stake  is 

comprised  of  only  four  wards;  namely — Grace 
First,  Grace  Second,  Thatcher,  and  Williams. 

On  February  13,  1949,  the  Bannock  Stake 

Tabernacle  was  destroyed  by  fire.  The  fire 

began  about  7:30  p.m.  and  lasted  until  11:30 

p.m.  This  building  had  been  constructed  in 

1910.  Unfortunately,  many  stake  and  ward 

records  were  destroyed  in  the  fire. 

On  June  23,  1949,  footings  were  dug  for  a 

new  stake  house.  During  the  two  year  period  of 

building,  meetings  were  held  in  the  Grace  High 
School.  The  new  stake  house  was  completed 

and  used  the  first  Sunday  in  January,  1951. 
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The  stake  and  ward  records  which  follow 

were  taken  from  records  in  the  Church 

Historian's  Office  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 
There  are  many  years  for  which  there  is  no 

record  available;  this  is  undoubtedly  due  to  the 

fire  above  mentioned  which  destroyed  many 
records.  It  is  also  due  to  the  fact  that  records, 

expecially  during  the  early  years,  were  not 

always  sent  in.  There  will  undoubtedly  be  mis- 
takes, but  these  records  were  checked  and 

rechecked  in  order  to  avoid  error.  We  are  truly 

sorry  for  those  that  are  missing. 
Stake  Presidencies  who  have  served  since 

the  organization  of  Bannock  Stake  (renamed 

Grace  Idaho  Stake  in  1974)  are  as  follows: 

Lewis  S. Pond, 

first  stake 

president of  Bannock Stake; 

1898-1916. 

1916     President:  Willaim  H.  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  J.  LeRoy  Pond 
William  McGregor 

Clerk:  Joseph    H.    Bevins,    Walter 

Hogan,    Vernon    Mendenhall 
Howard  Thatcher 

M.  Ezra Sorensen, 

third  stake 

president; 
1928-1944 

1928 President:  M.  Ezra  Sorenson 

Counselors:  Elmer  W.  Smith 
Donald  W.  Clegg 

Clerk:  Howard    Thatcher,    Ferd    C. 
Christensen 

1898     President:  Lewis  S.  Pond 

Counselors:  Denmark  Jensen 

Clarence  Eldredge 

Clerk:  Joseph  H.  Bevins 

William  H. 
Mendenhall, 

second 
stake 

president; 
1916-1928 

1944 

Milton  F. 
Hartvigsen, 

fourth 
stake 

president; 
1944-1952 

President:  Milton  F.  Hartvigsen 

Counselors:  Dee  Lloyd  Andreasen 
Alvin  K.  Lechtenberg 

Clerk:  CD.  Simmons,  Merrill  Stucki, 

Wayne  Egbert 
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Dee  Lloyd  Andreasen,  fifth  stake  president,  center; 
counselors —  Earnest  Skinner,  left,  and  Kenneth  A. 

Christensen.  (President;  1952-1972). 

1952     President:  Dee  Lloyd  Andreasen 
Counselors:  Kenneth  Christensen 

Earnest   Skinner,   Robert 

Hubbard,  Owen  D.  Clegg 

Clerk:  Wayne  Egbert 

Stake  Presidency  and  High  Councilmen  of  Grace 
Idaho  Stake  in  1975.  High  Councilmen  shown  in  back, 
from  left  to  right,  are  as  follows:  Homer  Gibson,  Glenn 
Turner,  Dean  Clegg,  Carl  (Junior)  Rasmussen,  Gloyd 

Bennett,  Robert  Young,  John  Thomas,  Howard  John- 
son, Reed  McGregor,  Bill  Nielsen,  Boyd  Ruud,  Everett 

Smith.  (Note:  In  1976,  Gloyd  Bennett  moved  away  and 
was  replaced  by  Dallas  Murdock).  Stake  Presidency 
and  Secretaries  shown  in  front;  from  left  to  right — 
Parnell  Whitehead,  executive  secretary;  Gail  M.  Ray, 
1st  Counselor;  President  Dell  Maughan;  James 
Elsmore,  2nd  Counselor;  Wayne  Egbert,  Stake  Clerk 

(1975). 

Stake  Presidency  serving  at  the  present  time  (1977) 
President  Dell  Maughan,  center,  sustained  in  1972; 
President  Gail  M.  Ray  on  left  and  President  James 
Ellsmore  on  right;  first  and  second  counselors  respec- tively. 

1972     President:  Dell  Maughan 

Counselors:  Gail  M.  Ray 
ValGene    Andreasen, 
James  Elsmore 

Clerk:   Wayne    Egbert,     Parnell 
Whitehead 

(Present  -  1977) 

Stake  Relief  Society  Presidencies 

(The  Stake  Relief  Society  was  organized, 

July  31,  1898,  by  Brother  Heber  J.  Grant.) 
1898     President:  Mary  A.  Call 

Counselors:  Sarah  M.  Call 

Rosa  B.  Knowles 

Secretary:  Millie  Campbell 

Mary  A.  Call, 
first  Stake 

Relief  Society 

President  of 
Bannock 

Stake 

1898-1906 
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1916     President:  Gwen  H.  Redford 

Counselors:  Catherine  Sorensen 

Sarah  McClellan 

Secretary:  Agnes  Lloyd 

Eliza  C. 

Hale— 
1906-1910 

1906     President:  Eliza  C.  Hale 

Counselors:  Julia  A.  Pond 

Louise  Corbett 

Secretary:  Catherine  Sorensen 

Julia  A. 

Pond— 1910-1916. 

1910     President:  Julia  A.  Pond 

Counselors:  Louise  Corbett 

Catherine  Sorensen 

Secretary:   Norena    B.     Robbins, 

Elizabeth  Dalton  (assistant) 

Minnie  L. 

Sorenson — 1919-1929 

1919     President:  Minnie  L.  Sorensen 

Counselors:  Agnes     Lloyd,     Naomi 
Mendenhall  (1920),  Ethel 

Smith  (1927),  Naomi  H. 
Mendenhall,    Amy    L. 

Thatcher    (1920),    Agnes 

Lloyd    (1922),    Amanda 
Bassett  (1927) 

Secretary:  Norena  B.  Robbins,  Hattie 
G.  Pond  (assistant),  Hattie 
G.  Pond  (1920) 

Gwen  H. 

Redford— 
1916-1919 

1929 

Cora  H. 

Cooper — 

1929-1932 

President:  Cora  H.  Cooper 
Counselors:  Nettie  B.  Pond 

Lydia  Hilton 
Secretary:  Edith  W.  Hubbard 
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Susan  S. 

Turner — 
1932-1938 

Eliza  B. 

Christensen — 1945-1950 

1932     President:  Susan  Turner 

Counselors:  Anna  Lloyd 

Mary  Adams,  Anna  King 

(1937) 

Secretary:   Edith  Hubbard 

Anna 

Lloyd— 1938-1945 

1950 

Edith  W. 

Hubbard — 1950-1961 

President:  Edith  W.  Hubbard 

Counselors:  Delia  Mendenhall 

Mildred  Burton 

Secretary:  Delia  Whitehead 

1938 

1945 

President:  Anna  Lloyd Jt-"''^^, 
Counselors:  Anna    King,    Nett ie   B. 

Ann                   ̂ BRMl 

Pond  (1943) 

Nettie  B.  Pond,  Edith  W. 

Lloyd—            vI^HkS 1961-1970       '^^Ml^^aS 

Hubbard  (1943) fe  ̂ nHLJ 
Secretary:  Edith   W.    Hubbard, Eliza 

Christensen  (1943) 1961     President:  Ann  P.  Lloyd 
President:  Eliza  B.  Christensen Counselors:  Vera  Roper 

Counselors:  Edith  W.  Hubbard Sybil    McGregor, 

Delia  Mendenhall Hogan 

Secretary:  Millie  Webb Secretary:  June  Christensen 

Erma 
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1970     President:  Ada  C.  Williams 

Counselors:  Georgia  H.  Jensen, 
Louette  C.  Mickelson 

(1975) 
Arvilla  S.  Fraser,  lona  A. 
Thomas  (1975) 

Secretary:  June  Christensen 

(Present  -  1977) 

The  Singing  Mothers  were  organized  in 
Bannock  Stake  in  1932,  when  Susan  Turner 

was  Stake  Relief  Society  President.  Mary 
Adams  was  chosen  as  director  and  Lovenia 

Peterson  as  accompanist.  This  organization 

has  become  a  permanent  and  prominent  part 
of  stake  activities.  Those  who  have  served  as 

directors  since  Mary  Adams  are — Lucile 

Clegg,  Ruth  Peterson  Jenkins,  Geraldine  For- 
bush,  Audrey  Patterson,  and  Phyllis  Olsen, 
who  remains  the  director  at  the  present  time 

(1977). 

m^  B 

"''frffl 

Stake  Relief  Society  Presidency  of  Grace  Idaho  Stake 
( 1977)  from  left:  Ada  Williams,  president;  sustained  in 
1970;  Louette  Mickelson,  First  counselor,  sustained  in 
1975;  lona  Thomas,  second  counselor,  1975;  June 

Christensen,  secretary  for  16  years. 

Bannock  (Grace  Idaho  Stake) 

Early  stake  and  ward  records  of  Bannock 

Stake  auxiliaries  were  lost  or  destroyed  when 
the  stake  tabernacle  burned  in  1949.  One 

record  exists  for  1930.  The  remaining  records 

begin  in  1953. 

•'f 

i»'; 
Bannock  Stake  Singing  Mothers  about  1948.  Bannock  Stake  Relief  Society  Board  in  front;  from  left  to  right:  Lovenia 
Peterson,  accompanist;  Nettie  Pond,  Ida  Sorensen,  (?),  Eliza  Christensen,  (president),  Edith  Hubbard,  Alice  Clegg,  Millie 

Webb,  Ruth  Jenkins,  Lucile  Clegg  (director). 
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Grace  Idaho  Stake  Singing 
Mothers  today  (1977).  From 

left  to  right — back  row:  June 
Welch,  Orpha  Cornish,  Georgia 
Jensen,  Winona  Lowe,  Idonna 
Condie,  Carma  Carver,  Rosary 

Kirby,  Florence  Panter 
(accompanist);  Third  row: 

Francis  Yost,  Afton  Robinson, 
Dixie  Weaver,  Coy  Elsmore, 

Shirley  Hubbard,  Esther  Cheshire, 
Lovene  Bitton,  Phyllis  Olsen 

(director).  Second  row:  Loretta  Ashbaker, 
IMyrta  Longenbohn,  Pauline  Lloyd, 

Ina  Wilson,  Elaine  Burnham,  Ida 
Andersen,  Sybil  Harris.  Front  row: 

Clarice  Revoir,  Ruth  Ann 
Munns,  June  Fowler,  Verda 

Qualman,  Stella  Hansen, 
Marjorie  Panter,  LaRene  Corbett, 

Edsel  Prescott  (accompanist). 

SUNDAY  SCHOOL  (Stake) 

1930     Superintendent:  Clyde  Thompson 
Counselors:  Archie  Lloyd 

Sivell  Smith 

1942     Superintendent:  Millen  Mendenhall 
Counselors:  Freeman  Ashbaker 

Milton  Smith 

1953     Superintendent:  Melvin  T.  Mickelsen 
Counselors:  Ray  Lloyd 

Brigham  Young 

1955     Superintendent:  Melvin  T.  Mickelsen 

Counselors:  Brigham  Young 
Robert  Young 

1958     Superintendent:  Robert  Young 

Counselors:  Brigham  Young 

Byron  McKinnon 
1960     Superintendent:  Lowell  Elsmore 

Counselors:  Kenneth  Tarbet 

Robert  Fraser 

1962     Superintendent:  Kenneth  Tarbet 
Counselors:  Elvin  Meacham 

F.  Berdean  Harris 

1965     Superintendent:  Grant  Williams 
Counselors:  Verl  Hubbard 

Harold  Varley  (1966) 

1967     Superintendent:  Grant  Williams,  Neal 

Sanders    (1),    Harold 
Varley  (2) 

1969  Superintendent:  Gene  Millward 
Counselors:  David  Coombs Grant  Clegg 

1970  Superintendent:  Weldon  McGregor 
Counselors:  David  Coombs Grant  Clegg 

1972     Superintendent:  Weldon  McGregor 
Counselors:  Warren  King Grant  Clegg 

1975  Superintendent:  Grant  Clegg 

Counselors:  George  Revoir 
Theron  Smith,  Jr. 

1976  Superintendent:  Grant  Clegg 

Counselors:  Theron  Smith,  Jr. 
Warren  P.  Lloyd 

Grace  Idaho  Stake  Sunday  School  Superintendency; 
left    to    right:    Theron    Smith,   Jr.,    Grant    Clegg 

(Superintendent),  Warren  Lloyd. 
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Y.M.M.I.A.  (Stake) 

1930     President:  John  Skinner 

Counselors:  J.  Floyd  Smart 
Alma  Pond 

1942     President:  Howard  Peterson 

Counselors:  Richard  Knight 
Kermit  Herd 

1953  President:  Dean  Panter 

Counselors:  Weldon  McGregor 
Frank    Thomas,    Earl 
Whitehead 

1954  President:  Dean  Panter 

Counselors:  Weldon  McGregor 
Earl  Whitehead 

1960  President:  LaVar  Matkin 

Counselors:  Paul  Christensen 

Dean  Hogan 

1961  President:  Paul  Christensen 

Counselors:  Valero  Bennett 

Glenn  Turner 

1964    President:  Paul  Christensen 

Counselors:  Howard  Young 
Glenn  Turner 

1966  President:  Howard  Young 
Counselors:  Glenn  Turner 

Kenneth  Roberts 

1967  President:  Howard  Young 
Counselors:  Glenn  Turner 

Wayne  Alder 
1968  President:  Wayne  Alder 

Counselors:   Boyd  Ruud 
Charles    Wm.    Nielsen, 

Dewey  Hansen  (1969) 

1969  President:  Wayne  Alder 

Counselors:  Boyd  Ruud 

Dewey  Hansen 

1973     President:  Wayne  Alder 

Counselor:  Glayd  Christensen 

1974-77     The  Stake  Young  Men's  organiza- 
tion is  now  under  the  direct  supervi- 
sion of  the  Stake  Presidency,  with 

the  high  councilman  over  the  youth 

program  working  with  the  Young 
Women's  leaders. 

*  f  »  f 

Grace  Idaho  Stake  Y. W.M.I. A.  officers.  Left  to  right: 
Caria  Dawn  Peck,  Annetta  Andersen,  Donna  Stod- 

dard (president),  Zan  Christensen,  Maxine  Wilker. 

Y.W.M.I.A. 

1930     President:  Katherine  Warner 

Counselors:  Mary  Snow Lucile  Clegg 

1942     President:  Reta  Stanton 

Counselors:  lone  Ashbaker 

Mildred  Robbins 

1953  President:  Alice  Smith 

Counselors:  Vera  Young 
Ellen  Hixson 

1954  President:  Leatha  Christensen 

Counselors:  Aileen  Hubbard 

Lena  Snow 

1956     President:  Erma  Hogan 
Counselors:  Emma  Gillette 

June  Balls 

1959  President:  Henrietta  Turner 
Counselors:  Donna  Stoddard 

Ila  Holsten 
1960  President:  Henrietta  Turner 

Counselors:  Donna  Stoddard 

Lilas  Van  Vleet 

1961  President:  Henrietta  Turner 

Counselors:  Leona  Roper 
Lilas  Van  Vleet 
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1962     President:  Henrietta  Turner 

Counselors:  Vivian  Simmons 

Lilas  Van  Vleet 

1964  President:  Henrietta  Turner 

Counselors:  Elaine  Peck 

LaRene  Corbett 

1965  President:  Sybil  McGregor 
Counselors:  Elaine  Peck 

LaRene  Corbett 

1967     President:  Sybil  McGregor 
Counselors:  Elaine  Peck 

Joan  Murdock 

1970     President:  Joan  Murdock 

Counselors:  Irene  Young 
Ethel  Rowsell 

1975  President:  Peggy  Mathews 
Laurel  Advisor:  Donna  Stoddard 

Mia  Maid  Advisor:  Juanita  McCurdy, 
Winnifred 

Christensen  (1976) 
Beehive  Advisor:  LaRue  Coombs 

1976  President:  Donna  Stoddard 

Laurel  Advisor:  Zan  Clegg 
Mia  Maid  Advisor:  LaRue  Coombs 

Beehive  Advisor:  Annetta  Anderson 

Primary 

The  Bannock  Stake  Primary  was  organiz- 
ed at  Thatcher  on  July  24,  1898,  under  the 

direction  of  Apostle  Heber  J.  Grant  and  Stake 
President  Lewis  S.  Pond. 

1898  President:  Eliza  Hale 

Counselors:  Harriet  Ann  Hogan 

Mary  E.  Parker 
1899  President:  Nellie  C.  Call 

Counselor:  Cora  Potter 

1904     President:  Julia  M.  Sullivan 

Counselors:  (unknown) 

1910     President:  Mary  A.  White 
Counselors:  (unkown) 

1919     President:  Nettie  B.  Pond 

Counselors:  (unkown) 

Grace  Idaho  Stake  Primary  Presidency:  Left  to  right; 
Sherri  Mendenhall,  Lovene  Bitton  (president),  Barbara 

Jewett. 

1924     President:  Aletta  H.  Sorensen 

Counselors:  (unknown) 

1929     President:  Alice  Clegg 

Counselors:  Mae  Whitehead 
Lovinia  Fullmer 

1935  President:  Mary  Peterson 
Counselors:  Mae  Whitehead 

Burgetta  Christensen 
1936  President:  Alice  Clegg 

Counselors:  Mae  Whitehead 

Burgetta  Christensen 
1942    President:  Burgetta  Christensen 

Counselors:  Eva  Jensen 

Leatha  Christensen 

1953     President:  Eva  Jensen 

Counselors:  Vera  Roper 
Oclella  McCann 

1956     President:  Norma  Taylor 

Counselors:  Karma  Roper 

Ruby  Williams 
1960     President:  Norma  Taylor 

Counselors:  Karma  Roper 
Patricia  Smith 

1962  President:  Norma  Taylor 
Counselors:  Karma  Roper 

Helen  Mickelson 

1963  President:  Norma  Taylor 
Counselors:  Helen  Mickelson 

Leone  Roper 
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1964     President:  Patricia  Smith 

Counselors:  June  Fowler 

Phyllis  Barthlome 
1968  President:  Winnifred  Christensen 

Counselors:  Geraldine  Bennett 

Elaine  Gibson 

1969  President:  Winnifred  Christensen 

Counselors:  Neva  Nielsen 

Joylene  Lloyd 
1970  President:  Lovene  Bitton 

Counselors:  Margie  Lamb 
Barbara  Jewett 

1973     President:  Lovene  Bitton 

Counselors:  Sherri  Mendenhall 

Barbara  Jewett 

1975     President:  Lovene  Bitton 

Counselors:  Barbara  Jewett 

Sherri  Mendenhall 

Mound  Valley  Ward 

Mound  Valley  was  organized  as  a  Branch 

in  1872  and  as  a  Ward  in  1874.  It  was  dis- 

organized on  September  7,  1952,  and  annexed 

to  Cleveland  Ward.  It  was  a  part  of  Cache 

Stake  to  1884— Oneida  Stake,  from  1884  to 

1898— Bannock  Stake,  from  1898  to  1952. 

The  Ward  Chronology  follows: 

1891-1896;  Robert  H.  Williams,  1896-1897; 

Wm.  H.  Mendenhall,  1897-1902;  Wm.  W. 

Williams,  1902-1913;  Wm.  C.  McGregor, 

1913-1916;  John  A  Tanner,  1916-1930;  Dan 

McGregor,  1930-1945;  Charles  P.  McGregor, 
1945-1952. 

FIRST  COUNSELORS 

David  V.  Brown,  1877-1883;  O.C.  Loveland, 

1883-1884;  John  Gibbs,  1884-1891;  Oscar  M. 

Fullmer,  1891-1897;  Robert  H.  Williams,  Jr., 

1897-1900;  Daniel  J.  Hammond  1901-1904; 

Wm.  C.  McGregor,  1905-1913;  Charles  R. 
Panter,  1913-1930;  Millen  Mendenhall,  1930- 

1932;  Wm.  B.  Willaims,  1932-1945;  Valero 

Bennett,  1945-1952. 

SECOND  COUNSELORS 

Hezekiah  Peck,  1874-1881;  Ephraim  Bennett, 

1881-1891;  Daniel  J.  Hammond,  1891-1892 
Joseph  Schvaneveldt,  1892;  Aroet  C.  Hale 

1892-1902;  Wm.  C.  McGregor,  1902-1905 
Charles  R.  Panter,  1905-1913;  John  A 

Tanner,  1913-1916;  Ralph  Perry,  1916-1918 
Charles  E.  Harris,  1918-1930;  William  Behle 

1930-1932;  Wilford  Panter,  1932-1935 

Charles  P.  McGregor,  1935-1945;  Howard 

Bennett,  1945-1952. 

m.  ̂ ^^11  ̂ ^^^M^fl 1 mf 1 i 
Former  Bishops  of  Mound  Valley  Ward,  left  to  right: 
William  H.  Mendenhall,  (1898-1903);William 
Williams  (1903-1914);  William  C.  McGregor  (1914- 
1917);  John  A.  Tanner  (1917-1930);  D.  W.  McGregor 

(1930-1945),  Charles  P.  McGregor  (1945-1952). 

BISHOPS 

Thomas  G.  Bennett,  Presiding  Elder;  Robert 

H.   Williams,    1874-1891;   Ephraim   Bennett, 

RELIEF  SOCIETY 

1883     President:  Eliza  Hale 

Counselors:  Barbara  Ann  Williams 

Nancy  Gibbs 
1900     President:  Barbara  Williams 

Counselors:  Elizabeth  Hale 

Mary  Schvaneveldt 
1904     President:  Charity  Gray 

Counselors:  Annie  Hammond 
Lila  Tanner 

Isabell  Forman 

1911     President:  Amy  Perry 

Counselors:  Sarah  Merrill 

Laura  Behle 
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1918     President:  Laura  Behle 

Counselors:  Sarah  Merrill  (1) 
Ruth  Perry  (2) 

Ada  Harris  (1918) 

1923     President:  Ada  Harris 

Counselors:  Nancy  McGregor 

1930     President:  Ruth  McGregor 
Counselors:  Ida  Condie,  Lulu  Wiliams 

(1936) 
Ann    Anderson,    Mary 
Bennett  (1936) 

1941  President:  Ida  Condie 

Counselors:  Lulu  Williams 

Grace  Harris 

1942  President:  Grace  Harris 

Counselors:  Connie  McGregor 

Marjorie  Panter 
President:  Farrell  Bennett 

Counselors:  (unknown) 

(Year  unknown) 

1951     President:  Sybil  McGregor 
Counselors:  Bernice  Condie 

Idonna  Condie 

SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1876     Superintendent:  David  Brown 

Succeeded  by:   Robert  Williams,  Jr. 
Thomas  Hale 

1883  Superintendent:  Solomon  E.  Hale 
Assistant:  Jonathan  H.  Hale 

1884  Superintendent:  James  D.  McGregor 
Assistants:  Jonathan  H.  Hale 

Rais  Cahoon 

1888     Superintendent:  Oscar  Fullmer 
Assistants:  John  Hansen 

Edgar  Hale 

1891     Superintendent:  Edgar  D.  Hale 

Assistants:     Joseph  Eames, 
J.  Schvaneveldt  (1897) 
Aroet  Hale, 

Charles  R.  Panter  (1897) 

Andrew  Gray  (1899) 

1900     Superintendent:  Charles  Panter 
Assistants:  William  Williams 

Emma  Williams 

1930     Superintendent:  Lovell  Mendenhall 
Assistants:  Silas  Bushman 

Earl  Harris 

1935  Superintendent:  Joshua  Taylor 
Assistants:  William  P.  Williams 

Henry  Perry 

1932     Superintendent:  William  P.  Williams 
Assistants:   Ervin  Harris 

John  P.  Williams 

1951     Superintendent:  Ronald  Panter 
Assistants:  Earl  Rawlins 

Robert  McGregor 

Y.M.M.I.A. 

(Early  records  lost;  others  incomplete) 

1899  President:  Will  Williams 

Counselors:  Charles    R.    Panter, 
Thomas  Panter  (1900) 

Henry  Seamons 
1900  President:  William  W.  Williams 

Counselors:  Thomas  J.  Panter 

Henry  Seamons 

(No  records  from  1900  to  1930) 

1930     President:  Murat  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Vernon  Harris 
Wilford  Panter 

1936  President:  Vernon  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Carl  P.  Nielsen 
Lorin  Panter 

1951     President:  Dean  Panter 

Counselors:  Vernon  Harris 
Dennis  Welker 

Y.W.M.I.A. 

(The  only  record  availabe  for  the  Y.W.M.I.A. 
is  for  1930) 

1930     President:  Nora  McGregor 
Counselors:  Vinnie  Panter 

Grace  Harris 
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PRIMARY 

(Organized  in  1885) 
1885     President:  Mary  Calkins 

Counselors:  Matilda  Bennett 

Harriet  P.  Fullmer 

1889     President:  Matilda  Bennett 

Counselors:  Barbara  Williams 

Mary  Schvaneveldt 
1893     President:  Ellen  Hale 

Counselors:  Emma  Perry 
Isabel  Forman 

1900     President:  Ellen  Hale 

Counselors:  Charity  Gray 
Alva  Bennett  (Mrs.) 

(No  record  from  1900  to  1932) 
1932     President:  Jennie  Perry 

Counselors:  Lena  Panter 
Letha  Harris 

1951     President:  Karma  Roper 
Counselors:  Beulah  Mendenhall 

Leona  Roper 

Thatcher  Ward 

Thatcher  Ward  was  organized  in  1881  as 

Mormon  Ward.  In  1892  the  name  was  chang- 
ed to  Thatcher  Ward.  The  ward  was  divided  in 

1914  and  organized  again  as  one  ward  in  1924. 

BISHOPS 

Solomon  Hale,  1881-1884;  John  B.  Thatcher, 

1884-1887;  Solomon  Hale,  1887-1888;  Ernest 

F.  Hale,  1888-1892;  Lewis  S.  Pond,  1892- 

1898;  Ira  Hogan,  Sr.,  1898-1905;  Joseph  T. 

Pond,  1905-1906;  Walter  Hogan,  1906-1907; 

Nathan  D.  Thatcher,  1907-1911;  George  D. 

Anderson,  1911-1914  (First  Ward;  Henry  }^. 
Thatcher  (Second  Ward);  Franklin  W.  Harris, 

1924-1926;  Ira  Hogan,  1926-1939;  Leo  Ander- 

son, 1939-1945;  Millen  Mendenhall,  1945- 

1952;  Parley  Smith,  1952-1955;  Lorin  Hogan, 

1955-1961;  Brigham  L.  Young,  1961-1966; 
Milton  Smith,  1966-1974;  Thatcher  and 
Cleveland  Ward  consolidated  in  1974.  Dahl  B. 

Robbins,  1975-present. 

Xl 

The  Thatcher  Ward  Church  House  (1977) 

The  Thatcher  Ward  Bishopric  clerks  (1977).  Left  to 
right:  back,  Richard  Garbett,  Gerald  Harris,  Ronald 
Panter;  Front:  Weldon  McGregor,  1st  counselor; 
Bishop  Dahl  B.  Robbins;  Arvel  Alleman,  2nd 

counselor. 

FIRST  COUNSELORS 

Alma  H.  Hale,  Jr.,  1884-1885;  Lewis  S.  Pond, 

1885-1887;  Daniel  J.  Hammond,  1889-1891; 

Alex  Harris,  1891-1892;  Ira  Hogan,  Sr.,  1892- 

1897;  Thomas  Allsop,  1897-1901;  George  C. 

Peck,  1901-1906;  Gilbert  Thatcher,  1906-1907; 

George  D.  Anderson,  1907-1912;  Charles 
Izatt,  Sr.,  1912-1914,  1924-1926;  Ira  H. 

Hogan,  1926;  Simpson  Roper,  1926-1930;  G. 
Sivell   Smith,    1939-1945;   E.   Parley   Smith, 
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1945-1952;  Merlin  Smith,  1954-1960;  Howard 

Young,  1960-1961;  Jim  Elsmore,  1961-1966; 

Dahl  Robbins,  1966-1970;  Leo  Roper, 
1970-1974;    Weldon    McGregor,    1975-1977. 

SECOND  COUNSELORS 

Arta  Christo  Young,  1884-1887;  Amasa  M. 

Clayton,  1 889- 1 89 1 ;  James  Larsen,  1 89 1  - 1 892; 
Solomon  H.  Hale,  Jr.,  1892-1895;  John  O. 

Gooch,  1895-1898;  George  C.  Peck,  1898- 

1901;  George  D.  Anderson,  1901-1906;  Joseph 

LeRoy  Pond,  1906-1907;  James  Elsmore, 
1907-1912;  Elmer  W.  Smith,  1912-1914;  Ira 

H.  Hogan,  1924-1926;  Simpson  Roper,  1926; 
Leo  Anderson,  1926-1939;  Letho  T.  Pond, 

1939-1945;  Denton  Harris,  1945-1954; 

Howard  Young,  1954-1960;  Leo  Roper,  1960- 

1961;  Ralph  Anderson,  1961-1966;  Dean 

Hogan,  1966-1967;  Leo  Roper,  1967-1970; 

Gerald  Harris,  1970-1974;  Frank  B.  Roper, 

1975-1976;  Arvel  Alleman,  1976-present. 

RELIEF  SOCIETY 

1881     President:  Sarah  Richards 

Counselors:  Ann  Hale,  Sarah 

Thatcher  (1885),  Susie 

Young  (1886),  Hattie 
Pond  (1888),  Nellie  Clark, 

Anna  Folkman,  Mary 

Knowlin  (1887). 
1888     President:  Julia  Pond 

Counselors:  Jane  Bollwinkel 

Josephine  Harris 
1892     President:  Jane  Bollwinkel,  Julia  Pond 

Counselors:  Josephine  Harris 

Amy  Toone 
1907     President:  Annie  Anderson 

1922     President:  Hattie  Hogan 
1930     President:  Ethel  Smith 

Counselors:  Elva  Pond 

Phoebe  Hogan 
1942     President:  Ethel  E.  Smith 

Counselors:  Elva  W.  Pond 

Phoebe  S.  Hogan 

1951  President:  Louise  Elsmore 

Counselors:  Lillie  B.  Smith 
Vera  Roper 

1952  President:  Irene  Young 

Counselors:  Myrtle  Manhart 

Phyllis  Barthlome 

1953  President:  Ida  Anderson 

Counselors:  Naomi  Robbins 

Alba  Rasmussen 

1961  President:  Naomi  Robbins 

Counselors:  Coy  Elsmore 
Alba  Rasmussen 

1962  President:  Naomi  Robbins 

Counselors:  Coy  Elsmore 
Willadene  Smith 

1965     President:  LaRue  Coombs 

Counselors:  Willadene  Smith 
Leone  Roper 

1968     President:  LaRue  Coombs 

Counselors:  Willadene  Smith 

Phyllis  Barthlome 

1973     President:  Annetta  Anderson 

Counselors:  Rosa  Gay  Smith 

Virginia  Manhart 

1975  President:  Annetta  Anderson 

Counselors:  Shirley  Keller 

Marjorie  Panter 

1976  President:  Marjorie  Panter 
Counselors:  Jolene  Alleman 

Ila  Mae  Rasmussen 

SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1880     Superintendent:  Alma  Hale,  Hezekiah 
Peck,  Sol  Hale,  Jr., 
Milton  Thatcher 

Assistants:  (1)  Jane  Bollwinkel,  Effie 
Peck,  Milton  Robbins, 
Fred  Bollwinkel 

(2)  Lehi  Wright,  Milton 
Thatcher,  Thomas  Allsop 
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1892     Superintendent:  Alex  Harris 

Assistants:  Fred    Bollwinkel,    George 
Peck  (1894) 

George    Smith,    Thomas 
Allsop  (1893) 

1895     Superintendent:  George  Peck 

Assistants:  Thomas  Allsop 

Clarence  Eldredge,  George 
D.  Anderson  (1897) 

1898     Superintendent:  George  Anderson 

Assistants:  Thomas  Allsop 

Ira   Hogan,    Frank    Peck, 
Joe  Folkman  (1899) 

1930     Superintendent:  Albert  Steinbeck 
Assistants:  Letho  Pond 

Wendell  Smith 

1936     Superintendent:  E.  Parley  Smith 

Assistants:  Howard  B.  Young 
Gerald  Harris 

(Records  missing  from  1936  to  1952) 

1952    Superintendent:  Dean  Hogan 
Assistants:  Nathan  Smith 

Keith  Barthlome 

1956  Superintendent:  Glenn  Turner 
Assistants:  Keith  Barthlome 

Fern  Wright 

1957  Superintendent:  Fern    Wright,    Henry 
VandenAkker  (1958) 
Assistants:  Keith  Barthlome 

Max  Wilker 

1960  Superintendent:  Henry  VandenAkker 
Assistants:  Edwin  Smith 

Gerald  Harris 

1961  Superintendent:  Henry  VandenAkker 
Assistants:  Gerald  Harris 

Clem  Rasmussen 

1963  Superintendent:  Gerald  Harris 
Assistants:  Clem  Rasmussen 

Freeman  Rasmussen 

1964  Superintendent:  Freeman  Rasmussen 

Assistants:  Dean  Hogan 
David  Coombs 

1967 

1969 

1970 

1973 

1974 

1975 

1895 
1986 

1898 

1899 

1900 

1930 

1949 

1953 

1957 

1958 

1960 

Superintendent:  Freeman  Rasmussen 
Assistants:  Keith  Barthlome 

David  Coombs 

Superintendent:  Freeman  Rasmussen 
Assistants:  David  Barthlome 

Howard  Roper 

Superintendent:  Freeman  Rasmussen 
Assistants:  Keith  Barthlome 

Cliff  Manhart 

Superintendent:  Terry  Smith 
Assistants:  Randy  Robbins 

Raymond  Rasmussen 
Superintendent:  Terry  Smith 
Assistants:  Dennis  Waller 

Raymond  Rasmussen 

Superintendent:  Dee  L.  Andreasen 
Assistants:  Harris  Stephenson 

Raymond  Rasmussen 
Y.M.M.I.A. 

President:  Joseph  Folkman 

President:  Thomas  Allsop 
President:  Frank  Peck 

President:  Franklin  Andrus 

President:  Leo  Peck 

1st  Counselor:  Simeon  Sterrett 

2nd  Counselor:  Howard  Thatcher 

President:  Archie  Sant 

Counselors:  Ben  Roper 
Nels  Roholt 

President:  Max  Smith 

President:  Berdean  Harris 

Counselors:  Lorin  Hogan 
Charles  Izatt 

President:  Ceylon  Hogan 

Counselors:  Vincent  Wright 

Ralph  Anderson 
President:  Freeman  Rasmussen 

Counselors:  Newell  Hollingsworth 

George  Reeder 
President:  Clifford  Manhart 

Counselors:  Don  B.  Harris 

Jim  Elsmore 
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1961  President:  Clifford  Manhart 

Counselors:  Don  Harris 

Leo  Roper 

1962  President:  Cliff  Manhart 

Counselors:  Edwin  Smith 

Keith  Barthlome 

1963  President:  Cliff  Manhart 

Counselors:  Doward    Lewis,    Douglas 
Carter  (1964) 
Edwin  P.  Smith 

1966  President:  Clifford  Manhart 

Counselors:  Gene  Rasmussen 

Douglas  Carter 
1967  President:  Jim  Ellsmore 

Counselors:  Gene  Rasmussen 

1968  President:  Brigham  L.  Young 

Counselors:  Ralph  Anderson 
Cliff  Manhart 

1969  President:  Michael  Weaver 

Counselors:  Walter  Rosdahl 

Harold  Rigby 

1970  President:  Walter  Rosdahl 

Counselor:  Dean  Hogan 

1971  President:  Fern  Wright 

Counselors:  Dean  Hogan 

Wayne  Anderson 

1975-1976     A.P.M.LA.:  Emery  Shahan 
Y.W.M.LA. 

1883     President:  Susan  Young 

1891     President:  Effie  Eldredge 

Counselor:  Dessie  Hogan  (1892) 
Rachel  Thatcher  (1) 

Arietta  Bollwinkel  (2) 

1898     President:  Bergetta  Hogan 
Counselors:  Edna  Smith 

Emma  Andrus 

1930     President:  Naomi  Thatcher 

Counselors:  Jennie  Hogan 
Luella  Smith 

1934     President:  Clea  Barthlome 

Counselors:  Roma  Thatcher 
Lettie  Leonett 

1949     President:  Grace  Harris 

1953  President:  Phyllis  Wright 

Counselors:  Agnes  Fowler 
Kathleen  Coombs 

1954  President:  Kathleen  Coombs 

Counselors:  Leone  Roper 
Fern  Sant 

1956     President:  Leone  Roper 
Counselors:  Dorothy  Hogan 

F.ffie  Hoopes 

1960     President:  Wilda  Rasmussen 

Counselors:  Ida  VandenAkker 

1962     President:  Kathleen  Coombs 

Counselors:  Ida  Anderson 

Joyce  Olsen 
1964  President:  Ida  Anderson 

Counselors:  Alba  Rasmussen 

Sallee  Torfin 

1965  President:  Eileen  Smith 

Counselors:  Coy  Elsmore 
Alice  Smith 

1967     President:  Eileen  Smith 

Counselors:  Ida  Anderson 
Wilda  Rasmussen 

1969  President:  Rosa  Gay  Smith 
Counselors:  Diane  Weaver 

Irene  Wyler 

1970  President:  Rosa  Gay  Smith 
Counselors:  Dorothy  Hogan 

Alice  Smith 

1972     President:  Elaine  Carter 

Counselors:  DeAnn  Forsgren  (1973) 

June  Izatt 

1975-1976     A.P.W.MT.A.     Gay  Panter 
PRIMARY 

1898     President:  Mary  Ellen  Smith 
Counselors:  Lucina  Jeansen 

Marilda  Shepherd 

(Records  lost  from  1900  to  1930) 

1930     President:  Rosetta  Young 
Counselors:  Elva  W.  Pond 

Lucile  Barthlome 

Church  History  and  Chronology  —  271 



1933     President:  (South  Thatcher  Primary) 
Estella  Weaver 

Counselors:  Edith  Wright 
Vilate  Mendenhall 

1933  (also)  Pres.:  Chloe  Cahoon 
Counselors:  Isobelle  Glenn 

Mary  Harris 

(Date  unknown)  Pres.:  Amy  Elsmore 

Counselors:  Jane  Hogan 
Phoebe  Hogan 

1934  President:  Jennie  Hogan 

Counselors:  Jane  Hogan 
Phoebe  Hogan 

1936     President:  (South  Thatcher) 
Delia  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Elizabeth  Sant 

Blanche  Coombs 

1936  President:  (North  Thatcher) 
Jennie  Hogan 

Counselors:  Iris  Hogan 
Phoebe  Hogan 

1937  President:  Ethel  Roper 
Counselors:  Emma  Anderson 

Vera  Roper 

1956  President:  Ida  Belle  Wright 

Counselor:  Sybil  Harris 

1957  President:  Sybil  Harris 
Counselors:  Geraldine  Bennett 

Lovene  Bitton 

1960  President:  Alice  Wright 
Counselors:  Mardene  Andreason 

Phyllis  Barthlome 
1961  President:  Jane  Ruud 

Counselors:  Shirley  Wright 
Leone  Smith 

Patricia  Smith  (1962) 

1964     President:  Lois  Burton 

Counselors:  Norma  Bennett 

Betty  Roper 

1966     President:  Norma  Bennett 

Counselors:  Susie  Hirchi 

Node  Harris 

1968  President:  Sheree  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Ruth  Lee  Harris Geneal  Rigby 

1969  President:  Sheree  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Artie  Rasmussen Geniel  Rigby 

1970  President:  Sheree  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Arline  Rasmussen, Geniel    Rigby 

Linda  Mickelson 
1971  President:  Geniel  Rigby 

Counselors:  Donna  Forsgren 

Judy  Bitton 
1972  President:  Wilda  Rasmussen 

Counselors:  Susie  Hirschi 

Ida  Anderson 

1974  President:  Susie  Hirschi 

Counselors:  Ida  Anderson 
Twila  Forsgren 

1975  President:  Twila  Forsgren 

Counselors:  Rosa  Gay  Smith 
Tamara  White 

1976  President:  Rosa  Gay  Smith 
Counselors:  Tamara     White, 

Marna      Peterson, 
Kathy  Turner 

Lago  Ward  (Trout  Creek) 

Trout  Creek  Ward  was  organized  in  1891. 

The  name  was  changed  to  Lago  Ward  in  1926. 

In  1956,  Lago  Ward  was  disorganized  and 
transferred  to  Williams. 

BISHOPS 

John  Gibbs,  1888-1891;  Wm.  McGee  Harris, 

1891-1915;  Nephi  Peterson,  1915-1919; 
Michael  Mickelson,  1919-1920;  Howard  E. 

Thatcher,  1920-1921;  Guy  Harris,  1921-1926; 
John  C.  Sorensen,  1926-1930;  Michael 

Mickelson,  1930-1936;  Melvin  T.  Mickelson, 

1936-1947;  Elvin  Meacham,  1947-1950;  Yard 

Harris,  1950-1956. 
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Lago  Ward  Bishopric  (about  1944).  Left  to  right:  Eivin 
Meacham,  Ist  counselor;  Melvin  Mickelson,  Bishop; 

Lovell  Mendenhall,  2nd  counselor. 

FIRST  COUNSELORS 

Benjamin  Clegg,  1891-1903;  John  Gibbs, 

1903-1906;  Michael  Mickelson,  1906-1918; 

Byron  M.  Harris,  1918-1921;  Henry  F. 
Bassett,  1921-1926;  Michael  Mickelson,  1926- 

1930;  Guy  Harris,  1930-1936;  John  Webb, 

1936-1937;  Elvin  Meacham,  1937-1947;  Clark 
Mickelson,  1950-1956. 

SECOND  COUNSELORS 

Jonathon  Gibbs,  1891-1901;  William  H 

Meacham,  1901-1904;  John  C.  Sorenson 

1904-1914;  Nephi  Peterson,  1914-1915 

Ephraim  Sorenson,  1915-1917;  Henry  C 

Christensen,  1917-1919;  Henry  H.  Lloyd 
1919-1920;  Andrew  A.  Ruud,  1921-1926 

Henry  F.  Bassett,  1926-1927;  George  W 
Hulse,  1927-1930;  William  T.  Mendenhall 

1936-1942;  Lovell  Mendenhall,  1942-1950 

Richard  Garbett,  1950-1956. 

RELIEF  SOCIETY  (Organized  in  1891) 

1891     President:  Mary  Jensen 
Counselors:  Harriet  Harris 

Catherine  Sorensen 

1906     President:  Almyra  Meacham 
Counselors:  Maria  Leffler 

Maretta  Bassett 

1915     President:  Maretta  Bassett 

Counselors:  Katherine  Sorensen 

Gwen  H.  Redford, 

Mary  Bassett  (1916) 

1919     President:  Mary  Bassett 
Counselors:  Sadie  Mickelson 

Anna  Fowler 

1921     President:  Sadie  Mickelson 

Counselors:  Gwen  Redford 
Lutie  Swensen 

1927     President:  Lutie  Swensen 

Counselors:  Sadie  Mickelson 

Mabel  Harris 

1930     President:  Adelia  Hansen 

Counselors:  Lenore  Ruud 

Norma  Mickelson 

1934     President:Amanda  Bassett 

Counselors:  Norma  Mickelson 
Effie  Bennett 

1938  President:  Annie  Rasmussen 

Counselors:  Adelia  Hansen 

LaVera  Swensen 

1939  President:  Sadie  Mickelson 

Counselors:  Adelia  Hansen 

Dorothy  Steele 

1942     President:  Jennie  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Cora  Harris 
Edith  Steele 

1944     President:  Cora  Harris 

Counselors:   Edith    Steele, 

Mary  Mickelson  (1946) 
Ethel  Mendenhall 

1947     President:  Norma  Mickelson 

Counselors:  Adelia  Rasmussen 
Leota     Harris, 
Helen  Mickelson  (1947) 

Jennie  Mendenhall  (1949) 

1950     President:  Norma  Bennett 

Counselors:  Ruth  Stephenson 
Leota  Harris 

1954     President:  Adelia  Rasmussen 

Counselors:  Leota  Harris 
Ila  Turner 

(In  1956,  consolidated 
with  Williams  Ward) 
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SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1887     Superintendent:  John  R.  Turner 
Assistants:  James  Leffler 

Andrew  Ruud 

1898     Superintendent:  James  W.  Hubbard 
Assistants:  John  Gibbs 

Andrew  Ruud 

1930     Superintendent:  Melvin  T.  Mickelson 
Assistants:  Marion  Anderson 

Allen  Bennett 

1932    Superintendent:  John  Sorenson 

Assistants:  Byron  Harris 

Roy  Davis 
1934     Superintendent:  Byron  Harris 

Assistants:  Reao  Weaver, 
Freeman  Rasmussen 

William  T.  Mendez 

1936  Superintendent:  Byron  Harris 
Counselors:  Melvin  Mickelson 

John  Webb 

1937  Superintendent:  Lovell  Mendenhall 
Counselor:  Reao  Mickelson 

1938  Superintendent:  Harris  Mickelson 

Counselors:  Henry  Turner 
Stanford  Steele 

Y.M.M.I.A. 

1896     President:  James  Fowler 

Counselors:  James  Leffler 

Julius  Hansen 

1898  President:  Lester  Rodeback 

Counselors:  James  P.  Calkins 

Charles  Sorensen 

1899  President:  Michael  Mickelson 

Counselors:  James  Calkins 

Charles  Sorensen 

1900  President:  William  H.  Meacham 

Counselors:  Michael  Mickelson 

Charles  Sorensen 

1930     President:  Marion  Anderson 

Counselors:  LeRoy  Turner 
Clark  Mickelson 

1932     President:  Melvin  Mickelson 

Counselors:  Howard  Peterson 

Harris  Stephensen 
1936  President:  Clark  Mickelson 

Counselors:  Allen  Bennett 
Vard  Hogan 

1937  President:  Guy  Harris 

Counselors:  Harris  Stephensen 
Dallas  Hansen 

Y.W.M  LA. 

1893     President:  Annie  Leffler 

Counselors:  Mary  Jensen 
Emma  Sorensen 

1898  President:  Annie  Fowler 

Counselors:  Vilate  Sorensen 
Lavon  Gibbs 

1899  President:  Lutie  Bassett 

Counselors:  Annie  Leffler 

Amanda  Meacham 

1930     President:  Ruth  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Mildred  Meacham 
Wanda  Hulse 

1932  President:  Relia  Peterson 

Counselors:  Ruth  Mendenhall 

Mildred  Meacham 

1933  President:  Eva  Bitton 

Counselors:  Lorette  Hansen 

Oriel  Sorensen 
1936  President:  Millie  Webb 

Counselors:  Mabel  Harris 

Evah  Bitton 

1937  President:  Mary  Mickelson 

Counselors:  Ruth  Stephenson 
Geniel  Hale 

PRIMARY 

1887     President:  Mary  Jensen 

Counselors:  Catherine  Sorensen 
Elizabeth  Loveland, 
Emma  Ruud, 

Lucy  Gibbs 
1891     President:  Maria  Leffler 

Counselors:  Mary  Ann  Turner 
Olive  Ruud 
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1895     President:  Maria  Leffler 

Counselors:  Mary  Jensen 
Olive  Ruud, 

Mary  Bassett  (1900) 
1900     President:  Maria  Leffler 

Counselors:  Mary  Jensen 

Mary  Bassett 
1930     President:  Julia  Meacham 

Counselors:  Arelia  Peterson 
Reba  Turner 

1932  President:  Amanda  Bassett 

Counselors:  Oriel  Swensen 

Estella  Weaver 

1933  President:  Mabel  Harris 

Counselors:  Eva  Bitton 
Edna  Panter 

1936     President:  Reba  Turner 

Counselors:   Helen  Mickelson 
Millie  Webb, 

June  Sorensen 

1938     President:  Ora  Meacham 

Counselors:  Ila  Turner 

Bernice  Coombs 

1956     President:  Ida  Belle  Wright 

Counselors:  Sybil  Harris 
June  Turner 

Cleveland  Ward 

Cleveland  was  organized  as  a  Ward  in 
1892  from  Mormon  Ward.  Before  this  time, 

however,  the  church  members  residing  in  this 

area  erected  a  log  meeting  house  where  ser- 
vices were  held  under  the  direction  of  a 

presiding  elder. 
BISHOPS 

James  Larsen,  P.  E.,  1886-1888;  James 

Nielson,  P.E.,  1888-1889;  Niels  H.  Nielson, 

P.E.,  1889-1890;  Daniel  J.  Hammond,  P.E. 

1890-1902;  Ernest  F.  Hale,  1892-1905;  Henry 

Larsen,  1905-1916;  Edgar  G.  Nielson,  1916- 
1926;  Fred  H.  Anderson,  1927-1931;  Vernon 

Adams,    1931-1947;  Lorenzo  Nielson,    1947- 

1951;  Owen  Andreasen,  1951-1956;  Reed 

McGregor,  1956-1960;  Clyde  Condie,  1960- 
1963;  Dean  Panter,  1963-1969;  Arvel 

Alleman,  1969-1974. 

Cleveland    Ward    Bishopric    (about    1944).    Left    to 
right — back:  Theron  Smith,   1st  Counselor;  Leiand 
Panter,  2nd  Counselor,  Owen  Andreasen,  Ward  clerk; 

front:  Bishop  J.  Vernon  Adams. 

FIRST  COUNSELORS 

James  Larsen,  1892-1897;  James  Christensen, 

1897-1899;  James  Larsen,  1899-1900;  Henry 

Larsen,  1900-1905;  Ole  Hansen,  1905-1925; 

James  A.  Ransom,  1925-1926;  Nathan  LeRoy 

Smith,  1926-1928;  Hyrum  R.  Nelson,  1928- 

1930;  Roy  C.  Andreasen,  1930-1931;  Theron 
Smith,  1931-1944;  Leiand  Panter,  1944-1947; 

Owen  Andreasen,  1947-1951;  Leo  Johnson, 

1951-1952;  Clyde  Condie,  1952-1955;  Reed 

McGregor,  1955-1956;  Charles  H.  Stephen- 
son, 1956-1959;  Theron  Smith,  1959-1960;  W. 

Dean  Panter,  1960-1962;  Weldon  McGregor, 

1962-1963;  Claude  Mendenhall,  1963-1969; 

Gene  Millward,  1969-1973;  Lorin  Panter, 
1973-1974. 

SECOND  COUNSELORS 

James  Christensen,  1892-1897;  Ole  Hansen, 

1897-1899;  James  Christensen,  1899-1900;  Ole 

Hansen,  1900-1905;  Levi  Meservy,  1905-1908; 

Thomas  Smith,  1908-191 1;  Edgar  O.  Nielson, 

1911-1917;  Nathan  LeRoy  Smith,  1917-1923; 

Roy  C.  Andreasen,  1923-1925;  Arthur  T. 

Smith,  1925-1926;  George  Burton,  1926-1928; 
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Roy  Andreasen,  1928-1930;  J.  Vernon  Adams, 
1930-1931;  Vernon  Harris,  1931-1934;  Leland 

Panter,  1934-1944;  Owen  Andreasen,  1944- 

1947;  Floyd  Hansen;  Leo  Johnson,  1947-1951; 

Paul  Adams,  1951-1952;  Reed  McGregor, 
1952-1955;  Gilbert  H.  Nelson,  1955-1956; 

Theron  Smith,  1956-1959;  Floyd  Hansen, 
1959-1960;  LaVor  Andreasen,  1960-1962;  Leo 

Johnson,  1962-1963;  L.  Junior  White,  1963- 

1969;  Lorin  Panter,  1969-1973;  Ronald 

Panter,  1973-1974. 
RELIEF  SOCIETY 

1892     President:  Annie  Hansen 

Counselors:  Mary  P.  Nielson 
Annie  Ames 

(Date  unknown)     President:  Mary  P.  Neilsen 

1900     President:  Mary  J.  Lundgreen 
1903     President:  Maria  S.  Prescott 

(Counselors  for  the  above  presidents  are  un- 
known) 

(Date  unknown)     President:  Hannah  Smith 

1927     President:  Mary  R.  Burton 
1931     President:  Katherine  B.  Nielson 

1933     President:  Mary  N.  Anderson  (Mary 
B.  Nielsen  ?) 

Counselors:  Mary  Panter 
Jennie  Andersen 

1939     President:  Mary  B.  Smith 
Counselors:  Vera  P.  Nielsen 

Etheleen  Andreasen 

1952     President:  Sybil  McGregor 

Counselors:  Phyllis  Johnson 
Idonna  Condie 

1956     President:  Ethel  Johnson 

Counselors:  Barbara  Panter 

Ruth    Stephenson, 

Mary   Panter  (1958) 
1960     President:  Lizzie  Conlin 

Counselors:  Walene  Matkin 

Joyce  Bennett 
1962     President:  Marjorie  Panter 

Counselors:  Geraldine  Bennett 

Joyce  Bennett 

1963     President:  Phyllis  Johnson 
Counselors:  Farrel  Bennett 

Odessa  McGregor 

1967     President:  Phyllis  Johnson 
Counselors:  Farrel  Bennet 

Idonna  Condie 

1969  President:  Blanche  Alleman 

Counselors:  Joyce  Bennett 
Nada  Harris 

1970  President:  Etheleen  Andreasen 

Counselors:  Joyce  Bennett 
Jane  Smith 

1974     (Consolidated  with  Thatcher  Ward) 

SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1883     Ira  Ames  in  charge  (no  Counselors) 

1890     President:  Ira  Ames 

Counselors:  Christ  Jensen 

William  Austin 

1898     Superintendent:  James  Ransom 
Assistants:  Thomas  Smith 

Mary  Hansen 

1900     Superintendent:  Henry  Larsen 
Assistants:  Arnold  Nielsen 

Mary  Hansen 

1934  Superintendent:  (No  record) 
Assistants:  Leland  Panter 

Winslow  Ames 

1935  Superintendent:  Fred  Anderson 
Assistants:  Calvin  Covert 

James  Roholt,  Jr. 

1937     Superintendent:  Leland  Nelson 
Assistants:  Harold  Smith 

LaVor  Ames 

1937     Superintendent:  Owen  Andreasen 
Assistants:  LaVor  Ames 

(No  record) 

1952     Superintendent:  Verl  Nielson 
Assistants:  Ronald  K.  Panter 

Calvin  Covert 
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1953     Superintendent:  Ronald  Panter 
Assistants:  Lorin  Panter 

Wendell  Forsgren 

1957  Superintendent:  Ronald  K.  Panter 
Assistants:  Lorin  Panter 

Howard  Harris 

1958  Superintendent:  Ronald  K.  Panter 
Assistants:  Howard  Harris 

Ronald  Condie, 

Richard  Garbett  (1959) 

1963     Superintendent:  Claude  Conlin 
Assistants:  Max  Andreasen 

Norman  Smith 

1965     Superintendent:  Claude  Conlin 

Assistants:  Harris  Stephenson 
Norman  Smith 

1969  Superintendent:  Claude  Conlin 

Assistants:  Harris  Stephenson 

Lynn  Goodsell 

1970  Superintendent:  Claude  Conlin 

Assistants:  Harris  Stephenson 
Oral  Keller 

1972  Superintendent:  Claude  Conlin 

Assistants:  Harris  Stephenson 

Wendell  Forsgren 

1973  Superintendent:  Dale  Bennett 
Assistants:  Richard  Garbett 

Wendell  Forsgren 

(Consolidated  with  Thatcher  Ward  in  1974) 
Y.M.M.I.A. 

1887     Superintendent:  Ira    Ames    (before 

Ward  organization) 

Assistants:  George  R.  Ransom, 
Niels  Nielsen  (1888) 
Peter  Nielsen, 

James  Christensen  (1888) 

1890  Superintendent:  Ole  Hansen 
Assistants:  Chrest  Jensen 

James  Christensen 

1891  Superintendent:  Ole  Hansen 

Assistants:  George  Ransom 
Nathan  Smith 

1893 

894 

1898 

1899 

1900 

1930 

1931 

i934 

1937 

1938 

1952 

1954 

1956 

1957 

Superintendent:  Hyrum  Ransom 
Assistants:  Daniel  C.  Ames 

Ole  Hansen 

Superintendent:  Hans  Andersen 
Assistants:  Ole  Hansen, 

Peter  Rasmussen  (1897) 
John  Hoopes, 

Thomas  Smith  (1897) 

Superintendent:  Peter  Rasmussen 
Assistants:  Thomas  Smith 

Edgar  Nielson 
Superintendent:  Jonathan  Hoopes 

Assistants:  George  Smith 
Ole  Hansen 

Superintendent:  Ole  Hansen 
Assistants:  George  Smith 

Arnold  Nielsen 

Superintendent:  David  Anderson 
Assistants:  Owen  Andreasen 

James  Burton 

Superintendent:  Owen  Andreasen 
Assistants:  James  ̂ rton 

Reynolds  Sharp 

Superintendent:  Theron  Smith 
Assistants:  Fred  Anderson 

Arnold  Ransom 

Superintendent:  Harold  Smith 
Assistants:  Winslow  Ames 

Floyd  Hansen 
Superintendent:  Gilbert  Nelson 
Assistants:  Willis  Burton 

Trueman  Rigby 

Superintendent:  Gilbert  Nelson 

Superintendent:  Murat  Mendenhall 
Assistants:  Dale  Bennett 

Claude  Conlin 

Superintendent:  Claude  Conlin 
Assistants:  Larry  Orr 

Gloyd  Bennett 

Superintendent:  Claude  Conlin 
Assistants:  Claude  Mendenhall 

Gloyd  Bennett 
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1959  Superintendent:  Richard  Garbett 
Assistants:  Gerald  Skinner 

Keith  Forman 

1960  Superintendent:  Weldon  McGregor 
Assistants:  Ronald  Panter 

Leo  Johnson 

1962     Superintendent:  Ronald  Panter 

1964  Superintendent:  Harris  Stephenson 

Assistant:  Gloyd  Bennett 

1965  Superintendent:  Richard  Garbett 

Assistants:  Lynn  Goodsell 

Dwayne  Mendenhall 

1966  Superintendent:  Richard  Garbett 

Assistants:  Dwayne  Mendenhall 

Lynn  Goodsell 

1967  Superintendent:  Arvel  Alleman 
Assistants:  Marvin  Stearns 

Dwayne  Mendenhall 

1969  Superintendent:  Arvel  Alleman 
Assistants:  Dwayne  Mendenhall 

Robert  Mendenhall 

1970  Superintendent:  Randy  Panter 
Assistants:  (No  record) 

Robert  Mendenhall 

1972  Superintendent:  Dwayne  Mendenhall 
Assistants:  Blair  Goodsell 

Oral  Keller 

1973  Superintendent:  Daryl  Nelson 
Assistants:  Bart  Andreasen 

Kay  Panter 

Y.W.M.LA. 

1898     President:  Dorthea  Jensen 

Counselors:  Sina  Anderson 

Emelia  Walton 

1900     President:  Mary  Hansen 
Counselors:  Drusilla  Hale 

Hannah  Nielsen 

1934     President:  Carrie  Smith 

Counselors:  Catherine  Nelson 

Blanche  Smith 

1937     President:  Mary  B.  Smith 
Counselors:  Bess  Nielsen 

Phyllis  Nielsen, 
Jessie  Andreasen  (1938) 

1953  President:  Joyce  Bennett, 

Betty  Nielsen 
Counselor:  Barbara  Panter 

1954  President:  Verda  Adams 

Counselors:  Edrie  Kingsbury 
Patricia  Smith 

1955  President:  Rhelda  McGregor 
Counselors:  Edrie  Kingsbury 

Jessie  Andreasen 

1956  President:  Bernice  Condie 

Counselors:  Edrie  Kingsbury 
Ethleen  Andreasen  (1957) 

1957  President:  Bernice  Condie 

Counselors:  Ethleen  Andreasen 
Odessa  McGregor 

1960     President:  Beulah  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Marjorie  Panter 
Parrel  Bennett 

1962  President:  Lizzie  Conlin 

Counselors:  Parrel  Bennett 

Jane  Smith 

1963  President:  Lizzie  Conlin 

Counselors:  Jane  Smith 
Donna  Forsgren 

1964  President:  Joyce  Bennett 
Counselors:  LaVora  White 

Donna  Forsgren 

1965  President:  Joyce  Bennett 
Counselors:  Leone  Smith 

Shirley  Keller 
1967     President:  Odessa  McGregor 

Counselors:  Jane  Smith 

Shirley  Keller 
1969  President:  Grace  Millward 

Counselors:  Vernona  Garbett 

Ann  Stearns 

1970  President:  Grace  Millward 

Counselors:  Vernona  Garbett 

Shirley  Keller 
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1972  President:  Grace  Millward 

Counselors:  Margo  Wright 

Shirley  Keller 

1973  President:  Sybil  McGregor 

Counselors:  Margo  Wright 

Shirley  Keller 
PRIMARY 

1889     (Branch  of  Mormon  Ward) 

1889     President:  Mary  Hansen 
Counselors:  Maria  Ames 

Charity  Walton 
1898     President:  Mrs.  Bodell  Nielsen 

Counselors:  Emma  Hansen 

Carrie  Larsen 

1930     President:  Mildred  Smith 

Counselors:  Eva  Sharp 
Seleta  Adams 

1933     President:  Annie  Smith 

Counselors:  Catherine  Nielsen 

Ethel  Kroff, 
LaVon  Grant 

1935  President:  LaVon  Grant 

Counselors:  Eva  Sharp 
Lovina  Nielsen 

1936  President:  Eva  Sharp 
Counselors:  Ada  Ames 

Manilla  Walton 

1937  President:  Carrie  Smith 

Counselors:  Vera  Nielsen 

Katherine  Nielsen 

1956  President:  Ida  Belle  Wright 

Counselor:  Sybil  Harris 

1957  President:  Sybil  Harris 
Counselors:  Geraldine  Bennett 

Lovene  Bitton, 

Alice  Wright  (1958) 

1959  President:  Alice  Wright 
Counselors:  Mardene  Andreasen 

Phyllis  Barthlome 

1960  President:  Alice  Wright 
Counselors:  Lovene  Bitton 

Phyllis  Barthlome 

1962     President:  Jane  Ruud 

Counselors:  Shirley  Wright 
Patricia  Smith 

1964  President:  Lois  Burton 
Betty  Ropper 

1965  President:   Lois  Burton 
Counselors:  Betty  Roper 

Norma  Bennett 

1966  President:  Norma  Bennett 

Counselors:  Susie  Hirschi 

Nada  Harris 

1969  President:  Sherry  Mendenhall 
Counselors:  Geniel  Rigby 

Artie  Rasmussen 

1970  President:  Sherry  Mendenhall 
Counselors:  Arlene  Rasmussen 

Geniel  Rigby 

1971  President:  Geniel  Rigby 

Counselors:  Donna  Forsgren 

Judy  Bitton, 
Linda  Mickelson 

1972  President:  Donna  Forsgren 
Counselors:  Ann  Mendenhall 

Zella  Gray 

1973  President:  Donna  Forsgren 
Counselors:  Ann  Mendenhall 

Tamara  White 

1974  President:  Geraldine  Bennett 

Counselor:  Tamara  White 

Grace  Ward 

The  Grace  Ward  was  organized  in  1899;  it 

was  orginally  a  branch  of  the  Trout  Creek 
Ward. 

BISHOPS 

Landon  Rich  P.E.,  1897-1899;  Alma  E.  Hub- 

bard, 1899-1904;  Christian  H.  Poulson,  1904- 

1914;    Moroni    Lowe,    1914-1917;    John    L. 

Lloyd,  1917-1920. 
Ward  was  divided  in   1920  into  Grace 

First  and  Grace  Second  Wards. 

(Grace  First  Ward) 
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Moroni  Lowe,  1920-1929;  Emil  Peterson, 

1929-1943;  John  V.  Kirby,  1943-1952; 
Clarence  D.  Simmons,  1952-1959;  Gail  M. 

Ray,  1959-1968;  Frank  H.  Stoddard,  1968- 

1974;  Ray  Lloyd,  1974-present. 

dracc  Kirst  NS  ard  Bishopric  (I977i  left  to  right:  (iene 

Mill>^ard,    1st    tounsi-lor;    Bishop    Ra>     I  lo>d;    Ron 
Munns.  2nd  ( Ounst-lor. 

FIRST  COUNSELORS 

Landon  Rich,  1899-1904;  Orange  H.  Warner. 
1904-I90H;  Frank  L.  Merrill.  I90H-1914; 

Archibald  B.  (iunneli,  1914-1917;  Harvey  N. 
Christensen,  1917-1919;  Archibald  B.  Gunnell, 

1919-1920;  Nephi  Petersen,  1920-1925;  Alfred 

Sant.  1925-1929;  Harvey  Neeley,  1929-1931; 

Henry  C.  Christensen.  1931-1934;  Stanley 
Richardson,  1934-1936;  Arthur  Adams,  1936- 

1937;  John  V.  Kirby,  1937-1943;  Milton  F. 

Hartvigsen,  1943-1944;  Glen  Jensen,  1944- 
1948;  Homer  D.  Williams.  1948-1952;  J. 

Warren  King.  1952-1956;  Harold  Peterson, 
1956-1959;  Frank  H.  Stoddard,  1959-1968; 

Homer  Gibson,  1968-1974;  Gene  Millward, 

1974-present. 
SECOND  COUNSELORS 

Richard  Hayes,  1897-1904;  Charles  Ashbaker, 

1904-1908;  John  J.  Kirby,  1908-1914;  Harvey 

N.  Christensen.  1914-1917;  David  L.  Sargent. 

1917-1918;  James  W.  King,  1918-1920;  Alfred 

C.  Sant,  1920-1925;  Harvey  Neeley.  1925- 

1929;  Henry  Christensen,  1929-1931;  Stanley 
Richardson.    1931-1934;   Merrill   P.   Gunnell. 

1934-1936;  John  V.  Kirby,  1936-1937;  Milton 

F.  Hartvigsen,  1937-1943;  Glen  Jensen,  1943- 
1944;  John  Hubbard.  1944-1948;  Valero 

Bennett.  1948-1952;  Harold  Peterson,  1952- 

1956;  Gail  M.  Ray,  1956-1959;  Richard  Meek, 

1959-1964;  James  Benson,  1964-1968; 

Kenneth  Roberts,  1968-1974;  Ron  Munns, 
1974-present. 

RELIEF  SOCIETY 

1899     President:   Mary  Florence  Rich 
Counselors:  Anna  Hayes 

Elizabeth  Hamp 

(No  futher  record  of  counselors  until  1930) 

1907     President:   Sarah  Egbert 

1909     President:   Elizabeth  Hamp 

(No  date)     President:   Indemora  Johnson 

1917  President:   Polly  Roghaar 

1918  President:   Lillie  Miles 

1919  President:   Annie  Couldt 

1926     President:   Horlense  Lloyd 

(No  date)     President:   Anna  King 

1930  President:   Louella  Kirby 
Counselors:   Esther  Ashbaker 

Annie  Jones 

1931  President:   Hallie  Pond 

Counselors:   Anna  King 

Harriet  Titus 

1941     President:  Cora  Cooper 
Counselors:   Harriet  Titus 

Emily  Whitehead 
(No  date)     President:   Merle  Miles 

Counselor:   lone  Ashbaker 

(No  further  record  until  1954) 
1954     President:   Merle  Miles 

Counselors:   Mildred  Burgin 

Myrta  Longenbohn 
1954     President:  Cleo  McGavin 

Counselors:   Rosary  Kirby 
Norma  Ray 

1957     President:  Effie  Loretta  Anderson 

Counselors:  Natalia  Burton 
Fern  Llovd 
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Grace  Idaho  Stake  House;  also  u-sed  for  Grace  First 
and  Grace  Second  Ward  meetings. 

1959  President:   Ruby  Williams 

Counselors:   Mildred  Burgin 
Ella  Mae  McKinnon 

1960  President:   Ruby  Williams 
Counselors:  Ella  Mae  McKinnon 

Mildred  Burgin 

1961  President:  Merle  Miles 

Counselors:   Reta  Anderson 

Lucy  Meek,  June  Sargent 

(1962) 

1963  President:  Merle  Miles 

Counselors:  Loretta  Ashbaker 

June  Sargent 

1964  President:  Vivian  Simmons 

Counselors:   Donna  L.  Stoddard 

Millicent  Gibson 

1966  President:  Vivian  Simmons 

Counselors:  Millicent  Gibson 

Joan  Murdock 

1967  President:  June  Sargent 

Counselors:  Margie  Lamb 

Pauline  Egbert 

1970     President:  Helen  Allen 

Counselors:  Norma  Burton 

Beatrice  Bennett 

1972    President:  Helen  Allen 

Counselors:  Beatrice  Bennett 

Dolores  Gilbert 

1974  President:   Elza  Revoir 

Counselors:  Nona  Whitehead 
Sandra  Jensen 

1975  President:  Nona  Whitehead 

Counselors:  Sandra  Jensen 
Anita  Riding 

(To  present) 
SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1895     Superintendent:  Samuel  W.  Egbert 
Assistants:  Daniel  German 

John  Cherry 

1897     Superintendent:   Landon  Rich 

Counselors:  George  Tanner 
George  Hamp 

1930     Superintendent:  William  J.  Turner 
Assistants:   Elias  Mather 

John  V.  Kirby 

1952     Superintendent:  Wendell  Muir 
Assistants:  Dell  Thompson 

Ray  Anderson 

1956  Superintendent:  Ken  Tarbett 
Counselors:   Dean  Christensen 

Glen  Jensen, 

Mark  McGavin 
1957  Superintendent:   Kenneth  Tarbett 

Assistants:  Homer  Gibson 

F.A.  Jr.  Allen 

1959  Superintendent:   Kenneth  Tarbett 
Assistants:  Homer  Gibson 

Robert  J.  Burton 

1960  Superintendent:  Kenneth  Lloyd 
Assistants:  Homer  Gibson 

Robert  Hill 

1964  Superintendent:  Ray  Lloyd 

Assistants:  Harold  Varley 
Parnell  Whitehead 

1965  Superintendent:  Ray  H.  Lloyd 
Assistants:  Dean  Christensen 

Parnell  Whitehead 

1967     Superintendent:  Dean  Christensen 
Assistants:  Parnell  Whitehead 

Dell  Maughan 
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1970     Superintendent:  Warren  King 
Assistants:  Reed  Christensen, 

Larry  Allen  (1971) 
Russell  Rich 

1972  Superintendent:  Calvin  Balch 

Assistants:  Larry  Allen 
Luther  Wilson 

1973  Superintendent:  Larry  Allen 
Assistants:  Roger  Bruce 

Richard  Kirby 

1974  Superintendent:  Calvin  Alder 
Assistants:  Roger  Bruce 

Richard  Kirby 

1975  Superintendent:  Frank  H.  Stoddard 
Assistants:  Eddie  Jensen 

Lloyd  Painter 

Y.M.M.LA. 

1897     President:  John  J.  Cherry 
Counselors:  Landon  Rich 

Daniel  Harris 

1899  President:  Landon  Rich 

Counselors:  Albert  Hayes 
Edward  Montague 

1900  President:  John  Allsop 

Counselors:  Edward  Montague 

George  Tanner 

1930     President:  Lucian  Johnson 

Counselors:  Gerald  Gunnell 

Harold  Peterson 

1934-1943     President:  Glen  Palmer 

Counselors:  Milton  Hartvigsen 
Frank  Taylor 
Don  Peterson 

1954     President:  Don  Donahoo 

Counselors:  Ken  Roberts 

Don  Longenbohn 

1954     President:  Ken  Roberts 

Counselors:  George  Atkinson 
Leslie  Bell 

1957     President:  Farrell  Peterson 

Counselors:  Merlin  Whatcott, 

Boyd  Josephson  (1958) 
Donald  Forbush, 

Norval  Whitehead  (1958) 

1959     President:  Bryce  Turner 
Counselors:  Frank  Taylor 

Don  Peterson 

1961     President:  Bruce  Turner 

Counselors:  Frank  Taylor 
Everett  J.  Hurt 

1964     President:  Frank  Taylor 
Counselors:  Kenneth  Roberts 

Dean  Christensen, 
James  Olsen  (1965) 

1966  President:  Dallas  Hansen 

Counselors:  John  Drake 

Dewey  Hansen 
1967  President:  Dewey  Hansen 

Counselors:  Roy  Corbett 

Virgil  Roholt 
1968  President:  Dewey  Hansen 

Counselors:  Virgil  Roholt 
Kent  Bailey 

1969  President:  Everett  Hurt 

Counselors:  Virgil  Roholt 

1970  President:  Byron  Shaw 

Counselors:  Craig  Vorwaller 
Clair  Green 

1972  President:  Byron  Shaw 

Counselors:  Neldon  Kingston 

Ray  Forsgren 
1973  President:  Neldon  Kingston 

Counselors:  Eldred  May 

Lloyd  Painter 
1975  George  Gorton 

(A.P.M.LA.) 
1976  Craig  Sherman 

(A.P.M.LA.) 
Y.W.M.LA. 

1899     President:  Cora  Potter 

Counselors:  Mary  Rich 

May  Stoddard 

282  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



1900     President:  Evelyn  Allsop 
Counselors:  Favorette  Rich 

Lizzie  Johnson 

1930     President:  Hettie  Thompson 
Counselors:  Katherine  Dalton 

Delia  Cowley 

(No  date)     President:  Virgil  Hartvigsen 
Counselors:  Lenore  Stock 

Etheleen  Lloyd 

(no  date)     President:  Lillian  Peterson 

Counselors:  Hettie  Thompson 
Lois  Peterson 

1952  President:  Ruby  Williams 

Counselors:  Betty  Longenbohn 
Jean  Donahoo 

1953  President:  Betty  Burton 

Counselors:  Fay  Jacobs 
Jean  Donahoo 

1957  President:  LaNorma  King 
Counselors:  June  Hansen 

Charlotte  Peterson 

1958  President:  Charlotte  Peterson 

Counselors:  Letha  Bronson 

Laura  Christensen, 
Martha  Muir 

1959  President:  Charlotte  Peterson 

Counselors:  June  Hansen 

Natalia  Burton 

1963  President:  Charlotte  Peterson 

Counselors:  Arlene  Wilker 

Natalia  Burton 

1964  President:  Natalia  Burton 

Counselors:  Ruth  Varley 
Arlene  Wilker 

1965  President:  Ruth  Varley 
Counselors:  Dolores  Gilbert 

Arlene  Wilker 

1968  President:  Ruth  Varley 
Counselors:  Dolores  Gilbert 

Bonnie  Sanders 

1969  President:  Dolores  Gilbert 

Counselors:  Ila  Mae  Rasmussen 

Bonnie  Sanders 

1971  President:  Dolores  Gilbert 

Counselors:  Ila  Mae  Rasmussen 
Tennie  Mae  Jacobsen 

1972  President:  Neva  Nielsen 

Counselors:  Kathryn  Peterson 
Tennie  Mae  Jacobsen 

1975  A.P.W.M.I.A.     Neva  Nielsen 

1976  A.P.W.M.LA.     Gloria  Taggart 
PRIMARY 

1899     President:  Emmeline  Cherry 
Counselors:  Luella  Kirby 

Elizabeth  Ormond 

1902     President:  Elizabeth  Ormond 

Counselors:  Zina  Adams 

Mary  D.  Burton 
1904     President:  Emmeline  Cherry 

Counselors:  Luella  Kirby 

Myrtle  Poulson 
1906     President:  Caroline  Green 

Counselors:  Elizabeth  Ormond 
Elizabeth  Hamp 

1909     President:  Elizabeth  Ormond 

Counselors:  Elizabeth  Hamp 
Emmeline  Cherry 

1915  President:  Geraldine  Rawlins 

Counselors:  Agnes  Lloyd 
Donna  Christensen 

1916  President:  Donna  Christensen 

Counselors:  Eunice  Chambers 
Hortense  Lloyd 

1918     President:  Anna  King 

Counselors:  Geraldine  Rawlins 

May  Stoddard 
1922  President:  May  Stoddard 

Counselors:  Nellie  Schumann 
Annie  Lowe 

1923  President:  Anna  Jones 

Counselors:  Annie  Lowe 

Esther  Peterson 

1926     President:  Lillie  Mather 

Counselors:  Sena  Johnson 
Esther  Peterson 
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1927     President:  Mae  Whitehead 

Counselors:  Annie  Lowe 

Eunice  Chambers 

1929  President:  Nora  Hansen 

Counselors:  Eunice  Chambers 

Mae  Whitehead 

1930  President:  Nora  Hansen 

Counselors:  Edna  Hacking 
Harriet  Titus 

1932  President:  Sena  Johnson 

Counselors:  Anna  Jones 

Emma  Christensen 

1933  President:  Sean  Johnson 

Counselors:  Annie  Lowe 

Blanche  Whitehead 

1934  President:  Eva  Jensen 

Counselors:  Mildred  Burgin 
Melva  Stoddard 

1935  President:  Cassie  Lasley 

Counselors:  Mildred  Burgin 
Annie  Lowe 

1938     President:  Mildred  Burgin 
Counselors:  Sena  Johnson 

Bessie  Hubbard 

1942     President:  Eva  Jensen 

Counselors:  Hazel  Sullivan 

Cora  Palmer 

1944     President:  Cora  Palmer 

Counselors:  Hazel  Sullivan 

1954     President:  Roxie  Marshall 

Counselors:  Margaret  Smith, 
Elnora  James 

Carma  Carver 

In  the  early  1950's  the  Primaries  of 
Williams,  Grace  First  and  Grace  Second 
Wards  were  consolidated  and  divided  into 

Junior  and  Senior  Primaries. 

1959  Sr.  Primary 
President:  June  Fowler 

Counselors:  Venice  Benson 

Beryl  Rasmussen 

1959  Jr.  Primary 

President:  Carma  Carver 

Counselors:  Faye  Jacobs 
Mildred  Toone 

1961  Sr.  Primary  (Same) 

1961  Jr.  Primary 

President:  Faye  Jacobs 
Counselors:  Norma  Ray 

Donna  Sullivan 

1962  Sr.  Primary 

President:  June  Fowler 

Counselors:  Beryl  Rasmussen 
Wanda  Miles 

1962  Jr.  Primary 

President:  Donna  Sullivan 

Counselors:  Norma  Ray 
Mona  Bell 

1963  Sr.  Primary 

President:  June  Fowler 

Counselors:  Mona  Bell Merna  Clegg 

1963  Jr.  Primary 

President:  Donna  Sullivan 

Counselors:  Norma  Ray 
Wanda  Miles 

1964  Sr.  Primary 

President:  Carol  Turner 

Counselors:  Darlene  Hardy 
Helen  Allen 

1964  Jr.  Primary 

President:  Ila  Holsten 

Counselors:  Norma  Ray 
Wanda  Miles 

1965  Sr.  Primary  (Same) 

1965  Jr.  Primary 

President:  Donna  Stoddard 

Counselors:  Wanda  Miles 

Florence  Johnson 

1966  Sr.  Primary  (Same) 
1966  Jr.  Primary 

President:  Faye  Rigby 

Counselors:  Wanda  Miles 

DeAnne  Maughan 
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1969  Jr.  Primary 

President:  Faye  Rigby 
Counselors:  Wanda  Miles 

Lonie  Rasmussen 

1970  Sr.  Primary 

President:  Ella  Louise  Campbell 
Counselors:  Lonie  Rasmussen 

Lyle  Swensen 
1970  Jr.  Primary 

President:  Addie  Lou  Stevens 

Counselors:  Zan  Clegg 
Janet  Alder 

GRACE  WARD  PRIMARY 

1971  President:  Ella  Louise  Campbell 
Counselors:  Janet  Alder 

Eileen  Nelson 

Paula  Kingston  (1973) 
1975  President:  Janet  Alder 

Counselors:  Paula  Kingston 
Jackie  Gorton, 

Peggy  Painter 

Grace  Second  Ward 

On  August  15,  1920,  the  Quarterly 
Conference  of  the  Bannock  Stake  was  held  in 

the  stake  tabernacle.  Elder  Melvin  J.  Ballard 

was  the  visiting  general  authority  presiding  at 

the  conference  which  was  conducted  by  Presi- 
dent William  H.  Mendenhall. 

At  this  time  the  Grace  Ward  was  divided 

and  that  section  of  the  ward  north  of  center 

street,  consisting  of  492  members  was 

designated  as  the  Grace  Second  Ward. 

For  the  first  eight  years  the  membership 

met  in  whatever  building  was  available.  This 

included  the  Columbia  Hall,  the  Opera  House 

and  a  brick  building  on  main  street  which  had 

been  a  drug  store. 
On  October  10,  1926,  the  cornerstone  of 

the  ward  building  was  laid.  A  special  service 

and  program  was  held  at  this  time.  This  was 

the  beginning  of  a  long,  hard  struggle  through 

the  depression  years;  it  was  a  happy  day  when 

the  first  meeting  was  held  in  the  basement  of 
the  new  building  in  November,  1928.  It  was 

almost  twelve  years  from  the  time  the  cor- 
nerstone was  laid  until  the  building  was  com- 

The  former  Grace  2ndWardChurch,dedicated  August 
21,  1938;  used  until  1957. 

Another  view  of  the  Grace  2nd  Hard  Church. 
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pleted,  paid  for  and  dedicated.  The  dedication 
was  held  on  August  21,  1938,  with  the  building 

being  dedicated  by  Elder  Charles  A.  Callis, 

who  also  dedicated  the  new  Seminary  building 

the  same  day. 

This  beautiful  building  was  used  until 

1957,  when  because  of  the  annexation  of  two 

other  wards,  it  became  too  small.  Acting  on 

the  recommendation  of  the  Church  Building 

Committee  and  the  stake  authorities,  the  ward 

building  was  torn  down,  and  an  addition  was 
built  on  to  the  new  stake  house.  Since  that 

time,  both  Grace  First  and  Grace  Second 

Wards  have  held  their  meetings  in  the  stake 
house. 

(Grace  Second  Ward  was  organized  in 

1920,  when  the  Grace  Ward  was  divided.) 

The  Grace   2nd  Ward  bishopric  (1977).  Left  to  right: 
Raymond   Van   VIeet,   2nd   Counselor;   Bishop   Roy 

Corbett;  Lynn  Smith,  1st  Counselor. 

BISHOPS 

John  Roghaar,  1920-1938;  Fred  D.  Burton, 

1938-1944;  J.  Floyd  Smart,  1944-1949;  Ervin 

McCann,  1949-^956;  Parley  Lloyd,  1956- 
1961;  John  Jr.  Thomas,  1961-1967;  Howard 

D.  Johnson,  1967-1970;  Paul  Christensen, 

1970-1975;  O.  LeRoy  Corbett,  1975-present. 
FIRST  COUNSELORS 

Reuben  Egbert,   1920-1938;  J.  Floyd  Smart, 
1938-1944;    Willard    Williams,    1944-1949; 

Grant    Williams,    1949-1952;    Orval 

Christensen,  1952-1956;  Alma  Adams,  1956- 

1965;  Paul  Christensen,  1965-1967;  Dwain 

Christensen,  1967-1970;  Willis  Rowsell,  1970- 

1975;  Lynn  E.  Smith,  1975-present. 

SECOND  COUNSELORS 

Grover  Chatterton,  1920-1929;  Fred  D.  Bur- 

ton, 1929-1938;  Kenneth  Peterson,  1938- 1940; 

Carl  Hansen,  1940-1943;  George  Revoir, 
1943-1950;  DeMar  Snow,  1949-1952;  Walter 

Lenhart,  1952-1957;  John  Jr.  Thomas,  1956- 

1961;  Max  Rigby,  1961-1967;  Budrow  Gibson, 
1967-1970;  Brian  Mendenhall,  1970-1975; 

Raymond  VanVleet,  1975-present. 
RELIEF  SOCIETY 

1920    President:  Mary  Burton 

Counselors:  Mary  J.  Sorensen 
Violet  Comish 

1930     President:  Emily  Williams 
Counselors:  Anna  Mae  Thomas 

Alice  T.  Maughan 

1932  President:  Mae  Revoir 

Counselors:  Esther  Thomas 

Hannah  Smith 

(Turner  Branch) 
1933  President:  Ruth  Smart 

Counselors:  Violet  Comish 
Ruth  Peterson 

1936     President:  Janet  Lowe 

Counselors:  Ruth  Peterson 
Alfretta  Lloyd 

(Date  unkown)     President:  Ruth  Peterson 
Counselors:  Alfretta  Lloyd 

Ethel  Robinson 

1952  President:  Ann  Lloyd 

Counselors:  Alice  Smith 

June  Christensen 

1953  President:  Alice  Smith 

Counselors:  Emily  Williams 
Nellie  Rosdahl 

1956     President:  Mardean  Pack 

Counselors:  Lilas  Van  Vleet 

Pauline  Egbert 
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1956  President:  Barbara  Olsen 

Counselors:  Pauline  Egbert 

Verda  Qualman 

(later) 
1957  President:  Barbara  Olsen 

Counselors:  Verda  Qualman 
Florence  Johnson 

1958  President:  June  Balls 

Counselors:  Faye  Rigby 
Clarice  Revoir 

1961     President:  June  Balls 

Counselors:  Clarice  Revoir 

Ada  Williams 

1963  President:  June  Balls 

Counselors:  Ada  Williams 

Clarice  Revoir 

1964  President:  Ada  Williams 

Counselors:  OClella  McCann 

Ramona  Barthlome 

1965  President:  Ada  Williams 

Counselors:  lona  Thomas 

Lilas  VanVleet 

1969     President:  Clara  Christensen 

Counselors:  Arlene  Gibson 

Verda  Weeks 

1971  President:  Clara  Christensen 

Counselors:  Verda  Weeks 
Arlene  Gibson 

1972  President:  lona  Thomas 

Counselors:  Linda  Christensen 

Joylene  Lloyd 
1973  President:  lona  Thomas 

Counselors:  June  Fowler 

Wilma  Simonson 

1975  President:  Jennie  Lloyd 
Counselors:  Hilda  Gummersall 

Sheila  Burton 

1976  President:  Joylene  Lloyd 

Counselors:  Beverly  Kimball 
Marva  P.  Yamauchi 

SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

(Organized  on  August  15,  1920  with  the 

following  officers:) 

1920     Superintendent:  Henry  C.  Christensen 

Counselors:  Edward  Berquist 
E.  Andrew  Adams 

1925     Superintendent:  James      Hyrum 
Nielson 

Assistants:  B.  Willard  Williams 

Olaf  Norseth 

1930     Superintendent:  B.  Willard  Williams 
Assistants:  Frank  Snow 

Donald  Lowe 

(Dependent    Branch    in    Turner — Rufus 
Smith,  Presiding  Elder) 

TURNER  BRANCH  SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1933  Superintendent:  Lowell  Elsmore 
Counselors:  Ervin  D.  McCann 

Lowell  Hansen 

1934  Superintendent:  Ralph  Hansen 
Counselors:  Carl  Hansen 

Lowell  Hansen 

Sam  Smith  appointed  as  Presiding  Elder  of 
Turner  Branch  in  1934. 

SECOND  WARD  SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1934  Superintendent:  B.  Willard  Williams 
Assistants:  Raymond  Maughan 

Roland  Robinson 

1935  Superintendent:  C.  Freeman  Ashbaker 
Assistants:  Leo  Johnson 

Lester  Comish 

1938     Superintendent:  Willard  Williams 
Assistants:  Grover  Chatterton 

Vester  Olsen 

(Date  unknown) 
Superintendent:  Everett  Smith 
Assistants:  Merrill  Hulse 

LaMar  Winward 

1952     Superintendent:  Daniel  H.  Lloyd 
Assistants:  John  Jr.  Thomas 

Merrill  Hulse 

1952     Superintendent:  Grant  Williams 
Assistants:  Richard  Holsten 

John  Jr.  Thomas 
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1957     Superintendent:  Max  Rigby 
Counselors:  Junius  Allen 

Thorn  Barthlome 

1959  Superintendent:  Howard  Johnson 
Assistant:  Von  Simonson 

1960  Superintendent:  Howard  Johnson 
Assistants:  Von  Simonson 

Harvey  Lloyd 

1961  Superintendent:  Howard  Johnson 
Assistants:  Von  Simonson 

Lynn  Wheatly 

1962  Superintendent:  Howard  Johnson 
Assistants:  Harold  Rigby 

LeRoy  Corbett 

1964     Superintendent:  Milo  Farnworth 
Assistant:     Richard  Holsten 

1966  Superintendent:  Leon  Gummersall 
Assistants:  Richard  Holsten 

Nathan  Smith 

1967  Superintendent:  Carl  Jr.  Rasmussen 
Assistants:  John  H.  Peterson 

Harold  Rigby 

1969     Superintendent:  Calvin  Alder 
Assistants:  J.  Fern  Condie 

Harold  Spencer 

1971  Superintendent:  Calvin  Alder 
Assistants:  Steven  Nelson 

Eldon  Peck 

1972  Superintendent:  Dwain  Christensen 
Assistants:  Eldon  Peck 

Charles  Parker 

1973  Superintendent:  Russell  Rindlisbaker 

Assistants:  Lynn  Panter 
Charles  Harrison 

1974  Superintendent:  Russell  Rindlisbaker 
Assistants:  Charles  Harrison 

Roland  Robinson 

1975  Superintendent:  Russell  Rindlisbaker 
Assistants:  Warren    Lloyd, 

Bart  Christensen 
Kim  Rasmussen 

1976     Superintendent:  Larry  Rawlins 
Assistants:  Max  C.  Paine 

Kevin  M,  Smith 

Y.M.M.LA. 

(Organized  in   1920,  with  the  following  of- ficers:) 

1920     Superintendent:  William  Warner 
Counselors:  Elmo  Sant 

Robert  Burton 

1930     President:  J.  Floyd  Smart 
Counselors:  Darus  Warner 

Leo  Johnson 

1932     President:  J.  Floyd  Smart 
Counselors:  Leo  Johnson 

Kenneth  Peterson 

1934  President:  Kenneth  Peterson 

Counselor:  Loran  Jenkins 

1935  President:  Kenneth  Peterson 

Counselors:  Frank  Taylor 
Terrell  Pack, 

Herman  Maughan 

1936  President:  Kermit  Herd 

Counselor:  Daniel  Lloyd 

1938     President:  Kenneth  Fowler 

Counselors:  Gail  Ray 

Joe  VandenAkker 

1952     President:  Verl  Neeley 
Counselors:  Paul  Christensen 

Osro  Van  Vleet  (1935) 

1956  President:  Leon  Gummersall 
Counselors:  Dale  Fowler 

James  Hamp 

1957  President:  Leon  Gummersall 

Counselors:  James  Hamp 
David  Revoir,  Jr. 

1958  President:  Keith  Young 

Counselors:  Vernon  Christensen 

Jay  Hale 
1960     President:  Don  Jewett 

Counselors:  Roland  Robinson 

Jay  Hale 
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1961  President:  Jay  Hale 
Counselors:  Budrow  Gibson 

Richard  Holsten,  Jr. 

1962  President:  Jay  Hale 
Counselor:  Budrow  Gibson 

1964     President:  Fern  J.  Condie 

Counselors:  Budrow  Gibson 

Wayne  Anderson 
1966  President:  Everett  Smith 

Counselors:  James  Spencer 

Lynn  Wheatley 

1967  President:  Max  Rigby 

Counselors:  Ray  Van  Vleet 
Heber  K.  Nickolas 

1969  President:  Raymond  Van  Vleet 

Counselors:  Delwyn  Hanks 
Leon  Gummersall 

1970  President:  David  E.  Revoir 

Counselors:  D.  Herman  Maughan 
Keith  Rigby 

1971  President:  John  Wynn  Thomas 
Counselors:  Fern  J.  Condie 

Budrow  Gibson 

1973  President:  Eddie  D.  Panter 

Counselors:  F.J.  Condie 

Ray  Van  Vleet 
1974  President:  Eddie  D.  Panter  (Present) 
A.P.Y.M. 

Y.W.M.LA. 

Organized  in  1920  as  follows: 
1920     President:  Mabel  Sant 

Counselors:  Myrtle  Andreasen 

Grace  Roghaar 

1930     President:  Mildred  Burton 

Counselors:  Esther  Peterson 

Violet  Comish 

1932  President:  Mildred  Burton 

Counselors:  Violet  Comish 

Arvilla  Humphries 

1933  President:  lone  Ashbaker 

Counselors:  Thelma  Nelson 

Ethel  Sorensen 

1935     President:  Nellie  Johnson 

Counselors:  Dorothy  Adams 

Lorena  Bjorkman 

(No  date)  President:  Faye  Rigby 
Counselors:  Mardean  Pack 

Donna  Cottle 

1949     President:  Margaret  Smith 
Counselors:  Irene  Johnson 

Joan  Paskins 

1952     President:  Lena  Snow 

Counselors:  Ada    Williams, 

Dorothy    Larsen Faye  Rigby 

1956  President:  Lilas  Van  Vleet 

Counselor:  Clara  Christensen  (2) 

1957  President:  Lilas  Van  Vleet 

Counselors:  Clara  Christensen 
Verda  Weeks 

1958  President:  LaRene  Corbett 
Counselors:  Clara  Gibson 

Martha  Hale 

1964  President:  Clara  Gibson 

Counselors:  Barbara  Olsen 

Sandra  Gilson 

1965  President:  Barbara  Comish 

Counselors:  Sandra  Gilson 

Danna  Lee  Revoir 

1966  President:  Barbara  Comish 
Counselors:  Faye  Rigby 

Ila  Mae  Rasmussen 

1967  President:  Beverly  Nelson 

Counselors:  Sally  Rindlisbaker 

Merlyn  Painter 
1969  President:  Beverly  Nelson 

Counselor:  Joan  Hamp 

1970  President:  Vivien  Mendenhall 

Counselors:  Janis  Christensen 
Mary  Lee  Hamp 

1971  President:  Vivien  Mendenhall 
Counselors:  Janis  Christensen 

Esther  Neeley, 

Diann  Spencer  (1972) 
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1973  President:  Joylene  Lloyd 
Counselors:  Barbara  Gibson 

June  Welch 

1974  A.P.Y.W.     President:  Joylene  Lloyd 

1975  A.P.Y.W.     President:  Joylene  Lloyd 
1976  A.P.Y.W.     President:  Patricia 

Rawlins  (LeAnn  Johnson) 

PRIMARY 

(Organized  in  1920) 

1920     President:  Elizabeth  Egbert 
Counselors:  Janet  Lowe 

Florence  Green 

1930  President:  Pauline  Van  Noy 
Counselors:  Laura  Adams 

Ruth  Harrison 

1931  or  '32     President:  Ruth  Peterson 
Counselors:  Verna  Merrill 

Wanda  Fowler 

1933     President:  Lucy  Malmberg 
Counselors:  Millie  R  ay 

Edith  Allen 

1935  President:  Ethel  Sorensen 

Counselors:  Ann  Paskins 

Natalia  Burton 

1936  President:  Mildred  Burton 

Counselors:  Ethel  Sorensen, 

Elis  Hurd  (1937) 
Elsie  Hurd, 

Nellie  Banks  (1938) 

1938     President:  Mildred  Burton 

Counselors:  Annie  Chatterton 

Rose  Smart 

(Consolidated  Primaries  record  in  Grace  First 
Ward  Chronology) 

Turner  Ward 

The  Turner  Ward  was  organized  in  1906 

from  the  Lund  Ward.  It  was  disorganized  in 
1930  and  transferred  to  the  Grace  Second 
Ward. 

The  first  four  bishops  of  Turner  Ward;  right  to  left: 
Joseph  P.  Greene,  Frank  M.  Snow,  William  Corbett 

and  Elisha  John  Thomas. 

BISHOPS 

Joseph  P.  Greene,  1906-1910;  Frank  M.  Snow, 

1910-1913;  William  Corbet,  1913-1917;  Elisha 

John  Thomas,  1917-1923;  Frank  M.  Snow, 

1923-1926;  Carol  O.  Hansen,  1926;  Thomas  J. 

McCann,  1926-1927;  EHsha  John  Thomas, 
1927-1930. 

FIRST  COUNSELORS 

James  M.  Brower,  1906-1909;  William 

Corbett,  1909-1910;  Franklin  W.  Harris, 

1910-1913;  Elisha  John  Thomas,  1913-1915; 

P.  Melbourne  Green,  1915-1917;  Samuel  G. 

Thomas,  19 16- 1920;  Albert  Gilbert,  1920-1923; 

Carl  O.  Hansen,  1923-1926;  William  Gilbert, 
1926-1930. 

SECOND  COUNSELORS 

William  Corbett,  1906-1909;  P.  Melbourne 

Green,  1909-1910;  Elisha  John  Thomas,  1910- 

1913;  P.  Melbourne  Green,  1913-1915;  Carl  O. 

Hansen,  1915-1917;  Thomas  G.  Eraser,  1917- 

1919;  Albert  Gilbert,  1919-1920;  Carol  O. 

Hansen,  1920-1923;  WilHam  Gilbert,  1925- 

1926;  WilHam  C.  Park,  1926-1927;  W.  Samuel 

Smith,  Jr.,  1927-1928;  Clarence  Corbridge, 
1928-1930. 

(No  further  records  available  for  Turner 
Ward) 
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Central  Ward 

The  Central  Ward  was  organized  in  1901 

from  the  Lund  Ward.  It  was  disorganized  in 
1952  and  consolidated  with  Grace  Second 
Ward. 

BISHOPS 

Rasmus  G.  Jorgensen  P.E.,  1899;  Robert  B. 

Gunnell  P.E.,  1899-1901;  Daniel  D.  Lloyd, 

1901-1903;  Rasmus  G.  Jorgensen,  1903-1917; 
Gustaf  E.  Anderson,  1917-1924;  WiUiam  C. 

Hegstrom,  1924-1926;  M.  Ezra  Sorensen, 
1926-1928;  CM.  Christensen,  1928-1930; 

Henry  A.  Bjorkman,  1930-1935;  Alvin  K. 

Lechtenberg,  1935-1944;  Kenneth  A. 
Christensen,  1944-1952. 

Central  Ward  Bishopric  (about  1944)  from  left  to 
right:    Leo    Christensen,    1st    Counselor;    Heber 
Christensen,    Ward    Clerk;    Emery    Hansen,    2nd 

Counselor;  Front:  Bishop  Alvin  K.  Lechtenberg. 

FIRST  COUNSELORS 

Rasmus  G.  Jorgensen,  1901-1903;  Andrus  P. 
Hansen,  1903-1915;  Gustaf  E.  Anderson, 

1915-1917;  William  C.  Hegstrom,  1917; 

Charles  W.  Rosdahl,  1917-1925;  Parley  Lloyd, 
1925-1928;  Thomas  L.  Sorensen,  1928-1930; 

John  E.  Christensen,  1930-1935;  Christian 

Christensen,  1935-1944;  Heber  C. 

Christensen,  1944-1952. 
SECOND  COUNSELORS 

Thomas   Gunnell,    1901-1903;    Andrew    F. 

Rosdahl,    1903-1906;    Samuel    D.    Kendall, 

1907-1909;    Charles    A.    Lloyd,    1909-1912; 

William  C.  Hegstrom,  1913-1917;  John  C. 

Qualman,  1917-1924;  Parley  Lloyd,  1924- 
1925;  Ferd  C.  Christensen,  1925-1928;  Niels 

Anderson,  Jr.,  1928-1930;  Emery  A.  Hansen, 

1930-1935;  Elmer  Rosdahl,  1935-1944;  Her- 

man Maughan,  1944-1952. 
RELIEF  SOCIETY 

1903     President:  Hadda  Anderson 

1915     President:  Minnie  Hansen 

1917     President:  Minnie  Peterson 

1924     President:  Sophia  Bjorkman 

1930     President:  Sarah  M.  Lloyd 
Counselors:  Pearl  Christensen 

Forence  Christensen 

1933     President:  Pearl  Christensen 

1939     President:  Edyth  Hansen 
Counselors:  Leatha  Christensen 

Emma  Hansen 

(Very  few  records  are  available  for  the  Central 
Ward) 

SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1900     Superintendent:  Gustaf  E.  Anderson 
Counselors:  Robert  B.  Gunnell 

Leander  Peterson 

1935     Superintendent:  Niels  Anderson,  Jr. 
Counselors:  Orval  Christensen 

Melvin  Lloyd 

Y.M.M.I.A. 

1930     President:  Alvin  K.  Lechtenberg 

Counselors:  Niels  Anderson,  Jr. 

Roy  Hansen 
1938     President:  Howard  Clark 

Counselors:  Kenneth  Christensen 
Evert  Anderson 

Y.W.M.I.A. 

1930     President:  Selma  Larsen 

Counselors:  Nina  Sorensen 
Mary  Lloyd 

1938     President:  Leatha  Christensen 

Counselors:  Florence  Christensen 
Arvalue  Rosdahl 
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PRIMARY 

1930     President:  Hazel  Ranstrom 

Counselors:  Emma  Hanson 
Verda  Dobson 

1935  President:  Sarah  Lloyd 

Counselors:  Bessie  Lloyd 
Nola  Christensen 

1936  President:  Idella  Harrison 

Counselors:  Alverta  Clark 
Blanche  Hulse 

(No  further  record  on  Primary.) 

Bench  Ward 

The  Bench  Ward  was  organized  in  1904 

from  Trout  Creek.  It  was  disorganized  in  1952 
and  consolidated  with  Williams  Ward. 

BISHOPS 

James  W.  Hubbard,  1904-1907;  Alma  E.  Hub- 

bard, 1907-1915;  Zera  W.  Pond,  1915-1918; 

George  M.  Dalton,  1918-1920;  George  W. 

Hulse,  1920-1922;  Robert  W.  Clegg,  1922- 
1937;  F.  Blaine  Whitehead,  1937-1946;  Merrill 

Hubbard,  1946-1951;  Owen  D.  Clegg,  1951- 
1952. 

Bench  Ward  Bishopric  (about  1944).  From  left  to 
right:  Joseph  Clegg,  1st  Counselor;  Bishop  Blaine 

Whitehead;  Merrill  Hubbard,   2nd  Counselor. 

FIRST  COUNSELORS 

Alma  E.  Hubbard,  1904-1907;  Canute  H. 

Mickelson,  1907-1918;  George  W.  Hulse, 

1918-1920;  Charles  W.  Hubbard,  1920-1937; 

Joseph  Clegg,  1937-1946;  Owen  Clegg,  1946- 
1951;  Earl  Whitehead,  1951-1952. 

SECOND  COUNSELORS 

Canute  Mickelson,  1904-1907;  Albert  E. 

Hayes,  1907-1915;  Orson  Clegg,  1915-  ; 

George  W.  Hulse,  1915-1918;  Robert  W. 

Clegg,  1918-1920;  Peter  Westerberg,  1920- 

1922;  Donald  Clegg,  1922-1929;  F.  Blaine 
Whitehead,  1929-1937;  Merlin  Peterson; 

Merrill  Hubbard,  1946;  Earl  Whitehead,  1946- 

1951;  Elvin  C.  Hubbard,  1951-1952. 
RELIEF  SOCIETY 

1904     President:  Inger  Graham 
Counselors:  Anna  Hayes 

Emma  Hubbard 

1920     President:  Sophia  P.  Burke 

Counselors:  Emily  P.  Whitehead 
Emelia  Berg  Hansen 

1922  President:  Esther  Peterson 

Counselors:  Elsie  D.  Hubbard 

Lena  S.  Jensen 

1923  President:  Elsie  D.  Hubbard 

Counselors:  Lettlie  R.  Clegg 

Lena  S.  Jensen 

1927     President:  Elsie  D.  Hubbard 
Counselors:  Lettie  R.  Clegg 

Alva  C.  Gray 

Ida  Peterson  (1931) 

1933     President:  Ida  Peterson 

Counselors:  Lettie  R.  Clegg 

Emily    P.    Whitehead, 
Pearl  Hulse  (1934) 

1937     President:  Ida  Peterson 
Counselors:  Lettie  Clegg 

Leatha  P.  Whitehead 

1937     President:  Ida  Peterson 

Counselors:  Lettie  R.  Clegg 

Delia  A.  Whitehead 

1939     President:  Lettie  R.  Clegg 
Counselors:  Delia  A.  Whitehead 

Georgia  H.  Jensen 
1944     President:  Georgia  H.  Jensen 

Counselors:  Delia  A.  Whitehead 

Vivian  R.  Eraser 
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1946     President:  Alice  S.  Clegg 

Counselors:  Merna  M.  Clegg 

Shirley  B.  Hubbard 

1950  President:  Burgetta  O.  Christensen 
Counselors:  Letha  P.  Whitehead 

Shirley     S.     Hubbard, 

Georgia  Jensen  (1951) 
SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1930  Superintendent:  Nephi  Peterson 
Assistants:  Robert  Jensen 

Orson  Clegg 

1937  Superintendent:  Elvin  Hubbard 
Assistant:  Wendell  Peterson 

1951  Superintendent:  Cyrus  Jensen 
Assistant:  Merlin  Peterson 

Y.M.M.I.A. 

1931  President:  Earl  Whitehead 

Counselors:  Joseph  Clegg 

Rupert  Peterson 
1938     President:  Owen  D.  Clegg 

Counselors:  Card  Christensen 

Roy  Mickelson 
Y.W.M.I.A. 

1931  President:  Lucile  Clegg 
Counselors:  Wanda  Hulse 

Natalia  Peterson 

1938  President:  Golda  Christensen 

Counselors:  Helen  Hubbard 

Betty  Mickelson 
PRIMARY 

1930     President:  Nyda  Christensen 
Counselors:  Ruth  Jensen 

Ella  Lamble 

1932  President:  Letha  Whitehead 

Counselors:  Ruth  Jensen 

Burgetta  Christensen 
1937     President:  Mildred  Burke 

Counselors:  Burgetta  Christensen 
Laura  Clegg 

1951     President:  Letha  Whitehead 

Counselors:  Golda  Christensen 

Mary  Lou  McNiel 

Williams  Ward 

Williams  Ward  was  organized  in  1923 

from  the  Bench  Ward — the  last  ward  in  Ban- 

nock Stake  to  be  organized. 

Williams  Ward  Chapel,  located  at  Niter  (1977). 

BISHOPS 

Robert  W.  Kingsford,  1923-1929;  Wesley  W. 

Hubbard,  1929-1935;  George  Dalton,  1935- 
1945;  Robert  W.  Hubbard,  1945-1954;  Owen 

D.  Clegg,  1954-1957;  Elvin  Hubbard,  1957- 
1960;  M.  Earl  Whitehead,  1960-1967;  Norval 

Whitehead,  1967-1974;  Grant  Mathews,  1974- 

present. 

Williams  Ward  Bishopric  (1977),  Left  to  right:  Duane 
Bitton,  1st  Counselor;  Bishop  Grant  Mathews;  Clayd 

Christensen,  2nd  Counselor. 

FIRST  COUNSELORS 

J.  Alfred  Toone,  1924-1935;  William  Warner, 

1935-1945;  Franklin  Thomas,  1945-1952;  Earl 

Whitehead,     1952-1954;     Franklin    Thomas, 
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1954-1957;  Verl  Hubbard,  1957-1960;  F. 

Michael  Mickelson,  1960-1967;  Lloyd  T. 
Bennett,  1967-1974;  Duane  Bitton,  1974- 

present. 
SECOND  COUNSELORS 

Joseph  D.  Miles,  1923-1924;  Howard  L. 

Thomas,  1926-1928;  George  M.  Dalton,  1928- 

1935;  Wesley  W.  Hubbard,  1935-1938;  Frank 

W.  Johnson,  1938-1945;  Ellis  Kingsford,  1945- 
1948;  Darrell  Toone,  1948-1952;  Elvin  Hub- 

bard, 1952-1957;  Boyd  Ruud,  1957-1960;  Val 

Gene  Andreasen,  1960-1967;  Grant  Mathews, 

1967-1974;  Glayd  Christensen,  1974-present. 
RELIEF  SOCIETY 

1930     President:  Martha  O.  Kingsford 
Counselors:  Mana  Hubbard 

Elsie  Miles 

1937     President:  Martha  O.  Kingsford 

Counselors:  Myrta  Longenbohn 
Lovenia  Fullmer 

(Date  unknown)     President:  Edith  W.  Hub- 
bard 

Counselors:  Hazel  K.  Dalton 

Lovenia  Fullmer 

(In  1952  Bench  and  Williams  Ward  were  con- 
solidated) 

1952  President:  Lyla  Bennett 

Counselors:  Burgetta  Christensen 
Neva  Johnson 

1953  President:  Neva  Johnson 

Counselors:  Lucile  H.  Tarbet, 
Gwen  Toone  (1955) 

Gwen  C.  Toone, 

Hazel  Dalton  (1955) 

1956     President:  Leota  Harris 

Counselors:  Helen  Mickelson 

Lydia  Thomas 
1958     President:  Helen  Mickelson 

Counselors:  Georgia  Jensen 
Donnette  Young 

1960     President:  Georgia  Jensen 
Counselors:  Gwen  Toone 

Adelia  Rasmussen 

1961  President:  Georgia  Jensen 
Counselors:  Afton  Gibbs 

Adelia  Rasmussen 

1962  President:  Lovene  Bitton 

Counselors:  Don  Niece  Whitehead 
Janice  Andreasen 

1963  President:  Lovene  Bitton 

Counselors:  Janice  Andreasen 

DonNiece  Whitehead 

Barbara  Mickelson  (1964) 

1965     President:  Lovene  Bitton 

Counselors:  Barbara  Mickelson 

Lyle  Swensen 
Janice  Andreasen  (1966) 

1967  President:  Lovene  Bitton 

Counselors:  Janice  Andreasen Zan  Clegg 

1968  President:  Carol  Turner 

Counselors:  Peggy  Mathews 
Jane  Ruud 

1970  President:  Carol  Turner 

Counselors:  Joyce  Bowles 

Lyla  Bennett 
Jane  Ruud 

1971  President:  Carol  Turner 

Counselors:  Lyla  Bennett 
Jane  Ruud, 

Louette  Mickelson  (1972) 

1973     President:  Carol  Turner 

Counselors:  Lyla  Bennett 
Louette  Mickelson 

1975  President:  Lyle  J.  Swensen 
Counselors:  Merna  M.  Clegg 

Barbara  T.  Mickelson 

1976  President:  Merna  M.  Clegg 

Counselors:  Donette  Young 
Barbara  Mickelson 

SUNDAY  SCHOOL 

1930     President:  Aruthur  J.  Hays 
Assistants:  Denzil  Burke 

Peter  Westerberg 
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1933     Superintendent:  Nels  Johnson 

Assistants:  Wendell  Westerberg 

Lloyd  Bennett 

(No  further  record  until  1952) 

1952     Superintendent:  Darrel  B.  Toone 
Assistants:  Robert  Frazer 

Wayne  Peck 

1954     Superintendent:  Robert  Fraser 
Counselors:  Darrel  Toone 

Dee  Miles 

1956  Superintendent:  Alan  Ruud 
Counselors:  Allan  Bennett 

Val  Gene  Andreasen 

1957  Superintendent:  Alan  Ruud 
Counselors:   Duane  Bitton 

Alan  Bennett, 

Wayne  Hansen  (1958) 

1959  Superintendent:  Wayne  Hansen 
Counselors:  Jack  Toomer 

Dean  Meacham 

1960  Superintendent:  Denzil  Johnson 

Counselors:  Lloyd  T.  Bennett 
Dean  Meacham 

1961  Superintendent:  Lloyd  Bennett 

Counselors:  Jay  Dalton 
Frank  Swensen 

1966  Superintendent:  Warren  Henderson 
Counselors:  Val  Steel, 

Lawrence  Mickelson 

Philip  Hansen 

1967  Superintendent:  Warren  Henderson 
Counselors:  Lawrence  Mickelson, 

Guy  Smith 
Philip  Hansen 
Robert  Harris  (1968) 

1968  Superintendent:  Dean  Mathews 
Counselors:  Lawrence  Mickelson 

Robert  Harris 

1972     Superintendent:  Owen  D.  Clegg 
Counselors:  Harris  Mickelson 

Keith  Bitton 

1973  Superintendent:  Owen  D.  Clegg 
Counselors:  Lawrence  Mickelson 

Keith  Bitton 

1974  Superintendent:  Owen  D.  Clegg 

Counselors:  Lynn  Rasmussen 
Keith  Bitton 

1974     Superintendent:  Keith  Bitton 

Counselors:  Lynn  Rasmussen 
Willard  Mickelson 

Y.M.M.LA. 

1930     President:  Austin  Whitehead 

Counselors:  Earl  White 

Conrad  Toone 

(No  further  record  until  1952) 

1952  President:  Ellis  Leavitt 

Counselors:  Willis  Edwards 
Howard  Johnson 

1953  President:  Norval  Whitehead 

Counselors:  Willis  Edwards 
Robert  Young 

1954  President:  Willis  Edwards 

Counselors:  Deon  Hubbard 

Wendell    Peterson, 

Dee    Hansen  (1955) 

1956  President:  Grant  Clegg 

Counselors:  Wayne  Hansen 
John  F.  Dalton 

1957  President:  Wayne  Peck 
Counselors:  Kenneth   Burnham, 

Alan    Ruud  (1959) Keith  Clegg 

1961   President:  Boyd  Ruud 

Counselors:  Wayne  Peck 
Rex  Spackman  (1962) Robert  Clegg, 

Wayne  Peck  (1962) 

1964  President:  Boyd  Ruud 

Counselors:  Rex  Spackman 

Lloyd  O.  Bennett 
1965  President:  Boyd  Ruud 

Counselors:  Lynn  Kerr 
Orlin  Bennett 
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1966  President:  Wayne  Peck 
Counselors:  James  Gilson 

Norval  Whitehead 

Boyd  Ruud 
Paul  Hunsaker 

1967  President:  Wayne  Peck 
Counselors:  Paul  Hunsaker 

Boyd  Ruud 
1967  President:  Frank  Swensen 

Counselors:  Roger  Mickelson 
Alan  Ruud 

1968  President:  Clinton  Peck 

Counselors:  Roger  Mickelson 
Alan  Ruud 

1968     President:  Robert  Young 

Counselors:  Roger  Mickelson 

Maynard  Bennett 
1971  President:  Clinton  Peck 

Counselors:  Gerald  Skinner 

Lynn  Rasmussen 
1972  President:  Clinton  Peck 

Counselors:  Reed  Kirby 

Lynn  Rasmussen 

1973-74     President:  Owen  D.  Clegg  (Dean) 
A.P.M.LA. 

1975-76     President:  Joseph  Frank  Swensen 
A.P.M.LA. 

Y.W.M.LA. 

1930     President:  Diantha  Kingsford 
Counselors:  Vernetta  Wintle 

Elsie  Miles 

(No  further  record  until  1952) 

1952  President:  Lucile  Clegg 
Counselors:  Merna  Clegg 

Betty  Longenbohn 

1953  President:  Mildred  Toone 

Counselors:  Shirley  Hubbard 
Leda  Peterson,  (1954) 
Helen  Hubbard 

Don  Niece  Whitehead, 

Zan  Christensen  (1954) 

1955  President:  Lydia  Thomas 
Counselors:  Helen  Hubbard Zan  Clegg 

Arlene  Nielsen 

1956  President:  Mildred  Toone 

Counselors:  Helen  Hubbard 

Leda  Peterson 
Arlene  Nielson 

1957  President:  Mildred  Toone 
Counselors:  Leda  Peterson 

Arlene  Nielson 
Reva  Clegg  (1958) 

1958  President:  Karen  Hubbard 

Counselors:   Louise  Mickelson Reva  Clegg 

1959  President:  Karen  Hubbard 

Counselors:  Mildred  Burke Reva  Clegg 

1960  President:  Rose  Floyd 
Counselors:  Mildred  Burke 

Merle  Steele 

1961  President:  Elaine  Peck 
Counselors:  Dixie  Clegg 

Evelyn  Dalton 
Connie  Spackman  (1962) 

1962  President:  Elaine  Peck 
Counselors:  Dixie  Clegg 

Connie  Spackman 

1964  President:  Dixie  Clegg 

Counselors:  Connie  Spackman 
Ruth  Lee  Harris 

1965  President:  Dixie  Clegg,  Marie  Jenkins 
Counselors:  Marie  Jenkins 

Anna    Murdock, 

Ruth     Bennett 

1966  President:  Marie    Jenkins, 

Nola   De  Guilio, 

Counselors:  Linda  Mickelson 

Rosemary  Mickelson 
Nola  De  Guilio 

Beverly  Mickelson 
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1967     President:  June  Turner 

Counselors:  Pamela  Westerberg 

Judy  Bitlon 
1969     President:  June  Turner 

Counselors:  Lori  Bennett 

Judy  Bitton 
1969-70     President:  Sandra  Hall 

Counselors:  Patsy  Reed 
Leslie  Mathews 

1972     President:  Leslie  Mathews 

Counselors:  Elaine  Peck 

Judy  Bitton 
1974     A.P.W.M.LA.     Ruth  Lee  Harris 

1976     A.P.W.M.LA.     Ruth  Lee  Harris 
PRIMARY 

1930     President:  Hazel  Dalton 

Counselor:  Edith  Hubbard 

1933     President:  Hazel  Dalton 

Counselors:  Myrta  Longenbohn 
Lois  Griffeth 

(No  further  record  until  1952) 
1952     President:  Mildred  Toone 

Counselors:  Ila  Holsten 

Golda  Christensen 

(The  consolidated  primary  record  included  in 
the  Grace  Ward  record.) 
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Interior  views  of  Grace  Second  Ward  Church;  this 
church  was  destroyed  in  1957. 
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CHAPTER  XIV 

Grace  Mayors  & 
City  Chronology 

"The  Village  of  Grace  was  organized,  pursuant  to  the  laws  of  the  State  of 
Idaho  and  became  a  municipal  corporation  in  the  year,  1915.  The  first  Board 

of  Trustees  were  as  follows:  John  Kirby,  C.  H.  Poulson,  A.  E.  Lloyd,  A.  L. 

Andreasen,  L.  Sumner  Pond.  L.  Sumner  Pond  was  chosen  as  the  first  chair- 

man, with  A.  E.  Haines  as  clerk.'' 
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Two  former  mayors  of  Grace— John  Roghaar  on  left,  and  Moroni  W.  Lowe,  right— testing  the 
city  water  system. 
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Grace  Mayors  and  City  Chronology 
1  HE  VILLAGE  of  Grace  was  incorporated 

in  1915  with  the  following  men  serving  as 
Trustees: 

1915  L.  Sumner  Pond,  Chairman 
A.L.  Andreasen 

John  Roghaar 
John  J.  Kirby 

Archie  E.  Lloyd 

A.E.  Haines,  Clerk 

1916  John  Roghaar,  Chairman 
John  J.  Kirby 

Archie  E.  Lloyd 

Joseph  Christensen 
John  Lloyd 

A.E.  Haines,  Clerk 

1917  John  Roghaar,  Chairman 

Archie  E.  Lloyd 

John  L.  Lloyd 

John  J.  Kirby 
John  Greaves 

A.E.  Haines,  Clerk 

1921     A.R.  Dawson,  Chairman 
Lou  Davis 

William  Corbett 

John  Hubbard 

Archie  E.  Lloyd 

Evan  Christensen,  Clerk  1918-1921 
A.L.  Bonnell,  Clerk  1921 

1923     John  Hubbard,  Chairman 

(No  record  of  trustees) 

1927     Moroni  W.  Lowe,  Chairman 

Adolph  Wyss 
H.C.  Christensen 

Robert  Hill 

Sylvester  Jones 

A.R.  Dawson,  McGee  Harris  (1928) 
A.L.  Bonnell,  Clerk 

1929     Moroni  W.  Lowe,  Chairman 
H.C.  Christensen 

Adolph  Wyss 

Sylvester  Jones 
Thomas 

Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk  (1927) 

1931     Moroni  W.  Lowe,  Chairman 

Sylvester  Jones 
Adolph  Wyss 

J.C.  Greaves 

George  Ellis 
John  Roghaar  (1932) 

Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 

1935     L.  Sumner  Pond,  Chairman 

C.A.  Orr 

J.  Floyd  Smart 
Moroni  W.  Lowe 

J.C.  Greaves 

Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 

1937     L.  Sumner  Pond,  Chairman 
Moroni  W.  Lowe 

J.  Floyd  Smart 
Kenneth  Peterson 

C.A.  Orr 

Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 

1939  L.  Sumner  Pond,  Chairman 
Moroni  W.  Lowe 

Lewis  W.  Davis 

Kenneth  Peterson 

J.  Floyd  Smart 
Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 

1940  L.  Sumner  Pond,  Chairman 
Daniel  H.  Corbett 

Moroni  W.  Lowe 

J.  Floyd  Smart 
William  Stalder 

Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 

1941  Moroni  W.  Lowe,  Chairman 
Daniel  H.  Corbett 

William  Stalder 
H.H.  Lloyd 

J.  Floyd  Smart 
Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 
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1941     William  Stalder,  Chairman 

H.H.  Lloyd 
Daniel  H.  Corbett 

J.  Floyd  Smart 
Dean  Howells 

Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 

1943  J.  Floyd  Smart,  Chairman 
Harold  Peterson 

Clarence  D.  Simmons 
William  Stalder 

Dean  Howells,  Angus  Lasley 
Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 

1944  J.  Floyd  Smart,  Chairman 
Clarence  D.  Simmons 

Angus  Lasley 
Harold  Peterson 

William  Stalder 

Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 

1946  Harold  Peterson,  Chairman 
Clarence  D.  Simmons 

William  Stalder 

Angus  Lasley 
G.  Heber  Smith 

Melvin  Whitehead,  Clerk 

1947  Louis  Stalker,  Chairman 
Dr.  C.C.  Johnson 

Harold  Peterson 

Angus  Lasley 
William  Stalder 

J.  Floyd  Smart,  Clerk 
1949     Dr.  C.C.  Johnson,  Chairman 

Theo  Harris 

Parnell  Whitehead 

Louis  Stalker 

Harold  Peterson 

Heber  Smith,  Clerk  (1947) 

Heber  Smith,  Secretary 

1951     Harold  B.  Lowe,  Chairman 
Clarence  D.  Simmons 

William  Davis 

Theo  Harris 

Parnell  Whitehead 

Heber  Smith,  Secretary 

1954     Harold  B.  Lowe,  Chairman 
Clarence  D.  Simmons 

Tom  Harris 
Parnell  Whitehead 

Robert  Hill 
Heber  Smith,  Clerk 

1957     Harold  B.  Lowe,  Chairman 

Robert  Hill 
Clarence  D.  Simmons 

Howard  Johnson 

LeRoy  Longenbohn 
Heber  Smith,  Clerk 

1961     Harold  B.  Lowe,  Mayor 
Robert  Hill 

Clarence  D.  Simmons 

LeRoy  Longenbohn 
Lee  Venemon 

1964     Harold  B.  Lowe,  Mayor 
Howard  Johnson 

Clarence  D.  Simmons 

LeRoy  Longenbohn 
Kenneth  Lloyd 

Irene  Weaver,  Clerk  (1965) 

1966  Harold  B.  Lowe,  Mayor 
Clarence  D.  Simmons 

Howard  Johnson 
Kenneth  Lloyd 

Fred  Van  Vleet 

Irene  Weaver,  Clerk 

1967  Harold  B.  Lowe,  Mayor 
Fred  Van  Vleet 
Kenneth  Lloyd 

Clarence  D.  Simmons 

Douglas  Campbell 
Irene  Weaver,  Clerk 

1968  Clarence  D.  Simmons,  Mayor 
Kenneth  Lloyd 

Douglas  Campbell 
Fred  Van  Vleet 

Richard  V.  Weeks 

Irene  Weaver,  Clerk 
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Former  mayor,  C.  D.  Simmons  and  the  city  water 
tank,  which  contains  140,000  gallons  of  water  from  18 

springs. 

1970     Clarence  D.  Simmons,  Mayor 
Richard  V.  Weeks 

Douglas  Campbell 
Fred  Van  Vleet 

Harold  B.  Lowe 

Irene  Weaver,  Clerk 

1972     Harold  B.  Lowe,  Mayor 
Fred  Van  Vleet 

Richard  V.  Weeks 

Douglas  Campbell 
Clarence  D.  Simmons 

Mardean  Pack,  Clerk  (1971) 

I  f"?!  rrf  1  f  If  Tfffi 

City  of  Grace  employees  in  1969 — from  left:  Hap 
Spencer,  fire  chief;  John  Van  Vleet,  superintendent  of 
water  and  an  employee  of  the  city  for  39  years;  Terrell 
Beckstead,  city  sanitarian.  They  are  shown  with  Grace 

Volunteer  Fire  Department's  fire  truck. 

Grace  City  Councilmen  at  the  present  time  (1977); 
from  left  to  right:  Clarence  D.  Simmons,  Mayor 

Douglas  Campbell,  Kenneth  Roberts,  Fred  Van  Vleet, 

Hap  Spencer. 

Mayor  H.  B.  Lowe,  signing  the  Freedom  Scroll  for  the 
Freedom  Wagon  Train,  at  the  Caribou  County  Fair  in 
August,  1975.  Shown  with  him  are— Councilmen  R.  V. 
Weeks,  Fred  Van  Vleet,  and  Douglas  Campbell. 

Mardean  Pack,  city  clerk  in  1977,  shown  with  scrap- 
book  she  has  compiled  on  the  city  of  Grace. 
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The  Grace  City  Office  building,  located  on  east 
Center  Street. 

At  the  Grace  Bicentennial  celebration,  Royalty  are 
shown  at  the  grandstand.  From  left  to  right— Queen, 
Lida  Rigby,  Councilman,  Fred  Van  VIeet  as  escort, 

and  Goddess  of  Liberty,  Ranae  Lloyd. 

1976     Douglas  Campbell,  Mayor 
Clarence  D.  Simmons 

Fred  Van  Vleet 

Kenneth  Roberts 

Harold  Spencer 
Mardean  Pack,  Clerk 

Some  Early  Ordinances  and  Interesting  '^Bits'' 

Early  Ordinances  (summarized) 

1 .  An  ordinance  fixing  the  time  and  place  of 

holding  regular  meetings. 

2.  An  ordinance  defining  offenses  against 

the  public  peace  of  the  Village  of  Grace, 

and  penalties  for  violation. 
3.  An  ordinance  prohibiting  horses,  cattle, 

etc.  from  running  at  large  within  the  cor- 
porate limits  of  the  Village  of  Grace. 

4.  An  ordinance  regarding  the  appointment 

of  officers — duties  and  obligations  of 
same. 

5.  An  ordinance  for  the  regulation  and 

licensing  of  all  kinds  of  trade,  businesses 
etc.  within  the  corporate  limits  of  Grace. 

6.  An  ordinance  controlling  and  prohibiting 

the  sale  and  drinking  of  intoxicating  li- 
quors within  the  corporate  limits  of 

Grace. 

7.  An  ordinance  granting  L.  Sumner  Pond 

and  George  Hamp,  co-partners,  a 
franchise  for  their  power  and  light  plant. 

8.  An  ordinance  for  licensing  dogs  etc, 

9.  An  ordinance  dealing  with  the  appropria- 
tion of  money  for  the  Village  of  Grace. 

10.  An  ordinance  prescribing  speed  limit  of 

automobiles  and  penalty  in  the  Village  of 

Grace.  (Speed  limit  sign  near  the  Dean 
Christensen  corner  stated:  12  miles  per 
hour.) 

11.  An  ordinance  regulating  public  dances  in 
the  Village  of  Grace. 
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12.  An  ordinance  for  local  sidewalk  improve- 
ment. 

13.  An  ordinance  for  the  bonding  of  the 

Village  of  Grace  in  the  sum  of  $5,000  for 

purchasing  and  improving  the  Grace 

Light  Distributing  system. 

16.  An  ordinance  for  the  bonding  of  the 

Village  of  Grace  to  provide  for  installa- 
tion of  a  water  system. 

Interesting  "Bits" 

The  first  attorneys  for  the  city  of  Grace 

were  McDougall  and  Jones  of  Pocatello. 

L.H.  Merriam  was  the  first  Village 

Marshall  following  incorporation.  He  was 

paid  $50.00  per  month. 

The  Grace  Townsite  was  surveyed  and 

plotted  in  early  1916,  W.A.  Samms  was  the 

engineer. 

In  1916  a  petition  was  drawn  to  the  Short 

Line  Railroad  Co.  train  commonly  known  as 

the  "Ping  Pong"  to  run  in  and  out  of  Grace 
twice  daily. 

The  first  survey  of  Citizens  Addition  was 

started  April  11,  1916,  and  completed  May  13, 

1916 — was  agreed  to  by  all  property  owners 
November  29,  1917.  Streets  and  alleys  granted 

to  public  service  in  fee  simple  for  public  use 
forever. 

First  Bond  election  held  at  Columbia  Hall 

for  $25,000  for  a  water  system.  The  "Gem 

Valley  Progress"  published  the  bond  election 
for  this  bond. 

May  10,  1929,  Dr.  Joseph  E.  Otte  was  ap- 
pointed health  officer. 

June  8,  1929,  Election  was  held  on  selling 

the  Grace  electrical  system  to  the  Utah  Power 

and  Light  Co. 

June,  1930 — John  Van  Vleet  was  ap- 

pointed Grace  Marshall — this  position  he  held 
for  a  good  many  years. 

February,  1934 — Slot  machines  to  be  out- 
lawed in  Village  limits. 

In  1934,  the  village  appealed  to  the 

Governor  of  Idaho  for  help  from  drought  that 
a  well  might  be  dug. 

In  December  of  1936,  the  U.P.  &  L.  Co. 

agreed  to  furnish  all  electricity  for  Christmas 

lighting  of  the  streets  during  the  month  of 

December.  (This  agreement  is  still  in  force) 

In  September  1937,  the  Village  agreed  to 

purchase  lots  owned  by  D.A.  Banks  for  $1200 
for  a  city  park. 

In  February,  1942,  fire  siren  was  install- 
ed. The  first  volunteer  fire  wardens  were:  John 

Van  Vleet,  Joe  VandenAkker,  James  Kirby, 

DeVall  Gillette,  Angus  Lasley,  Russell  Herd 
and  Kermit  Herd. 

In  September  1946,  ladies  of  the  Grace 

Literary  Club  met  with  the  board  regarding 

garbage  removal.  The  ladies  were:  Gwen 
Stalker,  Eleanor  Wiswall,  and  Jamie  Stalder. 

In  1946  Fred  Van  Vleet  started  hauling 

garbage  for  $97  per  month  or  $2.00  per  hour. 

In  March  1950,  a  new  reservoir  was  con- 
structed. It  had  a  capacity  of  240,000  gallons. 

Approximate  cost  was  $12,000. 
Literary  Club  ladies  met  with  board  in 

regards  to  park  improvement. 
Dr.  Johnson  authorized  to  draft  a  map  of 

City  water  systems. 

City  jail  built  by  John  Hicks  for  $1500  in 

July,  1962. 
Airport  acquired,  December  1965. 
In  1968  councilmen  were  paid  for  the  first 

time.  The  amount  was  $25  per  month  for 

councilmen  and  $50  per  month  for  mayors. 

In  1969,  a  public  Employment  Retire- 
ment System  was  accepted. 

Four  drinking  fountains  installed  in 
Grace  in  1969. 

Gold  watch  presented  to  John  Van  Vleet 

at  Christmas  party  for  39  years  service  to  the 
City  of  Grace.  (1969) 
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Van  Vleet  Memorial  Park  was  dedicated 

on  October  25,  1970. 

New  playground  equipment  purchased 

for  city  park.  A  land-fill  was  obtained  for  gar- 
bage  disposal.  Law  enforcement 

consolidated — dog-leash  law  passed-Rest 
rooms  constructed  in  City  Park  (1970). 

In  June,  1974,  a  new  steel  fire  building 

was  constructed.  The  U.P.  &  L.  Co.  gave  to 

the  city  of  Grace  a  steel  pipe  to  hold  storage 

water  of  153,000  gallons. 

In  1976,  the  City  extended  water  and 
sewer  lines  at  a  cost  of  $2,862;  constructed  new 
streets  and  maintained  old  ones  at  a  cost  of 

$7,852;  purchased  new  equipment  for  $2,500; 

made  last  payment  of  $520  for  new  fire  station 

and  property  (total  cost  $69,248). 
New  living  quarters  in  Grace  in  1976,  and 

other  buildings  were  as  follows — 10  new 
homes,  1  duplex,  8  new  mobile  homes,  8  new 

garages,  5  additions  to  homes,  store  enlarged, 

fertilizer  plant  built,  6  grain  storage  elevators 
built. 

Nearly  one  million  dollars  was  spent  to 

make  Grace  a  better  place  to  live. 

The  population  of  Grace  in  1976  was 

1,170 — an  increase  of  42%  over  the  1970  pop- 
ulation of  826. 

From  Bannock  to  Caribou  (Annexation) 

In  1946,  during  the  legislative  session  in 

Boise,  a  petition  was  received  asking  for 

annexation  of  the  Bancroft  area,  encom- 
passing what  is  known  as  the  Bancroft  School 

District,  into  Caribou  County.  Dave  Grimm 
and  Fred  Yost  of  Bancroft  led  the  annexation 

move  from  Bannock  to  Caribou.  They  were 

aided  by  political  leaders  from  Caribou  Coun- 

ty directed  by  Milton  Horsley,  then  speaker  of 
the  House,  and  Heber  Lau,  a  member  of  the 

House  of  Representatives. 

Bancroft  area  residents  were  not  satisfied 

with  their  political  voice  in  Bannock  County. 

All  of  Gem  Valley,  from  Chesterfield  to  the 

Devils  Hand  Canyon,  then  made  up  the  Ban- 
nock County  3rd  District. 

At  the  same  time  a  Bancroft  Bill  was  be- 

ing drafted,  a  similar  bill  was  being  drafted  to 

take  the  lower  end  of  Gem  Valley  to  Franklin 

County.  This  Franklin  County  move  was  ben- 
ing  sponsored  by  Roy  Andreasen  and  Vernon 
Mendenhall.  Roy  Andreasen  was  an  elected 

member  of  the  House  of  Representatives  from 
Franklin  County. 

These  two  bills  were  introducted  into  the 

House,  and  had  had  their  first  reading  before 

the  Grace  area  knew  what  was  developing  in 

Boise.  Frank  Harris  of  Soda  Springs  was  the 

Caribou  County  Senator.  Mathias  Lowe  of 
Grace  was  a  member  of  the  House  of 

Representatives  elected  from  Bannock  Coun- ty- 

When  the  annexation  move  reached  this 

stage,  Frank  Harris  called  H.B.  Lowe  in  Grace 

and  asked  if  the  people  of  Grace  knew  of  the 

developments;  and,  if  they  realized  that  they 

would  have  to  drive  through  Caribou  County 

to  get  to  their  county  seat  in  Pocatello,  if  these 
annexations  came  about.  H.B.  Lowe  said  he 

would  take  proper  steps  to  acquaint  the  Grace 
area  with  these  facts. 

He  immediately  called  a  mass  meeting.  It 
was  held  in  the  Grade  School  Auditorium,  and 

the  building  was  filled  with  interested 

residents.  They  voted  to  make  H.B.  Lowe 
chairman  of  a  committee  composed  of  Ralph 

Harrison,  Ira  Hogan,  Guy  Harris,  Harold 

Peterson,  Harold  Bassett,  and  Dean  Howells. 
Contributions  of  $480.00  were  raised  at 

this  meeting  to  help  defray  expenses  for  a  trip 

to  Boise.  Instructions  given  the  committee 

were  to  go  to  Boise,  and  keep  Gem  Valley 

together.  If  Bancroft  went  to  Caribou,  Grace 
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should  go  also;  if  Grace  could  not  go,  then 
Bancroft  should  stay  in  Bannock  with  Grace. 

The  Grace  committee  ran  into  a  great 

deal  of  political  maneuvering.  Their  presence 

was  not  welcomed  by  Bancroft  whose  bill  was 

now  up  for  its  third  reading.  The  com- 
plications of  drawing  up  a  bill  that  would  stand 

up  under  the  most  technical  scrutiny  was 

recognized;  but  after  considerable  effort,  a  bill 

was  compiled  and  then  engineered  through  the 

House  of  Representatives. 

This  annexation  involved  more  people  in 

Commissioner's  District  #3  of  Bannock  Coun- 
ty, and  more  valuation  than  old  Caribou 

County  had.  Bannock  County  fought  to  stop 

the  annexation.  Bancroft  did  not  want  to  go 

with  Grace,  and  Caribou  was  divided  on 

accepting  Grace. 
H.B.  Lowe  stated  that  because  of  the 

dedication  of  his  annexation  committee  and 

their  acquaintance  and  influence  with  impor- 
tant people,  the  Legislature  passed  three 

enabling  acts — one  to  allow  the  people  of 
lower  Gem  Valley  to  vote  to  go  or  not  to  go  to 

Franklin  County;  another  to  allow  Bancroft 

and  Grace  to  join  or  not  to  join  Caribou  Coun- 
ty. 

Two  years  later,   1948,  the  residents  of 

Commissioner's  District  #3  of  Bannock  Coun- 
ty voted  by  a  large  majority  to  leave  Bannock 

and  join  Caribou.  The  rich  agricultural  lands 

and  utilities  raised  Caribou  County's  valuation 
to  the  2nd  highest  per  capita  valuation  in  the 
State. 
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Moroni  W.  Lowe  and  Harold  B.  Lowe,  father  and  son,  both  long-term  mayors  of  Grace,  Idaho. 
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CHAPTER  XV 

Our  Town  Today 

'It  doesn't  matter  much  be  its  buildings  great  or  small,  the  home  town, 
the  home  town  is  the  best  town,  after  all."  Edgar  A.  Guest 
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Looking  south  on  Main  Street — Grace,  Idaho,  1977. 
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A  view  of  Main  Street  in  Grace,  Idaho — looking  north. 
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o UR  TOWN  is  a  haven  of  peace,  quiet, 
and  serenity.  The  streets  are  wide  and 

welcoming,  most  of  them  being  hard-surfaced. 
The  air  is  pure  and  clean  with  no  pollutants  to 

mar  the  atmosphere.  Though  Grace  is  small  in 

comparison  to  the  average  American  city,  its 

economic  stability,  high  standard  of  living, 

close  proximity  to  city  centers  and  progressive 

attitude  make  of  it  an  ideal  "hometown."  This 
did  not  come  about  without  many  hours  of 

self-sacrifice  and  dedicated  work  beyond  the 
call  of  duty  by  Mayors,  Councilmen,  and 

employees  of  rare  ability  and  dedication  over 

many  years.  Some  of  these  are  notable,  and 

are  remembered  by  many  still  living  in  Grace. 

John  VanVleet  did  his  best  over  30  years  to  up- 
date, map,  and  improve  the  water  system  that 

has  been  the  pride  of  Grace.  Still  pure  and  un- 
sullied as  it  comes  from  mountain  springs, 

there  is  ample  to  supply  homes,  gardens  and 

lawns  in  the  town,  without  restrictions  (1976). 

(Note:  Because  of  the  severe  draught 

throughout  the  West  in  1977,  the  city  of  Grace 

has  had  to  impose  water  restrictions  for  the 

first  time  in  its  history.  The  draught  was  also 
an  indirect  cause  of  water  contamination;  so 

cholorination  of  the  water  supply  is  now  plann- 
ed. It  is  felt  that  this  will  be  a  temporary 

situation.) 

A  most  adequate  storm  drainage  system 

has  protected  our  town  over  the  years.  Before 

its  installation,  Grace  faced  the  danger  of 

flooding  from  the  spring  run-off  or  a  heavy 
cloudburst  threat.  An  interesting  situation, 

and  the  efforts  of  the  Mayor  of  the  City, 

Harold  B.  Lowe,  brought  this  improvement 

about.  The  State  of  Idaho  Highway  Depart- 
ment was  in  the  process  of  putting  a  new 

highway  through  Grace  to  the  south  of  town, 

widening  the  street  and  hard-surfacing  the 
wide  expanse  of  this  road.  The  mayor  saw  the 
imminent  threat  of  accumulation  of  fiood  or 

run-off  waters  running  uncontrolled  over  the 
town.  He  went  to  Boise  and  contacted  the  head 

of  the  State  Highway  Department;  told  him  of 

the  town's  predicament,  and  was  given  word 
that  a  drainage  survey  would  be  made  and  in- 

stalled by  the  State  Highway  Department 

without  cost  to  the  City.  The  state  then  sent  a 

check  to  the  City  for  $28,500  which  paid  for 
the  entire  installation  that  connects  the  street 

drainage  to  Bear  River  west  of  the  city.  The 

system  proved  its  worth  when  neighboring 
communities  were  badly  flooded,  and  Grace 

escaped  damage  during  the  two  years  of  exten- 
sive flooding  elsewhere  in  the  area. 

In  discovering  a  way  of  installing  the 

storm  drains,  a  route  for  the  sewer  system  was 

discovered.  A  bond  issue  of  $250,000  brought 

about  funds  to  install  the  sewer  system,  which, 

when  installed,  was  planned  for  a  city  of  2,500 

people.  The  population  of  Grace  in  1976  was 

1,170. 
Since  the  amount  of  water  available  from 

the  springs  in  Child's  Canyon  varies,  the  City 
Council  decided  to  sink  a  well  and  install  an 

electrically  powered  pump  in  the  eastern  part 

of  the  city  to  insure  a  reliable  water  supply. 
This  was  done  in  1938,  during  the  term  of 

Moroni  W.  Lowe  as  mayor.  The  well  was  drill- 
ed through  220  feet  of  solid  lava  rock  and  lined 

with  a  12  inch  steel  casing.  Its  adequacy  was 

proven  by  a  test  that  produced  900  gallons  of 

water  per  minute  over  a  period  of  24  hours 

without  lowering  the  water  level  in  the  well. 

This  was  connected  to  the  city  water  line,  and 

was  constructed  so  the  pump  could  pump 

water  up  hill  to  the  storage  tank,  which  holds 

240,000  gallons  of  water,  thus  stabilizing  the 

city's  water  supply.  The  original  pump  on  the 
well  was  25  H.P.,  but  today  the  pump  is  a 

Johnson  75  H.P.  electrical  power  driven  deep- 
well  turbine. 

Grace,  being  a  farm-centered  community 
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is  proud  of  its  annual  fair.  The  choice  of  Grace 
as  the  site  of  the  Caribou  County  Fair  came 

about  by  chance.  When  the  Caribou  County 

Posse  promoted  night  light  installation  for  the 

rodeo  grounds,  they  approached  the  Fair 

Board,  who  promised  action,  but  delayed,  so 

the  Posse  asked  the  City  of  Grace  to  help.  At 

that  time  4  members  of  the  city  council  were 

posse  members,  so  Mayor  H.B.  Lowe  propos- 
ed to  have  the  city  light  the  grounds.  They 

agreed.  This  move  brought  the  Caribou  Coun- 
ty Fair  to  Grace  permanently. 

The  City  Office  building  and  grounds 

were  purchased  by  the  city  from  the  Don  For- 
bush  Co.  for  $3,000. 

During  the  past  ten  years,  four  new  sub- 
divisions have  been  added  to  our 

town — Monte  Vista,  Fair  View,  Lloyd's  and 
Turner's.  This  enlargement  has  added  con- 

siderable expense  to  the  city's  budget  in  order 
to  supply  sewer,  water,  and  roads  for  the  new 

sub-divisions.  This  growth  was  accelerated  by 
the  addition  of  industrial  plants  north  of  Soda 

Springs.  Housing  became  short  in  that  city,  so 

the  "overflow"  have  settled  in  Grace.  The 
lovely  new  homes  have  been  a  valuable  addi- 

tion to  the  city  of  Grace. 

The  city  has  added  a  new  Fire  Station 

Building,  built  next  to  the  Grace  Hardware 

Monte  Vista  estates — a  beautiful  housing  area  in  south 
Grace. 

New,  ail  steel,  fire  station  building. 

Store.  Revenue  sharing  funds  acquired  from 

the  government  paid  for  this  needed  building, 
which  cost  $40,000.  There  arc  14  volunteer 

firemen  available  and  three  fire  trucks — one, 

a  big  pumper;  two  with  auxiliary  tanks;  a  panel 

truck  housing  axes,  chemicals,  first-aid,  and 

uniforms,  including  fire-proof  jackets. 

School  children  have  been  adequately 

taken  care  of  in  the  (irace  Elementary,  the 

Grace  Junior  High,  and  the  Cirace  High 

School,  with  some  elementary  students  being 
bussed  to  Thatcher. 

Our  religious  needs  are  cared  for  with  a 

beautiful  Stake  House  and  Seminary  building 

for  those  who  are  L.D.S  (about  90%  of  our 

population).  Non-mormons  in  the  city  of 
Grace,  and  also  throughout  Gem  Valley,  have 

contributed  much  to  progress  and  achievement 

in  our  area.  Although  they  attend  the  church 
of  their  choice  in  Soda  Springs,  they  give  a 

great  deal  of  their  time  and  effort  in 

worthwhile  endeavors  and  community  pro- 

jects. 
Grace  has  a  beautiful,  conveniently 

situated  park,  with  two  canopies,  which 

provide  comfort  and  shade  for  picnicking; 

fireplaces,  barbeque  pit  and  playground  equip- 
ment provide  an  enjoyable  recreation  area. 

Businesses    that    add    services    and   con- 

veniences   to    Grace    are    varied    and    quite 
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numerous.  One  of  the  oldest  continuing 

businesses  was  first  known  as  the  Equity 

Elevator  and  Trading  Co.,  and  was  the  first 

modern  grain  handling  company  m  the  area.  It 

was  organized  by  a  group  of  men  who  formed 

a  corporation  and  sold  stock  to  over  400  in- 
dividuals to  finance  the  building  facilities  and 

equipment.  The  original  stockholders  of  the 

corporation  were  headed  by  Calvin  Bennett, 

Sr.  as  president;  Moroni  W.  Lowe  as 

secretary,  treasurer  and  manager;  and  a  board 
of  directors:  Warren  Smith,  Rufus  Smith.  Sr., 

Francis  Allen,  John  J.  Kirby,  Dr.  John  Hub- 

bard, George  Telford,  Leo  Bennett,  and  An- 
drew Adams. 

After  the  sale  of  the  Equity  and  Elevator 

to  Gem  Valley  Grain  Growers,  the  hardware 

and  implement  business  was  moved  uptown  to 

the  building  now  occupied  by  Sam's  Grocery. 
After  several  years  of  operation  there,  they 

purchased  the  old  Columbia  Hall  bldg.  from 

the  John  Allsop  family,  which  is  now  know  as 

Sanders  Bargain  Barn.  There  the  Equity 

Elevator  and  Trading  Co.  operated  a 

nourishing  implement  and  hardware  business 

until  1942  when  it  was  sold  to  Milton  Hart- 

vigsen  and  Parnell  Whitehead. 

Due  to  pressure  from  International 

Harvester  Co.,  a  complex  modern  equipment 

facility  had  to  be  erected,  which  necessitated  a 

separation  of  the  hardware  from  the  im- 
plements and  farm  machinery.  At  that  time 

Grace  Hardware  was  kept  by  Parnell 
Whitehead  and  later  sold  to  Gilbert  Nelson. 

Milton  Hartvigsen  purchased  the  equipment 

end  of  the  business  and  took  in  a  new  partner, 

Lawrence  Burgin.  They  built  the  present 

building  where  the  Grace  Equipment  is  now 

operating,  under  the  management  of  Calvin 
Alder  and  James  Benson. 

The  latest  development  by  Gem  Valley 

Grain  Growers  is  the  addition  of  a  huge  com- 
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Sanders  Bargain  Barn,  housed  in  the  old  Columbia 

Hall  building — former  entertainment  center  in  the  ear- 

ly days  of  Grace. 

The  Grace  Hardware  Store,  recently  remodeled  and 
carpeted  throughout. 

The  Grace  Equipment — a  most  important  business  in 
the  farm-centered  area  of  Gem  Valley. 

plex  of  grain  storage  elevators  with  overhead 
loaders  and  a  tunnel  underneath  for  removing 

the  grain.  They  hold  310,000  bushels  of  grain. 
This  is  in  addition  to  the  original  storage 
elevators. 

Grace  has  three  markets  which  provide 
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Recently  built  complex  of  grain  storage  elevators 
Grace. 

in 

excellent  service — The  Valley  Market,  owned 

by  Harold  Peterson  and  managed  by  his  son, 

Roger;  Sam's  Market,  owned  and  operated  by 
Sam  Krebs;  and  the  E— Z  Way  Market,  in 

The  Valley  Food  Market — orginally  Peterson's  A.  G. 
Store — still  in  the  ownership  of  Harold  Peter- 

son— managed  by  Roger  Peterson  and  Randy  Short. 
Several  businesses  including  a  J.  C.  Penney  Co.  were 

formerly  housed  in  this  building. 

Newest  market  in  Grace — combined  with  a  self-service 
gas  station  and  car-wash,  managed  by  Kent  Corbett. 

combination  with  a  Self-Service  Gas  Station 

and  Car  Wash,  owned  and  managed  by  Kent 
Corbett  and  his  mother,  Zetta  Corbett. 

Ed's  American  (Eddie  Jensen),  Darwin's 

Conoco  (Darwin  Ashbaker),  and  Ward's  Auto 
Repair  (Ward  Staley)  are  the  three  service 
stations  in  town. 

^oco 

American  Oil  Service  Station  —  owned  by  Ed  Jensen. 

Sam's  Market — recently  enlarged  and  remodeled.  The 
old  City  Cash  Market  was  formerly  housed  in  the  older 

section  of  this  store. 
Conoco  Gas  and  Service  Station  — owned  by  Darwin 

Ashbaker. 
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The  one  and  only  department  store  in 

town  is  owned  and  managed  by  Clair  and 

Evelyn  Chadwick. 

Chadwick's — the  only   department   store  in   Grace; 
owned  and  managed  by  Clair  Chadwick. 

A  new  Fabric  Store,  operated  by  Joan 

Farnworth  and  Fay  Rigby,  has  recently  open- 
ed. 

Turner's  Cafe,   the  largest  eating  establishment  in 
Grace. 

all  construction  and  building  needs,  as  well  as 
hardware. 

The  First  National  Bank  of  Grace  has 

served  the  people  of  Gem  Valley  for  65  years, 

and  this  year,  1977,  will  be  merged  with  the 
First  Bank  and  Trust  of  Idaho  to  provide  even 
better  service. 

A  fabric  store — just  recently  opened — managed  by 
Joan  Farnworth  and  Faye  Rigby. 

Three  cafes  offer  delicious  food  at 

reasonable  prices.  Turner's  Cafe  is  a  modern, 
attractively  decorated  cafe  which  serves  full- 
course  dinners  and  short  orders;  the  Blue-bell 

Drive-In  is  a  short  order  eating  establishment 
owned  by  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Terrell  Beckstead. 

Taylor's  Spudnut  and  Sport  Shop,  a  teen 
center  and  short-order  cafe,  is  owned  by 
LaVar  and  Norma  Taylor. 

Anderson  Lumber  Co.  has  served  our 

valley  well  for  many,  many  years,  furnishing 

One  of  the  oldest  businesses  in  Grace— Anderson's Lumber  Company. 

The  First  National  Bank  of  Grace,  Idaho — in  business 
for  65  vears. 
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An  excellent  drug  store  and  prescription 

pharmacy  is  owned  by  the  Lowe  Investment 

Co.  and  managed  by  Reed  and  Thola  Lowe.  It 

was  originally  known  as  the  Ellis  Drug  when 

purchased  by  Moroni  W.  Lowe.  It  is  now 
located  next  to  the  Valley  Market. 

The  Lowe  Drug  and  Prescription  Pharmacy — one  of 
the  oldest,  continuing  businesses  in  the  city  of  Grace. 

Custom  Heating  furnishes  plumbing  and 

heating  services,  and  also  sells  bathroom  fix- 
tures and  other  appliances.  The  proprietors  are 

Golden  and  Darlene  Hardy. 

Custom  Heating  supplies  furnace  and  plumbing  needs; 
also  sells  appliances. 

A  competent  veterinary,  Dr.  Stanley 

Hull,  finds  life  very  busy  in  Gem  Valley  as  he 
treats  pets,  dairy  herds,  cattle  and  horses. 

For  over-night  accomodations,  we  have 
the  Grace  Hotel,  owned  and  operated  by  Don 

and  Colleen  Noble;  and  the  Black  Canyon 

Motel,  operated  for  many  years  by  Theo  and 
Irene  Harris. 

Grace's  one  and  only  Motel,  owned  and  managed  by 
Theo  and  Irene  Harris. 

The  Jay  H.  Turner  Co.  supplies  irrigation 

pipe  and  other  farm  needs  for  the  surrounding 
area. 

Tri-Chem  deals  in  fertilizer  needs  for 
farms. 

Milk  and  dairy  products  are  distributed 

by  Johnson's  Dairy,  with  Howard  and 
Florence  Johnson,  owners;  and  by  the 

Rowland  Bros.  Dairy,  with  Max  Fowler  as  dis- 
tributor. 

The  Norge  Village  is  a  laundromat  and  dry 

cleaning  establishment  owned  by  Dale  and 
June  Fowler. 

Two  beauty  salons,  Nona's  (Nona 
Whitehead),  and  Ireta's  (Ireta  Mickelson),  are 
in  operation. 

The  Grace  Theatre,  a  stock-owned  cor- 
poration, is  managed  by  CD.  Simmons  and 

provides  the  best  in  movie  entertainment. 

^O 

A  modern-up-to-date  Theatre,  managed  by  C.  D.  Sim- 
mons. An  attractive,  roomy,  apartment  is  maintained 

in  the  upper  floor  for  renting. 
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Dr.  Emmett  E.  Herron  has  served  as  our 

local  doctor  for  many  years,  with  a  large,  at- 
tractive and  modern  office  complex. 

Thompson  Construction,  Arctic  Insul- 
ation and  Steel  Buildings,  and  Ken  Hamp 

Construction  provide  for  home  building  and 
other  related  needs. 

Two  truckers  provide  a  variety  of  services 

in  hauling — they  are  LaVerl  Smith  and  Herb 
Walters. 

The  Simmons  Cement  Ready-Mix  Plant 
operates  continually  from  early  spring  to  late 

fall,  furnishing  cement  for  all  purposes.  The 
Simmons  Sand  and  Gravel  Co.  is  located  in 

Cleveland,  south  of  the  river  bridge. 

Phil  Kopetzky  is  the  painter  for  the  town, 

and  Deon  Powell  does  the  plastering. 

R  &  M  offers  accounting  services  to  those 

who  desire  this  help. 

Ivan  Bortz  Well-drilling  is  called  far  and 

near,  with  water  being  an  ever-present  require- 
ment for  farms  and  homes. 

Sanders  Furniture  Company  provides  the 

finest  in  furniture  and  appliance  needs  to 

residents  of  Gem  Valley  and  surrounding 

areas.  It  is  managed  by  Neal  Sanders. 

Sander's   Furniture  provides  the  best  in  home  fur- 
nishings and  appliances. 

A  saddle  shop  for  horse  fanciers,  "Lazy  J 

Saddles"  is  owned  and  managed  by  Lear 
Jorgensen. 

A  new  dance  studio  is  doing  fine  body- 

building service,  in  addition  to  dance  instruc- 
tion for  both  children  and  adults.  Mrs.  Sher- 

man (Eiko)  Anderson  is  the  instructor. 

For  those  who  wish,  there  are  two  liquor 

clubs  in  Grace — Owen's  Club  15,  and  the 
Lounge,  owned  respectively  by  Owen  Jacobsen 
and  Don  Noble. 

Just  recently  closed  down,  to  the  sorrow 

of  all  residents  of  Gem  Valley,  was  Bob's  Cafe, 
a  favorite  eating  establishment  for  26  years, 

owned  and  operated  by  Bob  and  Mona  Hill. 

Bob's    Cafe  —  former    popular    eating    es- 
tablishment— owned  by  Bob  and  Mona  Hill. 

The  most  recent  business  establishment  in 

Grace  is  the  Grace  Greenhouse,  owned  and 

operated  by  Lorin  and  Bernice  Hogan. 
Last,  but  not  least,  is  the  pride  of  Grace, 

the  excellent  Grace  Public  Library.  It  is 

located  in  an  attractive  brick  building  on  south 

Main  Street.  Although  this  building  was  built  in 

-T ^.«i^ 

The  Grace  Public  Library — building  purchased  and 
remodeled  in  1972. 
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1947,  it  was  completely  remodeled  and  refur- 
bished in  1972  when  purchased  by  the  Grace 

One  of  the  many  attractive  and  well-kept  homes  in  the 
city  of  Grace  and  vicinity,  the  home  of  Mr.  and  Mrs. 

Roy  Corbett  on  north  Main. 

The  oldest  home  in  Grace— built  in  1899  by  D.  D. 
Sullivan.  It  now  is  owned  and  occupied  by  Emery  and 

Verda  Rasmussen. 

Library  Board.  Funds  to  purchase  the  building 

were  obtained  by  public  donations  and  civic 

fund-raising  projects;  also  from  a  grant  ob- 
tained from  the  state  library  board.  One  full- 

time  and  one  part-time  person  are  employed. 
Equipment  includes  a  slide  projector,  movie 

projector,  and  a  copy  machine,  as  well  as 

records,  cassettes  and  eight  track  tapes.  Ap- 
proximately 10,500  volumes  are  housed  in  the 

library.  Additional  book  services  and  films 

may  be  ordered  from  the  state  library.  Serving 

as  members  of  the  Library  Board  are — Gail 
Ray,  Martha  Bassett,  Winnifred  Christensen, 
Maxine  Wilker  and  Elaine  Gibson.  Joyce 

Fowler  serves  as  librarian,  with  Clara  Gibson 
as  assistant. 

A  strong  dedication  to  servicing  the  needs 

of  Gem  Valley  residents  governs  the  attitude  of 
all  businesses. 

Community  pride  is  evidenced  in  the 

beautiful,  well-kept  homes,  and  the  flourishing 

gardens  grown  by  most  residents.  Self- 
sufficiency  is  the  aim  of  each  household. 

Ail  in  all,  our  town  is  "home"  in  the  true 
sense  of  the  word,  for  those  who  live  here  and 

thousands  who  have  grown  up  here  and  now 

live  in  other  areas.  Our  feelings  find  expression 

in  the  following  poem  by  Edgar  A.  Guest: 
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A  view  of  some 
of  the  businesses  in 

Grace,  north  of 
Center  Street. 
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The  Home  Town 
By  Edgar  A.  Guest 

It  doesn't  matter  much  be  its  buildings  great  or  small, 
The  home  town,  the  home  town  is  the  best  town,  after  all. 

The  cities  of  the  millions  have  the  sun  and  stars  above, 

But  they  lack  the  friendly  faces  of  the  few  you've  learned  to  love, 
And  with  all  their  pomp  or  riches  and  with  all  their  teeming  throngs. 

The  heart  of  man  is  rooted  in  the  town  where  he  belongs. 

There  are  places  good  to  visit,  there  are  cities  fair  to  see. 

There  are  haunts  of  charm  and  beauty  where  at  times  it's  good  to  be. 
But  the  humblest  little  hamlet  sings  a  melody  to  some, 

And  no  matter  where  they  travel  it  is  calling  them  to  come; 

Though  cities  rise  to  greatness  and  are  gay  with  gaudy  dress, 

There  is  something  in  the  home  town  which  no  other  towns  possess. 

The  home  town  has  a  treasure  which  the  distance  cannot  gain, 

It  is  there  the  hearts  are  kindest,  there  the  gentlest  friends  remain; 

It  is  there  a  mystic  something  seems  to  permeate  the  air 

To  set  the  weary  wanderer  to  wishing  he  were  there; 

And  be  it  great  or  humble,  it  still  holds  mankind  in  thrall, 
For  the  home  town,  the  home  town,  is  the  best  town  after  all. 
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Beautiful  Bear  River.  Source  of  Hydro-electric  power  and  irrigation  for  Gem  Valley. 
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Our  rieritage         by  mildredw.  burton 

It  was  a  wild  and  rugged  country — 
This  valley  that  we  call  home. 

When  those  first  intrepid  people, 

Settled  here  'neath  it's  high  mountain  dome. 

Few  sounds  except  the  wail  of  the  coyote 

And  the  wind  as  it  howled  o'er  the  plain; 
But  they  heard  not  the  wind  nor  the  coyote; 

They  saw  visions  of  fields  of  grain. 

They  saw  in  the  distant  future 

Tall  haystacks  and  cellars  well  filled; 

And  they  saw  with  prophetic  vision 

Schools  and  churches  that  they  would  build. 

I  ask  you  to  stop  and  consider 
The  things  that  you  see  today. 

Perhaps  you  will  pause  a  moment 
On  that  structure  of  concrete  and  steel 

That  spans  our  old  Bear  River 
And  wonder,  is  it  really  real? 

And  if  you're  a  real  old  timer, 
Your  eyes  will  drift  down  below; 

And  you'll  see,  not  that  great  power  pipeline. 
But  the  river  moving  slow. 

And  teams  of  horses  and  oxen 

Fording  to  and  fro. 

They  looked  at  majestic  Bear  River 

As  it  rolled  o'er  its  rocky  bed; 

"We'll  take  it  out  of  its  moorings; 

Spread  it  over  the  valley,"  they  said. 

"We'll  harness  this  mighty  monster 
And  put  it  to  work  for  man. 

And  we'll  do  all  these  things  together 

Just  as  fast  as  ever  we  can." 

And  then  just  a  little  later — 
A  bridge  built  entirely  of  wood, 

And  a  building  there  on  the  river  bank 

Where  you  could  stop  if  you  would. 

There  we  bought  our  sugar  and  salt, 

And  danced  when  day  was  done; 

For  the  kindly  folks  who  lived  therein 
Welcomed  everyone. 

Oh,  they  had  little  time  for  dreaming. 
These  tillers  of  the  sod; 

They  had  to  make  a  living 

With  two  hands  and  the  help  of  God. 

And  only  a  little  farther 

Over  that  knoll  and  down  in  the  swale, 

There  stood  a  one-room  lumber  shack 

Where  we  used  to  go  for  the  mail. 

Those  first  crude  homes  were  fashioned 

Of  logs  from  the  canyons  near; 

They  were  dotted  over  the  valley, 
A  few  more  every  year. 

And  now  as  you  journey  onward. 
You  see  on  every  hand 

The  fruits  of  the  seeds  they  planted 

So  long  ago  in  this  land. 

There  were  no  doctors  or  hospitals. 

So  that  was  the  women's  work; 
For  children  were  born  and  people  died 

And  no  one  had  time  to  shirk. 

Yes,  those  fields  of  grain  are  golden- 
The  schools  and  churches  are  here. 

The  haystacks  are  tall  and  rounded; 
Fine  houses  both  far  and  near. 

And  now  as  you  enter  our  valley 

From  the  north  on  our  fine  highway. 

For  God  has  smiled  on  their  efforts — 

The  wilderness  blooms  as  the  rose; 

And  the  children  and  grandchildren  profit 

From  the  works  of  those  now  in  repose. 
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Biographies  —  1800's 

E.  Andrew  Adams 

E.  ANDREW  ADAMS  was  born  June  27,  1881, 

in  Layton,  Utah,  a  son  of  Hyrum  and  Rose  Higgs 
Adams. 

Andrew  married  LAURA  GREEN,  February  27, 
1907,  in  Layton,  Utah.  The  marriage  was  later 

solemnized  in  the  Logan  Temple,  Church  of  Jesus 

Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints.  He  was  an  active 
member  of  the  L.D.S.  Church. 

Mr.  Adams  was  a  prominent  Grace  businessman 

and  civic  leader.  For  12  years  he  was  on  the  board 
of  trustees  of  the  Grace  School  District,  and  had 

served  as  Bannock  County  Sheriff  for  seven  years. 
He  was  also  a  Justice  of  the  Peace  in  Grace  for 

three  years. 

Mr.  Adams  was  a  former  president  of  The  Last 
Chance  Canal  Co.,  and  was  director  of  the  Bench 

Canal  Co.  for  ten  years.  He  had  been  vice-president 
of  the  Equity  Elevator  and  Trading  Co.  before 
retiring  and  going  into  farming. 

Andrew  and  his  wife,  Laura,  were  parents  of  two 

sons,  Evan  and  Alma,  and  one  daughter,  Selma  A. 
Hubbard. 

Mr.  Adams  passed  away  October  29,  1963.  He  is 

buried  in  the  Grace  cemetery,  Grace,  Idaho. 

ANNIE  LAURA  ADAMS  was  born  September 

12,  1883,  at  Layton,  Utah,  a  daughter  of  Levi  and 
Hannah  Forbes  Green. 

As  a  young  girl  much  of  her  time  was  spent  in  the 
service  of  others.  While  still  in  Layton,  she  assisted 
older  women  who  served  as  midwives,  and  often 

would  stay  and  work  for  the  family  until  the  mother 
was  able  to  take  care  of  her  baby  and  her  home. 

Laura  married  E.  Andrew  Adams  February  27, 

1907.  In  May  1910  they  came  to  Grace  to  visit  An- 

drew's brother  Rufus,  who  encouraged  them  to  stay 
and  homestead  in  this  valley.  Their  early  days  were 

spent  in  a  one-room  log  cabin  with  a  dirt  floor  and 
roof.  This  cabin  was  just  north  of  the  cemetery. 

They  lived  here  for  a  few  years,  after  which  they 

purchased  the  ranch  where  their  son,  Alma,  later 
lived  for  many  years. 

Laura's  motto  was  "early  to  bed  and  early  to 

rise."  Her  family  remembers  her  as  having  done  a 
lot  of  hard  work  in  her  life.  She  was  a  prayerful 

woman,  and  had  worked  in  the  Primary  organiza- 
tion for  12  years  as  secretary. 

Annie  Laura  Green  Adams  passed  away  June  18, 
1968,  and  is  buried  in  the  Grace  cemetery. 

HYRUM  RUFUS  ADAMS  was  born  November 

30,  1877  in  Layton,  Utah  to  Hyrum  Adams  and 

Rose  Rebecca  Higgs,  the  eldest  of  six  children.  He 

and  his  brother  Andrew  were  the  only  ones  to  sur- 
vive to  adulthood.  Two  other  boys  and  two  girls 

died  while  just  infants.  "Rufe"  as  he  was  affec- 
tionately called  grew  up  in  Layton  where  he  attend- 

ed school  and  helped  herd  sheep  and  other  duties. 
When  he  was  ten  years  old  his  mother  died  leaving 
his  father  to  look  after  the  two  sons.  His  father 

married  Annie  Laurie  Penrod  and  eight  more 

brothers  and  sisters  followed  in  rapid  succession. 

Rufe  attended  Utah  Agricultural  College  in  1896. 

He  and  Seviah  Elzina  Egbert  were  married  in 

Granite,  Utah  March  13,  1900.  Soon  after  the  wed- 
ding they  came  to  Grace,  Idaho  with  team  and 

wagon,  and  stayed  with  an  aunt  and  uncle  while  a 
log  cabin  was  built  where  they  homesteaded  160 
acres  southwest  of  Grace.  They  were  the  parents  of 

four  girls  and  two  boys:  Rose  Beckstead,  Vera 

Mingo,  Clifton  Adams,  Pearl  Gholson,  Annie 
Chatterton,  and  Hyrum  Adams.  Times  were  very 
hard  and  in  addition  to  the  work  from  sun  rise  to 

sunset,  water  had  to  be  hauled  from  Bear  River  for 

drinking  and  culinary  purposes.  Winter  time  was  a 
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relief  as  snow  could  be  melted  and  used.  Rufe  was 

among  the  group  of  men  that  built  ditches  and 
canals  for  the  irrigation  use,  most  of  the  canals  are 
still  serving  at  this  time. 

Rufe  was  widowed  March  29,  1912,  with  all  the 

children  still  very  young,  the  oldest  1 1  years  old.  He 
married  Reva  Beckstead  and  one  son  was  born  to 
this  union:  Donald  Adams.  Rufe  lived  in  Grace  and 

Niter  and  was  engaged  in  farming  and  was  very 

good  at  carpentry.  Some  barns  and  houses  he  built 
are  still  standing.  He  died  December  1,  1944  at 

Soda  Springs,  Idaho  following  a  stroke  at  the  age 
of  67.  He  is  buried  at  the  Grace  cemetery. 

FRANCIS  ANDREW  ALLEN  was  born  June 

20,  1882  at  Cove,  Utah.  He  attended  school  at 

Cove  and  Brigham  Young  College  in  Logan,  Utah, 

preparatory  for  his  mission  in  1902  in  the  South 
Sea  Islands  for  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of 

Latter-day  Saints.  When  he  returned,  he  married 
FAYE  MARGRAVES  STANFORD  (born  October 

30,  1881)  on  September  14,  1904  in  the  Salt  Lake 
Temple. 

He  continued  his  education  by  correspondence  in 
bookkeeping. 

In  1905  Francis  A.  and  Faye  with  her  brother, 
Roy  Stanford,  homesteaded  near  Grace  where  they 

built  a  sod-roofed  log  home.  About  1915  they  mov- 
ed into  a  new  home  at  the  present  site.  During  the 

early  years,  they  hauled  water  for  the  house  and 
stock  from  Bear  River.  There  is  a  trail  down  the 

Francis  A.  and  Faye  S.  with  oldest  son,  Cyril 

bank  of  the  river  just  north  of  the  ranch  where  they 
and  other  neighbors  trailed  their  stock  to  water. 

When  the  dam  was  being  built  to  divert  water 
from  the  river  north  and  east  of  Grace,  it  was  to  be 

called  the  Last  Chance  Dam.  It  was  built  of  logs 
and  rocks,  which  the  men  hauled  from  the  canyons 
in  the  winter.  They  had  many  hardships  getting  the 

water  out  of  the  canyon  because  the  wooden  flume 
would  be  torn  down  each  winter  with  the  snow. 

They  built  the  present  tunnel  and  flume  with  the 
cost  of  a  lot  of  money.  Francis  was  a  director  of  the 
canal  until  his  death. 

He  was  a  community  builder  and  leader,  helping 

to  organize  the  Grace  Mill  and  Elevator,  the  Equity 
Elevator  and  Trading  Co.,  and  the  present  Gem 

Valley  Grain  Growers  Elevator.  He  had  one  of  the 
first  registered  Holstein  bulls  in  the  valley  and  the 
first  registered  Duroc  hogs  which  aided  in  financing 

the  children's  education.  He  also  helped  to  promote 
the  4-H  program  and  Black  and  White  Fair. 

Francis  and  Roy  built  the  ranch  from  a  sage 
brush  flat  to  a  modern  farm.  First,  they  plowed 

with  a  hand  plow,  but  later  they  were  able  to  have 
one  of  the  first  tractors  in  the  valley.  People  would 
come  from  town  to  watch  the  tractor  work.  It  was  a 

little  Fordson  that  pulled  two  small  plows. 
Francis  and  Faye  had  twelve  children,  nine  boys 

and  three  girls.  They  attended  Cyril's,  the  oldest, 
graduation  from  the  University  of  Idaho.  Francis 
was  stricken  with  a  sudden  illness  and  died  in  1931 
before  he  was  able  to  see  the  rest  of  the  children 
educated. 

Roy  Stanford,  Faye's  brother  who  helped 
homestead  the  farm,  never  married  and  lived  in 

with  the  family  assisting  with  the  raising  of  the 

family  and  managing  of  the  ranch.  The  children  all 
loved  and  appreciated  Roy  as  a  father. 
Two  of  the  sons,  Rulon  and  Glen,  discontinued 

their  education  to  help  out  on  the  ranch  after  their 
father  passed  away. 

During  World  War  II,  four  of  the  Allen  children 
were  in  the  service;  Barnett,  Verne,  Junior,  and 
Ted. 

Four  brothers  have  passed  away.  Glen  is  the  only 

one  living  in  the  valley.  Andrew  and  Verne  live  near 
Sacramento,  California.  Mary  is  living  in  Phoenix, 

Arizona.  Barney  resides  at  Ogden,  Utah;  Ted  is  in 

Soda  Springs,  Idaho;  Connie  is  in  Boise,  Idaho  and 
Faye  lives  in  Longview,  Texas. 
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GEORGE  T.  ALLSOP  was  born  March  15,  1885 

in  Mound  Valley  or  (Perry),  Idaho.  He  spent  65 

years  and  7  days  on  this  earth,  passing  away  on 
March  22,  1950  at  the  Soda  Springs  Hospital.  He 
was  the  son  of  John  Ira  Allsop  and  Mary  Elizabeth 

Tanner  who  were  pioneers  from  England,  and  then 
crossed  this  country  of  ours  to  help  settle  this  little 

part  of  our  vast  west. 
He  met  and  married  ELIZA  CHRISTENSEN, 

who  was  born  November  6,  1883  at  Mount  Plea- 
sant, Utah.  She  was  the  daughter  of  Lars  R.  and 

Matte  Christensen  of  Denmark.  George  and  Eliza 

had  eight  children.  George's  life  wasn't  always  an 
easy  one,  but  it  was  a  very  happy  one,  as  that  is  the 

kind  of  man  he  was.  He  was  always  honest,  hap- 
py and  generous  to  a  fault.  When  one  of  his 

neighbors  died,  he  gave  his  last  $20.00  bill  to  the 

family  because  he  thought  that  they  would  need  it 
more  than  he  did.  He  was  ill  at  the  time,  and  never 

worked  another  day  in  his  life. 

He  and  Eliza  were  very  much  in  love  all  of  their 

lives,  and  they  never  bickered  or  quarreled, 
however,  they  both  had  strong  convictions  that 

weren't  always  the  same,  especially  their  political 
views,  she  being  a  strong  Democrat  and  he  a  strong 

Republican. 

They  didn't  have  it  too  easy  during  the  depres- 
sion of  the  twenties,  the  children  were  all  at  home 

and  at  times  it  stressed  them  just  to  put  food  in 
their  mouths  and  clothes  on  their  backs,  but  there 

never  was  a  time  when  there  wasn't  plenty  of  food 
on  the  table  to  share  with  any  of  their  friends.  Eliza 
was  known  to  be  one  of  the  best  cooks  in  the  valley. 

One  day  George  was  working  outside  in  the  mid- 
dle of  the  winter,  and  he  was  very  cold.  A  friend 

came  along  and  said  to  him:  "George,  why  at  your 
age  do  you  work  so  hard  out  in  the  cold  weather?" 

George  replied,  "Paul,  if  you  had  five  worthless 
sons-in-law,  like  I  have,  you  would  be  working  just 

this  hard  too."  He  loved  and  respected  all  five  of 
them. 

He  never  met  a  person  that  wasn't  on  a  first 
name  basis  with  him.  He  never  called  anyone  by 

their  last  name,  and  addressed  everyone  as  a  good 

friend  such  as  "Hi"  Stan,  or  "Hi"  Bill.  He  always 

thought  that  a  man's  word  was  as  good  as  his  bond, 
and  conducted  all  his  business  dealings  in  this  way. 

His  grandchildren  adored  him,  as  they  did  their 

grandmother,  and  were  always  happy  when  they 

could  spend  a  day  with  him  on  the  truck.  He  loved 

to  take  them  with  him  and  spin  them  stories  (which 

he  was  very  good  at).  They,  in  turn,  spin  the  same 
tales  to  their  children. 

He  made  his  living  most  of  his  life  in  the  contrac- 
ting business;  most  of  the  roads  in  the  county  were 

built  by  him,  and  a  lot  of  them  were  built  with  a 
team  and  hand  scraper.  In  the  last  years  of  his  life 

he  was  in  the  gravel  business — operating  the  gravel 

pit  in  Thatcher. 

This  letter,  written  in  verse  form  to  his  grand- 
mother and  his  mother  and  father,  at  the  time  of  his 

grandfather's  death,  sums  up  his  life  in  a  very 
beautiful  way. 

"In  all  of  Hfe,  but  four  loves  have  we. 
Love  of  life,  love  of  family,  love  of  self,  and  love 

of  thee. 

In  all  of  these  he  shone  supreme. 

In  time  of  trouble  a  place  to  lean. 

A  helping  hand,  a  cheerful  word, 

He  gave  freely  as  a  bird  upon  the  wing  gives  it's 
song  to  heaven. 

He  has  left  us. 

But  we  will  meet  again  on  that  happy  morrow. 

To  talk  of  love,  life,  happiness,  and  not  of  sorrow." 

TO  THE  BUILDER 

You  placed  him  here. 
You  built  him  up  and  tore  him  down. 

You  gave  him  love,  compassion,  but  not  fear. 
All  his  life  a  builder  of  friends  a  builder  of  strong 

sons  and  daughters 

He  asked  not  a  mansion,  a  million,  nor  fame  and 
renown. 

But  for  a  full  table,  surrounded  by  friends  and family. 

A  soft  chair,  a  good  argument  to  keep  him  sharp. 

"Five  worthless  sons-in-law,"  he  said,  and  his  heart 
cried  out, 

"Five  men,  strong  and  sure,  who  made  no  error  and 

had  no  flaw." You've  taken  him  from  us,  but  he  has  not  really 

gone. 

He  lives  in  family  and  friends — In  Mattie,  Eva, 
Don,  Dora,  Delia,  Afton,  Sunny  and  Buss. 
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TO  MY  GRANDFATHER 

Ageless  in  wisdom,  kind  and  understanding. 
Gifted  in  speech,  friendliness  and  rich  humor. 
A  man  comparable  to  none,  My  Grandfather. 

A  gentle  stern,  happy  man,  full  of  love,  of  life,  and 
fun.  My  Grandfather. 

His  beliefs  were  two:   God  and  the  Republican 
Party. 

A  man  of  faults  some  say. 
I  can  think  of  none  accredited  to 

My  Grandfather. 
Your  loving  grandson, 

Con. 

JOHN  IRA  ALLSOP  was  born  at  Bountiful, 

Utah  July  2,  1855,  son  of  John  and  Mary  Ellen 
Wood  Allsop. 

John  was  between  7  and  8  years  old,  when  his 
parents  were  called  to  settle  Richmond,  Utah.  His 
father  was  a  carpenter,  and  had  brought  his  tools 

with  him  from  England.  Among  them  was  a  tur- 

ning lathe,  with  which  he  made  most  of  the  fur- 
niture used  by  the  early  settlers.  John  Ira  learned 

the  carpenter  trade  from  his  father. 
MARY  ELIZABETH  TANNER,  daughter  of 

George  and  Martha  (Craner)  Tanner,  was  born 
November  5,  1862  at  Tooele,  Utah.  Her  father  died 

when  she  was  ten.  The  family  lived  several  miles 
from  school  and  had  to  ride  horseback.  Martha 

thought  it  was  too  dangerous  to  send  Mary 
Elizabeth  so  far  in  the  cold  weather,  consequently 
she  received  very  little  education.  (Note)  After  her 

family  was  raised,  and  her  husband  had  died,  Mary 
Elizabeth  taught  herself  to  read. 
Mary  Elizabeth  went  to  Richmond  to  work  in 

the  home  of  Sam  Orsen,  while  there  she  met  her 

future  husband.  He  was  doing  a  job  of  carpenter 
work  on  the  house.  On  May  8,  1879  she  and  John 
Ira  were  married  in  the  Endowment  House  in  Salt 

Lake  City,  Utah,  by  Daniel  H.  Wells. 
They  made  their  first  home  at  Richmond.  John 

Ira  worked  at  the  carpenter  trade  for  awhile,  then 
went  into  the  butchering  business. 

The  following  children  were  born  to  John  Ira  and 

Mary  Elizabeth:  John  Ira,  Jr.,  Evelyn,  George, 

Mary  Elizabeth,  (Libbie)  William  Henry,  Charles 
Alma,  Martha  Louisa,  Chloe,  and  Albert. 

When  Evelyn  was  one  year  old  they  moved  into 
Gentile  Valley.  In  this  new  locality,  known  as 
Mound  Valley  Ward,  John  Ira  did  carpenter  work, 
blacksmithing,  butchering,  in  fact,  anything  that 

presented  its  self.  He  was  willing  to  do  anything  to 
earn  an  honest  living  for  his  family. 

John  Ira  and  Mary  Elizabeth  had  good  singing 

voices,  and  their  evenings  were  spent  teaching 
church  and  social  songs  to  their  children. 

When  John  Ira  didn't  have  the  means  to  get 
water  on  his  160  acres,  he  sold  it  for  $300.00  and 

bought  a  team  and  wagon,  and  went  into  the 
Caribou  Mining  District.  He  supervised  the  drilling 

and  giant  powder  explosives.  Mary  Elizabeth  took 
in  boarders,  did  washings  for  the  men,  and  took 
care  of  her  four  children. 

In  the  spring  of  1893  they  went  again  to  Gentile 

Valley — after  having  been  to  Marysville,  Idaho  on 
the  north  fork  of  the  Snake  River.  Here  he  was  run- 

ning a  saw  mill  in  partnership  with  Heber  Sharp. 
The  mill  burned  down. 

They  moved  up  to  the  "Bench"  in  1894.  This  was 
twenty  some  miles  north  of  Gentile  Valley,  and 
became  known  as  Grace,  Idaho.  Mary  Elizabeth 
told  John  Ira  the  next  time  he  moved  her  it  would 

be  to  the  grave  yard.  He  had  built  a  two  room  log 
house  and  before  it  was  finished,  he  went  to  work 

for  Hilliard's  Saw  Mill  at  Lago. 

The  family  was  admitted  to  the  Grace  Ward 
November  26,  1899.  John  Ira  was  a  Sunday  School 

teacher  and  president  of  the  Y. M.M.I. A.  He  was 

ordained  a  High  Priest  and  High  Councilman  Oc- 
tober 19,  1902.  Mary  Elizabeth  was  a  visiting 

teacher  with  Sister  John  Dalton. 

One  day  John  Ira  was  shoeing  a  horse,  who  lean- 
ed heavily  against  him,  he  knelt  on  the  ground 

where  an  evergreen  had  been  hewn  off — running  a 
splinter  through  his  clothes  and  under  his  knee  cap. 
This  caused  a  serious  attack  of  blood  poisoning. 

The  limb  became  very  sore  and  swollen  right  from 
the  first.  There  was  no  doctor  north  of  Logan.  John 
Toone  said  rattle  snake  oil  was  good  for  blood 

poisoning,  and  he  would  get  the  snakes  himself.  In 
about  two  hours  he  returned  with  a  quart  fruit  jar 

full  of  hot  oil.  The  folks  wrung  soft  cloths  out  of  the 

hot  oil  and  wrapped  them  around  the  limb,  replac- 
ing them  as  often  as  they  cooled.  They  kept  this  up 

for  days.  In  a  few  hours  he  grew  easier  and  even 
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slept  while  they  were  working  over  him.  After  a  few 
weeks  he  was  able  to  go  home. 

In  December  1895  John  Ira  was  feeling  better, 
and  he  was  offered  a  job  remodeling  a  home  for 
Mrs.  Anderson  at  Trout  Creek.  While  pulling  the 

casing  from  over  the  door,  a  can  of  powdered  lye 
fell  out  and  emptied  its  contents  into  his  face,  some 

of  it  going  into  his  right  eye.  He  ran  madly  out  of 
doors  rubbing  his  hair  and  face  to  brush  off  all  he 

could.  Then  he  began  applying  snow — of  course  the 
moisture  made  the  lye  eat  deeper.  Mrs.  Anderson 

applied  olive  oil  to  his  eyes,  face,  and  hair.  Years 
later.  Dr.  Kackley  told  them  that  had  they  used 
vinegar  it  would  have  neutralized  the  lye  better  than 

the  oil.  He  never  could  face  the  sunlight  or  lamp 
light  after  that,  and  he  always  wore  a  black  hat 
drawn  down  well  over  his  eyes. 

John  Ira  had  the  "flu"  in  1918  which  imparled 
his  health  so  much,  he  was  never  really  well  after 

that.  Mary  Elizabeth's  general  health  was  good,  so 
she  went  right  out  among  the  sick,  and  did  all  she 
could.  She  was  a  good  practical  nurse. 

John  Ira  died  September  4,  1922.  Mary 
Elizabeth  carried  on  after  his  death,  and  raised  two 

grandchildren  to  maturity. 
Shortly  after  her  86th  birthday  she  fell  and  broke 

her  hip.  After  three  weeks  in  the  hospital  in  Soda 

Springs  it  was  decided  to  take  her  to  Salt  Lake  City 
to  Dr.  Okleberry,  a  bone  specialist.  She  was  put  in 
a  cast  from  her  toes  up  to  her  body.  It  was  a  long 
grueling  experience.  Four  long  months  on  her  back 

on  a  hospital  bed.  She  was  so  cheerful  and  op- 
timisitic  about  the  happy  outcome  of  the  whole  af- 

fair, she  would  sing  and  recite  poetry  that  she  used 
to  know.  She  could  finally  put  weight  on  her  feet, 
and  she  came  home  and  stayed  with  George  and 
Eliza  and  Earl  and  Erma  for  sometime  until 

arrangements  were  made  for  Mrs.  Metcalfe  to 
move  in  with  her  and  care  for  her. 

She  was  stone  deaf,  one  could  hardly  put  a 

thought  over  to  her,  but  she  was  so  patient  and  un- 
complaining and  appreciative  of  every  thing  that 

was  done  for  her. 

"Little  Grandma"  passed  away  February  29, 
1952.  She  was  four  months  in  her  90th  year. 

REUBEN  ALLSOP  was  born  in  Richmond, 

Utah  on  December  10,  1874  and  spent  his 
childhood  there. 

On  December  27,  1900  he  married  ANNIE  C. 

OLSEN  of  Franklin,  Idaho.  Three  children  were 

born  to  this  union.  They  are  Delia  (Mrs.  Blaine 

Whitehead),  Pearl  (Mrs.  Ray  E.  DeNille),  and  Fay 
(Mrs.  Marion  Milligan). 

The  family  lived  in  and  around  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah  until  1913  when  they  moved  to  Grace,  Idaho 
to  make  their  home. 

Reuben  ran  a  livery  stable,  and  met  the  trains  at 
Alexander,  Idaho.  He  took  passengers  to  and  from 

the  train  to  any  where  in  the  valley  they  wished  to 

go.  This  was  by  team  and  sleigh  in  the  winter,  and 

white  top  buggy  in  the  summer.  Later  he  used  a 
Model  T  Ford  car. 

The  livery  stable  was  on  the  corner  of  what  is 

now  the  city  park.  Their  home  was  also  where  the 

park  is. Annie  C.  Olsen  Allsop  died  in  1918  with  the  flu. 

Reuben  soon  left  the  valley  and  went  back  to  Salt 

Lake  City,  Utah.  He  married  and  spent  some  time 
in  California,  where  he  passed  away  on  the  7th  of 
November,  1945.  He  was  buried  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

IRA  AMES,  JR.,  the  son  of  Ira  Ames  and  Chari- 
ty Carter,  was  born  on  October  3,  1836,  at 

Kirtland,  Ohio. 

In  1851,  at  the  age  of  15  years,  he  helped  drive  a 
yoke  of  oxen  across  the  plains  to  Utah.  The  family 
settled  in  Salt  Lake  City.  Here  near  the  warm 

springs  in  the  nineteenth  ward,  his  father  establish- 
ed the  first  tannery  and  shoe  shop  in  Utah. 

They  remained  in  this  location  until  the  year  of 
1853,  when  his  father  was  called  by  President 

Brigham  Young  to  help  settle  Cache  Valley.  They 
moved  to  Wellsville  where  his  father  kept  a  grocery 

store,  tannery  and  telegraph  office. 

In  1854,  when  Ira  Jr.  was  eighteen  years  old,  he 
was  called  on  a  mission  to  the  Indians  in  the 

Salmon  River  country,  and  was  among  those  who 
established  the  historical  old  Mormon  Fort  Lemhi. 

A  little  over  a  year  later  he  returned  to  Utah,  and 

on  September  11,  1856,  was  married  in  the  Salt 
Lake  Endowment  House  to  MARY  E.  WALTON, 

daughter  of  Alfred  and  Sarah  Buys  Walton.  Soon 
after  he  returned  to  the  mission  at  Salmon  River, 

where  a  wonderful  missionary  work  was  being  done 

among  the  Indians,  and  a  flourishing  settlement  es- 
tablished. He  remained  there  until  the  missionaries 
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were  called  home,  due  to  the  increasing  danger 
from  hostile  Indians.  He  had  spent  in  all  about  y/i 

years  among  the  Indians  of  Salmon  River,  and  had 
gained  a  knowledge  of  Indian  lore,  customs,  and 
language  that  later  became  most  valuable. 

Upon  his  return  to  Cache  Valley,  he  built  a  home 
in  Wellsville  for  his  young  wife.  It  was  in  Cache 

Valley  where  most  of  his  family  of  twleve  children 

were  born.  They  were — Ira  Henry,  Alfred,  Hannah 
Elizabeth,  Ithmor,  Mary  Louisa,  Daniel  Carter, 
Sarah  Isabelle,  Charity  Francis,  Emily,  Charles 
Winslow,  John  Clark,  and  Clarrisa  Rebecca. 

In  the  year  1878  Ira  Ames  helped  to  build  the 
railroad  connecting  Salt  Lake  and  Cache  Valley. 

About  the  year  1880  Ira  Ames  Jr.  and  his  family 

moved  to  a  little  valley  in  South-eastern  Idaho, 

then  known  as  "Gentile  Valley."  This  valley  at  that 
time  was  scarcely  settled,  and  once  again  they  lived 
the  life  of  pioneers.  Here  he  became  a  leader  in  the 
religious  and  social  life  of  the  settlers.  He  was  the 
first  school  teacher  and  he  established  the  first  Sun- 

day School  in  Cleveland  Branch. 

He  went  about  playing  his  violin  for  dances  and 
entertainments  in  the  communities.  He  loved  music 

and  played  by  ear. 

Later,  as  the  industries  in  the  valley  developed, 

he  helped  build  the  power  dam  and  pipe  line  at 
Grace.  He  also  helped  build  the  Logan  Temple  and 
the  old  Oneida  Academy  at  Preston,  Idaho. 

On  May  3,  1883,  his  beloved  wife  and  companion 
died,  after  a  three  day  illness  of  pneumonia.  She 
left  their  large  family  to  the  care  of  their  father  and 
the  older  girls.  He  carried  out  his  trust.  He  never 

remarried,  and  as  his  family  grew  up  and  married, 
he  lived  with  one  or  another  of  his  children,  most  of 

the  time  with  his  oldest  son,  Ira.  His  grandchildren 
all  loved  and  respected  him.  They  never  tired  of 
listening  to  the  music  of  his  violin,  and  to  the  stories 

of  pioneer  life,  and  kind  words  of  counsel  and  ad- 
vice. 

He  was  a  patient,  understanding,  and  forgiving 
man.  His  life  was  a  living  example  of  the  Golden 

Rule.  He  passed  away  on  July  21,  1911,  at  the  age 
of  75  and  was  buried  in  the  cemetery  at  Cleveland, 
Idaho. 

ANDREW  SOREN  ANDERSEN  was  born  in 

Wittrup  Bedsted,  Denmark  on  November  12,  1863 

to  Soren  Andersen  and  Elizabeth  Anne  Plowman. 

He  was  a  talented  musician  and  became  an  ac- 

complished violinist — playing  for  the  dances  in  his 
native  Denmark  while  he  was  still  just  a  child.  He 

was  also  the  choir  leader  in  the  church  in  that  coun- 

try. When  the  family  migrated  to  America,  Andrew 
came  first  class  and  entertained  the  passengers  with 
his  violin  playing. 

He  continued  to  use  this  talent  throughout  his 

life  and  during  the  years  he  lived  in  the  Central, 
Idaho  area,  he  was  affectionately  well  known  as 

"Fiddler  Andersen." 
Andrew  married  ELIZABETH  MARGRAVES 

HEAPS  May  4,  1887.  She  was  the  daughter  of 
David  Heaps  and  Elizabeth  Hargraves.  They  came 
first  to  Lago,  Idaho  and  then  to  Central,  Idaho. 
Their  children  were:  Hazel,  Elsie  Marie,  Annie, 
Andrew  Leo,  Soren  David,  Ada,  Arthur  William, 

Melvin,  Ralph  Vernal,  Agnes  and  Glen.  Their  se- 
cond daughter,  Elsie  Marie,  married  Ferdinand 

Christian  Christensen. 

Andrew  S.  Andersen  died,  June  14,  1919,  of 

pneumonia  at  Central,  Idaho.  Elizabeth  (Grand- 
mother Andersen)  continued  to  live  in  Central  until 

sometime  in  the  late  forties  when  her  health  began 

to  fail  and  she  moved  to  Nampa,  Idaho,  to  be  near 

a  daughter,  Ada.  She  died  July  14,  1951  and  was 
buried  in  the  Central  Cemetery  beside  her  husband, 
Andrew. 

FRED  H.  ANDERSEN  was  born  in  Bear  River 

City,  January  27,  1893. 
MARY  NIELSEN  was  born  at  Cleveland,  Idaho 

February  26,  1891. 

Fred  H.  Andersen 
Mary  N.  Andersen 
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Fred  and  Mary  were  married  October  7,  1915  in 

the  Salt  Lake  Temple,  at  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 
Their  children  are:  Ralph,  Elden,  Rex,  Homer, 
Iretta,  Dorothy,  Beatrice,  and  a  baby  girl  that  died 
at  birth. 

Farming  has  been  their  occupation  through  the 
years.  They  have  been  very  active  in  the  church. 

Mary  enjoys  yard  work,  embroidery  work,  and 
crocheting. 

They  feel  that  it  is  an  accomplishment  to  be  able 
to  stay  at  their  home  and  take  care  of  themselves, 
at  their  age. 

■i/     ■  V 

Neils  and  Maren  A.  Andersen,  Sr. 

NEILS  ANDERSEN,  SR.  was  born  in  Ingstrup, 
Denmark  on  10  March,  1858.  He  worked  on  farms 

in  the  local  area,  and  put  in  the  required  service  in 
the  army.  He  married  MAREN  ANDERSEN,  who 
was  born  18  December,  1865.  Times  were  hard,  and 

partly  at  the  persuasion  of  Charles  Johnson,  Sr.,  an 

L.D.S.  missionary  (father  of  Dr.  C.  C.  Johnson,  a 

former  physician  of  Grace)  they  emigrated  to  this 
country  in  1891  and  settled  in  Logan,  Utah.  They 
later  (1897)  moved  to  Preston,  Idaho  and  in  the 

spring  of  1899  loaded  their  children  and  all  their 

possessions  in  an  old  covered  wagon  and  moved  to 
Central,  where  they  homesteaded  a  farm. 

It  was  pioneer  times,  and  Mr.  Andersen  did  most 

of  his  work  himself  including  building  his  house, 

cellar  and  farm  buildings,  clearing  the  land  of  rock 
and  sage  brush  and  farming  the  land.  Likewise  his 

wife  made  most  of  the  clothing  for  the  family,  in- 
cluding the  carding  and  spinning  of  wool  into  yarn, 

and  raised  a  garden.  The  Andersens  were  the 

parents  of  Mary  (later  Mrs.  August  Hegstrom), 

Neils  Jr.,  who  operated  the  store  and  post  office  in 

Central  for  many  years,  Wilford,  who  purchased 
and  took  over  the  operation  of  the  farm  when  Mr. 
Andersen  retired  in  1924,  and  Ervin  and  Leland 

who  lived  around  the  local  area  for  many  years. 

Two  other  boys  died  in  infancy. 
Mrs.  Andersen  died  on  23  June,  1924,  and  Mr. 

Andersen  died  on  20  September,  1943.  They  are 
both  buried  in  the  Central  cemetery. 

NEILS  ANDERSEN,  JR.  was  born  in  Logan, 

Utah,  May  1,  1894,  the  fourth  child  of  Neils  and 
Maren  Andersen. 

In  the  spring  of  1899,  the  family  loaded  their 
belongings  in  a  covered  wagon,  attached  a  rope  to  a 
halter  on  their  cow  which  was  then  tied  to  the  back 

of  the  wagon — put  12  chickens  and  1  rooster  in  a 
crate  which  was  placed  on  some  poles  extending  out 
of  the  back  of  the  wagon  box  and  headed  north  to 
their  new  home  in  Central,  Idaho.  At  the  time,  this 

area  was  considered  a  part  of  Lund  and  had  not  yet 
been  named. 

This  was  the  beginning  of  the  62  years  that  Neils 
Andersen,  Jr.  was  an  active  and  prominent  part  of 

the  growing  community  of  Central. 
In  1914,  he  began  courting  ELSIE 

ANDERSON,  daughter  of  Gustaf  Anderson,  who 
was  one  of  the  homesteaders  in  the  Central  area.  In 

February,  1917,  Neils  and  Elsie  boarded  the  "Ping 
Pong"  at  Talmadge — the  first  train  ride  that  Elsie 
had  ever  had — to  journey  to  Logan  where  they 
were  to  be  married  in  the  Logan  Temple.  Elsie  had 

been  given  $25.00  as  a  wedding  present  from  her 

father — a  lot  of  money  in  those  days — and  in  her 

Neils  and  Elsie  A.  Andersen,  Jr. 
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great  excitement,  she  left  her  purse  laying  on  the 
counter  of  the  store  owned  by  George  Rhodes.  It 
was  still  there  when  they  got  back  home. 

Five  children  were  born  to  this  couple,  2  girls  and 

3  boys,  only  two  of  whom  survived,  DeWin,  born 
September  17,  1917  and  their  last  child,  Waldo, 
born  September  7,  1929.  They  have  10 

grandchildren. 
Neils  purchased  the  Central  store  and  post  office 

in  1921  and  operated  it  for  23  years.  He  then 
became  Road  Overseer  and  Elsie  took  over  as  Post- 

mistress, serving  in  this  capacity  for  21  years,  mak- 
ing a  total  of  44  years. 

Neils  was  a  member  of  the  famous  Central 

Orchestra,  playing  Banjo.  He  was  also  an  ac- 
complished violinist. 

He  is  very  fond  of  both  outdoor  and  indoor 
sports  and  was  a  member  of  the  Central  Basketball 
team  at  the  time  of  the  Turner  explosion.  He  also 
collects  stamps  and  coins  and  has  been  an  avid 

photographer. 

He  has  served  his  church  in  almost  every  capaci- 
ty, notably  as  Sunday  School  Superintendent,  a 

member  of  the  Central  Bishopric,  Scout  Master, 
Ward  Clerk,  Adult  Sunday  School  teacher  and 
Home  teacher. 

He  and  his  sons  have  been  engaged  in  the  con- 
struction business,  having  built  a  large  number  of 

homes  in  the  Grace  and  Soda  Springs  area. 
He  and  his  wife,  Elsie,  moved  to  Soda  Springs  in 

1961,  where  they  still  reside. 
Elsie  was  born  November  24,  1900  at  Central  in 

a  small  shanty  house  where  several  of  her  brothers 
and  sisters  were  born,  with  a  midwife  in  attendance. 

She  started  school  when  she  was  six,  and  couldn't 
speak  much  of  the  English  language,  as  Swedish 
was  spoken  in  the  home,  and  of  course,  that  was  all 

she  knew.  The  school  was  a  small  two  room  log 
building.  The  brick  school  house  was  finished  in 

1917  and  her  class  was  the  first  to  graduate  from 
the  new  building. 

The  following  are  some  stories  from  Elsie's  own 
history: 

"When  I  was  big  enough  to  reach  the  cow's 
handles,  I  had  to  milk  cows  morning  and  night  until 
I  was  married.  I  had  to  milk  three  or  four  cows 

every  morning  before  going  to  school.  After  the 
milking,  we  had  to  separate  the  milk  and  feed  milk 

to  the  calves  and  pigs." 

"We  always  had  hired  men  to  cook  for  at  home. 
One  day  Mother  made  a  jelly-roll  for  dinner.  I  was 
so  hungry  for  something  good.  I  wanted  a  piece  of 
this  cake,  Mother  said  it  was  for  the  men  and  if  I 

cut  into  it,  she  would  make  me  eat  it  all.  I  thought 

that  didn't  sound  too  bad,  so  I  cut  me  a  nice  slice. 
Mother  caught  up  to  me  and  demanded  that  I  eat 
all  that  jelly  roll.  I  tried  very  hard  to  eat  it  all,  but 

believe  me,  I  had  my  fill  of  jelly  roll." 
"I  can  remember  just  twice  that  I  talked  back  to 

my  father.  Once  I  told  him,  "I  won't  do  it,"  when 
he  gave  me  a  job  to  do.  Well — I  really  ended  up  do- 

ing the  job.  The  other  time,  he  was  angry  at  me  for 

something  or  other  and  I  told  him  to  "scratch  his 
mad  place."  That  didn't  go  over  very  good  with 
him  either.  After  those  two  experiences,  I  just 

didn't  try  to  get  by  with  anything  around  my 

father." 

Elsie  married  Neils  Andersen,  February  28, 

1917.  They  had  their  hard  times  too.  They  bought 

the  William  Hegstrom  farm  and  lived  there  for 
three  and  a  half  years.  It  was  after  the  first  World 
War  when  the  bottom  fell  out  of  everything  and 

they  lost  their  farm.  After  selling  the  machinery 

and  livestock  they  bought  the  store  at  Central  in 
1921.  She  and  Neils  were  both  postmasters  at  the 

store.  They  had  three  children:  Maez,  DeWin,  and 
Waldo.  Neils  and  Elsie  now  reside  in  Soda  Springs, 
Idaho. 

PARLEY  PRATT  ANDERSEN  was  the  son  of 

James  P.  Andersen  and  Mary  Christensen.  He  was 
born  July  31,  1884  in  Bear  River  City,  Utah. 

Parley  moved  to  Mound  Valley  with  his  parents 
in  1900.  They  lived  in  a  log  house  until  a  better 
home  was  constructed.  He  loved  to  play  baseball 

and  was  an  excellent  pitcher.  He  married  ANNIE 
JANE  HARRIS  December  27,  1905  at  Mound 

Valley,  Idaho.  After  his  marriage  he  settled  on  a 

farm,  upon  which  he  reared  his  family.  In  the  spr- 
ing he  would  go  away  shearing  sheep  to  help  with 

the  family  finances.  In  1920  he  moved  his  family  to 

Grace,  Idaho,  where  he  opened  a  garage  for  a  short 
time.  Later  he  went  to  Thatcher  where  he  operated 

a  store  for  three  years.  After  this  he  returned  to  the 
farm,  which  he  operated  until  his  death. 

Parley  had  a  beautiful  singing  voice,  and  was 
asked  on  many  occasions  to  sing  at  Ward  socials 
and  parties.  Part  of  his  life  he  was  County  Road 
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Annie  H.  Andersen Parley  P.  Andersen Wilford  and  Tilda  Andersen 

Supervisor  for  the  southern  part  of  Bannock  Coun- 
ty- 

Parley  and  Annie  had  the  following  children: 
Katie  Leone,  Dallas,  Clyde  Pari,  Anona,  Delia,  and 
Rex  Harris  Andersen. 

Parley  died  March  23,  1939. 

Annie    Jane    Harris,    daughter    of    Alexander 

Harris  and  Martha  Craner,  was  born  February  8, 
1884  at  Mound  Valley,  Idaho.  She  married  Parley 
Pratt   Andersen,   December  27,    1905  at   Mound 

Valley,  Idaho. 

When  Annie  was  fifteen  years  of  age,  she  and  her 
mother  went  to  Grace,  Idaho  to  homestead  a  ranch. 

They  lived  in  a  small  log  cabin  with  a  dirt  roof.  She 

received  a  limited  education  from  the  pioneer 
school  at  Grace.  She  returned  to  Mound  Valley, 
and  was  Post  mistress  at  Perry  for  several  years. 
She  married  at  Mound  Valley  and  had  six  children. 

Annie  was  active  in  church  work.  She  served  as 

secretary  in  the  Mutual  for  several  years,  and  serv- 
ed in  the  Relief  Society  Presidency.  She  was  a 

perfectionist  in  everything  she  did,  making 

beautiful  quilts  and  other  hand  work.  After  her 

husband's  death,  she  built  a  home  in  Grace  and  liv- 
ed there  for  eighteen  years.  The  last  few  years  of 

her  life  she  lived  with  her  daughters. 

WILFORD  ANDERSEN,  TILDA 

ANDERSEN.  I  was  attending  Teacher's  College  at 
Greeley,  Colorado,  the  summer  of  1918  during  the 
First  World  War.  I  was  born  in  Brooklyn,  New 
York,  but  had  gradually  migrated  west.  I  obtained 
a  position  to  teach  school  in  Central,  Idaho.  At  that 

time  Central  was  a  pioneer  Latter-day  Saint  village 
with  no  electricity.  Although  my  friend,  Edith 

Frieberg,  and  I  were  not  Mormons,  the  villagers 

were  very  good  to  us,  and  we  loved  Central  and  our 
school  work. 

A  nation-wide  Flu  Epidemic  closed  all  schools  at 

the  end  of  the  first  month,  and  they  didn't  open  un- 
til April.  In  January,  Edith  was  called  home  to 

Denver,  and  she  didn't  return  to  her  job.  In  the 
meantime,  I  socialized  with  the  young  people  of  the 

neighborhood — fell  in  love  with  Wilford  Andersen, 
one  of  the  local  boys,  and  we  were  married  June  20, 
1919.  Wilford  was  born  in  Preston,  1898,  but  his 

parents  moved  to  Central  in  1899  and  homesteaded 
160  acres.  Some  of  our  wedding  gifts  included  six 
Rhode  Island  Red  Hens  and  a  rooster  from  Chris 

Christensen;  a  coal-oil  lamp,  a  coal  scuttle  and 

shovel,  and  a  black  iron  frying  pan.  Wilford's 
parents  gave  us  a  cow.  We  had  more  use  for  these 
than  for  all  the  fine  linens  and  beautiful  dishes  we 

received.  We  sold  eggs  from  the  hen  and  butter 
churned  from  cream  from  the  cow! 

The  first  summer  of  our  marriage  there  was  a 

drouth  and  we  got  five  bushels  of  wheat  to  the  acre. 
But  the  war  in  Europe  was  still  in  progress  so  wheat 

commanded  a  good  price — about  $2.50  a  bushel. 
Also,  I  taught  school  again  at  a  salary  of  $100  a 
month.  But  the  next  year  the  war  ended,  and  price 
of  wheat  fell  to  69c  a  bushel.  Although  I  had  my 

school  back,  I  was  pregnant.  Travis  was  born  a 

week  after  school  let  out — April  25,  1920,  and  then 

Mary  Rose  came  in  1921.  The  "city  girl"  learned  to 
be  a  pioneer  farmer's  wife.  It  was  all  new  and  ex- 

citing to  me  and  I  loved  it.  Wilford  was  an  excellent 
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farmer.  He  had  us  out  in  the  fields,  hand-pulling 
wild  oats  and  sunflowers  from  the  wheat.  We  got 

up  at  four  in  the  morning  to  poison  rockchucks 
and  squirrels.  Once  there  was  a  grasshopper  plague, 
and  the  whole  family  spread  poisoned  oats  every 

evening  until  they  were  gone.  We  never  ran  out  of 
work! 

But  farm  prices  continued  low,  and  to  meet  our 
financial  obligations,  we  moved  to  Alexander. 
Here  Wilford  worked  on  the  section  and  the  Alex- 

ander Dam  when  it  was  under  construction.  I 

taught  school  in  Davisville  and  Alexander.  I  bet 
Terrell  Pack,  who  was  in  my  seventh  grade, 
remembers  when  the  eighth  grade  boys  brought 
their  revolvers  to  school,  but  had  to  give  them  to 
the  teacher.  That  night  in  Camp,  Terrell  was  shot  in 
the  toe,  dancing  to  bullets  fired  from  those  same 
revolvers,  by  those  same  eighth  grade  boys! 

In  1923  we  rented  Pa's  farm  and  moved  back  to 
Central.  In  the  meantime  we  lost  Mary  Rose,  and 

Betty  Jeanne  was  born.  Hoyt,  Fay  and  Bobbie 
followed  at  regular  intervals.  In  those  days,  babies 

were  born  at  home,  with  neighbor  ladies  in  atten- 

dance till  the  doctor  arrived.  The  doctor's  fee  was 
twenty  to  twenty-five  dollars  a  baby. 

Then  came  the  Great  Depression  with  wheat  15c 

a  bushel  and  hogs  $2  a  hundred-weight.  We  sealed 
our  wheat  and  lived  on  what  the  farm  produced. 
How  grateful  we  were  to  Mr.  Roghaar  when  he 
sold  us  a  case  of  red  salmon  and  a  case  of  pink 
salmon  and  took  young  roosters  in  exchange!  Red 
salmon  then  was  I2c  a  tall  can;  pink  salmon  was  8c 
a  tall  can. 

The  Depression  finally  ended.  Electricity  came  to 
Central.  In  1937  Terry  made  his  appearance.  The 
following  years  were  happy  as  we  raised  our 
children  and  planned  their  future.  Wilford  had 

taught  the  boys  to  play  the  cornet,  and  they  were 
delighted  when  Mr.  C.  D.  Simmons  included  them 
in  his  dance  band. 

Then  the  Second  World  War  broke  out,  followed 

by  the  Korean  War.  Hoyt  volunteered  in  the  Navy 

Air  Corps,  Travis  in  the  Women's  Marines,  and 
Fay  became  a  Nurse  Cadet.  I  was  asked  to  teach 
school  in  Grace.  Central  School  consolidated  with 

Grace.  After  the  war  ended,  the  children  went  their 

separate  ways.  Wilford,  Terry  and  I  were  on  the 

farm  alone.  We  enjoyed  many  trips  to  California 
and  scenic  Utah,  Arizona,  and  Nevada.  Wilford 

sold  the  livestock  and  worked  in  Soda  Springs  as  a 

carpenter  and  also  farmed.  I  gave  piano  lessons  and 
served  as  substitute  teacher  in  Grace,  Thatcher  and 

Soda  Springs.  This  was  our  life  up  to  the  time  we 
sold  our  farm  and  moved  to  American  Falls  in 

1964. 

A  happy,  successful  life!  Oh,  yes,  I  did  join  the 
L.D.S.  Church  about  1951  -  those  Mormons  were 

so  good  to  me,  I  realized  their  religion  must  be 
something  special! 

Gustaf  and  Sophia  Anderson 

GUSTAF  E.  (GUS)  ANDERSON  was  born  in 

Solvarbo  Dalarna,  Sweden  on  September  6,  1873. 

When  Gus  was  14  years  old  he  left  home  and 
went  to  work  at  Hedmara  on  a  farm  for  4  years.  In 

1890  his  father  helped  him  borrow  money  to  come 
to  America. 

In  1892  he  and  his  father  homesteaded  in  Idaho. 

There  were  five  feet  of  snow  on  the  ground  so  they 

had  to  leave  their  buggy  and  food  and  all  behind, 

and  just  take  a  quilt  apiece  and  their  two  horses. 
There  was  a  crust  on  the  snow  which  kept  breaking 

through  with  the  horses  so  it  made  it  hard  to  travel. 

They  got  on  China  Hill  where  it  was  so  cold  they 

couldn't  build  a  fire,  so  they  made  a  circle  and 
walked  around  all  night  to  keep  from  freezing.  The 
next  day  they  got  some  food  for  themselves  and  hay 
for  the  horses  from  some  people  who  lived  there. 

They  then  went  to  Central  where  they  homestead- 
ed. 

They  lived  in  a  dugout  until  the  rest  of  the  family 
came,  then  they  built  a  two  room  cabin.  They  had  a 
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hard  struggle  to  make  a  living  and  endured  many 
hardships. 

When  they  first  arrived  it  was  just  sagebrush  and 
native  grass.  The  water  was  hauled  from  Bear 
River. 

Gus  married  Sophia  Johnson  on  May  1,  1897. 

They  had  a  family  of  eight  children:  Elmer, 

Wilford,  Elsie,  Edna,  Selma,  Mamie,  Elva,  Nor- 
ma, and  Agnes.  Times  were  hard  and  they  had  to 

work  hard  to  provide  for  the  family. 

Gustaf  was  appointed  Sunday  School 
Superintendent  in  1895,  and  a  counselor  to  the 

Bishop  in  1913  to  1917.  August  19,  1917  he  was  or- 
dained bishop  of  Central  Ward.  In  1925  he  was 

called  to  fill  a  mission  to  Sweden.  In  1927  he  was 
released  on  account  of  the  accidental  death  of  his 

son,  who  was  running  the  farm.  Elmer  was  killed  in 
the  Turner  explosion.  Gus  worked  in  the 

Genealogical  Society  and  as  a  Stake  Missionary. 

They  sold  their  farm  to  a  son-in-law,  Walter 
Lenhart  in  1935.  He  died  December  11,  1942. 
SOPHIA  MATILDA  JOHNSON  was  born 

December  2,  1870  in  Vingaker,  Sodermanland, 

Sweden.  She  was  baptized  when  she  was  eight  days 
old  in  the  Lutheran  Church. 

When  she  was  six  years  old  she  started  to  school, 

having  to  walk  three  and  a  half  miles.  The  path  was 
through  some  woods  and  also  past  a  lake.  She  and 
her  brothers  and  sisters  would  either  have  to  walk 

around  the  lake  or  ride  across  in  a  small  boat.  In 

the  winter  they  would  walk  across  on  the  ice.  Dur- 
ing the  summer  school  months  they  were  each  given 

a  piece  of  ground  around  the  school  house  where 
they  would  have  to  plant  flowers  and  trees  and  take 
care  of  them. 

Sophia  joined  the  L.D.S.  Church  when  she  was 
sixteen  and  came  to  this  country  when  she  was 
seventeen. 

It  was  the  custom  for  any  member  of  a  family, 
that  came  to  the  United  States,  to  work  until  they 

had  enough  money  to  send  to  another  member  to 

come.  Sophia's  ticket  came  to  $85.00,  she  worked 
at  several  places,  at  various  jobs,  to  repay  that 
amount. 

She  came  with  a  brother  to  the  Lund  area  and 

took  up  a  homestead  where  they  lived  in  a  two 

room  log  house.  The  next  summer  she  went  to  Gen- 

tile Valley  and  worked  for  the  Barney  White  fami- 
ly, where  she  cared  for  and  cooked  for  the  family. 

hay  men,  and  the  threshing  crew.  She  received 
$2.50  a  week.  Gustaf  Anderson  was  also  working 
for  Mr.  White.  Here,  he  met  and  fell  in  love  with 

Sophia  and  they  were  married  May  1,  1897. 

Gus  and  Sophia  always  felt  that  the  greatest 

privilege  and  blessing  that  they  had  received  was  to 

join  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints 
and  come  to  America.  They  were  very  active  in  the 
different  organizations. 

OTTO  WILFORD  ANDERSON  was  born  Oc- 
tober 14,  1891  at  Franklin,  Idaho.  He  was  the 

youngest  son  of  Martin  and  Carolina  Backman 
Anderson.  Martin  Anderson  joined  the  Church  at 

Sweden  and  immigrated  to  Idaho,  to  join  his 
brother  Johan  Ferdinand  and  his  wife  Charlotte 

Christine  Backman  Anderson.  Carolina  Backman 

had  joined  the  Church  also  in  Sweden  and  had  im- 
migrated to  Franklin,  Idaho  with  two  sons  and  one 

daughter  to  join  her  sister,  and  there  met  Martin 
Anderson  and  they  were  married  sometime  later. 
Carolina  died  soon  after  Otto  was  born. 

Otto's  father  Martin  then  married  Isabell 
Durney.  Otto  spent  his  boyhood  there  at  Franklin, 
he  loved  music  and  had  a  good  voice,  and  he  was  a 
great  lover  of  horses  and  dogs. 

In  1912  Otto  married  his  childhood  sweetheart, 
ISABELL  LOWE  (BELLE)  as  he  called  her. 

Otto  was  very  active  in  civic  affairs  and  was  a 
member  of  the  Grace  Lions  Club,  a  member  of  the 

school  board,  and  Sunday  School  Superintendent. 
They  lived  in  Grace  and  raised  their  two  children 

and  worked  for  the  Grace  Merc,  Bell  Telephone 

Otto  W.  Anderson Isabell  L.  Anderson 
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Company,  and  for  twenty  years  or  more  for  Utah 
Power  and  Light  Company. 

In  1942  he  took  ill  and  had  to  retire  from  his  job. 

They  sold  their  lovely  home  at  Grace  and  moved 
back  to  Franklin,  and  there  he  suffered  with 

arthritis.  He  had  a  little  shop  that  he  could  repair 

motors  and  different  things.  Otto  was  a  very  cheer- 
ful man  and  he  made  everyone  feel  much  more 

cheerful  after  visiting  with  him.  He  had  a  strong 
testimony  of  the  Gospel  and  taught  his  children  to 

love  and  respect  the  Lord  and  to  live  by  His 
teachings. 

Isabell  Lowe  was  born  June  16,  1891  at 

Coveville,  Cache,  Utah.  A  daughter  of  Thomas 
Galloway  and  Maria  Wilson  Lowe.  Her  father 

came  from  Scotland  with  his  parents  in  1855,  and 

Maria  joined  the  Church  in  England  and  im- 
migrated to  Utah  with  her  parents  in  1880. 

Isabell  had  a  brother  Moroni  Wilson  Lowe,  and 
Mathias  Wilson  Lowe  and  five  half  brothers  and 

five  half  sisters,  as  her  mother  Maria  was  the  se- 

cond wife  of  Thomas  G.  in  pologamy.  When  she 
was  twenty  she  married  Otto  Wilford  Anderson, 

May  28,  1912  at  Logan  in  the  L.D.S.  Temple  by 
William  Budge. 

They  tried  dry  farming  at  Burley,  Idaho  and  it 
was  there  that  their  first  child,  a  girl,  was  stillborn. 

They  had  bad  luck  there,  so  they  put  their  few 
belongings  in  the  hay  rack  and  came  to  Grace, 
Idaho.  They  lived  on  the  ranch  of  Moroni  and  An- 

nie Lowe  and  it  was  while  they  were  living  here  that 

their  son  Sherman  put  in  his  appearance,  on 
September  5,  1915.  Otto  was  working  at  the  Grace 
Merc,  for  Sumner  Pond  and  he  later  went  to  work 

for  the  Bell  Telephone  Company  and  then  for  the 
Utah  Power  and  Light  Company. 

On  February  13,  1920  another  child  was  born  to 
them  whom  they  called  Berneice. 

Isabell  was  a  counselor  in  the  Relief  Society  of 
the  Grace  1st  Ward,  for  16  years.  She  served  15 

years  as  a  Stake  Board  member  of  the  Relief  Socie- 
ty of  Bannock  Stake,  she  was  a  member  of  the  Old 

Folks  Committee,  and  a  member  of  the  American 

Legion  Auxiliary. 

Isabell  was  an  excellent  cook  and  she  could  sew 

anything.  She  was  known  all  over  the  valley  for  her 
sewing,  and  her  quilts  were  a  work  of  art. 

After  Otto  became  ill  they  moved  to  Franklin, 
Idaho  and   there  Isabell  was  Post  Mistress  for 

several  years.  She  became  ill  with  rheumatic  fever, 
and  was  ill  for  two  years,  but  she  recovered  and 
learned  to  walk  again  and  able  to  take  care  of  her 

house  and  herself.  Otto  passed  away  the  3rd  of  Oc- 
tober 1956,  at  the  age  of  64,  and  was  buried  at 

Grace,  Idaho. 

Isabell  was  a  woman  of  many  talents  and  she  had 

a  strong  testimony  of  the  gospel  of  Jesus  Christ  of 

Latter-day  Saints.  Isabell  became  very  ill  and  pass- 

ed away  October  14,  1970  on  her  husband's  birth- 
day. She  was  buried  at  the  Grace  cemetery. 

Peter  Anderson Kama  H.  Anderson 

PETER  ANDERSON  was  born  May  17,  1855  in 

Helsingor,  Denmark.  He  came  to  America  with  his 
wife  KARNA   HANSEN  ANDERSON  and  two 

daughters,  Emma  and  Anna.  He  worked  in 
Willard,  Utah  and  later  came  to  Idaho  where  he 

worked  for  Willard  Hubbard.  He  was  baptized  in 

Willard,  Utah.  He  and  his  wife  Kama  were  en- 
dowed in  the  Logan  Temple.  He  worked  for  the 

railroad  and  later  worked  for  a  creamery  making 

butter  and  cheese.  He  died  August  17,  1926. 
Kama  was  born  June  19,  1844  in  Store  Isige, 

Sweden.  She  married  Peter  Anderson  and  they  had 

a  family  of  four  girls.  Two  died  real  young  in  life. 
The  other  two  were  named  Emma  and  Anna. 

She  was  converted  to  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ 

of  Latter-day  Saints  by  Mormon  missionaries.  She 
was  secretly  baptized  and  started  to  save  money 
where  ever  she  could  with  the  purpose  in  mind  of 

coming  to  America  where  she  could  enjoy  her 
religion  freely.  She  wove  linsey  to  make  clothes. 
She  would  sell  a  piece  of  furniture  at  a  time  so  her 

husband  wouldn't  miss  it  and  save  the  money.  Each 
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Saturday  night  she  would  call  for  her  husband's 
check  in  order  to  buy  the  daily  bread  and  necessary 
essentials.  When  she  had  saved  enough  money  she 
approached  her  husband  with  the  idea  of  coming  to 
America.  He  could  hardly  make  up  his  mind  to 

leave  the  old  country  and  come  to  a  strange  place. 

He  wasn't  at  all  converted  to  Mormons  at  this  time. 
They  finally  decided  to  leave.  While  they  were  on 

the  pier,  a  strange  lady  wanted  to  send  her  eighteen 
month  old  baby  to  America.  She  would  keep  in 
touch  with  her,  she  and  her  husband  had  gotten  a 

divorce  and  she  wanted  Kama  to  take  the  baby 
with  her. 

After  reaching  America  they  traveled  by  train 
from  New  York  to  Willard,  Utah.  Kama  wove 

material  and  carpeting  to  help  provide  for  the  fami- 
ly. Four  years  later  they  moved  to  Idaho.  Kama 

continued  weaving,  nearly  every  home  in  the  valley 
had  their  floors  covered  with  the  carpets  she  wove. 
Kama  died  at  the  age  of  seventy  and  was  buried  in 

Lago,  Idaho. 

ROY  CASPER  ANDREASEN  was  born  June  6, 

1889  in  Bear  River  City,  Utah.  He  was  the  oldest  of 

ten  children  born  to  Casper  and  Caroline  An- 
dreasen.  His  early  days  were  spent  in  Bear  River 

City.  At  age  thirteen  he  began  to  spend  some  time 
on  the  homestead  at  Cleveland,  Idaho  and  in  1906 

he  attended  BY  College  at  Logan,  Utah.  Roy  met  a 
beautiful  girl  in  Cleveland  while  attending  ward 
meetings.  She  was  LULA  LARSEN,  and  in  1907 

they  were  married. 

Lula  Larsen  was  born  the  30th  of  August  1887, 
in  a  roughly  made  home  with  a  dirt  floor,  at 

Roy  C.  Andreasen Lula  L.  Andreasen 

Cleveland,  Idaho.  Her  parents  were  James  and 
Mette  Hansen  Larsen.  They  were  early  pioneers  in 

the  south  end  of  the  valley.  They  farmed,  owned 
one  of  the  first  mercantile  stores,  and  her  father 
carried  the  mail.  Both  were  converts  to  the  L.D.S. 

Church,  and  came  here  from  Denmark. 

Lula  was  in  the  ward  presidency  and  worked  in 
the  Relief  Society  Organization.  She  was  a  good 
cook  and  cooked  for  Utah  Power  and  Light  men 

over  a  period  of  four  years,  when  they  were  con- 
structing the  high  power  line  that  runs  through  the valley. 

Roy  and  Lula  were  the  parents  of  eight  children: 
Owen  L.,  Maynard,  Theo,  Ruby,  Dee  L.,  De  Vone, 
Voloy,  and  Max  W.  The  family  was  raised  in  the 
Cleveland  area.  Roy  served  in  many  church 
positions,  and  was  active  in  community  affairs.  He 

was  ward  clerk,  a  counselor  to  three  bishops,  was 
in  the  stake  High  Priest  Presidency  of  Bannock 
Stake,  and  chairman  of  the  building  committee 

when  the  Cleveland  Church  building  was  con- 
structed. He  served  for  15  years  on  the  Wilson 

School  Board,  served  two  terms  as  State  Represen- 
tative from  Franklin  County,  3  terms  as  Franklin 

County  Commissioner,  and  two  terms  on  the 
Preston  City  Council. 
They  worked  very  close  together  in  reaching 

family  and  individual  goals.  Two  sons  and  three 
daughters  filled  missions  for  the  L.D.S.  Church.  A 

nephew  was  raised  and  kept  on  a  mission,  and  in 
1943,  Roy  was  called  to  fill  a  short  term  mission  to 
the  Southern  States. 

They  moved  to  Preston  in  1945,  where  Roy  serv- 
ed on  the  Oneida  Stake  High  Council  for  a  number 

of  years,  and  was  called  to  serve  as  the  Chairman  of 
the  Cache  Valley  Welfare  Region. 

Roy  passed  away  in  Preston,  Idaho  March  11, 
1960,  and  Lula  died  June  22,  1975  at  Soda  Springs, 
Idaho. 

CHARLES  ASHBAKER  was  born  14  February 
1876  in  Bern,  Switzerland  to  Jacob  and  Elizabeth 

Burkhalter  Ashbaker.  His  parents  joined  the 

L.D.S.  Church  the  year  Charles  was  born,  and 
shortly  after  left  their  home  and  sailed  to  America. 
Charles  was  just  three  months  old.  They  settled  in 
Providence,  Utah.  When  he  was  eight  or  nine  years 

old  they  moved  to  Mink  Creek,  Idaho,  and  that  is 
where  he  grew  up.  It  was  a  large  family  and  they 
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were  poor,  so  the  education  was  very  meager.  He 
went  to  work  herding  sheep  when  he  was  very 

young  to  help  support  the  family. 
It  was  at  Mink  Creek  that  he  met  ESTHER 

PETERSON.  Her  parents,  Peter  Peterson  and 

Christina  Olsen  Peterson,  joined  the  Church  in 
Sweden  and  came  to  America  when  Esther  was 

four  years  old.  She  was  born  24,  July  1879. 
Charles  and  Esther  were  married  in  the  Logan 

Temple  and  shortly  after  moved  to  Thatcher,  Idaho 
where  Charles  worked  as  a  farm  hand.  They  lived 

in  an  old  abandoned  school  house  with  few  fur- 

nishings. Their  first  child.  Freeman,  was  born  at 
Thatcher.  The  next  year  they  homesteaded  a  piece 
of  land  southwest  of  Grace,  Idaho.  Charles  cleared 

the  land  of  sagebrush  and  planted  and  cultivated 
crops.  They  built  a  one  room  log  house,  and  then 
added  to  it  as  needed.  Seven  more  children  were 

born  in  this  house.  Later  they  were  able  to  build  a 
nice  seven  room  home  where  the  last  four  children 

were  born,  making  twelve  in  all.  All  the  children 
were  born  at  home,  the  first  six  with  the  help  of  a 
midwife,  then  there  was  a  doctor  for  the  last  six. 

Life  on  a  homestead  was  not  easy.  All  the 
firewood  had  to  be  hauled  from  the  canyons  during 

the  winter  months.  It  was  on  one  of  these  trips  that 
Charles  ran  a  splinter  in  his  eye  and  lost  the  sight  in 
it.  There  were  always  cows  to  milk,  livestock  to 

care  for,  and  a  garden.  Esther  always  made  soap, 

knit  stockings,  caps,  and  mittens,  and  canned  hun- 
dreds of  quarts  of  food  each  year.  They  still  found 

time  to  attend  dances  and  visit  friends  and  relatives. 

They  loved  to  dance  and  would  take  the  children 
and  attend  all  the  community  dances. 

Charles  was  a  trustee  of  the  Telluride  School 

District  many  years  and  a  director  of  the  Last 

Chance  Canal  Co.  They  were  always  active  in  the 
Church  and  never  missed  Sunday  meetings.  They 

traveled  the  five  miles  by  team  and  buggy  or  sleigh 
for  many  years  until  they  were  able  to  get  a  car. 
Charles  served  in  the  Sunday  School 
Superintendency,  president  of  M.I. A.,  and  the 

Grace  Ward  Bishopric  for  ten  years.  He  was  also  a 
ward  teacher  all  his  married  life.  Esther  was 

Primary  president,  counselor  in  the  Relief  Society, 
sang  in  the  choir,  and  was  a  block  teacher  for  over 

50  years.  She  walked,  rode  a  horse,  or  went  by  team 
and  buggy  to  do  all  these  things.  She  never  learned 
to  drive  a  car. 

When  the  children  were  grown  and  the  farm 

work  too  hard,  they  sold  the  farm  to  their  sons  and 
moved  to  Logan,  Utah  and  spent  their  time  doing 

temple  work.  Charles  went  through  the  temple 
three  or  four  times  every  day,  helping  a  blind  man 

through  for  several  years  and  was  door  keeper  on 

days  that  the  temple  was  closed.  He  did  over  1 1,000 
endowments  and  thousands  of  sealings.  Esther  did 

many  too,  but  couldn't  go  as  often. 
Esther  became  ill  and  passed  away  February  17, 

1965  at  the  age  of  85.  Charles  stayed  in  Logan  do- 
ing temple  work  until  his  health  became  too  poor  to 

live  alone,  after  which  he  spent  his  winter  months  in 
Salt  Lake  City  with  his  daughters  Ann,  Mable,  and 
Roma,  and  the  summers  in  Soda  Springs  with  his 

daughter  Aileen.  He  passed  away  at  Aileen's  home 
August  6,  1970  at  the  age  of  94. 

Their  twelve  children  are:  Freeman,  Lillian,  An- 
na, Lula,  Willard,  Ada,  Lloyd,  Mable,  Aileen, 

Harley,  Lucille,  Roma. 

JACOB  ASHBAKER  was  born  the  17th  of  June, 

1871,  in  the  city  of  Berne,  Switzerland.  At  the  age 
of  five,  Jacob,  his  three  older  sisters,  his  younger 

brother  and  his  parents  left  Berne  in  an  ox-drawn 
cart  for  Basel,  Switzerland,  where  they  boarded  a 
small  vessel  and  headed  down  the  Rhine  River. 

Three  days  later  a  storm  came  up  and  forced  them 
into  a  sandbar.  The  front  of  the  ship  was  sinking 

Jacob  and  Viola  W.  Ashbaker 
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fast  until  the  Mormon  missionaries  told  the  people 
to  put  all  their  luggage  at  the  back  of  the  ship.  The 

weight  of  the  luggage  lifted  the  front  of  the  ship 
from  the  sandbar,  and  they  were  soon  on  their  way. 

The  Ashbakers  went  into  port  at  Liverpool, 

England,  where  they  boarded  a  ship  named 

"Idaho."  On  June  28,  1876,  they  set  sail  for 
America.  The  ship  arrived  in  New  York  City  on  the 

10th  of  July,  1876,  without  mishap.  On  its  return 
trip  across  the  ocean,  the  ship  sank. 

The  Ashbakers  began  their  new  life  in  America 

in  Providence,  Utah.  Jacob's  father  continued  in 
his  profession  as  a  weaver.  Jacob,  at  the  age  of 

seven,  went  to  work  tromping  peas.  He  had  to 
gather,  haul,  and  thrash  the  peas  by  hand  for 

twenty-five  cents  per  day  and  his  noon  meal.  From 
Providence  the  Ashbakers  moved  to  Mink  Creek, 

Idaho.  Here  they  were  engaged  in  the  occupation  of 
farming.  Jacob  was  a  sheep  herder  for  fifteen  years. 
During  this  time  he  met  VIOLA  WALKER.  They 
were  married  on  the  14th  of  June,  1891. 

Viola  was  born  on  January  31,  1876,  at  Three- 
Mile  Creek  (now  known  as  Perry,  Utah).  She  was 

four  years  old  when  her  family  moved  to  Riverdale, 
Idaho.  Because  of  poor  transportation,  Viola  was 
unable  to  attend  school.  Her  only  education  was 

what  her  older  brothers  and  sisters  taught  her. 

The  Walkers  lived  on  a  small  farm  where  they 

raised  cows,  chickens,  and  horses.  Their  farming 
was  done  with  the  help  of  the  horses  and  a  hand 

plow.  They  lived  in  a  four-room  frame  building 
with  wood  stoves  for  heating  and  coal  oil  lamps  for 
lighting. 

As  a  little  girl,  Viola  loved  to  do  sewing,  knitting, 
crocheting,  and  embroidery.  She  also  loved  fishing 

and  riding  horses.  To  help  her  parents  make  a  liv- 
ing, she  would  go  to  the  river  with  her  mother  and 

help  her  catch  and  clean  fish  for  the  market.  They 
would  take  them  to  Preston  or  Franklin,  Idaho, 

and  sell  them  in  order  to  buy  food  and  clothing. 

Viola  and  Jacob  lived  in  Riverdale  for  the  first 

nine  years  of  their  married  life.  While  there  they 

had  three  children  whom  they  named —  Alfonzo, 
Ida,  and  William.  In  the  year  1900  they  moved  to 

the  Gentile  Valley  in  Idaho.  For  the  next  seven 
years,  Jacob  was  a  successful  farmer.  At  this  time 
there  were  only  five  other  houses  in  the  Grace  area. 

During  these  seven  years,  Jacob  also  owned  two 

sawmills  and  worked  for  the  Bench  Canal  Com- 

pany. In  the  year  1907,  Jacob  went  to  work  for  the 
Telluride  Power  Company.  This  is  now  the  Utah 

Power  and  Light  Company.  He  worked  here  for 

forty-three  years.  While  in  Grace,  Jacob  and  Viola 
had  eleven  more  children.  They  were  as  follows: 
Sarah,  LaVern,  Iva,  Vilate,  Melvin,  Clarence, 

Carl,  Elsie,  Trueman,  Venice,  and  the  last  was  a  lit- 

tle girl  that  was  stillborn.  This  left  them  with  thir- 
teen children. 

Jacob  died  on  October  17,  1962,  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

Viola  died  on  June  21,  1970  in  Soda  Springs, 

Idaho.  Both  were  buried  in  the  Grace  cemetery. 

DAVID  O.  BARTHLOME  and  LUCILE  POND 

were  married  at  Pocatello,  Idaho,  July  23,  1913, 

and  were  the  parents  of  seven  children — Wilma 
(Webb),  Lysle,  Thorn,  Blain,  Alice  (Wright), 
Keith,  and  JoAnn  (McBride).  Each  came  to  the 
valley  as  young  people. 

Dave  was  born  at  Providence,  Utah,  November 

20,  1892.  He  was  the  seventh  child,  fourth  son  of 

John  and  Elizabeth  Schutz  Barthlome.  His  parents 

were  natives  of  Switzerland,  who  joined  the  L.D.S. 
Church  and  sailed  for  America  when  their  second 

child  was  9  days  old.  They  made  their  home  in 
Providence  and  started  the  blacksmith  business. 

The  family  soon  moved  to  Preston  and  started 
another  blacksmith  shop  there,  it  still  stands  on 
Main  Street  between  First  and  Second  North. 

All  the  children  went  to  work  when  they  were 

very  young.  Dave  drove  a  buggy  for  the  country 
doctor  and  worked  in  the  livery  stable.  By  the  time 

he  was  fourteen  years  old  he  was  on  his  own  and 

had  employment  on  the  ranches  in  Gentile  Valley. 
He  was  an  excellent  horseman.  It  was  this  ability 

that  enabled  him  to  work  as  a  teamster,  hauling 

poles  for  the  power  line  that  was  to  carry  electricity 
from  Grace  to  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 

Lucile  Pond  was  born  May,  1894,  at  Lewiston, 

Utah — the  daughter  of  Joseph  and  Amanda  Hen- 
dricks Pond.  She  moved  to  the  valley  as  a  child  and 

was  living  in  Thatcher  when  Dave,  as  a  young  man, 
came  to  work  on  the  ranch  for  her  father. 

After  their  marriage  they  set  up  housekeeping  on 
the  home  ranch  and  reared  their  family  there. 

Their  home  was  a  haven  to  all  comers.  Most  of 

his  nephews  at  one  time  or  another  made  their 
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home  with  them  and  it  was  not  uncommon  to  have 

perfect  strangers,  who  were  traveling  through  the 

valley,  stop  and  ask  for  a  night's  lodging  and  feed 
and  stable  room  for  their  horses.  Everyone  who 
came  was  welcome. 

Dave  and  his  wife  contributed  much  to  the 

growth  of  the  community.  He  was  one  of  the  men 
involved  in  building  the  lower  part  of  the  Thatcher 
Canal  that  was  so  vital  to  the  development  of  the 
farms  in  the  area.  Lucile  helped  organize  and 
teach  the  religion  class  and  spent  many  years  as  a 
Relief  Society  visiting  teacher. 

Dave  was  never  too  busy  to  take  time  off  to  help 
with  the  roads  that  needed  building  or  helping  with 

church  projects  or  neighbors  who  needed  an  extra 
hand.  Due  to  his  own  lack  of  formal  education,  he 

was  very  interested  in  schools  and  devoted  a  great 
deal  of  time  to  schoolboard  business  for  the  District 

No.  20  at  Thatcher  (now  extinct). 

Ranch  work  monotony  was  broken  by  cattle 

drives  to  and  from  Gray's  Lake  north  of  Soda 
Springs. 

He  devoted  much  time  and  energy  to  raising  and 

training  horses.  One  of  his  delights  was  the  prize- 
winning  pulling  horses  that  won  blue  ribbons  at 
many  southeastern  Idaho  county  fairs. 

After  the  old  Henry  Stampede  faded  in  populari- 
ty, he  helped  organize  and  operate  the  Thatcher 

rodeo. 

Lucile  passed  away  November  29,  1970.  Dave  is 
still  living  in  Thatcher  Ward  and  is  a  member  of  the 
High  Priest  Quorum. 

CHARLES  HENRY  BASSETT  and  his  wife 

were  among  the  pioneer  settlers  of  Gentile  Valley 

having  come  here  in  1877  to  engage  in  farming,  cat- 

tle raising  and  business.  Charles  Bassett's  parents, 
came  to  Utah  in  1852  from  New  York  State.  Mr. 

Bassett,  Sr.  was  for  twenty  years  a  bookkeeper  in 
the  general  tithing  office  in  Salt  Lake  City  and  a 
merchant  in  the  city. 

Charles  was  born  in  Salt  Lake  City,  March  4, 

1854.  He  received  his  education  in  the  public 

schools  of  that  city.  From  his  sixteenth  to  his  twen- 

tieth year  he  clerked  in  his  father's  hardware  store. 
During  the  years  of  1876-77  he  was  in  business  for 
himself  in  Tooele,  Utah.  Here  he  met  and  married 

Miss  Mary  Lee,  known  throughout  Gentile  Valley 

as  "Aunt  Mollie."  They  were  married  in  Tooele, 
Utah  February  25,  1877. 

Mary  Lee  was  born  in  Tooele,  Utah  October  5, 
1861,  the  daughter  of  Thomas  and  Harriet  Wolcott 
Lee.  Mrs.  Bassett  was  always  interested  and  very 
active  in  church  and  civic  affairs. 

After  their  marriage  they  came  to  Idaho  settling 
in  Gentile  Valley.  On  Christmas  Day,  December 
25,  1877  their  son,  Don  was  born. 

While  improving  his  ranch  Charles  went  to  work 
as  agent  and  clerk  in  the  freight  department  of  the 

old  Utah  Northern  railroad,  at  this  time  the  ter- 
minus of  that  pioneer  railroad  was  at  Blackfoot, 

Idaho.  He  moved  along  with  the  railroad  until  it 
reached  Melrose,  Montana  where  he  was  made 

agent  for  the  company.  He  held  this  position  for 

two  years,  resigning  to  go  into  business  with  the 
Yellowstone  Park  stage  lines.  This  was  a  stage  line 
for  tourists  and  went  from  Beaver  Canyon,  Idaho 
to  West  Yellowstone,  Montana.  It  was  advertised 

as,  "The  Daily  Stage  Line  from  Beaver  Canyon  to 
Fire  Hole  Basin — light  spring  wagons,  good  teams 
and  smooth  roads  with  experienced  and  careful 

drivers.  Fare  round-trip  $35.00."  Charles  remained 
with  the  stage  line  for  five  years  and  then  returned 
to  the  ranch  in  Gentile  Valley.  While  living  in 

Beaver  Canyon  their  son  Harold  was  born. 

His  first  political  office  was  by  appointment  as 

the  first  deputy  assessor  of  Bingham  County  when 

it  was  organized  from  part  of  the  once  expansive 
Oneida  County.  When  Bannock  County  was 
organized  out  of  Bingham  County  he  received  from 
Governor  Wm.  J.  McConnell,  March  8,  1893  the 

appointment  as  first  assessor  and  tax  collector  of 
Bannock  County.  Two  years  later  he  was  elected  to 
succeed  himself  as  assessor  taking  office  January  6, 
1895.  On  November  16,  1904  he  was  elected 

Treasurer  of  Bannock  County.  He  served  in  this  of- 
fice for  four  years  and  then  returned  to  the  ranch  in 

Lago,  Idaho.  Again  in  1918  he  returned  to  politics, 
being  elected  County  Commissioner  of  the  third 

district  of  Bannock  County.  He  served  six  con- 
secutive terms  and  from  1925  to  the  end  of  his  sixth 

term  Mr.  Bassett  was  chairman  of  the  board. 

Charles  retired  from  active  operation  of  the 
ranch  in  1920  when  his  son,  Willis,  began  running 

the  home  ranch.  Mary  Lee  spent  her  later  winters, 
due  to  ill  health,  at  her  home  in  Salt  Lake  City 
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returning  to  enjoy  the  lovely  summers  at  her  home 
in  Lago.  Charles  and  Mary  Lee  celebrated  their 
Golden  Wedding  February  25,  1927  at  the  family 
home  in  Lago. 

Their  children  were:  Don,  Harriet  Steinbrook, 

Harold,  Madge,  Katherine  Biersach,  Fred,  Willis, 
Leo  and  Leona  Knudson. 

Mary  Lee  died  at  the  home  of  her  daughter  Mrs. 
Earl  J.  (Leona)  Knudson,  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah 
January  13,  1929. 

Charles  lived  at  the  Bassett  home  until  his  death 

on  July  24,  1940. 

Four  Bassett  Brothers  (sons  of  Mormon  Pioneer 

Charles  Henry  Bassett  I  and  two  of  his  five 

polygamous  wives)  filed  on  homestead  sections  of 
Lago,  Idaho  in  1878.  CHARLES  JULIUS 
BASSETT  and  FRANCES  AUGUSTUS 
BASSETT  filed  on  the  area  known  as  the  Turner 

ranch  now.  My  records  do  not  show  how  long  they 
held  this,  but  Charles  Julius  went  on  into  Idaho 

politics  under  the  Silver  Republican  and  held  public 

office  under  that  party's  success  in  1898,  under 
Governor  Streinenberg. 
CHARLES  HENRY  BASSETT  and  WILLIAM 

HENRY  filed  claims  on  the  Trout  Creek  area,  the 

original  cabin  of  Charles  Henry  II  being  the  site  of 

the  present  Rex  Bassett  home.  William  Henry 
succeeded  Mr.  Lusher  as  postmaster  and  built  the 
General  Merchandise  Store.  The  four  brothers, 

along  with  a  fifth,  Fred,  ran  a  stage  coach  line  from 
Beaver  Canyon  to  Yellowstone  Park,  called  the 

Gentile  Valley-Oneida  County  Stage  and  Express 
for  the  first  few  of  these  early  years  when  the 

homesteads  weren't  too  profitable.  But  relative 
prosperity  must  have  come  as  exhibited  by  the 
homes  the  brothers  built.  Mary  Ellen,  sister  of 

William,  was  a  schoolteacher  and  was  persuaded  to 
come  to  teach  school  in  Lago,  especially  since  her 
husband,  Lorenzo  Barnes  Rodeback  had  come  to 

build  their  homes.  They  bought  a  section  of  proper- 
ty from  Joseph  Wright  and  moved  their  family 

from  Cedar  Fort,  Utah. 

Charles  and  William  Bassett  were  the  only  two 

who  stayed  and  lived  out  their  lives  in  Lago.  They 
were  half  brothers,  Charles  being  the  son  of 
Permelia  Mindwell  Dayton,  first  wife  of  Charles 

Henry  Bassett  I;  William  was  the  son  of  Mary 
Knight,  second  wife,  as  was  Mary  Ellen  Rodeback. 

Thus  my  father  and  mother  (Harold  L.  Bassett  and 

Ruby  Rodeback)  shared  the  same  grandfather  but 
had  different  grandmothers. 

Written  by  Grace  Bassett  Newy. 

I  A 

r 

William  H.  and  Marette  C.  Bassett 

WILLIAM  HENRY  BASSETT  was  born  in  Salt 

Lake  City,  Utah  on  March  14,  1858  to  Charles 

Henry  and  Mary  Elizabeth  Knight  Bassett.  At  the 

age  of  eighteen  he  was  sent  to  Cedar  Fort,  Utah  to 
manage  the  Z.C.M.I.  store.  It  was  here  he  met  the 
twin  daughters  of  Bishop  Cook,  Janette  and 
Marette.  He  courted  MARETTE  COOK  and 

married  her  on  October  2,  1876. 

They  were  the  parents  of  seven  children,  Lutie, 

Grantly,  Harry,  and  Clarence  born  in  Cedar  Fort; 
Sophronia,  Ross,  and  Adelia  born  in  Lago,  Idaho. 

In  1881  Will  and  his  brothers  started  operations 

of  a  stage  freight  line  from  Beaver  Canyon  (near 

Spencer,  Idaho)  to  Yellowstone  Park  and  other 
places.  The  family  spent  the  summers  in  the  park 
and  the  winters  in  Cedar  Fort  until  the  Bassett 

brothers  homesteaded  in  Lago,  Idaho.  Then  they 

would  spend  their  winters  there. 
In  the  spring  they  would  round  up  their  horses, 

which  were  around  60  head,  and  take  their  families 
and  travel  to  Yellowstone  for  the  summer.  Their 

home  in  Beaver  Canyon  was  so  near  the  railroad 
tracks  that  the  house  would  shake  and  rumble  when 
a  train  went  by. 

William  H.  Bassett  with  his  brothers,  Charles  H. 

Bassett,  Jr.  and  C.  J.  Bassett  continued  to  operate 

this  stage  line  until  about  1889  at  which  time  they 

disposed  of  the  business. 
Until  the  time  of  his  death  Mr.  Bassett  gave  his 
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whole  time  to  his  farming  and  stock  raising 

operations  in  Gentile  Valley  which  he  had  es- 
tablished and  built  up  along  with  the  stage  and 

freight  business  at  Beaver  Canyon. 

Some  years  after  closing  his  business  at  Beaver 
Canyon,  Mr.  Bassett  established  a  general 
merchandise  store  at  Lago,  in  Gentile  Valley.  After 

the  Bassett  Store  was  built  the  post  office  was  mov- 
ed from  the  Lusher  home  to  the  store.  The  store 

and  post  office  were  somewhat  of  a  community 
center  for  this  rural  section  and  his  home  a  large 

factor  in  the  community  social  life. 

Mr.  Bassett  passed  away  on  December  29,  1929 
following  an  automobile  accident.  He  was  buried  in 
the  Lago  cemetery. 

Marette  was  very  active  in  community  and 
church  affairs.  She  was  an  accomplished 
seamstress  and  did  exceptionally  fine  handwork. 
She  loved  sewing  for  others.  She  made  beautiful 

wedding  gowns  for  her  two  oldest  daughters, 
Sophronia  and  Lutie.  She  also  gave  very  freely  of 

her  time  in  helping  other  members  of  her  family. 
She  passed  away  on  May  10,  1931.  She  was 

buried  by  her  husband's  side  in  the  Lago  cemetery 

CHARLES  FRANCIS  BECKSTEAD  was  born 

May  11,  1896  at  Salem,  Utah.  He  was  the  son  of 
Alexander  and  Winnie  Davis  Beckstead.  He 

attended  school  at  Salem  and  at  an  early  age 

developed  the  love  for  fishing,  and  many  days  he 
would  slip  away  from  school  and  could  be  found  at 

the  old  "pond."  On  one  occasion  he  and  some 
friends  were  caught  out  behind  the  barn  smoking 

tuxedo,  hence  the  nickname  "Tux." 
He  came  to  Grace  by  wagon  team  with  his 

parents  when  he  was  eleven  years  old.  They  brought 
cows  and  horses  and  herded  them  along  the  way. 
He  grew  up  in  Grace  and  was  inducted  into  the 
Army  during  World  War  L 

He  and  Rosa  Lucein  Adams  were  married  May 
14,  1919.  They  lived  in  Grace,  Idaho  all  their  lives 

with  the  exception  of  three  years  when  they  moved 
to  Pocatello  where  he  was  engaged  in  working  for 
Kraft  Cheese.  The  rest  of  the  time  was  spent  in  far- 

ming. He  and  his  wife  were  parents  of  eight 
children,  two  boys  and  six  girls:  Beryl  Rasmussen, 
Lee  Beckstead,  Frances  Heil,  Lona  Harris,  Alden 
Beckstead,  Dorothy  Ulrick,  Ila  Mae  Rasmussen, 
and  Jolene  Newby. 

"Tux"  loved  to  go  fishing  and  many  hours  were 
spent  at  his  favorite  fishing  holes. 

He  died  September  28,  1973  following  a  heart  at- 
tack. Burial  was  in  the  Grace  Cemetery. 

Hyrum  J.  Bennett Sarah  W.  Bennett 

HYRUM  JOSEPH  BENNETT  was  born 

August  11,  1850,  at  Stoke  Prior,  Worchesler, 
England.  When  he  was  about  nine  years  old,  he 
came  to  the  United  States  and  to  Utah.  He  lived  in 

and  around  Salt  Lake  for  a  time.  It  was  pretty 

rough  going  in  those  days,  so  to  help  out  the  family, 
he  worked  for  other  people  from  the  time  he  was 

eleven.  He  didn't  have  much  opportunity  to  attend 
school,  but  by  working  for  other  people  he  learned 
to  do  many  things. 

He  was  a  good  carpenter,  a  good  blacksmith  and 

a  good  farmer. 
As  soon  as  he  was  old  enough,  he  went  up  into 

Mound  Valley  (Gentile  Valley),  Idaho,  and  filed 
on  a  homestead  of  160  acres.  Inasmuch  as  Franklin 

was  the  nearest  shopping  center,  it  was  here  that  he 
went  for  supplies.  Of  course,  in  those  days,  one 

couldn't  make  the  round  trip  in  one  day,  so  he  had 
to  spend  at  least  one  night  at  Franklin.  He  oc- 

casionally attended  a  ward  dance.  It  was  at  one  of 
these  dances  that  he  met  and  fell  in  love  with 

SARAH  ANN  WRIGHT.  They  were  married  in 
Salt  Lake  City,  October  30,  1876. 

Sarah  Ann  Wright  was  born  in  Salt  Lake  City, 
October  21,  1856.  She  was  the  eldest  daughter  of 
Maria  Ann  Brown  and  William  Tweedy  Wright. 

In  the  spring  of  1860  they  were  called  by  Presi- 
dent Young  to  settle  the  Cub  River.  They  arrived  in 

Franklin,  Idaho  on  June  15,  1860,  and  this  became 
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their  permanent  home.  The  Cache  Valley  was  very 
wild  country  at  that  time.  The  Indians  were  very 
troublesome  and  continued  to  be  more  and  more 

so.  Many  times  they  would  wait  until  the  men  were 
in  the  fields  at  work  and  then  come  and  frighten  the 
women  and  children.  They  would  dance  around, 

swinging  their  tomahawks  and  yelling  while  the 

children  hid  under  their  mothers'  aprons. 
Sarah  Wright  lived  in  Franklin  until  she  married 

Hyrum  Joseph  Bennett. 
In  the  winter  after  the  snows  came  it  was  a 

peaceful,  if  lonely,  life,  as  no  one  could  get  in  or  out 
of  the  valley  except  on  snow  shoes.  However,  they 
lived,  worked  hard  and  were  happy.  And  as  the 

years  went  by  they  were  blessed  with  nine  children 
whose  names  are  as  follows:  William  George, 
Maria  Ann,  John  Leslie,  Harold  Wright,  Lenora, 
Mildred,  Lona,  Lora  and  Vada. 

Hyrum  was  a  good  carpenter.  He  took  great 
pleasure  in  making  things  for  his  children,  such  as 

sleds,  cupboards,  dolls'  beds,  etc.  He  also  made  all 
the  caskets  (coffins)  for  the  dead.  These  were  not 

just  boxes,  but  the  sides  had  to  be  curved  and  fitted 

perfectly  to  ends  and  bottom.  They  were  trimmed 
with  white  cloth  and  fancy  lace. 
Hyrum  died  on  January  8,  1922  and  Sarah  died 

December  10,  1947. 

LEO  BENNETT  was  born  at  Franklin,  Idaho  on 

October  31,  1888,  to  Enoch  L.  and  Ellen  Maria 

Wright  Bennett. 
MARTHA  NELSON  CHILDS  BENNETT  was 

born  in  Domnarvet,  Sweden,  September  7,  1891. 
Her  parents  were  Gustaf  Nelson  and  Anna  Maria 
Sanders.  Martha  died  in  the  Caribou  County 

Hospital  May  31,  1972. 
Leo  farmed  and  raised  livestock  at  Lago  on 

Trout  Creek  as  a  partner  with  Calvin  W.  Bennett. 
Leo  has  been  a  director  of  the  First  National 

Bank  of  Grace  since  it  originated  in  1917,  he  also 
bought  some  stock  in  the  bank  when  it  first  started. 
He  was  president  of  the  bank  from  1956  to  1968. 

THOMAS  RICHARD  BENNETT  was  born  in 

Franklin,  Idaho  on  October  19,  1883  and  came  into 

this  valley  when  he  was  about  twelve  years  old.  He 

was  from  a  family  of  nine  children.  His  brother, 
Carson,  lived  in  the  valley  all  his  life  also. 

Thomas  came  and  worked  for  Jim  Fowler  until 

he  married  EFFIE  FOWLER  on  November  22, 

1905.  Effie  was  born  July  5,  1885.  She  was  the 

daughter  of  Joseph  Thomas  Fowler  and  Mary 
Elizabeth  Turner.  She  was  from  a  family  of  twelve 
children. 

After  they  were  married  Thomas  worked  for 
Michael  Mickelson  in  a  saw  mill  for  a  number  of 

years  at  Lago.  He  then  bought  the  farm  that  Effie's 
father  had  owned. 

Thomas  and  Effie  had  seven  children,  Lloyd, 
Allen,  Darrell,  Elmer,  Beatrice,  Dennis,  and  Roe. 

Roe  now  owns  the  place  that  Thomas  bought. 

They  moved  to  Grace,  Idaho  in  1940,  36  years 

ago.  They  had  a  house  built  from  lumber  he  had 
gotten  from  the  mountains  and  had  Michael 
Mickelson  saw  for  him.  The  finishing  lumber  was 

purchased  elsewhere.  Orrin  Bennett,  Carson's  boy, 
built  it  for  them. 

Thomas  died  January  31,  1961.  Effie  is  still  alive 
at  91,  and  still  lives  in  the  Second  Ward  in  Grace. 

They  have  17  grandchildren  and  39  great 

grandchildren  and  two  great  great  grandchildren. 

Joseph  H.  Bevins Catherine  P.  Bevins 

JOSEPH  HYRUM  BEVINS  was  born 

September  29,  1846  at  Collins,  New  York,  son  of 
Mary  and  Peter  Bevins.  While  still  a  young  boy  he 
moved  to  Canada  and  lived.  He  later  moved  to 
Minnesota  where  he  met  and  married 

CATHERINE  ANN  PANCHOT  on  April  14, 

1876.  They  had  three  children  born  to  them  while 

living  there.  They  joined  the  Church,  and  after 
much  criticism  from  their  families  they  decided  to 

leave.  They  came  west  and  settled  in  Hooper,  Utah 
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where  he  taught  school.  Three  more  children  were 
born  to  them  in  Hooper.  In  about  1893  he  moved  to 
Chesterfield,  Idaho  to  teach  school  there.  One 

more  child  was  born  there,  making  seven:  George 
Leander,  Sarah  Loveland,  Adeline  Faulkner, 

Catherine  Nielsen,  Norena  Robbins,  Edwin  (Ted) 
and  Nellie  Cahoon. 

In  1897  they  bought  a  home  in  Thatcher,  Idaho. 

He  taught  school  in  Mound  Valley,  Lago, 
Thatcher,  Bench,  and  Turner.  He  traveled  to  these 

various  places  with  a  team  and  buggy.  He  was  a 

very  stern  man,  strict  with  his  family  and  students. 
Joseph  was  made  stake  clerk  of  the  Bannock 

Stake  at  Grace,  Idaho,  when  Louis  Pond  was  Stake 

President.  This  position  he  held  until  his  death 
November  14,  1916. 

Louis  B.  and  Eva  B.  Bitton 

LOUIS  B.  BITTON  —  Prominent  cattleman  in 

Gem  Valley — born  July  29,  1894  to  Louis  K.  and 
Mary  Ellen  B.  Bitton  in  West  Weber,  Utah.  Here 

he  spent  his  childhood,  later  moving  with  his  family 
to  Ogden  where  he  graduated  from  Weber 
Academy. 

As  a  youth,  Louis  and  his  father  helped  herd 
sheep  with  David  O.  McKay,  who  later  became 
president  of  the  L.D.S.  Church.  This  was  in  an  area 

up  Ogden  Canyon  called  4  mile  hill,  near  Eden  and 
Huntsville. 

Louis'  father,  L.  K.  Bitton,  relinquished  his  large 
holdings  in  various  cattle  companies  in  Utah  and 

purchased  a  large,  800  acre  cattle  ranch  in  Lago, 

Idaho  and  stocked  it  with  purebred  Hereford  cattle. 
Later  he  purchased  2500  acres  of  deeded  land  at 
Salt  Wells  in  Box  Elder  County,  Utah.  Here  young 

"Lou"  would  live  during  the  winters,  wintering  the 
cattle;  then  in  the  spring  he  would  take  14  days  to 
trail  the  cattle  to  the  ranch  at  Lago  and  then  on  to 

the  range  at  Grays  Lake.  He  did  this  for  fourteen 

years. 
Louis  had  met  and  courted  EVA  BALLS,  who 

lived  at  Davisville  near  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  They 
were  married  November  19,  1924,  in  the  Salt  Lake 

Temple.  Their  early  married  years  were  spent  in 

Ogden,  Salt  Wells,  Soda  Springs  and  finally  in  the 
old  home  in  Lago.  They  later  built  a  new  home  just 
a  short  distance  from  the  old  one  and  here  they  still 
reside. 

Lou  followed  in  his  father's  footsteps  and  has 
been  engaged  in  the  cattle  business  for  many  years. 

He  was  president  of  the  Dry  Valley  Cattlemen's 
Assoc,  and  also  the  Gentile  Valley  Cattlemen's 
Assoc,  for  many  years  and  often  served  as  a  judge 

on  "bull  judging"  days.  He  was  a  member  of  the 
Idaho  State  Land  Board  and  also  the  Brand  Board 

for  nine  years. 

Lou  was  elected  County  Commissioner  and  serv- 
ed for  14  years,  acting  as  chairman  for  about  seven 

years.  He  was  instrumental  in  getting  the  County 

roads  oiled  and  was  an  active  promoter  of  the  new 
Caribou  Memorial  Hospital. 

Eva  has  served  as  a  member  of  the  Hospital  Aux- 

iliary, and  has  often  assisted  in  the  fiower  depart- 
ment at  the  Caribou  County  Fair.  She  has  served  as 

Lago  Ward  Primary  president  and  for  many  years 
was  an  active  member  of  the  Stake  and  Ward 

Relief  Society  choruses;  she  has  also  served  as  a 
visiting  teacher  for  many  years. 

Eva  has  been  a  wonderful  mother,  homemaker 

and  wife,  and  as  a  hobby  enjoys  textile  painting. 

Lou  and  Eva  celebrated  their  golden  wedding  an- 
niversary in  November,  1974. 

On  March  26,  1975,  Louis  was  inducted  into  the 

Eastern  Idaho  Agricultural  Hall  of  Fame. 
Eva  and  Lou  are  the  parents  of  four  children: 

LaVora  (White),  Louis,  Jr.,  Duane  Jay,  and  Lorin 
Keith. 

LOUIS  KENDLE  BITTON  was  born  in  West 

Weber,  Weber  Co.,  Utah  on  January  30,  1867.  He 
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was  the  sixth  child  of  John  Evington  Bitton  and 
Sarah  Susannah  Wintle. 

He  married  MARY  ELLEN  BINGHAM,  the  1st 

of  December  1886,  in  the  Logan  Temple.  Mary  was 

the  daughter  of  Willard  Bingham  and  Amanda 
Melvina  Snow.  She  was  born  in  Salt  Lake  City  the 
25th  of  November  1866,  but  lived  most  of  her  life  at 
Wilson  Lane,  Weber  Co.,  Utah. 

They  were  the  parents  of  nine  children,  seven 

girls  and  two  boys.  They  were  as  follows:  Mary, 
Sarah,  Minnie,  Louis,  Vera,  Willard,  Elva,  Alta, 

and  Melvina,  (she  was  always  called  Melva). 

His  father  had  raised  some  sheep  on  his  farm  in 

West  Weber  and  so  he  had  experience  with  them  in 

his  early  youth.  It  was  natural  therefore,  for  him  to 

become  a  "Sheepman",  which  business  he  followed 
successfully  for  many  years.  In  his  later  years  he 
turned  to  ranching  and  Hereford  cattle. 

In  1890,  he  associated  in  a  partnership  with 
Bishop  William  C.  Hunter  and  they  ran  sheep  for 

many  years  in  eastern  Idaho,  with  Rexburg  as  their 
headquarters. 

In  1898  Louis  Kendle  Bitton  and  Walter  J.  Lind- 

say formed  the  Lindsay-Bitton  Land  and  Livestock 
Company.  This  partnership  grew  and  prospered. 
They  purchased  vast  land  holdings,  at  one  time, 

they  bought  the  largest  parcel  of  land  ever  sold  in 
Weber  County.  This  was  in  Eden,  North  Fork  area. 

They  used  this  huge  acreage  for  increasing  their 

sheep  holdings  up  to  ten  thousand  good  ewes. 

In  1910,  he  sold  his  half  interest  in  the  Lindsay- 
Bitton  Land  and  Livestock  Company  and  shortly 
thereafter  affiliated  with  the  Intermountain  Land 

and  Livestock  Company,  which  dealt  in  sheep,  cat- 
tle and  horses. 

Louis  K.  Bitton  finally  relinquished  his  holdings 
in  the  various  cattle  companies,  he  purchased  a 

large  ranch  at  Lago,  Idaho  and  stocked  it  with 

pure-bred  Hereford  cattle.  Originally  the  ranch 

consisted  of  approximately  800  acres  with  ap- 
proximately 800  head  of  the  white  faced  cattle. 

Later,  he  purchased  2500  acres  of  deeded  land  at 
Salt  Wells,  in  Box  Elder  Co.,  and  this  additional 
land  was  used  to  run  additional  cattle.  After  15 

years,  he  sold  the  Salt  Wells  ranch  and  centered  all 
of  his  interests  in  Idaho.  This  ranch  at  Lago,  Idaho 
is  still  in  the  hands  of  his  son  Louis  B.  and  his 

grandsons,  who  are  cattlemen. 
On  the  6th  day  of  January  1949  Louis  K.  Bitton 

suffered  from  a  stroke  at  his  son's  place  in  Soda 
Springs,  Idaho.  A  few  days  later  he  was  brought  to 
his  home  in  Ogden  City. 

He  passed  away  November  10,  1950  after  two 

years  of  illness. 
He  was  closely  associated  with  the  rodeo,  known 

as  the  HENRY  STAMPEDE.  This  organization 

was  begun  in  1919  and  the  presidents  were  as 

follows:  W.  H.  Larkin  1919-1924;  Rosco  Rich 
1925-1926;  L.  K.  Bitton  1927-1931;  John  Houtz 

1932-1933;  Bud  Weaver  1934-1935;  Joe  Lou  1936- 

1937;  Paul  Tipton  1937-1938;  William  Lasley  1939; 
Albert  Beus  1940-1941;  Willard  Bitton  1942-1946; 

J.  E.  Beus  1947-1950. 
L.  K.  Bitton  was  also  a  director  for  many  years. 

All  these  past  presidents  were  his  closest  associates. 
He  was  the  president  at  the  time  the  Henry 

Stampede  was  moved  from  the  old  original  setting 

at  Henry,  Idaho  to  Soda  Springs  in  1928.  He  was 
also  first  Vice  President  under  W.  H.  Larkin  and 

was  a  director  under  all  the  rest  of  the  presidents. 
He  was  on  the  Rodeo  Committee  the  entire  time 

since  it  was  organized  until  his  illness  and  his  death. 
These  men  were  all  stockmen  and  the  backbone  of 

Caribou  County.  Stanley  E.  Mathews  was  the 
secretary  from  1919  until  1941. 

Henry  A.  Bjorkman 

HENRY  A.  BJORKMAN  was  born  January  15, 

1877  at  Copenhagen,  Denmark.  The  first  seven 
years  of  his  life  were  subject  to  much  illness  and  he 

spent  nearly  three  years  in  the  hospital  for  children. 
He  was  in  the  southern  part  of  Sweden  one  summer 
at  a  resort  for  his  health,  and  at  the  end  of  the  year 
of  1883  he  was  back  home  with  his  parents  in 
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Copenhagen.  He  started  school  at  the  age  of  six  in 
the  month  of  August  and  passed  a  grade  each  year 
until  he  was  15  years  old.  At  the  age  of  10  he 

started  to  work  in  a  grocery  store  and  worked  there 
till  he  was  15  years  old. 

Mr.  Bjorkman  came  to  the  United  States  in  July 
of  1892,  settling  in  Cache  Valley. 

He  came  to  this  valley  in  1898,  where  he  made 
his  home  in  Central  and  Grace  Wards  with  the  ex- 

ception of  the  three  years  he  spent  on  a  mission  for 
the  L.D.S.  Church  in  Denmark  from  1910  to  1913. 

Prominent  in  civic  affairs,  Mr.  Bjorkman  served 

as  president  of  the  Central  Commercial  Club, 
where  the  outstanding  banquets  will  long  be 
remembered.  He  was  one  of  the  12  originators  of 
the  Farm  Bureau  and  served  as  State  President  of 

that  organization  with  Ben  Ross,  former  governor 
of  Idaho,  as  his  secretary.  He  also  served  as  county 

president  of  the  Farm  Bureau.  For  nine  years  he 
was  a  school  trustee  of  Central  schools,  and  was 

vice  president  of  the  board  of  county  trustees.  He 
served  as  Bishop  of  Central  Ward  for  five  years.  At 
one  time,  Mr.  Bjorkman  held  13  positions  which  he 

filled  and  worked  at  diligently. 

He    married    KARREN    SOPHIA    HANSEN 

December  19,  1900  in  the  Logan  Temple.  To  this 

union  ten  children  were  born — 5  boys  and  5  girls, 
21  grandchildren  and  23  great  grandchildren. 
Children:  Albert,  Arnold,  Norman,  Leonard,  Jesse, 
Flora,  Eleda,  Larena,  Frances,  Naomi. 

Karren  Sophia  Hansen  was  born  February  5, 
1880.  She  lived  with  her  parents  and  brothers  in 

Newton  until  the  time  of  her  marriage.  She  attend- 
ed school  for  a  short  time  at  the  Agricultural 

College  in  Logan.  She  was  assistant  postmistress  to 
her  father  in  Newton  frOm  1897  until  a  few  months 

prior  to  her  marriage. 

Among  the  boys  and  girls  she  played  with  was 
one  young  man  who  eventually  recognized  the  fine 

qualities  she  possessed.  She,  also,  was  impressed  by 
him.  Each  felt  sure  the  other  would  make  an  ideal 

companion  for  this  life  and  for  eternity.  The 

marriage  of  Karren  Sophia  Hansen  and  Henry 
Albert  Bjorkman  was  solemnized  in  the  Logan 
Temple  December  19,  1900. 

They  lived  in  Logan  until  the  following  spring, 
when    they    went    to    Central    where    Brother 

Bjorkman  had  filed  on  a  homestead.  There  they 
made  their  home  for  ten  years,  returning  to  Newton 

each  winter.  They  journeyed  the  distance  between 

Newton  and  Central  by  covered  wagon  thirty-nine 
times  in  all,  each  trip  requiring  three  days. 

In  the  fall  of  1910,  Brother  Bjorkman  was  called 
to  fill  a  mission  in  his  native  land,  Denmark.  Sister 

Bjorkman  and  their  five  children  lived  in  Newton 
during  his  three  year  absence.  During  this  time,  she 
took  care  of  her  five  children  and  her  mother,  as 

well  as  supporting  her  husband  in  the  mission  field. 
Somehow,  she  also  found  time  to  serve  in  the 

Primary  presidency. 

At  the  conclusion  of  Brother  Bjorkman's  mis- 
sion, the  family  returned  to  the  homestead  in 

Idaho.  After  1914,  conditions  had  improved  so  they 

were  able  to  spend  both  summers  and  winters  there. 
The  Bjorkmans  made  their  home  in  Grace,  Idaho, 
after  1936. 

Inasmuch  as  Brother  Bjorkman  was  a  devoted 
church  and  civic  worker,  much  of  the  responsibility 

of  rearing  the  family  rested  on  his  wife's  shoulders. 
She  responded  well  to  this  challenge  with  devotion, 

love,  and  understanding  for  her  husband  and 
children. 

Sister  Bjorkman  served  as  Relief  Society  Presi- 

dent for  five  years;  and  she  was  a  bishop's  wife  for 
five  years,  filling  both  positions  faithfully  and  well. 

Sister  Bjorkman  departed  from  mortality 

September  6,  1962,  and  her  burial  date  was 
September  10,  1962. 

LAWRENCE  BURGIN  came  to  Grace,  Idaho  in 

1914  after  graduation  from  Lehi  High  School  at 

age  18.  His  sister  Lillie,  already  living  in  Grace, 
had  told  Lawrence  about  work  available  at  the 

Utah  Power  and  Light  Co.  He  worked  there  and 
for  the  Phoenix  Construction  Co.  building  the 

Grace  Plant  for  two  years,  taking  one  winter  out  to 
attend  Utah  State  Agriculture  College. 

After  the  construction  phased  out  he  worked 
summers  for  Alma  Hubbard  and  mined  and  jobbed 
in  Utah  in  the  winters.  About  1920  Lawrence  began 

working  the  year  around  for  Mr.  Hubbard  on  their 
ranch  in  the  summers  and  logging  in  the  winters. 
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In  1929  Lawrence  rented  a  farm  from  Indamore 

Johnson  east  of  Grace  (the  Merrill  Lloyd  place).  It 
was  here  that  Lawrence  grew  the  first  acreage  of 

potatoes,  as  a  farm  crop,  grown  in  Grace.  His  first 
digger  was  pulled  by  three  horses.  In  1934  he  rented 
a  farm  from  John  J.  Kirby  in  Grace.  Soon  he 

bought  his  first  tractor.  In  1937  Lawrence  bought 
20  acres  just  west  of  the  school  district  property  in 
Grace.  He  built  a  home  for  his  family  on  this  in 

1940,  and  lived  there  for  the  next  thirty-two  years. 
In  1938  Lawrence  bought  a  180  acre  irrigated 

farm  five  miles  south  of  Grace.  He  was  one  of  the 

first  to  build  a  self-supported  roof  potato  cellar  in 
the  valley  on  this  farm. 

In  the  community,  Lawrence  served  on  the 

school  board  for  12  years.  He  was  a  member  of  the 
Last  Chance  and  Bench  Canal  Boards,  serving  as 

president  of  the  latter.  Lawrence  was  a  member  of 

the  Grace  Lion's  Club  from  1933  until  he  died.  He 
served  as  their  president  for  one  year,  and  in  1973 
he  received  the  honor  for  being  a  Lion  member  for 
more  years  than  any  man  in  the  state. 

In  1951  Lawrence  sold  his  farm  south  of  Grace. 

He  and  milton  F.  Hartvigsen  built  and  operated  an 

International  Harvester  Equipment  and  Repair 
business  for  4  years.  He  then  retired  and  worked  as 

secretary  for  the  Last  Chance  Canal  Company  for 
1 1  years. 
Lawrence  was  active  in  the  L.D.S.  Church.  He 

served  in  the  Sunday  School  and  High  Priests 
Quorum.  He  was  manager  of  the  Bannock  Stake 

Welfare  Farm  for  12  years.  He  was  a  temple 
worker  in  his  later  years. 

He  enjoyed  watching  all  sports  teams  for  miles 
around.  He  raised  a  beautiful  garden  and  a  yard 
full  of  flowers  in  his  retirement  years.  He  was  quiet, 
serious,  efficient,  and  a  perfectionist. 

While  working  for  Hubbards,  Lawrence  met 
MILDRED  NELLIE  HANSEN,  who  was  also 

working  for  Mrs.  Hubbard.  They  were  later 

married  in  the  Logan  Temple.  Four  children  bless- 
ed this  couple:  Josephine,  Florence,  Audrey,  and 

La  Mar. 

Mildred  was  always  a  willing  worker  in  the  com- 
munity and  church.  She  worked  in  the  P.T.A.,  was 

a  member  of  the  Grace  Literary  Club,  and  worked 

for  the  well-baby  clinic.  She  served  for  12  years  as 
Primary  president,  taught  in  the  MIA,  and  was  a 
counselor  in  the  Relief  Society.  Mildred  always 

kept  busy  canning,  cooking,  and  with  needle  work. 
Friends  and  relatives  enjoyed  coming  to  the 

Burgin's  home,  because  it  only  took  minutes  for 
Mildred  to  serve  a  delicious  meal.  She  was  a  fast 

and  good  quilter.  She  has  made  many  beautiful 

quilts  and  pieces  of  handwork.  She  has  been  a  will- 

ing temple  worker. 
In  1972  Lawrence  and  Mildred  moved  to  Logan, 

Utah.  Six  months  later  Lawrence  died  March  7, 
1973. 

Fred  Burton,  Sr. 
Mary  B.  Burton 

FRED  BURTON,  SR.  was  born  May  14,  1856, 
at  Bradford  Yorkshire  Wibsie,  England  to  Ann 
Holmes  and  Robert  Lamb  Burton.  He  was  the 

fourth  child  in  a  family  of  nine. 

Fred's  father,  a  green  grocerman  in  England,  had 
been  converted  to  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of 

Latter-day  Saints  at  about  the  age  of  seventeen  by 
the  first  elders  to  come  to  Bradford.  Because  of  the 

bitterness  of  the  people  of  Bradford  toward  the 
church,  when  Fred  became  eight  years  of  age  they 
let  him  down  a  well  on  a  ladder  in  order  to  have  him 

baptized.  He  was  baptized  two  other  times  after  he 
came  to  Utah  which  was  a  fairly  common  custom, 

at  that  time,  due  to  the  imperfection  of  their  record 

keeping;  when  ever  a  record  was  lost  they  would 
rebaptize  in  order  to  obtain  a  new  record. 

It  was  also  at  the  age  of  eight  that  Fred  first  went 
to  work  in  the  coal  mines  near  Bradford,  at  what 

was  known  as  a  "Hurrier"  to  push  the  coal  cars. 
This  mine  was  2100  feet  into  the  earth.  The  cars 

were  pushed  with  head  and  hands.  The  opening  was 

only  four  and  one  half  feet  so  when  a  boy  became 

larger  than  that  he  could  not  work  there.   Fred 

Biographies  1800's  —  345 



always  said  that  the  little  bald  spot  on  the  crown  of 
his  head  came  from  pushing  the  cars  with  his  head. 

At  the  age  of  ten  he  left  the  mine. 

On  the  10th  of  April,  1866,  Ann  Holmes  Burton 
and  her  children,  with  the  exception  of  her  eldest 

son  Joseph,  who  stayed  to  complete  his  appren- 
ticeship in  a  shoe  shop,  and  who  came  later,  and 

William  who  had  died  in  England,  set  sail  for 

America  on  the  ship  Arkwright  to  join  their  hus- 
band and  father,  who  had  sailed  the  year  previous. 

They  landed  in  New  York  two  months  and  ten  days 
later.  After  she  had  bought  their  tickets  Ann  had 

just  five  cents  left.  She  washed  and  mended  clothes 
for  the  sailors  to  keep  her  children  eating  on  the 

journey. 
They  went  by  train  from  New  York  to  Nebraska 

where  Ann  was  to  meet  her  husband.  While  enroute 

Fred  came  down  with  mountain  fever  and  nearly 
died. 

They  left  Nebraska  about  August  1,  with  a  train 
of  forty  wagons  pulled  by  ox  team.  Robert  Burton 
had  made  three  trips  to  Utah  bringing  Saints,  but 

this  time  he  was  to  bring  his  own  family.  Fred  and 
his  brother  John  helped  to  drive  the  ox  teams  across 

the  plains,  three  yoke  to  the  wagon.  Fred  was  then 
ten  and  his  brother  was  twelve  years  of  age.  When 

they  were  crossing  the  Sweetwater  River  the  water 
was  so  high  that  Fred  was  washed  off  the  wagon 
seat  into  the  water.  It  was  only  by  catching  onto  the 

tail  of  the  oxen  and  hanging  on  that  he  was  able  to 
reach  shore. 

The  first  spring  after  their  arrival  in  Kaysville, 
Fred  fought  grasshoppers  for  George  Adams  for 
seven  dollars  a  month.  The  following  summer  he 
worked  for  Elias  Adams,  herding  cows  for  ten 
dollars  a  month,  most  of  the  time,  barefoot. 

In  1873,  when  Fred  was  seventeen.  Bishop 
Layton  turned  over  a  herd  of  sheep  to  him  in  which 
he  herded  alone.  He  made  about  a  thousand  dollars 

on  this,  and  this  was  the  beginning  of  the  sheep 
business  for  him. 

It  was  when  Fred  was  about  twenty  that  he  had 
typhoid  fever  and  was  in  bed  for  five  months.  He 
was  so  near  death  that  the  sexton  came  and  asked 

where  they  wanted  the  grave  dug  and  was  informed 
by  John  that  Fred  was  not  dead  yet. 

When  Fred  was  21  years  old  he  pre-empted  80 
acres  near  Kaysville.  When  he  was  about  23,  he 
married   CLARA    BEAZER   in   the   Endowment 

House  in  Salt  Lake  City.  They  had  a  daughter, 
Clara  Mae.  When  their  second  child  was  born,  both 

mother  and  baby  died. 

About  1884,  or  1885,  he  met  MARY  DONAL 

BRUCE,  a  lovely  Scotch  Lassie  whom  he  married 
on  September  16,  1885,  in  the  Logan  Temple.  He 
took  his  wife  and  little  daughter  and  started  out 
once  more  to  make  a  home. 

On  the  farm  they  engaged  in  sheep  raising  and 

ranching;  Mary  and  the  children  alone  much  of  the 
time  while  Fred  was  away  with  the  sheep. 

One  more  daugnter,  Elda,  had  been  added  to  the 

family  and  Fred  and  Mary  had  about  made  up  their 
minds  that  their  family  was  all  going  to  be  girls. 

When  another  child  was  expected  Fred  was  so  sure 
it  would  be  another  girl  that  he  bet  an  eight  gallon 

keg  of  beer,  which  he  was  glad  to  pay  when  his  first 
son  was  born.  He  had  no  cause  to  worry,  however, 
for  he  had  five  other  sons  after  this  making  him 

father  to  five  daughters  and  six  sons.  In  addition  to 
these  he  brought  home  a  ten  year  old  girl,  Thelma 
Peterson  whose  mother  had  died.  They  raised  her 
to  womanhood. 

Fred  filled  a  mission  for  the  L.D.S.  Church  in 

Scheffield.  England,  spending  two  years  there, 

1909-191 1.  He  baptized  six  persons  into  the  church 
and  was  instrumental  in  bringing  Fred  Greenwood 
to  this  country. 

On  his  way  home  from  England  he  was  eleven 
days  on  the  water  and  landed  at  Montreal,  Canada. 
He  took  the  train  from  there  home.  The  following 

Saturday  he  went  to  Thatcher  to  priesthood 

meeting  and  was  appointed  to  the  high  council,  a 

position  he  filled  for  sixteen  years  under  Lewis  S. 
Pond  and  later  under  William  H.  Mendenhall. 

On  the  16th  of  September  1935,  he  and  his  wife 
celebrated  their  Golden  Wedding  Anniversary  at 
their  home  in  the  canyon. 

In  September.  1941,  at  the  age  of  85.  he  moved 
into  town  selling  the  farm  to  his  eldest  son,  Fred. 
He  died  June  15,  1943,  at  the  age  of  87. 

Nine  children  were  born  to  Fred  and  Mary  Bur- 
ton. They  are  Annie,  Janet,  Elda,  Fred,  Bruce, 

Robert,  Clarence,  Rulon  and  Lloyd. 

Fred  Burton  was  a  big  man,  over  six  feet,  broad 
shouldered  and  stood  proud  and  straight  to  the  day 

of  his  death.  He  always  said.  "Keep  your  head  up 
and  your  shoulders  back.  If  you  look  down  all  of 

the  time,  all  you  will  ever  see  is  your  own  feet." 
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His  somewhat  stern  exterior  covered  a  heart  that 

was  soft  and  warm.  His  wife  would  tell  you  that  he 

was  never  too  busy  to  help  with  the  children  when 
they  were  little.  He  was  completely  honest;  no  one 
had  cause  to  question  his  word.  He  had  the  courage 
of  his  convictions. 

He  was  not  a  young  man  when  he  went  on  his 
mission.  A  younger  companion  had  this  to  say 
about  him: 

"He  could  get  into  homes  where  we  younger 

fellows  couldn't  get  a  toe  in  the  door.  He  was  at  his 
best  around  the  firesides.  He  was  a  fine  mis- 

sionary." 
Mary  Donal  Bruce  was  born  November  4,  1867 

at  Motherwell,  Scotland  to  John  Bruce  and  Mary 

Nickle  Lilly.  John  was  a  miner.  The  family  came  to 

America  hoping  the  change  of  climate  would  im- 

prove the  mother's  health.  For  a  time  she  was 
better,  and  two  more  children  were  born,  James 

and  Elizabeth.  The  mother  became  ill  again,  and 

they  returned  to  Scotland,  where  John  was  called 
to  part  with  his  wife  and  little  Elizabeth. 

John  married  his  wife's  half  sister,  Janet  Lilly 
Love,  a  widow  with  four  small  sons;  Robert,  James, 

William,  and  George.  The  family  lived  in  Wyom- 
ing, where  they  were  converted  and  baptized  into 

the  L.D.S.  Church.  They  moved  from  Wyoming, 

after  John's  health  failed,  to  Utah  and  settled  on 
what  was  known  as  the  Sand  Ridge,  now  Sunset. 

John  became  a  sheepherder. 

When  Mary  was  twelve  she  hired  out  to  different 

people  in  Ogden.  She  was  expected  to  do  a  lot  of 
work;  three  months  earned  her  a  dress  and  a  pair  of 
shoes. 

Mary  met  Fred  Burton  through  her  brother  Jim. 

Fred  was  eleven  years  older  than  Mary  and  had  a 
little  girl.  He  had  lost  his  wife  when  their  second 

child  was  born.  Mary  was  attracted  to  him  at  once. 

After  they  were  married  they  went  to  Kaysville 
to  make  their  home.  There  Mary  started  her 

married  life  with  a  ready-made  family,  as  they  had 

Mae,  the  child  of  Fred's  first  marriage.  She  was 
about  five  and  one-half  years  old.  They  lived  at 
Kaysville  until  Mary  had  two  little  girls  of  her  own. 
They  were  Annie  and  Janet.  At  this  time  Fred 

found  it  necessary  to  find  new  range  for  his  sheep. 
After  considerable  searching  he  bought  a  place 
from  Robert  Kirkham,  situated  in  the  southeastern 

part  of  Idaho,  about  forty  miles  over  the  Utah- 
Idaho  line. 

In  June  of  1891  Mary  and  her  three  daughters 
made  their  first  trip  to  Idaho,  it  was  only  a  camping 

trip,  for  their  purpose  was  to  cook  for  the  shearers. 
Fred  had  his  sheep  on  Bear  River  near  where  the 
bridge  now  crosses.  It  was  here  that  Mary  had  her 

first  glimpse  of  the  farm  which  was  to  be  her  home 
for  some  fifty  years. 

This  home  to  which  they  had  come  was  built  of 
logs,  three  rooms  in  a  row.  Not  too  far  away,  was  a 

fine  spring  of  water,  which  was  something  most  of 
the  early  settlers  did  not  have.  There  was  a  big 

grove  of  poplars.  There  was  a  small  orchard  with  a 
cherry,  pear,  some  plum  and  apple  trees  in  it. 
Raspberries  were  also  grown. 

The  Burtons  had  one  of  the  first  pianos  in  this 

part  of  the  valley.  It  was  hauled  everywhere.  To 
those  who  were  privileged  to  sing  or  dance  to  its 

music  it  holds  precious  memories. 
It  was  the  fall  of  1901  that  Olef  Norseth  came  to 

the  ranch  as  a  sheepherder.  He  was  only  one  of 

many  who  came  to  work  and  left  loving  "Ma"  Bur- ton as  if  she  had  been  their  own  mother.  There  were 

the  Bannisters,  who  blessed  the  name  of  Burton  for 

taking  them  in  when  they  were  homeless. 

In  August,  1920,  the  Grace  Ward  was  divided 
and  Mary  Burton  was  made  the  first  Relief  Society 
President  of  the  new  ward.  Although  she  lived  three 
miles  from  the  church,  it  was  nothing  for  her  to 

walk  to  and  from  meeting.  By  now  she  was  fifty- 
three  years  old. 

She  lived  to  see  her  home  change  from  a  place 

where  they  would  kill  dozens  of  coyotes  in  the 
winter  to  where  one  is  never  seen.  She  saw  the  hand 

plow  change  to  a  modern  tractor,  the  binder  to  a 
combine  harvester,  and  her  tallow  candle  to 

kerosene,  then  gasoline,  and  finally  to  electricity. 

Her  log  house  to  one  with  modern  plumbing  and 
central  heating. 

Mary  or  Grandma,  as  she  was  known,  died  June 
6,  1963.  She  is  buried  in  the  Kaysville  Cemetery. 

FRED  D.  BURTON  was  born  September  1, 

1895  in  Kaysville,  Utah  the  son  of  Fredrick  Burton 
and  Mary  Bruce  Burton.  His  family  homesteaded 
the  ranch  in  Burton  Canyon  east  of  Grace  where  he 
lived  most  of  his  life.  He  filled  a  mission  for  the 

Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints  in  the 
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Fred  D.  Burton Mildred  W.  Burton 

Southern  States  Mission  from  1916  to  1918.  One  of 

his  companions  for  most  of  his  mission  was  Elder 
Delbert  L.  Stapley  who  later  became  a  member  of 
the  Council  of  Twelve  Apostles.  They  were  devoted 
friends  and  Elder  Stapley  was  one  of  the  speakers 

at  Fred's  funeral. 
ELLEN  MILDRED  WILLIAMS  was  born 

April  18,  1901  in  Sterrett,  Idaho  (later  called  Ten 
Mile  and  Ivins)  the  daughter  of  John  Williams  and 
Margaret  A.  Green  Williams.  The  family  later 

moved  to  a  home  northwest  of  Grace,  by  the  river, 
and  she  attended  Grace  schools. 

On  September  17.  1919  Fred  D.  Burton  and 
Ellen  Mildred  Williams  were  married  in  the  Salt 

Lake  Temple  by  Joseph  Fielding  Smith,  who  later 
became  President  of  the  L.D.S.  Church.  Six 

daughters  were  born  to  this  union,  two  of  whom 
died  at  birth.  The  other  four  were  named  Mildred 

Artell,  Mary  Margaret,  Margene,  and  Janet  Ann. 
The  family  lived  on  a  farm  southwest  of  Grace 

and  later  moved  to  Alexander.  Fred  worked  for 

Utah  Power  and  Light  Company  from  1924 
through  1925  when  the  Alexander  plant  was  built. 

Then  they  lived  and  worked  at  the  lower  plant  for 

two  years.  From  1927  to  1941  he  was  employed  by 
the  Equity,  a  community  project  managed  by 
Moroni  Lowe.  In  1941  the  family  moved  to  the 

Burton  ranch  and  Fred's  parents  moved  to  the 
home  in  the  village  of  Grace.  That  was  the  last 

move  they  made  as  a  family.  They  had  a  happy 
home  and  much  love  abided  there. 

Fred  and  Mildred  were  very  active  in  the  Church 

holding  many  responsible  positions  in  the  Ward 
and  Stake.  Fred  was  second  counselor  to  the  first 

Bishop  of  the  Second  Ward,  John  Roghaar,  for 

about  eight  years  and  then  he  was  set  apart  as 
Bishop  of  the  Second  Ward  on  August  21,  1938  and 
served  in  this  capacity  for  six  years,  being  released 
in  1944.  Soon  after  this  he  served  for  eight  years  in 
the  Bannock  Stake  High  Council  and  upon  his 
release  in  1952  he  served  as  Stake  Ward  Teaching 

Supervisor.  During  this  time  Mildred  was  kept 
busy  in  the  various  organizations  of  the  community 
and  the  church.  She  was  in  the  Primary  Presidency, 
M.I. A.  Presidency  and  Relief  Society  Presidency. 

Also,  she  belonged  to  the  Literary  Club,  D.U.P., 

and  did  various  writing  assignments  for  different 

newspapers  and  journals.  She  was  a  member  of  the 
Stake  Relief  Society  Board  until  March  12,  1961. 

She  loved  to  sing  and  was  a  member  of  the  Stake 

and  Ward  Singing  Mothers  and  also  the  Ward 
Choir.  She  later  was  a  member  of  the  H.Y.N.  Club. 

In  May  of  1955  Fred  was  set  apart  as  Stake 
Patriarch  by  Elder  Harold  B.  Lee  of  the  Council  of 

Twelve  Apostles.  Fred's  health  was  not  too  good  by 
then  and  he  was  concerned  that  he  would  not  be 

able  to  serve  in  this  capacity  effectively.  In  telling 

of  his  fears  to  Brother  Lee.  he  was  promised  that 

his  health  would  never  interfere  with  his  position  of 
Stake  Patriarch  and  this  promise  came  true.  Six 

days  before  Fred  died  he  gave  a  blessing  and 
Mildred  had  the  difficult  but  beautiful  task  of 

transcribing  the  recording  of  this  after  Fred's  death 
on  September  22,  1956.  Fred  was  a  friend  to 
everyone.  He  served  as  a  Sunday  School  teacher  for 
30  years  and  enjoyed  teaching  the  young  people. 

Fred  was  always  interested  in  promoting  better 
schools  in  Grace  and  served  on  the  local  school 

board  for  17  years,  many  of  which  he  was  Chair- 
man. During  this  time  he  was  instrumental  in 

bringing  about  consolidation  of  schools  in  the 
valley,  building  the  new  high  school,  building  the 
vocational  building,  and  reorganizing  the  school 
district. 

In  September  of  1962  Mildred  was  asked  to 
teach  Church  History  in  the  Bannock  Stake 

Seminary.  She  held  that  position  until  1967  when 
she  retired.  During  this  time  she  also  worked  at  the 

Grace  Library — many  times  she  would  teach 

Seminary  in  the  morning,  work  at  the  library  in  the 
afternoon,  and  give  special  talks  to  different  groups 
at  night.  She  had  a  special  gift  of  writing  poetry, 

histories  and  stories.  When  Fred  was  alive,  es- 

pecially the  last  few  years,  he  was  called  on  to 
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speak  at  many  funerals  and  often  Mildred  would 
write  a  special  poem  about  the  deceased  and  Fred 
would  read  it  at  the  service  or  she  would  quietly 
write  a  special  tribute  and  hand  it  to  the  family 
after  the  funeral.  After  Fred  died  she  was  often  ask- 

ed to  prepare  and  read  the  obituary  of  the  deceased 

at  the  funeral  and  so  it  seemed  that  she  was  carry- 

ing on  with  Fred's  work.  Funerals  were  not  the  only 
thing  she  wrote  about.  She  also  wrote  about  wed- 

dings, birthdays,  anniversaries,  histories,  and  just 
plain  advice  to  the  youth.  Her  children,  while 
Mildred  was  alive,  compiled  many  of  her  poems 
into  a  special  book.  Through  the  years  additions 

have  been  made  to  the  book  and  are  still  being 
made  when  other  poems  are  found  as  her  family 
carefully  sift  through  her  many  papers. 

In  1967  Mildred  retired  from  teaching  Seminary 
and  also  sold  the  Burton  ranch  to  the  Lowe 

Brothers  (their  mother  had  been  raised  on  the  ranch 

as  she  was  Fred's  oldest  sister,  Annie).  Mildred  was 
glad  to  keep  the  ranch  in  the  family. 

On  March  9,  1975  Mildred  suffered  a  massive 

stroke  which  paralyzed  her  entire  right  side.  After 
lingering  for  two  weeks  in  a  coma,  she  died  on 
March  24,  1975. 

GEORGE  BURTON  was  born  June  2,  1875  at 

Bountiful,  Davis  County,  Utah,  the  son  of  George 
Burton  and  Mary  Ann  Johnson.  He  was  the  fourth 

child  in  a  family  of  six  children,  and  the  oldest  liv- 
ing son. 

George's  parents  were  early  immigrants  from 
England,  having  come  to  America  for  the  gospel  in 
the  year  1868. 

His  father  worked  on  the  Salt  Lake  Temple  for 
many  years  as  a  stone  mason  and  George  has 

related  of  times  when  he  took  his  father's  lunch  to 
him  and  played  with  other  boys  around  the  temple 

grounds. 
When  George  was  about  sixteen  years  of  age  his 

father  passed  away  leaving  a  wife  and  family  and 
he,  at  an  early  age,  left  home  and  took  up  the  work 
of  caring  for  sheep  to  help  support  the  family. 
Before  this  he  had  attended  district  school  and  was 

a  very  good  student. 
In  the  spring  of  1898  George  and  MARY 

ELIZABETH  RANSOM  became  acquainted  and 

after  a  courtship  of  six  months  were  married  on  Oc- 
tober 13,  1898  in  the  courthouse  in  Salt  Lake  City, 

and  later  solemnized  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 

Mary  Elizabeth  Ransom,  the  daughter  of  James 
Rowley  Ransom  and  Agnes  Elizabeth  Austin,  was 
born  on  September  26,  1880  at  Trenton,  Cache 

County,  Utah,  the  eldest  of  a  family  of  eleven 
children. 

They  lived  on  a  homestead  that  her  father  had 

taken  up  prior  to  his  marriage.  It  was  a  dry  farm 
with  no  water,  only  what  they  drew  from  a  well. 

They  lived  in  a  one-room  frame  house  which  was 
the  birth  place  of  the  four  older  children. 

Her  father  would  cut  the  rye  on  the  farm  with  a 
reaper  and  her  mother  would  follow,  tying  it  into 
bundles  by  hand. 

Her  father  was  a  good  hand  in  the  timber,  and  in 

a  few  years  he  and  his  brother,  Hyrum,  came  to 
Idaho  and  found  work  at  a  sawmill  in  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho.  Because  this  was  a  long  way  to 
travel  with  ox  team  or  horses,  they  decided  to  more 

closer  to  his  work.  So  in  1887  they  moved  to 

Cleveland,  Idaho,  settling  on  Cottonwood  Creek. 

Here  her  father  built  a  one-room  log  house  in  which 

they  lived. 
The  winters  were  very  severe  and  the  only  way  to 

get  out  of  the  valley  was  on  snowshoes.  The  mail 
came  in  once  a  week,  and  sometimes  only  once  a 
month. 

They  lived  about  five  miles  from  the  schoolhouse 

so  the  only  schooling  Mary  Elizabeth  got  was  what 

her  mother  taught  her.  She  became  expert  at  sew- 
ing, knitting,  crocheting,  and  quilting.  She  could 

also  spin  yarn  to  knit  stockings. 

In  April  1891  they  moved  from  Cottonwood 

Creek  to  the  divide  between  Cache  Valley  and  Gen- 
tile Valley.  Their  father  moved  the  one-room  log 

house  up  there. 

After  Mary  Elizabeth  and  George  were  married 

they  came  back  to  the  home  of  Mary's  parents 
where  she  spent  the  winter  while  George  went  on 
the  desert  with  the  sheep.  He  was  working  for  Mr. 
Stewart  of  Kaysville,  Utah  for  thirty  dollars  a 
month. 

On  Christmas  day,  December  25,  1899  their  first 
child,  Ethel,  was  born.  It  was  a  very  cold  night  and 

George  spent  most  of  the  night  chopping  wood  to 
keep  baby  and  mother  warm.  In  the  following  years 
twelve  more  children  came  to  bless  their  home.  In 

order  of  birth  their  names  are:  Cicorge  R.,  Mary, 
James   R.,  William   R.,  Vera.  Orella.   Rulon   R.. 
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Mildred,  Elvina,  Willis  R.,  Lincoln  R.,  and  Delma. 
William  R.,  Orella  and  Delma  passed  away  early  in 
life. 

George  held  many  positions  in  the  L.D.S. 
Church.  He  was  a  ward  teacher  for  many  years  and 
would  travel  horseback  a  distance  of  twenty  miles 
winter  and  summer.  He  also  served  as  a  Sunday 

school  teacher,  president  of  the  Y. M.M.I. A.  and  a 
counselor  in  the  bishopric. 

Mary  Elizabeth  also  labored  diligently  in  the 
church.  She  served  in  the  Relief  Society,  in  the 
Y. L.M.I. A.,  and  as  a  visiting  teacher. 

On  Mary  4,  1944  George  was  killed  accidently 
with  a  horse  while  on  the  desert  with  Foss  and 

Mecham  Sheep  Company.  He  is  buried  in  the 
Cleveland  Cemetery. 

Mary  Elizabeth  and  her  daughter,  Mildred,  mov- 
ed to  Preston,  Idaho  where  she  continued  to  work 

in  the  church.  She  lived  to  see  many  happy  events  in 
the  lives  of  her  family.  She  died  October  31,  1964, 
and  was  buried  next  to  her  husband  in  the 

Cleveland  Cemetery. 

JAMES  PALMER  CALKINS  was  born  August 

7,  1862  in  Payson,  Utah  to  Horatio  Palmer  Calkins 
and  Lucy  Taylor  Manwill  Calkins. 
ALICE  ALLSOP  was  born  March  1,  1867  in 

Richmond,  Utah. 
James  and  Alice  were  married  at  Richmond, 

Utah  December  10,  1888.  They  came  to  Lago, 
Idaho  (Trout  Creek  Ward)  about  1891.  A  child  was 

born  in  Lago  in  1892  and  another  in  1894.  The 
oldest  one  started  school  in  the  school  house  that 

stood  on  the  hill  northeast  of  the  cemetery.  In  1894 
James  filed  claim  to  160  acres  of  land  in  northwest 

Lago,  later  called  Niter. 
Church  was  attended  at  Lago,  baptism  of 

children  in  Lago,  also  blessings.  They  had  a  family 
of  eleven  children:  James  Elmo,  Albert  Manwill, 

Mary  Ellen,  Alice,  Mildred,  (Gail  Ray's  mother) 
Charles  Wood,  Horatio  Palmer,  Seth  Reuben,  Ver- 

non, Loretta,  and  Iris  La  Dell. 

James  Palmer  Calkins  died  December  19,  1946, 

and  Alice  died  May  19,  1925.  They  and  five  young 
children  are  buried  in  the  Lago  Cemetery. 

Alice  and  Iris  are  still  living. 

ORSON  C.  CHILDS  was  an  early  homesteader 

in    the    canyon    which    bears   his    name.    Child's 

Orson  and  Margaret  Childs 

Canyon.  He  purchased  the  ranch  in  1905  from  Pat 
McPherson,  who  operated  a  sawmill  in  that  area. 

Thus,  the  Canyon  is  known  by  both  names.  Child's 

and  McPherson's. 
He  was  born  in  Chester,  Utah  on  November  23, 

1877. 

In  1906,  he  married  MARGARET 

BRADSHAW,  who  was  born  in  Elma,  Wyoming, 

September  30,  1888. 

To  this  union  were  born  the  following  children: 
Orson  Leonard,  Harley,  Naomi,  Donald  (burned  in 
a  tragic  accident  at  the  age  of  three).  Jay,  Duluth, 

Robert  (died  of  pneumonia  as  a  child)  and 

Margaret. 

Mr.  Childs  served  many  years  as  manager  of  the 
Grain  Elevator  and  also  operated  a  garage  for  a 

long  period  of  time  in  the  Child's  Building,  later  the 
Lasley  and  Stalker  Garage. 

During  his  early  years  in  Gem  Valley  he  was  a 

Sheep  Stockman  and  farmed  inChild'sCanyon.  He 
later  operated  a  farm  in  Idaho  Canyon  and  it  was 

here  he  passed  away  on  August  22,  1939. 
His  wife,  Margaret,  died  September  24,  1953. 

CHRISTIAN  MILLER  CHRISTENSEN  was 

born  February  3,  1889  in  Logan,  Utah,  to  Ferdi- 
nand Christian  and  Elsie  Marie  Miller  Christensen, 

the  third  child  in  a  family  of  10.  When  he  was  a 

year  old  the  family  moved  to  Preston,  Idaho,  where 
they  lived  for  10  years  before  moving  to  Central, 
Idaho.  Chris  and  his  sister  Dorothy  walked  all  the 

way,  driving  the  cows.  Life  as  a  pioneer  family 
created  many  challenges,   and  hard  work.  They 
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Christian  M.  Christensen Pearl  Christensen 

hauled  water  from  Bear  River,  got  out  logs  and 
built  houses,  broke  up  sod  for  farm  land,  etc. 

Christian  married  a  daughter  of  another  pioneer 

family,  PEARL  ELIZA  JORGENSEN,  born 

September  10,  1891.  Her  parents,  Rasmus  G.  and 
Thora  Jensen  Jorgensen  moved  from  Ogden,  Utah, 
to  Central,  Idaho,  when  she  was  six  years  old.  Chris 
and  Pearl  were  married  November  10,  1909  in  the 

Logan  Temple  and  lived  together  for  66  years. 

Chris  bought  40  acres  of  land  a  year  before  he  was 
married  and  this  is  where  their  family  of  eight 
children  were  born  and  raised.  The  children  are: 

Cora  Pearl  (Harris),  Ina  Margaret  (Wilson),  Orval 
Jorgensen,  Leo  Christian,  Agnes,  Evah  Dorothy 

(Smith),  Ruby  (Bolton)  and  Bert  Willis. 

Chris  loved  horses  and  was  always  on  the  watch 
for  a  horse  that  would  match  one  of  his,  or  he 
would  trade  for  a  beautiful  matched  team.  He 

always  had  good-looking  harnesses  to  put  on  them. 
In  the  winter  Chris  would  go  to  Bear  River  and 

haul  blocks  of  ice  that  he  would  put  in  sawdust  for 
summer  use. 

He  made  good  use  of  his  water  rights  and  many 

times  would  stay  with  his  irrigation  all  night  if  he 
thought  it  was  necessary.  Because  of  his  persistance 
in  doing  a  good  job,  he  was  a  very  successful 

farmer.  As  they  grew  older,  more  land  was  ob- 
tained. Chris  and  Pearl  were  hard  workers  and 

taught  their  children  how  to  work. 

In  1927,  Chris  was  called  to  leave  his  family  and 

go  on  a  six-month  mission  to  the  Southern  States. 
While  he  was  gone,  their  youngest  daughter.  Ruby, 

age  5  years,  backed  into  a  tub  of  hot  water  and  was 
scalded  severely.  The  older  children  had  to  work 
hard  hauling  hay,  milking  cows  and  feeding  a  herd 

of  pigs.  It  was  an  enormous  load  that  was  put  on 
the  shoulders  of  Pearl. 

Chris  promised  Pearl  that  when  they  had  been 
married  20  years,  he  would  get  her  a  new  home,  so 
on  their  20th  anniversary  they  moved  into  a  home 

about  a  quarter  of  a  mile  east  of  where  they  lived 
that  they  bought  from  John  V.  and  Rosary  Kirby. 

Chris  and  Pearl,  with  their  family,  were  always 
active  in  the  Church,  Chris  serving  as  a  Bishop  for 

two  years,  twice  as  Sunday  School  Superintendent, 
ward  teacher,  and  worked  in  the  Priesthood 

Quorums.  Pearl  was  ward  organist  from  the  time 
the  ward  was  organized  in  1901  for  approximately 

36  years.  She  was  a  Sunday  School  teacher,  a 
counselor  to  Sara  Lloyd  in  Relief  Society  for  seven 

years  and  Relief  Society  President  for  six  years. 
They  both  spent  a  lot  of  time  going  to  the  Temple, 

reading  and  studying  the  scriptures. 
In  1941,  their  youngest  son,  Bert,  was  killed  in  a 

bike-car  accident  at  the  age  of  15. 
On  their  38th  wedding  anniversary,  1947,  they 

bought  a  home  in  Logan  and  spent  twenty-seven 
enjoyable  years  there.  Because  of  poor  health  in 

1974,  they  moved  back  to  Grace,  Idaho.  Chris  died 
in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho,  March  31,  1976  at  the  age 
of  87  years. 
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Ferdinand  Christensen Elsie  M.  Christensen 

FERDINAND  CHRISTIAN  CHRISTENSEN 

was  born  in  Sheltvet  EUine  Sogn  Hjoring  Co.,  Den- 
mark, November  22,  1861.  He  joined  the  L.D.S. 

Church  in  July  1878.  The  following  June  he  left 

Denmark  and  came  to  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  Ferdi- 
nand worked  at  various  jobs:  harness  shops,  shoe 

shops,  and  on  the  railroad,  L.D.S.  Academy  at 
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Preston,  Idaho  and  planting  trees  on  the  Temple 

grounds  at  Logan. 
It  was  while  he  was  in  Logan  that  he  met  ELSIE 

MARIE  MILLER.  They  were  married  October  4, 
1883,  in  the  Endowment  House  in  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah. 

In  November  1889,  Ferdinand  filed  on  160  acres 
of  land  on  the  Homestead  Act.  He  also  filed  on  80 

acres  of  land  on  the  Desert  Act,  an  act  that  required 

putting  water  on  the  land  in  order  to  prove  upon  the 
land.  He  could  not  get  water  on  the  80  acre  tract  so 
he  had  to  let  it  go.  Ferdinand  and  his  oldest  son, 
Ferdinand,  Jr.  went  to  what  later  became  known  as 
Central,  Idaho  near  Grace,  Idaho.  They  stayed 
there  about  a  month  and  built  a  small  shanty  10  x 
12  feet. When  he  moved  his  wife  to  the  farm,  they 
and  six  children  lived  in  that  small  house  a  year  or 

more,  until  he  could  finish  a  larger  house.  The 

family  lived  on  that  farm  until  sometime  during  the 

1930's  when  Ferdinand  and  Elsie  moved  to  Banida, 
Idaho.  On  January  11,  1937  Ferdinand  C. 
Christensen  died.  Elsie  died  in  February  1954. 
Their  children  were:  Dorothy,  Ferdinand,  Jr., 

Chris,  John,  Zina,  Heber,  Joseph,  Anna,  Austin, 
and  Leona. 

FERDINAND  CHRISTIAN  CHRISTENSEN, 

JR.  was  born  in  Logan,  Utah  January  14,  1887,  son 
of  Ferdinand  Christian  Christensen  and  Elsie 
Marie  Miller. 

In  the  spring  of  1899,  Ferdinand  and  his  father 
went  to  Idaho  to  live  on  a  farm  his  father  had 

previously  homesteaded;  a  quarter  section  of  land. 

They  lived  in  a  wagon  box  the  first  month,  and  Fer- 
dinand. Jr.  was  left  alone  many  times  while  his 

father  was  away  getting  lumber  and  preparing  to 
build  a  small  house.  No  land  was  fenced  off.  It  was 

just  sage  brush  as  far  as  they  could  see  in  any  direc- 
tion. They  were  really  living  out  in  the  wilds  at  that 

time,  and  it  was  frightening  to  be  left  alone  at  night. 
There  was  no  water  except  what  they  hauled  from 
Bear  River  about  seven  miles  away.  In  the  winter 
they  used  water  from  melted  snow. 

Ferdinand,  Sr.  was  building  the  family's  10  x  12 
foot  house,  when  his  wife  came  up  in  June.  Now 

the  family  was  all  together  again.  The  house  wasn't 
very  large  for  a  family  of  eight,  but  Chris  and  Fer- 

dinand Jr.  slept  in  a  wagon  box  all  winter.  It  got 

very  cold,  but  I  don't  suppose  it  hurt  them  because 
they  grew  up  strong  and  healthy. 

On  the  13th  of  November  1907  Ferdinand  Jr. 

was  married  to  ELSIE  MARIE  ANDERSEN, 

daughter  of  Andrew  Soren  Andersen  and  Elizabeth 

Hargraves  Heaps.  They  fixed  up  a  log  cabin  in  Cen- 
tral to  live  in.  Ferdinand  did  a  considerable  amount 

of  logging  along  with  farming  80  acres  the  first  few 
years.  He  then  puchased  more  land  and  spent  his 
entire  time  farming,  which  he  enjoyed  more  than 

anything  else.  Later  he  acquired  some  livestock 
such  as  cows,  hogs,  and  chickens  which  supplied 
their  needs. 

Elsie  Marie  came  from  a  musically  talented 

family.  She  encouraged  her  children  to  develop 
their  musical  talents  and  there  is  a  lot  of  this  ability 
found  in  the  family. 

The  family  consisted  of  Verda,  Otto,  Ethel, 
Kenneth,  Blanche,  Wayne  and  Laura. 

After  the  birth  of  Laura,  Elsie  Marie's  health 
was  poor.  She  died  December  13,  1939.  She  was  a 
courageous  woman  with  a  beautiful  spirit,  and  she 
left  a  rich  heritage. 

After  being  a  widower  for  almost  two  years,  Fer- 
dinand married  Eliza  T.  Bingham,  on  the  19th  of 

November  1941. 

Ferdinand  Christian  Christensen,  Jr.  passed 

away  January  24,  1971  in  Preston,  Idaho  and  was 
buried  in  the  Central  Cemetery. 

FRANK    CORNELIOUS    CHRISTENSEN, 

born  13  August  1865  to  Peter  Christensen  and  Jane 
Caroline  Traveler,  in  Richmond,  Cache  County, 
Utah;  and  SARAH  EMELINE  ROBINSON,  born 

to  John  Robinson  and  Ann  Gregson,  also  of  Rich- 

Frank  C.  Christensen Sarah  R.  Christensen 
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mond,  were  married  in  Logan,  Cache  County, 
Utah  June  18,  1887. 

When  their  first  child  Ray  was  a  tiny  baby  they 
started  North  with  all  their  worldly  goods  piled 
high  on  a  sleigh,  a  team  of  horses,  and  leading  a 
milk  cow  behind.  Their  destination  was  Gentile 

Valley,  now  known  as  Gem  Valley.  Frank's  father, 
Peter,  was  very  upset  when  they  decided  on  this 
move  and  said  they  surely  would  starve  to  death 

fighting  sagebrush  and  coyotes,  but  he  certainly  un- 
derestimated his  eldest  son. 

They  bought  a  place  from  his  brother-in-law, 
George  Rainey,  in  Bench  and  Rainey  moved  to 
Star  Valley,  Wyoming.  They  made  a  number  of 
trades  60,  80,  and  160  acres  here  and  there  and 

finally  settled  on  what  is  known  as  the  Home  Place, 
which  he  traded  for  from  Hans  Sorenson  who  had 

taken  it  up  under  the  "Homestead  Act".  The  house 
on  it  was  T  shaped  having  one  large  room  and  two 

large  rooms  on  the  sides  and  an  upstairs. 

Frank  brought  water  down  from  the  canyon 
streams  to  irrigate  an  orchard  and  garden  of 

apples,  pears,  plums,  cherries,  raspberries, 
blackcaps,  strawberries  and  all  kinds  of  vegetables, 
especially  corn.  This  spot  seems  to  be  more  free  of 

frost,  earlier  and  later,  than  any  on  the  Bench  or  in 
the  Valley. 

He  was  the  first  man  in  the  Valley  to  pipe  the 

water  from  a  virgin  spring  in  the  canyon  and  into 
the  house  for  culinary  use,  and  he  let  his  neighbors 

use  the  surplus.  Many  brought  their  livestock  to 
drink  at  his  water  trough. 

He  had  learned  the  Blacksmith  trade  in  Pvich- 

mond,  and  did  this  for  a  number  of  years,  seldom 

charging  for  his  work,  especially  if  he  thought  the 
person  was  having  a  hard  time. 

They  loved  children,  they  must  have  because  they 

had  fifteen,  seven  boys  and  eight  girls:  Ray,  Jane, 
Inez,  Melvin,  Lucy,  Veir,  Florence,  Leslie,  (dying 
in  infancy)  Anna,  Josie,  Dean,  Alvin,  Card,  Gayle, 
and  Joseph  B.  Sarah  or  Sade,  as  she  was  known, 

had  a  doctor  for  only  the  last  one,  and  the  midwives 
were  there  for  the  rest  of  them. 

One  of  the  biggest  things  in  his  life  was  to  help 
get  the  water  from  Bear  River  to  the  Bench  and  the 

rest  of  the  Valley.  He  along  with  others  spent  a 
good  part  of  their  lives  on  this  project,  working 
winters  and  summers  and  their  wives  and  children 

caring  for  things  at  home  and  preparing  food  and 

hauling  it  to  the  project  known  as  'The  Last 
Chance  Canal".  Besides  the  home  place  he  took  up 
160  more  acres  under  the  "Desert  Act".  It  was  a 
day  of  rejoicing  when  the  water  was  brought  to  this 

and  other  lands  through  the  "East  Branch  Canal." 
Frank  and  Willard  Hubbard  brought  the  first 

steam  powered  threshing  machine  into  the  Valley. 
They  did  custom  work  for  many  years. 

The  nearest  trading  center  for  some  years  was 

Soda  Springs  over  twenty  miles  away.  They  made 

this  trip  in  a  wagon  and  in  later  years,  when  they 
could  afford  it,  in  a  white  top  buggy.  They  took 

their  field,  garden,  and  orchard  produce  to  trade 
for  merchandise.  Emma  Hubbard  and  Sarah  made 

a  number  of  these  trips  with  Emma  as  the  driver. 
She  was  known  as  a  very  good  horsewoman.  Frank 
always  warned  them  to  unhitch  the  team  and  tie 
them  to  a  tree  when  they  got  to  Alexander  because 
there  was  always  one  or  two  trains  going  by,  and 

the  horses  were  very  wild  when  one  came  by.  This 
saved  them  from  having  a  runaway  more  than  once. 

They  bought  a  ranch  twenty-three  miles  north  of 

Soda  Springs  known  as  the  "Goose  Lake  Ranch," 
where  they  run  stock  cattle  and  put  up  hay. 

Frank  was  quite  a  prankster  and  would  have 
quite  a  chuckle  when  telling  some  of  the  jokes  he 

had  played  on  people.  He  was  ready  to  help  with 

anything  that  would  improve  the  community  and 

was  always  helping  someone  who  was  down  on 
their  luck. 

He  died  in  Grace,  Idaho  21  of  August  1943  at  78 

years  of  age  and  just  thirteen  months  later  Sarah 
died  18  September  1944  at  78  years. 

We  surely  owe  a  debt  of  gratitude  to  these  early 

pioneers  who  gave  of  their  time  and  talents  that  we 
might  have  a  better  land  on  which  to  live. 

By  Burgetta  Christensen 

HARRIET  ANN  CHRISTENSEN,  daughter  of 

Lars  Christensen  and  Mary  Elizabeth  Harris,  was 
born  February  21,  1880  at  Lago,  Idaho.  She 
married  HERBERT  WILLIAM  TITUS  April  20, 

1903  at  Cove,  Idaho.  Herbert  was  born  November 

7,  1881  at  Crete,  Nebraska;  son  of  Benjamin 
Franklin  Titus  and  Susan  Sophia  Clark.  Herbert 
and  Harriet  had  the  following  children:  Reta  Mary 

Titus,  married  Floyd  Willard  Dalton;  Rulon  Lars 
Titus,  married  Bernice  Ruth  Corbett;  Thelma 

Titus,   married   William   Edwin   Corbett;   Beulah 
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Titus,  married  Orange  Warner  Chambers;  Grace 
Titus,   married  Terril   Lewis  Lish;   Helen  Titus, 
married    Elvin    Charles    Hubbard;    Afton  Titus, 
married  John  Francis  Roberts. 

Heber  W.  Christensen Florence  Christensen 

HEBER  WILFORD  CHRISTENSEN  was  born 

April  16,  1897,  at  Preston,  Idaho,  to  Ferdinand  C. 
Christensen  and  Elsie  Marie  Miller.  He  was  the 

seventh  child  of  1 1  children. 

The  family  moved  to  Central,  Idaho  to 
homestead  in  1899.  The  bedding  was  rolled  under 
the  table  during  the  day  to  make  room  for  living. 
Heber  was  four  years  old  when  they  built  a  big  log 
house  with  two  rooms,  a  sleeping  attic  and  out 
house.  When  the  Christensens  came  to  Central  the 

sagebrush  was  so  tall  a  man  on  a  horse  could  get 
lost  in  it. 

As  the  family  grew  in  number  they  were  able  to 
build  two  extra  rooms  and  add  an  upstairs  of  three 

rooms.  The  upstairs  rooms  were  plastered  and 

Heber's  father  would  never  allow  them  to  be 
papered  or  painted  because  he  was  so  proud  of 
them.  Heber  was  always  musically  inclined  and 
could  really  make  music  on  a  small  concertina 

given  him  when  a  small  boy.  A  harmonica  was 

always  at  hand  and  he  became  an  accomplished 

violinist.  He  had  a  good  bass  voice  and  loved  sing- 
ing with  groups  or  the  choir. 

Heber  was  a  left-hander  and  was  never  too  busy 
to  play  ball  every  Saturday  with  the  local  team.  He 

was  known  as  "Home-run  Heber." 
He  attended  school  through  the  8th  grade  at 

Central.  At  this  time  Central  had  about  60  famihes 
and  an  L.D.S.  Ward  of  about  300. 

Heber  served  in  the  army  in  World  War  I.  When 

he  returned  he  started  farming.  At  this  time  a 

young  school  teacher  caught  his  eye. 

FLORENCE  MYRTLE  NUFFER  was  born  Oc- 
tober 19,  1902,  at  Preston,  Idaho  to  John  Nuffer 

and  Louisa  Zollinger.  She  was  the  ninth  child  of 
eleven  children.  Her  father  was  an  architect  and 

they  always  lived  in  a  lovely  home.  She  always  took 

an  interest  in  her  father's  many  building  projects; 
two  of  which  were  the  Oneida  (L.D.S.)  Academy, 

and  the  present  Grace  Junior  High  School. 
Florence  attended  school  through  high  school  at 

Preston.  At  this  time  she  went  to  Pocatello  to  at- 
tend summer  school  and  so  had  all  the  education 

required  to  teach  school.  At  school  she  had  a 

friend,  Mrs.  Wilford  (Matilda)  Anderson,  who  urg- 
ed her  to  apply  for  a  teaching  job  at  Central,  Idaho 

where  they  were  paying  $100  a  month.  She  was 
accepted  and  started  teaching  in  1921. 

Florence  started  dating  Heber  and  they  enjoyed 

many  good  times  together.  He  courted  her  in  a  new 
Chevrolet  -  without  a  top. 

Florence  and  Heber  were  married  August  30, 

1922,  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple.  Their  first  home 
was  a  two-room  frame  house  on  80  acres  Heber  had 

started  to  buy.  At  this  time  you  could  make  a  good 

living  on  160  acres. 

In  1924  they  bought  the  160  acres  which  was  the 

original  land  grant  of  Minnie  Sullivan.  This  proper- 
ty had  the  first  one-room  school  started  by  Minnie 

Sullivan  and  the  first  Primary  in  Central  was  also 

held  here.  This  property  soon  became  home  to  the 
Heber  Christensen  clan.  It  was  a  small  two-room 

frame  house  which  they  covered  on  the  outside  with 
tar  paper. 

They  were  married  four  years  before  they  were 
blessed  with  their  first  child,  Louise  Marie,  born 

November  27,  1926.  Reed  was  born  two  years  later, 

on  August  17,  1928,  and  then  Paul,  on  March  19, 
1932. 

Heber  was  an  ardent  sportsman  who  loved  hun- 
ting and  fishing.  He  taught  his  boys  the  proper  use 

of  a  gun  when  young.  They  liked  going  after 

squirrels  and  rockchucks,  which  could  destroy 
acres  of  crops. 

In  1934,  Heber  started  to  build  a  new  family 

home.  Although  they  lived  in  it,  it  was  seven  years 
before  it  was  completed,  with  running  water  and 
one  of  the  first  bathrooms  in  Central. 

Heber  was  always  looking  for  new  ways  and 
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better  methods  of  farming.  He  could  see  the  advan- 
tage in  irrigation,  so  dug  the  first  deep  irrigation 

well  in  the  area.  He  was  also  mechanically  minded, 
and  had  one  of  the  first  tractors  in  the  area — a 

"Rumley." 
Heber  was  a  past  president  of  the  Grace  Lions 

Club  and  a  chapter  member  of  the  Grace  American 
Legion.  He  was  active  in  the  Farm  Bureau  and 
served  on  the  State  Farm  Bureau  for  many  years. 

He  was  also  very  active  in  the  L.D.S.  Church  and 
served  several  years  in  the  Central  Ward  Bishopric. 

Heber  died  January  15,  1963  at  Downey,  Idaho. 

Florence  has  always  been  active  in  the  L.D.S. 

Church.  She  spent  many  years  in  the  presidency  of 

the  Relief  Society  and  as  a  teacher  in  that  organiza- 
tion as  well  as  other  auxiliaries  of  the  church.  In 

1971  she  moved  back  to  Grace  to  be  closer  to  her 

children  and  old  friends.  She  has  a  great  talent  for 

handwork  and  has  delighted  her  children  and 

grandchildren  with  her  lovely  afghans. 

HENRY  C.  CHRISTENSEN  was  born  in 

Copenhagen,  Denmark  on  May  7,  1885,  the  son  of 
Christian  and  Dorothy  Marie  Larsen  Christensen, 

and  with  his  parents  came  to  this  country  when  he 

was  eight  years  of  age.  They  made  their  home  at 
Lago,  Idaho. 

Growing  to  young  manhood  there,  he  engaged  in 
farming  for  some  time.  He  later  was  engaged  in  the 
creamery  business,  as  a  partner  in  the  Durrant  and 
Christensen  Creamery  at  Thatcher.  This  was  the 

first  business  of  its  kind  established  in  Gem  Valley. 
He  later  purchased  the  interest  of  his  partner  and 
moved  the  business  to  Grace,  where  for  a  number 

of  years,  and  until  his  death,  he  conducted  a 
successful  and  fast  growing  business. 

On  February  18,  1903  he  was  married  to  EMMA 
JENSEN,  in  the  L.D.S.  Temple  at  Logan,  Utah. 
He  was  always  active  in  the  affairs  of  the  L.D.S. 
Church  of  which  he  was  a  devout  member.  He  was 

called  soon  after  his  marriage  to  fulfill  a  mission 
for  the  Church  in  his  native  land  Denmark. 

Upon  his  return,  he  continued  to  take  an  active 

part  in  the  Church  and  community.  At  the  time  of 

his  death  he  was  serving  as  first  counselor  to  Bishop 
Emil  Peterson  of  the  Grace  Ward. 

He  was  a  Charter  member  of  the  Grace  Lions 

Club  and  had  served  as  City  Councilman,  and  was 

a  member  of  the  local  school  board  for  a  number  of 

years. 
Always  having  been  a  staunch  Democrat,  he 

worked  untiringly  for  the  interests  of  that  party,  and 
was  pursuaded  by  friends  to  become  a  candidate  for 
County  Commissioner.  He  was  serving  his  second 
term,  having  been  chosen  Chairman,  at  the  time  of 
his  death.  He  was  a  member  of  the  Pocatello 

Hospital  Board,  and  C.  W.  A.  and  F.  E.  R.  Com- 
mittees. 

There  were  10  children  born  to  Henry  and  Emma 

Christensen.  Three  preceeded  him  in  death.  The 
others  are:  Dean,  Josephine,  Dorothy,  Gilbert, 

DeVona,  Marjorie,  and  Kermit. 
Henry  died  on  January  12,  1934  at  the  Caribou 

County  Hospital  in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  The 
following  tribute  to  him  was  written  by  J.  Stanley 
Harrison: 

Fate  decreed  that  we  should  meet, 
this  man  and  I; 

And  each  of  us  pursued  our 
earthly  road. 

The  place  of  meeting  holds  for 
me  a  sigh. 

Since  he  has  gone. 

I  miss  him  not  for  deeds  that 
he  has  done, 

Altho  Achievement  marked  him 
very  high; 

His  friendly  smile  my  admiration  won 
And  now  its  gone. 

Eternity  can  use  a  smile  like  his; 

It  makes  the  pathway  smoother,  lessens  pain. 
But  though  his  radiance  is 

earthly  loss, 

'Tis  Heaven's  gain. 

JOHN  ERASTUS  CHRISTENSEN  was  born 

February  20,  1891  in  Preston,  Idaho  son  of  Ferdi- 
nand C.  Christensen  and  Elsie  Marie  Miller 

Christensen. 

In  1899  they  moved  to  Central,  where  his  father 
had  homesteaded  160  acres.  Central  became  a  very 
sociable  community,  so  they  had  a  lot  of  good 

times  along  with  the  hardships  they  endured.  It  was 
the  deacons  job  to  keep  the  school  house  clean  for 
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the  weekend  dances  and  for  church  on  Sunday.  If 

they  did  a  good  job,  they  received  tickets  to  the 
dances. 

John  Hked  school,  especially  one  of  his  teachers, 

Frederick  Kesler,  who  was  strict,  but  had  a  way  of 
teaching  his  pupils  so  they  remembered  what  they 
learned.  In  his  youth  he  worked  as  a  sheepherder 
for  $35.00  a  month.  In  the  fall  of  1910  he  left  for  a 

mission  in  Norway.  Just  before  he  was  released,  he 

met  CONSTANCE  HELGA  RING  and  they 
agreed  to  correspond  with  each  other. 
About  sixteen  months  later  John  had  raised 

enough  money  to  send  for  this  young  lady  to  come 
to  America.  She  arrived  in  July  1914  and  they  were 
married  in  the  Logan  Temple,  August  26,  1914. 

These  were  hard  years  for  the  young  couple. 

Connie  couldn't  speak  English,  so  had  to  learn  a 
new  language.  Although  a  city  girl,  she  learned  to 

harness  the  horses  and  did  a  lot  of  the  farming 

while  John  worked  on  the  canal  and  threshing 
crews. 

Their  children  are:  Lyman,  Afton,  Venus, 
Wesley,  Francis,  Jack  and  JoLene. 

Connie  died  May  18,  1965  and  John  died  May 
20,  1971. 

LARS  CHRISTENSEN,  son  of  Knud  Christian 

Christensen  and  Mary  Ann  Bertelsen,  was  born 

September  10,  1856  at  Bukkjaer,  Hjorring,  Den- 
mark He  married  MARY  ELIZABETH 

HARRIS,  April  28,  1879. 

In  1867  Lars  and  his  parents  immigrated  to 
America.  They  sailed  from  Liverpool,  England  on 
an  old  sailing  ship,  and  they  were  on  the  Atlantic 
Ocean  for  two  months.  After  landing  at  New  York 

the  family  went  to  Nebraska,  where  they  lived  for 
two  years.  They  then  came  to  Utah  on  the  first 

train  to  enter  Ogden,  Utah.  Lars  and  his  parents 
moved  to  Lago,  Idaho.  Here  Lars  met  and  courted 
Mary  Elizabeth  Harris. 

In  1883  Lars  took  his  family  to  a  desolate  section 
on  the  Blackfoot  River,  about  20  miles  north  of 

Soda  Springs.  Only  three  other  families  lived  in  this 
small  settlement.  It  was  later  named  Henry,  Idaho. 
In  1891  he  moved  his  family  back  to  Thatcher, 
Idaho.  Lars  devoted  his  life  to  his  family,  and 
reared  them  on  a  large  ranch.  He  raised  cattle, 
horses,  pigs,  sheep  and  chickens.  His  farm  produc- 

ed alfalfa,  grains,  fruits  and  vegetables.  Lars  was  a 
noble  man,  strictly  honest,  humble  and  kind.  He 
died  at  his  home  in  Thatcher,  Idaho  December  10, 
1905. 

Mary  Elizabeth  Harris,  daughter  of  Alexander 
Harris  and  Harriet  Ann  Craner,  was  born 

December  31,  1859  at  Springville,  Utah. 

Shortly  after  the  birth  of  Mary  Elizabeth,  her 
parents  moved  to  Richmond,  Utah,  where  she 

spent  her  early  childhood.  Her  mother  died  in  1874 
and  her  father  moved  his  family  to  Gentile  Valley. 

Mary  helped  on  the  farm  and  with  the  children,  un- 
til her  marriage.  For  a  short  time  after  her 

marriage,  Mary  and  Lars  lived  with  his  parents  at 
Lago.  later  they  moved  into  their  own  home.  In 
1883  Lars  moved  his  family  to  Henry,  Idaho,  where 

they  pioneered  the  area.  The  winters  were  severe, 
and  all  provisions,  needed  by  the  family,  were 

brought  in  by  ox  team  in  the  fall  to  last  through  the 
winter. 

In  the  fall  of  1891  Mary  and  her  family  moved 

back  to  Thatcher,  Idaho.  Lars  owned  a  large  tract 

of  land  joining  his  father-in-law,  upon  which  he 
built  a  large  seven  room  house.  The  family  moved 

into  the  new  quarters  in  the  fall  of  1892.  It  was  a  joy 
for  all  to  be  in  such  a  fine  home,  and  to  be  near 

relatives.  In  1893  Mary  gave  birth  to  her  eighth 

child.  She  developed  blood  poisoning,  and  died 
when  the  child  was  only  three  weeks  old,  March  21, 
1893. 

FRANK  MELVIN  CHRISTENSEN  was  born 

August  8,  1892  at  Trout  Creek  Ward  now  Williams 
Ward  in  Idaho.  AGNES  BURGETTA  OLSEN  was 

born  May  20,  1901  at  Ovid.  Bear  Lake  County. 

Idaho.  This  couple  was  married  February  28,1928 
at  Logan,  Cache  County,  Utah. 

To  this  union  were  born  four  children,  two  girls 
and  two  boys:  Shirley  O.  Boyack,  Zan  Clegg, 

Glayd,  and  Wynn  Barrie  Christensen. 
Frank  Melvin  was  a  stockman  and  a  farmer.  He 

loved  to  raise  things  and  took  pride  in  what  he 
could  raise.  He  liked  to  raise  the  best  and  earliest 

corn  and  cabbage,  and  then  leave  some  on 

someone's  doorstep.  He  wasn't  happy  unless  he  was 
working.  He  died  February  5,  1969. 

Burgetta  was  a  school  teacher  for  eleven  years  in 
the  elementary  schools.  She  has  taken  part  in  many 
choirs  and  choruses.  She  had  spent  many  hours  in 
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Melvin  and  Burgetta  Christensen 

genealogical  research  and  as  a  missionary  in  the 
Cache  Genealogical  Library  in  Logan,  Utah. 

Tribute  To  Melvin 

By  his  niece,  Lynn  Christensen 
Uncle  Melvin 

He  always  saddled  "Old  Bob"  for  me  when  I 
couldn't  reach  the  cinch. 

He  always  had  time  to  fix  the  sleigh  for  Stanley. 

He  always  brought  some  new  potatoes  for  Mom. 

He  always  fed  the  cattle  for  Dad  when  he  didn't 
get  home  on  time. 

In  the  early  morning  the  sun  would  peek  over  the 
mountain  to  announce  the  coming  of  the  day,  but 

Uncle  Melvin  was  always  one  chore  ahead  of  that 
first  dawn  of  day. 

Sometimes  the  day  had  been  asleep  for  several 
hours,  but  Uncle  Melvin  had  to  make  one  more 

round  in  the  alfalfa,  to  move  one  last  line  of  pipe,  to 

put  one  last  milk  cow  in  the  corral,  to  feed  the  stray 

cat  that  had  wandered  in,  to  give  "Old  Tip"  the 
scraps  from  dinner.  To  do  all  the  little  extras  that 
could  be  done  tomorrow, 

Maybe  that  is  the  reason 

His  grain  grew  so  green  in  the  summer  and  so 

gold  in  the  fall — 
His  potatoes  were  so  smooth  and  firm — 
His  cattle  were  always  fat  for  sale — 

Years,  hard  work  and  long  hours  didn't  seem  to 
leave  their  traces  on  him. 

He  seemed  to  go  on  and  on  and  on  and  on. 

I  guess  he  loved  about  everything. 

Spring,  with  her  call  to  plant — Summer  with  her 
quench  of  water — Fall  with  her  command  to 

harvest — Winter  with  her  cloak  to  say  "Rest" 
Aunt  Betty  with  her  love  and  understan- 

ding— Kids  with  their  cry  of  "Grandpa"  Dogs,  with 

their  love  to  follow — And  of  course  "Old  Duke" 
Old  Duke  will  never  forget  him,  they  were  too 

close.  Duke  was  always  saddled  whether  he  needed 
it  or  not. 

Old  Duke  was  always  on  every  roundup.  Old 
Duke  and  Uncle  Melvin  were  always  coming  up  the 
road. 

Uncle  Melvin  always  wanted  to  take  a  winter  off 
and  go  see  the  sun.  He  never  did.     He  always  had 

one  more  thing  to  do — He  must  have  been  happy 

just  doing  what  he  was doing. 

I  wonder  if  he  would  have  been  happy  just  sitting 
in  the  sun? 

BENJAMIN  CLEGG  was  born  April  29,  1857  in 

Tooele,  Tooele  County,  Utah.  He  was  the  second 
child  of  Benjamin  and  Grace  Mclntyre  Clegg.  He 

lived  in  Tooele  until  he  was  a  young  man,  at  which 

time  he  came  to  Gem  Valley,  Idaho  to  work.  He 
worked  for  Frank  C.  Christensen  and  lived  in  the 

Christensen  home  at  Bench,  near  Grace,  Idaho,  for 

one  year  during  1877.  It  was  about  this  time  that  he 
filed  on  a  track  of  land  in  the  Bench  area.  This  tract 

of  land  was  a  United  States  of  America  Govern- 
ment Grant  and  there  was  79.7  acres  in  the  tract. 

It  was  while  working  in  Gem  Valley  that  Ben- 
jamin Clegg  met  ANNA  JANE  WILLIAMS, 

daughter  of  Robert  Hanna  Williams  and  Harriet 
Busenbark  Williams,  both  early  pioneers  of  the west. 

Anna  Jane  Williams  was  born  July  18,  1865  in 

Montpelier,  Bear  Lake  County,  Idaho.  The  Robert 
H.  Williams  family  was  sent  with  the  Charles  C. 

Rich  group  of  L.D.S.  Church  members  to  settle  the 
Bear  Lake  County  area  of  Idaho  in  the  early 

pioneer  days.  Robert  H.  Williams  was  the  first 
presiding  elder  in  the  Ovid  Ward,  near  Montpelier. 
Later  he  was  called  to  be  the  bishop  of  the 

Montpelier  Ward.  The  Williams  family  moved  to 

Montpelier  where  Anna  Jane  was  born. 

The  Robert  H.  Williams  family  moved  to  this 

valley  about  1873.  The  valley  was  then  called  Gen- 
tile Valley.  The  Williams  homestead  was  at  Mound 

Valley.  The  brick  home  that  was  their  family  home 
is  still  standing. 

Anna  Jane  taught  school  in  the  pioneer  school  of 
the  valley.  She  met  Benjamin  Clegg  when  he  first 
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came  to  the  valley.  A  close  friendship  developed 
and  the  couple  was  married  on  December  19,1888 

in  the  Logan  Temple.  They  became  the  parents  of 

six  children,  five  boys  and  one  girl.  They  were  Ben- 
jamin Orson,  Robert  Williams  and  Joseph,  all 

deceased,  Donald  Willard,  who  still  resides  in 
Grace,  Idaho,  William  Dale  and  Anna  Louetta 

Davis,  who  both  live  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 
Benjamin  left  to  fulfill  a  mission  for  the  L.D.S. 

Church  in  Australia  early  in  1897.  It  was  while  he 

was  away  that  his  fourth  son,  Donald,  was  born, 

July  15,  1897.  Anna  Jane  stayed  at  Bench  and 
kept  the  family  together.  They  rented  the  farm  in- 

terests to  neighbors.  This  was  a  three  year  mission 
and  upon  his  return  to  the  valley,  Benjamin  became 
the  first  counselor  to  Bishop  McGee  Harris.  All 
this  area  was  then  a  part  of  the  Trout  Creek  Ward. 
Later  it  became  the  Lago  Ward.  It  has  since  been 
consolidated  with  the  old  Bench  and  Niter  Wards 
and  has  become  known  as  the  Williams  Ward. 

In  the  early  part  of  the  1900's,  Benjamin  and 
Anna  Jane  Williams  Clegg  bought  the  James 
Willard  Hubbard  ranch.  This  home  is  the  track  of 

land  where  the  Donald  W.  and  Lucille  Clegg  family 
now  live.  Benjamin  and  Anna  Jane  moved  their 

family  to  this  home  and  this  is  where  the  family 
grew  up.  They  still  owned  the  original  home  site 
where  Mrs.  Orson  (Laura)  Clegg  now  lives.  Ben- 

jamin also  owned  the  place  where  the  Robert  Clegg 
family  lived. 

Mrs.  Clegg  was  loved  by  all  who  knew  her.  She 
spent  a  useful  vigorous  life  in  the  service  of  her 
church,  her  family,  and  her  community.  She  died 
January  18,  1919  at  her  home  in  Bench.  She  was 
buried  at  the  Grace  Cemetery.  The  funeral  services 
were  held  at  the  family  home  due  to  the  influenza 
epidemic  at  that  time. 

After  the  death  of  his  wife,  Benjamin  turned  the 
farming  land  over  to  his  five  sons  and  daughter  and 
spent  his  remaining  years  doing  genealogy  and  tem- 

ple work.  He  passed  away  on  February  4,  1935  at 
the  age  of  78.  He  was  buried  February  7,  1935  in 
the  Grace  Cemetery. 

BENJAMIN  ORSON  CLEGG  was  born 
December  5,  1889  at  Mound  Valley,  Idaho. 
LAURA  GUNNELL  CLEGG  was  born  October  7, 
1896  at  Wellsville,  Utah.  They  were  married  in 
Pocatello,  Idaho  June  29,  1918.  This  marriage  was 

Orson  and  Laura  Clegg 

later  solemnized  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple  August 
21,  1918.  Their  children  are:  Leo  Gunnell  Clegg, 
Richard  Orson  Clegg,  Warren,  Benjamin  Clegg, 
Thomas  Clegg,  Frank  Deward  Clegg,  Sarah  Ardell 
Clegg  Merrill  and  Dolores  Ann  Clegg  Gilbert. 
They  ran  a  garage  and  farmed  for  many  years. 
Orson  served  a  mission  in  England  and  in  the 

United  States  Army  in  Germany  from  1918  to 
1919.  He  was  a  past  commander  of  the  American 

Legion,  and  President  of  the  Grace  Hog  Pool  from 

its  beginning  until  he  passed  away,  a  period  of  eight 

years. 
Laura  has  been  involved  in  church  work, 

genealogy  work,  as  a  member  of  the  Relief  Society 
Chorus.  She  is  a  member  of  the  Grace  Literary 
Club,  Daughters  of  the  Utah  Pioneers,  American 

Legion  Auxiliary  and  President  of  the  ward  choir 

for  many  years.  She  enjoys  canning  and  baking,  es- 

pecially bread. 
Benjamin  Orson  Clegg  died  December  4,  1945. 

DONALD  WILLARD  CLEGG  was  born  July 
15,  1897  at  Mound  Valley,  Idaho.  He  was  the  son 
of  Benjamin  and  Anna  Jane  Williams  Clegg. 
LUCILLE  CROXALL  was  born  September  7, 

1901  at  Stirling,  Alberta,  Canada  to  Mark  Young 
Croxall  and  Gertrude  Winder  Croxall. 

Don  and  Lucille  were  married  January  17,  1928 

in  the  Salt  Lake  City  Temple  at  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah. 

Don  received  his  early  education  in  the  little 
country  school  in  Bench,  and  later  went  to  the 

Brigham  Young  College  in  Logan,  Utah.  In  1919 
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he  went  on  a  mission  to  the  Northwest.  On  his 

return,  he  was  made  a  counselor  to  Bishop  Robert 

Clegg,  a  position  which  he  held  until  1928  when 
called  to  be  second  counselor  in  the  Stake  Presiden- 

cy. He  was  in  this  position  for  sixteen  years. 
Don  has  been  a  farmer  and  rancher  in  Bench, 

Idaho.  He  has  been  State  President  of  the  Idaho 
Farm  Bureau. 

Lucille's  interests  are  music,  gardening,  and 
writing.  She  was  stake  chorister  for  the  Singing 

Mothers  for  nine  years.  Classical  and  semi-classical 
music  was  rendered,  giving  members  of  the  group 

an  opportunity  to  acquaint  themselves  with  some  of 
the  finest  music.  Lucille  worked  in  the  Y. W.M.I. A. 

for  35  years  in  different  capacities.  She  is  an 

Honorary  Golden  Gleaner. 
Don  and  Lucille  served  in  the  Texas  Mission  in 

1967. 

Don  and  Lucille's  children  are:  Grant,  David, 
Carlie,  Sydney,  Phillip,  and  Eloise. 

JOSEPH  CLEGG,  the  third  son  of  Benjamin 

and  Anna  Jane  Williams  Clegg,  was  born  on 
December  17,  1894,  at  Bench,  Idaho.  His  first 

home  was  a  log  cabin  that  stood  just  across  the 
road  from  the  present  Joe  Clegg  home. 

As  a  boy,  he  was  kept  busy  with  duties  common 
to  all  farm  boys.  One  of  his  tasks  was  to  go  to  the 
mountains  to  hunt  for  cows  that  pastured  there.  At 

the  age  of  nine  he  was  able  to  handle  a  hand  plow 

and  was  able  to  give  considerable  help  to  both  his 
parents  with  all  the  chores  of  the  farm.  He  knew 
and  enjoyed  all  four  of  his  grandparents,  each  of 

whom  lived  to  be  eighty  years  old  or  older. 
He  began  school  when  he  was  six  years  of  age.  At 

first  he  went  to  a  little  log  school  house  in  Bench, 
and  later  attended  a  consolidated  school  in  Niter. 

After  graduation  from  the  eighth  grade,  he  attend- 
ed the  Oneida  Stake  Academy  in  Preston,  Idaho. 

Then  after  two  years  work  on  the  farm,  he  attended 
school  for  one  year  at  the  Brigham  Young  College 

in  Logan,  Utah.  The  next  year  he  accepted  a  posi- 
tion as  an  assistant  to  the  superintendent  at  the 

Uinta  Training  School  in  Salt  Lake  City.  This  job 

lasted  for  only  one  year,  however,  for  it  was  then  at 
the  age  of  21,  that  Joe  enlisted  in  the  United  States 

Marine  Corps.  His  tour  of  duty  lasted  18  months 
beginning  approximately  one  year  prior  to  the  end 
of  World  War  I. 

Upon  returning  home,  Joe  and  his  brother,  Don, 

rented  their  father's  farm.  Later  they  bought  the 
land  and  worked  it  as  partners.  After  about  four 
years  Joe  and  Don  divided  their  property  holdings 
and  Joe  moved  his  family  to  their  present  home 

where  he  resided  happily  until  his  death. 

In  1920  Joe  met  an  attractive  young  school 

teacher  from  Kempton,  Indiana,  by  the  name  of 
ALICE  SCHMEEHR.  This  wonderful  woman  he 

chose  to  be  his  wife,  and  on  Christmas  Eve,  1921, 

they  were  married  at  the  Bannock  County  Court 
house  in  Pocatello,  Idaho.  In  1923  Alice  joined  the 

Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints  and  in 
August  1924,  Joe  and  Alice  had  their  marriage 
solemnized  in  the  L.D.S.  Temple  at  Logan,  Utah. 

Six  children  were  born  to  this  union:  Joseph 
Louis,  Maurice  Vance,  Gwen  Toone,  Norma 

LaRue  Taylor,  Karen  Hubbard,  and  Keith. 

Joseph  Clegg  was  a  member  of  the  108th 
Quorum  of  Seventy  and  served  as  secretary  of  this 

group.  Later  he  was  called  to  serve  as  one  of  the 
presidents  of  the  quorum.  In  1937  he  was  ordained 
a  high  priest  and  sustained  as  first  counselor  to 
Bishop  F.  Blaine  Whitehead  in  the  Bench  Ward 
Bishopric. 

He  was  a  charter  member  of  the  Albert  Van 

Vleet  Post  of  the  American  Legion  in  Grace.  He 
was  a  member  of  the  Grace  Lions  Club.  He  was 

also  a  charter  member  and  very  active  in  the  Idaho 
Farm  Bureau.  He  also  served  as  president  of  the 

Rassmussen  Valley  Cattle  Association  and  director 

of  the  East  Branch  of  the  Last  Chance  Canal  Com- 

pany. He  was  also  on  the  board  of  directors  of  the 

Farmers  Grain  Cooperative  at  Ogden,  Utah.  In  ad- 
dition he  was  a  director  of  the  Gem  Valley 

Dairymen's  Cooperative  Association,  chairman  of 
the  Grace  Cemetery  Board,  and  for  many  years  a 
member  of  the  Bench  School  Board. 

Alice  Ann  Clegg  was  born  January  15.  1898,  in 
the  home  still  owned  by  her  family  in  Jefferson 

Township,  near  Kempton.  Tipton  County.  Indiana. 
She  was  the  only  child  of  Dezmont  Schmeehr  and 
his  wife,  Elizabeth  Samuels  Schmeehr.  While  she 

was  still  very  young  her  parents  were  divorced. 
Later  her  mother  married  George  Frank  Partlow. 
It  was  in  this  home  that  she  grew  up. 

After  graduating  from  the  Kempton  High 
School  Alice  decided  on  a  teaching  career  and  in 

1918,  just  before  the  First  World  War,  she  began 
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Alice  Clegg 

her  first  teaching  term  in  the  Kempton  Indiana 
Elementary  Schools.  She  taught  the  third  and 

fourth  grades  during  the  1918-1919  school  year. 
She  was  one  of  four  teachers  employed  by  this 

school  and  it  was  a  very  successful  and  enjoyable 

year.  That  spring  her  cousin,  Elizabeth  Johnson, 
who  had  been  teaching  in  Idaho,  came  home  for  the 

summer.  She  had  taught  for  two  years  at 

Roseberry,  near  Donnelly,  in  western  Idaho,  and 
wanted  Alice  to  come  out  west  with  her,  so  in  the 

spring  of  1919  she  considered  this  move. 
At  this  time  in  Idaho  history,  most  of  the 

teachers  of  the  western  country  were  eastern  men 

and  women  employed  through  teachers  agencies. 
So  in  the  early  summer  of  1919,  Alice  joined  the 
Northwestern  Teachers  Agency  in  Boise,  Idaho. 

Among  the  vacancies  offered  her  was  a  school  at 
Bench,  near  Grace,  Idaho.  There  was  a  post  office 
at  Bench  then.  In  considering  this  school  she  was  a 

bit  skeptical  for  fear  it  was  an  Indian  school,  as  the 
area  was  near  the  reservation  of  Southeast  Idaho. 

This  school  offered  by  far  a  better  salary,  much 

better  than  the  Indiana  schools  were  paying,  so  she 
applied  and  was  accepted.  Her  cousin,  Elizabeth 
Johnson,  was  returning  to  the  same  school  at 

Roseberry,  so  she  and  Alice  left  in  September, 
1919,  for  what  was  to  be  a  new  exciting  venture  for 
her. 

Alice  was  met  in  Grace  by  Mrs.  Esther  N.  Peter- 
son and  her  three  children,  LeOra,  Leathel  and 

Naomia.  They  took  her  home  with  them  and  their 

home  became  her  home  for  the  next  three  years. 
Mrs.  Peterson  was  to  become  her  new  landlady  and 
godmother  in  this  new  land. 

It  was  while  in  this  community  that  she  met  and 
married   Joseph   Clegg   on    December   24,    1921. 

They  were  later  sealed  in  the  Logan  Temple, 

August  1,  1924.  Joseph  and  Alice  have  spent  their 
entire  lives  in  the  same  home  she  came  to  live  in 

with  Mrs.  Esther  Peterson  as  a  young  school 

teacher.  They  eventually  bought  the  home  and 
farm. 

She  has  worked  for  many  years  in  the  Relief 

Society  and  in  the  Primary.  She  is  also  a  charter 
member  of  the  American  Legion  Auxilliary  and 

has  held  about  every  office  in  that  organization. 

She  has  always  loved  gardening  and  flowers  and 
has  loved  to  spend  many  hours  in  her  yard.  There 
were  times  when  she  sold  produce,  such  as 
cucumbers,  cabbage  and  berries  from  their  large 

family  garden. 
At  the  time  of  this  writing  Alice  has  just 

celebrated  her  seventy-ninth  birthday  on  January 

15,  1977. 

HERBERT  DENNIS  COLLINS  was  the  oldest 

son  of  Hirum  and  Elizabeth  (Bennett)  Collins.  He 

was  baptized  on  July  5,  1924,  in  the  ditch  above  the 
Collins  homestead  in  Gentile  Valley  by  Benjamin 

Clegg.  He  was  thirty-four  years  old  at  the  time. 
Herbert  married  MARY  LUCILLE  MUNOZ 

on  the  16th  of  April,  1916.  Mary  Lucille  Munoz 

was  born  April  10,  1896  to  Louis  Antonio  Munoz 

and  Liberty  (Germand)  Munoz  in  Blanco,  San 
Juan,  New  Mexico. 

They  moved  on  to  the  homestead  in  Gentile 

Valley  three  days  before  they  were  married.  Hirum 
divided  his  ranch  between  his  two  sons,  Herbert 

and  Jonathan.  Jonathan  sold  his  rights  for  $1,300 
while  Herbert  worked  hard  to  make  a  home  for  this 

family.  Herbert  had  a  great  love  for  horses  and  he 
raised  them  along  with  cattle  and  crops. 

Herbert  and  Lucy  had  seven  children  as  follows: 
Virginia  Lucille,  born  March  4,  1917  (killed  at  the 
age  of  13  as  a  result  of  a  fall  from  a  horse);  Charles 
Herbert,  born  March  26,  1918;  Joseph  Dennis, 
born  July  24,  1920;  Flora  Liberty,  born  May  19, 
1925;  LaRene  (Brenda),  born  March  19,  1928; 

Margaret  (Mickey),  born  April  12,  1931,  and 
Isabel  (Penny),  born  March  2,  1937. 

Herbert  died  of  cancer  and  diabetes  in  Ogden, 

Utah  on  January  30,  1949.  He  is  buried  in  the 
Grace  cemetery.  After  his  death,  Lucy  married 
Warden  Nedjle  and  she  lives  in  Ogden,  Utah  at  this 
time  (1977). 
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HIRIJM  COLLINGS  was  the  second  son  of 

Robert  Collins  and  Mary  Jane  (Mayberry)  Collins. 
He  was  born  April  3,  1851  in  Meadow  Millard, 
Utah.  Hirum  came  to  Idaho  and  homesteaded  on 

land  adjoining  that  of  his  parents  in  Gentile  Valley. 
He  is  credited  with  helping  to  build  the  first 
meeting  house  in  Franklin,  Idaho. 
Hirum  married  ELIZABETH  LUCYANN 

BENNETT,  born  on  May  24,  1861,  to  Alfred  and 

LucyAnn  Saxey  Bennett,  in  Payson,  Utah.  They 
were  married  in  1878. 

Hirum  and  Elizabeth  were  the  parents  of  the 

following  children:  Ora  Elizabeth  (August  8,  1879), 
Hilda  (April  3,  1881),  Herbert  Dennis  (Nov.  14, 
1883),  Zelda  (October,  1885),  Nora  (November  14, 

1887),  Annette  (July  12,  1889— died  in  1891) 
Jonathan  David  (April  6,1891),  Daniel  Frances 

(October  15,  1893— died  November  20,  1893). 
Hirum  died  of  cancer  when  he  was  61  years  of 

age  on  July  15,  1918.  His  wife  passed  away  in  1894. 
They  are  both  buried  in  Gentile  Valley. 

Hirum's  strongest  desire  was  that  his  farm  would 
be  handed  down  through  the  family  and  kept  in  the 
Collins  name. 

MARY  JANE  COLLINS,  the  daughter  of  John 

and  Mary  Mayberry,  was  born  March  7,  1818,  in 
Hickman  County,  Tennessee.  She  was  the  second 
child  in  a  family  of  six. 

From  Tennessee  her  family  journeyed  to  Jackson 

County,  Missouri  with  a  group  of  Latter-day 
Saints.  Because  of  the  abuse  of  their  religion,  they 

were  forced  to  leave  their  homes.  Mary  was  thir- 
teen years  of  age  at  the  time.  They  settled  first  in 

Clay  County,  Missouri  and  from  there  to  Caldwell 

County.  When  Mary  was  eighteen  they  moved 
across  the  frozen  Mississippi  River  and  settled  in 
Commerce. 

When  Mary  was  22  years  old  she  and  her  mother 
were  members  of  the  Relief  Society  in  Nauvoo.  At 
this  time  the  Prophet  Joseph  Smith  was  forced  to 

hide  in  the  homes  of  friends  to  escape  the  angry 

mobs.  Mary's  family  were  among  the  friends  with 

whom  he  stayed.  In  1845  Mary's  family  were  to  go 
with  the  first  company  west  to  find  a  new  home,  but 

only  one  brother,  Gabriel,  made  the  journey  to  Salt 
Lake,  arriving  there  on  October  4,  1847.  Mary  and 
the  rest  of  the  family  remained  in  Nauvoo. 

Many    people   came   to   make   their   home   in 

Nauvoo  at  this  time  and  among  them  was  a  young 
man  named  Robert  Collins.  Robert  was  born  in 

Hansworth,  Norfolk,  England  in  December  of 

1822.  He  was  baptized  into  the  Latter-day  Saints 
Church  in  Nauvoo  on  December  7,  1842.  He  was 

ordained  a  seventy  at  the  age  of  22  in  Nauvoo, 
Illinois. 

Robert  Collins  and  Mary  Jane  Mayberry  were 

married  in  the  Nauvoo  temple  on  February  6,  1846. 
There  is  no  record  of  when  they  immigrated  to 

Utah  but  it  is  recorded  in  the  Journal  History  of  the 
Church  that  Robert  Collins  was  rebaptized  on  July 
5,  1848  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 

Their  first  son  was  born  in  1849  and  named 

Joseph;  the  second  son  was  born  April  3,  1851  and 
named  Hirum,  the  boys  being  named  after  the 
Prophet  and  the  Patriarch.  A  daughter  named 

Mary  was  born  in  1853. 
Mary  and  family  moved  to  Franklin,  Idaho  in 

1863,  living  in  the  Fort  when  the  terrible  battle  took 
place  between  the  Indians  and  the  settlers.  During 
this  battle  a  great  many  Indians  were  killed  by  the 
soldiers  who  had  been  sent  from  Fort  Douglas, 
Utah. 

Their  daughter,  Mary,  grew  up  to  be  a  beautiful 

young  woman  but  died  of  typhoid  fever  in  1869. 
At  a  meeting  held  in  the  church  office  in  Salt 

Lake  City,  Utah,  around  1870,  Robert  Collins  was 
among  the  25  men  who  signified  their  willingness  to 
pioneer  and  settle  the  new  territory  in  Idaho.  The 
Collins  were  among  the  first  settlers  to  arrive  in 

Gentile  Valley.  Here  they  took  up  land  under  the 

Homestead  act  and  began  farming.  In  time  their 
sons,  Joseph  and  Hirum,  took  up  adjoining  land, 

raising  grain,  alfalfa,  and  truck  farming  or  garden- 
ing. They  hauled  their  produce  to  Soda  Springs 

twice  a  week,  which  was  twenty  miles  away,  but  the 
closest  market. 

Robert  Collins  was  a  sailor  and  loved  the  sea.  He 

didn't  stay  home  on  the  farm,  but  came  occasional- 
ly to  see  how  his  family  was  getting  along.  Mary 

and  her  two  sons  filled  their  pioneering  mission 
with  honor. 

There  is  no  record  of  Robert  Collins'  death,  but 
Mary  Jane  Mayberry  Collins  lived  to  the  age  of  67. 

She  passed  away  in  1887  and  was  buried  in  the 

family  plot  in  Gentile  Valley. 

ROBERT  C.  COMISH  was  born  at  Cove,  Utah, 
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January  5,  1880.  His  parents  were  Robert  Nephi 
and  Emma  Jane  Howland  Comish.  His  father  was 

one  of  the  pioneers  that  went  back  to  Winter 

Quarters  to  help  poor  pioneers  across  the  plains. 
He  married  VIOLET  MAY  CHATTERTON, 

December  9,  1903,  in  the  Logan  Temple.  Violet 
was  born  at  Franklin,  Idaho,  May  7,  1885.  They 

lived  at  Cove  and  ran  his  portion  of  his  father's 
farm  for  a  few  years,  then  in  May  1910,  they 

bought  a  farm  two  miles  northwest  of  Grace  from 
Dave  Sullivan. 

Robert  had  determination  and  great  wisdom, 

this  was  illustrated  by  an  experience  he  had  on  an 

Idaho  jury.  He  hung  up  the  jury  for  hours  defen- 
ding a  man  accused  of  murder.  He  stoutly  main- 

tained that  the  man  was  innocent,  but  the  other 

jurors  thought  differently.  He  finally  convinced 
them  of  the  soundness  of  his  belief  so  the  prisoner 

was  released.  A  few  days  later  another  man  con- 
fessed to  committing  the  crime.  The  other  jurors 

were  grateful  to  him,  for  not  letting  them  make  a 

terrible  mistake.  He  was  an  honest,  hardworking 
man  and  was  a  good  farmer  and  neighbor.  Violet 

held  several  church  positions  in  the  Relief  Society 
and  Mutual  presidency.  Many  times  she  walked  to 
town  to  attend  her  Relief  Society  meeting  when  she 

didn't  have  a  ride.  They  were  blessed  with  five 
children,  Robert  Lester,  Libbie  C,  Nola  C,  Bennie 
C,  and  Irene. 

Robert  died  at  the  age  of  52,  on  May  2,  1932,  in 

the  Caribou  Hospital  of  an  operation  for  ruptured 
ulcers  of  the  stomach.  A  few  years  later  Violet 

married  CHRIS.  W.  CHRISTENSEN  on  August 
30,  1938.  They  lived  in  Bancroft,  Grace,  and 
Pocatello.  He  went  on  a  mission  to  California  the 

first  part  of  1944  and  she  joined  him  on  a  mission 

about  a  year  later.  She  made  a  wonderful  mis- 
sionary. After  they  returned  home  they  built  a 

home  in  Grace,  with  the  help  of  their  sons  and  sons- 

in-law.  He  died  May  22,  1948  from  cancer  of  the 
stomach  and  she  died  eight  days  later  on  May  30, 
1948  of  a  stroke. 

Libbie  remembers  her  father  as  a  very  hard 

working  man.  He  and  his  neighbors  would  go  to  the 
canyon  in  the  winter  for  wood,  leaving  early  in  the 

morning  and  wouldn't  get  home  until  late  at  night, 
but  they  always  brought  home  big  loads  of  wood. 
In  the  winter  Robert  would  go  to  the  river  and  cut 

big  blocks  of  ice  and  then  put  them  in  an  ice  house 

and  cover  it  with  sawdust  to  keep  it  from  melting, 

so  they  could  keep  their  milk  and  cream  and  butter 
cold.  Libbie  remembers  how  good  the  milk  used  to 
taste  when  taken  cold  from  the  ice  house. 

Joseph  Condie 
Minnie  Condie 

The  following  history  was  written  by  JOSEPH 
CONDIE. 

I  was  born  in  Croyden,  Morgan  County,  Utah, 
June  7,  1868.  Son  of  Gibson  and  Elizabeth  Robin- 

son Condie.  I  lived  there  during  my  childhood  and 
attended  school. 

I  homesteaded  160  acres  in  Croyden.  I  worked  in 

the  mines  at  .Almy,  Wyoming  for  two  or  three 
months.  From  here  I  went  to  work  on  a  ranch  for 

John  N.  Whitney.  This  job  lasted  about  six  years. 
At  the  age  of  23  I  was  asked  to  give  up  my  bad 

habits  (tea  and  coffee)  and  go  on  a  mission.  In  the 

spring  of  1891  I  was  called  to  a  Southern  Florida 
State  Mission.  I  served  with  President  Albert 

Smith  as  a  companion.  I  returned  in  December  of 
1893. 

I  lived  in  Croyden  from  1893  until  1895  and 
farmed  on  a  partnership  basis  with  George 

Thackeray  and  my  brother  Gibb.  We  sold  out  to 
George  Thackeray  for  $4,500,  then  moved  to 
Preston,  Idaho  and  bought  a  160  acre  dry  farm 

from  Samuel  Young  and  also  40  acres  near  the 

depot.  Two  years  later  we  bought  ten  acres  on  the 
corner,  one  mile  north  and  one  mile  east  of  town. 

We  later  bought  20  more  acres  on  the  same  corner, 
and  built  our  home  there. 

I  was  married  to  MINNIE  JOHNSON, 

daughter  of  Martin  and  Karen  Caroline  Johnson  in 
1899  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple.  We  bought  the 

400  acre  Armstrong  Ranch  with  my  brother  Gibb 
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as  a  partner.  About  1903  or  1904  we  divided  our 

partnership.  I  bought  my  brother  Gibb  out  for  $5,- 
500  and  paid  this  debt  off  the  same  year. 

Ida  Condie 

I  was  called  on  a  mission  to  England  in  the  spr- 
ing of  1908.  I  left  my  wife  and  four  children,  Fern, 

Viola,  Orlando,  and  Zetta  to  run  the  place  for  me, 

with  the  help  of  my  brother  George  and  my 

brother-in-law  Henry  Johnson.  My  wife  made 
enough  money  to  support  me  and  to  build  two 
rooms  on  the  house.  I  gave  half  of  the  Armstrong 

Ranch  to  my  brother  George  for  running  it  for  me. 

I  returned  from  my  mission  to  England  in  1910. 

My  wife  died  in  the  fall  of  191 1,  after  giving  birth  to 

a  son  Grant,  which  brother  George  and  my  wife's 
sister  Caroline  raised  as  their  own. 

I  sent  to  England  for  a  young  English  boy  who 
lived  with  us  until  he  married.  I  married  IDA 

EMMA  BAKER  from  Boulder,  Utah  in  1913  in  the 

Logan  L.D.S.  Temple  and  lived  in  Preston  until  our 
home  burned  down  in  the  summer  of  1919.  Just 

prior  to  this  I  had  purchased  a  ranch  at  Thatcher, 
Idaho  and  we  made  this  our  home.  Four  children 

were  born  to  the  second  wife:  William,  Lila, 
Phyllis,  and  Reed.  At  this  time  I  sold  the 

Armstrong  Ranch  to  my  brother  George. 

I  also  served  three  home  missions,  two  in  Onieda 

County  and  one  in  Bannock  County.  I  lived  in 
Thatcher,  Idaho  until  1943. 

Ida  Emma  Baker  Condie  was  born  July  21,1 880, 
at  Richfield,  Utah.  They  were  married  December  3, 
1913. 

Joseph  and  Ida  moved  to  Mound  Valley  in  June, 

1919.  They  had  two  children  at  that  time,  William 
G.  and  Lila.  There  was  a  log  house  on  the  place  at 

Spring  Creek,  and  they  built  more  rooms  onto  this. 

Phyllis  and  Reed  were  born  here.  The  four 

youngest  children  attended  school  at  Mound  Valley 
and  high  school  at  Thatcher. 

Ida  did  nursing  in  most  of  the  homes  in  the 

valley,  and  surrounding  communities,  delivering 
twins  to  Mae  Bennett  before  the  doctor  could 

arrive.  She  held  almost  every  office  in  the  Mound 
Valley  Relief  Society. 

Joseph  was  a  good  farmer  and  didn't  go  out 
much  except  to  church.  He  was  a  hard  worker  and 

enjoyed  farming  and  cattle  raising. 

To  this  marriage  four  children  were  born: 
William,  Lila,  Phyllis,  and  Reed. 

Joseph  Condie  passed  away  in  1947  and  Ida  is 

making  her  home  in  Coeur  d'  Alene,  Idaho,  where 
Reed  and  Phyllis  are  living.  She  is  96  years  old. 

The  following  are  tributes  from  a  son  and  a 

daughter: 

My  father  was  a  good  member  of  the  Church  of 

Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints  and  he  considered 
it  a  privilege  to  serve  the  Lord.  He  never  refused  a 
call  to  serve  the  Lord.  He  gave  freely  of  his  time, 
talents,  and  means  to  build  the  Church  of  God  on 
earth. 

He  was  a  great  man  of  faith.  With  the  help  of  the 
Lord,  he  had  enough  faith  to  raise  many  people 
from  their  beds  of  affliction.  Because  of  his  faith, 

two  of  his  children  are  now  living. 

My  father  was  an  honest  man  and  be  believed 
that  it  was  better  to  give  than  to  receive. 

Orland  J.  Condie 

I  remember  my  father  as  being  very  kind,  gentle, 

and  generous.  He  tried  to  teach  his  family  to  be 

righteous.  He  was  a  good  father,  not  a  faithful 
church  goer,  but  he  read  the  books  and  lived  the 
Word  of  Wisdom. 

He  could  not  live  without  companionship  with 

his  neighbors.  I  can't  remember  the  number  of 
times  he  put  strangers  up  for  the  night.  Food,  bed, 
and  caring  for  their  horses.  The  only  punishment  I 
ever  received  was  love. 

Zetta  Corbett 

Biographies  1800's  —  363 



Titus  and  Blanche  Coombs 

TITUS  W.  COOMBS  was  born  August  12,  1899 

at  Thurber  or  Bicknell,  Wayne  County,  Utah. 

BLANCHE  ALLEN  was  born  March  31,  1902 

in  Teasdale,  Wayne  County,  Utah. 

Titus  and  Blanche  were  married  November  22, 

1923  in  the  Logan  Temple  at  Logan,  Utah. 

Five  children  blessed  this  happy  home:  William 
L.,  Eileen  Smith,  David  A.,  Etta  Coombs,  and 

Evelyn  C.  Jensen. 

Titus  has  been  a  farmer  and  stock  raiser.  He  en- 

joys traveling,  rock  hunting,  genealogy,  and  temple 
work. 

Blanche  likes  singing,  knitting,  hand  work,  tem- 
ple work,  and  genealogy.  She  enjoys  everything 

about  home  making. 

FREDERICK  MARKS  COOPER  was  born  on 

February  4,  1892,  at  Bingham  Canyon,  Utah,  the 

son  of  Frederick  Alfred  Cooper  and  Margaret 
Alice  Jenkins.  His  father  was  a  gold  miner. 

When  he  was  two  years  of  age,  his  parents  moved 
to  South  Jordan.  The  place  to  which  they  moved 

belonged  to  Fred's  grandfather.  They  farmed  it  on 
a  rental  basis  for  two  years.  Then  they  bought  a 
place  in  West  Jordan,  down  by  the  Jordan  River. 

Fred  lived  there  until  he  was  twelve  years  old.  The 
house  was  log  with  a  dirt  roof,  one  lumber  room, 

Fred  Cooper Cora  Cooper 

and  a  small  shanty.  There  were  two  cellars  on  the 

place,  one  of  which  had  been  constructed  in  the  ear- 
ly history  of  the  Mormon  pioneers  and  was  provid- 
ed with  a  heavy  plank  door  on  hinges  with  a  huge 

bolt  and  a  porthole  through  which  a  rifle  could  be 
pointed  to  protect  themselves  against  marauding 
Indians  and  renegade  whites  who  occasionally 

drove  away  stock  of  the  pioneers. 

After  graduating  from  Jordan  High  School,  and 

spending  one  year  at  Brigham  Young  University, 
and  having  taken  a  course  in  banking,  Fred  worked 

for  several  years  in  different  banks  located  at  Ver- 
nal and  Gransville,  Utah. 

During  one  summer,  he  met  CORA  HALE,  and 
they  became  considerably  more  than  just  friends. 
After  a  reasonable  length  of  time,  they  became 

engaged  and  were  married  on  December  20,  1911, 
and  lived  at  Grantsville  for  approximately  two  and 
one-half  years. 

In  May  1914,  they  moved  to  Grace,  Idaho.  The 

first  summer  they  moved  into  a  one-room  building 
with  a  shanty  adjoining,  that  was  inhabited  by  mice 
and  squirrels,  which  they  trapped  and  moved  out  in 
order  that  they  could  move  in.  It  was  merely  a 
shelter  from  the  rains.  That  summer,  the  frost  came 

on  June  21  and  22,  which  destroyed  almost  all  the 

fall  wheat  which  had  been  planted  on  the  place 

when  they  purchased  it.  They  knew  it  was  impossi- 
ble for  them  to  live  in  the  place  they  were  staying  so 

they  started  to  build  a  house.  Fred  dug  the  founda- 
tion and  the  basement  with  a  pick  and  shovel  and 

hauled  the  gravel  from  Larson's  Pit  which  was  six 
miles  away  with  a  four  horse  team  and  hauled  all 

the  plaster  sand  from  the  Larkin's  Pit  which  was 
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twelve  miles  distant,  much  of  it  up  hill.  Thurber 

Johnson  was  carpenter  and  builder,  and  by  fall,  the 
house  was  lathed,  plastered,  and  shingled  and  they 
moved  into  two  front  rooms. 

They  now  owned  two  cows,  about  a  dozen 

chickens,  and  three  or  four  hogs.  They  took  grist  to 
the  Bancroft  Mill,  had  the  wheat  ground  into  flour 

and  mush  meal  and  logged  wood  from  the  canyon 
for  fuel. 

For  the  first  five  years,  they  took  little  part  in 
public  affairs  except  to  attend  church. 

For  a  number  of  years,  it  seemed  that  they  were 
to  have  several  disappointments,  frost,  hail,  and 

drought,  accompanied  by  low  prices. 

About  the  first  civilian  position  Fred  held  was 
director  of  the  Tanner  Canal  in  1919.  In  1923  he 

was  made  a  director  of  the  Last  Chance  Canal 

Company. 

By  1919  they  had  accumulated  about  ten  or 
twelve  holstein  cows,  heavy  milkers,  and  they  took 
very  good  care  of  them,  and  so  they  were  making  a 
much  better  living  than  they  had  been  accustomed 
to  since  coming  to  Grace.  They  raised  a  bunch  of 

hogs  and  sold  them  in  the  fall  of  1919  and  bought  a 
model  T  Ford  car. 

In  those  days  there  were  no  buses,  so  the 

children,  Mark,  Irene  and  Margaret  rode  to  school 
on  horseback,  four  miles,  summer  and  winter.  At 

times  the  weather  would  be  30  degrees  below  zero, 
but  they  still  went  to  school.  During  the  most  severe 

part  of  the  winter,  they  rented  an  upstairs  apart- 
ment in  the  Moroni  Lowe  home  and  the  girls  cook- 

ed for  themselves  during  the  week  as  best  they 
could  and  attended  school  at  Grace. 

Fred  was  secretary  of  the  Y. M.M.I.  A.  from  1918 
to  1922  and  was  on  the  stake  board  of  the 

Y. M.M.I. A.  He  made  many  trips  to  Thatcher, 
Cleveland,  Lago,  Grace  Ward  and  Central  Ward. 
Many  times  he  went  on  a  sleigh  and  often  times  on 
horseback.  He  became  a  member  of  the  Stake  High 

Council  in  1929,  and  held  this  position  for  twenty- 
three  years.  He  also  served  on  the  high  school 
board  for  seventeen  years.  He  was  chairman  of  the 
Bear  River  Compact  Commission  from  1942  until 
1955.  In  1952  he  was  elected  to  the  Idaho  State 

Senate  from  Caribou  County.  He  was  re-elected  in 

1954  and  was  chairman  of  the  Irrigation  and  Water 
Resources  Committee.  He  was  the  state  president 
of  the  Idaho  State  Reclamation  Assn.  in  1953. 

He  was  re-elected  to  the  State  Senate  from 

Caribou  County  to  serve  during  the  1956-57 
session. 
Fred  and  Cora  had  five  children,  Mark 

(deceased),  Irene,  Margaret,  Theone,  and  Ruth. 
Fred  died  on  August  3,  1961. 

WILLIAM  CORBETT  born  October  24,  1873  in 
Smithfield,  Utah. 

ANNIE  CHRISTINA  PETERSEN  born  April 
26,  1875  at  Richmond,  Utah.  Married  December 

24,  1896  at  Logan,  Utah.  The  marriage  was  solem- 
nized in  the  Logan  Temple  1907.  Born  to  this  union 

were  ten  children:  William  E.  Corbett,  Emily  Rae 

Corbett  Allsop,  Ethel  Corbett  Sorensen,  Irma 

Corbett  (baby  deceased),  Daniel  Hans  Corbett, 
Berniece  Ruth  Corbett  Titus,  Mildred  Annie 
Corbett  Ashbaker,  Dr.  Glen  W.  Corbett,  Florence 

Corbett  Panter,  Bishop  O.  LeRoy  Corbett. 
In  their  early  married  life  they  became  active  in 

the  L.D.S.  Church  serving  in  the  following 

capacities:  Sister  Corbett  in  the  Relief  Society  and 
Primary  and  Brother  Corbett  as  Sunday  School 

Superintendent,  and  later  Counselor  in  the 
Bishopric.  From  1911  to  1913  he  served  a  mission 
in  the  Central  States.  On  his  return  home  he  was 

called  to  serve  as  Bishop  of  the  Turner  Ward  ser- 
ving in  this  position  for  four  years.  In  1921  they 

moved  from  the  farm  into  Grace,  Idaho.  Here  he 

served  as  High  Councilman  and  in  various  other 

ward  positions. 

Throughout  their  life  they  were  engaged  in  far- 
ming. In  the  year  1900  they  arrived  in  this  valley 

homesteading  160  acres  in  the  Turner  area,  later 

acquiring  other  property  in  that  locality. 

They  were  instrumental  in  helping  to  ac- 
complish the  Last  Chance  Water  Project  thus 

bringing  irrigation  to  the  land.  William  Corbett 
held  many  responsible  positions  in  the  community 

acting  as:  President  and  Director  of  the  area  canals; 
School  Trustee;  Vice  President  and  Director  of 
Grace  First  National  Bank. 

In  1916  he  leased  his  holdings  to  Utah  Idaho 

Sugar  Company  and  served  as  foreman  in  their  in- 
terests. 
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As  parents  they  recognized  the  value  in  educa- 
tion and  the  cultural  training  of  their  family.  They 

encouraged  and  provided  the  opportunity  for  each 
child  to  gain  this  in  their  field  of  choice. 

John  and  Elizabeth  Dalton 

JOHN  A.  DALTON  was  born  in  Willard,  Utah 
on  October  26,  1858.  ELIZABETH  COOK  was 

born  on  November  2,  1860,  also  in  Willard.  They 
attended  the  same  school,  the  Willard  Elementary, 
and  all  the  entertainments  that  the  young  folks 
usually  made  for  themselves.  Evan  Stevens  started 

his  musical  career  in  Willard,  and  they  both  belong- 
ed to  his  singing  group.  John  had  a  good  base  voice, 

and  Elizabeth  was  a  good  alto.  Evan  Stevens  also 

composed  operettas  in  which  Elizabeth  took  part. 
She  belonged  to  the  Home  Dramatic  Association, 

too,  and  took  part  in  the  plays  until  after  she  was 
married,  and  the  mother  of  three  babies. 

When  John  was  a  young  man  about  1876-77,  he 
went  on  a  mission  to  the  Indians.  This  was  a  work 
mission  to  teach  them  how  to  farm.  There  were 

several  other  young  men.  They  learned  to  talk  to 

the  Indians  and  had  some  good  times  dancing  with 
the  Indians.  Their  only  music  was  a  Tom  Tom  and 

songs  which  were  sung  by  those  dancing.  This  was 
up  near  Malad,  and  is  now  the  Washakee  Indian 

Reservation.  After  they  moved  to  Grace,  and  when 

they  had  celebrations  for  the  24th  of  July  in  the  ear- 
ly days,  John  was  always  the  big  Indian  chief,  and 

with  his  braves  would  have  a  sham  battle  with  the 

pioneers.  They  would  carry  off  some  of  the 

children,  and  so  forth.  This  was  always  interesting 
and  exciting,  especially  for  the  children. 

John  and  Elizabeth  were  married  in  January, 

1880  in  the  Endowment  House  in  Salt  Lake  City, 
before  the  temple  was  built.  The  first  six  years  of 

their  married  life  were  spent  in  Willard.  In  1886 

they  moved  to  Elba,  Idaho.  They  lived  there  four 
years,  then  moved  back  to  Willard  and  lived  there 
until  the  fall  of  1898.  At  that  time  they  moved  to 

Gem  Valley,  or  Gentile  Valley,  as  it  was  called  in 
those  early  days. 

In  June  of  1898  John  went  to  Blackfoot,  and  filed 

on  a  homestead  of  160  acres,  it  was  a  mile  long,  a 

quarter  of  a  mile  wide,  north  and  just  east  of  the  ice 
cave  knoll.  The  land  was  barren,  just  sage  brush, 

lava  rocks  and  badger  holes.  There  was  no  water, 
and  no  buildings  of  any  kind.  They  moved  out  on 
the  farm  on  June  1,  1899.  The  town  of  Grace  con- 

sisted of  four  little  log  cabins  with  dirt  roofs.  Olaf 
Olsen  lived  on  the  corner  where  the  bank  is  now. 

John  Allsop's  family  lived  across  the  street  to  the 
east. Across  the  street,  south  and  back  a  little  was 

the  George  Hamp  home,  and  across  the  street 
about  where  Sanders  is  now,  Harry  Hughes  lived. 

A  few  years  later  Chris  Poulsen  bought  his  place. 

Everyone  had  to  haul  water  from  Bear  River.  They 
hauled  it  in  big  barrels  for  at  least  three  years,  four 
miles  distance. 

That  first  year  their  children,  Lizzie  and  Rozilla, 

helfjed  their  father  put  a  fence  up  around  the  farm 

and  get  some  crops  in.  He  had  his  back  injured 
when  he  was  a  young  man  and  it  bothered  him  at 
times  all  the  rest  of  his  life.  Some  times  he  could 

hardly  move  or  straighten  up,  and  because  of  this 

he  became  quite  stooped,  especially  in  his  declining 

years. For  quite  a  number  of  years  after  they  were  settl- 
ed on  the  farm  and  in  the  spring  when  they  began 

shearing  sheep,  John  would  go  north  of  Soda  and 

get  a  job  shearing  sheep.  This  helped  him  have  a  lit- 
tle income  to  provide  for  his  growing  family.  It  was 

about  this  time  that  they  were  trying  to  get  the  Last 
Chance  Dam  built  so  they  could  get  water  out  on 
the  land.  This  was  really  a  big  job  with  the 

machinery  and  tools  they  had  to  work  with  in  those 
days.  John  worked  along  with  the  rest  of  the  men 
and  did  his  share  in  accomplishing  this  in  1902. 

The  family  lived  on  the  farm  until  1910.  They 

purchased  a  lot  in  Grace  and  built  a  home,  but  con- 
tinued to  run  the  farm  for  quite  a  few  years  longer. 

They  had  a  big  lot  in  back  of  the  house,  fruit  trees, 

a  big  raspberry  patch,  a  nice  lawn,  and  always  a  lot 
of  beautiful  flowers.  They  raised  a  family  of  twelve, 

six  boys  and  six  girls  in  this  order:  Lizzie,  John, 
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Rozilla,  Mary,  Elsie,  George,  Pearl,  Asel,  Jennie, 

Raymond,  Clyde,  and  Floyd. 
Elizabeth  never  went  to  a  doctor  in  her  life;  all  of 

her  babies  were  delivered  at  home  with  just  the  aid 
of  a  midwife  and  maybe  a  neighbor.  When  she  was 
past  70  years  old,  she  was  really  sick  with 
pneumonia.  The  doctor  called  at  her  home  and 

gave  her  some  medication.  In  June  of  1948,  she  suf- 
fered a  stroke  and  only  lived  eight  days,  passing 

away  at  home  on  February  4,1948  at  the  age  of  87. 

Just  a  few  days  before  her  death,  she  said,  "I've 
been  lying  here  figuring  up  my  doctor  bills,  and  in 

all  my  life  they  are  less  than  one  dollar,  and  that  in- 

cludes my  false  teeth.  How  is  that  for  a  record?" 
John  lived  almost  two  years  longer.  He  passed 

away  on  December  10,  1949  in  the  Soda  Springs 

hospital  at  the  age  of  ninety-one.  They  are  both 
buried  in  the  Grace  Cemetary. 

GEORGE  M.  D ALTON  was  born  February  1, 
1891  in  Willard,  Utah.  Hazel  was  born  in  Niedorf 

Posen,  Germany  on  April  13,  1893.  George  and 
HAZEL  K.  were  married  November  15,  1922  in  the 

Salt  Lake  L.D.S.  Temple. 

George  was  a  farmer  and  served  as  a  Bishop.  He 
passed  away  October  10,  1967. 

Hazel  came  to  the  United  States  when  she  was 

six  months  old  with  her  parents.  Her  parents  were 
converts  to  the  L.D.S.  Church.  She  has  worked  in 

the  Relief  Society.  She  enjoys  quilting. 
George  and  Hazel  had  the  following  children: 

Roma,  Jay,  Marlyn,  Dorothy,  and  Dallas. 

George  and  Hazel  Dalton 

James  and  Zina  Egan 

JAMES  ALVA  EGAN  was  born  February  16, 

1888.  He  was  an  energetic  young  man,  with  a  zest 
for  living,  came  to  the  beautiful  Gem  Valley  about 
1908.  Alva  quit  school  and  before  he  was  13,  he 

started  working  on  the  railroad  where  he  learned 

the  carpenter  trade  and  later  became  a  highly  skill- 
ed craftsman. 

At  the  age  of  20  he  began  operating  a  threshing 
machine. 

One  day  while  Alva  and  his  crew  were  threshing 
for  F.  C.  Christensen,  Zina,  a  14  year  old  daughter 
of  Christensen,  and  her  two  cousins  noticed  that 

Alva  was  hanging  his  outside  coveralls  on  the 

house,  before  going  in  the  house  to  eat  his  dinner. 
The  only  way  to  reach  the  upstairs  bedroom  was  by 
the  use  of  a  ladder.  They  hung  the  overalls  high  on 

the  building,  accessible  only  by  a  ladder,  and  went 
upstairs  and  waited.  Soon  Alva  appeared,  spotted 

his  overalls,  climbed  up  and  got  them,  came  down 
and  removed  the  ladder.  The  three  sat  in  the 

doorway  upstairs  for  over  an  hour  before  Alva's 
brother.  Bud,  came  along,  had  a  good  laugh  and 

replaced  the  ladder. 

On  that  day,  Alva  predicted  to  F.  C. 

Christensen,  Sr.,  "Someday,  I'm  going  to  marry 

your  daughter." ZINA  CHRISTENSEN  was  born  October  16, 

1894.  She  didn't  see  Alva  again  until  the  following 
winter  at  a  dance.  They  started  keeping  company 

in  January  1911.  They  were  married  in  the  Logan 

Temple  January  24,  1912.  Alva  built  their  first 
home,  which  consisted  of  two  rooms,  a  pantry,  and 
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a  clothes  closet.  Later  they  added  three  more  rooms 
and  a  basement.  It  has  since  been  remodeled,  and 

still  it  proudly  stands. 

Alva  and  Zina  are  the  parents  of  one  boy  and  six 

girls.  Alva  said,  "We  had  one  boy  and  then  filled  up 

the  back  yard  with  girls  trying  to  get  another  boy." 
That  boy  was  premature  and  weighed  only  V/i 
pounds.  It  was  believed  that  Elsie  and  Ferdinand 

saved  their  grandson's  life.  They  carefully  lined  a 
shoe  box  with  cotton,  opened  the  oven  door  and 

kept  this  little  boy  snuggly  in  his  incubator.  They 
fed  him  with  a  medicine  dropper. 

The  Egans  worked  hard  earning  a  living.  Besides 
running  the  threshing  crew.  Alva  had  a  shop  which 
was  also  used  as  a  blacksmith  shop,  and  repair 

department,  where  much  time  was  spent  repairing 
the  threshing  machine  and  engines.  It  was 
customary  for  Alva  to  arise  early  and  sharpen 
several  sets  of  plow  shares  before  breakfast.  He  had 
built  a  laundry  room  on  the  north  side  of  the  shop, 
because  this  is  the  way  the  first  washing  machine 

was  powered.  He  had  arranged  a  series  of  belts  and 
shafts  through  the  shop  which  was  powered  by  a 
small  Whitti  Engine.  This  drove  the  drill  press, 
forge,  grinder,  and  a  saw  as  well  as  the  washing 
machine. 

In  reading  his  diary,  it  is  surprising  how  many 
caskets  he  made  for  people  in  the  area  that  had 
died. 

Usually  there  were  two  women  hired  to  cook 
meals  for  the  threshers,  when  the  cook  car  accom- 

panied the  machine,  but  frequently  Zina  and  her 

older  girls  cooked  for  the  men.  They  also  had  large 
gardens  in  the  summer,  did  lots  of  canning,  washing 
and  ironing,  and  sewing.  During  the  depression, 
nothing  with  any  wear  in  it  was  discarded.  Zina  did 

a  great  deal  of  sewing,  providing  most  of  the 

clothes  for  six  daughters.  She  didn't  complain,  but 
took  pride  in  her  accomplishments.  She  and  her 

husband  were  strict  with  their  children,  yet  very 
gentle,  kind  and  understanding,  and  they  knew  they 
were  loved. 

Each  of  them  taught  different  Sunday  School 
classes.  Alva  was  active  in  the  High  Priest  Quorum 
and  enjoyed  ward  teaching.  Zina  was  a  Relief 

Society  Teacher,  and  they  both  enjoyed  a  great  deal 
of  social  life.  They  both  liked  dancing  and  were 

very  good  dancers.  They  loved  taking  part  in 
dramas  and  Zina  gave  comic  readings  all  over  the 

valley.  They  loved  sports  and  Alva  was  pitcher  on 
the  senior  baseball  team. 

Merlin,  their  son,  was  a  basketball  star,  and  the 

whole  family  attended  the  games  and  were  present 
whenever  a  family  member  was  on  any  program. 

Alva  was  very  civic  minded.  He  served  as  trustee 
on  the  Central  School  Board,  planned  and  assisted 
in  the  building  of  the  church  and  gymnasium  where 
all  socials  were  held. 

Later  Alva  started  selling  Delco  Lights.  He  in- 
stalled these  all  through  the  valley.  He  traveled 

much  of  the  time  and  often  the  roads  were 

treacherous.  One  time,  after  installing  a  light 

system  in  Thane,  Wyoming,  he  started  home  and 
found  himself  in  a  terrible  storm.  Surviving  looked 

almost  hopeless.  He  wrote  a  note,  stating  his  name 

and  address  and  other  pertinent  information,  hop- 
ing someone  would  find  him.  He  fastened  the  note 

to  the  steering  wheel,  humbly  prayed,  and  started 
on  his  was.  Miraculously,  he  made  his  way  through 
the  blizzard,  was  guided  by  lights  to  a  farmhouse, 

where  he  stayed  for  a  couple  of  days  until  the  roads 
could  be  cleared. 

In  about  1926,  the  Egans  bought  the  Geisler 
home  and  a  160  acre  farm. 

The  children  of  Alva  and  Zina  were:  Merlin, 

Thelda,  Eleda,  Norma,  Afton,  Marjorie,  and  Leno. 
Zina  died  Juy  21,  1971.  They  were  only 

separated  13  months.  Alva  died  September  4,  1972. 

CHARLES  ERNEST  EGBERT  was  born  Oc- 
tober 15,  1885  at  Granite,  Utah,  a  son  of  John 

Charles  and  Betsy  Lucene  Beckstead  Egbert. 
JENNIE  ISABEL  SMITH  was  born  December 

19,  1887  at  Mill  Creek.  Utah,  daughter  of  Wallace 
Edell  and  Katy  Marie  Jacobson  Smith. 

They  were  both  of  pioneer  families  with 
backgrounds  of  hard  work,  a  desire  to  learn,  and 
faith  in  the  Gospel. 

These  two  met,  fell  in  love,  courted  and  married 

in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple  on  June  6,  1906.  Their  first 
son.  Wallace  Edell  was  born  July  25,  1907  at 
Granite,  Utah.  In  quest  of  a  better  situation, 

several  family  members  migrated  to  Grace,  Idaho. 

Ernest  arrived  in  Gem  Valley  in  about  1909;  Jen- 
nie and  little  Wallace  came  later  in  the  fall.  Ernest 

had  taken  work  with  Otto  Olsen  and  on  February 
8,  1910,  another  son,  John  Dariel.  was  born. 

They  soon  took  up  a  homestead  in  the  canyon 
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located  north  of  the  Burton  Ranch,  the  furthest 

place  back  up  in  the  canyon.  Ernest,  who  stood  a 
short  5  feet  5  inches  in  stature,  measured  10  feet  tall 

when  it  came  to  doing  his  share  of  work.  Jennie 
also,  short  of  stature  and  long  on  work,  did  indeed 

work  hard  to  make  a  home  up  there  in  the  canyon. 
Ernest  worked  a  lot  with  the  Burtons  and  Lowes, 

especially  during  haying  and  harvest  time. 

Ernest  loved  good  horses  and  was  a  well  ex- 
perienced driver,  having  driven  four  horse  teams  on 

ore  wagons,  from  mine  to  smelter  and  back,  while 

in  Utah.  With  such  experience  behind  him,  it  seem- 
ed inevitable  that  he  and  his  half  brother,  Clyde  M. 

Thompson,  should  become  engaged  in  freighting. 

They  hauled  flour,  grain,  hay,  and  many  other 
goods  to  and  from  Alexander,  Soda  Springs,  and 
Henry.  This  work  took  Ernest  away  from  home  for 
days  at  a  time,  and  Jennie  was  left  at  the  homestead 

with  two  small  boys.  They  had  to  be  on  the  look  out 
for  rattlesnakes  by  day,  and  chilled  up  and  down 
the  spine  by  night  from  the  music  of  the  coyotes. 

Ernest  and  Jennie  decided  to  sell  the  homestead, 

and  they  purchased  five  acres  of  land  a  mile  and 

half  south  of  Grace,  adjacent  to  the  Thompson 

farm,  where  they  built  a  small  home.  Freighting 
and  working  for  the  Last  Chance  Canal  and  other 

jobs  were  their  mainstay.  Bessie  and  Alice  were 
born  and  joined  the  family  there.  About  six  weeks 

after  the  birth  of  Alice,  the  family  moved  to 
Downey,  Idaho  where  they  located  on  a  farm. 

Ernest's  mother  Betsy  Thompson,  moved  into 
the  home  at  Grace  where  she  lived  out  her  years. 

While  in  Downey,  two  more  sons  were  born  to 

the  Egberts,  Wayne  andVerlo  S.  Then  in  1927,  they 
once  again  returned  to  Grace,  settling  on  a  farm  3 
miles  south  and  east  of  Grace — a  half  mile  south  of 

where  Ben  and  Vera  Roper  now  live. 

The  family  worked  hard  with  such  luxuries  as 

kerosene  lamps  to  provide  light  and  drinking  water 
hauled  from  town.  The  farming  was  done  by  horse 

and  man  power — irrigation  by  hand.  Heating  and 
cooking  fuel  was  obtained  from  the  canyons. 

Washing  for  a  family  of  eight  was  done  by  Jennie 
on  the  washboard,  but  through  all  this  Jennie  was  a 
pillar  and  exemplar  of  faith. 

Jennie  and  her  sister  walked  as  much  as  7  or  8 

miles  or  more,  month  after  month,  or  drove  a  horse 

and  buggy,  or  a  team  and  sleigh,  to  do  their  Relief 
Society  block   teaching.  Jennie  and  her  children 

would  walk  the  3  miles  each  way  to  church;  when 

possible  Ernest  would  see  that  there  was  a  ride.  Jen- 
nie loved  to  sing  and  became  a  member  of  the 

Stake  Choir  and  Singing  Mothers. 

Ernest  served  in  the  Sunday  School 

Superintendency  and  in  Y.M.M.LA.  He  served  as 
director  of  the  East  Branch  Canal,  helping  to  install 
a  steel  flume  across  the  lava  crevasses.  Ernest 

pioneered  in  bringing  purebred  registered  Holstein 
cows  into  the  valley  and  served  with  J.  A.  Toone 
and  Harris  Mickelson  in  instigating  the  early 

"Black  and  White  Days."  This  was  the  forerunner 
of  the  Caribou  County  Fair.  Ernest  was  also  a 

sports  enthusiast. 

In  February  1942,  Ernest's  life  was  taken  by  a 
heart  condition.  Jenny  too.  was  soon  to  go.  She  lost 

her  life  accidentally  when  hit  by  a  car  at  Salt  Lake 

City  in  October  1942. 
All  of  the  sons  served  in  the  armed  forces  and 

were  blessed  to  return  home  safely. 

John  Egbert Ellen  Egbert 

ELLEN  BENNETT  EGBERT  was  born  July  21, 
1845,  the  seventh  child  of  James  Bennett  and  Ellen 

Pinock  at  Nauvoo  (Hancock  County),  Illinois. 
She  crossed  the  plains  with  her  parents  when  she 

was  very  young.  They  arrived  in  the  Salt  Lake 
Valley  with  the  second  company  in  1849.  This  was 
the  second  trip  for  her  father,  James  Bennett.  He 
had  come  to  the  Salt  Lake  Valley  with  the  saints  in 
1847  and  later  returned  to  Illinois  to  get  his  family. 

The  family  settled  in  Kaysville,  Utah. 

Ellen  ran  away  and  married  JOHN  CALVERT 
EGBERT  at  the  age  of  sixteen.  Her  parents  were 

opposed  to  their  marriage  because  they  were  so 

young. 

Biographies  1800's  —  369 



All  of  their  children  were  born  in  Kaysville,  Utah 

with  the  exception  of  Martha  Gorilla.  She  was  born 

in  what  is  now  Fairview,  Idaho.  This  was  before  the 

division  of  Utah  and  Idaho  into  states,  as  this  was 

still  a  territory. 

Ellen  took  training  for  a  midwife  under  Dr. 

Adamson  at  Richmond,  Utah.  She  went  with  him 

on  all  his  calls.  She  was  once  asked  by  one  of  her 

granddaughters  how  many  children  she  brought 
into  the  world. 

"I  don't  know,"  she  said.  "I  have  never  kept 

track.  I  only  did  what  I  could." 
During  her  life  she  took  in  weaving  and  wove 

yards  of  carpet.  She  also  robbed  bees  for  their 

honey,  milked  cows,  churned  butter  and  sold  it. 

John's  health  started  to  fail  in  1897.  In  January 

he  had  a  stroke  and  was  ill  until  he  died  the  follow- 
ing May. 

He  passed  away  May  31,  1897  in  Fairview,  Idaho 
and  was  buried  there. 

Soon  after  John's  death  Ellen  moved  to  Turner, 
Idaho  and  filed  on  a  160  acre  homestead.  Her  place 
was  what  is  known  as  the  Sarah  Egbert  home. 

As  there  was  no  doctor  in  this  area,  whenever 

there  was  sickness  or  babies  expected  in  Chester- 

field, Lund,  Bancroft  and  Grays  Lake,  she  would 

go  and  be  gone  several  days.  She  went  in  all  kinds 

of  weather,  but  when  the  weather  was  bad  the  peo- 

ple she  was  going  to  see  would  arrange  fresh  teams 

of  horses  all  along  the  way,  so  she  would  have 

transportation.  She  wore  a  black  coat  with  fur  lin- 
ing, and  a  little  black  hat  with  a  veil.  She  always 

looked  dressed  up  when  you  saw  her. 

She  raised  cows,  gardens  and  did  all  kinds  of 

work.  She  also  did  beautiful  handwork,  such  as  tat- 

ting, knitting,  crocheting  and  embroidery.  She  also 

pieced  quilts  by  the  score. 

After  Ellen  got  older  she  lived  with  her  children. 
But  mostly  with  Nora  Rawlins,  her  daughter.  She 
had  very  good  health  all  of  her  life,  until  shortly 
before  her  death.  She  died  at  her  granddaughter 

Ellen  Perry's  home  April  18,  1927  at  Gra'ce,  Idaho. 
She  was  taken  to  Fairview,  Idaho  and  laid  to  rest 

by  her  husband,  John  Galvert  Egbert.  Their 
children  were:  John  G.  Egbert,  James  H.  Egbert, 

Mary  Ellen  Egbert,  Eliza  Ann  Egbert,  Joseph 
Hyrum  Egbert,  Eugenia  Aldine  Egbert,  Elizabeth 
Alice  Egbert,  Robert  Galvert  Egbert,  Susan 
Eleanora  Egbert,  and  Martha  Gorilla  Egbert. 

ROBERT  CALVERT  EGBERT,  was  born 

September  6,  1877  in  Kaysville,  Utah  to  John 

Calvert  Egbert  and  Ellen  Bennett.  Sarah  was  born 

May  5,  1886  in  Nauvoo,  Illinois  to  Henry  Selvester 
Perry  and  Esther  Price.  They  were  the  parents  of 
twelve  children:  Marlin  Galvert,  Leda  Ann 

Christensen,  May  Hebdon,  Robert  Earl,  Arnold 
Belmont,  Maud  Meacham,  Essie  Priest,  Wanda 
Miller,  Garma  Mansfield,  lone  Stathos,  Sarah 

Morrell,  and  Ellen  Atkins. 
All  of  the  children  were  born  at  home  in  Turner, 

Idaho.  They  went  to  school  in  Turner  and  to  high 
school  in  Grace,  Idaho.  Marlin  is  the  only  one  left 

living  in  Grace. 
Robert  and  his  mother  Ellen  Bennett  came  to 

Turner  and  proved  up  on  a  homestead.  They  lived 

on  this  property  all  their  lives.  Marlin's  grand- 
mother, Ellen  Bennett  Egbert  is  buried  in  Fairview, 

Idaho.  She  died  April  18,  1927  in  Turner,  Idaho. 
Robert  met  and  married  SARAH  JANE 

PERRY  in  Pocatello,  Idaho  March  10,  1903.  They 

were  later  sealed  in  the  Logan  Temple.  Robert 

died,  November  30,  1936  at  the  age  of  59  and  left 
Sarah  to  raise  the  rest  of  her  family  alone. 
She  lived  in  Turner  until  her  death  October  10, 

1966.  They  are  both  buried  in  the  Turner  Cemetery. 

Reuben  and  Elizabeth  Egbert 

REUBEN  G.  EGBERT  was  born  March  17, 

1884  in  West  Jordan,  Utah  to  Samuel  Wesley 

Egbert  and  Ann  Emmerrette  Gardner.  They 

moved  in  the  early  spring  of  1889  to  the  northeast 
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part  of  Gentile  Valley,  which  was  located  in  the 
southeastern  part  of  Idaho,  now  known  as  Grace, 
Idaho.  The  greater  part  of  the  valley  to  the  north 
and  east  was  a  high  and  dry  bench  land  or  prairie. 
It  was  uninhabited,  and  was  only  considered  good 

for  spring  and  summer  grazing  of  sheep  and  cattle. 
The  Bear  River  enters  in  the  extreme  northeast 

part  of  the  valley.  It  then  crosses  a  deep  gorge  to 
the  west  side  on  to  and  out  of  the  south  end  of  the 

valley.  There  is  a  high  range  of  mountains  on  both 
the  east  and  west  sides. 

Reuben's  parents  were  one  of  the  first  families  to 
build  a  house  and  move  here  to  make  a  home.  Their 

nearest  neighbor,  at  that  time,  lived  eight  or  ten 

miles  away.  Within  a  few  years,  enough  families 

had  settled  here  to  be  able  to  organize  a  school  dis- 
trict and  to  give  the  place  the  name  of  Grace. 

Reuben,  a  brother,  and  two  sisters  were  among  the 
first  children  to  attend  the  first  school. 

Among  the  early  settlers  was  the  Stoddard  fami- 
ly. They  came  about  1898.  ELIZABETH  ELLEN, 

a  daughter,  was  then  fourteen  years  old.  On  the 
first  of  February  1905  Elizabeth  and  Reuben  were 
married  in  the  Logan  Temple  and  then  made  their 
home  in  Grace.  Elizabeth  had  used  her  homestead 

rights  and  obtained  160  acres  of  dry  farm  land. 

After  they  were  married,  he  hauled  out  logs  to 
build  a  home  16  x  28.  They,  like  other  young 

couples,  were  financially  poor.  The  only  source  of 
income  they  had  was  a  cow,  a  few  chickens,  a  sow 

pig  and  two  small  horses  with  which  to  plow.  Their 
parents  let  them  use  a  small  plot  for  a  garden  to 
raise  potatoes  and  vegetables. 

Reuben  worked  at  odd  jobs  during  the  spring  and 

summer  until  it  was  harvest  time.  They  had  many 
hardships. 

Elizabeth  Stoddard  Egbert  was  born  December 

26,  1883  at  Kaysville,  Utah.  She  married  Reuben 

Egbert  February  1,  1905  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Tem- 

ple. 
Reuben  left  for  a  mission  to  Australia  in  1910. 

After  living  in  Grace  for  many  years  they  follow- 
ed their  children  to  California  where  Rube  worked 

in  an  undertaking  business  for  10  years  before 
retiring  in  1956. 

They  celebrated  their  60th  wedding  anniversary 

in  Sacramento,  the  home  of  their  daughter 
Dorothy,  February  1965. 

Their  children  are:  Venna  Caroline,  Gardener, 

Dortha  Ann,  Garland,  Dale,  Beth,  and  Patrea. 
Elizabeth  died  June  5,  1973  at  Sacramento, 

California,  and  Rube  died  December  1,  1973  at 

Sacramento,  California.  They  are  both  buried  in 
the  Grace  cemetery. 

About    1886    SAMUEL    WESLEY    EGBERT 

owned  a  home  and  lived  with  his  family  in  West 

Jordan,  Utah.  He  owned  a  herd  of  sheep  which  he 
took  out  on  the  desert  at  Promitory,  Utah  in  the 
winter,  and  took  them  into  southeastern  Idaho  for 

the  summer  range.  In  the  spring  time  he  would 
enter  what  was  then  known  as  Gentile  Valley,  for 

the  lambing  season.  He  saw  great  opportunities  for 
the  future  in  that  part  of  the  country  so  he  filed  on 
960  acres  of  Government  land  in  1888.  In  1889  he 

had  built  the  first  house  in  that  part  of  the  valley 

and  had  moved  his  family  from  West  Jordon, 
Utah,  into  it.  They  were  the  first  family  to  live  on 
the  bench  as  it  was  then  known.  In  August  31,  1889, 

he  and  four  other  men  filed  on  and  made  applica- 
tion on  the  water  in  Bear  River  (then  in  Bingham 

County)  for  irrigation  purposes  and  after  several 
years  of  hard  work  and  all  the  money  they  had 

spent  in  trying  to  get  the  water  out  on  the  land,  they 
failed  and  went  broke  and  he  lost  all  his  land  except 
160  acres. 

He  herded  cattle  and  sheep  most  of  his  time  and 
on  November  24,  1902  he  and  his  wife  were  divorc- 

ed and  the  160  acres  of  land  they  then  owned  in 
Gentile  Valley,  was  divided  equally  between  them. 
He  made  his  home  in  Idaho  in  the  old  home. 

He  was  not  much  of  a  farmer  and  always  made 

his  living  with  cattle  and  sheep.  About  1909  he  sold 
the  old  home  to  Jim  Green  and  then  moved  out 

north  of  Soda  Springs  to  what  is  known  as  the  Five 
Mile  Meadows  with  his  little  band  of  sheep. 

In  1917  he  had  a  stroke  affecting  his  speech  and 
in  1918  his  son,  Reuben  and  wife,  took  care  of  him 

until  he  died  April  3,  1919.  He  was  buried  on  April 
6,  1919  in  the  Grace  Cemetery. 

THOMAS  M.  ELLIS,  son  of  Willie  York  and 

Margaret  Matilda  Erwin  Ellis  was  born  February 
14,  1874  at  St.  Maries  or  Perrysville,  Perry  County, 

Missouri.  He  was  one  of  eight  children. 
EMMA  WEBBER,  daughter  of  Johannes  (John) 

and    Magdalena    Mossiman    Webber    was    born 
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Tom  Ellis Emma  Ellis 

January  22,  1877  in  La  Chauex  DE  Jonds 
Nenchatel,  Switzerland. 

Thomas  and  Emma  were  married  April  7,  1903 

at  Lago,  Idaho.  They  were  the  parents  of  six 
children:  Charles  Webber,  Calvin  Marcelle,  Leo, 
twins  Melvin  Willis  and  Melva  Willa,  and  Donald 

Douglas. 

Emma  emigrated  to  this  country  when  only  2 

years  old.  Her  parents  were  converts  to  the  church, 
and  they  were  both  baptized  before  they  were 
married  in  1874.  Her  father  was  soon  anxious  to 

have  his  family  go  to  America.  There  was  not 
enough  money  for  all  of  them  to  go  together,  so  he 
sent  his  wife  and  children.  He  had  given  money  and 

trusted  their  care  to  other  members  who  were  sail- 

ing at  that  time,  but  they  deserted  them.  When 
Emma  and  her  sister  Mary,  with  their  mother 
arrived  in  Ogden,  Utah  they  were  befriended  by  a 
stranger  who  helped  them  to  their  destination  in 
Logan,  Utah.  Many  times  the  family  had  little  to 
eat  and  the  little  girls  cried  often  for  bread.  It  was  a 

happy  occasion  when  the  father  and  husband  was 
able  to  join  them  in  America. 

Emma's  schooling  only  lasted  a  few  years,  and 
during  her  teens  she  had  to  go  out  to  work  to  help 
the  family  income.  She  washed  clothes  by  hand  on 
a  washboard  for  50c  a  week. 

Her  father  was  very  strict  with  her  during  her 
dating  years  and  when  the  opportunity  came  she 
left  home  to  work  for  Dr.  Kackley  in  Soda  Springs, 
Idaho.  Here  she  met  Thomas,  who  was  to  become 
her  husband  and  father  of  her  children. 

For  a  number  of  years  they  were  engaged  in 

ranching  in  the  Bench  area.  They  had  many  happy 
days  on  the  ranch.  The  children  could  ride  horses. 

feed  the  chickens  and  gather  the  eggs.  She  was  a 

great  cook  and  many  times  cooked  fried  chicken 
and  hot  biscuits  for  breakfast. 

The  depression  years  were  bad  for  Thomas  and 
Emma,  and  they  were  forced  to  leave  the  ranch  and 

seek  employment  in  Grace.  Here  they  worked  in  a 
hotel,  custodian  and  caretaker  at  the  high  school 
and  Grace  Ward  Tabernacle.  He  was  known  to  all 

as  a  hard  worker.  He  died  suddenly  in  Grace 
February  6,  1933  while  engaged  at  shoveling  snow 
from  the  roof  of  the  O.  P.  Skaggs  store  building.  J. 

C.  Greaves,  proprietor  of  the  store,  who  at  6:00 
p.m.  ascended  to  the  roof  to  note  the  progress  of 
work,  discovered  Tom  lifeless. 

After  the  sudden  death  of  her  husband,  Emma 

worked  with  the  school  lunch  program  and  other 

jobs  that  were  available.  She  loved  to  quilt  and 
make  braided  rugs.  Her  hands  were  never  idle  and 

until  her  eyesight  was  gone,  she  could  be  seen  sew- 
ing quilt  blocks  or  quilting  beautiful  quilts.  She 

spent  many  hours  caring  for  the  sick  and  the 
homebound.  She  passed  away  on  April  14,  1969  at 

Cheyenne,  Wyoming  where  she  had  spent  the  last 
20  years  of  her  life  with  her  son,  Calvin. 

JAMES  CLYDE  ELLIOT  was  born  in  Penrith, 

Cumberland,  England,  on  May  5,  1854.  At  the 
tender  age  of  thirteen  he  stowed  away  on  a 
merchant  ship  bound  for  America. 

There  is  no  record  of  what  port  he  landed  in,  nor 

how  he  spent  the  years  until  he  came  to  Lago,  Gen- 
tile Valley,  to  teach  school  around  1880  or  1882. 

He  was  the  first  teacher  in  District  No.  9,  Lago. 
This  schoolhouse  stood  at  the  northwest  corner  of 

the  place  Mr.  Elliot  later  homesteaded. 
Around  1882  he  was  working  at  the  Malad  Court 

House  transferring  records  from  Oneida  County  in 

long-hand  writing.  He  had  an  old  English  style  of 
writing  and  was    a  very  beautiful  penman. 

He  married  CAROLINE  PETERSEN  in  1884, 

who,  at  the  age  of  15,  was  one  of  his  students.  They 
farmed  on  the  place  they  homesteaded  in  Lago,  and 

had  a  family  of  nine  children.  Marion,  mother  of 
Mrs.  Lee  Gibson,  was  the  sixth  child  of  this  union. 
When  Mr.  Elliot  was  unable  to  continue  farming 

because  of  his  age,  he  accepted  a  job  as  janitor  in 
the  courthouse  at  Pocatello,  Idaho.  His  wife  later 

joined  him  and  they  made  their  home  there  until  his 
wife  died  in  May  1928.  Mr.  Elliot  then  moved  to 
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Washington  where  he  passed  away  at  Aberdeen  in 
1944. 

Ethel  Elsmore 

ETHEL  HARRIS  ELSMORE,  daughter  of 
Alexander  Harris,  Jr.,  and  Josephine  Weaver 
Harris  was  born  at  Thatcher,  Idaho  March  25, 
1883. 

She  attended  school  at  Cove,  Idaho  in  a  one 

room  school,  went  two  years  at  the  Preston 

Academy,  and  the  B.Y.U.  College  at  Logan,  Utah 

for  three  years.  It  was  here  she  met  her  future  hus- 
band, James  A.  Elsmore,  from  American  Fork, 

Utah.  He  was  the  son  of  Nephi  Hyland  Elsmore 
and  Alice  Ellen  Fryer.  His  birthdate  was  April  18, 
1880. 

JAMES  A.  ELSMORE  and  Ethel  were 

married  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple  at  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah  on  September  13,  1905.  Their  children  are: 

James  Harris,  Lowell,  Alice,  Josephine  and  Lucile. 
During  World  War  I  James  was  drafted  to  work 

as  a  guard  at  the  Utah  Power  and  Light  Plant  at 

Grace,  Idaho.  At  that  time,  it  was  the  largest 
hydraulic  plant  in  the  world. 

To  get  their  first  car  they  sold  gravel  rights  for 
$500.00  and  bought  a  Ford.  James  taught  Ethel 
how  to  drive. 

James  lost  his  life  during  the  Asiatic  Flu 

Epidemic  in  1919,  also  a  daughter  and  a  son  died  at 
this  time. 

After  her  husband's  death,  Ethel  carried  on,  rais- 
ed her  family  and  worked  in  the  church,  especially 

the  Primary  Organization,  where  she  served  for 

thirty-two  years. 
She  later  moved  to  Logan,  Utah  to  care  for  her 

father  and  mother  in  their  declining  years.  Here  she 

worked  in  the  Relief  Society  and  in  the  Temple. 

She  has  made  many  quilts  and  has  won  blue  rib- 
bons on  them  at  the  fairs. 

Her  son,  Lowell  went  on  a  mission  at  eighteen, 
and  became  District  President  under  Melvin  J. 
Ballard.  When  Lowell  and  his  wife  Louiza  Hansen 

Elsmore,  went  on  a  mission  to  Ames,  Iowa,  Ethel 

went  along  to  care  for  the  home  and  the  children. 
Here  again  she  worked  in  the  Primary. 

The  following  Memoirs  were  taken  from  a  tape 
she  made  at  the  age  of  90,  and  recorded  by  her 

nephew,  Harris  Mickelsen. 

Ethel  remembers  clearly  her  father's  ranch  that 
was  across  the  river  from  the  Utah  Power 

Plant — that  President  Heber  J.  Grant  visited  them 

there,  and  said,  "Alex,  you  have  the  best  place  in 

the  West." Her  father  helped  build  the  first  two  steel  bridges 
across  Bear  River,  helped  on  the  railroad  between 
Bancroft  and  Soda  Springs,  Idaho,  and  was  county 
commissioner,  from  this  area  for  Bannock  County. 

He  also  helped  organize  Bannock  County  Land  and 
Cattle  Company. 

She  tells  about  her  father's  money  bag,  that  was 
made  of  leather  with  a  draw  string  and  the  gold 
pieces  that  he  had.  There  were  no  banks,  and  when 

he  wasn't  at  home,  he'd  bury  his  money  bag  in  the 
ground  and  sleep  on  it.  At  home  it  was  kept  in  a 
locked  dresser  drawer. 

It  was  mentioned  that  the  girls  and  women 
could  drive  a  team  of  horses  as  well  as  the  men,  and 

many  times  they  were  sent  with  a  wagon  load  of 
wheat  to  Montpelier,  a  distance  of  some  sixty 

miles,  to  trade  for  flour  and  other  staples.  There 

were  no  surfaced  roads,  they  were  more  like  trails. 
They  took  their  butter  to  Soda  Springs,  some  20 

miles  away,  and  sold  it  for  25c  a  pound  and  could 
buy  stockings  for  10c  a  pair.  Cattle  were  shipped  to 
Omaha,  and  sold  for  6c  a  pound. 

They  used  to  get  their  mail  once  a  week  from  the 
post  office  that  was  three  or  four  miles  distance.  It 

was  mostly  letters,  but  sometimes  they  would  order 
boxes  of  dried  prunes,  raisins,  coconuts  to  be 

stored.  Sugar  was  bought  by  the  300  lbs.  and 

peanuts  by  50  lbs. 
Hogs  were  cured  with  salt  and  brown  sugar,  and 

smoked  using  maple  or  apple  wood,  then  buried  in 
the  wheat.  They  had  barrels  of  corned  beef  that 

were  kept  on  the  north  side  of  the  house  where  it 
was  cool.  Washing  was  done  on  the  wash  board  and 
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wrung  out  by  hand,  and  the  cream  was  churned  into 

butter  with  an  "up  and  down"  or  paddle  churn. 
"China  Hill"  got  its  name  from  a  chinaman 

named  Columbus  that  used  to  work  for  them.  She 

also  tells  the  story  about  a  desperado  named  Shu 

Whitney.  He  tried  to  kidnap  two  orphan  boys  from 

the  camp  out  at  Gray's  Lake  where  they  summered 
their  cattle.  He  thought  he  could  get  some  .ran- 

som— the  plot  failed. 
They  were  friendly  with  the  Indians  and  would 

feed  them. 

She  recalls  stories  told  by  her  grandmother, 

Sarah  Clark,  when  she  came  across  the  plains  with 
the  Heber  C.  Kimball  Company  and  states  that 

from  "Ox  team  to  airplanes  is  quite  a  lot  of 

living." At  this  writing,  March  1977.  Ethel  is  still  living, 
and  is  94  years  young. 

Hugh  and  Nettie  Farnworth 

L.  HUGH  FARNSWORTH  was  born  June  12, 

1895,  in  Mt  Pleasant, Utah.  Nettie  was  born  April 
4,  1894  in  Minkcreek,  Idaho.  They  were  married  in 
Preston  July  30,  1917.  The  marriage  was  later 
solemnized  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple,  June  25,  1920. 

Hugh  and  Nettie  and  daughter,  Idonna,  moved 
from  Minkcreek  to  the  Adams  ranch,  located  two 

miles  south  of  Grace  July  5,  1922.  Here  they  milk- 
ed cows  and  farmed  the  two  hundred  acres  for 

several  years.  During  the  winter  months  Hugh 
worked  on  all  three  dams — Oneida,  Grace,  and 
Alexander. 

They  enjoyed  many  home  parties  with  relatives 
and  friends.  Hugh  also  played  the  piano  at  dances 
throughout  the  valley 

On  August  4,  1924  another  daughter,  Vonda, 
was  born,  and  a  son,  Milo,  on  October  16,  1929. 

They  struggled  through  the  depression  in  the 

30's.  They  had  good  crops  and  bad  crops.  They 
took  in  several  families  who  needed  help. 

In  about  1930  they  bought  a  house  in  Grace  and 
lived  there  in  the  winter  months.  The  children  went 

to  school  in  Grace,  all  graduating  from  the  Grace 
High  School.  They  all  remember  the  hard  work, 

the  fun  fishing  trips,  trips  to  the  mountains,  swim- 
ming parties  down  to  the  narrows,  church,  school 

and  civic  affairs,  the  super  garden  and  "Mom's  ap- 
ple pies".  Grandma  Nelson  made  her  home  with 

them  for  five  years  before  she  passed  away  in  Oc- 
tober 1934. 

In  1947  they  built  and  moved  to  their  present 
home  in  Grace.  After  Milo  returned  from  the  Ser- 

vice (Korean  War)  Hugh  and  Milo  continued  in  the 

carpenter  business  together  for  years.  Hugh  and 
Nettie  enjoyed  their  last  years  together  taking  little 
trips,  working  in  the  church,  maintaining  a  good 
garden  and  a  beautiful  yard.  They  celebrated  their 
50th  wedding  anniversary  July  30,  1967. 

Hugh  passed  away  June  4,  1971  at  the  age  of 

seventy  tive.  He  was  a  High  Priest.  Since  then,  Net- 
tie has  carried  on  alone,  taking  care  of  her  home, 

crocheting,  and  attending  church  and  civic  affairs. 
She  is  now  82  and  is  happy  and  content  with  most 

of  her  family  living  close  by  to  see  to  her  needs  and 
keeping  her  from  becoming  lonely. 

FRANCIS  JOSEPH  FOWLER  was  born  on 

December  11,  1891  in  Trout  Creek,  Bingham 

County,  (now  Caribou)  Idaho,  to  Joseph  Thomas 
Fowler  and  Mary  Elizabeth  Turner.  Trout  Creek 
is  located  south  of  Grace,  Idaho,  between  Niter 

and  Thatcher,  and  derived  its  name  from  the  creek 
which  ran  near  the  Fowler  home. 

Frank  was  the  tenth  of  twelve  children  born  to 

Joseph  and  Mary  Elizabeth. 

While  just  a  young  boy,  Frank  recalls  few  homes 
located  between  Lago  and  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

Most  of  the  valley  was  given  largely  to  an  abun- 

dance of  sagebrush.  In  fact,  bells  had  to  be  at- 
tached to  livestock  turned  loose  so  they  could  be 

found  again.  It  took  a  lot  of  muscle  and  determina- 
tion to  clear  the  land  for  farming,  as  Frank  soon 

learned.  In  addition,  farming  methods  were  slow 

and  involved  a  lot  of  strenuous  labor.  Grain,  for  ex- 
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ample,  was  cut  manually  with  a  scythe,  tied  in 
bundles  and  then  placed  in  shocks. 

At  the  age  of  nine  Frank  milked  cows  for  his 
neighbors,  the  Rhodebecks,  besides  doing  his 

assigned  chores  at  home.  Two  years  later  he  board- 
ed with  the  Rhodebeck  family  while  working  for 

them. 

At  the  age  of  twelve,  Frank  herded  3300  sheep 

for  twenty-five  dollars  a  month,  plus  board.  Frank 
filled  this  position  for  three  years. 

Frank  obtained  employment  with  the  Utah 

Construction  Company  which  had  assumed  the 
task  of  building  a  steel  pipeline  that  would  extend 
from  the  dam  north  of  Grace  to  the  power  plant. 
When  that  job  was  finished,  he  worked  for  farmers 
in  the  Grace  area,  gaining  the  reputation  of  being  a 
dependable  and  conscientious  worker.  His  skill  as 
an  irrigator  earned  him  the  admiration  and  respect 
of  others.  During  these  periods  of  employment, 
Frank  boarded  in  Grace. 

While  working  on  the  pipeline,  Frank  had  occa- 
sion to  meet  the  girl  he  later  married.  IDA 

MELVINA  ASHBAKER  was  a  delicate  and  pretty 
girl  with  thick,  red  hair  reaching  to  her  waist. 

Frank  called  her  "Ide",  and  for  a  period  of  seven 
years  they  dated  frequently,  though  not  exclusively. 

Ida's  parents,  Jacob  and  Viola  Melvina  Ashbaker, 
were  faithful  members  of  the  church  and  their 

daughter's  interest  in  Frank  may  have  caused  them 
some  concern.  Encouraged  by  Ida,  Frank  was  bap- 

tized on  February  5,  1915  at  the  age  of  twenty- 
three.  Exactly  one  week  later  on  February  12,  1915, 
Frank  and  Ida  were  married  by  a  Justice  of  the 
Peace  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

Frank  and  Ida  lived  for  one  year  in  the  home 
Frank  built,  then  sold  it  to  his  brother,  George. 

Ida's  father  arranged  for  Frank  to  buy  120  acres  of 
land  southwest  of  Grace,  now  owned  by  Jay 

Turner.  While  they  lived  here  their  first  child,  Ray, 
was  born.  Two  years  later  Frank  increased  his 
acreage  by  leasing  the  farm  presently  owned  by 

Don  Gilbert.  Early  in  1921  a  daughter,  Ida  Rover- 
ta,  was  born. 

Little  more  than  a  month  following  her 

daughter's  birth,  Ida  suffered  a  severe  gallstone  at- 
tack. Frank  was  able  to  get  her  to  Grace  by 

hitching  two  teams  of  horses  to  the  wagon  in  order 

to  pull  it  through  the  mud  and  snow.  After  reaching 
Grace,  Frank  enlisted  the  help  of  a  friend  and 

together  they  pumped  Ida  to  Soda  Springs,  Idaho 
aboard  a  railroad  handcart.  Efforts  to  save  her, 

however,  were  in  vain.  Ida  passed  away  following 

surgery  in  the  Caribou  County  Memorial  Hospital 

on  April  1,  1921. 

Frank  remained  single  nearly  two  years  follow- 

ing Ida's  death.  His  sister,  Lily,  and  her  husband 
Carl  Peck,  consented  to  share  Frank's  home  in 
order  that  Lily  might  care  for  Ray  and  little  Ida. 

Carl  and  Lily  had  two  children  of  their  own  at  that 
time.  Late  in  1922  Carl  Peck  and  Charles 
Christensen  introduced  Frank  to  LAVERA 

BUCKLEY  RICH  whose  husband  had  also  passed 

away  some  two  years  ago  leaving  her  with  three 
children,  Leonard,  Tom  and  May. 

Frank  courted  Vera  for  a  short  time,  and  they 

were  married  in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho  on  January 

24,  1923.  Few  couples  begin  marriage  with  five 
children,  but  Frank  and  Vera  were  equal  to  the 
challenge.  Ida  and  May  were  so  near  the  same  age 

that  strangers  often  mistook  them  for  twins,  even 

though  Ida's  hair  was  red  and  May's  was  dark. 
Such  encounters  amused  Frank  and  Vera  and  they 

never  felt  compelled  to  correct  the  mistake. 

Two  more  sons,  Floyd  and  Farrell,  blessed  the 

Fowler  home  in  the  years  that  followed.  This  was 

the  Depression  and  hard  times  were  everywhere.  As 
the  family  worked  together  they  learned  to  share 
what  they  had  and  gained  a  deeper  appreciation  for 
one  another.  The  children  also  had  their  chores  to 

do.  May  and  Ida  became  as  skilled  at  milking  and 
other  farm  work  as  the  boys. 

In  1947  Frank  leased  the  farm  to  his  daughter, 

Ida,  and  her  husband,  Dewey  Mansfield.  Then  he 

purchased  a  lot  in  town  where  he  built  a  home. 

"City  living"  agreed  with  Frank  and  Vera,  but 
they  by  no  means  went  into  retirement.  Frank  went 
to  work  for  Leonard  Bjorkman  at  the  Grace  Sheet 

Metal  &  Plumbing  Company.  Utah  Power  and 

Light  Company  also  requested  his  services  when 
they  were  shorthanded. 

Given  the  opportunity  to  return  to  farming. 

Frank  couldn't  refuse.  He  worked  for  Roy  Corbett 
every  summer  for  five  years. 

Neither  was  Vera  content  to  be  idle.  In  1949  she 

formed  a  partnership  with  her  sister-in-law,  Lily 

Peck,  and  together  they  owned  and  operated  "The 
Coffee  Shop"  in  Grace  for  three  years. 

Vera  has  found  the  time  she  has  always  wanted 
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to  devote  to  her  church  work.  For  nine  years  she 

carried  out  her  calling  as  Sunday  School  librarian 
for  the  2nd  Ward.  She  continues  to  serve  as  a 

visiting  teacher  for  the  Relief  Society. 

Vera's  reputation  as  an  expert  quilter  has  spread 
far  and  wide.  At  the  time  of  this  writing  Vera  has 

completed  nearly  400  quilts,  many  of  them  for  her 

children,  grandchildren  and  great-grandchildren. 
On  January  23,  1973,  Frank  and  Vera  were 

honored  by  their  children  on  the  occasion  of  their 

Golden  Wedding  Anniversary.  Family  and  friends 
took  advantage  of  this  opportunity  to  pay  tribute  to 
these  special  people. 

Frank  died  May  9,  1974. 

JOSEPH  THOMAS  FOWLER  was  born  July 

12,  1847  in  Swansea  Wales,  England  to  William 
Fowler  and  Mary  Thomas.  He  had  two  brothers, 
William  and  James,  and  one  sister  Ann. 

Joseph  left  and  went  to  sea  when  he  was  seven 
years  old,  working  as  a  water  carrier  on  ships,  and 

working   up   into   other  jobs   as   he  grew    older. 
MARY  ELIZABETH  TURNER  was  born 

February  29,  1852  in  Devonshire,  England  to 
William  Turner  and  Mary  Radmore  .  Her  birthday 

occured  on  leap  year,  she  had  occasion  to  observe 
but  nineteen  of  them. 

The  meeting  of  Joseph  Thomas  and  Mary 
Elizabeth  is  an  interesting  one.  Joseph  was  at  sea 
on  a  bad  stormy  night.  One  night  during  this  storm 

a  big  wave  tossed  the  ship  through  the  air  and  it 
landed  in  a  pig  pen  of  a  family  who  lived  by  the  sea; 

this  family  being  Mary  Elizabeth's  parents  and 

family.  Mary  Elizabeth's  parents  heard  the  awful 
commotion  and  went  out  to  see  what  had  happen- 

ed. They  took  the  sailors  in,  warmed  and  fed  them 

and  gave  them  a  bed  for  the  night.  Shortly  after 

Joseph  went  back  to  sea,  but  for  several  years,  he 

and  Mary  Elizabeth  wrote  letters  to  each  other,  un- 
til they  should  meet  again. 
Mary  Elizabeth  emigrated  to  America  when  she 

was  nineteen  years  of  age,  being  accompanied  by 
her  brother,  John  Turner.  They  were  members  of 
a  group  of  L.D.S.  converts  whose  destination  was 

Salt  Lake  Valley.  The  trip  from  England  to  Salt 

Lake  Valley  required  twenty-four  days.  Half  of  the 
time  was  required  in  making  the  trans-continental 

trip.  Far  different  now  is  the  rail  train,  Mary 
Elizabeth  often  stated,  when  she  described  older 

days  of  the  West.  In  those  days,  she  would 

humorously  point  out,  the  trip  on  the  Union  Pacific 
through  Wyoming  was  like  a  ride  on  a  modern 

Coney  Island  "Dizzy  Car".  About  two  years 
after  Mary  came  to  the  United  States,  Joseph  quit 

the  sea  and  came  to  the  United  States  where  Mary 

was.  On  July  20,  1874  Joseph  and  Mary  were 
married  in  the  Endowment  House.  They  went 

through  the  Temple  later.  Following  their  marriage 
the  couple  made  their  home  at  Plain  City,  now 

known  as  Murray,  Utah,  where  Joseph  was 

employed  as  a  foundryman.They  had  three  children 
born  here,  William  Turner  born  July  11.  1875, 
James  born  September  29,  1876,  and  Mary 
Elizabeth  born  July  23,  1878.  Tragedy  struck 

Joseph  and  Mary  and  they  lost  two  of  their  children 
with  diptheria. 

In  1879  Joseph  and  Mary  with  their  one  remain- 
ing child,  William  Turner  came  to  Gentile  Valley 

and  settled  in  Lago,  Idaho  where  they  homesteaded 
a  farm  and  made  their  home  for  the  remainder  of 

Joseph's  life.  Here  Joseph  engaged  in  farming. 
They  had  a  little  log  house  to  live  in.  It  would  be  so 
cold  in  the  winter  that  Mary  would  use  a  feather 

tick  to  keep  the  eggs  in  so  that  they  wouldn't  freeze. 
It  would  snow  so  much  that  they  had  to  make  big 

arches  through  the  snow  to  get  from  the  house  to 
the  chicken  coop  and  to  other  outside  buildings. 

The  evolution  of  machinery  used  in  the  growth 
and  harvest  of  wheat  was  a  spectacle  witnessed  by 

Joseph  and  Mary.  During  the  earlier  days  the  sickle 

was  employed.  Later  the  scythe  replaced  it.  Then 
came  the  cradle,  a  hand  implement  similar  to  the 

scythe.  Wheat  was  at  first  taken  to  a  mill  at  High 

Creek,  Utah  where  it  was  ground  into  flour.  Later  a 
mill  was  erected  at  Montpelier. 

Joseph  preceded  Mary  in  death  by  twelve  years. 

He  died  on  May  2,  1916  at  Lago,  Idaho  and  was 
buried  on  May  5,  1916  in  the  Lago  cemetery.  Mary 
died  on  March  2,  1928. 

FREDERICK  WILHELM  (FRED)  GEISLER 

was  born  February  9,  1873  at  Lynne  Ward,  Ogden, 

Utah.  His  boyhood  was  spent  in  the  usual  way,  with 

plenty  of  work,  as  his  parents  were  immigrants 
from  Denmark,  who  had  come  to  Utah  to  be  with 

the  main  body  of  the  Church. 

Fred  showed  exceptional  musical  talent  when  he 

was  six  years  old.  He  could  play  the  accordian  and 
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Jensine  Geisler Frederick  Geisler 

perform  comparable  to  his  father.  After  being  bap- 
tized at  eight  years,  his  schoohng  began  in  Ogden  in 

January  of  1882.  On  his  ninth  birthday  his  father 

bought  him  a  violin  for  $4.50.  He  gave  a  teacher 
one  chichen  per  lesson  for  his  training.  After  eight 

lessons  they  were  concluded.  At  ten  years  he  began 

to  play  for  dances  with  professional  musicians.  At 

fourteen  years,  he  played  a  fife  and  cornet  and  was 
marshal  of  the  band. 

He  married  JENSINE  (SINE)  HANSEN  in  the 

Salt  Lake  Temple  on  November  22,  1893,  having 
been  ordained  an  Elder  three  days  previously.  The 

first  three  or  four  years  of  their  married  life  were 

spent  in  Ogden  and  Menan,  Idaho.  After  their  se- 
cond child,  Carrie,was  born  in  Menan,  Idaho,  they 

returned  to  Ogden.  He  and  his  stepfather-in-law 
moved  their  families  to  Central,  Idaho  and  settled 

on  what  was  known  as  Squaw  Flat  in  Gentile 

Valley.  They  were  the  first  two  permanent  settlers 
who  homesteaded  the  land.  The  town  was  called 

Central  because  it  was  in  the  center  of  the  valley. 

They  each  homesteaded  160  acres  of  land  on  either 
side  of  the  main  road  in  the  center  of  town. 

Fred  built  a  log  house  as  the  first  home  in  Cen- 
tral for  his  family.  It  was  located  in  the  center  of 

the  south  line  of  his  property.  He  remembers  haul- 
ing water  from  the  Bear  River  north  of  Grace, 

Idaho.  He  would  take  several  fifty-gallon  barrels 
and  drive  down  into  the  river,  fill  them  with  a 

bucket,  and  bring  them  home.  He  later  drilled  one 

of  the  first  wells.  It  was  one  hundred  seventy-five 
feet  deep  and  had  four  feet  of  casing  in  the  top.  The 
drill  dropped  the  last  twenty  feet  into  a  running 
stream  of  water.  We  used  a  windmill  to  pump  the 
water. 

The  community  activities  Fred  participated  in 

were:  organizing  the  first  band  in  Central,  being  ap- 
pointed the  first  school  trustee,  which  position  he 

held  for  many  years,  and  acting  as  a  director  of  the 

Central  Canal  Company.  His  church  activities  in- 
cluded: director  of  music  in  the  ward,  second,  then 

first  assistant  superintendent  of  the  Sunday  School 
for  twenty-four  years. 

There  were  nine  children  born  into  the  family: 

Lester,  Carrie,  Raymond,  Viva,  Frank,  Inez, 
Loreemer,  Winnie,  who  died  at  birth,  and  Sylvia. 
At  this  time,  Lester  Carrie  and  Loreemer  have 

passed  away. 

Fred  was  a  good  violin  player  and  he  used  the 

printed  music  to  play.  As  the  children  came  along 

they  were  taught  to  play  musical  instruments: 
Lester,  cornet;  Raymond,  clarinet;  Viva,  organ  and 

piano;  Frank,  alto  horn,  drums,  baritone, violin, 
slide  trombone  and  banjo.  They  had  a  five  piece 
orchestra  in  the  family  and  played  for  dances 

throughout  the  valley  for  about  fourteen  years. 

Fred  was  called  to  help  take  care  of  the  sick  and 
in  time  of  death  to  lay  people  out  and  pack  them  in 
snow,  as  that  was  the  custom  at  that  time.  In  1925 

he  was  called  on  a  six-month  mission  to  the 
Northern  States.  While  in  Indianapolis,  Indiana, 
he  was  called  to  administer  to  a  woman  whom  he 
later  married.  ALICE  EDNA  MAGAW  and  Fred 

were  sealed  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple  on  November 

4,  1926.  In  the  spring  of  1927  they  left  Central  to 
make  their  home  in  Boise  where  the  climate  was 

mild.  He  sold  his  farm  to  Alva  Egan. 

After  the  death  of  his  second  wife  July  19,  1950, 
he  moved  to  Farr  West,  Utah,  to  live  near  Viva.  He 
died  March  12,  1956  and  was  buried  in  Central, 
Idaho. 

Jensine  Hansen,  daughter  of  Hans  Petersen  and 

Karen  Nielsen,  was  born  May  3,  1873  in  Gudmen- 
drup,  Hojby,  Denmark.  She  came  to  America  with 
her  mother  and  stepfather,  Anders  Peter  Hansen. 
She  learned  the  dressmaking  trade  in  Ogden.  After 

her  marriage  she  was  at  her  husband's  side  in  all 
their  activities,  helping  with  the  sick,  making  burial 
clothes,  lining  caskets,  etc.  Though  she  did  not 

open  a  shop,  she  was  a  professional  seamstress  and 

always  had  her  children  dressed  in  a  neat,  clean 
manner  for  school  and  church.  Her  church  ac- 

tivities included:  president  of  the  Primary,  a  Relief 
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Society  officer,  and  teacher  in  the  Primary  Depart- 
ment of  the  Sunday  School. 

Jensine  was  sick  for  two  years,  in  and  out  of  the 

hospital  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  Dr.  Kackley  was 
the  doctor,  and  she  passed  away  March  18,  1913. 

Alva  Egan  built  her  casket  out  of  redwood. 

The  hearse  was  a  sleigh  in  winter  time  or  a  white- 
top  buggy  in  the  summer  time.  The  snow  and  mud 
were  deep  in  both  cases.  Many  times  they  would 
have  to  make  a  new  track  along  the  side  of  the  old 

road,  cut  fences  and  go  through  the  fields  as  the 
need  arose.  Life  was  hard  in  the  early  days,  no 
roads,  mud,  snow,  wind,  snowdrifts,  cold  weather 

and  no  coal  for  heat  until  later  years.  They  used  to 

go  to  the  mountains  south  of  Lund  to  get 
mahogany  for  fuel.  It  was  hardwood  and  burned 
well. 

In  spite  of  hardships,  they  enjoyed  the  church 
dances  and  plays  and  swimming  at  Lava  Hot 
Springs.  They  experienced  no  crop  failures  and  had 
a  productive  garden  and  an  abundant  food  supply. 

After  their  mother's  death  the  children  managed 
the  home  until  they  left  Central. 

JOHN  GIBBS  son  of  John  Gibbs  and  Mary 
Catherine  Langton  was  born  at  Calls  Fort,  Utah, 
March  26,  1855.  John  Gibbs  and  Mary  Catherine 

Langton  were  pioneers  of  1852  from  Hereford  and 
Lancashire  Counties  of  England.  They  were 

pioneers  of  sturdy  stock — brave  enough  to  walk 
from  Missouri  to  the  Salt  Lake  Valley. 

As  a  young  man,  John  drove  freight  wagons  to 
Boise,  Idaho  and  Virginia  City,  Montana  from  the 
railroad     terminus     at     Corrine,     Utah. 

NANCY  JANE  LOVELAND  was  born  April  25, 
1859  at  Bountiful,  Utah,  a  daughter  of  Chester 
Loveland  and  Rosannah  Elvira  Winters.  She  and 

John  Gibbs  were  married  in  the  Salt  Lake  Endow- 
ment House  December  11,  1878.  Early  in  the  spring 

of  1879  a  company  of  young  people  was  called  to 

go  to  central  Idaho  and  settle  a  place  in  the  Lost 
River  or  Godin  Valley  as  it  was  then  called. 

The  summer  was  spent  building  a  stockade  and 
fencing,  fashioning  crude  dwellings  and  preparing 

for  winter.  The  snow  came  and  piled  deep  until  spr- 
ing. When  the  settlers  emerged  from  their  huts  in 

the  spring,  much  to  their  surprise  they  found  there 
was  no  water  in  their  once  beautiful  river.  A  rider 

was  dispatched  to  Salt  Lake  for  instructions  as  to 
what  they  should  do  about  their  dismal  plight.  They 
were  advised  to  return  to  Utah.  This  they  did  in  the 
autumn  of  1880. 

In  the  spring  of  1881,  John  Gibbs,  and  others 

with  their  families  were  told  to  go  back  to  Idaho. 

This  time  they  were  sent  to  Gentile  Valley  and  told 

to  stay.  Some  did,  while  others  gave  up  and  return- 

ed. ^ 
Nancy  Adell,  oldest  child  of  John  and  Nancy 

Gibbs  was  born  May  8,  1881  and  about  the  middle 
of  May  the  little  family  ventured  forth  again. 

The  1880  census  of  Idaho  gives  the  following 
names:  John  Gibbs,  Benjamin  Clegg,  Samuel 

Egbert,  Fred  Burton,  Ed  Montague,  Olaf  Olsen, 
David  D.  Sullivan,  Soloman  Hale. 

John  Gibbs  settled  on  Trout  Creek  just  up  the 

hill  from  what  became  Central  High  School  and  the 

grocery  store  later  owned  by  J.C.  Greaves  and  Co. 
of  Preston. 

John  Gibbs  was  a  most  versatile  man — a  builder 

of  houses,  somewhat  learned  in  the  skills  of  plaster 

and  cement  work  as  well  as  cutting  logs.  His  ex- 
perience as  a  freighter  made  him  a  handy  man  at 

getting  timber  and  wood  from  the  canyons.  He 
built  at  least  four  houses  in  Gentile  Valley  for 
himself  and  his  family,  and  helped  many  others 
with  their  homes. 

About  1888  the  Lago  Branch  of  the  church  was 

organized  on  the  northeast  side  of  the  valley  with 
John  Gibbs  as  the  presiding  elder.  This  position  he 
held  until  the  Trout  Creek  Ward  was  organized 
with  McGee  Harris,  Bishop;  John  Gibbs,  First 
Counselor;  Andrew  Ruud,  Second  Counselor.  John 

Gibbs  held  this  position  until  1906  when  the  Bench 
Ward  was  created  from  parts  of  the  Trout  Creek 
and  Grace  Wards. 

In  the  year  1898,  the  church  called  Nancy  Gibbs 
and  other  women  from  other  wards  to  go  to  Soda 

Springs  and  take  a  course  in  midwifery  under  the 
leadership  of  Dr.  Ellis  R.  Ship  of  Salt  Lake  City 

with  Dr.  Ellis  R.  Kackley  supervising.  When  the 

course  was  finished  ,  Nancy  became  known  as  the 

"Doctor  Lady".  She  had  long  been  noted  for  her 
help  to  other  families  in  times  of  illness.  John 

bought  her  a  new  rubber-tired  buggy  and  a  brown 
pacing  mare  to  make  her  rounds  during  which 
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times  he  took  care  of  the  house  and  the  six  children 

of  various  ages. 

Each  evening  in  cold  weather  the  rocks  were 
heated  in  the  oven  ready  for  warming  the  buggy  in 

any  emergency  ride  which  might  be  10  to  20  miles 
in  the  cold,  snow,  sleet  or  whatever  kind  of  weather. 

Nancy  always  carried  a  brown  satchel  which  was 
kept  in  readiness,  with  clean  linen  toasted  to  a  light 
tan.  to  sterilize  it.  plus  her  essential  medicines.  She 
never  left  without  a  heart  full  of  love.  This  routine 

lasted  for  eight  years.  Sometimes  she  would  find  it 
necessary  to  stay  with  a  family  for  as  much  as  ten 

days  to  care  for  their  sick  .  .  For  this  service  she 
was  allowed  to  accept  a  fee  of  $5.00  if  it  were 
offered,  but  she  herself  never  made  a  charge.  She 

drew  no  lines  going  where  she  was  needed,  to 

members  of  the  church,  non-members,  rich  or  poor, 
young  or  old.  All  were  her  neighbors. 

In  the  spring  of  1906  after  an  illness  of  three 

months  Nancy  Jane  passed  away  on  June  20th  and 

was  laid  to  rest  in  the  Trout  Creek  Cemetery  on  the 
east  bank  of  Trout  Creek  with  her  four  young 
children  who  had  preceeded  her  in  death. 

Nancy  Jane  Gibbs  was  survived  by  eight 
children:  Nancy  Adell  Dille,  Mary  Rosannah 
Ricks,  John  Chester,  James  Clarence,  Don  David, 

Myrtle  Estella  Andreasen,  Willard  Loveland  and 

Floretta  Ivalou  Gamblin  Pingree. 

On  one  occasion  John  was  working  in  the  woods 

cutting  timber  when  he  was  approached  by  one  of 
his  apostate  Mormon  neighbors  looking  for  a  log 

large  enough  to  saw  into  boards  and  make  some 
kind  of  box  in  which  to  bury  his  deceased  child. 
John  took  him  home  and  from  his  own  lumber 

fashioned  a  proper  coffin  for  the  baby.  Acts  such  as 

these  helped  narrow  the  gulf  between  the  two  fac- 
tions. These  families  were  often  found  visiting  in 

the  Gibbs  home. 

In  1908  John  Gibbs  became  Watermaster  for  the 

Last  Chance  Canal  Company.  This  necessitated  his 
moving  to  a  cabin  near  the  dam  site.  He  did  not 

leave  there  from  spring  until  fall  or  as  long  as  there 
was  water  in  the  canal  each  season,  but  the  children 
could  and  did  visit  him  often. 

Each  day  on  this  job  John  faithfully  measured 
the  water  and  kept  a  detailed  account  of  the  data  in 

his  "little  black  book".  This  book  was  almost 
sacred.  No  one  other  than  himself  was  allowed  to 

touch  it.  In  later  years  this  record  was  to  be  the 

determining  evidence  in  favor  of  the  farmers  in  the 

lawsuit  between  the  Utah  Power  and  Light  Com- 
pany and  The  People  over  the  final  disposition  of 

these  water  rights  which  were  essential  to  the 
economic  agricultural  pursuits  of  the  valley 
residents,  and  were  also  desired  by  the  Power  Co. 
John  Gibbs  held  this  trusted  position  until  his  death 
in  1932. 

In  1911.  John  Gibbs  rented  a  house  in  Grace, 

Idaho.  At  this  time  he  was  supporting  an  effort  to 

establish  a  high  school  in  Grace  and  had  promised 

that  if  they  would  provide  such  a  school  his 

daughter  Myrtle  would  attend.  She  had  gone  to  Al- 
bion the  previous  year. 

The  life  of  John  Gibbs  took  another  happy  event- 
ful turn  in  October  1916  when  he  purchased  his  own 

home  in  Grace  and  married  MARY  STEWART. 

He  met  Mary  during  the  summer  when  she  had 
come  west  to  visit  her  nephew  John  Van  Vleet  who 
lived  on  a  farm  near  the  dam  site.  They  spent  their 
winters  in  Grace  but  returned  to  the  dam  site  cabin 
each  summer. 

Many  granchildren  remember  their  grand- 

father's gentle  ways  and  kind  acts  which  included 
making  sleds  and  skis  for  them  in  the  winter. 
Widows  and  orphans  remember  his  paying  their 

light  bills  when  their  power  had  been  turned  off. 
No  man  had  cause  to  be  an  enemy  of  John 

Gibbs.  He  died  February  2,  1932  and  is  buried  at 

Lago,  Idaho. 

HARVEY  GIBSON  was  born  December  4,  1877 

at  Hyde  Park,  Utah.  He  died  August  25,  1938  at 
Grace.  Idaho. 

LUCY  D.  LOWE  was  born  September  1 1,  1884 
in  Franklin,  Idaho. 

Harvey  and  Lucy  were  married  June  29,  1904  at 
Logan,  Utah.  In  1905  Harvey  started 
homesteading  160  acres  of  land  about  two  miles 
west  and  two  miles  north  of  Grace.  He  built  a  10  x 

12  foot  one  room  house  and  stayed  the  alloted  time 

to  prove  upon  his  place. 
Three  children  were  born  in  Franklin,  Idaho 

prior  to  their  moving  to  Grace.  Retta  Eliza,  died  of 
quit,  pneumonia  at  four  months  of  age.  Harvey 
Grant  and  State  Elmer  were  the  two  small  sons 

they  had  when  they  loaded  their  belongings  in  their 
wagon  in  June  1907  and  started  for  Grace.  They 
had  three  horses.  Rock,  Rowdey,  and  Kernal.  They 
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led  their  milk  cow  behind  the  wagon  and  had  her 

calf  in  the  wagon.  It  took  them  two  days  to  go  from 
Franklin  to  Grace. 

They  cleared  what  land  they  could  and  planted 

fall  grain.  They  went  back  to  Franklin  for  two  or 
three  winters  to  spend  the  coldest  months,  until 

they  could  build  a  warmer  and  better  home.  Harvey 
and  his  brother  John  went  to  the  canyon  to  get  their 

logs  to  build  their  homes.  The  logs  were  sawed  into 
lumber  at  the  Beaver  Dams  where  there  was  a  saw 
mill. 

While  these  men  were  in  the  canyon,  days  at  a 

time,  they  would  leave  their  wives,  Lucy  and  Grace, 
to  take  care  of  things  at  home.  Lucy  tells  of  many 
snakes  she  killed  and  of  the  wild  animals,  coyotes, 
etc.  that  made  lots  of  noise  and  had  to  be  scared 

away  to  protect  their  chickens. 

They  raised  large  gardens.  I  have  heard  Lucy 

say,  if  they  had  enough  money  to  pay  their  taxes 
and  enough  flour  for  the  year,  they  felt  they  could 
get  along  fine  until  the  next  harvest. 

Water  was  always  a  big  problem  on  their  place. 
At  first,  they  would  take  small  buckets  and 

dip  water  from  the  canal,  and  let  it  settle  overnight. 
There  would  be  about  two  inches  of  settlings  in  the 
bottom.  They  would  pour  the  top  off  and  this  was 

their  drinking  water.  In  the  winter  months  Lucy 
would  have  to  melt  snow  in  a  big  boiler  to  use  for 
washing  clothes. 

They  worked  hard,  clearing  a  few  more  acres  of 

land  each  year.  This  became  a  family  project,  when 
the  boys.  Grant,  State,  and  Cluff  got  old  enough  to 
pull  sage  brush  out  of  the  ground  after  their  father 

had  plowed  and  loosened  it.  They  would  then  put  it 
in  piles  to  be  burned  for  firewood. 

After  all  the  hard  work  of  raising  a  crop,  there 
was  still  a  lot  of  work  to  get  it  threshed.  This  took  a 

lot  of  neighbors  working  together  for  days  at  a  time 
on  each  place.  Three  big  hot  meals  were  prepared 
each  day  for  these  men  who  were  working  at  the 

Gibson's. 

Sometimes  they  didn't  get  too  much  money  for 
all  their  hard  work.  In  1921  they  received  57c  a 
bushel  for  their  wheat,  and  $5.00  a  ton  for  hay.  On 

July  2,  of  this  same  year,  they  had  a  severe  frost 

which  made  their  wheat  crop  very  light.  In  1928 
their  grain  sold  for  80c  a  bushel. 

They  didn't  escape  the  flu  in  the  I920's  which 
took  a  lot  of  home  nursing.  Lucy  seemed  to  become 

an  expert  at  caring  for  the  sick.  The  children  all  had 
the  childhood  diseases,  whooping  cough,  measles, 

mumps,  etc.  On  the  11th  of  September  1914 

Harvey  had  what  they  called  "walking  typhoid 

fever". 

Mustard  plasters,  prickly  pear  tea,  gravel  root, 
dandelions,  yaro,  bread  and  milk  poultices,  soot, 

egg  shells  ground  fine  and  honey,  for  worms.  These 

were  a  few  of  Lucy's  home  remedies. 
They  succeeded  in  raising  eleven  children.  The 

children  are:  Harvey  Grant,  State  Elmer,  Cluff 
Lowe,  Budrow  Lowe,  Gean  Willis,  Hattie  Ann, 

Don  Lowe,  Homer  Lowe,  Opal  Larue  Gibson. 

Harvey  herded  sheep  for  Tom  Lowe  north  of 

Soda  Springs  during  the  summer  of  1901 .  He  work- 
ed on  the  Grace  Power  Dam  in  1908.  Harvey  and 

his  sons  drove  the  school  wagon  in  1922  for  $50.00 
a  month  and  in  the  year  of  1923  for  $27.50  a 
month. 

Harvey  Gibson  died  at  his  home  August  25,  1938 
in  Grace,  Idaho  of  a  heart  attack.  He  was  looking 
forward  to  a  beautiful  harvest  as  the  grain  was  just 

ready  to  harvest. 
Lucy  stayed  on  the  farm  and  raised  the  younger 

children  that  were  still  at  home.  She  is  still  living 
and  was  92  years  old  in  1976. 

ANDREW  BUSBY  GRAY  was  born  in  Kirkin- 
tilloch, Dumbarton,  Scotland,  November  24,  1854, 

the  son  of  Samuel  Wardrop  Gray  and  Sarah 
Busby.  He  was  the  second  child  in  a  family  of  ten 
children. 

His  parents  joined  the  L.D.S.  Church  in 
Scotland  and  with  their  four  children  journeyed  to 
America  in  the  fall  of  1860.  It  took  them  seven 
weeks  to  cross  the  ocean  in  a  sailboat. 

They  spent  the  rest  of  the  fall  and  winter  of  1860 
and  the  spring  of  1861  in  Haverstraw  ,  New  York, 
and  their  fifth  child  was  born  there. 

In  the  summer  of  1861,  they  journeyed  from 

New  York  to  Salt  Lake  City,  spending  two  months 

on  the  plains.  That  winter  they  remained  in  Salt 

Lake  City  and  the  next  spring  the  father,  Samuel 
Gray,  was  asked  by  Brigham  Young  to  go  to 

Beaver,  Utah,  to  be  the  only  hand-loom  weaver  in 
that  territory.  They  were  the  weavers  for  the  first 

carpet  in  the  St.  George  Temple.  During  the  twelve 
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years  they  remained  in  Beaver,  five  more  children 
were  born. 

In  1874,  they  moved  to  Central,  Utah,  where 

they  lived  in  a  one-room  house  with  a  willow  ,  straw 
and  dirt  roof.  The  beds  were  plain  planks  built  a 
foot  or  so  from  the  fioor. 

Andrew  spent  many  of  his  early  years  helping 
his  father  to  weave  on  a  loom.  Sometimes  they 

could  weave  plain  women's  material  at  the  rate  of 
16  to  18  yards  a  day. 

An  interesting  experience  in  the  life  of  Andrew 
and  his  father,  Samuel,  was  at  the  farm  in  Beaver. 

Andrew  was  a  boy  of  14,  and  was  with  his  father 

looking  over  the  wheat  that  was  so  dry  that  they 

were  afraid  it  would  burn.  Samuel  said,  "We'll  go 
up  to  the  narrows,  between  the  two  mountains,  and 
see  if  we  can  dig  the  rocks  from  the  small  pools  so 

the  water  will  run  down."  Half-way  up  the  moun- 
tainside, Samuel  dropped  to  his  knees  and  told  his 

son  to  kneel  beside  him.  He  prayed  for  rain  and 

before  his  prayer  was  finished,  the  rain  came  down 
in  torrents. 

As  a  young  man,  Andrew  worked  in  a  sawmill,  at 
a  brick  kiln,  hauled  logs  from  the  canyons,  and 

hauled  freight  from  .Peoch,  Nevada  to  Beaver, 
Utah. 

The  young  lady  who  was  to  share  most  of  his  life 
was  born  FRANCES  CHARITY  AMES, 

September  22,  1859,  at  Kaysville,  Utah,  the 
daughter  of  Clark  Carter  Ames  and  Frances  Jane 

Beavan.  When  Charity  was  12  years  old,  a  traveling 

patriarch  named  John  Smith  came  to  their  home. 
Her  older  brothers  had  their  blessings,  and  the 

patriarch  asked  why  the  little  girl  didn't  have  hers, 
but  her  father  said  he  thought  she  was  too  young. 
Patriarch  Smith  convinced  her  father  to  change  his 

mind  and  gave  her  a  patriarchal  blessing  saying  , 

"the  sick  will  recover  under  your  hands."  Her 
father  said,  "That's  kind  of  strong  isn't  it,  John?" 

the  patriarch  answered,  "Yes,  but  you  will  see  that 
my  predictions  will  come  true."  This  prophecy  was 
fulfilled  because  she  was  responsible  for  healing 

many  people  during  the  flu  epidemic  of  1918  to 

1920  and  acted  as  mid-wife  for  many  of  the  people 
of  the  valley. 

Andrew  Busby  Gray  and  Frances  Charity  Ames 
were  married  October  13,  1880,  in  the  Endowment 

House  in  Salt  Lake  City.  They  lived  the  first  five 

years  in  Trenton,  Utah,  where  their  children  Clark, 

Sarah,  and  Andrew  were  born. 

In  the  spring  of  1886,  they  homesteaded  at 
Mound  Valley,  Idaho,  where  the  other  children 
Harriet,  Frances,  Letitia,  Leo,  Ivy,  Delia  and 

Gladys  were  born. 

At  first  there  was  only  a  one-room  log  cabin  with 
a  dirt  roof  on  the  homestead,  but  later  Andrew 

built  another  room,  but  it  was  not  joined  to  the  first 

one.  It  was  a  log  cabin  with  a  shingled  roof,  where 

the  family  slept.  They  continued  to  eat  in  the  dirt- 
roofed  cabin. 

In  the  autumn  of  1895,  Andrew  was  hauling  logs 

out  of  the  canyon  when  a  log  slipped,  pinning  him 

between  a  log  and  a  tree  and  breaking  his  right  leg. 
Andrew  was  in  bed  16  weeks  and  could  do  no  work 

for  his  wife  and  eight  children.  He  spent  this  time  in 

reading  and  studying  the  Book  of  Mormon, 
although  he  had  had  less  than  a  year  of  schooling  in 
his  life. 

In  September,  1920,  Andrew  and  Charity  sold 
their  farm  to  their  oldest  son,  Clark,  and  moved  to 

Grace,  Idaho,  where  they  lived  for  the  next  20 

years. 
Frances  Charity  Gray  died  on  December  13, 

1940  at  the  age  of  81  and  Andrew  Busby  Gray  died 

May  18,  1952,  at  the  age  of  97. 

JOHN  CARD  GREAVES  JR.  was  born  August 

29,  1877  in  Logan,  Utah  to  John  Cluley  and  Althea 
Card  Greaves. 

He  attended  college  in  Logan,  Utah  and  then 
worked  for  his  father  in  the  Greaves  Mercantile  in 

Preston,  Idaho.  For  many  years  he  was  a  member 
of  the  Preston  City  Council. 

He  married  GRACIE  DAVIS  January  23,  1900 

in  Logan,  Utah.  Seven  children  were  born  to  this 
union,  including  two  sets  of  twins:  Althea,  Ray, 

Eileen  and  Elvin,  Phyllis,  and  Vera  and  Vella. 

Tragedy  came  to  the  family,  and  they  lost  three 
children  within  four  months. 

For  several  years  he  moved  back  and  forth  from 
Preston  to  Grace,  Idaho.  In  Grace  he  and  his 

brother-in-law  L.  Sumner  Pond  managed  the 
Grace  Merc. 

His  wife,  Gracie  died  November  26,  (Thanksgiv- 
ing day)  1915,  leaving  him  with  four  children  to 

raise.  Shortly  after  her  death  he  was  married,  and 
the  children  sealed  to  his  wife  in  the  Logan,  Utah 
Temple. 
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On  June  28,  1916,  he  married  MARY  JANE 

PENDELTON  in  the  Logan,  Utah  Temple.  Four 
children  were  born  to  this  union:  Clarice,  Howard, 

Delpha,  and  William. 
Shortly  after  this  marriage  he  moved  back  to 

Grace,  Idaho  again  and  opened  the  O.P.  Skaggs 

Grocery,  which  he  operated  until  he  retired  and 
moved  to  Ogden,  Utah  in  the  year  1945.  He  was  a 
charter  member  of  the  Grace  Lions  Club,  and  was 

on  the  Grace  City  Board  for  several  years. 

He  died  in  Ogden,  Utah  April  15,  1955. 

munity.  The  naming  of  the  new  Greenwood  gym- 
nasium for  him  as  an  expression  of  appreciation  is 

only  a  token  return  for  his  generous  labor  in  the  in- 

terest of  boys  and  girls  for  the  near  thirty-five  years 
he  has  held  this  position.  We  take  this  occasion  to 

honor  him." 
Fred  was  a  devoted  member  of  the  L.D.S. 

Church,  and  he  served  as  Ward  Clerk  of  the  Grace 
Ward  for  many  years. 

He  passed  away  on  May  17,  1956,  in  Grace, 
Idaho  and  is  buried  in  the  Grace  Cemetery. 

Fred  Greenwood 

FRED  E.  GREENWOOD  was  born  September 

22,  1874,  in  Sheffield,  England. 

This  small,  pleasant,  friendly  man  was  brought 

to  the  Grace  area  by  Fred  D.  Burton  Sr.  Mr.  Bur- 
ton served  the  L.D.S.  Church  on  a  mission  from 

1909  to  1911,  in  England,  and  it  was  there  he  met 
Fred  Greenwood,  and  paid  his  transportation  to 
Idaho. 

"Freddie"  was  38  when  he  arrived  in  Gentile 
Valley,  as  it  was  called  then.  It  was  not  long  until  he 
was  hired  as  janitor  for  the  school  in  Grace.  This 
position  he  held  for  the  balance  of  his  life.  Many  a 

student  was  comforted,  warmed,  and  cheered  by 
this  kind  man. 

Though  Fred  never  married,  he  had  a  full  life 

with  children,  and  they  all  loved  him.  In  1952,  the 
Grace  High  School  Yearbook  was  dedicated  to 

Fred  E.  Greenwood.  A  testimony  of  their  love  for 
him  is  shown  in  the  following  dedication: 

"This  publication  is  dedicated  to  Fred  E. 
Greenwood — loyal,  friendly,  helpful,  considerate, 
kind  and  generous  custodian  of  the  old  elementary 
building.  Years  of  association  have  earned  for  him 

the  respect  of  the  student  body  and  the  entire  com- 

Frank,  Bertha  Gummersall  and  baby 

FRANK  A.  GUMMERSALL  was  born 

September  21,  1880  in  Dudley  Hill,  Yorkshire, 

England.  He  sailed  to  America  with  his  father  and 
mother.  Smith  and  Phoebe  Gummersall,  and  a 

sister,  Janet,  when  he  was  six  years  old,  They  settl- 
ed in  Franklin,  Idaho  where  they  lived  for  twelve 

years.  While  living  in  Franklin,  two  sisters,  Martha 

May  and  Hannah  Elizabeth  were  born. 
He  attended  school  in  Franklin  until  they  moved 

to  Turner,  Idaho.  Here  they  lived  in  a  one  room 

home  until  a  larger  one  was  built.  This  one  room 
home  later  became  the  first  school  in  Turner. 

He  did  farm  work  and  worked  with  sheep  or  any 

other  job  that  was  available.  June  6,  1907  he 
married  BERTHA  MAY  GRIFFITH. 
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Bertha  May  Griffith  was  born  May  3,  1889  at 

Ogden,  Utah  to  John  Thomas  and  Marion  Ann 
Sharp  Griffiths.  Her  father  died  when  she  was 
three  months  old  and  her  mother  married  Harvey 

Higley.  She  had  one  sister,  Laura  Griffiths  and  two 
half  sisters.  Rose  and  Edith  Higley  and  one 
brother,  Warren  Harvey  Higley. 

Frank,  and  Bertha  lived  in  Turner,  Idaho.  They 

bought  a  farm  with  a  large  two  bedroom  home  on 
it.  They  built  a  store  on  the  front  of  the  home  and 
Turner  had  its  only  business  place.  They  prospered 
in  the  grocery  business  and  bought  more  land  and 
horses. 

Bad  luck  began  when  Frank  was  in  an  accident 

and  spent  18  months  in  the  hospital.  During  this 
time  he  lost  most  of  his  land  and  horses.  Then  their 

grocery  store  and  home  burned  down.  He  worked 
for  the  sugar  company  and  at  the  Alexander  Dam 
and  tried  to  save  his  farm  but  he  did  not  succeed.  In 

1927  they  sold  what  was  left  and  moved  to 
Pocatello  where  he  ran  a  small  grocery  store  for  a 

while.  He  worked  at  many  other  jobs  until  his  death 
on  May  2,  1952. 

Bertha  had  preceeded  him  in  death.  She  died  July 
11,  1951.  Thirteen  children  were  born  to  Frank 

and  Bertha.  They  were  Frank  Muril,  Thelma  May, 
Laura  Lurrena,  Edna,  Russell,  Gladys  Ann, 

Virginia,  Thomas  Jay.  and  John  Kay,  Floyd 
Arthur.  Cecil  Melvin,  Roma,  and  Ruth  Genevieve. 

SMITH  GUMMERSALL  was  born  December 

29,  1852  in  Holme,  Yorke  County  England. 
PHOEBE  HODGSON  was  born  on  October  29, 

1852  at  Dudley  Hill,  Yorkshire  England.  They  were 
married  October  28,  1872  at  Bristol  Parish, 

Yorkshire,  England.  They  had  four  children  born  in 

England,  William,  George,  Frank  and  Janet. 
They  joined  the  L.D.S.  Church  and  came  to  the 

United  States  in  1886.  They  came  to  Franklin, 
Idaho  where  he  did  farm  work  or  anything  he  could 

to  support  his  family.  Four  children  were  born  to 
them  in  Franklin,  George  H.,  Martha  May  (Mrs. 
David  Revoir),  Henry,  and  Hannah  Elizabeth. 

They  filed  on  a  homestead  site  in  a  little  place 
later  known  as  Turner,  Idaho.  Here  they  made 
their  home.  Their  first  one  room  home  later 

became  the  first  school  house  in  Turner.  Smith 

Gummersall  was  the  first  postmaster  in  Turner. 

Phoebe  acted  as  a  nurse  and  mid-wife  in  the  small 
community. 

Life  was  hard  and  it  was  difficult  to  make  a  living 
on  the  small  farm.  They  sold  the  farm  and  moved 
to  Groveland,  Idaho.  Due  to  ill  health  they  leased 
their  farm  in  1915  and  lived  with  their  daughter, 
Janet  (Mrs. John  Cheirrett)  in  Ivins. 

Smith  Gummersall  died  November  29,  1915. 

Phoebe  returned  to  Turner  to  live,  then  moved  to 

Grace.  She  was  a  widow  for  about  fifteen  years, 
then  she  married  an  old  friend,  Henry  Perry.  They 

moved  to  Logan,  Utah  where  they  worked  in  the 
Temple  until  their  deaths. 

ARCHIBALD  BAXTER  GUNNELL  was  born 

in  Wellsville,  Utah  October  31.  1877. 
MAUDE  ELIZABETH  DOVER  PARKE  was 

born  July  8,  1878  at  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  She 
married  Archibald  Gunnell  February  8,  1905  in  the 
Salt  Lake  Temple. 

Six  children  were  born  to  them:  Essie  Parke 

McHan,  Merrill,  Gerald,  Halden,  Reed,  and  Elsa 

Parke  Gunnell  -  died  at  17  months  of  age. 
Archibald  (Arch)  Gunnell  was  a  farmer  and 

rancher.  He  helped  build  the  Last  Chance  Canal 
System.  He  was  a  counselor  in  the  Bishopric,  and 
held  various  positions  in  the  church.  On  May  13, 
1909  he  was  set  apart  by  Apostle  George  F. 

Richards  for  a  foreign  mission  to  England.  His 

third  child  was  born  shortly  after  he  left.  One  of  the 
families  that  he  taught  in  England  accepted  the 

gospel,  was  baptized  and  came  to  America  to 
make  their  home. 

Maude  was  a  practical  nurse,  assisting  the  doc- 
tors with  deliveries  in  the  early  days,  and  assisting 

families  in  different  ways  throughout  the  valley. 
She  was  a  meticulous  homemaker  and  cook. 

CATHERINE  ROSETTA  KELLER  HALE  was 

born  April  18,  1880  at  Mink  Creek  Oneida  County, 
Idaho  to  Janus  E.  Keller  and  Catherine  Larson 

Keller.  She  was  the  oldest  of  nine  children.  She  was 

baptized  by  her  father  at  the  age  of  eight. 
She  went  to  school  in  Mink  Creek  and  Oneida 

Stake  Academy  and  was  a  member  of  singing 

groups  at  sixteen  and  a  teacher  in  Sunday  School. 
Secretary  of  the  Young  Ladies  Association,  taught 

a  religion  class  in  the  L.D.S.  Church  and  received  a 
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Rosette  Hale 

certificate  signed  by  President  Wilford  Woodruff 
and  Dr.  Karl  G.  Maeser.  Rosetta  loved  to  dance 

and  take  part  in  plays. 

With  her  parents'  permission  she  went  to  Salt 
Lake  City  to  work.  She  kept  house  for  a  nice  family 
and  earned  three  dollars  a  week. 

On  March  25,  1903  she  married  JONATHAN 

HARRIMAN  HALE  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple 
and  three  weeks  later  they  moved  to  Grace  and 
rented  one  room  in  the  home  of  George  James. 

There  were  no  buildings  or  water  and  they  faced 

miles  of  sage  brush.  They  didn't  have  enough 
horses  or  machinery  and  no  money.  They  moved 
back  to  Mink  Creek  in  the  fall  of  that  year  and  her 
husband  worked  in  the  canyon. 

On  April  25,  1904  their  first  child  (Zella)  was 

born.  They  weren't  able  to  stay  on  the  farm  in  the 
winter  time,  so  with  hard  work  they  made  ditches 
as  they  cleared  sagebrush.  Rosetta  raised  turkeys 
and  chickens  to  help  out. 

Rosetta  and  Jonathan  had  a  large  family;  five 
boys  and  five  girls.  All  of  the  children  had  their 
work  to  do  from  the  oldest  to  the  youngest. 

In  1925  Rosetta  and  Jonathan  separated.  Roset- 
ta, along  with  her  children,  stayed  on  the  farm. 

They  joined  the  Turner  Ward  of  the  L.D.S.  Church 
and  the  children  went  to  school  at  Grace,  Idaho. 

Franklin  quit  school  and  took  charge  of  the  farm 
work  but  it  took  all  of  the  family  members,  doing 
hard  work,  to  enable  them  to  keep  and  improve  it. 

In  January  1927  the  explosion  that  destroyed  the 
Turner  Church  took  six  lives  and  injured  several 
others.  Rosetta  suffered  a  broken  hip  and  bad 
burns.  She  was  taken  to  the  Caribou  Hospital  for 
recovery  which  took  nine  weeks.  Her  doctor  was 

Ellis  Kackley  who  was  very  good  to  her  and  the 
family.  From  her  bedside  she  gave  wisdom  and 
courage  to  her  children.  With  faith  in  their  mother, 
the  children  did  the  farm  work  and  took  care  of  one 
another. 

Rosetta  had  four  out  of  five  sons  in  the  armed 

services.  Everett  enlisted  in  the  Army  Air  Force, 

Harriman  was  in  the  Army,  Jay  enlisted  in  the 
Navy  ,  and  Harold  in  the  Marines.  Her  oldest  son, 
Franklin,  stayed  on  the  farm  and  with  the  help  of 
his  mother  they  did  all  they  could  to  keep  the  farm 

during  the  war  years. 
Everett  was  reported  killed  in  air  action  while  on 

a  bombing  mission  bound  for  Ludwigshave,  Ger- 

many, May  27,  1944. 
She  became  a  Gold  Star  Mother  of  the  Grace 

American  Legion  Auxiliary.  She  was  a  member  of 
the  American  Legion  Auxiliary  and  chorus.  She 

was  a  member  of  the  H.Y.N.  Club  and  of  the  Sing- 
ing Mothers  Choir  of  the  2nd  Ward  L.D.S.  Church. 

She  was  also  an  ardent  church  worker  as  sewing 
director  over  quilting,  and  served  as  a  long  time 

visiting  Relief  Society  teacher.  She  helped  with  Red 
Cross  work  and  other  civic  affairs.  At  the  age  of  84, 

with  her  eyesight  dimming,  she  crocheted  a 
beautiful  white  72  x  72  tablecloth  and  presented  it 
to  the  American  Legion  Auxiliary  which  brought 

$116.00  to  the  organization  for  their  Girls  State 
Project. 

She  was  honored  on  her  80th  birthday  at  an  open 

house  at  the  home  of  her  son.  Jay  Hale  in  Grace, 
Idaho.  On  her  90th  birthday  she  was  honored  by 

the  presence  of  52  members  of  her  family  at  the 

home  of  her  daughter-in-law,  Mrs.  Marjorie  Hale, 
on  April  18,  1970.  Rosetta  Hale  lived  nearly  one 
month  of  her  90th  year.  All  her  family  was  with  her 

when  she  passed  away  on  May  16,  1970  at  the 
Caribou  Memorial  Hospital  of  a  heart  ailment. 

She  had  the  following  children:  Zella,  Frank, 

Bessie,  Roetta,  Harriman,  Helen,  Jay,  Everett, 
Harold,  and  Geniel. 

ERNEST  FREDERICK  HALE,  son  of  Alma 
Helaman  Hale  and  Sarah  Anna  Clark,  was  born 

September  4,  1863,  Grantsville,  Utah.  He  married 
DRUSILLA  ELIZABETH  HARRIS  in  the  Logan 

Temple  at  Logan,  Utah;  (2)  MARY  A. 
PETERSON. 

Ernest  was  reared  at  Grantsville,  Utah.  As  a  boy 
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he  attended  grammar  school,  and  herded  sheep  for 
his  father.  When  in  his  teens  he  helped  build  roads 

to  the  Mercur  Mines,  and  after  that  spent  one 

summer  breaking  colts.  When  he  was  nineteen  he 
hauled  lime  rock  from  a  quarry  to  the  smelter  at 
Stockton.  Utah.  He  drove  four  head  of  horses,  two 

black  and  two  white  ones.  In  the  spring  of  1884  he 
moved  to  Marion,  Utah  and  settled  on  a  ranch  his 

father  had  purchased.  He  stayed  here  three  years. 
In  December  1886  he  visited  his  brother  Albert, 

at  Oxford,  Idaho.  He  was  met  at  the  train  by 
Albert,  his  wife,  and  her  cousin,  Drusilla  Harris. 

On  the  way  home  they  came  to  a  pole  fence. 
Drusilla  put  her  hands  on  the  top  rail  and  leaped 
over.  Ernest  had  said  in  fun  many  times  that  he 

wanted  a  girl  who  could  jump  a  four  pole  fence. 
They  were  married  in  1887  in  the  Logan  Temple, 
and  made  their  home  at  Cleveland,  Idaho. 

Ernest  was  the  chief  promoter  of  the  Gentile 

Valley  Creamery,  and  served  as  its  first  manager. 
He  was  the  overseer  of  the  building  when  under 
construction,  and  of  the  installation  of  the 

machinery.  He  founded  the  Cleveland  Co-op  Store 
and  became  its  first  president.  He  assisted  in  the 

management  of  bridge  construction  over  the  Bear 
River  near  Cleveland.  He  was  a  member  of  the 

building  committee  when  the  Central  School  was 

erected,  and  also  donated  extensively  toward  the 
erection  of  the  Preston  Academy. 

He  was  very  active  in  the  church.  He  was  a  Sun- 
day School  teacher,  and  Sunday  School 

Superintendent.  He  was  ordained  Bishop  over  the 
Thatcher  Ward  in  Gentile  Valley.  During  this  time 

a  meeting  house,barn,  and  tithing  office  were  con- 
structed. A  division  of  the  ward  was  made,  and  he 

became  the  Bishop  of  the  Cleveland  Ward  and  serv- 
ed for  seventeen  years. 

In  1905  he  moved  his  family  to  Groveland, 
Idaho.  The  next  year  his  wife  died.  On  June  19, 

1907  he  married  Mary  A.  Peterson,  and  to  this  un- 
ion seven  children  were  born.  In  the  Blackfoot 

Stake  he  was  called  into  the  High  Council,  which 

office  he  held  until  his  death  on  September  29, 
1922. 

Ernest  was  the  father  of  seventeen  children,  ten 

by  his  first  marriage  and  seven  by  his  second 
marriage. 

On  January  3,  1876  JONATHAN  HARRIMAN 

Jonathan  Hale Eliza  Hale 

HALE  and  ELIZA  CLEGG  were  married  in  the 

Endowment  House  at  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  They 

began  their  married  life  at  Grantsville.  Utah,  where 
they  lived  for  a  period  of  six  years. 

When  Libbie,  who  was  their  third  child,  was  a 

babe  they  moved  to  Gentile  Valley,  Idaho.  During 

the  first  part  of  the  time  they  lived  here  all  of  the 
trials  and  tribulations  incidental  to  pioneer  life 

were  theirs.  They  had  few  if  any  conveniences. 
Their  home  consisted  of  two  long  rooms  with  bare 
fioors  and  whitewashed  walls. 

They  milked  cows  most  of  their  lives  while  on  the 
farm  as  there  was  always  a  large  milk  rack  in  the 

cellar  with  rows  of  pans  on  it.  Eliza  skimmed  the 
cream  from  the  milk  and  churned  the  butter  in  an 

old  fashioned  dash  churn.  Later  on  they  invested  in 

a  swing  churn.  After  going  to  all  the  work  of  milk- 
ing, skimming  and  churning  and  molding,  the 

butter  was  taken  to  Soda  Springs  and  sold  at  a  very 
low  price. 

In  the  year  1900  Jonathan  and  some  of  the  other 

men  in  the  valley  got  together  and  promoted  a 
creamery  which  proved  to  be  a  very  successful 
enterprise  for  Gentile  Valley. 

In  the  year  1910  they  left  the  valley,  spending  one 
summer  in  Oakley,  Idaho. 

Later  they  moved  to  Granstville  and  stayed  at 
the  home  of  Sister  Libbie  and  Brother  Sidney  A. 

Judd.  Soon  after  they  moved  in  with  them  the>  all 
had  a  siege  of  typhoid  fever. 

After  he  got  well  from  this  illness  Jonathan  built 

a  nice  big  brick  home  in  the  town  of  Grantsville. 
But  later  they  moved  to  Logan  where  they  could  be 
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near  the  Temple,  for  that  was  the  place  they  loved 
to  spend  their  time. 

Jonathan  passed  away  at  the  home  of  his 

daughter,  Cora  Hale  Cooper,  on  October  19,  1934. 
The  members  of  his  family  that  were  still  living 

were  all  present  at  the  time  of  his  passing.  In  a 

year's  time  on  November  16,  1935,  Eliza  followed 
him  to  their  heavenly  home.  Her  death  took  place 

also  at  their  daughter's  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

SOLOMON  H.  HALE  was  born  at  Quincy, 

Illinois,  on  April  30,  1839,  while  his  parents, 

Jonathan  and  Olive  Boynton  Hale,  then  recent  con- 
verts to  Mormonism,  were  on  their  way  to  join  the 

great  body  of  the  church  at  Nauvoo,  where  they 
remained  until  1846. 

At  Council  Bluffs,  on  September  4,  1846,  the 
father  died,  and  the  mother  followed  him  to  the 

better  world  a  few  days  later,  as  did  two  daughters. 
Four  children  were  left  in  orphanage,  Aroet  L., 
Rachel  S.,  Alma  H.,  and  Solomon  H.  The  oldest 

son  was  a  young  man  and  the  sister  was  also  nearly 
grown  at  this  time  and  they  were  able  to  keep  the 
four  together  and  continue  the  journey  to  the  great 
Salt  Lake  Valley,  which  they  did  in  the  spring  of 
1848  with  the  second  company. 
Solomon  went  to  Farmington.  north  of  Salt 

Lake,  to  make  his  home  with  his  uncle  ,  J.H. 
Holmes,  and  worked  on  his  farm  until  1854,  when 

he  began  the  battle  of  life  for  himself  in  earnest  by 

going  to  Utah  Valley,  near  Lehi  and  securing 
employment  on  a  stock  ranch.  He  remained  there 
until  1856  and  then  removed  with  the  first  settlers 

with  a  herd  of  church  cattle  to  what  is  now  Logan  in 

the  Cache  Valley.  He  passed  the  winter  near  Logan 
and  in  the  spring  of  1858  went  to  Salt  Lake  to  work 

for  William  H.  Hooper,  then  one  of  the  most  exten- 
sive stock  growers  and  dealers  in  Utah.  Mr.  Hale 

continued  his  work  on  the  ranches  until  the  spring 

of  1861  when  he  left  his  employ  to  break  horses  for 
the  Pony  Express  Co.  in  the  Deep  Creek  Valley. 

These  were  very  troublesome  and  dangerous 

times  with  the  Indians.  Some  of  the  station  keepers 

were  killed  and  express  riders  shot,  and  a  general 
state  of  terror  kept  up.  Mr.  Hale  was  among  those 
who  suffered  some  very  narrow  escapes. 

On  May  1,  1862,  he  enlisted  in  the  government 

service  under  Captain  Lot  Smith's  command  of 
Utah  Volunteers  and  was  appointed  wagon-master 

and  assigned  to  duty  in  protecting  the  mails  on  the 
overland  route.  The  Utah  Volunteers  were  used  in 

restraining  the  savages  and  preserving  order,  put- 
ting up  wires,  protecting  stage  coaches  and  keeping 

up  as  far  as  possible  communication  with  the  East. 

Mr.  Hale  remained  in  the  vicinity  of  Salt  Lake 

until  April  17,  1863,  when  he  was  married  there  to 
ANNA  CLARK,  a  native  of  Ohio,  daughter  of 
Samuel  and  Rebecca  Garner  Clark.  After  their 

marriage  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Hale  settled  in  Skull 

Valley,  Utah,  where  he  was  in  the  employ  of 

William  H.  Hooper,  having  charge  of  all  his  in- 
terests in  that  region. 

In  the  autumn  of  1865  Mr.  Hale  moved  to  the 

Bear  Lake  country,  which  then  contained  but  few 
settlers.  He  bought  land  near  the  present  town  of 

Liberty  and  engaged  extensively  in  the  stock  in- 
dustry, raising,  buying  and  selling  cattle.  He 

remained  there  until  the  spring  of  1870,  when  he 
changed  his  base  of  operations  to  Soda  Springs 
where  he,  in  partnership  with  Brigham  Young,  Jr., 

opened  a  livery,  feed  and  sale  stable.  He  procured 
hay  land  in  the  Gentile  Valley  for  the  raising  of 
winter  feed.  He  did  the  freighting  from  Logan, 
Utah,  for  the  branch  of  the  Z.C.M.I.  in  Soda 

Springs  and  acted  as  their  Indian  interpreter  and 
trader. 

In  the  spring  of  1872  he  sold  his  interests  in  Soda 

Springs  and  procured  other  tracts  of  land  in  the 
central  portion  of  Gentile  Valley  where  Thatcher 
now  is. 

Mr.  Hale  gained  the  friendship  of  his  neighbors 

and  before  a  great  while  a  number  of  other  Mor- 
mon >  settled  there  and  finally  a  ward  of  the  church 

was  organized  over  which  he  was  appointed 
Bishop.  While  living  here  he  served  his  county 

(Oneida)  for  two  years  as  one  of  its  commissioners, 

during  which  term  funds  were  appropriated  for  the 

building  of  the  courthouse  in  Malad  City,  the  Bear 
River  bridge  in  Gentile  Valley,  etc.  In  April,  1890, 

he  was  called  by  the  church  to  superintend  the  erec- 
tion of  the  Oneida  Stake  Academy,  at  Preston,  to 

which  town  his  family  moved  the  following  July, 

retaining  their  possessions  in  the  Gentile  Valley. 

His  family  consisted  of  eight  children  in  all. 
Their  names  in  order  of  birth  are  as  follows: 

Solomon  H.,  Jonathan  J.,  S.  Clark,  Hattie  V..  Arta 

D..  Heber  Q.,  A.  Alma  and  Lavinna. 
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JANE    CLARK    BOLLWINKEL    HALE    was 

born  October  19,  1837,  at  Columbus,  Ohio.  She 

was  the  seventh  of  thirteen  children.  Her  parents 
were  Samuel  and  Rebecca  Clark.  The  Clarks  were 

driven  from  Nauvoo  with  the  rest  of  the  Saints. 

When  Jane  Clark  was  eleven  years  old,  they  cross- 

ed the  plains  by  ox  teams  in  Heber  C.  Kimball's 
company,  and  arrived  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  in 
September  of  1848. 

Jane  was  often  without  shoes  for  her  feet  in  the 

winter.  Many  times  she  had  to  go  to  bed  while  her 
only  dress  was  being  washed.  One  day  an  Indian 
came  and  traded  a  calico  shirt  to  her  mother.  Out 

of  this  calico  a  dress  was  made  for  Jane.  The  first 

winter  in  Salt  Lake  Valley  they  were  without  bread 
for  three  months.  The  shortage  of  flour  was  made 

more  acute  when  Jane's  two  older  brothers  and  a 
brother-in-law,  who  were  in  the  Mormon  Battalion, 
returned  home.  Sometimes  a  good  neighbor  would 

give  them  a  quart  of  flour  and  Jane's  mother  would 
thicken  milk  with  it,  there  not  being  enough  fiour  to 

make  bread.  The  Indians  also  gave  them  plenty  of 
trouble. 

On    February    23,    1857,   Jane   Clark   married 
JOHN  MURRAY  BOLLWINKEL.  In  1873 

Jane's  husband  passed  away  leaving  her  with  two 
sons,  Fred  and  Samuel,  and  a  daughter.  Edith. 

Jane  and  her  two  sons  worked  in  the  Provo 

Wollen  Mills  for  some  time.  In  1878  Jane  Clark 

Bollwinkel  married  Solomon  H.  Hale  as  a  plural 
wife.  She  and  her  children  came  to  Gentile  Valley 
to  make  their  home.  At  that  time  there  were  only 
eight  or  ten  families  living  in  Thatcher,  which  was 

then  called  Mormon  Ward.  Jane's  husband  was  the 
first  bishop  of  this  ward.  Meetings  were  held  in  a 

small,  one-roomed,  log  building.  Jane  Hale  was  one 
of  the  first  Sunday  School  teachers  in  Thatcher;  she 

was  a  counselor  in  the  Primary,  and  worked  in  the 
M.I. A.  and  the  Relief  Society.  Jane  was  motherly 
and  kind  and  always  ready  to  help  in  sickness  and 

trouble.  After  the  death  of  her  sister  (Sol  Hale's 
first  wife),  she  went  with  him  to  Boise  where  she  liv- 

ed until  his  death  which  occurred  on  July  1 1,  1925. 

Aunt  Jane  or  Grandma  Hale,  as  she  was  affec- 
tionately called,  came  back  to  live  in  Thatcher  with 

her  son,  Samuel  Bollwinkel.  and  family.  When  she 

was  ninety-five  years  old,  she  received  from  the 

General  Federation  of  Women's  Clubs  honors  for 
being  the  oldest  mother  in  Idaho.  She  died  on 

March  14,  1933,  in  her  ninety-sixth  year. 

Alvin  and  Hannah  Hamp 

ALVIN  HAMP  was  born  February  25,  1892,  at 

Richmond,  Utah  to  George  and  Elizabeth  Allsop 

Hamp.  His  parents  were  among  the  earliest 
pioneers  of  Grace,  Idaho,  where  they  built  the  first 
hotel.  His  father  was  also  instrumental  in  securing 

a  power  and  light  plant  for  the  village  of  Grace. 
Alvin  Hamp  married  HANNAH  BRADSHAW 

STONE  on  November  20,  1913,  at  the  Logan, 

Utah  L.D.S.  Temple.  They  lived  in  Grace  where  he 

owned  a  livery  stable.  He  also  supervised  the  con- 
struction of  the  first  sidewalks  in  the  town,  and  he 

and  his  brother,  George,  supervised  the  construc- 
tion of  the  first  stake  tabernacle  built  in  Grace. 

After  moving  to  Buhl,  Idaho  for  a  short  time,  the 

family  returned  to  Grace  where  Alvin  farmed  his 

father's  homestead.  In  the  late  40's  the  family  mov- 
ed to  Pocatello;  however,  he  continued  to  farm  the 

homestead  until  he  was  in  his  70's. 
Alvin  and  Hannah  B.  Hamp  were  parents  of  the 

following  children — Agatha  (Mrs.  Ralph  Hedden), 
Millie  Jane  (Mrs.  Allan  W.  Ashton),  Verona  (Mrs. 
Robert  L.  Cox),  Alvin  Dale  (deceased)  and  Albert 
Gail. 

He  passed  away  in  Pocptello,  Idaho  at  the  age  of 
85,  on  May  13,  1977.  Hannah  died  October  28, 
1977. 

GEORGE  HAMP  SR.  was  born  in  Raunds, 
Northhampton,  England,  February  20,  1867,  the 
son  of  Sara  Hageldine  and  Mathew  Hamp.  His 

parents  separated  and  he  was  brought  to  America 
by  an  uncle  who  was  a  brother  to  his  father. 

George  worked  for  Samuel  Holt  for  two  years, 
then  he  went  to  Franklin,  Idaho  and  lived  with  the 

Thomas  Smart  family.  Here  he  was  baptized  into 
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the  L.D.S.  Church.  He  then  went  to  Lewiston,  Ut. 
and  worked  for  John  Bernheisel.  He  liked  this  man 

and  they  formed  a  Hfe-long  friendship. 
He  met  and  courted  ELIZABETH  ALLSOP  of 

Richmond  for  two  years,  and  they  were  married  in 
the  Logan  Temple  on  February  8,  1888.  Four 

children  were  born  to  them  before  they  moved  to 
Grace:  George  William,  Susannah,  Alvin,  and 
Olive.  Thus  it  was  that  on  November  16,  1894, 

Elizabeth  and  George  and  four  children  arrived  in 
Grace,  Idaho.  He  took  up  the  land  from  the  present 

Conoco  station,  east  to  the  canal  bordering  the 

Merrill  Lloyd  ranch  and  south  including  the  Orrin 
Harris  ranch. 

George  built  a  two-room  log  house  and  they  lived 
in  it  for  six  month  with  just  a  dirt  floor.  The  next 

two  years  saw  four  more  rooms  added.  The  inside 
of  the  cabin  was  rough  logs  so  Lib  stretched  muslin 

or  "factory"  as  it  was  called  over  the  logs.  The 
muslin  was  then  whitewashed  with  a  white  clay 
mixed  with  water.  The  clay  was  found  near  Soda 

Springs. 
They  lived  on  this  barren,  sage  brush  flat  for  five 

years,  without  crops  or  even  a  garden,  hauling 
water  for  household  use  from  Bear  River  in  huge 

barrels.  Lib  and  Mary  Allsop  (John  Allsop's  wife) 
hauled  the  water.  The  barrels  were  fastened  on  a 

flat  slip,  (a  contraption  without  wheels)  pulled  with 
horses.  Lib  and  Mary  would  drive  the  team  out  into 
the  river  and  fill  the  barrels  with  buckets.  When 

they  returned,  the  team  was  unhitched  from  the 

slip,  and  the  barrels  were  left  on — ready  for  the 
next  trip. 

After  water  was  available  for  irrigation  Lib  and 
George  raised  huge  crops  and  fine  gardens. 

On  the  7th  of  October,  George  embarked  on  his 

first  mission  for  the  church  to  Minnesota.  He  was 

gone  for  two  years  and  a  willing  Lib  carried  on.  She 
sent  George  $30.00  a  month  to  support  him  on  his 
mission. 

Their  place  was  the  only  one  on  the  flat  for 
wayfarers  to  stop  over  for  the  night  and  get  a  good 

meal.  Lib  always  had  boarders,  but  her  food 
problems  were  simple.  They  raised  a  large  garden  , 

a  raspberry  patch,  currants,  gooseberries,  and 
rhubarb.  They  had  meat,  cows  for  milk,  and  butter. 
Lib  made  cottage  cheese  in  the  summer  and  pressed 
cheese  for  winter. 

A  ward  was  organized  and  Alma  Hubbard  was 

the  first  Bishop.  Lib  was  a  Sunday  School  teacher 
and  George  the  first  Superintendent  of  the  Sunday 
School.  Lib  was  a  counselor  in  the  Relief  Society, 

served  in  the  Primary  and  then  became  Relief 

Society  President  on  June  6,  1909. 

At  that  time  it  was  the  custom  to  sit  up  with  the 
dead,  as  well  as  make  the  burial  clothes.  Sometimes 

the  whole  family  had  to  be  rigged  up  for  the 
funeral.  This  was  the  work  for  the  Relief  Society. 
Other  duties  were  the  entertainment — most  of  the 

dances  and  parties  were  sponsored  by  Lib's  group. 
On  April  11,  1913,  George  again  answered  the 

call  to  go  on  a  mission.  This  time  it  was  England. 

He  was  gone  two  years  and  two  months. 

Young  George  married  Pearl  Larsen.  However 
he  continued  to  run  the  ranch  for  his  mother  while 

his  father  was  on  his  mission.  Lib  built  a  large 

livery  stable  for  the  boys,  and  it  proved  to  be  a  good 
investment.  It  stood  on  the  site  where  the  city  office 
now  stands. 

Drummers  (salesmen)  and  other  travelers,  com- 

ing into  the  small  town  used  the  Hamp  livery  ser- 
vices with  their  trim  rigs  and  fast  horses  that  would 

take  them  wherever  they  wanted  to  go. 

George  Hamp  was  the  first  sheriff  of  Grace  in 
1908.  Ira  Neeley  was  the  Justice  of  the  Peace. 

In  1906  a  new  home  was  built  and  during  the 

time  the  pipeline  was  under  construction,  men 

came  from  everywhere — attracted  by  work  and 
good  wages.  The  home  or  hotel  was  full  almost  to 
capacity. 

Their  children  were:  George  William,  Susannah, 
Alvin,  Olive,  Leonard,  and  Verda. 

George  and  Lib  sold  their  property  in  1916  and 
moved  to  Logan,  Utah.  They  were  never  lonely. 
Grandchildren  came  to  visit  and  their  friends  in 
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Logan  were  many.  They  did  lots  of  Temple  work 

and  George  went  on  another  mission  in  the  1930's. 
He  died  May  5,  1945  and  Lib  died  December  14, 
1951. 

PEARL  LARSEN  HAMP  was  born  August  4, 

1893,  in  Sandy,  Utah  to  Neil  and  Elizabeth  Colt 
Larsen.  She  moved  with  her  parents,  to  Franklin, 

Idaho,  and  later  came  to  Grace  in  1902.  She  attend- 
ed schools  in  Franklin  and  Grace.  She  was  the 

oldest  of  ten  children,  and  she  cared  for  her 

younger  brothers  and  sisters  while  her  mother 
tended  to  the  sick.  This  left  little  time  for  educa- 
tion. 

After  moving  to  Grace,  she  met  and  married 
GEORGE  HAMP,  JR.  December  13,  1911,  in  the 

Logan  L.D.S.  Temple.  They  lived  in  Grace  for  a 
few  years  and  later  moved  to  Eight  Mile,  near 

Soda  Springs,  where  they  homesteaded.  While  liv- 
ing there  Pearl  worked  as  a  teacher  in  the  Sunday 

School,  and  assisted  in  the  care  of  the  sick. 

Pearl  was  the  happiest  making  a  home  for  her 
husband  and  children.  She  also  enjoyed  crocheting, 

sewing,  and  cooking.  She  also  loved  to  spend  time 
with  her  grandchildren. 

George  Hamp  was  born  in  Richmond,  Utah 
November  1 1,  1888  to  George  and  Elizabeth  Allsop 

Hamp.  His  family  moved  to  Grace  in  1894  and  liv- 
ed in  one  of  the  first  log  houses  in  Grace.  George 

went  to  school  in  a  log  hut  east  of  Grace. 
He  hauled  freight  from  Alexander  to  the  Grace 

Plant  with  a  team  of  horses  and  wagon,  and  hauled 
gravel  for  the  first  sidewalks. 

While  living  in  Eight  Mile,  he  served  as 

counselor  in  the  Mount  Sherman  Bishopric,  Sun- 
day School  Superintendent,  and  ward  teacher.  He 

was  also  a  school  trustee  for  two  years.  It  was  here 
that  he  worked  for  the  Hubbard  Sawmill. 

They  moved  back  to  Grace  in  1936,  and  they 

built  a  home  on  the  Hawkin's  place.  When  he 
retired  from  farming  he  worked  in  the  Grace 
Cemetery  for  five  years. 

They  were  the  parents  of  six  children.  One 
daughter  died  at  the  age  of  three.  The  others  are: 
Elnora  James,  and  Kenneth  Hamp,  of  Grace, 

Blanche  Meads,  Carl  (deceased)  and  Clyde  Hamp 
of  Soda  Springs. 

Pearl  passed  away  May  28,  1976,  and  George  on 
November  19,  1973. 

ALFRED  P.  HANSEN  was  born  on  November 

30,  1896  in  Lago  to  Lars  Peter  and  Dorothea 

Mickelson  Hansen.  He  made  his  home  in  Lago  un- 
til eighteen  years  ago  when  he  moved  to  Grace.  He 

is  a  retired  postmaster  of  Lago  and  prior  to  that 
time  was  a  farmer,  retired  deputy  assessor,  and 

served  as  a  trustee  of  the  Lago  school  district  for 

many  years.  After  consolidation  he  served  on  the 
Grace  School  Board. 

He  is  a  member  of  the  L.D.S.  Church  in  which  he 

is  a  High  Priest. 
He  was  married  to  ADELIA  BASSETT  and 

later  to  LUTIE  SWENSEN,  both  of  whom  died. 
In  November  1968,  he  married  KATHERINE 

DALTON  and  moved  to  Grace.  He  is  the  father  of 

the  following  children:  Dallas  Hansen,  Oneida; 

Clarence  B.  Hansen,  Nogales,  Arizona;  Mrs.  Neal 
(Dorothy)  Turner,  Shelley:  William  (Phil),  Grace; 
Stanley  D.  Hansen,  Bellevue,  Washington. 

KATHERINE  HEMBREE  D.  HANSEN  was 

born  in  Portland,  Oregon,  January  20,  1903  to 
John  L.  and  Letitia  Smith  Hembree.  She  was  very 
musical  from  the  time  she  was  able  to  sit  at  a  piano. 

When  she  was  quite  young,  her  mother  took  her  to 
concerts  and  she  would  go  home  and  pick  out  the 

melody  of  any  music  they  had  heard.  At  six  years  of 

age  her  mother  put  her  with  a  regular  music 
teacher. 

Her  mother  passed  away  when  she  was  eleven. 
After  that,  they  had  no  permanent  home.  They 
moved  back  to  Portland  and  she  entered  high 

school.  They  were  entered  in  a  Catholic  school  for 
awhile,  then  they  kept  house  for  a  time.  She  then 
went  to  live  with  an  aunt  in  Baker.  Oregon. 

Katherine  had  two  sisters  and  one  brother  that 

were  in  separate  homes.  About  this  time  ,  one  sister 
died,  and  she  went  back  to  Portland  for  the  funeral. 

She  stayed  in  Portland  and  finished  high  school. 

When  she  was  eighteen,  she  went  to  Boise  to  visit 
an  uncle.  She  was  working  in  a  music  store  in  Boise 
when  she  met  RAY  DALTON.  They  were  married 

June  8,  1922.  They  lived  in  Boise  for  two  months 
before  coming  to  Grace.  They  had  six  children: 
Ruth  Dalton  Thomas,  John  H.  Dalton,  Gene  R. 
Dalton.  Katherine  Dalton  Heddleston,  Francis 

Dalton  Stalder,  and  Elizabeth  Dalton  Taylor. 

Katherine  didn't  know  anything  about  the 
L.D.S.  Church  until  she  came  to  Grace.  She  was 
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baptized  June  2,  1923  in  the  canal  east  of  Main 
Street.  They  then  went  ot  the  Logan  Temple  for  the 
sealings. 

Katherine  continued  with  her  musical  talent,  and 

one  of  the  special  opportunities  that  came  to  her 

was  playing  for  Lucy  Young  Gates,  who  was  an 

Opera  singer.  She  came  to  the  Bannock  Stake  as  a 

visitor,  and  was  asked  to  sing.  She  has  accom- 
panied many  beautiful  singers  such  as  Apostle 

Ballard,  Elder  John  Longdon,  and  two  sisters  who 

sang  in  the  Tabernacle  Choir,  also  local  talent.  She 
has  been  the  Grace  Ward  Organist  for  30  years, 

played  for  Ward  and  Stake  M.LA.  which  took  in 
dances,  choirs,  choruses,  contest  dancing,  and 
original  forms.  She  has  entertained  at  a  lot  of 
organizations,  including  Lions  Club,  American 

Legion,  and  Auxiliary,  Senior  Citizens,  Nursing 

Home,  the  Theater,  children's  dances  ,  and  many 
different  orchestras. 

Ray  Dalton  passed  away  December  30,  1954 
with  a  heart  attack.  She  was  alone  for  four  years 
and  Beth  was  her  comfort  and  pride.  The  other 
children  were  married. 

Katherine  married  ALFRED  HANSEN 

November  5,  1958.  A  few  years  later  Alfred  joined 
the  church. 

Because  of  her  musical  background  and  par- 

ticipation she  was  honored  at  a  party,  "This  is  your 
life  Katherine  Hansen",  a  complete  surprise,  and 
she  loved  every  bit  of  it.  This  was  sponsored  by  the 

"Country  Gentlemen",  a  Quartet  for  whom  she 
was  accompanist.  Many  tributes  were  given  to  her 
at  this  time. 

HANS  PETER  HANSEN  was  born  September 
16,  1883  in  Trybjorn,  Odense  Denmark.  He  was  the 
son  of  Hans  Hendrick  and  Annie  Catherine 
Mikklesen  Hansen. 

NIELSINA  BERQUIST,  daughter  of  Adolph 
and  Pernilla  Nelson  Berquist,  was  born  June  17, 
1880  in  Holland,  Sweden. 

Hans  and  Nielsina  were  married  in  Mink  Creek, 

Idaho  and  the  marriage  was  solemnized  in  the 
Temple  at  Logan,  Utah  April  12,  1905. 

Hans  was  a  farmer,  and  worked  herding  sheep  a 
lot  until  in  1917  they  moved  to  the  valley.  He  and 

Emil  Peterson,  his  neighbor,  used  to  work  together 
and  help  each  other  with  their  farm  work. Hans 

'■P 

' 

^^sc^^ 

4^  ̂ #3 ^v*-          -..^^mMI 

jI^       ̂ ^^^^b 
akk.^  '        «^IHH 
^■|^'r>      ̂ ^R^^B 

c^^ 

^R^^-C 
^m^  '^^K  ̂-  ''^^H 

fut- 

^p  f     i  1  vl^  ■ 

^Kt"
 

S  f             .  yB 

^^^K^^  ̂ ^^ ^^K^Jk              M^l ^ ̂
^^^^  'V  ̂ ^^^^ ̂ ^BUk-'          ̂ mIh 1 
P^^^PN 

^BW^H .  i ̂K^^^H ^^^^^^^^^h^^L^^MIhI 
Hans  and  Nielsina  Hansen 

took  pride  in  keeping  his  buildings  and  fences  in 

good  repair. 
Nielsina  did  a  lot  of  knitting  for  her  family.  No 

one  ever  came  to  visit  her  home  but  what  they  were 
asked  to  eat.  She  took  pride  in  her  cooking  and 

homemaking.  When  a  new  baby  was  born,  she  was 
often  called  to  go  with  the  doctor  to  assist  him. 
Children:  Melva,  Hilda,  Francis,  LaVeda, 

Sarah,  Vonda,  Lillie,  Adolph,  and  Dewey. 

JOSEPH  LARS  HANSEN,  son  of  Lars  Hansen 

and  Matilda  Christofferson,  was  born  July  17,  1873 

at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  He  married  LOUISA 
HARRIS  at  Ten  Mile  Springs,  Idaho  December 

20,  1899. 
Joseph  received  his  schooling  at  Soda  Springs, 

Idaho.  As  a  young  man  he  helped  build  the  Oregon 

Short  Line  Railroad  through  the  county,  and  work- 
ed awhile  at  the  brick  yard.  His  parents  moved  to 

Ten  Mile  Springs,  west  of  Soda  Springs,  and  later 
had  a  ranch  north  of  Henry,  Idaho.  Joseph  and  his 

brother  operated  this  ranch.  In  the  winter  they  fed 
200  head  of  cattle.  Water  holes  had  to  be  chopped 
through  the  ice  for  the  cattle  to  drink. 

Joseph  married  Louisa  Harris.  Their  first  home 
was  on  a  200  acre  ranch  west  of  Grace,  Idaho.  He 

hauled  logs  to  build  their  home,  and  hauled  water 
from  Bear  River  for  domestic  use.  In  1905  he 

purchased  the  Goose  Lake  Ranch  from  his  parents 
near  Henry,  Idaho.  In  1915  he  moved  his  family  to 

Thatcher,  Idaho,  where  they  purchased  another 

ranch.  Joseph  was  president  of  the  North  Extension 
Canal  Company.  He  was  a  prominent  rancher,  and 
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was  known  for  his  good  judgement  and  conser- 
vative nature. 

Joseph  and  Louisa  had  the  following  children: 
Offer  Lars  Hansen,  Lowell  Alexander 

Hansen, married  Thelma  Perry;  Martha  Louisa 
Hansen,  married  Lowell  Austin  Elsmore;  Charles 

Alton  Hansen,  and  Ralph  Theodore  Hansen, 
married  Stella  Jeppsen. 

LOUISA  HARRIS,  daughter  of  Alexander 

Harris  and  Martha  Craner,  was  born  July  28,  1880 

at  Mound  Valley,  Idaho.  She  married  Joseph  Lars 
Hansen  December  20,  1899. 

Louisa  was  only  eight  years  of  age  when  her 
father  died.  She  received  some  schooling  during  the 
winter  months  at  Cleveland.  She  worked  for  other 

people  to  help  her  mother.  When  she  was  seventeen 

she  went  to  work  for  the  Hansen  family.  Here  she 
met  Joseph,  whom  she  married  two  years  later. 
Their  first  home  was  near  Grace,  Idaho.  In  1905 

her  husband  sold  the  farm,  and  moved  to  a  hay 
ranch  near  Henry,  Idaho.  She  lived  here  for  ten 

years.  In  the  fall  of  1915  the  family  moved  to 
Thatcher,  Idaho.  They  bought  400  acres.  When  her 
husband  died  she  turned  the  ranch  over  to  her  sons, 

and  went  to  live  with'  a  daughter.  Louisa  served  as  a 
chorister,  counselor,  and  visiting  teacher  in  the 
Relief  Society  of  Turner  Ward. 

LARS  and  MARIA  HANSEN  were  born  in 

Denmark.  Mrs.  Hansen  was  born  on  April  23,  1831 
and  Mr.  Hansen  was  born  on  November  10,  1838. 

Mr.  Hansen  was  a  tailor.  They  were  the  parents  of 
four  children,  three  boys  and  one  girl.  Peter  was  the 
oldest,  then  came  the  twins,  Martha  and  Christen, 

and  Julius  was  the  youngest. 
They  joined  the  Mormon  Church  and  wanted  to 

come  to  America  but  didn't  have  the  money  to  all 
come  together.  They  sent  their  oldest  son,  Peter, 
and  their  daughter,  Martha,  first.  Peter  was  twelve 

and  Martha  was  ten.  They  came  to  Mantua,  Utah 

where  they  worked  for  their  living.  Peter  herded 
sheep  and  Martha  worked  as  a  servant. 

Maria  and  the  two  younger  boys  came  next. 

When  Mr  Hansen  arrived  they  made  their  home  in 

Ogden.  Mr.  Hansen  and  the  boys  made  their  living 

by  going  to  the  canyon  and  cutting  firewood.  They 
hauled  it  to  what  was  called  the  tie  yard.  This  was 
located  where  the  First  National  Bank  now  stands 

in  Ogden.  They  sold  the  wood  to  people,  thus  mak- 
ing their  living. 

Later  they  moved  to  Mantua  where  they  made 
their  living  by  herding  milk  cows,  taking  them  out 
to  the  canyons  above  Mantua  in  the  morning  and 

bringing  them  home  at  night.  They  were  paid  ac- 
cording to  the  distance  they  had  to  travel;  so  much 

for  the  first  canyon,  more  for  the  second  canyon, 
and  so  on. 

When  the  Jens  Swensens  and  the  Christen 

Mickelsens  came  to  Gentile  Valley,  now  Lago,  in 

the  fall  of  1878,  the  Hansens  joined  them  on  the 

journey.  They  homesteaded  forty  acres  of  the  place 
now  owned  by  Jack  Hubbard. 

Mr.  Hansen  passed  away  August  2,  1898  and 
Mrs.  Hansen  sold  her  farm  to  her  son,  Julius. 

Her  daughter,  Martha,  married  Neils  Petersen 
and  moved  to  Swan  Valley.  Her  son.  Christen, 
homesteaded  a  few  acres  at  Bench,  now  owned  by 

Golda  Christensen.  Later  Julius  and  family  moved 
to  Swan  Valley. 

Mrs.  Hansen  passed  away  on  August  2,  1918. 
She  was  buried  in  the  Lago  cemetery  beside  her 
husband. 

Lars  Hansen Dorothea  Hansen 

LARS  PETER  HANSEN  was  born  in 

Halenslev,  Denmark,  the  eldest  child  of  Lars  and 

Maria  Larsen  Hansen.  He  and  his  family  joined  the 

L.D.S.  Church  when  he  was  very  young.  His  father 

was  the  village  tailor  so  they  must  not  have  had  too 

much  money.  Nevertheless,  he  determined  that  his 

family  would  come  to  Zion. 
They  all  ended  up  in  Mantua  where  they  went 

into  business  herding  milk  cows  for  the  community. 
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They  took  them  to  the  canyons  north  of  Mantua. 
One  day  while  herding  cattle  Peter  told  of 

watching  a  wagon  caravan  crossing  the  canyon.  He 

saw  what  they  carried.  They  were  laden  with  a  bap- 
tismal font  and  the  four  oxen  to  hold  it  up.  These 

were  on  their  way  to  the  new  temple  in  Logan. 

Shortly  after  this  they  joined  a  wagon  train 
heading  for  Idaho.  It  was  no  doubt  at  this  time  that 
he  first  set  eyes  upon  the  small  daughter  of  Christen 
and  Maren  Mickelsen.  These  two  families  and  the 

Jens  Swensens  all  settled  in  Gentile  Valley.  It  was 

here  years  later  that  Peter  began  courting  Taya 
Mickelsen  and  married  her  March  1,  1894. 

DORTHEA  (TAYA)  MICKELSEN  was  born 

on  November  21,  1872  in  Huntsville,  Utah,  the  se- 
cond child  of  Christen  and  Maren  Andersen 

Mickelsen.  They  were  one  of  the  couples  sent  by 

Brigham  Young  to  settle  Huntsville. 

One  of  her  first  recollections  of  any  thing  of  im- 
portance was  when  a  neighbor  came  rushing  to  the 

door  in  tears  with  the  news  that  "Brother  Brigham 

is  dead".  She  remembered  her  mother  snatching  up 
her  baby  sister,  Helmar,  and  rushing  to  the  next 

neighbor  with  the  news  with  a  frightened  Taya 
holding  on  to  her  skirts  for  dear  life.  Brigham 
Young  was  dead  and  the  news  spread  like  wildfire 
around  the  settlement.  The  cabins  were  built 

around  a  square  at  the  center  of  Huntsville. 

Shortly  after  this  Taya,  along  with  her  family 
and  others,  moved  on  to  Idaho  where  they  settled  in 
Gentile  Valley  on  what  is  now  the  Louis  Bitton 
ranch.  This  was  about  1878. 

As  soon  as  Taya  was  old  enough  she  began  work- 
ing for  other  families  who  needed  help.  By  doing 

this  she  learned  early  the  value  of  a  dollar  and  hard 
work. 

She  was  married  to  Lars  Peter  Hansen  on  March 

1,  1894  at  Lago.  They  had  eight  children:  twins  who 
died  shortly  after  birth,  two  sons  and  four 
daughters,  Alfred  Peter,  Emil  Martin,  Clara 

Molene,  Ella  Leona,  Mary  Edna,  and  Una  May. 
Alfred  was  the  oldest  and  Emil  the  youngest. 

Pete  bought  the  farm  owned  by  Pete  Lund  and 
built  a  cabin  there  for  his  bride.  The  cabin  was 

moved  from  another  spot  along  the  creek  north  of 

the  present  home  in  Lago.  The  logs  were  numbered 
on  the  cabin  before  it  was  dismantled,  after  which  it 

was  moved  to  the  site  prepared  for  it.  It  was  then 

assembled  again  using  the  numbers  on  the  logs  to 

get  the  right  ones  in  the  right  place.  It  still  stands  on 
the  farm  at  Lago. 

Six  children  were  born  in  that  cabin  which  had 

two  rooms.  Pete  and  Taya  decided  they  nedded 

more  room  so  they  built  another  home  about  a 
block  straight  east  of  the  little  cabin  on  the  site 

where  the  present  Hansen  home  now  stands.  The 

two  youngest  children  were  born  in  the  new  home. 
Pete  and  Taya  worked  hard  to  build  up  their 

farm.  Coyotes  were  abundant  and  preyed  on  their 

sheep  and  cattle.  Squirrels  swarmed  over  their 
crops.  Taya  tells  of  battling  squirrels  with  poison 
and  she  said  they  seemed  to  flourish  rather  than  die 

out.  Two  growing  boys  who  were  sharpshooters 

with  rifles  soon  made  the  coyotes  keep  their  dis- 
tance and  along  with  the  poison,  soon  made  a  dent 

in  the  squirrel  population.  Things  soon  began  to  get 
better  and  a  bit  easier  and  their  perseverance  paid 
off. 

Pete  suffered  a  stroke  and  passed  away  at  the  age 
of  75.  He  was  buried  in  the  Lago  cemetery. 

Taya  lived  on  another  eighteen  years  to  continue 

being  the  family  focal  point.  She  died  on  November 
23,  1958  at  the  age  of  86.  She  was  buried  at  her 

husband's  side  in  the  Lago  cemetery. 

EMERY  HANSON  is  now  the  oldest  resident  of 

Central,  Idaho.  At  the  age  of  79  he  has  spent  78 

years  of  his  life  in  Central.  He  was  born  at  a  place 
called  West  Weber  on  July  19,  1897.  His  parents, 
Albert  and  Hedda  Hanson  immigrated  from 

Sweden  to  Ogden  mainly  for  the  gospel  of  Jesus 

Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints.  His  father  and  mother 
worked  for  the  farmers  and  ranchers  in  that  area  a 

few  years  and  then  decided  to  come  to  Idaho  to 
take  a  homestead,  and  landed  here  at  Central. 

Emery  was  then  one  year  old. 
They  traveled  from  Ogden  to  Central  with  a 

team  and  wagon  leading  a  cow  behind.  They  had 
the  wagon  loaded  with  food  and  clothing,  pick  and 

shovels,  forks  and  tools  they  needed  to  clear  the 
raw  sagebrush  land  to  raise  wheat,  barley,  and  hay 
for  their  existance.  At  that  time  there  was  a  lot  of 

wild  game  such  as  grouse,  rabbits,  and  deer  which 
provided  meat  for  the  early  settlers. 

The  school  then,  was  a  one  room  building  with 
one  teacher,  Mr.   Kesler,  who  had  homesteaded 
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near  Alexander.  Later  another  room  was  added  to 

the  school  and  they  had  two  teachers.  He 
remembers  they  were  from  Nebraska  and  their 

name  was  Marksberry.  Later  Mr.  T.  H.  Robinson 
came  from  the  east  and  homesteaded  in  Central 

and  a  lady  teacher  made  up  the  second  teacher. 

These  two  later  got  married  and  taught  school 
there  for  many  years.  Emery  started  school  at  the 

age  of  7  years,  and  had  some  trouble  getting  the 
teachers  to  understand  him,  as  his  parents  talked 
Swedish  at  home  and,  of  course,  he  mixed  the 

English  with  the  Swedish,  but  he  soon  learned  to 
correct  himself.  He  walked  to  school  a  little  more 

than  a  mile  every  day;  also  to  Sunday  School  which 
he  attended  regularly.  He  graduated  under  Mr. 
Robinson. 

Under  the  leadership  of  Brother  Bjorkman  they 

organized  a  Commercial  Club  which  led  to  a  Cen- 
tral Silver  Band  which  furnished  music  for  many 

entertainments  in  Central  as  well  as  other  parts  of 

the  valley.  After  playing  in  the  band  he  became  in- 
terested in  music,  and  saw  the  necessity  for  a  dance 

orchestra.  It  was  organized  with  five  members, 
Emery  as  manager.  It  was  called  the  Central 

Orchestra.  Instrumentation  was  Emery  Hanson, 

trumpet  and  saxaphone.  Ruby  Hegstrom,  piano, 
Neils  Anderson,  banjo,  Roy  Hanson,  drums, 

Spence  Jenkins,  saxaphone.  These  were  the  begin- 
ning members.  There  were  changes  made  from  time 

to  time.  Glen  Anderson  played  the  violin  very  well 
and  was  playing  with  them  often  when  they  needed 
additional  pieces.  They  had  to  substitute  piano 

players  quite  often,  namely:  Edna  and  Agnes 
Anderson,  Ina  Christensen,  Louella  Hegstrom,  and 
June  Hanson. 

Emery  was  called  to  work  in  several  capacities  in 
the  church,  first  as  assistant  Sunday  School 

Superintendent  in  the  ward,  then  Superintendent, 
then  Counselor  to  two  Bishops:  Bishop  Bjorkman 
and  Alvin  Lechtenberg. 

At  the  age  of  21  Emery  married  ANNETHA 
HEGSTROM,  daughter  of  John  Hegstrom, 
August  12,  1918.  Their  family  of  one  boy  and  one 
girl  were  named  Lawrence  Emery  and  Myrtle  June. 
At  the  age  of  9  months  they  lost  their  boy  during 
the  flu  epidemic  of  1919.  Their  daughter  June  is 
still  living  and  is  married  to  Clifford  Welch. 

Annetha  died  August  6,  1966. 

ALEXANDER   HARRIS,  SR.  son  of  McGee 

Harris  and  Mary  Givens,  was  born  March  25, 

1834,  near  Lebanon,  Wilson  County,  Tennessee. 
He  was  married  June  21,  1855  to  HARRIET  ANN 
CRANER  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 

Alexander  was  but  a  lad  when  his  parents  moved 
from  Tennessee  to  Marion,  Williamson  County, 

Illinois.  His  parents  were  converted  to  the  church 

while  residing  at  Marion.  They  moved  to  Winter 
Quarters,  Nebraska  in  the  summer  of  1846;  and 

began  their  westward  trek  in  May  1848.  They  arriv- 
ed in  Salt  Lake  Valley  in  September.  They  settled 

for  a  short  time  in  Salt  Lake  City,  then  in  Far- 
mington  and  later  at  Fort  Herriman. 

Alexander  was  one  of  the  men  sent  to  meet  the 

hand  cart  company  that  was  stranded  in  the  snow  in 

Wyoming.  The  provisions  they  were  able  to  get  to 

the  company  saved  many  lives.  He  also  par- 
ticipated in  the  Indian  War  at  Battle  Creek  near 

Preston,  Idaho.  He  moved  from  Fort  Herriman 

to  Springville,  Utah  in  1858,  and  then  to  Richmond 
in  1860. 

Alexander  and  his  son,  Alexander,  Jr.,  operated 

a  freight  train  of  wagons  from  Corinne,  Utah  to 
Butte,  Montana.  They  each  had  two  wagons,  one 
trailed  behind  the  other,  with  16  head  of  mules  to 

each  train.  This  was  a  strenuous  trip  over  rocks  and 
creeks.There  were  no  roads.  At  that  time  there  were 

many  Indians  and  outlaws  roaming  the  country, 

and  they  were  always  on  the  alert.  It  was  on  one  of 

these  trips  that  his  wife  Harriet  died. 
Alexander  then  moved  in  1874  to  Gentile  Valley. 

In  1875  he  married  his  wife's  sister,  MARTHA 
CRANER.  Alexander  had  10  children  by  his  first 

wife,  Martha  had  four  children  by  her  deceased 

husband  George  Tanner.  Alexander  and  Martha 

had  six  children.  They  settled  at  Mound  Valley.  He 

had  a  large  herd  of  cattle  which  were  grazed  at 

Grey's  Lake  in  the  summer,  where  Alexander  had  a 
large  ranch.  He  was  a  successful  rancher,  and  a 
kind  and  loving  father. 

Alexander  died  February  20,  1889  at  Mound Valley. 

Martha  Craner,  daughter  of  George  Benjamin 
and  Elizabeth  West  Craner,  was  born  May  16.  1844 

in  Maxstoke,  Warwick,  England.  Martha  married 
GEORGE  TANNER  in  1860.(2)  Alexander  Harris 
in  1875. 

When  Martha  was  in  her  youth  her  parents  were 
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converted  to  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of 

Latter-day  Saints.  She  immigrated  to  America 
with  her  parents.  Martha  celebrated  her  tenth 

birthday  crossing  the  Kansas  plains.  Her  father 
became  very  ill,  and  died  two  days  later.  The  rest  of 

the  family  went  to  Tooele,  Utah,  where  Martha's 
brother  lived. 

When  Martha  was  sixteen  she  married  George 

Tanner.  They  had  nine  children,  then  her  husband 

died.  In  June  1875  she  married  Harriet  Ann's  hus- 
band, Alexander  Harris.  They  were  the  parents  of 

six  children.  Martha  endured  all  the  hardships  of 

pioneer  life;  she  was  the  mother  of  fifteen  children. 
Martha  and  Alexander  lived  in  Mound  Valley, 

Idaho.  Alexander  died  in  1889,  shortly  after  which 
Martha  filed  on  a  homestead  at  Turner,  Idaho. 

Martha  died  in  1916  at  Mound  Valley. 

Alexander  and  Josephine  Harris 

Alexander  Harris  and  all  12  of  his  grandsons 

ALEXANDER  HARRIS,  JR.,  son  of  Alexander 
Harris  and  Harriet  Ann  Craner,  was  born 

September  4,  1856  at  Fort  Herriman,  Salt  Lake 
County,    Utah.    He    married    JOSEPHINE 

OCTAVIA  ANN  WEAVER  July  14,  1877  at  Rich- 
mond, Utah. 

When  Alexander  was  20  years  of  age  he  moved 

with  his  father's  family  to  Thatcher,  Idaho.  He  met 
Josephine  and  courted  her,  and  they  were  later 
married.  They  homesteaded  land  near  Thatcher, 

Idaho,  and  also  purchased  additional  land.  They 

began  ranching  with  a  pair  of  mules  and  one  cow. 
In  1879  he  helped  build  the  railroad  from  Soda 

Springs  to  Bancroft.  He  slowly  cleared  his  land, 

and  planted  it  into  grain.  In  1 888  he  built  his  family 

a  large  two  story  home. 
Alexander  bought  cattle  for  his  cousin,  Heber 

Manning  Wells,  and  raised  them  on  shares.  He 
.soon  began  to  prosper  and  bought  an  adjoining 
ranch,  which  made  about  twelve  hundred  acres  in 

all.  Through  hard  work  Alexander  became  wealthy, 
and  contributed  liberally  to  the  community. 

He  served  as  a  Counselor  in  the  Thatcher  Ward 

Bishopric  for  several  years.  He  was  Superintendent 

of  the  Sunday  School,  and  was  on  the  High  Coun- 
cil. At  the  age  of  50,  he  sold  his  cattle  and  divided 

his  ranch  among  his  children.  He  bought  stocks  and 
bonds  and  moved  to  Bancroft,  Idaho,  where  he 

built  a  large  rooming  house  and  theatre. 

Alexander  was  selected  County  Commissioner. 
Later  he  became  President  of  the  First  National 

Bank  of  Grace  and  Bancroft,  where  he  labored  un- 
til his  health  began  to  fail.  He  moved  to  Logan  and 

worked  in  the  Temple  for  a  short  time  before  his 
death,  March  20,1937. 

Alexander  Harris  Jr.  and  Josephine  had  the 

following  children:  Sarah  Emeline,  married 
Michael  Mickelson;  Alexander  Wells  Harris, 

married  Martha  Meacham,  (2)  La  Veda  Jacobson; 
Ethel  Harris,  married  Janes  Austin  Elsmore; 
Franklin  Weaver  Harris,  married  Florence  Pearl 

Balls,  (2)  Suzanna  Phoebe  Spillman;  Harriet 

Josephine  Harris,  died  as  an  infant. 

In  1913  CASPER  WHITTLE  HARRIS  and  his 

wife,  MARTINA  CHRISTENSEN  HARRIS,  and 

their  six  children,  moved  to  Grace,  where  they  built 
a  house  on  the  east  side  of  town. 

Prior  to  this  time  they  had  lived  in  Lago  where 

they  operated  a  farm.  Casper  had  a  large  herd  of 
sheep,  which  he  sheared  early  one  spring.  He  drove 
them  to  the  summer  range  and  during  the  night  a 

snow  storm  struck  and  by  morning  all  the  sheep 
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Casper  Harris 

were  dead.  He  sold  their  home  in  Lago  and  moved 

to  Grace  where  he  operated  a  Hvery  stable  for  many 

years.  Those  were  the  good  old  horse  and  buggy 

days.  People  would  rent  a  team  and  buggy  or  a  sad- 
dle horse  by  the  hour  or  by  the  day  for  work  or 

pleasure. 
In  1916  Casper  was  made  manager  of  the  Gem 

Valley  Telephone  Company  where  he  supervised 
the  installation  of  the  first  telephone  lines  through 

this  valley.  His  youngest  son,  "Bert",  was  one  of 
the  first  operators.  A  cot  was  provided  for  him  to 
sleep  on  and  should  he  get  a  call  during  the  night,  a 

loud  night  bell  would  awaken  him.  Casper's  other 
sons,  Lee  and  Roy,  also  worked  for  the  phone  com- 

pany. 
In  1922  this  smaller  company  was  bought  by 

Mountain  States  Telephone.  At  this  time  Casper 
went  into  business  with  William  Smith  where  they 
operated  a  Delco  Light  Store  for  a  few  years.  He 
then  went  back  to  farming.  He  bought  a  farm  south 

west  of  Grace  which  he  operated  with  a  team  of 

mules.  These  mules  were  also  a  means  of  transpor- 
tation to  town.  Mules  are  pretty  stubborn  and 

balky  at  times  so  he  got  a  little  generator  and  would 
give  them  a  little  shock  which  made  them  very 
obedient  for  awhile. 

After  his  wife  died  in  1924,  Casper  moved  to 

Pocatello  where  his  three  sons  were  working  as 

linemen  for  the  Mountain  States  Telephone  Com- 
pany. Casper  joined  the  crew  and  when  the  last  of 

the  boys  retired  they  had  a  total  of  138  years  of 
telephone  service. 

The  family  of  Casper  and  Martina  Harris  are  as 

follows:  LeRoy  C,  who  married  Alba  Tanner, 
Emily  M.,  who  married  Willard  Williams,  Leland 

Alexander,  who  married  Iris  Tanner,  DeWitt  Ber- 
tram who  married  Leona  Spiers,  and  Evelyn,  who 

married  Ivan  L.  Hocking. 

In  1930  Casper  married  AMELIA  BOWER. 

They  operated  the  Home  Hotel  in  Lava  Hot 
Springs  for  several  years.  He  died  in  Lava  Hot 

Springs,  Idaho  on  July  20,  1953  at  the  age  of  82. 

CHARLES  ELI  HARRIS,  son  of  Alexander 

Harris  and  Martha  Craner  was  born  May  7,  1882 

at  Mound  Valley,  Idaho.  He  married  ADA 
PERRY  at  Logan,  Utah. 

Charles  Eli  spent  his  boyhood  on  his  father's 
ranch,  and  received  a  limited  education  during  the 

winter  months.  After  his  marriage  he  took  up  a 

homestead  near  Grace,  Idaho.  His  family  lived  in  a 

small  two  room  log  house  with  a  dirt  roof.  In  1912 
Charles  received  a  mission  call  to  the  Southern 

States.  He  sold  his  dry  farm  and  left  in  May.  He 
was  released  in  the  fall  of  the  same  year  to  care  for 
his  family. 

After  he  returned  from  his  mission  he  moved  to 

Mound  Valley.  He  bought  another  farm  and  had  a 
dairy  herd.  They  had  a  five  room  house,  orchards, 

and  gardens.  The  family  lived  here  for  seventeen 

years.  Charles  was  active  in  church  work.  He  serv- 
ed as  Superintentent  of  the  Sunday  School  in 

Mound  Valley  Ward  for  a  number  of  years,  and 
served  as  a  member  of  the  Bishopric. 

In  1930  he  sold  his  home  and  moved  to  Preston, 

Idaho.  They  bought  a  large  rooming  house  and 
stayed  in  business  for  three  years.  They  returned  to 

Thatcher,  Idaho,  and  purchased  another  home  and 

engaged  in  stock  raising.  The  first  years  on  the  new 
ranch  were  difficult,  but  within  ten  years  he  had 

acquired  a  large  herd  of  purebred  cattle.  He  helped 
all  of  his  children  to  get  a  home,  automobiles,  and 

farm  machinery.  During  his  last  years  he  suffered 
from  arthritis,  and  was  unable  to  do  much  work  on 
his  farm. 

Ada  Perry,  daughter  of  Henry  and  Mary  Jane 
Ridges  Perry,  was  born  November  17,  1884  in 
Franklin,  Idaho.  She  married  Charles  Eli  Harris, 
October  14,  1902  in  Logan,  Utah. 

Ada  was  eight  years  of  age  when  her  family  mov- 
ed to  Mound  Valley,  later  called  Perry,  and  now 

called  Cleveland,  Idaho.  She  went  to  school  and 

church  with  young  Charles  Eli,  who  later  became 
her  husband.  Ada  had  dark  eyes  and  long  black 
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hair.  She  was  a  very  religious  person  who  saw  to  it 
that  the  family  went  to  church  and  had  family 

prayers.  She  served  in  the  Relief  Society  as 
counselor,  and  later  as  president  for  seven  years. 
She  knit  sweaters  for  the  soldiers  during  World 
War  I.  She  made  quilts  for  the  poor,  remade 

clothing,  and  knit  stockings  for  children.  Ada  was 

always  neat,  clean,  and  tidy  in  her  home.  Ada  suf- 
fered with  poor  health  for  nearly  forty  years.  She 

died  November  23,  1959  at  Thatcher,  Idaho. 

Daniel  Harris Carrie  Harris 

DANIEL  HANMER  HARRIS,  son  of  Alex- 
ander and  Martha  Craner  Harris,  was  born  May 

1 1,  1876  at  Mound  Valley  (now  Cleveland,  Idaho). 
He  married  CARRIE  LARSEN  January  21, 

1903  in  the  Logan  Temple  in  Logan,  Utah. 

Daniel's  father  died  when  he  was  just  a  young 
boy,  so  he  assumed  much  of  the  responsibility  of 
caring  for  his  widowed  mother.  Gentile  Valley  was 
in  the  pioneering  stage  when  his  father  settled  in  the 
area.  Daniel  was  one  of  the  first  white  children  to 

be  born  in  Gentile  Valley.  Indians  were  numerous, 

and  Daniel  was  nearly  kidnapped  by  an  Indian 
squaw  when  very  young. 

Daniel  met  and  courted  Carrie  Larsen.  They 
were  married  in  the  Logan  Temple,  and  reared 
eight  children.  He  was  a  very  successful  farmer  and 
rancher.  His  home  was  always  open  to  his  friends 
and  relatives.  He  was  kind  and  thoughtful  to  all  and 
was  a  devoted  husband  and  father.  He  died  at 
Cleveland,  Idaho. 

Carrie  Larsen,  daughter  of  James  Larsen  and 

Mette  Cathern  Casperson,  was  born  December  24, 
1881  at  Cleveland,  Idaho.  She  married  Daniel 

Hanmer  Harris,  January  21.  1903. 

The  parents  of  Carrie  were  immigrants  from 
Denmark,  and  settled  at  Cleveland,  Idaho.  She 

received  a  limited  education  in  her  youth.  When  a 

young  girl  she  worked  for  various  people  assisting 

in  household  duties.  She  also  worked  in  her  father's 
store  for  some  time.  She  was  a  good  dancer  and 
looked  forward  to  the  social  functions. 

At  the  age  of  twenty-one  she  married  Daniel. 
Their  first  home  was  at  Niter.  Idaho,  then  later 

settled  at  Perry.  This  townsite  later  was  called 
Cleveland.  Carrie  was  active  in  the  church.  She  was 

president  of  the  Primary  while  living  at  Niter.  She 
was  counselor  in  the  Primary  and  a  Sunday  School 

teacher,  and  a  Relief  Society  visiting  teacher  for 

twenty-five  years  at  Cleveland.  She  enjoyed  good 
health  all  of  her  life,  until  a  stroke  in  1 958.  She  died 

February  16,  1961  in  Cleveland.  Idaho. 

FRANK  ALBERT  HARRIS,  son  of  Alexander 

Harris,  was  born  July  8,  1877  at  Tooele,  Utah.  He 
married  LUBY  PATRINA  NELSON  December  7, 

1904.  (2)  EDNA  AMELIA  HANSEN,  October  2, 
1919. 

Soon  after  his  birth  his  family  moved  to  Mound 

Valley,  Idaho.  He  rode  horses  and  took  care  of  his 

father's  cattle  from  early  youth.  He  and  Luby 
homesteaded  a  ranch  at  Grace,  Idaho  ,  and  lived 

here  for  seventeen  years.  His  wife  died  in  1918  dur- 
ing the  flu  epidemic,  they  were  the  parents  of  seven 

children. 

Frank  soon  afterward  sold  his  home  and  bought 

a  ranch  in  Mound  Valley.  He  married  Edna  Amelia 
Hansen  in  1919  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  .  They  had 

one  child.  Edna  died  on  her  fortieth  birthday,  leav- 
ing Frank  alone  again.  He  had  his  daughter,  Cleone 

live  with  him  for  a  few  months,  and  she  died.  This 

left  Frank  alone  again,  so  he  sold  his  ranch  and 

moved  to  Lava  Hot  Springs.  Idaho,  and  made  his 
home  at  the  Whitestone  Hotel. 

Luby  Patrina  Nelson,  daughter  of  Nels  and  Bo 
Dell  Hansen  Nelson,  was  born  May  3,  1885  in 

Brigham  City,  Utah.  She  married  Frank  Albert 
Harris,  December  7,  1904. 

At  the  age  of  two  Luby's  family  moved  to 
Cleveland,  Idaho  where  she  resided  until  her 

marriage.  She  attended  school  at  Cleveland  during 
the  winter  months.  She  was  married  in  the  Logan 

Temple,  and  was  the  mother  of  seven  children.  She 
worked  in  the  community  and  the  church.  Luby 
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was  an  excellent  housewife,  but  was  not  priviledged 
to  raise  her  children  to  maturity.  Her  family 
became  ill  with  the  flu  in  1918,  and  from  overwork 

she  became  ill  herself.  This  resulted  in  her  early 
death. 

Frank's  and  Luby's  children  are:  Frank  Harris, 
Theo  Albert  Harris,  married  Irene  Walton;  Orrin 
Porter  Harris,  married  Beatrice  Bennet:  Cleone 
Nelson  Harris.  Anna  BoDell  Harris,  married  Ira 

Charles  Hardy;  (2)  Don  Albert  Jenks;  George 
Alexander  Harris,  married  June  Panting;  Martha 

Harris,  married  Jurgen  Albert  Hansen. 

In  a  small  two  room  house,  that  was  whitewash- 
ed   inside    and    out,    FRANKLIN    WEAVER 

HARRIS  was  born  on  May  23,  1886,  at  Thatcher, 

Idaho.  He  was  the  youngest  son  of  Alexander 
Harris  Jr.  and  Octavia  Ann  Weaver. 

When  Frank  was  two  years  old,  his  father  started 
building  the  new  home.  It  was  a  large  two  story 

one — quite  different  from  the  whitewashed  two 
rooms.  Alexander  hauled  most  of  the  lumber  for 

the  new  home  with  a  team  and  wagon  from  Logan, 
Utah.  The  walls  were  lined  with  adobe  bricks  made 

from  clay  and  sand  obtained  from  the  hill  behind 

the  house.  This  was  mixed  with  water  and  poured 
into  molds  to  dry  in  the  sun.  The  children  helped  to 
make  these  adobes.  Water  for  the  new  home  was 

hauled  from  the  big  spring  one  half  mile  to  the 

north.  This  job  was  done  by  young  Franklin  for 
many  years. 

Frank  and  his  sisters  and  brother,  Sarah 

Emmeline  (Sadie  Mickelson),  Alexander  Wells, 

and  Ethel  (Elmore)  all  walked  two  miles  each  way 
to  attend  school  in  the  one  room  school  house  to 
the  south. 

Frank's  early  youth  was  spent  learning  to  work 
on  the  ranch,  helping  his  father.  He  loved  horses  es- 

pecially. Many  times  from  the  time  he  was  twelve 

years  old,  Frank  was  sent,  alone  on  his  horse,  to 
look  for  cattle  or  horses  which  had  been  lost.  There 

were  no  fences  and  few  roads.  At  one  time,  at  age 

fourteen,  he  rode  as  far  north  as  Rigby,  Idaho, 

where  he  stayed  with  his  cousin,  Elmer  Hulse,  who 
helped  look  for  the  horses  for  three  days.  He  then 

came  back  to  Idaho  Falls,  then  to  Gray's  Lake  to 
the  Gentile  Valley  Cow  Camp.  Some  nights  he 

spent  in  the  open  with  his  saddle  for  a  pillow  and 
saddle  blanket  for  a  cover.  Once  he  was  thrown 

from  his  horse  and  seriously  injured.  He  was  found 
by  Joe  Banks  and  William  Creer.  He  was  in  a  coma 
for  two  weeks.  A  brain  concussion  flattened  the  left 
side  of  his  head.  It  is  still  visible. 

In  1904,  he  enrolled  at  B.Y.  College  at  Logan, 
Utah.  He  attended  that  school  until  called  to  the 
Northwestern  States  Mission  in  1906  where  he 

served  for  26  months.  His  missionary  companion 
was  Lawrence  Earl  Balls,  from  Davisville,  Idaho,  a 

small  community  about  four  miles  south  of  Soda 

Springs. 
On  December  16,  1908,  Franklin  W.  Harris 

married  Earl's  twin  sister,  FLORENCE  PEARL 
BALLS  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple.  She  was  the 
daughter  of  Daniel  and  Mary  Eliza  Davis  Balls. 

They  spent  their  first  years  living  in  a  sheep  camp 

on  160  acres  which  they  homesteaded —  about  one 
mile  north  of  the  Alexander  Harris  home.  They 
built  a  small  cabin  there  out  of  lumber  hauled  from 
a  sawmill  in  Beaver  Dams. 

It  was  while  living  on  the  homestead  he  was  call- 
ed to  serve  as  Counselor  and  Ward  Clerk  to 

William  Corbett,  who  was  Bishop  of  the  newly 

organized  Turner  Ward. 
Frank  and  Pearl  and  their  three  children  moved 

to  the  Alexander  Harris  home  in  1917  or  18. 

In  October  1919,  he  was  called  on  a  mission  to 

California,  where  he  served  for  six  months  in  the 
Oakland  area.  His  wife  and  two  of  their  children 

accompanied  him.  When  he  returned  home,  he  was 

called  to  be  bishop  of  the  Thatcher  Ward. 
About  1925,  because  of  the  difficulty  of  getting 

the  boys  to  high  school  at  Thatcher,  they  decided  to 

move  to  Soda  Springs,  where  they  have  resided 
since.  For  many  years,  they  spent  the  winters  in 
Soda  Springs  and  the  summers  on  the  ranch.  Frank 
served  as  bishop  of  the  Soda  Springs  Ward  for 

several  years.  He  also  served  in  the  Idaho  Stake 
Presidency  as  a  counselor  to  President  Christian 
Call. 

In  1932,  he  was  elected  to  the  position  of  State 

Representative  from  Caribou  County.  From  1933 
to  1947  he  served  as  State  Senator. 

In  1953,  he  was  appointed  to  serve  as  Probate 

Judge  in  Caribou  County.  He  worked  faithfully  in 
this  capacity  for  many  years. 

Frank  and  Pearl  were  the  parents  of  five 

children-  all  still  living:  Denton,  Soda 

Springs  Idaho;  LaPhene  (Don),  Centerville,  Utah; 
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Berdean,  Thatcher,  Idaho;  Marye  Paulsen,  Provo, 
Utah;  and  Colonel  Blaine  Harris  of  Vienna, 

Virginia.  The  old  Harris  home,  built  in  1888  on  the 
Harris  Ranch  is  occupied  by  Berdean.  He  also 
owns  a  beautiful  ranch  on  Bear  River. 

In  1958,  Pearl  passed  away.  In  1960  Frank 
married  PHOEBE  HOGAN.  She  passed  away 
December  1973. 

At  present,  at  the  age  of  91,  Frank  is  in  very  good 
health,  spends  the  winters  in  Provo  with  his 
daughter  Marye  Paulsen,  and  the  summers  at  his 
home  on  Hooper  Avenue  in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 
He  still  spends  lots  of  time  in  the  saddle,  riding  the 

range  with  his  son,  Berdean — living  the  life  he  has 
known  and  loved  for  these  many  years. 

GUY  HARRIS  was  born,  raised,  and  still  lives  in 

the  beautiful  hills  of  Lago.  He  was  born  to  William 

McGee  Harris  and  Harriet  Ann  Carson  on  April 
28,  1896. 

His  schooling  was  also  in  a  small  school  at  Lago. 

His  life's  work  began  in  raising  cattle,  and  this  has 
been  his  daily  work  and  interest  ever  since.  He 

states  that  cattle  raising  has  been  very  good  to  him. 
The  beautiful  home  and  ranch  attest  to  that  fact. 

He  married  VARA  HUBBARD  on  November 

28,  1916  at  Pocatello.  Two  years  later  they  had 

their  temple  endowments  in  the  Logan  Temple. 
They  were  the  parents  of  three  children,  Vard, 
Marjorie  (Mrs.  Dean  Panter)  of  Thatcher,  and 
Mardene(Mrs.  Max  Andreasen)  of  Pleasant  View, 
Utah. 

On  February  4,  1935,  he  married  CORA 

CHRISTENSEN  in  the  Logan  Temple.  They  had 
two  children,  C.  McGee  Harris  and  Robert  C. 

Hams,  and  step  children,  Loren  A.  Wilson  and 
Carla  Mae  W.  Thompson. 

Guy  has  been  a  bishop  in  the  Lago  Ward, 
school  trustee,  has  served  as  a  director  in  the  Idaho 

Cattlemen's  Association,  Chesterfield  Land  and 
Livestock  director,  a  director  in  the  Idaho 

Citizen's  Grazing  Association,  and  is  the  longest 
paying  member  in  the  state  of  Idaho  in  the 

American  National  Cattlemen's  Association. 
Guy  remains  active,  riding  horses  and  manag- 

ing the  beautiful  ranch.  He  enjoys  keeping  in  touch 
with  his  family  and  grandchildren  and  the  fruits  of 
a  full  productive  life. 

WILLIAM  MCGEE  HARRIS  was  the  son  of 

William  Harris  and  Emmeline  Whittle.  He  was 

born  May  23,  1862  in  Richmond,Utah. 

William  McGee  spent  his  boyhood  at  Richmond, 

attending  the  local  school  and  helping  his  parents. 
He  married  ARAMINTA  POPE.  They  had  one 
child.  Araminita  died  of  childbirth,  and  their 

daughter  died  soon  afterwards. 

William  helped  in  the  construction  of  the 
railroad  into  Utah.  Here  he  met  and  courted 

HARRIET  ANN  CARSON,  who  was  a  cook  for 

the  railroad  crew.  They  were  married  in  the  Logan 

Temple  on  February  4,  1885.  When  William 

McGee  was  twenty-four  he  took  his  family  to  Lago, 
Idaho.  He  cleared  land  of  sagebrush  and  planted  it 
into  timothy.  For  several  years  he  fed  the  stock  of 

his  father.  Each  year  his  father  gave  him  cattle  for 
payment  for  feed.  In  this  way  he  got  established  in 
the  sheep  and  cattle  business. 

William  McGee  built  a  log  cabin  for  their  first 
home,  which  was  later  replaced  by  a  two  story 
frame  home.  This  home  burned  in  1907,  and  a  new 

two  story  cinder  block  home  was  constructed.  He 
was  a  successful  farmer  and  rancher.  He  had  a 

large  vegetable  garden  and  orchards,  and  raised 
beef  cattle,  sheep,  and  poultry.  He  took  great  pride 
in  his  beautiful  well  matched  teams  of  horses. 

William  was  ordained  a  Bishop  December  5, 
1891  of  the  Trout  Creek  Ward,  and  served  for 

twenty-four  years.  He  was  honest,  respected,  and 
loved  by  all.  He  was  elected  a  member  of  the  Idaho 
State  Legislature  in  1897.  At  the  age  of  fifty  his 
health  began  to  fail.  He  deeded  his  property  to  his 

sons,  and  bought  a  home  in  Grace.  He  started  in 
the  automobile  business,  but  this  proved  a  failure. 
He  was  a  stockholder  in  the  Farmers  Bank  and 

served  as  its  president  for  two  years.  On  November 
18,  1917  he  was  ordained  Patriarch  of  the  Bannock 

Stake,  and  served  until  his  death.  He  was  the 

Mayor  of  Grace  for  several  years.  He  died  March 
17,  1930. 

Harriet  Ann  Carson  was  the  daughter  of  David 
Carson  and  Millie  Jane  Rawlins.  She  was  born 

June  18,  1861  at  Draper,  Utah. 

When  Harriet  Ann  was  four  years  of  age  her 

parents  moved  to  Richmond.  Utah,  where  she 

spent  her  childhood  and  youth.  She  worked  as  a 
cook  for  men  building  the  railroad  into  Utah.  It 
was  here  that  she  met  William  McGee  Harris,  and 
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married  later  in  the  Logan  Temple.  They  were  the 
parents  of  seven  children:  Millie  Emmeline,  Byron 

McGee.  David  Earl.  Thomas  Glen,  Guy,  Viola,  and 
Florence  Harris.  Harriet  and  her  husband  lived  at 

Richmond  a  short  time,  then  moved  to  Lago, 
Idaho.  In  1891  she  became  the  first  counselor  in  the 

Relief  Society  of  Trout  Creek  Ward,  and  served 
for  16  years.  Later  she  became  secretary  of  the 

Bannock  Stake  Relief  Society,  and  held  this  posi- 
tion for  many  years. 

She  died  March  25,  1953. 

J.  Stanley  and  Ruth  Harrison 

J.  STANLEY  HARRISON  was  born  September 

26,  1893,  in  Gainsborough,  Lincolnshire,  England, 
on  the  banks  of  the  river  Trent.  He  was  converted 

to  the  L.D.S.  Church  in  England  at  the  age  of  16, 

and  came  to  America  in  April,  1913,  at  the  age  of 
20.  He  and  his  brother.  Will,  joined  their  father  at 
Eureka,  Utah  and  six  months  later  his  mother,  two 

sisters  and  brother,  Walter,  joined  them.  He  work- 
ed in  Eureka  and  at  the  Tintic  mines  from  1913  to 

1916.  While  he  was  a  member  of  the  Eureka  Ward 

he  was  ordained  a  Seventy,  never  having  been  or- 
dained an  Elder.  He  later  baptized  13  people.  He 

taught  in  the  Sunday  School  and  served  as  Ward 
Clerk  while  in  Eureka. 

In  May  of  1915,  he  paid  a  visit  to  Thatcher, 
Idaho  to  visit  Elmer  Smith,  whom  he  had  known  as 

a  missionary  in  England,  and  Elmer's  brother, 
Wendell.  In  Thatcher  he  met  his  future  wife, 

RUTH  BOLLWINKEL.  Ruth,  a  daughter  of 

Samuel  and  Arietta  Bollwinkel,  was  born  July  20, 

1895,  in  Thatcher,  Idaho.  J.  Stanley  and  Ruth  were 
married  in  the  Logan  Temple  on  April  10,  1918. 
Soon  after,  he  was  inducted  into  the  U.S.  Army 
and  served  overseas,  largely  in  France,  where  he 

participated  in  the  battle  of  the  Argonne.  He  was 
mustered  out  of  the  service  on  July  13,  1919,  when 

he  received  $60.00  severance  pay  and  a  ticket 
home. 

J.  Stanley  Harrison  was  a  great  educator  and 
served  38  years  as  a  teacher  in  the  Thatcher  and 
Grace  schools.  He  retired  from  teaching  in  1958  at 

the  age  of  65. 
He  has  been  a  very  active  member  of  the  L.D.S. 

Church,  having  served  on  the  Stake  High  Council 

and  Stake  Sunday  School  Board.  For  many  years 

he  taught  the  Gospel  Doctrine  class  in  Sunday 

School,  and  is  still  serving  as  the  High  Priests 
Quorum  teacher  in  the  Grace  Ward  at  the  age  of 

83.  He  has  always  been  in  demand  as  a  lecturer  and 

speaker.  Mr.  Harrison  began  a  career  in  writing  at 
the  age  of  65  and  is  the  author  of  two  published 
books,  /  Think.  Therefore  I  am  and  This  Way  But 
Once.  He  has  also  written  a  most  interesting 

autobiography.  He  and  his  devoted  wife,  Ruth, 
still  live  in  Grace.  They  are  the  parents  of  five 

children:  Shirley,  Eugene,  Jay.  Merlene  and  Lionel. 

The  ALBERT  EDWIN  HAYES  family  started 
with  the  marriage  of  Albert  E.  and  FAVORETTA 
BRATTON  RICH  on  June  29.  1900.  He  was  the 

son  of  Richard  and  Anna  Marie  Turner  Hayes,  and 
was  born  at  Harrisville,Utah  November  5.  1877. 

Favoretta    was    born    September    29,    1882   at 

Morgan,  Richfield  County,  Utah.  She  was  the 
third  daughter  along  with  five  sons  born  to  Landon 

and  Mary  Florence  Bratton  Rich. 

It  took  them  two  days  each  way  for  their  wed- 
ding trip  to  Logan,  Utah  by  horse  and  buggy.  They 

were  married  in  the  Temple.  To  this  union  was  born 

seven  daughters  and  four  sons:  Edward  A.,  Anna 
Florence.  Izola.  Roscoe,  Marion.  Mabel.  Ruby, 

Le  Ora.  Rich.  Mana.  and  Alice. 
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Albert  and  Favoretta  Hayes 

Life  for  Albert  and  Favoretta  was  not  all  honey 
and  roses  as  there  were  many  hardships. 

Favoretta  was  soon  shortened,  and  she  was 
known  as  Etta.  Albert  was  called  Bert.  At  this  time 

all  four  of  the  boys  have  passed  on,  and  Mabel 

passed  away  in  February  1976. 

Most  of  the  family  were  educated  in  the  Grace, 
Idaho  school  system. 

Albert  and  Favoretta  loved  the  outdoors  and 

took  much  pride  and  joy  in  the  beautiful  teams  of 
horses  they  drove.  Albert  hauled  much  of  the 

freight  from  Alexander,  Idaho  for  the  Utah  Power 

and  Light  Company.  Albert's  brother,  George,  also 
used  one  of  his  teams  to  help  on  the    freight  line. 

Albert  and  his  father  and  his  brothers  each 

homesteaded  160  acres.  This  land  today  is  known 

as  the  Jay  Turner  place,  and  the  Dart  Caldwell 
place,  also  the  Robert  and  Lloyd  Burton  places, 
and  the  former  Mark  Medford  place.  The  main 

reason  for  settling  on  this  tract  of  land  was  a  spring 
that  provided  water  for  the  families.  After  Albert 
proved  up  on  this  homestead  he  sold  it  to  Frank 
and  Ida  Ashbaker  Fowler.  He  then  bought  land 

from  Ed  Turner  that  is  now  the  Harold  Varley  and 
Ken  Tarbet  places.  The  home  was  built  by  the  Pack 
Brothers  who  were  carpenters. 

Albert  was  very  civic  minded  and  helped  get  the 
Cove  and  Telluride  Grade  Schools  organized  and 
served  as  a  trustee  for  many  years. 

Shortly  after  they  moved  on  their  homestead 

Albert  and  his  father  filed  on  the  big  spring  on  the 
west  side  of  the  river  about  one  half  mile  north  of 

the  power  station.  Part  of  this  is  now  being  used  by 

Burdell  McCurdy.  At  that  time  it  was  running 
about  2  C.F.s. 

They  were  going  to  flume  the  water  across  the 
river  and  run  it  over  to  their  places  to  be  used  for 

irrigation.  It  was  about  this  time  the  Last  Chance 
Canal  Co.  was  organized  and  filed  on  water  in  Bear 
River.  This  looked  like  a  better  source  of  water  so 

they  abandoned  their  idea,  and  went  to  work  on  the 
Last  Chance  Co.  After  it  was  completed  and  water 
was  on  the  Bench,  the  neighbors  living  in  an  area 

went  to  work  to  get  their  respective  laterals  com- 
pleted. Albert  also  helped  build  the  Bench  Canal 

and  the  First  West  Lateral. 
Albert  and  Etta  were  active  in  the  church.  She 

was  chorister  and  secretary  in  the  Grace  Ward  for 

many  years,  as  she  was  a  beautiful  penman  and 
very  quick  with  a  pencil,  although  she  never  had  a 
chance  to  attend  any  school.  Albert  traveled  by 

horse  and  buggy  many  miles  on  church 
assignments,  as  he  held  many  positions. 

In  1934,  at  the  height  of  the  depression,  help  was 

scarce,  money  was  even  more  scarce,  and  he  sold 
the  north  120  acres  of  his  land  to  Kenneth  Tarbet 

and  daughter  Le  Ora. 
When  the  Second  World  War  broke  out,  the 

youngest  son.  Rich,  was  called  into  the  service,  help 
was  scarce,  and  the  years  of  hard  work  were  taking 
their  toll,  so  Bert  sold  the  rest  of  his  ground  to  Dr. 

J.C.  Hayward,  of  Logan,  Utah. 
They  moved  to  Logan,  Utah  in  1943,  and  Bert 

found  employment  at  the  college.  He  was  over-seer 
of  the  orchard  work;  irrigating,  cultivating,  and 

picking  and  selling  apples.  Many  of  the  undesirable 
ones  were  ground  and  made  into  the  most  delicious 

apple  cider. Favoretta  died  June  6,  1959,  so  Bert  sold  their 
home  and  moved  into  a  rest  home,  but  he  was  so 

lonesome  and  unhappy,  Ken  and  Le  Ora  brought 
him  back  to  Grace  to  live  with  them.  He  loved  it 

here,  and  lived  with  them  until  they  were  no  longer 
able  to  care  for  him.  He  then  went  to  the  rest  home 

at  Lava  Hot  Springs,  Idaho.  He  died  at  Lava 
November  16,  1966  at  the  age  of  89. 

CLAUSE  FREDRICK  HEGSTROM  was  born 

in  Karbenning  Vastmanland,  Sweden  on  July  27, 
1839  He  married  KATRINA  LOVISA  OLSON  on 

the  17th  of  November  1871.  One  daughter  and  five 
sons    were    born    to   them.    Emma,    Karl   John, 
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William  Clause,  August,  Gustof,  and  Otto. 

They  were  a  happy  contented  family  living  in  the 
beautiful  community  of  Karbenning  where  Clause 
worked  as  a  shoemaker. 

One  day  two  young  missionaries  stopped  at  their 
home,  and  in  a  few  short  days  the  family  accepted 

the  gospel  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints.  The 
dream  of  a  new  home  in  America  was  born. 

January  30,  1888  was  a  very  special  day  and  a 
very  cold  one!  Lakes  and  streams  were  tightly 
frozen  over.  But  it  was  the  chosen  baptismal  day 
for  some  members  of  the  Hegstrom  family.  Clause 

was  chopping  a  hole  in  the  ice  for  a  baptismal  font. 
He  was  willing  to  do  the  work  but  he  was  waiting 
for  warmer  weather  for  his  own  baptism.  But  as  he 

was  chopping  the  hole  he  slipped  and  fell  in; 
throughly  soaked,  Clause  decided  to  be  baptized. 

His  wife  Lovisa,  and  daughter  Emma,  were  also 
baptized  to  be  members  of  the  church  on  that 
memorable  day. 

Their  next  desire  was  to  go  to  Zion.  The  dream 
grew,  but  all  of  the  family  could  not  make  the  trip 

at  once.  Emma  and  William  went  first.  They  work- 
ed and  sent  all  the  money  they  could  spare  back  to 

Sweden.  At  last  the  day  came.  Clause,  Lovisa, 
Gustof  and  Otto,  the  two  youngest  boys,  left  for 
Zion  on  the  25th  of  August  1896. 

Lovisa  was  very  ill  when  the  group  arrived  in 

Ogden,  Utah.  She  could  not  speak  above  a  whisper 
and  she  lived  just  nineteen  days.  She  was  buried  in 

Ogden,  Utah.  Yet  she  was  in  Zion. 

Clause  now  faced  a  great  question.  What  could 

he  do?  He  was  a  stranger  in  a  foreign  land,  but  a 
land  of  promise.  His  heart  was  broken,  but  not  his 
spirit  and  he  knew  what  he  had  to  do.  He  had  to 

make  a  home  for  his  sons.  He  had  to  be  an  inspira- 
tion to  them  and  set  a  worthy  example  for  them  to 

follow.  That  he  truly  did.  What  a  great  man  he  real- 
ly was.  Lonely,  worried,  lost  in  a  new  land,  a  new 

language,  and  a  new  way  of  life,  but  he  squared  his 
shoulders,  kept  his  head  high  and  went  on. 

He  applied  for  the  right  to  homestead  in  Central, 
Idaho,  and  on  August  17,  1897,  he  received  that 

right  and  he  and  his  boys  moved  to  Central.  Emma 

married  Erick  Snadstrom  and  stayed  in  Ogden. 
Karl  John,  the  oldest  son  married  Alice 

Christensen.  She  died  after  giving  birth  to  twins. 
He  later  married  Annie  Qualman.  William  Clause 

married  Alice  Lundgren.  August  married  Mary 

Anderson.  Gustof  married  Elsie  Hager  and  Otto 

married  Dora  Jorgensen.  All  the  boys  made  their 
home  in  Central  with  their  father  where  they  were 

engaged  in  farming. 
Clause  Hegstrom  was  an  honorable  man.  He  was 

kind  and  loved  by  all  who  knew  him.  He  was 

respected  for  his  integrity,  and  loved  for  his 
gentleness  in  action  and  desire  to  help  others.  His 
love  for  children  and  fellowmen  made  Clause 

Hegstrom  a  great  man,  and  a  living  example  for 
others.  He  died  May  15,  1916. 

Ella  Hill 

ELLA  AUSTIN  HILL  was  born  in  Boulder, 

Colorado;  in  1866,  the  daughter  of  Mary  Ann 

Anno  and  Hyrum  T.  Austin — one  of  14  children. 
Her  early  life  was  one  of  much  hardship  and 

deprivation — yet  there  were  happy  times  too. 
She  first  went  to  work  as  a  chambermaid  in  a 

hotel  at  the  age  of  14.  Her  wages  were  $3.00  a 
week. 

Craving  a  home  and  security,  she  married  very 

young,  at  the  age  of  15.  This  marriage  was  short- 
lived, and  she  married  again  at  the  age  of  19,  to  a 

man  much  older  than  she,  who  had  befriended  her. 

This  marriage,  too,  was  doomed  to  failure. 

Ella  became  very  ill  with  "falling  sickness",  and 
at  one  time  she  was  "laid  out"  by  her  family  who 
thought  she  had  expired.  Although  she  was  able  to 

hear  them  speak,  she  herself,  was  unable  to  utter  a 
sound.  It  was  a  terrifying  experience,  but  she 
recovered. 

At  the  age  of  21,  she  met  and  married  the  man 

whom  she  truly  loved  and  who  brought  much  hap- 
piness into  her  life.  This  was  NAT  VAN  VLEET. 
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Shortly  after  her  marriage  and  just  two  weeks 

before  her  first  baby  was  born,  Nat  was  severly  in- 

jured at  work  when  a  crow-bar  fell  30  feet  and  hit 
him  on  the  head.  From  that  time  on  he  was  never 

well,  suffering  terrific  headaches;  but  he  continued 
working  and  never  complained. 

On  a  cold  January  morning,  their  first  child, 

Johnnie  was  born.  At  the  age  of  four  months,  John- 
nie had  spinal  meningitis. 

Children  born  to  Ella  and  Nat  Van  Vleet  follow- 

ing Johnnie  were:  Albert,  Arthur,  Charlie,  Minnie 
and  Lettie. 

Nat  became  very  ill  as  a  result  of  his  head  injury 
and  went  into  a  coma.  After  several  days,  he  passed 
away. 

After  Nat's  death  and  because  of  her  own  poor 
health,  Ella  was  forced  to  put  her  3  boys  in  a 

children's  home  and  the  girls  with  relatives.  John- 
nie remained  with  his  mother. 

This  was  a  very  heart-breaking  period  for  her, 
and  her  all  consuming  desire  was  to  find  some  way 

and  means  by  which  she  might  retrieve  her 
children. 

She  later  married  CHARLIE  BURNS,  with 

whom  she  had  been  acquainted  for  a  long  period  of 
time.  Charlie  had  been  working  at  the  smelter,  but 

contacted  lead  poisoning  and  was  forced  to  give  up 
this  work.  He  and  Ella  decided  to  move  west  as  the 

doctor  had  told  Ella  that  she  must  get  out  of  the 
high  altitude  in  Colorado  or  she  could  not  live 
long. 

The  first  baby,  a  son.  born  to  Ella  and  Charles 

died  soon  after  birth.  Their  next  baby  was  still- 
born. 

After  a  long,  difficult  trek  out  west.  Charlie  and 
Ella  took  up  a  homestead  five  miles  east  of  Grace, 

Idaho  in  Nelson's  Canyon. 
Here,  two  children  were  born,  Katie  and  Billy. 

Later,  another  baby  girl,  Geneve,  was  born 
prematurely,  and  died  soon  after. 

In  1912,  after  much  backbreaking  work,  they 
proved  up  on  their  homestead.  Ella  took  in 

washings  and  did  ironing  for  many  area  residents, 
working  as  hard  as  any  man. 

Her  husband,  Charles,had  a  stroke  and  was  un- 

able to  do  any  work  for  three  years.  He  died  soon 
after. 

Ella's  children  had  all  returned  home  by  this 
time.  She  joined  the  L.D.S.  Church  in  1931. 

After  Charles  death,  Ella  married  ALEX  HILL, 

for  whom  her  husband  had  previously  worked. 

They  moved  to  Wellsville.  Soon  after,  Alex  had  a 
stroke  and  died.  Ella  Austin  Hill  passed  away. 

Ira  H.  Hogan Harriet  Hogan 

IRA  HARRIS  HOGAN  was  born  November  15, 
1877  in  Richmond,  Utah  to  Ira  and  Harriet  Ann 

Harris  Hogan.  Ira  was  the  second  child  and  the 
first  son  in  a  family  of  ten. 

About  1881  the  Hogan  family  moved  to  Gentile 

Valley  where  they  resided  the  rest  of  their  lives. 
Ira  and  Harriet  Ann  taught  their  children  to 

work  hard  and  thus  they  became  good  providers  for 

their  families.  They  gave  their  children  the  oppor- 
tunity to  attend  schools  beyond  the  first  eight 

grades.  Young  Ira  attended  the  Preston  Academy 
and  the  Agricultural  College  at  Logan,  Utah. 

When  Ira  was  old  enough  he  was  called  to  serve  a 
mission  for  the  L.D.S.  Church  in  the  Southern 

States,  which  he  fulfilled  honorably. 
When  he  returned  home  he  married  HARRIET 

PERMELIA  WILLIAMS  on  June  10,  1903. 

Harriet  Permelia  Williams  was  born  April  15, 
1884  to  Robert  Hanna  Williams  and  Barbara  Ann 

Bingham  at  Mound  Valley,  Idaho.  She  was  the  six- 
th child  in  the  family  of  fourteen.  Hattie  attended 

the  B.Y.  Academy  at  Logan  and  the  Uinta 
Academy  in  Vernal,  Utah. 

She  spent  many  days  in  her  youth  helping 
neighbors  and  relatives  while  the  mothers  of  the 
household  were  confined  after  having  their  babies. 

The  first  six  years  of  Ira's  and  Hattie's  marriage 
were  spent  in  two  places,  Henry,  and  at  Thatcher  in 
Gentile    Valley.    They    would    pack    their    few 
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belongings  in  a  wagon  and  travel  to  and  from  these 
two  ranches.  Four  winters  were  spent  at  Henry 

feeding  the  cattle  the  hay  that  was  put  up  out  there. 
These  winters  were  hard  and  families  were  isolated 
for  weeks  at  a  time. 

They  purchased  the  Medford  ranch  at  Thatcher, 

that  was  located  about  '/:  mile  from  Ira's  parents, 
the  house  was  located  on  the  east  side  of  the  road. 

For  some  reason  they  moved  it  to  the  west  side 
where  it  is  now  located. 

Six  children  were  born  to  this  good  couple,  five 

boys  and  one  girl.  Three  are  still  living  Vard,  Lorin, 
and  Barbara.  Donald  died  when  he  was  about  16 

months  old  and  Ray  died  with  complications  of  a 

ruptured  appendix.  Roland  passed  away  in  1976. 
Ira  was  the  manager  of  the  Gentile  Valley  Land 

and  Cattle  Company  for  about  forty  years.  This 

company  was  formed  in  1904.  While  Ira  was 
manager  of  the  cattle  company  he  served  on  the 
Eastern  Idaho  Grazing  Association  and  at  the  time 

of  his  death  he  was  the  only  man  to  be  given  an 
honorary  membership  to  the  association. 

In  May  of  1945  Ira  and  Hattie  retired  and  moved 
to  Grace  where  they  spent  the  remaining  years.  Ira 

and  Hattie  celebrated  their  Golden  Wedding  An- 
niversary on  June  10,  1953. 

Ira  suffered  a  cerebral  hemorrage  on  March  31, 

1959  and  was  paralyzed  for  about  fourteen  months. 
Hattie  took  care  of  him  after  he  was  released  from 

the  hospital  until  he  passed  away  on  June  14,  1960. 
Hattie  lived  alone  in  her  house  until  March  1965. 

She  spent  the  next  ten  years  in  different  nursing 

homes.  The  last  years  of  her  life  she  suffered  im- 
mensely with  arthritis  and  was  unable  to  care  for 

herself. 

On  November  28,  1975  she  passed  away  at  the 
Caribou  Nursing  Home. 

IRA  HOG  AN  was  born  November  24,  1854  in 

Woods  Cross,  Utah.  He  married  HARRIET  ANN 

HARRIS  on  October  12,  1875  in  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah.  She  was  born  March  18,  1858  at  Fort 

Harriman,  Utah  Territory. 
About  1879  they  moved  to  Gentile  Valley,  now 

known  as  Thatcher  Ward  in  Gem  Valley.  They 
purchased  from  Steve  May  their  ranch,  which  was 

later  owned  by  George  Hogan, Ira's  son,  and  is 

now  owned  by  Dean  Hogan,  George's  son. 
Ira  and  Harriet  were  among  the  first  families 

Ira  Hogan Harriet  Hogan 

who  settled  and  developed  Gentile  Valley.  Among 
these  families  were  the  Ponds,  Bassetts,  Larkins, 

Harrises,  and  Christensens.  Their  social  life  con- 
sisted mostly  of  parties  with  other  pioneer  families, 

dancing  and  other  activities  at  the  church. 

Ira  bought  more  land.  He  was  the  owner  of  the 
ranch  now  owned  by  Davis  and  Douglas  Carter.  He 
helped  build  the  railroad  from  Soda  Springs  to 

Bancroft  in  1882.  Ira  also  operated  with  his 

brother-in-law,  Alexander  Harris,  a  freighting 
business  with  16  head  of  mules  from  Corinne.  Utah 

to  Butte,  Montana. 

On  February  8,  1904,  Ira  Hogan,  Joseph  T. 
Pond,  William  H.  Larkin,  Edmund  J.  Turner, 

Alexander  Harris,  Charles  H.  Bassett  incorporated 
the  Gentile  Valley  Land  and  Cattle  Company,  at 
the  office  of  Mrs.  Leah  Gorton  in  Soda  Aprings, 

and  purchased  property  in  Bingham  County  from 
Alex  Brown.  This  corporation  was  in  force  for  fifty 

years,  and  was  reincorporated  in  1954. 
In  1918  more  land  was  purchased  and  growth 

and  progress  have  continued  until  today  the  com- 
pany owns  15,000  acres  of  rich  meadow  grass  in 

and  around  Gray's  Lake.  At  the  present  time  there 
are  17  stockholders  in  the  main  descendents  of  the 

Hogans,  Ponds,  and  Harrises.  The  company  runs 
3000  head  of  cattle. 

Ira  and  Harriet  were  always  active  in  the 

Church.  In  February  of  1892  Ira  was  called  to  be  a 
counselor  in  the  bishopric  of  the  Thatcher  Ward. 

On  July  24,  1898  he  was  sustained  as  bishop  of  the 
ward  where  he  served  for  seven  years  until  his 

death.  He  died  April  17,  1905.  The  following  is  a 

quote  from  an  obituary  notice:  "He  has  been  iden- 
fified  with  every  movement  for  the  advancement  of 
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Gentile  Valley." 
Harriet  died  only  a  little  over  a  year  after  her 

husband's  death,  September  11,  1906. 

LUCY  HOLSTEN  was  born  April  17,  1890  in 
Clifton,  Idaho  to  Sarah  Marie  Bingham  and 
Theodore  M.  Martin.  She  was  the  fourth  child  in  a 

family  of  fourteen. 
She  spent  her  girlhood  in  Lava  Hot  Springs 

area.  She  sang  with  a  girl's  chorus  and  with  a  trio 
with  two  sisters. 

She  married  CHARLES  G.  HOLSTEN  on 

March  15,  1915  in  Idaho  Falls,  Idaho.  They  made 

their  home  in  Central,  where  they  farmed  until  Mr. 

Holsten's  death  on  July  27,  1947. 
Mrs.  Holsten  moved  to  Grace  in  November, 

1947.  She  became  active  in  Relief  Society,  serving 

as  a  block  teacher  for  twenty-three  years  with  100 
percent  attendance  record,  except  when  traveling 
on  two  trips. 

She  sang  with  the  Singing  Mothers  from  the  for- 
mation until  the  last  three  years. 

She  has  two  daughters,  Gladys  Burton,  Grace, 

Idaho;  Ruth  Peterson,  Bench,  Idaho,  and  one  step- 
son Richard  Holsten,  Central;  one  step-daughter, 

Viola  Gibson,  Turner,  Idaho. 

LEONARD  REDFIELD  HOOPES  was  born  on 

February  11,  1886  at  Thatcher,  Idaho  to  Harlow 
and  Grace  Spidell  Hoopes.  He  lived  his  entire  Hfe 
at  Thatcher  and  was  engaged  in  stock  raising. 
He  was  married  to  LUELLA  DOROTHEA 

JENSEN  on  November  7,  1904  at  Cleveland, 
Idaho. 

He  served  on  the  Thatcher  school  board  for  fif- 

teen years  and  was  chairman  for  five  years.  He 

played  with  the  Thatcher  orchestra  and  was  also  a 
member  of  the  Thatcher  Cleveland  baseball  team. 

Mr.  Hoopes  died  March  20,  1968  at  the  family 
home  of  a  stroke.  At  the  time  of  his  death  he  was 

survived  by  his  widow  of  Thatcher;  two  sons  and 

three  daughters,  Lorin  C,  Thatcher;  Jack  R.,  Mrs. 

Henry  Van  denakker,  Mrs.  Howard  (Nora)  Curtis, 
Pocatello,  and  Mrs.  Max  (June)  Bitton,  Pasco, 

Washington;  thirteen  grandchildren;  six  great 
grandchildren;  two  brothers  and  two  sisters;  Ben 

Hoopes,  Idaho  Falls;  Leland  Hoopes,  Mrs.  Lelia 
Hymas  and  Mrs.  Veda  Chapman,  all  of  Twin  Falls, 
Idaho. 

He  was  buried  in  the  Cleveland  cemetery. 

LUELLA  DORTHEA  JENSEN  HOOPES  was 
born  to  Christ  and  Dorthea  Jensen  in  Bear  River 

City,  Utah  on  January  5,  1883.  She  later  moved  to 
Cleveland  with  her  parents. 

She  was  the  eldest  of  twelve  children,  so  she  had 

to  assume  many  of  the  responsibilities  when  her 
mother  became  ill.  She  was  forced  to  quit  school 
and  help  with  the  family. 

When  she  was  fourteen  years  old  she  worked  as  a 
cook  for  the  railroad  workers.  She  also  worked  at 

the  James  Larsen  store  for  two  years  for  a  $1.50  a 
week.  She  worked  in  many  homes  doing  their 

cleaning.  The  highest  wages  she  ever  received  at 
that  time  was  $2.00  a  week. 

She  married  LEONARD  REDFIELD  HOOPES 

on  November  7,  1904.  They  lived  with  her  parents 
for  awhile  and  then  moved  to  her  Grandfather 

Christenson's  house,  which  was  then  on  the  hill 
near  where  the  Dean  Burtons  live  now.  It  was  a 

one  room  log  house,  with  a  dirt  roof  They  lived 
there  for  two  or  three  years,  and  then  moved  to  the 
John  Shutts  Ranch.  All  they  had  was  one  cow  and 
one  team  of  horses.  They  leased  his  place  until  they 

got  money  to  pay  cash  for  it,  which  took  many  hard 
years  of  work  and  saving. 

They  lived  in  a  log  house  which  had  three  rooms 
and  a  cellar.  As  they  had  no  electricity,  they  used 

kerosene  lamps.  They  drew  water  from  a  well  in  a 
bucket  for  washing  clothes  and  all  household  uses. 

They  heated  all  the  wash  water  on  wood  stoves  and 
then  they  washed  the  clothes  on  a  board.  Not  until 

many  years  after,  when  they  built  their  new  home, 

did  they  get  electricity  or  any  modern  conveniences. 

To  this  couple,  eight  children  were  born,  Theo, 
Florence,  Ida,  Nora,  Grace,  Loran,  Jack  and  June. 

When  it  came  to  giving  comfort  to  others,  there 

was  no  task  too  large  for  her  to  try. 

She  always  kept  her  wood  stove  in  her  kitchen 
for  emergencies.  She  has  said  that  many  baby 
bottles  were  warmed  and  many  clothes  were  dried 
on  that  stove  when  the  electricity  had  gone  off 

She  was  a  member  of  the  L.D.S.  Church  and 

worked  in  it  both  before  and  after  her  marriage. 

She  enjoyed  working  with  the  youth  and  served  as 

Primary  president  for  ten  years.  She  also  sang  in 
the  church  choir  for  many  years. 

Each  of  her  children  and  grandchildren  has  one 

or  more  of  her  hand-pieced  quilts.  She  spent  many 
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long    hours    quilting    by    herself   to    make    sure 
everyone  had  one. 

Mrs.  Hoopes  died  April  1,  1973. 

Alma  Hubbard Mana  Hubbard 

ALMA  EDWARDS  HUBBARD  was  born  in 

Willard,  Utah,  April  13,  1874,  the  son  of  Charles 
Wesley  and  Mary  Edwards  Hubbard. 

His  boyhood  days  were  spent  in  Willard  where  he 
attended  school.  Later  he  attended  the  Utah 

Agricultural  College    at  Logan,  Utah. 
In  the  spring  of  1889,  he  went  to  Trout  Creek, 

now  Lago  to  work. 
On  November  11,  1896  he  was  married  to 

MANA  LOUISE  WILLIAMS  in  the  Logan  Tem- 
ple. In  January  1897  he  left  for  Australia  to  fulfill  a 

mission  for  the  church. 

Before  going  to  Australia  he  had  filed  on  a 

homestead  in  Bench.  This  made  it  necessary  for 

someone  to  live  there  part-time,  so  while  Alma  was 
gone,  Mana  would  go  to  Bench  and  spend  the  re- 

quired length  of  time  at  the  homestead  to  hold  it 

until  it  could  be  proved  upon  when  he  came  home. 
This  homestead  is  now  owned  by  Elvin  Hubbard  at 
Bench. 

He  was  called  home  from  his  mission  to  become 

the  first  Bishop  of  Grace  Ward,  which  then  includ- 
ed all  the  territory  north  to  Alexander,  and  west  to 

Bancroft,  and  south  to  the  Lago  Ward. 

They  lived  in  a  log  house  on  their  homestead  in 

Bench  and  Alma  traveled  to  Grace  by  team  or 

horseback  to  take  care  of  his  duties  as  Bishop. 
They  experienced  many  of  the  hardships  of 

pioneering.  They  had  to  haul  water  four  miles  for 
household  use  and  for  their  livestock. 

Alma  spent  a  great  deal  of  time  away  from  home 
helping  to  build  the  Last  Chance  Canal  and  helping 
to  get  the  timber  from  the  canyon  for  the  dam,  and 
attending  to  his  duties  as  Bishop. 

This  left  Mana  alone  much  of  the  time  to  haul 

the  water  and  milk  about  fourteen  cows.  She  would 

put  the  milk  in  pans  to  cool  then  skim  off  the 
cream  and  make  butter,  which  had  to  be  taken  to. 

Soda  Springs  where  it  was  sold  for  thirteen  cents  a 

pound. Their  first  child,  Mana,  was  born  January  16, 

1900  and  died  February  1,  1900.  Alma,  as  Bishop, 
selected  the  site  for  the  Grace  Cemetery  and  their 

little  girl  was  the  first  one  buried  there,  then 

nothing  but  sagebrush. 
Their  second  child.  Alma  W.,  was  born  February 

1,  1901  and  died  February  13,  1901,  and  was  the 
third  one  to  be  buried  in  the  Grace  Cemetery. 
Another  child,  Leah  Elizabeth  was  born  at  Bench 

January  1,  1909  and  was  buried  in  the  Grace 
Cemetery. 

Alma  sold  his  homestead  in  Bench  to  Rufus  and 
Gerrie  Pond  and  moved  to  Niter  in  1910. 

He  dug  a  well  and  made  a  big  wheel.  They  would 
put  their  big  dog,  Jeff,  inside  the  wheel  to  pump  the 
water  into  a  large  tank  built  in  the  top  of  the  house. 
Later  the  water  was  pumped  with  a  gasoline  motor 
then  with  an  electric  motor. 

He  was  on  his  way  to  Pocatello,  August  8,  1938, 

to  see  his  son,  DeLos,  who  was  in  the  hospital  from 

a  serious  eye  injury,  suffered  while  working  at  the 
Swiss  Cheese  Factory.  On  the  way,  he  became 
critically  ill  and  was  taken  to  the  St.  Anthony 
Hospital  where  he  died  that  afternoon. 

Children:  Mana,  Alma  W.,  Leah,  Mary,  Wesley, 

John,  Harriett,  DeLos,  and  Robert. 
Mana  Williams  was  born  in  Montpelier,  Idaho 

on  June  29,  1872,  the  daughter  of  Robert  H. 
Williams  and  Harriet  Busenbark.  Her  parents  had 
moved  from  Providence,  Utah  to  the  Bear  Lake 

Valley  in  1863  with  a  company  of  Mormon 

pioneers  called  by  Brigham  Young  to  settle  that valley. 

Her  father  was  appointed  to  preside  over  the 

religious  services  under  the  direction  of  Apostle 
Charles  C.  Rich.  Mana  was  one  of  the  first  white 

children  born  in  that  valley.  When  she  was  three 

years  old,  the  family  moved  to  Mound  Valley 
where  her  father  was  called  to  be  the  first  bishop  in 
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Gentile  Valley,  now  Gem  Valley.  The  ward  took  in 
the  whole  valley  from  the  Bear  River  narrows  on 
the  south  to  Soda  Point  on  the  north.  However, 

there  was  nothing  but  sagebrush  from  Mound 

Valley  to  Soda  Springs.  Her  father  used  ox  teams 
and  Mana  remembers  helping  him.  hook  up  the 

oxen  to  a  hayrack  and  taking  the  family  and 

neighbors  to  gather  choke  cherries.  Her  father 
hired  a  brick  mason  to  come  to  Mound  Valley  to 

make  brick  for  their  home.  She  helped  dig  the  clay 

out  of  a  nearby  hill,  mold  it  into  bricks,  and  bake  it 
in  a  homemade  kiln.  The  home,  made  from  these 

bricks,  still  stands  on  the  east  side  of  the  highway 
just  north  of  the  Bear  River  bridge  in  Mound 
Valley.  It  was  the  first  brick  home  in  the  valley  and 
is  now  the  oldest  home  still  standing  in  Gem  Valley. 

Her  husband  Alma  preceeded  her  in  death  on  the 
8th  of  August,  1 938  at  the  age  of  64.  She  died  April 
19,  1956  at  the  age  of  83. 

CHARLES  WILLARD  HUBBARD  was  born 

on  May  25,  1888  in  Willard,  Utah  to  James 
Willard  Hubbard  and  Emma  Pettingill.  When  he 
was  six  weeks  old  his  parents  moved  to  Gentile 

Valley  and  settled  on  a  farm  at  the  mouth  of 

Cheatbeck  Canyon.  They  were  much  more  for- 
tunate and  blessed  than  most  of  those  early 

pioneers  because  they  had  a  lovely  stream  of  spring 

water  that  came  down  from  the  spring  a  short  dis- 
tance up  the  canyon.  This  enabled  them  to  grow  a 

nice  vegetable  garden,  fruit  trees,  raspberries, 
currant  bushes,  and  shade  trees. 

When  the  Hubbards  moved  in,  there  was  not  a 

house  of  any  kind  on  the  place.  Frank  Christensen 

lived  about  half  way  up  the  lane  that  goes  up  to  the 
Hubbard  sawmill  now.  He  had  a  little  one  room 

shack  on  the  corner  across  from  Alice  Clegg's.  and 
he  let  the  Hubbards  live  in  it  that  first  summer 

while  Charles'  father  was  getting  logs  from  the  ca- 
nyon and  building  his  two  room  log  cabin  with  a 

dirt  roof  and  floor  and  one  little  window.  Truly, 
those  were  pioneer  days. 

Charles  was  the  only  boy  in  the  family.  He  had 
eight  sisters,  four  older  that  he,  and  four  younger. 

As  Charles  grew  up  he  worked  along  side  his  father 
learning  many  valuable  lessons  from  him,  for  his 

father  was  a  builder,  and  an  improver.  He  had 

many  wonderful  characteristics  that  Charles  in- 
herited. 

Charles  attended  school  in  a  little  one  room  log 
cabin  with  a  dirt  roof.  It  was  about  half  way 

between  Laura  Clegg's  and  Bob  Frazers'.  Then  he 
attended  the  Oneida  Stake  Academy  for  one  year. 

He  went  on  a  mission  to  Japan  in  1907  and  was 

gone  for  three  years.  After  he  came  home  he 
attended  the  Oneida  Stake  Academy  for  another 

two  years  and  on  June  6,  1912,  he  married  ELSIE 
DALTON. 

Elsie  Dalton  was  born  in  Elba,  Cassia  County, 
Idaho  on  March  9,  1889  to  John  A.  and  Elizabeth 
Cook  Dalton.  Both  the  Hubbards  and  Daltons  were 

born  and  reared  in  Willard,  Utah,  and  were  old 

time  friends,  but  the  Daltons  didn't  move  to  Gentile 
Valley  until  the  fall  of  1898.  The  first  winter  they 
lived  in  Bench,  Idaho.  They  moved  out  to  their 
homestead  by  the  ice  cave  knoll  in  the  spring  of 
1899. 

That  year  Elsie  attended  school  in  a  little  log 

cabin,  dirt  roof  and  rough  board  floor,  with  one 
teacher  for  the  grades.  Later  she  attended  school  at 
Niter.  Then  she  went  one  and  a  half  years  to  the 
Weber  Stake  Academy  in  Ogden,  Utah. 

The  first  year  after  Charles  and  Elsie  were 
married  they  lived  in  Lago,  in  a  little  log  house  just 
west  of  where  Halden  Gunnel  now  lives.  Then  they 

moved  to  Bench,  just  across  the  road  north  from 

Alice  Clegg's  home.  At  first  they  carried  water 
from  the  ditch,  but  at  times  the  water  was  not  very 

good,  so  Charles,  with  the  cooperation  of  the  Clegg 

brothers,  piped  the  water  from  the  spring. 
The  fall  after  they  were  married  Charles  bought 

his  father's  sawmill.  He  got  the  logs  out  of  the 
canyons  in  the  winter,  and  sawed  them  into  lumber 
in  the  spring  and  summer.  He  sold  it  to  the  people 
all  around  the  country  to  build  barns,  and  sheds. 
He  also  sold  much  of  the  timber  to  the  county  for 

building  bridges,  and  in  1913  he  furnished  ties  for 
the  title  railroad  that  went  from  Grace  to  the 
Telluride.  He  also  sawed  a  lot  of  lumber  for  men  of 

the  valley  who  got  their  own  logs  from  the  canyon, 

and  brought  them  to  the  mill  to  be  sawed. 
He  was  among  the  first  men  in  the  valley  to  trade 

in  the  steam  engine  for  a  gas  tractor  to  furnish 

power  to  run  the  mill  and  thresher.  He  had  bought 

his  father's  threshing  outfit  too,  and  for  many  years 
threshed  grain  for  farmers  all  around  the  valley. 

Charles  has  commented  that  he  has  many  fond 
memories  of  the  fine  people  he  came  to  know  by 
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doing  their  threshing  year  after  year  for  twenty-five 
years.  He  was  also  road  supervisor  for  nine  years, 

from  1928-1937.  Much  needed  improvements  were 
made  during  those  years  to  make  better  roads. 

Quite  a  bit  of  graveling  was  done  by  the  county  on 
the  main  roads.  When  people  began  to  use  cars  the 

year  around  the  need  for  good  graveled  roads 
became  more  evident. 

Charles  was  the  first  man  in  the  valley  to  do 

away  with  the  snow  fences,  and  started  the  method 
of  diking  in  the  fields  to  catch  the  drifting  snow.  It 
was  soon  being  done  all  over  the  area  and  no  more 
snow  fences  could  be  seen. 

He  was  a  member  of  the  high  school  board  for 
about  seventeen  years.  He  was  also  a  member  of 
the  Federal  Farm  Loan  Association  with  the  office 
located  in  Grace. 

He  was  in  the  Bench  Ward  Bishopric  for  about 

twelve  years,  and  in  the  Bannock  Stake  High  Coun- 
cil for  another  twelve  years.  They  have  lived  most 

of  their  lives  in  Gem  Valley  and  all  of  their  eight 
children  were  born  there  in  this  order:  Ora,  Melba, 

Elvin,  Merrill,  Cleone,  Jack,  Dale,  and  Wayne. 
They  moved  away  from  the  valley  in  1948  and  now 
reside  in  Smithfield,  Utah. 

Charles  is  almost  89  and  is  still  real  active  doing 
something  for  the  family  and  neighbors. 

Elsie  is  just  a  few  months  behind  him  in  age  and  is 

always  busy.  She  has  always  been  active  in  the 
church  and  has  worked  in  all  the  auxiliaries.  She  is 

also  active  in  the  Daughters  of  Utah  Pioneers. 

They  continue  to  love  Gem  Valley  and  the  people 
who  live  there.  It  will  always  be  home  to  them. 

JAMES  WILLARD  HUBBARD,  son  of  Charles 

Wesley  Hubbard  and  Sophia  Pollard  Hubbard  was 

born  February  12,  1861  at  Willard,  Utah.  The  op- 
portunity for  school  was  very  limited  in  those  days, 

but  he  was  able  to  finish  the  eight  grades.  The 
mother,  Emrna,  also  received  what  little  training 

that  was  provided  for  the  children  there  at  Willard. 
James  Willard  married  EMMA  PETTINGILL 

January  20,  1880.  She  was  born  at  Willard,  Utah 

April  20,  1862,  a  daughter  of  Ulyssus  Pettingill  and 
June  Marsh. 

In  the  spring  of  1888  they  moved  to  Gentile 

Valley,  on  the  place  now  owned  by  Don  Clegg, 
located  in  the  mouth  of  Cheatbeck  Canyon.  These 

were  very  hard  trying  pioneer  conditions,  as  there 

James  and  Emma  Hubbard 

were  no  improvements  on  the  place,  and  everything 
had  to  be  started  from  scratch. 

People  who  had  the  courage  to  go  into  those  fer- 
tile valleys  in  those  early  days,  to  subdue  and  make 

them  beautiful  and  productive,  had  to  be  hardy, 

rugged,  and  hard  working  people.  This  was  the  kind 
of  people  James  Willard  and  Emma  Hubbard  were. 
He  was  a  natural  builder,  handy  with  machinery, 
and  he  soon  had  timber  out  of  the  canyon  and  a  log 
house   built    for   the   family,    and   sheds   for   the 
livestock. 

James  was  the  first  man  in  this  part  of  the  valley, 

along  with  Fred  Burton  to  own  and  operate  a  horse 

power  operated  threshing  machine.  Then  in  1902 

purchased  the  first  15-45  H.P.  Steam  Tractor  to 

furnish  power  to  operate  the  thresher,  doing  away 
with  the  old  horse  power.  At  this  time  he  purchased 
an  old  sawmill  from  a  Mr.  Ward.  This  was  set  up 
in  the  mouth  of  Cheatbeck  Canyon,  one  quarter 

mile  east  of  their  log  home.  This  steam  engine  was 

put  to  good  use  to  furnish  the  power  for  this  mill 
which  was  soon  to  be  busy  making  lumber  for  the 

people  round  about.  Lumber,  at  this  time  was  sold 
for  $10.00  per  thousand  feet. 

This  steam  engine  helped  to  dig  the  trench  that 

brought  the  first  culinary  water  from  Burton's  Ca- 
nyon to  Grace  in  1907,  under  the  able  supervision 

of  David  Miles. 
James  and  Emma  were  active  in  the  Church. 

Emma  gave  much  time  and  service  in  the  Primary 

that  was  organized  at  Bench  as  a  branch  of  the 
Trout  Creek  Ward,  where  McGee  Harris  was  the 
first  bishop. 

Willard  Hubbard  was  sustained  the  first  Bishop 

of  the  Bench  Ward,  which  was  organized  in  1904.  It 
was  divided  from  the  Trout  Creek  Ward. 
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In  1895  Willard  filled  a  mission  to  the  Southern 

States,  traveling  without  purse  or  script.  After  this 
he  was  called  to  be  a  High  Councilman  in  Bannock 

Stake,  under  the  leadership  of  Louis  S.  Pond. 
He  was  called  into  many  homes  to  administer  to 

the  sick  where  doctors  were  so  few.  He  was  later  or- 
dained a  Patriarch,  where  he  gave  many  blessings. 

James  Willard  and  Emma  moved  to  Logan,  Utah 

in  1919  where  they  did  much  temple  work.  James 
died  in  1939,  his  wife,  in  1948  after  a  lifetime  of 
faithful  service. 

JOHN  HYRUM  HUBBARD,  son  of  Charles 

Wesley  Hubbard  and  Mary  Edwards,  was  born  18, 
April  1867  in  St.  Thomas,  Utah  (commonly  called 

the    Muddy).    He   married   ANNIE  JEANETTE 

READING  who  was  born  August  25,  1872.  He  per- 
formed a  mission  for  the  church  to  the  Southern 

States,  attended  the  University  of  Utah  and  was  a 
successful  school  teacher  and  principal.  He  loved 
the  land  and  wanted  to  farm  but  his  health  would 

not  permit  such  arduous  physical  work,  so  he  went 
to  Chicago  and  attended  a  medical  school  until  he 
received  his  degree  of  M.D.  Hyrum  was  assisted 
financially  through  medical  school  by  his  brother 
Alma,  and  later  turned  160  acres  of  land  to  Alma 

as  payment  for  the  loan. 
He  went  to  LeGrande,  Oregon  where  he  practiced 

medicine  for  a  few  years.  He  then  moved  to  Grace. 

Idaho  where  he  became  dearly  loved  by  the  whole 

valley  as  a  family  doctor.  He  traveled  the  valley  by 

team  and  buggy  when  he  couldn't  make  it  through 
the  muddy  roads  in  a  Model  T.  He  delivered  nearly 
all  the  babies  born  in  the  valley  for  many  years. 

His  wife,  Jeannette  died  29  March  1915.  After 
her  death  he  married  her  widowed  sister,  LOTTIE 
READING  PIERCE,  He  died  December  5,  1928 

just  61  years  old. 
His  death  left  a  big  void  in  the  valley.  He  had 

three  children  by  his  first  wife:  Walter  Isom,  David 
Samuel,  and  Clara.  His  second  wife  was  the  mother 

of  Louise  Pierce  Wilson,  (married  to  Hyrum  Wil- 
son), Ruth  Pierce  Wilson,  (married  to  Hyrum  Wil- 

Kenneth  Peterson  and  Loran  Jenkins),  and  Samuel 
Pierce. 

In  the  small  community  of  Milleville,  Utah,  on 

the  first  day  of  June,  1883,  GEORGE  WEAVER 

HULSE  was  born.  He  was  the  sixth  child  in  the 

family  of  eleven.  His  parents  were  Henry  Edward 
Hulse  and  Mary  Jane  Weaver  Hulse.  Shortly  after 
he  was  born  they  moved  to  Whitney,  Idaho.  The 

family  moved  to  Bennington,  Idaho  when  he  was 
five  years  of  age.  They  lived  there  seven  years. 

During  these  years  Henry  Edward  worked  at 
Ririe,  Idaho  to  supplement  his  income  to  care  for 

his  large  family.  It  was  then  decided  they  would 
move  to  his  place  of  employment.  At  this  time 
George  was  twelve  years  of  age 

When  he  was  fourteen  he  took  his  first  job  away 

from  home  in  Aspen,  Wyoming  on  a  construction 

job.  He  was  the  only  one  who  stayed  until  the  work 
was  finished  and  was  the  most  reliable  one  on  the 

job.  He  came  to  Gentile  Valley  when  he  was  seven- 
teen and  was  employed  be  Alex  Harris.  It  was  while 

working  here  he  met  Pearl  Sorensen. 
PEARL  ROSELLA  SORENSEN  was  born 

November  20,  1887  in  Mantua,  Utah.  She  was  the 
ninth  child  of  Hans  Peter  Sorensen  and  Ann  Marie 

Nielsen.  Her  family  moved  to  Bench,  where  she 
was  raised  and  received  her  schooling.  She  was  an 
excellent  student  and  was  always  willing  to  help 
others  with  their  studies.  In  these  days  they  were 
more  or  less  isolated  from  other  communities.  They 

needed  each  other  in  making  their  own  good  times. 
The  Sorensens  were  a  musical  family,  so  they 

played  an  important  part  in  furnishing  entertain- 
ment for  their  associates.  Pearl  and  brother  Charles 

played  for  many  dances.  At  one  time  nine  members 
of  her  family  sang  in  the  ward  choir. 

George  Hulse  and  Pearl  Sorensen  were  married 
November  22,  1905  in  the  Logan  Temple. 
He  continued  to  work  for  Alex  Harris,  then  moved 

to  Brigham  City,  Utah  where  they  lived  for  two 

years.  They  then  returned  to  Bench  and  homestead- 
ed  above  the  Christensen  and  Jensen  places. 

Their  home  was  a  log  house  with  three  spacious 

rooms.  There  were  not  many  conveniences  but  the 
house  was  always  neat  and  tidy.  A  sparkling  stream 

fiowed  by  the  place  and  all  water  was  carried  across 
a  ravine  for  culinary  use.  In  1917  a  farm  was 

purchased  from  Charles  W.  Hubbard.  This  was 
located  about  one  and  one  fourth  miles  south  of 
their  first  home. 

Here  they  raised  their  family  and  were  active  in 
community  and  church.  George  served  in  the  Ward 
Bishopric  with  Zera  Pond  and  George  Dalton  from 
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1915  to  1920.  when  he  was  sustained  as  the  Bishop. 

Pearl  was  a  faithful  Relief  Society  worker.  During 

the  dreaded  epidemic  of  the  1918  flu,  George 

faithfully  went  among  the  sick,  night  and  day,  help- 
ing and  comforting  where  needed.  None  of  his 

family  contracted  the  disease.  Their  children's 
names  were:  Georgia,  Wanda,  Mary,  Merrill, 
Ruth,  and  Grant. 

In  1922  they  moved  to  Lago,  where  George  was  a 
partner  in  the  lumber  business  with  Michael 
Mickelsen.  They  hauled  their  logs  from  the  canyon 
and  sawed  and  made  their  own  lumber. 

In  the  spring  of  1930  the  Andrew  Gray  place  at 

Bench  was  purchased.  This  was  their  home  for  the 
remainder  of  their  lives.  They  had  a  close 

relationship  with  their  children  and  took  a  special 
interest  in  their  achievements. 

After  a  lingering  illness.  Pearl  died  in  August  of 
1942.  George  continued  to  farm  until  he  was  called 
on  a  six  month  mission  to  Texas.  After  returning, 

he  went  to  San  Diego  to  spend  the  winter  with  two 
of  his  daughters. 

Having  a  love  for  children  he  accepted  an  oppor- 
tunity to  take  the  part  of  Santa  in  one  of  the  big 

department  stores.  After  a  busy  day  of  work  as  he 

returned  home,  he  was  struck  by  a  speeding  car 
and  fatally  injured  on  the  20th  of  December,  1951. 

Charles  and  Opha  O.  Izatt 

CHARLES  IZATT,  SR.  was  born  February  1. 
1874,  in  Logan,  Utah. 

He  was  working  in  the  sawmills  in  Oregon  when 
the  panic  of  1897  hit.  The  sawmills  were  shut  down 
and  he  was  out  of  work.  He  felt  this  would  be  an 

opportune  time  to  visit  his  sister  and  brother-in- 
law.  Marion  and  .Joseph  Folkman.  who  had  recent- 
1\  settled  in  Gentile  Valley.  Idaho.  After  arriving 

there  he  stayed  and  worked  all  summer:  then  decid- 
ed to  become  a  homesteader.  He  located  a  desirable 

quarter  section  in  Thatcher  and  built  a  log  cabin 
which  still  stands. 

Early  in  1903  he  received  a  mission  call  from  the 
L.D.S.  Church  to  Western  States  Mission.  He 

labored  without  purse  or  script  in  the  wild  and 

wide-open  mining  country  of  Colorado — returning 
to  Gentile  Valley  in  1905.  He  then  purchased  40 
acres  of  land  from  Tom  Allsop  which  adjoined  his 

other  property.  The  purchase  price  was  $600. 

On  March  28,  1906,  he  and  ORPHA  ORMOND 

were  married  in  the  Logan  Temple.  Orpha  was 
born  January  2,  1883  in  Logan,  Utah.  She  had  been 
a  nurse  in  the  Budge  Hospital  in  Logan  and  became 

a  literal  "angel  of  mercy"  among  the  early 
residents  of  the  valley. 

Charles  secured  employment  with  the  U.  P.  &  L. 

Co.  when  they  built  the  old  forty-four  high  tension 
power  lines  from  Cove  to  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  He 

was  the  first  patrolman  hired  when  the  line  was 
finished. 

He  was  called  into  the  Bishopric  of  Thatcher 
Ward  where  he  served  12  years  with  Bishop  George 
D.  Anderson.  He  was  later  called  to  the  Bannock 

Stake  High  Council  where  he  served  until  his  death. 

He  also  taught  Sunday  School  for  30  consecutive 

years. 
He  served  on  the  board  of  trustees  for  School 

District  #20  and  was  then  elected  to  the  High 

School  Board  of  Trustees  where  he  served  for  many 

years.  When  the  school  building  at  Four-points 
burned  to  the  ground,  he  was  chairman  of  the  board 
and  he  and  Wm.  H.  Mendenhall  posted  their  own 

personal  bonds  to  save  the  franchise  and  build  a 
new  school. 

In  1916,  Charley  and  Ollie  Izatt  purchased  the 
home  and  meadows  of  Robert  N.  Egbert.  The 
house  had  been  built  before  the  turn  of  the  century 

by  a  polygamist.  A  family  occupied  each  end  of  the 
house  and  a  parlor  in  the  center  was  shared  by  both 
families. 

Charles  and  Leonard  Hoopes  were  instrumental 

in  starting  the  annual  Spring  Round-up  and  Rodeo 
at  Thatcher,  which  became  one  of  the  highlights  of 
the  vear. 
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Orpha  labored  constantly  among  the  sick  and 

needy  and  worked  with  Dr.  Kackiey  and  Dr.  Hub- 
bard on  many  severe  cases  of  illness. 

Charles  and  Orpha  were  parents  of  four  children: 
Jack,  Isabelle,  Charles,  Jr.,  and  Mardean  (Mrs. 
Terrell  Pack). 

Charles  died  quite  suddenly  from  a  heart  attack 
on  October  17,  1938.  Following  his  death,  Orpha 

moved  to  Soda  Springs,  accumulated  some  good 

rental  properties  and  went  back  to  work  as  a  nurse, 
both  in  Pocatello  and  the  Soda  Springs  Hospital. 

She  worked  for  nine  years  before  retiring.  She  pass- 

ed away  on  December  27,  1966.  On  a  wild  and  win- 
dy day  she  was  buried  along  side  her  husband  in  the 

Thatcher  cemetery. 

JAMES  PETER  JENSEN  was  born  at 

Bradstrup,  Denmark  in  September  1859.  In  August 
1872  he  came  to  America  with  his  widowed  mother 

and  two  sisters.  They  sailed  on  the  ship  Minnesota. 

They  settled  at  Mantua,  Utah.  Here  he  spent  his 
boyhood,  working  to  help  support  the  family. 

When  twenty  years  of  age  he  was  called,  from  the 
Box  Elder  Stake,  to  help  build  the  Logan  Temple. 
For  three  seasons  he  worked  there.  On  Saturday 

night  after  work  he  walked  home,  a  distance  of 
twenty  two  miles,  to  spend  Sunday  with  his  mother. 
He  would  walk  back  to  Logan  to  resume  his  work 
on  Monday. 
LENA  MARIE  SORENSEN  was  born  at 

Slagelse,  Denmark,  September  1866.  Her  parents 
joined  the  church  when  she  was  less  than  a  year  old. 
They  sailed  from  their  home  in  Copenhagen,  June 

18b7  on  the  ship  Manhattan,  the  first  to  bring  Mor- 
mon immigrants  to  America.  Part  of  their  journey 

across  the  plains  was  by  oxen  and  wagon. 
Peter  Jensen  and  Lena  Sorensen  were  married  in 

1886.  They  made  their  home  in  Mantua  a  few 

years,  then  came  to  Gentile  Valley;  they  were  some 
of  the  first  settlers  at  Bench.  They  homesteaded  a 
one  hundred  sixty  acre  farm  just  north  of  the  Frank 

Christensen  place.  A  small  stream  from  the  moun- 
tains provided  water  for  culinary  use  in  the 

summer.  It  also  watered  the  shade  trees,  fruit  trees, 

berries  and  garden  they  planted. 
To  support  and  raise  their  eleven  children  other 

employment  was  needed  to  supplement  the  farm  in- 
come. Pete,  as  he  was  known,  worked  throughout 

the  valley  shearing  sheep,  an  expert  at  this  trade. 

His  wife  churned  and  made  many  pounds  of  butter 

which  she  sold  to  help  with  the  family  needs.  When 
Utah  Power  Company  built  their  plant  at  Grace, 

Pete  worked  to  help  put  in  the  pipeline.  His  tent 
was  located  at  camp  two.  Here  Lena  and  daughter 
Ruth  cooked  for  a  crew  of  men. 

Because  of  an  accident  while  cutting  wood,  Pete 

had  a  very  sore  hand  and  needed  a  doctor's  care. 
On  hearing  of  a  new  doctor  coming  to  Soda 

Springs,  he  made  the  trip  there  and  became  the  first 
patient  of  Doctor  Ellis  Kackiey. 

Pete  helped  to  build  the  first  school  house  at 
Bench.  He  served  as  chairman  of  the  school  board 

many  years.  He  visited  at  school  often  to  enjoy  the 
classes  and  observe  their  needs.  He  also  helped  with 

the  disciplinary  problems,  as  education  was  an  im- 
portant issue  with  him.  He  schooled  himself 

through  much  study  and  reading.  Some  of  the 

things  he  enjoyed  reading  were  the  Bible,  Literary 

Digest  (now  the  Reader's  Digest),  and  many 
editorials.  For  many  years  the  Deseret  News  kept 

him  up  on  the  current  events  of  the  day. 

The  Jensen's  endured  many  hardships  and 
sorrows.  Seven  of  their  children  preceeded  them  in 

death.  They  still  remained  active  in  both  church 
and  community  affairs. 

Their  children  were:  Jesse,  LeRoy,  Arch,  Ruth, 

Hazel,  Dewey,  Cyrus,  Robert,  James,  Janet  and 
Marian. 

In  their  reclining  years  their  home  was  destroyed 

by  fire.  A  new  one  was  built  for  them.  Both  lived 
only  a  short  time  to  enjoy  it.  Peter  died  November 
27,  1935.  Lena  Marie  died  on  September  20,  1933. 

After  their  passing,  a  son,  Cyrus,  kept  the  home 
place.  When  he  retired  in  1971  he  sold  the  family 
home  to  J.  F.  Swensen. 

In  the  small  hamlet  of  Richmond,  located  in  the 

northern  part  of  Utah  in  Cache  County,  NELS 
PETER  JOHNSON  was  born  June  6,  1869,  the 
first  son  and  third  child  of  James  and  Larsine 
Nelson  Johnson.  His  father  was  the  first 

blacksmith  of  that  inviting  and  promising  town. 

What  schooling  he  received  was  very  little  and 
was  obtained  in  Richmond,  Utah.  Later  he 

accepted  employment  in  a  creamery  making  butter 
and  cheese. 

He  was  married  to  MINNIE  ANN 

WHITEHEAD,  May  25,  1891  in  Richmond,  Utah. 
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Nets  and  Minnie  Johnson 

When  he  courted  her  it  was  in  those  good  old  horse 

and  buggy  days.  That  was  the  only  means  of  travel 
they  had  outside  of  walking. 

With  his  family  of  three  children,  Leo,  Ace  and 
Lucian,  they  came  to  Gem  Valley  in  1899.  It  was 
then  known  as  Gentile  Valley,  and  they  located  on 
the  Sol  Hendricks  farm.  Later  this  place  was  owned 
by  Wells  Harris.  After  moving  from  there  he  was 

employed  by  Alex  Harris.  From  there  he  went  to 
Bill  Larkins  where  he  worked  for  several  years. 
Desiring  to  work  on  his  own  he  went  in  partnership 
with  Lem  Brown  and  at  the  dissolution  of  this 

partnership  he  purchased  the  Hans  Peterson  farm 
in  1909.  He  was  driving  some  horses  and  the  double 

tree  broke  and  flew  back  on  him  breaking  his  right 
leg  and  from  this  he  walked  with  a  distinct  limp  all 
his  life. 

In  the  early  days  of  this  valley  he  assisted  with 
the  sick  and  was  a  very  capable  male  nurse  and  was 

called  to  assist  Dr.  Ellis  Kackley  on  many  oc- 
casions after  helping  him  on  his  way  by  driving  him 

around  through  the  deep  snow  or  getting  a  fresh 
team  ready  for  him. 

He  was  the  father  of  eight  children,  Leo,  Ace, 
Lucian,  Elsie,  Zina,  Frank,  Denzil  and  Ellis.  Two 

preceeded  him  in  death,  his  baby  son  Ellis  and  his 
oldest  daughter,  Elsie  Johnson  Miles. 

Nels  Johnson  was  jovial  in  his  disposition,  witty, 
humorous  and  charitable  to  a  fault.  Little  children 

and  youngsters  used  to  enjoy  his  weird  tales  which 

he  exaggerated  until  they  became  very  mythical. 

He  was  a  good  worker  and  did  so  until  his  last  il- 
lness. 

He  died  at  the  family  home  in  the  late  afternoon 
of  May  25,  1951. 

Minnie  Ann  Whitehead  was  born  at  Ogden, 
Utah,  on  March  15,  1874,  to  Francis  and  Jocosa 

Robenson  Whitehead.  She  was  a  pretty  girl  with 

dark  brown  eyes,  black  hair  and  an  olive  complex- 
ion. 

Minnie  always  helped  her  father  with  the  chores. 
One  chore  was  to  take  the  cows  to  pasture  each 

morning.  As  she  did  this,  she  had  to  pass  the  John- 
son home,  and  this  is  where  she  met  a  boy  named 

Nels  Peter  Johnson.  They  became  good  friends. 

They  went  to  many  dances  together  where  Minnie 
played  the  organ  for  the  dances.  Later  their 
friendship  grew  into  love,  and  they  were  married  on 
the  25th  of  May,  1897,  in  Logan,  Utah. 

They  made  their  first  home  in  Richmond,  Utah. 

Nels  was  offered  a  good  job  in  Gentile  Valley  so 
they  took  their  three  children  and  all  their 
belongings  and  moved  to  Cove,  Idaho  (now  called 
Thatcher)  in  a  wagon. 

While  living  in  Cove,  four  more  children  came  to 
them.  They  named  them  Elsie,  Alzina,  Frank  and 
Denzil. 

Minnie  had  many  happy  times  along  with  many 
trials  and  heartaches.  One  time  Nels  broke  his 

ankle,  leaving  Minnie  to  care  for  him,  a  new  born 
baby,  and  the  rest  of  the  family. 

Minnie  served  as  Relief  Society  visiting  teacher 

for  many  years.  She  always  made  her  visits  whether 
she  rode  a  pony  or  drove  a  team  of  horses  on  a buggy. 

Minnie  and  Nels  took  their  family  to  church 

every  Sunday  in  a  white-topped  buggy.  She  would 
prepare  the  Sunday  dinner  on  Saturday;  then  they 
would  stay  to  Sunday  School  and  Sacrament 

Meeting  and  return  home  at  about  3  or  4  o'clock  in 
the  afternoon  and  then  return  to  a  MIA  meeting  at 
7  o'clock. 

In  the  winter  of  1908  Minnie  and  Nels  bought  the 
Hans  Peterson  farm  in  Niter,  Idaho. 

In  the  year  1917  several  events  occurred  which 
were  to  take  their  toll  on  her  health.  On  the  6th  of 

January,  Minnie's  father  passed  away;  on  the  6th  of 
April  her  youngest  child,  Ellis,  died  of  pneumonia; 
on  the  12th  of  June,  Minnie  gave  birth  to  a 

premature  baby  that  died  at  birth;  on  November 
6th  her  oldest  boy  was  called  into  World  War  I. 
These  events  were  very  hard  for  Minnie  to  take  and 
resulted  in  her  having  high  blood  pressure. 

Death  came  to  her  suddenly  when  she  suffered  a 
stroke  caused  by  high  blood  pressure  on  December 

30,  1930. 
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Nels  and  Lizzie  Johnson 

NELS  PETER  JOHNSON  was  born  June  3, 

1874  in  Brigham  City,  Utah. 
HANNAH  ELIZABETH  (LIZZIE)  DALTON, 

daughter  of  John  A.  and  EHzabeth  Cook  Dalton. 
was  born  November  4,  1880  in  Willard,  Utah. 

Nels  and  Elizabeth  were  married  December  6. 

1899  in  the  L.D.S.  Temple  in  Logan.  Utah.  Nine 

children  were  born  to  this  couple:  Elnora  Lavon 
Dickamore.  Vernal  Nels  Johnson.  Lillian  Irene 

Nielsen.  Cyrus  Elmo.  Ernest  John.  Vesta  Elizabeth 
Shaw,  Anna  Blanche  Johnson.  Royal  Dalton.  Leo 
George. 

Nels  and  Elizabeth  came  to  Grace,  and  settled  on 
a  160  acre  homestead  on  which  the  ice  cave  knoll 

was  located.  The  year  of  1898  the  men  worked  all 
summer  getting  logs  out  of  the  canyons  to  build  a 
house  so  they  could  move  their  families  up  from 

Utah.  In  the  spring  of  1899  Nels  had  a  one-room 
house  15x18  made  of  logs,  so  they  could  move  in. 

They  moved  up  from  Brigham  City  in  the  month  of 

March.  Grandpa  Dalton's  160  acre  homestead  join- 
ed theirs  on  the  east,  the  mouth  of  the  ice  cave  on 

their  land  and  the  window  of  the  cave  on  John 

Dalton's  place. 
Before  they  got  the  water  in  the  Last  Chance 

Canal  there  was  ice  in  the  cave  the  year  around. 
They  used  the  ice  for  making  homemade  ice  cream. 

The  men  made  shelves  and  they  used  it  for  a 
refrigerator  to  keep  the  milk,  cream,  and  butter 
fresh. 

These  families  had  many  fine  neighbors  living  on 

adjoining  acres.  Pete  Bowcut,  Stewart  Mingo.  Jar- 
mans.  Will  Joseph,  and  a  bachelor  by  the  name  of 
Joseph  Bannister. 

Nels  was  a  farmer  and  a  construction  worker,  he 

liked  good  horses,  hunting  and  fishing  and  dancing. 

Nels  was  a  first  class  handyman  and  could  fix 

anything,  also  he  was  a  fair  carpenter. 
Elizabeth  was  a  fairly  good  musician  for  only 

having  had  a  dozen  music  lessons.  She  played  the 
accordian  and  the  organ.  She  played  for  dances  for 

years,  when  they  had  to  load  the  organ  and  take  it 
over  to  the  dance  hall,  which  was  on  the  north  bank 

of  Bear  River.  When  the  dance  was  over,  they 
would  load  it  and  take  it  home  in  a  wagon. 

Her  hobbies  were  fancy  hand  work,  sewing, 

music,  and  in  later  years  traveling. 
At  the  time  of  Nels  death,  he  was  working  at  the 

Army  Depot  in  Ogden.  Utah  February  6,  1944. 

Elizabeth  died  February  7,  1950.  They  are  en- 
tombed in  a  mausoleum  at  Ogden,  Utah. 

PETRA  NELLIE  VANDENAKKER 

JOHNSON  was  born  August  9,  1899  in  Smithfield, 

Utah  to  Arie  Kryn  and  Alberdiean  VandenAkker. 
On  February  3.  1902.  at  the  age  of  three,  she  moved 
with  her  parents  to  Grace,  Idaho.  They  moved  into 
their  new  one-room  home  four  miles  west  of  Grace. 

Things  were  tough  for  the  pioneers  of  this  valley. 

Many  times  Nellie  wore  little  aprons  that  were 
made  from  the  backs  of  her  fathers  shirts. 

She  was  the  oldest  child  in  a  large  family.  Thus 

she  was  babysitter,  housekeeper  and  also  her  dad's 
hired  man  on  the  farm,  helping  with  plowing  using 

an  old  sulky  plow  with  four  horses.  She  also  helped 
with  the  hay  mowing  earning  one  dollar  an  acre  for 
work  accomplished. 

The  activity  of  the  community  was  usually  under 
some  homemade  bowery  topped  with  willow  tops 

Nellie  Johnson 
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for  shade.  This  is  where  they  sold  their  ice  cream 
and  goodies  for  the  celebrations.  They  would  work 

very  hard  to  get  fifty  cents  by  weeding  the  garden, 
this  money  they  used  to  celebrate  with. 

As  she  grew  older  she  worked  for  different 

families  in  the  valley  doing  housework  and  baby  sit- 
ting. Later  she  helped  her  father  in  his  meat  market 

and  worked  as  night  operator  for  the  Telephone 
Company.  She  loved  school  but  had  to  quit  high 
school  after  six  months  because  of  a  long  illness. 

She  went  to  work  for  the  telephone  company  and 
was  made  chief  operator  at  the  Grace  exchange. 

She  married  LEO  N.  JOHNSON  August  13, 
1919.  Three  children,  Katherine,  Dale  and  LaPriel 
were  born  to  them. 

November  1,  1925  Leo  opened  a  barbershop  in 
Grace.  Marcelling  hair  was  a  new  fad  and  Nellie 
bought  a  marcel  iron  and  started  a  new  career  as  a 

beautician.  She  progressed  and  prospered  at  this 

adding  all  the  new  ideas  and  fashions  as  they  were 
introduced  by  hair  experts. 

Leo  suffered  a  stroke  and  died  February  1 1,  1956. 
Nellie  continued  to  make  her  living  as  a  beautician 

and  wrote  for  newspapers.  She  had  always  been  ac- 
tive in  community,  church  and  club  work  so  kept 

very  busy  adding  new  accomplishments  to  what  she 
had  already  done. 

She  was  very  active  in  American  Legion  Aux- 
iliary, serving  as  president  and  holding  at  various 

times  nearly  every  office  and  chairmanship  in  the 
auxiliary.  She  also  held  many  offices  in  the  state 
organization. 

She  was  an  active  worker  in  the  Grace  Literary 
Club,  helping  with  the  many  club  projects.  She  was 

president,  vice-president,  parlimentarian,  secretary 
and  chairman  of  various  committees.  She  was 

chosen  vice-president  of  Idaho  Federation  of 
Womens  Clubs  in  1960  and  became  the  president  in 
1962.  In  May  of  1975  she  was  chosen  the  Woman 
of  the  Year  by  the  Idaho  State  Federation  of 

Women's  Clubs  at  Couer'd  Alene.  September  of 
1975  she  was  chosen  as  the  Honorary  member  of 
the  Grace  Literary  Club. 

She  has  traveled  extensively  in  connection  with 
her  work  with  the  American  Legion,  Farm  Bureau, 
and  Literary  Club.  She  has  visited  many  areas  in 
the  United  States,  Canada,  Cuba,  and  Europe.  She 
is  a  busy  and  interesting  lady,  much  admired  and 

loved  by  her  many  friends. 

From  a  recent  news  clipping: 

"There  isn't  any  use  trying  to  enumerate  all  the 
things  Nellie  has  done  during  her  lifetime.  Since 
1929  she  has  been  writing  for  the  paper;  even 

though  she  is  77  she  shows  no  signs  of  letting  up. 
She  had  crocheted  five  tablecloths  this  past  year 

in  her  spare  time,  also  received  a  plaque  for  the 

Grace  Citizen  for  excellence  during  1976." 

Carl  Jorgensen Estella  Jorgensen 

CARL  JORGENSEN  was  born  in  Copenhagen, 

Denmark,  September  30,  1884. 
ESTELLA  JENKINS  was  born  in  Newton, 

Utah,  January  16,  1887. 
Carl  and  Estella  Jenkins  were  married  in  the 

Logan  Temple  at  Logan,  Utah  February  20,  1907. 
Their  children  were:  Linford  Jorgensen,  Earl 

Jorgensen,  and  Lear  Jorgensen. 
Carl  and  Estella  homesteaded  in  the  Central 

area,  they  spent  their  winters  in  Newton,  Utah. 
Here  they  were  active  in  the  church  organizations 
of  Y. M.M.I. A.,  and  Relief  Society. 

Carl  worked  as  State  Road  Foreman,  and  guard 

at  the  Logan  Airport,  also  in  construction  work. 

RASMUS  G.  JORGENSEN  was  born  in  Den- 

mark, April  8,  1863.  When  he  was  21  years  old  he 
came  to  America.  While  on  the  boat  he  met  the 

Hillebert  Jensen  family  from  Germany,  and  they 

became  very  good  friends.  One  year  later  their 
beautiful  daughter,  THORA  JENSEN  came  to 
America.  She  and  Rasmus  fell  in  love  and  were 

married  April  26,  1886  in  the  Endowment  House  in 
Logan,  Utah.  They  moved  to  Ogden.  where  they 

lived  for  10  years.  During  this  time  he  worked  in 
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Rasmus  Jorgensen Thora  Jorgensen 

the  canyons  and  also  for  a  dairy  farmer. 
Rasmus  then  came  to  Central,  Idaho,  where  he 

homesteaded  160  acres  of  land.  One  year  later  he 
moved  his  family,  which  consisted  of  6  children  at 
that  time,  to  their  new  home  in  Idaho.  This  home 

had  already  been  built  on  the  land  and  was  a  dug- 
out approximately  12x16  feet  with  six  logs  on  top 

of  the  dirt,  a  dirt  roof  and  one  window  and  a  door 

on  the  south  side.  They  had  very  severe  winters  and 
Rasmus  would  have  to  dig  steps  in  the  snow  to  get 
out  of  the  house. 

The  next  summer,  Rasmus  went  to  the  canyon 

and  got  logs  out  to  build  a  new  house,  first  a  two- 
room,  then  he  added  two  more  rooms  to  it. 

Besides  his  farming,  he  would  work  in  Chester- 
field, putting  up  hay,  would  shear  sheep  by  hand  for 

9c  a  head,  sold  Watkins  products  and  anything  else 
to  support  his  family. 

The  family  attended  church  in  Lund,  five  miles 

away,  until  the  Central  Ward  was  organized  March 

12,  1901,  with  Daniel  P.  Lloyd  as  first  bishop, 
Rasmus  was  the  first  counselor  and  in  1903,  when 

Bishop  Lloyd  moved  to  Wellville,  Utah,  Rasmus 

G.  Jorgensen  was  sustained  as  bishop,  a  position  he 
held  for  14  years  or  until  1917.  It  was  hard  at  this 

time  for  people  to  pay  cash  for  tithing,  so  they 

would  bring  butter,  eggs,  hay  or  whatever  they  had 
and  the  bishop  would  give  them  credit  for  this. 
Bishop  Jorgensen  would  take  this  produce  to  Soda 

Springs  to  sell  it  and  many  times  the  butter  and 
eggs  were  not  good,  so  he  would  have  to  pay  for 
what  credit  he  had  given.  While  he  was  bishop  he 
donated  5  acres  of  land  for  the  Central  cemetery. 

Rasmus  and  Thora  had  to  haul  water  from  Bear 

River.  They  worked  very  hard  and  Thora  would 

sew  shirts  for  the  boys  and  dresses  for  the  girls. 
They  had  a  large  family,  14  children.  Albert,  the 

first  son,  died  when  he  was  9'/2  months  old.  Then 
Jenney  Laura  was  born,  Anna,  Pearl,  Hillebert, 
Dona,  Klara  Adelia  (died  at  5  months),  Arthur  L. 
Rosetta,  Herman  R.,  Lila,  Jesse  J.,  Leo  L.,  and 
Howard  C. 

Rasmus  built  a  nice  frame  house  for  his  family  in 

1910.  Because  of  poor  health  they  moved  back  to 

Ogden,  in  1917. 
These  good  people  experienced  a  sad  time  when 

Hillebert,  who  had  served  in  the  First  World  War 

in  Germany,  and  had  gotten  only  a  small  arm 
wound,  arrived  in  America  and  contracted  the  1918 

flu.  He  died  in  a  Virginia  Hospital,  January  23, 

1919.  Another  son,  Arthur,  had  just  completed 

basic  training  when  the  war  ended. 
Thora  Jensen  Jorgensen  died  July  2,  1929,  at  the 

age  of  63  years.  Rasmus  G.  Jorgensen  died  April  6, 
1 934,  at  the  age  of  7 1 .  They  were  stalwart  pioneers. 

JAMES  WARREN  KING  was  born  July  6, 

1884,  in  a  one  room  log  cabin  about  1  Vi  miles 
southeast  of  Ferron,  Utah.  His  boyhood  and  early 

schooling  were  in  the  place  of  his  birth.  Before  leav- 
ing for  the  Eastern  States  Mission  in  June  of  1906 

he  had  completed  all  possible  schooling  at  Emery 
Stake  Academy.  After  a  successful  mission  he 
returned  to  the  Academy  in  September  of  1908  and 

the  third  year  of  study,  which  had  been  added  to  the 
curriculum  during  his  absence. 

Immediately  after  graduation  from  the  Academy 
he  was  offered  the  job  of  Principal  of  the  grade 

school  in  Grace,  Idaho.  This  position  he  accepted 

and  spent  the  summer  working  and  studying  for  the 

Idaho  teacher's  examination. 
He  arrived  in  Grace  in  September  1909,  took  a 

room  at  Mrs.  John  AUsop's  boarding  house  and 
settled  into  his  new  career.  As  principal  he  was 

associated  with  two  lady  teachers:  Mrs.  Van  Den 
Akker  and  Miss  Lillian  Card  who  taught  the  first 
and  second  grades  and  third  and  fourth  grades 

respectively.  Mr.  King  had  53  students  in  grades 

five  through  eight.  Early  the  first  winter  he  organiz- 
ed a  band  and  before  spring  he  had  40  aspiring 

musicians. 

Immediately  after  school  was  dismissed  for  the 
summer  vacation  Warren  returned  to  Castle  Dale 

to  visit  and  made  wedding  plans.  On  June  29,  1910, 
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he  and  ANNA  SEELEY  were  united  in  marriage  in 
the  Salt  Lake  Temple,  after  which  they  returned  to 
Grace  to  make  their  home  in  a  one  room  apartment 

which  was  originally  Grandma  Allsop's  wash 
house. 

Except  for  two  years  that  he  was  principal  in  the 
Bancroft  schools,  Warren  taught  school  in  Grace 
until  1920. 

During  his  teaching  career  he  also  began  to  ac- 
quire land.  He  filed  on  the  homestead  in  King  Ca- 
nyon in  1910,  5  acres  in  downtown  Grace  in  1911, 

then  80  acres  south  of  Grace  in  1915,  and  other 

properties  over  the  years. 
In  the  spring  of  1920  he  retired  from  teaching 

and  devoted  his  energy  to  his  farm,  family  and 

church.  Warren  and  Anna  held  and  magnified 
many  ward  and  stake  callings  and  were  active  in 
numerous  civic  functions. 

They  were  the  parents  of  four  children:  Gertrude, 

Elnora,  J.  Warren  and  Dale  G.  There  are  currently 
23  grandchildren  and  57  great  grandchildren  who 
are  spread  from  coast  to  coast. 

Before  her  marriage  Anna  S.  King  became  a 
licensed  practical  nurse  and  accompanied  Drs. 
Hubbard,  Otte,  Zaring,  and  Kochler  to  assist  in 

home  confinements  as  well  as  delivering  more  than 
40  babies  when  a  doctor  was  not  available.  Anna 
devoted  thousands  of  hours  in  the  homes  of  the 

sick.  Her  services  were  greatly  sought  after  and  she 

was  deeply  loved  and  respected  by  all  who  knew 
her. 

In  1943  they  retired  from  the  farm  to  Salt  Lake 

where  they  spent  their  remaining  years  as  active  or- 
dinance workers  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 

Anna  S.  King  passed  from  this  life  December  2, 
1954. 

James  W.  King  followed  her  on  February  25, 
1960. 

ROBERT  KINGSFORD  was  born  November 

27,  1873  to  Edward  Kingsford  and  Kari  Petersen 

Kingsford  at  Franklin,  Idaho.  He  was  married  to 
MARTHA  MILDRED  ORMOND  on  November 

30,  1898  in  the  Logan  Temple.  They  lived  at  Cove, 
Utah  for  about  four  years.  On  November  4,  1902 
they  moved  to  Niter,  Idaho  to  a  farm  they  had 

previously  entered  under  the  "Homestead  Law." 
Robert  hauled  water  from  Bear  River,  a  distance 

of  about  five  miles.  He  got  logs  from  the  canyon  for 
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Robert  and  Martha  Kingsford 

firewood  and  also  for  lumber  to  build  a  new  home 

and  other  farm  buildings. 
The  next  summer  he  divided  his  time  between 

caring  for  his  farm  and  helping  to  make  the  Last 
Chance  Canal  to  get  water  out  over  the  valley. 

He  and  his  wife,  Martha,  had  ten  children,  nine 

of  which  they  raised  to  maturity.  All  the  children 

had  the  opportunity  to  go  to  college,  and  five  sons 
have  gone  on  missions.  One  son  died  from  an  injury 

he  got  while  wrestling  when  he  was  in  college. 

Another  son  gave  his  life  while  in  the  service  of  our 
country. 

Robert  was  always  active  in  the  L.D.S.  Church. 

He  served  as  president  of  the  M.I. A.  for  several 

years,  and  as  Bishop  of  the  Williams  Ward  for 
eight  years.  He  also  served  in  many  other  church 

positions. He  lived  on  his  farm  and  took  care  of  it  for  about 

forty  years,  then  when  his  family  were  all  raised  he 
and  Martha  moved  to  Logan  and  bought  a  home  in 

1944.  There  he  spent  the  remainder  of  his  life  work- 
ing in  the  Temple. 

He  died  on  December  25,  1960  and  was  buried  in 
the  Grace  cemetery. 

Robert's  and  Martha's  children  were:  Diantha 
Schaub.  Ephriam,  Kenneth,  Marvin,  Oressa,  Ellis, 
Mildred,  Leonard,  Loran    and  Charles. 

EDWARD  KIRBY  was  born  October  29.  1866  at 

Hyde  Park,  Utah,  a  son  of  Edward  and  Ann  Argar Kirby. 

His  early  childhood  was  spent  in  Hyde  Park,  and 

at  a  very  young  age  he  herded  cattle  on  the  hills  east 
of  Hyde  Park.  He  rememberd  going  with  his 

parents  to  Logan,  driving  an  ox  team.  He  grew  up 

as  a  young  man  in  Franklin,  Idaho. 
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Edward  Kirbv Luella  Kirby 

When  he  was  nineteen  years  of  age  he  and  his 
brother  John  rode  horses  to  the  Caribou  Mountain 

north  of  Soda  Springs,  where  they  panned  gold. 
The  following  year  he  worked  in  Nebraska  on  the 
railroad.  He  also  worked  in  the  summer  time  on 

ranches  in  Wyoming,  helping  put  up  hay. 

He  had  many  experiences  with  the  Indians.  One 
night  on  his  way  home  from  the  Caribou  Mine,  he 

stopped  by  Bear  River  south  of  Soda  Springs  to 
camp  for  the  night.  A  group  of  young  Indians  riding 
horses  surrounded  him  and  tried  to  scare  him  away. 

The  dog  Edward  had  with  him  would  fight  them 
and  finally  the  Indians  left. 

On  the  16  of  October  1860  he  married  LUCY 

LUELLA  PACKER  in  Franklin,  Idaho.  On  June  5, 

1912  this  marriage  was  solemnized  in  the  Logan 
Temple. 

Edward  filed  on  160  acres  of  land  located  at 

Grace,  Idaho  and  received  the  deeds  to  this  land  in 

January  1904  at  Blackfoot,  Idaho.  They  moved  to 

Grace  and  the  first  summer  they  lived  in  a  covered 
wagon  box,  and  spent  the  winter  in  Franklin.  He 
built  a  log  cabin  to  live  in  and  a  log  barn  the  second 
year  he  was  here.  He  filed  on  another  120  acres  of 
desert  land  and  received  the  deeds  to  this  land  Oc- 

tober 5,  1906.  Most  of  the  land  was  plowed  with  a 
hand  plow  and  team.  He  also  worked  in  the  fall  of 
the  year  and  early  spring  in  the  saw  mill  at  Lago, 
Idaho.  He  would  leave  home  on  Monday  mornings 
and  walk  twelve  miles  to  work  and  return  on  Satur- 

day evenings.  His  wife  stayed  home  on  the  ranch 
with  the  family. 

The  winters  were  long  and  hard  and  the  early 
settlers  were  practically  isolated.  In  the  fall  of  the 
year  they  laid  in  supplies  to  last  for  months  at  a 

time.  Many  were  the  trials  and  hardships  they  went 

through  to  build  and  maintain  their  homes. 
The  first  school  was  built  in  Grace  in  1894,  and 

was  a  log  building  with  a  dirt  roof  and  hand  planed 
fioor  of  red  pine. 

Edward  and  his  brother  John  and  many  others 

gave  a  good  deal  of  their  time,  effort,  and  money  to 

help  bring    the  water  to  this  valley. 
Edward  passed  away  November  25,  1952  at  his 

home  in  Grace  at  the  age  of  86,  of  a  heart  attack. 

Edward  and  Lucy  had  the  following  children: 

Lucy,  Lozene,  Delbert,  Rita,  Lafe,  John,  Melvin, 
Marvin,  Wesley,  Frank,  Jim,  and  Merna. 

JOHN  VERNON  KIRBY  was  born  March  15, 

1899  at  the  home  of  his  parents,  which  was  one  mile 
south  and  one  mile  east  of  Grace.  He  was  the  sixth 

child  of  Edward  and  Lucy  Luella  Kirby.  At  this 
time  the  snow  was  very  deep  and  had  nearly 

covered  the  log  home  where  he  was  born.  They  had 
to  shovel  steps  up  in  the  snow  to  get  out  of  the 
home.  His  uncle,  John  J.  Kirby  rode  a  horse  one 

and  a  half  miles  to  bring  Lucinda  Egbert,  who  was 

a  midwife.  On  May  7,  1899  he  was  blessed  by  Lan- 
don  Rich  and  given  the  name  of  John  Vernon. 

He  attended  school  in  Grace  and  walked  most  of 

the  time  except  during  the  winter,  when  his  father 
usually  took  the  children  to  school  with  team  and 
sleigh. 

During  his  younger  years,  he  made  a  number  of 
trips  with  his  parents  to  Franklin,  Idaho  to  buy 

supplies.  They  used  to  ford  Bear  River  in  the  lower 

end  of  the  valley,  as  there  wasn't  a  bridge  over  the 
river  at  that  time.  They  used  to  buy  a  large  supply 

Rosary  Kirby 
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of  food  in  the  fall  of  the  year  to  last  through  the 

winter  until  spring.  On  one  of  these  trips  to 
Franklin,  when  they  were  ready  to  leave  for  home, 
his  Grandfather  Kirby  brought  him  out  a  large  red 
bandana  handkerchief.  In  one  corner  of  the 

handkerchief  he  had  tied  a  nickel  and  gave  it  to 
John.  He  always  said  that  was  one  of  the  best  gifts 
he  ever  received. 

The  Indians  used  to  come  looking  for  food  in  the 

early  spring  and  summer  and  camp  in  the  rocks  and 

sagebrush  east  of  Grace  on  some  of  his  father's 
property.  He  had  heard  many  stories  about  the  In- 

dians and  was  very  frightened  of  them.  One  day 
when  he  was  only  about  six  years  of  age  his  father 

sent  him  up  to  the  canal  in  the  upper  field  to  check 
the  water.  While  returning  home,  he  was  watching 
for  Indians  and  had  his  head  turned  and  fell  right 

on  one  who  was  lying  in  the  sagebrush  with  a  gun 
watching  for  rock  chucks.  John  jumped  up  and  ran 
as  fast  as  he  could  for  home  in  his  bare  feet.  He 

often  wondered  who  was  the  most  frightened,  he  or 
the  Indian. 

On  June  4,  1912  his  parents  took  their  ten 
children  in  two  buggies  and  teams  of  horses  and 

drove  to  Franklin,  Idaho,  where  they  stayed  all 

night  with  their  grandparents  and  left  early  the  next 
morning  on  the  train  for  Logan,  Utah.  That  day  his 

parents  were  sealed  in  the  Logan  Temple  and  had 
their  ten  children  sealed  to  them. 

He  saved  his  money  and  had  a  great  desire  to  go 
on  a  mission.  In  1919  Bishop  John  Lloyd  asked  him 
to  fill  a  mission  and  in  December  of  1919  he  left  for 
the  California  Mission. 

During  the  winter  of  1922  and  1923  he  attended 
the  Utah  State  Agricultural  College  in  Logan.  In 
the  spring  he  rented  a  farm  and  also  helped  his 
father  on  his  farm. 

In  the  fall  of  1923,  he  was  called  by  the  stake 

presidency  to  go  out  as  a  home  missionary  and  visit 
every  family  in  the  Thatcher  Ward,  with  Parley 
Lloyd.  They  finished  visiting  all  the  families  in  the 
ward  on  a  Friday  afternoon.  That  everning  he 
attended  the  ward  reunion  in  the  Central  Ward 

with  the  Parley  Lloyd  family.  This  is  when  he  met 
the  young  lady  who  later  became  his  wife. 

In  the  fall  of  1925  Bishop  Moroni  Lowe  called 
him  to  fill  a  short  term  mission.  He  was  called  to 

the  Northern  States.  John  Taylor  was  president  of 
that  mission.  Before  leaving  for  this  mission,  he 

became  engaged  to  ROSARY   LLOYD.  On  the 
22nd  of  September,  1926  they  were  married  in  the 
Logan  Temple  by  President  Joseph  Shepherd. 

John  was  both  2nd  counselor  and  1st  counselor  in 

the  Grace  Ward  Bishopric  at  various  times.  On  20 
June  1943  he  was  sustained  as  Bishop  of  Grace 
Ward.  He  was  bishop  for  nine  years.  In  September 
of  1952  he  was  sustained  as  a  member  of  Bannock 

Stake  High  Council,  where  he  served  for  18  years. 
He  took  charge  of  the  Bishop  Storehouse  for  the 
Bannock  and  Idaho  Stakes  for  six  years,  and  held 
various  other  church  positions. 

On  September  26,  1969  the  oldest  son.  Jay,  pass- 
ed away  in  the  Fitzsimmons  hospital  in  Denver. 
John  had  been  ill  for  nearly  a  year  and  bedfast 

for  a  few  months  when  he  went  into  a  coma  on 

March  1,  1973.  On  March  3,  1973  he  slipped  quiet- 
ly away. 

He  is  survived  by  his  wife,  daughter  Joan  and 
sons,  Dale,  Reed  and  Richard. 

WILLIAM  H.  LARKIN  came  to  Gentile  Valley 

in  the  year  1881  to  establish  a  home,  leaving  his 

young  wife  DORLESKY  LARKIN,  in  Ogden  for  a 
year  with  his  folks.  A  daughter  Amy  was  born 
while  she  was  there. 

In  April  1882,  he  went  to  Ogden  to  move  his  wife 
and  daughter  to  their  new  home.  It  took  several 
days  to  make  the  trip.  He  had  purchased  a 

Squatters  Right  from  Wash  Hillman  for  $800.00. 

There  was  a  one-room  log  cabin,  with  a  dirt  roof  on 
the  farm.  They  moved  their  things  in.  A  little  four 
hole  stove,  a  bedstead,  a  crib  for  baby,  sewing 

machine,  a  few  dishes,  and  a  cupboard  made  up  the 
furnishings. 

Later  they  added  other  rooms.  It  was  quite 
different  from  our  homes  today.  Muslin  ceilings, 

rough  floors,  tiny  windows,  and  dirt  roof, 
nevertheless  it  was  a  home  of  love.  Everyone  was 

welcome  to  share  anything  they  had.  The  main 
room  of  the  home  still  stands  on  the  Mike  Welker 
ranch. 

That  spring  and  summer  they  were  busy  planting 

crops  and  gardens.  Fall  found  them  harvesting  the 
crops  and  canning  the  vegetables.  Each  fall  they 
would  return  to  Ogden  for  their  winter  supplies, 

barrels  of  fiour,  sugar,  apples,  sargum,  molasses, 
and  clothes. 

Wild  game  was  plentiful,  (irandmother  being  a 
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good  shot  could  stand  on  the  porch  and  shoot  a 
deer  for  their  meat. 

They  built  a  large  home  which  still  stands  Just 
south  of  the  log  home.  Grandfather  filed  on  and 

purchased  land  until  he  owned  1400  acres. 
During  the  summer  Grandmother  had  many  men 

to  cook  for  during  the  harvesting  of  the  crops.  In 

later  years  they  employed  a  Japanese  and  Chinese 
cook  during  the  summer.  They  were  the  parents  of 
one  son,  William  Royal,  and  five  daughters,  Amy, 
Cora,  Bessie,  and  twins  Marian  and  May  who  died 
at  birth. 

In  later  years  they  purchased  the  Chub  Springs 
ranch,  seven  miles  north  of  Henry,  Idaho.  He  used 

it  for  his  summer  range.  He  had  between  four  hun- 
dred and  five  hundred  head  of  cattle  and  always 

raised  plenty  of  hay  and  feed  for  them.  He  always 
had  two  or  three  stacks  of  hay  on  hand  in  case  the 

neighbors  ran  short. 
When  the  girls  were  old  enough,  their  father  gave 

them  a  fine  horse  and  side  saddle  to  ride.  They  lived 
four  miles  from  church,  but  the  horses  were  always 
ready  to  go. 

At  age  22  Grandmother  delivered  her  first  baby 
with  no  further  experience  and  eventually  she 
became  a  midwife  for  the  community.  She 

delivered  more  than  100  babies.  The  day  was  never 
too  long  and  the  night  too  dark  for  her  to  go  in  time 
of  sickness.  Grandfather  always  had  the  team  and 

buggy  or  sleigh  ready  in  time  of  sickness.  While  she 

was  away  he  cared  for  the  family,  cooked  the 
meals,  got  them  off  to  school.  Many  times  she  was 
away  for  several  days. 

William  H.  Larkin  died  April  6,  1929.  She  was 

very  lonely.  During  the  next  five  years  she  buried 
her  two  eldest  daughters,  Amy  and  Cora.  Her 

remaining  years  were  spent  in  her  old  home  and 
with  her  grand  daughters.  On  October  17,  1948  she 

passed  away  at  her  home. 

The  following  is  a  quote  taken  from  the  history 
of  Alexander  Baird,  a  Scotchman. 

I  pioneered  some  in  Thatcher,  Idaho,  took  up  a 

homestead  and  built  a  2  room  log  cabin  on  it.  "One 
of  our  children  was  borned  there,  with  the  help  of  a 

midwife,  Dora  Larkin.  Fine  lady  she  was." 

HEBER  WILLIAM   LASLEY,  son  of  Heber 

Warren    and    Sarah   Allen   Lasley,   was  born   in 

Heber  Lasley Cassie  Lasley 

Rockland,  Idaho  March  27,  1889.  He  was  the 

seventh  child,  and  first  son,  in  a  family  of  eleven 
children.  His  parents  were  among  the  first  settlers 
of  Rockland  Valley. 

About  1907  he  came  to  Chesterfield,  Idaho  to 

work  for  the  Fort  Hall  Indian  Agency.  At  this  time 

the  Fort  Hall  Indians  had  a  good  number  of  cattle 
on  the  reservation. 

He  met  and  married  CASSIE  MUIR,  daughter 

of  Moses  and  Mary  Vashti  Call  Muir,  in  Chester- 
field on  March  4,  1909.  This  was  solemnized  in  the 

Logan  Temple,  November  12,  1909.  Cassie  was 
born  September  18,  1887  at  Hatch,  Idaho. 

The  first  few  years  of  their  married  life  was  spent 
in  Rockland  and  Bancroft  where  he  continued  to 

work  for  the  Indian  Agency  and  various  cattlemen. 
William  Larkins  and  Peck  Land  and  Livestock  Co. 

of  Ogden,  Utah  were  two.  He  operated  a  livery 
stable  in  Bancroft  for  a  time.  He  always  had  a  great 

love  for  horses,  and  always  kept  a  good  horse  even 

while  living  in  "town."  In  1920  they  moved  to  Soda 
Springs,  Idaho  where  he  became  county  deputy 

sheriff.  In  1925  he  purchased  the  Orson  Child's  gar- 
age in  Grace,  Idaho.  He  had  the  Chevrolet  Agency 

and  he  developed  a  keen  interest  in  cars.  He  and  his 

son,  Angus  operated  the  garage  until  1943  when  he 
sold  his  interest  to  Angus  and  Louis  Stalker.  He 

farmed  at  Lava  Hot  Springs,  Idaho  and  Ivins  until 

he  was  appointed  State  Brand  Inspector.  He  lived 
in  Boise  until  his  retirement.  He  died  in  Pocatello, 
Idaho  July  5,  1965. 

Cassie  Muir  Lasley  received  her  early  schooling 

and  religious  training  in  Chesterfield.  She  studied 
dress  making.  She  was  an  active  worker  in  the 

Primary  and  Relief  Society.  She  served  as  post- 
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mistress  while  living  in  Chesterfield.  She  died  June 
28,  1938  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

Five  children  were  born  to  this  union:  William 

Angus,  Charlotte  Vienna,  Ruth  Naomi,  and  two 

boys  unnamed,  who  died  on  the  day  of  their  births. 

Daniel  Lloyd 

DANIEL  DAVID  LLOYD  was  born,  the  fifth 

child  of  Thomas  and  Suzannah  Stone  Lloyd,  in 
Farmington,  Utah  February  8,  1863.  Shortly  after 
his  birth  the  family  moved  to  Wellsville,  Utah.  His 
father  was  called  on  a  mission  for  the  Church,  so  he 

had  to  quit  school  and  assume  leadership  in  his 
family.  After  his  father  returned  home,  Daniel  went 

on  his  own  and  worked  the  freight  wagon  from 
parts  of  Idaho  into  Northern  Utah.  Then  after  a 

few  years  he  went  to  work  in  the  coal  mines  in  Rock 

Springs,  Wyoming. 
Daniel  was  six  feet  two  inches  tall  and  very 

strong.  He  was  known  far  and  wide  as  a  man  of 

strong  physical  endurance,  great  ability  and  hones- 
ty- 

Henry  Haslam  met  him  on  the  street  in 

Wellsville,  and  asked  him  to  come  see  his  daughter. 
He  did.  Shortly  after  he  married  ALICE  JONES 

HASLAM  November  30,  1887  in  the  Logan  Tem- 

ple. 
They  moved  to  Oregon  where  he  worked  in  the 

sawmills.  He,  being  an  honest  man,  quit  his  job 

because  his  boss  and  manager  asked  him  to  make 
doors  for  the  freight  cars  short  to  make  more 
money  on  the  project. 

The  family  moved  then  to  Rexburg,  Idaho.  This 

was  when  the  typhoid  and  diphtheria  epidemic  was 
bad.  While  living  here  two  children  were  born. 

Alice  and  David.  Daniel  served  in  the  Bishopric here. 

They  then  returned  to  Wellsville,  Utah,  and 

while  here  Henry,  Earl,  and  Dan  were  born. 
In  1899  he  moved  his  family  to  Central,  Idaho  to 

take  up  new  land.  The  five  years  he  spent  in  Central 
were  about  the  most  difficult  of  his  entire  life.  With 

five  small  children,  a  wagon,  a  little  furniture,  a  few 

cows  the  two  older  boys  had  driven  on  foot  from 

Utah,  they  began  to  clear  sagebrush  and  build  a 

one-room  log  cabin.  They  lived  in  the  covered 
wagon  until  the  house  was  built.  The  first  year  they 
cleared  40  acres  and  raised  40  bushels  of  grain.  The 
frost  took  most  of  the  crop,  but  there  was  enough 

for  winter  fiour.  The  Central  Ward  was  organized 
and  Daniel  became  the  first  Bishop. 

People  would  pay  their  tithing  in  commodities 
and  he  took  them  to  Soda  Springs  and  sold  them, 
then  sent  the  money  to  headquarters  in  Salt  Lake. 

He  sold  the  farm  to  Thomas  Lloyd  and  moved 
back  to  Wellsville,  Utah,  where  more  children  were 

born,  Mary  and  Lewis.  He  farmed  there  until  his 
health  began  to  fail,  when  he  moved  to  Logan 
where  his  children  could  attend  college. 

In  1935  he  moved  to  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah,  where 

two  days  after  his  move,  he  died  in  a  Salt  Lake 

Hospital,  April  1,  1935  at  the  age  of  72. 

His  great  pioneer  spirit  and  courage  were  an  in- 
spiration to  everyone  who  knew  him.  His  constant 

devotion  and  service  to  his  church  made  him  a  hap- 

py God-fearing  man. 

DANIEL  H.  LLOYD  was  born  August  27,  1897 
in    Wellsville,    Utah.    ALFRETTA    DENTON 

LLOYD  was  born  January  21,  1901  in  Anaconda. 
Montana.  Dan  came  to  Idaho  in  1918  with  his  two 

brothers  and  bought  a  cattle  ranch.  This  is  when  he 
met  Alfretta  and  four  years  later  they  were  married 

in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple,  June  7,  1922.  To  this  un- 
ion four  children  were  born,  Daniel  Jr.,  born  March 

18,  1923;  George  Lee,  born  June  29.  1927:  Norma, 
born  August  27.  1931;  and  Gary,  born  May  13. 
1941. 

After  selling  the  ranch,  Dan  and  Alfretta  moved 
to  Logan,  Utah  for  one  year  then  to  Kern  merer. 

Wyoming  for  one  year.  They  then  moved  back  to 
Bancroft  and  Dan  went  to  work  managing  the 

Sperry  Elevator  later  known  as  General  Mills  Inc. 

The  company  transferred  them  to  Grace  in  the  spr- 
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ing  of  1936.  This  job  Dan  held  for  37  years.  Due  to 

ill  health,  the  company  retired  him  in  the  spring  of 

1964.  They  talked  about  moving  to  a  warmer 

climate  thinking  it  would  be  better  for  Dan,  so  they 

went  to  St.  George  for  one  winter  and  to  Oklahoma 

City  for  one  winter,  but  Dan  was  always  glad  to 

come  back  to  Grace,  and  decided  he  didn't  want  to 
live  any  place  else. 

They  celebrated  their  golden  wedding  June  7, 

1972.  This  was  a  very  special  occasion  in  their  lives. 

Their  family  gave  an  open  house  for  them  in  the 

recreational  hall  in  the  church  house.  329  wonder- 

ful friends  and  relatives  called  to  congratulate  and 
wish  them  well. 

Dan's  hobby  was  sports  and  Alfretta's  was  music 
and  hand  work. 

Dan  passed  away  in  Grace  (the  town  he  loved) 

with  a  massive  coronary  November  21,  1974. 

Henry  Lloyd Maud  Lloyd 

HENRY  HASLAM  LLOYD  was  born  the  30th 

of  November  1892,  at  Wellsville,  Utah,  to  Daniel 

David  Lloyd  and  Alice  Haslam.  His  parents  moved 

to  Central  and  homesteaded  on  the  former  Parley 

Lloyd,  Jr.  farm.  He  started  school  at  age  nine  in 

Central.  He  completed  high  school  and  attended 

L.D.S.  Business  School  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 

He  married  MAUD  HALL  at  age  22,  on  April  1, 

1915,  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple.  He  was  engaged  in 

farming  all  his  life.  He  loved  the  soil,  he  was  a  great 

lover  of  animals,  always  owning  a  good  saddle 
horse  and  dog. 

He  was  very  proud  of  the  city  of  Grace.  He  serv- 

ed two  terms  on  the  village  board,  and  several  years 

on  the  Black  and  White  Days  Committee.  Then  it 

became  Caribou  County  Fair  and  he  served  several 

years  on  that  board.  He  was  President  of  the  Farm 

Bureau  for  5  years.  He  was  a  High  Priest  Group 

Leader,  M.LA.  President,  Sunday  School 

Superintendent,  Counselor  in  the  Bishopric  and 
home  teacher  all  his  life. 

He  died  June  7,  1962  at  Grace,  Idaho. 

Maud  Hall  Lloyd  was  born  October  30,  1896,  in 

Wellsville,  Utah,  to  Thomas  Hall  and  Jemima 

Gunnell.  She  was  from  a  family  of  nine  children. 

Her  schooling  consisted  of  the  first  eight  grades. 

She  was  raised  on  a  dairy  farm  with  a  fruit  orchard. 

She  accompanied  her  father  at  age  14  and  cooked 

for  the  thresher  crew  of  15  men,  three  meals  a  day. 

She  is  an  excellent  cook  and  homemaker,  and  her 

hobby  is  making  pies. 

She  had  eleven  children  and  eight  are  still  living: 

Etheleen  Andreasen,  Berneice  Hogan,  Ray  Lloyd, 

Merrill  Lloyd,  Donna  Stoddard,  Thomas  Lloyd, 

Grant  Lloyd,  and  Carol  Ann  Randall.  Henry  and 

Maud  were  and  are  very  proud  of  their  children  and 

their  accomplishments. 

Maud  has  been  in  the  Primary  Presidency  and  a 

visiting  teacher  for  many  years.  She  belongs  to  the 

Daughters  of  Pioneers. 

JOHN  LEA  LLOYD  was  born  in  Wellsville, 

Cache,  Utah,  on  March  21,  1879.  He  was  the  son  of 

Thomas  William  Lloyd  and  Elizabeth  Lamb  Lea, 

and  was  the  second  child  in  a  family  of  nine  boys, 

two  of  whom  died  in  infancy. 

When  he  was  twelve,  he  and  his  older  brother, 

Will,  spent  part  of  a  summer  camping  out  and 

breaking  land  for  the  neighbors.  They  used  a  hand 

John  Lloyd 
Hortense  Lloyd 
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plow  and  while  Uncle  Will  drove  the  team,  John 
walked  along  behind  the  plow  holding  the  handles 
to  keep  it  in  the  furrow.  For  this  work  they  used 
their  own  plow,  fed  and  furnished  their  own  horses 
and  received  two  dollars  and  fifty  cents  a  day  in 

pay. 
His  father  was  a  devout  and  hard  working  man. 

It  was  his  firm  conviction  that  idle  hands  were  the 

tools  of  mischief,  so  he  tried  to  keep  his  boys  busy. 

John  and  his  brothers  did  work  hard,  but  they 
managed  to  find  a  little  time  to  play  and  even  get 
into  mischief. 

Rob  Redford,  a  cousin,  lived  nearby  and  he 

always  seemed  to  know  when  John's  dad  would  be 
away  from  home  buying  or  selling  cattle,  and  then 

the  fun  began.  One  day  when  Rob  came  over,  they 
decided  to  try  their  hands  at  roping  some  half 

grown  calves  and  finally  succeeded  in  throwing  the 
noose  over  the  head  of  one  of  the  animals.  In  the 

excitement  that  followed  the  rope  was  pulled  tight 
around  the  calTs  throat,  too  tight  for  the  boys  to 

loosen.  In  the  mean  time,  the  calf  had  stopped 

struggling  and  lay  on  the  ground  with  it's  eyes  bulg- 
ing and  tongue  hanging  out,  apparently  breathing 

it's  last.  Frantically  the  boys  searched  their  pockets 
for  a  pocket  knife  and  hurriedly  cut  the  rope  just 
below  the  knot.  But  the  knot  was  pulled  so  tight  it 

wouldn't  slip.  Luckily  for  the  calf  and  the  boys, 
John's  dad  arrived  just  at  that  moment  and  in  a 
matter  of  seconds  he  had  cut  the  rope  above  the 
knot  and  saved  the  calf. 

In  1900  John  and  his  brother.  Will,  went  to  St. 

Anthony,  Idaho  to  work  on  the  farm  their  father 
had  purchased. 

Their  parents  lived  and  loved  the  gospel  so  it  was 
only  natural  for  the  two  brothers  to  attend  Sunday 
School  in  the  little  Wilford  Ward  not  far  away.  At 

one  of  these  meetings  one  girl  caught  John's  fancy 
almost  at  once.  She  was  an  attractive  girl,  quite  tall 

with  grey  eyes  and  dark  curly  hair  done  high  up  on 
her  head  in  the  becoming  fashion  of  the  day.  Later 
on,  a  dance  was  held  in  the  community  and  he  was 
formally  introduced  to  HORTENSE  JANE 
PARKE.  He  asked  permission  to  take  her  to  the 

election  rally  and  dance.  Of  course,  she  was 
delighted  and  promised  to  go  with  him.  They  had  a 

wonderful  time  at  the  dance.  The  orchestra  played 

all  their  favorite  tunes,  "Daisy  Bell,"  "Coming 

Through  the  Rye,"  "Over  the  Waves",  and  "Red 

Wing." 

Tliat  winter  John  spent  in  Wellsville  with  his 
family,  letters  were  exchanged  but  this  seemed 
most  unsatisfactory,  so  on  February  1,  1901  he 

returned  to  St.  Anthony.  Hortense  looked  even 
more  beautiful  to  him  than  he  had  remembered  and 

on  February  14,  Valentine's  Day,  they  were  engag- 
ed to  be  married.  The  wedding  date  was  set  for 

March  13.  Certainly  that  was  not  much  time  for  a 

girl  to  prepare  a  trousseau.  But  Hortense  was  a 
resourceful  young  woman  and  when  she  set  her 

mind  to  do  something  she  usually  did  it.  They  were 
married  in  the  Logan  Temple  on  March  13,  1901. 
Back  in  St.  Anthony,  they  set  up  housekeeping  in 
the  little  house  on  the  farm. 

In  1903  John  asked  Hortense  how  she  would  like 

to  move  to  Bancroft,  Idaho.  She  had  never  heard  of 

such  a  place  but  was  willing  to  go  if  he  thought  it 
was  best.  On  November  9,  John  loaded  their 

household  possessions  into  a  wagon  and  started 
out.  Hortense  and  baby,  Lyman,  were  to  follow  by 
train  in  a  few  days.  When  John  reached  lona,  just 
east  of  Idaho  Falls,  he  was  told  there  was  a  short 

route  to  Bancroft  if  he  would  just  cut  through  the 
hills  from  lona,  cross  the  Indian  reservation  and  in 

no  time  he'd  be  in  Bancroft.  He  had  a  few  crackers 
and  some  cheese  for  himself  to  eat  and  three  or  four 

sacks  of  oats  for  the  horses.  He  thought  that  surely 

was  enough  for  a  short  trip.  Three  days  later  he 
came  out  at  Ten  Mile  Pass.  When  he  came  down 

into  Ivins  he  inquired  of  Willard  Banks  how  to  get 

to  the  Dan  Lloyd  place  and  was  told  it  was  just 
down  the  road  a  piece.  Darkness  overtook  him  at 
the  railroad  tracks  so  he  was  very  grateful  to  a 

sheep  herder  who  invited  him  to  supper,  the  first 
meal  he  had  in  three  days. 

The  next  morning,  leaving  his  wagon, he  started 
out  on  horseback  to  find  the  farm  he  had  bought, 

sight  unseen.  It  was  located  at  Central,  the  place 
now  owned  by  Terry  Rindlisbaker. 

The  land  on  the  homestead  seemed  spotted  and 

didn't  produce  as  well  as  they  thought  it  should. 
One  year  when  John  was  a  little  late  with  his  spring 

planting  he  decided  to  let  one  piece  of  land  lay  idle 
until  the  next  year.  The  neighbors  thought  it  was  a 
foolish  thing  to  do.  but  the  next  year  an  abundant 
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crop  proved  that  summer  fallowing  was  a  profitable 

practice. 
John  was  a  member  of  the  high  council  and  went 

with  Brother  Paul  Lechtenberg  all  over  the  stake. 

They  travelled  by  horse  and  buggy  to  Grays  Lake, 

Soda  Springs,  Grace,  Cleveland,  Chesterfield  and 
all  points  between.  They  were  usually  gone  three  or 
four  days  on  these  trips. 

In  1913,  when  his  son  Alton  was  only  five  weeks 

old,  John  was  called  to  go  on  a  mission  to  the 
Southern  States.  During  his  absence,  Hortense  and 
her  boys  managed  to  complete  the  payments  on 
their  farm  and  were  in  better  financial  condition 
than  when  John  left  on  his  mission.  Soon  after  John 

returned  they  moved  to  Grace  where  they  bought  a 

place  called  Piney  Ridge. 

John  was  bishop  m  Grace  for  five  years  and  serv- 
ed as  a  high  councilman  two  separate  times.  He  was 

also  very  proud  of  Hortense.  She  was  a  wonderful 
mother  and  efficient  housekeeper  and  cook,  a 

friend  to  anyone  in  need.  Through  the  years  she  had 
also  been  a  school  trustee,  Sunday  School  Teacher, 

president  of  Mutual,  president  of  Primary,  a 
counselor  in  the  Relief  Society  and  president  of  the 
Relief  Society. 

They  always  felt  it  a  special  privilege  to  entertain 
the  church  authorities  in  their  home  and  there  were 

many  who  came  and  enjoyed  their  hospitality. 
There  were  Joseph  Fielding  Smith,  his  brother, 
Hyrum  Smith,  Rudger  Clawson,  LeGrande 
Richards,  Stephen  L.  Richards,  Melvin  J.  Ballard, 

President  Heber  J.  Grant,  Corey  Hanks  and  others. 

Their  Golden  Wedding  Anniversary  was 
celebrated  in  the  Lund  Ward  Chapel  on  March  13, 
1951,  where  they  welcomed  their  friends  and 

relatives,  some  of  whom  came  from  many  miles 
away  to  be  with  them  on  this  day. 

They  were  honored  at  an  open  house  held  in  the 

Bancroft  L.D.S.  Church  on  their  60th  wedding  an- 
niversary. 

The  following  is  a  list  of  their  children:  Lyman, 
Isasc  Joseph,  Clinton  Parke,  Alton  Parke 
(deceased),  Clarence  Parke,  Horace  Parke, 
Hortense,  Leah  Parke,  Warren  Parke. 

John  died  of  a  heart  attack  at  his  home  in  Ban- 

croft, Idaho  on  April  1,  1967,  and  was  buried  in  the 

Grace,  Idaho  cemetery.  Hortense  died  in  Pocatello, 
Idaho  on  September  7,  1967  and  was  also  buried  in 
the  Grace.  Idaho  cemetery. 

Parley  Lloyd 
Janet  Lloyd 

PARLEY  LEA  LLOYD  was  born  on  March  20, 

1885,  at  Wellsville,  Utah  to  Thomas  W.  and 

Elizabeth  Lea  Lloyd.  He  passed  away  at  the 

Caribou  County  Home  on  January  24,  1972. 

His  early  childhood  was  spent  in  Wellsville  and 
Mount  Sterling,  where  his  father  bought  a  farm. 

He  had  eight  brothers,  of  which  two  died  in  infancy. 
Of  the  seven  boys  who  grew  to  maturity,  he  was  the 
last  to  survive.  Although  the  boys  were  taught  to 
work  outside  the  home,  they  worked  inside,  as  well. 
There  were  no  girls  in  the  family,  so  Parley  had  to 

learn  to  help  in  the  house  with  the  rest. 
In  early  1900  his  father  bought  a  farm  in  St. 

Anthony  and  moved  his  family  there  in  the  spring. 
Their  home  was  located  on  the  banks  of  the  Snake 

River.  It  was  quite  a  distance  to  go  to  town  by 

traveling  the  roads,  so  Parley  told  of  fording  the 

Snake  River  when  they  wanted  to  go  to  a  dance  or 
entertainment  in  town.  The  horse  would  have  to 

swim  and  pull  the  buggy.  He  told  of  coming  home 
late  at  night,  and  how  he  would  sit  and  look  at  the 
river  for  a  long  time  before  raising  enough  courage 
to  cross.  The  family  lived  there  for  five  years,  then 
sold  the  farm  and  moved  back  to  Logan. 

While  he  was  attending  the  Utah  State 

Agriculture  College,  he  met  JANET  SPENCE. 
On  March  14,  1906,  they  were  married  in  the 
Logan  Temple.  After  their  marriage,  they  moved  to 

Central,  Idaho,  where  they  homesteaded  on  a  farm. 
They  traveled  there  in  a  covered  wagon  with  a  cow 
tied  behind  it.  All  of  their  furniture  was  second 

hand,  except  a  stove,  which  was  a  new  Monarch range. 

Parley  went  to  Lund,  Idaho,  and  tore  down  a 
building  and  hauled  the  logs  to  Central,  where  he 
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built  a  log  home  for  them  to  live  in.  He  often  told  of 
how  happy  they  were  in  this  humble  home.  They 
homesteaded  160  acres,  and  some  of  the  farm  had 

already  been  plowed.  The  rest  was  sod  and 

sagebrush.  Parley  plowed  what  was  left  with  a  hand 

plow,  and  also  used  a  sulky  plow.  They  got  their 
water  from  a  cistern  for  the  household  use.  It  was 

filled  up  from  snow  and  rain  and  ditch  water.  The 
winters  were  hard,  and  ground  blizzards  were  very 

common  and  occasionally  lasted  a  whole  week. 

Snow  would  get  very  deep  at  times,  and  he  traveled 

to  Soda  Springs  by  team  to  buy  supplies  and 

groceries.  Two  daughters,  Connie  and  Rosary  were 
born  in  this  home. 

In  a  few  years  a  new  home  was  built  about  '/2  mile 
from  the  log  home,  and  Lois,  Parley  and  Melvin 
were  born  in  this  home.  The  following  spring  the 

youngest  son.  Golden,  was  born. 

Parley  was  a  natural  farmer  and  enjoyed  work- 
ing with  the  soil.  He  raised  some  of  the  best  winter 

wheat  in  the  valley  and  always  kept  the  buildings 

and  fences  repaired  and  in  good  condition.  He  was 

a  good  judge  of  horses  and  knew  how  to  train  them 
and  enjoyed  working  with  them. 

On  the  30th  of  July,  1921,  he  was  set  apart  as  a 

Home  Missionary,  and  one  winter  he  spent  six 
weeks  in  Idaho  Stake  with  Fred  Potter  as  his  com- 

panion, doing  missionary  work  in  Grays  Lake, 

Meadowville,  Conda,  and  Soda  Springs.  They 

traveled  by  team  and  sleigh.  He  also  spent  time  do- 
ing missionary  work  in  the  Bannock  Stake.  For  a 

number  of  years  he  served  as  a  counselor  in  the 
Bannock  Stake  Y. M.M.I. A.  Presidency  and  later 

as  a  counselor  in  the  Central  Ward  Bishopric.  He 

served  sixteen  years  in  the  Bannock  Stake  High 
Council,  and  was  a  ward  teacher  for  fifty  years  and 

a  home  teacher  supervisor  for  five  years.  He  spent 
ten  years  as  an  officiator  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 

In  the  spring  of  1928  his  companion  for  23  years 

passed  away  in  Logan,  Utah  and  was  buried  in 
Wellsville,  Utah.  In  1929  he  married  ANNA  N. 

DAVIS  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple.  With  her  came 

her  children,  Margaret,  Kenneth,  Dwight,  and  Bud, 
whom  Parley  helped  to  rear  as  though  they  were  his 

own.  On  the  1st  of  January,  1930,  a  daughter,  Ver- 
na,  was  born  to  this  marriage.  In  the  fall  of  1945 

they  bought  a  home  and  moved  to  Clearfield,  Utah. 
They  spent  two  winters  in  this  home,  then  sold  it 

and  bought  a  home  in  Salt  Lake  City  in  1947.  For 

four  summers  he  returned  to  farm.  He  retired  from 

the  farm  in  1950.  and  his  son  Parley  moved  on  the 
farm  in  the  spring  of  1951. 

Anna  passed  away  January  4,  1961. 

ANTON  LONGENBOHN  was  born  May  24, 

1865,  in  Storm  Lake,  Wisconsin,  to  John  Longen- 
bohn  and  Elizabeth  Metzer  Longenbohn 

(sometimes  spelled  Langerbalm).  John  Longen- 
bohn was  born  in  Prussia,  Germany,  and  Elizabeth 

Metzer  was  born  in  Wirz,  Bavaria,  Germany.  Both 
families  migrated  to  America,  and  Elizabeth  and 
John  were  married  January  15,  1860,  in  Potosi, 
Wisconsin. 

John  worked  in  the  mines,  and  they  moved  fre- 
quently. John  and  Elizabeth  were  living  in  Granite, 

Montana  when  their  son,  Anton,  met  ELIZA  ANN 
KIRKHAM. 

Eliza  Ann  Kirkham  was  born  January  10,  1868 

in  Franklin,  Idaho  to  George  E.  Kirkham  and 
Elizabeth  Rowlandson.  Franklin  was  a  fort  at  the 
time.  Eliza  later  went  to  Montana  to  work.  In  1888 

Eliza  returned  to  visit  her  folks  who  were  living  on 
the  Fred  Burton  Ranch  in  Grace,  Idaho.  After 

visiting  her  folks,  she  returned  to  Granite,  Mon- 
tana, and  she  and  Anton  Longenbohn  were  married 

July  26,  1890. 
Their  first  child.  John  Alton,  was  born  in 

Granite,  Montana  on  May  30,  1891 .  Eliza  and  their 
son,  Alton  returned  to  her  folks  who  were  living  in 
Cleveland,  Idaho.  In  1893,  when  President  Grover 
Cleveland  demonitized  the  silver  all  the  mines  in 

Granite  closed,  so  Anton  returned  to  his  family  in 
Cleveland. 

They  stayed  a  short  time  in  Cleveland,  Idaho, 
and  then  the  family  went  to  Leadville.  Colorado. 

While  there,  a  son,  George  Glenville,  was  born  on 
November  24,  1894.  He  died  January  8.  1896  from 

pneumonia. 
In  1898.  the  family  returned  to  Cleveland,  and 

LeRoy  Anton  was  born  December  20,  1898,  in 
Mound  Valley,  Idaho.  Anton  had  filed  a  claim  in 
1898  for  a  homestead  and  Eliza  filed  a  claim  for  a 

desert  (what  a  dry  farm  was  called)  in  Niter, 
Idaho.  The  desert  joined  the  homestead  on  the  east, 

so  they  had  320  acres  of  land,  or  one-half  section. 

Shortly  after  Lucille's  birth  they  moved  to  Butte, 
Montana  where  their  father  worked  in  the  mines 

for  about  five  years.  By  working  in  the  mines  he 
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was  able  to  get  money  to  purchase  the  things 

necessary  to  run  the  ranch,  such  as  farming  equip- 
ment and  animals. 

As  the  children  grew  older  they  had  their  chores 
to  do.  There  were  chickens  to  feed,  eggs  to  gather, 

pigs  to  feed,  cows  to  bring  in  from  the  pasture  and 
then  milk.  Their  tax  receipt  for  the  year  1901 
showed  that  they  had  one  cow  and  two  horses.  In 

1902  they  had  two  cows,  three  pigs  and  four 
horses,  so  things  were  picking  up. 

In  1906  the  Longenbohns  owned  247  shares  of 
stock  in  the  Last  Chance  Canal.  They  eked  out  a 

living  by  raising  grain,  alfalfa,  pigs,  chickens,  cows, 
and  horses.  They  also  had  a  family  garden. 

In  the  summer  time  they  would  go  to  the  moun- 
tains and  pick  wild  berries  for  canning.  Eliza  would 

make  jelly  of  chokecherries  and  jam  from 
elderberries.  They  would  pick  gallons  of  them,  as  it 

meant  jam  and  jelly  for  the  winter. 
Anton  finally  gave  up  mining  and  came  home  to 

stay  in  1908. 
In  1909  they  moved  into  a  new  home.  It  was  a 

well  built  home,  and  is  still  in  good  condition.  It  is  a 

two  story  structure  with  high  ceilings  and  transoms 
over  each  door  and  window.  There  are  three 

bedrooms  upstairs  and  two  bedrooms,  a  living 
room,  kitchen,  and  pantry  on  the  first  fioor.  In  the 

pantry  there  is  a  stairway  leading  to  the  cellar, 
where  they  kept  the  fruit  and  vegetables.  A  deep 
well  was  dug  near  the  house  and  a  house  was  built 
for  it.  This  is  where  they  did  their  washing.  There 

was  a  generator  to  pump  water,  and  it  also  ran  the 

washing  machine.  They  used  gasoline  lamps  for 

many  years,  and  then  gas  lights  were  put  in,  but  the 
lights  were  considered  quite  dangerous.  Eventually 
electricity  was  put  in.  They  also  had  one  of  those 

party  line  phones  and  you  could  hear  all  the  news 

when  you  picked  up  the  receiver. 
On  December  20,  1920  LeRoy  was  married  to 

Myrta  Emma  Sorensen.  They  lived  with  his  folks 

on  the  ranch.  Myrta  went  at  times  to  the  dry  farm 
to  cook  and  help  in  the  fields. 

On  November  20,  1932  Anton  passed  away  very 
suddenly.  Eliza  lived  until  August  14,  1942. 

LEROY  A.  LONGENBOHN  was  born  in 

Cleveland,  Idaho  December  20,  1898. 

MYRTA  SORENSEN  was  born  in  Bench,  Idaho 
June  22,  1904. 

LeRoy  and  Myrta  Longenbohn 

Leroy  and  Myrta  were  married  December  20, 
1920,  and  were  sealed  in  the  Logan  Temple  June 
28,  1935. 

Eight  children  were  born  to  this  couple:  LeRoy, 

Donald,  Grant,  Betty  LoRene,  Lucille  Joyce, 
Marian  S.,  Barbara  Ann,  and  Kay  Lynn. 

Leroy  A.  was  a  farmer  and  mechanic.  His  hob- 
bies included  carpentering,  farming,  being  a 

mechanic,  and  traveling. 

Myrta  likes  crocheting,  embroidering,  quilting, 

gardening,  and  traveling. 
Leroy  died  August  22,  1975. 

MATHIAS  W.  LOWE  was  born  January  11, 
1883  at  Franklin,  Idaho  to  Maria  Wilson  and 

Thomas  G.  Lowe.  When  he  was  11  years  old,  his 

mother  became  ill  with  typhoid  fever  and  passed 

away  on  August  24,  1894.  He  and  his  brother, 
Moroni,  were  then  taken  to  live  on  the  ranch  with 

their  father's  first  family — their  father  being  a 
polygamist.  His  father  later  bought  a  home  in 
Logan,  Utah,  and  here  Mathias  attended  school. 

At  the  age  of  20,  he  was  called  on  an  L.D.S.  mis- 
sion to  England.  He  spent  27  happy  months  doing 

missionary  work,  and,  while  there,  was  able  to  meet 

his  mother's  sisters  and  brothers  and  their  families. 
In  July,  1907,  he  came  to  Grace,  Idaho,  to  visit 

his  brother,  Moroni,  and  wife,  Annie  Burton  Lowe. 

Here  he  met  and  fell  in  love  with  Annie's  sister, 
JANET  BURTON,  and  in  1908,  on  September  30, 

he  and  Janet  were  married  in  the  Logan  Temple. 

Janet  was  the  daughter  of  Frederick  and  Mary 
Bruce  Burton.  She  was  born  in  Kaysville,  Utah, 
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Mathias  and  Janet  Lowe 

and  at  the  age  of  13  months,  moved  with  her 
parents  and  two  older  sisters  to  Grace,  Idaho.  Janet 

started  school  in  the  fall  of  1896  in  a  little  log 
school  house  a  few  miles  west  of  the  Burton  ranch. 

Her  father  bought  the  first  piano  in  Grace  and  she 

learned  to  play  very  well.  When  there  was  to  be  a 

dance,  they  would  load  the  piano  in  the  wagon  and 
take  it  to  the  dance  and  Janet  and  her  sister  Annie 

would  play  for  the  dancing.  Janet  was  the  first 
organist  in  the  Grace  Ward  at  the  age  of  fifteen. 

Mathias  and  Janet  homesteaded  160  acres  and 

built  a  one-room  log  house.  They  worked  hard, 
plowing  the  land  with  a  hand  plow,  struggling 

through  hard  winters — often  being  snowed-in.  Dur- 
ing these  years  Mathias  worked  at  several  jobs  to 

make  ends  meet.  He  was  an  excellent  carpenter  and 

in  1917,  bull  a  new  home  on  the  farm.  They  lived 
here  until  November  1963,  when  Mathias  retired 

from  farming. 

On  November  7,  1944,  he  was  elected  to  the  of- 
fice of  State  Representative  from  Bannock  County. 

He  served  for  two  terms  and  helped  to  accomplish 
many  things  for  the  good  of  Gem  Valley  and  Idaho. 

He  was  always  actively  engaged  in  politics  and  was 
an  ardent  member  of  the  Democratic  party.  He 
served  on  the  Bannock  County  Fair  Board,  and  on 

the  Grace  School  Board  for  nine  years.  He  served 
three  years  as  ward  clerk  and  also  served  as  stake 
clerk.  He  was  a  member  of  the  Bannock  Stake 

High  Council  for  26  years. 

Janet  served  a  total  of  about  forty  years  as 
church  organist.  She  also  served  as  Relief  Society 

President  and  was  on  the  Relief  Society  Stake 
Board  for  many  years. 

Mathias  and  Janet  were  the  parents  of  three  sons 

and  two  daughters — Donal  Burton  Lowe  (passed 
away  on  November  4,  1945),  Woodrow  Burton 
Lowe,  Elnora  Lowe  Maughan,  Gail  Burton  Lowe, 
and  Afton  Lowe  Smith. 

Mathias  passed  away  on  November  30,  1967,  at 
the  age  of  84;  Janet,  on  August  3,  1971,  at  the  age 
of  81.  Both  are  buried  in  the  Grace  cemetery. 

MORONI  W.  LOWE  was  the  second  son  of 

Thomas  G.  and  Maria  Wilson,  Lowe,  born  of  a 

polygamous  marriage,  in  Franklin,  Idaho,  on  May 
25,  1885. 

Moroni's  formal  schooling  consisted  of  three 
years  in  grade  school;  yet,  he  became,  by  his  own 

efforts,  a  well-educated  man,  an  excellent  public 

speaker,  and  well-experienced  in  business  and 
finance.  As  a  public  servant,  few  have  given  of  their 
time  and  effort  as  Moroni  Lowe. 

Moroni  and  his  brother,  Mathias,  came  to 

Grace,  Idaho  as  young  men  and  here  they  became 

enamored  with  the  Burton  girls — daughters  of  Fred 
and  Mary  Burton,  who  were  among  the  earliest 

pioneers  in  the  Grace  area.  It  wasn't  long  before 
brothers  married  sisters.  Moroni  Wilson  Lowe  met 

MARY  ANN  (ANNIE)  BURTON  for  the  first  time 

in  1904  at  a  dance  in  Pack's  Hall  on  the  banks  of 
the  Bear  River.  They  were  married  December  13, 
1905.  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple. 

Not  only  did  Fred  and  Mary  Burton  give  their 
two  daughters  to  the  brothers,  but  they  assisted 
them  in  taking  out  160  acres  to  homestead.  A  log 

Moroni  Lowe Annie  Lowe 
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building  used  for  grain  storage  on  the  Burton 
Ranch  was  skidded  by  two  teams  of  horses  to  the 
Moroni  Lowe  homestead,  and  it  was  remodeled 

into  a  two-room  home. 

The  sagebrush  grew  as  high  as  a  horse  and  it  was 
cleared  from  the  land  with  a  hand  plow  and  team  of 

horses.  Water  was  hauled  from  Bear  River  or  a  spr- 

ing in  Burton's  Canyon.  Although  Moroni  farmed 
for  the  first  few  years,  he  always  had  a  desire  to  get 
into  business.  He  bought  and  sold  grain  and  cream 

and  hauled  the  produce  to  Alexander  where  it  was 
loaded  on  the  train.  He  later  managed  the  Equity 

Elevator  and  Trading  Company  for  many  years. 
He  was  chairman  of  the  school  board  for  Grace 

District  No.  35.  He  also  served  as  bishop  of  the 
Grace  Ward  from  1914  to  1917.  While  serving  as 

bishop,  he  called  himself  on  a  mission  and  served  in 
the  Eastern  States.  At  this  time  he  had  a  family  of 

two  sons  and  one  daughter.  Upon  returning  home 
from  his  mission,  he  was  again  called  to  be  bishop 
of  the  Grace  Ward,  serving  from  1920  to  1929.  He 
later  served  on  the  Stake  High  Council  and  was 
Stake  Patriarch  for  many  years. 

He  served  on  the  Grace  Village  Board  a  total  of 

16  years — from  1925  to  1941.  Eleven  of  these  years 
he  served  as  Chairman  (now  called  Mayor). 

At  the  age  of  65,  Moroni  took  a  watchmaking 
course  in  Los  Angeles,  California.  He  graduated 
and  became  an  expert  in  watch  and  clock  repairing. 

Moroni  and  Annie  were  parents  of  5  sons  and  3 

daughters — Elnora,  Harold,  LaVern,  Sherman, 
Waynard,  Reed,  Karl  and  Norma.  The  oldest 

daughter,  Elnora,  was  killed  in  a  run-away  team 
and  wagon  accident  at  the  age  of  4.  The  second 

daughter,  LaVern  died  at  the  age  of  five  of  blood 

poisoning  while  her  father  was  on  his  mission. 
Moroni  died  suddenly  of  a  stroke  on  August  27, 

1952,  in  the  St.  Marks  Hospital  in  Salt  Lake  City. 

His  wife,  Annie,  was  in  the  same  hospital  at  the 
time  recovering  from  surgery. 
Mary  Ann  (Annie)  Burton  Lowe  died  on 

September  1,  1974,  in  Salt  Lake  City. 
Both  are  buried  in  the  Grace  Cemetery,  which 

had  been  one  of  Moroni's  projects  while  serving  as 
chairman  of  the  Grace  Village  Board. 

ARTHUR  ROBERT  MANHART  was  born  July 
12,  1894  in  Saarbrucken,  Press  Germany. 
MYRTLE  ISABELLE  MARTINSON  was  born 

October  31,  1899  at  Uintah,  Weber,  Utah. 

Arthur  and  Myrtle  were  married  December  6, 

1917  at  Pocatello,  Idaho.  They  had  the  following 
children:  Claudia,  Clifford  Arthur,  Cleo  Myrtle, 

Agusta  Paula,  and  Vernell  Rose. 
Arthur  was  a  farmer  and  rancher.  After  the 

children  were  raised  and  Myrtle  was  a  widow,  she 
served  a  mission  for  the  L.D.S.  Church. 

Daniel  Maughan Alice  Maughan 

DANIEL  (DELL)  MAUGHAN  was  born 
December  9,  1887,  in  Wellsville,  Utah,  to  Daniel 

H.  and  Ellen  P.  Maughan — the  second  of  eleven 
children.  He  grew  up  in  Wellsville  and  received  his 
schooling  there.  Prior  to  his  marriage,  he  worked  in 
the  lumber  mills  in  Oregon. 

It  was  in  Wellsville,  at  a  May  Day  celebration 
that  Daniel  and  ALICE  LLOYD  became  interested 

in  each  other.  After  a  ten  month's  courtship,  they 
were  married  in  the  L.D.S.  Temple  at  Logan, 
Utah,  on  March  11,  1908. 

In  the  spring  of  1909  they  loaded  their  belongings 

in  a  wagon  and  came  to  Central,  Idaho,  where  they 

homesteaded  160  acres  of  land.  They  lived  in  a  one- 
room  log  house  the  first  year,  hauled  water  from 
Bear  River,  broke  up  the  sagebrush  covered  land 
with  a  hand  plow  and  a  team  of  horses,  went  to  the 

canyon  for  their  wood,  and  melted  snow  to  water 

the  stock.  A  few  years  later  a  new  home  was  com- 
pleted and  a  well  was  dug. 

In  1919,  Daniel  was  employed  by  the  Intermoun- 
tain  Grain  Company  to  buy  grain  and  run  the 
elevator  at  Talmadge. 

In  1921  disaster  struck  and  their  home  on  the 

426  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



farm  burned  to  the  ground,  destroying  all  their 

belongings.  Daniel  then  moved  the  well-house  and  a 
lean-to  granary  together  and  this  is  where  the  fami- 

ly lived  until  a  new  home  could  be  built.  Daniel  had 
bought  shares  of  water  in  the  Soda  Springs  Creek 
Canal,  so  with  water  on  the  farm  they  were  able  to 
grow  all  the  hay  they  needed  and  a  wonderful 

vegetable  garden.  They  stored  their  vegetables  in  a 

root  cellar — bought  a  couple  of  cans  of 
honey — took  a  grist  of  wheat  to  the  mill  and  traded 
it  for  flour — and  with  their  cows  and  chickens 

which  supplied  milk,  butter  and  eggs — they  were 
amply  supplied  and  went  to  town  only  three  or  four 
times  during  the  winter. 

Daniel  was  employed  by  the  General  Mills  of 
Grace,  but  the  work  was  damaging  to  his  health 
and  the  doctor  advised  him  to  quit.  This  he  did  for  a 

few  years  but  then  went  back  to  work  at  the  mills 

where  he  remained  until  his  death.  He  died  of  a  rup- 
tured appendix  on  March  11,  1936 — his  wedding 

anniversary.  He  and  Allice  had  been  married  exact- 
ly 28  years. 
Daniel  had  served  on  the  school  board  for  several 

years.  He  also  served  on  the  cemetery  board  and 

was  deputy  sheriff  for  Grace  for  a  number  of  years. 
To  Daniel  and  Alice  Maughan  were  born  the 

following  children — Raymond  of  Bancroft,  Her- 
man of  Grace,  Ellen  Sorensen  of  Provo,  Kenneth 

and  Lloyd  of  Los  Angeles,  Eva  Sorensen  of  Soda 

Springs,  Roy  of  Salt  Lake  City,  Melba  Kaelin  and 
Ruby  Clark  of  Salt  Lake  City. 

Following  her  husband's  death,  Alice  was  very 
successful  in  raising  her  family,  providing  each  with 
a  good  education  and  sending  two  sons  and  one 

daughter  on  missions  for  the  L.D.S.  Church.  Alice 
herself  served  a  stake  mission  and  was  active  in  the 

Relief  Society.  She  spent  the  last  years  of  her  life  in 

Salt  Lake  City  with  her  daughter,  Melba.  She  pass- 
ed away  at  the  age  of  82  on  February  25,  1972. 
A  grandson  of  Daniel  and  Alice  Maughan,  Dell 

Maughan,  is  now  serving  as  president  of  the  Grace 
Idaho  Stake. 

BRIG  MCCANN  and  his  elder  brother  came 

from  Smithfield,  Utah  to  the  Turner  area,  in  1897. 

They  homesteaded  160  acres  of  land  each. Their 
land  joined,  and  was  located  next  to  the  mountains 

on  the  west  side  of  the  valley. 
In  the  year  1899  Susan  Elnora  Egbert  came  to 

the  area  with  her  mother,  Ellen  Egbert,  who 
homesteaded  160  acres  one  mile  south  of  Brig. 

Brig  and  SUSAN  ELNORA  EGBERT  were 

married  in  1900,  and  lived  in  a  little  one-room  log 
cabin  for  quite  a  while  before  building  a  larger 
house.  All  of  the  farm  work  was  done  with  horses  in 

those  days  and  much  of  the  plowing  was  done  with 
a  hand  plow. 

Brig  McCann  was  the  county  road  overseer 
from  the  time  the  county  was  organized  until  the 
time  of  his  death  in  1927. 

Brig  and  Susan  Elnora  had  eight  children,  one 
son  Earl  died  shortly  after  birth,  and  another  son 

Hyrum  died  at  the  age  of  4,  during  the  flu  epidemic 
in  1918.  The  others  are:  Susie,  John,  Verla, 

Ervin,  Joseph,  and  Armina.  Verla  married  Hyrum 
Larsen,  Susie  married  Clifford  Dawson,  and  John 
married  Alta  Rasmussen. 

Ervin  remembers  his  grandmother  Mc  Cann  had 
one  finger  that  was  stiff  and  stuck  straight  out,  she 
told  them  that  when  she  was  a  little  girl,  coming 

across  the  plains  with  one  of  the  hand  cart  com- 
panies, that  she  saw  a  rattle  snake.  She  pointed 

toward  it  to  show  someone  and  the  snake  bit  her 

finger.  She  almost  lost  her  life  from  it. 

Grandmother  Egbert  lived  with  the  family  most 

of  the  time.  Both  grandmothers  had  the  same  first 

name,  Ellen.  Ervin  didn't  know  either  of  his  grand- fathers. 

Jim  McCann  lived  as  a  bachelor  for  several 

years,  then  he  married  Etta  Curtis,  from  Blackfoot. 

They  had  six  children.  Jim  and  two  sons  along  with 
Brig  lost  their  lives  in  the  church  house  explosion 
on  the  26th  of  January  1927. 

One  year  later  Ervin's  mother  and  Lafayette 
Rawlins  decided  to  get  married  May  14,  1928. 

Lafe.  as  Dad  Rawlins  was  called,  had  three  sons 

and  two  daughters:  twins,  Oclella  and  Orella, 

Jerry,  Lionel,  and  Earl.  Ervin  was  courting  Oclella 

at  the  time  and  his  friend  Roland  Taylor  was  cour- 
ting Orella.  The  four  of  them  went  to  Idaho  Falls 

with  Lafe  and  Susan  to  get  married,  and  before 

coming  home  the  six  of  them  were  married  in  one 

ceremony.  About  four  years  later  Armina  married 

Oclella's  brother  Jerry,  so  they  kept  things  pretty 
much  in  the  family. 

Ervin  and  Oclella  had  four  daughters  and  one 

son.  The  son  died  at  the  age  of  4  years.  Velda  pass- 
ed away  in  1975.  LaRue  lives  in  Salt  Lake.  Lois 
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lives  in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho,  and  Linda  is  married 

to  Dwain  Christensen  and  lives  on  a  farm  in  Cen- 
tral, Idaho. 

Ervin  and  Oclella  have  been  very  active  in  the 

Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints,  Ervin 
having  served  as  Bishop  of  the  Second  Ward. 

They  bought  the  old  Mc  Cann  farm  in  1942,  after 
leasing  it  for  a  couple  of  years.  In  1964  they  sold  it 
to  DeRay  and  Beverly  Nelson,  and  they  moved  to 

Salt  Lake  City,  Utah,  Ervin  worked  in  the  or- 
namental iron  business  for  ten  years.  They  sold 

their  home  there  and  moved  to  Soda  Springs, 

Idaho  where  they  now  reside. 

One  of  the  early  settlers  of  the  Niter  area  was 
GEORGE  EDWARD  and  WILHELMINA 

HANSEN  MCCLELLAN  and  their  family  of  thir- 
teen children,  only  one  of  which  was  born  in  Idaho. 

Mr.  and  Mrs.  McClellan  left  Payson,  Utah  in  the 

spring  of  1905,  after  having  purchased  320  acres  of 
school  land  near  the  Niter  Store  and  Post  Office. 

They  came  to  Idaho  because  their  older  sons  were 
getting  to  the  age  where  they  were  looking  for  jobs 
and  this  meant  work  in  the  copper  mines  which  at 
that  time  was  considered  very  hazardous  and  they 

didn't  want  any  of  their  boys  to  become  victims  of 
the  mines. 

They  left  Payson,  Utah  in  three  wagons,  and 
proceeded  to  Salt  Lake  City  where  Mrs.  McClellan 
and  the  two  youngest  children  took  the  train  to 
Alexander,  Idaho.  The  remainder  came  by  wagon. 
That  summer  was  spent  in  a  log  cabin  at  Mound 

Valley  (near  Thatcher),  while  a  tent  and  slab  house 
was  prepared  on  the  land  they  had  purchased.  The 

major  highlight  of  the  trip  was  that  they  en- 
countered a  hobo  on  the  way  and  Mr.  McClellan 

invited  the  man  to  join  them.  As  a  result  of  the  ad- 
dition the  entire  entourage  became  infected  with 

body  lice,  which  were  easy  to  get,  but  very  hard  to 
lose  in  those  days. 

The  family  built  a  permanent  home  which  is  still 
standing  near  the  Niter  Store.  Mr.  David  Miles  was 

the  chief  carpenter  with  most  of  the  lumber  coming 
from  the  Hubbard  sawmill.  Lime  for  the  plaster 

was  hauled  by  wagon  from  the  lime  mine  near  Peb- 
ble. 

The  McClellans  prospered  for  a  while  with  the 

three  older  boys,  Fred,  Scott,  and  Arthur  raising 
oats,  hay  and  sheep. 

Of  the  thirteen  brothers  and  sisters  in  the  family 

only  two  remain,  Elnora  McClellan  Cheney  of  Los 
Angeles  and  Kenneth  McClellan  of  Soda  Springs, 

Idaho.  Part  of  the  original  land  purchased  by 

George  McClellan  is  currently  farmed  by  his 

daughter  Clara's  grandson,  Mark  Gibbs.  Many 
grandchildren  and  great  grandchildren  are  living  in 

many  parts  of  the  country,  with  a  large  concentra- 
tion in  California  and  in  the  Rupert,  Idaho  area. 

JAMES  DAVIS  MCGREGOR  was  born  in  St. 

Louis,  Missouri  in  1850.  In  1852  the  family  moved 

to  Salt  Lake  City  by  way  of  a  hard  arduous  trip 

with  ox  team  and  wagon.  Times  were  really  dif- 
ficult, provisions  were  scarce,  and  things  just 

couldn't  be  had.  His  father  carried  him  to  school  on 
his  back  through  the  snow,  because  he  had  no 

shoes.  Not  until  he  was  ten  years  old  did  he  have  a 

pair  of  new  shoes. 
James  married  MARY  ADEY  PERRY  on 

January  5,  1875.  She  was  born  in  Shepshed, 

Leichester,  England.  At  age  13  she  joined  the 
L.D.S.  Church  and  came  to  Zion.  In  April  they 

started  North  for  Gentile  Valley.  With  a  team  of 

horses  and  a  heavy  wagon-with  no  well  chartered 
roads,  no  bridges,  no  places  for  accomodations. 
They  traveled  for  four  days  before  coming  to  this 
valley.  It  was  literally  unsettled.  It  was  unmapped, 
for  it  had  not  been  surveyed  by  the  government.  All 

people  settled  by  "squatters  right."  They  forded 
Bear  River  and  traveled  north  to  Art  Cutler's  (his 
sister,  Jane)  place-which  was  about  where  Horace 
Wright  lives. 

James  went  to  work  building  a  log  cabin  on  the 

fiat  south  of  Cutler's,  which  is  below  the  present 

road  in  Dean  Panter's  field.  With  a  scythe  and 
swath  he  cut  patches  of  wild  hay  and  piled  it  for  his 
team  for  winter. 

The  following  spring  and  summer  civil  strife 
arose  over  who  should  have  which  parcels  of 

ground.  It  was  unsurveyed,  no  lines,  no  fences. 
James  wanted  the  tract  of  land  north  of  Spring 

Creek,  and  so  did  others.  The  year  and  a  half  in  the 
valley  had  brought  hardship  and  discouragement, 

so  they  packed  what  meager  goods  they  possessed 
in  the  wagon  and  moved  on  south. 

They  camped  that  night  near  the  south  end  of  the 
valley  and  by  a  moderately  warm  spring,  hoping  to 
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get  a  fresh  start  next  morning,  as  it  was  quite  a  pull 

out  of  the  valley  over  the  "Big  Hill."  During  their 
stop  they  became  quite  fascinated  by  the  spring. 
Here  they  decided  to  stay  for  a  time.  That  stream 
of  water  did  it,  and  no  more  did  they  move.  It  was 

on  this  spot  that  the  parents  sought  to  bring  forth 
their  family  of  six  children:  Will,  a  daughter,  Jim, 
Joe,  Don,  and  Charles. 

Their  home  was  built  of  logs  which  were  hewn  by 
their  dad  with  a  broad  axe  and  chinked  with  split 

poles  quarterwise.  It  consisted  of  a  front  part  with 
two  rooms  and  a  lean-to  on  the  back  and  a  kitchen 
and  a  small  bedroom.  The  walls  were  whitewashed 

inside  and  the  ceiling  was  covered  with  factory 
cloth. 

Will  finished  the  common  school  in  the  Valley 
and  attended  Academy  school  at  Preston.  He  then 

went  as  a  missionary  to  the  Tahitian  Islands  while 
still  in  his  teens.  He  was  a  good  talker,  a  good 

reasoner  with  a  kind  and  understanding  personali- 
ty. He  became  quite  well  known  through  Utah  and 

Idaho  in  promoting  the  co-operative  movement  of 
marketing. 

He  married  Nancy  Anderson  and  they  had  five 

girls  and  a  son-namely:  Mary,  Grace,  Lola,  Donna, 

Ora,  and  Weldon.  Weldon  took  over  his  dad's 
farm  in  1941  when  Will  died.  Nancy  died  in  1961. 
Jim  studied  Veterinary  Science  and  Cheese 

making-which  came  in  handy  in  later  years.  After 
leaving  school,  he  became  interested  in  musical  in- 

struments. First  the  guitar  and  mandolin,  and  then 
the  violin.  This  was  the  forerunner  of  the 

"McGregor  Orchestra." 
Jim  was  the  smallest  one  of  us,  but  had  the  most 

stamina.  Work?  Why,  that  man  could  stand  with 
the  biggest  and  best  from  daylight  to  dark.  Yes,  it 

was  that  spirit  of  never  say  "quit"  which  ultimately 
brought  on  his  heart  condition,  from  which  he  died 
in  1949.  He  and  his  wife,  Ruth  had  the  following 

children:  Youngs,  Glen,  Reed,  and  Wells;  Dora, 

Blanche,  Harriet,  Merna,  Margaret,  and  Barbara. 

Dan  and  Charles  were  very  close  and  in  their  ac- 
tivities they  were  as  one.  They  carried  on  their 

business  association  almost  to  their  dying  days. 
They  went  to  grade  school  together,  played  in  the 
orchestra,  used  the  same  barn,  worked  the  same 

horses,  ran  their  cattle  together  and  had  no  trouble. 

The  machinery  was  "ours"  not  mine  or  his. 
Dan  married  Lenora  Bennett,  to  them  were  born 

five  children:  Lorin,  Allen,  Jessie,  Aarah,  and 
Lenore. 

Charles  received  a  B.S.  degree  in  the  spring  of 

1914,  the  first  college  graduate  from  the  valley. 

In  the  spring  of  1917,  Fred  Anderson  came  for 
him  to  teach  the  upper  grades  in  the  Cleveland 
School.  It  was  a  seven  month  school  and  paid 

$75.00  a  month.  He  resigned  early,  the  next  spring, 

to  go  into  the  army.  As  they  were  preparing  to  em- 
bark at  New  York,  the  Armistice  was  signed. 

After  returning  home,  Charles  married  Connie 

Thatcher.  They  had  the  following  children:  Robert, 
Don,  Roma  Lee,  and  Jean. 

David  McLain 
Mary  McLain 

DAVID  WILKIN  MCLAIN  was  born 

November  23,  1863  at  Kaysville,  Utah.  He  was  the 
son  of  James  Wilkin  and  Hannah  Driggs. 

He  didn't  have  much  schooling  until  he  was  old 
enough  to  work.  He  worked  in  the  daytime  and 
went  to  school  at  night.  He  was  a  good  reader  and 

good  at  mathematics. 
In  his  youth  he  did  freighting  from  Utah  into 

Montana. 

MARY  ELLEN  EGBERT  was  born  February 

24,  1867  at  Kaysville,  Utah.  She  was  the  daughter 
of  John  Calvert  Egbert  and  Ellen  Bennett. 

David  and  Mary  Ellen  were  married  about 

November  or  December  24,  1885.  Mary  Ellen's 
father  gave  them  a  small  piece  of  land  across  from 

his  home  in  Fairview.  Idaho.  They  built  a  one-room 
log  cabin  on  this  piece  of  land.  They  lived  in  this 
home  about  four  years.  Ellen,  David,  and  Hannah 
were  born  in  this  home.  Then  David  homesteaded 
near  the  little  mountain,  close  to  Franklin.  Here 
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they  had  a  three-room  home.  This  was  a  dry  farm, 
it  had  a  well  and  they  had  to  drav/  the  water  up  with 
a  bucket.  Five  more  children  were  born  here: 

James,  John,  Adella,  Clifford,  and  Oliver. 

While  they  lived  in  Fairview,  David  used  to  call 
for  the  dances,  and  he  helped  get  the  limestone  out 

of  the  quarry  for  the  first  church  house  that  was 
built  in  Fairview. 

In  1900  the  church  called  for  a  group  of  people  to 

settle  the  Big  Horn  Basin  in  Wyoming.  David  and 
Mary  Ellen  decided  to  go.  They  traveled  through 

Montpelier,  Kemmer,  and  crossed  the  Green  River 
at  the  old  Mormon  Ferry. 

David  went  where  the  colony  was  located,  but  he 

didn't  like  it  so  he  came  back  to  Idaho.  He  sold  the 
cattle,  furniture,  plows,  and  harrows.  They  had  the 

wagons,  horses,  and  a  few  chickens  that  they 
brought  back  with  them. 

David  and  Mary  Ellen  stayed  at  Grandma 

Egbert's  home  the  first  winter.  David  worked  in  the 
canyon  getting  mahogany  wood  and  fence  posts. 
He  sold  the  posts  for  25c.  In  the  spring  he  filed  on 

the  place  at  the  top  of  China  Hill.  He  worked  in  the 
canyon  getting  out  logs  to  build  a  house,  and  also 
worked  on  the  canal. 

After  they  moved  into  their  own  home,  they  had 

to  melt  snow  in  the  winter  for  washing  and  scrub- 
bing. 

Mary  Ellen  worked  in  the  Relief  Society  faithful- 
ly, and  was  always  ready  to  go  out  and  help  the  sick 

and  comfort  those  in  need.  She  knit  and  crocheted 

beautiful  lace.  She  died  October  21,  1944. 
David  was  a  director  on  the  Turner  Canal,  a 

trustee  on  the  school  board,  and  a  ward  teacher.  He 

died  April  18,  1928.  They  are  buried  in  the  Turner 
Cemetery. 

Their  children  are:  Ellen  Elizabeth,  Calvert 

David,  Hannah  May,  James  Henry,  John,  Adella, 
Clifford  Hugh,  Oliver,  Parley,  Wilburn,  Lavonia, 
Vernal  Wilkin,  and  Mary  Ann  McLain. 

JOHN  EDWARD  MEACHAM  was  born  at 

North  Ogden,  Utah  on  March  1,  1877,  the  second 
son  of  William  H.  and  Almira  Rose  Meacham. 

When  he  was  about  one  year  old  his  parents  moved 
to  Park  Valley,  Utah  in  the  northwest  corner  of  the 

state.  This  is  where  Ed  grew  to  manhood  and 
married  JULIA  MARIE  HAYNES  on  the  8th  of 

October  1897,  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 

John  and  Julia  Marie  Meacham 

Julia  Marie  was  born  on  January  29,  1880  at 

Grouse  Creek,  Idaho,  the  daughter  of  John  and 
Julia  Marie  Barber  Haynes. 

In  the  spring  of  1899  Ed  and  Julia  moved  to  Gen- 
tile Valley,  and  settled  at  Lago,  Idaho,  where  they 

lived  in  the  old  "Morgan  House."  This  was  the 
first  log  house  built  in  the  valley  which  they  rebuilt 

on  a  "school  40"  which  Ed  had  bought.  Neighbors 
were  few  and  a  long  way  apart,  there  being  only 

three  or  four  houses  where  the  thriving  little  town 
of  Grace  now  stands. 

Their  early  experiences  in  the  agricultural  field 
were  amusing.  Their  first  garden  was  plowed  with  a 

plow  which  had  been  discarded  by  the  "bishop"  and 
had  to  have  a  new  beam,  which  Ed  made  from  a 

Cottonwood  tree  that  he  found  along  the  creek.  For 
a  hoe  he  cut  a  thinly  worn  wagon  tire  and  bent  one 

end.  Many  other  tools  were  equally  as  primitive. 
Undaunted  by  such  small  things,  this  young  couple 

went  steadily  on,  leased  a  bigger  farm,  worked  for 
other  ranchers  in  the  hay  or  on  the  farm  cropping 

season  for  75c  a  day  and  boarded  himself.  He  herd- 
ed sheep  between  times  and  bought  more  land  and  a 

band  of  sheep,  and  a  corral  full  of  cows. 

While  they  were  doing  all  of  this,  the  size  of  their 

family  was  periodically  increasing  in  numbers. 
There  were  seven  girls  and  two  boys,  the  first  of 

which  died  in  infancy.  The  children  were:  John 

Edward — deceased;  Vira  Meacham  Cox  Smith; 
Elvin  Meacham;  Beatrice  Benevides — deceased; 
Mildred  M.  Burke;  Iris  M.  Bullock;  Edsel  M. 

Prescott,  Lorraine  M.  Bullock,  Earline  M.  Smith. 

Ed  had  many  varying  talents.  As  a  musician  he 
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played  the  violin  and  harmonica  and  played  for 
many  dances.  He  sang  tenor  in  the  choir  and  wrote 

humorous  poetry.  He  could  do  most  anything, 
making  all  his  ropes  from  twine,  could  mend  shoes, 
dry  meat  and  tan  hides  for  leather.  He  braided 

bridles,  and  quirts.  He  was  very  good  at  braiding 
horse  hair  and  made  Julia  Marie  a  beautiful 
necklace  that  is  still  treasured. 

He  had  beautiful  saddle  horses  and  taught  his 

children  to  ride,  and  to  tell  time  by  the  sun,  and  to 
shoot,  as  well  as  to  recognize  the  plants  and  flowers 

of  the  mountains.  He  taught  them  all  these  things 

as  they  followed  the  sheep  on  the  summer  range. 
Julia  Marie  was  a  talented  homemaker  also.  She 

crocheted,  embroidered,  sewed,  canned,  and  made 

beautiful  paper  flowers,  braided  rugs  and  was  a 
devoted  church  worker  in  the  Primary  and  Relief 
Society.  She  died  on  April  12,  1949. 

After  the  death  of  Julia,  Ed  married  MABEL 

CAMPBELL  DOSSETT,  daughter  of  Isaac  W. 
Nanney  and  Nancy  Ann  Ellis,  born  12  October 

1885  at  Thatcher.  Idaho.  They  were  married 

November  7,  1949  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 
For  a  year  they  lived  at  the  ranch  home  in  Lago, 

then  they  bought  a  home  in  Grace,  selling  the  ranch 

to  a  son-in-law  and  daughter,  Marvin  Prescott  and 
Edsel  Meacham  Prescott.  Ed  died  at  the  age  of  91 
on  November  2,  1968. 

ALBERT  MEDFORD,  son  of  Charles  Medford 

and  Sarah  Medford,  was  born  January  1,  1871  in 
MillviUe,  Utah.  He  married  GERTRUDE 

HARRIS  September  25,  1895  at  Pocatello,  Idaho. 

Albert's  mother  died  when  he  was  a  babe  in 
arms.  His  father  remarried.  He  and  his  wife  had 

one  child,  and  then  she  died.  This  again  left  Albert 
and  his  brother  alone  with  their  father,  who  reared 
them  to  manhood.  Albert  attended  school  at 

Thatcher,  Idaho,  and  also  at  the  college  in  Logan, 
Utah. 

Albert  and  Gertrude  were  married,  and  he  took 

his  bride  to  Thatcher.  Idaho.  They  later 
homesteaded  a  dry  farm  at  Turner.  Idaho.  He  was 
a  good  farmer  and  soon  had  the  land  productive. 

He  was  instrumental  in  helping  bring  the  Last 
Chance  Canal  into  this  farming  area.  He  served  as 

secretary  of  this  corporation.  Later  he  sold  his  farm 

and  moved  to  Grace,  Idaho.  He  did  very  well  in 
ranching  business  until  his  health  failed.  He  was  ill 

with  diabetes  for  several  years,  and  finally  lost  his 
eyesight.  He  died  November  14,  1935  at  Grace, 
Idaho. 

Gertrude  Harris,  daughter  of  Alexander  and 
Harriet  Ann  Craner  Harris  was  born  August  9, 
1874  in  Richmond,  Utah. 

Gertrude  was  only  a  month  old  when  her  mother 
died.  Her  father  was  away  on  a  freighting  trip  to 
Montana  at  the  time.  When  she  was  four  years  of 

age  she  lived  with  her  brother  Alexander's  family, 
and  stayed  until  she  was  twelve  years  old.  She  then 

stayed  with  her  sister  Martha  Caroline's  family. 
This  family  moved  to  Lewiston,  Utah,  where  she 
attended  school,  and  later  attended  college  at 

Logan,  Utah. 
Gertrude  married  Albert  Medford.  They  resided 

at  Thatcher.  Idaho  for  sometime,  then  moved  to 

Turner,  Idaho,  where  they  homesteaded  a  large 
tract  of  land.  Later  the  family  moved  to  Grace, 

Idaho.  Here  Gertrude  operated  a  hat  shop  for 

several  years.  She  was  an  immaculate  housekeeper, 
a  kind  and  loving  v/ife  and  mother.  She  died  at  the 
home  of  her  daughter  in  American  Fork,  Utah  on 
October  20.  1960. 

CHARLES  MEDFORD  was  born  May  6,  1849 
in  Georgia. 

When  he  was  in  his  early  youth  he  moved  to 
Corinne,  Utah  where  he  hauled  freight  and  supplies 
from  there  to  Montana  with  a  six  team  of  horses, 

and  the  round  trip  would  take  six  months. 
Mr.  Medford  was  married  three  times  and  had 

three  sons  born  to  the  first  two  marriages.  Their 
names  were:  Albert,  Freeman,  and  Edward. 

Back  row:  Emma  Ellis,  Emma  Fister  Front  Row: 
Louise  Medford,  Lottie  Hubbard,  Alfretta  Stalker. 
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Charles    married    LOUISE    LENORE 
PETERSON  December  27,  1898  and  moved  to 

Gentile  Valley  where  he  homesteaded  and  raised 
cattle  and  farmed.  Five  children  were  born  to  this 

union,  namely:  Isabelle,  LaRue,  Marcus,  Lytha, 
and  Rulon. 

He  was  a  charter  member  of  the  Odd  Fellows 

organization  of  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

He  died  in  Thatcher,  Idaho  May  2,  1912. 

Louise  Lenore  Peterson  was  born  in  Sweden  July 
1 1,  1872.  She  resided  in  Grace  and  Thatcher  most 
of  her  life. 

Louise  was  a  teacher  by  profession,  and  came  to 
Gentile  Valley  in  1897.  She  was  a  keen  historian 

and  took  great  interest  in  timely  topics  and  govern- 
ment. 

She  was  an  excellent  quilter,  completing  135 
quilts  after  the  age  of  70.  Her  patterns  consisted  of 

lines,  squares,  waves,  diamonds,  and  intricate 
scrolls;  roses,  pansies,  tulips,  poppies  were  some  of 
the  patterns  she  pieced  and  appliqued. 

Louise  died  at  the  age  of  77  in  the  Caribou 

Hospital  in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

Lovell  and  Jennie  Mendenhall 

LOVELL  J.  MENDENHALL  was  born  August 
21,  1899  at  Franklin,  Idaho.  JENNIE 

MCCLELLAN  was  born  October  5,  1904  in 
Dublin,  Mexico. 

They  were  married  September  6,  1923  at  Salt 
Lake  City,  Utah. 

Lovell  is  a  mechanic,  barber,  and  a  farmer  and 

rancher.  He  enjoys  saddle  horses  and  riding,  ice 
and  roller  skating,  fishing  and  new  cars,  sports  and 
farming,  his  family  and  children. 

Lovell  and  Jennie  have  the  following  children: 
Geraldine,  Marilyn,  and  Dwayne. 

He  has  been  a  successful  farmer  and  is  proud 
that  it  is  still  in  operation  today.  He  filled  a  mission 
for  the  L.D.S.  Church. 

Jennie  is  interested  in  sewing  and  dress  design- 
ing, and  different  kinds  of  needlework. 

Vernon  Mendenhall Ethel  Mendenhall 

VERNON  HERD  MENDENHALL  was  born 

April  5,  1898,  the  oldest  child  of  William  H. 
Mendenhall  and  Naomi  Herd  Mendenhall.  He 

grew  up  on  his  father's  ranch  at  Thatcher,  Idaho. 
He  married  ETHEL  MICKELSON  in  1917  in 

the  Logan  Temple.  She  was  born  May  14,  1900  at 
Cove,  Idaho,  the  oldest  child  of  Michael  and  Sadie 

Harris  Mickelson.  She  grew  up  on  her  father's farm  at  Lago. 

Vernon  and  Ethel  attended  the  same  school  at 

Lago  and  were  childhood  sweethearts.  After  their 
marriage  they  lived  at  Thatcher,  across  from  the 

high  school.  Here  he  farmed. 

In  1921  Vernon  accepted  a  call  to  serve  an 
L.D.S.  mission.  He  was  called  to  the  Southern 

States  where  he  spent  two  years.  While  he  was 

gone,  Ethel  was  the  janitor  of  the  high  school.  Dur- 
ing this  period  the  school  burned  down  and  was 

rebuilt  in  1923. 

Upon  his  return  from  his  mission  he  worked  at 
the  Thatcher  Store  for  Ira  Neeley  until  the  store 
burned  down.  He  then  moved  to  Preston  where  he 

worked  for  Safeway.  He  was  made  a  manager 
and  then  transferred  to  Lincoln,  Nebraska  where 

he  was  manager  for  six  years.  He  then  returned  to 

Thatcher  and  took  over  the  "Tumble  Inn."  He 
built  a  grocery  store,  luncheon  counter  and  a 
mechanic  shop. 
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He  took  an  active  part  in  community  and  church 

affairs.  He  was  president  of  the  Grace  Lions  Club, 
chairman  of  the  high  school  board,  president  of  the 

Thatcher  branch,  member  of  the  Stake  High  Coun- 
cil, M.I. A.  president  in  the  Mound  Valley  Ward. 

He  was  also  a  member  of  the  Idaho  House  of 

Representatives  for  two  terms,  and  served  as  chair- 
man of  the  Industry  and  Labor  and  Education 

committees. 

Ethel  was  an  ardent  gardener  and  seamstress. 

She  also  did  many  works  of  art  in  china  and 
ceramics. 

She  served  as  Relief  Society  president,  and 

taught  many  different  classes  in  the  Sunday  School. 

Under  her  direction  the  play  "Men  of  Galilee"  was 
presented  in  the  Bannock  Stake  House. 

She  had  a  strong  testimony  of  the  church.  Ver- 
non and  Ethel  raised  four  children — Vernona 

(Garbett),  Don,  Duchesne  (Clark),  and  Claude. 
Vernon  and  Ethel  loved  Gentile  Valley  and  the 

people  here,  and  worked  all  their  lives  to  better  and 

improve  the  community. 
They  moved  to  Pocatello  in  1952  and  lived  there 

until  Vernon's  death  in  1959.  Ethel  moved  back  to 
Thatcher  and  lived  until  her  death  in  1970. 

Both  are  buried  in  the  Lago  cemetery. 

WILLIAM  H.  MENDENHALL  and  his  father- 

in-law.  James  Herd,  came  to  Gentile  Valley  in  June 
1897  for  the  purpose  of  building  a  mercantile 
business.  They  located  a  place  at  the  crossroads  in 
the  center  of  the  valley.  To  get  the  store  site  they 
had  to  buy  the  farm  of  120  acres  from  Thomas 

Panter.  James  Herd  was  employed  in  the  store  at 
Franklin  so  he  was  to  remain  there.  William  and 

NAOMI  HERD  MENDENHALL  prepared  to 

come  to  Gentile  Valley,  and  start  the  store.  William 
Mendenhall  and  James  had  had  experience  in  the 

mercantile  business  and  so  this  was  very  helpful  to 
them. 

Preparation  for  moving  was  very  difficult.  They 
discovered  they  had  no  wagon,  no  horses,  no 
harness  and  no  help.  They  borrowed  a  wagon  and 
harness  from  father,  Thomas  Mendenhall,  one 

horse  from  brother  Lorin,  one  horse  from  father-in- 
law  James  Herd.  They  put  all  of  these  borrowed 
part  together  and  there  it  was.  With  help  from  the 
family  and  neighbors  they  loaded  the  belongings  in 
the  wagon  and  still  had  room  left.  The  first  day  they 
drove  from  Franklin  to  Worm  Creek  (Glendale), 

and  stayed  over  night  at  a  brother-in-laws"  place, 
Samuel  J.  Webster.  The  next  morning  when  they 

left  he  gave  them  a  pig.  They  put  it  under  the  seat 
where  they  sat  and  away  they  went  for  Gentile 

Valley.  They  arrived  at  their  new  home  in  the  mid- 
dle of  the  afternoon.  They  took  possession  of  the 

house  and  moved  in.  They  found  a  pen  for  the  pig 

and  sent  the  borrowed  wagon  and  horses  back  to 

Franklin  with  brother-in-law,  William  Herd. 

Arrangements  were  made  with  Hillard  Sawmill 

Company  for  lumber,  to  be  paid  for  in  merchan- 
dise. Race  Cahoon  and  Samuel  Orison  constructed 

the  building.  Stock  for  the  store  was  secured  from 
John  Scowcroft  and  Sons,  as  they  had  done 
business  with  them  before  and  established  a  good 
credit.  The  store  was  known  as  Herd  and 

Mendenhall  Mercantile  Co.  They  enjoyed  a  very 

good  business  from  the  people  of  the  valley. 
William  H.  Mendenhall  was  called  and  set 

apart  as  Bishop  of  the  Mound  Valley  Ward  Oc- 
tober 28,  1897  at  the  age  of  twenty-four. 

July  24,  1898  the  Bannock  Stake  was  organized 
from  the  Oneida  Stake,  and  he  was  called  to  be  Se- 

cond Counselor  to  Pres.  Lewis  S.  Pond.  January 
18,  1904  he  was  chosen  as  First  Counselor  to  Pres. 

Pond.  May  21,  1916  he  was  chosen  and  set  apart  as 
President  of  the  Bannock  Stake,  which  position  he 
held  until  October  1928. 

He  served  four  years  in  the  Idaho  Legislature, 

serving  in  the  House  the  12th  Session  and  Senate 
the  13th  Session. 

He  was  clerk  of  the  Central  High  School  for  27 

years. 
William  Henry  Mendenhall  was  not  one  of  the 

earliest  settlers  like  Ira  Hogan.  Sr..  Bill  Larkin, 
Moses  Thatcher.  Alex  Harris.  Lewis  Pond,  and 

Joseph  Pond.  It  is  important  to  point  out  that  Gen- 
tile Valley  was  settled  quite  some  time  before  the 

upper  half  of  Gem  Valley  was  settled. 
The  children  of  William  and  Naomi  Herd 

Mendenhall  are:  Vernon  Herd.  Lovell  James, 

William  T.,  Murat  Herd,  Millen  Herd.  Naomi  H., 

Ruth  H..  Elease  H..  and  Kay  Herd. 
Naomi  died  October  20.  1944.  and  William  died 

February  4,  1948. 

LOWELL  HENRY  MERRIAM  was  born  to 
Nelson  and  Ellen  Francis  Boardman  Merriam.  a 

verv  staunch  Weslevan  Methodist  family.  He  was 
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born  in  Waupun,  Fond  duLac  County,  Wisconsin, 
and  spent  his  early  youth  and  teen  years  in  and 
around  these  parts.  It  was  here  he  received  his 
schooling  and  education.  In  his  early  twenties  he 
came  west  to  seek  his  fortune,  working  in  and 
around  the  Puget  Sound  and  Seattle  area. 

Lowell  came  to  Gem  Valley  when  the  Telluride 

Company  came  to  build  the  Utah  Power  and  Light 

Dam,  pipeline,  and  power  plant.  Boarding  houses 
were  scarce,  and  he  with  eight  or  ten  others  had 
their  meals  at  the  home  of  Caroline  Clarissa 
Sullivan.  It  was  here  that  he  met  and  fell  in  love 

with  Mrs.  Sullivan's  daughter,  CAROLINE 
SULLIVAN.  They  were  married  in 

Pocatello,  Idaho,  September  23,  1914.  The 

marriage  was  later  solemnized  in  the  Logan  Tem- 
ple. In  1917,  Lowell  was  appointed  Postmaster  of 

the  Grace,  Idaho  Office.  This  job  he  held  until  his 

retirement,  38  years  later,  April  30,  1952.  While  in 

this  capacity,  he  and  his  wife  attended  a  National 
Postmasters  Convention  at  Washington,  D.C. 

There  were  no  children  born  to  this  union,  but 

many  of  the  local  boys  and  girls  can  give  thanks  to 
the  Merriams  for  their  board  and  room  for  a  school 

season,  so  they  could  attend  and  further  their 

education.  Several  were  helped  beyond  their  high 

school  years  also.  Caroline's  sister,  Helen,  died 
leaving  three  children,  and  they  took  their  turn  at 
raising  them. 

Lowell  was  very  active  in  local  and  civic  ac- 
tivities. He  was  a  charter  member  of  the  Grace 

Lions  Club,  and  a  member  of  Caribou  Masonic 

Lodge  No.  84.  After  retiring  from  the  post  office, 
he  was  on  the  Grace  Library  Board.  He  was  serving 
at  the  time  the  Library  District  was  created,  and 

was  instrumental  in  getting  the  Library  Enabling 
Act  passed  in  the  legislature  in  1955. 

Lowell  died  November  1 1,  1963,  from  a  heart  at- 

tack, as  he  was  preparing  to  attend  a  Legion  and 
Auxiliary  Party. 

Caroline  Sullivan  Merriam  was  born  July  4, 
1886,  at  Mound  Valley,  Idaho.  She  was  the 
daughter  of  David  D.  and  Caroline  Clarissa 

Calkins  Sullivan.  She  spent  her  entire  life  as  a  resi- 
dent of  Grace,  Idaho. 

Caroline  was  a  charter  member  of  the  Albert 

VanVleet  Unit  50  American  Legion  Auxiliary  of 
Grace,  Idaho.  As  a  member  of  this  organization 
she    served    twice    as    President,    as    Historian, 

Secretary,  and  Chaplain.  She  served  three  years  as 
District  President  of  the  Sixth  District  American 

Legion  Auxiliary,  Department  of  Idaho.  She  also 
served  three  years  as  District  Historian  and  one  as 
District  Chaplain.  She  was  a  charter  member  of 

The  Grace  Literary  Club  and  was  a  member  since 
1940.  She  was  Constitution  and  By  Laws  Chairman 

of  this  organization  for  many  years.  She  was  also  a 
member  of  Golden  Rod  Chapter  No.  64,  Order  of 

Eastern  Star  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  Caroline  was 
a  member  of  Mt.  Sherman  Camp,  Daughters  of 
Utah  Pioneers,  whose  members  are  decendants  of 

pioneers  arriving  in  Utah  before  1896.  She  was  also 
a  member  and  active  in  the  Red  Cross  during  the 
First  World  War. 

She  died  at  her  home  in  Grace,  Idaho  March  26, 
1974. 

Standing  from  L  to  R:  Skid,  Demar,  VerDene,  sitting 
Adele,  Verna,  and  Joan  Merrill. 

ROYAL  DEMAR  MERRILL  was  born 

September  15,  1894. 
Prior  to  moving  to  Grace  in  1928.  Dr.  Royal 

DeMar  Merrill,  D.M.D.  (Doctor  of  Medical  Den- 
tistry), built  a  house  car,  forerunner  of  the  modern 

motor  home  and  started  out  with  his  wife,  VERNA 
SKIDMORE  MERRILL  and  three  children, 

VerDene,  Skid  and  Joan  to  find  a  suitable  location 

for  his  profession.  They  traveled  to  Utah,  Califor- 
nia and  Arizona,  stopping  at  the  various  towns 

along  the  way  where  DeMar  did  dental  work  from 
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his  car,  pushing  his  equipment  to  one  side  at  night 
to  make  room  for  his  family.  He  decided  to  come 

to  Idaho  where  he  could  be  close  to  his  birthplace, 
Mapleton,  and  was  impressed  with  the  location  of 
Grace. 

His  first  office  was  in  the  front  part  of  the 
building  where  the  old  Post  Office  was,  next  to 

Gephart's  Clothing  Store.  Their  living  quarters 
were  in  the  back.  At  this  time  he  was  traveling  to 

Lava  on  Mondays,  and  Bancroft  on  Tuesdays,  and 

the  rest  of  the  week  he  practiced  in  Grace,  eventual- 
ly only  from  his  office  in  Grace.  From  there  he 

decided  to  move  above  the  Peterson  Market  where 

Dr.  Hubbard  had  practiced,  which  was  the  only 

hospital  in  Grace.  While  there,  Adele,  another 
child,  was  born.  Later  he  built  a  home  and  separate 

office  where  they  lived  until  his  death  and  Verna's 
present  illness.  The  children  had  married  and  mov- 

ed in  the  meantime. 

DeMar,  "Doc",  was  a  Veteran  of  World  War  I, 
a  member  of  Albert  VanVleet  Post  of  the  American 

Legion,  and  a  member  of  the  L.D.  S.  Church. 

Many  and  varied  were  his  hobbies.  He  was  an  ar- 
dent outdoorsman.  Many  a  day  a  note  saying, 

"Gone  Fishing,"  was  posted  on  his  office  door.  He 
was  a  mechanic  at  heart  with  many  inventions  to 

his  credit,  to  mention  a  few — a  snowplane,  garden 
tractor,  scooters,  boat,  car,  etc.  He  was  an  honest 

man,  always  considerate  of  those  in  need  and  a 

friend  to  all.  He  passed  away  December  11,  1959. 

Verna,  born  in  Richmond,  Utah,  July  31,  1899, 
grew  up  in  Preston,  married  DeMar  and  later 
moved  to  Grace  with  him  in  1928.  She  was  an  ac- 

complished seamstress,  milliner  and  artist.  She 
made  formals,  wedding  dresses,  drapes,  etc.,  and 

before  coming  to  Grace  was  Head  Millinery 
Designer  for  Feingolds  in  Los  Angeles,  California. 
She  was  active  in  the  L.D.S.  Church  having  been  a 

teacher  in  the  different  auxiliaries.  She  sang  with 

the  Choir.  She  was  a  member  of  the  Daughters  of 

the  Utah  Pioneers,  and  American  Legion  Aux- 
iliary. Her  art  talent  was  evident  in  the  many 

beautiful  things  she  made.  She  loved  the  outdoors 

and  the  many  happy  times  the  family  spent  on  cam- 
ping trips.  She  was  a  devoted  mother  and  wife,  and 

much  loved  and  honored  by  her  husband  and 
children. 

They  had  the  following  children:  VerDene,  Skid, 
Joan,  Adele. 

The  family  of  Anton  P.  Michelson 

ANTON    PETER   MICHELSON    was   in   the 

Danish-German  War  in  1864  at  the  age  of  nineteen. 
All  of  the  company  which  he  was  in  were  killed  but 
five,  and  he  was  one  of  those. 

After  he  came  back  to  Denmark  he  married,  but 

his  wife  died  in  less  than  a  year.  Later  he  married 
GITTE  JENSEN  and  when  their  fourth  son  was 

born,  Anton  decided  to  come  to  America.  His 

parents  already  resided  in  Lago,  Idaho. 
The  decision  was  made  and  within  thirty  days 

they  sold  their  home  and  left  Denmark  on  August 

12,  1881  and  arrived  in  Lago,  Idaho  on  September 
12,  1881  at  the  home  of  his  mother,  Dorth  Pederson 
Swenson. 

They  homesteaded  the  ranch  which  Michael 
Michelson  now  owns. 

Anton  died  in  1890  leaving  a  family  of  five  boys 

and  two  girls  and  his  wife.  In  Denmark,  this  family 

belonged  to  the  Lutheran  Church. 

CHRISTEN  and  MAREN  ANDERSEN 

MICKELSEN  were  born  in  Denmark.  They  were 

both  converts  to  the  church.  She  came  to  this  coun- 

try as  a  young  girl.  She  came  across  the  country 
with  a  pioneer  handcart  company  enduring  all  the 
customary  hardships.  She  came  to  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah. 

Christen  came  from  Denmark  with  his  parents 

and  two  brothers.  They  came  from  New  York  to 
Utah  on  the  train.  He  met  and  married  Maren  in 

Salt  Lake  City.  They  were  among  those  sent  to  help 

settle  Huntsville,  Utah.  Christen  went  back  to  Den- 
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mark  and  served  a  two  year  mission.  This  placed 

severe  hardships  on  his  young  wife. 
They  were  the  parents  of  five  children,  Mary, 

who  passed  away  as  a  young  woman,  Peter, 
Dorothea,  Helmar,  and  Chris. 

They  came  to  Gentile  Valley  in  1878  and 
homesteaded  the  place  now  owned  by  Louis  Bitton. 

Maren  passed  away  while  still  young,  leaving  a 
young  family  for  her  husband  to  raise. 

Christen  married  again,  raised  his  family  and 
then  sold  his  farm  and  moved  to  Preston. 
Sometime  later  he  moved  to  California  where  he 
died. 

Both  Maren  and  Christen  are  buried  in  the  old 

pioneer  cemetery  in  Lago. 

In  1897  they  moved  into  a  new  home.  Michael 
found  a  market  for  dressed  ducks  in  Denver,  so  he 

took  his  shotgun  and  killed  and  dressed  wild  ducks 

and  sold  them  to  buy  paper,  carpet  and  furniture 
for  the  house. 

Michael  was  baptized  into  the  L.D.S.  Church  on 

March  3,  1899  by  Jonathan  Gibbs  and  was  con- 
firmed March  5,  1899  by  William  McGee  Harris. 

He  was  married  to  SARAH  EMELINE  HARRIS 

July  19,  1899  in  the  Logan  Temple.  This  couple 
were  the  parents  of  two  daughters:  Ethel  and 
Estella,  and  five  sons:  Harris,  Melvin,  Clark,  Reao 
and  Franklin. 

He  died  September  27,  1952. 

Dave  and  Lilly  Miles 
Michael  and  Sarah  Mickelson 

MICHAEL  MICKELSON  was  born  August  28, 

1873  two  miles  west  of  the  city  of  Hjorring,  Den- 
mark son  of  Anton  and  Gitte  Jensen  Mickelson. 

They  had  a  farm  of  about  20  acres  with  a  good 

home  which  consisted  of  one  long  house  -  living 
quarters  in  the  west  end,  a  dining  room,  bedroom, 

kitchen  and  parlor  or  living  room.  Next  was  the 
granary,  a  place  for  hay  and  the  east  end  was  for 
cattle,  pigs  and  poultry.  The  reason  for  having  only 

one  building  was  to  save  space  on  land  for  the  coun- 
try was  thickly  populated. 

After  nine  years  in  Lago,  their  father  Anton,  died 
leaving  the  responsibility  of  the  farm  and  family  to 
Michael,  who  was  then  seventeen.  They  had  a  few 
chickens  and  cows  and  the  mother  sold  butter  and 

eggs.  Michael  would  hunt  and  fish  for  other  food. 
He  and  his  brother  would  go  to  the  sheep  camps 
and  shear  sheep  in  the  spring  to  earn  a  few  dollars. 

DAVE  MILES  was  born  on  June  7,  1867  in 

Smihfield,  Utah.  He  moved  to  Mink  Creek,  Idaho 

in  1887.  Here  he  met  LILLY  GRAHAM,  born  in 

Murray,  Utah  May  5,  1871.  They  were  married  on 
December  12,  1887,  and  in  1889,  the  marriage  was 
solemnized  in  the  Logan  Temple.  In  1891,  Dave 
filled  a  mission  to  the  Southern  States. 

Dave  and  his  wife,  Lilly,  came  to  Gem  Valley  on 

May  11,  1901  and  homesteaded  in  the  Niter  area. 
He  secured  his  homestead  rights  from  the 

Presbyterian  Minister  there  for  $100.  They  remain- 
ed in  Niter  until  1917  when  they  moved  to  the 

Village  of  Grace,  Idaho.  Here  he  built  and  lived  in 
the  home  which  still  stands  on  the  corner  of  1st 

South  and  2nd  East,  where  his  daughter  Abbie, 

Mrs.  Gettys  Sorensen,  and  her  husband  live  at  the 

present  time. 
Dave  and  Lilly  Miles  were  parents  of  the  follow- 

ing children:  Hyrum  Harvey,  Joe,  Clifford,  Elvina, 
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Wesley,  Ed.  Ethel  and  Abbie.  Two  children,  Irene 
and  Ruthben,  died  in  infancy.  Harvey  and  Clifford 
were  both  killed  in  tragic  accidents. 

In  1916,  Dave  served  a  second  mission  to  the 
Northwest  States. 

Dave  Miles  played  a  very  prominent  part  in  the 

early  history  of  Gem  Valley.  He  served  as  President 
of  the  Last  Chance  Canal  Co.,  supervising  much  of 
its  construction.  He  served,  also,  as  President  of  the 
First  National  Bank  of  Grace  and  on  their  Board  of 

Directors.  He  was  a  member  of  the  Grace  Village 

Board  and  also  a  school  trustee.  He  supervised  the 
building  of  the  church  in  Niter  and  their  first 
school  house.  In  later  years  he  served  as  a  City 
Marshall  in  Grace.  He  was  Superintendent  of  the 

Infirmary  in  Pocatello  from  1931-1933. 
He  served  as  a  Sunday  School  Superintendent 

and  Chorister  in  Williams  Ward. 

Lilly  Miles  served  as  President  of  the  Grace 
Relief  Society  for  eight  years  and  as  a  Block 

Teacher  for  many  years.  She  worked  with  Dr.  Hub- 
bard during  the  flu  epidemic  of  1918. 

Dave  Miles  was  severely  injured  in  a  fall  down 
his  basement  stairs  on  October  26,  1935,  and  died 

as  a  result  of  these  injuries  on  November  7,  1935. 

After  a  long,  active  life,  Lilly  Miles  died  on  Oc- 
tober 4,  1957.  at  the  age  of  86.  Both  she  and  her 

husband  are  buried  in  the  Grace  Cemetery. 

David  and  Ida  May  Miles 

DAVID    HYRUM    MILES    was    born    in 

Minkcreek,  Idaho  on  October  29,  1888.  IDA  MAY 

was  born  April  1,  1897  in  Lund,  Idaho. They  were 
married  October  8,  1915  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 

David  enjoyed  ranching  as  his  occupation.  He 
filled  a  mission  in  Georgia  from  1909  to  1912.  He 

was  second  counselor  in  Kelley  Topance  Ward.  In 
1927  he  filled  a  home  mission  in  Soda  Springs.  He 

has  always  been  active  in  church  work. 
Ida  was  Primary  President  and  teacher  and  also 

worked  in  other  organized  duties  in  Relief  Society. 

She  loves  all  kinds  of  crocheting,  tatting,  and  knit- 
ting. 

They  had  six  children:  Harley.  Verna.  Dale, 

May,  Sewell  and  Newill.  They  also  raised  two 
grandchildren  after  their  mother  died,  one  was  13 
months  and  the  other  7  months,  born  prematurely. 

EDGAR  J.  MILES  was  born  in  Mink  Creek, 
Idaho  on  October  16,  1899.  MERLE  C.  MILES 

was  born  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  on  July  13,  1900. 

They  were  married  January  3,  1919  in  Pocatello, 

Idaho.  They  had  two  boys:  David  E.  Miles  and 
Abner  D.  Miles. 

Ed  worked  for  Utah  Power  and  Light  off  and  on 

for  about  20  years.  He  worked  at  the  Grace  Dam. 
at  the  Alexander  Dam  during  the  time  it  was  being 
built  in  1924:  at  Ashton  in  1925.  at  Cutler  plant  in 

1928  while  they  were  being  built.  During  this  time 

Merle  and  the  boys  worked  on  the  farm,  and  Ed 
would  come  home  between  jobs  to  help  with  the 
farm  and  with  their  sheep.  Merle  and  the  boys  were 

good  help. 
Merle  died  August  1.  1973. 

JOSEPH  DANIEL  MILES  was  the  second  child 
and  son  of  David  and  Lillie  Elizabeth  Graham 

Miles.  He  was  born  March  15.  1891  at  Mink 

Creek.  Idaho. 

Joseph  then  moved  with  his  parents  and  three 
brothers.  David  Hyrum.  Edgar.  Harvey,  and  one 
sister  Elvina  to  Gem  Valley  May  11.  1901.  He 
finished  school  in  Bench  and  later  Niter.  As  he 

grew  to  manhood,  he  was  always  quiet  and  reserv- 
ed. He  could  always  find  time  to  give  a  helping 

hand  to  anyone  in  need.  All  of  his  life  he  was  in- 
terested in  sheep,  cattle,  and  farming.  His  hobbies 

were  blacksmith  welding  and  carpenter  work.  He 
loved  to  make  things  and  give  them  away. 

He  was  baptized  in  Mink  Creek  March  15.  1899. 
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ordained  a  Deacon  June  6,  1904  in  Bench  Ward, 

and  ordained  a  Teacher  and  Priest  January  25, 
1909. 

Joseph  married  ELSIE  ANN  JOHNSON  June 
6,  1917  at  Pocatello,  Idaho.  They  lived  in  Fish 
Creek,  where  he  was  homesteading  land  there. 

They  lived  there  in  the  summer  and  milked  cows 
and  worked  for  neighbors  in  Beaver  Dams.  In  the 
fall  and  winter  they  would  move  back  to  Niter  to 

his  father's  place.  They  did  this  for  six  years,  until 
he  had  proved  up  on  his  homestead.  They  moved 

back  to  Niter  to  stay  in  November  1923.  Here  they 
sent  their  children  to  school. 

He  was  a  rancher  and  sheepman  and  served  for 

many  years  as  director  of  the  Bench  Canal. 
He  has  two  sisters  Ethel  and  Abbie,  one  brother 

Wesley  and  Clifford  (deceased),  and  Ruthben 
(deceased).  The  above  mentioned  were  born  here  in 
Gem  Valley. 

Joseph  was  ordained  an  Elder,  Seventy,  and 
High  Priest  November  20,  1923  by  Patriarch 
Hyrum  G.  Smith  of  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  He  was 
a  counselor  in  the  Deacons  Quorum,  and  a  second 

counselor  to  Bishop  Robert  Kingsford  in  Williams 

Ward.  They  had  their  marriage  solemnized  in  the 

Logan  Temple  June  10,  1924. 

Elsie  Ann  Johnson  Miles  was  very  busy  raising 
their  children  and  helping  her  husband  with  the 

many  jobs  on  the  farm,  and  also  working  at  her 
many  church  positions.  She  was  a  teacher  in  the 

Primary  and  Sunday  School,  organist  and 

counselor  in  the  Y. W.M.I. A.,  and  Relief  Society 
teacher  and  counselor. 

Elsie  was  not  very  well  at  this  time.  When  her 
fifth  child  was  born,  she  had  scarlet  fever,  and  it 

affected  her  heart.  She  was  under  the  doctor's  care, 
but  she  still  had  a  long  lingering  illness.  Neighbors 

and  relatives  came  and  tried  to  ease  her  suffering, 
but  she  passed  away  May  18,  1942. 

Joesph  lived  at  his  home  for  21  years  after  his 

wife's  death.  He  worked  with  his  brothers  and 
helped  his  family  in  many  ways.  Alba,  Lowell, 
Ruth,  and  Farrell  were  all  married.  Lowell  was 

helping  him  run  his  farm  and  sheep  at  the  time  of 
his  death.  He  was  operated  on  for  a  hernia  at  5:00 

o'clock  in  the  morning,  and  he  passed  away  the 
same  day  at  the  Caribou  County  Hospital,  August 
17,  1963  in  Soda  Springs.  Idaho.  They  both  are 
buried  in  the  Grace,  Idaho  Cemetery. 

Charles  Nielsen 
Mary  Nielsen 

CHARLES  WILLIAM  PETER  NIELSEN  was 

born  October  7,  1855  in  Prestic,  Denmark.  His 
father  James  Peter  Nielsen  and  his  mother 

Margaret  Hansen  Nielsen  were  "farm-hands." When  the  Mormon  missionaries  came  to  their 

home,  they  readily  accepted  the  gospel  and  were 

baptized.  They  began  to  make  plans  at  once  to 

come  to  America,  by  disposing  of  all  their  proper- 

ty. This  didn't  amount  to  enough  money,  so  the 
father  joined  the  army  of  Denmark,  which  enabled 
him  to  send  his  wife  and  children  to  America. 
The  mother  and  children  walked  across  the 

plains  and  arrived  in  Logan,  Utah  in  the  fall  of 

1865.  When  the  father  joined  them  a  year  later, 

they  moved  to  Weston.  Idaho  and  lived  there  for 
about  fifteen  years.  Then  they  purchased  a  ranch  in 
Gentile  Valley^  on  the  west  side  of  Bear  River, 
which  seemed  ideal  for  supporting  their  cattle. 

There  were  only  four  or  five  other  families  in  the 

valley  when  they  arrived  to  make  their  home. 
On  December  24.  1880  Charles  William  Peter 

Nielsen  married  MARY  LARSEN.  Mary  was  a 

daughter  of  Henrick  and  Marn  Hansen  Larsen, 
born  October  27,  1865  in  Logan,  Utah,  just  one 

year  after  her  parents  left  Denmark  and  crossed  the 
plains  with  the  church  company  of  William  B. 
Preston. 

When  Peter  Nielsen  and  his  young  bride,  Mary, 

began  their  married  life  in  a  one-room  log  house, 
they  suffered  the  hardships  and  trials  that  came  to 

most  of  the  early  settlers.  They  worked  hard  to  im- 
prove their  farm  and  did  all  they  could  to  support 

the  church  in  their  small  community.  Since  they 

were  among  the  first  settlers.  Peter  helped  with 

most  of  the  projects,  such  as  the  water  systems 
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bridges,  church  buildings,  the  Oneida  Academy, 
and  he  also  worked  on  the  Logan  Temple. 

When  the  Logan  Temple  was  completed,  Peter 

and  Mary,  with  their  two  children,  went  to  the 
dedication,  did  their  own  temple  work,  and  had 
their  children  sealed  to  them. 

As  the  family  grew  in  numbers,  two  more  rooms 
were  added  to  the  original  log  house,  to  make  room 

for  a  family  of  eight  children:  Hannah,  Margaret, 
James  Peter,  Alma,  Edward  (he  died  at  age  seven), 
Albert,  Mary  Amanda,  Vinnie  Elizabeth,  and 
Lorenzo. 

In  September  1899,  when  the  youngest  child, 
Lorenzo,  was  sixteen  months  old,  the  father  was 
called  to  a  mission  in  the  Northwestern  States. 

He  was  released  from  his  mission  three  months  ear- 

ly because  of  ill  health.  His  condition  was  diagnos- 
ed as  diabetes,  and  the  only  help  for  him  then,  was  a 

strict  diet,  which  seemed  to  help  for  a  while. 
In  the  next  four  years  two  more  daughters  were 

born:  Mae  Irene  and  Lettie  Marie. 

The  father's  health  failed  rapidly  and  he  passed 
away  October  25,  1908,  having  spent  the  last  nine 
months  of  his  life  partially  paralized. 

This  large  family,  under  the  influence  of  a 

capable  and  energetic  mother,  managed  the  farm, 
took  care  of  their  church  and  community  duties, 
and  eventually  built  a  new  home,  which  is  still  being 
used. 

As  the  family  grew  up  and  were  married,  a  son, 
Lorenzo  bought  the  farm  and  a  small  home  was 
purchased  for  their  mother  in  Mound  Valley  Ward, 

close  by  her  daughter  and  son-in-law,  Wilford  and 
Vinnie  Panter. 

In  December  1950,  while  she  was  away  visiting 
with  family  members,  her  home  burned  down,  and 

all  her  personal  things  were  destroyed. 
Her  family  arranged  for  an  apartment  for  her  at 

the  home  of  her  daughter  and  son-in-law.  Fern  and 
Lettie  Condie  of  Preston,  Idaho.  She  lived  there  un- 

til May  of  1952,  when  ill  health  made  it  impossible 
for  her  to  be  alone. 

She  passed  away  at  the  home  of  her  daughter  and 

son-in-law,  Alvin  and  Mae  Whitehead  June  5, 
1952. 

OLEF  NORSETH  homesteaded  160  acres  of 

land  northeast  of  Grace,  Idaho  about  1905.  This 

farm  was  located  along  the  Bear  River,  and  adja- 

Oiep  Norseth 

cent  to  the  head  canals  of  the  Last  Chance  Canal 

system.  The  cement  arch  and  the  lower  steel  flume 
were  both  on  the  Norseth  property. 

Olef  was  a  friendly,  good-natured  Norwegian, 
who  came  to  this  country  and  tended  sheep  for  Fred 
Burton  for  a  living. 

He  married  MARY  DALTON,  a  daughter  of 

John  and  Elizabeth  Dalton.  They  had  no  children 

of  their  own,  but  raised  one  nephew,  Claude,  for 
several  years. 

Mary  and  Olef  grubbed  the  sagebrush  from  their 
acres  and  it  became  a  productive  farm.  They 

planted  an  orchard  and  drilled  a  well.  This  enabled 
them  to  raise  a  garden  that  was  a  show  place.  They 

raised  garden  produce,  raspberries,  and  apples 
from  their  trees.  Their  land  produced  abundantly. 

Olef  was  born  in  1880  and  died  in  1972. 

Mary  Dalton  was  born  in  1885  and  died  in  1940. 
Both  are  buried  in  the  Grace  Cemetery. 

JOSEPH  OLORENSHAW  was  born  March  6, 

1869,  in  Coventry  Warwick,  England.  He  came  to 
the  United  States  with  his  parents  when  he  was  five 

years  old.  They  settled  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 
There  were  seven  children  in  this  family  and  three 
of  them  were  born  deaf,  Joseph,  Thomas  and  a  girl 
who  died  when  she  was  one  year  old. 

When  Joseph  was  a  youth  he  worked  in  a  prin- 
ting office  and  he  attended  the  deaf  school  in 

Ogden,  Utah.  It  was  at  this  school  he  met  his  future 
wife,  HELMER  MICKELSON,  who  was  also 

deaf.  They  were  married  December  30,  1899. 

They  lived  in  Salt  Lake  City  until  their  son 
James  was  born  in  1901.  They  moved  to  Lago, 

Idaho  about  two  years  later,  and  their  daughter 
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Lena  was  born  there.  They  later  came  to  Grace  and 

took  up  a  farm  west  of  town  and  for  the  first  three 

years  they  would  spend  the  winters  in  Lago  helping 

Mrs.  Olorenshaw's  father  with  his  farm  chores  and 
then  return  to  Grace  in  the  spring  to  plant  their 
crops. 

Joseph  worked  on  the  Last  Chance  Canal  with  a 
team  of  horses  on  a  scraper  and  endured  many 

hardships  there,  as  did  all  the  other  men  who  work- 
ed on  the  canal.  The  winters  were  cold  and  the  snow 

was  deep.  He  also  went  to  the  Cheatbeck  Canyon 

to  get  their  firewood  in  the  winter.Their  water  had 
to  be  hauled  from  the  river  in  barrels  for  culinary 

purposes,  and  they  would  drive  their  cows  to  the 
river  to  drink.  Part  of  the  original  home  in  Grace 
still  stands  west  of  town  on  the  north  side  of  the 

road  between  the  two  pipe  lines. 
In   1910  they  sold  their  farm  in  Grace  and 

bought  Helmer's  father's  farm  in  Lago. 
James  and  Lena  attended  school  in  Grace  while 

there,  and  later  attended  in  Lago.  School  was 

rather  hard  for  them  at  first,  because  their  parents 
could  only  talk  the  deaf  language  in  the  home,  and 

they  did  not  have  much  opportunity  to  learn  to 
speak  the  English  language  until  they  started  to 
school. 

James  and  Lena  grew  up  on  the  farm  in  Lago. 
James  married  Lona  Swensen  December  8,  1927 

and  bought  his  father's  place,  where  they  lived  until 
they  moved  to  Grace  in  1973.  Lena  married 
Alphonso  Sorenson  July  3,  1926,  he  died  in  1928. 
She  later  married  Lloyd  Panter  in  1930  and  still 
lives  in  Pocatello. 

Joseph  Olorenshaw  died  in  1950  and  his  wife, 
Helmer,  died  in  1958. 

GEORGE  OLSEN  was  born  at  Brigham  City, 

Utah  on  October  4,  1876.  His  family  lived  at  Man- 
tua, Utah  until  he  was  about  seven  years  old,  and 

then  they  moved  to  Mink  Creek,  Idaho. 

His  father  ran  a  dairy  farm  making  cheese,  and 
he  also  raised  sheep.  George  was  the  herder  of  these 

cows  and  sheep  in  his  younger  years.  He  played  in 
the  band  and  sang  in  the  church  and  his  schooling 
was  in  Mink  Creek  until  high  school  which  he 
attended  in  Preston,  Idaho.  At  this  time  his  mother 

died  in  childbirth  leaving  him  and  his  other 
brothers  and  sisters  without  a  mother.  He  had  six 

brothers    and    nine    sisters.    One   year    after    his 

George  and  Agnes  Olsen 

mother's  death,  his  father  also  passed  away  leaving 
George  the  oldest  boy  home  to  care  for  the  farm 
and  children.  There  were  twelve  at  home,  so  one 

can  see  he  had  a  great  deal  to  care  for  and  at  only 
eighteen  years  of  age. 

In  the  year  of  1901,  January  24.  he  was  married 
to  AGNES  BELL  BAIRD  in  the  Logan  Temple. 
He  had  met  her  after  she  had  come  to  Mink  Creek 

to  visit  her  sister,  Mary  Ellen  Keller. 

Agnes  Bell  Baird  was  born  January  24,  1880  in 

Brigham  City,  Utah  to  Alexander  Baird,  and 
Margaret  Crompton  Baird.  Her  father  was  a 

polygamist,  and  her  mother  had  sixteen  children  to 

care  for.  Her  father's  other  wife  died  at  childbirth, 
and  left  eight  small  children.  So  her  father  brought 
them  home  to  her  mother  to  raise. 

To  help  support  the  family,  Anges  went  to  Salt 
Lake  City,  Utah  to  work  as  a  nurse  maid  for  a  very 

wealthy  family  of  four  children.  The  family  learned 
to  love  her  as  she  took  very  good  care  of  the 
children.  They  took  her  on  many  trips  around  the 

country.  Her  boss  was  the  president  of  the  railroad 

company,  so  she  was  in  every  state  in  the  United 
States. 

Her  father  was  a  producer,  manager  and  actor  of 

plays.  President  Lorenzo  Snow  called  him  to  start  a 
theater  in  Brigham  City.  Her  father  taught  her  how 
to  act  for  the  plays,  and  she  played  in  almost  every 
one  he  produced. 

After  Agnes  and  George  were  married,  they  were 
blessed  with  nine  lovely  children.  The  four  boys 

were  Harley,  Alexander,  Vester,  and  Ariel.  The  five 
girls  were  Margaret  Olsen  Thomas,  Erminine 

Olsen  Egbert,  Grace  Olsen  Johnson,  Vessie  Olsen 
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Allen,  and  LaVon  Olsen  Evans. 

They  sold  their  farm  and  home  and  stock  soon 
after  this  and  bought  a  farm  in  Grace,  Idaho.  In 

December,  1915,  they  moved  into  their  new  home 

in  Grace.  They  were  able  to  make  a  good  living 
with  the  help  of  every  member  of  the  family. 

George  had  many  good  cows  and  took  good  care 
of  them,  as  he  did  everything  and  made  a  fine  living 

for  his  family.  Never  did  any  of  his  children  work 

away  from  home.  He  was  a  good  father  and  hus- 
band. He  also  enjoyed  various  work  in  the  church. 

On  May  10,  1941  he  died  as  a  result  of  a  prolonged 
illness.  He  had  suffered  a  stroke  the  previous  year. 

Agnes  also  worked  for  the  church  in  various 
capacities.  She  also  supported  her  husband  in  his 

callings.  She  had  great  faith,  and  raised  her  family 

that  way.  She  was  also  a  great  orator. 
Agnes  Bell  Baird  Olsen  died  on  November  25, 

1954. 

'^ 

William    Ortnond Susanna  Ormond 

Esther  Ormond 

On  the  10th  of  April  1856  WILLIAM 
CHARLES  ORMOND,  the  second  son,  of  John 
and  Martha  Jenkins  Ormond  was  born  in  a  little 

old  home  in  Brigham  City,  Utah.  Although  he  was 

only  four  years  old  when  the  family  moved  to 
Logan,  he  carried  with  him  such  vivid  memories  of 
his  early  home  and  a  small  irrigation  ditch  where  he 

played  as  a  child,  that  he  was  able  to  locate  the 
spot  when  he  returned  at  the  age  of  twenty. 

At  the  age  of  fourteen  he  started  to  learn  the 

trade  of  furniture  making  with  Charles  Olsen.  The 

following  spring  he  started  carpentering  and  house 
building  with  Traveler  and  Monson.  He  worked  for 

them  for  two  years  for  $20.00  a  month.  That  was 

where  he  learned  his  life's  work.  In  1875  Brigham 
Young  and  Marriam  Lewis  traced  some  Utah 
History  and  found  that  he  was  the  first  boy  born  in 
Utah  to  learn  a  trade. 

He  married  SUSANNA  ALLSOP  November  27, 

1876.  They  were  married  by  Lorenzo  Snow,  at  his 
home  in  Brigham  City.  On  November  14,  1878  they 
received  their  endowments  and  were  sealed  by 

Joseph  F.  Smith.  Thus  they  were  married  and  seal- 
ed by  two  who  later  became  presidents  of  the 

church. 

In  1883  his  wife,  Susanna,  got  typhoid  fever 

and  pneumonia  and  died  September  29,  1883.  He 
then  took  his  three  little  girls,  Martha  Mildred, 

Mary  Ellen,  and  Susa  Etta,  to  Logan  to  live  with 
his  mother. 

He  continued  to  work  as  a  carpenter  throughout 

Cache  Valley.  While  building  a  barn  for  Carsen 
Allen  at  Coveville  he  got  acquainted  with 
ELIZABETH  ESTHER  COMISH  whom  he 

married  February  25,  1885.  He  then  took  his  bride 
and  his  three  little  girls  to  his  home  in  Richmond 

where  they  lived  until  June,  then  they  moved  to 
Coveville.  While  here,  two  sons  and  four  daughters 
were  born:  Alberta,  Leonard  C,  Ester  Mae,  Ruth, 

Francis,  Ada,  and  Burnice. 

In  1898  they  homesteaded  at  Grace,  pa.t  of  the 

homestead  is  part  of  the  Welfare  Farm  south  of 
Grace.  When  he  moved  to  Grace  he  had  a  wife  and 

nine  children  to  make  the  long  move.  They  had  five 

cows,  four  horses,  twenty-five  chickens  and  twenty- 
five  cents  in  cash  when  they  reached  their  new 
home.  Vera,  their  last  child  was  born  in  this  pioneer 
home. 

In   1900  William  Charles  worked  on  the  Last 
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Chance  Canal.  They  had  no  powder  and  no  money, 

yet  they  were  determined  to  get  water,  so  they  used 

picks,  bars,  and  shovels. 
In  1903  he  was  first  assistant  to  the  Grace  Ward 

Sunday  School  with  Landon  Rich,  then  he  was 
sustained  as  superintendent,  which  position  he  held 
for  two  years. 

In  1906  he  built  the  Pond  and  Greaves  Store  and 

a  frame  school  and  church  house  to  take  the  place 

of  the  old  log  buildings  used  earlier.  In  1908  he  was 
in  charge  of  building  12  miles  of  flume  and  6  miles 

of  siphon  on  the  Malad  River,  then  he  helped  build 
a  dam  on  the  Snake  River  west  of  Mountain  Home, 
Idaho. 

He  then  returned  home  and  helped  build  the  ce- 
ment block  school  house  at  Grace,  he  also  helped 

build  the  church  house  of  the  same  material,  to  be 
used  as  a  ward  and  stake  house  for  Bannock  Stake. 
The  school  was  finished  in  1910  and  the  church  in 
1911. 

In  July  1921  his  wife  was  seriously  injured  in  a 

buggy  acccident.  She  died  August  2,  1921.  William 
Charles  later  married  ANNA  ANDERSON  and 

they  made  their  home  in  Logan,  Utah. 

In  his  79th  year  he  worked  on  the  amphitheatre, 
where  he  caught  such  a  severe  cold,  that  he  never 
fully  recovered.  He  thought  if  he  could  consult  his 

old  friend  and  doctor,  Ellis  Kackley,  in  Soda 
Springs,  that  he  could  make  him  feel  better,  so  his 
oldest  daughter  Martha  Mildred  and  husband, 

Robert  Kingsford,  brought  him  to  their  home,  and 
then  took  him  to  the  doctor.  The  kindly  old  doctor 
could  see  that  he  was  failing  fast,  and  that  he  could 
do  no  good.  He  remained  at  the  home  of  his 

daughter  and  family  until  he  died  on  September  29, 
1936. 

HORACE  ALVIN  PACK  was  born  April  11, 
1889  in  Kamas,  Utah.  He  was  the  third  child  of 

Quince  Rufus  Pack  and  Hannah  Jane  Oliver. 

Horace  had  very  dark  brown  eyes  and  until  he 
was  about  six  years  old,  his  hair  was  about  as  white 
as  cotton,  then  it  turned  dark. 

The  family  lived  in  Bountiful  for  a  short  time  and 

then  moved  back  to  Kamas,  Utah.  They  remained 

here  for  three  years.  When  Horace  was  a  boy  of 
nine  years,  he  came  to  Grace,  Idaho  in  1898,  with 
his  parents.  It  was  cold  and  there  was  no 

house — nor  wood  to  burn — nor  anything  but  snow. 

Horace  and  Harriet  Pack 

They  lived  in  a  covered  wagon  for  two  weeks  while 
his  father  built  a  log  house  out  of  logs  that  he  had 

prepared  the  summer  before.  The  house  was 
located  where  the  Comish  ranch  is  now.  (1977) 

When  spring  came,  they  returned  to  Utah  where 
they  remained  for  two  years.  They  then  returned  to 

Grace,  Idaho  to  make  a  permanent  home. 
Horace  attended  elementary  school  for  eight 

years  in  a  one-room  log  school  house.  He  was 
twelve  years  old  when  he  was  baptized  a  member  of 

the  L.D.S.  Church  by  Leonard  Rich.  He  was  bap- 
tized in  the  river  about  300  yards  below  where  the 

highway  crosses  the  river  north  of  town. 
He  started  going  with  his  father  when  he  was 

twelve  years  old  to  learn  the  carpenter  trade.  On  his 
first  job  he  laid  flooring  for  24c  a  hundred  feet.  He 
also  laid  shingles  on  a  house  in  Syracuse,  Utah,  and 

his  next  job  was  on  the  Woods  Cross  Canning  Fac- 
tory. 

Horace  liked  sports  and  played  on  the  baseball 
team.  He  was  the  pitcher. 

Horace  met  ANNIE  WILLIAMS  about  a  year 
after  she  moved  to  Grace  from  Ivins  or  Sterrett  as 
it  was  known.  He  and  Annie  won  a  waltz  contest 

during  their  courtship.  This  was  at  a  dance  at  the 
first  school  built  in  Grace. 

On  November  3,  1909  Horace  and  Annie  took 

the  train  to  Pocatello,  Idaho,  where  they  were 
married  in  the  courthouse.  He  was  twenty  years  old 
at  this  time. 

To  this  union  were  born  six  children — John 
Terrell  Pack,  Quince  Reul,  Margaret  Jane  (Peggy), 

Hannah  Isabel,  Horace  Alma,  and  Ruth.  Hannah 

Isabel  died  at  the  age  of  Vh  weeks  of  pneumonia. 
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Three  days  later  on  February  20,  1920,  Reul  died 

from  typhoid  fever.  These  children  were  buried  on 

the  same  day  in  the  same  grave.  The  Pack  children 
were  all  raised  and  educated  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

Horace  loved  outdoor  sports  such  as  hunting  and 

fishing  and  took  his  family  on  many  outings  and 

camping  trips. 
It  was  on  March  1.  1936,  that  Annie  Williams 

Pack  passed  away. 
On  January  21,  1937,  Horace  married 

HARRIET  HOPKINS  MARTINSEN.  To  this  un- 

ion were  born  two  girls:  Colleen,  born  June  3,  1938, 
and  Carla  Dawn,  born  October  3,  1940.  His  wife, 

Harriet,  had  previously  been  married  and  had  two 
children,  Ernest  and  Beverly. 

From  the  age  of  twelve,  Horace  made  his  living 

doing  carpenter  work.  Three  generations  of  the 
Pack  family  lay  claim  to  having  built  outright,  or 

remodeled,  three-fourths  of  the  homes  in  Gem 
Valley.  Besides  homes,  there  were  schools, 
churches  and  other  construction  jobs  to  their  credit. 

In  Horace's  spare  time  he  built  many  beautiful  and 
intricate  pieces  of  novelty  furniture,  such  as  tables, 

lamps,  etc.  They  are  truly  a  work  of  art  and  he  has 
taken  the  Grand  Champion  Blue  Ribbon  at  the 

Fair  each  year  for  many  years. 

Horace  is  now  (1977)  88  years  old.  He  is  still  in 
good  health  and  he  and  Harriet  still  maintain  their 
home  in  Grace,  Idaho.  From  1898  to  1977  makes  a 

79  year  span  of  contributing  to  and  watching  the 
growth  of  Grace  and  surrounding  areas. 

QUINCE  RUFUS  PACK  was  the  third  child, 

but  first  son  of  Mary  Jane  Walker  and  John  Pack. 
He  was  born  on  November  29,  1857  in  Salt  Lake 

City,  Utah. 
On  March  3,  1880,  he  was  married  to  his  one 

mate  HANNAH  JANE  OLIVER.  Their  first  son 

was  born  February  12,  1882,  in  Bountiful,  Utah. 
His  name  was  Quince  Edward  Pack,  and  he  died 

twelve  days  later  on  February  24,  1882. 
Their  second  child,  a  daughter  LaVerna  was 

born  December  24,  1887,  also  in  Bountiful.  Two 

years  after  LaVerna  was  born  the  Packs  moved  to 

Kamas,  Utah  where  Hannah  opened  a  millinery 
shop  and  ice  cream  parlor.  Quince  worked  in  the 
shingle  mill.  Two  sons  were  born  in  Kamas,  Utah. 

Horace  Alvin  on  April  11,  1889,  and  Elmo  Hugh, 
on  July  31,  1895. 

Quince  Pack 
Hannah  Pack 

On  November  3,  1898,  the  Packs  moved  to 
Idaho  to  the  area  which  later  became  known  as 

Grace.  Arriving  in  a  covered  wagon  with  his  wife 
and  three  children,  and  having  no  house  they  had  to 

live  in  a  covered  wagon  until  he  erected  a  house  on 
their  claim.  Snow  fell  the  night  they  arrived.  By 
dint  of  hard  work  and  long  hours,  he  built  his  log 

house  in  four  days,  out  of  logs  he  had  previously 

stockpiled.  It  wasn't  much  of  a  house,  but  it  was 
warmer  than  the  covered  wagon  and  the  family 
made  themselves  comfortable. 

Quince  had  to  go  to  the  hills  to  get  wood  for  fuel. 
He  hauled  the  drinking  and  cooking  water  in 
barrels  from  the  river  two  miles  away. 

They  engaged  in  farming  for  a  short  time.  Then 
selling  the  farm,  they  purchased  a  building  on  the 
north  side  of  the  Bear  River,  built  by  J.  J.  Trappett. 

This  building  at  that  time,  housed  living  quarters 

on  the  ground  floor,  and  a  dance  hall  upstairs. 

Quince  and  Hannah  added  a  general  store  in  1899. 
This  was  the  only  store  at  that  time. 

Hannah  ran  the  store  and  Quince  worked  for  the 

Telluride  Company  as  carpenter  foreman.  They 
also  boarded  other  construction  workers  to  help 

with  the  additional  expenses  for  the  family.  Money 

was  scarce  so  barter  was  popular  and  in  the 
summer  most  of  the  children  went  barefoot,  to  save 

their  shoes  for  Sunday  and  for  the  cold  winter 

months.  Neighbors  would  divide  their  meat  when 
they  killed  a  hog,  so  they  almost  always  had  fresh 
meat. 

The  Packs  had  the  first  telephone  in  the  valley. 

When  messages  came,  he  would  deliver  them,  often 
at  night,  to  people  living  as  far  away  as  Niter. 
When  sickness  struck  in  the  valley,  he  would  call 

the  doctor  at  Soda  Springs,  twelve  miles  away. 
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During  severe  winters  the  doctor  would  wear  out 
three  or  four  teams  coming  the  twelve  miles,  so 

neighbors  would  take  their  teams  part  way  to  Soda 

Springs  and  they  would  relay  the  doctor  with  their 
teams  until  they  were  exhausted.  Another  neighbor 
would  be  waiting  to  take  the  doctor  on.  Thus  they 

worked  together  to  save  lives  in  the  nineties. 

It  might  also  be  added  that  about  1909,  he  was 
the  first  one  to  have  electricity  in  the  area.  This  was 
due  to  his  efforts  in  building  the  electrical  plant. 

As  more  people  moved  into  Grace,  they  built  a 
one-room  school  house,  of  which  Quince  donated 
all  the  windows,  nails  and  twenty  dollars.  There 

wasn't  a  church  house  then,  and  they  needed  a  place 
for  the  young  people  to  hold  their  M.I. A.  so  the 
bishop  asked  Quince  to  let  them  use  his  dance  hall. 
He  was  happy  to  let  them  use  it,  and  was  only  sorry 

that  he  didn't  have  enough  chairs  for  them,  and 
they  had  to  bring  their  own.  The  dance  hall  was 

used  by  the  people  for  any  of  the  public  dances,  par- 
ties, and  so  forth  that  they  held. 

A  set  of  twin  boys  was  born  to  them  in  1905,  but 

they  died  at  different  times  during  the  first  year  of 

their  lives.  On  March  1,  1906,  their  daughter  Nor- 
ma was  born.  She  was  their  last  child. 

In  the  early  1900's  Quince  designed  and  super- 
vised building  of  the  arch  spanning  the  Bear  River 

above  Grace.  This  arch  originally  used  to  support  a 

wooden  flume  spanning  the  river,  is  now  replaced 

by  a  metal  flume  on  steel  towers. 
During  his  lifetime  in  Gem  Valley,  Quince  help 

build  or  built,  many  homes  of  distinction  for  many 

of  the  people  moving  in  and  settling  in  the  area. 
He  built  his  last  house  when  he  was  83  years  old. 

This  was  in  1940,  and  is  presently  owned  by  Russell 
Smith,  located  at  301  South  1st  West  in  Grace. 

After  that  he  did  a  few  odd  jobs,  but  was  getting 
rather  old  to  be  doing  that  kind  of  work,  so  he 

started  making  fancy  pieces  of  furniture. 

Quince  died  on  July  27,  1953,  at  96  years  of  age, 
just  four  years  under  one  full  century. 

He  was  a  man  who  took  pride  in  his  skill  and  has 
passed  this  craft  on  for  four  generations;  to  his 

sons,  Horace  and  Elmo;  to  his  grandsons.  J.  Terrell 
and  Horace  Jr.;  and  to  one  of  his  great  grandsons, 
Terrell  W.  Pack. 

CHARLES    RICHARD    PANTER    was    born 

May  28,  1872  at  South  Cottonwood,  Salt  Lake  Ci- 

ty,   Utah    MARGARET   ROSELLA   CAHOON 
was  born  July  1,  1873  at  Brigham  City,  Utah. 

They  were  married  June  27,  1894  in  Logan, 
Cache,  Utah.  Born  to  this  union  were  twelve 

children:  Reynolds  Panter,  Wilford  Panter,  Vera 
Panter  Nielsen,  William  Panter,  Kenneth  Panter, 

Lloyd  Panter,  Leland  Panter,  Wesley  Panter, 

Virginia  Panter  Smith,  Donald  Panter,  Lorin 
Panter,  DeLoy  Panter. 

Charles  was  a  farmer,  and  he  also  liked  hunting, 

and  doing  carpenter  work  along  with  farming.  He 
fulfilled  a  mission  for  the  Mormon  Church  with 

headquarters  at  Davenport,  Iowa.  This  was  done 
after  the  death  of  his  wife,  and  while  several  of  his 

children  were  still  at  home.  They  took  care  of  one 

another.  He  enjoyed  reading  and  was  very  compe- 
tent in  reciting  scriptures.  His  wife  died  at  age 

forty-two  and  he  raised  his  family  alone  with  the 
exception  of  the  two  youngest.  A  sister  and  a 
neighbor  raised  the  two  youngest  children. 

WILFORD  PANTER  was  born  June  3,  1896  at 

Mound  Valley,  Idaho  and  passed  away  September 

8,  1966,  in  Logan,  Utah. 
VINNIE  NIELSEN  was  born  January  8,  1896  at 

Cleveland,  Idaho  and  passed  away  January  9,  1971. 
Wilford  and  Vinnie  were  married  March  15, 

1916  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple.  Three  girls  and 

two  boys  came  to  bless  their  home.  Margaret,  their 

first  born,  died  when  just  six  weeks  old.  The  follow- 
ing children  are  still  living:  Dean,  LaRene 

(Corbett),  Ronald,  and  Joyce  (Bennett). 
Wilford  was  the  second  child  born  to  Charles  and 

Margaret  Cahoon  Panter,  who  had  a  large  family 
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of  nine  boys  and  two  girls.  As  a  result  Wilford 

while  very  young,  learned  to  work,  also  to  love  it. 
That  love  of  work  never  left  him  and  as  he  lay  ill, 

the  fact  that  he  could  no  longer  ride  a  horse  or  trac- 
tor cause  him  much  concern.  He  loved  the 

challenge  of  making  a  living  by  farming  and 
ranching. 

Vinnie  came  from  a  large  family  also,  a  family  of 

nine.  Her  father  died  at  an  early  age  leaving  the 

family  the  responsibility  of  making  a  livelihood. 

Education  was  very  meager  for  both  Wilford  and 
Vinnie.  Schooling  ended  for  both  of  them  with  the 

eighth  grade,  as  they  assumed  the  responsibility  of 

helping  provide  a  living  for  their  families.  The 
nearest  high  school  was  at  Preston,  Idaho  28  miles 
away. 

Vinnie  worked  out  most  of  the  time  doing  house 

work  for  different  people  of  the  valley,  receiving 
$1.00  or  sometimes  $1.50  per  week  for  pay.  She 

was  very  happy  when  she  received  $1.50,  thinking 
that  she  had  done  very  well. 

Wilford's  experiences  were  about  the  same, 
working  for  the  other  people,  having  fun  as  they 

grew,  playing  baseball,  dancing  and  the  few  ac- 
tivities they  had  at  that  time. 

Bear  River  separated  their  homes,  so  as  they 
became  interested  in  each  other  their  courting  days 

brought  them  together  by  horse  and  buggy,  cross- 
ing the  river  very  often.  Then  came  marriage,  a 

family  and  the  responsibility  of  caring  and 

providing  for  them.  They  acquired  a  home  next  to 
the  one  Wilford  was  born  in  .  To  supplement  their 

income  from  the  farm,  they  boarded  the  school 
teacher,  sometimes  two  of  them,  who  came  into  the 

valley  to  teach.  Wilford  also  worked  for  the  county 

with  team  and  wagon,  as  they  graded  and  graveled 
the  roads. 

They  both  served  their  Church  in  many  different 

callings,  as  they  grew  and  raised  their  family, 
teaching  them  the  same  principles  which  were  basic 
in  their  lives.  They  served  the  community  as  well, 

serving  on  the  school  board,  promoting  things  for 
the  good  of  the  community. 

Vinnie  received  recognition  for  the  many  ribbons 

and  awards  she  won  at  the  county  and  state  fairs  in 
the  baking  and  canning  exhibits. 

As  retirement  came  they  moved  to  Logan,  where 

Vinnie  obtained  a  job  at  the  Logan  Knitting  Mills, 
where  she  did  the  hand  finishing  on  the  coats  and 

dresses.  She  worked  there  for  13  years  and  was  still 
going  strong  when  she  passed  away  one  Saturday 
morning  of  a  massive  heart  attack. 

Wilford  had  proceeded  her  in  death  four  years 
earlier,  following  a  lingering  illness. 

James  and  Harriet  Parkhouse 

JAMES  V.  PARKHOUSE  was  born  at 

Chadwell  Heath,  Essex  County,  England.  He  lived 

there  until  he  was  six  years  of  age,  then  moved  w  ith 
his  family  to  West  Buckland,  Devon  County,  and 
remained  there  until  he  was  sixteen.  He  left 

England  in  1904  on  the  ship  Philadelphia,  and 
arrived  at  New  York.  From  here  he  took  the  train 

to  Stuttgart,  Arkansas,  where  his  Uncle  James  V. 
Vicery  met  him  and  took  him  to  Almyra  to  live 
with  him  and  his  wife  Katy  on  the  farm. 

When  James  V.  was  nineteen  he  planned  to  teach 

school.  The  going  wage  was  $35.00  a  month,  with 
board  and  room  to  pay.  His  uncle  urged  him  to  go 

to  North  Dakota  where  the  pay  was  $35.00  a 

month  plus  board  and  room,  working  on  a  farm. 
This  was  his  choice,  and  he  went  to  Spiritswood, 
North  Dakota,  to  work  on  a  farm  for  F.  E.  Brain. 

After  awhile  he  quit  and  worked  for  Mr.  Denver 
Wilson.  While  there  he  had  an  accident  and  lost  his 

right  thumb.  He  was  in  the  hospital  at  Jamestown, 

and  after  getting  discharged  in  January  1908,  he 
went  to  visit  an  aunt  and  uncle  in  Hyde  Park, 
Illinois.  His  uncle  advised  him  to  write  A.  J. 

KnoUin,  of  Chicago,  who  had  herds  of  sheep  in 

Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  He  felt  that  he  could  do  this 

kind  of  work  while  his  hand  was  healing.  He  arriv- 
ed in  Soda  Springs  in  March  1908.  He  worked  in 

the  warehouse  for  the  sheep  outfit  for  a  month  and 
a  half.  He  then  worked  for  York  Brothers  sheep 
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outfit  as  camp  tender.  He  herded  sheep  later  for 
Brown  Brothers,  then  Hadfield  &  Son,  &  Knollin 
&  Finch. 

He  purchased  his  land  in  1910  from  Mr.  Mulhall. 

To  supplement  his  income,  he  worked  with  George 
Tanner  on  the  dam  in  Sulphur  Canyon,  and  later 

for  Mr.  Turner  digging  potatoes  with  a  pitchfork. 
Several  winters  he  worked  as  a  maintainance  man 

for  Utah  Power  &  Light. 
HARRIET  HANNAH  TRAPPETT,  one  of 

eleven  children,  was  born  to  Elizabeth  and  John 

Trappett  in  Grace,  Idaho  November  12,  1897. 
James  V.  and  Harriet  were  married  March  21, 

1913  at  Salt  Lake  City.  They  then  returned  to 

Grace  to  farm  and  buy  more  land.  While  raising 
their  children,  James  served  as  clerk  of  the 

Telluride  School  District,  and  was  secretary  of  the 

First  West  Lateral  Canal  Co.  for  20  years. 
While  their  children  attended  Telluride 

School,  hot  lunches  were  instituted,  and  no  one 

ever  wanted  to  miss  school  on  the  day  it  was 

Harriet's  turn.  She  always  made  a  huge  kettle  of 
home  made  chicken  noodle  soup.  There  was  never 

any  left  over. 
Eight  children  were  born  to  them:  Jessie  Wilson, 

Joy  Spencer.  Fred  Parkhouse  of  Lewiston.  Idaho. 
Marjorie  Pack  of  Ukiah.  California,  Mildred 

Williams,  Spokane,  Washington,  May  Caress, 
Butte,  Montana,  and  James  V.  Parkhouse,  Jr.  of 

Grace,  (a  daughter,  Gertrude  died  of  diphtheria  at 
the  age  of  two). 

They  sold  their  ranch  to  their  two  sons  and 

retired,  spending  their  winters  in  Arizona.  They 

always  came  home  in  the  spring  to  plant  a  big  gar- 
den and  take  care  of  their  berries  and  fruit  trees, 

and  polish  rocks  they  collected  during  the  winter. 
They  both  enjoyed  hunting  and  fishing. 

James  and  Harriet  celebrated  their  fiftieth  wed- 

ding anniversary  recently.  Mrs.  Parkhouse  died 
March  14,  1976. 

HENRY  PERRY  was  born  in  Leicestershire, 

England,  November  21,  1851.  He  was  a  small  man, 

but  very  ambitious.  Before  coming  to  America,  he 

hauled  coal,  and  worked  in  a  stocking  factory.  He 
was  turned  out  of  school  because  he  was  a  Mor- 

mon, therefore  he  had  very  little  schooling.  He 

came  to  America  when  he  was  eighteen  years  old. 

and  to  Salt  Lake  City  in  1870. 

Henry    married    MARY    JANE    RIDGES, 

daughter  of  Joseph  Harris  Ridges,  May  11,  1874. 

Joseph  Ridges  was  the  builder  of  the  Tabernacle 
organ  in  Salt  Lake  City. 

Henry  and  Mary  Jane  moved  to  Gentile  Valley, 

Idaho.  They  lived  in  a  small  one-room  log  cabin. 
They  were  hard  working  pioneers.  Henry  made  his 
living  later  on  by  hauling  milk  to  the  Thatcher 
Creamery,  and  running  a  small  farm.  He  and  his 
wife  raised  13  children:  Evelyn  Egbert,  Henry  R., 

Emma  Williams,  Joseph  Perry,  Ada  Harris,  Julia 
Wilcox,  Millie  Bennett,  George,  Mary  Ann  Davis. 

Myrtle  Hymas,  Alice  Merrill,  Thelma  Shumway, 
and  Letha  Whitehead. 

Mary  Jane  was  always  by  Henry's  side  helping 
with  everything  she  could  do.  She  was  an  excellent 
homemaker. 

Henry  loved  music.  He  used  to  lead  the  little 
choir,  and  for  a  baton  he  would  use  a  pencil  and 
sometimes  a  pocket  knife. 

William  D.  Perry 
Ellen  Perry 

WILLIAM  D.  (WILL)  PERRY,  born 
November  24,  1881  in  Slaterville,  Utah,  son  of 

Henry  and  Esther  Price  Perry.  As  a  young  boy  he 

loved  to  play  ball,  go  horseback  riding,  horse  rac- 
ing, and  dancing. 

In     1904    Will    met    ELLEN    ELIZABETH 

MCLAIN,  daughter  of  David  Wilkin  and  Mary 
Ellen  Egbert  McLain.  Ellen  was  born  May  5,  1886 

in  Fairview.  Idaho,  Oneida  County — now  Franklin. 

As  a  young  girl  she  worked  for  Mrs.  Medford, 
she  had  to  carry  water  up  a  steep  hill  to  do  the 
washing  and  did  it  on  the  wash  board.  She  did 
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house  work  for  Mrs.  Andrews.  She  enjoyed  work- 

ing for  Mrs.  Beus,  northeast  of  Soda  Springs  dur- 
ing sheep  shearing  season.  They  always  had  a  lot  of 

men  to  cook  for. 

Ellen  and  Will  were  married  March  8,  1905  by 
John  Allsop.  In  1906  they  homesteaded  4  miles 

northwest  of  Grace.  After  they  were  married  they 

built  a  two-room  log  house  that  had  a  dirt  roof 

where  they  lived  for  several  years.  They  both  work- 
ed hard  and  saved  enough  money  to  build  a  four- 

room  frame  house. 

They  had  to  haul  drinking  water  for  years  from 
Ren  Simonson  and  Gibsons.  In  the  winter  they 
hauled  water  from  the  Tanner  Canal  for  the  cows 
and  horses. 

Will  worked  for  Eli  Hansen  and  the  Simonson 

Brothers,  when  he  had  all  of  his  crops  planted.  He 
also  worked  for  the  Telluride  Co.  or  what  is  now 

known  as  the  Utah  Power  and  Light  Company,  or 
the  Grace  Power  Plant.  He  left  home  at  5:30  and 

had  to  be  to  work  by  7:00  a.m.  He  worked  10  hours 
a  day  and  went  back  and  forth  with  his  team  and 

wagon.  He  helped  haul  material  to  build  the  power 
house,  and  then  hauled  material  to  build  the  dam 

north  of  Grace.  He  then  worked  on  the  pipeline. 

They  were  blessed  with  eight  girls  and  one  boy. 
Two  died  at  an  early  age,  Ilah  died  at  two  years  of 

age  and  Rudith  died  at  four  days.  Thelma  is  the 

oldest  living.  She  married  Lowell  A.  Hansen.  Elva 
married  Arthur  Preece.  They  were  later  divorced. 
Arthur  died  February  1,  1959.  She  later  married 

Frank  Atkinson.  Frank  died  July  18,  1962.  Ef- 
fie  married  W.  Clarence  Skinner.  Inez  married 

Cecil  R.  Douglass.  Blanche  married  Llewllyn  G. 
Roberts.  Florence  married  Verlon  Jepsen.  He  died 
February  8,  1949.  She  later  married  Lanham  G. 
(Red)  Haynes.  Maxine  married  Darell  L.  Erickson. 

Ellen  was  ill  for  about  fifteen  years.  She  died 

February  14,  1962.  Florence  lived  with  Will  for 
three  or  four  years.  Since  then  he  has  lived  with 

some  of  the  girls.  He  sold  the  farm  land  to  Grant 

Williams,  about  two  years  before  Ellen  died,  then 
in  1973  he  sold  the  home  to  Grant. 

William  D.  (Will)  Perry  was  95  years  old  on 
November  24,  1976. 

^yr 

Christian  and  Hansine  Peterson 

HANSINE  PETERSON  was  born  in 

Branderslev,  Denmark  February  19,  1884.  Chris- 
tian and  Hansine  were  married  July  7,  1908  at 

Lago,  Idaho.  Five  children  were  born  to  this  young 

couple:  Harry  R.,  Chauncy,  Mary  Ella,  and  Norma 
Rosa  Adams. 

Christian  was  a  farmer  and  Hansine  a 

meticulous  housewife.  She  was  a  gardener,  liked  to 

crochet,  and  was  a  good  neighbor  to  all. 

EMIL    EPHRAIM    PETERSON,    son    of 
Christina  Olsen  and  Peter  Peterson  was  born  in 

Vestra  Ving-)-ker,  Sweden,  March  16,  1881.  He 
was  the  eldest  son  of  a  family  of  eleven  children. 

His  parents  had  accepted  the  L.D.S.  Church  in 
Sweden,  and  brought  their  family  to  this  country 
when  he  was  three  years  old. 

The  family  settled  in  Mink  Creek,  Idaho.  Here 

he  grew  to  manhood,  along  with  his  brothers  and 

f^. 
CHRISTIAN    PETERSON    was 

Serritslev,  Denmark,  July  21,  1882. 

born    in 
Emil  Peterson Matilda  Peterson 
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sisters  who  are:  Albertina  (Tina)  Keller,  Elizabeth 

Olsen,  Esther  Ashbaker,  Anna  Nelson,  Elin  Peter- 
son (who  died  in  childhood),  Avol,  Nephi,  Enoch, 

Richard,  and  Rebecca  Baird. 
Emil  married  MATILDA  PETERSON  on 

March  27,  1902  in  the  Logan  Temple.  They  had 

five  sons  born  to  them:  Kenneth  Ephriam,  Harold 
Truman,  Donald  Thurman,  Glen  Leon,  and 
Farrell.  Kenneth  died  in  1940  and  Glen  in  1927. 

In  1907  he  brought  his  family  to  Gentile  Valley. 

They  lived  in  a  tent  that  summer  while  he  worked 
for  the  Telluride  Power  Company.  In  the  winter 

they  moved  to  Bench  where  there  was  water.  He 

purchased  the  "Home  Place"  in  1908  from  Victoria 
Wilde  (widow  of  Joe  Johnson). 

In  about  1915  or  1916  he  built  the  house  that  is 

still  the  Peterson  Home.  They  all  worked  to  make 

it  a  place  of  which  to  be  proud.  They  planted  lawn, 
trees,  flowers,  fruit  trees,  and  berries.  The  three 

older  boys,  Kenneth,  Harry,  and  Donald  can 
remember  helping  their  father  grub  sagebrush  to 
clear  the  land.  On  the  south  was  the  Peter  Johnson 

place  (later  the  Hans  P.  Hansen  place).  The  Peter- 
son Hansen  Ditch  Co.  was  largely  the  work  of  these 

two  men.  These  fine  families  were  living  examples 
of  thrift  and  industry.  They  believed  in  giving  a  full 
days  work  for  their  pay,  treating  their  help  and 
their  neighbors  as  they  would  be  treated.  He  was 

bishop  of  his  ward  for  fourteen  years  and  on  the 

school  board  for  thirty-five  years.  His  life  was  a  life 
of  service  in  some  capacity  in  his  community  and 
church.  He  loved  the  beautiful  things  of  life,  music, 

good  books,  the  beauties  of  nature,  a  beautiful  day, 
and  a  glowing  sunset.  All  these  things  enriched  his 

life.  He  didn't  have  time  for  pettiness.  He  never 
criticized  others,  he  was  always  mindful  of  those 
less  fortunate  than  himself  and  was  always  there  to 

help  any  one  who  needed  help.  He  could  speak  the 
kindly  word  and  give  encouragement  to  those  who 

were  down-hearted,  or  discouraged  or  in  sorrow. 

NEPHI  PETERSON  was  born  August  1.  1887 
at  Mink  Creek,  Idaho.  He  was  the  son  of  Peter  and 

Anna  Olsen  Peterson.  He  spent  his  boyhood  days  in 
the  surrounding  hills  herding  sheep.  He  loved  the 
mountains,  and  after  he  came  to  live  in  the  valley, 
he  spent  his  winters  logging.  This  was  more  for  the 

joy  of  being  in  the  mountains  than  anything  else. 
He  was  an  avid  fisherman,  a  farmer  and  a  rancher. 

Nephi  Peterson 
Ida  Peterson 

He  loved  horses  and  was  very  adept  at  handling 
them. 

He  held  many  church  positions:  first  being  a 

counselor  in  the  Bishopric  at  Trout  Creek  Ward 

(Lago)  and  then  Bishop  of  that  ward  for  several 
years,  before  moving  to  a  farm  near  Grace.  Here 
again  he  was  called  to  be  a  counselor  in  the 
Bishopric  to  Moroni  W.  Lowe.  A  position  he  held 

for  as  long  as  they  lived  near  Grace.  After  he  mov- 
ed to  Bench,  he  was  made  Superintendent  of  the 

Sunday  School  in  that  ward  for  many  years.  He 

was  a  High  Priest  and  a  member  of  the  Stake  High 
Council,  also  a  member  of  the  Stake  Genealogical 
Society. 

Nephi  married  IDA  MELISSA  HUBBARD, 
daughter  of  James  Willard  and  Emma  Pettingill 
Hubbard,  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple,  October  5, 

1910.  They  lived  in  Mink  Creek  for  several  years, 
and  then  bought  a  ranch  in  Lago.  Eight  children 

were  born  to  them:  Rupert,  Clark,  Natahlia, 
Merlin.  Wendell,  Ila,  Rada,  and  Kay. 

Ida  Hubbard  was  born  May  31,  1890  at  Bench, 
Idaho.  She  was  a  housewife  and  mother.  She  took 

pride  in  her  vegetable  garden  and  did  lots  of  can- 
ning and  drying  of  fruits  and  vegetables.  She  sewed 

most  of  the  clothes  for  her  large  family,  and  was 

always  making  quilts.  She  was  a  very  good 
housekeeper,  and  took  pride  in  everything  she  did. 

She  was  secretary  of  the  Primary  when  she  was 

fourteen  years  of  age.  After  her  marriage  she  was 
very  active  in  the  church:  primary  counselor  and 
President,  also  President  of  the  Y.W.M.I.A.  and 

President  of  the  Relief  Society  in  the  Bench  Ward 
for  many  years. 

She  is  now  87  years  old,  and  in  spite  of  illnesses. 
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she  still  lives  by  herself  and  takes  good  care  of 
herself  and  her  house.  Ida  is  always  baking  goodies 

for  her  children  and  grandchildren. 

Nephi  died  of  a  heart  attack  when  he  was  49 
years  old,  which  was  in  May  of  1937.  One  son, 
Rupert,  died  in  May  1963. 

Joseph  Pond Amanda  Pond 

JOSEPH  THORN  POND  was  born  to  Stillman 

and  Abigail  Thorn  Pond  on  September  19,  1859  at 
Spanish  Fork,  Utah.  Joseph  spent  his  growing 
up  years  on  the  farm  in  Richmond. 

Joseph  married  AMANDA  MALISSA 
HENDRICKS  on  April  13,  1879. 
Amanda  Malissa  Hendricks  was  born  on 

January  21,  1862  at  Richmond,  Utah  to  William 
Dorris  and  Alvira  Lavona  Smith  Hendricks.  She 

was  reared  in  Richmond,  Cache  Co.  Utah.  At  the 

age  of  fifteen  she  and  her  sister,  Lottie,  went  and 
cooked  alone  for  a  crew  of  men  with  their  father. 

Amanda  was  seventeen  when  she  married  Joseph 
Thorn  Pond. 

After  they  were  married  Joseph  helped  to  build 
the  Santa  Fe,  Denver,  and  Rio  Grande,  the  Oregon 
Shortline,  Northern  Pacific,  Great  Northern  and 

several  branch  lines  throughout  the  Intermountain 
area. 

In  the  fall  of  1902,  Joseph  bought  the  ranch  at 

Thatcher  (now  Jim  Elsmore's  ranch)  from  Clarence 
Eldredge.  In  1903  his  family  moved  to  Thatcher. 
He  was  a  big  donator  towards  the  new  church 
house  and  school  building  that  was  being  built.  He 

built  the  canal  from  Adler  Creek  (by  Dahl  Rob- 

bins')  to  his  ranch,  financing  it  alone. 
One  year  after  living  in  Thatcher,  Joseph  was 

sustained  as  second  counselor  to  his  brother  Lewis 

S.  Pond  in  the  Bannock  Stake  Presidency.  He 

labored  in  that  poisition  for  twelve  years.  While 

laboring  in  that  position  he  spent  three  winters  in 
Mexico  developing  a  citrus  fruit  farm. 
Amanda  was  called  to  be  president  of 

Y. W.M.I. A.  and  also  a  Sunday  School  teacher. 
She  worked  in  both  the  ward  Primary  and  in  the 
stake  Primary  organization. 

Joseph  was  one  of  the  promoters  of  the  telephone 
from  Thatcher  to  Bancroft  in  1905.  In  1907  he 

promoted  and  was  the  supervisor  of  the  building  of 
a  large  reservoir  in  Little  Valley  at  Grays  Lake,  for 

the  purpose  of  irrigating  the  range  lands  there.  A 

few  years  later  he  was  made  Director  in  Promon- 
tory Curlew  Land  Company. 

In  1916  Joseph  was  made  manager  of  the 
Panama  Sugar  Co.,  and  he  took  Amanda  and  son 
Alma,  to  Panama  with  him.  He  spent  five  years 

felling  forest,  planting  sugar  cane,  building  twelve 
miles  of  railroad  to  ocean,  and  installing  a  sugar 

factory.  Upon  his  return  he  helped  develop  the 
Silver  Fox  Farm  in  Logan,  Utah  with  his  two  sons, 
Austin  and  LeRoy.  While  there  in  Logan  they  were 
able  to  work  in  the  temple. 

In  the  fall  of  1922  they  came  back  to  Thatcher 
Ward  and  lived  there  the  remaining  part  of  their 
lives. 

In  1928  Joseph  was  influential  in  helping  to  bring 
electricity  into  the  homes  in  Thatcher,  Idaho. 

Joseph  and  Amanda  raised  eleven  children  : 
Millie  Amanda,  Joseph  LeRoy.  Lew  Austin, 

WilHam  Stillman,  Otho  Renold,  Letho  Thorn, 

Lysle  Brigham,  Lucile  Hendricks,  Martin  Warren, 
Achael  Speth,  and  Alma  Levier. 

At  the  age  of  68  years.  Amanda  developed  a 
heart  ailment  and  dropsical  condition  which  greatly 

impaired  her  health,  but  she  never  complained  nor 

gave  up.  She  was  active  and  ambitious  until  the  end 
of  her  life.  She  died  November  9,  1931  at  her  home 

at  Thatcher.  She  was  buried  in  Lewiston  Cemetery, 
Lewiston,  Utah. 

He  died  at  the  age  of  75  years  at  his  home  in 
Thatcher  of  a  heart  attack.  He  was  buried  in  the 

Lewiston  Cemetery,  Lewiston,  Utah. 

LETHO  THORN  POND,  son  of  Joseph  Thorn 
and  Amanda  Malissa  Hendricks  Pond  was  born 
June  10.  1892  at  Lewiston.  Cache  Countv,  Utah. 
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Letho  Pond Elva  Pond 

He  was  the  sixth  child  of  eleven  children. 

In  the  spring  of  1903,  his  father,  mother  and  five 
brothers  and  sister  moved  to  Thatcher,  Bannock 

County,  Idaho. 

When  they  arrived  a  one-room  brick  school  for 
eight  grades  and  three  story  brick  church  house 
were  under  construction,  located  where  the  present 

chapel  is  now  located.  Letho  graduated  from  the 
eighth  grade  here.  He  attended  the  UAC  College  at 

Logan,  Cache,  Utah  in  1909-10-1 1  as  there  was  no 
high  school  in  Gentile  Valley.  He  paid  six  dollars  a 
month  for  his  room,  and  fifty  cents  a  day  for  board. 

He  loved  band  music  and  played  the  trombone  in 
the  Valley  Band. 

He  married  ELVA  WHITE  on  March  19,  1913 

in  the  L.D.S.  Temple,  Logan,  Utah. 

Elva  White,  the  daughter  of  Barnard  John  and 

Mary  Ann  (Nelson)  White,  was  born  on  April  10, 
1892  at  Ogden,  Utah. 

She  attended  first  grade  at  Cleveland,  Idaho  for 
a  short  time,  and  then  went  to  Thatcher  School. 

They  either  rode  horses  or  took  the  team  and 

buggy.  She  attended  the  brick  school  house.  The 
brick  for  the  one-room  was  made  at  the  Cole  ranch 

in  Cole's  Lane,  on  the  late  Henry  Van  Denakker 
ranch.  A  brick  building  was  erected  for  a  social 
center  in  1903.  Here  they  went  dancing,  attended 

ball  games,  and  held  parties  in  their  courtship  days. 
It  was  later  remodeled  into  a  high  school  which 
burned  down  in  November,  1922. 

The  brick  for  the  Thatcher  church  house  that  was 

built  in  1903,  where  the  present  one  stands,  was 

made  of  adobe,  then  they  were  baked  into  bricks. 

They  did  this  behind  the  high  school  by  Bear  River 
known  as  Central  High,  now  presently  the 
Thatcher  Elementary  school.  They  did  their  general 

shopping  at  the  Bassett  Mercantile  store  at  Lago. 

After  Letho  and  Elva's  marriage  they  made  their 
home  in  Thatcher  until  1924  when  they  moved  to 
Huntsville,  Utah. 

In  1926  they  returned  to  Thatcher  where  they 
resided  until  they  retired  in  1962  and  moved  to 
Preston,  Idaho. 

Letho  served  in  many  capacities  in  the  Church. 
He  was  in  the  bishopric  with  Bishop  Henry  K. 
Thatcher  and  also  Bishop  Howard  E.  Thatcher. 

Later  he  was  a  counselor  to  Bishop  Leo  Andersen 

for  ten  years.  He  was  also  Sunday  School 

Superintendent,  president  of  the  Bannock  Stake 
Sunday  School,  Bannock  Stake  missionary,  home 
teacher  and  High  Priest  Group  Leader. 

Elva  also  enjoyed  her  labors  in  the  church.  She 
was  a  counselor  and  a  secretary  at  the  same  time  to 
Amy  Thatcher  in  the  Relief  Society  of  the  Thatcher 
Second  Ward.  She  was  sustained  as  second 

counselor  to  Rosa  Young  in  the  Thatcher  Ward 

Primary.  She  spent  twenty-two  years  in  the  ward 
and  stake  Primary.  Later,  both  Letho  and  Elva 

gave  much  time  to  genealogical  work. 
Letho  also  served  eight  years  as  trustee  of 

District  No.  20  school  at  Thatcher  with  Walter 

Nelson,  George  Young  and  David  Barthlome. 
In  the  summer  of  1976  they  sold  their  home  in 

Preston  and  moved  to  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  to  be 
by  their  two  daughters  and  husbands  Mrs.  Ceylon 

(Allene)  Hogan  and  Mrs.  Howard  (Leone)  Roper. 

L.  SUMNER  POND,  JR.  was  born  at  Rich- 
mond, Utah  November  9,  1880.  He  was  the  son  of 

Lewis  S.  Pond,  Sr.  and  Julia  Ann  Whittle. 

When  a  young  boy  he  moved  with  his  family  to 
Thatcher,  Idaho.  They  lived  on  the  ranch  which  is 
now  known  as  the  Diamond  P.  His  father  was  the 

first  stake  president  of  Bannock  Stake.  He  received 
his  early  education  in  the  valley  and  went  to 

Brigham  Young  College  of  Logan,  Utah  for  one 
year.  He  served  a  3  year  mission  in  England.  On 
December  16,  1903  he  married  HATTIE 

GREAVES,  a  daughter  of  John  C.  Greaves,  Sr.  of 
Preston,  Idaho.  They  were  married  in  the  Logan 
Temple.  Their  first  home  was  a  dirt  roofed  log 

cabin  at  Henry,  Idaho  which  is  now  covered  with 

450  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



L.  Sumner  and  Hattie  Pond 

water  from  the  lake.  They  lived  there  with  Ira  and 

Hattie  Hogan  for  about  one  year.  After  moving 
from  Henry  he  opened  a  general  merchandise  store 
at  Thatcher,  Idaho.  One  of  the  clerks  was  Mr.  Al 

Stalker.  About  1909  he  and  his  brother-in-law, 
John  C.  Greaves,  Jr.,  started  a  store  in  Grace 
known  as  the  Grace  Mercantile.  This  store  was 

closed  in  1928.  They  also  had  a  store  in  Niter  for 
about  a  year. 

During  the  early  part  of  the  business  they  lived  in 
an  apartment  in  the  back  of  the  store.  He  then  built 
a  brick  home  one  block  west  of  the  store  and  lived 

there  until  1915.  After  spending  a  winter  in  Long 
Beach,  California,  where  he  went  to  recuperate 
from  complications  after  having  smallpox,  and  a 
part  of  a  year  in  Pocatello,  Idaho,  he  moved  back 
to  Grace.  In  1918  he  moved  into  the  new  home 

which  is  now  owned  by  his  son  Keith. 

Having  learned  to  speak  while  on  his  mission  he 
was  often  called  on  to  talk  at  civic,  church,  and 

school  functions.  He  also  spoke  at  many 
funerals.  During  the  influenza  epidemic  he  spoke 
and  two  of  his  clerks,  Leonard  Sorensen  and  Irene 

Ruud,  sang  at  many  outside  services. 

Sumner  and  Hattie  were  both  active  and  in- 
terested in  the  church.  She  worked  in  the  ward 

M.I. A.  organization,  and  was  stake  secretary  and 
ward  president  of  the  Relief  Society. 

He  served  on  the  Bannock  Stake  High  Council 

and  worked  in  the  scouting  organization.  He  receiv- 
ed the  Silver  Beaver  award  for  30  years  service  in 

scouting.  He  was  also  a  mayor  of  Grace,  member 
of  the  Grace  Lions  Club  and  District  Governor  of 

that  organization.  He  was  a  state  representative  of 
Bannock  County  for  one  term.  He  was  a  member 
of  the  Federal  Land  Bank  Board  and  secretary  until 
he  retired.  He  was  on  the  first  school  board  of 

trustees  when  the  high  school  was  organized.  He 
served  as  chairman  or  secretary  of  that  board  for 

over  30  years.  He  spent  many  hours  working  for 
consolidation  of  the  school  district. 

Five  children  were  born  to  them:  Julia  Pond. 

LaVerna  Pond  Fowler,  Keith  G.  Pond,  Althea 

Pond  Lasley,  and  Chase  G.  Pond. 

Lewis  S.  Pond 

LEWIS  S.  POND,  son  of  Stillman  and  Abigail 
Pond  was  born  in  Salt  Lake  City,  December  25, 

1854.  With  his  parents  he  moved  to  Richmond, 
Utah  in  1860  where  he  lived  until  he  was  14.  He 

worked  in  and  around  Salt  Lake  City,  until  he  was 
on  his  own,  and  he  started  freighting  by  mule  team 
from  Corinne,  Utah  to  Helena,  Montana.  This  he 

did  until  he  was  twenty-five,  when  he  returned  to 
Richmond,  and  married  JULIA  ANN  WHITTLE. 
He  then  became  interested  in  railroad  construction 

and  farming.  They  acquired  land  in  Lewiston,  Utah 

and  in  Gentile  Valley  where  they  moved  'n  1879. Ten  children  were  born  and  raised  here:  Lewis 

Sumner,  Jr.,  (Dr.)  Casper  Whittle,  Flora,  Myrtle. 
Joseph  Martin,  Clara,  Eugenia,  Russell  Thorne, 
Teressa,  and  Abigail. 

Lewis  acquired  rather  extensive  holdings  in  land 
and  livestock  while  in  Gentile  Valley.  He  became 
counselor  to  John  B.  Thatcher  in  1 885,  then  Bishop 
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of  Thatcher  Ward.  From  1888  to  1890  he  served  a 
mission  in  the  Southern  States.  On  his  return,  he 

was  called  to  become  Bishop  of  Thatcher  Ward.  He 

served  in  this  capacity  until  1898,  when  Bannock 
Stake  was  created  from  part  of  Oneida  Stake  and 

he  was  made  president.  He  served  as  stake  presi- 
dent until  1916  when  he  sold  his  ranch  and  other 

holdings  and  located  in  Brigham  City,  Utah  where 
he  lived  for  8  years.  He  then  moved  to  Salt  Lake 

City  where  he  devoted  his  time  to  temple  work  until 
his  death,  November  18,  1935. 

Julia  Ann  was  the  daughter  of  John  Casper 

Whittle  and  Mary  Ann  Harris.  She  was  born 

January  15,  1859  in  Grantsville,  Utah. 
When  Julia  was  three  years  of  age  her  family 

moved  to  Richmond,  Utah.  Their  first  home  was 

inside  a  fort  used  for  protection  from  Indians. 
Later  her  father  purchased  five  acres  of  land  on 
which  they  built  a  home.  Julia  took  advantage  of 
the  limited  education  offered  at  Richmond.  When 

she  was  twenty  years  of  age  she  married  Lewis 
Sumner  Pond,  on  her  birthday.  In  the 

spring  of  1890  they  moved  to  Thatcher,  Idaho, 
where  they  lived  in  a  small  log  cabin.  When  Julia 

was  expecting  her  fifth  child  her  husband  was  called 
on  a  mission  to  the  Eastern  States.  When  he  return- 

ed he  built  a  lovely  two  story  frame  home  for  his 
family. 

Julia  was  active  in  church  work.  She  spent 

twenty-six  years  in  the  Relief  Society.  From  1905 
to  1916  she  was  stake  Relief  Society  President  in 

Bannock  Stake.  The  family  moved  to  Brigham  Ci- 
ty, Utah,  where  they  lived  until  1929,  when  they 

moved  to  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  Julia  developed 
arthritis  in  1906.  In  1919  her  knee  joints  became 
set,  and  she  was  confined  to  a  wheel  chair  the 

remainder  of  her  life.  She  had  a  wonderful  disposi- 

tion, never  complaining,  and  found  beauty  and  in- 
terest in  many  things.  She  loved  to  read,  sew,  and 

listen  to  the  radio.  She  died  in  Salt  Lake  City,  April 
23,  1940. 

FREDERICK  (FRED)  CHRISTIAN 
QUALMAN,  who  homesteaded  in  the  Central 
area,  was  born  on  December  8,  1875  in  Oberhoff, 

Germany  to  Christian  and  Johanna  Monson 

Qualman.  At  the  age  of  eight,  along  with  his 
parents,  two  brothers  and  one  sister,  he  boarded  a 

ship  at  Hamburg,  Germany  and  sailed  to  America. 

Henry,  John,  and  Fred  Qualman 

They  were  on  the  ocean  for  eighteen  days  and  arriv- 
ed in  New  York.  They  rode  on  a  train  to  Chicago. 

In  Chicago  they  rode  on  a  mule-drawn  streetcar 
from  the  depot  to  the  hotel  where  they  stayed.  They 

went  by  train  to  Ogden,  Utah,  and  from  there  they 

took  the  "Old  Narrow  Gauge"  railroad  to  Logan, 
Utah. 

The  Qualmans  lived  in  Millville,  Utah  until  Fred 
was  about  fifteen  or  sixteen  years  old.  At  this  time 

they  sold  their  place  and  moved  to  Clarkston,  Utah 
and  took  up  a  homestead. 

Fred  met  his  future  wife,  EDITH  AMELIA 

ROSDAHL,  when  she  came  to  Clarkston  to  visit 

her  parents.  Edith  was  born  on  October  27,  1877  at 

Helsenburg,  Sweden  to  Andreas  Fredrick  and 
Johanna  Johnson  Rosdahl.  She  was  from  a  family 

of  twelve.  At  the  age  of  five  she  and  her  nine  year 

old  sister  left  Sweden  with  some  L.D.S.  mis- 
sionaries and  came  to  Pioia,  Summit  Co.,  Utah. 

Edith  went  to  live  with  a  family  by  the  name  of  Pete 
Sorensen.  She  lived  with  the  Sorensens  until  she 

was  about  sixteen  years  old.  At  this  time  she  went 
to  work  in  Ogden,  Utah. 

V 
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Henry  and  Bertha  Qualman 
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Fred  and  Edith  were  married  December  15,  1897 

in  the  Logan  Temple  and  lived  in  Clarkston  that 
winter.  In  the  spring  of  1898  they  moved  to  Lund, 

Idaho  where  Edith  stayed  with  Fred's  sister,  Min- 
nie and  her  husband,  Lee  Peterson,  while  Fred 

worked  in  the  Caribou  Plasso  Mines  in  Wyoming. 

Before  winter  began,  Fred  and  Edith  moved  to 
the  Central  area  and  lived  in  an  old  log  cabin  with 
dirt  roof  and  floor  for  a  year.  During  this  time  Fred 

homesteaded  160  acres  of  ground  and  built  a  two- 
room  log  house  on  it.  Fred  did  logging  and  worked 
on  the  section  gang  until  he  got  his  farm  going.  The 

ground  squirrels  were  so  bad  they  got  most  of  the 
crops  the  first  year  or  two.  They  hauled  the  water 
they  used  from  a  spring  in  Ten  Mile  Pass  and  Bear 
River,  a  distance  of  ten  miles  in  the  winter  time. 

However,  in  about  1905  a  canal  was  dug  and  water 

from  the  canal  was  run  into  a  cistern  for  culinary 
use.  Well  water  was  hauled  from  other  places  for 
drinking  and  cooking. 

In  1918  a  well  was  dug  on  the  Fred  Qualman 
homestead  and  between  1918  and  1921  a  new  frame 

house  was  built  by  the  well.  Fred  logged  out  about 
7000  feet  of  lumber  for  the  house  which  still  stands. 

In  the  late  fall  of  1900  word  came  that  they  were 

seineing  fish  at  the  south  end  of  Bear  Lake  and  sell- 

ing them  for  1  '/2c  apiece,  so  Fred  and  Edith  went  to 
Bear  Lake  and  bought  500  suckers.  Fred  sat  up  all 
night  long  and  cleaned  the  fish  and  salted  them 

down  in  a  barrel  to  sell.  He  peddled  a  few  on  the 

way  home,  then  people  came  to  the  house  and 
bought  them  for  five  cents  a  pound.  Fred  also 

recalled  selling  butterfat  for  1 1  cents  a  pound,  eggs 

for  six  cents  a  dozen  and  wheat  for  twenty-five 
cents  a  bushel. 

In  1914  Fred  and  Edith  lost  their  entire  crop  by 
hail.  It  was  cut  right  to  the  ground  and  for  a  year  or 

two  they  pretty  well  froze  out,  so  the  going  was 
often  hard. 

Fred  only  had  three  winters  of  schooling  but  he 

was  a  man  of  integrity  and  wisdom.  He  served  as 
president  of  the  canal  company  for  five  years  and 
was  on  the  board  of  directors  for  about  fifteen 

years.  When  they  started  the  school  he  served  on 
the  school  board  for  eight  or  ten  years  as  secretary. 
He  served  on  the  amusement  committee  for  the 

ward,  was  a  M.I.A.  teacher  and  ward  teacher  for 

several  years.  He  also  carried  the  mail  from  Lund 

to  Central  for  eight  years. 

Fred  and  Edith  were  the  parents  of  six  children: 
Loretta,  Leon,  Viola,  Mable,  Arnold,  LaVina.  All 
were  born  and  reared  on  the  homestead. 

Edith  died  November  10.  1955  and  Fred  died  on 

July  8,  1963.  Fred  and  Edith  were  laid  to  rest  in  the 
Central  Cemetery. 

There  were  other  members  of  the  Qualman  fami- 
ly who  also  homesteaded  in  the  Central  area 

around  the  time  Fred  did. 

Christian  and  Johanna,  Fred's  parents,  had 
three  other  sons,  and  two  sons-in-law  who 
homesteaded  in  Central.  They  were  JOHN, 

HENRY,  EDWARD,  Lee  Peterson  (Minnie's  hus- 

band) and  John  Hegstrom  (Annie's  husband). 
Christian  and  Johanna  and  their  son,  George,  lived 

with  Henry  on  his  homestead.  The  three  brothers 
remained  bachelors  until  December  14,  1938  when 

George  married  Carrie  Rudd.  She  died  March  6, 
1950  and  on  June  17,  1952  he  married  Bertha  Q. 
Sauerzof. 

Christian  and  Johanna  passed  away  at  the  home 
on  the  homestead.  Christian  died  September  28, 

1914  and  Johanna  died  April  28,  1952.  She  would 
have  been  99  years  old.  Others  of  the  Qualman 

family  who  spent  their  last  days  in  the  Central  area 
were  Annie,  who  died  March  10,  1940,  Edward, 

who  died  May  23,  1952,  George,  who  died  June  3, 

1953  and  Henry  who  died  May  28,  1966.  All  were 
buried  in  the  Central  Cemetery. 

Arnold  owns  the  Fred  Qualman  homestead  and 

is  residing  at  the  former  Central  store  and  post  of- 
fice, which  he  purchased  along  with  the  Neils 

Anderson  home  in  July  of  1962. 

HANS  JOHN  RASMUSSEN  was  born 

February  18,  1857  in  Dinmar,  Denmark.  He 
married  MARTINA  FRECKRIKSEN  May  8,  1876 

in  Lowland,  Denmark.  After  their  first  child,  a  girl, 
was  born  he  and  his  wife  came  to  the  United  States 

and  settled  in  Idaho.  Mink  Creek  was  their  first 

home  in  this  new  country  where  the  next  two 
children  were  born.  They  later  moved  to  Lago, 

Idaho  where  they  homesteaded  on  Whiskey  Creek. 
Seven  more  children  were  born.  His  wife  Martina 

died  in  childbirth  at  the  age  of  39. 
John  worked  hard  to  make  ends  meet,  raising  a 

family  of  ten.  He  married  a  widow  and  fathered 
another  son,  Eben  Rasmussen.  He  and  his  wife 
were  later  divorced.  Hans  John  died  at  Preston, 
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Idaho,  February  3,   1944,  and  was  buried  in  the 

Lago  Cemetery. 
Hans  John  and  Martina  had  the  following 

children:  Mary  Larsen,  Lars,  Elizabeth  Black, 
Regenia  Bennett,  John,  Olena  Skinner,  Marina 
Sachelmereine,  Melvina  Messenger,  and  Louise 
Smith. 

Lars  Rasmussen Anna  Rasmussen 

LARS  RASMUSSEN  was  the  second  child  and 

oldest  son  of  Hans  John  Rasmussen  and  Martina 
Fredrickson  Rasmussen.  He  was  born  in  Mink 

Creek,  Idaho  on  December  1,  1880,  where  he  spent 
his  early  days.  His  family  later  moved  to  Lago, 
Idaho  where  he  grew  up  and  married  ANNA 
JULIA  ANDERSON. 

Lars  worked  at  various  jobs  and  became  well 

known  for  his  carpentry.  Many  of  the  dwellings  and 

farm  buildings  are  still  standing.  He  loved  to  trap 

and  spent  many  a  winter's  day  on  his  trap  lines.  He 
passed  this  hobby  on  to  his  sons,  as  well  as  a  love 
for  the  out-of-doors.  He  was  skilled  in  the  art  of 

blacksmithing  and  horseshoeing.  He  farmed  at 

Lago  and  Grace.  Each  winter  was  spent  in  going  to 
the  canyon  for  lumber  and  firewood,  which  they 

would  use  for  heat.  He  was  a  very  hard  worker  and 

instilled  in  his  children  that  "if  you  expect  a  days 

pay  you  were  to  give  a  good  days  work."  He  died  of 
a  ruptured  appendix  two  weeks  after  his  43  birth- 

day, December  14,  1923,  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho 
and  is  buried  at  the  Lago  Cemetery. 

Anna  was  born  in  Copenhagen,  Denmark  May 

19,  1880,  the  daughter  of  Peter  Anderson  and  Kar- 
na  Hansen  Anderson.  She  came  to  America  with 

her  parents  and  sister  Emma  when  she  was  four 

years  old.  They  landed  in  New  York  after  a  long 
voyage  at  sea,  and  traveled  by  train  to  Willard, 
Utah  where  they  made  their  home  for  four  years. 
Anna  with  her  parents  then  moved  to  Bench,  Idaho 

where  she  completed  her  eight  grades  in  school.  She 
married  at  the  age  of  22  to  Lars  Rasmussen.  Their 

first  home  was  a  log  house  at  the  sawmill  at  Lago. 

Four  years  later  Lars  purchased  some  acreage  on 
Whiskey  Creek  where  he  built  their  first  real  home. 
Lars  would  go  to  the  nearby  canyon  to  get  the  logs 
and  have  them  sawed  at  the  sawmill  for  the  lumber. 

He  was  very  handy  at  carpentry  and  built  many 
homes  and  barns  in  the  valley.  They  had  a  family  of 

12  children,  six  boys  and  six  girls.  The  first  eight 

children  were  delivered  by  midwives  as  a  doctor 
was  unavailable.  The  children  were:  Merle,  Verna, 

Lena,  Loran,  Alta,  Carl,  Freeman,  Emory,  Lilas, 

Raymond  Pete,  Leonard,  and  Ramona.  Anna  was 

a  very  religious  person  and  worked  in  most  of  the 
church  auxiliaries.  She  and  Lars  were  sealed  in  the 

Temple  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints. 
Anna  told  of  the  severity  of  the  mosquitoes  on 

Whiskey  Creek,  at  times  they  would  have  to  quit 

working  in  the  fields  in  mid-afternoon  as  the 
animals  would  nearly  be  eaten  alive. 

In  1918  Anna  and  her  family  escaped  the  terrible 

flu  that  took  so  many  lives.  She  would  leave  her 
family  at  home  and  care  for  her  many  friends  who 
were  striken  with  the  flu.  In  1923  Lars  died  with  a 

ruptured  appendix,  leaving  Anna  the  full  respon- 
sibility of  rearing  her  12  children,  and  to  finish  pay- 

ing for  the  farm.  In  1925  the  home  burned.  She 
built  another  home  with  the  help  of  her  family  and 

friends.  She  also  raised  one  grandchild  until  she 

married,  and  helped  raise  two  more  until  they  were 
about  5  or  6  years  old.  Anna  died  in  Grace,  Idaho 
February  13,  1958. 

DAVID  ELI  REVOIR'S  father's  first  wife  was 

Judith  Godin.  They  had  five  children  in  San  Ger- 
mane, Italy.  She  died  and  he  subsequently  married 

Marie  Magdaline  Mathews.  She  was  a  widow  with 
two  children.  Esther,  their  first  child  together,  was 

born  in  the  old  country.  She  was  nine  months  old 
when  they  landed  here. 

They  landed  in  the  Salt  Lake  Valley  in  1880. 
They  had  come  here  to  take  over  property  that 

belonged  to  David's  half  brother  Millis.  When  they 
arrived    Millis    had    died    of   typhoid    fever    and 
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pneumonia  leaving  his  property,  which  was  sheep. 
David  Eli  was  born  July  8,  1882  at  West  Jordan, 

Salt  Lake  County,  Utah.  When  he  was  large 
enough  to  do  anything  at  all  he  helped  with  the 
sheep. 

In  the  spring  of  1897  he  got  a  call  from  Bishop 

Johnny  Egbert  to  work  with  sheep  at  Terrace, 
Utah.  He  got  there  March  22,  1897  and  stayed 
there  until  June  28,  1902  without  a  day  off.  He  went 
home  to  see  his  folks  and  then  came  to  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho  and  went  into  partnership  with  his 
brother,  John  Cheirrett  on  July  17,  1902.  He  stayed 
with  him  until  the  spring  of  1912. 

David  met  MARTHA  MAY  GUMMERSALL 

at  her  father's  home  in  Turner  in  1906.  They  kept 
company  by  mail  and  everytime  he  was  in  the  area 
he  would  come  to  see  her.  They  were  married 

August  6,  1908  in  her  father's  home  by  BishoD 
Joseph  P.  Greene. 

May  stayed  with  her  sister  that  had  married 

David's  half  brother  John,  at  Ten  Mile.  She  stayed 
there  until  April  10.  1909.  At  that  time  she  and 

David  bought  her  parents'  farm  and  home  and 
there  they  lived  all  the  rest  of  their  lives. 

David  got  tired  of  desert  sheep  herding.  The 
farmers  began  to  take  up  the  land  and  this  made  it 

hard  to  trail  sheep  275  or  280  miles  by  road  so  he 
sold  his  sheep  and  went  into  farming.  He  did  pretty 

well  considering  the  prices.  He  went  back  in  the 

sheep  business  around  1923  and  did  pretty  well  for 
a  few  years. 

David  Eli  Revoir  passed  away  in  his  sleep  on  the 
28th  of  November,  1960  at  his  home  in  Turner.  He 

was  buried  the  first  day  of  December,  1960  at 
Turner,  Caribou  County,  Idaho. 

Martha  May  was  born  to  Phoebe  Hodgson  and 
Smith  Gummersall  the  3rd  of  May  1889  at 

Franklin,  Oneida  County,  Idaho. 

She  came  to  what  they  call  China  Flat  in  1898 
with  her  parents.  This  community  was  later  named 
Turner.  They  were  the  third  family  to  move  there. 

There  was  no  school  at  that  time  and  so  Smith 

Gummersall  tried  very  hard  to  get  a  school.  But  in 

the  meantime,  they  drove  to  Cove.  This  was  a  dis- 
tance of  seven  miles.  The  John  Perry  family  took 

turns  furnishing  the  team  and  sled  to  take  the 

children  to  and  from  school.  Martha  May's  father 
inquired  and  found  that  there  had  to  be  six  students 
before  they  could  have  a  school  in  their  community. 

That  didn't  stop  him  from  getting  the  school  as 
there  were  six  children  in  his  family. 

Martha  May's  father  had  just  built  a  new  three 
room  log  house,  so  they  moved  from  their  one- 
room  log  cabin  into  the  new  home  and  used  the 

one-room  cabin  for  the  school.  Martha  May  only 

had  two  teachers  during  her  four  years  of  school- 
ing. They  were  Ida  Clark  and  Mary  Hale.  They 

could  only  hold  school  five  months  out  of  a  year 

because  there  weren't  enough  funds  and  it  wasn't 
always  possible  to  attend.  Whenever  there  was  any 
work  to  be  done  at  home  she  had  to  stay  out  to 

help.  As  time  went  on  and  more  people  moved  to 
Turner  they  got  a  new  school  house.  This  school 
house  served  as  their  church  also.  Until  this  time 

they  were  a  part  of  Lund  Ward.  Brother  Joseph 
Greene  was  made  the  new  bishop. 

Cyrus  Tolman  used  to  bring  the  mail  from  Ban- 

croft to  the  Gummersall's  place  and  they  used  part 
of  a  lean-to  that  they  had  built  onto  their  home  for 

the  post  office.  Smith  Gummersall  was  made  post- 
master. In  order  to  make  the  post  office  legal  they 

had  to  have  a  name  for  the  community  so  the  peo- 
ple got  together  to  decide  on  a  name.  A  man  by  the 

name  of  Theodore  Turner  helped  to  get  the  post  of- 
fice and  they  decided  to  name  the  place  Turner, 

after  him. 

One  day  David  E.  Revoir  came  into  the  post  of- 
fice to  mail  a  letter.  That  is  where  Martha  May 

first  met  him.  After  this  he  came  to  see  her  each 

time  he  came  through  with  his  sheep  and  when  he 
was  not  near,  they  corresponded  regularly  for  three 

years. 
Their  children  were  Violet  Magdaline,  Peter 

Alma,  George  Edwin,  Wayne  Loran,  David  Eli, 
Naomi  Ruth,  John  Daniel,  and  Martha  May. 

David  Eli  Revoir  became  interested  in  the  church 

and  worked  in  the  Sunday  School.  He  was  baptized 

June  25,  1921.  Martha  May  Revoir  died  March  10, 
1965. 

LAVERA  MAY  BUCKLEY  was  born  in 

Franklin,  Idaho  on  December  9,  1898  to  Albert 

George  Buckley  and  Minnie  May  Bell.  After  leav- 
ing Franklin  the  Buckley  family  settled  for  a  time 

in  Hyrum,  Utah  where  Vera  began  school.  Minnie 
Buckley  passed  away  when  Vera  was  thirteen  years 
old.  George  and  his  family  continued  to  live  in 

Hyrum  until  his  remarriage,  at  which  time  he  mov- 
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ed   his   family   to  Cove,   Utah,   located  between 
Franklin,  Idaho  and  Richmond,  Utah. 

At  the  age  of  eighteen.  Vera  traveled  to  Grace, 
Idaho  where  she  worked  one  summer  for  Frank 

Allen  cooking  for  the  hired  hands.  While  thus 

employed,  she  met  CHARLES  COLTEN 
BRATON  RICH,  a  widower  with  three  children. 

They  dated  a  few  times  that  summer  and  after  Vera 
returned  to  Cove,  they  corresponded  regularly. 

Two  years  later  Vera  and  Charles  were  married  in 

Logan,  Utah  on  May  20,  1919 

Although  Charles  and  his  first  wife,  Ruth  Or- 
mond,  had  three  children  before  her  death  in  1915, 

only  two  of  them,  Leonard  and  Tom,  lived  with 
Charles.  The  youngest,  Ruth,  was  only  sixteen  days 
old  when  her  mother  died.  This  infant  daughter  was 

taken  to  Wendell,  Idaho  to  be  raised  by  her  mater- 
nal grandparents. 

Charles  and  Vera  made  their  home  in  the  four- 
room  house  Charles  had  built  on  his  farm  one  mile 

south  and  one  and  a  quarter  miles  west  of  Grace, 
Idaho.  This  home  was  located  on  a  hill  with  a  wind- 

mill and  a  granary  nearby.  Bushes  of  yellow  roses 
added  beauty  to  the  setting.  In  1920  Vera  and 
Charles  were  blessed  with  a  daughter  whom  they 
named  May. 

Although  Charles  made  his  living  by  farming,  he 
was  also  a  skilled  carpenter.  Just  prior  to  his  death 
in  1921,  he  made  arrangements  to  rent  his  farm  to 
Charles  Christensen,  intending  to  move  his  family 
to  Conda,  Idaho  where  he  would  work  as  a 

carpenter.  His  untimely  death  prevented  this  move, 

however,  and  left  Vera  with  two  step-sons  and  a 
daughter  to  raise. 

After  her  husband's  death.  Vera  honored  the 
agreement  with  Charles  Christensen  to  rent  the 
farm.  Indeed,  she  was  grateful  to  be  relieved  of  that 
responsibility.  Until  other  arrangements  could  be 
made.  Vera  and  her  children  shared  two  rooms  of 

their  home  with  the  Christensen  family.  In  order  to 
support  her  family.  Vera  walked  to  Grace  where 

she  did  washings  for  the  Sant  Hotel.  Later  she  mov- 
ed her  family  to  town  in  order  to  be  closer  to  her 

work.  Eventually  Christensen  built  a  two-room 
house  below  the  hill  for  his  family  and  Vera  was 
able  to  move  back  to  her  home. 

On  January  24,  1923,  Vera  married  Frank 

Fowler.  An  account  of  their  lives  together  is  con- 

tained in  Frank  Fowler's  history. 

W.  RAY  RIGBY  and  his  wife  Lida  E. 

Wadsworth  Rigby,  moved  their  family  to  Grace, 
Idaho  from  the  family  home  in  Sublett,  Idaho  in 

the  spring  of  1939.  It  is  fun  to  listen  to  members  of 
the  family  tell  of  their  first  impressions  of  the 

valley.  They  moved  during  the  time  of  a  flood  at 
Bancroft.  It  probably  made  Ray  and  Lida  wonder 

if  they  had  really  made  the  right  decision. 
Their  family  consisted  of  Max,  Donna,  Norma, 

June  Maurine,  and  Harold.  It  was  a  big  move  they 

had  made,  coming  that  far  to  a  place  virtually  un- 
known to  them  at  the  time.  The  parents  and  the 

children  were  soon  to  love  the  beautiful  green  valley 

and  the  people  that  had  made  them  so  welcome. 
Ray  soon  became  active,  because  of  his  love  for 

people  and  genuine  interest,  and  was  one  of  the  men 
who  helped  organize  the  first  local  Farm  Bureau 
and  was  the  first  president. 

Lida. with  her  energy,  and  love  for  music  was 
soon  busy  in  church  and  community  affairs.  During 
the  time  of  the  Second  World  War,  Lida  with  two 

of  her  children.  Max  and  Donna,  along  with  Glen 

Palmer,  Lee  Robinson,  and  Dale  Sullivan  played 
for  dances  all  over  the  county,  and  played  free  for 

all  or  nearly  every  serviceman  entering  the  armed 
services  of  our  country,  and  in  their  honor  again, 
when  they  returned  home.  This  was  a  happy  time  in 
their  lives,  and  they  talk  of  it  often. 

Guy  Robbins 
Lora  Robbins 

LORA  BENNETT  was  born  June  11,  1893  to 

Hyrum  Joseph  Bennett  and  Sarah  Ann  Wright. 
She  was  one  of  nine  children. 

Lora's  home  was  in  Mound  Valley  or  Perry,  as 
the  ward  was  known  then.  When  she  was  a  young 
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girl  no  one  had  much  money.  If  they  got  new 
clothes  on  the  Fourth  of  July  and  at  Christmas 

time,  they  really  thought  they  had  a  lot.  One  day 
Lora  walked  three  miles,  did  a  two  week  washing 
with  a  hand  washer,  mopped  the  kitchen  floor,  and 
walked  back  home,  for  which  she  received  fifty 
cents.  Lora  and  her  twin  sister,  Lona,  also  helped 
Mrs.  Orson  out  when  her  babies  were  born.  One 

day  Lora  went  to  help  Annie  Williams  clean  house. 
It  was  only  a  couple  of  miles  from  home  which  she 

could  have  walked  easily,  but  she  decided  to  be 
brave  and  stay  all  night,  but  during  the  evening  she 
became  so  homesick  she  could  not  sleep. 

When  Lora  was  a  young  girl  at  home,  they  didn't 
have  electric  lights  or  power  of  any  kind,  except 
elbow  grease,  nor  did  they  have  telephones.  They 

had  coal  oil  lamps,  and  in  order  to  see  at  night,  they 
had  to  carry  them  from  one  room  to  another.  The 
lamp  chimneys  and  the  lamps  had  to  be  shined  and 

filled;  mattresses  were  non-existant;  instead  they 
had  ticks  made  of  unbleached  muslin  which  had  to 

be  washed  and  filled  with  nice  clean  straw  quite 
frequently.  Their  washing  was  done  with  hand 

washing  machines  and  they  ironed  with  flat  irons 
(sad  irons)  heated  on  top  of  the  wood  range.  Of 
course  their  fuel  for  the  stoves  was  wood,  pine  and 

quaken  asp,  which  Lora's  father  and  the  boys  haul- 
ed out  of  the  canyon  in  the  fall.  All  the  harvest  was 

cut  by  machinery  drawn  by  horses.  It  was  indeed  a 
happy  time  for  the  kids  at  threshing  time,  but  not 

for  their  mother.  She  would  have  to  get  up  long 
before  daybreak  and  get  breakfast  for  20  or  25 
men.  The  men  would  be  at  work  by  sun  up  and  then 
she  would  do  the  dishes  and  set  the  table  for  the 
next  meal. 

Of  course  their  homes  weren't  modern.  Their 
toilet  was  a  little  house  back  of  the  house,  which  we 

called  "Mrs.  Jones."  This  was  used  in  all  kinds  of 
weather.  They  often  had  to  brush  the  snow  off  the 
seat  before  they  could  sit  down.  They  also  had 

woven  carpets.  They  would  tear  and  sew  rags  for 
days,  wind  them  in  balls  which  their  mother  sent 

away  to  be  woven  into  carpet  strips  about  three  feet 
wide.  She  would  cut  these  strips  in  lengths  the 
length  of  the  room  and  sew  enough  strips  together 

to  fit  the  room  and  put  straw  underneath  for  pad- 
ding. 

Their  father  also  killed  and  cured  all  their  own 

meat.  After  the  hams  and  bacon  were  cured,  they 

were  buried  in  the  wheat  bin.  This  kept  them  very 
nice  for  months.  Lora  churned  all  their  butter, 
and  was  that  homemade  butter  and  buttermilk 
delicious! 

Before  Lora  and  her  twin  sister,  Lona,  could  go 

to  school,  they  had  to  get  up  and  milk  from  ten  to 

eighteen  cows  by  hand,  separate  the  milk,  feed  the 
calves,  go  in  to  get  ready  for  school,  get  their 
breakfast,  put  up  lunch,  help  with  the  dishes,  then 
walk  the  mile  to  school. 

Lora  met  GUY  WILSON  ROBBINS  at  a  dance. 

She  started  dating  Guy,  and  Lona  started  dating 

Roy  Cahoon.  Guy  and  Roy  always  came  to  see 
them  together.  They  would  either  come  down  on 
horseback  or  in  the  buggy.  They  would  go  to 

mutual  and  on  Sunday  nights  they  would  go  for  a 

buggy  ride.  Lona  later  married  Roy  and  Lora 
married  Guy. 

Guy  Wilson  Robbins  was  born  September  22, 

1892  at  Thatcher,  Caribou  County,  Idaho,  the  son 
of  Milton  and  Sarah  Rachel  Hoops  Robbins. 

Guy  liked  to  play  the  harmonica  and  tap  dance, 
and  also  was  a  good  singer.  He  was  always  having 

singing  sessions  with  his  family.  He  was  a  great 
lover  of  horses  and  always  had  a  pulling  team.  He 

was  never  happier  than  when  he  could  whip  up  a 

good  horse  trade  with  one  of  the  neighbors. 

Guy  went  to  school  in  Thatcher.  His  first  school 
was  a  little  red  brick  school  house  located  between 

Letho  and  Roy  Ponds.  His  schooling  only  went  to 
the  eighth  grade. 

Guy  and  Lora  were  married  on  November  18, 

1912  by  Bishop  Milo  A.  Hendricks  at  his  home  in 
Pocatello,  Idaho.  They  are  the  parents  of  five 
children:  Audrey,  Dahl  Bennett,  Elaine,  Clarice, 
Dixie. 

After  joining  the  church,  Lora  was  a  Sunday 
School  teacher  for  years.  She  also  worked  in  the 
Relief  Society  as  secretary  and  as  second 
counselor.  She  also  worked  in  the  MIA  and 
Primary. 

In  1933,  while  Guy  was  working  for  the  state  on 
the  roads,  he  contracted  pneumonia.  He  died 
March  19,  1933. 

After  moving  to  Grace,  Lora  took  a  position  as 
waitress  in  the  cafe  owned  by  Dean  Christensen. 
After  Dean  sold  the  cafe  to  Bob  Hill,  she  still 

stayed  on  until  she  was  old  enough  to  retire. 
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Milton  Robbins Sarah  Robbins 

MILTON  ROBBINS  was  born  on  a  bright  fall 

day,  the  sixteenth  of  September  1869  at  Weston, 

Oneida  County,  Idaho,  to  Wilson  Callaway  Rob- 
bins and  Wilhemnia  Frederrikke  Koefoed.  He  was 

the  second  child  of  five,  and  left  home  at  the  age  of 

twelve.  He  didn't  have  much  schooling.  He  went  to 
school  one  year  in  Soda  Springs,  one  year  in  Gen- 

tile Valley  and  the  rest  in  Weston.  When  he  left 
home  he  came  to  Gentile  Valley  or  what  is  now 
known  as  Thatcher.  When  he  first  came  to  the 

valley  he  worked  for  Jeppa  Folkman.  That  same 

year  he  started  to  work  for  Saul  Hale  and  con- 
tinued to  work  for  him  for  five  years. 

When  he  was  about  seventeen  or  eighteen  he 
went  with  some  horsemen  to  Oxford,  Nebraska  to 
take  some  horses  and  to  break  them.  There  was  one 

Indian  in  the  company  of  men  and  they  were  gone 
for  four  months.  While  in  Nebraska,  he  took  the 

championship  for  roller  skating  in  three  different 
towns.  One  time  he  beat,  by  just  six  inches,  in  a 
mile  race.  On  his  return  from  Nebraska  he  worked 
for  John  Thatcher. 

Milton  met  and  fell  in  love  with  SARAH 

RACHEL  HOOPES.  They  were  married  April  22, 
1888  in  Thatcher,  Idaho.  Their  first  child  was 

Charles  Albert  followed  by  Willard  Milton,  Guy 

Wilson,  Eliza  Jane,  Hyrum  Hoopes,  and  Harold 
Lionel. 

After  the  birth  of  the  first  two  children,  Milton 

took  up  a  dry  farm.  He  lived  on  the  farm  four  or 

five  years,  then  moved  onto  the  road  and  built  his 
own  home.  Then  they  moved  to  the  old  Hale  home, 
then  up  by  the  Thatcher  Church,  on  the  old  Toone 
Place.  He  built  the  home  that  still  stands  there.  He 

worked  for  M.  Durrant,  making  the  cheese  and 

butter,  for  a  few  years  in  the  Gentile  Valley 

Creamery.  They  lived  in  the  top  of  the  creamery. 

Sarah  passed  away  on  August  3,  1939.  Milton 
lived  with  his  daughter  Jane  for  awhile  but  moved 

back  to  Rupert  and  lived  alone  for  a  time.  He 
married  CLARA  A.  JENSEN  the  12th  of  October, 
1944. 

Milton  was  active  in  the  church,  and  this  meant 

much  to  him.  He  served  on  three  home  missions, 

one  at  Grays  Lake,  Idaho,  one  in  Jackson  Ward 
and  one  in  Rupert.  He  also  served  on  a  mission  to 
the  Southern  States. 

Milton  passed  away  at  the  home  of  Hyrum  on 
the  second  of  December,  1957  and  was  buried 
December  5,  1957  at  Thatcher,  Idaho. 

FRED  DAVID  ROBINSON  was  born  in 

Lamoni,  Iowa,  April  7,  1878.  He  came  from  Mon- 
tana to  Idaho  in  1898.  He  and  two  sisters  and  a 

brother  homesteaded  on  160  acres.  This  land  was 
located  south  of  Rattlesnake  Butte. 

The  Government  allowed  the  settlers  160  acres 

and  another  160  acres  if  they  could  get  the  water 

upon  the  land  within  a  certain  length  of  time.  Fred 
was  unable  to  get  water  on  the  second  160  acres  so 
he  dug  a  well  on  the  land  where  the  home  was. 

He  built  a  log  cabin  and  set  up  housekeeping.  He 

had  more  plowing  done  on  this  place,  which  he  had 
broke  up  with  a  hand  plow  and  a  team  of  mules. 

Fred  Kesler  came  from  Utah  in  1900  and  took  up 

a  homestead  located  over  by  Alexander.  Fred 

Robinson  became  acquainted  with  him  and  thus 
met  ETHEL  SOPHIA  KESLER.  They  were 
married  January  22,  1903  at  Central,  Idaho.  Ethel 
was  born  December  13,  1883  in  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah.  She  came  with  her  father  and  two  brothers  to 

Idaho.  Her  mother  died  when  she  was  very  young. 

Mr.  Kesler  taught  school  in  Central,  Idaho  and 
Ethel  taught  the  first  grade. 

Homesteading  was  very  hard  work,  grubbing 

sagebrush  and  hauling  rock.  Fred  and  Ethel  had  to 
haul  their  water  from  Bear  River  for  household  use 

and  for  all  the  stock.  A  well  was  dug  and  a  water 

wheel  was  used  for  many  years.  Fred  then  purchas- 
ed a  windmill  for  pumping  the  water,  however,  if 

the  wind  didn't  blow  there  was  no  water.  This  wind- 
mill was  one  of  the  first  in  the  valley. 

Fred  helped  on  large  threshing  crews  that  went 
around  the  valley  and  harvested  grain. 
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Fred  belonged  to  the  first  band  and  also  the  first 

baseball  team  in  the  valley.  Ethel  and  Fred  were 
very  desirous  that  their  children  have  an  education 
and  also  musical  training.  Fred  could  play  several 

musical  instruments,  and  Ethel  played  the  organ. 
They  taught  their  children  to  sing,  and  all  have 
fond  memories  of  the  wonderful  songfests. 

They  had  every  opportunity  possible  to  learn  music 

and  gain  an  education.  They  had  the  following 
children:  Chloe  Sophia,  Mamie  E.,  Fern  M.,  Clara 
Roxana,  F.  Roland,  Vivian  L.  Beatrice  A.,  Delia 

L.,  Eben  J.,  W.  Lee,  and  Margaret  R. 
Fred  died  September  1.  1932  and  Ethel  August  8, 

1961. 

Roland,  Vivian,  and  Beatrice  continue  to  live  in 

the  valley,  and  still  own  the  land  that  was 
homesteaded  by  their  parents. 

JOHN  ROGHAAR  was  born  in  Amsterdam, 

Holland,  on  July  29,  1884.  He  immigrated  to 
America  in  1894  with  his  father  and  mother.  He 

grew  to  manhood  in  Ogden,  Utah.  He  filled  a  mis- 

sion for  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day 
Saints  in  the  Netherlands  from  1905  to  1907.  John 
married  GRACE  VANDERHEIDE  on  December 

9,  1908.  He  was  actively  engaged  in  the  grocery 
business  and  real  estate  business  in  Ogden,  Utah 
until  191 1  when  he  went  to  Grace,  Idaho  and  there 

opened  a  general  merchandise  retail  store. 

John  and  Grace  became  a  real  part  of  the  grow- 
ing community.  They  were  active  in  both  church 

and  community  affairs.  John  was  superintendent  of 
the  Grace  Ward  Sunday  School  when  the  Second 
Ward  was  organized  on  August  15,  1926.  He 

became  bishop  of  the  newly  formed  ward  and  serv- 
ed in  this  capacity  for  more  than  nineteen  years. 

During  the  years  that  he  lived  in  Grace,  he  also 

served  on  the  city  board,  as  mayor  of  Grace,  as  a 
member  and  chairman  of  the  school  board.  He  was 

a  very  energetic  personality  and  firmly  believed 
that  you  could  find  time  to  do  the  things  you 
wanted  to  do.  He  and  his  wife  Grace,  had  born  to 
them  seven  children,  all  of  whom  were  raised  in  the 

valley.  The  children  were:  Margriet,  Josephine, 
Helen,  John  A.,  Lona,  Ralph,  and  Ray. 

John  had  a  great  capacity  to  serve.  His  positive 
attitude  brightened  everyone  with  whom  he  came  in 
contact.  Through  all  the  hardships  and  heartaches 
of  being  a  pioneer  in  Gem  Valley,  he  was  extremely 

optimistic.  He  helped  those  who  were  downtrodden 
and  those  who  were  in  need.  Those  who  knew  him 

best,  knew  him  as  generous,  thoughtful,  con- 

siderate, and  understanding  person.  His  con- 
tributions, not  only  monetarily  but  also  spiritually, 

and  physically,  helped  establish  the  wonderful  com- 
munity of  Grace,  Idaho. 

He  left  beautiful  Gem  Valley  and  the  people  that 
he  loved,  when  he  sold  his  business  in  1943.  This 

was  because  of  some  commitments  and  promises  he 
had  made  to  the  Lord.  He  and  his  wife  then  served 

a  two  year  mission  for  the  Church  in  Independence, 

Missouri.  The  next  twenty  years  he  served  as  an  of- 
ficiator  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple.  He  died  in  Salt 

Lake  City,  Utah  on  February  7,  1969. 

John  Roghaar  was  born  on  a  sailing  vessel  in  the 
harbor  at  Amsterdam,  Holland.  With  his  parents 
and  brothers  and  sisters  he  came  to  America  and 

settled  in  Ogden,  Utah  at  the  age  of  ten.  The  ship 
he  sailed  on  was  the  same  one  which  brought  Mrs. 
Vandenakker  and  her  parents. 

John's  wife  Grace  was  a  native  of  Holland,  but 
he  met  her  in  the  United  States. 

The  Roghaars  came  to  Grace  in  1911  and  es- 
tablished a  general  store.  He  began  by  building  a  20 

X  30  foot  in  size,  and  by  1936  it  had  been  enlarged 
to  56  X  125  feet. 

At  this  time,  employees  were  William  Fowler, 
Mrs.  Max  Chambers,  and  Gail  Ray,  with  Mrs. 
Isreal  Green  as  relief  clerk.  He  sold  his  store  to  Mr. 

and  Mrs.  Wm.  Stalder  in  1943. 
Note:  The  store  burned  in  March  1952. 

Vt'si^i^^ai 

Simpson  Roper Ethel  Roper 

SIMPSON  ROPER  was  born  January  5,  1890  at 
Preston,  Idaho. 
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ETHEL  BROWN  was  born  at  Lanark,  Idaho 

May  20,  1896. 
They  were  married  March  31,  1915  at  Logan, 

Utah. 

Simpson  and  Ethel  had  the  following  children: 
Howard  B.,  Frank  B.,  Ida  Andersen,  Leo  B.,  Paul 

B.  (deceased),  Helen  Allen,  and  Orson  B.  Roper. 
Simpson  was  engaged  in  farming  most  of  his  life. 
He  was  interes^Jed  in  cattle  and  good  horses.  He 

was  county  assessor. 
He  filled  an  Eastern  States  Mission  for  the 

L.D.S.  Church,  he  was  a  high  councilman,  and 

ward  clerk.  He  also  served  on  the  Caribou  county 
fair  board. 

Ethel  died  December  27,  1948,  and  Simpson  died 
October  24,  1957. 

Anders  and  Johana  Rosdahl 

ANDERS  F.  ROSDAHL  was  born  in  Lyby, 
Malmohus,  Sweden  the  4th  of  June  1850.  Because 

of  hard  times,  he  left  home  about  10  years  of  age  to 
struggle  for  himself  as  best  he  could,  working  at 

various  jobs  until  he  was  15.  At  this  age  he  joined 

the  Swedish  Kings  Cavalry  and  stayed  with  it  for  15 

years.  He  was  an  excellent  sharpshooter.  During 
this  time  he  learned  the  trade  of  cabinet  carpentry 
and  building  as  a  vocation. 

He  met  JOHANA  JOHANSON  when  he  was 

about  19-years-old.  It  was  unlawful  to  get  married 
until  he  was  21 -years-old,  but  he  could  get  special 
permission  from  the  King  for  them  to  live  together 

until  he  became  21.  They  lived  together  until  they 

were  married  by  law  on  Johanna's  birthday,  July  8, 
1871. 

Anders  was  open  minded  and  on  coming  in  con- 
tact with  Mormon  missionaries  he  and  his  wife 

responded  with  eagerness.  They  were  baptized  into 

the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints 
July  6,  1879,  in  Sweden. 

Six  children  were  born  to  them  there.  In  the 

latter  part  of  1879  he  was  ordained  a  priest  in  the 
Aaronic  Priesthood.  In  September  1882  he  was  or- 

dained an  Elder  and  was  put  in  charge  of  the 
Branch  of  the  L.D.S.  Church  in  his  area  and  held 

that  position  until  1884. 

Their  hearts  were  set  on  coming  to  America  with 

Utah  their  destination  so  they  could  live  with  the 
Saints.  Times  were  hard  so  a  few  members  of  the 

family  left  at  a  time.  The  two  oldest  girls,  Hedvi 
and  Edith  came  first  with  some  missionaries  in 

1884.  In  1885  Anders  with  his  youngest  daughter 

Otense  immigrated  to  Utah.  The  next  year  the 
remaining  members,  his  wife  and  two  boys,  John  F. 
and  Charles  Rosdahl  arrived. 

The  family  settled  in  Millville,  Utah.  Anders 
worked  as  a  carpenter  while  living  in  Millville  and 

was  active  in  church  work.  In  1890  the  family  mov- 
ed to  Clarkston,  Utah  where  they  homesteaded  a 

farm.  In  1891  twin  boys  were  born,  one  died  and 
Andrew  R.  Rosahl  survived.  Altogether,  twelve 
children  were  born:  Hedvi  Ulricka,  IdaCharlotta, 
John  F.,  Edith  Amali,  Otense  Charlott,  Charles 

Waldemar,  Annie  Caroline,  Hugo,  Elnora  Hen- 
drietta,  Elevara  Sofi,  Andrew  Ruben,  and  Almi 
Harri. 

Rumors  were  around  that  there  was  a  great 

valley  in  Idaho;  rich  soil  and  tall  grass.  So  in  1898 

they  moved  again  with  quite  a  number  of  other  peo- 
ple. They  called  it  the  Lund  Ward.  This  was  soon 

divided  and  where  the  Rosdahls  were  living,  they 
called  it  Central  or  the  Central  Ward. 

Here  the  hardships  of  early  pioneering  began. 

The  land  was  all  sagebrush.  New  homesteads  had 
to  be  searched  out  and  filed  upon  in  Pocatello. 
Races  were  run  that  60  miles  to  beat  each  other  to 
file  first  on  the  land  of  their  choice.  Anders  had 

used  up  his  claim  in  Utah  so  his  boys,  John  F., 
Charles  W.,  and  Andrew  filed  for  homesteads. 

Cabins  and  log  houses  had  to  be  built  fast  in 

order  to  survive.  The  tall  sagebrush  had  to  be  turn- 
ed over  with  a  hand  plow  and  a  team  of  horses. 

Then  the  brush  piled  and  burned.  When  a  few  acres 

were  cleared  grain  was  seeded  by  hand  broad- 
casting. Rodents  and  grasshoppers  ate  more  than 

their  share. 

It  was  pioneering  at  its  toughest.  They  hung  on, 
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struggled  hard  and  gradually  they  tamed  the  valley 
and  their  conditions  improved. 

Anders  Rosdahl  became  the  first  postmaster  in 

Central  with  the  office  in  a  little  cubby  hole  in  his 

cabin  for  12  years.  He  being  a  cabinet  maker,  made 
many  coffins  for  those  early  folks  that  passed  on 
and  buried  in  the  Central  Cemetery.  He  was  the 
Central  representative  for  the  Bancroft  Standard 

for  many  years.  He  loved  horses  and  horse  racing, 
and  in  later  years  raced  the  boys  on  horseback  with 

his  single  one-eyed  horse  and  buggy,  usually  win- 
ning the  race. 

Anders  died  suddenly  December  28,  1927  on  a 
cold  winter  afternoon  leaving  his  dear  wife,  and  was 
buried  New  Years  day  1928,  during  one  of  those 
old  fashioned  blizzards  for  which  Central  was 
famous. 

Charles  and  Annie  Rosdahl 

CHARLES   WALDERMER    ROSDAHL   was 
the  son  of  Anders  Frederick  Rosdahl  and  Johanna 

Johnson  and  was  born  the  18th  day  of  September, 

1883,  in  Helsingberg,  Sweden.  He  came  over  from 
Sweden  to  the  United  States  in  October  of  1885. 

ANNIE  ANDERSON,  was  born  in  Karbenning, 

Sweden,  February  24,  1888.  She  came  with  her 
parents  and  two  brothers  in  the  year  of  1890. 

Annie  Anderson  daughter  of  Wilhemina  and 
Peter  Anderson  and  Charles  were  married 

February  27,  1906  in  Pocatello,  Idaho.  Mother's 
half  brother  Charles  Hansen  took  them  into  Ban- 

croft to  catch  the  train  to  Pocatello.  The  snow  was 

real  deep  and  they  traveled  by  team  and  sleigh. 
Charles  and  Annie  were  sealed  for  time  and  etern- 

tiy  on  October  30,  1907  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 
On  September  6,  1909  their  first  child  was  born 

and  christened.  Glen  Charles.  He  lived  but  a  few 

days  and  died  on  September  22,  1909.  In  the  next 
nine  years,  four  children  were  born  to  them.  Milo 
Waldermer,  Mildred,  Alia,  and  Arva  Lue.  During 

the  time  they  were  raising  their  own  children,  they 
also  kept  Roy  Rosdahl,  son  of  his  brother  John,  for 
three  years  after  his  mother  died,  and  Elmo 
Harrison  for  five  years  after  his  mother  died. 

Charles  was  never  able  to  say  "no"  to  anyone  in need. 

On  September  20,  1921  they  were  visited  by 

tragedy  again  in  the  death  of  Milo  at  the  age  of  1 1  '/2 
years.  He  died  from  a  broken  neck  suffered  when 
his  horses  ran  away,  while  drilling  grain,  and  he 
was  thrown  off  the  machine. 

In  the  next  thirteen  years  four  more  children 

were  born,  Marva,  Sybil,  Byron,  and  a  still  born 
son. 

During  the  years  of  raising  his  family,  Charles 
was  afflicted  with  stomach  ulcers  which 

necessitated  his  entering  the  hospital  at  different 
times,  but  while  he  was  there  Annie  and  the  girls 

would  carry  on  with  the  farm  work  and  chores.  The 

older  girls  could  do,  and  would  do,  as  much  field 

work  as  any  hired  man  could  do. 

They  held  quite  a  number  of  jobs  in  the  church  as 
well  as  other  jobs,  such  as  Charles  being  school 
trustee  for  seventeen  years  and  road  overseer  for  20 

years.  He  never  shirked  his  duties.  Whenever 

anyone  was  in  need,  "C.W."  was  the  first  one  on 
the  job  offering  help. 

Annie  died  at  an  early  age,  on  December  3,  1937. 
On  June  6,  1940,  Charles  took  as  his  second  wife, 

NELLIE  LLOYD  BOWLER.  They  had  a  son, 

Walter,  born  to  them. 
Charles  died  November  20,  1960. 

JOHN  FREDERICK  ROSDAHL  was  the  third 

of  a  family  of  twelve.  He  was  born  in  Helsingberg, 
Sweden  on  the  20th  of  June  1874.  In  1879  his 

parents  joined  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter- 
day  Saints.  In  1884  the  family  decided  to  come  to 
America  with  Utah  their  destination.  A  few 

members  of  the  family  immigrated  at  a  time 

because  of  poverty.  By  1886  they  had  all  arrived  in 
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John  and  Amanda  Rosdahl 

> 

Millville,  Utah.  The  Homestead  Act  was  passed  so 
his  family  moved  to  Clarkston,  Utah  about  1888, 
where  his  father  homesteaded  160  acres. 

They  farmed  there  until  1898  and  on  hearing 
about  the  wonderful  valley  in  Idaho,  rich  soil  and  a 

great  future,  the  whole  family  moved  to  what  is 
now  Central.  John,  Charles  and  Andrew  (3 

brothers)  combed  the  area  looking  for  a  choice 
piece  of  land  with  tall  brush  and  few  rock  piles. 
After  that,  it  meant  a  rush  to  Pocatello  and  file  on  a 
land  of  their  choice.  In  order  to  hold  their  claim, 

logs  had  to  be  placed  on  the  land  to  show 
ownership,  a  house  in  the  making. 

In  order  to  get  some  money,  John  secured  a  job 
with  the  Union  Pacific  Railroad  as  a  sign  painter 

on  the  right  of  way.  He  traveled  from  Pocatello  to 
Green  River  pumping  a  handcart  on  the  tracks 
carrying  his  paint  and  supplies.  Sometimes  he 
would  tie  on  to  a  freight  train  and  save  his  back  but 
risk  his  neck. 

While  working  in  Pocatello  he  met  and  married 
AMANDA  CHRISTINA  PETERSEN  on  August 
27,  1902.  Four  children  blessed  this  home:  Adella 

Beatrice,  John  Charles,  Elmer  John  Andrew,  and 

LeRoy  Neils. 

Trying  to  develop  the  homestead  was  almost  too 

much.  A  small  two-room  log  house  was  built. 
Water  had  to  be  hauled  from  Bear  River,  and  the 

land  cleared.  He  rented  a  farm  in  Lago  for  a  couple 
of  years  where  John  C.  was  born.  They  then  moved 
back  to  Central  in  the  log  cabin  where  Roy  was 
born  on  April  26,  1909.  Nine  days  later  Amanda 

died  of  blood  poisoning,  leaving  John  with  his  five 
boys.  Adella  B.  had  already  died.  Amanda  was 

staunch  L.D.S.,  a  devoted  wife  and  mother,  loved 

by  all  who  knew  her. 
John  was  heart-broken,  lost  and  uncertain  as 

what  to  do.  His  father,  Anders,  thought  that 

perhaps  a  mission  might  help  and  volunteered  to 
keep  the  boys  so  John  F.  was  called  to  the  Swedish 
mission.  While  there  he  became  acquainted  with 
Julia  A.  T.  Johanson  and  converted  her  to  the 

church,  the  only  one  in  her  family  of  seven.  John 

returned  from  his  mission,  and  Julia,  being  a  Mor- 
mon, wanted  to  join  the  Saints  and  immigrate  to 

America.  On  July  17,  1912,  JULIA  A.  T. 
JOHANSON  married  John  in  the  Logan  Temple. 

They  moved  into  the  log  cabin  on  the  homestead 

and  began  the  job  of  raising  John's  boys.  A  boy  was 
born  to  them  January  8,  1914  and  they  named  him 

Floyd  Julius. 
Conditions  and  hardships  were  almost  beyond 

human  endurance.  Rodents,  grasshoppers, 

hailstorms,  frost,  and  drought  plagued  them  con- 
tinually to  the  point  of  almost  starvation.  Yet  they 

hung  on  ever  faithful  to  their  church  and  God. 
Julia,  in  desperation,  searched  every  avenue  to 
make  a  dime  to  feed  the  hungry  family.  Julia  had 

graduated  from  a  knitting  school  in  Sweden  and 
was  an  expert  machine  knitter.  She  tried  knitting 
clothes  to  sell  but  the  wool  yarn  cost  more  than  the 

finished  clothes  could  sell  for  so  it  didn't  work  out. 
She  finally  came  up  with  the  idea  of  buying  cattle, 
butchering  them  at  home  and  peddling  the  meat 

through  out  the  valley.  There  were  no  freezers  then 
so  every  one  was  glad  to  have  fresh  meat  delivered 
at  their  door;  and  she  did  a  thriving  business  with 

her  horse  and  buggy.  John  F.  and  Julia  also  hatch- 
ed chicks  and  sold  one  hen  and  20  chicks  for  $1.25; 

one  year  they  sold  1800  chicks. 
John  F.  died  September  25,  1946.  Julia  died  May 

8,  1971. 

ALFRED  CLIFFORD  SANT  was  born  August 

27,  1888  at  Treasureton,  Idaho.  ETHEL 

MATHER  was  born  April  9,  1892  at  Smithfield, 

Utah.  They  were  married  October  22.  1913. 

They  had  the  following  children:  Adrian,  Nona, 
Maxine,  Leo,  Morris,  Shirley,  Margaret  Ann. 

Alfred  has  been  a  store  clerk,  hotel  owner  and 

cattle  buyer.  He  has  been  a  member  of  a  bishopric 

and  enjoyed  reading  and  music. 
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Ethel  has  served  as  a  Sunday  School  teacher  an 

M.I. A.  teacher  and  participated  in  Singing 
Mothers.  She  enjoyed  sewing  and  reading. 

Fred  died  September  1,  1972. 

Edward  Simonson Sarah  Simonson 

EDWARD  NELS  SIMONSON  was  born 

September  12,  1879  at  Bear  River  City,  Box  Elder 
County,  Utah  to  Nels  and  Anna  Louise  Rasmussen 

Peterson  Simonson.  Their  home  was  a  dugout  by 
the  river  with  a  dirt  roof.  This  was  a  very  humble 

and  happy  home. 

Edward  (Ed)  and  Lorenzo  (Ren)  were  born  here. 
Later  their  father  bought  2  acres  of  land  in 

Brigham  City.  There  he  built  a  two-room  house 
and  also  planted  fruit  trees  in  which  he  was  very 
successful  in  grafting  several  varieties  on  one  tree. 

He  tied  the  grafts  with  a  mixture  of  beeswax  and 

resin,  wrapped  strips  of  cloth  to  keep  them  from 

drying  out.  He  also  planted  alfalfa  hay  to  feed  his 
livestock. 

Ed  and  Ren,  being  the  oldest,  worked  for  the 

farmers  putting  up  hay  and  picking  fruit.  Ed,  with 
his  money,  bought  a  team  of  Clydesdale  horses  and 

a  wagon.  With  these  he  hauled  grain  and  fruit,  to 
earn  money.  When  they  came  to  Idaho  in  1897,  Ed 

was  18,  Ren  16,  Orsen  14,  and  Alma  12.  They 
wanted  to  homestead,  so  their  father  Nels  spent  his 
homestead  rights.  Later  he  turned  it  over  to  the 
boys.  He  stayed  with  them  the  first  summer  and 

helped  them  build  a  house  and  barn  for  the  horses. 
Their  furniture  was  a  homemade  bed,  small  cook 

stove,  table  and  a  couple  of  benches  to  sit  on,  and  a 
barrel  in  the  corner  for  drinking  water. 

There  was  no  water  closer  than  four  miles.  The 

closest  store  was  ten  miles  to  Soda  Springs.  All 

they  had  to  start  farming  with  was  two  team  of 

horses,  two  hand  plows,  and  some  wire  for  fencing. 
Ren  and  Orsen  stayed  with  Ed  through  the  winter. 

It  was  very  cold.  The  snow  was  4  to  6  feet  deep. 

They  built  large  troughs  to  melt  snow  for  their 
drinking  water  and  for  the  animals. 

The  boys  batched  until  they  became  of  age  to  use 
their  homestead  rights.  Each  one  moved  to  his  own 
farm.  They  drilled  wells  and  got  good  water.  The 

water  was  pumped  by  windmills.  They  picked  Lava 
rock  and  grubbed  sagebrush  to  clear  the  land.  Ed 

met  a  young  girl  by  the  name  of  SARAH 
ELIZABETH  GUNNELL,  (LIBBY).  They  were 
married  and  his  brothers  Ren,  Orsen,  and  Alma 

helped  to  build  a  two-room  frame  house  for  them. 
They  were  very  good  carpenters.  This  is  the  home 
that  they  remember. 

There  were  five  children  born  which  are  still  liv- 
ing. Libby  died  in  childbirth,  with  her  sixth  child, 

on  February  4,  1919.  This  left  Ed  alone  with  five 
small  children:  Orland  12,  Roma  10,  Lillie  8, 

Jaunita  6,  and  George  2. 

This  was  a  terrible  time  in  their  lives.  Libby  and 

Ed  had  plans  for  a  new  brick  home.  The  material 

was  all  bought,  so  that  summer  Ed  built  the  house 
that  he  and  Libby  had  made  so  many  plans  and 
sacrifices  for.  Ed  worked  hard  all  summer.  He  kept 

the  children  together  which  they  are  all  thankful 
for.  His  sister  took  Jaunita  to  live  with  her  for  a 

year. 

Ed  hired  housekeepers  to  care  for  them.  The 

women  came  from  the  cities  and  they  didn't  know 
much  about  farm  life  or  cooking  for  the  hired  men. 

They  all  had  two  or  three  children,  which  always 
made  trouble.  One  brought  them  the  whooping 

cough  then  left.  They  now  wonder  how  their  dad 

did  so  well  by  all  of  them;  doing  the  washing,  iron- 

ing, and  cooking  with  their  help,  which  wasn't  very much. 

Ed  married  the  last  housekeeper  that  came  to 
work  for  him.  Her  name  was  CHRISTEN 
NEILSON.  Their  children  are  Orval,  Von.  Eileen, 

and  Betty.  The  girls  live  in  Salt  Lake;  Orval  was 
killed  in  an  accident;  and  Von  lives  on  the  home 

place. Ed  was  a  hard  working  man  with  lots  of  talents. 
He  did  his  own  carpenter  work,  blacksmithing,  and 

repaired  all  his  machinery  and  motors. 
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Ed  helped  build  the  Central  Canal  so  they  could 

get  water  onto  the  land.  He  also  had  water  rights  in 
Soda  Creek.  Every  year  he  would  take  his  team  and 

slip  scraper  and  clean  the  canal.  He  also  helped 
build  the  telephone  line;  they  had  to  buy  the  poles 

and  dig  the  hole  with  a  pick  and  shovel.  This  line 
was  finished  to  their  place  the  winter  of  1919.  They 

got  their  telephone  when  the  war  ended  and  the  in- 
fluenza was  so  bad. 

Ed  died  April  1,  1946. 

LORENZO  (REN)  SIMONSON  married 

ELLA  LUND.  They  have  one  son  living.  Earl 

Simonson  of  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  Ren's  place  was 
just  east  of  Ed's.  Christensens  own  it  now.  All  that 
is  left  standing  is  the  windmill. 

ORSON  SIMONSON  died  in  1914.  His  home 

was  just  across  the  road  from  Ren's.  Orson  married 
ALFREDA  N.  ANDERSEN  in  1907.  They  had  one 

son,  Francis  Simonson.  Alfreda  is  still  living  at 
Idaho  Falls,  Idaho. 

ALMA  SIMONSON  was  born  in  1892.  He 
married  SARAH  HUTCHESON.  Their 

homestead  was  north  and  east  of  the  Bjorkman 
place  by  the  canal.  Their  children  were:  Mae, 

Beatrice,  Orson,  LaRue,  Lowell,  Darlene,  and  Ver- 
non. Sarah  is  still  living  at  Brigham  City,  Utah. 

Ed  and  Ken  Simonson 

Jane  and  Elmer  Smith 

ELMER  WILDING  SMITH,  son  of  George  M. 

and  Mary  Wooley  Smith,  was  born  in  Mormon 
Ward,  Gentile  Valley  on  October  25,  1887.  He 
received  his  common  school  education  in  a  one- 
room  school  near  his  home,  and  also  attended  the 

L.D.S.  University  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  for  three 

years. 
ELIZA  JANE  ROBBINS  was  born  November  8, 

1894,  to  Milton  and  Sarah  Hoopes  Robbins.  She 
and  Elmer  were  married  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple, 
June  4,  1913. 

Elmer  was  active  in  the  L.D.S.  Church  and  in 

civic  groups.  He  was  a  member  of  the  Thatcher 
Ward  Bishopric  for  14  years,  first  counselor  in  the 
Bannock  Stake  Presidency  16  years,  and  at  his 
death  he  was  president  of  the  High  Priest  Quorum, 

and  Sunday  School  teacher.  He  was  an  active 

scouter,  having  received  the  Silver  Beaver  Award. 

He  filled  a  mission  to  England  in  1909-1912. 
Elmer  and  Jane  served  a  mission  to  Canada 

1946-1948. 

Sons  and  daughter  of  Elmer  and  Jane  Smith 
were  all  born  at  Thatcher,  Idaho.  Milton  R.  Smith, 

Edna  Smith  Pond,  Merlin  R.  Smith. 

GEORGE  MICHAEL  SMITH,  son  of  John 

Sivel  Smith  and  Jane  Wadley  was  married  to 

MARY  ELLEN  WOOLEY,  daughter  of  Edwin 

Dilworth  Wooley  and  Ellen  Wilding,  the  13th  of 
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George  M.  Smith Mary  Ellen  Smith 

January  1881,  in  the  Endowment  House  at  Salt 
Lake  City,  Utah. 

He  and  his  wife  moved  to  Gentile  Valley,  Idaho, 

where  they  bought  "Squatter's  Rights"  on  places 
which  he  later  homesteaded  including  his  home. 

They  bought  out  Bob  Robinson,  his  home  and  old 
sawmill.  This  was  located  in  Thatcher,  just  below 

George  M.  Smith  family;  left  to  right:  Parley, 
Wendell,  Elmer,  Ernest,  and  Sivel 

where  the  little  warm  spring  is — in  the  curve  where 
the  canal  has  since  been  built.  They  also  filed  on  a 

claim  adjoining  their  place,  and  bought  out  Mrs. 
Wakely  on  their  northeast,  making  about  440 
acres. 

George  Michael  was  a  big  man,  six  foot  three  in- 
ches, weighing  235  pounds.  He  was  a  hard  worker 

and  it  was  said  of  him  that  he  could  handle  as  much 

hay  as  two  men.  He  lived  until  he  was  seventy-nine 
years  of  age.  The  last  ten  years  he  had  ill  health  and 
was  cared  for  by  his  daughter,  Edna,  at  the  family 
home  in  Thatcher. 

Mary  Ellen  was  a  small  woman — five  feet  two  in- 
ches. She  too  was  a  hard  worker  in  keeping  up  her 

home  and  garden.  She  kept  the  family  intact  while 
her  husband  served  in  the  mission  field.  She  loved 
to  knit  and  fish.  It  was  said  of  her  that  she  was  kind 

but  firm.  She  died  at  the  early  age  of  50  of 

pneumonia. 
To  this  marriage  was  born  the  following 

children:  George  Sivle.  Ernest  Heber,  Elmer 

Wilding,  Hyrum  Wendell,  Edwin  Parley,  and  Edna 
May.  Four  other  babies  died  in  infancy. 

George  Michael  and  his  brother  Joseph  T.  had 
horses  that  they  ran  out  in  Skull  Valley.  They  also 

ranged  cattle  in  Draper,  Grantsville,  and  Kaysville, 
Utah  in  the  winter  and  into  Idaho  for  the  summer 

range.  It  took  about  six  days  to  drive  cattle  to 

market  at  Salt  Lake  City.  A  ranch  was  also  ac- 
quired on  the  Portneuf  River. 

This  was  a  hard-working  family,  but  there  was 
love  and  unity  as  each  one  tried  to  do  his  part.  A 

hard-working  mother  and  father  who,  with  the 
boys,  broke  the  land  for  planting,  raised  cattle, 

sheep,  logged  and  did  anything  else  to  make  an 
honest  living.  They  raised  horses  and  were  proud  of 
their  teams  which  plowed  the  fields,  helped  to 

harvest  the  crops,  and  were  driven  as  transporta- 
tion for  the  family. 

The  years  held  happiness  and  sorrow,  but  the 
fam.ily  held  true  to  their  faith  in  the  church.  They 
fulfilled  missions,  and  did  their  part  in  the  ward  and 
stake. 

Edna  May  carried  on  after  the  death  of  their 
mother  to  keep  the  house.  She  did  a  real  fine  job. 
She  never  married.  The  boys  married:  George 

Sivell  to  Ethel  Egbert.  Ernest  Heber  to  Cecelia 
Short.   Elmer  Wilding  to  Jane  Robbins.  Hyrum 
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Wendell  to  Adella  McClain,  and  Edwin  Parley  to 
Lillie  Barton. 

The  years  have  gone  by — mother,  father  and  the 
boys,  all  except  Hyrum  Wendell  have  passed  on. 

Tractors  have  replaced  the  horses;  gas  and  electrici- 
ty have  replaced  the  coal  and  wood  stoves  and  coal 

oil  light;  but  good  memories  still  linger  on  for  those 
who  are  left  to  carry  on  the  name  of  this  good 
family. 

George  Michael  died  August  24,  1934,  and  Mary 
Ellen  Wooley  Smith  died  January  10,  1908.  They 
are  buried  in  the  Thatcher  Cemetery. 

W   ̂ ^ 
Ethel  Smith 

GEORGE  SIVELL  SMITH  was  born  March  3, 

1883,  the  son  of  George  Michael  Smith  and  Mary 

Ellen  Wooley,  at  Thatcher,  Idaho  in  a  log  house 
located  just  behind  the  present  old  home. 

His  childhood  was  on  a  ranch  or  ranches  which 

his  father  held  at  Thatcher,  Idaho  and  one  at 
Chesterfield.  Idaho  on  the  Portneuf  River.  He  was 

born  and  lived  in  five  counties  and  had  only  m.oved 
about  thirteen  miles,  as  the  county  lines  have  been 
changed  several  times. 

His  schooling  started  at  the  age  of  nine  in  a  one- 

room  log  house  that  stood  just  south  of  a  little  spr- 
ing about  half  a  mile  south  of  his  birthplace  on  the 

west  side  of  the  road.  The  teacher  was  a  Mr. 

Turner.  Later  he  attended  school  at  the  present 
Cove  School.  In  the  winter  of  1901  he  attended  the 

Fielding  Academy  at  Paris,  Idaho.  He  helped  put  in 
the  first  electric  bells  in  that  school.  In  1903-4-5  he 

attended  the  L.D.S.  University  (now  a  college)  in 
Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  There  he  studied  cabinet 

making,  and  architecture,  and  blacksmithing. 

About  the  close  of  the  second  year  he  went  with 
his  close  friend,  Roy  Bateman,  to  his  rooming 
house  where  he  lived  with  his  sister,  Ella  Bateman, 

and  a  cousin  Ethel  Egbert.  This  was  the  girl  he  later 
married. 

He  was  called  to  serve  a  mission  to  the  Southern 

States  and  following  a  farewell  for  him  and  Alf 
Toone,  where  contributions  amounting  to  $37.50 
were  divided  between  the  two,  Sivell  left  Salt  Lake 

City  for  his  mission  under  the  direction  of  Ben  E. 
Rich  and  Charles  A.  Callis.  In  July  1908  he  had  to 
return  home  on  account  of  his  health. 

Just  prior  to  going  on  a  mission  he  had  bought 

"Squatter's  Right"  from  Julius  Shepherd  and  John 
Lester,  and  filed  on  it.  When  he  returned  he  had  to 

refile  because  it  was  "unsurveyed  land." 
He  was  married  to  ETHEL  LAURELDA 

EGBERT,  daughter  of  John  Alexander  Egbert  and 
Araminta  Elizabeth  Bateman  on  February  17,  1909 

in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple.  They  came  to  Thatcher, 
Idaho  on  a  train  to  Oxford,  where  they  were  met  by 
some  of  the  family  in  a  white  top  buggy,  in  which 

they  came  on  to  Thatcher,  about  45  miles.  This  was 
to  be  their  home. 

They  moved  to  the  ranch  which  he  had 
homesteaded,  three  miles  west  of  the  Cove  school, 

where  they  built  their  new  home. 
All  of  their  seven  children  were  born  without  a 

doctor,  with  only  a  midwife  attending,  at  the  log 

home,  except  Mary  Eliza,  born  at  West  Jordan. 
Louella  Egbert,  Wilbur  E.,  Horace  E.,  John  Sivell, 
Max  E.,  and  Margaret. 

They  traveled  six  miles  to  church  in  buggies, 

wagons,  sleighs,  cars  or  how  they  could,  in  all  kinds 
of  weather.  Very  few  meetings  were  missed  in  spite 

of  great  difficulties.  They  had  coal  oil  and  gas  lights 
until  after  their  new  home  was  built  and  sometime 

later,  when  they  installed  a  delco  plant  in  the  base- 
ment. 

He  has  held  no  civic  positions  unless  you  could 

call  acting  as  Cove  school  trustee  for  one  year.  Dur- 
ing this  time  he  helped  install  a  plumbing  system 

across  the  Bear  River  to  the  school  house. 

Meanwhile  the  water  was  carried  from  a  spring  at 

the  foot  of  the  hill  down  by  the  Bear  River.  It  was 
during  the  time  that  they  were  digging  the  trench 
that  it  caved  in  on  him  and  injured  his  back. 

He  has  been  a  home  missionary  at  different  times 

and    a    ward    teacher,    secretary,    Y. M.M.I. A., 
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assistant  Sunday  School  Superintendent  in 

Thatcher  Ward,  taught  two  classes  in  Sunday 
School,  also  was  assistnat  in  Stake  Sunday  School; 
group  leader  in  High  Priests  of  Thatcher  Ward 
before  moving  to  Grace  Ward  in  1950,  Chairman 
of  Genealogy  Committee  of  Grace  First  Ward,  and 

Aaronic  Priesthood  Advisor  to  Bishop  CD.  Sim- 
mons. 

He  was  a  farmer  most  of  his  life.  He  raised  and 

bred  milking  Shorthorn  cattle  for  nearly  fifty  years, 

winning  "firsts"  in  the  state  and  county  fairs 
several  times.  He  did  some  carpentry  work  while 
living  in  Grace,  on  the  stake  house,  rebuilt  after  the 

old  building  burned,  and  private  homes.  They  mov- 
ed to  Grace,  Idaho  from  their  ranch  at  Thatcher, 

Idaho  in  December  1950. 

He  was  caretaker  of  the  Grace  Cemetery  for  one 

year,  in  1954.  They  were  appointed  caretakers  of 
the  welfare  house  at  Grace,  shortly  after  moving 
there. 

George  Sivell  died  March  9,  1960  at  Logan, 

Utah  of  a  heart  ailment,  after  having  spent  an  en- 
joyable afternoon  and  evening  in  the  service  of  the 

Lord  in  the  Logan  Temple.  Ethel  Laurelda  Egbert 
Smith  died  at  Sandy,  Utah  May  27,  1976. 

THERON  ENSIGN  SMITH  was  born  in  Logan, 
Utah,  December  13,  1893.  He  came  to  Gentile 

Valley  in  1913  to  work  for  Anthone  (Ted)  Bennion 

and  Will  (Doc)  Smith.  He  was  a  camp  Jack  for  a 
year  for  the  sheep  end  of  the  Bennion  Livestock 

Company,  which  had  about  five  different  ranches. 
The  headquarters  was  at  the  Cleveland  ranch,  now 

being  operated  by  the  McGregors,  where  the  hot 
springs  are  located  in  the  southern  end  of  the  valley. 

He  then  worked  on  the  farm  for  a  year  and  at 
this  time  he  met  LETITIA  MAE  GRAY,  daughter 

of  Andrew  Busby  Gray,  and  married  her  June  23, 
1915.  Theron  E.  Smith  and  Letitia  G.  Smith  had 

six  children:  Dow  Gray,  Kathleen,  Charity, 

Theron,  Jr.,  Norman  Busby,  and  Easton  Ensign. 

Letitia  (Lettie)  was  a  hard-working  woman  who 
was  active  in  Primary,  Relief  Society  and  Sunday 
School  work.  Her  dedication  to  her  husband  and 

boys  was  almost  fanatical.  She  was  very  loyal  to 

her  own.  They  purchased  a  small  farm  in 
Treasureton  and  lived  there  for  a  time.  He  con- 

tinued to  work  for  the  Bennion  Livestock  Com- 

pany. 

It  was  at  this  time  (around  1920),  that  the  Ben- 

nion Livestock  Company  went  broke  because  of 

high  feed  and  low  cattle  prices.  Theron  E.  Smith 
was  able  to  borrow  enough  money  to  buy  part  of 

the  land,  2,050  acres — the  property  being  that 
which  his  son,  Theron  Smith,  Jr.,  now  lives  on. 

Theron  Smith  was  a  very  active  in  the  church  and 
in  civic  activities.  He  held  leadership  positions  in 

the  Sunday  School,  MIA,  and  priesthood  quorums. 
He  served  on  the  High  Council  and  was  a  member 
of  the  bishoric  in  Cleveland.  He  was  a  school  board 

member  of  four  different  districts — Rose  Hill, 
Cleveland,  Thatcher  High  School  and  Grace  High 
School.  He  also  served  on  the  Franklin  County 
Schools  Committee. 

Ester  C.  Smith Evelyn  Smith 

WARREN  SAMUEL  SMITH,  SR.  was  born  in 

Brigham,  Utah  on  September  22,  1876.  He  was  the 
son  of  Samuel  Smith  and  Frances  Ann  Ingram 

Smith.  The  family  moved  to  Smithfield,  Utah  in 
1885. 
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In  1899  he  and  a  number  of  other  young  men 

came  to  Turner,  Idaho  and  he  homesteaded  a  sec- 
tion of  ground  about  3  %  miles  west  of  Grace.  This 

ground  was  covered  with  sagebrush  that  grew  as 
high  as  a  horse  was  tall  and  parts  of  the  ground 
were  covered  with  ledges  and  heaps  of  black  lava 
rocks.  His  brother  Rufus,  settled  to  the  north  of 
him. 

On  January  3,  1900  he  married  ESTHER 
COLEMAN,  daughter  of  William  Coleman  and 

Amy  Gibson  Coleman,  in  Smithfield,  Utah,  .  She 
was  born  December  8,  1880.  Their  first  home  was  a 

one-room  log  cabin  built  in  the  southeast  corner  of 
the  farm.  This  location  enabled  them  to  obtain 

water  from  the  spring  which  was  a  short  distance 

down  the  canyon.  Later  a  log  house  was  built  in  the 
northeast  corner  of  the  farm.  It  was  directly  west  of 

the  two-story  house  that  was  built  later  which  is 
still  standing. 

Children  born  to  them  were  Amy  Ann,  Warren 
Samuel  (Sam),  Jr.,  William  Coleman,  Harlan 
(Hack),  LaVerl  (Ted),  and  Esther.  His  wife  died 
about  a  month  after  the  birth  of  their  last  child  in 
1908. 

He  helped  with  the  church  and  school  buildings 
in  Turner  and  he  was  a  vigorous  promoter  of  the 

irrigation  system,  the  two  big  canals,  the  Last 
Chance  Canal  and  the  Tanner  Canal,  that  finally 

brought  water  to  their  land.  He  was  a  big  share 

holder  in  these  two  companies  and  served  as  Presi- 
dent of  the  Tanner  Canal  Company. 

He  was  affiliated  with  the  Equity,  Elevator,  and 

Trading  Company.  He  was  one  of  the  biggest  stock 
holders  and  served  as  President  of  the  Board  of 

Directors  for  many  years. 
He  served  as  Justice  of  the  Peace  and  was  known 

as  Judge  Smith.  He  was  a  crack  shot  with  a  rifie 

and  pistol. 
In  1912  he  married  EVELYN  MARY  PERRY 

EGBERT,  a  widow  of  Joseph  Hyrum  Egbert.  She 
was  born  October  7,  1875,  in  Logan,  Utah.  They 
had  one  child  a  daughter  named  Emma. 

In  1926  he  retired  from  farming  and  moved  to 
Grace.  They  bought  a  house  from  Otto  Anderson. 

This  house  is  now  owned  by  Harold  B.  Lowe. 
He  died  of  a  heart  ailment  in  January  1928.  The 

ground  was  divided  into  parcels  and  the  children 
drew  them  out  of  a  hat.  They  traded  around  and 
Sam   and  Ted  ended   up  with   the  homesteaded 

ground.  Sam  eventually  bought  Ted's,  and  Sam's 
daughter,  Beverly,  and  her  husband,  DeRay  H. 
Nelson,  have  the  farm  now. 

WILLIAM  RUFUS  SMITH  was  born 

December  7,  1880  in  Brigham  City,  Utah  to 

Samuel  Smith  and  Frances  Ann  Ingram.  His 
father  had  five  wives  in  plural  marriage.  His 
mother,  Frances  Ann  was  the  third  wife,  and  he  was 

the  fiftieth  child  of  fifty-two  children  from  the 
plural  marriages.  Of  his  own  individual  family  he 
was  the  twelth  child  of  thirteen. 

On  June  10,  1903  he  married  MIRIAM  MILES 
of  Smithfield,  Utah  and  moved  to  a  homestead  in 

Turner,  Idaho. 

They  had  two  children.  The  oldest  is  Vera  (Mrs. 
Leo  Thomas).  The  baby,  Cora,  passed  away  when 

only  a  few  weeks  old.  Eight  days  after  Cora's  death, 
Miriam  passed  away  of  a  heart  condition. 

On  January  22,  1908  Rufus  married  HANNAH 
MAY  MCLAIN  in  Turner,  Idaho.  Hannah  was  a 

daughter  of  David  Wilken  McLain  and  Mary  Ellen 

Egbert.  She  was  third  of  13  children  born.  Her  date 
of  birth  was  April  11,  1889. 

To  this  marriage  were  born  Melva  (Mrs.  Frank 
Stoddard),  Marvin,  Rufus  Richard  (Dick),  Opal 

(Mrs.  Frank  Taylor),  Alda  (Mrs.  Ellis  Levitt), 

Oneta  (died),  William  (died),  Everett  Wilken, 
Ailene  (Mrs.  Walter  L.  Robinson),  Geraldine 

(Mrs.  Gloyd  Bennett). 
Rufus  was  active  in  church  and  civic 

organizations  such  as  Farm  Bureau,  Farmers 

Grange,  School  Board,  Sunday  School  Superinten- 
dent, M.I. A.  and  was  a  presiding  elder  (after  the 

accident  destroyed  the  Turner  Church). 

He  was  instrumental  in  bringing  electric  lines  out 

through  Turner  in  1929.  He  was  also  instrumental 

in  getting  water  to  the  Turner  area  and  later  he 

became  the  president  of  the  Tanner  Canal  Com- 
pany. At  the  time  of  his  death  he  was  director  of  the 

Equity  Elevator  and  Trading  Company. 

Rufus  passed  away  November  10,  1933  of  blood 

poisoning.  After  his  death  Marvin  leased  the  ranch 
from  Hannah  and  so  Hannah,  Everett,  Ailene  and 
Geraldine  moved  to  a  home  in  Grace.  Later  Marvin 

bought  his  own  place  and  Everett  bought  the  home 

place  from  his  mother,  which  was  the  original 
homestead. 

Hannah  is  still  living  and  is  87-years-old. 
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MARY     ELIZABETH    SULLIVAN    SNOW, 

(known  to  friends  as  Ma  na)  was  born  to  David 
DoUen  and  Caroline  Clarissa  Calkins  Sullivan, 

September  2,  1882,  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  She 
moved  as  a  child,  with  her  parents,  to  a  ranch  on 
the  north  bank  of  Bear  River.  She  received  her 

education  at  Grace,  Idaho,  and  spent  one  year  at 
the  Albion  State  Normal  School  at  Albion,  Idaho. 

She  was  a  member  of  the  L.D.S.  Church,  and 

devoted  her  time  and  efforts  in  that  capacity.  She 
served  as  Sunday  School  Teacher,  Stake  Board 

Member  of  the  Y. W.M.I. A.,  Relief  Society  Presi- 
dent of  the  Turner  Ward,  and  as  a  Stake 

Genealogical  Assistant  with  Brother  and  Sister 

Simpson  Roper.  Her  entire  life  was  spent  in  the 
Grace  and  Turner  area  where  she  and  her  husband 
ran  a  farm. 

She  met  FRANK  MOUSLEY  SNOW  in  the 

summmer  of  1901  while  he  was  herding  sheep  for  a 
Mr.  Meacham.  He  was  a  native  of  Draper,  Utah. 

He  was  born  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  to  Willard 

Lycurgus  and  Flora  Mousley  Snow,  March  30, 
1876.  It  was  while  he  was  herding  sheep  that  he 
received  a  call  to  fullfill  a  mission  to  the  Eastern 

States  Mission.  Here  he  served  from  1902  to  1904. 

On  June  20,  1906  Frank  and  Ma  na  were  married 

in  the  Salt  Lake  City  Temple  at  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah.  They  returned  to  the  Turner  area  to  farm 
and  raise  their  family.  Frank  was  called  to  work  in 
the  Sunday  School,  and  later  became  bishop  of  the 
Turner  Ward. 

One  daughter  was  born  to  them,  Helen  Snow 
Olson,  deceased,  and  while  Frank  was  bishop  twin 

girls  were  born,  Carolyn,  who  died  shortly  after 

birth,  and  La  Vera,  better  known  as  "Toots,"  a 
nickname  given  to  her  by  her  father.  Five  years 
later  the  family  was  made  complete  with  the  arrival 
of  a  son,  Frank  DeMar  Snow.  Frank  was  called  to 

be  bishop  a  second  time,  to  the  Turner  Ward,  but 
shortly  afterward  it  was  made  a  part  of  the  Grace 
Second  Ward. 

Ma  na  died  April  21,  1954  after  a  lingering  il- 
lness of  asthma,  and  Frank  died  July  14,  1959, 

after  having  spent  a  full  and  useful  life. 

CHARLES    THEODORE    SORENSEN    was 

born  January  21,  1872  at  Mantua,  Box  Elder  Coun- 
ty, Utah.  He  came  to  Gentile  Valley  with  his 

parents,  Hans  Sorensen  and  Anna  Marie  Neilson 

Sorensen,  and  his  two  brothers,  Peter  and  John, 

and  six  sisters,  Lena,  Mary,  Amanda,  Vilate, 
Esther,  and  Pearl,  in  the  year  of  1890. 

Charles    married    EMMA   ANDERSON,   who 

came  from  Denmark  with  her  parents,  Peter  and 
Kama  Hanson  Anderson.  They  sailed  from  Liver 

pool,  England,  August  30,  1884  on  the  ship  Wyom- 
ing. 

This  company  of  saints  was  under  the  leadership 
of  Samuel  Roskelly.  The  Wyoming  arrived  in  New 

York  City,  September  9,  1884.  The  company  con- 
tinued their  journey  by  rail  and  arrived  in  Salt  Lake 

City,  Utah,  September  17,  1884. 

Charles  and  Emma  were  married  in  the  Logan 

Temple,  March  29,  1893.  They  made  their  home  in 
Bench,  Idaho  from  that  time  until  the  year  of  1907 
or  1908.  Charles  was  a  farmer.  They  had  seven 
children  while  living  at  Bench,  namely:  Leonard, 
Ethel  Busk,  Ronald,  Ella  Larsen,  Alfonso,  Myrta 

Longenbohn,  and  Arvilla  Eraser. 

The  family  moved  to  Brigham  City,  Utah  when 

Myrta  was  four  years  old.  They  had  an  orchard  and 
after  harvesting  the  fruit  he  would  haul  it  to  Gentile 

Valley  and  sell  to  the  people  in  Lago,  Bench  and 
other  communities  delicious  peaches, 

watermellons,  cantaloupes,  and  plums. 

They  lived  in  Brigham  three  or  four  years.  Here 
another  son,  Leo  J.  was  born  to  them.  They  left 

Brigham  and  moved  to  Preston,  Idaho  where  the 
father  had  a  farm.  The  family  left  the  farm, 
however,  and  moved  into  town  where  Charles 

worked  in  a  store.  Leo  died  of  diphtheria  while  they 

were  in  Preston,  at  the  age  of  five. 

Charles'  brother,  John  came  to  Preston  from 
Grace  and  asked  him  to  come  to  Grace  and  go  into 
the  harness  business  with  him.  So  Charles  loaded 

their  belongings  and  family  into  a  wagon  and  they 
moved  back  to  Gentile  Valley  once  again. 

The  youngest  child  was  born  after  they  moved  to 
Grace.  She  was  born  June  29,  1916.  The  mother 

died  at  the  birth  of  this  baby.  Charles  gave  her  the 

name  of  Emma  after  the  mother.  Charles'  sister, 
Lena  Jensen,  took  the  baby  and  raised  her  as  her 
own. 

After  the  mother's  death.  Charles  moved  the 
family  to  Lago,  where  he  rented  their  Grandfather 

Andersen's  farm.  He  had  suffered  a  stroke  just 

before  their  mother's  death  so  he  couldn't  stay  on 
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the  farm,  but  he  worked  at  different  jobs  that  he 
was  able  to  do. 

Charles'  health  continued  to  fail  and  he  died  at 
the  home  of  his  daughter,  Ella,  on  July  5,  1920  at 

Thatcher,  Idaho,  just  four  years  after  the  mother 
died. 

HANS  PETER  and  MARIE  SORENSEN  were 

born  in  Lundferlund  and  Salagls,  Denmark.  They 
were  converts  to  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of 

Latter-day  Saints  and  were  baptized  on  March  29, 
1867. 

On  June  13,  1867,  in  company  with  200  souls, 
they  and  their  nine  month  old  baby  girl,  Lena 

Marie,  left  Copenhagan,  Denmark  on  the  steamer 

"Waldmar"  for  Liverpool,  England.  They  were 
joined  here  with  a  company  of  English  saints  and 
on  June  21,  they  sailed  on  the  steamship 

"Manhatten"  to  come  to  the  United  States  of 
America.  This  was  the  first  Scandinavian  emigrant 

company  to  cross  the  Atlantic  Ocean  in  a 
steamship. 

Twelve  and  one  half  days  later  the  Manhatten 

arrived  in  New  York  City.  It  was  the  fourth  of  July 
1867.  The  next  day  the  emigrants  landed  at  Castle 

Garden  and  from  there  they  went  by  steamer  to 
Omaha,  traveling  up  the  Missouri  River.  From 
Omaha  the  saints  went  by  rail  to  North  Platte. 

They  stayed  here  for  four  weeks  and  then  were 
organized  into  companies  and  under  the  leadership 
of  Leonard  Rice,  they  traveled  by  ox  train  to  Utah. 
Hans  Sorensen  and  his  wife  walked  and  carried 

their  little  girl  a  big  share  of  the  way.  The  company 
arrived  in  Salt  Lake  City,  October  5th. 

Hans  Sorensen  and  family  lived  in  Big  Cot- 
tonwood, Utah.  Here  their  second  child,  a  son, 

Hans,  was  born.  Shortly  after  the  birth  of  this  son 
they  moved  to  Manti,  Utah.  There  the  third  child, 
another  son,  John  was  born.  After  about  three 

years  they  moved  by  wagon  to  Mantua,  Utah  in 
Box  Elder  County.  Here  they  spent  about  eighteen 
years.  They  had  one  more  son,  Charles  (Emma 

Gillett's  father),  and  five  daughters  join  their  fami- 
ly at  Mantua.  Mary,  Sarah  Vilate,  Amanda, 

Esther,  and  Pearl. 
Sometime  around  1890,  Hans  Sorensen  moved 

his  family  to  Gentile  Valley,  as  it  was  then  called. 
He  homesteaded  a  place  on  the  bench  which  he 

later  traded  for  a  farm  one  mile  south  of  the  place 
known  as  the  Frank  Christensen  farm. 

Here  Hans  built  a  two  story  house  and  raised  his 

large  family.  He  was  the  first  United  States  Post- 
master in  Bench.  He  served  the  people  in  this  office 

for  many  years.  He  was  also  a  good  cobbler.  He 
made  and  mended  many  pairs  of  shoes. 

The  Sorensen  family  was  known  for  their 
musical  talents.  As  all  members  of  the  family  had  a 

talent  for  singing,  they  were  in  the  ward  choir.  It 

was  told  to  the  progenitors  of  this  family  that  at 

one  time  nine  members  of  the  Sorensen  family  serv- 
ed in  the  choir.  One  was  the  organist,  one  the  con- 

ductor, and  the  other  seven  sang. 
As  a  small  child,  Charles  Sorensen  played  by  ear 

the  accordian,  the  violin,  and  the  banjo.  He  and  one 

of  his  sisters  provided  the  music  at  most  of  the  ward 
socials  and  public  dances.  It  was  a  familiar  sight  to 

see  the  two  young  people  riding  horseback  to  play 
at  these  dances. 

The  family  of  Hans  Sorensen  all  married  while 

they  lived  at  Bench.  They  all  made  their  first  homes 
in  Gem  Valley.  Many  good  times  were  enjoyed 

when  the  large  family  joined  together  for  a  musical 

evening.  Marie  Sorensen  died  at  the  age  of  sixty- 
three,  in  the  year  1909.  After  her  death,  Hans  spent 

his  remaining  years  living  with  his  children  until  his 

death  in  1916.  He  died  at  the  age  of  seventy-nine. 

MARTIN  EZRA  SORENSON  was  born  in  a  lit- 

tle log  cabin  at  Ovid,  Bear  Lake,  Idaho  to  Martin 
Taylor  Sorenson  and  Sarah  Elizabeth  Walton, 

May  11,  1889.  He  was  the  oldest  of  ten  children. 

Ezra  grew  up  at  Ovid,  Idaho  where  he  attended 

the  public  school  and  worked  on  his  father's  small 

Ezra  Sorenson Ida  Sorenson 
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farm.  He  also  attended  Fielding  Academy  in  Paris 

and  then  worked  at  Idaho  I'alls  in  the  sugar  factory 
until  he  received  his  call  to  go  to  Engand  on  a  mis- 
sion. 

Before  leaving  for  his  mission  he  married  IDA  J. 

PETERSON  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple,  June  8, 
1910.  He  departed  for  his  mission  June  16,  1910, 
returning  August  1,  1912. 

Upon  his  return  from  England  he  commenced 

farming  at  Ovid.  However,  the  opportunities  look- 
ed greater  in  another  county.  He  purchased  a  farm 

and  moved  his  wife  and  two  children,  Alta  and 

Arlo,  to  their  new  home  at  Central,  Bannock  Coun- 
ty, Idaho  in  1915. 

The  first  years  on  the  farm  were  hard,  filled  with 

struggle  and  privations.  Ezra  was  always  an  op- 
timist, looking  toward  a  better  tomorrow.  His 

philosophy  was  always  "Opportunity  often  knocks 
but  once."  With  this  motto  in  mind  he  always  tried 
to  take  advantage  of  every  opportunity.  Under  his 
hard  work  and  able  management  his  farm  grew. 

Many  buildings  were  added  which  Ezra  enjoyed 

building.  He  built  onto  the  original  two-room 
home,  making  a  comfortable  home  for  his  family. 
He  also  built  a  playhouse  for  his  daughters  to  play 

in,  which  became  their  pride  and  joy. 

The  large  part  of  his  farm  was  dry  farm  land  on 
which  Ezra  grew  wheat. 

During  the  summer  and  fall  of  1936,  Ezra  was 

busy  supervising  the  building  of  his  new  home  at 
Grace.  He  took  great  pride  in  this  home  into  which 
the  family  moved  on  December  21,  1936,  and  from 
then  on  alternated  his  time  between  the  town  and 

ranch  as  circumstances  required. 

He  served  diligently  in  each  calling  in  the  church, 

from  chorister  to  Sunday  School  Superintendent, 

to  High  Councilman,  to  Bishop  and  Stake  Presi- 
dent. 

He  was  ordained  a  High  Priest  by  Patriarch 

Hyrum  G.  Smith,  November  18,  1923.  He  was 
sustained  as  President  of  Bannock  Stake  in  the 

stake  conference  assembled  October  19,  1928.  He 

was  set  apart  for  this  calling  by  Apostle  George  F. 
Richards.  He  held  this  position  until  August  22, 
1944  when  he  was  released  due  to  ill  health. 

Among  some  positions  of  leadership  he  held  in 
the  community  were:  Chairman  of  the  School 
Board  of  Trustees,  President  of  the  Board  of 
Directors  for  Grain  Growers,   President  of  Last 

Chance  Canal  Irrigation,  and  President  of  the 
Lions  Club. 

Those  who  knew  him  best  had  this  to  say: 

'T  have  never  in  all  my  life  seen  a  man  do  so 

much  for  his  wife  and  his  children.'' 
"In  all  the  years  1  served  with  him,  I  know  of  no 

single  incident  of  his  being  perturbed  at  all." 
"Many  of  us  here  remember  with  considerable 

pleasure  the  years  he  spent  as  Bishop  and  how 

nobly  he  served." "The  council  he  gave  to  men  of  stature  was 
always  most  reliable  and  as  a  consequence  the  men 

sought  his  council  and  advice.  They  said  that  his 

council  was  sound  because  they  had  proved  it." 
"He  will  not  be  afraid  to  meet  his  Maker  and 

give  an  account  of  his  stewardship  here  in  mor- 

tality." 

Ezra's  health  failed  but  his  testimony  and  faith 
grew  stronger  with  each  passing  year.  He  passed 

away  November  18,  1947. 

Ida  Johannah  Peterson  was  born  August  19, 

1890  at  Ovid,  Bear  Lake  County,  Idaho.  She  was 

the  oldest  daughter  of  John  "T"  Peterson  and 
Johannah  Marie  Sorensen,  they  being  of  Danish 
and  Swedish  decent.  She  grew  up  in  a  happy, 

religious  family.  She  received  her  formal  education 
at  the  Ovid  Public  School,  Fielding  Academy  in 
Paris.  Idaho  and  Kiester  College  (a  sewing  school) 

in  Logan,  Utah. 

Her  childhood  days  were  spent  on  a  farm  north 

of  Ovid.  From  this  farm  she  walked  one  and  one- 
half  miles  to  school  and  back  again.  Being  the 
oldest  of  nine  children  she  learned  at  an  early  age  to 

share  in  the  household  tasks  and  chores.  She  recall- 

ed that  it  was  her  responsibility  to  get  the  cows  for 

milking  every  evening.  Many  times  when  she  had 
trouble  finding  them  in  the  hills  she  would  get  off 

her  pony  and  pray  for  guidance.  In  those  earl\  days 

much  of  the  family's  needs  were  supplied  by  the 
families.  She  learned  to  make  soap,  candles,  butter 

and  many  other  useful  things. 

When  about  eight  years  old,  her  father  was  called 

to  serve  a  mission  in  Denmark.  This  placed  an  ex- 
tra burden  upon  Ida  and  her  mother  as  they  worked 

to  make  a  living  for  the  family  and  support  her 
father  on  a  mission.  They  did  this  by  milking  cows, 

selling  butter,  eggs,  etc.  They  were  grateful  for  the 

gospel  and  the  opportunity  to  serve  and  share  it 
with  others. 
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She  married  her  childhood  sweetheart,  Martin 
Ezra  Sorenson.  June  8.  1910  in  the  Salt  Lake 

L.D.S.  Temple.  One  week  after  their  marriage 
Ezra  left  for  England  to  serve  a  mission  for  the 

Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints.  Ida 
worked  during  his  absence  in  a  hotel  in  Cokeville, 

Wyoming,  saving  all  the  money  she  could  until  she 
was  able  to  purchase  a  White  sewing  machine.  It 
was  on  this  sewing  machine  that  she  made  all  of  her 

children's  clothes.  This  machine  lasted  her  all  of 
her  life  and  many  beautiful  and  useful  garments 
were  fashioned  on  it. 

Ida  moved  with  her  husband  to  Central,  Ban- 
nock County.  Idaho  in  the  spring  of  1915.  There 

they  bought  a  farm  and  raised  their  family  which 
consisted  of  five  daughters:  Alta.  Ruth,  June.  Fern, 

Alene  and  one  son.  Arlo.  The  son  died  at  age  two 

and  one-half  years. 
Throughout  her  life,  she  was  active  in  the  church, 

and  accepted  the  opportunity  to  serve  when  called 
to  do  so.  She  served  as  secretary  in  the  Sunday 
School  and  worked  in  the  M.I. A.  in  the  Central 

Ward  for  nine  years  and  on  the  Primary  Stake 

Board  for  several  years.  She  also  served  on  the 

Relief  Society  Stake  Board  for  twenty-seven  years 
and  was  an  active  member  of  the  Daughters  of 
Utah  Pioneers. 

She  passed  away  February  10,  1972  and  was  laid 
to  rest  in  the  Ovid  cemeterv. 

The  four  Stalker  brothers—  JAMES 
STALKER,  SARDIUS  STALKER,  WILLARD 

STALKER,  and  ALMA  STALKER,  came  to 

Perry.  Idaho  and  filed  on  homestead  claims  during 
the  summer  of  1892.  The  four  quarter  sections  of 

land  joined  at  one  point.  Most  of  this  land,  indented 

by  several  hollows,  all  several  feet  above  the  valley 
floor  to  the  west. 

That  summer,  the  brothers  working  together, 
constructed  four  houses.  James  and  Sardius  built 

log  houses,  while  Willard  and  Alma  constructed 
frame  dwellings. 

Before  coming  to  the  valley  the  four  brothers  had 
converted  their  real  estate  holdings,  located  near 
Franklin.  Idaho,  into  cash  -  close  to  one  thousand 
dollars  each. 

There  was  no  flowing  stream  on  any  of  the 

Stalker  homesteads,  so  it  was  necessary  to  find  un- 
derground water  sources.  Alma,  with  the  help  of  his 

three  brothers,  hand  dug  a  well.  At  a  depth  of 

30  feet  a  good  supply  of  pure  water  was  found. 

Willard,  digging  in  a  gulch  down  hill  from  his  house 
developed  a  spring.  James  dug  into  a  moist  area  up 
the  hollow  above  his  house  where  he  developed  a 

good  spring.  Saridus  found  a  trickle  of  water  com- 
ing from  a  spring  a  half  mile  from  his  house.  It  was 

several  years  before  his  brother  James  water  witch- 
ed a  well  a  few  feet  east  of  his  house. 

The  four  brothers  broke  up  land  on  their 

holdings  that  first  summer,  not  too  much,  only 
about  20  acres  each.  The  following  spring  each  man 

planted  his  tilled  land  into  wheat.  Even  without 
irrigation  each  of  the  brothers  harvested  a  fairly 

good  crop. 

The  summer  of  1893  saw  the  four  brothers  begin 
the  construction  of  an  irrigation  ditch  commencing 
at  the  head-waters  of  Williams  Creek.  That  was  an 

undertaking  that  taxed  their  determination  to  the 
utmost.  About  a  half  mile  from  the  head  of  their 

ditch  construction,  those  Stalker  men  found  it 

necessary  to  build  200  feet  of  long  wooden  flume 
around  a  cliff  jutting  out  from  the  mountain  side. 

This  meant  stopping  all  ditch  making  operations 
while  they  went  into  the  timber  woods,  up  Main 

Canyon,  and  above  Alma's  homestead,  where  the 
brothers  cut  down  trees  and  hauled  them  to  the 

sawmill,  on  the  floor  of  the  canyon.  Here  they  were 

sawed  into  beams  and  lumber;  that  took  time,  so  by 

winter  they  had  made  little  headway  toward  getting 
water  to  the  thirsty  land.  In  fact,  it  was  many  years 
before  the  Stalker  ditch  was  bringing  water  to  the 
four  farms. 

Willard    and    his    wife    NELLIE    FLACK 

STALKER,  after  a  three  year  try  at  homesteading. 

gave  up,  sold  their  land  and  moved  to  St.  Anthony, 
Idaho  where  they  farmed  for  many  years.  James 
and  AGNES  JOLLEY  STALKER  stayed  until  the 

spring  of  1904.  They  sold  out  and  moved  to  Meri- 
dian. Idaho. 

Alma  and  ALFRETTA  STALKER  stayed  on 
their  homestead  until  several  of  their  children  had 

reached  school  age,  then  they  purchased  a  farm 
near  the  confluence  of  Bear  River  and  Trout  Creek. 

This  new  place  became  their  dwelling  place. 

However  they  retained  ownership  of  the  property  at 

the  mouth  of  Main  Canyon.  Alma  and  Alfretta  had 
the  following  children:  Guy  Holt,  Maud  Lavon, 

Theresa  May,  Elberta  Loyal,  Ray  Parmely,  Ethel, 
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Gladys  Bessie,  Louis  James,  and  Hazel  Fern. 
Sardius  and  DORA  KELLY  STALKER  con- 

tinued to  live  on  their  land.  As  the  years  passed 

they  purchased  more  land,  until  they  possessed  a 
good  size  grain  and  hay  farm,  one  that  paid  ihem 
well. 

Of  the  four  Stalker  brothers,  Sardius  was  the  one 

who  was  athletically  inclined.  He  was  the  pitcher  on 
the  Perry  baseball  team.  Then  when  his  sons  Fred 
and  Don  were  teenagers  he  encouraged  them  to  be 

the  best  in  every  sports  event.  Fred  was  rated  as  the 

top  baseball  player  and  Don  won  the  foot  races  at 
the  Fourth  of  July  contests. 

The  Stalker  people  were  in  the  forefront  in  the 
field  of  education.  Both  Sardius  and  Dora  worked 

to  get  the  Thatcher  Rural  High  School  started. 

Dora,  William  H.  Mendenhall,  Joseph  B.  Wright, 

and  George  A.  Anderson  were  appointed  to  act  as 
the  first  board  members  of  that  high  school. 

Alexander  and  Ortensia  Howard  Smith  Stalker 

came  to  Franklin,  Idaho  with  the  original  band  of 
settlers  who  arrived  April  14,  1860.  They  were  the 
parents  of  fourteen  children.  These  four  brothers 
were  four  of  those. 

Harry  and  Dorothy  Steele 

HARRY  MARK  STEELE  was  born  on 

December  14,  1889  to  William  Henry  and  Amanda 
Smith  Steele  at  American  Fork,  Utah. 

On  August  16,  1911  he  married  his  chosen  com- 
panion. DOROTHY  FREDRICKA  THOMPSON. 

Their  marriage  was  later  solemnized  in  the  Salt 

Lake  Temple.  They  enjoyed  life  together  for  65 

years. 
Dorothy  was  born  on  April  29.  1892,  in  Pleasant 

Grove,  Utah,  the  third  child  of  Andrew  and  Anna 
Amelia  West  Thompson. 

After  completion  of  the  eighth  grade,  Dorothy 

went  to  live  with  the  McKays.  She  helped  clean, 

cook,  wash,  and  sew  in  return  for  dress-making 
lessons. 

Mr.  and  Mrs.  Steele  started  their  married  life  in 

Pleasant  Grove,  Utah,  then  later  moved  to 
American  Fork,  Utah. 

Dorothy  and  Harry  helped  to  produce  a  moving 

silent  picture  in  1927,  "All  Faces  West."  Harry 
hired  300  men,  60  women,  and  provided  80  teams 

and  wagons,  saddle  horses,  and  trained  oxen  and  all 
kinds  of  livestock.  The  movie  was  filmed  in 

Emigration  Canyon  and  Cottonwood  Canyon;  the 
movie  starred  Marie  Provost  and  Ben  Lyons. 

Following  the  marriage  of  their  daughter,  Millie, 
to  John  H.  Webb  in  June  of  1934  they  brought  all 
their  children  and  moved  to  the  ranch  in  Lago, 

Idaho.  Harry  raised  sheep,  cattle,  milk  cows,  and 
for  four  years  hauled  the  mail  from  Lago  to 
Treasureton  and  back.  Many  times  he  had  to  do 
this  with  a  team  of  horses,  as  the  winters  were  hard 

and  the  snow  was  deep.  Their  son  still  runs  the 
ranch. 

Harry  also  had  mining  interests  in  the  Caribou 

Mountains,  Border  Wyoming.  He  owned  and  was 
also  president  of  the  Diamond  Creek  Cattle 
Association. 

Dorothy  was  active  in  the  Relief  Society, 

Federated  Women's  Clubs,  and  helped  to 
reorganize  the  County  Farm  Bureau.  Many  times 
she  would  go  with  the  local  doctor  to  the  homes  of 

sickness  and  help  assist  or  help  to  bring  babies  into 
the  world.  She  also  enjoyed  helping  out  with  the 

county  fair  in  Grace. 

After  retirement  in  1958,  they  returned  to 

American  Fork,  but  they  still  spent  much  of  their 
time  in  Idaho,  which  they  loved  very  much. 

Dorothy  enjoyed  good  health  until  the  last  two 
months  of  her  life,  passing  away  on  December  29, 
1976. 

Their  children  are:  Val  Mark,  of  Grace,  Stanford 

of  Soda  Springs,  Millie  S.  Webb  of  American 

Fork,  Utah,  and  Naomi  S.  Keetch  of  Pleasant 

Grove,  Utah.  Harry  died  June  27,  1977  at 
American  Fork,  Utah. 

ALBERT  O.  STEINBECK  was  born  October 
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Albert  O.  and  Margaret  Steinbeck 

26,  1883  at  Boste.  Sweden.  He  and  his  brother  Her- 
man came  to  the  United  States  in  May  of  1910  on  a 

ship  called  the  Evernia.  They  worked  at  various 
jobs  in  Minneapolis  and  Wisconsin.  In  the  spring  of 

1902  they  came  to  Seattle,  Washington  and  worked 
as  carpenters.  In  1904  they  made  plans  to  come  to 

Idaho  to  spend  Christmas  with  an  aunt  and  uncle. 

Albert's  job  was  finished  first,  and  Herman  told 
him  to  go  to  Idaho  and  he  would  come  later.  Albert 

spent  the  winter  helping  his  uncle  and  in  the  spring 

he  worked  at  Morehead's  sawmill,  the  second 
summer  for  John  Sorensen.  and  in  the  winter  it  was 

canyon  work. 
In  1906  he  filed  on  160  acres,  a  homestead  in 

Thatcher,  Idaho.  That  winter  he  got  out  enough 
posts  to  fence  the  homestead,  logs  for  a  barn  and 
chicken  coop. 

He  met  a  sweet  Danish  girl  by  the  name  of 
MARGARET  SWENSEN,  and  courted  her  until 

she  said  she  would  be  his  wife.  They  were  married 
October  10,  1908  by  Bishop  Alma  Hubbard  and 
went  to  make  their  home  on  the  homestead. 

After  a  lot  of  hard  work  they  got  the  place  all 
broke  up  and  planted  into  hay  and  grain.  By  this 
time  they  had  four  daughters,  so  there  were  five 
ladies  in  the  house  to  keep  Albert  in  line. 

While  Albert  was  Sunday  School  Superinten- 
dent, he  served  under  four  Bishops.  George  Ander- 

son, Ira  Hogan,  Frank  Harris,  and  Leo  Anderson; 

and  four  Stake  Superintendents:  Henry  Bjorkman, 

Enoch  Peterson.  Clyde  Thompson,  and  Roy  Pond. 
In  1949  Albert  worked  as  water  master  on  the 

Bench  Canal  for  nine  years  until  his  wife  got  so  bad 
with  arthritis  that  he  stayed  home  with  her.  He  did 
lots  of  temple  work  after  he  lost  his  wife. 

Albert  passed  away  December  13,  1966  at  the 
Caribou  Hospital  with  a  cerebral  hemorrhage. 

Margaret  was  born  in  Kjolby,  Denmark  on  July 

9,  1889  a  daughter  of  Jorgen  and  Ann  Kristina 
Jensen  Swensen.  She  was  sixteen  when  she  came  to 

America  after  joining  the  L.D.S.  Church.  They  left 
their  home  in  Aalborg  October  3,  1905  and  sailed 
across  the  North  Sea.  After  a  couple  of  days  they 

landed  in  England  and  from  here  they  boarded  a 

ship  and  crossed  the  Atlantic  Ocean.  They  landed 
in  Boston  and  after  a  few  hours  wait  they  boarded  a 

train  heading  west  for  the  small  town  of  Preston. 
Idaho. 

In  the  spring  of  1908  the  family  moved  to  Lago, 

Idaho.  The  young  couple  then  moved  to  Thatcher, 

Idaho.  They  lived  in  a  one-room  house  where 
Margaret  said  she  spent  the  first  winter  with  her 
feet  in  the  oven  most  of  the  time  to  keep  anywhere 
near  warm. 

Margaret  helped  Albert  clear  the  sagebrush  off 
the  homestead.  They  would  work  all  day  making 

big  piles  and  then  at  night,  when  it  was  dark,  they 

would  burn  them.  She  also  helped  with  the  hay.  do- 
ing the  stacking  and  many  men  complimented  her 

on  the  pretty  stacks  she  made.  She  also  pitched 

grain  bundles  and  stacked  them  in  nice  round 
stacks.  She  worked  very  hard  and  helped  with 

everything  there  was  on  the  farm  to  do. 
This  couple  was  blessed  with  four  girls.  Vera, 

Margaret.  Bengta  Pauline.  Anna  Jorgene  (twins), 
and  Clara  Alberta. 

Through  the  years  Margaret  and  Albert  had  add- 
ed rooms  to  their  home  on  the  farm.  They  lived  on 

the  homestead  in  Thatcher  from  1908  until  1948 

when  they  built  a  new  home  and  moved  into  Grace. 

Although  Margaret  was  quite  crippled  in  her  joints 
with  rheumatism,  she  never  complained  and  always 

made  the  best  of  her  lot.  She  enjoyed  living  in  town. 
Her  dearest  friend  was  Mrs.  Chris  Peterson,  who 

was  also  from  Denmark,  and  was  a  close  neighbor. 

Margaret  died  May  2.  1960  with  a  heart  attack 
at  the  age  of  70. 

CHARLES    FRANCIS    STEPHENSON    was 
born  November  9.  1884  at  Lewiston,  Utah. 

NELLIE  RUUD  STEPHENSON  was  born  June 

10.  1891  at  Lago.  Idaho.  They  were  married  July 

21.  1909.  Their  children:  Helen  Stephenson  Fran- 

cis. Charles  Harris  Stephenson.  Carmen  Stephen- 
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Charles  Stephenson  family.  From  left  to  right:  Andrew 
Ruud,    Nellie  Ruud  Stephenson,  Carmen,  Olivia  Ruud, 
Archie,  Irene  Ruud,  Helen,  Charles,  Francis  Stephenson, 

and  Charles  Harris  Stephenson. 

son  Langston,  Archie  Bert  Stephenson.  Glenys  C. 

Hawker,  Louis  Conway  Stephenson,  Robert  A. 

Stephenson,  and  Earl  Reid  Stephenson. 

Charles  was  the  sheriff  of  Grace  in  the  1920's,  a 
Maytag  washer  salesman,  and  repairman,  and 
laborer. 

They  enjoyed  dancing  and  breaking  and  training 
horses. 

Charles  died  April  4,  1941.  Nellie  celebrated  her 

86th  birthday  in  May  1977. 

ELIAS    ISRAEL    STODDARD,    the    son    of 

George  P.  Stoddard  and  Caroline  Adams  Stod- 
dard, was  born  December  20,  1878.  When  he  was 

working  as  a  hired  hand  he  met  and  fell  in  love  with 
CLARA  MAY  BURTON.  In  November  1898, 

Elias  and  Clara,  with  the  help  of  some  friends  left 

Gentile  Valley  with  a  team  of  horses  and  a  wagon, 

their  only  possession  and  drove  south  seventy  miles, 

through  mountains,  across  Cache  Valley  to  Logan, 

Utah.  There  they  were  married  November  22, 
1898. 

When  Elias  and  CLARA  MAY  BURTON 

returned  to  Gentile  Valley  they  moved  in  with  his 

parents  who  had  established  a  small  trading  post  on 

the  banks  of  Bear  River  near  the  site  of  the  present 

town  of  Grace,  Idaho. 

Seven  children  were  born  to  Elias  and  Clara 

Stoddard;  the  two  oldest  children,  Elias  Rufus  and 

Frederick  George  were  born  at  the  trading  post. 

Soon  after  this  they  moved  into  a  log  cabin  that 
Elias  had  built  on  a  160  acre  homestead,  one  mile 

east  of  the  present  town  of  Grace.  They  lived  in  the 

log  cabin  for  about  three  years.  Water  was  hauled 

from  Bear  River,  about  three  miles  away  for  drink- 

ing, washing  and  to  keep  the  fruit  trees  alive  that 

Elias  had  planted.  The  orchard  consisted  of  apples, 

pears,  cherries  and  plums.  They  used  to  wrap  rags 

around  the  tender  trees  in  the  winter  to  keep  the 

rabbits  from  eating  the  bark. 

Elias  Israel  Stoddard  could  be  considered  a 

handsome  young  man.  He  was  about  six  feet  tall 

with  black  hair  and  brown  eyes.  Although  he  never 

had  a  music  lesson  he  could  play  the  violin,  piano, 

and  organ  and  did  at  many  of  the  community 

dances.  He  won  prizes  in  dancing,  especially  the 

then  popular  waltz.  He  made  friends  easily  and  was 

always  willing  to  help  his  friends. 

Their  son,  Melvin  Leroy,  was  born  in  the  log 
cabin,  but  soon  after  a  frame  house  was  built  on  the 

farm  and  was  the  birthplace  for  Merlin  Frank, 
Clara  Caroline,  Basil  Burton  and  John.  Pioneer 

farming  was  a  busy  and  hard  life;  each  member  of 

the  family  had  work  to  do.  Wheat  was  the  main 

crop  on  the  farm  and  many  hours  were  spent  plow- 
ing, cultivating  and  harvesting.  Elias  Stoddard 

purchased  a  threshing  machine,  consisting  of  a 

steam  engine  and  separator.  After  harvesting  his 

own  crops  he  would  go  from  farm  to  farm 

harvesting  wheat,  barley  and  oats  for  the  farmers. 

It  was  while  working  on  a  threshing  machine 

south  of  Soda  Springs  in  December  1918  that  Elias 

became  seriously  ill  and  died  December  11,  1918. 

Clara  with  the  help  of  her  five  sons  took  over  the 

running  of  the  farm.  The  oldest  son,  Elias  took  over 

his  father's  responsibilities  and  carried  on  with  the 
threshing  machine  business  until  the  combines  took 

the  place  of  the  steam  engine  and  separator. 

For  eight  years  after  Elias  Israel's  death,  Clara 
stayed  on  the  farm,  raised  her  sons,  worked  in  the 

church  and  was  president  of  the  Primary. 

Clara  died  December  3.  1926. 

GEORGE  PLATT  STODDARD  was  born  to 

Israel  Stoddard  and  Sarah  Woodward  Stoddard  on 

February  13.  1839,  in  the  little  town  of  Plattsburg, 
New  Jersey. 

George  developed  a  great  love  for  the  land  and 

farming.  His  particular  enjoyment  came  at  harvest 
lime  when  he  followed  the  thresher.  In  those  days 

the  horse-powered  threshing  machine  and  its  crew 
moved  from  farm  to  farm  threshing  grain.  When  all 
the  harvest  was  finished  in  one  localitv  ihev  moved 
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Front  left  to  right:  George  Piatt  Stoddard,  Elizabeth, 
Caroline  Adams  Stoddard.  Back  Row:  Elias,  Caroline, 

George  and  Sarah  Stoddard. 

into  another  district.  It  became  one  of  the  biggest 

events  of  the  year,  and  as  soon  as  George  was  old 

enough  and  capable  enough  he  joined  the  regular 

crew.  Thereafter  every  year  of  his  adult  life,  except 

the  last  two.  found  him  at  his  post  helping  on  the 
thresher. 

By  this  time  George  had  matured  into  a  fine 

looking  young  man.  He  stood  six  feet  tall,  had 

striking  eyes  and  dark  hair.  His  countenance  was 

pleasant  and  his  good  natured  way  won  friends  for 
him  wherever  he  went.  One  move  with  the 

thresher  brought  him  to  the  Elias  Adams'  farm  in 
East  Layton.  While  there  he  met  and  fell  in  love 

with  their  young  daughter.  Caroline.  On  the  6th  of 

September  1863.  he  married  CAROLINE 

ADAMS.  Later  this  marriage  was  solemnized  in 

the  Endowment  House  in  Salt  Lake  City.  Utah. 

Eight  sons  and  daughters  blessed  this  union: 

Sarah  Belinda.  George.  Caroline  Rebecca.  Mary 

Catherine.  Dorothy  Ann.  Elias  Israel,  John,  and 
Elizabeth  Ellen. 

In  1898  George  Piatt,  his  wife  and  their  two 

remaining  children  (Elias  Israel  and  Elizabeth 

Ellen)  disposed  of  their  holdings  in  Utah  and 

migrated  to  a  new  pioneer  life  in  Idaho.  Another 

member  of  their  regular  household  to  make  the  trip 
was  Frederick  Stoddard.  He  came  to  live  with  his 

brother  when  George  was  married,  and  remained  a 

part  of  their  family  the  rest  of  his  life. 

George  Piatt  Stoddard,  now  sixty  years  old.  filed 

claim  on  one  hundred  and  sixty  acres  of  good 
Bench  land  on  the  north  side  of  Bear  River. 

The   heartbreaking   story   of  the  George   Plait 

Stoddard  land  claim  is  similar  to  many  others.  The 

government  granted  six  months  time  for  each 

settler  to  erect  some  sort  of  shelter  on  his  holdings. 

He  was  to  be  living  in  it  by  the  time  the  six  months 

elapsed.  If  he  could  not  meet  the  requirements  he 

lost  his  claim.  George  tried  very  hard  to  fulfill  his 

agreement.  He  cleared  and  grubbed  out  the  sage. 

According  to  his  old  friends"  testimony  he  had 
planted  and  produced  a  crop  of  dry  farm  wheat. 

With  the  help  of  his  son  Elias  he  had  brought 

timber  from  the  mountains  to  build  a  log  cabin. 

Unfortunately  he  became  ill.  In  spite  of  the  fact 

that  friends  and  neighbors  were  there  working  on 

his  house  it  was  not  finished  in  the  provided  time. 

The  claim  was  "jumped''  by  someone  waiting  and 

eager  to  take  advantage  of  another's  adversity.  All 
his  efforts  and  struggles  were  futile.  He  lost  his 
claim  to  his  160  acres. 

In  the  meantime  he  and  his  wife  set  up  a  small 
store  on  the  north  side  of  the  river  and  the  east  side 

of  the  road.  It  was  the  only  store  in  the  area  of  the 

valley.  The  next  closest  store  was  in  Soda  Springs, 

ten  or  twelve  miles  away. 

These  hardships  and  discomforts,  together  with 

hard  work  and  disappointments  had  their  effect  on 

George's  health.  Sorrows,  too.  were  heaped  upon 
him.  His  oldest  son.  George,  died  in  October  1898. 

and  his  brother,  Fredrick,  passed  away  on  January 

6,  1901.  These  brothers  who  were  never  separated 

in  life  were  not  long  separated  by  death.  Six  months 

later  George  followed  Fredrick  in  death.  He  died 
June  18.  1901  and  was  buried  in  the  Grace 
Cemetery. 

Caroline  Adams  Stoddard  was  born  July  II. 

1845  in  Hancock  County,  Illinois.  She  was  the 

fourth  child  and  second  daughter  born  to  Elias  and 

Malinda  Railey  Adams. 

When  Caroline  was  eighteen  years  old  she  met 

and  fell  in  love  with  George  P.  Stoddard. 
She  and  her  husband  made  their  home  near  her 

father's  farm,  and  there.  Caroline  raised  her  fami- 
ly, teaching  them  the  thrift  and  industry  she  had 

always  known,  dependability  and  faith  in  the  gospel 

of  Jesus  Christ.  Her  outstanding  interest  was  her 
home  and  family. 

In  1898  the  entire  Stoddard  family  migrated  to 
Grace.  Idaho  where  there  was  unclaimed  land  to  be 

had.  They  were  among  the  very  first  settlers  in  that 

barren  sagebrush -covered  valley.  Once  more, 

Caroline  went  through  pioneering  days  of  primitive 
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living,  reclaiming  land,  hauling  water  from  the 

river  four  miles  away,  struggling  to  wrest  a  meager 
livelihood  from  the  soil  in  a  severe  climate.  It  was 

here  she  began  her  practice  as  a  midwife  in  earnest, 

for  there  was  a  great  need  of  experienced  help  in  the 

isolated  valley,  and  doctors  were  not  available.  She 

had  begun  this  career  quite  by  accident.  One  hot 

day  in  the  middle  of  July  while  she  lived  in  Layton, 

her  daughter,  Sarah  Belinda,  had  come  to  spend 

Sunday  with  her  mother  when  she  became  ill  and 

knew  that  her  baby  was  soon  to  be  born.  The 

daughter's  husband,  Mark  Green,  was  speedily  dis- 
patched to  bring  his  mother,  who  was  a  practising 

midwife,  to  be  on  hand  and  supply  all  necessary 

equipment.  The  baby,  as  many  babies  do,  refused 

to  wait  and  so  Caroline  very  calmly  and  very  ef- 

ficiently went  about  delivering  her  first  of  many 

many  children  to  be  born  in  her  own  home,  and 

assisted  by  no  one. 

Now  in  this  remote  valley  in  Idaho,  Caroline 

Stoddard  became  known  far  and  near  as  an  ef- 

ficient, capable  nurse  and  midwife,  delivering  hun- 
dreds of  babies  and  attending  to  the  sick. 

She  had  a  kind  and  pleasing  personality,  was  ex- 
tremely neat  and  careful  of  her  appearance,  and 

above  all,  she  possessed  a  serene  calmness  which 

was  very  soothing  in  times  of  stress.  Her  services 

were  in  great  demand  and  many  people  availed 

themselves  of  her  skill  and  reliability.  Her  bag  was 

always  packed  and  ready  for  an  emergency.  The 

call  was  answered  immediately  no  matter  what 

weather  might  prevail,  what  distance  was  to  be 

covered,  or  what  time  of  day  or  night  the  summons 

came.  Dr.  Ellis  Kackley,  a  prominent  Idaho  physi- 
cian, wrote  a  fine  tribute  to  Caroline  Stoddard  and 

other  women,  who  had  served  as  she  had,  rendering 

a  wonderful  contribution  to  their  respective  com- 

munities in  the  early  days  of  Idaho's  development. 
After  her  husband  died  the  house  was  moved  up 

to  her  son  George's  place,  where  she  and  her 
youngest  daughter,  Elizabeth  Ellen,  lived  until 
Elizabeth  was  married.  Elizabeth  and  her  husband 

took  Caroline  into  their  home  where  she  remained 

until  her  death. 

In  the  winter  of  1923  she  had  the  misfortune  to 

fall  on  the  ice  outside  the  house  and  break  her  hip. 

For  thirteen  long  weary  weeks  she  lay  bedfast  and 

in  great  pain  until  she  was  mercifully  released  by 

death  on  February  24,  1923.  She  was  buried  by  the 

side  of  her  good   husband    in   the  Grace,    Idaho 
cemetery. 

DAVID  D.  and  CAROLINE  CLARISSA 

CALKINS  SULLIVAN  came  to  Mound  Valley  in 
1S75.  Mr.  Sullivan  was  born  in  Nashville.  Brown 

County,  Indiana.  He  was  a  Union  Soldier  in  the 

Civil  War.  and  belonged  to  Company  "E"  of  the 
1st  Missouri  Mounted  Cavalry.  He  enlisted  three 

months  after  his  17th  birthday,  in  1862  and  served 

three  years.  After  his  discharge  at  Warrensburg, 

Missouri,  he  was  sent  by  the  government  as  a  scout 

to  serve  along  the  trail  west.  He  was  mustered  out 

of  this  service  at  Fort  Bridger,  Wyoming,  about 

August  1.  1865.  He,  along  with  other  scouts  went 

on  West  with  California  as  their  goal. 

When  the  party  arrived  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah, 

he  and  several  others  decided  to  stay  there.  He  ob- 
tained work  as  a  carpenter  at  Payson.  Utah.  It  was 

while  working  at  Payson  that  he  met  his  future 
wife.  Caroline  C.  Calkins.  She  had  come  to  Utah 

with  her  parents  with  the  L.D.S.  pioneers  when  she 

was  only  six  months  old.  She  was  born  at  Winter 

Quarters,  Council  Bluffs,  Iowa,  January  7,  1851. 

David  and  Caroline  were  the  parents  of  thirteen 

children.  Two  preceeded  them  in  death.  The  others 

were:  Minnie,  Indamora,  Helen.  Caroline,  Mary 

Elizabeth,  Lillie,  Irene,  Gladys,  Julia.  Walter 

Scott,  and  David  D.  Sullivan.  The  first  three  were 

born  in  Payson.  Utah,  the  others  were  born  in  Gen- 
tile Valley,  the  southern  part  of  Caribou  County.  In 

June  1893  the  family  moved  to  the  village  of  Grace. 
Idaho. 

There  were  no  schools,  churches,  or  a  post  office 

at  that  time.  The  town  was  named  in  honor  o\' 
Grace  Bean,  wife  of  a  U.S.  land  attorney  who  was 

then  at  the  Land  Office  in  Blackfool.  Idaho.  In 

1894  and  1895  a  school  house  was  built.  The  first 

term  included  March.  April.  May  of  1895. 
David  D.  died  March  30.  191 1.  and  Caroline  died 

Julv  17.  1921. 

WALTER  SCOTT  SULLIVAN,  a  twin,  was 

born  to  David  Dollen  and  Caroline  Clarissa 

Calkins  Sullivan.  February  24.  1889  at  Mound 

Valley.  Idaho.  His  twin  brother  died  at  birth,  Ai 

the  age  of  three,  he  moved  with  his  parents  to  I. ago. 
Idaho    where    his    father    was    emploxed    as    a 
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carpenter,  building  a  barn  for  John  Sorensen. 
In  June  1893.  the  Sullivan  family  moved  to 

Grace.  Idaho  and  homesteaded  a  farm  that  had 

been  filed  on  the  preceeding  year.  It  was  on  the 
north  bank  of  Bear  River.  Walter  received  his 

education  at  Grace,  and  also  attended  Fielding 

Academy  at  Paris.  Idaho.  He  helped  his  father  with 
the  farming,  did  a  little  blacksmithing,  herded 

sheep,  and  did  some  horse  trading.  He  also  worked 

as  a  laborer  when  the  Utah  Power  and  Light  Com- 
pany built  the  dam  and  pipelines. 

He  enlisted  in  the  First  World  War.  and  went  to 

serve  his  country.  He  spent  a  good  part  of  his  time 
in  France.  It  was  here  that  he  was  injured  in  the 

trenches,  when  a  machine  gun  rolled  back  on  his 

feet.  He  spent  considerable  time  in  the  hospital  in 

France,  recovering  from  his  injuries.  He  has  suf- 
fered from  this  injury,  and  while  not  in  a  wheel 

chair,  he  has  been  crippled. 
After  his  return  from  France,  he  worked  for  the 

railroad  in  Pocatello.  Idaho  for  several  years. 
While  here  he  met  and  married  MYRTLE  HUNT, 
in  December  1919.  She  died  in  1920.  On  November 

9,  1921  he  married  VERA  CLARK  from 

Georgetown,  Idaho.  Two  children  were  born  to  this 
union:  Dale  D.  Sullivan,  and  Gladys  S.  Bos.  Vera 
died  in  1940  from  a  heart  ailment,  and  in  October 
7,  1942  he  married  HAZEL  PAULSEN  of 

Pocatello.  Idaho.  She.  with  her  son.  William,  mov- 
ed to  Grace  to  make  their  home. 

Walter  spent  most  of  his  life  in  farming  and 
ranching.  He  was  active  in  the  church,  and  is 

currently  working  in  the  Saint  George  Temple, 
where  he  has  done  nearly  12.000  endowments.  He 
has  been  active  in  the  American  Legion  for  55 
years,  and  is  a  life  member  of  the  Disabled 

Veterans.  He  has  served  as  Commander,  Chaplain, 
Dept.  Commander  and  Dept.  Chaplain  for  both 
organizations.  He  was  Commander  of  the 

Pocatello  Chapter  of  the  D.A.V.  for  five  years. 

HIRAM  SWENSEN  was  born  in  Huntsville, 

Utah  on  July  24,  1873  to  Jens  Swensen  and  Mette 

Jensen.  He  moved  to  the  valley  with  his  parents  and 
three  brothers  and  a  sister  in  1879.  When  Hiram 

was  six  years  old  he  went  to  school  in  Lago,  the  Jim 
Elliot  school,  located  on  Whiskey  Creek.  He  helped 
his  older  brothers  on  the  farm  until  he  was  old 

enough   to   shear  sheep.    He  then   went   to   Soda 

Hiram  and  Lutie  Bassett  Swensen 

Springs  to  the  shearing  corrals  where  they  sheared 
sheep  all  spring. 

Hiram  attended  school  at  the  U.S.A.C.  where  he 

was  football  captain  of  the  first  football  team  in 
1898.  He  had  some  veterinary  training  while  at  the 
U.S.A.C.  which  helped  him  take  care  of  his  own 
animals  as  well  as  for  the  people  from  Grace  to 
Cleveland.  He  was  also  a  blacksmith  and  that 

helped  him  in  his  farmwork. 

Hiram  sang  in  the  church  choir  and  was  bouncer 
for  all  the  dances  and  was  one  of  the  callers  for  the 

square  dancing.  He  was  chairman  of  the  board  of 
trustees  for  the  Lago  School  for  many  years. 

Hiram  and  LUTIE  BASSETT  were  married 

April  23.  1901  at  her  parents'  home. 
Lutie  Marette  Bassett  was  born  August  28,  1877 

at  Cedar  Fort,  Utah,  now  known  as  Cedar  Valley. 

She  was  the  daughter  of  William  H.  Bassett  and 
Marette  Cook  and  was  born  at  the  home  of  her 

grandfather.  Bishop  Henry  Freeman  Cook  who 
was  sent  out  from  Salt  Lake  City  by  President 

Brigham  Young  to  be  bishop  of  this  settlement. 

After  their  move  to  Gentile  Valley,  Lutie  went  to 

school  in  Lago,  the  Jim  Elliot  School.  With  her  two 
cousins,  Don  and  Hattie  Bassett,  she  walked  three 

miles  to  school.  Occasionally  the  three  rode  Don's 
old  black  horse,  Billy.  Don  took  delight  in  tormen- 

ting the  girls  by  going  up  the  steepest  banks  and 

down  the  most  precarious  hills.  One  day  Billy  sur- 
prised them  all  by  putting  his  head  down  and  they 

all  went  tumbling  off  head  first. 

As  Lutie  grew  older,  she  was  called  upon  to  help 

in  the  other  families.  She  spent  two  summers  in 
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Bear  Lake  helping  her  aunt  cook  for  haymen.  In 

those  days  they  had  large  crews  of  men  for  all  three 
meals.  When  she  was  sixteen  she  went  to  Salt  Lake 

City  and  helped  her  Aunt  Nett  with  her  large  fami- 
ly and  attended  school  two  winters.  She  passed  the 

entrance  exams  to  the  University  of  Utah.  All 

arrangements  were  made  to  enter  when  word  came 
from  her  father  that  her  mother  was  ill  and  she  was 

needed  at  home.  She  came  by  train  to  Franklin 

where  she  was  met  by  her  father  with  a  team  and 

wagon. 

The  next  year.  Lutie.  Don  and  Hattie  attended 

the  Agriculture  College  at  Logan.  Lutie  studied 

teacher  training  and  received  her  certificate  in 
1899. 

In  1899  Lutie  started  her  teaching.  She  taught  in 

Lago  four  years.  Grace  one  year,  and  Cleveland 

two  years.  When  she  was  teaching  in  Cleveland. 

Hiram  Swensen  came  for  her  every  Friday  night 

with  a  fancy  high-spirited  team  of  horses  and  a  lit- 
tle black  buggy.  As  they  forded  the  river  going  to 

and  from  Cleveland,  she  recalls  water  running  in 

the  bottom  of  the  buggy  and  that  they  had  to  lift 

their  feet  to  keep  them  dry. 

Her  teacher's  salary  was  $35  per  month,  $12  of 
which  went  for  room  and  board.  With  some  of  her 

salary  she  made  the  down  payment  on  her  father's 
first  white-topped  buggy.  She  also  bought  a  rocking 
chair  for  her  mother,  which  is  in  the  possession  of 

her  daughter.  Lorette  Hansen,  today. 

She  was  21  years  old  when  she  was  baptized  into 

the  Mormon  Church.  Her  parents  felt  she  should  be 

old  enough  to  make  her  own  decision  about  her 

religious  faith.  She  was  baptized  in  Trout  Creek  by 
Willard  Hubbard  and  Jonathon  Gibbs. 

The  first  year  they  were  married  they  lived  at  Joe 

Swensen's  home,  who  was  a  brother  of  Hiram. 
While  there,  twins  were  born,  a  boy  and  girl.  They 

died  the  day  they  were  born.  Later  they  moved  on 

the  corner  where  Olorenshaw's  lived.  Then  they 
built  their  own  home  over  the  hill  on  Whiskey 

Creek.  It  was  a  four-room  house  built  by  Barnes 

Rodeback,  an  uncle  of  Lutie's.  Three  children  were 
born  there,  Nola,  Lorette,  and  Raymond.  Around 

191 1  they  bought  the  Lusher  place  where  their  son, 

Grantly,  was  born.  After  a  few  years  in  the  Lusher 

house,  they  decided  to  move  the  home  from 

Whiskey  Creek  over  the  hill.  This  was  ac- 

complished with  hard  wood  rollers  on  a  track  pull- 

ed by  one  horse  on  a  stump  puller.  On  the  steeper 

places  of  the  hill,  they  applied  brakes  by  tying 

wagon  loads  of  rocks  to  the  house.  When  the  house 

was  on  top  of  the  hill,  everyone  was  invited  to  a 

very  enjoyable  party  to  celebrate  the  success  of  the 

moving  which  was  completed  without  breaking  a 

window  or  even  cracking  the  plaster.  Mitt 

Rodeback.  son  of  the  man  who  built  the  house  was 

the  instigator  of  the  moving  plan. 

Hiram  sold  the  farm  to  his  son.  Raymond.  He 

and  Lutie  took  over  the  mercantile  store  and  post 

office  when  her  father  passed  away.  Over  the  years 

her  father  had  collected  many  things  which  were 

stored  in  the  basement  of  the  store.  The  following 

spring  they  held  a  gigantic  sale.  People  came  from 

all  over  the  county  and  were  not  disappointed. 

There  were  hundreds  of  yards  of  materials,  laces, 
bolts  of  ribbons,  shoes,  socks,  underwear,  and 

barrels  of  dishes  of  all  kinds. 

Hiram  passed  away  on  March  17.  1932.  He  died 

on  Thursday  and  was  buried  on  Sunday.  Then  it 

seemed  as  if  fate  had  more  hardship  in  store  for  her 

because  her  home  burned  down  on  Monday.  All 

that  was  saved  were  the  clothes  they  had  on.  a  cedar 
chest,  one  drawer  from  a  chest  of  drawers  and  her 

mother's  rocking  chair. 

As  time  went  on,  happy  days  were  again  Lutie's. 
On  November  20.  1942  she  married  ALFRED 

HANSEN.  She  sold  the  store  to  Raymond  and 

moved  the  post  office  back  to  Alfred's  house.  She 
and  Alfred  ran  the  post  office.  When  she  retired  in 

1947.  Alfred  became  postmaster  until  the  Lago  of- 
fice was  discontinued  in  1953. 

Lutie  Bassett  Swensen  Hansen  died  of  com- 

plications due  to  surger\  on  March  11.  1957. 

JAMES  SWENSEN  was  born  in  Big  Cot- 
tonwood on  February  4.  1866  to  Jens  Swensen  and 

Mette  Jensen.  He  was  the  first  of  six  children.  The 

family  moved  to  Huntsville.  Utah  near  Ogden. 
Utah  in  1871.  In  the  fall  of  1878  they  moved  to 

Gem  Valley,  later  named  Lago.  Idaho.  Jim's  father 
passed  away  at  Lago.  Idaho  in  1887.  This  left  Jim 
to  run  the  farm  with  the  help  of  his  \ounger 

brothers.  He  later  bought  the  farm. 

He  remembered  when  the  old  wooden  bridge 

across  Bear  River,  at  a  point  near  the  Thatcher 
school  house,  was  first  built  and  the  frame  and 

stringers  were  hewed  logs.  It  was  about  two  \cars 
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James  Swensen Dot  Swensen 

before  the  floor  was  finally  laid.  The  settlers  used  to 

walk  the  stringers  to  get  the  mail  from  the  post  of- 
fice on  the  west  side  of  Bear  River. 

The  Swensen  Brothers  had  the  contract  to  carry 

the  mail  for  twelve  years  and  during  the  spring  time 

had  been  able  to  go  in  a  boat  from  the  old  Fred 

Collins  home  (now  the  Harris  Mickelsen  farm) 
clear  across  to  the  Peck  Brothers  store.  Other  times 

they  went  on  horseback  and  forded  the  river  and 

later  crossed  on  the  old  log  bridge  near  Thatcher 

High  School. 

Jim  set  up  a  sheep  shearing  corral  in  his  machine 

shed.  They  had  five  shearers.  The  first  year  they 

used  hand  clippers.  After  that  they  fixed  a  Ford 

engine  to  make  power  for  their  shearing  machines. 

Everyone  living  near  enough  brought  their  sheep  to 
be  sheared. 

Mary,  Jim's  sister  and  the  youngest  of  the  fami- 
ly, alwasy  cooked  dinner  for  the  men  and 

sometimes  there  was  quite  a  crowd.  She  enjoyed 

every  minute  of  it. 

The  Swensen  brothers  planted  the  first  fall  grain 

in  the  valley  and  planted  the  first  fish  in  Whiskey 
Creek. 

Jim  Swensen  and  his  sister  Mary  lived  on  the 

farm.  Joseph  and  Hiram  married  and  moved  to 

homes  of  their  own.  His  sister  Mary  died  .April  15, 

1931,  Joseph  died  June  10,  1931  and  his  brother. 

Hiram  died  March  17,  1932.  Jim  married  DOT 

SHEETZ  December  15.  1937.  Jim  passed  away  in 

November  of  1949.  He  was  83  years  old. 

Dot  Sheetz  Lusher  came  to  Lago  in  1937.  when 
she  married  James  Swensen  and  lived  in  the 

Swensen  home  until  her  death  in  1966.  One  of  their 

first  projects  was  to  organize  a  cemeter\  district  for 

the  Lago  Cemetery,  put  in  an  irrigation  system, 
and  she  was  clerk  of  the  board  from  then  on. 

The  Lago  Ward  Relief  Society  work  meetings 

were  held  at  her  home,  and  many  young  people  to- 

day remember  going  there  for  the  quiltings.  When 

the  ward  merged  with  Williams  Ward  some  of  the 

ladies  then  continued  quilting  in  the  Lago  Quilting 

Club.  One  of  her  legacies  was  23  hand  quilted 

quilts. Dot  had  a  very  bad  year  in  1949.  She  lost  two 

brothers,  her  husband,  and  on  the  way  home  to 

California,  from  Uncle  Jim's  funeral,  two 

daughters,  two  grandchildren,  and  a  son-in-law 
were  killed  in  an  automobile  accident. 

Dot  said  that  winter  that  she  had  two  choices: 

she  could  become  a  bitter,  lonely  old  woman,  or  she 

could  trust  God  and  work  her  way  out  of  her 

depression,  that  we  should  not  waste  time  hating 
the  man  who  caused  the  accident;  he  was  dead,  and 

it  would  only  warp  us. 

In  the  spring  she  started — had  many  of  the  old 
trees  removed,  remodeled  her  home,  built  a  tenant 

house  and  a  barn,  planted  lawns  and  fiowers.  A 

daughter  and  her  husband  lived  there  and  ran  the 

farm.  A  grandson  lived  with  them  until  he  finished 
school. 

Dot  was  active  in  social  and  civic  aflairs.  a 

member  of  the  Grace  Literary  Club,  HYN  Club, 

the  Dorcas  Circle,  Williams  Ward  Relief  Society, 

Singing  Mothers.  She  was  a  volunteer  cancer 
worker  for  15  years.  She  loved  her  home,  her 

neighbors  and  her  friends,  and  in  turn  was  loved  by 
them. 

JENS  SWENSEN  was  born  in  Hogsted, 

Hjorring  County  Jutland  Denmark.  His  first  wife 
was  MALENE  CHRISTENSEN.  They  had  one 

daughter.  Kirsten.  When  he  joined  the  church  in 
Denmark  and  wanted  to  come  to  America,  Malene 

would  not  come  with  him  so  they  were  divorced.  He 

later  married  MAREN  JORGENSEN.  They  with 
two  sons  came  to  America.  One  son  became  ill  and 

died  on  the  voyage  across  the  ocean  and  was  buried 
at  sea.  Their  other  son  was  named  Peter. 

Jens  received  his  naturalization  papers.  April  13. 

1 857  at  the  age  of  5 1 .  He  was  allotted  land  to  work 
and  live  on  in  Big  Cottonwood  near  Salt  Lake  City. 
This  was  his  first  home  in  America. 
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METTE  JENSEN  was  born  in  Bagterp  County 
Jutland,  Denmark,  September  26,  1832.  She  was 
converted  to  the  L.D.S.  faith  in  Denmark.  She 

worked  as  a  servant  girl  in  Copenhagen  to  make 

enough  money  to  come  to  America.  She  came  from 
New  York  City  to  Council  Bluffs,  Iowa  on  the  train 
and  from  there  crossed  the  plains  with  a  Mormon 

emigrant  train.  The  wagons  were  drawn  by  oxen, 
but  she  with  many  other  young  men  and  women 

walked  the  entire  distance  pushing  or  pulling  a 
hand  cart. 

In  April  1865,  on  the  29th  she  married  Jens 
Swensen  in  the  old  Endowment  House  in  Salt  Lake 

City.  They  settled  on  a  farm  near  Big  Cottonwood, 
later  moving  to  Huntsville,  near  Ogden,  Utah  in 
1871.  In  the  fall  of  1878  they  moved  to  Gem  Valley, 
later  named  Lago.  They  had  five  children:  James, 

Joseph,  Christen,  Hiram,  and  Mary.  They  had  two 
wagons,  one  yoke  of  oxen  and  a  team  of  horses, 
quite  a  number  of  cattle  and  sheep  besides  their 
household  goods.  They  settled  on  the  farm  now 

owned  by  Percy  Norcutt.  The  second  year  they 
were  in  Idaho  proved  very  severe  and  they  lost  most 

of  their  cows,  but  they  held  on,  and  through  their 
faith  persevered  and  built  a  fine  farm. 

Mrs.  Swensen  was  appointed  to  serve  as  one  of 
the  first  block  teachers  for  the  Trout  Creek  Ward 

with  Mrs.  A.  A.  Ruud,  Mrs.  Maria  Hansen, 

(grandmother  of  Emil  Hansen),  and  Mrs.  John 
Turner. 

Jens  Swensen  passed  away  at  his  home  in  1887  at 
the  age  of  81.  He  was  buried  in  the  Mound  Valley 

cemetery.  Because  of  Mette's  perseverance,  thrift, 
and  faith  she  was  able  to  raise  her  family  and  live  to 
see  them  all  grown,  and  two  sons  married  before 
her  death  on  October  20,  1901,  at  the  age  of  79.  She 

is  buried  in  the  Lago  cemetery. 

JOHN  TANNER  was  born  in  Tooele,  Utah  on 

March  9.  1872.  His  father,  George  Tanner,  and 

mother,  Martha  Craner  Tanner,  were  early  Mor- 
mon emigrants  of  the  First  Handcart  Company. 

Tragedy  struck  early,  and  John's  father  died  when 
he  was  only  six  weeks  old.  His  mother  married 

again  to  Alexander  Harris.  The  family  moved  to 
Gentile  Valley  in  Idaho,  early  in  1875.  Mr.  Harris 

became  one  of  the  prominent  ranchers,  having 
three  ranches,  one  in  Mound  Valley,  one  at  Lago, 

and  one  at  Grays  Lake,  Idaho.  There  was  a  "world 
of  grass  for  grazmg." 

John  Tanner 

During  the  time  they  lived  in  Gentile  Valley,  a 
number  of  families  moved  in.  The  Williams  family, 

Ephraim  Bennett,  Hyrum  Bennett,  James 
McGregor,  Thomas  Bennett,  Tom  Ornot,  Henry 
Perry  Sr.  and  families.  Then  in  the  late  seventies  or 

early  eighties,  the  Calkins,  Cutlers,  Browns  and 
Hales  came  to  the  valley. 

Mr.  Harris  died  leaving  a  family  of  thirteen 

children.  John,  at  17,  began  working  for  the  Union 
Pacific  Railroad  building  the  grade  from  Cache 

Junction  to  Oxford,  Utah.  Wages  for  himself  and 
team  was  $2.50  a  day. 

In  1892  John  was  employed  by  the  Bassett 
Brothers  Stage  Company,  doing  business  through 
the  scenic  Yellowstone  National  Park.  His  stage 

coach  was  "The  Artemesia"  meaning  sagebrush 
He  was  the  driver  to  many  notable  persons. 

Before  leaving  Utah  for  his  driving  job  in  the 

park  in  the  spring  of  1899.  he  met  a  beautiful  girl 

and  became  engaged.  He  worked  through  the 
summer,  and  came  home  and  married  POLLY 
DELILAH  WARNER  November  15.  I?^99.  She 

was  born  in  Benjamin.  Utah  January  26.  1877. 

They  moved  back  to  (Jentile  Valley  and  began 

again  to  farm.  He  and  Polly  had  the  following 
children:  Charles.  Wayne.  LaVina.  George  Alma. 

John  Marvin.  Joseph,  Areil.  Eunice  and  Lowell 
Warner. 

Polly  died  February  15.  1939  and  John  on 

January  23.  1958. 

GEORGE  TELFORD  was  born  in  Bountiful. 

Utah  on  December  22.  1868  to  Robert  and  Maria 

Spooner  Telford.  His  father  died  when  he  was 
eleven    vears   old    and    he   and    his   older   brother 
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shouldered  much  of  the  responsibility  of  providing 
for  the  family. 

He  had  little  opportunity  for  schooling  but 

attended  when  he  could.  As  a  young  man  he  attend- 

ed Henegar's  Business  College  in  Salt  Lake  City. 
He  married  GENEVA  BLCKLAND  on 

December  19.  1894.  She  had  completed  one  year  of 
high  school  at  Bountiful  and  had  attended  high 

school  in  Salt  Lake  City.  Here  she  was  an  outstan- 
ding student  of  art  and  was  asked  to  leave  some  of 

her  sketches  for  display. 

With  two  children  the  parents  came  to  Grace  and 
homesteaded  the  farm  which  now  is  owned  by 

Phillip  Gibson.  In  May  1898  they  arrived  and  built 

a  two-room  log  cabin  with  dirt  roof.  My  mother 
filled  the  cracks  between  the  logs  with  clay  mixed 
with  lime  and  whitewashed  her  walls  with  lime 

made  white  with  blueing.  Several  years  later  the 

house  was  enlarged  to  five  rooms. 
The  old  houses  were  warm  in  winter  and  cool  in 

summer,  but  were  not  beautiful  and  were  very  hard 
to  keep  clean.  The  roof  sometimes  leaked  and  we 
put  pans  and  buckets  on  our  beds  to  catch  the 

water.  It  took  all  the  courage  the  pioneers  possess- 
ed to  make  a  home  of  them.  My  mother  sewed  rags 

and  had  rugs  made,  homemade  carpeting  it  was 
called,  and  so  with  straw  for  padding  we  had  wall  to 
wall  carpeting. 

In  1903  George  was  elected  trustee  of  the  school 

and  February  1905  he  was  elected  Secretary  and 
Treasurer  of  the  Last  Chance  Canal  Company,  two 
positions  which  he  held  until  his  death  in  October. 
1928. 

In  the  years  between  1903  and  1915  he  worked 

diligently  with  other  leaders  in  the  community  to 
build  the  Last  Chance  Canal  system:  get  electrical 

power  to  the  rural  areas:  organize  the  first  high 
school  in  Grace:  get  a  telephone  system  to  serve  the 

area  and  worked  on  many  other  projects  to  serve 
the  people  of  this  area. 

In  1916  on  the  Telford  farm  the  old  house  was 

removed  and  the  big  house  which  still  stands  as  the 
home  of  Phillip  Gibson  was  built. 

Children:  Victor.  Alice.  Eugene.  Hazel.  Jennie. 

Philip.  Margie.  Marden.  Dorothy.  Carlyle.  John. 
There  have  been  no  Telfords  living  in  Grace 

since. 

Compiled  by  Alice  T.  Sorensen.  daughter  of 
George  Telford. 

JOHN  B.  and  RACHEL  HANNAH 

THATCHER  came  to  GentileValley  in  the  spring 

of  1881  to  manage  a  farm  purchased  by  George 
Thatcher,  his  brother,  and  William  B.  Preston  his 

brother-in-law. 
Their  home  in  Gentile  Valley  was  a  log  cabin 

with  a  sod  covered  lean-to  built  on  one  side. 
On  January  14,  1882  Mother  Rachel  was 

washing  and  she  heard  the  logs  of  the  ceiling  crack 
and  noticed  one  of  the  timbers  of  the  roof  was 

about  to  fall.  She  had  the  children  run  outside  while 

she  supported  the  roof  stringer.  In  spite  of  her  ef- 
forts the  roof  fell  with  the  heavy  sod  covering.  She 

was  trapped  between  two  logs  crushing  her  head, 
killing  her  instantly.  She  was  survived  by  eight 
children. 

John  B.  Thatcher  then  built  a  large  two-story 
house  one-fourth  mile  south  of  the  original  log 
house  and  cared  for  his  motherless  children  with 

the  utmost  devotion,  caring  for  them  physically  as 

well  as  spiritually.  His  kindness  and  sympathetic 
heart  endeared  him  to  his  whole  family.  His  home 

is  still  in  use  by  the  David  Coombs  family. 
John  B.  Thatcher  then  was  elected  to  the 

Territorial  Legislature  and  served  one  year. 
He  was  made  bishop  of  Mormon  Ward  (now 

Thatcher  Ward)  in  1884.  The  name  of  the  ward 
and  the  post  office  was  changed  to  Thatcher  in 
honor  of  him. 

He  bought  out  the  interests  of  his  brother  and 
brolher-in-law.  and  homesteaded  additional  land 

and  filed  a  Deseret  entry.  He  had  a  store  in  his 
home  for  the  convenience  of  the  community.  He 
also  furnished  the  first  line  of  medical  and  legal 

help  to  friends  and  neighbors.  He  was  an  expert  in 
setting  broken  bones,  and  his  gift  of  healing  for  the 

sick  was  well  recognized.  As  a  preacher  and  teacher 
of  the  Gospel,  very  few  equaled  him.  His  generosity 
and  friendliness  were  well  known.  He  never  turned 

anyone  away  from  his  home  or  table.  He  was  con- 
sidered a  self-educated  man  as  he  never  lost  interest 

in  self-study  and  research  even  after  he  had  finished 
what  education  they  were  able  to  get  in  those  days. 

His  study  in  elocution  and  his  readings  were  in 

great  demand  at  parties  and  other  events.  As  a 
speaker,  he  was  recognized  as  one  of  the  leaders  in 
Cache  Valley,  and  in  their  debating  societies  he 

took  an  active  part.  He  was  at  his  best  and  most  im- 
pressive when  he  was  teaching  the  Gospel. 

On  the  8th  of  November.   1896.  he  was  elected 
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Assessor  and  Tax  Colledor  tor  Bannock  County. 
In  November,  1897  and  1898,  he  was  elected  to  the 

Idaho  Legislature. 

In  the  year  1905  he  sold  his  farm  to  his  four  sons, 

Howard,  Nathan,  Gilbert,  and  Henry.  He  spent  his 

remaining  year  of  life  with  his  sons  on  the  farm. 

John  and  Milton  were  his  sons,  too,  and  Lula 

Thirkil  and  Lettie  Edleson  were  the  daughters. 

On  September  16,  1917,  he  passed  away  at  the 
home  of  his  son,  Howard,  in  Thatcher,  Idaho.  He 

had  the  esteem  and  unlimited  confidence  of  the 

cili/ens  of  his  country  and  was  well  known  as  a  man 

of  sound  judgement  and  sterling  character.  His 

burial  was  in  the  Logan  Cemetery,  Logan,  Utah. 

Elisha  John  Thomas Esther  Thomas 

ELISHA  JOHN  THOMAS  was  born  lune  7, 

1873,  at  Farr  West,  Utah,  to  Elisha  Thomas  and 

Elizabeth  Lee. 

When  he  was  22  years  old,  he  married  ELIZA 

JANE  HANCOCK,  May  8.  1895  in  the  Logan 

Temple. 

He  came  to  this  valley  in  1897  and  filed  on  land 
in  the  Turner  area.  He  used  a  small  team  of  horses 

and  a  yoke  of  oxen  to  break  this  land  and  prepare  it 

for  planting.  This  method  was  used  for  years,  as 

Leo  remembers  following  behind  his  father  and  the 
horses  with  the  oxen.  Whenever  the  oxen  became 

thirsty,  they  headed  for  the  canal  for  a  drink  of 

water,  and  Leo,  being  very  small  at  the  lime,  had 

no  choice  but  to  go  with  them,  but  after  a  nice  cool 

drink,  the  oxen  and  Leo  returned  to  the  exact  spot, 
and  once  more  continued  on  with  their  work. 

John  hauled   logs  [vom  the  canyon  to  build  a 

home  and  shelter  for  his  animals.  He  dug  the  first 

well  in  this  area  by  hand,  and  invitied  everyone  to 

come  and  get  all  of  the  water  they  needed.  This  was 

a  great  help  to  many  people,  as  they  had  been  haul- 
ing water  from  Bear  River  or  China  Spring.  This 

well  can  still  be  used  today. 

in  1898,  after  building  a  home,  John  returned  to 

Farr  Westand  brought  his  wife  and  small  son,  Ray- 
mond (Jack)  back  with  him.  Five  more  children 

were  born  here  in  Turner:  Leo  Leonard,  Desmond 

Lyle,  Chloe  Ilah,  Eliza  Fawn,  and  Laverda  Fern. 

After  getting  the  family  settled,  and  provided  for, 

John  served  a  mission  during  the  years  of  1909  and 
1910. 

Upon  returning  from  his  mission,  he  settled 

down  to  the  business  of  farming  and  raising  his 

family,  as  well  as  serving  the  Lord.  He  assisted  in 

the  building  of  a  place  to  worship  and  also  a  place 
where  the  children  could  attend  school. 

In  the  year  1915,  he  lost  his  loving  wife,  and  was 

left  with  six  young  children  to  care  for. 

It  was  not  until  January  31st,  1917  that  he 

married  ESTHER  J.  TARBET.  Esther  brought  a 

lot  of  love  and  sunshine  into  his  household,  and  also 

three  children  of  her  own  by  a  previous  marriage  to 
Thomas  Tarbet:  Dewain,  Kenneth,  and  Marie. 

Three  children  were  born  to  John  and  Esther 

Delora  Capener,  John  Jr.,  and  Maxine  Popa. 

John  was  a  great  sportsman  and  was  noted  for 

his  ability  to  jump  and  for  his  great  speed  in  run- 
ning. 

He  loved  music  and  spent  many  hours  enter- 
taining friends  and  neighbors.  He  was  the  leader  of 

the  Turner  Band  for  years  and  also  taught  most  of 

his  children  to  play  instruments.  John  could  play 

the  cornet,  violin,  and  accordian.  Jack,  Leo,  Des- 

mond, and  Ilah  were  all  taught  to  play,  and  a  fami- 
ly orchestra  was  organized  to  play  for  dances  all 

around  the  valley. 

John  also  found  time  to  serve  twice  as  Bishop  for 

several  years,  after  acting  as  secretary  of  the  Sun- 

day School.  Bishop's  Counselor,  ward  chorister,  as 
well  as  many  civic  positions. 

He  passed  away  November  1.   1950. 

Flsther  Otelia  Johnson  Tarbet  Thomas  was  born 

in  Halmstad.  Sweden  on  January  3,  1887  to  Eric 
(joran  and  Marie  Charlotta  Nielson  Johnson, 

Esther  came  to  this  countrv  in  the  \ear  1893  with 
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her  parents.  They  were  among  many  others  coming 
to  this  country  for  rehgious  freedom.  They  were 
converts  to  the  L.D.S.  Church,  being  contacted  by 

the  missionaries  in  Sweden.  Three  of  Esther's 
brothers  and  sisters  came  to  the  United  States 

before  Esther,  and  her  family  never  did  Hve 

together  as  a  family  from  this  time  on. 
Esther  lost  her  mother  in  1901,  and  after  this  she 

had  to  go  to  work  for  different  families  around  the 
Smithfield.  Utah  area.  She  recalls  working  at  times 
for  25c  a  week  and  room  and  board. 

She  married  Thomas  Tarbet  December  5,  1906. 

Dewayne  was  born  in  1907,  Kenneth  in  1910.  Tom 
was  killed  in  an  accident  on  February  24,  1913,  and 
Deborah  Marie  was  born  October  22,  1913.  She 

worked  hard  to  take  care  of  her  little  family,  and 
came  to  Grace  to  visit  her  brother  where  she  met 

Elisha  John  Thomas.  They  were  married  January 
31,  1917. 

She  will  always  be  remembered  as  a  very  devoted 
wife  and  mother.  She  had  the  ability  to  make  any 
house  a  beautiful  home,  and  had  a  sense  of  humor 

that  was  among  the  greatest.  She  had  a  strong 
testimony  of  the  Gospel  and  lived  it  and  loved  it  to 
the    end. 

She  passed  away  January  1,  1976,  after  serving 
the  Lord  for  years  in  the  Relief  Society  and 
Primary. 

Howard  and  Annie  May  Thomas 

HOWARD  L.  THOMAS  was  born  in 

Smithfield,  Utah  August  13,  1880,  the  son  of 
Harrison  Ayrse  Thomas  and  Ann  Morehead. 

When  a  boy,  he  with  his  father  and  mother  and  four 
brothers  and  seven  sisters  moved  to  Preston.  His 

father  and  sons  operated  sawmills,  farmed, and  did 

carpenter  work.  His  sisters  were  school  teachers 
and  Howard  also  taught  school. 

In  the  year  of  1903  he  came  to  Lago,  Idaho  to 
work  in  the  sawmill,  which  was  operated  by  the 
Moreheads.  It  was  here  that  he  met  ANNIE  MAY 

TURNER.  They  were  married  December  1903  in 
the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple.  They  farmed  and  taught 
school  in  the  Preston  area,  including  Treasurerton 
and  Riverdale,  Idaho.  In  1917  they  sold  out  and 
went  on  a  cattle  ranch. 

Here  they  lived  in  the  summers  and  in  the  winter 
in  Preston  and  Mound  Valley. 

In  November  1919  they  moved  to  Grace,  Idaho 
where  Howard  did  many  different  things  to  keep 

the  family  of  eight  children,  three  girls,  and  five 

boys.  It  was  during  the  depression  and  it  was  real 
hard  to  make  a  dollar.  He  kept  all  the  family  busy, 

as  he  raised  a  big  garden  and  they  all  helped  to  keep 
it  weeded.  He  was  one  of  the  first  men  to  raise  fields 

of  potatoes  — there  was  no  market  for  them,  so  he 
fed  them  to  the  hogs.  He  was  also  a  chicken  farmer. 
He  bought  and  sold  livestock,  sometimes  making 

very  little.  He  worked  at  the  Grace  and  Alexander 
Dams.  Through  all  this  they  were  a  very  happy 

family.  They  stayed  close  to  the  church  and  played 

and  sang.  They  had  their  own  "family  orchestra," 
which  they  played  in  for  17  years. 

The  orchestra  was  started  when  Bishop 

Kingsford,  of  Williams  Ward,  encouraged  them  to 
start  one.  Music  was  needed  for  the  wards  to  have 

dances  as  they  had  to  raise  their  own  money  for  ex- 
penses. There  were  nine  wards  at  that  time.  At  first 

there  were  just  five  in  the  orchestra.  Neva  T.  John- 
son was  the  pianist,  Aileen  T.  Westerberg  was  the 

banjo  player,  Lillian  T.  Peterson  the  drummer, 
with  the  mother  Annie  Thomas  and  Denzil  Johnson 

as  relief  drummers.  Frank  Thomas  played  the  sax- 
ophone, and  Howard  Thomas,  who  kept  them  all 

\x\  tune,  played  the  violin.  Later  on  the  other  three 
boys  came  in,  Harrison  on  the  second  saxophone, 
Keith  on  the  clarinet,  and  Kenneth  on  the  trumpet. 

They  were  all  active  in  the  church;  Howard  serv- 
ed as  Sunday  School  Superintendent,  and 

counselor  in  the  bishopric,  as  well  as  other 
positions.  Annie  May  was  Relief  Society  President 
and  worked  in  the  MIA  for  many  years.  Their 
children  are:  Mrs.  Denzil  Johnson  (Neva),  Mrs. 

Ferd  Westerberg  (Aileen),  Mrs.  Harold  Peterson 
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(Lillian).  Franklin  Thomas,  Harrison  Thomas, 

Donald  Thomas,  Keith  Thomas,  and  Kenneth 

Thomas. 

; 

Leo  and  LaVera  Thomas 

LEO  THOMAS  was  born  December  5,  1899  in 

Turner,  Idaho  LAVERA  SMITH  THOMAS  was 

born  November  20,  1903  in  Smithfield,  Utah.  They 

were  married  January  11,  1922  at  Soda  Springs, 
Idaho. 

Leo  has  been  a  successful  farmer  and  mechanic. 

In  1924  he  overhauled  the  donkey  engine  that  was 

buried  in  the  Alexander  Dam  until  recently.  He  has 

enjoyed  hunting,  fishing,  and  trapping. 

Lavera's  interests  are  house  plants,  sewing,  gar- 
dening, children  and  people.  Her  accomplishments 

have  been  in  being  a  good  wife,  mother  and 

homemaker.  She  enjoys  cooking. 

Their  children  are:  Lorna  Thomas  McCutcheon, 

Cheryl  Thomas  Longenbohn.  Glenna  Thomas 

Wakeley,  Howard  Thomas,  and  Leonard  Odell 
Thomas. 

JOHN  ALFRED  TOONE  was  born  August  26, 

1884  at  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah,  a  son  of  John  P. 

Toone  and  Amy  Johnstun.  As  a  small  child  the 

Toone  family  moved  to  Thatcher  where  Alf  and  his 

brothers  and  sisters  grew  up.  His  mother  was  one  of 

Dr.  Kackley's  midwives,  delivering  many  of  the 
valley  babies.  The  Toone  family  moved  about  1885 
to  Thatcher. 

As  a  young  man,  Alf  worked  for  Pond  and 

Greaves,  driving  freight  with  team  and  wagon 
between  Thatcher  and  Oxford.  From  1906  to  1909 

he  served  an  L.D.S.  Mission  in  the  Southern  States 

Mission,  in  the  Roanoke,  Virginia  area. 

Enoch  L.  Bennett  came  to  the  valley  in  1870  with 

his  parents,  and  they  settled  on  Trout  Creek  where 
Calvin  L.  Bennett  now  lives.  Nellie  Bennett  is  a 

daughter  of  Enoch  L.  Bennett  and  Ellen  Maria 

Wright,  the  only  sister  of  Calvin  W.  Bennett  and 

Leo  Bennett.  She  was  born  February  17,  1885  at 

Franklin,  when  her  mother  was  visiting  her  family 
there. 

Nellie  Bennett  graduated  with  a  degree  in  home 

economics  from  Utah  Agriculture  College  in  1906. 

She  taught  school  at  Nephi,  Utah,  at  Logan,  at 

Bench,  and  at  Lago.  She  (NELLIE  BENNETT) 

and  Alf  Toone  were  married  April  3,  1912,  and  liv- 
ed at  Telluride  for  two  years.  They  moved  on  to  the 

farm  south  of  Niter  in  the  spring  of  1914.  Through 

the  years,  Alf  had  additional  land  rented  and  work- 
ed it  along  with  the  home  farm. 

Alf  and  Nellie  Toone  were  the  parents  of  four 

sons:  Conrad.  Darrel.  Harmon,  and  Floyd.  Floyd 

passed  away  September  3.  1974. 

In  the  early  days  of  Niter,  when  it  was  still  con- 
trolled by  a  renegade  element,  Alf  Toone,  Alma  E. 

Hubbard,  and  Nels  Johnson  campaigned 

throughout  the  community  and  were  instrumental 

in  putting  a  new  set  of  Trustees  who  established  a 
decent  school  for  the  Niter  children.  These  trustees 

were  Alma  E.  Hubbard,  Nels  Johnson,  and  Nellie 

B. Toone.  Nellie  served  as  trustee  and  clerk  of  the 

school  board  for  seventeen  years. 

Alf  was  one  of  the  first  to  bring  registered  Hols- 
tein  dairy  cattle  into  Gem  Valley  from  Moscow, 

Idaho  about  1924.  All  his  life  he  worked  to  improve 

livestock  and  to  encourage  others  in  developing 

good  dairy  cattle.  He  also  loved  good  horses.  He 

was  a  4-H  Club  Leader  for  many  years,  and  helped 

in  organizing  the  Caribou  County  Fair  at  Grace. 
He  served  as  a  Director  in  the  Bench  and  Niter 

Canal  Companies,  and  was  one  of  those  instrumen- 

tal in  establishing  the  Gem  Valley  Dairy  Co-op  at 
Thatcher,  which  was  later  consolidated  with  Cache 

Valley  Dairy  Co-op. 
Alf  Toone  was  always  an  active  member  in  the 

L.D.S.  Church,  serving  in  many  different 

leadership  positions. 

Nellie  Toone  was  secretary  of  the  Williams 

Ward  Relief  Society  for  eighteen  years.  Her 

crochet  work  and  her  quilting  were  outstanding  in 

Biographies  1800's  —  485 



their  beauty  and  workmanship,  and  she  was  one  of 

the  finest  quilters  in  the  valley. 

The  character  of  their  four  sons  is  testimony  of 

their  home  training.  These  boys  were  taught  hones- 

ty, dependability,  high  moral  values,  integrity,  and 
how  to  work  from  their  childhood  on. 

In  1957  the  farm  was  sold  to  Darrel  and  Floyd. 

John  Alfred  Toone  passed  away  May  11,  1958 

and  Nellie  Bennett  Toone  passed  away  December 

3,  1964.  They  are  buried  in  the  Grace  Cemetery. 

John  J.  Trappett 

JOHN  J.  TRAPPETT  was  born  February  19, 

1851,  at  East  Durham,  County  of  Norfolk, 

England,  to  Charlotte  Allendon  and  William 

Trappett. 

As  a  lad  of  16,  he  came  to  the  U.S.A.  as  a  stovv- 

a-way  on  a  ship — to  avoid  service  in  the  English 

Army.  When  the  ship  arrived,  officers  were 

awaiting  him  and  he  was  shipped  back  to  England. 

Undaunted,  he  remained  on  board,  and  once  again 

as  a  stow-a-way,  he  made  the  trip  back  to  America. 
This  time  he  landed  without  incident. 

He  worked  his  way  to  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah,  and 

here  he  helped  haul  rocks  for  the  foundation  of  the 

L.D.S.  Temple.  He  secured  employment  as  a 

freighter  from  Salt  Lake  to  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

He  told  of  how  the  freighters  were  often  attacked 

and  harassed  by  the  Indians.  To  protect  their 

horses  and  themselves  at  night,  they  circled  their 

wagons  as  a  corral  and  placed  sacks  of  grain 

around  their  beds  as  an  improvised  fort. 

He  married  MARY  LADLE,  also  from  England, 

on  December  22,  1873,  at  Kaysville,  Utah.  They 

had  four  children — Mary  Jane,  Sarah  Ann,  Susan- 

na  May  and  John   William.   Mary  Ladle  passed 

away  on  July  15,  1884  at  Farmington,  Utah.  The 

following  year,  1885,  on  November  24,  he  married 
ELIZABETH  CLARK.  To  their  union  were  born 

eleven  children — Anna.  Ellen,  Esther,  James, 

Laura,  Harriet,  Manilla,  John.  Mable,  Bertha, 

and  George — making  John  Trappett  the  father  of 
15  children. 

The  family  moved  to  Grace,  Idaho  in  the  1890's. 
Here  John  Trappett  built  a  four-room  house  on  the 
north  side  of  the  river  near  the  bridge.  He  built  a 

dance  hall  on  the  top  floor  and  here  he  played  the 

fiddle  and  accordian  while  Annie  Burton  played  the 

organ  for  dancing.  He  also  hired  Fred  Mann  to 

play.  This  building  was  later  sold  to  Q.  R.  Pack.  He 
then  homesteaded  160  acres  southwest  of  Grace 

near  the  Bear  River. 

John  Trappett  worked  long  and  hard  to  assist  in 
the  construction  of  the  Last  Chance  Canal,  and  was 

one  of  the  three  men  who  made  the  first  filing  on 

the  water.  This  was  done  on  March  4,  1897.  The 

other  two  men  were  D.  D.  Sullivan  and  George 
Stoddard.  He  also  served  as  first  water  master  for 

the  Last  Chance  Canal  and  was  the  man  who  nam- 
ed the  canal. 

He  built  a  nice,  large  home  and  raised  beautiful 

flower  and  vegetable  gardens:  he  also  had  an 
orchard  and  berries  of  all  kinds. 

He  traded  his  homestead  and  moved  to  Pleasant 

View,  Utah  for  six  years,  and  then  to  Ogden.  He 

later  returned  to  Grace  and  purchased  320  acres, 

north  of  the  Utah  Power  and  Light  Plant  on  Bear 
River.  He  lived  here  the  remainder  of  his  life,  where 

he  passed  away  on  Thanksgiving  Day,  November 
27,  1930. 

JOHN  RADMORE  TURNER  was  born  June 

16.  1850,  in  the  town  of  Devonshire,  England.  His 
father  was  William  Turner  and  his  mother  was 

Mary  Radmore  Turner. 
He  was  married  to  MARINTHA  DAVIS  on  the 

14th  day  of  November  1873.  She  died  following  the 

birth  of  their  first  son.  He  was  born  January  31, 
1875  and  was  named  William  J.  Turner.  He 

became  the  father  of  Bryce  Turner.  Marintha  died 

February  9th  of  the  same  year. 

John  Radmore  Turner  married  MARY  ANN 

BUTLER  on  the  27th  day  of  March,  1876  in  the 

Endowment  House  at  Salt  Lake  City.  Mary  Ann 
Butler  was  born  November  18,  1858  at  Kaysville, 
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Utah,  a  daughter  of  William  Butler  and  Hllen  Close 
Butler. 

In  May  or  June  of  1879.  .loe  Fowler.  Cliff 

Ste\'ens  and  John  hitched  a  team  and  came  to  Gen- 

tile Valley  to  .leppy  Folkmans'.  In  the  following 
paragraph  John  relates  how  he  and  his  family  settl- 

ed in  Gentile  Valley: 

"in  the  fall  of  1879  we  built  a  house  from  the  logs 
1  hauled  from  the  canyon.  On  the  tenth  day  of 

November  we  went  back  to  Ogden  w here  we  stayed 

with  Mary  Ann's  folks  until  spring.  1  worked  on  the 
railroad  during  that  winter.  On  April  3.  1880  we 

started  "home"  if  that  is  what  you  could  call  it.  It 
rained  all  the  time  until  we  arrived  in  Brigham.  Mr. 
James  Fowler  was  with  us.  When  we  arrived  at 

Deweyville  we  left  all  the  stock  we  had.  three  cows 

and  a  calf.  We  traveled  on  to  Collingston  and  there 

stopped  for  a  night.  There  a  "white  colored  man" 
hollered  down  to  us  just  before  we  were  about  to 

cross  a  big  snow  drift  which  would  have  thrown  us 

down  in  a  gulch  about  fifty  feet  deep.  The  man  was 

a  Negro  herding  sheep.  We  camped  there  that  night 
and  the  man  asked  if  we  had  food  with  us.  We  had 

run  out  of  provisions  and  we  told  him  so.  He  told  us 

to  help  ourselves  but  I  said  "no,  but  he  could  help 

us"  which  he  did.  We  left  in  the  morning  and  cross- 
ed the  divide  and  left  our  load  in  Cache  Valley.  We 

journeyed  on  until  we  got  about  half-way  to 
Smithfield.  where  we  got  stuck  in  the  mud  and  had 

to  hire  a  man  to  come  and  pull  us  out.  We  went 
from  Smithfield  to  Richmond  and  then  on  to 

Franklin  and  arrived  at  Williams  Heads,  northeast 

of  Preston.  We  camped  there  tor  the  night.  We  left 

everything  we  had  had  with  us  but  ourselves  and 

horses  at  his  place.  We  crossed  Bear  River  at 

Riverdale.  then  went  on  up  through  Treasureton 

and  over  the  divide.  When  we  got  on  this  side  of  the 

divide  we  followed  the  mail  route  down  the  ridge 

through  four  to  Hve  feet  of  snow.  The  horses  could 

not  carry  us  so  we  had  to  walk  and  lead  them.  We 

landed  at  the  foot  of  the  hill  where  James  Fowler 

undertook  to  cross  a  stream  of  water  that  was 

frozen  over  with  ice.  I  went  across  on  a  horse  and 

was  more  fortunate  there  than  I  was  later,  where  I 

picked  out  a  crossing  place  that  was  not  as  good  as 

I  anticipated.  My  horse  went  in  all  over  and  1  had 

to  throw  the  child  I  was  carrying  in  order  to  save 

her  life.  My  wife  had  better  luck  than  we.  for  when 

she  crossed  she  didn"l  get  wet.  She  had  the  other 

two  children.  It  was  now  after  sundown  and  pretty 

cold  so  we  jogged  along  afoot  to  keep  from  freez- 
ing. We  went  by  way  of  Big  Butte  on  Cottonwood 

and  down  to  James  Baughn's  home  where  we 
stayed  that  night.  We  left  the  next  morning  and 
landed  home  w  ithoul  an\  further  misfortune.  When 

we  got  there  the  things  we  had  left  there  had  been 

taken  or  destroyed  by  rats." While  in  the  valley  they  had  a  family  of  fourteen, 

not  including  his  first  son  who  was  born  to  his  first 

wife  but  whom  Mary  .Ann  raised.  Out  of  the 

number,  five  died  in  early  childhood.  The  other 
children  were:  William  J.  Turner.  Merintha  Turner 

Hansen.  Joseph  Richard  Turner.  .Annie  May 

Turner  Thomas.  .Amie  .Althora  Turner  Campbell, 

■Agnes  Turner  Mendenhall.  George  .Albert  Turner, 

Heber  Edwin  Turner.  .Alma  Turner.  Henry  R. 

Turner.  Leroy  Victor  Turner. 
John  Radmore  Turner  died  October  31.  1932. 

Mar\  Ann  died  on  February  27.  1938.  During  her 
lifetime  she  waited  on  and  took  care  of  1 500  babies 

and  their  mothers  and  never  lost  a  mother  or  babv. 

ARIE  K.  VANDENAKKER  was  born  in 

Naalwyk,  Holland  to  Johannes  and  Peterje  Bysen 
VandenAkker  on  March  2.  1870.  His  father 

prospered  in  Haalwyk  with  his  transportation 

business,  and  .Arie  helped  his  father  and  attended 

school  until  he  was  fourteen  years  of  age.  With  the 

introduction  of  a  tramway  coupled  with  a  series  of 

business  misfortunes.  .Arie's  father  discontinued  his 
transportation  business  and  moved  to  a  farm  in 

Appledorn.  Holland. 

In  Appledorn,  Arie  had  to  quit  school  and  he 

went  to  work  delivering  such  items  as  coal,  oil,  and 

bread.  Later  he  got  a  job  in  a  drug  store  as  appren- 
tice. 

Arie  was  the  last  of  his  family  to  join  the  L.D.S. 

Church  and  the  first  to  leave  for  Zion.  The  trip 

across  the  ocean  was  rough  and  many  passengers 

became  ill.  The  training  he  received  while  working 

in  ihc  drugstore  pro\ed  to  be  most  \aluable  in 

assisting  them. 

After  arriving  in  .America  he  went  to  Ogden. 
Utah  where  he  met  his  wife  to  be.  ALBERDEINA 

W.ASSEl'R  in  an  immigrant  train.  He  then  went  to 

Smithfield.  and  Petersburg.  Utah  where  he  worked 

for  $100  a  year.  1-rom  his  savings  he  sent  for  his 
brother.   The  two   then   wiirked   until   lhe\    saved 
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enough  to  bring  another  family  member  over  and 
then  the  three  would  work  until  they  saved  enough 
to  bring  still  another.  They  continued  in  this 

manner  until  the  entire  family  was  able  to  move  to 
Utah. 

Arie,  his  wife,  and  three  children  came  to  Grace. 

February  1st,  1902  and  homesteaded  a  farm  four 

miles  northwest  of  Grace.  Sagebrush  had  to  be 
cleared  and  the  ground  prepared.  The  first  crop  of 

grain  yielded  only  five  hundred  bushels.  The  butter 

from  six  cows  was  sold  for  twenty-five  cents  a 
pound  in  Soda  Springs  which  was  the  closest  store. 
During  this  period  the  family  suffered  difficult 
hardships. 

Later  Arie.  or  A.  K.  as  he  became  known  among 

his  friends,  moved  his  family  to  Grace  so  that  some 
of  his  children  could  go  to  high  school.  A.  K. 
became  the  mail  carrier  and  delivered  mail  in  the 

area  for  twenty-two  years.  He  had  the  mail  con- 
tract from  Alexander  to  Lago  which  required  him 

to  meet  two  trains  daily.  Often  times,  in  order  to 
meet  the  train  in  Alexander  in  the  winter,  A.  K. 

would  have  to  make  part  of  the  journey  on  snow- 
shoes  as  the  horses  were  unable  to  make  it  through 
the  heavy  snow. 

With  his  team  and  two-wheeled  cart  A.  K. 
became  the  first  mail  carrier  for  Rural  Route  No. 

1  which  eliminated  some  of  the  post  offices  in  the 
area. 

He  later  purchased  an  automobile  which  he 

drove  for  years  without  an  accident.  One  day, 
however,  while  on  business  at  the  dam  north  of 

Grace  he  either  forgot  to  put  on  the  hand  brake  or 
it  had  slipped,  and  he  came  back  just  in  time  to  see 
his  cherished  Model  T  roll  into  the  Bear  River 
above  the  dam. 

A.  K.  served  as  Justice  of  the  Peace  and  many 
juveniles  received  some  good  lectures  for  their 
follies.  He  also  served  as  a  director  for  the  West 

Lateral  Canal  Co.  The  father  of  nine  children.  Arie 

K.  VandenAkker  died  May  4.  1946  at  the  age  of 

seventy-six.  His  children's  names  are  Nellie,  Coba, 
Katherine.  John.  Joe.  Ira.  Henry.  Allida.  and 
Leonard. 

Alberdiean  Wasseur  Van  denAkker  was  born  in 

Gronegen.  Holland,  on  July  16.  1869.  the  daughter 
of  Joseph  and  Jacoba  Springer  Wasseur. 

In  the  year  of  1891  on  the  25th  day  of  February 
in  the  Rhine  River,  ice  had  to  be  chopped  away  for 
her  baptism  with  Elder  Mets  and  Elder  Van  Dam 

and  Elder  Heartys  of  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  of- ficiating. 

In  March  1895.  Alberdiean  and  her  parents,  who 

had  joined  the  church,  headed  for  the  good  old 
U.S.A.  and  arrived  in  Ogden,  Utah  on  April  8, 

1895.  Among  those  in  the  same  company  were  Mr. 
and  Mrs.  Andrew  Roghaar  and  their  children  of 
which  one  was  John  Roghaar  who  had  a  store  in 
Grace,  Idaho  later,  and  Janie,  who  became  Alber- 

diean's  sister-in-law. 

As  various  companies  of  converts  came  in  from 
Holland  continually,  some  of  the  saints  of  Ogden 

were  delegated  to  meet  each  group.  So  in  the  year 
of  1897,  when  another  company  came  in  by  train, 

she  was  among  those  that  met  it.  And  special  it 
was,  as  on  that  train  one  of  the  converts  was  Arie 
Van  DenAkker,  whom  she  met  for  the  first  time 

and  of  course,  this  turned  out  to  be  the  man  she 

married.  The  wedding  took  place  on  June  22,  1898 
in  the  L.D.S.  Temple  in  Logan.  Utah. 

At  the  end  of  five  years  in  Smithfield,  Utah,  they 
decided  to  get  something  of  their  own.  So  on 

February  1.  1902,  with  their  brood  of  three 
children,  they  headed  out  in  a  covered  sleigh  for 

Gentile  Valley,  later  known  as  Gem  Valley.  Arriving 
in  Grace  after  a  two  day  trip,  stopping  at  Grandma 

Mustard's  place  over  night,  later  known  as  the  Sant 
place  in  Treasureton,  Idaho,  they  located  on  a 
ranch  four  miles  west  of  Grace.  They  took  up  a 

homestead  living  in  a  room  sixteen  by  sixteen  feet 
in  size.  They  lived  the  first  winter  on  $25.00  in  cash 
and.  of  course,  six  pigs  in  the  barrel  (cured  meat). 

Many  nights  she  stayed  up  till  two  o'clock  in  the 
morning  making  over  used  clothing  for  her  family. 

They  owned  eight  cows  and  had  to  take  their  butter 

to  Soda  Springs,  receiving  only  twelve  cents  a 
pound  in  trade.  It  took  all  day  to  make  the  trip.  The 
children  stayed  at  home  as  there  were  too  many  to 

get  in  the  rig  or  sleigh,  and  their  reward  was  a  big 
sack  of  candy. 

They  moved  to  town  permanently  in  1918.  She 
assisted  many  families  who  were  ill  with  the  bad  flu 

epidemic.  Many  died,  but  she  never  contracted  it. 
She  also  assisted  her  husband  with  the  mail  and 

passenger  business,  taking  telephone  calls  from 
people  who  wished  to  catch  the  train  at  Alexander. 
She  was  the  mother  of  nine  children  and  raised 

them  all  to  maturity.  Only  one  had  a  broken  bone. 

She  worked  in  the  Relief  Society  since  making 
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her  home  in  town,  serving  as  sewing  supervisor, 
block  teacher,  and  also  block  teacher  supervisor. 
She  received  two  pins  for  the  longest  period  of 

teaching  in  the  Grace  Second  Ward  Relief  Society. 
She  was  also  awarded  a  certificate  in  1944  for  the 

outstanding  mother  in  Caribou  County.  She  was 

given  a  red  sweater  for  being  oldest  in  the  county 
and  was  given  the  honor  of  cutting  the  ribbon  for 
the  opening  of  the  new  Blocks  Store  in  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho. 
She  died  November  3,  1965  and  was  buried  in  the 

Grace  cemetery  on  November  6,  1965.  She  was  96 
years  and  four  months  old. 

An  unusual  medical  technique  occurred  in 

Turner,  Idaho  in  the  early  days  of  this  valley. 
CORNELIUS  VAN  DENAKKER  became  violent- 

ly ill  and  Doctor  Ellis  Kackley  of  Soda  Springs  was 
summoned  to  this  home.  He  diagnosed  the  case  as 

an  acute  case  of  appendicitis  in  danger  of  rupturing 
immediately.  So  on  the  kitchen  table  he  was  placed 
and  by  the  light  of  a  coal  oil  lamp,  the  operation 

took  place.  His  wife  MIRNEN  VAN  DENAKKER 
who  was  a  school  teacher  in  Grace,  and  his  brother 

Ira.  were  the  doctor's  assistants.  He  survived  the 
ordeal  nicely  and  lived  to  work  on  his  farm  which 
he  homesteaded  about  1903. 

He  sold  his  farm  in  April  of  1913  and  moved  to 

Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  where  he  joined  the  firm  of  a 

detective  and  guard  organization  and  was  made 
vice  president  and  general  manager  of  the  same. 

On  June  10,  1913  he  was  on  shift  taking  one  of 

the  guard's  place  who  had  other  plans,  when  he 
noticed  a  robber  trying  to  get  in  the  upper  window 

of  the  Armstrong  home,  and  in  trying  to  capture 
him,  his  gun  stuck  or  caught  in  his  pocket  and 
another  one  of  the  gang  shot  him  in  the  back.  He 
walked  a  few  steps  across  the  lawn  and  collapsed. 
Death  was  instant. 

He  was  born  in  Holland  in  1879  and  came  to 

Ogden,  Utah  as  a  convert  to  the  L.D.S.  Church  and 
from  there  he  went  to  Smithfield,  Utah  to  help  his 
brother  Ira  (Arie),  on  the  farm  that  they  later  had 
rented. 

Later  they  both  came  to  Idaho  where  they  both 
settled,  one  in  Turner,  and  Arie  further  east  on  the 
borderline  called  Grace. 

Cornelius  had  no  children,  but  had  two  foster 

children  which  they  had  never  adopted  before  his 

death.  After  his  death  they  went  to  another  relative 
and  his  wife  had  to  teach  and  work  otherwise. 

JOHAN  (JOE)  VAN  DENAKKER  was  born  on 

November  12,  1882  in  Naltwyke,  South  Holland  to 
Johannes  and  Petertje  Bysen  Van  denAkker,  the 

youngest  of  their  six  living  sons. 

He  came  to  the  United  States  as  a  boy  and  land- 
ed in  Ogden,  Utah  and  then  to  Smithfield,  Utah 

joining  his  parents  and  sister  on  the  ranch  his 

brother  Arie  (Ira)  leased  from  Orson  Smith.  In  Oc- 
tober of  1909,  he  became  an  American  citizen  in 

Logan,  Utah. 
He  came  to  Grace  and  helped  his  brother,  Ira, 

build  his  sixteen  by  sixteen  foot  home,  and  later  he 
and  his  brother,  Cornelius,  followed  suit  and 
homesteaded  west  of  Grace. 

He  married  JANIE  ROGHAAR  on  March  4, 

1908  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple  and  then  came  to  the 

homestead  to  live.  He  was  co-owner  with  his 

brother-in-law,  John  Roghaar,  in  starting  the  se- 
cond store  on  the  main  street  of  Grace.  It  was 

known  as  the  Intermountain  Merc.  He  later  sold 

his  interest  to  his  brother-in-law,  John. 
In  1914  he  sold  his  farm  to  Fred  Cooper  and  he 

and  his  family  moved  to  town  and  lived  in  the  home 
now  occupied  by  Ezra  Hollingsworth.  He  sold  this 

particular  house  to  George  Walters  and  moved 

back  to  Ogden,  Utah  with  his  wife  and  two  sons. 
John  Peter  and  Andrew.  One  daughter.  Evelyn 
Jane  was  born  to  them  in  Ogden.  Utah. 

When  the  terrible  flu  epidemic  hit.  he  was  one  of 

the  first  to  get  it.  He  went  to  work  as  a  machinist  at 
the  railroad  one  morning  not  feeling  good  and  the 

next  day  he  had  pneumonia  and  died.  October  14. 
1918. 

He  had  a  beautiful  voice  and  sang  solos  at 

funerals,  churches  and  civic  clubs  both  in  Grace 
and  also  in  Ogden. 

In  the  humble  home  at  17  Arapaho  Street  on  the 

28th  day  of  January  1890  in  Denver,  Colorado, 

JOHN  ORSON  VAN  VLEET  was  born  to  Cum- 
mings  Vanalla  and  Alice  EInora  Van  VIcet.  being 

their  first  child.  He  weighted  8':  pounds  at  birth 

and  at  the  age  of  eight  months  he  still  weighed  8': 
pounds  due  to  spinal  meningitis.  Johnnie  had  most 
of  the  childhood  diseases.  He  attended  school  at 
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John  and  Elda  Van  VIeet 

Lafayette  Grade  School  to  the  fourth  grade.  When 

nine  years  old  he  had  to  quit  school  and  work  for  a 

coal  mining  company  in  Tabasco,  Colorado  as  a 

water  boy  for  45  men. 

When  his  father  died  leaving  six  children,  they 

moved  back  to  the  mountains  to  Evergreen, 

Colorado,  to  a  lumber  camp.  His  mother  married 

Charles  Burns.  John  worked  at  the  sawmill  cutting 

saw  logs  with  his  stepfather  for  five  dollars  per  day 
for  the  two  of  them. 

At  one  time  they  had  scarlet  fever  and  had  to 

fumigate  the  house  with  sulphur,  burning  it  on  hot 

coals.  Johnny's  mother  went  into  the  house  too 
soon,  causing  her  to  have  heart  trouble.  They  had 

to  leave  the  country  and  by  wagon  because  of  his 

mother's  illness.  The  doctor  told  them  that  if  they 
were  to  take  a  train  the  sudden  change  would  kill 
her. 

They  crossed  the  Rocky  Mountain  Divide  in 

June,  but  they  ran  into  a  snow  drift  fourteen  feet 

deep.  They  went  on  to  Breckenridge,  Colorado 

where  they  ran  out  of  funds  and  had  to  trade  a  large 

team  and  wagon  for  a  smaller  team  and  fifty 
dollars. 

While  at  Cokeville,  Wyoming,  it  was  on  the 

Fourth  of  July  and  Johnny  was  around  twelve  years 

old,  when  Alex  Hill  came  to  their  camp.  He  was  in 
the  lumber  business  and  had  a  stock  ranch  in 

Strawberry  Valley  above  the  lumber  mill,  so  they 

followed  him  to  his  ranch  in  Wellsville,  Utah.  They 

worked  there  for  a  year  and  a  half,  then  they  moved 

to  Scare  Canyon  above  Paradise.  They  moved  from 

place  to  place  for  timber.  John  attended  school  for 
about  three  months  at  Wellsville  from  the  4th  to 

6th  grades,  and  that  was  all  the  schooling  he  had. 

The  Grace  Dam  was  being  constructed  so  the 

lumber  company  furnished  the  logs  for  the  Grace 

Dam  between  1907  and  1908.  This  is  where  Johnny 

met  ELDA  BURTON.  Johnny  then  worked  for  a 

sawmill  at  the  Beaver  Dam  for  John  AUsop. 

In  the  winter  of  1909  and  1910  he  worked  for 

Denzil  Poulsen  at  a  sawmill  in  Bancroft.  In 

January  it  had  rained  about  two  weeks  causing  a 
thaw  and  all  of  the  hollows  of  the  road  filled  with 

water.  As  he  was  going  to  work  at  the  sawmill  this 

one  time,  the  water  came  up  to  the  horse's  stomach. 
The  horse  slipped  on  the  ice  under  the  water  and 

Johnny  fell  in  and  nearly  drowned.  There  was  a 
team  of  horses  drowned  in  the  hollow  of  the  road 

near  the  Grace  cemetery. 

On  September  1,  1910  he  married  Elda  Burton. 

They  homesteaded  the  ranch  by  the  river  above 
Grace  until  1912.  It  was  at  this  home  that  Howard 

and  Frederick  were  born.  Johnny's  stepfather  and 
his  mother  lived  on  the  ranch  while  Johnny  and 

Elda  moved  to  the  Rube  Egbert  place  in  a  log 

house  there.  While  there  Osro  was  born  on  October 

17,  1914.  Elnora  was  born  on  September  12,  1916, 
Melba  was  born  on  June  12.  1918  and  Donald  was 

born  on  April  14,  1920. 

In  1922  their  oldest  son,  Howard,  drowned  in  the 

river  so  they  decided  to  move  to  town. 

Johnny  worked  for  the  Utah  Power  and  Light 

Company  for  a  while,  laying  poles  from  the  plant  in 

Grace  nearly  to  Logan.  It  was  the  first  high  tension 

line  to  go  out.  He  worked  for  Geroge  Tanner. 

He  then  worked  for  George  Allsop  on  the 

highway  after  they  moved  to  town.  They  built  the 
road  from  Grace  to  Treasureton  and  out  to  Lund 

until  he  started  working  for  the  city. 

Johnny  started  working  for  the  city  on  the  15th 

of  April.  He  was  also  chief  of  police  during  that 
time. 

During  the  time  he  worked  for  the  city,  they  built 

a  new  reservoir,  the  city  well,  and  covered  the 

springs  in  the  canyons  with  cement  covering  about 
six  miles. 

During  this  time  he  was  also  marshal.  One  time 

a  fellow  threw  a  rock  through  the  show  house  win- 

dow and  when  he  was  caught  they  had  to  take  him 

to  the  asylum  in  Blackfoot.  Sometimes  in  the  mid- 

dle  of  the   night   they   would   take   prisoners  to 
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Pocatello  lo  ihc  nearest  jail  when  (irace  belonged 

to  Bannock  County. 

He  also  cleaned  the  streets  and  took  care  of  the 

garbage.  On  the  17th  of  March,  1947,  he  was  tak- 

ing a  load  of  dirt  to  the  Black  Canyon  Dump  that  is 

sixty  feet  down.  The  truck  started  moving  and  he 

tried  to  stop  it  and  went  down  with  it.  The  truck 

landed  on  him  and  a  spring  went  through  his  back 

breaking  a  vertebrae.  He  climbed  out  taking  four 

hours  to  get  where  someone  could  pick  him  up  to 

take  him  to  the  hospital.  Johnny  was  there  for  thir- 
teen weeks. 

Johnny  and  Elda  had  three  more  childen  born 

while  living  in  town.  Izola  Ruth  was  born  on 

September  27.  1925.  Loyal  was  born  on  December 

I.  1932.  and  Rex  was  born  on  April  3.  1935.  He 

only  lived  a  few  hours. 

On  September  1.  1960  they  celebrated  their 

Golden  Wedding  Anniversary.  All  of  the  family 

was  there  except  Loyal  who  was  serving  in  the  Air 

Force  in  Hampton.  Virginia. 

On  May  31.  1963  Elda  died. 

In  1963  Johnny  was  presented  with  a  34  year  pin 

and  a  desk  and  pen  set  from  the  Idaho  Peace  Of- 
ficers Association. 

On  the  2nd  of  June,  1965.  he  was  sealed  to  his 

wife  and  family  in  the  Logan  Temple  and  also  to  his 

father  and  mother  the  same  day.  He  enjoyed  the 
work  in  the  church. 

John  Van  Vleet  retired  December  I.  1969  after 

serving  in  all  departments. 

He  died  March  15.  1970  in  Phoenix,  Arizona  of 

pneumonia.  The  Grace  City  dedicated  the  city  park 

the  ''John  Van  Vleet  Park"  and  a  special  service 
was  conducted  and  a  monument  was  unveiled  with 

a  plaque  attached  which  read:  "John  Van  Vleet 
Park,  named  in  appreciation  for  an  outstanding 

citizen  who  devoted  40  years  of  his  life  to  the  better- 

ment of  the  City  of  Grace."  This  was  done  in  Oc- 
tober of  1970. 

Llda  Maud  Burton  Van  Vleet  was  born  April  14. 

1893  in  Kaysville.  Utah  to  Fred  D.  Burton  and 

Mary  Donal  Bruce  Burton. 

The  Burton  family  moved  to  Grace  when  only 

three  families  were  here.  The  Sam  Egberts  .  Don 

Jermans,  and  Kirkhams.  Maud  attended  school 

here  at  Cirace  and  completed  eight  grades,  having 

only  one  teacher  for  all  the  students  in  all  eight 

grades. 

She  met  and  married  John  Van  Vleet  September 

1.  1910  at  Pocatello.  Idaho.  They  had  five  boys  and 

three  girls:  Howard,  Fred.  Osro.  Donald,  and 

Loyal.  Elnora.  Melba.  and  Ruth.  One  son  died  at 
birth. 

Maud  related  many  interesting  experiences  in 

her  youth,  especially  about  the  wild  animals  and  the 
Indians  that  visited  them.  She  with  her  two  sisters 

Annie  and  Janet  entertained  the  people  with  their 

singing.  Maud  Elda  always  had  a  good  table  set  for 

any  and  everyone  who  visited  them. 
Albert  Van  Vleet  made  his  home  with  Elda  and 

John  until  the  time  he  went  to  war  in  1918.  He  was 

the  first  Grace  boy  to  lose  his  life  in  the  First  World 

War  and  the  American  Legion  named  the  Post  the 
Albert  Van  Vleet  Post. 

Maud  Elda  died  May  31.  1963  after  an  opera- 
tion. She  is  buried  in  the  Grace  Cemeterv. 

ORANGE  HORATIO  WARNER  was  the  son  of 

Orange  Warner  and  Delilah  Robinson.  He  was 

born  the  29th  of  March,  1847  at  Montrose,  Iowa 

just  across  the  river  from  Nauvoo,  Illinois. 

Orange  met  LOVINA  STEWART  in  the 

summer  of  1872  and  they  were  married  on  the  25th 

of  November  1872.  To  this  union  were  born  eight 

children;  Nina,  who  married  William  Bentley. 

Cora,  who  married  J.  Fred  Potter:  Bellva  who 

married  Benjamin  Hughes:  Eunice  who  married 

Morgan  Chambers;  Lyie,  who  married  John  A. 

Tanner;  Madie,  who  married  George  Bowen;  Dean, 

who  married  William  Chambers  and  Wayne,  who 
married  Hattie  Gray. 

Lovina  died  in  1889  of  heart  trouble. 

On  the  14th  of  June  1893  Orange  married 

WILHELMINA  ELIZABETH  (MAMIE) 

CARLSON  of  Salem,  Utah  in  the  Endowment 

House  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  Three  children 
were  born  to  them  while  in  Utah:  Eva.  William 

Carlson,  and  Dorus  K.  About  this  time  Orange  was 

summering  his  sheep  in  Idaho  and  he  decided  to 

move  his  family  there.  The  first  two  years  he  made 

his  home  in  Mound  Valley  near  his  daughter  I  vie. 
While  there  Charlotte  was  born. 

In  1903  Orange  bought  200  acres  of  school  land 

north  of  the  Bear  River,  in  the  locality  which  was 

later  known  as  Grace,  Idaho.  There  was  a  saloon 

and  grocery  store  on  the  Bear  River  run  by  Q.  R. 

Pack.  Orange  moved  his  famih  near  his  daughter. 
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Cora,  who  lived  only  a  short  distance  from  where 

he  had  bought  the  school  land.  This  land  was 
covered  with  sagebrush.  Wayne  was  then  a  young 

man,  and  he  and  Orange  plowed  the  ground,  while 
Mamie  and  the  children  pulled  the  sagebrush,  piled 

it  up  and  burned  it.  They  had  to  build  a  house, 
barn,  corrals,  and  dig  ditches  to  carry  water  to  the 
land. 

When  Chris  Poulsen  was  made  bishop  he  asked 
Orange  to  be  his  first  counselor  and  Charley 
Ashbaker  to  be  his  second  counselor.  During  the 
time  he  had  this  position  Anita  was  born  in  the 
midst  of  a  snow  storm.  A  midwife  delivered  Anita 

and  stayed  three  or  four  days  taking  care  of  the 
family.  She  was  paid  five  dollars. 

Orange  was  called  to  the  High  Council  of  Ban- 
nock Stake.  At  times  he  drove  a  horse  and  buggy  as 

far  as  Grays  Lake  to  keep  his  appointments. 
In  the  winter  of  1934  Orange  became  ill  and 

passed  away  on  the  25th  of  February. 

HARRY  AUGUST  WESTENFELDER  married 

IRENE  SULLIVAN  February  19,  1908  in 

Pocatello,  Idaho.  The  marriage  was  later  solem- 
nized in  the  Logan,  Utah  Temple.  Harry  was  the 

eldest  of  six  children,  and  was  born  January  25, 

1886  at  Colorado  Springs,  Colorado  to  Harry 
Charles  and  Elizabeth  Westenfelder.  At  the  age  of 
nine  months  the  family  moved  to  Buffalo,  New 

York.  As  a  young  man  he  came  west  again  and  was 
employed  by  a  Mr.  Nunn  at  Telluride,  Colorado  on 
construction.  He  came  to  Grace,  Idaho  with  Mr. 

Nunn  to  build  the  pipeline,  power  plant  dam,  which 

was  later  owned  by  the  Utah  Power  and  Light 
Company. 

At  the  completion  of  this  job,  he  was  transferred 
to  Provo,  Utah;  Irene  lived  in  Salt  Lake  during  this 
time.  Harry  was  transferred  back  by  Mr.  Nunn, 
and  was  put  in  as  Dam  Foreman  at  the  Grace  Dam. 

He  held  this  position  for  47  years.  At  his  retire- 
ment, Harry  and  Irene  moved  into  a  new  home  they 

had  built  in  Grace.  Harry  was  a  charter  member  of 
the  Grace  Lions  Club,  a  member  of  the  Masonic 

Lodge  of  Soda  Springs,  Idaho  and  was  active  in 
civic  and  community  affairs.  Harry  died  on  March 
13,  1962. 

Four  boys  were  born  to  this  union,  of  which  only 
one  survived.  Chadwick  Frank,  of  Pocatello, 
Idaho.  David  and  Lewis  died  from  illness  and 

Frederick  Allan  was  missing  in  a  combat  over 

Guam,  in  the  World  War  II.  He  was  a  Marine. 
Irene  Sullivan  was  born  to  David  DoUeen  and 

Caroline  Clarissa  Sullivan  April  21,  1891,  at 

Mound  Valley,  Idaho.  She  was  the  twelfth  child  in 
a  family  of  thirteen.  She  moved  with  her  parents  to 

what  is  Grace,  Idaho  in  June  1893.  They 
homesteaded  on  the  north  bank  of  the  Bear  River, 

and  like  all  early  settlers  had  some  rough  times. 

Their  family  was  a  close  family,  so  they  had  en- 
joyable times  too.  Schools  and  churches  were 

erected  in  the  valley,  and  this  was  where  Irene 
received  her  education  and  religious  training.  She 

spent  a  lot  of  her  time,  as  a  young  girl,  with  her 

sister  Gladys  (Joy),  herding  cows,  milking  and  ten- 

ding chickens.  She  loved  to  ride  horses.  Irene's 
parents'  home  was  always  open  to  travelers,  and 
she  was  taught  early  the  arts  of  being  a  good  cook 
and  homemaker.  There  was  always  a  bite  to  eat  and 

a  bed  for  any  one  who  chanced  to  stop — a  trait 
Irene  has  carried  with  her  throughout  her  life. 
Everyone  was  made  welcome,  fed  and  bedded  if 

necessary.  Irene  was  talented  in  the  arts  of 
crocheting,  knitting  and  the  like.  Her  home  bore 
evidence  of  this. 

Irene  was  active  in  the  American  Legion  Aux- 
iliary, worked  as  a  Primary  teacher,  in  the  Relief 

Society,  and  was  a  member  of  the  Mount  Sherman 
D.U.P.  She  spent  her  entire  life  in  the  valley. 

PETER  AUGUST  WESTERBERG  was  born  in 

Sweden,  October  16,  1877.  ANNIE  BERQUIST 

was  born  July  27,  1884.  They  were  married  and 
moved  to  Bench,  Idaho  in  1919.  Esther  Pauline  was 

born  in  Bench  where  they  stayed  for  about  five 

years.  They  then  moved  on  a  farm  at  Niter.  Idaho, 
where  they  lived  for  eighteen  years.  Mr. 

Westerberg  also  ran  a  milk  route  along  with  his 
farm.  The  family  members  all  worked  in  the 
church.  Peter  was  in  the  bishopric,  Ferd  was  ward 

clerk,  and  Wendell  was  superintendent  of  the  Sun- 
day School. 

After  Wendell  was  killed,  Peter  couldn't  run  his 
place  alone,  so  he  sold  his  farm  to  Ferd.  Peter  and 
Annie  then  moved  to  town  where  they  had  bought  a 
home.  Esther  lived  with  them  until  her  father  died, 

December  24,  1947;  she  then  took  care  of  her 

mother  until  she  passed  away,  February  10,  1966. 

Peter  and  Annie  had  the  following  children:  Fer- 
dinand, Wendell.  Adolph  Dean.  Selda  Virginia, 

Caroline  Pernilla,  Delora.  and  Esther  Pauline. 
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Mary  Ann  White 

BARNARD  JOHN  WHITE  son  of  Barnard  and 

Elizabeth  Ann  (Walters)  White,  was  born  on 

December  17,  1862  at  Avon,  now  Paradise,  Cache 

County,  Utah. 
He  married  MARY  ANN  NELSON  on 

December  14,  1882  at  the  Salt  Lake  City  Endow- 
ment House. 

Mary  Ann  Nelson,  daughter  of  David  George 

and  Jeanetta  (Kay)  Nelson,  was  born  on  July  25, 

1865  at  Ogden,  Weber  Co.,  Utah.  Her  father  was  a 

very  industrious,  prosperous,  religious  man.  Her 

father  was  killed  in  an  accident  when  Mary  Ann 

was  seven  years  old.  In  order  to  help  her  widowed 

mother,  she  picked  fruit  and  helped  to  tend 
children. 

After  Barnard's  and  Mary  Ann's  marriage  they 
built  a  new  home  at  Ogden,  Utah  and  resided  there 

until  the  spring  of  1885  when  they  moved  to  Gentile 

Valley  in  a  wagon  with  two  children.  They  traveled 

through  Rocky  Canyon  with  James  Willard  Hub- 
bard and  family,  helping  each  other  to  clear  the 

rocks  away  so  they  could  get  through.  It  took  them 

one  full  day. 

Many  times  Mary  Ann  became  very  frightened 
when  the  Indians  came  down  over  the  hills  on  a 

Pow-Wow.  They  would  hang  quilts  over  the  win- 
dows at  night.  They  also  had  wood  doors  on  hinges 

to  close  in  over  the  windows  at  night  and  a  long  bar 
across  them  in  case  the  Indians  would  attack.  No 

light  was  used  in  the  humble  little  home  after  dark. 

They  had  bunk  beds  on  the  wall.  A  long  bar  was 

placed  across  the  door  for  safety.  The  days  were 

long  for  Mary  Ann  with  her  two  small  children  and 

living  in  the  hills;  her  nearest  neighbor  (Mrs. 

Hoopes)  being  about  one  mile  awav  and  her  hus- 

band, Barnard,  at  work  on  his  ranch  all  day. 

In  1884  Barnard  bought  160  acres  of  land  from 

John  Sullivan  at  Cleveland,  now  known  as 

Thatcher.  Here  he  spent  one  year  before  moving  his 

family.  It  joined  the  Hoopes  Ranch  on  the  south 

and  the  Nielson  on  the  north.  He  added  upon  these 
acres  which  is  now  the  Junior  White  ranch. 

When  they  built  their  home,  Mary  Ann  was  very 

diligent  in  beautifying  it.  She  decorated  it  with  the 

beautiful  furniture  that  had  arrived  from  Ogden. 

Although  the  logs  on  the  inside  of  the  house  were 

bare,  Mary  Ann  and  Barnard  brushed  the  logs  and 

ceiling  with  white  clay  taken  from  a  hill  in  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho.  This  clay  was  made  into  a  thin 

paste  and  was  brushed  on  to  the  walls  and  when 

dry,  it  made  the  walls  nice  and  white  and  clean. 

Later  the  walls  were  brushed  with  lime.  Mary  Ann 

saved  the  worn  out  clothing,  and  a  time  was  set  to 

get  together  with  the  neighbors  and  tear  and  sew 

the  material  to  get  it  woven  into  carpet  by  Sarena 

Folkman.  It  was  the  same  way  for  quilt  making. 

This  was  part  of  their  social  life  in  those  days.  They 

grew  very  fond  of  each  other. 

Mary  Ann  and  Barnard  suffered  hardships  as  did 

other  pioneers  of  their  time.  Provisions  were 

carefully  bought  and  set  aside  to  take  care  of  the 

family  for  months  at  a  time.  The  nearest  store  to 

the  north  was  at  Soda  Springs  and  the  nearest  store 
to  the  south  was  at  Preston,  Idaho.  Later,  a  store 

was  located  near  the  Horace  Wright  ranch  at 
Mound  Valley. 

Mary  Ann  was  a  good  seamstress  and  she  made 

everything  that  was  needed  in  the  clothing  line.  She 

was  also  a  fine  housekeeper  and  an  excellent  cook. 

They  had  schooled  themselves  to  meet  any  situa- 
tion. They  were  their  own  doctors  and  nurses.  In 

those  days  herbs  were  steeped  and  used  for 
medicine. 

Barnard's  Holstein  and  Hereford  cattle,  to  his 
knowledge,  were  the  first  registered  cattle  in 
Southeastern  Idaho.  Later  he  became  the  owner  of 

fine  horses  such  as  Clysdale.  Hamiltonians,  French 

Coach  and  Cleveland  Bays. 

Barnard  took  pride  and  joy  in  fine  horses  and 

was  asked  by  the  stake  president  of  Bannock  Stake, 

Lewis  Pond,  to  meet  the  church  authorities  from 

Salt  Lake  City,  at  Oxford  most  of  the  time,  as  his 

buggy  and  horses  were  always  ready  and  good looking. 
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In  1891  Barnard,  at  an  enormous  expense,  flum- 
ed  part  of  Trout  Creek  across  Bear  River  to  his 
ranch  on  the  west  side.  That  side  of  the  river  was 

not  being  watered  as  well  as  that  on  the  east  side. 

Barnard  built  a  "Community  Creamery,"  which 
he  owned  and  operated.  His  eldest  son,  George, 
made  the  butter  which  was  made  from  the  cream 

brought  in  from  the  various  farms.  In  this  same 

building,  blocks  of  ice  were  stored  in  sawdust  to  be 
used  for  packing  the  butter  which  was  hauled  by 

team  and  wagon  to  Oxford,  Idaho  to  be  shipped  by 
train  to  H.  L.  Griffin  and  Co.,  at  Ogden,  Utah.  The 
ice  was  sawed  by  hand  from  frozen  Bear  River 

every  winter. 
The  first  grain  threshers  were  operated  by  horses 

going  in  a  circle.  Later  steam  power  engines  took 
their  place. 

Barnard  helped  to  build  several  church  buildings 
and  he  donated  toward  the  welfare  of  the  poor.  He 
also  held  various  church  positions.  He  also  worked 

on  election  boards.  He  always  took  an  active  part 
on  the  school  boards  and  was  a  commissioner  of 

road  building. 

Barnard  and  Mary  Ann  had  eight  children  born 
to  them  and  seven  survived.  They  are  Barnard 
George,  and  Mary  Jeanetta  (Nettie),  Loretia,  Elva, 

Loyal  Walters,  Genevieve,  Gladys  Marie, 
Elizabeth  Afton. 

Mary  Ann  spent  many  years  working  in  the 

Primary  organization.  In  1910  she  became  presi- 
dent of  Thatcher  Ward  Primary  and  in  1910  she 

was  sustained  as  president  of  Bannock  Stake 

Primary.  She  held  this  position  for  ten  years.  Her 
particular  work  in  Primary  in  her  time,  was  the 
organizing  of  new  Primaries. 

At  the  age  of  71  years,  Mary  Ann  died  at  their 
home  in  Ogden,  Utah  on  December  5,  1936  with  a 

heart  attack.  She  was  buried  in  the  Ogden  City 
Cemetery,  Ogden,  Utah. 

After  the  death  of  Mary  Ann,  Barnard  went  to 

Thatcher,  Idaho  to  live  with  his  daughter  and  son- 
in-law,  Elva  and  Letho  Pond.  He  made  that  his 
home  until  his  death  on  November  12,  1948,  at  the 

age  of  85  years.  Barnard  was  also  buried  in  the 

Ogden  Cemetery,  Ogden,  Utah. 

LOYAL  WHITE  was  born  October  10,  1896  at 

Thatcher,  Idaho,  a  son  of  Barnard  and  Mary  Ann 
(Mae)  Nelson  White. 

CLARA  WHITE  was  born  November  29,  1896, 

at  Butler,  Bates  County,  Missouri.  She  was  the 

daughter  of  Walker  and  Flora  Morgan. 

They  owned  and  operated  the  ranch  in 
Cleveland,  Idaho  until  their  retirement  in  1956. 

They  now  reside  in  Preston,  Idaho. 

Loyal  and  Clara  had  two  children.  Loyal  Jr.,  and 
Leah  Margaret. 

Blain  and  Delia  Whitehead 

FRANCIS  BLAIN  WHITEHEAD  was  born  Oc- 

tober 25,  1898  at  Millard,  Utah,  to  Frank  and  Emi- 
ly Peterson  Whitehead.  He  came  to  Bench  at  the 

age  of  14  and  has  made  his  home  here  since  that 
time.  He  attended  the  first  class  in  Grace  High 

School  and  was  first  captain  of  the  basketball  team. 

He  has  been  prominent  in  civic  affairs  as  well  as  his 
church,  having  served  in  the  bishopric  for  23  years. 
He  was  bishop  of  the  Williams  Ward  for  nine  years 
and  a  member  of  the  Bannock  Stake  Council,  also 
served  a  six  month  mission. 

ANNIE  DELLA  ALLSOP,  daughter  of  Reuben 
and  Annie  Olsen  Allsop,  was  born  in  Murray, 

Utah,  May  11,  1901.  She  came  to  Grace  when  11 
years  of  age.  She  has  been  president  of  the  Grace 
American  Legion  Auxiliary,  president  of  the 

Primary,  served  on  the  Stake  Relief  Society  Board, 

Secretary  of  the  Grace  Literary  Club,  and  has  been 

community  chairman  of  the  cancer  drive. 

Blain  and  Delia  were  married  August  19,  1919, 

in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple.  They  have  two  living 
children:  Nina  Taylor.  Bishop  Norval  Whitehead. 
One  son.  Aria,  died  in  1934. 

Blain  and  Delia  have  spent  their  lives  in  the  dairy 
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and  farming  business.  Her  hobbies  are  making 
quilts  and  working  in  the  church.  They  will  have 
been  married  58  years  this  August  (1977). 

Frank  and  Emily  Whitehead 

FRANCIS  (FRANK)  WHITEHEAD  was  born 

in  Richmond,  Utah,  November  26,  1875  to  Francis 
and  Jacosa  Jane  Robinson  Whitehead. 

EMILY  ANN  PETERSON  was  born  November 

4,  1875  in  Lehi,  Utah,  the  daughter  of  Neils 
Mathias  and  Mary  Elizabeth  Woodard  Peterson. 

Frank  and  Emily  were  living  in  Hinkley,  Utah 

when  they  met  and  married.  They  lived  there  about 
21  years,  and  then  they  moved  to  Bench,  Idaho 

where  Frank  bought  160  acres  from  Frank 
Christensen.  They  had  five  children  born  at 
Hinckley,  Utah:  Blaine,  Alvin  and  Melvin,  Earl, 
and  Lena.  Parnell  was  born  at  Bench,  Idaho. 

After  the  children  were  grown,  Frank  and  Emily 
moved  into  the  little  town  of  Grace.  Emily  served  in 
the  Grace  Ward  Relief  Society  when  Cora  Cooper 
was  President. 

Frank  died  September  17,  1954  and  Emily, 
November  21,  1969. 

BRIGHAM  WILLARD  WILLIAMS  was  born 

July  19,  1894  at  West  Portage,  Utah  to  John  and 
Margaret  Green  Williams.  He  was  the  fifth  child  in 

a  family  of  twelve  of  which  five  died  in  infancy  and 
childhood.  He  spent  his  early  childhood  on  the 
family  homestead  in  the  Ivins  area  and  moved  with 

his  family  in  1905  to  Grace  when  his  parents 
purchased  the  ranch  on  Bear  River  just  northwest 
of  Grace.  He  grew  up  on  the  ranch  and  received  his 

schooling  at  Grace.  He  was  drafted  for  service  in 
World  War  I  but  the  war  ended  before  he  could  be 

inducted.  He  married  EMILY  HARRIS  on  April 
1,  1914  at  Pocatello,  Idaho. 

Emily  was  born  July  18,  1895  at  Richmond, 
Utah  to  Casper  Whittle  and  Martina  Christensen 

Harris.  Harris's  home  at  that  time  was  in  Lago, 
Idaho.  They  lived  in  a  log  cabin  until  1905  when 

they  built  a  brick  home  which  at  the  time  of  writing 
is  owned  by  Duane  Bitton  and  occupied  by  Louis 
and  Nancy  Bitton.  Emily  attended  school  in  Lago 
and  Brigham  Young  Academy  at  Logan,  Utah.  In 
1912  and  1913  she  worked  as  a  sales  clerk  in  the 

Grace  Merc,  a  general  store,  owned  and  operated 
by  Sumner  Pond,  and  located  on  the  southwest  cor- 

ner of  the  intersection  of  Center  and  Main. 

After  their  marriage,  Willard  and  Emily  (Bill 
and  Em  to  friends)  made  their  home  on  the 

Williams  ranch  and  engaged  in  farming  with  his 

father,  John.  The  ranch  home  was  on  the  north 

bank  of  the  river,  three-fourths  of  a  mile  west  of  the 
present  river  bridge  on  Highway  34.  All  of  their 
nine  children  were  born  at  this  horne.  They  met  and 

survived  the  hardships  common  to  the  times, 

including  the  severe  depresssion  and  also  severe 

drought  conditions  of  the  1930's.  During  these 
"hard  times"  many  lost  their  farms  by  bankruptcy 

and  mortgage  foreclosures.  During  the  construc- 
tion of  the  Utah  Power  and  Light  installations  the 

Williams'  ranch  supplied  fresh  milk  for  the  camp  of 
the  Phoenix  Construction  Company,  contractors 

for  the  pipeline.  The  camp  was  on  the  south  side  of 
the  river  near  Grace.  The  milk  was  delivered  daily 

by  team  or  pack  horse. 

Starting  in  the  fall  of  1936  Willard  helped  es- 
tablish a  school  bus  route  to  serve  the  area  im- 

mediately north  and  west  of  Grace  and  was  the 

driver  for  two  years.  The  "bus"  was  teams  and 
covered  sleigh  in  winter  and  an  old  blue  bus, 

irreverently  dubbed  the  "galloping  goose"  by  the 
students.  Before  that  students  made  their  own  way 
to  school  on  foot,  horseback  or  by  team. 

Emily  and  Willard  were  active  in  community  and 
church  affairs.  Emily  was  converted  to  the  L.D.S. 

Church  and  in  1925  they  took  their  first  five 

children  to  the  Logan  Temple  for  Sealing  Or- 

dinances. The  trip  was  made  by  "white  top  buggy" 
to  Preston  and  then  by  train  to  Logan. 

Willard  passed  away  November  26,  1958  at  his 
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home  in  Grace,  after  which  Emily  spent  many 

winters  at  St.  George,  Utah  with  her  friends  doing 

temple  work,  and  at  the  time  of  this  writing  lives  in 
Burley,  Idaho. 

The  children  of  Willard  and  Emily  are  as  follows: 
Harris,  deceased  (1970);  Blain,  deceased  (1961); 
Grant,  Grace,  Idaho;  Alleen  Adams,  Sublett, 

Idaho;  Fae  Stoddard,  Burley,  Idaho;  Imogene  Nut- 
tall,  Glenns  Ferry,  Idaho;  Doulgas,  Spokane, 
Washington;  Lois  Beers,  Idaho  Falls,  Idaho; 

Marilyn  Glover,  Kansas  City,  Kansas. 
At  present  time.  Grant  owns  and  operates 

the  ranch,  to  which  has  been  added  the  homestead 

of  Roy  and  Elizabeth  Williams  Green  and  William 
and  Ellen  McLain  Perry.  The  children  of  Grant  and 
Ada  Williams  are  Margaret  Wooton.  Denver, 
Colorado;  Crae  (married  to  Carol  Young),  Grace; 

and  Scott,  presently  on  an  L.D.S.  mission  to  Ar- 
cadia, California. 

John  Williams Margaret  Williams 

JOHN  WILLIAMS  was  born  August  10,  1863 
at  Wellsville,  Utah  to  John  Jenkins  Williams  and 
Rebecca  Evans  Williams. 

He  married  MARGARET  ARMINA  GREEN, 

daughter  of  Thomas  Green  and  Ann  Clark  Green. 

She  was  born  May  24,  1866  at  Wellsville,  Utah. 
They  moved  from  Portage,  Utah  to  Southeastern 

Idaho  in  July  of  1895.  They  stayed  in  Bancroft  the 
first  winter.  The  following  spring  they  moved  to  an 

area  situated  about  half-way  between  Bancroft  and 
Soda  Springs  known  in  succeeding  years  as  Ten- 
Mile,  Sterrett,  and  Ivins  into  a  three-roomed  log 
house  he  had  built. 

They  arrived  in  Grace,  April  6,  1905  and  moved 

into  a  two-roomed  log  house  on  the  farm  they 
puchased  from  Joe  and  Lutie  Hansen.  It  was 
situated  a  short  distance  from  the  Bear  River  about 

one  mile  west  of  Grace  and  about  one-half  mile 

north  of  the  present  Grace-Turner  road.  At  that 
time  the  water  had  not  been  harnessed  by  the  dams 

for  electricity  and  it  was  a  mighty  river. 

Children  born  to  them  before  moving  to  Grace 

were:  John  Erwin,  Sarah  Margaret,  Annie  Isabelle, 

Mary  Elizabeth,  Brigham  Willard,  Jared  Alma, 
George  Clifford.  Ellen  Mildred,  and  Ralph  Elwin. 
Verona,  Lilith  Marie,  and  Amy  lola  were  born 

after  they  moved  to  Grace.  Thelma,  Erwin's 
daughter,  lived  with  them  much  of  the  time  after 
her  mother  died. 

In  the  summer  of  1913  they  bought  a  city  lot  and 

a  small  house  from  Earl  Gillett  and  spent  the  worst 

part  of  each  winter  there  in  the  following  years  until 
1932  when  the  farm  was  turned  over  to  their  son, 

Willard.  and  they  moved  into  town  permanently. 

Williard's  son.  Grant,  owns  the  farm  now. 
He  served  as  school  trustee  for  many  years  from 

as  early  as  1907  until  at  least  1916  while  it  was  still 

Independent  District  No.  35. 
He  served  as  President  of  the  Last  Chance  Canal 

Company  for  15  years,  from  1907  until  1922.  Dur- 
ing this  time  the  original  indebtedness  was  paid  off 

and  the  big  party  in  the  Columbia  Hall  was  held  in 
celebration  of  the  event.  In  November  1916  the 
Board  of  Directors  voted  to  build  a  tunnel  to 

replace  the  wooden  flume.  This  was  done  during  his 
term  of  office.  He  served  on  the  Board  of  Directors 

from  1929  until  1933  and  it  seemed  he  was  always 

affiliated  in  some  way  with  the  company.  Upon  the 

death  of  his  good  friend,  John  Gibbs,  in  1931  he 
took  his  place  as  Watermaster,  a  position  he  held 
until  his  death. 

His  wife  died  August  21,  1935  and  he  passed 

away  December  18,  1939  at  age  76  while  he  was  liv- 
ing with  his  daughter,  Mildred  Burton  in  Grace. 

Mary  Elizabeth  Green  of  Kaysville,  Utah  is  the 

only  surviving  child. 
A  RESOLUTION 

Whereas,  the  Last  Chance  Canal  Co.,  by  reason 

of  its  development  under  conditions  which  required 

the  services  of  men  who  were  possessed  with  an  in- 
clination and  special  ability  to  render  public  service 

of  high  order  and  under  adverse  circumstances,  and 
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whereas  John  Williams  has,  because  of  his  special 

qualifications  and  particular  adaptability,  had  very 
creditably  filled  positions  of  trust  and  responsibility 
in  the  administration  in  the  affairs  of  The  Last 

Chance  Canal  Co.,  having  acted  as  the  President 
for  a  number  of  years,  also  a  director  for  a  period 

of  years,  and  finally  as  Watermaster  until  the  time 

of  his  passing  on  December  18,  1939  and  whereas, 
on  account  of  his  pleasant  disposition  and  mild 
manner,  his  efficiency  in  the  execution  of  the  duties 

devolving  upon  him,  his  keen  sense  of  justice  and 
his  determination  to  administer  and  sustain  right 

and  justice  under  all  conditions,  he  has  endeared 
himself  to  the  stockholders  and  directors  of  The 

Last  Chance  Canal  Co.,  in  Annual  Meeting, 

assembled  hereby  pass  a  resolution  recognizing  the 
value  of  the  service  rendered  by  John  Williams, 

mourning  the  loss  of  the  same,  and  offering  our 

sympathy  and  condolence  to  his  family  and  those 
who  are  bereft  of  his  intimate  association.  Assuring 

them  that  we  feel  keenly  his  loss  and  know  that  they 

must  also,  and  have  this  resolution  spread  upon  the 
minutes  of  this  Stockholders  Meetings  in  order  that 
it  will  be  a  matter  of  record. 

Dated  this  the  4th  day  of  November  1940  A.  D. 

Robert  H.  Williams 

ROBERT  HANNA  WILLIAMS  was  born 

December  10,  1827  in  Carmi,  White  County, 
Illinois.  He  was  the  son  of  Aaron  Williams,  Jr.  and 

Mary  Hanna.  Very  little  is  known  about  his  early 
life,  but  it  was  probably  spent  on  the  farm  helping 
his  parents. 

He  joined  up  with  a  wagon  train  of  Mormon 
pioneers  migrating  to  Utah.  He  arrived  in  Salt 
Lake  City  in  the  year  1852. 

In  1854  he  met  HARRIET  BUSENBARK.  She 

had  crossed  the  plains  with  her  parents,  Isaac 
Busenbark  and  Abigail  Manning.  On  February  18, 
1854,  Robert  H.  Williams  and  Harriet  Busenbark 
were  married.  This  is  a  list  of  all  their  children: 

Robert  Hanna  Jr.,  Harriet  Permelia,  Aaron  Henry, 

Charles  Moroni,  Orson  P.,  Anna  Jane,  Mary 

Abigail,  John  Thomas,  Amy  Lucinda,  Mana 
Louise,  William  Wesley. 

In  1874  Bishop  Williams  and  family  were  called 

to  go  to  Mound  Valley,  Idaho,  later  called  Gentile 

Valley,  to  help  in  the  pioneering  of  that  part  of  the 
country.  After  he  arrived  there,  he  was  again  called 

to  preside  as  bishop  of  the  ward  which  was  called 
Mound  Valley  ward. 

Their  youngest  child,  William  Wesley,  was  born 
in  Mound  Valley. 

Bishop  Williams  engaged  in  tilling  the  soil  and 

raising  crops.  They  kept  fine  horses  and  other  farm 
animals,  such  as  sheep,  pigs,  and  chickens,  and 

everything  to  sustain  a  good  living  for  his  family. 

The  children  were  taught,  at  a  very  young  age,  to 

work  and  be  industrious.  As  the  parents  were 

orderly  and  particular,  the  work  must  be  done  well. 
This  trait  was  passed  on  to  the  grandchildren 

through  their  parents.  The  children  grew  up  in  this 

community  in  Gentile  Valley,  and  all,  except  Or- 
son, married.  He  remained  a  bachelor  all  his  life. 

The  oldest  son,  Robert  Hanna,  Jr.,  married  Bar- 
bara Bingham  and  they  raised  a  large  family.  They 

were  the  parents  of  Harriet  Hogan. 

Anna  Jane  married  Benjamin  Clegg. 

Mana  married  Alma  E.  Hubbard,  who  became 

the  bishop  of  his  ward.  They  raised  a  good  family. 

They  are  the  parents  of  Wesley,  Robert,  Delos.  and 
John  Hubbard. 

William,  the  youngest  of  the  family,  married 

Emma  Perry.  Edith  was  their  only  child. 

Bishop  Robert  Williams  presided  a  total  of  thirty 

years  as  a  bishop,  and  was  ordained  a  patriarch 

July  25,  1898  by  Heber  J.  Grant  and  William  W. 
Starret  of  Bannock  Stake. 

His  wife,  Harriet,  was  set  apart  as  the  first  Relief 

Society  president  in  Gentile  Valley. 

Robert  Hanna  Williams  suffered  a  stroke  and 

died  August  8.  1904  at  77  years  of  age.  Harriet  liv- 
ed until  May  14,  1908.  They  were  buried  in  the 

Logan  City  Cemetery. 
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Bea  and  Ellis  Wright 

ELLIS  WRIGHT,  son  of  Joseph  B.  Wright  and 

Mary  Ellis  Wright,  was  born  at  Franklin,  Idaho 
May  12,  1898.  He  was  married  to  BEATRICE 

SKINNER  MADSEN  at  Brigham  City,  Utah 
September  4,  1937.  Beatrice  was  the  daughter  of 

William  Henry  Skinner  and  Mary  Ann  Jensen 
Skinner.  They  were  early  settlers  of  Caribou  and 
Bear  Lake  Counties. 

Beatrice  (Bea)  was  one  of  the  nurses  at  the  old 

Caribou  County  Hospital  when  it  was  first  built. 

Bea's  father  was  the  mailman  from  Soda  Springs 
to  Henry.  She  remembers  driving  a  team  with  the 
mail  from  Soda  in  to  Henry  the  winter  of  1918  and 

1919.  She  would  meet  her  brother  at  Henry,  change 
teams,  and  they  would  then  turn  around  and  make 

the  return  trip  with  the  mail  from  Henry,  and 
Grays  Lake  to  Soda  Springs. 

Bea  and  Ellis  have  made  their  home  at  the  old 

Joe  Wright  place  all  of  their  married  life,  where 
they  continued  in  the  cattle  business.  Bea  and  Ellis 
built  a  new  home  in  1966  and  moved  from  the  old 

Wright  home.  It  is  still  standing  just  below  the  new 
home.  It  is  one  of  the  first  homes  built  in  the  valley. 

Bea  enjoys  handwork  of  all  kinds,  especially 
crocheting. 

LESLIE  WRIGHT  was  born  December  5,  1887 

at  Lago,  Idaho  to  William  B.  Wright  and  Rosanna 
Ellis.  He  passed  away  December  30,  1976  at  the 
Caribou  Memorial  Nursing  Home  in  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho. 
When  Leslie  was  young  he  rode  a  horse  to  school 

he  attended  in  Lago.  When  he  got  older  he  went  to 
Logan,  Utah  to  college  and  played  in  an  orchestra 

around  the  valley  with  several  other  people.  In  1910 
he  hauled  the  lumber  from  Bancroft  with  a  team 

and  wagon  so  he  could  build  his  home  before  he 
was  married.  He  married  FLORA  POND  on 

September  12,  1911.  She  died  on  September  30, 1969. 

Leslie  and  William  McGregor  canvassed  Mound 

Valley  to  get  money  to  pay  the  Utah  Power  and 
Light  Company,  so  that  they  would  put  the  power 
in  there.  He  was  also  a  school  trustee  for  nine  years 

and  clerk  for  eight  of  those  years.  He  was  secretary 

of  the  Gem  Valley  Cheese  Factory  from  its  begin- 
ning until  he  moved  to  Pocatello.  He  was  also  on 

the  Gem  Valley  Grain  Growers  Board  until  he 
moved  at  that  time  in  1947. 

While  in  Pocatello,  Leslie  couldn't  be  idle  so  the 
first  thing  he  did  was  look  for  a  job.  The  only  one 

he  could  find  at  first  was  being  a  caretaker  for  a 
section  of  the  cemetery  and  he  really  did  a  good 

job.  Later  he  sold  real  estate  and  insurance.  Next, 

he  got  a  job  in  the  Bannock  County  Drivers  License 
Bureau,  where  he  worked  for  Sheriff  Alma  Marley 
until  he  retired.  After  he  retired  he  still  kept  up  his 

own  yard.  It  was  indeed  one  of  the  most  beautiful 

yards  ever. About  that  time  Flora  passed  away,  and  after  a 
short  time  he  decided  the  house  was  too  big  for  him 
to  live  in  by  himself,  so  he  rented  it  out  to  a  former 

neighbor.  He  moved  into  a  room  in  the  Bannock 
Hotel  where  he  lived  alone  for  five  years. 

Just  before  Christmas  of  1975  he  got  phlebitis 

and  went  to  the  Caribou  Memorial  Hospital.  After 

the  phlebitis  subsided  he  decided  to  stay  at  the 
Caribou  Memorial  Nursing  Home  and  remained 
there  until  his  death. 

As  the  family  was  reminiscing  about  the  times 
they  drove  to  Pocatello  to  visit  their  grandparents, 

many  thoughts  arose  which  Marge  Wright 
assembled  as  a  tribute  to  their  grandfather  in  the 
following  poem. 

GRANDPA 

Who  was  this  man  with  cheery  smile  and  hair  of 

silver  grey,  who  came  to  stay  with  us  awhile,  but 
now  has  gone  away.  He  had  a  hearty,  jolly  laugh 
that  still  echoes  in  our  mind;  as  the  months  and 

years  go  by,  thoughts  of  him  we'll  not  leave  behind. 
He  had  patience  few  men  possess  as  he  grew  in  age 

each  year.  His  memory  was  keen,  as  he  reminisced 

and  talked,  though  he  couldn't  hear.  We'd  listen  as 
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he'd  speak  of  times  long  past,  of  the  folks  he  used 
to  know,  and  when  grandpa  drove  down  to  the 

store,  he'd  always  let  us  go.  While  in  our  youth  we 
romped  and  played  and  picked  our  grandpa's 
flowers,  and  anything  we  wanted  grandpa  soon 

changed  it  to  ours.  There  was  an  apple  cookie  jar 
that  sat  right  near  the  sink,  it  never  failed,  a  voice 

would  say,  "Who's  there,"  as  our  hands  went  o'er 
the  brink. 

No  matter  how  quiet  we  tried  to  be,  grandpa  or 
grandma  always  heard. 

They'd  know  where  we  were  and  what  we  were 

doing,  we'd  not  have  to  say  a  word. 
We'd  play  for  hours  in  the  birdbath  grandpa  had 

in  his  back  yard.  And  sometimes  Uncle  Russ  would 

come  with  Aunt  Blanche,  Karen,  Kathy  and  Card. 
Aunt  LaRue  and  Uncle  Stan  would  come,  with 

Jeff  and  Jim,  from  far  away.  We'd  wait  for  the  spr- 

ing, when  we'd  come  home  with  sweet  peas  grown 
in  May. 

Grandpa  would  carry  his  dish  to  the  sink  with  a 
limp  and  a  cane  in  each  hand. 

And  I  think  he  came  near  to  the  top  of  the  best 
granddads  in  the  land. 

Margo  A.  Wright 

JOSEPH  B.  WRIGHT  was  the  son  of  William 

T.  Wright  and  Ellen  Maria  Brown  Wright.  William 

T.  was  born  in  Scotland  on  September  15,  1831. 

When  he  was  past  six  years  of  age,  his  mother  died. 
His  father  married  again,  and  William  T.  grew  up 
in  Scotland.  He  married  ELLEN  MARIE 

BROWN  and  they  came  to  America  in  1856.  They 

were  members  of  a  Mormon  Company,  and  cross- 
ed the  plains  in  a  hand  cart  brigade  to  Salt  Lake 

City  that  same  year. 

They  lived  in  Salt  Lake  City  for  four  years  where 
their  first  two  children  were  born.  They  were  sent  to 

Franklin,  Idaho,  along  with  other  pioneer  families 

in  April,  I860.  This  part  of  Idaho  was  then  con- 
sidered part  of  Utah.  All  the  Bear  Lake  District 

had  been  colonized  in  Utah  beginning  in  1855. 

Joseph  B.  Wright  was  born  in  Franklin,  Idaho  on 
September  25,  1 862,  one  of  the  first  sons  to  be  born 
in  Franklin,  the  first  town  in  Idaho.  Sometime  after 

Joseph  was  born,  one  of  his  sisters,  Nellie,  got 

blood  poisoning  in  her  hand  and  arm.  Her  father 
consulted  the  Indian  Medicine  Man,  with  whom  he 

had  become  friendly,  and  asked  him  if  he  could 

help  Nellie.  The  Medicine  Man  came  everyday, 
made  poultices  and  applied  them  to  the  hand  and 
arm,  until  she  recovered.  The  agreement  with  the 
father  was  that  he  was  to  have  so  much  flour  and 

other  food  for  pay.  The  day  he  came  to  get  his  last 
payment,  William  T.  had  learned  that  the  soldiers 

were  coming  that  day  to  take  care  of  the  Indians. 
He  tried  to  get  the  Indian  to  stay  the  night,  until  the 
trouble  was  over,  but  he  said  he  had  to  go  back  and 

help.  That  day  the  soldiers  killed  every  Indian  in 
the  camp  except  a  small  boy  and  girl.  People 
thought  they  had  been  hidden  before  the  battle. 

Supposedly,  they  were  taken  and  raised  by  one  of 
the  families  in  Franklin.  Years  later,  the  Indian  boy 

came  to  teach  penmanship  at  the  Central  High 
School  at  Thatcher.  Ellis  Wright  was  one  of  his 

pupils. 
Joseph  and  his  brothers  and  sisters  attended 

school  in  Franklin,  and  when  he  grew  up  he 

married  Ella  Eastman.  They  left  for  Yellowstone 

Park,  where  the  first  year  he  drove  the  stage  coach. 

His  second  summer  he  was  selected  as  "barn 

foreman."  His  job  was  to  see  that  the  horses  were 
taken  care  of  and  the  harnesses  and  stage  coaches 

were  kept  in  good  repair.  While  Joseph  and  Ella 

were  here,  a  daughter  was  born  to  them.  They  nam- 
ed her  Lora.  Her  mother  died  at  her  birth  and  her 

grandmother  and  grandfather  Whittle  took  the 

baby  and  cared  for  her. 

Joseph  stayed  at  the  Park  for  seven  summers, 
and  he  worked  other  places  in  the  winter.  On  the 
27th  of  December,  1893  he  married  MARY  ELLIS 

of  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  They  came  to  Thatcher 
and  Joseph  filed  on  a  homestead  in  Lago.  Here  they 

lived  and  brought  little  Lora  to  live  with  them. 

It  was  during  these  years  that  Joseph's  father, 
William  T.,  came  up  to  thatcher  and  bought  the 
place  on  Trout  Creek  from  Bennetts.  Joseph  sold 
his  homestead  at  Lago,  and  bought  this  place  from 

his  father.  He  and  Mary  moved  here  to  live.  They 
had  two  sons,  Ellis,  born  May  12,  1898,  and 

Kenneth,  born  June  23,  1903.  Some  years  later  he 

built  a  two-story  frame  house,  and  for  a  number  of 
years  operated  a  road  house,  as  the  only  stopping 

place  for  travelers  between  Soda  Springs  and 
Preston.  His  wife  kept  the  house  and  cooked  for  all 

the  guests.  His  chief  business,  however,  through  the 

years,  had  been  cattle  raising  and  farming. 

Joseph  was  a  director  of  the  Grace  Bank  for 
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many  years.  For  eight  years  he  was  constable,  and 
was  one  of  the  main  people  who  helped  to  get  the 

high  school  built  in  Thatcher.  He  also  served  as 
trustee  for  many  years.  High  school  started  here  in 
1914. 

They  lived  on  there  and  Ellis  and  Ken  helped  run 

the  place.  Their  father,  Joseph,  helped  Ken  buy  a 

place  in  Thatcher  Ward.  Kenneth  married  Virginia 
Thatcher  and  they  lived  there  for  many  years.  Ellis 

bought  the  home  place  in  Thatcher  in  1931.  His 
mother,  Mary,  died  September  18,  1931.  Ellis  and 
his  father  lived  on  here,  and  Ellis  married  Beatrice 

Skinner  Madsen  on  September  4,  1937.  Joseph  liv- 
ed here  for  one  year,  then  he  built  a  home  in 

Preston,  Idaho  and  married  BESSIE  HYDE,  who 

had  been  housekeeper  for  him  and  Ellis  for  a  couple 

of  years  after  Mary  died. 
Joseph  died  following  a  stroke  in  1945. 

Annie  and  Adolph  Wyss 

ADOLPH  WYSS,  Grace,  recently  celebrated  his 

90th  birthday.  He  was  born  in  Hagadorf,  Soloden 
Canton,  Switzerland,  May  14,  1879  to  Adolph  and 
Elizabeth  Rueterly  Wyss. 

He  attended  school  through  the  eighth  grade  and 

at  the  age  of  15  was  apprenticed  to  a  blacksmith, 
where  he  worked  in  a  shop  from  10  to  12  hours  a 

day,  six  days  a  week.  Every  Sunday  morning  he  had 
to  go  to  a  mechanical  drawing  class  for  two  hours. 

At  eighteen,  he  completed  his  apprenticeship  and 
received  his  diploma  as  a  blacksmith.  His  mother 

gave  him  20  francs  and  he  took  off  with  his  pack  on 
his  back.  He  went  up  through  Germand,  Alsace, 

Bavaria,  Austria,  and  worked  in  a  shop  in  each 

place  to  learn  more  about  his  trade. 

When  he  was  24,  Adolph  was  working  in  a 

locomotive  plant  in  Winertor,  where  they  were 

making  the  first  electric  locomotives  made  in 
Europe  to  be  used  in  Switzerland.  At  this  time  he 
had  to  go  back  to  Switzerland  to  do  compulsory 

military  service. 

In  October  1906  his  mother  and  five  brothers 

emigrated  to  the  United  States  where  they  bought 
land  in  Howell  County,  Missouri. 

In  September  1910,  he  married  ANNA 
ZUMSTEIN  in  West  Plains,  Missouri.  They  came 
west  and  lived  in  the  Pueblo,  Colorado  area  until 

1913  when  they  came  with  a  construction  company 
to  Gentile  Valley. 

Mr.  Wyss  took  part  in  the  construction  of  the 
pipeline  at  Grace,  and  then  worked  on  the  pipeline 
at  the  Narrows. 

In  1916  he  bought  a  blacksmith  shop  from 

Charlie  Goldsberry.  They  also  bought  land  to  build 
a  home,  which  was  built  by  Quince  R.  Pack. 

In  1963  Mr.  Wyss  retired.  He  notes  that  the  first 

local  person  he  met  in  this  valley  was  Pete  Jensen, 
whose  son  Cy  Jensen,  also  lived  in  this  valley. 

Annie's  and  Adolph's  children  are:  Mrs.  Freda 
Gallant.  Anchorage,  Alaska,  Mrs.  Josephine 

Merwin,  Spokane,  Washington,  Mrs.  Betty  Lang, 
Roberts,  Idaho,  and  Gary  Wyss,  Grace,  Idaho. 

Annie,  as  everyone  spoke  of  her,  operated  the 

local  dairy  for  years,  making  deliveries  daily  in  all 
kinds  of  weather.  She  was  a  friend  to  all,  and  never 

was  a  family  denied  milk  if  they  were  in  need. 
Died  June  8,  1975. 
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Footsteps 

Not  only  to  those  first  settlers  who  grubbed  out  the  sage,  hand-plowed  the  land,  and  fought  to  get  the  water 
out,  do  we  owe  a  deep  debt  of  gratitude;  but  also,  to  those  who  followed  in  their  FOOTSTEPS  -  the  second  and 

third  generations.  They,  too,  labored  diligently  and  progressively  to  make  of  this  valley  the  rich  and  productive 
land  it  is  today.  Representative  of  this  group  are  the  biographies  which  follow: 

Naomi  and  Alma  J.  Adams 

ALMA  J.  ADAMS  was  born  May  19,  1909  at 

Layton,  Utah.  He  was  the  son  of  Andrew  and  An- 
nie Laura  Adams.  He  died  May  1 1,  1970  at  Grace, 

Idaho. 

NAOMI  BJORKMAN  was  born  to  Henry  and 
Sophia  Hansen  Bjorkman,  November  24,  1918  at 
Central,  Idaho. 

Alma  and  Naomi  were  married  January  12, 

1940,  solemnized  in  the  temple  January  24,  1955. 
Two  children  were  born  to  Alma  and  Naomi: 

Alma  Alease  Hayes  and  Karen  Panter. 
Alma  was  a  farmer  and  stockman.  He  raised 

sheep.  He  enjoyed  hunting,  and  fishing,  and  other 
sports.  He  played  basketball  all  4  years  in  high 
school.  He  attended  college  at  Rexburg  and  Logan 
and  lettered  at  both  schools. 

For  nine  years  he  was  counselor  in  the  Grace  Se- 
cond Ward  Bishopric.  He  served  on  the  board  of 

directors  for  the  Bench  Canal  for  17  years,  and  was 
a  board  member  for  the  Grace  School  District  for  9 

years. 
Naomi  crochets,  likes  to  cook,  and  is  a 

homemaker.    She    has    served    as    attendance 

secretary  in  the  mutual  for  the  Grace  Second  Ward 

for  14  years.  She  enjojs  being  a  Relief  Society 
visiting  teacher. 

EVAN  ADAMS  was  born  February  25,  1908  in 

Layton,  Utah  DOROTHY  CHRISTENSEN  was 

born  in  Grace,  Idaho  on  January  29,  1913.  Evan 
and  Dorothy  were  married  April  2,  1934  in  Grace, 
Idaho. 

They  are  both  retired;  Evan  from  farming  and 

Dorothy  from  teaching.  They  enjoy  fishing,  garden- 
ing, and  traveling. 

Their  children  are:  Von  and  Barry  Adams. 
Evan  attended  Ricks  College  for  one  year,  and 

Utah  State  University  for  two  years. 

Dorothy  attended  Idaho  State  University  for  two 
years,  receiving  a  B.A.  in  elementary  education. 
She  later  went  back  to  school,  and  received  a 

degree  in  secondary  education.  She  taught  in 
Cleveland,  Idaho  for  two  years,  and  the  Grace 

schools  for  16  years.  In  1965  they  moved  to  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho,  where  she  taught  English  in  the 

Dorothy  and  Evan  Adams 
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high  school  for  12  years,  retiring  in  1975. 
During  her  teaching,  she  sponsored  drill  teams 

for  22  years.  Her  teams  brought  many  honors  to 
the  schools. 

Glen  and  Mary  Allen 

GLEN  STANFORD  ALLEN  son  of  Francis  An- 
drew Allen  and  Faye  Hargraves  Stanford  Allen, 

was  born  January  12,  1913  at  Grace,  Idaho.  Glen 
attended  the  Grace  public  schools.  When  he  was  18, 
his  father  died.  Glen,  being  the  oldest  boy  at  home, 

quit  school  his  senior  year  to  assist  his  mother  and 
Uncle  Roy  in  operating  the  ranch  and  raising  and 

educating  his  younger  brothers  and  sisters.  Four  of 
his  brothers  were  serving  in  World  War  II,  so  it  was 

necessary  for  him  to  remain  on  the  ranch  to  con- 
tinue its  operation. 

Glen  was  active  in  4H  as  a  youth,  so  he  became  a 
leader  of  a  4H  Swine  Club.  He  also  helped 

organize,  and  worked  in  the  first  "Black  and 
White"  Day  Fair  and  County  Fairs. 

On  October  28,  1942  Glen  and  MARY  ALICE 

STILES,  daughter  of  Walter  D.  and  Pearl  Miller 
Stiles,  were  married  by  the  Reverend  Joseph 
Gullick  in  the  Idaho  Falls  Presbyterian  Church. 

They  lived  on  the  home  ranch  for  two  years,  mov- 
ing to  the  Fred  Olsen  ranch  in  1945,  which  they 

leased  for  two  years.  On  February  13,  1945,  their 
son  Larry  Glen  was  born  in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

In  the  spring  of  1947  they  moved  into  Grace  and 

operated  a  dry  farm  east  of  Grace  and  one  mile 
north  of  Soda  Springs.  In  October  of  1950  they 
purchased  and  moved  to  the  Ferd  Werterburg 
ranch  at  Niter,  where  they  still  reside. 

Their  daughter,  Jo  Ann  was  born  October  18, 
1951  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

For  many  years  they  had  dairy  cows  and  Duroc 
swine.  They  raised  hay  and  grain  and  later  seed 

potatoes.  About  1962  they  sold  the  dairy  cows  and 

purchased  Black  Angus  cattle.  They  now  have  an 
all  registered  Black  Angus  herd.  The  farm  of  620 

acres  with  320  being  converted  into  an  all  sprinkler 

irrigation  system,  with  a  new  home  and  farm 
buildings. 

Both  children  have  been  educated  in  the  Grace 

public  schools.  Larry  graduated  from  Boise  Junior 
College  in  1965  in    welding   technology.  Jo  Ann 
in  1974  in  food  science, 
in  1974  in  Food  Science. 

They  have  been  an  active  4H  family.  Glen  and 

Mary  both  being  leaders,  serving  on  the  Caribou 
County  4H  Council,  and  assisting  at  the  County 
Fair.  Larry  and  Jo  Ann  had  many  years  of  4H, 

completing  many  projects  and  winning  many  coun- 
ty awards.  Larry  won  the  State  Dairy  Award  and 

attended  the  National  4H  Club  Congress  at 

Chicago  in  November  1961.  Jo  Ann  won  the  State 
Veterinary  Science  Award.  They  were  both  leaders 
and  received  two  4H  College  Scholarships  each. 

The  family  was  always  active  in  church.  Glen  and 

Mary  are  ordained  Elders  in  the  Presbyterian 
Church  at  Soda  Springs,  and  taught  Sunday  School 

for  many  years,  and  served  in  other  capacities. 

Mary  served  as  President  of  the  Womens  Associa- 
tion and  attended  the  National  U.P.W.O.  meeting 

as  a  delegate  from  Kendall  Presbyterial  in  1970. 

Glen  is  a  director  of  three  principal  irrigation 

canal  companies  in  his  area.  He  has  served  as  a 
director  of  the  Portneuf  Soil  Conservation  District, 
Past  President  of  the  Grace  Lions  Club.  He  is  a 

member  of  the  Idaho  Cattleman  Association,  and 

Idaho  Angus  Association.  His  hobbies  are  building 

and  improving  the  ranch  and  traveling,  when  time 

permits. Mary  attended  grade  school  at  Conda,  graduated 

from  Soda  Springs  High  School  and  attended  the 
University  of  Idaho  Southern  Branch  at  Pocatello. 
She  has  been  a  member  of  the  Grace  Literary  Club, 
past  Noble  Grand  of  Leah  Rebecah  Lodge  #28, 

member  of  Caribou  County  Homemakers  Exten- 

sion Council,  the  Caribou  Regional  Planning 

Commission,  officer  of  the  Mount  Cow  Belles,  and 
member  of  the  Idaho  Angus  Auxiliary. 
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ALBERT  ALLSOP  was  born  March  26,  1901  in 
Grace,  Idaho  EMILY  RAE  CORBETT  ALLSOP 

was  born  February  21,  1899  in  Smithfield,  Utah. 

They  were  married  January  2,  1925  in  Pocatello, 
Idaho. 

Emily  has  enjoyed  being  a  homemaker  and 
Albert  has  been  a  carpenter.  They  enjoy  music,  art, 
working  in  genealogy,  and  reading. 

Their  children  are:  Harold  Corbett  Allsop, 
Gerald  Monte  Allsop.  John  Lionel  Allsop,  Evelyn 

Anne  Allsop  Dalton,  and  Sheila  Mary  Allsop 
Whitworth. 

Dee  L.  Andreasen Etheleen  Andreasen 

DEE  L.  ANDREASEN  was  born  July  3,  1916,  to 

Roy  Casper  and  Lula  Larsen  Andreasen,  at 
Cleveland,  Idaho.  He  attended  the  Rose  Hill 

Wilson  Elementary  School  on  the  divide  and  in 
Cleveland  for  his  first  eight  grades.  He  graduated 
from  the  Thatcher  High  School  in  1935.  Dee 

attended  college  in  Logan  before  going  on  an 
L.D.S.  Mission  to  the  Central  States  in  February, 
1937.  While  on  his  mission  he  served  as  District 
President  of  the  Missouri  District. 

Dee  and  ETHELEEN  LLOYD  were  married  in 

the  Salt  Lake  Temple  on  October  4,  1939.  Etheleen 
had  filled  a  mission  to  the  Eastern  States  during  the 
time  Dee  was  on  his  mission. 

He  has  served  as  Aaronic  Priesthood  Ward 

Secretary  and  has  worked  with  thirty  boys  in  this 

position.  He  was  Elders  Quorum  President,  Gospel 
Doctrine  Teacher,  Scout  Master  and  Ward 

Chorister  for  five  years.  Dee  served  as  a  counselor 
to  President  Milton  F.  Hartvigsen  in  the  Bannock 

Stake  and  then  was  privileged  to  serve  as  the  Stake 
President. 

Dee  was  Chairman  of  the  Bannock  and  Bear 

Lake  Welfare  Regions.  He  loved  the  youth  and  has 
been  associated  with  the  Boy  Scouts  of  America. 

He  served  as  Tendoy  Council  Vice  President  and 
Board  member  for  25  years.  He  received  the  Silver 
Beaver  Award. 

Dee's  occupation  has  been  farming,  and  they  still 
live  in  the  home  where  they  started  after  marriage. 
He  also  worked  as  an  insurance  agent. 

Etheleen  Lloyd  Andreasen  was  born  February 
27,  1917,  at  Wellsville,  Utah,  to  Henry  H.  Lloyd 

and  Maud  Hall  Lloyd. She  was  the  second  child  of 
eleven  children,  eight  of  whom  are  living  and  all 
reside  in  the  Grace  area. 

She  attended  school  up  to  the  fourth  grade  at 

Central,  Idaho.  They  then  moved  to  Utah  and  she 
finished  school  at  South  Cache  in  Hyrum.  They 
moved  back  to  Grace  in  1935,  and  she  worked  for 

the  Bell  Telephone  Company  and  Bishop  John 

Roghaar. 
Etheleen  served  a  mission  in  the  Eastern  States 

Mission  for  twenty  months.  She  participated  in  two 
Hill  Cumorah  Pageants. 

Dee  and  Etheleen  have  six  children:  LeGrand,  L. 

Reid  (deceased),  Bart,  Bonne,  Shuana  and  Mark. 
Etheleen  has  been  privileged  to  hold  many 

positions  in  the  Church,  both  in  the  Stake  and 

Ward.  They  enjoy  farming,  gardening,  house  keep- 
ing and  visiting  the  wonderful  people  of  the  Grace 

community. 

Owen  L.  Andreasen Jessis  T.  Andreasen 

OWEN  LAVOR  ANDREASEN  was  born  at 

Cleveland,  Idaho  May  21,  1908  to  Roy  Casper  and 
Lula  Larsen  Andreasen. 
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JESSIE  TURNER  was  born  at  Thatcher,  Idaho 

August  30,  1911,  daughter  of  William  and  Susan 

Stephenson  Turner. 
Owen  and  Jessie  were  married  May  22,  1935  in 

the  Logan  Temple  at  Logan,  Utah. 

They  are  the  parents  of  four  children:  Val  Gene, 
Jay  L..  Sherell  Ann  Raymond,  and  Susan  Janene 
Marcum. 

Owen  has  been  engaged  in  farming  and  his  hob- 
bies are  fishing,  basketball  and  all  sports. 

Jessie  is  a  homemaker,  and  likes  painting,  art, 
and  rock  collecting. 

CHARLES  FREEMAN  ASHBAKER  was  born 

27  January  1902  in  Thatcher.  Idaho.  He  was  the 
first  child  of  Charles  and  Esther  Peterson 

Ashbaker.  The  following  year  his  parents 
homesteaded  a  piece  of  land  west  and  south  of 
Grace  where  they  lived  and  raised  a  family  of  eight 

daughters  and  four  sons.  It  was  here  that  Freeman 

spent  his  growing-up  years  and  helped  on  the  farm 
until  he  completed  high  school. 

From  early  childhood  he  liked  to  fish  and  hunt. 

Many  special  hours  were  spent  with  his  father 
fishing  in  Black  Canyon  and  hunting  grouse  in  the 
west  hills. 

Most  of  his  high  school  years  he  lived  with  Fred 
Greenwood  in  his  apartment  in  the  elementary 

school  building.  He  helped  Fred  with  the  custodian 

work  for  his  room  and  board.  Living  in  town  gave 
him  an  opportunity  to  play  basketball  on  the  high 
school  team. 

After  graduating  he  had  the  opportunity  to  go  on 
a  mission  for  the  Church  to  the  Western  States 

Mission.  This  mission  was  a  great  influence 
throughout  the  rest  of  his  life. 

Freeman  spent  most  of  his  summers  helping  on 
the  farm  and  working  for  the  power  company. 

Several  years  later  he  worked  as  an  operator  at  the 
Grace  plant. 

Soon  after  returning  from  his  mission  he  enrolled 

in  college  at  Logan,  Utah.  He  graduated  in  1931. 

While  at  college  he  met  lONE  DUNN  and  they 
were  married  11  December  1931  in  the  Logan 
Temple.  He  started  teaching  in  the  Grace  School 

District  in  1932  and  taught  for  the  next  ten  years. 

This  didn't  seem  to  be  what  he  wanted  to  spend  the 
rest  of  his  life  doing,  so  he  went  to  work  for  Utah 

Power  and  Light  Company,  and  also  bought  80 

acres  of  farm  land  and  farmed  as  a  hobby. 

Freeman  was  always  active  in  the  Church  serving 
in  the  various  organizations  in  both  ward  and  stake. 
Some  of  these  were:  Stake  High  Council,  Stake 

Ward  Teaching  Supervisor,  Stake  Sunday  School 

Superintendency,  ward  clerk,  and  worker  in  the 
M.I. A.. 

He  served  as  secretary  of  the  Grace  Lions  Club 
and  was  a  member  of  the  Theater  Board. 

lone  was  born  in  Brigham  City  to  Oscar  S.  and 
Letitia  Dunn.  She  taught  school  before  and  after 
she  and  Freeman  were  married.  Her  great  musical 

talent  was  appreciated  and  used  in  the  community, 
schools,  and  L.D.S.  Church  at  Grace.  She  was 

always  by  Freeman's  side. Three  children  were  born  to  this  union.  Louan, 

Charles  Kent,  and  Linda  Rae.  They  are  Freeman 

and  lone's  pride  and  joy. 
He  died  22  February,  1962  in  the  Preston 

hospital  of  a  heart  attack  at  the  age  of  sixty. 

LLOYD  WELDON  ASHBAKER  was  born  July 
24,  1911  at  Grace,  Idaho. 
MILDRED  ANNIE  CORBETT  was  born 

November  9,  1911  at  Smithfield,  Utah. 

Married  April  21,  1934  at  Logan, Utah.  En- 
dowments were  solemnized  in  the  Logan  Temple 

August  2,  1955.  Born  to  this  union  were  two  boys: 
Phillip  Neil  Ashbaker,  and  Craig  L.  Ashbaker 

(deceased). 
In  our  first  years  of  marriage,  Lloyd  worked  on 

my  father's  farm  while  I  taught  in  the  Turner 
School.  In  1938  we  purchased  the  Charles 
Ashbaker  farm  where  we  lived  and  operated  the 

farm.  I  continued  teaching  at  the  Telluride  School. 

Lloyd  passed  away  on  March  3,  1951  after  which  I 
moved  to  Grace  and  continued  teaching  in  the 
Grace  Schools. 

The  Christmas  of  1955  Craig  passed  away.  I 
enrolled  in  school  at  Idaho  State  in  September 

1956  to  receive  my  degree  in  education.  I  returned 
and  continued  my  teaching  career,  teaching  in 

Grace,  Soda  Springs,  and  Idaho  Falls,  for  a  total  of 

twenty-four  years  in  all. 
Over  the  years  I  have  served  as  teacher  and 

chorister  in  the  Primary,  teacher  and  coordinator 

in  Sunday  School,  chorister  and  Cultural  Refine- 
ment teacher  in  the  Relief  Society. 

Retirement  has  brought  many  enjoyable  times  of 
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cooking,  sewing,  quilling,  gardening,  and  fishing 
with  family  and  friends. 

LLOYD  THOMAS  BENNETT  was  born  in 

Lago,  Idaho  on  September  5,  1906. 
LILA  WEAVER  BENNETT  was  born  in 

Cokeville,  Wyoming  on  June  17,  1912.  They  were 
married  April  3,  1929  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple. 

Lloyd  has  worked  as  a  farmer,  church  custodian, 

and  bus  driver.  Lyla  enjoys  sewing,  making  quilts 
and  painting.  Lloyd  helps  tie  quilts  and  cuts  blocks. 

Lloyd  and  Lyla  had  the  following  children:  Lloyd 
Orlen,  Lila  Ladene,  LaMoine  W.,  Linda  Lee. 

Valero  Bennett Beatrice  R.  Bennett 

VALERO  BENNETT  life-time  resident  of  Gem 

Valley,  was  born  in  Perry  (Mound  Valley),  Idaho, 
on  December  17,  1911,  to  Ephraim  A.  Bennett  and 
Elva  Ann  Seamons  Bennett  the  fifth  child  in  a 

family  of  ten  children. 

Valero  received  his  early  schooling  in  Mound 
Valley  and  graduated  from  Thatcher  High  School. 
He  has  been  engaged  in  farming  and  dairying 
throughout  his  life. 

On  September  26,  1934,  he  was  married  to 
BEATRICE  ROBINSON  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 
She  was  born  on  December  30,  1915  in  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho  to  Fred  and  Ethel  Robinson.  Valero 

and  Beatrice  are  parents  of  two  sons:  Fred,  born 
September  6,  1935  and  Gary,  born  January  23, 
1937. 

Valero  served  as  president  of  the  Gem  Valley 

Dairymen's  Association  for  3  years  and  was  a 
member  of  the  executive  board  of  the  Cache  Valley 

Dairymen's  Association  for  approximately  10 

years. He  served  as  a  member  of  the  Mound  Valley 

Bishopric  for  a  short  time  and  later,  after  moving 
to  Grace,  was  counselor  to  Bishop  John  V.  Kirby 
for  5  years.  He  also  served  on  the  Bannock  Stake 

M.I. A.  Board,  was  president  of  the  Stake  Elders 

Quorum,  and  a  member  of  the  High  Council.  He 

was  active  in  Scouting  for  30  years  and  is  an  Eagle 
Scout.  In  1958  he  received  the  Silver  Beaver 

Award,  the  highest  honor  given  in  District Scouting. 

Beatrice  served  in  the  presidency  of  the  Grace 

Ward  Primary  for  over  20  years.  She  also  served  as 
a  Sunday  School  teacher  for  many  years  and  was  a 
counselor  in  the  Grace  Ward  Relief  Society 
Presidency  for  five  years. 

Valero  is  now  retired  and  he  and  his  wife  still 
reside  in  Grace. 

GLADYS  HOLSTEN  HUNTER  BURTON  was 

born  November  24,  1915,  to  Lucy  Monroe  Martin 
and  Charles  Gustav  Holsten  at  Central,  Idaho.  She 

attended  elementary  and  two  years  of  high  school 

in  Central,  graduating  from  elementary  school  in 

May  1929. 
Since  there  were  no  school  buses  at  that  time, 

she  went  to  school  her  junior  year  in  Oakley,  Idaho. 

She  lived  with  her  sister  and  brother-in-law,  Lola 
and  Grant  Gibson.  Grant  was  the  AG  teacher 
there. 

The  next  year  Elaine  Lloyd  and  Gladys  rented  an 

apartment  in  Grace.  She  finished  her  senior  year 

and  graduated  in  May  1933.  In  1934  Gladys  attend- 
ed the  Exceleis  Beauty  College  in  Salt  Lake  City, 

Utah.  She  received  her  diploma  that  same  year, 

and  operated  and  managed  the  Lava  Beauty  Salon 
in  Lava  Hot  Springs,  Idaho  for  two  years. 

Gladys  married  HAROLD  WESLEY  HUNTER 
on  November  11,  1936  in  Twin  Falls,  Idaho.  Here 

they  lived  for  three  years.  During  this  time  she 
worked  in  the  Perine  Hotel  beauty  salon  and  the 

Craford  beauty  salon.  She  remembers  giving  sham- 
poo and  sets  for  $.50  and  permanents  for  $1 .50.  and 

only  receiving  50  percent  commission. 
In  1939  they  moved  back  to  (iracc.  v\hen  Harold 

purchased  the  Bartlome  Blacksmith  shop  here.  He 
built   this  business   into  what  was  known  as  the 
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Hunter  Implement  and  Welding  Shop.  He  became 
dealer  for  John  Deere  farm  implements  in  1940. 

They  moved  in  their  present  home  17  East  1st 
South  in  1946.  They  have  four  children:  Roger  K., 
Harold  Russell,  Kathleen  (Kathy)  and  Robert 
Mitchel. 

In  1958,  due  to  Harold's  failing  health,  she  con- 
verted the  front  of  her  home  into  a  Beauty  Salon, 

known  as  Gladys'. 
Harold  passed  away  May  20,  1965  of  coronary 

thrombosis,  while  he  was  installing  an  irrigation 

system  in  Nephi.  Utah. 

Gladys  continued  to  operate  the  beauty  salon. 
These  years  she  served  in  the  shop  were  very  happy 
and  rewarding  years. 

On  June  5,  1967  she  married  RULON  LOYAL 

BURTON,  in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  In  1976  she 
decided  to  retire,  and  in  October  of  that  year  sold 

the  shop  to  Ireta  Mickelson  of  Bancroft,  Idaho.  It 

is  now  known  as  Ireta's  Beauty  Salon. 
During  the  years  Gladys  operated  her  shop  she 

employed  21  different  operators.  She  loved  her 
association  with  them,  and  with  all  the  wonderful 

ladies  of  this  valley,  whom  it  was  her  pleasure  to 
serve. 

Lloyd  and  Netahlia  Burton 

JAMES  LLOYD  BURTON  was  born  at  Grace, 

Idaho,  March  23,  1909,  a  son  of  Frederic  and  Mary 
Donald  Bruce  Burton. 

NETAHLIA  PETERSON  was  born  at  Lago, 
Idaho  March  18,  1914,  daughter  of  Nephi  and  Ida 
Hubbard  Peterson. 

Lloyd  and  Netahlia  were  married  April  14,  1933 

at  Logan,  Utah.  Later  solemnized  in  the  Logan 

Temple,  June  2,  1965.  They  have  four  children: 
Clarence  Dale,  Steven  Kay,  Larry  Dean,  and 

Jerelyn  Marie. 

Lloyd  has  been  a  rancher  and  farmer.  His  hob- 
bies were  hunting  and  fishing.  He  belonged  to  the 

Caribou  County  Mounted  Posse,  had  different  ap- 

pointments in  the  Caribou  County  Fair,  raised  cat- 
tle, potatoes,  hay,  and  grain.  Lloyd  was  a  director 

of  the  Bannock  County  Dairy  Association  for 

about  eight  years.  He  was  also  secretary  of  the 
Y.M.M.I.A.  for  several  years.  He  retired  in  1972 

because  of  ill  health.  He  died  of  a  Coronary  Occlu- 
sion April  17,  1976.  He  was  an  Elder  in  the  church 

at  the  time  of  his  death. 

Netahlia's  hobbies  are  sewing,  knitting, 
needlepoint,  gardening,  and  bowling.  She  is  a 
housewife  and  mother.  She  has  held  positions  in  all 
the  auxiliaries  of  the  church,  also  P.T.A.  work  for 

several  years.  She  is  a  charter  member  of  the  Grace 
Literary  Club. 

ROBERT  J.  BURTON  was  born  in  Grace, 

Idaho,  June  15,  1901,  the  son  of  Fred  and  Mary 
Bruce  Burton. 

HELEN  EGBERT  was  born  in  Fairview,  Idaho, 

March  24,  1908. 
Robert  and  Helen  were  married  in  the  Salt  Lake 

Temple  on  January  23,  1929. 
They  have  the  following  children:  Betty  Mae 

Stevens,  Robert  E.,  Barbara  Johnson,  James  Earl, 

and  Elaine  Carter.  At  this  time  they  have  twenty- 

one  grandchildren. 

Robert's  occupation  had  been  ranching  until 
1969.  They  are  now  retired  and  live  in  Grace, 
Idaho. 

Robert  was  counselor  in  the  Second  Ward 

M.I. A.  with  William  Warner,  counselor  in  the  Sun- 
day School,  High  Priest  group  leader  for  18  years 

and  a  home  teacher  for  40  years.  Rob  likes  to  fish 
and  hunt.  He  has  lived  in  the  valley  all  of  his  life. 

Grandmother  AUsop  was  his  God  Mother. 
Helen  was  president  of  the  primary  for  10  years, 

coordinator  of  the  Junior  Sunday  School,  work 
director  in  the  Relief  Society  for  many  years,  and 

now  serving  over  the  quilting  program.  She  has 
been  a  visiting  teacher  for  the  Relief  Society  for  34 
years,  without  missing  a  month. 

Her  hobbies  are  quilting,  handwork,  pictures, 
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Helen  and  Robert  Burton 

velvet  roses,  cooking,  flowers,  gardening,  and  many 
more. 

Robert   and   Helen  worked  and  served  in  the 
Farm  Bureau  and  on  the  Fair  Board  for  a  number 

of  years. 

KENNETH     ANDERSON     CHRISTENSEN, 

was  born  at  the  family  home  in  Central,  Idaho, 
June  25,  1915  to  Ferdinand  C.  Christensen  and  Elsie 

Marie  A.  Christensen.  He  attended  elementary 

school  in  Central,  Idaho  and  also  the  first  two  years 

of  high  school.  He  graduated  from  Grace  High 
School  in  1934.  After  graduation,  he  stayed  and 
worked  on  the  farm  with  his  father,  a  man  who 

believed  that  hard  work  was  a  good  school  master. 

Kenneth  returned  from  the  Canadian  Mission 

and  began  a  courtship  by  mail,  with  JUNE  ORR, 
daughter  of  William  and  Margaret  Taylor  Orr  of 

Ottawa,  Ontario.  They  were  married  May  11, 
1939.  Four  children  were  born  to  this  couple. 

Margaret  Marie,  Kenneth  Wynn,  Karen  and  Bart 
Orr. 

Kenneth  has  spent  his  life  farming  as  a  means  of 
livlihood,  and  has  found  it  to  be  a  good  way  to  live 

and  raise  a  family.  He  has  developed  a  good  far- 
ming unit  through  the  years,  with  irrigation  on  part 

and  has  made  it  a  profitable  enterprise. 

He  has  spent  much  time  in  service  to  the  church 
which  is  a  fulfillment  of  the  vow  his  mother  made 

when  he  lay  at  death's  door  as  an  infant.  He  has 
served  as  Stake  M-Men  Leader,  counselor  in 
M.I. A.,  a  Stake  Mission,  President  of  the  2nd 

Elders'  Quorum.   Central   Ward  Sunday  School 

Superintendent,  and  Bishop  in  the  Central  Ward 
before  consolidating  with  the  Grace  Second  Ward. 

He  also  served  in  the  Stake  Presidency  with  Presi- 
dent Dee  L.  Andreasen  and  Owen  Clegg  for  twenty 

years. 
LEO  CHRISTENSEN,son  of  Pearl  and  Chris 

Christensen,  was  born  at  Central,  Idaho  on  June 
10,  1915. 
LEATHA  HAIR  was  born  in  Vernal,  Utah, 

January  15,  1915.  They  were  married  in  the  Salt 
Lake  Temple  June  2,  1938. 

They  have  the  following  children:  Janet 
Williams,  Beverly  SueTaysom,  Clynn  H.,  Kathryn 
Gaye  Heussner,  Lorilyn  Emig. 

Leatha  has  many  interests  and  hobbies.  She  loves 

to  garden,  roses  being  a  favorite.  She  sews  a  lot  and 

enjoys  creating  clothes  for  children  and 
grandchildren.  Her  latest  work  is  making  a  velvet 

patch  work  quilt  for  each  of  their  five  daughters. 
She  likes  to  write  and  read.  She  had  taken  some 

college  courses  in  creative  writing.  She  is  now  in- 
volved in  posessing  a  college  degree.  They  have 

traveled  somewhat,  and  that  is  equally  enjoyable  to 

each  of  them.  They  like  strange  countries  and 
customs.  With  the  exception  of  India  and  Russia, 

they  have  circled  the  globe.  Their  tour  of  the 

Orient,  this  spring,  has  added  much  flavor  to  their 
understanding. 

She  is  a  dreamer.  She  loves  quiet  times  for 
dreaming,  wherein  she  envisions  the  beautiful 

words  which  are  not  yet  spoken,  nor  written,  and 

the  people  and  events  she  has  not  yet  been  in  touch 
with. 

^ S ̂ §b| V^  W' j 

Leo  and  Leatha  Christensen 
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Leo  has  been  engaged  in  farming  all  of  his  life. 
Perhaps  among  the  last  to  work  the  soil  with 
horsepower  from  real  horses.  He  is  good  as  a 
carpenter,  having  remodeled  and  helped  with 

building  their  an  their  children's  homes.  He  was  a 
bonafide  real  estate  agent  for  several  years.  He 
loves  traveling  and  reading. 

4^.  ..Mm'.P Clara  and  Orval  Christensen 

ORVAL  JORGENSEN   CHRISTENSEN  was 

born  at  the  family  home  in  Central,  Idaho, 
Nobember  28,  1913  to  Christian  Miller  Christensen 

and  Pearl  Eliza  Jorgensen  Christensen.  His  pater- 
nal grandparents  were  Ferdinand  C.  Christensen 

and  Elsie  Marie  Miller  Christensen.  His  maternal 

grandparents  were  Rasmus  Gust  Jorgensen  and 
Thora  Jensen  Jorgensen.  He  grew  up  with  five 
sisters:  Cora  Harris.  Ina  Wilson,  Agnes 
Christensen,  Evah  Smith  and  Ruby  Bolton.  He  had 
two  brothers:  Bert  who  was  killed  in  a  car  and  bike 

accident  at  the  age  of  fifteen,  and  Leo. 

He  went  to  grade  school  and  high  school  in  Cen- 
tral and  became  a  member  of  the  Church  of  Jesus 

Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints  when  he  was  nine  years 
old. 
CLARA  CARVER  CHRISTENSEN  was  born 

at  Treasureton,  Idaho  to  George  Delos  Kirby 
Carver  and  Sarah  Jane  Barnes  Carver,  June  22, 

1916.  She  grew  up  in  Treasureton  receiving  her 
grade  school  education  there,  then  going  to  Preston 
for  two  years  of  high  school.  She  missed  a  year  of 

high  school  because  they  discontinued  running  the 
school  bus  from  Treasureton  to  Preston.  For  her 

Junior  year  she  came  to  Grace  and  stayed  with  her 
cousin,  Darma  Johnson.  She  met  Orval  J. 
Christensen  at  a  school  dance  in  1933  and  they  were 

married  October  4,  1934,  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 

They  still  live  on  the  family  farm  in  Central  and 
were  blessed  with  six  children:  Don  C.  who  died  six- 

teen hours  after  birth,  Ardene  who  married  Cardel 

Wright,  Boyd  J.  married  to  Joanne  Lillywhite, 
Dwain  K.  who  married  Linda  McCann,  Glade  C. 

married  to  DeeAnn  Smart  and  Athene.  They  have 

sixteen  living  grandchildren  and  one  grand- 

daughter, Cami  Christensen,  (Boyd  and  Joanne's 
four  year  old  daughter)  who  passed  away  March 
1st  1975. 

Both  Orval  and  Clara  have  known  what  it  was  to 

live  without  electricity,  milk  cows  by  hand,  churn 
butter,  drive  horses  to  do  the  farm  work  so  now 

really  enjoy  the  modern  inventions:  although  a  trac- 

tor almost  caused  Orval's  death  when  he  and  Ar- 
nold Qualman  were  using  tractors  to  rail  the  Soda 

canal  up  at  Alexander.  One  was  on  each  side  of  the 

canal  when  the  bank  Orval  was  on  caved  off  caus- 
ing his  tractor  to  overturn  on  top  of  him  pinning 

him  under  the  seat.  Had  not  Arnold  waded  across 

the  canal  and  lifted  the  seat  giving  Orval  a  chance 
to  breathe  he  would  have  died.  Arnold  finally 

removed  the  seat  by  unscrewing  the  bolts,  in 

between  lifting  the  seat  for  Orval  to  take  a  breath. 
The  umbrella  holder  went  through  his  clothing, 

making  a  scratch  on  his  skin.  Had  it  been  an  inch 
over  it  would  have  gone  through  his  body.  It  was 
also  an  asset  as  it  held  some  of  the  weight  of  the 

tractor  from  crushing  him.  Thanks  to  Arnold,  and 

Dwain's  family  prayer  that  morning  asking  for  the 

family's  protection,  his  life  was  spared  to  become  a 
successful  farmer.  He  is  president  of  Grace  Gem 

Valley  Grain  Growers,  and  director  of  the  Farmer's 
Grain  Co-op  in  Ogden,  Utah. 

He  has  been  a  trustee  of  the  Grace  School  board 

and  is  on  the  Central  Cemetery  Committee.  With 

the  help  of  Wilford  Anderson,  Ralph  Harrison  and 
Emery  Hansen  they  tore  out  the  sage  brush  and 
bunch  grass,  planting  a  lawn  grass  and  installing  a 

pump  watering  system.  Fir  trees  were  ordered  by 

Dell  Harrison  and  planted  by  Dell,  Dwain  and  Or- 
val. There  is  now  a  cemetery  to  be  proud  of. 

He  has  spent  many  hours  working  in  the 
Church,  being  a  Deacon  Quorum  President, 

Secretary  of  the  Y. M.M.I. A.  One  of  the  Seven 
Presidents  of  the  Stake  Seventies  Quorum,  Stake 

Missionary,  Ward  Genealogical  Chairman, 

Superintendent  of  the  Sunday  School  and  a  coun- 
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cilor  in  the  bishopric  with  Bishop  Maurice  Balls. 

He  has  been  on  the  High  Council  and  is  at  present 

the  High  Priest  group  secretary. 

Clara  has  worked  in  the  Church  as  a  Sunday 

School  teacher,  assistant  secretary  fo  the  Sunday 

School,  Primary  councilor,  M.I. A.  councilor, 

Social  Relations  and  Spiritual  Living  teacher  of  the 

Relief  Society.  Visiting  teachers  topic  leader. 

Visiting  teacher.  Relief  Society  President.  She  has 

also  served  on  the  Primary  and  Relief  Society 
Boards. 

OTTO  CHRISTENSEN  was  born  in  Central, 

Idaho  on  December  11,  1910  to  Ferdinand  C. 

Christensen  and  Elsie  Marie  Andersen  Christensen. 

He  went  to  school  and  grew  up  in  Central. 
Otto  was  married  to  NOLA  COMISH  in  1933. 

He  later  bought  the  Alma  Simonson  farm  and  has 

spent  his  life  farming. 

Otto  and  Nola  are  the  parents  of  three  sons: 

Robert,  Gary  and  Max. 

JOSEPH  DENNIS  COLLINS  was  the  second 

son  of  Herbert  Dennis  and  Mary  (Munoz)  Collins. 

He  was  born  July  24,  1920  in  Grace,  Idaho.  He  was 

baptized  a  member  of  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of 

Latter-day  Saints  on  June  30,  1928.  He  married 
NADA  JEAN  GATES,  who  was  born  to  Emmett 

Eugene  Gates  and  Petra  Olivia  Pederson  Gates  on 

December  22,  1927.  Joseph  and  Nada  were  married 

January  26,  1943.  They  were  parents  of  six 

children:  Dennis  Deray  (died  as  an  infant),  Lenrie 

Joseph  (July  24,  1946),  Nadine  Denice  (Feb.  21, 

1949),  Russell  (died  at  the  age  of  four),  Emmett 

Herbert  (September  30,  1951)  and  Allen  Kay 

(August  27,  1954).  Joseph  bought  the  family  farm 

from  his  mother  after  his  father's  death.  Joseph  had 
cows  and  raised  hay  on  the  farm.  He  and  Nada 
were  divorced  in  1962.  He  was  an  iron  worker  and 

traveled  to  and  from  different  jobs.  He  also  farmed 

dry  land  on  the  Fort  Hall  Indian  Reservation. 

WM.  G.  (BILL)  CONDIE  was  born  September 

12,  1914  in  Preston,  Idaho  to  Joseph  and  Ida  B. 

Condie.  He  moved  with  his  family  to  the  home  on 

Spring  Creek  in  Mound  Valley  in  June  1919. 
IDONNA  FARNWORTH,  was  born  June  24, 

Daryla,  Billy,  Idonna  and  Bill  Condie 

1918  in  Minkcreek,  Idaho  to  Hugh  and  Nettie  N. 

Farnworth.  She  came,  with  her  parents,  to  Grace, 

July  5,  1922. 

Bill  received  his  schooling  in  the  Mound  Valley 

and  Thatcher  Schools.  He  learned  to  be  a  cowboy 

on  the  Condie  Ranch  north  of  Henry,  where  he 

spent  his  summers.  He  broke  many  wild  horses  and 

was  nicknamed  'Wild  Bill'  and  'Powder  River'. 

Idonna  went  to  the  Grace  Schools,  graduating 

from  high  school  in  1936.  She  went  to  college  a 

year  in  Salt  Lake  City,  and  worked  at  various 

places  including  Gepharts  Store  in  Grace. 

Bill  and  Idonna  were  married  March  26,  1940  in 

Salt  Lake  City.  They  lived  a  couple  of  years  on  the 
ranch  north  of  Henry,  finally  making  their  home  on 

Spring  Creek  in  Mound  Valley.  They  were  blessed 
with  three  children:  William  Kay  (Billy).  Terry 

Lynn,  and  Daryla  Gay.  The  children  went  to  grade 

school  in  Thatcher,  and  all  graduated  from  the 

Grace  High  School. 

Billy  attended  college  at  U.S.U.  and  B.Y.U. 

graduating  in  Chemical  Engineering.  He  served  an 

L.D.S.  Mission  in  England  1961-63. 

Terry  also  went  to  U.S.U.  and  B.Y.U. 

graduating  in  Business  Economics.  He  filled  a  mis- 
sion to  Texas  1964-66.  He  also  served  two  years  in 

the  Armed  Forces,  eleven  months  in  Viet  Nam. 

Daryla  graduated  from  U.S.U.  in  Physical  and 

Secondary  Education.  She  taught  school  three 

years,  one  in  Grace. 

Bill  was  a  good  cattleman,  good  neighbor,  and  a 

real  cowboy.  He  participated  in  rodeos,  posse 
meets,  and  horse  races.  He  was  announcer  for  Ncars 
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at  various  events.  He  was  secretary  for  the 

cattleman's  association  and  belonged  to  the  G-10 
Board.  He  loved  fishing,  hunting  and  camping. 

Idonna  participated  in  all  the  church  aux- 
iliaries. Her  hobbies  were  gardening,  sewing  and 

working  at  the  County  Fair.  She  enjoyed  all  spec- 
tator sports,  camping  and  dancing,  and  being  a 

homemaker. 

Bill  died  of  a  heart  attack  November  23.  1970  at 

the  age  of  fifty-six. 
Idonna  moved  to  Grace  in  April  1975,  after 

recovering  from  heart  surgery. 

Dan  Corbett Zetta  Corbett 

DANIEL  HANS  CORBETT  was  born  August 
24,  1905  in  Smithfield,  Utah,  the  son  of  William 
and  Annie  C.  Peterson  Corbett. 

ZETTA  CONDIE  was  born  June  26,  1906  in 

Preston,  Idaho,  the  daughter  of  Joseph  and  Minnie 
Johnson  Condie. 

Dan  and  Zetta  were  married  August  20.  1925  in 
Logan,  Utah.  Their  children  are:  Daniel  Kieth, 
Karen  Ruth  Corbett  Thomas,  Kathleen  Corbett 
Johnson,  and  Louis  Kent  Corbett. 

Dan's  early  childhood  was  spent  in  Turner  work- 
ing on  the  farm  with  his  father  and  the  Mexican 

laborers  he  had  hired.  Dan  loved  to  fish  and  hunt, 

and  taught  the  Mexicans  this  art.  Through  this 

association  he  learned  to  speak  the  Spanish 
language. 

Being  mechanically  inclined  he  went  to  Sweeneys 
Automotive  and  Electrical  School  in  Kansas  City. 
At  the  age  of  twenty  Dan  married  Zetta.  He 
operated  a  Bulk  Plant  and  Service  Station  for  Utah 
Oil  Refining  Company.  Later  he  procured  the  Ford 

Agency,  known  as  Corbett  Motor  Co. 
Zetta  worked  for  Mr.  Hill  at  the  Rexall  Drug  in 

Grace  for  two  years  before  her  marriage.  She  is  a 
housewife  and  mother.  She  was  Sunday  School 

Secretary  for  seven  years,  and  managed  the 
Caribou  Lodge  in  Soda  Springs  for  eight  years. 

Dan  was  a  business  man  in  Grace  for  many 

years. 
ROY  CORBETT  was  born  February  23,  1918  in 

Turner,  Idaho  to  William  and  Annie  Peterson 

Corbett.  He  is  the  youngest  in  a  family  of  nine, 
three  brothers  and  five  sisters.  LARENE  PANTER 

was  born  March  1,  1920  in  Mound  Valley,  Idaho  to 
Wilford  and  Vinnie  Nielsen  Panter.  She  has  one 
sister  and  two  brothers. 

After  Roy  graduated  from  Grace  High  School, 
he  attended  the  L.D.S.  Business  College  in  Salt 

Lake  City,  Utah.  When  LaRene  graduated  from 
Thatcher  High  School,  she  completed  three  years 

training  in  nursing  at  the  William  Budge  Memorial 

Hospital  in  Logan.  Utah,  graduating  as  an  R.N.  in 

August  1941. 
Roy  and  LaRene  were  married  in  Pocatello, 

Idaho  December  31.  1940.  She  went  back  to  nur- 
sing school  for  the  remaining  eight  months,  and 

Roy  continued  his  business  of  buying  and  selling 

livestock  and  also  helping  his  father  on  the  farm. 
Their  family  consists  of  a  daughter,  Brenda  Lee 

and  she  is  married  to  Steven  Flint  Lowe.  They  live 

in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah  and  have  one  son,  Jesse 

Flint.  Roy  and  LaRene's  son  William  Craig  is 
presently  going  to  college  and  is  engaged  in  farming 
with  them.  Four  other  children  were  born  to  them, 

three  boys  and  one  girl,  but  they  died  soon  after 
birth. 

In  December,  1941  they  leased  the  ranch  in 

Turner  from  Roy's  father  and  started  farming.  In 
1945  they  purchased  the  farm  and  began  enlarging 

their  operation  by  leasing  other  land.  In  1946  they 
acquired  some  land  North  of  Soda  Springs  and 

began  a  dry  farm  operation.  Through  the  years  they 
have  enlarged  the  acreage. 

In  1962  they  exchanged  the  ranch  in  Turner  for  a 

cattle  ranch  in  the  Gray's  Lake  area,  thus  making  a 

life-time  dream  of  Roy's  come  true.  His  life's  ambi- 
tion was  to  own  a  stocked  cattle  ranch  with  out- 

standing horses  to  work  the  cattle.  Because  he 

has  always  been  interested  in  horses  since  a  small 
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boy,  he  has  owned  some  outstanding  pulling  horses 
and  in  the  more  recent  years  has  been  engaged  in 
cutting  horse  competition,  an  activity  they  have 

enjoyed  as  a  family. 
When  they  acquired  the  cattle  ranch,  they  moved 

into  Grace  and  built  a  new  home  on  the  north  end 

of  town. 

Civic  and  church  activities  have  been  an  impor- 

tant part  of  their  lives.  LaRene  has  worked  with  4- 
H  Clubs  and  at  the  present  time  is  a  board  member 
of  the  Caribou  Memorial  Hospital.  She  has  served 

in  most  of  the  different  offices  in  all  the  auxiliary 
organizations  of  the  Church. 

Roy's  civic  activities  include  being  a  trustee  of 
the  Grace  High  School,  a  director  in  two  grazing 
associations,  a  board  member  and  president  of  the 
Federal  Land  Bank,  and  a  director  of  the  First 
National  Bank  of  Grace. 

His  church  activities  include  positions  held  in  the 
Sunday  School,  the  M.I. A.,  priesthood  quorums, 
the  High  Council  and  is  at  present  Bishop  of  the 
Grace  2nd  Ward. 

MARLIN  CALVERT  EGBERT,  son  of  Robert 

Calvert  and  Sarah  Jane  Egbert,  was  born  at 
Turner,  Idaho  December  7,  1903. 

ERMINE  BELLE  OLSEN  was  born  August  12, 

1903,  the  daughter  of  George  A.  Olsen  and  Agnes 
Belle  Baird  Olsen,  in  Mink  Creek,  Idaho.  Her 

family  came  to  Grace,  Idaho  from  Mink  Creek, 
Idaho  and  bought  the  Fred  Potter  farm. 

Marlin  and  Erminie  were  married  November  7, 

1923  in  the  Logan  Temple  at  Logan,  Utah.  They 

are  the  parents  of  five  children:  Agnes  Belle 
Robinson,  twins  Calvin  and  Alvin,  died  in  infancy, 

twins,  Marlin  Ray  and  Melford  Kay. 

Marlin  loved  horses  and  always  had  a  team  that 

matched.  He  loved  music  and  played  the  accordian 
at  dances  in  Turner.  He  was  in  the  Calvary  for  8 

years,  A  guard  at  a  factory  in  Idaho  Falls  for  a 
number  of  years,  returning  to  Grace  where  he  was 
engaged  in  farming  and  working  at  Monsanto  until 

his  retirement.  They  celebrated  their  Golden  Wed- 
ding Anniversary  March  7,  1973.  Their  son,  Kay 

Egbert  is  presently  serving  in  the  Air  Force  in  New 
Mexico. 

OSCAR  EDWIN  EGBERT  was  born  March  16, 

1909  in  Midvale,  Utah.  ETHEL  MEYERS 
EGBERT  was  born  June  20,  1911  in  Wellsville, 

Utah.  They  were  married  June  29,  1933.  They  had 
two  children:  Clarence  E.  Egbert  and  Maxine 
Egbert  Goodnight 

Oscar  has  enjoyed  farm  work  and  taking  care  of 
cows.  He  has  been  a  good  horseman.  Oscar  likes  to 

travel.  He  worked  for  Utah  Power  and  Light  Com- 
pany from  1941  to  1974,  33  years  of  service.  During 

his  faithful  years  at  Utah  Power  and  Light  Com- 
pany he  won  the  safety  award  for  15  years,  then  a 

diamond  for  20  years  and  also  one  for  30  years  of 

safety.  He  was  awarded  a  certificate  for  his 
knowledge  of  first  aid. 

He  is  an  Elder  in  the  L.D.S.  Church  and  has  been 

a  home  teacher  for  twenty  years. 
Oscar  married  EDNA  GIBSON  June  23,  1973. 

Pauline  and  Wayne  Egbert 

WAYNE  ERNEST  EGBERT  was  born  June  17. 

1920  at  Downey,  Idaho  in  a  log  house.  Wayne 
attended  church  at  the  Woodland  Ward  and  school 

six  miles  away  at  Woodland  School.  He  rode  to 

school  in  a  white  top  buggy  and  a  sleigh  with  canvas 

cover  during  the  winter  with  a  kerosene  stove  for 
warmth. 

The  Egberts  moved  to  Grace  in  the  spring  of 

1927.  Wayne  attended  Grace  High  School  and 

Seminary  and  graduated  in  1939.  In  1935  Wayne 
suffered  from  a  ruptured  appendix.  He  was  close  to 
death  with  no  miracle  drugs  at  that  time  to  help.  He 

had  two  operations  by  good  Doctors.  Bovenmeyer 
and  Kackley,  and  with  the  faith  of  a  humble 
Mother  and  tender  care  of  parents  and  family  he 
survived. 
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Wayne  served  in  the  U.S.  Army  Air  Force  as  a 

radio  operator  from  1942-45. 
On  July  23.  1945  he  married  PAULINE 

ERASER  in  the  Logan  Temple.  Wayne  and 

Pauline  had  the  following  children:  Carol  Lee  (Bur- 
ton), Jenann  (Hansen),  Kim  (Pitcher),  Bradley  W., 

Leland  F.,  and  Kerry  G. 

Wayne  has  worked  at  various  jobs  through  the 
years.  He  has  been  meat  cutter,  custodian, 

partsman,  postal  cleric,  rural  mail  carrier, 

bookkeeper,  and  Gem  Valley  Dairy  Herd  Improve- 
ment Supervisor. 

Wayne  has  been  very  active  in  the  Church,  ser- 
ving as  Ward  Clerk.  Sunday  School  teacher. 

General  Secretary  of  Aaronic  Priesthood,  and  as 

the  Stake  Clerk  for  23  years.  He  is  presently  assis- 
tant Stake  Clerk  including  Building  Maintenance 

Operations.  He  has  served  as  a  home  teacher  for 

many  years. 

One  of  the  highpoints  in  Wayne's  and  Pauline's 
life  was  to  participate  in  a  dinner  at  President  Dee 

L.  Andreasen's  home  where  President  and  Sister 
David  O.  McKay  were  in  attendance. 

Wayne  has  played  band  instruments  since  the 
third  grade.  He  has  been  a  member  of  several 

different  orchestras,  participated  as  1st  tenor  in 
choirs,  quartets,  duets  and  solos  for  church  and 

civic  functions,  funerals,  and  he  currently  belongs 

to  the  "Country  Gentlemen"  quartet  group  that 
performs  in  the  area.  Wayne  has  also  participated 
in  drama  and  musical  productions  in  the  Church 
and  schools  since  World  War  H. 

Pauline  was  born  December  31,  1926  at  Grace, 

Idaho.  She  graduated  from  Seminary  and  High 
School  in  1944.  She  worked  in  a  cafe  and  in 

Chadwick's  while  waiting  for  Wayne  to  return  from 
the  Service. 

She  has  served  in  Y.. W.M.I. A.  as  a  teacher  and 

in  the  Relief  Society  as  secretary  and  counselor  and 

a  visiting  teacher  for  many  years.  Pauline  has  been 
Ward  Primary  Secretary  and  on  the  Stake  Primary 
Board. 

Pauline  enjoys  camping,  reading  and  sewing  and 
has  made  many  dresses  for  brides  and  attendants, 

as  well  as  suits  for  her  sons,  sons-in-law  and  hus- 
band. 

ROBERT  JOHN  ERASER  was  born  January 
10,    1910    in   Taber,    Alberta   Canada.    VIVIAN 

ROBINSON  was  born  March  29.  1913  in  Alex- 

ander. Idaho.  They  were  married  October  3,  1935. 
Their  children  are:  Francine  Eraser  Christensen, 

Robert  George  Eraser,  Rodney  Fred  Eraser,  Brent 

Craig  Eraser,  Eric  Bryan  Eraser. 

They  have  been  dairy  farmers  in  Bench  for  many 

years. 
Their  children  have  gone  to  college  and  on  mis- 

sions. 

JACK  GIBBS,  son  of  John  Chester  and  Clara 

McClellan  Gibbs,  was  born  at  Grace,  Idaho  July  4, 
1914. 

AETON  ALLSOP  was  born  September  28,  1916 

at  Grace,  Idaho.  She  was  the  daughter  of  George  T. 
and  Eliza  Christensen  Allsop. 

Jack  and  Afton  were  married  at  Salt  Lake  City, 

Utah  January  8,  1937.  Two  children  were  born  to 

this  couple:  Sidney  Ann  Gibbs  Makoff,  and  Mar- 
cus J.  Gibbs. 

Jack  was  interested  in  farming  and  raising 

livestock.  He  was  very  interested  in  the  betterment 
of  the  community.  He  worked  in  church  projects, 

with  the  4H  program,  and  served  as  County  Com- 
missioner for  Caribou  County.  He  did  a  lot  of  work 

on  the  Last  Chance  Canal  Co.  as  well  as  serving  in 
leadership  capacity  for  the  company.  He  enjoyed 

his  purebred  cattle,  as  this  was  his  most  prized 

possession. Afton  is  a  housewife.  She  has  worked  in  the  4H 

program  in  the  county  for  several  years.  She  is 
much  intereested  in  helping  young  people,  and 

many  have  come  to  her  for  help  in  sewing  and  other 

projects. Jack  and  Afton  have  both  been  most  interested 

in  their  children  and  family,  and  doing  what  they 
could  for  them. 

Jack  died  December  24,  1972  after  a  long  illness. 

LA  VERN  GIBSON  was  born  at  Cherryville, 

Idaho  March  7,  1904.  He  and  his  family,  John  and 
Grace  Gibson  and  their  three  small  children,  moved 

to  this  area  in  1907.  They  moved  on  the  ranch  now 
owned  by  the  Don  Gibson  family.  Later  there  were 
five  other  children  added  to  the  family.  The 
children  were:  Willard,  LaVern.  Russell,  Florence, 

Phyllis,  Phillip.  Leo  and  Afton. 
MILLICENT  SMITH  was  born  September  28, 
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1908  at  the  home  of  her  maternal  grandparents, 
George  and  Elizabeth  Hamp.  Her  parents  were 
William  H.  and  Susie  Hamp  Smith.  She  was  the 
oldest  of  six  children.  Besides  Millicent  there  were 

Gwen  Byington,  Dean,  Afton  Larsen,  Stanley,  and 
Douglas.  The  family  home  stood  on  the  site  now 

occupied  by  the  Phyllis  Olsen  home.  It  was  a  large 
two  story  house. 

She  attended  school  in  Grace  and  has  lived  here 
all  of  her  life. 

Although  her  husband  to  be  had  lived  in  Grace 
since  1907  she  did  not  really  know  him  until  she 
started  high  school  and  started  to  date  him. 

LaVern  and  Millicent  were  married  December 

27,  1927  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  This  year  they  will 
celebrate  their  golden  wedding  anniversary. 

They  moved  into  a  three  room  house  that  stood 

on  the  property  now  owned  by  Wayne  and  Pauline 
Egbert.  It  was  three  rooms  and  a  path,  not  a  bath. 
Later  the  house  was  moved  to  Lago,  and  with  some 
remodeling,  is  the  home  of  Warren  and  LaVera 
Henderson.  The  rent  was  $10.00  per  month,  and 
the  light  bill  a  flat  rate  of  $1.00  per  month.  They 

probably  didn't  use  more  power  than  that  because 
the  only  appliance  they  owned  was  an  electric  iron. 
They  heated  and  cooked  with  a  black  cook  stove 

that  had  previously  belonged  to  La  Vern's  mother. 
La  Vern  worked  for  his  father  on  the  ranch  the 

first  summer  they  were  married.  The  wages  were 
$75.00  a  month.  Groceries  and  clothes  were  much 

less  expensive  then,  and  they  got  by  fine.  Millicent 

copied  some  prices  from  an  old  newspaper  of  that 
time  and  raisins  were  8c  a  package,  soda,  two 
packages  for  1 5c,  Folgers  Coffee  30  c  a  pound,  corn 
starch  8c,  and  five  pounds  of  Karo  Syrup  26c, 
Bakers  Chocolate  was  20c  for  8  ounces,  100  pounds 

of  rice  $5.25  and  flour  98c  for  fifty  pounds. 

La  Vern  and  Millicent  had  two  children: 

Ramona  and  Terrel  Lynn. 

In  the  early  spring  of  1928  the  high  school  burn- 
ed down,  and  La  Vern  worked  there  most  of  the 

summer.  The  wages  were  $4.75  to  $5.50  a  day  and 

were  considered  high.  The  going  wage  was  $3.20  a 
day  at  that  time. 

In  1931  they  started  to  build  the  house  they  now 
live  in.  They  built  three  rooms  then,  and  later  added 
three  more  as  they  could  afford  it. 

La  Vern  worked  at  the  local  elevators  part  time, 
and  for  Allsop  and  Pond  Construction  Company 

building  roads  around  the  country.  In  the  spring  of 
1938  he  went  to  work  steady  for  the  Utah  Power 

and  Light  Company  and  worked  there  for  30  years 
until  he  retired  in  1970. 

Millicent  taught  Primary  for  several  years,  also  a 
Bee  Hive  Class  in  Mutual  around  1934  and  1935. 
She  served  as  second  counselor  to  Vivian  Simmons 

in  the  Relief  Society.  She  enjoys  sewing  and  mak- 

ing quilts. The  12th  of  October  1942  Millicent  went  to  work 

for  Mr.  Roghaar  as  a  sales  clerk  in  his  general 
store.  July  of  the  following  year  he  sold  the  store  to 
Jamie  and  Bill  Stalder.  She  worked  for  them  until 

they  sold  out  to  William  Davis  the  winter  of  1949. 
The  store  burned  down  in  February  of  1952.  She 

did  not  work  again  until  July  of  that  year  and  then 
she  went  to  work  for  Dr.  Johnson  and  Herron  as  a 

receptionist  and  bookkeeper;  she  worked  for  them 
for  nine  years. 

They  have  lived  at  408  East  Center  continuously 
since  1931  with  the  exception  of  the  seven  years 

they  lived  at  the  Grace  Plant. 

DE  VAL  GILLETT,  son  of  Earl  and  Harriet 

Egbert  Gillett,  was  born  December  13,  1914  at 
Grace,  Idaho. 
EMMA  SORENSEN  was  born  June  29,  1916,  at 

Grace,  Idaho.  She  is  the  daughter  of  Charles  and 
Emma  Andersen  Sorensen. 

DeVal  and  Emma  were  married  January  2,  1935 

in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple  at  Logan,  Utah.  To 

this  couple  three  children  were  born:  Marilyn 
Gillett  Gage,  Janet  Gillett  Harris,  and  DeVal 
Timothy  Gillett. 

DeVal  has  been  manager  of  Anderson  Lumber 

Company  for  many  years.  His  hobbies,  in  his  spare 
time  are  woods  and  crafts  and  boating  and  fishing. 
Emma  likes  handwork  and  genealogy. 

They  have  both  been  active  in  the  church  and  in 

the  program  of  the  Boy  Scouts.  They  both  have 
been  awarded  the  Silver  Beaver  and  Silver  Faun 

awards  from  this  program. 

EMIL  MARTIN  HANSEN  was  born 

September  29,  1907,  the  youngest  child  of  Lars 
Peter  and  Dorthea  Mickelsen  Hansen  at  Lago, 

Idaho  on  the  farm  still  owned  by  his  son,  Reid. 
The  farm  was  his  life.  He  loved  cattle  and  even 
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Lorette  and  Emil  Hansen 

with  a  herd  of  a  hundred  head  or  more  he  could 

point  out  individual  characteristics  of  most  of 
them.  He  seemed  to  have  an  instinct  which  enabled 

him  to  match  cows  and  calves  almost  infallibly, 
while  others  stood  in  awe. 

He  loved  the  mountains  and  from  the  time  he 

was  old  enough  to  carry  a  gun  he  spent  all  his  spare 
time  hunting.  From  the  time  he  was  old  enough  to 
hold  his  end  of  an  axe  or  lumber  saw,  he  went  to  the 

canyons  with  his  father  and  older  brother  for 
lumber  and  firewood. 

He  attended  grade  school  in  Lago  but  didn't  con- 
tinue on  to  high  school  because  his  father  needed 

him  on  the  farm.  He  and  his  father  worked  the 
farm  until  his  father  became  ill  and  had  to  retire. 

Emil  bought  the  farm  from  him  at  this  time  paying 
in  yearly  installments.  He  wrote  with  difficulty,  but 

loved  to  read  and  had  a  rapport  with  nature  rivaled 

by  few.  He  learned  more  by  experience  and  obser- 
vation than  many  others  learned  with  all  their 

books. 

On  September  12,  1931  he  eloped  with  his 
sweetheart,  LORETTE  SWENSEN,  to  Garden 

City,  Utah  where  they  were  married.  Of  this 
marriage  three  children  were  born:  Wayne  Hiram, 
Marette,  and  Reid  Emil. 

Wayne  spent  two  years  at  U.S.U.,  filled  a  mis- 
sion to  Denmark,  and  served  in  the  army.  He  has 

served  as  Deacons  Quorum  advisor,  Sunday  School 
Superintendent,  and  on  the  Stake  Sunday  School 
Board. 

Marette  attended  Holy  Cross  School  of  Nursing 

in  Salt  Lake  City.  She  became  a  registered  nurse 

and  is  presently  nurse  in  charge  in  a  hospital  in 
Cleveland,  Tennessee. 

Reid  bought  the  farm  and  still  owns  it.  He  also 
has  a  successful  sports  and  pet  shop  in  Soda 

Springs. 
Mary  Lorette  Swensen  was  born  December  4, 

1906,  the  second  daughter  of  Hiram  and  Lutie 
Bassett  Swensen  at  Lago,  Idaho.  She  was  born  on 
the  banks  of  Whiskey  Creek  about  a  mile  west  over 

the  hill  from  Dan  Mickelsen's  farm. 
She  attended  the  same  grade  school  in  Lago  that 

Emil  Hansen  did.  He  and  Mary  met  then  for  the 
first  time,  but  he  being  a  year  younger  than  she, 

was  ignored  as  being  a  little  kid,  and  naturally  not 

worthy  of  much  attention. 
When  Mary  Lorette  was  ready  for  high  school 

her  mother  took  her,  her  sister,  and  brother  to 

Logan  where  they  attended  school.  She  attended 
school  for  two  years  in  Logan  after  which  she 
returned  to  Lago  to  finish  her  last  year  of  high 

school.  She  graduated  from  Central  High  School  at 
Thatcher. 

She  went  from  there  to  Idaho  Tech.  in  Pocatello, 

then  to  Ricks  College  in  Rexburg.  She  then  return- 
ed to  Pocatello  to  complete  her  training  and  to  get 

her  Teachers  Certificate.  She  helped  to  pay  her  way 

by  working  summers  and  weekends  in  her  father's 
store.  At  this  time  she  was  appointed  assistant  post- 

mistress to  her  father. 

She  has  been  president  of  Lago  Ward  MIA, 
work  director  for  the  ward  Relief  Society.  She  is  a 

block  teacher  for  the  Relief  Society,  a  position  she 

has  held  since  she  began  working  in  the  Relief 

Society.  In  this  organization  she  has  helped  to 

make  many  quilts  and  has  sewn  many  other  items. 
She  taught  school  in  Lago  for  five  years  from 

1926  to  1931.  It  was  during  this  time  that  she  and 

Emil  began  courting.  They  were  married 

September  12,  1931  and  made  their  home  with  his 

parents.  They  built  a  duplex  on  the  site  where  Emil 
was  born.  Emil  and  Lorette  lived  in  one  side  and  his 

parents  lived  in  the  other. 

Emil's  health  finally  took  its  toll  and  he  died 
March  17,  1973. 

Lorette  sold  her  house  on  the  farm  and  moved  to 
Grace  to  be  closer  to  her  friends  and  to  the  stores. 

LOWELL  ALEXANDER  HANSEN  was  born 

July  3,  1904  at  Grace,  Idaho  to  Joseph  Lars  and 
Louisa  Harris  Hansen.  He  attended  school  at 

Henry,  Turner,  and  Grace,  Idaho. 
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Lowell  A.  Hansen Thelma  P.  Hansen 

THELMA  PERRY  was  born  October  10,  1907 

at  Turner,  Idaho  to  William  Daniel  Perry  and  Ellen 

Elizabeth  McLain  Perry.  She  went  to  school  at 
Turner  and  Grace. 

Lowell  and  Thelma  were  married  November  24, 

1926  at  Pocatello,  Idaho.  Their  marriage  was 

solemnized  in  the  Logan  Temple  June  5,  1929. 
Thelma  was  active  in  the  Sunday  School,  serving 

as  secretary  and  teacher.  She  most  enjoyed  the 
Guide  Patrol  class  in  Primary.  These  were  the  boys 

working  in  Scouting  and  getting  ready  for  the 
Priesthood  when  they  graduated  from  Primary. 

Lowell  served  in  the  Y. M.M.I. A.  as  counselor 

and  secretary,  also  secretary  to  the  Elders 
Quorum.  He  served  as  director  and  president  of  the 
Last  Chance  Canal  Company,  North  Extension 

Canal  Company,  and  Turner  Canal  Company. 
Lowell  died  October  1,  1975  at  Soda  Springs, 

Idaho. 

Thelma  and  Lowell  had  the  following  children: 
Alden,  Milton,  Earl  and  Carl. 

Twenty  miles  north  of  Soda  Springs  is  a  little 
village  called  Henry  and  four  miles  beyond  this  is 

the  'Goose  Lake  Ranch'.  This  is  the  place  where  his 
father  and  mother  lived  when  RALPH 
THEODORE  HANSEN  was  born 

His  life  began  on  May  1,  1911.  Of  his  life  at 
Goose  Lake,  he  remembers  the  broad  sagebrush 

flats  and  the  rolling  meadows  of  broadleaf  and  wire 

grass.  He  can  also  remember  the  straggler  Indians 
who  came  to  sit  on  the  creek  bridge  and  fish. 

When  Ralph  was  a  lad  of  four  and  a  half  years, 
his  father  sold  his  stock  ranch  and  moved  forty 

miles  south  and  west  to  a  farm  near  Grace,  Idaho. 

From  then  until  the  present  Ralph  has  resided  at  or 
near  the  aforesaid  farm.  When  the  sale  was  made 

and  preparations  were  complete  for  the  journey,  the 

family  set  out.  This  was  one  of  Ralph's  first  great 
experiences. 

Ralph  was  eight  years  of  age  when  he  entered 
public  school  at  Turner,  four  miles  north  of  his 
home,  in  a  small  two  room  school  house  which  is 

still  standing.  His  first  teacher  was  Myrtle  Turner. 
He  rode  to  school  on  horseback,  along  with  his 

sister  who  is  five  years  older  than  Ralph.  After  two 

years  at  Turner  his  family  moved  to  Grace  for  the 
school  term  where  he  completed  the  third  and 
fourth  grades  in  one  year.  The  remaining  four 

grades  of  public  school  he  took  at  Cove.  It  was 
there  that  he  met  J.  Stanley  Harrison  who  had  a 

profound  effect  upon  his  life.  He  gives  Mr. 
Harrison  the  credit  of  instilling  into  his  mind  and 

heart,  thoughts  and  feelings  which  changed  the 
course  of  his  life  and  helped  him  find  himself. 

Having  completed  the  elementary  grades  in  the 

spring  of  1926,  he  began  high  school  at  Thatcher 
Rural  High  in  the  autumn.  He  completed  his  high 
school  course  in  the  spring  of  1930  with  the  highest 

grades  in  his  class. 
In  the  autumn  of  1930  he  began  a  course  of  Civil 

Engineering  at  the  Utah  State  Agricultural  College 
but  for  some  reason  he  became  discouraged  and 
withdrew  inside  a  month.  He  came  back  to  the 

farm  and  worked  with  his  father  and  older  brother. 

The  4th  of  April,  1931,  Ralph  was  baptized  into 

the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints. 
In  the  year  of  1937  he  first  met  Darwin  Jepsen,  a 

great  friend  and  at  Christmas  time  he  met  his 
sister,STELLA  JEPSEN.  They  were  married  on 

August  12,  1938. 

In  March  of  1939  Ralph  and  his  wife  moved  to 
the  location  where  they  raised  all  of  their  eight 

children:  Forrest  Doyle,  Juanita  June,  Tex  Andrew. 

Jay  Mack,  Dolly  Mae,  Tom  Adolph,  Gayla,  and 
Trent  Avon. 

Ward  teaching  has  been  a  constant  joy  to  Ralph. 

He  also  taught  a  New  Testament  class  in  Sunday 
School,  and  later  became  Superintendent  of  the 
Turner  Branch  Sunday  School. 

ROY  HANSON  was  born  in  Central,  Idaho  on 

April  21,1 900.  He  was  the  son  of  Albert  and  Had- 
da  Hanson. 
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Roy  and  Emma  M.  Hanson 

EMMA  MILLER  was  born  in  Akron,  Ohio 

November  9,  1900  to  Carl  and  Anna  Miller. 

Roy  and  Emma  were  married  on  March  8,  1923. 

Their  daughter.  Oretta  was  born  December  12, 
1923. 

They  bought  the  Charles  Hansen  place  in  Cen- 
tral, and  farmed  until  1963,  then  sold  it  to  Paul 

Christensen. 

Roy  and  Emma  loved  the  farm,  but  things  were 

very  hard  for  them  the  first  few  years,  as  it  was  for 
everyone  else  in  those  days.  They  lost  all  of  their 
horses  with  Mountain  Fever  soon  after  they  started 
farming.  Then  they  had  to  sell  five  cows  for  $19.00 

a  piece  to  make  a  down  payment  on  a  tractor,  so 
they  could  get  the  crops  in  one  year.  Roy  worked 
very  hard  and  somehow  they  always  got  along. 

Roy  and  Emma  were  both  in  the  Turner  explo- 
sion in  January  1927.  They  came  out  of  it  with  a  lot 

of  bruises,  and  from  then  on  they  lost  6  children. 
Emma  thought  she  had  been  hurt  internally. 

Roy  played  the  drums,  and  had  gone  down  to 
play  for  the  dance.  They  took  a  load  of  others  with 
them  the  night  of  the  explosion. 

Roy  played  with  the  Geisler  Orchestra  from  Cen- 
tral long  before  they  were  married,  then  he  played 

with  Tom  Phillips'Orchestra  from  Bancroft.  Later 
they  organized  the  Central  Orchestra,  and  they 
played  together  for  many  years  going  as  far  as 

Wyoming  to  play  for  dances.  He  also  played  with 
the  Clarence  Simmons  Orchestra. 

Roy  worked  in  the  mutual  organization  with 
Alvin  Letchenberg  and  Parley  Lloyd  Jr.  Roy  also 
ran  the  first  school  bus  from  Central  to  Grace  the 

first  two  years  after  consolidation.  It  was  one  he 

built  himself.  After  that  the  school  district  fur- 
nished the  buses. 

Emma  worked  in  the  Relief  Society  Organiza- 
tion in  the  presidency  for  15  years  at  Central.  She 

was  a  counselor  to  Edith  Hansen,  secretary  to  Pearl 
Christensen,  counselor  in  the  Primary  and  was  a 

Sunday  School  teacher. 
Emma  likes  to  knit,  crochet,  and  work  with 

ceramics. 

Roy's  grandfather,  A.G.  Anderson,  and  his  son, 
G.  E.  Anderson  were  two  of  the  first  settlers  in  Cen- 

tral, Idaho. 

Roy  died  September  24,  1965. 

ORION  HEGSTROM  was  born  in  Central  to 

Karl  John  Hegstrom  and  Annie  Elizabeth 
Qualman  Hegstrom  on  March  23,  1918.  He  had 

eight  years  of  schooling  in  Central  and  took 
carpentering  at  school  in  Pocatello.  He  was  one  of 
fifteen  children. 

VONDA  FARNWORTH  was  born  in  Grace  to 

Hugh  and  Nettie  Neilson  Farnworth  on  August  4, 
1924.  She  attended  Grade  School  and  High  School 
in  Grace. 

Orion  and  Vonda  were  married  July  31,  1942  at 

Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  They  were  married  in  the 

Logan  Temple  September  24,  1957. 
They  lived  in  Central  for  nine  years  and  worked 

for  Emery  Hanson.  They  then  moved  to  Grace. 

Orion  started  working  for  the  State  of  Idaho  the 

same  day  as  Vonda  started  working  in  Peterson's 
A.G.  (now  known  as  Valley  Market)  on  September 

1,  1953,  where  she  worked  for  23  years. 

Orion  and  Vonda  F.  Hegstrom 
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Orion  and  Vonda  had  two  children:Nyla  Annette 
and  Ronald  Orion. 

The  family  enjoys  camping  and  family 

gatherings.  Orion  loves  sports.  Vonda  enjoys  sew- 
ing for  herself  and  family. 

Orion  died  July  24,  1977. 

LA  VERA  SNOW  SWENSEN  HENDERSON, 

better  known  as  'Toots',  was  born  January  12,  1912 
to  Frank  Mousley  and  Mary  Elizabeth  Sullivan 
Snow,  at  the  Sullivan  Farm  on  the  North  Bank  of 

Bear  River.  She  had  a  twin  sister,  Carolyn,  who 
died  a  few  hours  after  birth. 

LaVera  has  lived  her  entire  life  in  and  around 

Gem  Valley.  Her  youth  was  spent  in  Turner,  Idaho, 
then  Grace,  Idaho,  and  her  married  life  has  been 

spent  in  the  Lago  area  where  she  still  resides.  She  is 
a  member  of  the  L.D.S.  Church  and  has  been  ac- 

tive, serving  as  secretary  of  the  Sunday  School, 

teacher,  stake  Bee-keeper,  president  of  the  Lago 
Ward  Y. W.M.I. A.,  and  a  counselor  in  the  Relief 
Society. 

She  graduated  from  high  school  in  May  1930  and 
with  one  of  the  first  Seminary  classes  in  1927.  In 
1931  she  went  to  work  in  the  Grace  Post  Office  for 

a  summer  job,  which  lasted  until  her  retirement  in 
February  1974. 
On  June  18,  1935  she  was  married  to  WILLIS 

JAMES  SWENSEN  at  Randolph,  Utah.  It  was 
then  they  moved  to  Whiskey  Creek  in  Lago,  Idaho. 
To  this  union  two  children  were  born,  Carol  Elaine 

Swensen  Allen  of  Soda  Springs,  Idaho,  and  Joseph 

Frank  Swensen,  manager  of  Gem  Valley  Grain  Co- 
op, in  Grace,  Idaho. 

The  day  after  Easter,  April  10,  1944,  tragedy 
struck  and  Willis  was  killed  in  a  home  power  plant, 

owned  by  his  Uncle  James  Swensen.  Toots  went  to 
work  for  one  season  for  the  Gem  Valley  Grain 
Growers,  and  then  returned  full  time  to  the  Post 
Office. 

On  June  3,  1949  she  and  WARREN  ROBERT 

HENDERSON,  son  of  Guy  and  Isobelle  Bowles 

Henderson,  of  Afton,  Wyoming,  were  married  in 
Elko,  Nevada.  He  and  his  two  daughters,  Janiece 

Sax,  and  Kay  Lene  Markovich  came  to  Lago  to 
make  their  home.  To  this  union  one  daugher  La 

Vera  Isobelle  (Liz)  was  born.  She  is  married  to 
Moritz  Leichtle. 

Warren  was  Superintendent  of  Williams  Ward 

Sunday  School  for  two  years,  active  in  Scout  work 
in  Lago  Ward,  and  has  been  an  officer  in  the  Gem 

Valley  Cattlemen's  Association  for  a  number  of 
years.  He  also  works  for  the  Caribou  County  Fair 
in  the  Draft  Horse  Show  and  pulling  matches. 

m-^ 
Alfred  F.  and  Margaret  M.  Hill 

ALFRED  FRANCIS  HILL  came  into  the  Gem 

Valley  in  1915.  He  was  a  registered  pharmacist.  He 

had  his  years  of  practical  experience  working  in  the 

Christmas  drug  store  in  Kemmerer,  Wyoming  dur- 
ing his  high  school  years.  He  took  a  correspondence 

course,  and  then  went  back  east  to  pass  the 

necessary  examinations.  It  was  following  this,  that 

he  came  to  Grace  and  bought  half  interest  in  the 
local  drug  store,  which  was  owned  by  the  dentist. 

(Dr.  Meek)  and  Dr.  Hubbard.  He  bought  Dr.  Hub- 

bard's interest,  and  it  wasn't  long  before  he 
purchased  the  other  half. 

The  drug  store  is  the  same  one  which  was  owned 

by  Lowe  Drug  Co.  before  they  built  the  one  which 
they  now  own.  It  was  located  on  the  spot  where  the 

parking  lot  for  the  post  office  is  at  the  present  time. 
There  was  an  old  board  fence  connecting  the  drug 

store  and  the  building  now  occupied  by  Sam's 
Market.  It  was  a  two  story  building,  and  the  top 

had  a  dentist  office  in  it.  He  called  his  store  'The 

Rexall  Drug." In  1916  he  and  MARGARET  MILLIKEN  were 

married  in  Paris,  Idaho.  They  spent  their  honey- 
moon in  Fish  Haven,  Idaho.  While  there  they  rode 

on  the  old  launch  at  the  lake.  They  returned  to 

Grace  to  make  their  first  home.  While  they  lived 

here,  they  were  blessed  with  a  son  Robert  Francis: 
two  vears  later  another.  Alfred  Darwin. 
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It  was  about  1919  when  the  Cavalry  was  organiz- 
ed. A.F.  Hill  was  the  first  Captain  of  the  Cavalry. 

There  were  about  60  horses,  with  other  horses 

brought  in  for  breeding  purposes.  One  of  these  was 
a  stallion  from  the  remount  station  in  Boise,  which 

also  the  people  of  the  valley  were  able  to  use  for  a 
fee.  Alfred  donated  $5,000  to  the  building  of  the 

Cavalry  Barn. 

Alfred  was  known  to  the  whole  valley  as  'Doc' 
Hill,  because  this  is  what  he  became,  somethimes 

out  of  necessity,  as  there  was  just  one  doctor.  He 
assisted  Dr.  Hubbard  many  times  during  the  fiu 

epidemic;  also  he  helped  many  people  in  emergency 
situations.  He  is  still  known  and  remembered  for 

his  keen  knowledge  of  medicine,  and  the  good  he 
accomplished. 

Fred  Greenwood  recalled  the  Hill  family 

donating  the  money  to  buy  the  first  swings  for  the 
old  elementary  school.  During  this  time  they 
purchased  two  more  drug  stores.  One  was  in  Paris, 

Idaho  and  the  other  in  Evanston,  Wyoming. 
Alfred  and  Margaret  were  divorced  in  1923.  He 

left  here  in  1927.  He  returned  to  Soda  Springs  to 
have  necessary  surgery  in  May  1943.  He  insisted  on 

returning  here,  even  though  he  lived  in  Salmon, 
Idaho.  He  died  in  the  Soda  Springs  Hospital 

following  this  surgery.  He  was  buried  in  Lewiston, 
Idaho. 

Margaret  returned  here  after  her  retirement,  and 

spent  her  two  remaining  years  living  with  her  son 
Robert  and  his  family.  She  also  died  in  the  Soda 

Springs  Caribou  Memorial  Hospital  in  September 
1975.  She  was  buried  in  the  Grace  cemetery. 

LORIN  W.  HOGAN  was  born  March  6,  1919  at 
Thatcher,  Idaho.  BERNEICE  LLOYD  was  born 

May  9,  1920  at  Lago,  Idaho.  They  were  married 
August  18,  1943  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple,  Salt 
Lake  City,  Utah. 

Lorin  served  on  the  High  Council  for  12  years, 
and  was  Bishop  of  Thatcher  Ward  for  six  years.  He 
served  a  mission  in  the  East  Central  States.  He  was 

manager  of  Gentile  Valley  Land  and  Cattle  Com- 
pany for  five  years,  and  Director  on  the  Eastern 

Idaho  Grazing  Association  for  six  years.  He  was  a 
trustee  on  the  Grace  School  Board  for  three  years. 

Berneice  worked  in  the  Primary  in  Grace  First 
Ward,  and  Thatcher  Ward.  She  was  in  the  Sunday 
School  in  Thatcher  Ward  when  she  was  in  an  acci- 

dent. After  being  in  the  accident,  Berneice  took  up 
embroidering,  even  though  one  arm  remained 
broken. 

Lorin's  occupation  was  ranching.  Lorin  and 
Berneice  had  two  daughters:  Diane  Hogan 

(Weaver),  and  Jan  Hogan  (Olson). 

Dora  and  Ezra  Hollingsworth 

EZRA  S.  HOLLINGSWORTH,  was  born 

February  12,  1909  in  Preston,  Idaho.  He  was  the 
son  of  Henry  Austin  and  Ann  Eliza  Martin 

Hollingsworth. 
DARLESKY  (DORA)  THATCHER  was  born 

February  26,  1910  to  Howard  E.  and  Amy  Larkin 
Thatcher  in  Thatcher,  Idaho. 

Ezra  and  Dora  were  married  June  17,  1929  in 

Preston,  Idaho.  The  marriage  was  solemnized  in 
the  Ogden.  Utah  Temple  in  February  1977. 

The  following  children  were  born  to  this  couple: 

Colleen  (died  in  1932),  Wilham  T.,  Ann  H. 
Spencer,  and  Hal  T.   (died  in  Viet  Nam  in  1966). 

Ezra  was  a  farmer,  and  worked  at  the  Gem 

Valley  Grain  Growers  for  23  years.  His  interest  was 

in  repairing  and  reconditioning  antique  farm  equip- 
ment, and  to  build  clocks. 

Dora  worked  for  Peterson's  A.  G.  Market  for  20 
years  as  a  checker.  They  both  retired  in  March 
1974.  They  loved  the  outdoors,  gardening,  and 

keeping  a  neat  yard. 
Ezra  died  April  19,  1977  at  Grace,  Idaho. 

MERRILL   DALTON   HUBBARD    was  born 

January  13,  1918  in  a  small  home  on  East  Center 
Street  in  Grace,  Idaho. 
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SHIRLEY  BYERS  was  born  in  Dallas  City, 
Hancock  County,  Illinois  July  7,  1918. 

Merrill  and  Shirley  were  married  in  the  Salt 

Lake  City  Temple  September  18,  1945.  The  follow- 

ing children  were  born  to  this  union:  Sheryl, 
Pamela,  James  W.  (Jim)  Mark,  Scott,  Barbara, 
Terese,  and  Mathew. 

Merrill  is  a  dairy  farmer  four  miles  east  of 

Grace,  Idaho.  He  graduated  from  Grace  High 
School  in  1936,  and  filled  a  mission  for  the  L.D.S. 

Church  to  the  Northern  States  Mission.  He  spent 
three  years  in  the  Service  in  the  15th  Air  Force  in 

World  War  11  as  navigator  in  B-17  Bombers  and 
was  awarded  the  DFC.  He  was  Bishop  of  the  Bench 
Ward  for  5  years.  He  spent  two  years  in  the  Service 

in  the  Air  Force  during  the  Korean  War  (1951-53). 
He  has  been  a  director  on  the  Last  Chance  Canal 

Company  for  16  years,  secretary  of  the  East 

Branch  Canal  Company  for  22  years,  president  of 
Caribou  County  Farm  Bureau,  and  served  on  the 
Bannock  Stake  High  Council. 

Merrill's  hobbies  and  interests  are  his  family, 
hunting,  and  raising  registered  Brown  Swiss  cat- 

tle, and  singing. 

Shirley  is  a  graduate  of  Hyde  Park  High  School 
in  Chicago,  Illinois,  where  she  received  the 

American  Legion  Citizenship  Award.  She  attended 

Wayne  University  in  Detroit,  Michigan.  Before  her 
marriage,  she  worked  for  R.  L.  Polk  Company  of 
Detroit  in  the  accounting  department  as  an  auditor. 
Shirley  has  served  on  the  Bannock  Stake  Relief 

Society  Board  for  24  years;  17  years  as  the 
organist,  and  currently  as  the  Spiritual  Living 

Teacher.  She  is  a  4-H  Foods  Club  Leader,  and  has 

been  a  ward  Beehive  Leader  for  10  years.  She  en- 
joys reading,  music,  genealogy,  her  family,  and 

farm  living  in  Gem  Valley. 

ROBERT  WILLIAMS  HUBBARD  was  born  in 

Logan,  Utah  on  the  24th  of  April  1916,  the  son  of 
Alma  E.  and  Mana  Williams  Hubbard.  Robert,  or 

'Bob'  grew  up  in  Niter,  just  south  of  Grace  where 
he  worked  on  the  family  farm  and  attended  the 

two-room  Niter  school.  He  learned  early  how  to 
work  and  get  along  with  men,  by  working  with  his 
father  and  three  older  brothers  in  operating  an 
irrigated  farm  with  sheep  and  dairy  cows,  along 
with  a  sawmill.  Under  the  teachings  of  his  father, 

the  boys  were  kept  busy  from  early  dawn  til  after 
dark. 

Robert  Hubbard Aileen  Hubbard 

Bob  attended  high  school  in  Grace  and  while  go- 
ing to  school  milked  25  to  40  head  of  cows  night 

and  morning.  His  older  brothers  operated  the  saw- 

mill and  logged  in  Eight-mile  Canyon.  During  the 
summer,  besides  milking  the  cows,  he  ran  a  hay 

crew.  Hay  balers  were  not  known  in  those  days  so 

hay  was  pitched  by  hand  and  stacked  with  a 

Jackson  fork  and  a  'Mormon'  derrick. 

He  graduated  from  Grace  High  School  in  1934 
and  worked  with  his  brothers  at  the  sawmill  the 
next  winter.  In  the  fall  of  1935  he  enrolled  at  Utah 

State  Agriculture  College  at  Logan,  Utah  where  he 
studied  auto  mechanics  and  welding  during  that 

school  year.  In  January  of  1937  he  left  for  a  two 
year  mission  to  Australia.  He  served  in  Victoria 
and  as  the  District  and  Branch  President  in  the 

West  Australia  city  of  Perth.  While  in  Perth  he 
received  a  telegram,  August  1938,  that  his  father 

had  died.  He  completed  his  mission  and  was  releas- 
ed in  March  1939,  and  arrived  home  just  in  time  to 

help  with  the  spring  lambing  and  planting. 

In  July  of  that  year.  Bob  and  AILEEN 
ASHBAKER,  were  married  in  the  Temple  at 
Cardston,  Alberta,  Canada.  She  had  been  serving 

as  a  missionary  in  the  Northwestern  States  Mission 
and  chose  the  Cardston  Temple  as  the  place  she 
wanted  to  be  married. 

Aileen  was  born  in  Grace  on  the  10th  of 

November,  1915  to  Charles  and  Esther  Peterson 

Ashbaker.  After  graduating  from  Grace  High 

School  in  1934  she  worked  in  and  around  Grace  un- 
til she  left  for  her  mission  in  January  1938. 

At  the  time  of  his  marriage,  Bob  was  serving  as 

the  superintendent  of  the  Williams  Ward  Sunday 
School.  He  was  sustained  as  Bishop  of  that  ward  on 
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September  30,  1945.  The  Williams  Ward 
churchhouse  was  built  while  he  was  bishop.  After 

nine  years  he  was  released  as  bishop  and  ap- 
pointed second  counselor  in  the  Bannock  Stake 

Presidency,  where  he  served  until  May,  1956.  He 
built  a  new  home  at  Alexander  and  he  and  his  fami- 

ly moved  there  in  June  1956  to  be  closer  to  his  far- 
ming operations  at  Alexander  and  north  of  Soda 

Springs.  On  23  June  1957  he  was  chosen  as  Bishop 
of  the  Soda  Springs  Second  Ward  where  he  served 
until  April  1959.  He  was  sustained  as  first 
counselor  in  the  Idaho  Stake  Presidency  on  March 

15,  1959,  and  then  ten  years  later,  March  1969,  was 
called  to  be  the  Stake  President  where  he  served  un- 

til March  1974.  Aileen  worked  in  the  Primary, 

Sunday  School,  M.I. A.,  and  Relief  Society. 
During  the  winter  of  1975  and  1976  Bob  and 

Aileen  served  a  six  month  mission  in  the  New  Mex- 

ico Albuquerque  Mission.  On  their  return  from 
their  mission,  Bob  was  called  and  ordained  as 

Idaho  Stake  Patriarch  by  Elder  Mark  E.  Peterson 
of  the  Counsel  of  the  Twelve. 

Besides  his  church  work  and  farming.  Bob  has 
served  two  terms  in  the  Idaho  State  Legislature,  as 

a  Farm  Bureau  President  and  is  now  president  of 
the  Soda  Springs  Elevator,  a  company  he  jointly 
owns.  What  time  he  has  outside  of  farming  3,000 

acres,  operating  the  elevator  business,  and  atten- 
ding to  his  church  activities  he  spends  building 

machinery  and  traveling.  His  greatest  joy  are  his 

six  children  -  Robert  Brent,  Cheryl,  MarGene,  and 
Evelyn,  David  A.,  and  Randall  A.  -  and  19 
grandchildren. 

WESLEY  WILLIAMS  HUBBARD  was  born 

May  2,  1902  at  Logan,  Utah  to  Alma  Edwards 
Hubbard  and  Mana  Williams  Hubbard.  His 

parents  then  lived  in  a  log  cabin  in  Bench,  Idaho 
where  they  had  homesteaded. 

In  the  spring  of  1910  the  family  moved  to  the 
home  in  Niter  where  his  third  and  part  of  the  fourth 

grades  of  school  were  held  in  the  old  church  house, 
then  known  as  the  Niter  Amusement  Hall,  until  the 

school  was  completed.  He  later  attended  Brigham 

Young  College  at  Logan  part  time  for  two  years 
and  at  the  Utah  State  Agriculture  College  two 
winter  quarters. 

Just  before  leaving  for  the  mission  in  New  York 

he  and  EDITH  WHITWORTH  were  married  in 

the  Logan  Temple  on  February  1,  1924. 

On  August  25,  1929  he  was  sustained  as  Bishop 
of  the  WilliamsWard.  Wesley  served  as  Bishop  for 

six  years  until  his  work  at  the  Eight  Mile  Sawmill 
kept  him  away  from  his  duties  as  Bishop  too  much 
of  the  time  so  he  was  released  as  Bishop  and 
sustained  as  Second  Counselor  to  Bishop  George 
Dalton. 

His  father  passed  away  suddenly  in  August, 

1938,  leaving  the  responsibility  of  the  farm 
operations  to  his  sons.  Wesley  took  the  leadership 
and  the  four  sons,  Wesley,  John,  Delos,  and  Robert 

formed  a  family  organization  known  as  Hubbard 
Brothers.  They  began  to  expand  after  a  few  years 

buying  property  north  of  Soda  Springs  and  in  Mon- 
tana. As  their  families  grew  up,  Hubbard  Brothers 

was  dissolved  and  each  family  took  a  portion  of  the 

property  and  operated  on  their  own.  Wesley  and  his 

sons,  forming  the  corporation  of  Wesley  W.  Hub- 
bard and  Sons,  stayed  on  the  homeplace. 

After  Wesley  had  had  six  eye  operations  in  1964, 

he  and  Edith  accepted  the  fact  that  the  remainder 
of  his  life  would  be  without  sight.  He  kept  himself 

busy  in  improving  his  mind  and  education  by  stay- 
ing abreast  of  all  current  events  in  the  news  media 

over  radio  and  television  and  having  heard  around 

3,000  books  and  magazines  over  record  and  tape 

players,  plus  many  hours  Edith  has  spent  reading  to him. 

Wesley  was  a  real  community  and  civic  leader 
and  booster.  He  helped  promote  and  organize  the 

Gem  Valley  Cooperative  Cheese  Co.,  led  out  in  get- 
ting electric  power  into  the  community;  President 

and  director  of  the  Bench  Canal  Co.;  the  Last 

Chance  Canal  Co.;  Director  of  Gem  Valley  Grain 
Growers,  Idaho  Cattle  Feeders  Association,  Idaho 
State  Reclamation  Association,  and  Alternate 

director  of  Bear  River  Compact;  and  helped 

organize  the  Meadow  Creek  Cattle  Association, 

The  Grace  Potato  Seed  Growers.  'Black  and  White 

Days',  the  Caribou  County  Fair,  and  helped  obtain 
the  County  Fair  Grounds. 

He  was  a  trustee  on  the  Niter  School  Board  and 

helped  get  into  the  Grace  School  district,  has  a  25 
year  pin  for  membership  in  the  Grace  Lions  Club, 
and  was  a  member  of  the  Caribou  County  Posse. 

Wesley  passed  away  Sunday,  August  29,  1976,  at 
his  home  in  Logan,  Utah.  He  was  the  father  of 
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Deon,  Verl  and  Craig  of  Bonners  Ferry,  and  Mrs. 
Stephen  (Carol)  McDonald  of  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah. 

MERRILL  WEAVER  HULSE,  son  of  George 
Weaver  and  Pearl  Sorensen  Hulse  was  married  to 

BLANCHE  CHRISTENSEN  November  7,  1935. 

Blanche  is  the  daughter  of  Ferdinand  and  Marie  A. 
Christensen.  Blanche  and  Merrill  graduated  from 
the  high  school  in  Grace,  Idaho.  Blanche  has  been 

very  active  in  the  Church,  holding  several  positions, 
mostly  in  music,  and  has  taught  piano  lessons  for 
seventeen  years.  They  are  the  parents  of  four 
children:  Joseph  Merrill.  Marie.  Mark  C.  and 
Marilyn. 

Charles  and  June  Izatt 

CHARLES  (CHUCK)  IZATT,  youngest  son  of 

Charles  and  Orpha  Izatt.  was  born  at  his  grand- 

parent's home  in  Greenville,  Utah,  May  26,  1911. 
His  older  brother,  John  O.  Izatt,  is  the  only  native 

of  Gem  Valley  to  be  listed  in  Who's  Who  In 
America.  Chuck  has  spent  his  entire  life  in 

Thatcher,  Idaho,  graduating  from  high  school  in 

May,  1931,  as  High  Honor  student.  He  had  also 
been  active  in  Drama  and  Athletics  and  was  editor 

of  the  school  paper. 

In  May  1932.  Chuck  went  to  the  Blackfoot. 
Idaho  Land  Office  where  he  filed  on  a  homestead 

(stock  raising  entry).  Elvard  F.  Ziegler  relinquished 
his  filing  to  Chuck.  He  spent  the  next  few  years 

developing  his  homestead  and  final  proof  was  made 

on  April  23.  1937. 
When  his  father  died  on  October  17,  1938,  he 

took  over  the  debt  and  responsibility  of  the  ranch, 
living  at  home  with  his  mother  and  nephew, 
McNeil  Glenn,  who  was  more  like  a  brother  to 
him. 

Chuck  married  LOA  JUNE  PETERSON,  eldest 

daughter  of  Victor  and  Myrtle  H.  Peterson,  in  the 
Salt  Lake  Temple.  June  30,  1943.  June  was  born  in 
Pingree,  Idaho,  June  21,  1922.  Her  family  later 
moved  to  Preston  where  June  graduated  from 

Preston  High  School  in  1940.  She  then  worked  a 
year  as  a  telephone  operator. 

On  June  2,  1945,  Chuck  and  June  purchased  the 

Grover  Wilker  ranch  adjacent  to  their  own.  and  in 

1947  they  purchased  the  Alma  Christensen  ranch 
which  lay  adjacent  to  their  range.  They  increased 

their  holdings  in  the  Cottonwood  Grazing  Associa- 
tion and  have  since  operated  a  very  nice  stock 

ranch,  raising  both  sheep  and  cattle. 
June  became  active  in  M.I. A.  work,  became  a 

talented  seamstress,  and  assisted  in  decorating  at 

many  wedding  receptions.  She  has  served  as  custo- 
dian of  the  Thatcher  Church  for  seven  years,  and 

has  taken  care  of  her  own  huge  lawn,  fiower  beds 

and  rock  garden.  A  few  years  after  their  marriage 
she  undertook  the  tremendous  job  of  painting  the 

old  two-story  ranch  house,  scraping  old  paint  off, 

applying  a  coat  of  primer,  then  three  coats  of  new 
white  paint,  climbing  ladders,  mixing  paint,  day 

after  day  of  hard  work  until  she  finished,  with  very 
little  help.  It  was  a  beautiful  paint  job. 

Chuck  filled  a  stake  mission,  was  president  of  the 

First  Elder's  Quorum,  one  of  the  Seven  Presidents 
of  the  108th  Quorum  of  Seventies,  taught  the  un- 

married class  in  Sunday  School  for  seven  years  and 

taught  a  ward  priesthood  class. 
He  introduced  the  first  herd  of  commercial  Black 

Angus  cattle  into  the  valley. 

He  has  always  loved  the  outdoors  and  since  the 

age  of  ten,  has  taken  long,  solo  rides  on  horseback 
in  the  mountains.  From  this  still  comes  his  greatest 

relaxation  and  enjoyment. 

Chuck  and  June  are  the  parents  of  the  following 
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children:  Ruth  (Mrs.  Ronnie  Beck),  Molly  (Mrs.  C. 
E.  Zobell),  Charles  (married  Carmen  Cornejo), 
Loa  Dawn  (Mrs.  Blake  Allen),  and  David  Scott, 

now  serving  a  mission  in  Japan. 
He  and  June  are  still  residing  on  their  ranch  at 

Thatcher. 

ELNORA  HAMP  JAMES,  was  born  April  4, 
1913,  in  Grace,  Idaho  to  George  and  Pearl  Larsen 

Hamp.  In  1923  she  moved  to  Eight  Mile  with  her 
parents, where  she  attended  school  and  graduated  in 

Montpelier,  Idaho.  She  was  the  oldest  of  five 
children.  She  sttended  Mount  Sherman  Ward  while 

in  Eight  Mile  and  she  served  as  chorister  and 

secretary  of  the  Sunday  School. 
She  met  and  married  JACK  JAMES,  from  Ivins. 

He  was  born  April  28,  1908  in  Tooele,  Utah  to 
James  and  Hattie  Gillett  James.  Jack  and  Elnora 

were  married  on  April  24,  1935  in  the  Salt  Lake 

City  Temple.  They  moved  back  to  Grace  to  make 
their  home.  They  are  the  parents  of  four  children: 
Loretta  Bath,  Geri  Bartlome,  Donnetta  Skinner, 
and  Duane  James. 

Elnora  served  as  counselor  in  the  Primary  and  as 

a  Relief  Society  block  teacher.  She  enjoys  cooking, 
quilt  making  and  sewing. 

They  owned  and  operated  their  farm  until  1976. 
After  they  retired  from  farming,  Jack  built  them  a 
new  home  in  Grace,  where  they  now  reside. 

Ruth  Peterson  Jenkins Kenneth  Peterson 

RUTH  P.  PETERSON  JENKINS  was  born 

April  6,  1902  to  Lottie  Reading  Pierce  and  Mr. 
Pierce. 

KENNETH    PETERSON,    son    of   Emil    and 

Matilda  Peterson,  was  born  in  Mink  Creek,  Idaho, 
October  6,  1903. 

Kenneth  and  Ruth  were  married  June  6,  1923  in 

Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  Four  children  were  born  to 
this  union:  Keith,  Colleen  P.  Roper,  Lynn,  and 
Glen. 

Kenneth  owned  and  operated  the  City  Cash 
Market  in  Grace  until  1940.  Kenneth  died 

February  15,  1940. 

Kenneth's  hobbies,  besides  his  market,  were 
fishing  and  his  family. 

Ruth  married  LORAN  AMOS  JENKINS  July 

23,  1943.  Twin  girls  were  born  to  them:  Judy  and 
Joan  Jenkins. 

Ruth  has  always  worked  in  the  music  department 
of  the  church  as  organist  and  chorister.  At  present 
she  lives  in  Mesa,  Arizona  and  still  holds  these 

same  positions  in  the  church  and  in  the  "Daughters 

of  the  Utah  Pioneers." 

Frank  and  Grace  Johnson 

GEORGE  DENZIL  JOHNSON,  son  of  Nels 

Peter  Johnson  and  Minnie  Ann  Whitehead  was 

born  September  3,  1908  in  Thatcher,  Idaho.  He 

was  the  youngest  son  of  two  sisters  and  five 
brothers.  He  lived  in  Niter  and  Thatcher.  In  1926 

he  married  NEVA  THOMAS,  daughter  of 
Howard  and  Annie  May  Thomas,  in  the  Logan 

L.D.S.  Temple.  Neva  was  born  December  20,  1904. 
Denzil  has  held  many  positions  in  the  church, 

M.I. A.  President,  and  counselor,  and  Sunday 

School  Superintendent,  and  counselor.  Neva  has 

been  Relief  Society  President,  block  teacher,  and 

has  held  a  position  as  organist  since  she  was  eight 
years  old  and  is  now  Sunday  School  organist. 
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They  lived  on  the  family  farm,  which  they  later 

bought  from  Denzil's  father  in  1936.  There  have 
been  many  hard  times,  but  Denzil  worked  at  many 
things  including  the  potato  warehouse,  and  cutting 
grain  for  other  people.  He  drove  the  first  school  bus 

which  was  made  by  Anderson  Lumber  Company 
and  put  on  a  big  truck.  He  did  this  for  five  years. 
The  route  ran  from  Niter  to  Grace.  He  hauled  milk 

for  Gem  Valley  Swiss  Cheese  for  seven  years.  His 
son,  Phillip,  helped  with  this  project. 

They  both  played  in  the  Thomas  Orchestra  for 

many  years. 

In  1963  they  sold  their  farm  to  Glen  Allen  and 

part  of  it  to  Wesley  Hubbard.  They  bought  Junior 

Rasmussen's  home,  a  duplex,  where  they  lived  until 
1973  when  they  bought  Blanche  Whitehead's 
house.  With  the  help  of  their  sons  and  their  wives 
they  remodeled  it,  and  it  has  become  their  home. 

After  they  moved  to  town  in  1963,  they  installed 
the  Johnson  Norge  Village  (a  laundromat).  This 

was  a  real  success  and  they  operated  that  until  1974 
when  they  sold  it  to  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Don  Jewett,  and 
they  retired  to  take  care  of  their  apartments. 

Their  children  have  been  taught  to  work  and  are 
successful  in  their  fields  of  work. 

Maxine  May  Johnston  and  husband  Glen  live  in 

Eugene,  Oregon;  Howard  Denzil  Johnson  and  wife 
Florence  live  in  Grace,  Idaho.  Howard  served  in 

the  Air  Force  for  four  years,  was  Bishop  in  the  se- 
cond ward,  and  is  distributor  of  Cream  of  Weber 

milk. 

Glen  Thomas  Johnson  and  wife  Carol  live  in  Salt 

Lake  City,  Utah.  He  is  co-owner  of  Utah  Sproket. 
Clyde  David  Johnson  and  wife  Kathleen  live  in 

Fruit  Heights, Utah.  He  is  head  parts  man  at  Rick 
Warner  Ford. 

Philip  Donald  Johnson  and  wife  Ann  live  in  Kan- 
sas, and  he  is  head  coach  of  the  Kansas  City  Kings. 

Philip  received  his  Masters  degree  from  U.S.U. 
where  he  excelled  in  athletics. 

All  of  their  children  are  members  of  the  church, 

and  have  held  responsible  positions  in  it. 
Last  August,  their  children  made  it  possible  for 

them  to  celebrate  their  50  years  of  marriage  which 
was  so  wonderful.  The  children  were  all  there  and 

so  many  relatives  and  friends  came  from  far  and 
near  to  offer  congratulations. 

Neva  has  spent  her  life  creating  beautiful 
handwork.   She  specializes  in  beautiful  afghans. 

Also  her  talents  include  the  making  of  beautiful 

quilts.  They  keep  busy,  because  they  believe  in  the 

old  adage,  'The  idle  mind  is  the  devil's  workshop'. 

Neva  and  Denzil  Johnson 

FRANK  W.  JOHNSON,  son  of  Nels  Peter 
Johnson,  and  Minnie  Ann  Whiehead  Johnson,  was 

born  on  July  5,  1906  in  Cove,  Idaho. 

Frank  spent  his  life  on  a  farm,  going  to  school  in 
Thatcher  and  Niter,  and  went  to  high  school  in 
Grace.  He  was  a  lover  of  horses.  He  loved  to  work 

with  them;  training  young  colts  to  lead,  keeping 

them  curried  and  brushed,  and  their  manes  trimm- 
ed. He  was  a  very  good  horse  trainer. 

Frank  and  Denzil  used  to  go  sleigh  riding  a  lot, 

and  had  many  roasted  potatoes  on  a  bonfire  while 
milking  cows.  Their  family  used  to  go  to  church  in 

the  old  white-top  buggy.  Frank  always  had  a  lot  of 
friends  around  him.  He  and  his  friends  used  to  go  to 

the  dances  held  every  week,  and  it  was  at  one  of 
these  dances  that  he  met  a  girl  named  Grace  Olsen. 

GRACE  ADRA  OLSEN  was  born  in  Mink 

Creek,  Idaho  on  the  24th  of  April,  1909  to  George 

A.  Olsen  and  Agnes  Baird  Olsen. 

When  Grace  was  four  years  old  her  family  mov- 
ed to  Grace,  Idaho  to  the  Fred  Potter  farm  west  of 

the  town.  She  attended  school  in  Grace.  She  went 

to  many  dances,  parties  and  roller  skating  parties. 
It  was  at  one  of  these  occasions  that  she  met  Frank 
W.  Johnson. 

They  started  dating  and  were  later  married  in 
1927. 
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They  moved  to  Niter,  Idaho  to  live  and  were 
blessed  with  eight  lovely  children.  They  had  five 

daughters  and  two  sons:  Betty  Roper,  Shirley 

Lloyd,  Kaleen  Higgins,  Mary  Amason,  Val,  and 
Leland. 

Frank  worked  in  the  Mutual,  Sunday  School 
and  later  he  was  a  counselor  to  Bishop  George 

Dalton,  Wesley  Hubbard,  and  clerk.  In 
Niter, Idaho,  Grace  was  a  counselor  in  the 

Mutual,  a  Beehive  teacher.  They  changed  wards 
and  went  back  to  Thatcher  where  Frank  was  put  in 

as  superintendent  of  Sunday  School.  Grace  was  put 
in  as  Junior  Sunday  School  supervisor,  the  first 

Junior  Sunday  School  in  the  Bannock  Stake.  Later 
they  moved  back  to  Niter  and  bought  the  Bennett 

place. 
They  sold  their  place  in  Niter  and  bought  one  in 

Clifton,  Idaho,  where  they  lived  for  four  years. 
Their  two  daughters  had  graduated  by  this  time, 
and  were  in  Salt  Lake  City  at  L.D.S.  Business 

College.  After  much  thought  they  decided  to  come 
back  home  to  Grace.  They  bought  the  Glen  Jensen 

place  and  lived  there  until  they  decided  to  give  up 
their  dairy  farm  and  take  it  a  little  easier.  They  then 

bought  a  home  in  Grace  and  Frank  took  a  job  with 
Gem  Valley  Cheese  Factory  and  Grace  worked  at 
the  Grace  hot  lunch  program. 

They  are  now  retired  and  still  live  in  Grace. 

Kenneth  and  Julia  Kingsford 

KENNETH  O.  KINGSFORD,  son  of  Robert 

and  Mildred  Ormond  Kingsford  was  born  April  8, 
1904  at  Niter,  Idaho.  He  is  the  third  child  of  a 

family  of  ten.  His  parents  were  among  the  first 
settlers  in  the  valley. 

Kenneth  helped  his  father  in  every  way  he  could. 

At  five  years  of  age  he  herded  the  cows  all  during 
the  summer.  Sometimes  he  had  a  pony  to  ride  if  it 

weren't  needed  elsewhere.  When  they  got  fences 
built  to  keep  the  cows  in  the  pasture,  he  was  able  to 

help  clear  the  sage  brush  off  the  land. 
He  started  school  in  a  one  room  school  house, 

heated  by  a  coal  heater,  at  Niter.  After  two  years, 
he  went  to  Grace  for  the  remainder  of  his  elemen- 

tary and  high  school  education.  He  graduated  from 
Utah  State  Agriculture  College  (Utah  State 

University)  in  the  spring  of  1927. 
Kenneth  has  always  been  active  in  the  L.D.S. 

Church,  serving  as  secretary  in  the  Y. M.M.I. A, 
Seventies  Group  Leader,  and  secretary,  taught  a 

Sunday  School  class,  and  is  a  Home  Teacher. 
JULIA  ELIZABETH  BENSON  was  staying 

with  her  grandparents,  in  Logan,  at  the  time  she 
and  Kenneth  met.  and  they  were  married  in  the 

Logan  Temple.  October  22,  1927.  Julia 
was  born  September  22,  1909  in  Newton,  Utah, 

daughter  of  Daniel  Alma  and  Emma  Elizabeth 
Hansen  Benson.  She  was  the  oldest  child  in  a  fami- 

ly of  four  boys  and  three  girls. 
The  bride  and  groom  bought  a  farm  of  160  acres, 

and  their  first  home  was  a  house  built  by  Kenneth's 
grandfather,  William  Charles  Ormond.  They  lived 
on  the  farm  for  about  eighteen  years  during  which 
time  seven  children  were  born  to  bless  this  home: 

Ila,  Emma,  Alvin,  Earl,  Lee,  Keith,  and  Grant. 

In  1945  when  Kenneth's  parents  decided  to  sell 
their  farm,  Kenneth  and  Julia  bought  it.  During  the 

next  eight  years  another  son  and  daughter  were 
born:  Lowell  and  Martha  Faye. 

In  1972  Kenneth  and  Julia  received  a  mission  call 

to  the  South  West  Indian  Mission.  They  served  one 

year  in  New  Mexico  and  Arizona,  and  were 
successful  in  bringing  quite  a  few  into  the  church. 
At  the  end  of  one  year  of  teaching  the  Gospel,  they 

were  called  by  their  Mission  President  to  help  in  the 
Mission  Home.  He,  taking  care  of  the  yard  and 

gardens,  and  she  doing  the  cooking.  They  were  real- 
ly blessed  to  be  able  to  do  this  for  the  year  they 

were  in  Holbrook,  Arizona.  They  were  released  on 

July  1,  1974. 
Kenneth  and  Julia  sold  their  farm,  except  40 

acres,  to  their  daughter  and  son-in-law.  They  rent 
most  of  the  remaining  land.  Kenneth  milks  a  few 

cows,  and  Julia  enjoys  doing  all  kinds  of  handwork 
and  quilting.  They  both  enjoy  church  work. 
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Parley  and  Ann  Lloyd,  Jr. 

PARLEY  LLOYD,  JR.  was  born  October  25, 
1911. 

ANN  PACKER  was  born  June  26,  1916. 

They  were  married  June  5,  1939  in  the  Salt  Lake 
Temple  at  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 
Two  children  were  born  to  them:  Karen  L. 

Burke,  and  Spencer  Packer  Lloyd. 
At  the  present  Parley  is  a  part  time  salesman.  He 

worked  for  the  Utah  Power  and  Light  Company 

for  eight  years,  and  farmed  for  twenty  years. 
Parley  graduated  from  Grace  High  School, 

attended  B.Y.U.  at  Provo,  Utah.  He  served  a  mis- 
sion in  California.  He  was  a  member  of  the  school 

board  at  Wardboro,  Idaho,  a  member  of  the 

Montpelier  Lions  Club,  and  director  on  the 

Farmer's  Land  and  Irrigation  Co.  He  has  been  a 
member  of  the  Montpelier  Stake  and  Grace,  Idaho 

Stake  High  Council,  officiator  at  the  Logan  Tem- 
ple, High  Priests  Group  Leader  of  the  Logan  9th 

Ward,  and  Bishop  of  the  Grace  Second  Ward.  He 
is  a  member  of  the  Sons  of  the  Utah  Pioneers. 

Ann  does  lots  of  crocheting  and  handwork,  and 

now  she  and  Parley  are  taking  lessons  on  the  elec- 
tric organ  as  their  hobby. 

HAROLD  B.  LOWE,  oldest  son  of  Moroni  W. 

and  Mary  Ann  Lowe,  was  born  in  a  two-room  log 
cabin  on  the  Lowe  homestead  in  Grace  April  30, 
1910.  He  received  his  schooling  in  Grace  and 

graduated  from  Grace  High  School  in  1929. 

After  attending  B.Y.U.  one  year,  he  served  a  two 
year  mission  to  the  Southern  States,  laboring  in  the 
Alabama  district.  He  had  the  honor  of  serving  as 

District  President  for  18  months  under  President 
Charles  A.  Callis. 

Returning  home,  he  attended  Idaho  State 

College  for  one  year  and  then  went  to  Los  Angeles 
where  he  entered  an  automotive  and  diesel 

engineering  school.  After  graduation,  he  worked 
for  the  school. 

While  working  in  Los  Angeles  he  met  WINONA 
LUNDGREEN.  They  were  married  in  the  Salt 

Lake  L.D.S.  Temple  on  June  15,  1937.  Winona  was 
born  June  4,  1916,  and  raised  in  Monroe.  Utah,  the 

second  child  in  a  family  of  two  boys  and  three  girls. 
In  1938  Harold  and  Winona  returned  to  Grace 

where  he  was  employed  by  the  Equity  Elevator  and 
Trading  Company. 

During  1946-47,  while  serving  as  secretary  of  the 
Idaho  State  Farm  Bureau,  he  assisted  in  organizing 

Farm  Bureau  organizations  in  Bear  Lake,  Caribou, 

Bannock,  Bingham,  Power,  and  Bannock  Counties, 
all  of  which  are  still  functioning. 

Winona  and  Harold  B.  Lowe 

Harold  was  secretary  of  the  Gem  Valley  Rod  and 

Gun  Club  for  many  years  and  was  a  member  of  a 

competitive  rifle  team.  Competition  was  interstate. 

He  was  past  president  of  the  Grace  Lions  Club 
and  secretary  under  four  presidents.  He  was  also  a 
member  of  the  Caribou  County  Posse. 

During  sessions  of  the  state  legislature  in  Boise  in 
1946  and  1948,  he  was  actively  engaged  in  lobbying 

to  get  the  Grace  area  from  Bannock  County  to 
annex  with  Caribou  County. 

Harold  Lowe  was  instrumental  in  organizing  the 

Grace  Development  Association.  This  organization 
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raised  funds  through  a  sale  of  stock  to  some  160  in- 
vestors and  built  the  Grace  Theatre  building  and 

equipped  the  theatre. 
He  was  elected  Mayor  of  Grace  for  a  series  of 

terms,  covering  over  twenty  years  in  that  office. 
Some  of  the  things  accomplished  during  those 

years  are:  lighting  on  the  fair  grounds;  the 
purchase  of  one  half  block  of  land,  city  building, 
and  equipment  of  two  desks,  a  safe,  chairs, 
typewriters,  and  file  cabinets  for  $3,000;  negotiated 
a  storm  drain  system  with  the  State  Highway 

Department,  and  got  it  installed  without  any  cost  to 

the  City  of  Grace;  the  old  bond  issue  was  paid  off; 
Main  Street  was  widened  with  new  curbs  and 

gutters,  and  streets,  water  and  sewer  lines  were 
developed  in  four  new  subdivisions  in  Grace. 

Winona  has  been  an  active  member  of  the  L.D.S. 

Church,  serving  in  various  positions.  For  miany 
years  she  has  been  the  Grace  reporter  for  the 

Caribou  County  Sun  Newspaper.  She  is  a  long- 
time member  and  officer  of  the  Grace  Literary 

Club  and  has  held  many  civic  responsibilities. 

Harold  and  Winona  are  parents,  by  adoption  of 
four  children:  Mary  Ann,  Jon,  Chris,  and  Sandra. 

DANIEL  HERMAN  MAUGHAN  was  born 

February  18,  1911,  in  Wellsville,  Utah.  His  parents 

were  Daniel  "Dell"  Parkinson  and  Alice  Haslam 
Maughan    He  married  LIBBIE  CHATTERTON 
COMISH  August  2,  1933  in  the  Logan  Temple. 
She  was  born  October  6,  1910  in  Franklin  Idaho. 

Her  parents  were  Robert  Carlos  and  Violet  May 
Chatterton  Comish. 

Herman  has  enjoyed  carpenter  work,  farming, 
and  training  and  riding  horses.  Some  of  his  church 

positions  have  been  scout  master,  second  counselor 
in  the  Bishopric,  Sunday  School  teacher,  teacher  to 

the  Priests,  Deacons  and  High  Priests.  Libbie  en- 
joyed crocheting,  taking  care  of  flowers  and  gar- 

den, home-making  and  family.  Libbie's  church  ac- 
tivities have  been  Sunday  School  teacher.  Relief 

Society  visiting  teacher  and  secretary  and  Sunday 
School  librarian. 

Their  children  are:  Roberta-married  to  Nolan 

Mecham,  the  basketball  coach  at  Snake  River 

High,  Joyce-married  to  Richard  Kirby,  a  farmer  at 
Grace,  Keith-married  Janet  Ann  Burton,  he  was 
killed  in  a  car  accident  October  25,  1956. 

They  have  lived  in  Grace  and  Central  all  their 

lives  except  for  one  year  in  Brigham  City  in  1938, 
and  one  year  in  Paso  Robles,  California,  in  1941, 

Sybil  and  Weldon  C.  McGregor 

WELDON  C.  McGregor  was  born  in  Perry, 

Idaho  on  September  24,  1918.  SYBIL  N. 
McGregor  was  bom  November  4,  1920  in 

Riverdale,  Idaho.  Weldon  and  Sybil  were  married 
on  April  3,  1940  at  the  Salt  Lake  Temple  in  Salt 
Lake  City,  Utah. 

They  enjoy  farming,  golfing,  raising  three  sons, 
and  cooking.  Their  sons  are:  Courtney  McGregor, 
LeGrande  McGregor,  and  William  McGregor. 

MILLEN  H.  MENDENHALL,  son  of  WiUiam 
H.  and  Naomi  Herd  Mendenhall  was  born 

February  26,  1904  at  Lago,  Idaho. 

DELLA  THATCHER,  daughter  of  Howard  E. 

Millen  H.  and  Delia  Mendenhall 
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and  Amy  Larkin  Thatcher  was  born  September  5, 
1903  at  Cove,  Idaho. 

Millen  and  Delia  were  married  December  25, 

1925  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple.  They  have  been 
blessed  with  three  fine,  devoted  children.  Patricia 
married  Norman  B.  Smith.  She  is  Personal  Direc- 

tor of  the  Power  County  Hospital.  Millen  Dwight 

married  Merle  Burningham.  He  is  co-partner  in 
the  Specialty  Sales  Company.  Dr.  Von  T. 
Mendenhall  married  Joan  Hubbard.  He  is  Assis- 

tant Professor  of  Nutrition  and  Food  Science,  at 

the  Utah  State  University,  Logan,  Utah. 
Millen  and  Delia  graduated  from  the  Central 

High  School,  Thatcher,  Idaho.  They  then  attended 
the  Idaho  Technical  Institute,  Pocatello,  Idaho 

(Now  I.S.U.).  They  secured  their  Teaching  Cer- 
tificates, which  qualified  them  to  teach  in  the 

schools  of  Idaho.  Teaching  became  a  real  challenge 
in  the  days  from  1925  to  1964. 

During  their  years  of  teaching  they  were  able  to 
purchase  the  Howard  E.  Thatcher  farm.  Teaching 

and  farming  became  their  livelihood,  and  they 
received  much  joy  in  these  occupations. 

Millen  and  Delia  held  many  Stake  and  Ward 
positions  in  the  L.D.S.  Church.  Serving  the  Lord 

always  brings  happiness.  The  community  has  had 
continued  growth,  as  a  result  of  valuable  time  spent 
on  worthy  projects. 

The  Mendenhalls  now  live  in  the  19th  Ward, 

Logan,  Utah.  They  enjoy  doing  genealogy,  temple 
work,  church  work,  and  raising  beautiful  flowers, 

along  with  the  lawn  and  gardening  which  all  go  to 
beautify  their  home. 

CLARK  A.  MICKELSON  -born  at  Lago, 
Idaho,  May  11,  1912  -  the  fifth  of  seven  children 
born  to  Michael  and  Sadie  H.  Mickelson.  Clark 

received  his  early  schooling  in  Lago  and  as  a  boy  of 
ten,  rode  the  horse  on  the  hoist  to  take  the  brick 

and  mortar  up  while  building  the  Lago  school 
house.  Clark  attended  and  graduated  from  the 
Thatcher  High  School  and  it  was  here  that  he  met 
his  future  wife,  HELEN  NICHOLS. 

Helen  was  born  in  Payson,  Utah,  on  June  3, 

1913,  to  Benjamin  T.  and  Olive  B.  Nichols  -  one  of 
1 1  children.  Her  mother  died  when  Helen  was  1 1 

years  of  age,  after  which  she  and  her  four  un- 
married brothers  moved  with  their  father  to 

Samaria,  Idaho,   where  her  father  had  purchased  a 

Clark  and  Helen  Mickelson 

small  farm.  At  the  age  of  13  she  came  to  Thatcher, 

Idaho,  to  live  with  her  sister.  Vera,  and  brother-in- 
law,  Tom  Davis,  who  taught  school  there  for  12 
years.  Vera  and  Tom  Davis  are  grandparents  of  the 
famous  Osmond  Brothers  and  Donny  and  Marie. 
Their  mother,  Olive,  and  Helen  grew  up  together 
and  are  like  sisters. 

Clark  and  Helen  were  married  February  20. 

1935,  in  the  Logan  Temple.  After  living  with 

Clark's  parents  for  the  first  three  years,  they  built 
their  own  home  near  the  Lago  cemetery.  All  the 

lumber  for  the  house  was  hauled  from  the  moun- 

tains and  sawed  at  his  father's  sawmill.  Here,  at 

their  "Lago  View  Ranch",  they  have  been 
successfully  engaged  in  farming,  dairying,  and 

poultry  raising.  At  the  present  time  they  milk  from 
75  to  100  head  of  cows;  many  of  their  cows  have 
made  state  records  in  production. 

Clark  was  one  of  the  organizers  of  the  Gem 

Valley  Dairymen's  Assoc,  (co-op)  at  Thatcher.  He 
served  as  vice  president  of  this  organization;  also  as 
a  director  of  the  Challenge  Cream  and  Butter 

Assoc,  of  Los  Angeles,  where  they  marketed  their 

products.  He  served  on  the  Bannock  Dairymen's Assoc.  Board  and  on  the  executive  board  of  the 

Federated  Dairy  Farms  Inc.  of  Ogden.  While  ser- 
ving in  this  capacity  he  helped  to  organize  the 

Western  General  Dairies  Inc.  of  Midvale,  Utah, 

where  he  is  still  serving  as  a  director,  making  a  total 

of  31  years  of  service  as  director  of  dairy  boards. 
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He  has  always  been  interested  and  involved  in 
community  programs  and  development.  He,  with 
James  Swensen,  organized  the  Lago  Cemetery 
District  and  with  help  and  money  from  many  Lago 

people,  cleared  the  sage,  surveyed  the  plots,  put  in  a 
sprinkler  system  and  beautified  the  cemetery. 
Clark  was  appointed  commissioner  of  the  Lago 

Cemetery  District  in  1940,  which  position  he  still 
holds  today. 

Clark  also  served  as  road  overseer  for  six  years; 
an  A.S.C.  community  committeeman  for  11  years 

and  at  present  is  a  member  of  the  S.E.LC.O.G.  He 
is  serving  his  fourth  term  on  the  board  of  the  Gem 

Valley  Grain  Growers. 
Clark  and  Helen  have  both  been  very  active  in 

the  LDS  Church.  Clark  served  a  mission  to 

California  in  1932-34;  was  1st  Counselor  in  the 
Lago  Bishopric  for  six  years,  a  member  of  the  stake 
Sunday  School  board  and  a  member  of  the  stake 
high  council  for  1 1  years.  He  has  also  served  as 
president  and  teacher  in  the  various  auxiliaries  of 
the  church.  Helen,  likewise,  has  served  as  leader 

and  teacher  in  the  various  auxiliaries-  both  stake 
and  ward. 

Clark  and  Helen  are  the  parents  of  five  children  - 
Lovene  (Mrs.  Duane  Bitton),  Joan  (Mrs.  Arlen 

Meacham),  Roger,  Ethel  (Mrs.  Clayton  Brough), 
and  Willard. 

They  now  live  in  a  new  home  in  Lago,  located  on 
the  school  lot  where  Clark  started  school  58  years 

ago.  Here  they  hope  to  spend  their  remaining  years. 

HARRIS  ANTON  MICKELSON-  born  at 

Lago.  Idaho,  March  16.  1905  to  Michael  and  Sarah 

H.  Mickelson;  prominent  dairyman  and  life-time 
resident  of  Gem  Valley.  Harris  spent  his  early  years 

in  a  variety  of  occupations  -  farming;  working  at  his 

father's  sawmill;  early  road  construction  (where  a 
man  an  team  could  earn  $5.60  per  8  hour  day); 

mending  fences  (at  which  he  was  an  expert);  a 
teamster  for  the  Utah  Power  and  Light  Company; 
and  a  coal  miner  at  the  Brown  Bear  Coal  Mine  west 

of  Driggs.  Idaho. 

While  working  in  the  Teton  Valley  he  met  and 
married  NORMA  LETHAM.  Norma  was  born 

March  2,  1906,  to  Daniel  P.  and  Isabelle  M. 

Letham  -  the  fourth  child  in  a  family  of  eleven 
children. 

After  farming  a  short  time  in  Victor.  Idaho,  they 

Harris  and  Norma  Mickelson 

returned  to  Gem  Valley  and  purchased  48  acres  of 
land  in  Lago.  This  was  in  1926  and  here  they  spent 

eleven  happy  years,  with  Harris  farming,  trucking, 

logging  and  road  building. 
In  1937  they  purchased  the  Arthur  Collins  ranch 

of  400  acres  on  the  Bear  River,  accumulated  about 

20  dairy  cows  and  heifers,  and  this  was  the  begin- 
ning of  a  most  profitable  dairy  business.  They  built 

their  own  dairy  barn  -  the  first  year  it  had  no  roof 
or  floor.  The  cows  were  milked  by  hand. 

After  a  period  of  twenty  years,  and  a  great  deal 
of  hard  work  and  ingenuity,  an  outstanding  dairy 
business  was  established,  with  the  older  boys  taking 
over  most  of  the  responsibility. 

Harris  has  devoted  much  of  his  time  to  the 

building  trade,  being  well-trained  in  carpentry  and 
cement  work.  Many  of  the  first  sprinkler  system 

intakes  were  designed  and  built  by  him,  as  well  as 
several  homes,  milk  barns  and  quonset  sheds. 

Harris  served  two  stake  missions  and  twice  as 

Sunday  School  Superintendent  in  the  Lago  Ward. 
He  was  president  of  the  Bannock  Dairy  Association 

for  3  years  and  in  1969  was  elected  to  the  Idaho 
Dairy  Hall  of  Fame.  In  1976  he  was  presented  a 
trophy  as  Idaho  Holstein  breeder  of  the  year. 

Norma  has  been  very  active  in  the  church,  ser- 
ving first  in  the  Primary  and  later  a  total  of  thirteen 

years  in  the  Relief  Society  Presidency. 

Harris  and  Norma  are  parents  of  eleven  children: 
IdaBelle  (Wright;  Ardelle  (Holderness);  Daniel, 
Norma  (Putman);  Aloma  (Gregersen);  Riley; 
Helen  (Christensen);  Norris;  Nila  (Panter); 
Lawrence;  and  Neta  (Thomas). 
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Harris  and  Norma  celebrated  their  golden  wed- 
ding anniversary  on  November  12,  1975.  Although 

the  family  farm  and  dairy  are  now  owned  and 

operated  by  two  sons,  Riley  and  Lawrence,  they 
live  close  by  in  a  lovely  mobile  home  which 
overlooks  the  beautiful  Super  View  Dairy  Farm 
and  the  winding  Bear  River. 

Melvin  Mickelson Mary  Mickelson 

MELVIN   T.     MICKELSON    was   born   June 

21,  1908  in  Lago,  Idaho.  MARY  BANKS 
MICKELSON  was  born  November  9,  1907  in 

Ivins,  Idaho.  They  were  married  in  the  Salt  Lake 
Temple  April  24,  1935.  Their  children  are  Mary 
Jane  Mickelson  Ruud,  Sara  Ann  Mickelson  Lloyd, 

Michael  Mickelson,  and  Betsy  Lynn  Mickelson 
Stoner. 

They  have  farmed  and  been  in  the  dairy  business 
in  Lago  for  many  years. 

Mary  graduated  from  L.D.S.  Hospital  in  1931  as 
a  registered  nurse.  She  has  been  a  teacher  in  the 
Sunday  School,  M.I. A.  and  Relief  Society.  She  has 

taught  sewing  classes  and  first  aid  and  enjoys  sew- 
ing, gardening  and  upholstering. 

Melvin  served  a  mission  in  the  Western  States 

from  1927  to  1930.  He  has  served  as  Bishop  of  the 

Lago  Ward  from  1936  to  1947,  as  high  councilman 
from  1947  to  1952,  Stake  Sunday  School 

Superintendent  from  1952  to  1957,  and  as  the 
Stake  Patriarch  from  May  26,  1957  to  the  present. 
He  was  elected  to  Idaho  Dairy  Hall  of  Fame  in 

1970,  and  was  a  School  Trustee  at  the  time  of  con- 
solidation. 

Melvin's  hobbies  are  livestock  raising  and  hun- 
ting and  fishing. 

DELBERT  HVRUM  NIELSON  was  born  at 

Cleveland.  Idaho.  April  9.  1906  to  Edgar  Odland 
Nielson  and  Catherine  Ann  Bevins. 

He  attended  elementary  school  in  Cleveland,  and 
graduated  from  Central  High  School  at  Thatcher, 
Idaho  in  1924.  For  the  next  four  summer  quarters, 
he  attended  Idaho  Technical  Institute,  now  Idaho 

State  University,  1924-1927. 

He  married  LA  VINA  TANNER  July  2,  1928. 

He  taught  school  for  12  years,  and  was  secretary  of 
the  Gem  State  Mutual  Life  Insurance  for  a  time.  In 

1941  he  bought  a  small  grocery  store  and  service 
station  at  Niter,  Idaho  from  Dennis  Bennett.  They 
bought  their  home  from  Jack  Gibbs.  In  1968  he 
sold  his  business  to  Delia  Cornielson. 

Delbert  died  July  9,  1972  at  the  Logan  Hospital 
in  Logan,  Utah. 

LaVina  Tanner  Nielson  was  born  at  Mound 

Valley,  (Perry).  Idaho  August  7,  1905,  to  John 
Alma  and  Delilah  Warner  Tanner. 

She  graduated  from  the  elementary  grades  at 

Mound  Valley,  went  one  year  of  high  school  in 
Grace,  Idaho  and  graduated  from  the  Central  High 
School  at  Thatcher,  Idaho. 

LaVina  and  Delbert  are  the  parents  of  three 

daughters,  Dolores.  Arlene  Wilker,  and  Glenda 
Van  Sciever. 

LaVina  has  been  active  in  the  church,  serving  as 

a  teacher  in  Primary,  and  Sunday  School; 

Secretary  in  the  ward  and  stake  M.I. A.,  and  Relief 
Society  Visiting  Teacher  in  the  Relief  Society  for 

35  years;  secretary  for  the  Daughters  of  the  Utah 
Pioneers;  and  is  in  charge  of  the  Special  Interest 
Ladies  of  the  Williams  Ward. 

Delbert  F.  Nielson Lavina  T.  Nielson 
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JOHN  ALEXANDER  OLSEN  was  born  on  July 
14,  1907  at  Mink  Creek,  Idaho.  He  was  the  fourth 

child  and  the  second  son  of  George  and  Agnes 
Baird  Olsen. 

Alex  had  long  curly  hair.  When  he  started  school 
the  older  boys  made  fun  of  him,  and  he  came  home 

crying.  His  dad  took  him  to  the  barn  and  cut  his 
hair  with  the  sheep  shears.  To  this  day  Alex  hates 

curly  hair. 

In  1916  the  Olsen  family  moved  to  Grace  where 
they  had  bought  a  farm. 

Alex  finished  the  eighth  grade  in  Grace.  That 
was  the  end  of  his  formal  education.  He  worked  for 

the  Utah  Power  and  Light  on  the  pipelines,  then  he 
worked  for  John  Gibson. 

Alex  married  ETHEL  CHRISTENSEN 

November  13,  1929  in  the  Salt  Lake  City  Temple. 

Three  children  were  born  to  them.  Rao,  George, 
and  Lena. 

Ethel  had  a  bad  heart  most  of  her  life.  On  June 

16,  1943  she  passed  away. 

BARBARA  ANN  HOGAN,  was  born  December 

14,  1923  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho  to  Ira  H.  and 
Harriett  Permilia  Williams  Hogan.  She  has  lived 
her  entire  life  in  Grace,  Idaho  area.  She  attended 

grade  school  at  Cove  and  then  the  Thatcher  High 

School.  On  graduation  night  she  ran  away  and  got 
married,  to  ARIEL  BAIRD  OLSEN.  This  was 

May  24,  1941.  They  lived  on  a  farm  that  Ariel  and 

his  oldest  brother  had  bought  from  their  parents, 
George  and  Agnes  Olsen.  They  had  one  daughter, 
Annetta,  born  September  7,  1942.  On  January  31, 
1944  Ariel  had  a  heart  attack  and  was  found  dead 

in  the  barn,  where  he  had  been  milking  cows.  After 
Ariel  was  buried  they  went  to  her  parents  home  in 
Thatcher  to  live. 

Alex  and  Barbara  decided  it  was  not  good  to  live 
alone,  so  on  June  29,  1944  they  were  married  in 
Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  Alex  was  a  brother  to  Ariel, 
and  had  lost  his  wife. 

Alex  and  Barbara  had  two  daughters,  Jolene, 
and  Patty. 

They  were  in  the  sheep  business  for  about  15 

years;  they  also  milked  cows  along  with  farming. 

In  1965  Barbara  graduated  from  a  nursing 

course  and  became  a  licensed  practical  nurse. 
From  1965  until  Alex  became  ill,  Barbara  worked 

full  time  at  the  Caribou  Memorial  Hospital. 

In  1969  they  sold  their  sheep  and  grazing  rights, 

and  part  of  their  farm  and  moved  into  Grace. 
Alex  died  June  9,  1977. 

Standing:  Sherrie,  Helen,  Louette,  Fred;  Seated:  Phyllis 
and   Harley  Olsen 

HARLEY  GEORGE  OLSEN  was  born  October 

8,  1905  at  Minkcreek,  Idaho,  the  eldest  son  of 

George  A.  and  Agnes  Belle  Baird  Olsen.  He  attend- 
ed school  in  Minkcreek  and  Grace,  Idaho.  He  also 

attended  Henager's  Business  College  in  Salt  Lake 

City,  Utah. 

PHYLLIS  JOHNSON  was  born  October  30, 

1917  at  Hatch,  Idaho,  the  ninth  child  of  Frederick 
Johnson  and  Estella  Simons  Johnson.  She  attended 

school  at  Chesterfield,  Hatch  and  Bancroft,  Idaho. 
She  also  attended  the  McCune  School  of  Music 

and  Art  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  After  her  family 

were  all  in  school,  Phyllis  completed  a  licensed 
practical  nurse  course  at  the  Caribou  County 
Memorial  Hospital  in  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

Harley  and  Phyllis  were  married  December  6, 
1939  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple  at  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah. 

Harley  moved  with  his  family  to  Grace,  Idaho  in 

the  fall  of  1915,  when  his  parents  purchased  the 
Fred  Potter  farm  Vh  miles  west  of  Grace.  Harley, 

then  10  years  old,  and  his  brother  Alex,  8,  left 

Minkcreek  early  in  the  morning  walking  and  driv- 
ing the  cattle  to  their  new  home.  Harley  has  told 

many  times  how  glad  they  were  when  they  arrived 
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at  the  Ice  Cave  Knoll  after  dark  and  could  see  the 

lights  of  Grace. 

After  they  were  married  they  purchased  half  of 
the  Olsen  farm  and  Ariel,  the  youngest  brother 
purchased  the  other  half.  They  had  four  children, 
three  girls  and  one  boy:  Sherrie  Ann  Rubink  of 

Phoenix,  Arizona,  Helen  Harris  of  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah,  Louette  Trotter  of  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah, 

Frederic  H.  Olsen,  presently  attending  J.  Reuben 
Clark  Law  School  at  Provo,  Utah. 

Harley's  occupation  was  farmer  and  dairyman. 
He  took  great  pride  in  his  Holstein  milk  cows, 

many  of  which  were  registered.  He  held  many 
positions  in  the  church,  fulfilled  a  Stake  Mission, 
was  a  High  Priest,  and  was  President  and  water 

master  on  the  Tanner  Canal  for  many  years.  His 

main  hobby  was  his  family,  and  he  loved  carpenter 
work  and  gardening. 

Phyllis  is  a  licensed  practical  nurse,  taught  4H 
sewing  7  years.  L.P.N.  President,  Daughters  of 
Utah  Pioneers  County  Captain,  and  PTA  officer. 
She  has  held  many  positions  in  church,  both  ward 

and  stake,  and  is  presently  Stake  Relief  Society 
Music  Director  and  Literary  Club  President.  Her 
hobbies  are  music,  needlepoint,  and  crocheting. 

They  are  a  very  close  and  musical  family.  All  the 
children  sing,  play  the  piano  and  organ  plus  several 
other  instruments  such  as  the  guitar,  saxophone, 
clarinet  and  drums.  Phyllis  has  a  contralto  voice 
and  has  sung  many  times  at  funerals  and  numerous 

church  and  civic  programs.  She  has  also  conducted 
ward  and  stake  choirs  and  choruses. 

Harley  passed  away  on  February  26.  1973  and  is 
buried  in  the  Grace  Cemetery  at  Grace,  Idaho. 

VESTER  OLSEN  was  born  in  Mink  Creek, 

Idaho  April  13.  1913  to  George  and  Agnes  Bell 
Baird  Olsen. 

LILLIE  HANSEN,  daughter  of  Hans  Peter  and 

Nielsina  Bergquist  Hansen  was  born  in  Mink 
Creek,  Idaho  June  16,  1916. 

Vester  and  Lillie  were  married  in  the  Salt  Lake 

City  Temple  September  16,  1936.  They  have  two 
children:  Eugene  and  Joan. 

Vester's  occupation  has  been  farming.  He  moved 
to  Grace,  Idaho  with  his  folks  in  1915.  He  purchas- 

ed the  Montague  place  in  1939  where  he  still  lives 
and  farms. 

Lillie  is  a  homemaker.  She  loves  gardening  and 

yard  work  as  well  as  cooking  and  handwork.  She 
came  to  Grace  with  her  parents  from  Minkcreek 
in  1917. 

Terrell  Pack Mardean  Pack 

J.  TERRELL  PACK,  son  of  Horace  and  Annie 

Williams  Pack,  was  born  March  10.  1910  at  Grace, 
Idaho. 

MARDEAN  IZATT  was  born  to  Charles  and 

Orpha  Ormond  Izatt.  February  9.  1916  at  Logan, 
Utah. 

Terrell  and  Mardean  were  married  November 

28,  1934  in  the  Logan  Temple  at  Logan.  Utah. 
Five  children  were  born  to  Terrell  and  Mardean: 

Marion  Dimond,  Russell.  Terrell  Jr.,  Marjorie 
Ericksen,  La  Rene  Hailing. 

Terrell  has  been  a  carpenter  most  of  his  life.  He 

enjoys  hunting  and  fishing,  reading  and  doing 
genealogy. 

Mardean  works  at  the  City  Office  as  City  Clerk. 
She  likes  Genealogical  record  keeping  and 
research. 

DONALD  CAHOON  PANTER  was  born 

January  26,  1912  at  Mound  Valley.  Idaho. 
FLORENCE  CORBETT  was  born  August  2. 

1916  at  Turner,  Idaho. 
Don  and  Florence  were  married  June  7,  1937  at 

Ogden,  Utah  and  received  their  endowments 

August  17,  1938  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 
Four  boys  were  born  to  this  union:  Stephen 

Donald  Panter.  Lynn  Le  Roy,  Gary  William,  and 

Kip  Eugene. 
Donald  was  born  and  raised  at  Mound  Valley, 

Idaho.  He  was  the  tenth  child  in  a  family  of  twelve. 

His  mother  died  at  age  forty-two.  His  father  raised 

Biographies  IQOO'i:  —  531 



the  family  alone.  Donald  never  knew  what  it  was  to 
have  a  mother  in  the  home. 

Florence  was  born  and  raised  in  Turner  and 

Grace.  Idaho,  the  ninth  child  in  a  family  of  ten. 

After  their  marriage  they  resided  at  Mound 

Valley  and  were  engaged  in  dairy  farming  for  about 

eighteen  years.  They  moved  to  Grace  in  1954  and 
Donald  became  custodian  in  the  Grace  and  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho  schools.  He  is  still  serving  in  this 
capacity.  Florence  has  taught  school  within  the 
areas  of  Thatcher.  Grace,  and  Soda  Springs  for 

thirty-six  years. 
They  have  been  active  in  community  and  the 

church  for  many  years.  Donald  served  in  the  Sun- 
day School  Superintendency,  and  a  dance  director 

in  M.I. A.  Later  they  served  as  Stake  Dance  Direc- 
tors. She  has  also  been  active  in  music,  both  in  the 

community  and  church.  Donald  enjoys  gardening 
and  raising  flowers  as  a  hobby.  Since  retiring  from 
teaching,  Florence  has  a  studio  in  their  home  and  is 

giving  music  lessons. 

Wisconsin  April  27,  1946. 

Four  children  were  born  to  this  couple:  James  V. 
Ill,  Richard,  Patricia  A.  and  David  P. 

James  has  been  a  farmer  and  electrician.  He  was 

raised  on  a  farm  3  miles  south-west  of  Grace  (place 
of  his  birth).  He  lived  on  the  farm  until  he  entered 
the  Marines  in  February  1943.  He  spent  three  years 

in  the  Marines,  of  which  16  months  were  spent  in 
the  Pacific  Islands.  He  met  Lucille  (Lucky)  while 

stationed  in  Chicago,  Illinois  Naval  Training  Sta- 
tion, where  she  was  also  stationed.  Lucille  spent  Vh 

years  in  the  Navy  as  a  storekeeper.  After  their 

marriage  April  27,  1946,  they  returned  to  Idaho  to 

make  their  home.  After  farming  he  gained  employ- 
ment with  Monsanto  Co.  in  1966.  He  attained  the 

position  of  E.  and  I.  foreman  in  February  1967  and 
has  held  this  position  since.  They  enjoyed  hunting, 

fishing,  picnics,  and  photography,  but  mostly  their 
children. 

Lucille  passed  away  January  29,  1974. 

Lucille  and  James  V.  Parkhouse 

JAMES  V.  PARKHOUSE,  JR.,  son  of  James  V. 

Parkhouse.  Sr.  and  Harriet  Trappet  Parkhouse, 

was  born  August  25,  1924  at  Grace,  Idaho. 
LUCILLE  S.  YETKA  was  born  in  Superior, 

Wisconsin.  July  11.  1920. 
James  and  Lucille  were  married  in  Milwaukee, 

DONALD  T.  PETERSON,  son  of  Emil  and 

Matilda  Peterson,  was  born  in  Bench.  Idaho 

January  21,  1911. 
CHARLOTTE  VIENNA  LASLEY,  daughter  of 

William  and  Cassie  Lasley,  was  born  in  American 

Falls,  Idaho  September  11,  1911. 
Donald  and  Charlotte  were  married  January  25, 

1930  in  Paris.  Idaho.  Their  children  are:  Meredith 

Peterson  Skinner.  Mark  D.  Peterson,  and  Shannon 
Peterson  Mc  Carthy. 

Don  has  farmed  in  the  Grace  area  for  forty 

years.  He  has  been  an  active  member  of  the  Grace 

Ward,  Lions  Club,  Grace  Business  Men's  Associa- 

Donald  T.  Peterson Charlotte  L.  Peterson 
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tion.  member  of  the  Portneuf  Soil  Conservation, 

Caribou  County  Hospital  Board,  Southeastern 

Board  of  Health  Director,  Idaho  Cattlemen's 
Association,  member  and  Chairman  of  the  Grace 

School  Board  for  nine  years.  Board  of  directors  of 
Last  Chance  Canal  Co.,  First  West  Lateral,  and 
Peterson-Hansen  Ditch  Co. 

Charlotte  has  served  in  the  Primary  and 
Y.W.M.LA.  Presidencies  for  many  years.  She  is  a 
charter  member  of  the  Grace  Literary  Club,  and 
was  chairman  of  the  Grace  Library  Board. 

Their  hobbies  and  interests  are:  reading,  travel, 
and  grandchildren. 

Glen  H.  Peterson Fannie  W.  Peterson 

GLENN  HOWARD  PETERSON  was  born 

December  31,  1901  at  Mink  Creek.  Oneida  Coun- 
ty. Idaho.  FANNIE  W.  PETERSON  was  born 

April  22.  1902  at  Paris.  Idaho. 

Howard  and  Fannie  were  married  March  1.  1930 

at  Boise,  Idaho;  this  marriage  was  later  solemnized 

in  the  Logan  Temple,  June  7.  1933. 

Howard  has  enjoyed  working  on  genealogy  and 

doing  Temple  work.  He  has  participated  in  Utah 
Pioneers  activities.  He  received  his  B.S.  and 

Masters  Degrees  from  Utah  State  University,  was 

President  of  Bannock  County  Teachers  Associa- 
tion, and  a  life  time  member  of  N.E.A.  He  served 

as  President  of  the  Lions  Club,  Superintendent  of 
Stake  Y. M.M.I. A..  President  of  Ward 

Y. M.M.I. A.  and  was  Chairman  of  the  District  Ad- 
vancement Committee  of  the  Boy  Scouts  of 

America  for  about  twenty  years.  He  was  the  Ban- 

nock Stake  representative  on  the  war  time  ration- 
ing board. 

Howard  was  an  invited  member  of  a  Western 

States  Chemistry  Institute  at  Corvallis.  Oregon 
and  another  at  Utah  State.  He  had  the  honor  of 

having  a  recreation  center  named  for  him  at  Grace, 

Idaho.  Howard  was  a  teacher,  counselor  and  prin- 
cipal at  Grace  for  many  years. 

Fannie  was  a  teacher  in  Grace  for  many  years. 
Her  interests  are  writing,  painting  and  playing  the 

organ.  She  published  a  book  of  poems  and 
gave  permission  for  a  college  English  class  test 
assignment  to  be  used  in  an  Idaho  State  English 
book  being  composed  at  that  time.  The  assignment 
was  on  the  use  of  descriptive  language. 

Fannie  has  been  a  member  of  the  Salt  Lake 

Ladies  Literary  Club  and  League  of  Utah  Writers. 
She  belongs  to  the  Idaho  State  Authors  Club. 
D.U.P.  and  N.E.A.  She  has  held  positions  in  all  the 
Church  organizations,  as  either  secretary  or 

organist,  including  Stake  Y.W.M.LA.  secretary 
and  Ward  Sunday  School  Secretary  for  twenty 

years. 
Howard  and  Fannie  had  one  daughter.  Mary  Lee 

Peterson  Sieverts  of  Salt  Lake  City.  Utah. 

HAROLD  (HARRY)  TRUMAN  PETERSON 
was  born  in  Mink  Creek,  Idaho  to  Emil  and 

Matilda  Peterson.  They  moved  to  this  valley  Oc- 
tober 4.  1906.  when  Harry  was  six  months  old. 

which  would  mean  1907.  They  helped  settle  the 

valley  and  had  a  beautiful  farm  southwest  of  Grace. 
Harry  attended  the  Telluride  School  and 

graduated  from  Grace  High  School.  He  then  went 
to  the  Agriculture  College,  at  Logan,  now  Utah 

Harold  T.  and  Lillian  T.  Peterson 
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State  University.  He  majored  in  bookkeeping  and 
accounting,  which  has  served  him  well  all  of  his 
life. 

Harry  has  been  active  in  church  and  civic 

positions,  President  of  the  Lions  Club  twice,  which 
position  he  now  holds.  Counselor  to  Bishop 

Clarence  Simmons  for  six  years.  He  is  an  outstan- 
ding athlete  and  dancer.  During  the  time  of  contest 

dancing,  he  and  Lillian  won  many  honors.  They 
both  taught  dancing  in  the  ward,  stake,  and  high 
school. 

Harry  bought  the  grocery  store  from  his  sister- 
in-law,  Ruth  Peterson,  and  has  been  in  that 
business  for  35  years. 

Harry  and  Lillian  have  two  children:  Roger  T. 
who  has  a  Bachelor  and  Masters  Degree  in 
Business  Administration,  and  Jan,  who  graduated 
from  high  school  in  Phoenix,  Arizona.  Jan  is 
married  to  Randy  Short.  They  are  both  working 
with  their  father  in  the  store.  Evan  Bassett  lived 

with  Harry  and  Lillian  for  about  9  years. 
LILLIAN  THOMAS  was  born  in  Lago,  Idaho 

May  13,  1909  under  the  supervision  of  her  grand- 
mother, Mary  Ann  Turner,  who  was  a  competent 

mid-wife.  Franklin  Thomas  was  her  twin  brother. 

Their  parents  were  Howard  L.  and  Annie  May 
Turner  Thomas. 

The  Thomas  family  moved  from  Riverdale, 
Idaho  to  Grace  in  1918.  Lillian  attended  the  Grace 

schools.  She  has  been  active  in  the  Church  of  Jesus 

Christ  of  Latter-day  Saints  and  has  received  much 
joy  from  her  work.  She  participated  in  Primary  as  a 
teacher  and  chorister.  Relief  Society  President, 
teacher  of  the  Book  Of  Mormon,  Sunday  School 

secretary,  chorister  and  teacher.  One  of  the  out- 
standing events  of  her  life  was  the  year  they  went 

to  Salt  Lake  and  sang  in  the  Tabernacle  when  the 
L.D.S.  Choir  was  in  Europe.  Five  hundred  women 
sang  under  the  masterful  teaching  of  Florence 

Jepperson  Madson. 
Harry  and  Lillian  were  married  November  13, 

1928  in  Preston,  Idaho.  They  later  went  through 
the  Logan  Temple. 

Lillian  has  many  hobbies:  flower  raising,  music, 
dancing  and  decoupage,  which  she  teaches  to 
others. 

HARRY  R.  PETERSON,  son  of  Christian  and 

"M 

Harry   R.   and  Jeanaett   Peterson 

Hansine  Peterson,  was  born  November  17,  1909  at 
Thatcher,  Idaho. 

JEANNETT  PECK,  was  born  December  1, 

1909  at  Ivins,  Idaho  to  Everett  and  Olive  Knowles 
Peck. 

Harry  and  Jeannett  were  married  October  20, 

1928  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho.  They  have  four 
children:  Ina  May  Peterson  Croney,  Betty  Olive 

Peterson  Lloyd,  Elsina  Peterson  DeLong,  and 

Harry  LaPhene  Peterson. 
Harry  has  worked  for  the  Utah  Power  and  Light 

Company  for  many  years  as  a  hydro  electric 

operator. 
Jeannett  enjoys  raising  flowers,  crocheting, 

trailer  camping,  reading,  and  cake  decorating. 
They  are  now  retired,  and  live  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

ARNOLD  J.  QUALMAN  son  of  Frederick  John 
Qualman  and  Edith  Amelia  Rosdahl,  was  born  in 

Central,  Idaho  on  March  21,  1909.  His  parents 
homesteaded  in  the  Central  area  and  all  their 
children  were  born  and  raised  there. 

He  attended  school  in  Central.  His  favorite  sub- 
ject in  school  was  spelling.  Whenever  they  had 

spelling  matches  his  sister,  Mable,  and  Arnold  were 
usually  the  last  ones  standing.  The  last  year  of 

school,  when  he  was  in  the  eighth  grade  he  drove 

the  school  sleigh.  In  the  morning  he'd  get  up  and 
feed  the  horses  and  cows,  milk  the  cows,  water  the 

horses  and  harness  them.  Then  he'd  get  ready  for 
school,  have  breakfast  and  go  out  and  hitch  up  the 
horses.  He  drove  about  four  and  a  half  miles  night 

and    morning    gathering    up    children    from    five 
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Arnold  J.,  Verda  and  Dennis  Qualman 

families.  When  he  reached  the  school  house  he  un- 
hitched the  horses  and  fed  them  the  hay.  After 

school  he'd  have  to  hitch  up  again  and  take  the 
children  home.  When  he  graduated  he  was  so  happy 

that  he  threw  his  hat  in  the  air  and  turned  somer- 
saults. 

Arnold  has  always  liked  horses  but  had  a  couple 
of  bad  experiences  with  them.  When  he  was  about 

five  years  old  he  rode  a  gentle,  black  horse  with  a 
star  on  his  forehead  by  the  name  of  Nig  to  drive 
some  other  horses  out  of  an  alfalfa  patch.  He  got 

too  close  to  a  light  bay,  pot-bellied  mare  by  the 
name  of  Kit.  She  kicked  at  the  horse  he  was  riding 

and  hit  him  on  the  leg  ,  knocking  him  off  the  horse. 
His  brother  saw  what  happened  and  came  running, 

but  by  the  time  he  got  there  Arnold  was  tugging  at 
the  tail  of  Ole  Nig,  trying  to  get  to  his  feet. 

However,  his  leg  was  broken  so  his  brother  carried 
him  back  to  the  house. 

When  he  was  about  14  or  15  years  old,  he  was 

trying  to  break  a  brown,  half-breed  Shetland  pony. 
She  refused  to  cross  a  ditch  so  Arnold  wrapped  the 

reins  around  her  belly  and  the  next  thing  he 

remembered  he  was  lying  on  the  bed  with  the  doc- 

tor leaning  over  himsaying, "He'll  be  all  right.  He 
just  got  a  bump."  That  bump  turned  out  to  be  a 
broken  cheek  bone  which  still  has  a  numb,  funny 

feeling  when  he  runs  the  razor  across  it. 

Arnold  helped  his  father  with  the  farm  work  until 
Fred  retired.  Arnold  lived  with  his  mother  and 
father  until  he  was  married. 

Arnold  met  VERDA  JEPSEN,  from  Mink 

Creek,  at  a  Gold  and  Green  Ball  held  in  Grace. 

Four  years  later  they  were  married  in  the  Salt  Lake 

Temple  on  August  12,  1938.  They  lived  in  part  of 

his  parents'  home  until  1942,  when  they  went  to  live 
with  Mrs.  Tom  Robinson,  after  her  husband  died. 

Arnold  had  leased  their  farm  and  Verda  helped 
Mrs.  Robinson  with  the  cows  and  chickens,  and 
also  drove  the  car  for  her  whenever  and  wherever 

she  wanted  to  go.  In  1944  they  bought  the  place 
from  Mrs.  Robinson.  They  were  extremely  happy 

when  they  got  electricity  in  1946  and  hot  and  cold 
running  water  in  1948. 

Verda  and  Arnold  were  unable  to  have  children 

of  their  own.  They  were  finally  blessed  by  being 

able  to  adopt  an  eight  day  old  baby  boy  who  came 
to  live  with  them  on  22nd  of  November,  1950.  He 

was  born  14  November  1950.  Arnold  gave  him  a 

name  and  a  blessing  on  December  3,  1950.  He  nam- 
ed him  Dennis  A.  Qualman. 
Arnold  was  sustained  as  first  counselor  in  the 

Central  Ward  Sunday  School  Superintendency  on 
October  1,  1944.  He  served  in  this  capacity  until  27 

April  1952  when  he  was  sustained  as  superinten- 
dent. When  the  Central  Ward  was  merged  into  the 

Grace  Second  Ward,  Arnold  was  put  in  as  financial 
clerk.  He  held  this  position  for  over  thirteen  years 

and  served  under  three  bishops  -  Bishop  Parley 
Lloyd,  Bishop  John  Thomas  and  Bishop  Howard 
Johnson. 
On  the  15th  of  June  1976  Arnold  had  heart 

failure.  He  was  in  the  hospital  for  ten  days  but  his 

heart  condition  couldn't  be  helped  or  stabilized 
without  surgery.  So  on  November  16  he  had  open 
heart  surgery  in  the  L.D.S.  Hosptial  in  Sah  Lake 
City.  Dr.  Harold  V.  Liddle  removed  a  valve  in  his 

heart  and  replaced  it  with  a  valve  from  a  pig  heart. 
He  came  through  surgery  in  good  shape  and  has 

been  making  good  progress  towards  recovery.  The 
doctor  figures  it  will  take  at  least  six  months  and 

maybe  even  a  year  for  complete  recovery.  He's  on 
his  way,  10  January,  1977. 

CARL  H.  RASMUSSEN  was  born  in  Lago, 

Idaho  April  22,  1909. 
ELZINA  BERYL  BECKSTEAD  was  born  in 

Grace,  Idaho  April  8,  1920  daughter  of  Charles 
Francis  and  Rosa  Lucein  Adams  Beckstead. 

Carl  and  Beryl  were  married  in  the  Logan  Tem- 
ple at  Logan,  Utah  on  April  8,  1938.  They  have  the 

following  children:  Carl  Jr.,  Florence,  Beverly, 
Maxine,  Alan  B.,  and  Charles  Lynn. 
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Carl  H.  Rasmussen  and  Beryl  B.  Rasmussen 

Carl  and  Beryl  have  spent  their  lives  farming, 
with  Carl  doing  carpenter  work  on  the  side. 
Carl  has  been  Sunday  School  Superintendent, 

Y. M.M.I. A.  President,  served  in  the  Elders 

Quorum  Presidency,  Seventies  Presidency,  and 
ward  executive  secretary.  His  hobbies  are  trapping, 

fishing,  and  outdoor  sports. 
Beryl  has  served  as  ward  secretary,  in 

Y. W.M.I. A.  Presidency,  Primary  Presidency, 

Visiting  Teacher  in  Relief  Society,  and  presently 
Junior  Sunday  School  Secretary.  She  enjoys 

quilting,  handwork,  and  outdoor  activities. 
They  have  lived  in  the  valley  all  of  their  lives  and 

enjoy  the  people  of  the  community.  They  are  sup- 
porters of  the  AARP  and  the  Senior  Citizens. 

GAIL  M.  RAY  was  born  June  25,  1917  at  Niter, 
Idaho.  NORMA  SMITH  RAY  was  born  June  10, 

1917  at  Cache,  Idaho.  GaiTs  parents  were  Albert 

Ray  and  Mildred  Calkins.  Norma's  parents  were 
David  A.  Smith  and  Rosy  Sheptard.  Gail  and  Nor- 

ma were  married  May  31,  1940  in  the  Logan  LDS 
Temple. 

Gail's  hobbies  are  hunting  and  fishing.  He  is 
postmaster  of  the  Grace  Post  Office.  He  has  been 

Bishop  and  is  First  Counselor  to  the  Stake  Presi- 
dent of  the  Grace.  Idaho  Stake.  He  has  held 

leadership  postions  in  scouting  for  fifteen  years. 

Norma's  hobbies  are  sewing  and  learning  to  play 
the  piano.  She  graduated  from  college  with  a  B.S. 

degree  and  taught  school.  Her  most  treasured  ac- 
complishment is  rearing  five  children  in  the  gospel. 

Gail  M.  Ray  and  Norma  S.  Ray 

All  are  active  and  in  leadership  positions.  All 

married  in  the  temple.  Gail  and  Norma  have  twelve 
grandchildren  at  this  time,  (March  1977.) 

Gail's  and  Norma's  children  are:  Geraldine 
(Gerri)  Johnson;  Dennis  S.  Ray,  Doyle  G.  Ray, 

(twins);  Eric  David  Ray;  and  Janet  Leigh  Ray. 

David  E.  Revoir Clarice  R.  Revoir 

DAVID  ELI  REVOIR  was  born  to  David  Eli 

Revoir  and  Martha  May  Gummersall  Revoir 

August  4,  1918  at  Turner,  Idaho.  He  started  school 

at  the  age  of  six  at  Turner.  His  first  teacher  was 
Mrs.  Wills.  He  was  quite  mischievous,  because  he 

spent  most  of  his  time  in  the  cloak  room. 

He  was  only  six  when  he  helped  his  dad  lamb  the 
sheep  in  the  hills  west  of  their  home.  He  was 
awakened  at  three  in  the  morning,  and  by  the  time 

they  had  their  noon  meal  he  would  fall  asleep  at  the 
table.  When  he  was  nine  his  father  put  him  on  a 
horse  with  two  sacks  of  bum  lambs,  and  sent  him 
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down  to  the  ranch  after  dark  with  them.  He  was  so 

scared  he  was  nearly  petrified.  When  he  was  ten  or 
eleven,  he  would  leave  camp  on  his  horse  in  time  to 

be  at  school  by  nine,  then  he  would  be  excused  early 
in  the  afternoon. 

David  quit  school  when  he  was  a  sophomore,  for 
no  good  reason,  and  went  back  to  help  his  dad  with 

the  sheep.  He  was  sorry  he  didn't  finish  school. 

In  1942  he  enlisted  in  the  Air  Corp  and  was  sent 
to  Luke  Field  in  Arizona  where  he  served  as  a 

mechanic,  when  he  wasn't  on  mess  call.  He  was 
given  an  honorable  discharge  in  June  1943  to  return 
home  and  help  on  the  farm. 

During  the  winter  of  1948-49  there  were  severe  bliz- 

zards, and  they  were  snowed  in,  and  couldn't  get 
hay  to  the  cows.  Floyd  Sorensen  was  the  only  one 
around  with  a  team  of  horses.  Nearly  every  one  on 
the  flat  had  to  have  him  come  haul  hay  for  their 
stock. 

Dave  and  Clarice  moved  into  their  home  in 
November  1949. 

On  November  25,  1972,  while  hunting  in  the 
moutains  west  of  Cleveland,  Idaho,  David  suffered 

a  massive  heart  attack.  Dee  Johnson,  a  nephew, 

gave  him  a  blessing  before  leaving  the  mountain, 
that  he  would  live  to  reach  a  doctor.  After  a 

harrowing  experience  he  got  to  the  Logan  hospital, 

where  they  had  facilities  to  care  for  him.  He 

recovered  enough  to  do  his  own  work  for  two  years, 

then  on  April  8,  1975  he  had  heart  surgery  in  the 
L.D.S.  Hospital  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah.  David  is 
well  at  this  writing.  He  has  received  many  blessings 
from  becoming  active  in  the  church. 

CLARICE  ROBBINS  REVOIR  was  born  June 

27,  1926  at  the  family  home  in  Thatcher.  Caribou 

County,  Idaho  to  Guy  Wilson  and  Lora  Bennett 
Robbins.  She  was  the  fourth  child  born  to  this  un- 

ion. Her  brother  and  sisters  are:  Dahl,  Audrey, 
Elaine,  and  Dixie. 

She  started  school  at  the  age  of  six  and  attended 
the  Cove  School.  Two  of  the  teachers  she 

remembers,  from  the  first  to  third  grade,  were 
Roma  Anderson  and  Delia  Mendenhall.  From  the 

fourth  grade  and  until  she  graduated  from  elemen- 

tary school,  Millen  Mendenhall  was  her  teacher. 

In  those  days,  in  the  winter  time,  the  snow 

would  get  too  deep  for  cars,  so  they  would  have  to 
go  to  school  in  a  sleigh  pulled  by  horses.  A  stove 
was  put  in  the  sleigh  and  the  mothers  would  heat 
bricks  each  morning  to  put  at  their  feet.  There  were 
no  snow  plows  to  keep  the  roads  open.  George 
Hogan  drove  the  school  bus  for  awhile.  At  this  time 

it  was  a  box  on  a  pick-up  truck.  To  keep  them 
entertained,  he  would  have  different  contests. 

Clarice  won  a  necklace  for  learning  the  books  of 
the  Old  Testament. 

When  she  was  about  seven,  her  father  died,  This 
was  a  sad  time  in  all  their  lives.  Their  mother  was 
left  with  five  children  to  raise  and  a  farm  to  run. 

They  were  quite  poor,  but  they  always  had  food  and 

clothing.  They  didn't  have  enough  pasture  for  the 
cows,  so  they  had  to  herd  the  cows  along  the  roads 
and  out  of  the  wheat  and  alfalfa  fields. 

They  took  the  janitor  job  at  the  church.  This  was 
before  the  new  church  was  built  and  for  awhile 

there  wasn't  a  furnace.  Each  room  had  a  stove  in  it 
and  they  would  have  to  build  the  fires  and  see  that 

they  were  kept  going  for  both  church  and  MIA. 
Also  the  Relief  Society  had  their  meetings  in 

another  building.  They  also  had  to  keep  this 

building  clean  and  the  fires  going  in  it.  They  were 

paid  $15.00  a  month. 
Clarice  has  been  very  active  in  the  church  and 

held  many  positions  in  the  Sunday  School, 

Primary,  MIA,  and  Relief  Society. 
She  was  married  to  David  Eli  Revoir  November 

15,  1945.  Their  first  home  was  a  little  white  house 

by  Erv  McCann's,  They  had  it  fixed  real  cute. 
There  was  only  cold  water  in  the  house,  and  a  coal 

stove  (Boy,  how  she  hated  that  stove),  but  they  were 

quite  comfortable.  In  the  winter  of  1948-1949  there 
was  a  terrible  storm.  They  were  snowed  in  for  a 
month.  This  storm  taught  them  all  a  lesson,  and  to 

keep  a  supply  of  food  on  hand. 
At  the  present  time  she  is  in  good  health  and  has 

many  things  to  be  thankful  for. 

GEORGE  E.  REVOIR  was  born  February  22. 

1912  to  David  E.  and  Martha  May  Gummersall 
Revoir  at  Turner.  Idaho.  He  attended  school  at 

Turner  and  graduated  from  high  school  in  Grace. 

He  spent  two  years  in  college  in  Moscow,  Idaho. 
Due  to  the  depression  he  had  to  leave  school  and 
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George  E.  and  Elza  Revoir 

come  back  to  the  farm.  In  1937  he  bought  a  farm  in 
the  Beaver  Dams  and  continued  to  work  with  his 

dad  on  his  farm  until  he  bought  it  from  him  in 
1953. 

In  January  1938  he  met  ELZA  THOMAS  and 

they  were  married  in  the  Logan  Temple  November 
9,  1938. 

Elza  Thomas  was  born  December  15,  1920  to 

Raymond  John  and  Elizabeth  Johnson  Thomas  at 

Grace,  Idaho.  Her  father  worked  on  road  construc- 
tion and  she  attended  many  schools  until  1932.  She 

graduated  from  Grace  High  School  in  May  1937  at 

the  age  of  16.  Four  children  were  born  to  the 

Revoirs.  Georgene  was  born  on  her  father's  birth- 
day February  22,  1941;  John  E.  was  born 

December  4,  1942;  Nan  was  born  May  19,  1944 

and  Kathy  was  born  August  1,  1945. 
Their  children  are  all  married  and  live  near  them 

and  they  enjoy  them  and  their  fourteen 

grandchildren  very  much. 
George  and  Elza  have  always  been  actively 

engaged  in  church  work.  When  they  were  married. 
George  worked  in  the  Elders  Quorum  Presidency 
until  he  was  called  to  act  as  Counselor  to  Willard 

Williams  in  the  Sunday  School  Superintendency. 
In  1943  he  was  called  as  a  Counselor  to  Bishop 
Fred  Burton  and  in  1945  as  a  Counselor  to  Bishop 

Floyd  Smart.  About  five  years  later  Ervin 
McCann  was  made  Bishop  and  George  was 
General  Secretary  of  the  Senior  Aaronic 
Priesthood.  He  acted  as  counselor  to  Leo 

Christensen  in  the  Stake  Sunday  School  during  this 
time  and  in  1952  he  and  his  wife  were  called  on  a 

two  year  Stake  Mission.  Upon  their  release  from 

their  mission  they  both  worked  in  the  Stake  Sun- 

day School  and  the  Genealogical  Program.  George 

was  High  Priest  Group  Leader  in  the  ward  and 
Counselor  to  Charles  McGregor  in  the  Stake  High 

Priest  Quorum. 

Elza  has  always  been  a  teacher  in  the  church  and 

taught  Sunday  School  thirty-three  consecutive 

years  and  many  years  as  a  teacher  in  Relief  Socie- 
ty, including  the  twelve  year  course  on  the  Doctrine 

and  Covenants.  She  has  been  president  of  the  Relief 

Society  and  the  M.I. A.  program  and  has  always 
had  an  interest  in  genealogy  work. 

She  has  been  active  in  civic  organizations  and 

has  been  president  of  the  local  P.T.A.  and  the 

Grace  Literary  Club  and  has  headed  several  com- 
munity and  county  functions  such  as  measles, 

cancer  and  heart  fund  drives. 

In  1967  George's  health  began  to  break  down 
and  in  the  next  four  years  he  had  four  operations 

and  a  heart  attack.  In  November  of  1971  they  mov- 
ed off  the  farm  to  Grace  and  later  sold  the  farm  to 

their  son  John. 

George  again  worked  in  the  Stake  Sunday 
School  Presidency  and  Elza  was  Relief  Society 
President  when  they  received  a  call  to  go  to  Alaska 

for  an  eighteen  month  mission  for  the  church.  This 
was  a  very  outstanding  experience  and  continues  to 
mean  more  to  them  as  the  days  go  by  now  that  they 

are  home.  They  have  received  great  blessings  for 
their  efforts  and  plan  to  continue  on  doing  whatever 

they  can.  They  have  always  been  active  doing  tem- 
ple work  and  receive  great  joy  from  this. 

FREDERICK  ROLAND  ROBINSON  was  born  in 

Grace.  Idaho  February  19,  1910. 
AFTON  RING  CHRISTENSEN  was  born 

September  25,  1916  in  Central,  Idaho. 
Roland  and  Afton  were  married  January  6,  1937 

in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple,  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 
Their  children  are:  Karl  Frederick,  Gene 

Roland,  Stanley  John,  Paul  Christensen,  Jewel 
Robinson  McLean,  Kent  Joseph  Lee,  and  Fred 
David  Robinson. 

Roland  has  been  in  the  farming  business  all  of  his 

life.  This  he  enjoys  as  well  as  hunting  and  riding 
horses. 

Afton  likes  to  read,  sew  and  do  handwork.  Their 

interests  are  work,  family,  music,  temple  work,  and 
attending  church. 

Roland  won  a  Union  Pacific  Scholarship  for  his 
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outstanding  work  in  high  school  agriculture.  He 

attended  one  year  of  college  at  Idaho  State  Univer- 
sity at  Moscow,  Idaho  in  the  fall  of  1930  and  spring 

of  1931.  His  father  passed  away  in  September  1932 
so  Roland,  being  the  oldest  son,  took  over  the  farm 
until  his  brothers  and  sisters  were  raised  and 

educated.  There  were  six  children  younger  than 
Roland  still  at  home. 

Roland  and  Afton  say  their  greatest  accomplish- 
ment has  been  raising  their  family  of  whom  they 

are  justly  proud.  .^11  seven  have  a  good  education 
and  four  have  filled  missions  for  the  L.D.S. 
Church. 

Karl  received  his  Masters  Degree  in  math  and  is 
teaching  in  Idaho  Falls,  Idaho. 

Gene  has  a  degree  in  Math,  and  a  Master's 
Degree  in  Industrial  Arts,  and  is  teaching  in  Apple 

Valley,  California. 

Stanley  works  in  air  conditioning  and  refrigera- 
tion at  Hill  Air  Force  Base,  and  lives  at  Roy,  Utah. 

Paul  is  working  as  an  electrician  at  Monsanto 
Company  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho. 

Jewel  attended  Ricks  College,  is  married  to  Gary 
E.  McClain  and  lives  in  Vernal,  Utah. 

Kent  and  Fred  are  both  serving  missions  for  the 
L.D.S.  Church  at  the  present  time. 

^ 

Nels  and  Carmen  S.  Roboit 

NELS  ROHOLT  was  born  February  16,  1907  at 
Cleveland,    Idaho    CARMEN   SANT   ROHOLT 
was  born  December  22.  1909  at  Cleveland.  Idaho. 

Carmen  and  Nels  were  married  May  22.  1931  in 

Brigham  City,  Utah. 

Nels  enjoys  farming,  livestock,  and  loves  horses. 
He  worked  for  Utah  Power  and  Light  for  many 

years. 

Carmen  likes  yardwork  -  gardening  and  flowers. 
She  is  also  a  homemaker. 

Nels'  and  Carmen's  children  are:  Eugene  Albert 
Roholt,  Connie  Nadene  Roholt  Rhead,  Gail 

Weldon  Roholt,  and  Carmen  Leona  Roholt  Peter- 
son. 

BENSON  ROPER,  better  known  as  "Ben"  was 
born  to  Suel  and  Ida  Bingham  Roper  on  April  10, 
1906  at  Preston,  Idaho. 
VERA  STEINBECK  was  born  to  Albert  and 

Margaret  Swensen  Steinbeck,  August  27,  1909  in 

Thatcher,  Idaho.  They  were  married  in  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho  March  2,  1929;  this  marriage  was 
solemnized  in  the  Logan  Temple  June  12,  1940.  To 
this  union  were  born  three  children:  Margaret 

Roper  Panting,  Rex  Roper  and  Rodney  Roper. 

They  have  been  farmers  and  cattle  raisers  all 
their  married  life.  They  are  now  retired. 

They  have  been  busy  in  church  activities  over  the 

years.  Ben  has  been  president  of  the  First  Elders 
Quorum  and  a  ward  teacher.  He  was  a  Trustee  for 

Cove  School  for  several  years.  He  was  also  a  4-H 
club  leader  for  fat  calves  for  years.  Vera  has  work- 

ed in  ward  and  stake  Primary  presidencies,  also  the 

Relief  Society  as  a  counselor  in  both  the  ward  and 
stake. 

Vera  and  Arvilla  Eraser  served  a  Stake  Mission, 
which  was  rewarding. 

They  have  been  busy  and  happy.  They  both  liked 
to  ride  horses.  Their  biggest  interest  now  is  doing 

temple  work  and  watching  the  children  and 

grandchildren  progress  and  do  well.  They  are  proud 
of  all  of  them. 

Standing:  Rex,  Margaret,  R()dne>:  Seated:  Benson  and 
Vera  S.  Roper 
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Clarence  D.  and  Vivian  B.  Simmons 

CLARENCE  D.  SIMMONS,  educator  for  42 

years,  owner  and  operator  of  a  Ready-Mix  Con- 
crete Plant,  manager  of  the  Grace  Theatre,  potato 

roguer,  and  City  Councilman  for  33  years;  a  man 
with  a  variety  of  talents  and  abilities. 

He  was  born  January  18,  1912,  in  Raymond, 
Alberta,  Canada  to  John  S.  and  Mary  J.  Simmons, 

the  seventh  in  a  family  of  eleven  children.  He  mov- 
ed with  his  family  from  Layton,  Utah  to  Burley, 

Idaho  as  a  young  boy  and  here  he  grew  to  maturity, 

graduating  from  the  Burley  High  School  at  the  age 
of  16.  He  attended  Albion  State  Normal  School  in 

1928-29,  and  then  the  University  of  Washington  for 
one  year;  returning  to  Albion  he  graduated  in  1931. 
He  served  an  L.D.S.  Mission  in  the  Northern 

States  from  1931-1933.  Returning  from  his  mis- 

sion, he  then  entered  Henager's  Business  College  in 
Salt  Lake  City.  After  six  months  as  a  student,  he 
was  hired  as  a  teacher.  It  was  here  he  met  VIVIAN 

BURN  and  they  were  married  on  December  23, 
1934. 

Vivian  was  born  in  Leadville,  Colorado  on  July 
18,  1916,  to  William  P.  and  Sophie  N.  Burn.  She 
moved  with  her  folks  to  Utah  in  1920  and 

graduated  from  Carbon  High  School  in  Price, 
Utah  in  1934.  She  had  one  brother,  William,  two 

years  her  senior,  who,  in  1951,  was  killed  in  the 

Korean  War.  One  sister  died  in  infancy. 

Clarence  received  his  B.S.  degree  from  the 

University  of  Utah  in  1937  and  his  M.S.  there  in 
1942.  He  and  his  family  moved  to  Grace,  Idaho  in 
1937  where  he  was  hired  by  the  Grace  School 
District.  Here  he  taught  English,  Government, 

Bookkeeping,  Type  and  Shorthand;  he  also  taught 
speech  and  directed  the  school  plays.  For  several 
years  he  also  coached  the  track  team.  From.  1962  to 
1971  he  taught  in  the  Soda  Springs  High  School, 

returning  to  Grace  in  1971  as  Principal  of  the  High 
School.  The  following  year  he  was  hired  as  both 

principal  and  superintendent  of  District  No.  148.  In 
1977  he  retired  from  his  long  career  in  the  field  of 
education. 

He  has  been  an  active  member  of  the  L.D.S. 

Church,  serving  as  Stake  Clerk  from  1944-1952; 
Bishop  of  the  Grace  Ward  1952-1959;  High  Coun- 

cilman 1959-1970  and  a  teacher  of  the  Gospel  Doc- 
trine Class  for  18  years.  He  is  a  long-time  member 

of  the  Grace  Ward  Choir  and  a  violinist.  He 

managed  a  local  dance  orchestra  for  twelve  years. 
Vivian  served  in  the  Grace  Ward  Relief  Society 

as  Literature  and  Social  Relations  teacher  for  a 

total  of  twelve  years  and  as  president  for  three 
years.  She  also  served  on  the  Stake  M.I. A.  and 
Primary  Boards.  She  was  a  charter  member  of  the 

Grace  Literary  Club  and  served  as  its  president 
from  1972-1974. 

Clarence  and  Vivian  are  parents  of  the  following 

children:  Marilyn  (Mrs.  Maurice  Clegg),  Kenneth 

(killed  in  a  truck  accident  at  the  age  of  15),  Karen 
(Mrs.  Lauren  Dimter),  Bart,  Tim,  Wendy 

(Mrs.  Don  Meacham),  Jeanne  (died  of  kidney 
failure  at  the  age  of  10),  and  Scott. 

LAVERL  'TED 'SMITH  was  born  September  2, 
1906  in  Turner,   Idaho    MILLIE  CORBRIDGE 
was  born  November  6,  1911  in  Preston,  Idaho. 

They  were  married  November  27,  1929  in  the 
Logan  Temple. 

Ted  farm.ed  until  1940  then  started  trucking  and 

grave  digging.  Some  of  the  accomplishments  Ted 
has  seen  in  his  life  time  include  the  following:  He 

helped  on  a  horse  powered  threshing  machine,  a 

binder-header  combine,  and  a  gas  threshing 
machine.  He  has  seen  the  total  eclipse  of  the  sun;  in 

1912  he  saw  his  first  car,  and  in  1917  he  saw  an  air- 
plane. Now  there  are  many  big  trucks  and  tractors 
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Laverl  "Ted"  Smith Millie  C.  Smith 

and  he  has  worked  on  most  of  them. 

Ted  was  born  in  a  two  room  log  cabin  in  Turner, 
Idaho.  He  has  enjoyed  hunting  and  fishing  all  his 
life. 

Millie  and  Ted  had  six  children.  Frank  C,  Loyel 
Dean,  Terry  Laverl,  Arlene.  Farrell  Lloyd  and 
Esther. 

MARVIN  SMITH  was  born  December  22,  1909 
in  Turner  to  Rufus  and  Hannah  McLain  Smith.  He 

was  the  second  of  ten  children. 

Marvin  graduated  from  high  school  in  1928.  As  a 
senior  he  played  on  the  basketball  team  that  went 

to  state.  He  fed  the  cattle  and  sheep  in  1928  and 
1929  then  attended  two  winter  quarters  in  the  AC 
College  (Utah  State  University). 

In  1930  and  1931  he  worked  for  the  Pond  and 

Alsop  Construction  Co.  during  the  summer. 

In  November  of  1933  his  father  passed  away  so 

he  managed  the  ranch  for  his  mother.  Later  he  leas- 
ed it  from  his  mother  for  two  years. 

In  1936  he  married  MARGARET  (PEGGY) 

PACK.  Their  daughter  Nadine  was  born  to  them 
on  June  4,  1938. 

In  1939  they  moved  to  their  present  ranch  which 
was  known  as  the  Purvis  Ranch.  There  was  a  log 
house  with  one  room  on  the  east  side  of  the  house. 

It  was  a  wreck  so  they  moved  another  house  on  the 
place  and  remodeled  it. 

On  Febraury  24,   1967  their  daughter,  Nadine, 
married     Russel     Rich.    They    have    four 

grandchildren,  three  girls  and  one  boy.  They  also 

have  five  step  grandchildren,  three  boys  and  two 
girls.  They  have  seven  great  grandchildren. 

Marvin  was  involved  in  farming  and  many  other 
activities.  He  worked  on  three  committees  in  Ban- 

nock County  just  before  and  during  the  war.  Fred 
Zigler,  Sr.  and  Jim  Parkhouse,  Sr.  were  some  of 
the  committee. 

He  worked  on  the  Bannock  County  Hog  Pool 

with  Frank  Hale  and  Orson  Clegg  for  seven  and  a 
half  years.  He  also  represented  the  Grace  area  on 
the  Portneuf  Soil  Conservation  District. 

He  worked  with  the  scouts  for  several  years  and 
also  worked  in  the  Grace  Lions  Club. 

In  1953  his  wife  lost  her  sight  so  at  this  time  he 

quit  most  of  his  public  jobs. 

Marvin  belonged  to  the  Caribou  County 
Sheriffs  Posse  for  three  or  four  years. 

In  1971  they  moved  to  Grace  to  115  East  2nd 
South.  Since  then  he  has  spent  a  lot  of  time  helping 
with  the  Senior  Citizens  Organizations. 

Peggy  was  born  May  17,  1916  in  Grace,  Idaho  to 
Horace  and  Annie  Williams  Pack.  They  lived  north 

of  the  new  bridge  on  what  was  known  as  the  Walt 
Sullivan  Ranch.  The  house  was  later  burned. 

The  family  consisted  of  three  brothers  and  two 
sisters,  Terrill,  Ruel,  Horace,  Hannah,  and  Ruth. 
Hannah  and  Ruel  are  deceased. 

When  she  was  four  they  moved  to  a  ranch  in 
Turner. 

She  started  school  in  Grace  when  she  was  six. 

In  1923  they  moved  to  Alexander  where  her 
father  was  foreman  on  the  dam.  They  lived  in  what 
was  called  Shanty  Town.  For  the  next  few  years 

they  followed  the  construction  of  dams.  In  1925 

they  went  to  Ashton,  Idaho,  where  Horace  Pack 
was  foreman  on  a  dam  there.  In  1926  they  moved 
to  Beaver  Dam,  Utah  where  he  worked  on  the 

Wheelon  Dam.  They  left  Beaver  Dam,  Utah  and 
went  to  American  Falls  where  Horace  worked  on 

that  dam.  After  that  they  moved  back  to  Grace. 
Idaho. 

When  she  was  a  junior  she  was  queen  of  the  Gold 
and  Green  Ball.  She  graduated  from  Grace  High 
School. 

Peggy's  mother  had  been  going  blind  and  she  was 
almost  totally  blind  when  she  passed  away  in  1935. 

In  1935  Peggy  started  going  with  Marvin  Smith 
and  in  1936  they  were  married.  They  lived  on  the 
Smith  Ranch  for  three  years. 

On  June  20.  1949  they  were  married  in  the  Logan 
Temple. 
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Peggy  taught  Primary  in  the  old  Turner  school 
house  after  the  church  house  blew  up.  Later  they 

went  to  second  ward  where  she  taught  Primary  and 
Sunday  School  and  was  also  secretary  of  the  Relief 
Society. 

She  joined  the  Literary  Club  and  later  served  as 
president.  At  the  time  she  served  as  president  of  the 
club,  she  was  also  activity  counselor  in  M.LA. 

She  helped  start  the  first  public  library  in  Grace 

which  was  located  in  Roghaar's  Store.  She  also 
served  on  the  Library  board  for  several  years. 

In  April  of  1953  Peggy  lost  the  sight  of  one  eye, 
and  the  following  year  she  lost  sight  in  the  other 

eye. 
Peggy  died  January  24.  1977. 

Milton  R.  Smith Alice  L.  Smith 

MILTON  R.  SMITH,  son  of  Elmer  and  Jane 
Robbins  Smith  was  born  March  5.  1914  at 
Thatcher.  Idaho. 

ALICE  LEAVITT  was  born  March  15,  1920  at 

Fielding,  Utah. 

Milton  and  Alice  were  married  September  15, 
1938  at  Logan,  Utah  in  the  Logan  Temple. 

They  have  three  children:  Loy  Raye  S.  Phillips, 

Peggy  S.  Rosdahl.  and  Bradley  M.  Smith. 

Milton  is  a  rancher.  He  has  served  an  L.D.S. 

Mission  to  the  Western  States,  been  Bishop  of 
Thatcher  Ward  for  8  years,  and  is  a  member  of  the 

Slake  Sunday  School  Superintendency.  He 
purchased  the  franchise,  making  it  possible  for 

telephone  service  to  be  brought  into  our  part  of  the 
valley. 

Alice  was  the  1st  Stake  Mia  Maid  Leader,  served 

as    Stake    Y.W.M.I.A.    President,    has    been    a 

member  of  the  school  board,  state  women's  chair- 
man for  Idaho  Farm  Bureau,  women's  committee 

member  to  State  Idaho  Farm  Bureau  Board  of 

Directors,  secretary  and  member  of  the  Caribou 

County  Fair  Board,  recipient  of  the  first  award 

given  from  the  Governor  for  State  Safety  Com- 
mittee. 

Alice  had  tea  at  the  While  House  in  1969  with 

the  'First  Lady'. 

RUFUS  (DICK)  SMITH  son  of  William  Rufus 
and  Hannah  McLain  Smith  was  born  at  Turner, 

Idaho  May  29,  1911.  DORA  ALLSOP,  daughter 

of  George  Tanner  Allsop  and  Eliza  Christensen 
Allsop  was  born  at  Grace,  Idaho  July  14,  1912. 
Dick  and  Dora  were  married  at  Logan,  Utah  June 

6,  1933.  The  marriage  was  solemnized  in  the  Logan 
Temple. 

Dick  and  Dora  are  the  parents  of  three 

daughters:  Genee  (deceased),  Karen  Sue  Smith  An- 
dreasen  and  Janine  Smith  Halstead. 

Dick  was  a  farmer  and  rancher  in  the  Grace  area 

all  of  his  life.  He  was  appointed  Caribou  County 

Commissioner  January  1972,  which  position  he 
held  at  the  time  of  his  death  June  27,  1977.  Dick 

and  Dora  have  been  active  in  the  community  and 

church.  Dick  was  superintendent  of  Sunday  School, 
Director  of  Last  Chance  Canal  Company,  Director 
in  the  Potato  Growers  of  Idaho.  Dora  has  held 

various  positions  in  the  Primary,  M.I. A.,  and 

Relief  Society.  She  is  a  member  of  the  Caribou 
County  Hospital  Auxiliary. 

A  tribute  to  Dick  was  written  by  Leatha  H. 
Christensen. 

MY  FRIEND,  DICK  SMITH 

A  giant  in  Gem  Valley 
Who  stood  out  in  the  crowd 

Proclaiming  right  and  justice 
With  honesty  endowed. 

Gigantic  in  persuasion 
He  labored  long  for  right. 

And  often  chose  great  challenges 
To  work  at,  day  and  night. 

Dick  walked  a  brace  and  stately  stride 
He  offered  no  easy  way 

His  aim  in  life  was  expertise 

That  which  he  thought,  he'd  say. 
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A  mighty  spirit  dwelled  in  Dick 
Components  of  a  man 

His  body  small,  his  voice  quite  soft 
He  seldom  walked,  he  ran. 

His  feet  were  fast  in  service 
His  heart  so  mellow  with  love 

A  work-worn  hand  extended 
Lifted  friends  far  and  above. 

No  man  who  lives  in  Gem  Valley 
Or  anywhere  else  so  they  say 

Was  ever  refused  Dick's  attention 
He  loved  to  go  out  of  his  way. 

To  gather  the  parts  and  the  pleasures 

Of  life's  problems  and  joys  as  they  fused. 
He  patched  up  the  gaps  to  bring  solace 

To  troubled,  oppressed  and  confused. 

I  knew  him  as  a  gentle  man 
With  love  for  all  mankind. 

I  knew  him  as  a  slab  of  steel 

No  stronger  could  one  find. 

His  tenderness  and  strength  combined 

And  the  twinkle  of  his  eye 
Caused  one  to  feel  much  closer 

To  His  Majesty  on  High. 

Dick  Smith  was  a  granite  wall 

And  yet,  he  was  a  child 
And  we,  his  friends  were  favored 

By  his  life  and  love  so  mild. 

Prepared  to  travel  forward? 
To  meet  His  Maker  Dear? 

He  truly  had  prepared  for  this 
Throughout  his  earthlife  here. 

WARREN   SAMUEL(SAIVI)SMITH,  JR.  was 
born  to  Warren  Samuel  Smith,  Sr.  and  Esther 

Coleman  Smith  on  February  23,  1902  in  a  one- 
room  log  house  situated  in  the  southeast  corner  of 
the  family  homestead  in  Turner,  Idaho.  This  home 
was  built  near  the  Black  Canyon  rim  as  there  was  a 

cold  natural  spring  located  a  short  distance  down 
the  canyon. 

His  mother  died  in  1908  when  he  was  only  six 

years  old  and  he  went  to  live  with  relatives  in 
Smithfield,  Utah  for  a  time.  His  father  married 

Evelyn  Mary  Perry  Egbert  in  1912  and  he  returned 
to  Turner. 

Warren  S.  and  Alice  C.  Smith 

Lilith  W.  Smith 

He  attended  school  in  Smithfield,  Turner,  Grace, 

Pocatello  and  in  Kansas  City,  Missouri  where  he 
went  to  Sweeney  Automotive  and  Electrical 
School. 

He  married  LILITH  MARIE  WILLIAMS  in 

1927  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple.  She  was  born 
October  12,  1909  in  Grace,  Idaho.  She  was  the 

daughter  of  John  Williams  and  Margaret  Armina 
Green  Williams.  Sam  and  Lilith  were  in  the  Turner 

Church  House  explosion  before  their  marriage  and 
he  was  bruised  and  her  eyes  were  black  and  her 
head  was  swollen. 

Three  children  were  born  to  them:  Warren  John 

(Bud),  Beverly  Ann,  and  Calvin  NaVall.  Warren 
died  in  an  airplane  accident  in  July  1968. 

Sam  farmed  the  homestead  place  with  his 

brother,  Ted,  after  their  father's  death  in  1928  until 

about  1934  when  he  bought  Ted's  share.  Later  he 
acquired     160    acres.    He    also    ran    a    threshing 

Biographies^  I9()0\s  —  543 



machine  and  crew,  harvesting  grain  for  many  area 
farmers. 

He  was  secretary  of  the  Tanner  Canal  Company 
from  1934  and  he  served  as  clerk  of  the  Turner 

Cemetery  District,  a  position  he  held  since  its  in- 
auguration. 

He  was  secretary  of  the  High  Priest's  Quorum 
for  17  years  and  secretary  of  the  Stake  and  Ward 
Teaching  Committees  and  Stake  Melchizedek 

Committee.  He  was  Ward  Clerk  under  Bishop  E. 
John  Thomas.  He  served  as  Presiding  Elder  in  the 
Turner  Branch  prior  to  it  s  annexation  to  the  Grace 
2nd  Ward.  He  was  Y. M.M.I. A.  Superintendent, 
Stake  Era  Director,  and  he  taught  Sunday  School 
classes. 

He  served  as  school  trustee  in  both  the  Turner 

and  Grace  School  Districts.  He  was  chairman  in 
1945. 

For  over  20  years  he  was  an  active  and 
enthusiastic  member  of  the  Grace  Lions  Club  and 
he  served  a  term  as  President. 

He  was  a  member  of  the  A.S.C.  Committee  for  a 

number  of  years  and  was  District  and  County  Road 

Overseer  during  the  Depression  years.  He  was  also 
a  member  of  the  Rod  and  Gun  Club.  He  plowed 
snow  and  ran  the  road  grader  and  helped  build 

many  of  the  roads. 
Carlos  Lowe,  his  neighbor  and  good  friend,  and 

Sam  bought  the  first  sprinkler  system  in  Turner. 

The  pipes  were  made  of  steel  at  that  time. 
For  many  years  he  was  Judge  of  Election  and 

Precinct  Committeeman.  He  was  County 
Democratic  Chairman  for  several  years. 

He  sold  Beneficial  Life  Insurance  for  several 

years  before  his  death. 
Lilith  was  very  active  in  church  and  community 

activities.  She  served  as  Primary  President  in  the 
Turner  Branch  and  many  other  church  positions. 

She  was  secretary  of  the  Grace  P.T.A.  for  several 

years.  She  died  in  March  1947  following  a  long  il- 
lness. 
Sam  married  ALICE  WYNN  COLLINS  in 

1948.  She  was  born  March  24,  1910  to  Marion  and 

Mae  Wynn  in  Rock  County,  Minnesota.  She  was 
also  very  active  in  the  church  and  community.  She 

was  Relief  Society  President,  Sunday  School  and 
Relief  Society  teacher,  and  was  on  the  Stake  Relief 

Society  Board.  She  worked  in  the  sewing  depart- 
ment at  the  Caribou  County  Fair.  They  were 

divorced  in  1956. 

He  loved  to  fish,  hunt,  dance,  bowl,  collect 

poetry  and  converse. 
He  had  open-heart  surgery  and  died  nine  days 

later  on  April  5,  1969. 

Floyd  and  Ethel  C.  Sorensen 

FLOYD  SORENSEN  born  August  8,  1900  at 
Bench,  Idaho. 

ETHEL  C.  SORENSEN  born  June  21,  1901  at 
Turner,  Idaho. 

They  were  married  June  1,  1923  at  Preston, 

Idaho.  Born  to  this  union  were  three  boys:  Quentin 
F.  Sorensen,  John  DeMar  Sorensen  and  Glenn  W. 
Sorensen. 

In  our  first  years  of  marriage  I  taught  in  the 
Grace  elementary  school.  Floyd  was  employed  by 

the  U.S.  Cavalry  as  caretaker  of  the  horses.  In  this 
endeavor  he  was  very  happy  for  he  had  a  deep  love 
for  horses.  While  thus  employed  he  participated  in 
all  their  activities,  riding  roman  races,  wagon  races, 
cutter  races,  etc.  In  1927  we  were  transferred  when 

the  Cavalry  was  moved  to  Boise,  Idaho  and  then  to 
Pocatello,  Idaho.  In  1929  when  the  Cavalry  was 
mechanized,  we  moved  back  to  Turner.  Here  we 

lived  in  part  of  the  big  farm  home  which  was  made 
into  a  duplex.  Dan  and  Zetta  lived  in  the  other  part. 

We  operated  the  farm  together.  These  were  depres- 
sion years  and  we  soon  lost  our  shirt.  We  invested 

all  we  had  saved  in  milk  cows,  drove  them  off  in 

1934  for  $25  per  head.  We  then  worked  for  the 
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Utah  Power  from  April  to  September,  when  Floyd 
started  in  the  Pool  Hall  business  with  our  good 
friend  George  Paskins  as  a  partner.  In  1940  we 

purchased  the  Abe  Myers  farm  in  McPherson  Ca- 
nyon, and  in  1945  sold  the  business  to  Dan  and  Kel- 

ly Anderson,  and  purchased  land  in  Turner  from 
my  brother  Bill  Corbett.  We  farmed  until  1963, 
after  which  we  sold  both  farms  to  our  son  Glenn. 

We  retained  the  right  to  live  in  our  home  where  we 
still  reside. 

As  to  our  church  activities  we  haven't  done 
much  together.  Since  childhood  I  have  enjoyed  ser- 

ving in  church.  I  started  as  a  very  young  child  of 

twelve  years  as  an  assistant  teacher  in  the  Sunday 
School  Kindergarten  Class.  While  in  grade  school  I 

served  as  Secretary  of  the  Primary.  After  marriage 
I  was  Stake  Blue  Bird  leader,Counselor  in  Ward 

Primary,  Counselor  in  Young  Ladies,  President  of 

a  Branch  Relief  Society  in  Turner,  Stake  Speech 
and  Drama  Director  in  MIA,  and  for  several  years 
Cultural  Refinement  Leader  in  Relief  Society. 

Together  we  are  now  making  preparation  to  receive 
our  endowments. 

We  have  always  loved  the  farm,  we  enjoy  garden- 
ing and  keeping  a  nice  yard,  sewing  and  quilting, 

and  last  but  not  least  we  enjoy  fishing  and  boating 
very  much. 

GETTYS  B.  SORENSEN  was  born  January  1, 

1905  at  Lago,  Idaho.  ABBIE  M.  SORENSEN  was 

born  April  8,  1909  at  Niter,  Idaho.  They  were 
married  July  16,  1927.  This  marriage  was  later 
solemnized  in  the  Logan  Temple  October  10,  1960. 

Their  children  are:  LaRue  Sorensen  Shuler,  Kay 

Sorensen  Hatch  and  Gary  Sorensen. 

Gettys  has  been  Patrol  Operator  for  Bannock 
and  Caribou  County  Road  and  Bridge  for  33  years. 
He  has  served  as  Scout  Committeeman  and 

Secretary  in  the  3rd  Elders  Quorum.  He  enjoys 
fishing,  hunting  and  reading. 

Abbie  has  been  a  salesperson,  for  10  years, 
registrar  of  election  for  18  years  in  the  Grace  No.  1 

precinct.  Primary  Organist.  M.I. A.  teacher  and 
Work  Director  in  Relief  Society.  She  enjoys 

quilting  and  crocheting. 

LOUIS  J.  STALKER  (LOU)  was  born  January 

15,  1911  at  Mound  Valley  to  Alma  and  Alfretta 

Louis  and  Gwen  S.  Stalker 

Parmley  Stalker.  He  resided  in  Grace  most  of  his 

life  except  living  in  Los  Angeles  during  World  War 
II      He    married    GWEN    HOBBS    SMITH 

November  24,  1938  in  Logan,  Utah. 

Lou  graduated  Trom  Grace  High  School  where 
he  was  Senior  Class  President;  he  also  attended  Los 

Angeles  Junior  College. 

Louis  was  co-owner  of  Lasley  and  Stalker 
Chevrolet  from  1945-1959  and  co-owner  of  Ace 
Chevrolet,  and  owner  of  Stalker  Chevrolet  in  Soda 

Springs  until  his  death  September  1,  1973.  He  serv- 
ed as  Mayor  of  Grace,  and  was  past  president  of 

the  Grace  Lions  Club,  chairman  of  the  Caribou 

County  Democratic  Party  and  served  as  chairman 
of  the  Idaho  Automobile  Dealers  Association.  He 

was  a  member  of  the  Grace  Planning  Commission. 
He  was  a  member  of  the  Soda  Springs  Golf  Club 

and  enjoyed  golfing,  hunting,  fishing,  and  bowling. 
During  World  War  II,  Louis  worked  in  aircraft. 

Louis  lov'ed  Gentile  Valley  and  the  people  living 
here.  He  was  a  happy,  pleasant  friend  to  everyone. 
He  loved  to  dance  his  way  through  life. 

Gwen  was  born  in  Preston,  Idaho  April  1,  1912, 

a  daughter  of  A.C.  Smith  and  Melissa  Hobbs 
Smith.  She  attended  schools  in  Idaho  Falls  and 

Logan,  Utah,  graduating  from  Logan  High  School. 
She  received  her  B.S.  degree  in  English  from  Utah 

Agricultural  College  in  1933.  Gwen  was  active  in 
church  as  a  Bannock  Stake  board  member  in  the 

Relief  Society.  Mutual  and  Sunday  School.  She 
was  the  first  Teacher  Trainer  Stake  Leader.  Some 

of  her  activities  were  PTA  State  Library  chairman. 

State  and  District  Library  chairman  for  Federated 
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Women's  Clubs,  District  BPW  chairman.  She  serv- 
ed as  President  two  terms  for  the  Soda  Springs 

BPW.  Gwen  helped  establish  the  Grace  Public 

Library  and  served  on  the  Library  Board  for  many 

years.  She  taught  English  five  years  at  Thatcher 
High  School  and  for  twenty  years  taught  English 
and  was  Librarian  at  Grace  High  School. 

The  two  children  born  to  Louis  and  Gwen  were 

Barry  Guy  November  28,  1946  and  Carla  Lou  born 
November  20,  1952,  both  at  Caribou  County 

Hospital. 

Vai  i\i.  and  Myrle  Dean  H.  Sietie 

VAL  MARK  STEELE  was  born  July  21,  1915, 

to  Henry  Mark  and  Dorothy  Fredricka  Thompson 

Steele,  in  Bingham  Canyon,  Utah.  As  a  boy  Val 
would  ride  steers  and  bareback  bucking  horses. 

Over  the  years  breaking  horses,  herding  cattle  and 

helping  with  the  farm  was  what  he  spent  much  of 
his  time  doing. 

In  1934,  in  the  fifth  year  of  the  depression,  his 
father  traded  his  ranch  on  Utah  Lake  for  a  ranch  in 

Lago,  Idaho.  They  moved  to  Idaho,  Val  coming 
first.  They  loaded  their  sheep  into  freight  cars,  and 
Val  climbed  into  the  caboose  and  came  with  the 

sheep.  The  rest  of  the  family  stayed  in  Utah  to  close 

out  the  family  business.  They  followed  two  months 
later. 

He  met  and  married  MYRLE  DEAN 

HILDRETH  of  Soda  Springs,  Idaho  on  December 
11,  1941. 

Myrle  was  born  August  19,  1922,  in  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho  to  William  Scudder  and  Josephine 
Meldona  Burchfield  Hildreth. 

Her  father  ran  the  local  newspaper,  but  when  she 

came  along  he  was  just  about  to  go  to  California,  as 
his  folks  had  all  moved  down  to  Long  Beach, 

California.  When  she  was  two  months  old,  her 
mother  and  father  sold  their  home,  the  newspaper, 

and  headed  for  Long  Beach.  They  loved  the  climate 
in  California  and  went  swimming  in  the  ocean 
often. 

Myrle  went  to  a  school  in  Long  Beach  called  Lin- 
coln. In  1927  she  got  a  new  baby  brother  named 

Carroll.  A  depression  soon  hit  and  her  father  lost 

his  job.  After  months  of  trying  to  make  ends  meet, 

her  father  made  up  his  mind  that  he  would  never 

live  in  a  big  city  again.  So  in  1930  Myrle's  grand- 
father and  her  father  came  back  to  Soda  Springs, 

Idaho.  They  stayed  up  in  Soda  and  worked  for  the 
Chieftain  Paper.  The  family  was  able  to  move  to 
Soda  in  June  of  that  year. 

Myrle  graduated  in  May  of  1941,  seven  months 
before  she  married  Val  Steele. 

They  were  at  war  and  things  were  unsettled  as 
Val  felt  he  should  go  to  war.  But  Val  had  been 
working  on  the  ranch  and  was  very  much  needed, 

so  he  stayed  on  the  farm.  But  by  1943,  Val  decided 

he  couldn't  stay  home  while  all  of  his  friends  were 
going  to  the  service,  so  he  enlisted  in  the  Army, 
leaving  a  wife  and  new  baby.  He  shipped  out  for 
overseas  aboard  the  USS  West  Point,  with  14,000 

other  soldiers  and  Wacs  for  war  time  duty. 

Val  finally  sailed  from  Japan,  November  29, 
1945  for  stateside  and  home  and  arrived  in  the 

states  December  9,  1945.  He  went  to  Fort  Lewis  for 

discharge  and  home.  Myrle  came  out  to  the  Fort 
and  they  came  home  together,  arriving  in  Soda 

Springs  the  day  after  Christmas. 
Back  home  working  on  the  ranch,  raising  cattle 

and  hay  and  grain,  life  was  back  to  normal.  Four 

children  were  born  to  Val  and  Myrle-  William  Val, 
Glenna  Jean,  Sherrie  Lynn,  and  Alice  Faye. 

In  June,  1965,  Val  was  very  ill  so  Myrle  decided 

to  go  to  work,  but  she  needed  a  fresh-up  course  in 
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typing.  She  went  to  Pocatello  to  business  school  for 

three  months  and  then  got  a  job  with  Ford  Motor. 

While  working  at  Ford  Motor,  an  opening  came  in 
civil  service,  as  a  secretary  for  Selective  Service. 

She  applied  and  was  chosen.  She  worked  eight 
years  in  Soda  Springs,  and  then  was  transferred  to 

Logan,  Utah.  There  she  was  in  charge  of  Cache 

County  and  Box  Elder  County.  In  February  of 
1976  she  was  given  retirement. 

In  May  1965,  Val  became  active  in  the  church 

and  was  ordained  an  elder.  He  and  Myrle  went  to 
the  Temple  and  had  their  marriage  solemnized  and 
their  children  sealed  to  them. 

Val  Mark  Steele  received  many  medals  while  he 
was  in  the  service  of  his  country.  Among  these  was 
the  Bronze  Star  Medal. 

Bronze  Star  Medal 

"For  heroic  achievement  in  connection  with 
military  operations  against  the  enemy  on  Luzon, 
Phillipines  Island,  on  the  3rd  April  1945.  These 

men  served  with  the  Headquarters  Company,  Se- 
cond Battalion  of  an  infantry  regiment.  At  ap- 

proximately 1900  hours,  as  the  brief  twilight  was 

almost  over,  a  call  was  received  for  volunteers  to  go 

up  to  Company  "G"  with  litters.  Although  they 
had  been  on  carrying  parties  all  day  and  had  not  yet 
finished  digging  their  foxholes  on  the  perimeter, 
these  men  willingly  volunteered  their  services.  In 

company  with  a  volunteer  from  another  company, 
they  made  their  way  in  darkness  over  a  steep  and 

slippery  trail  known  to  the  enemy  and  not  secured 
by  our  troops  for  a  distance  of  approximately  one 
thousand  yards.  Here,  under  enemy  fire,  they 
located  the  wounded  and  carried  them  over  the 

same  route  to  the  battalion  aid  station.  This  was  ac- 
complished while  the  enemy  still  dominated  the 

area  from  their  position  on  the  commanding 
ground.  Because  of  the  narrowness  of  the  trails  only 

two  men  could  be  used  to  carry  a  litter,  making  the 
task  extremely  difficult  and  exhausting  on  each 

bearer.  No  lights  were  allowed  and  progress  was 
slow  and  tedious,  the  party  often  having  to  find  its 

way  by  feeling  out  communication  wires. 
Due  to  the  heroic  action  of  these  men,  the  matter 

of  the  award  of  the  Silver  Star  will  be  the  subject  of 
a  later  communication. 

Sincerely  yours, 

Edward  F.  Witsell 

Major  General 

* 

M.  Frank  and  Melva  S.  Stoddard 

MERLIN  FRANK  STODDARD  was  born  July 
4,  1907  at  Grace,  Idaho.  MELVA  SMITH  was 
born  at  Turner,  Idaho  on  October  21,  1908.  Frank 

and  Melva  were  married  April  9,  1932  in  Logan, 
Utah. 

Frank's  interests  are  farming,  raising  horses, 
horse  pulling  at  the  fairs,  and  riding  in  the  Caribou 
County  Horse  Posse. 

Melva  enjoys  knitting,  needlepoint,  yard  work, 
and  teaching.  She  taught  many  children  in  her  forty 

years  of  teaching. 
Frank  and  Melva  had  one  daughter,  Clara  Diane 

Stoddard  Lloyd. 

W.  KENNETH  TARBET  was  born  in 

Smithfield,  Utah  on  October  8,  1910  to  Thomas 

and  Esther  O.  Johnson  Tarbet.  He  was  only  three 

when  his  father  was  killed  by  a  run-away  team  of 
horses.  The  family  consisted  of  Thomas  (Buck), 

Kenneth,  and  a  sister,  not  yet  born.  They  lived  at 
Benson  until  Ken  was  six.  His  mother  decided  to 

come  to  Turner  to  see  her  brother  Ernest.  While  at 

Turner  she  met  Elisha  John  Thomas,  who  had 

recently  lost  his  wife,  and  had  six  small  children. 

His  grandad  Thomas  always  said,  "it  was  the 
Lord's  work,  sending  Esther  into  the 

neighborhood."  They  were  married  and  three  more 
youngsters  were  added  to  the  family  his.  hers,  and 
ours,  making  a  dozen  mouths  to  feed. 

Kennneth  went  to  grade  school  and  graduated 
from  the  Turner  school.  He  went  to  hitzh  school  for 
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W.  Kenneth  Tarbet Leora  H.  Tarbet 

one  year  at  North  Cache.  On  completion  of  school 

that  year  he  worked  for  Jack  Aljet.  When  the  fall 
work  was  done,  he  went  to  Los  Angeles  to  find 

employment  and  stayed  all  winter.  When  he  return- 
ed, he  again  worked  for  Jack,  Rue  Smith,  and 

Albert  Hayes.  This  is  where  he  met  LE  ORA 
HAYES.  He  went  to  school  at  Utah  State  and  took 

a  Vo-Tech  course  in  auto  mechanics,  welding  and 
machine  shop.  When  he  completed  this  he  returned 
to  Grace  and  again  worked  for  Jack. 

Ken  and  LeOra  were  married  in  the  fall  of  1931, 

and  they  lived  in  the  upstairs  apartment  at  Jack  and 

Dot  Aljets.  In  1932  they  leased  the  farm,  they  now 
own  from  Albert  E.  Hayes,  and  the  following  year 

they  bought  it  and  built  a  log  cabin  on  it.  By  this 

time  the  '34  depression  hit  and  times  were  bad. 
They  struggled  along  like  every  one  else,  and  by 
this  time  they  had  two  sons.  Their  cabin  was  getting 

pretty  crowded,  and  in  1935  they  added  two  more 
rooms,  put  water  in  the  kitchen  from  the  new  well 

and  started  making  plans  for  the  new  home  they'd 
build  someday.  In  December  1936  they  added 
another  son.  Their  sons  have  all  been  a  source  of 

happiness  to  them  and  they  rejoice  when  they  excel 
in  their  achievements. 

Wm.  K.  graduated  from  the  local  schools, 

entered  Utah  State,  but  enlisted  in  the  Army 
Reserves,  and  spent  2  years  in  Germany.  K.  works 
for  the  Idaho  State  Police  in  Moscow,  Idaho. 

Willard  J.  graduated  from  Grace  High  School 

and  enrolled  at  Utah  State  for  pre-dental  training. 
After  being  accepted  to  dental  school  he  chose  to 
go  to  Northwestern  University.  He  is  now  director 

of  Dental  Research  and  Development  of  Richard- 
son &  Merrill  Inc.  of  New  York. 

Willis  Lee,  after  graduation  from  high  school  left 
immediately  for  a  hitch  in  the  U.S.  Navy,  spending 

four  years.  On  his  return  he  received  his  B.  S. 
degree  in  Conservation  and  Fisheries  from  Idaho 
State  University.  He  is  now  working  in  the 
Engineering  Dept.  at  Simplots  and  going  to  school 

again. Ken  and  LeOra  had  a  grade  A  Dairy  for  several 

years  until  their  health  was  so  they  couldn't  care  for 
the  stock,  so  they  sold  them. 

They  have  been  active  in  church  work,  having 

held  many  positions.  Ken  is  still  affiliated  with  the 
irrigation  systems  of  the  Last  Chance  Co.,  and  is 
Vice-President.  His  activities  have  been  curtailed 

since  he  had  his  right  leg  amputated  in  November 
1973. 

LeOra  H.  Tarbet  was  born  at  Grace,  Idaho  May 

26,  1914  to  Albert  E.  Hayes  and  Favoretta  Bratton 
Rich  Hayes.  She  has  lived  in  Grace  all  of  her  life, 
she  attended  the  first  grade  in  Grace,  and 

graduated  from  the  Telluride  School. 
In  as  much  as  the  boys  in  the  family  were  out 

numbered  2  to  1  she  was  her  Dad's  helper.  As  soon 
as  she  was  able  she  thinned  and  hoed  sugar  beets. 

At  an  early  age  they  learned  to  ride  the  derrick 
horse  while  stacking  hay,  and  as  they  aged  in  years 

they  were  given  added  responsibilities.  This  includ- 
ed driving  teams  of  horses  to  harrow  the  summer- 

fallow,  help  in  the  hay  field  driving  slips,  later  the 

sweep  rakes,  and  milking  cows. 
She  only  went  to  three  years  of  high  school  then 

chose  to  get  married. 

She  taught  Primary,  M.I. A.  and  Sunday  School, 
and  was  Stake  Sunday  School  Secretary.  LeOra 
was  chairman  in  the  Ladies  Division  of  the  local 

fair  for  three  years,  served  in  the  American  Legion 

Auxiliary  as  president,  vice-president,  district 
historian,  and  secretary.  She  is  also  secretary  of  the 
First  West  Lateral. 

LeOra  loves  to  work  with  her  hands,  loves  to 

sew.  needlepoint,  macrame,  ceramics,  decoupage, 
and  has  done  a  bit  of  knitting.  She  loves  to  piece 

quilts  and  quilt.  To  make  the  job  easier  they  bought 

a  quilting  machine. 
She  likes  flowers,  has  a  beautiful  yard  where  she 

spends  a  lot  of  time,  and  has  had  many  com- 
pliments on  it. 

FRANKLIN  H.  THOMAS  was  born  May  13, 
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Franklin  H.  and  Lydia  R.  Thomas 

1909  at  Lago.  Idaho.  LYDIA  R.  THOMAS  was 
born  July  18,  1910  in  Mink  Creek,  Idaho.  They 

were  married  October  1,  1940  in  Salt  Lake  City, 
Utah.  Their  children  are:  Don  Paul  Jenkins,  Mark 
F.  Thomas,  Howard  Thomas  and  Kathleen 
Thomas. 

Frank  has  been  involved  in  church  work  and  was 

in  the  Bishopric  for  14  years.  He  has  played  in 

several  orchestras  over  a  period  of  35  years.  He  en- 
joys hunting,  fishing,  traveling  and  music. 

Lydia  has  served  in  all  auxiliaries  of  the  church, 
has  been  President  of  the  P.T.A.  for  2  years,  has 

received  several  awards  for  poetry,  and  writes  for 

two  newspapers.  She  has  worked  with  drama  and 

public  readings,  and  has  sung  with  the  ward  and 
stake  choirs.  She  enjoys  handwork,  writing  and 
travel. 

JOHN  JR.  THOMAS,  son  of  Elisha  John  and 

Esther  Otelia  Johnson  was  born  September  17, 
1922. 

He  married  lONA  ASHBAKER,  daughter  of 

William  Ray  and  Loretta  Miles  Ashbaker  July  23, 
1942.  lona  was  born  March  14,  1924.  They  have 

four  sons:  John  Wynn,  Larry  Ray,  Ronald,  and 
Sherwin. 

John  Jr.  is  now  farming  the  original  land  broken 

up  by  his  father  with  the  oxen,  but  times  have 

changed  just  a  little  today  (February,  1977).  Today 

they  farm  with  air-conditioned  cabs  on  tractors, 

complete  with  FM  radio,  air-conditioned  com- 
bines, self-propelled  stack  wagons,  CB  radios  in 

about  everything  so  you  just  push  a  button  and  say 
"help". 

John  Jr.  is  very  much  like  his  dad.  He  has  found 
time  to  work  for  the  Lord  in  the  Sunday  School, 

Elders  Quorum.  Bishopric.  Bishop  and  High  Coun- 
cilman. 

He  also  serves  in  the  community  with 

cattlemen's  associations.  Gem  Valley  Grain.  3 
canal  companies.  Federal  Land  Bank  etc. 

He  loves  his  fellowmen  and  enjoys  work.  He  has 

a  great  love  for  the  Gospel  and  enjoys  serving 
others. 

lona  has  spent  much  of  her  time  serving  in  the 
church  also.  A  teacher  in  the  Primary.  M.I. A.. 

Sunday  School,  and  Relief  Society,  and  is  now  a 
Stake  Counselor  in  the  Relief  Society. 

P.S.  lona  says,  "She  is  surely  behind  in  a  lot  of 
things,  but  as  long  as  one  of  them  is  her  husband  it 

is  OK!" 

FLOYD  BENNETT  TOONE  was  born  June  23, 

1918  at  Grace,  Idaho  and  died  September  3,  1974. 
GWEN  C.  TOONE  was  born  June  9.  1924  at 

Grace.  Idaho.  They  were  married  June  28.  1949  in 
the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple. 

Floyd  had  a  lifelong  interest  in  dairy  farming  on 

the  family  farm.  Gwen  graduated  from  Idaho  State 

University  and  taught  school  for  10  years  in  addi- 
tion to  being  a  homemaker. 

Floyd's  farming  interests  were  not  only  his  voca- 
tion but  also  his  hobbies  and  recreation  as  the  im- 

provements in  his  dairy  animals  and  farming 
facilities  demonstrated.  He  had  a  lifelong  interest 

in  Scouting  and  was  a  Scoutmaster  for  eighteen 

years  and  later  served  on  Scout  committees.  He 
was  an  active  member  of  the  L.D.S.  Church,  and 

served  in  various  civic  organizations.  He  was  presi- 
dent of  the  Caribou  County  Farm  Bureau,  on  the 

County  4-H  Council  twelve  years,  and  was  a 
member  of  the  Grace  School  Board  for  three  years. 

Gwen's  most  important  interests  have  been  her 
family  and  the  church.  Prior  to  her  marriage  she 

filled  a  mission  to  the  Northwestern  States  Mis- 
sion. She  has  served  in  every  church  auxiliary 

organization  in  both  ward  and  stake.  She  enjoys 

her  yard  and  garden  and  maintaining  a  good 

appearance  for  them.  She  has  been  active  in  the 

Farm  Bureau  having  been  chairman  o\'  the 
Women's  Committee  both  in  Grace  and  in  the  coun- 

ty. She  has  also  been  on  the  4-H  council  for  14 
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years.  She  likes  creating  an  enjoyable  home  for  her 
family. 

Floyd  and  Gwen's  children  are:  Curtis  Floyd 
Toone,  Sherman  Clegg  Toone,  Gregory  William 
Toone,  and  Frederic  Joseph  Toone. 

ARCHIE  BRYCE  TURNER  born  February  21, 
1910  at  Thatcher,  Idaho. 
HENRIETTA  MARIE  PLEDGER  born  March 

10,  1911  at  Inkom,  Idaho. 

They  were  married  June  20,  1933  at  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho;  four  children  were  born  to  this  un- 
ion: Beverly  Ann,  Patricia,  Judy  Kay  and  Tamra. 

My  lifetime  occupation  has  been  spent  in 
livestock  dealing  which  I  learned  at  a  very  young 

age  from  my  father.  During  the  war  I  was  unable  to 
get  gasoline  or  trucks  to  operate  my  business  with, 
so  I  worked  with  Union  Pacific  Railroad  for  four 

years.  I  then  returned  to  my  livestock  operation. 
Henrietta  also  helped  with  the  income  by  teaching 

school  for  a  few  years  in  the  area  where  we  lived. 

In  our  later  years  of  marriage  Henrietta  became 

a  member  of  the  L.D.S.  Church  and  was  very  ac- 
tive, holding  many  responsible  positions.  The 

marriage  was  then  solemnized  in  the  Temple  in 
1960. 

Pleasant  years  were  spent  as  Stake  and  Ward 
Dance  Directors.  Henrietta  was  MIA  Counselor, 

MIA  Stake  President,  a  Sunday  School  Teacher, 
Primary  Worker,  and  remained  active  until  her 
death  in  1964. 

Horses  took  priortiy  in  the  family  as  each  of  us 
was  interested  in  and  had  a  genuine  love  for  them. 
All  the  girls  joined  in  parades  at  fair  times  and 

rodeos,  reigning  as  queens  and  winning  many 

trophies.  Many  happy  hours  have  been  spent  with 

family  in  horseback  riding,  cutter  racing,  cow  cut- 
ting, camping,  and  fishing. 

FREDRICK  BURTON  VANVLEET  was  born 

September  27,  1912  in  Grace,  Idaho. 
LILAS  RASMUSSEN  was  born  in  Lago,  Idaho 

on  January  29,  1915.  Fred  and  Lilas  were  married 
July  18,  1934  in  Lago,  Idaho. 

Fred  is  watermaster  of  the  Last  Chance  Canal 

Company,  beginning  in  1937.  He  was  the  owner 
and  operator  of  the  Conoco  service  station  for  10 
years,  1960  to  1970.  Fred  was  the  first  to  haul  the 

city  garbage  in  1946.  He  is  a  voluntary  fireman  star- 

Frederick  B.  and  Lilas  R.  VanVleet 

ting  in  1933,  and  he  has  been  on  the  City  Board 

since  1966.  He  was  given  the  Businessmen's  Award 
in  1971.  He  has  been  on  the  theater  board  many 

years.  He  enjoys  fishing  and  hunting.  He  is  active  in 
the  L.D.S.  Church. 

Lilas  has  been  a  member  of  the  Grace  Literary 

Club  since  1946,  holding  nearly  every  position  in  it. 
She  enjoys  sewing  and  cooking.  She  has  made  a 

great  number  of  quilts  and  afghans,  and  many 
clothes  for  herself  and  her  family.  She  loves  to  cook 

and  make  candy,  especially  dipping  chocolates. 
Lilas  is  also  active  in  the  L.D.S.  Church,  and  holds 

a  nine  year  attendance  award  in  M.I.A. 

Fred  and  Lilas  had  the  following  children:  Ray- 
mond L.  VanVleet,  and  Sandra  VanVleet  Mur- 

dock. 

HAROLD  WINEGAR  VARLEY  was  born 

September  14,  1908  at  Bountiful,  Utah,  son  of  John 
and  Rilla  Winegar  Varley. 

RUTH  LASLEY,  daughter  of  Heber  William 
and  Cassie  Muir  Lasley  was  born  in  Logan,  Utah, 

September  22,  1913. 
Harold  moved  to  Sterling,  Idaho  in  1918  with  his 

family,  where  they  lived  on  a  farm.  This  is  where 
Harold  began  his  farming  career.  Harold  met  Ruth 
in  Sterling,  when  she  came  to  teach  grade  school  in 
1934.  They  were  married  at  Soda  Springs,  Idaho  on 
December  24,  1937.  Their  marriage  was  later 

solemnized  in  the  Logan  L.D.S.  Temple  on  June 

25.  1963.  They  lived  in  Sterling  until  1944,  when 

they  moved  to  Ivins.  They  farmed  there  for  three 

years.  They  then  sold  this  farm  and  moved  to  Filer 
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for  two  years.  The  next  move  was  to  Grace  in  1949, 

where  they  bought  the  Albert  Hayes  farm. 

They  have  been  active  in  the  L.D.S.  Church  and 

civic  organizations.  Harold  served  in  the  ward  and 

stake  Sunday  School,  the  MIA,  and  in  the  Elders 

Quorum  Presidency.  He  served  on  the  school  board 

for  eight  years,  chairman  for  four  years.  He  has 

been  president  of  the  Lions  Club.  He  served  on  the 

Last  Chance  Canal  Board  and  is  on  the  Gem  Valley 
Grain  Board  of  Directors.  He  has  been  active  in 

seed  potato  producing  in  the  valley,  and  serves  on 

the  Advisory  Board  of  the  Idaho  Crop  Improve- 
ment Association. 

Ruth  has  been  in  the  Grace  Literary  Club  since 

1949.  She  has  been  president  of  the  club  twice,  and 

is  co-chairman  of  the  "Gems"  of  Our  Valley  book, 
which  the  club  has  sponsored.  She  has  served  in  the 

Primary,  Sunday  School,  and  MIA. 

They  moved  into  town  from  the  farm  in  1976. 

Their  children  are:  Sandra  Lynn  Webb,  Kathleen 

Whitehead,  Nina  Ruth  Johnson,  and  Susan  Varley. 

MELVIN  (MEL)  WEAVER  was  born  at  Ben- 
nington, Idaho  June  12,  1907. 

IRENE  SMART  was  born  September  30,  1907 

at  Georgetown,  Idaho. 

Mel  and  Irene  were  married  in  the  Logan  Tem- 

ple at  Logan,  Utah  November  30,  1927. 

The  following  children  were  born  to  them:  M. 

Glen,  Emma  Lou  Almond,  Addie  Irene  Golden, 

Frank  E.,  Michael  S.,  and  Robert  V.  Weaver. 

Mel  was  a  farmer  and  a  competent  carpenter, 

while  Irene's  interests  were  music  and  sewing. 

Mel  died  April  19,  1977  at  Grace,  Idaho 

Irene  served  as  Grace  City  Clerk  for  six  years, 

clerk  for  the  Grace  Cemetery  District,  and  was  the 

hot  lunch  supervisor  in  the  Grace  schools  for  many 

years.  She  sang  in  the  ward  choir  and  was  a  Relief 

Society  President.  She  died  May  22,  1977. 

AUGUST  FERNANDO  (FERD) 

WESTERBERG,  son  of  Peter  August  and  Annie 

Berquist  Westerberg,  was  born  February  12,  1906 
in  Glencoe,  Idaho. 

AILEEN  THOMAS,  daughter  of  Howard  L. 
and  Annie  May  Turner  Thomas,  was  born  in  Lago, 
Idaho  July  28,  1906. 

They  were  married  October  5,  1927  in  the  Logan 

L.D.S.  Temple  in  Logan,  Utah.  After  their 

marriage,  they  made  their  home  in  Niter,  where 
they  resided  a  total  of  45  years.  During  this  time, 

Ferd  purchased  the  farm  and  milk  route  from  his 
father,  and  Aileen  continued  playing  in  the  Thomas 

Family  Orchestra. 

Two  children  were  born  to  this  couple:  Landell 
and  Sally  Ann. 

Along  with  his  farming,  Ferd  hauled  milk.  He 
hauled  to  the  first  Kraft  cheese  factory,  located 

west  of  Grace;  also  for  Gem  Valley  Swiss,  Farmer's 
Co-op,  and  Cache  Valley  Dairy  in  Smithfield. 
This  he  did  for  over  30  years,  and  happily  served  his 

patrons. He  also  worked  in  the  church,  serving  as  Ward 
Clerk  in  Williams  Ward  for  eighteen  years. 

Y. M.M.I. A  President.  Aileen's  church  positions 
included  Ward  Chorister,  teacher  and  President  of 
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the  Y. W.M.I. A.  for  eight  years.  Aileen  also  served 
in  Bannock  Stake  positions. 

In  1950  Ferd  and  Aileen  sold  their  Niter  proper- 
ty to  Glen  Allen  and  bought  a  dairy  farm  in 

Preston.  While  there  Ferd  suffered  a  severe  stroke, 
and  was  advised  to  leave  the  farm.  This  he  did  and 

returned  to  Niter  and  purchased  the  Niter  Service 
from  Howard  Ransom. 

Their  children  have  brought  them  much  hap- 
piness by  being  active  in  the  community  and 

church.  Lanny  established  himself  as  a  sheepman 
early  in  his  life  through  the  F.F.A.  Program  at 

Preston  High  School.  He  was  District  President, 
and  was  awarded  Star  Farmer  Plaque,  and  State 

Farmer's  Degree. 
Sally  Ann  graduated  from  Grace  High  School 

where  she  was  active  in  music  and  drama.  She 

attended  U.S.U.  In  1960,  as  Miss  Caribou  County, 

she  participated  in  the  Miss  Idaho  Pageant  at 
Boise,  Idaho. 

In  1964  Ferd  and  Aileen  moved  to  Grace,  where 

they  established  the  S  and  W  Drive-In.  It  was  later 

called  the  Snac-N-Pac.  When  they  retired,  this 

business  was  sold.  They  now  reside  in  the  Ira  Van- 
den  Akker  home. 

Alvin  Whitehead Mae  Whitehead 

Parnell  (Joe)  received  their  schooling  and  grew  to maturity. 

Alvin  began  his  long,  fifty-four  year  career  as  a 
banker  at  the  age  of  17  when  he  was  employed  by 
The  First  National  Bank  of  Grace,  Idaho,  in  the 

year  1918. On  November  26,  1920,  Alvin  and  MAE 

NIELSEN  were  married  in  Pocatello,  Idaho.  Mae 

was  the  daughter  of  Peter  and  Mary  Nielsen  of 
Cleveland,  Idaho,  and  Mae  was  born  in  Cleveland 

on  May  4,  1902. 
In  the  year  1933  Alvin  and  his  brother,  Melvin, 

built  a  Swiss  Cheese  Factory  in  Grace  which  they 

managed  for  many  years,  while  continuing  their 

work  at  the  bank.  Alvin's  son.  Rex,  later  took  over 
management  of  the  cheese  factory. 

Mae  was  very  active  in  civic  and  church  affairs  in 
Grace.  She  served  as  chairman  of  the  Caribou 

County  Cancer  Drive  for  many  years;  she  was  a 
past  president  of  the  American  Legion  Auxiliary 

where  she  was  also  active  in  the  Girl's  State 
Prograni,  serving  as  its  chairman  for  a  long  period 

of  time.  She  was  a  charter  member  and  past  presi- 
dent of  the  Grace  Literary  Club,  also  serving  very 

effectively  as  its  program  chairman.  Mae  was  ac- 
tive in  the  auxiliaries  of  the  L.D.S.  Church,  serving 

on  the  Stake  Primary  Board  for  several  years  and 
as  a  teacher  in  the  Grace  Ward  Relief  Society  and 

Sunday  School  organizations. 
Alvin  and  Mae  were  parents  of  two  children: 

Eileen  (Woodall),  of  Oak  Harbor,  Washington, 
and  Rex,  of  Logan,  Utah. 

Mae  was  the  victim  of  a  tragic  accident  when  she 

was  struck  by  a  truck  on  the  main  street  of  Grace. 
She  died  from  injuries  a  few  hours  later  on 

September  8,  1973.  She  is  buried  in  the  Grace 
cemetery. 

Alvin  retired  from  the  bank  in  1972  and  still 

maintains  his  residence  in  Grace,  Idaho. 

ALVIN  WHITEHEAD,  prominent  banker  of 

Grace,  Idaho,  was  born  in  Hinckley,  Utah,  on  July 
29,  1901,  the  son  of  Frank  and  Emily  Whitehead. 
He  had  an  identical  twin  brother  who  was  named 
Melvin. 

The  Whitehead  family  moved  to  the  Bench  area 
of  Gentile  Valley  in  191 1  and  here  the  Whitehead 
children,  Blaine,  Lenna,  Alvin,  Melvin,  Earl,  and 

EARL  WHITEHEAD,  son  of  Frank  and  Emily 

Whitehead,  was  born  June  19,  1904  in  Hinckley, 
Utah. 

LETHA  PERRY  was  born  to  Henry  and  Mary 

Jane  Ridges  Perry,  May  22,  1903  at  Perry,  Idaho. 
Earl  and  Letha  were  married  August  19,  1922. 

They  have  four  children:  Earlene  Mc  Giffin,  Boyd, 

Thayne,  and  Charlin  Harrison. 
Earl  has  lived  in  Bench,  Idaho  since  he  was  five 
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years  old.  After  his  marriage  they  bought  the  Oscar 

Fullmer  place,  where  they  have  made  their  home. 

He  enjoys  farming,  reading,  improving  their  home, 
and  traveling.  He  was  Bishop  of  Williams  Ward  for 

8'/2  years.  Stake  High  Councilman,  Stake  M.I. A. 
Counselor,  and  served  as  Counselor  to  three 

bishops  of  Williams  Ward. 

Letha  likes  singing,  homemaking,  knitting, 

crocheting,  quilting,  and  traveling.  She  has  been 

ward  organist  in  Bench  Ward,  sung  with  the  Sing- 
ing Mothers  since  1935,  and  belonged  to  the  ward 

choir.  She  has  served  in  the  Primary,  M.I. A.  and 

counselor  in  the  Relief  Society.  She  is  the  gran- 
daughter  of  Joseph  Harris  Ridges,  builder  of  the 
famous  Tabernacle  Organ  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 

Letha  has  been  privileged  to  sing  in  the  Taber- 
nacle three  times  with  the  Singing  Mothers. 

PARNELL  WHITEHEAD  was  born  August  19, 
1912  at  Bench,  Idaho  to  Frank  and  Emily 
Whitehead.  NONA  ANDERSEN  was  born  to 

Parley  and  Annie  Jane  Harris  Andersen  on 

September  28,  1914.  Joe  and  Nona  were  married 
December  30,  1939  in  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah;  later 

solemnized  in  the  Logan  Temple,  June  9,  1965. 

Joe  is  a  dairy  inspector.  He  enjoys  horses  and 
golfing.  He  is  active  in  the  LDS  Church,  and  has 

held  positions  as  Deacon's  advisor,  Superintendent 
of  the  Sunday  School,  Elders  Quorum  President, 

Stake  Executive  Secretary,  and  presently  as  the 
Stake  Clerk. 

Parnell  and  Nona  A.  Whitehead 

Nona  is  a  cosmetologist  and  housewife.  She  likes 

to  knit  and  do  crossword  puzzles.  She  is  also  active 
in  the  L.D.S.  Church.  She  has  been  a  Primary 
teacher,  a  M.I. A.  teacher,  a  Sunday  School 

teacher,  secretary  of  the  Sunday  School,  and 

presently  is  the  Relief  Society  President  of  the 
Grace  First  Ward. 

Joe  and  Nona  have  two  sons:  Brent  P. 
Whitehead  and  Bart  F.  Whitehead. 

WILLIAM  PANTER  WILLIAMS  was  born 

May  6,  1903  in  Mound  Valley,  Idaho.  He  was  a  son 
of  John  Thomas  and  Anna  Eliza  Panter  Williams. 

He  married  LULA  KENDALL  on  September 
26,  1935  in  the  Salt  Lake  Temple. 

He  was  a  farmer  and  rancher.  He  served-  an 
L.D.S.  Mission  in  the  North  Central  States  in 

1929-31.  He  also  served  in  the  Bishopric,  Sunday 
School  and  MT.A.  Superintendent.  He  was  a  High 

Priest  group  leader  in  the  Cleveland  Ward. 

He  and  his  wife  were  the  parents  of  two  sons: 
Richard  K.,  who  lives  in  Pocatello.  and  Robert 
Gordon  of  Salt  Lake  City,  Utah. 

William  P.  Williams  died  in  Granger,  Utah  after 
a  short  illness  at  the  age  of  73. 

FERN  L.  WRIGHT  was  born  in  Thatcher.  Idaho 

on  June  17.  1921.  SHIRLEY  S.  WRIGHT  was 

born  in  Grace.  Idaho  on  July  9.  1927.  They  were 
married  July  9.  1946. 

Their  children  are:  Ronald  S..  Joann.  Steven  L., 

Patsy  J..  Kim.  and  Mitzie  Dene. 
They  have  farmed  for  many  years  in  Thatcher. 
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Fern  has  served  as  Sunday  School  Superinten- 
dent, M.I. A.  President  and  on  the  Stake  M.I. A. He 

has  also  served  as  a  4-H  leader.  He  enjoys  reading, 
music  and  his  grandchildren. 

Shirley  has  been  a  Primary  teacher,  counselor, 
Stake  Primary  Leader,  Sunday  School  teacher,  and 
Coordinator  and  Relief  Society  teacher.  She  enjoys 

reading  and  knitting. 

KENNETH  WRIGHT,  son  of  Joseph  and  Mary 

Ellis  Wright,  was  born  in  Thatcher  June  23,  1903. 
VIRGINIA  THATCHER  was  born  in  Thatcher 

April  2,  1906.  She  was  the  daughter  of  Howard  and 
Amy  Larkin  Thatcher. 

Kenneth  and  Virginia  were  married  in  Soda 

Springs,  Idaho,  May  13,  1927.  Two  sons  were  born 
to  this  couple:  Theodore  Kenneth  Wright,  and 

Wayne  Mark  Wright. 

Farming  has  been  Kenneth's  interest  through  the 
years,  and  Virginia  enjoys  gardening,  handwork, 
and  quilting. 

Brigham  L.  and  Bera  B.  Young 

BRIGHAM  L.  YOUNG  was  born  in  Preston, 

Idaho  June  8,  1906. 
VERA  B.  YOUNG  was  born  in  Pocatello,  Idaho 

December  22,  1913. 

Their  children  are:  Joyce  Ann  Adams,  Jean 

Marie  Bowman,  and  Betty  De  Vone  Ashbaker. 
Brig  has  been  a  rancher,  and  Vera  a  school 

teacher. 

Brig  came  to  Thatcher  as  a  young  man.  He  and 
his  brother  were  partners  in  cattle  ranching.  He  has 

held  numerous  civic  responsibilities;  has  served  as  a 
member  and  chairman  of  the  Board  of  Trustees 

District  148  for  ten  years.  (1950-1960)  He  was 
president  of  the  District  and  County  Farm 
Bureau,  chairman  of  District  Camping  Activities 

Committee  of  Tendoy  Council,  and  served  as  chair- 
man of  the  Caribou  County  Fair  Board.  He,  with 

his  brother,  Howard,  received  the  County  award  for 
Grassman  of  the  Year  (1965).  He  was  also  chosen 
as  an  FFA  Honorary  Member. 

Brig  has  held  many  church  responsibilities;  serv- 
ed on  Sunday  School  and  MIA  Ward  and  Stake 

Boards,  Bishop  of  Thatcher  Ward  (1961-1966),  and 
secretary  and  counselor  to  the  High  Priest 

Quorum. His  hobbies  are  fishing,  hunting,  and  training 

horses.  He  has  been  a  popular  judge  at  many  fairs 
and  horse  shows. 

Vera  came  to  the  valley  as  a  teacher  in  the 
Cleveland  School  District,  after  graduating  from 
Idaho  Southern  Branch.  She  earned  her  Bachelor 

of  Science  Degree  from  Utah  State  University.  She 

has  taught  for  30  years  in  the  Cleveland  and 
Thatcher  area,  serving  also  as  Principal  for  4  years 
in  the  Thatcher  School.  She  has  held  active 

membership  in  Delta  Kappa  Gamma  Honorary 

Society,  American  Association  of  University 
Women;  served  as  President  of  the  Grace  Teachers 
Association.  As  a  teacher  she  received  a  certificate 

of  Commendation  and  Recognition  from  Governor 

Cecil  Andrus  for  distinctive,  loyal  and  able  service 
to  the  State  of  Idaho. 

She  is  an  active  member  of  the  L.D.S.  Church, 

having  served  in  all  Ward  Auxiliaries  and  on  the 

Sunday  School  and  M.I. A.  Stake  Boards. 

HOWARD  B.  YOUNG  was  born  October  3, 

1908  in  Preston,  Idaho.  IRENE  ALLEN  was  born 
in  Banida  on  November  13,  1917.  They  were 

married  May  20,  1942  in  the  Logan  Temple.  They 
had  four  children:  Dale  H.,  Glenn  A.,  Robert  L., 

and  Carol  Young  Williams. 
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Howard  B.  and  Irene  A.  Young 

Howard  has  enjoyed  ranching  as  his  occupation 
through  the  years  until  he  retired  in  1971.  Some  of 
his  hobbies  include  hunting,  fishing  and  travel  and 

he  is  interested  in  history  and  science.  Howard  has 
been  a  member  of  the  Grace  zoning  committee,  and 
on  the  Board  of  Directors  of  the  Gem  Valley  Grain 
Growers.  He  has  been  Elders  Quorum  President  in 

Bannock  Stake,  Explorer  Leader  in  Bannock 
Stake,  and  M.I. A.  Counselor  and  President.  He 

served  as  Ward  Clerk  and  Bishop's  Counselor  in 
Thatcher  Ward. 

Irene  enjoys  arts  and  crafts  along  with  travel  and 
gardening  as  her  hobbies.  She  has  worked  at  the 

Caribou  County  Fair  and  has  been  a  4-H  leader  for 

many  years. 
Irene  has  served  as  President  of  the  Relief  Socie- 

ty and  the  M.I. A.  in  Thatcher  Ward.  She  spent 

many  years  as  a  Sunday  School  teacher.  She  has 
been  on  the  Bannock  Stake  M.I. A.  Board  and  Ban- 

nock Stake's  Relief  Society  Board. 
Irene  has  taught  school  in  Grace  and  Thatcher 

for  23  years.  She  served  as  president  of  the 

Classroom  Teacher  Organization  in  the  local,  dis- 
trict and  state  capacities.  She  attended  several 

national  conventions. 

Howard  and  Irene  served  an  18  month  L.D.S. 
Mission  in  the  South  Texas  Mission  and  returned 
to  Grace  in  the  fall  of  1976. 
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Let  This  Be  Heaven 
By  Harrison  R.  Merrill 

Oh,  God,  let  this  be  heaven — 
I  do  not  ask  for  golden  streets, 

Or  long  for  jasper  walls, 

Nor  do  I  sigh  for  pearly  shores, 

Where  twilight  never  falls; 
Just  leave  me  here  beside  these  peaks. 

In  this  rough  western  land — 
I  love  this  dear  old  world  of  Thine, 

Dear  God,  you  understand. 

Oh  God,  let  this  be  heaven — 
I  do  not  crave  white,  stainless,  robes, 

I'll  keep  these  marked  by  toil; 
Instead  of  straight  and  narrow  walks, 

I  love  trails  soft  with  soil. 

I  have  been  healed  by  crystal  streams. 

Like  these  from  snow-crowned  peaks. 
Where  dawn  burns  incense  to  the  day 

And  paints  the  sky  in  streaks. 

Dear  God,  let  this  be  heaven — 
I  do  not  ask  for  angel  wings. 

Just  leave  that  old  peak  there. 

And  let  me  climb  till  comes  the  night, 

I  want  no  golden  stair. 

Then,  when  I  say  my  last  adieu. 
And  all  farewells  are  given. 

Just  leave  my  spirit  here  somewhere 
Oh,  God,  let  this  be  heaven. 
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Homesteaders  and  Early  Settlers 
MOUND  VALLEY 
Robert  Fellows 
Alexander  Harris 

Robert  H.  Williams 
John  Tanner 

Hezekiah  Peck 
David  Brown 
Ernest  Hale 
Dave  Sullivan 
Rais  Cahoon 

Joe  Wright 
James  D.  McGregor 
Henry  Perry 
Joe  Collins 

Andrew  Gray 
Charles  Panter 
Thomas  Panter 
Thomas  Bennett 

Hyrum  Bennett 
Ephraim  Bennett 
William  Williams 
James  P.  Anderson 

Jed  Hammond 
Aaron  Forman 

Hyrum  Forman 
Jonathan  Hale 

Sam  Orson 
Sard  Stalker 
Al  Stalker 
William  Behle 

Peter  Jorgenson 
Ren  Durrant 

Dave  Coombs 

THATCHER 

Solomon  Hale 
Hezekiah  Peck 

Samuel  Clark 

Jeppe  Folkman 
Joe  Folkman 
Alexander  Harris 

Julius  Shepherd 
Pat  McMarr 

John  B.  Thatcher 
Charles  Medford 

Richard  Hayes 
William  Peck 

Charles  Peck 

Clarence  Eldredge 
Bill  Cole 

George  Smith 
Lars  Christensen 
Milt  Robbins 
Willard  Robbins 

Sam  Bollwinkel 

George  Peck 

Joseph  Bevins 
Tom  Allsop 

James  Larsen 
William  H.  Mendenhall 
James  Herd 

Lewis  S.  Pond 
Ira  Hogan 

William  Larkin 

Albert  Steinbeck 

Otto  Gulbrunsen 

Joseph  Hansen 
Tom  Sterritt 
Charles  Izatt,  Sr. 
Arthur  Peck 
William  Irish 

LAGO 

William  Wright 

Enoch  Bennett 

Calvin  Bennett 

James  Leffler 

Gotleg  Newlandswander 
Barnes  Rodeback 

John  Sorensen 
William  Bassett 
Charles  Bassett 

Henry  Billingsley 

Henry  Jensen 
Peter  Anderson 

Joe  Fowler 
John  Fowler 
Jonathan  Gibbs 
William  H.  Mendenhall 

John  R.  Turner 

Fred  Collins 
John  Rasmussen 
Lars  Rasmussen 

Jens  Swensen 

James  Swensen 
Chris  Swensen 

Joseph  Swensen 

Hyrum  Swensen 
Anton  Mickelson 
Andrew  Ruud 

Thomas  Hillyard 

Clayborne  Moorehead 
Christian  Christensen 

Henry  Christensen 
Pete  Hansen 
Chris  Hansen 

Julius  Hansen 
James  Elliot 
William  H.  Meacham 
Ed  Meacham 
Eli  Morgan 

Frank  Luscher 

Ed  Gosland 

McGee  Harris 

Cap  Harris 
Chris  Mickelson 

Charles  Lund 

Chris  Lund 
Don  Bassett 
Dorthea  Knudsen 

CLEVELAND 

James  Ransom 

Hyrum  Ransom 
Bill  Ransom 

Tom  Ransom 
Ivan  Goff 

John  Clawson 
Fred  Baker 
Leonard  Eskelsin 

Nathan  Smith 

Roy  Andreasen 
Theron  Smith 

Charles  Fames 
Harry  King 

Harry  Howell 
Harry  Bloget 
James  Anderson 
Peter  Nielsen 
William  Smith 

Hvrum  Nielsen 
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Ollie  Hanson 

Henry  Larsen 
Barney  White 
Dell  Eldredge 

James  Vaughn 

Frank  Spidell 

GRACE 
Edward  Nelson 
Robert  Kirkham 

Fred  Burton,  Sr. 

John  Trappett 
Edward  Turner 
Frank  Merrill 

Elias  Stoddard,  Sr. 

Sam  Egbert,  Sr. 
D.  D.  Sullivan 
Jim  Wickam 

Tom  Steadman 
Neil  Larsen 

Jesse  Aylett 
Dan  German 
Fred  Olsen 
William  Ormond 
Pat  McPherson 

Orson  C.  Childs 

Ernest  Egbert 
Therber  Johnson 
John  Williams 
John  Gibson 

Harvey  Gibson 
Will  Perry 
Sumner  Pond 
Andrew  Adams 
Rufus  Adams 

Q.  R.  Pack 
Joe  Bannister 

Doke  Egbert 
John  Allsop 
Orson  Calkins 

Joseph  Olorenshaw 
George  Hamp 

Harry  Hughes 
Tob  Merrill 

Edward  Montague 
Jim  Green 

Mark  Green 

Edward  Kirby 
John  Kirby 

Emil  Peterson 

Pete  Johnson 
H.  P.  Hansen 

Joe  Johnson 
Leo  Mendenhall 

Barney  Milhall 
Martin  Black 

Joseph  Black 
Landon  Rich 

Charles  Rich 

Torger  Torgensen 
Richard  Hayes 
Bert  Hayes 
Walt  Hayes 

George  Telford 
Moroni  Lowe 
Mathias  Lowe 

George  Bybee 
J.  W.  King 

John  J.  Cherry 

Wid  Hawkins 

John  Steadman 
Denzil  Poulson 

Olaf  Olsen 
A!  Myers 

Oli  Oleson 
Charles  Burns 

TURNER 
Smith  Gummersall 
James  Bower 
David  McLain 
William  Corbett 

Frank  Corbett 

Sam  Thomas 
William  Gilbert 

John  Thomas,  Sr. 

Chauncey  Thomas 
Jim  Gilbert 
Carl  Hansen 
Earnest  Johnson 

Zetta  Hancock 

Brigham  McCann 
James  McCann 
Mulbern  Green 

Ike  Bowler 
Jim  Carrigan 

Hyrum  Egbert 
Mary  Ellen  Egbert 

John  Corbett 

George  Toolson 
Mack  McCarthy 

High  Toolson 

Roy  Pack Cornelius  VandenAkker 
William  Akins 

Warren  Smith 

Rufus  Smith 
Bert  Med  ford 
Arem  Allen 
Johan  VandenAkker 
Frank  Harris 

Tom  Harris 
Ervin  Williams 

Pete  Zondervan 
Fred  Potter 

Fred  Mann 

George  Telford 
Joseph  Hansen 
Jim  Green 

Robert  Comish 
Fred  Robinson 

D.  D.  Sullivan 
O.  H.  Warner 

CENTRAL 

Harvey  Gibson 
John  Gibson 
William  Tarbet 

Otto  Hegstrom 
Ferdinand  Christensen,  Sr. 
Ferdinand  Christensen,  Jr. 
Heber  Christensen 

Oscar  Ranstrom 
Lorenzo  Simonson 
Ed  Simonson 

Robert  Gunnell 

Joe  Gunnell 
Thomas  Gunnell 

Archie  Gunnell 
William  Hegstrom 
Emil  Larsen 

Christian  M.  Christensen 
Gustaf  Anderson 
Albert  Hansen 
Neil  Bell 
Neils  Andersen,  Sr. 

Jens  Andersen 
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Tom  Kerr 

William  T.  Lloyd 
Andrew  Rosdahl 

Charley  Rosdahl 
Orson  Simonson 

Daniel  Lloyd 
Paul  Lefner 

Charles  Lloyd 
Dick  Bell 

R.  G.  Jorgensen 
Fred  Giesler 

Minnie  Sullivan 

John  Anderson 

Claus  Hegstrom 

Gustaf  Hegstrom 

John  Hegstrom 

August  Hegstrom 
John  Lake 

August  Hansen 

Charley  Hansen 
Tom  Robinson 

M.  Ezra  Sorenson 

Roy  Sorenson 
Ers  Neville 

Heber  Neville 

Emery  Hanson 

Ed  Qualman 

Henry  Qualman 

Fred  Qualman 

John  Qualman 
Andrew  Anderson 

Dell  Maughan 
Dell  Eraser 

BENCH 

Hyrum  Collins 
Joe  Collins,  Sr. 
Willis  Ellis 

George  Rainey 
James  W.  Hubbard 

Frank  Christensen 
Benjamin  Clegg 
Isaac  Nanney 

Alma  Hubbard 

Hans  Sorensen 
John  Sorensen 

Peter  Sorensen 

Charles  Sorensen 
Canute  Mickelson 
Peter  Jensen 

Charles  Call 

James  Hansen,  Sr. 
Joe  Bowcutt 

Joseph  Schvaneveldt 
Brigham  Barton 
Gotleb  Keggie 

Jim  Harkness 

Harry  Vaughn 
Peter  Hansen 

James  Vaughn 

Dawson  Dawson 

NITER 
Parm  Calkins 
Dave  Miles 
Charles  Boss 
Dan  Miles 

John  Gibbs 

Jim  Petersen 
Nelse  Graham 

George  McClellan 
Richard  Turner 

Richard  Hayes 

Hans  Peterson 
Nels  P.  Johnson 
Stewart  Mingo 

Anton  Longenbohn 
John  Dalton 

Robert  Kingsford 
Nelse  Johnson 
Rube  Allsop 

George  Allsop 

Williams  Clemens 

Sam  Clemens 

Pete  Bowcutt 
George  Sharp 

Luty  Bassett 
Pete  Peterson 

Angus  Hall 
Dan  Harris 

Tom  Ellis 
Chris  Christensen 
John  Reeder 
Fred  Barfus 

Izaiah  Bennett 

Arthur  Peck 

David  Graham 
Eli  Beckstead 
Avalt  Peterson 
Alma  Hubbard 
Art  Hayes 

Rufus  Adams 
Alf  Talbot 

Eph  Casperson 
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CHAPTER  H:  Taken  from  the  personal 
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his. 
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Acutagawa,  Fred  192 
Adams.  Alma  J.  286,  501 
Adams,  E.  Andrew  80,  82,  287, 

313,  323 
Adams,  Annie  Laura  323,  290 
Adams,  Arthur  W.  95,  229,  280 

Adams,  Dorothy  C.  289,  501 
Adams,  Evan  501 

Adams,  George  66 
Adams,  H.  Rufus  82,  323 
Adams,  J.  Vernon  32,  275,  276 

Adams,  Mary  261,  262 
Adams,  Naomi  B.  501 
Adams,  Paul  276 
Adams,  Reva  B.  324 
Adams,  Seleta  279 
Adams,  Seviah  323 
Adams,  Vera  278 
Adams,  Zina  283 
Adler  Creek  24,  25,  150 

Albrethson,  Harvey  127 
Alder,  Calvin  C.  282,  288,  313 
Alder,  Janet  285 

Alder,  Wayne  264 
Alexander  28.  73,  131,  211 
Alleman,  Arvel  269,  275,  278 

Alleman,  Blanche  276 
Alleman,  Jolene  269 
Allen,  Cyril  235 
Allen,  Edyth  290 

Allen,  Faye  S.  324 
Allen.  F.  A.  Jr.  220,  281 
Allen,  Francis  A.  82.  119,  313 

324 
Allen,  Glenn  S.  80,   121,  224, 

236,  237,  238,  239,  502 
Allen,  Helen  R.  281,  284 
Allen,  JoAnn  239,  241 
Allen,  Larry  239,  282 
Allen,  Junius  288 

Allen,    Mary    121,    237,    238, 
239,  502 

Allsop,  Albert  503 

Allsop,  Annie  O.  327 
Allsop.  Eliza  C.  325 
Allsop,  George  T.  82,  106,  325 

Allsop,  Gerald  Monte  220 
Allsop,  John  Ira  16,  39,  40.  73, 

75,  80,  81,  82,  106,  178,  201. 
203,  204,  250,  313,  326 

Allsop,   Mary   E.  Tanner   142, 326 

Allsop,  Rae  C.  503 
Allsop,  Reuben  80,  82,  327 
Allsop,  Thomas   26,   268,   269 

270 

American  Free  Trappers  5 
American  Fur  Company  4 

Ames,  Ada  279 
Ames,  Annie  276 
Ames,  Colorado  89 
Ames,  Daniel  C.  277 
Ames,    Ira    32,    33,    155,    276, 

277,  327 

Ames,  LaVar  276 

Ames,  Maria  279 

Ames,  Mary  W.  327 
Ames,  Samuel  34 
Ames.  Winslow  276.  277 

Andersen.  Andrew  S.  328 
Andersen,  Elizabeth  H.  328 
Andersen,  Elsie  329 
Andersen,   Fred   H.   275,   276, 

277,  328 

Andersen,  Jennie  276 
Andersen,  Maren  329 

Andersen,  Mary  N.  276,  328 
Andersen,  Matilda  331 
Andersen,  Neils,  Sr.  329 
Andersen,    Neils,   Jr.   49.   250. 

291,  329 
Andersen.  Parley  Pratt  330 

Wilford  331 

Andrew  82.  313 
Annetta    241,    265, 

Annie    H.    18,   267, 

Andersen, 
Anderson. 

Anderson, 

269 Anderson. 

269,  330 

Anderson.  Carl  82 
Anderson.  Corie  170 

Anderson.  David  277 
Anderson,  Elmer  45.  46 
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Anderson,  Effie  (Reta)  280,  281 
Anderson,  Emma  272 
Anderson,  Evert  291 
Anderson,  George  D.  25,  26,  80, 

268,  269,  270 

Anderson,  Glen  49 
Anderson,  Gustaf  E.  291,  332 
Anderson,  Hadda  291,  332 
Anderson,  Hans  277 
Anderson,  Ida  R.  269,  271,  272 
Anderson,  Isobelle  L.  333 
Anderson,  John  82,  107 
Anderson,  Kama  H.  334 
Anderson,  Leo  219,  268,  269 
Anderson  Lumber  Co.  315 

Anderson,  Marion  274 
Anderson,  Oleen  229 
Anderson,  Otto  W.  333 
Anderson,  Peter  334 

Anderson,  Ralph  269,  270,  271 
Anderson,  Roy  281 
Anderson,  Sina  278 

Anderson,  Sophia  J.  333 
Anderson,  Wayne  271,  289 
Andreasen,  A.  L.  82,  179.  301 
Andreasen,  Bart  278 
Andreasen,    Dee   L.   258.   259, 

270.  503 

Andreasen,    Etheleen    L.    276, 
278,  283,  503 

Andreasen,  Janice  294 
Andreasen,  Jessie  T.  278.  504 
Andreasen,  LaVar  276 
Andreasen,  Lula  L.  335 
Andreasen,  Mardene  272,  279 
Andreasen,  Max  277 

Andreasen,  Myrtle  289 
Anderasen,  Owen  L.  275,  276, 

277.  503 

Andreasen,   Roy  C.   275,   276, 
335 

Andreasen,  ValGene  294,  295 
Andrews,  J.  J.  168 
Andrus,  Emma  271 
Andrus,  Franklin  270 

Ant  Canyon  29,  104 
Arnett,  Tom  12,  38 
Ashbaker,  Ada  236 
Ashbaker,  Charles  280,  335 

Ashbaker,    C.    Freemen    159. 
263,  287,  504 

Ashbaker,  Darwin  314 

Ashbaker,  Douglas  95 
Ashbaker,  Esther  P.  280,  336 

Ashbaker,    lone   D.   264,   280. 
289,  504 

Ashbaker,  Jacob  336 

Ashbaker,  Lloyd  W.   124.  159. 
505 

Ashbaker,  Loretta  281 
Ashbaker,  Mildred  C.  505 

Ashbaker,  Viola  W.  337 

Ashley,  William  5 
Astor,  John  Jacob  4 

Atkinson,  George  282 
Atkinson,  June  168 
Austin,  William  276 

Aylett,  Jess  82 

Bailey,  Kent  282 

Bailey's  Market  56 
Baker,  Fred  34 
Balch,  Calvin  282 
Baldwin,  Jessie  185 

Balls,  Fred  184 
Balls,  June  264,  287 
Banks,  D.  A.  195 

Banks,  Nellie  290 
Banks,  Ross  220 
Bannister,  Artie  92 
Bannister,  Josiah  39,  80,  107 
Bannock  Indians  3 

Barfus,  Fred  82 
Barthlome,  Chloe  168 
Barthlome,  Clea  271 
Barthlome,  David  O.  337 
Barthlome,  Keith  270,  271 
Barthlome,  Lucile  P.  271,  337 

Barthlome,    Phyllis    241,    266, 
269.  272,  279 

Barthlome.  Ramona  287 
Barthlome.  Thorn  288 
Barton.  N.  82 
Bassett,  Amanda  224,  260,  273 

275 

Bassett,  Arvilla  W.  185 

Bassett,  Charles  H.  29,  30,  95, 
102,  338,  339 

Bassett,  Charles  J.  339 
Bassett  D.  H.  82 

Bassett,  Frances  A.  339 
Bassett.  Frances  W.  224.  234 

Bassett.  Harry  56.  305 

Bassett.  Henry  F.  273 
Bassett,  Lutie  274 
Bassett.  Madge  82 
Bassett.  Marette  C.  273,  339 
Bassett,  Martha  318 

Bassett,  Mary  Lee  273,  275,  338 
Bassett,  Molly  142 
Bassett,  Rex  127,  155 
Bassett,  William  H.  28,  29,  30, 

339 

Bassett,  Willis  219 

Bean,  Attorney  Frank  40 

Beauty  Salons  316 
Beckstead.  Alec  82 
Beckstead.  C.  Francis  219.  340 
Beckstead.  R.  82 
Beckstead.  Rosa  A.  340 
Beckstead.  Terrell  315 
Beckworth,  Jim  6 

Beer  Springs  7 
Behle,  Laura  266,  267 
Behle,  William  266 
Bell,  Leslie  282 
Bell,  Mona  284 

Bench  Ward  50,  292 

Benfer,  Hugh  212 
Bennett,  Allan  274,  295 
Bennett,  Alva  268 
Bennett,  Ann  142 
Bennett,  Beatrice  R.  281,  505 
Bennett,  Calvin  82,  184,  313 
Bennett,  Dale  277 
Bennett,  Effie  F.  273,  341 

Bennett,  Ephraim  12,  257,  266 
Bennett,  Farrell  267,  276,  278 
Bennett,    Geraldine    266,    272, 

276,  279 

Bennett,  Gloyd  277,  278 
Bennett,  Howard  266 
Bennett,  Hyrum  J.  12,  149,  150, 

340 Bennett,  Jack  82 
Bennett,  Joyce  276,  278 
Bennett,  Laura  203 
Bennett,  Leo  82,  184,  313,  341 
Bennett,  Lila  W.  294,  505 

Bennett,  Lloyd  T.  294,  295,  505 
Bennett,  L.  Orlin  295 
Bennett,  Lori  297 
Bennett,  Martha  C.  341 
Bennett,  Mary  267 

Bennett,  Matilda  268 
Bennett,  Maynard  296 
Bennett,  Norma  272,  273,  279 
Bennett,  Ruth  296 
Bennett.  Sarah  W.  340 
Bennett,  Thomas  G.    16,    149, 505 

Bennett,  Thomas  R.  341 
Bennett,  Valero  264,  266,  280, 505 

Bennion  Ranch  33 
Bennion,  Ted  102 
Benson,  Arnold  220 

Benson,  James  229,  280,  313 
Benson,  Louis  229 
Benson,  Venice  284 
Benson,  Virgil  229 

Berquist,  Edward  287 
Berrett,  Lyman  C.  169 
Beus,  Albert  343 
Beus,  J.  E.  343 
Bevins,  Catherine  P.  341 

Bevins.  Joseph  H.  219,  258,  341 
Bird,  lone  82 
Bischoff,  Cluade  220 
Bitton,  Duane  102,  294,  295 
Bitton,  Eva  B.  274,  275,  342 
Bitton,  Evah  274 

Bitton,  Judy  H.  272,  279,  294 
Bitton,  Keith  102,  295 
Bitton,  Louis  B.  102,  342 
Bitton,  Louis  K.  99,  342,  343 
Bitton,   Lovene  266,  272,  279, 

294 Bitton,  Mary  Ellen  B.  343 
Bitton,  Willard  102,  343 

Bjorkman,    Henry   A.   46,   49, 

291,  343 
Bjorkman,  Karen  Sophia  291, 

344 Bjorkman,  Lorena  289 
Black  Canyon  Motel  316 
Black,  Martin  80,  82 
Blackfeet  Indians  5 
Blower,  Fred  82 

Blue  Bell  Drive-In  315 
Bob's  Cafe  317 

Bollwinkel,  Arietta  271 
Bollwinkel,  Fred  269,  270 
Bollwinkel,  Jane  269 
Bonnell,  A.  L.  301 

Bortz  Well-drilling  317 
Bothwell  Canal  Co.  76 
Bourden,  Michel  4,  5 

Bovenmyer,   Dr.   Earl   S.    135, 
168,  (Mrs.) 

Bowen,  Calvin  187 
Bowler,  Royal  82 
Bowles,  Joyce  294 

Boyce,  Myron  186 

Boyum.  Nora  149 
Brick  Kiln  24,  150 

Bridger,  Jim  5 
Bronson,  Letha  283 
Brower,  James  M.  44,  290 
Brown,  David  V.   12,   16,   149, 

266,  267 
Bruce,  Roger  282 

Bryan,  Paul  184 
Bulgaria  Buttermilk  115 
Burgin.  Lawrence  59,  80,   124, 

229,  313,  344 

Burgin,   Mildred   H.    124,   280, 
281,  284,  293,  345 

Burke,  Mildred  293,  296 

Burke,  Denzil  294 

Burke,  Sophia  P.  292 
Burnham,  Kenneth  295 

Burns,  Charles  39 
Burns,  Robert  82 
Burton,  Annie  157 
Burton,  Betty  283 

Burton's  Canyon  106,  180 
Burton,  Clara  B.  346 
Burton,    Fred,   Sr.   38,   82,   99 

180,  250,  345 
Burton,  Fred  D.  159,  286,  347 

Burton,  George  275,  349 
Burton,  Gladys  H.  505 
Burton,  Helen  E.  121.  506 

Burton.    J.    Lloyd    117,    277, 
506 

Burton,  Lois  272,  279 

Burton,  Mary  Donal  283,  286, 346 

Burton,  Mary  R.  276,  349 
Burton,  May  157 

Burton,  Mildred  W.   133,   143, 
170,  224,  248,  261,  289,  290, 
348 

Burton,   Natalia   P.   280,   283, 
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290,  506 
Burton.  Norma  281 

Burton.  Robert.  Sr.   157,  281, 
288,  506 

Burton.  Rulon.  506 
Burton.  Sheila  287 
Burton.  Willis  277 
Bushman,  Silas  267 

Bybee,  George  82.  220 

Cache  Valley  5.6 
Cahoon.  Charles  34 
Cahoon.  Chioe  272 
Cahoon.  Rais  22,  267 
Calkins,  Alice  A.  350 

Calkins,  Horatio  219 
Calkins,  James  P.  12,  80.  274, 

350 
Calkins,  Mary  268 
Calkins,  P.  C.  82 
Call,  C.  C.  82 

Call,  Mary  A.  259 
Call,  Nellie  265 
Call,  Sarah  M.  259 

Campbell,  Douglas  193,  229. 
302.  303.  304 

Campbell.  Ella  Louise  285 
Campbell.  Millie  259 
Campbell.  Norman  65 
Caribou  City  57 
Caribou  County  Fair  119.  312 
Caribou  Mt.  Gold  Miners  16 

Carter.  Douglas  271 
Carter.  Elaine  271 
Carver,  Carma  188,  284 

Cavalry  Barn  119,  182 
Central  Orchestra  49,  162.  205 
Central  Silver  Band  49 
Central  Ward  49.  291 
Chadwick.  Clair  184.  315 

Chadwick's  Dep't.  Store  315 
Chambers.  Eunice  W.  283.  284 
Chambers.  M.  D.  189 
Chatterton.  Annie  290 
Chatterton.  Cleve  119 
Chatterton.  Grover  286,  287 

Cheat  Beck  Canyon  51,  52,  55, 
106 

Cherrington,  Jack  169 
Cherry.  Cora  157 
Cherry,  Emmeline  283 
Cherry,  John  J.  39.  81,281,282 
Chesterfield  Land  and  Live- 

stock Company  103 

Child's  Canyon  106,  180,  311 
Childs,  Margaret  Bradshaw  350 
Childs,  Orson  C.  350 
China  Flat  42 

Chrishop.  Norman  219 
Christensen,  Anna  168 
Christensen.  Bart  288 

Christensen.  Burgetta  O.  166, 
226.  265.  293,  294.  353,  356 

Christensen.  Card  293 

Christensen.  Christian  M.  143. 
291.350 

Christensen.  Christian  W.  362 

Christensen.  Clara  C.  287,  289, 
508 

Christensen,  Constance  356 
Christensen.  Dean  127,  281.  282 
Christense.  Donna  283 

Christensen.  Dwain  K.  286.  288 
Christensen.  Elsie  M.  352,  362 
Christensen.  Eliza  B.  261.  352 
Christensen.  Emma  J.  284.  355 
Christensen.  Ferdinand  C,  Sr. 

351 

Christensen.  Ferdinand  C,  Jr. 
258.  291.  352 

Christensen,   Florence  N.  291. 

354 
Christensen.  Frank  C.  52.  53. 

54,  73,  76,  80,  82,  165,  245, 
352 

Christensen,    F.    Melvin    219. 
245.  249.  356 

Christensen.  Glayd  264.  294 
Christensen.    Golda    166,    246, 

247,  293,  297 

Christensen.  Harriet  Ann  353 

Christensen.  Harvey  280 
Christensen.    Heber    W.    220, 

291,  354 

Christensen,  Henry  C.  22.  227. 
273.  280.  287.  301.  355 
Christensen  Hotel  191 

Christensen.  Ina  49 

Christensen.  James  275,  277 
Christensen.  Janis  289 
Christensen.  John  E.  291.  355 

Christensen.  Joseph  16,  82,  157, 
178,  192,  301 

Christensen,  June  O.  261.  262, 
286.  507 

Christensen.   Kenneth   A.   259. 

291.  507 
Christensen.  Lars  82.  356 

Christensen.  Lauara  283 
Christensen.    Leatha    H.    264. 

265.  291.  507 
Christensen.  Leo  507 
Christensen.  Linda  M.  287 
Christensen.  Mary  H.  356 
Christensen.  Nola  C.  292,  509 

Christensen.  Nyda  225,  293 
Christensen.  Orval  J.  286.  291. 

508 

Christensen.  Otto  509 
Christensen.  Paul  264.  286,  288 
Christensen,  Pearl  J.  291,  351 
Christensen,  Ray  52 
Christensen.  Reed  282 
Christensen.  Sarah  R.  352 
Christensen.  Vernon  288 
Christensen.  WiUard  170 

Christensen.    Winnifred    265. 

266.  318 
Cinder  Creek  Post  Office  15 

Clark.  Alverta  292 
Clark.  Hazel  168 

Clark.  Heber  D.  169 

Clark.  Howard  291 
Clark.  Nellie  269 
Clark.  Samuel  15 

Clark,  Vera  C.  224 
Clawson,  John  34 

Clayton.  Amasa  M.  269 

Clegg.    Alice    Schmeehr    166. 
224.  265.  293.  359 

Clegg,  Anna  Jane  W.  357 
Clegg.  Benjamin  27.  52.  54.  82. 

165.  273.  357 

Clegg.  B.  Orson  120.  219.  292, 
293.  358 

Clegg.  Dixie  296 
Clegg.  Don  W.  52.258.  292.  358 

Clegg.  Grant  263,  295 
Clegg,   Joseph    189.   219.   292. 

293.  359 

Clegg.  Keith  295 
Clegg.  Laura  G.  293.  358 
Clegg.  Lucille.  C.  234.  262.  264. 

293.  296.  358 

Clegg.   Merna   284.   293,   294, 
296 

Clegg,  Owen  D.  259,  292,  293, 295 

Clegg,  O.  Dean  296 

Clegg,  Reva  296 
Clegg,  Robert  W.  50,  55,  292 

Clegg,  Robert  II  295 
Clegg,  Zan  C.   265,  285,  294, 296 

Clemens,  William  (Billy)  12,  55, 
57 

Cleveland  Canal  Co.  34 

Cleveland  Hot  Springs  33,  34 
Cleveland  Mercantile  34 

Cleveland  Ward  32,  275 
Clifford.  John  P.  219 
Cole.  W.  G.  80 
Collins,  Arthur  82 
Collins,  Elizabeth  B.  361 
Collins,  Fred,  12,  28,  99 
Collins,  Herbert  D.  360 

Collins,  Hirum  12,  30,  54,  361 

Collins.  Joseph  D.   12,  54,  55. 

509 
Collins.  Mary  Jane  M.  361 

Collins,  Mary  Munoz  360 
Collins,  Nada  G.  509 
Collins.  Robert  361 
Columbia  Hall  79.  81.  178.  191. 

208.  305.  313 
Comish.  Barbara  289 

Comish.  Lester  287 
Comish.  Robert  C.  82.  361 
Comish.  Violet  C.  286,  289,  362 
Commercial  Club  49 
Condie.  Bernice  267 

Condie.  Clyde  275 
Condie,  Fern  Jay  288,  289 
Condie.  Ida  Baker  267.  363 
Condie.  Idonna  F.  267.  276,  509 
Condie.  Joseph  362 
Condie.  Minnie  J.  363 
Condie.  Ronald  277 
Condie.  William  G.  (Bill)  509 
Conlin.  Claude  277 
Conlin.  Elizabeth  276.  278 

Coombs.  Bernice  275,  278 
Coombs,  Blanche  A.  272.  364 
Coombs.  David  263.  270 

Coombs.  Kathleen  271 
Coombs.  La^ue  265.  269 
Coombs.  Titus  W.  364 

Cooper.  Cora  H.  260.  280,  364 
Cooper.    Frederick    M.    79, 

80,  120,  229,  364 
Corbett,  Annie  P.  365 

Corbett,   Daniel   H.   301,   302, 
510 

Corbett.  Kent  314 
Corbett.  LaRene  P.  265,  289, 510 

Corbett.  Louise  260 

Corbett.  LeRoy  120.  124.  184, 
282.  286.  288 

Corbett.  William  44,  78.  80,  82, 
159.  168.  290.  301.  365 

Corbett.  Zetta  C.  314.  510 

Corbridge.  Clarence  290 

Corryell.  Ben  219 

Corryell  Hill  26 
Cotterell,  Sarah  Ann  17 
Cottle.  Donna  289 
Cottonwood    Creek    12.    14, 

15.  32,  33.  34.  155 
Couldt.  Annie  280 
Covert.  Calvin  276 
Covert.  Marintha  168 

Covert.  Parley  J.  220 
Covert.  Reuben  E.  220 

Cowley.  Delia  283 
Cox.  Earl  127.  182.  219 
Coziah.  Calvin  127 

Cragan.  James  80 
Cragan.  Thomas  80 
Crandall.  Alfred  64.  67 

Craner.  Robert  170 

Cranor.  John  49 
Creer.  W.  C.  78 

Crossley.  Dennis  220 
Crow  Indians  4 

Cully.  Thomas  82 
Custom  H    .ting  Co.  316 
Cutler.  Oscar  P.  12 

Dalton.    Elizabeth    C.    251. 
260.  366 

Dalton.  Evelyn  A.  296 

Dalton.    George    M.    118. 
119.  292.  293.  294.  367 
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Dalton,  Hazel  K.  294.  297,  367 
Dalton,  J.  Fred  295 
Dalton,  Jennie  82 
Dalton,  John  A.  55,  80,  82,  366 

Dalton,  Ray  188 

Darwin's  Conoco  314 
Davis,  E.  W.  229 
Davis,  Lou  301 

Davis,  Roy  274 
Davis,  William  302 
Davis,  Zetta  225 
Dawson,  A.  R.  184,  227,  301 
Deardorff,  L.  L.  95 
DeGuilio,  Nola  296 
Densmore  Creek  25 

Detton,  John  80 

"Devil's  Hand"  33 

"Dinky  Engine"  96 
Dobson,  Verda  292 
Donahoo,  Don  282 
Donahoo.  Jean  283 
Drake,  John  282 

Dry  Valley  Association  103 
Dunkley,  John  33 
Durrant,  L.  J.  22,  82 
Dutton,  Dean  L.  95 
Dutton,  Bernice  234 

Eames,  Joseph  267 
Eckersley,  John  80 

Ed's  American  Station  314 
Eddy,  Charles  82 
Edison,  Thomas  A.  89 
Edwards,  Willis  295 

Egan,  James  Alva  367 
Egan,  Walter  49 
Egan,  Zina  C.  367 
Egbert,  Charles  E.  82,  368 
Egbert,  Edna  G.  511 
Egbert,  Elizabeth  Ellen  S.  371 
Egbert,  Ellen  B.  369 
Egbert,  Jennie  368 
Egbert,  John  C.  369 
Egbert,  Joseph  S.  80 
Egbert,  Marlin  C.  511 
Egbert,   Mary  Ellen    142,    157, 

369 

Egbert,  Maude  157 
Egbert,  Oscar  E.  51 1 
Egbert,    Pauline   F.   281,    286, 

287,  512 

Egbert,  Pierce  157 
Egbert,  Quartette  81 
Egbert,    Reuben   C.    157,   286, 

370 

Egbert,  Robert  (Tave)  20  U  370 
Egbert,  Roy  157,  200 
Egbert,    Samuel    W.    38,    40, 

73,  82,  157,  281,  271 

Egbert,  Sarah  Jane  P.  280,  370 

Egbert,  Stella  157 
Egbert,  Wayne  E.  187.  358,  259 

511 

Egbert.  William  R.  80.  82.  157 

Egly,  William  H.  152 
Eldridge,  Adelbert  W.  33 
Eldridge,  Clarence  257.  270, 

278 

Eldridge,  Effie  271 
Eliason,  Emil  82 
Ellefsen,  P.  M.  80 
Elliot,  Caroline  P.  372 
EUiot,  James  C.  153,  372 

Ellis,  Alpha  J.  224 
Ellis.  Emma  W.  168.  371 

Ellis,  George  S.  226,  227,  229, 

301 
Ellis,  George  W.  80 
Ellis,  Lytha  185 
Ellis,  Thomas    M.  80,  82,  371 
Elsmore,  Amy  272 
Elsmore,  Coy  269,  271 
Elsmore,  Ethel  Harris  372 
Elsmore,  Jim  W.  259,  269,  270, 

271 

Elsmore,  Louise  269 
Elsmore,  Lowell  W.  263,  287 

Equity  Elevator  and  Trad- 
ing Co.  179,  313 

Eskelsin,  Leonard  34 
Evans.  Hector  64,  186 

Evans,  Howard  169 

E-Z  Way  Market  314 

Fabulous  Fabrics  Store  315 

Facer,  Roger  185 
Fairbanks,  Arthur  95 

Farnworth,  Hugh  374 
Farnworth,  Joan  237,  315 
Farnworth,  Milo  288 
Farnworth,  Nettie  374 
Fellows,  Robert.ll.  16 

Fellows  Valley  12 

Ferstein.  Henry  178 
First  National  Bank  of  Grace 

184,  315 
Fish  Creek  Divide  4 

Fitzpatrick,  Thomas  6 
Flannery,  J.  Frank  179,  227 

Floyd,  Norman  127 
Floyd,  Rose  296 
Folkman,  Anna  269 
Folkman.  Jeppe  15 

Folkman.  Joseph  270 
Forbush.  Donald  282 
Forbush.  Geraldine  262 
Forman,  Isabell  266,  268 
Forman,  Keith  278 

Forsgren,  DeAnn  271 
Forsgren,  Donna  272,  278,  279 
Forsgren,  Roy  282 

Forsgren,  Twila  272 
Forsgren.  Wendell  276 
Fort  Hall  7 
Fort  Vancouver  7 

"Four  Points"  22,  152 
Fowler,  Anges  271 

Fowler,  Anna  273,  274 
Fowler,  Dale  288,  316 
Fowler,  Floyd  C.  220 
Fowler,  George  C. 
Fowler,  Ida  A.  375 
Fowler,  James  28,  29,  248,  274 

Fowler,  Joseph  F.  374 
Fowler,  Joseph  T.  376 
Fowler,  Joyce  318 
Fowler,  Kenneth  288 
Fowler's  Laundromat  316 

Fowler's  Lavera  Rich  375 
Fowler,  Mary  Elizabeth  T.  376 
Fowler,   Max   and  Chloe   188, 

316 

Fowler,  Wanda  290 

Fraser,  Arvilla  S.  262 
Eraser,  Robert  J.  263,  295,  512 
Fraser,  Vivian  R.  292,  512 
Fred's  Cafe  179 

Fryar's  Hotel  131 
Fuller,  E.  Edgar  168 
Fullmer,  Harriet  P.  268 

Fullmer,  Lovenia  265,  284 
Fullmer,  Oscar  M.  82,  266,  267 

Galey.  Ernest  82 
Garbett.  Richard  273,  277,  278 

Garbett,  Vernona  278 
Geisler,  Alice  M.  377 
Geisler,  Frederick  W.  376 
Geisler,  Jensine  H.  377 

Gem  Valley  Dairymen's  Co-op 117 

Gem  Valley  Fair  Assoc.  121 

Gem   Valley   Potato   Seed    In- 
dustry 124 

Gem    Valley    Rod    and    Gun 
Club  126,  127 

Gem    Valley    Swiss    Cheese 
Co.  117,  118,  119 

Gentile  Valley  14,  15,  16,  17 
Gentile    Valley    Land    and 
Livestock  Co.  102,  103 
Gentile  Post  Office  15 

German,  Bert  157 
German,  Daniel  281 
Gibbs,  Afton  A.  294,  512 
Gibbs,  Jack  59,  80,   120,   124, 

237,  512 
Gibbs,  John   27,   80,   82,   266, 

272,  274,  378 

Gibbs,  LaVon  274 
Gibbs,  Lucy  274 

Gibbs,  Mary  Stewart  379 
Gibbs.  Nancy  L.  266,  378 
Gibson.  Arlene  287 
Gibson,  Barbara  290 
Gibson,  Budrow  286.  289 
Gibson,  Clara  225,  289,  318 
Gibson,  Dean  W.  220 
Gibson,  Elaine  237,  266,  318 

Gibson,  Harvey  82.  251,  381 

Gibson,  Homer  280,  281 

Gibson,  LaVern  512-13 
Gibson,  Lucy  L.  274,  381 

Gibson,    Millicent    S.    281, 

512-13 Gibson,  Saralyn  241 
Gilbert,  Albert  290 
Gilbert,  Dolores  226,  234,  237, 

281,  283 

Gilbert,  Don  62,  80,  239 
Gilbert,  Inez  64,  161 
Gilbert,  William  82,  290 
Gillette.  DeVal  229,  305,  513 
Gillette,  Emma  S.  264,  513 

Gilson,  James  296 
Gilson.  Sandra  289 

Glenn,  Isabelle  271 

Goff,  Ivan  34 
Gold  King  Mine  89 
Goldsberry,  C.  B.  82 

Gooch,  John  O.  269 
Goodsell,  Blair  278 
Goodsell,  Bruce  220 

Goodsell,  Lynn  277.  278 
Gordon,  B.  E.  95,  227,  229 
Gordon,  Sarah  B.  224 
Gorton,  George  282 
Gorton,  Jackie  285 

Grace  Cavalry  Unit  120 
Grace  Greenhouse  317 
Grace  Hardware  313 
Gract  Hotel  192,  316 
Grace  Idaho  Stake  262 

Grace  Library  Board  318 
Grace  Mercantile  Co.  40,  84,  85 
Grace  Public  Library  232,  317 
Grace  Theatre  316 

Grace  Ward  (1st)  40,  279 
Grace  2nd  Ward  285 

Grady,  James  219 
Graham,  Inger  292 
Graham,  Nels  56 

Grant,    President    Heber    J. 

51,  257,  259,  265 
Grant,  LaVon  279 

Gray,  Alva  C.  292 
Gray,    Andrew    Busby    82, 

267.  379 
Gray,    Charity    Ames    142, 

266,  268,  380 

Gray,  Frances  82 
Gray,  Gladys  224 
Grays  Lake  99.  102.  103,  124 

Gray,  Zella  279 
Great  Medicine  Road  7 
Greaves,  Grace  D.  380 
Greaves.  John  C,  Jr.  22,  40,  95, 

226,  301.  380 

Greaves,  Mary  Jane  P.  381 
Green,  Caroline  283 
Green,  Clair  282 
Green,  Florence  290 
Green,  Israel  82 

Green,  James  80 

564  —  Gems  Of  Our  Valley 



Green.  Joseph  P.  44,  290 
Green,  Mark  80 
Green,  P.  Melbourne  82.  290 

Green,  Roy  82 
Greenwood.  Fred  E.  381 
Griffeth.  Lois 
Gulbransen.  Oscar  219 
Gummersall.  Bertha  G.  61.  382 
Gummersall.  Davis  220 
Gummersall,    Frank    A.    42. 

61,  82.  382 
Gummersall,  Hilda  287 
Gummersall,  Leon  288,  289 
Gummersall,  Phoebe  H.  383 
Gummersall.    Smith    42.    161. 

383 
Gunnel!.    Archibald    B.    82, 

280,  383 
Gunnell,  Gerald  282 
Gunnell,  Maude  P.  383 
Gunnell,  Merrill  P.  280 
Gunnell,  Robert  B.  13,  49,  291 
Gunnell.  Thomas  49,  291 

Hacking,  Edna  186.  284 
Haglund,  Caroline  237 
Haglund,  Walter  64.  65,  67 
Haines,    A.  E.  179,  186,  301 
Hale,  Alma  H.,  Jr.  268.  269 
Hale.  Anna  C.  269,  386 
Hale,  AroetC.  18,203,266,267 
Hale,  Drusilla  278,  384 

Hale,  Edgar  18,  203,  267 
Hale,   Eliza  C.  360,  265,  266. 

385 

Hale.  Ellen  268 
Hale.    Ernest    F.    32.    34.   268 

275,  384 
Hale,  Franklin  82 

Hale,  Geniel  274 
Hale,  Harriman  220 

Hale,  Jane  Clark  B.  387 

Hale,  Jay  288,  289 
Hale,  Jonathan  H.  384 
Hale,  Jonathan  H.  385 

Hale,  Marjorie  S.  234,  237 
Hale.  Mary  P.  384 
Hale.  Rosetta  K.  383 
Hale.    Solomon    H.    12,    15, 

21,  249,  267,  268.  386 
Hale,  Thomas  267 
Hall,  Sandra  297 
Hammond,  Annie  266 

Hammond.    Daniel    J.    266, 

268,  275 
Hammond,  Jed  32 
Hammond,  W.  E.  82 

Hamp.  Alvin  387 
Hamp.  Elizabeth  280.  283,  388 
Hamp,    George,    Sr.    39,    40, 

80,82,95,  182,281,  304,  387 

Hamp.  George.  Jr.  82,  389 
Hamp,  Hannah  387 
Hamp  Hotel  191 

Hamp,  Irvin  65 
Hamp,  James  288 
Hamp,  Joan  289 
Hamp,  Mary  Lee  289 
Hamp.  Pearl  L.  389 
Hamp.  Virda  82 
Hanks.  Delwyn  289 
Hanna  Post  Office  55 

Hansen.  Adelia  B.  273.  389 
Hansen.  Albert  82 
Hansen,    Alfred    P.    29,    30, 

105,  159,  389,  390 

Hansen,  Andrew  60,  64 
Hansen,  Andrus  P.  291 
Hansen,  Annie  276 
Hansen,  Carl  O.  286,  287,  290 
Hansen,  Dallas  274,  282 
Hansen,  Dee  295 

Hansen,  Dewey  264,  282 
Hansen,  Dorthea  M.  392 
Hansen,  Edith  291 

Hansen,  Emelia  Berg  54,  292 
Hamscn,  Emil  M.  513,  514 
Hansen,  E.  O.  80 

Hansen,  Floyd  276,  277 
Hansen,   Hans   Peter  82,    102, 

390 

Hansen,  James,  Sr.  54 
Hansen,  James,  Jr.  54,  219 

Hansen,  John  267 
Hansen,  Joseph  L.  80,  390 
Hansen,  Julius  274 
Hansen,  June  283 

Hansen,     Katherine    Dalton 
188,  283,  389 

Hansen,  Lars  E.  82,  391 
Hansen  Lorette  S.  274,  514 
Hansen,  Louisa  H.  390 
Hansen,  Lowell  A.  80,  287,  514 
Hansen,  Lutie  S.  389 
Hansen.  Maria  L.  391 

Hansen.    Mary    Ann    226, 
276,  278,  279 

Hansen,  Minnie  291 
Hansen.  Nielsina  B.  390 
Hansen.  Nora  284 
Hansen.  Ole  275,  277 

Hansen.  Philip  295 

Hansen.  Ralph  T.  287.  515 
Hansen.  Ras  150 

Hansen.  Stella  J.  515 
Hansen,  Thelma  P.  515 
Hansen,  Wayne  295 
Hanson,  Annetha  H.  393 

Hanson.  Emery  49.  291,  392 
Hanson,   Emma  M.  279,   291. 

516 

Hanson.  June  44 
Hanson,  Nels  49 

Hanson,  Roy  49.  291.  292.  515 
Hardy,  Darlene  284,  316 
Hardy.  Golden  316 

Hardy,  Rachel  82 
Harrington,  John  22,  1 16 

Harris,  Ada  P.  267,  395 

Harris,    Alexander,    Sr.    12, 
99,  150,  249,  393 

Harris,    Alexander,    Jr.    24, 

99,   102,   184,  185,  268,  270, 

394 
Harris.  Amelia  B.  395 
Harris.  Araminta  P.  398 

Harris.  Byron  M.  273.  274 
Harris.  Carrie  L.  396 

Harris.  Casper  W.  82.  394 
Harris.  Charles  E.  266,  395 
Harris,  Cora  C.  273.  398 
Harris.  Daniel  H.  80.  282,  396 
Harris,  Denton  269 
Harris,  Don  B.  270,  271 
Harris,  Dr.  Earl  219.  267 

Harris.  Edna  H.  396 
Harris.  Ervin  267 
Harris.  Florence  B.  397 
Harris.   Frank  A.   80.   81,   82, 

306,  396 

Harris,  F.  Berdean  263,  270 
Harris,  Franklin  W.  268, 

270,  397 
Harris,  Gerald  269,  270 
Harris,  Grace  267,  271 

Harris,  Guy  272,  273,  274,  306 
398 

Harris,  Harriet  Carson  398 
Harris,  Harriet  Craner  273,  393 
Harris,  Howard  277 

Harris,  Josephine  W.  269,  394 
Harris,  Leota  273,  294 
Harris,  Letha  268 
Harris,  Lucy  N.  396 
Harris,  Mabel  273,  274,  275 
Harris,  Martha  C.  393 
Harris,  Martina  C.  394 
Harris,  Nada  272.  276,  279 
Harris,  Orrin  80,  157 
Harris.  Phoebe  H.  269.  272.  398 
Harris.  Robert  295 
Harris.  Roy  82 

Harris.  Ruth  Lee  272.  296,  297 

Harris.  Sybil  272.  275.  279 
Harris.  Theo  127.  316 
Harris.  Thomas  219,  302 
Harris,  Vara  H.  398 
Harris.  Yard  272 

Harris.  Vernon  267.  276 
Harris,  Walter  24 
Harris,  Wells  119 

Harris,  William  McGee  27. 

40.  81.  82.  99.  184.  185.  272. 
398 

Harrison.  Charles  288 
Harrison.  Idella  292 
Harrison,    J.    Stanley     152, 

234,  252,  399 

Harrison,  Lynn  220 
Harrison.  Ralph  306 

Harrison.  Ruth  B.  290,  399 

Hartvigsen.    Milton    F.     159. 

229.  258.  280.  282,  313 

Hartvigsen.  Virgil  234,  283 
Harwood,  Devere  T.  220 

Hawker,  Lydia  234 
Hawkins,  J.  W.  80 

Hay    Harvesting,    Evolution 
of  113 

Hayes,  Albwrt  E.  82,  124,  236, 
282,  292.  399 

Hayes.  Anna  280.  292 

Hayes.  Arthur  J.  294 
Hayes.  Favorette  R.  399 
Hayes.  Mabel  168 
Hayes.  Richard  W.  40.  80  280 

Hayes.  Roscoe  220 

Hayes.  W.  W.  82 
Headman.  Reece  220 

Hegstrom.  Clause  F.  400 

Hegstrom.  Katrina  O  400 
Hegstrom.  Luella  49 
Hegstrom.  Orion  516 
Hegstrom.  Ruby  40 

Hegstrom.  Vonda  F.  516 
Hegstrom.  William  C.  291 
Henderson.    LaVera    S.    188, 

273.  517 
Henderson.  Warren  R.295.  517 

Henderson.    Warren    R.    295. 

517 
Hendricks.  Sol.  25 
Hendricks  Springs  21 

Henry  Stampede  210 
Herd,  Elsie  290 

Herd,  James  22 
Herd.  Kermit  264.  288.  305 
Herd.  Mendenhall  Merc.  Co.  22 
Herron.   Dr.    Emmett   E.    135, 

137.  317 
Hildreth.  W.  H.  82 

Hill.  Alexander  402 
Hill.  Alfred  F.  517.  518 

Hill.  Ella  Austin  141.  219.  401 
Hill.  Margaret  M.  517.  518 
Hill.  Robert  281.  301.  302.  317 

Hillyard  Sawmill  Co.  22.  29.  10 
Hilton.  Lydia  A.  224.  225.  260 
Hires.  Merle  33 

Hirschi.  Susie  272.  279 
Hixson.  Ellen  264 

Hixson.  Sterling  K.  229 
Hoback,  J  oh  3 

Hogan.  Bergetta  271 
Hogan.  Berniece  L.  518 

Hogan.  Ceylon  270 
Hogan.    Dean    264.    269.    270. 

271 

Hogan.  Dessie  271 
Hogan.  Dorothy  271 
Hogan.  George  30.  95.  120 

Hogan.  Grover  95 
Hogan.    Harriet    Ann    H.    265. 
403 

Hogan.  Harriet  W.  402 

Hogan.  Haitie  269 
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Hogan,  Ira  24,  268,  403 

Hogan,   Ira   Harris,    102,   268, 
269,  270.  306,  402 

Hogan,  Iris  272 
Hogan,  Jane  272 
Hogan,  Jennie  271,  272 
Hogan,  Lorin  W.  268,270,  518 

Hogan,  Nels  102 
Hogan,  Roland  H.  220 
Hogan,  Yard  274 
Hogan,  Walter  258,  268 
Hollingsworth,     Dorlesky 

(Dora)  T.  518 
Hollingsworth,  Ezra  518 
Hollingsworth,  Hal  220 
Hollingsworth,  Newell  270 
Holsten,  Charles  G.  404 
Holsten,    Ha    P.    234,    264, 

284,  297 
Holsten,  Lucy  M.  404 
Holsten,  Richard  278,  288 
Homestead  Act  1 1 

Homsteaders  and  Early  Settlers 

(listed  557 
Hoopes  Creek  12 
Hoopes,  Effie  168,  271 
Hoopes,  Jonathan  277 
Hoopes,  Leonard  R.  404 
Hoopes,  Luella  J.  404 
Howells,  Dean  302.  306 

Hubbard,    Aileen    A.    264 
302,  306,  519,  520 

Hubbard,    Alma    E.    40,    50 
80,81,82,  124,  168,  188,279, 
292,  405 

Hubbard,  Annie  Reading  408 
Hubbard,  Bessie  284 
Hubbard,    Charles    W.    51, 

55,57,82,  106,  108,  109,  112, 
159,  292,  406 

Hubbard,  Delos  (Pete)  236 
Hubbard,  Deon  295 
Hubbard,     Edith    W.    260 

216,  294,  297,  520 
Hubbard,    Elsie    D.    57,    68, 

252,  292,  406 
Hubbard,    Elvin    C.    58,    117, 

292,  293,  294 
Hubbard,     Emma    P.    292, 

407 

Hubbard,    James    W.    50,    52, 
54,   106,   108,   109,   112,  159, 
274,  292,  407 

Hubbard,    Dr.    John    Hyrum 
82,  134,  301,  313,  408 

Hubbard,  John  280 
Hubbard,  Karen  296 
Hubbard,  Charlotte  R.  121,  408 
Hubbard,  Mana  W.  294,  405 
Hubbard,    Merrill    D.    80,   81, 

292,  518,  519 
Hubbard,   Robert   W.   58,   59, 

259,  293,  519,  520 
Hubbard,  Shirley  B.  293,  296, 

519 
Hubbard,  Verl  263,  294 

Hubbard,   Wesley   W.   59,   80, 
293,  294,  520 

Hudson  Bay  Co.  4,  5 

Hughes,  Harry  40,  80 
Hull,  Dr.  Stanley  316 
Hulse,  Blanche  C.  229,  521 
Hulse,  Merrill  W.  287,  521 
Hulse,  Pearl  L.  408 
Hulse,  Wanda  274,  293 

Humphries,  Arvilla  289 
Hunsaker,  Paul  296 

Hunt,  Dale  170 
Hunter,  Harold  505 

Hurt,  Everett  J.  282 

Ice  Cave  Knoll  50,  57 

Idaho    Citizens    Grazing 
Assoc.  103 

Idaho    State    Horse    And 

Cattlemen's  Assoc.  103 
Intermountain     Mercantile 

Company  173 
Irick.  J.  B.  65 

Irish,  William  (Bill)  209,  210 
Izatt.   Charles    152,    153,   368, 409 

Izatt,CharlesC.26,  33,  35,  150, 
210,  270,  521 

Izatt,  June  P.  271,  521 

Izatt,  Orpha  Ormond  409 

Jacobs.  Fay  283,  284 
Jacobsen,  Owen  317 
Jacobsen,  Tennie  Mae  283 

James,  Elnora  H.  284,  522 
James,  Jack  522 
Jenkins,  H.  Wieter  227,  229 

Jenkins,    Loran    164,    229, 
288,  522 

Jenkins,  Marie  296 

Jenkins,    Ruth    Peterson    262, 
286,  290,  286,  522 

Jenkins,  Spencer  49 
Jensen,  Chris  66,  276,  277 

Jensen,  Cyrus  293 
Jensen,  Denmark  257,  258 
Jensen,  Dorthea  278 
Jensen,  Dorthea  278 
Jensen,  Eddie  282,  314 
Jensen,  Eva  121,  265,  284 

Jensen,  Georgia  H.   262,   292, 
293,  294 

Jensen,  Glen  280,  281 
Jensen,  James  P.  80,  201,  410 
Jensen,  Lena  S.  292,  410 
Jensen,  Lucina  271 

Jensen,  Mary  273,  274,  275 
Jensen,  Robert  293 
Jensen,  Ruth  293 

Jeppson.  J.  F.  82 

Jewett,  Barbara    W.  266 
"Johnny's  Hole"  25,  26 
Johnson,  Albert  82 
Johnson,   Dr.  Charles  C.    135, 

137,  229,  305 

Johnson,  Christ  82 
Johnson  Dairy  316 

Johnson,  Denzil  295,  522,  523 
Johnson,  Earnest  64 
Johnson,  Elizabeth  D.  283,  412 

Johnson,  Ethel  276 
Johnson,  Florence  284,  287 
Johnson,  Frank  W.  294,  523 
Johnson,  Grace  O.  234,  523 
Johnson,  Grace  O.  234,  523 
Johnson,  Howard  286,  288,  295, 

302,  316 
Johnson,  Indemora  280 
Johnson,  Irene  289 
Johnson,  Joseph  219 
Johnson,  LeAnn  290 
Johnson,  Leo  275,  276,  278 
Johnson,  Leo  N.  219,  287,  288, 413 

Johnson,  Lucian  282 
Johnson,  Minnie  Ann  410 
Johnson,  Nels  Peter  57,  80,  82, 

410 

Johnson,  Nels  Peter  295,  412 
Johnson,    Petra    Nellie    V. 

168,  185,  186,  193,  224,  225, 

234,  289,  412 

Johnson,  Neva   167,  234,  294, 

522,  523 
Johnson,  Peter  82,  227,  229 

Johnson,  Phyllis  276 
Johnson,  Sena  283,  284 
Johnson,  Thomas  15 
Johnson,  Thurber  82,  124 
Jones,  Ann  283,  284 

Jones,  Sylvester  301 

Jorgensen,  Carl  413 
Jorgensen,  Estella  J.  413 
Jorgensen,    Rasmus    G.    49, 

291,  413 

Jorgensen,  Thora  J.  413 
Joseph,  Louise  and  Grace  82 
Joseph,  William  G.  219 
Josephson,  Boyd  282 

Kackley,  Dr.  Ellis  29,  33,  131, 
142 

Kackley,  Dr.  Evan  67,  131,  133 
Kackley,  Ida  Sarver  131,  132 
Keller,  Shirley  269,  278,  279 
Kelm.  A.  C.  95 

Kendall.  Samuel  D.  291 

Ken   Hamp  Construction   Co. 
317 

Kentuckians,  The  3,  4 

Kerr,  Lynn  295 
Kesler,  Dell  219 
Kesler,  Edward  187 

Kimball,  Beverly  287 

King,  Anna  S.  261,  280,  283, 
415 

King's  Barbershop  179 

King,  Harry  12,  14,  15,  32.  99 

King,  J.  Warren,  Sr.  414 
King,  J.  Warren,  Jr.  117,  122, 

124,  263,  280,  282 

King,  LaNorma  283 
Kingsbury,  Edrie  278 
Kingsford,  Alvin  59 
Kingsford,  Charles  220 
Kingsford,  Diantha  296 
Kingsford,  Julia  B.  524 
Kingsford,  Kenneth  O.  524 
Kingsford,  Martha  O.  294,  415 

Kingsford,  Robert  W.  56,  80, 
82,  293,  415 

Kingston,  Neldon  282 

Kingston,  Paula  285 
Kirby,   Edward,     80,    82,  219, 

415 

Kirby,  James  80,  305 

Kirby,  Jay  120 
Kirby,  John  J.  80,82,  179,280, 

301,  313 

Kirby,  John  V.  280,  281,  416 

Kirby,  Joyce  Meacham  241 
Kirby,  Louella  280,  283,  416 

Kirby,  Mae  H.  224 
Kirby,  Reed  296 
Kirby.  Reta  82 

Kirby,  Rosary  L.  280,  417 
Kirkham,  Robert  38,  106 
Kirkham,  Viola  220 

Knight,  Dexter  60,  167 
Knight,  Mary  Jane  60,  61 

Knight,  Richard  264 
Knowling,  Mary  269 
Koehler,  Grace  136,  231,  234 
Koehler,  Dr.  Joseph  B.  135,  136 

Kopetsky,  Phil  317 Kraft  Cheese  Co.  116 

Krebs,  Sam  314 
Krebs,  Treav  234 
Kunz,  John  192 

Laabs  Cheese  Co.  116 

Lamb,  Margie  266,  281 
Lamble,  Ella  293 
LeBaron,  Gordon  170 

Lago  Cemeteries  29 
Lago  Ward  27,  272 
Larkins,  Darlesky  (Dora)  142, 

147 

Larkins,  William  H.  12,  24,  25, 

30,  36,  37,  102,  184,  343,417 
Larsen,  Carrie  279 
Larsen,  Dorothy  289 

Larsen,  Earnest  219 
Larsen,  Henry  275,  276 
Larsen,  James  33,  34,  269,  275 
Larsen,  L.  C.  60,  62,  64,  167 
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Larsen.  Ollie  82 
Larsen,  Selma  291 
Larsen.  Stella  C.  185 

Larsen.  W.  A.  82 

Lasley,   Angus   229,   302,   343, 
350.  418 

Lasley.  Casie  284,  418 
Lasley,  H.  William  226,  343, 

356,  418 
Leavitt,  Ellis  159,  295 

LeBailey,  T.  B.  120 
Lechtenberg,  Alvin  K.  258,  291 
Leek,  Lowell  186 
Leffler,  Annie  274 
Leffler.  Blanche  60.  167 
Leffler.  Emil  Ross  60.  220 
Leffler.  Sarah  Jane  60.  62,  63 

167 
Leffler,  W.  P.  65 
Lenhart,  Walter  286 
Leonett.  Lettie  271 
Lewis.  Doward  271 
Lindhart.  Orin  192 
Livermore.  Steve  63 

Lloyd.  A.  E.  179.  263.  301 
Lloyd.  Agnes  260.  283 
Lloyd.  Alfretta  D.  286.  419 
Lloyd,  Alice  H.  419 
Lloyd.  Anna  D.  261,  423 
Lloyd,  Annie  Packer  261,  286, 

525 

Lloyd.  Bessie  292 
Lloyd.  Charles  A.  291 
Lloyd.  Daniel  D.  49.  291.  419 
Lloyd.  Daniel  H.  287.  288.  419 
Lloyd.  Fern  280 
Lloyd.  Harvey  288 
Lloyd.  Henry  H.  120.  121.273. 

301.  302,  420 

Lloyd,  Hortense  280.  283.  421 
Lloyd.  Janet  S.  422 
Lloyd.  Jennie  287 
Lloyd,  John  Lea  279,  301.  420 
Lloyd,  Joylene  229.  241.  266, 

281.  287.  290 

Lloyd,  Kenneth  227,  229,  281, 
302 

Lloyd.  Lois  168 
Lloyd.  Mary  291 
Lloyd.  Maude  H.  420 
Lloyd,  Melvin  291 
Lloyd.  Parley.  Sr.  168.291,422 
Lloyd.  Parley,  Jr.  286,  525 
Lloyd,  Ray  263.  280.  281 
Lloyd.  Sarah  M.  219.  292 
Lloyd,  Warren  P.  263,  288 
Lloyd.  Wesley  P.  168 
Lloyd.  William  46 
Longenbohn.  Anton  82.  423 
Longenbohn.  Betty  283,  286 
Longenbohn,  Don  282 
Longenbohn,  Eliza  K.  423 

Longenbohn,    LeRoy    A.    302. 
305.  424 

Longenbohn.    Myrta    S.     168. 
280,  294,  297,  424 

Lord,  R.  E.  82 
Lou,  Joe  343 

Lounge,  The  317 
Loveland,  Elizabeth  274 
Loveland,  O.  C.  266 
Lowe,  Donald  287 

Lowe  Drug  Co.  316 
Lowe,  Harold  B.  127,  168,  229, 

302,  306.  311,  312,  525,  526 
Lowe,  Irel  46 

Lowe.  Janet  B.  286,  290,  424 
Lowe.  Lillie  82 

Lowe.  Mary  Ann  B.  283.  284. 
425 

Lowe.  Mathias  W.  82.  306,  424 
Lowe,  Moroni  W.  82,  168,  195, 

226,  279,  280  301,  311.  313. 
316,  425 

Lowe,  Reed  316 
Lowe,  Thola  316 
Lowe.  Thomas  G.  1 1 
Lowe.  Winona  L.  525.  526 
Lund.  Charles  82 

Lundgreen.  Mary  J.  142.  276 
Luscher.  Frank   12,  27.  28,  29 

99 

Mabey.  Don  R.  2 
MacDonald.  Finnan  5 

Malmberg,  Lucy  290 
Manhart.  Arthur  R.  426 

Manhart.  Clifford  270.  271 

Manhart.  Myrtle  269.  426 
Manhart.  Virginia  269 
Mann.  Fred  201 
Marshall.  Jack  229 
Marshall.  Roxie  234.  237.  238. 

284 
Martinson.  Henry  179.  229 
Martinson,  Marie  226 
Mather.  Elias  281 
Mather.  Lillie  283 
Mathews.  Dean  295 

Mathews,  Grant  58.  293.  294 
Matthews.  Viola  225 
Mauck.  Dee  220 

Maughan,  Alice  L.  286.  426 
Maughan  Daniel  (Dell)  164.  426 
Maughan.  DeAnn  284 
Maughan  Dell  259,  281 
Maughan  D.  Herman  288.  289. 

290.  526 

Maughan.  Libby  C.  526 
Maughan.  Raymond  287 
May.  Eldred  282 
McCann.  Alta  168 

McCann,  Brigham  46.  427 
McCann.  Ervin  286.  287.  427 
McCann.  Etta  C.  427 
McCann  James.  Sr.  46.  82.  427 

McCann.  James.  Jr.  46 

McCann,  Oclella  R.  265,  287. 
427 

McCann,  Susan  E.  427 
McCann.  Thomas  J.  Sr.  45.  80. 

81,  290 
McCann,  Thomas  J.  Jr.  46 

McClellan.  George  E.  82.  428 
McClellan.  Sarah  260 

McClellan.  Wilhelmina  H.  428 

McDougall  and  Jones  305 
McFarland,  P.  G.  95 
McGavin,  Cleo  280 
McGavin.  Mark  281 
McGinnis.  Mattie  185 

McGregor,  Charles  P.  19,  219, 
266.  429 

McGregor,  Connie  T.  267,  429 
McGregor,  Daniel  266,  429 
McGregor,  James  429 

McGregor.  James  D.  150,  201, 
267.  428 

McGregor.  Lenora  B.  267,  429 
McGregor,  Mary  P.  429 
McGregor.  Nancy  A.  267,  429 
McGregor,  Odessa  276,  278 
McGregor  Orchestra  205 
McGregor.  Robert  267 
McGregor.  Ruth  235.  429 
McGregor,  Sybil  261,  265,  267, 

276,  279,  526 

McGregor,   Weldon   263,   264, 
269 

McGregor,  William  C.  12,  102, 
258,  266,  429 

McGuire,  Virginia  P.  224 

McKay,  David  O.  46 
McKinnon,  Byron  263 
McKinnon,  Ella  Mae  281 
McLain,  David  J.  66.  82.  429 

McLain,  Mary  Ellen  E.  429 
McLain,  Eugene  220 

McLaughlin.  G.  S.  227 
McMarr,  Pat  12.  28.  99 
McMearty,  M.  82 

McNiel,  Mary  Lou  293 

McPherson's  Canyon  106.  180 
McPherson  Pat  106 

Meacham.  Amanda  274 
Meacham.  Almyra  273 
Meacham.  Dean  295 
Meacham,  Elvin  263.  272,  273 

Meacham.   John   Edward   248. 430 

Meacham,  Julia  H.  275,  430 
Meacham,  Mabel  D.  431 
Meacham,  Ora  H.  275 
Meacham.  William  H.  273.  274 
Medford.  Albert  73.  80,  81,82. 

431 

Medford,  Charles  431 
Medford.  Gertrude  H.  431 
Medford,  Louise  P.  432 

Medford,  Marcus  121 

Medford,  Page  192 
Meek.  Lucy  281 

Meek.  Richard  280 
Melcher,  Mary  C.  224 
Mendenhall.  Ann  279 
Mendenhall.  Beulah  268.  278 

Mendenhall.  Bryan  184.  286 
Mendenhall.  Claude  275,  277 
Mendenhall.  Delia  T.  152.  261. 

272.  279,  526,  527 

Mendenhall.  Dwayne  278 
Mendenhall.  Ethel  273.  432 
Mendenhall.    Jennie    M.    185. 

273.  432 

Mendenhall,  Lovell  J.  267,  273, 
274.  432 

Mendenhall.  Miilen  H.  44,  168, 

263.  266,  268,  526,  527 
Mendenhall.  Murat  267,  277 
Mendenhall,  Naomi  260,  433 
Mendenhall.  Robert  278 

Mendenhall.  Ruth  274 

Mendenhall,  Sherry   266,   272, 
279 

Mendenhall,  Vernon  258,  267, 432 

Mendenhall,  Vilate  272 
Mendenhall,  William  H.  22,  81, 

82,   152.   153.   168,  258,  266. 433 

Mendez,  William  T.  274 
Mercur  Mine  89 
Merriam,  Caroline  S.  82.  95. 

157,  187,  188.  195.  197.  224. 
225.  234,  434 

Merriam,   Lowell   H.   95,    187, 
188,  226,  229.  304.  433 

Merrill.  Alice  P.  224 
Merrill,  Austin  186.  227 
Merrill.  Frank  L.  80,  82,  157, 280 

Merrill.  Freeborn  (Tab)  76.  80 
Merrill.  R.  DeMar  219.  434 
Merrill.  Sarah  266,  267 

Merrill,  Verna  S.  290,  434 

Meservy,  Levi  275 
Metcalf,  Melissa  164,  168 

Mickelson,  Anton  Peter  435 

Mickelson.  Barbara  294 
Mickelson.  Betty  293 
Mickelson.  Beverly  296 
Mickelson.  Canute  H.  50.  80. 

292 

Mickelson.  Chris  29.  30.  80.  82, 
185.  435 

Mickelson.  Clark  30,  118.  273, 
274,  527,  528 

Mickelson,  Daniel  237 
Mickelson,  F.  M.  118 
Mickelson.  Gitte  Jensen  435 
Mickelson.  Harris  A,  28,   105, 

111,  116,  118,  119.  120.  121, 
122,  237,  249,  251,  274,  295, 
528 
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Mickelson,  Helen  265,  273,  275, 
294,  527,  528 

Mickelson,  Henry  82 
Mickelson,  Ireta  316 
Mickelson,  James  38 
Mickelson,  Lawrence  295 
Mickelson,  Linda  272,  296 
Mickelson,  Louette  C.  262,  295 
Mickelson,  Louise  296 
Mickelson,  Maren  435 

Mickelson,  Mary  121,  273,  274, 
529 

Mickelson,  Melvin  T.  117,  263, 
272,  274,  529 

Mickelson,    Michael    30.    105, 
127.  272,  273,  274,  294,  436 

Mickelson,    Norma    121,    273, 
528 

Mickelson,  Norris  and  Nadine 

237 
Mickelson,  Reao  274 

Mickelson,  Roger  296 
Mickelson,  Roy  293 
Mickelson,    Sarah    (Sadie)    H. 

142,  273,  436 
273,  436 

Mickelson,  Willard  295 
Miles,  David  80,  81,  82,  436 

Miles,  D.  Hyrum  437 
Miles.  Dee  295 

Miles,  Edgar  J.  437 
Miles,  Elsie  J.  294,  296,  438 

Miles,  Ida  May  437 

Miles,  Joseph  D.  57,  62,  293, 
437 

Miles,  Lillie  G.  280,  281,  436 
Miles,  Merle  C.  280,  281,  437 
Miles,  Wanda  239,  284,  285 
Miller,  Emmert  109 

Miller,  Jospeh  3,  4 
Miller  and  Viele  Loan  Co.  75 
Mills,  James  82 

Millward.  Gene  263,  275,  280 
Millward,  Grace  278,  279 

Mingo,  Louise  82 
Montague,  E.  E.  38,  80,  82,  282 
Morehead,  D.  Clayborne  105 
Morgan,  Eli  12,  27,  99 
Morgan  Ridge  27 
Mormon  Ward  15,  17,  21,  32 
Morrison,  Knudson  Co.  77 

Mound  Valley  Ward  17,  266 
Munns,  Ron  R.  170,  280 
Murdock,  Anna  296 
Murdock,  Joan  265,  281 

Murdock,  Larry  170 

Murray,  Joseph  124 
Myers,  Almon  82 

Nagel,  Harold  124 
Nanney,  I.  W.  80,  82,  165 
Nanney,  Sylvarius  80,  82 
Neeley,  Esther  289 

Neeley,  Harvey  280 
Neeley,  Ira  22,  36 
Neeley,  Verl  O.  220,  288 
Neilsen,  N.  P.  82,  184 
Nelson,  Beverly  289 
Nelson,  Daryl  278 
Nelson,  Delilah  157 
Nelson,  Edward  38,  157 
Nelson.  Eileen  285 

Nelson's  Prod  39 
Nelson,  Gilbert  H.  276,  277 
Nelson,  Harold  S.  168 
Nelson.  Hazel  157 
Nelson,  James  C.  32 

Nelson,  Leland  276 
Nelson,  Maude  157 
Nelson,  Olaf  26 
Nelson,  Steven  288 
Nelson,  Thelma  289 
Niederhauser.  Gary  170 
Nielsen,  Arnold  276,  277 

Nielsen,  Arnold  276,  277 
Nielsen.  Bess  278 
Nielsen.  Betty  278 
Nielsen.  Carl  P.  267 
Nielsen,  Charles  P.  438 
Nielsen.  Earl  220 

Nielsen.  Edgar    G.  275,  277 
Nielsen,  Hannah  278 

Nielsen,  Katherine  B.  276,  278. 

279 
Nielsen,  Lorenzo  275 
Nielsen,  Mary  L.  438 
Nielsen,  Mary  P.  276 
Nielsen,  Neva  266,  283 

Nielsen,  Peter  277 
Nielsen.  Phyllis  278 
Nielsen.  Vera  P.  276,  279 
Nielseon,  Delbert  529 

Nielson.  James  H.  275,  287 
Nielson,  LaVine  529 
Nielson,  Niels  H.  275,  277 
Nielson,  Verl  276 
Norseth,  Olaf  439 

Norseth.  Mary  D.  439 

Ogden.  Peter  Skene  4,    6.  7 
Oleson.  Oli  39 
Omstead  Plant  89 

Olorenshaw.  Helner  M.  439 

Olorenshaw,  Joseph  439 
Olorenshaw.  James  112.  187 

Olsen.  Agnes  B.  440 
Olsen,  .Alexander  530 
Olsen,  Barbara  H.  287,  289,  530 
Olsen,  Ethel  C.  530 

Olsen,  Fred  C.  82,  191,  192 

Olsen,  George  440 
Olsen,  Harley  530,  531 
Olsen,  James  282 

Olsen,  Joyce  271 
Olsen.  Lillie  H.  531 
Olsen,  Olaf  38,  40,  80 

Olsen,  Phyllis  J.  234,  252,  530, 
531 

Olsen.  Vester  287,  531 
Oneida  Stake  17 

"Orchard  Springs"  180 
Oregon  Trail  4,  5,  7,  48 
Orison.  Samuel  22 

Ormond,  Ada  82 

Ormond,  Anna  A.  442 
Ormond.  Elizabeth  C.  283,  441 

Ormond,  Susanna  A.  441 
Ormond,  WiUiam  C.  80,  82,  441 
Orr,  Albert  C.   120.   178,   195, 

212,  227,  229,  301 

Orr.  Larry  277 
Ottie,  Dr.  J.  E.  135,  227,  305 
Owen's  "Club  15"  317 

Pack,  Annie  W.  442 
Pack,  Edith  Olive  33 
Pack.  Hannah  O.  443 
Pack.  Harriet  M.  443 
Pack.  Horace  A.  442 
Pack,  John  33 
Pack,  J.  Terrell  288,  531 
Pack,  Mardean  I.  234,  286,  289, 

303,  304  531 

Pack,  Quince  Rufus  33,  40.  80 
144.  145,  443 

Page,  Anna  225 
Page,  Willis  D.  187,  219 
Paine,  Max  C.  288 

Painter,  Lloyd  229,  282 
Painter,  Merlyn  289 
Palmer.  Cora  234,  284 
Palmer.  Glen  121,  282 
Palmer.  Helen  224 
Panter.  Barbara  276,  278 

Panter,   Charles   R.   266,   267, 
444 

Panter,  Dean  264,  267,  275 
Panter,  Donald  C.  531,  532 
Panter,  Eddie  289 
Panter,  Edna  275 
Panter,  Florence  C.  531,  532 
Panter,  Gay  168,  271 
Panter.  Kay  278 
Panter.  Leland  275,  276 
Panter,  Lena  268 
Panter.    Lorin    267,   275,   276, 

277 

Panter.  Lynn  288 

Panter.  Margaret  C.  444 
Panter,  Marjorie  267,  269,  276, 278 

Panter.  Maryi  276 
Panter.  Randy  278 
Panter,  Ronald  267,  276,  277. 278 

Panter,  Thomas  18,  22.  203,267 
Panter,  Vinnie  N.  267.  444 

Panter.  Wilford   18,  266,   267, 
444 

Paratus  Hotel  191 

Park.  William  C.  290 
Parker,  Charles  288 
Parker,  Mary  E.  265 
Parkhouse,  Harriet  T.  445 
Parkhouse.  James  V.,  Sr.  445 
Parkhouse.  James,  Jr.  532 
Parkhouse.  Lucille  Y.  532 
Paskins.  Ann  290 
"Pat"  Field  28 

Patterson,  Audrey  262 
Pebble  Creek  6 

Peck.  Arthur  55.  82 
"Peck's  Bend"  28 

Peck  Brothers  Store  28 

Peck,  Clinton  296 
Peck.  Effie  269 

Peck,  Elaine  R.  234,  265,  296, 

297 
Peck,  Eldon  288 
Peck,  Frank  270 

Peck,  George  C.  268.  269,  270 
Peck.    Hezekiah    12,    16,    149, 

266,  269 
Peck,  Leo  270 
Peck.  Wayne  295,  296 
Perry.  Army  266 

Perry,  Ellen  M.  446 
Perry,  George  219 
Perry,    Henry    12,    18,    80, 

267,  383,  446 

Perry,  Jennie  S.  35,  268 
Perry,  Louise  A.  185,  224 

Perry,  Mary  Jane  R.  446 
Perry  Post  Office  18 
Perry,  Ralph  266 

Perry,  Ruth  267 

Perry,  William  D.  446 
Peterson,  Arelia  274,  275 
Peterson  C.  Enoch  168 

Peterson,  Charlotte  L.  283,  532, 
533 

Peterson.  Christian  447 
Peterson,  Donald  T.   124,   125, 

282,  532,  533 

Peterson,  Doris  82 

Peterson,  Edward  82 
Peterson.  Emil  E.  159,  189,280, 

447 

Peterson,  Esther  N.  283,  289, 

292,  360 
Peterson.  Fannie  W.  282,  533 

Peterson.  Farrell  282 
Peterson,  Flora  P.  224 

Peterson,    Glen    Howard    229. 
235,  280,  282,  302,  306,  314, 

533,  534 
Peterson,  Gus  82 

Peterson,  Hansine  447 
Peterson,  Harold  T.  227,  229, 

235,  280,  282,  302,  306,  304, 

533,  534 

Peterson,  Harry  R.  534 

Peterson,  Hyrum  219 
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Peterson,  Ida  H.  292,  448 
Peterson,  Jeannette  534 
Peterson,  John  H.  288 

Peterson,  Kathryn  283 
Peterson.    Kenneth    195,    286, 

288,  301 
Peterson,  Leander  291 
Peterson,  Leda  296 
Peterson,  Lillian  T.  283.  533, 

534 
Peterson,  Lois  283 
Peterson,  Lovina  262 
Peterson,  Marna  272 
Peterson,  Matilda  448 
Peterson,  Merlin  292,  293 
Peterson,  Minnie  291 

Peterson,  Nephi  272,  273,  280. 
293,  448 

Peterson.  Peter  73 

Peterson,  Rupert  293 
Peterson,  Wendell  293,  295 
Phoenix  Construction  Co.  95, 

96 

"Pinheads."  The  95 
Pioneer  Log  Cabin,    The  106 
Pond,  Alma  269 
Pond.  Amanda  H.  449 
Pond,  blva  W.  269.  271,  450 
Pond  and  Greaves  Mercantile 

Co.  40 

Pond,  Hattie  G.  260.  269,  280. 
450 

Pond.  J.  LeRoy  150.  258.  269, 
449 

Pond.  Joseph  T.   25,  82,   102, 
268.  449 

Pond,  Julia  W.  260,  269,  280, 
450 

Pond,  Letho  T.  150,  269,  270 

Pond.  Lewis  Sumner  16.  22,  24, 
81,   82.    102,  257,  258,  265, 
268,  451 

Pond,  L.  Sumner  81,  82,  159, 
179,  182,  195,  227,  229,  301, 
304,  450 

Pond,  Myrtle  82 
Pond.  Nettie  B.  260.  261.  265 
Pond,  Rufus  and  Zerrie  112 
Pond,  Zera  W.  292 
Portneuf  River  3,  4,  6 
Potter,  Cora  265,  282 
Potter,  Frank  82 
Potter,  J.  Fred  40,  81,  82 

Potter,  Dr.  LeRoy  C.  135 
Potts,  Daniel  5 
Poulson,  Addie  82 

Poulson,  Chris  H.  40,  82,  95, 
178,  279 

Poulson,  Denzil  82 
Poulson,  Leah  82 

Poulson,  Myrtle  283 
Poulson,  William  82 
Powell,  Deon  317 

Presbyterian  Cemetery  27 

Presbyterian  Church  30,  154 
Prescott,  Byron  34 
Prescott.  Maria  S.  276 
Prescott.  Marvin  1 18 
Prescott.  Marvin  118 
Purvis.  Joseph  82 
Purvis.  Percy  82.  185 

Quails.  Curtis  82 
Quails,  Nessie  82 
Qualman,  Arnold  534 
Qualman,  Bertha  S.  453 
Qualman,  Carrie  R.  453 
Qualman,  Delia  D.  453 
Qualman,  Edith  R.  452 
Qualman,    Edward    203,   453 
Qualman,  Frederick  C.  251,  452 

Qualman.  George  A.  220,  453 
Qualman,  Henry  453 
Qualman,  John  C.  291 
Qualman,  John  Henry  453 
Qualman,  Verda  J.  535 

Rainey,  George  W.  80,  165 
Ransom,  Albert  49 
Ransom,  Arnold  277 
Ransom,  Bill  34 

Ransom,   George   R.   34,    106, 
277 

Ransom.  Hyrum  277 
Ransom.  James  &  Tom  109 
Ransom,  Oscar  82 
Ranstrom.  Hazel  292 
Rash.  Henry  64 
Rash,  Martin  65.  167 
Rasmason.  Minnie  S.  219 
Rasmussen,  Adelia  273,  294 
Rasmussen,  Alba  269,  271 
Rasmussen.  Annie  J.  273.  454 
Rasmussen.  Artie  272,  279 

Rasmussen,  Beryl  B  284,  535, 
536 

Rasmussen,  Bonnie  226 
Rasmussen,  Carl  H.  535,  536 
Rasmussen,  Carl,  Jr.  288 
Rasmussen,  Clem  65,  270 
Rasmusssen,  Freeman  270,  274 
Rasmussen,  Gene  271 
Rasmussen,  Hans  J.  80 

Rasmussen,    Ila   Mae   B.   269, 
283,  289 

Rasmussen,  Jack  64 
Rasmussen,  Kim  288 
Rasmussen,  Lars  82,  454 

Rasmussen,  Lynn  295,  296 
Rasmussen,  Paul  95 
Rasmussen,  Peter  277 

Rasmussen.  Raymond  270 
Rasmussen.  Wilda  271,  272 
Ratcliff.  E.  B.  82 
Rawlins.  Earl  267 

Rawlins.  Lafayette  (Lafe)  187 
Rawlis.  Larry  288 

Rawlins,  Patricia  290 

Ray,  Gail   M.    188,  259,   280, 
288,  318,  536 

Ray,  Millie  290 
Ray,  Norma  S.  280,  284.  536 
Reading.  Jeanette  134.  408 
Reddish.  Ed  82 

Reeder,  Geroge  270 
Reed.  Patsy  297 
Reeder.  J.  A.  80.  82.  84.  85 
Redford.  Gwen  H.  260.  273 
Revoir.  Clarice  R.  287.  537 
Revoir.  Dana  Lee  289 
Revoir.  David  Eli.  Sr.  82.  454 
Revoir,  David  Eli,  Jr.  288,289, 

536,  537 

537 Revoir,  Elza  T.  234.  281.  538 

Revoir,    George    E.    263,286, 

536,  537 
Revoir,  Martha  May  161,  201, 

286,  455 
Revoir.  Wayne  65 
Reznor,  Jacob  3 

Rice.  Duane  184 
Rich.  Charles  B.  75,  82,  456 
Rich,  Favorette  283.  456 
Rich.  George  82 
Rich.    Landon    39,    40.    80. 

279,  280,  281,  282 

Rich,  Lavera  B.  455 
Rich,  Leonard  220 

Rich.  Mary  Florence  280.  282 
Rich.  Roscoe  343 
Rich.  Russell  282 
Rich.  Wendell  O.  169 
Richards.  Sarah  269 
Richardson.  Clawson  C.  169 

Richardson.    Stanley    S.    119. 
229.  280 

Rigby.  Faye  284.  285.  287,  289 
315 

Rigby.  Geniel  272.  279 
Rigby.  Harold  271.  288 

Rigby.  Keith  289 
Rigby.  Lida  W.  456 
Rigby,  Max  237,  286,  288,  289 

Rigby,  Ray  456 

Rigby,  Truman  277 
Rindlisbaker,  F.  82 
Rindlisbaker,  Sally  289 

Robbins.  Clara  J.  458 
Robbins.  Dahl  B.  268,  269 

Robbins.  Guy  W.  457 
Robbins.  Lora  B.  456 
Robbins.  Mildred  264 
Robbins.  Milton  269.  458 
Robbins.  Norena  B.  260 
Robbins.  Naomi  269 

Robbins.  Randy  270 
Robbins.  Sarah  H.  458 
Robinson.  Afton  C.  538,  539 
Robinson.  Edward  3 
Robinson,  Ethel  286,  458 

Robinson.  Fred  D.  458 

Robinson  F.  Roland  287,  288, 

538,  539 Robinson  Lumber  Co.  105 
Roberts.  Kenneth  229,  264,  280, 

282.  304 
Rodeback.  Lester  274 
Rodeback,  Lorenzo  B.  30 

Roghaar.  Grace  289.  459 

Roghaar.   John   82.    168,    173, 
179,  189.  226.  229.  286,  301. 
459 

Roghaar.  Josephine  168 
Roghaar.  Margriet  168 
Roghaar.  Polly  280 
Roholt.  Carmen  S.  539 
Roholt.  James.  Jr.  276 
Roholt.  Nels  270.  539 
Roholt.  Otto  219 
Roholt.  Virgil  282 
R,  &  M.  Accounting  317 

Roper.  Benson  270.  539 
Roper.  Betty  272.  279 
Roper.  Ethel  B.  272,  460 

Roper.  Frank  B.  269 
Roper.  Karma  265.  268 

Roper.  Leo  269,  271 
Roper,    Leone   264,   265,   268, 

269.  271 

Ropr.  Ruth  220 Roper,  Simpson  268,  269,  459 
Roper,  Vera  S.  261.  265,  269, 

272,  539 

Rosahl,  Amanda  P.  461 
Rosdahl.  Anders  460 
Rosdahl.  Amanda  P.  461 

Rosdahl.  Anders  460 
Rosdahl.  Andrew  F.  49.  291 
Rosdahl.  Annie  A.  461 

Rosdahl.  Arvalue  291 

Rosdahl.  Charles  W.  82,  291, 
461 

Rosdahl.  Elmer  291 
Rosdahl.  Johanna  J.  460 

Rosdahl.  John  F.  461 
Rosdahl.  Julia  J.  461 
Rosdahl.  Nellie  B.  286,  461 
Rosdahl.  O.  F.  82 

Rosdahl.  Walter  271 
Rose  Hill  34 

Ross.  Alexander  5 
Rowsell.  Ethel  265 
Rowsell.  Willis.  229.  286 
Ruud.  Alan  118.  295,  296 
Ruud,  Andrew  A.  219,  273,  274 

Ruud.  Boyd  264.  294,  296 
Ruud.  Emma  274 
Ruud.  Glen  219 

Ruud.  Jane  272.  279.  294 
Ruud.  Leonre  273 
Ruud.  Olive  274.  275 

Sabin.  Arthur  219 
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Samms,  W.  A.  80,  179.  305 

Sam's  Market  314 

Sander's  Bargain  Barn  313 
Sanders,  Bonnie  283 
Sanders,  Conrad  192 
Sanders  Furniture  Co.  317 

Sanders,  Neal  229,  263,  317 
Sant,    Alfred    82,    120,    192, 

280,  462 
Sant,  Archie  270 
Sant,  Ethel  M.  462 
Sant,  Ethel  M.  462 
Sant,  Elizabeth  272 
Sant,  Elmo  288 
Sant,  Fern  271 
Sant,  Mabel  289 

Sargent,  David  L.  280 
Sargent,  Joseph  95,  229 
Sargent,  June  234,  281 
Sawyer,  Blanche  F.  224 
Schumann,  Nellie  283 

Schvaneveldt,  Joseph  102,  266, 
267 

Schvaneveldt,  Mary  266,  268 
Scott,  James  W.  227 
Sc.  S.  C 

S.  C.  S.  Engineers  77 
Seamons,  Henry  267 

Sego  28 
Sessions,  Evelyn  A.  20 
Shahan,  Emery  271 
Sharp,  Eva  279 
Sharp,  G.  M.  80 
Sharp,  Jack  55 
Sharp,  Ralph  219 
Sharp,  Reynolds  277 
Sharp,  Robert  82 
Shaw,  Byron  282 
Sheep  Mountain  6 
Shepherd,  Marilda  271 
Sherman,  Craig  282 
Sherwood,  Charles  127 

Shipp,  Dr.  Ann  142 
Short,  Alma  W.  219 
Shorten,  James  E.  157 
Shoshone  Indians  3 

Simmons,    Clarence    D.    193, 
258,  280,  302,  303,  304,  316, 
540 

Simmons,  Vivian  B.  231,  234, 
265,  281,  540 

Simmons  Cement  Plant  317 
Simonson,  Alfreda  A.  464 
Simonson,  Alma  464 
Simonson,  Christian  N.  463 
Simsonson,  Edward  N.  463 
Simonson,  Lorenzo  464 
Simonson,  Orson  464 
Simonson,  Sarah  G.  463 
Simonson,  Sarah  H.  464 
Simonson,  Vernon  220 
Simonson,  Von  288 
Simonson,  Wilma  287 

Singing  Mothers  (Stake)  262 

Skinner,  Earnest  M   170,  229, 
259 

Skinner,  Gerald  278,  296 

Skinner,  John  264 
Skinner,  Julie  268 
Slick,  J.  B.  75,  80 

Small.  George  56,  82,  187 
Smart,  J.  Floyd  195,  227,  264, 

286,  288,  301,302 
Smart,  Rose,  168,  290 
Smart,  Ruth  286 
Smith,  Adella  M.  466 
Smith,  Alice  L.  264,  271,  286 

542 

Smith,  Alice  544 

Smith,  Annie  279 
Smith,  Arthur  36,  275 

Smith,  Blanche  278 
Smith,  Carrie  278,  279 
Smith,  Dora  542 
Smith,  Earnest  Heber  465 
Smith,  Edna  Mae  271,  465 
Smith,  Edwin  P.  268,  270,  271, 465 

Smith,  Eileen  271 

Smith,  Eliza  Jane  R.  464 

Smith,  Elmer  W.  258,  269,  464, 465 

Smith,  Esther  C.  468 
Smith,  Ethel  E.  234,  260,  269, 466 

Smith,  Evelyn  E.  468 
Smith,  Everett  287,  289 
Smith,  G.  Heber  127,  229,  302 

Smith,  George  L.  219,270,  277 

Smith,  George  Michael  464 
Smith,  George  Sivell  263,  268 466 

Smith,  Hannah  M.  286,  468 
Smith,  Harlan  66 
Smith,  Harold  276,  277 

Smith,  Hyrum  Wendell  465 
Smith,  Jane  B.  276,  278 
Smith,  Jedediah  4,  5,  6,  7 

Smith,  LaVerl  (Ted)  317,  540, 
541 

Smith,  Leone  278 
Smith,  Lillith  W.  543 
Smith,  Luella  271 
Smith,  Lillie  B.  269.  466 
Smith,  Letitia  G.  467 

Smith,  Lyman  168 
Smith,  Lynn  286 

Smith.  "Aunt  Maggie"  37 
Smith,  Margaret  (Peggy)  284, 

289,  541 
Smith.  Marvin  124,  541 

Smith,  Mary  B.  276,  278 
Smith,  Mary  Ellen  E.  271,  468 
Smith,  Mary  W.  464 
Smith,  Max  270 
Smith,  Merlin  269 
Smith,  Mildred  279 
Smith,  Millie  541 

Smith,  Milton  263,  268,  542 
Smith,  Miriam  M.  468 
Smith.  Nahan  34,  35,  270,  277 
Smith,  Nathan  LeRoy  33,  35. 

37.  185.  275 
Smith.  Norman  B.  277 
Smith  Orchestra  203 
Smith,  Patricia  265,  266,  272, 

278,  279 

Smith,  Peg-Leg  12 
Smith,  Rosa  Gay  269,  271,  272 
Smith,  W.  Rufus,  Sr.  287,  313, 468 

Smith,  Rufus  (Dick)  124,  125, 
542 

Smith,  Stanley  220 
Smith,  Susie  168 
Smith  Telephone  Co.  33,  35,  37, 

185,  205 

Smith,  Terry  (Thatcher)  270 
Smith,  Theron  Ensign  Sr.  275, 
276,  277,  467 

Smith,  Theron  Ensign  Jr.  263 
Smith,  Viola  P.  234 
Smith,  Warren  S.  Sr.  82,  313, 

467 

Smith,  Warren  Samuel,  Jr.  44, 

229,  287,  290,  543,  544 
Smith,  W.  H.  82 
Smith,  Willadene  269 
Smith,  William  36 
Snake,  Indians  4,  5,  6,  7 

Snow,  F  DeMar  286,  287 

Snow,    F.    DeMar    286,    287 
Snow,  Lena  264,  289 

Snow,  Mary  S.  224,  264,  469 
Soda  Dam  92 
Soda  Point  4,6 

Soda  Springs  Chieftain  80 
Sorensen,  Abbie  M.  545 
Sorensen,  Alice  T.  76,  82,  185, 

224,  482 
Sorensen,  Arietta  H.  265 

Sorensen,  Catherine  260,  273, 

274 
Sorensen,  Charles  T.  80,  274, 469 

Sorensen,  Emma  A.  274,  469 

Sorensen,  Ephraim  273 
Sorensen,   Ethel   C.   234,   289, 

544,  545 

Sorensen,  Floyd  127,  182,  544, 

545 Sorensen,  Gene  220 
Sorensen,  Gettys  545 
Sorensen,  Hans  Peter  165,  470 

Sorensen,  June  275 
Sorensen,  Mary  J.  286 
Sorensen,  Marie  470 
Sorensen,  Minnie  L.  225,  260 
Sorensen,  Nina  291 
Sorensen,  Thomas  L.  291 
Sorenson,  Ida  P.  471 
Sorenson,  John  C.  30,  80,  102, 

272,  273.  274 
Sorenson.   M.   Ezra    164,   258, 

291.  470 

Spackman,  Connie  296 

Spackman,  Rex  295 
Spaulding,  The  Rev.  Henry  7 

Spencer,  Harold  288 
Spencer,  James  289 

Spidell,  Frank  32 

Spring  Creek  18 
Squaw  Creek  18 
Stalder,  Jamie  127,  234 
Stalder,  William  127,  195,  301, 

302 

Staley,  Ward  314 
Stalker,  Agnes  J.  472 
Stalker,  Al,  33,  156,  472 

Stalker,  Alfretta  472 
Stalker,  Don  D.  16,  153 

Stalker,  Dora  K.  473 
Stalker,  Gwen  231,  234,  545 

Stalker,  James  472 
Stalker,  Louis  229,  302,  545 

Stalker,  Maud  153 
Stalker,  Nellie  F.  472 
Stalker,  Sardius  152,  472,  473 

Stalker,  Willard  472 
Stanford,  Roy  82,  324 
Stanton,  Cluade  G.  95,  229 
Stanton,  Reta  225,  264 

Steadman,  Charles  157 
Steadman,  Thomas  80 
Steadman,  Walter  157 

Stearns,  Ann  278 

Stearns,  Marvin  278 
Steele,  Billy  220 

Steele,  Edith  273 
Steele,  Dorothy  T.  273,  473 

Steele,  Harry  M.  473 
Steele,    Myrle    H.    226,    296, 

546,  547 

Steele,  Stanford  274 
Steele,  Val  M.  295,  546,  547 
Steinbeck,  Albert  O.  270,  473 

Steinbeck,  Margaret  S.  474 

Stephenson,    Charles    H.    275, 
474 

Stephenson,    Harris   270,    274, 
277,  278 

Stephenson,  Helen  185 
Stephenson,  Nellie  R.  474 
Stephenson,  Ruth  273,  274,  276 
Sterrett,  Simeon  270 
Stevens,  Addie  Lou  285 

Stock,  Lenore  283 
Stoddard,  Caroline  40,  142,  476 
Stoddard,  Donna  264,  265,  281, 

284 
Stoddard,  Dora  K.  224 
Stoddard.  Elias  I.  39.  80,  82, 

157,  475 
Stoddard,  Frank  H.  280,  282 

Stoddard,  George  Piatt  73,  475 
Stoddard,  May  B.  282,  283,  475 
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Stoddard,   Melva  S.   164.   168, 
234,  284,  547 

Stoddard,  M.  Frank  547 
Stoddard,  Mora  75 
Stuart,  Robert  3,  4 
Sullivan,  Clarissa  C.  477 
Sullivan,  David  D.  38,  40,  73, 

75.  150,  157,  187,  219.  477 
Sullivan,  Donna  226.  284 

Sullivan,  Gladys  82 
Sullivan,  Hazel  226,  234,  284, 

478 

Sullivan,  Helen  157 

Sullivan.  Mary  157 
Sullivan,  Minnie  157 

Sullivan,  Myrtle  H.  478 
Sullivan,  Vera  C.  478 

Sullivan,  Walter  S.  82,  477 

Swensen,  Dorothy  (Dot)  480 
Swensen,  Hiram  28,  478 
Swensen,  James  29,  153,  479 
Swensen,  J.  Frank  295,  296 
Swensen.  J.  Frank  295,  296 
Swensen,  Jens  480 
Swensen,  Lutie  273,  478 

Swensen,  Lyle  285,  294 
Swensen,  Malene  C.  480 
Swensen,  Maren  J.  480 

Swensen,  Mary 
Swensen,  Mette  J.  481 

Szybrowsky,  William  67.  68 

Taggart.  Gloria  283 
Taggart,  Timothy  170 
Tanner,  Alba  82 

Tanner,  George  80,  82,  281,  282 
Tanner,  John  A.  12.  18,25,  107, 

203,  266,  481 
Tanner,  Lila  266 

Tanner,  Polly  W.  481 
Tanner,  Wayne  219 
Tarbet,  Kenneth  80,  263,  281, 

547,  548 
Tarbet.  Leora  H.  121.  226.  548 
Tarbet,  Lucile  H.  294 

Taylor,    E.    Forest    (Players) 
191,  208 

Taylor,  Frank,  282.  288 
Taylor.  Joshua  267 
Taylor.  Joshua  267 
Taylor.  Norma   187.  240.  265. 

315 

Taylor,    Vee   LaVar    118.    315 
Telford.  Geneva  B.  482 

Telford.  George  L.  76.  77.  78. 
80.  82.  157,  185,  313,  481 
82,  157,  185,  313,  481 

Thatcher.  Amy  I.  260 
Thatcher.  Cora  L.  224 
Thatcher,  Gilbert  268 

Thatcher.  Henry  K.  268 
Thatcher.  Howard  E.  258.  270. 

272 

Thatcher.  John  B.  12.  268.  482 

Thatcher,  Milton  269 
Thatcher,  Nathan  D.  268 
Thatcher  Rodeo  24 

Thatcher,  Rachel  271,  482 
Thatcher.  Sarah  269 
Thatcher  Ward  21.  24,  268 
Thomas,    Annie   Mae  T.   286, 

484 

Thomas,  Elisa  John  290,  483 
Thomas,  Eliza  H.  483 
Thomas,  Esther  286,  483 

Thomas  Family  Orchestra  205 
Thomas,    Franklin    229,    264. 

293,  548,  549 
Thomas.   Howard   L.   57.  205. 

294,  484 

Thomas,  lona  A.  262,  287.  549 
Thomas.  Jack  219 

Thomas.  John.  Jr.  80.  286,  287. 
549 

Thomas.  Kenneth  220 
Thomas.  Lavera  S.  485 
Thomas,  Leo  485 

Thomas.  Lydia  R.  294.  296,  549 
Thomas.  Samuel  82,  290 

Thompson    Construction  Co. 

317 
Thompson,  Clyde  263 
Thopmson,  Dell  122,  281 
Thompson,  Dell  122,  281 
Thompson,  Donald  220 
Thompson.  Hettie  283 
Thompson,  John  82 
Tolman,  Joe  55,  82,  106 

Toolson,  George  A.  66 
Toolson,  Hyrum  173 
Toone,  Amy  269 
Toone,  Conrad  295 
Toone.  Darrell   120.  236.  294. 

295 

Toone.  Don  220 

Toone.  Floyd  B.  237.  238,  549 
Toone,  Gwen  C.  237,  238,  294, 

549 
Toone.  Hazel  210 

Toone,  J.  Alfred  57,  120,  121, 
238,  293,  485 

Toone,  Mildred  284,  296.  297 
Toone.  Nellie  B.  82.  142.  485 

Trappett.  Elizabeth  C.  486 
Trappett.  John  J.  12.  39.  40,  73, 

75,  80.  81.  82.  201.  486 

Trappett.  Mary  L.  486 

Trappett.  William  161 
Trout  Creek  12.  27 

Turner.    Bryce    120.   241.   282. 
550 

Turner's  Cafe  315 
Turner.  Carol  F.  284.  294 
Turner.   E.   J.    12.   73,   80,  81, 

82,  102 
Turner,  Glenn  204,  270 

Turner,    Henrietta    234,    264, 
265,  550 

Turner,  Henry  219,  274 
Turner,   Ila  O.   121,   168,  273, 

275 

Turner,  John  R.  80,  274,  486 
Turner,  June  275,  297 
Turner,  Marintha  D.  486 

Turner,  Mary  Ann  B.  142,  274, 486 

Turner,  Jay  H.  Irrigation  Pipe 
Co.  316 

Turner,  Richard  82 
Turner,  Susan  168,  216.  262 
Turner.  William  J.  281 

Valentine,  Carl  184 

Valley  Market  314 

Van  Denakker,  Alberdeina  W. 
487 

Van  Denakker,  Arie  Kryn  (Ira) 

82,  187,  487 
VanDenakker,  Cornelius  489 

Van  Denakker,  Henry  270 
Van  Denakker,  Ida  271 
Van    Denakker,    Johan   (Joe) 

288,  305,  489 
Van  Denakker,  Janie  R.  489 
Van  Denakker,  Mirnen  489 
Van  Marker,  Joseph  82 

Van  Noy.  Junior  220.  221,222, 
223 

Van  Noy,  Pauline  218,  223,  290 
Van  Vleet,  Elda  B.  490 
Van  Vleet,  Fred  B.  80,  193,302, 

303,  304.  305.  550 
Van   Vleet.   John   O.   82.    141. 

189.  193.  197.  305.  311.  489 
Van  Vleet.  Lilas  234,  264,  265, 

286,  287,  289,  550 
Van  Vleet,  Nat  401 
Van  Vleet,  Osro  288 

Van  Vleet,  Ray  286,  289 

Varley.  Harold  W.  80,  124,  229, 
240.  263.  281.  550,  551 

Varley,  Ruth  L.  234,  283,  550, 

551 
Vaughan,  James  32 
Venemon.  Lee  302 

Victory  Gardens  121 
Vorwaller,  Craig  282 

Vorwaller,  Nathan  170 

Wager, Wakely 

Walters 
Walters. 
Walters 
Walton, 
Walton. 
Walton. 

Walton. 

Ward's 

George  63.  65.  167 
Brad  220 

,  George  W.  227 
Herbert  317 
Lumber  Co.  120 

Charity  279 
Darwin  34 
Emelia  278 

Manilla  279 

Auto  Repair  314 

Warm  Springs  16.  18 
Warner,  Darus  288 

Warner,  Katherine  264 

Warner,  Lovenia  S.  491 
Warner,   Orange   H.   82,   219, 

280,  491 
Warner,  Wayne  58 

Warner,  Wilhelmina  C.  491 
Warner,  William  116,  119,288, 

293 

Wasatch     Mountain     Range 

50,  104 
Weaver,  Bud  343 
Weaver,  Diane  271 
Weaver,  Estella  272.  275 
Weaver,  Irene  168,  302,  551 
Weaver,  Melvin  551 
Weaver,  Michael  271 

Weaver,  Reao  274 
Webb,  John  W.  229,  273,  274 

Webb.  Millie  S.  261,  274,  275 
Weber,  John  5 
Weeks,    Richard  V.  302,  303 
Weeks,  Verda  225,  287,  289 
Welch,  June  290 
Welker.  Dennis  267 
Westenfelder,  Frederick  220 
Westenfelder.    Harry    82.    95. 

227.  492 
Westerberg.    Fernando    (Fred) 

551.  552 

Westerberg,  Aileen  T.  551,  552 

Westerberg.  Annie  B.  492 
Westerberg.    Fernando    (Ferd) 
551.  552 

Westerberg.  Peter  A.  292.  294. 
492 

Wheatley.  Lynn  288.  289 

Wheatley,  Mae  241 
Whiskey  Creek  27,  127,  153 
White,  Barnard  J.  26,  493 

White.  Clara  494 
White  Earl  295 

White.  LaVora  278 
White.  Loyal  494 
White.  Loyal  Jr.  276 
White.  Mary  N.  265,  493 
White.  Parley  82 

White.  Roe  80 

White  Tail  Mountain  39 
White.  Tamara  272.  279 
Whitehead.    Alvin    117.    159. 

184.  552 

Whitehead,  Austin  295 
Whitehead,  F.  Blain   119.  219. 

292.  494 

Whitehead,  Blanche  224.  284 
Whitehead.   Delia  A  225.  261. 

292.  494 
Whitehead.  Don  Niece  294.  296 

Whitehead.  Emily  P  280.  286. 

292,  495 
495 

Whitehead,  Harl  264.  292.  293 
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552,  553 
Whitehead,  Frank  82 
Whitehead,  Francis  495 
Whitehead,  J.  W.  82 
Whitehead.  Letha  P.  292,  293, 

552.  553 

Whitehead,  Mae  N.  226,  231, 
234,  265,  284,  552 

Whitehead,  Melvin  301,  302 
Whitehead,  Nona  A.  281,  316 

553 

Whitehead,    Nerval    58,    282, 
281,  302,  313,  553 

Whitehead,   Parnell  (Joe)  259, 
281,  302,  313,  553 

Whitehead,  Rex  184 
Whitman,  Dr.  Marcus  8 

Whitney,  J.  F.  186 
Wilker,  Arlene  184,  185,  283 
Williams,  Ada  C.  262,  287,  289 
Williams,  B.  Willard  286,  287, 

495 

Williams  Creek  11,  16 
Williams,    Barbara    Ann    266, 

268 

Williams,  C.  A.  82 
Williams,  Elbert  12,  16 
Williams,  Emily  A.  495 

Williams,  Grant  263,  286,  287 
Williams,  Harriet  B.  142,  497 
Williams,  Homer  D.  280 
Williams,  John  78,  80,81,  82, 

102,  267,  496 

Williams,  Lulu  156,  267,  553 
Williams,  Margaret  596 
Williams,  Margaret  496 
Williams,  Robert  Hanna  12,  13, 

14,  15,  16,  17,  56,  149,  257, 

266,  497 
Williams,    Robert    Hanna,   Jr. 

266,  267 
Williams,  Ruby  234,  265,  281, 

283 

Williams  Ward  56,  58,  293 
Williams,  William  P.  102,  142, 

203,  266,  267,  553 
266,  267,  553 

Williams,  William  W.  266,  267 
Williamson,    Dora    and    Delia 

168 
Willis,  Steven  80 
Wilson,  Wilma  D.  224 
Wilson,  Luther  282 

Windley,  Lavere  220 
Wintle,  Vernetta  296 

Wintercheid,  Isal  224,  225 

Winward,  LaMar  287 

Wirig,  Frank  H.  170 
Wiswall,  Eleanor  234 
Wiswall,  John  121,  229 

Wright,  Beatrice  M.  498 
Wright,  Bessie  H.  500 
Wright,  Ellis  153,  498 
Wright,  Fern  L.  270,  271,  553, 

554 

Wright,  Flora  P.  224,  498 

Wright,  Horace  118 
Wright,  IdaBelle  272,  275,  279 

Wright,  Joseph  B.  152,  499 

Wright,  Kenneth  554 
Wright,  Leslie  E.  498 

Wright,  Lehi  269 
Wright,  Margo  A.  499 
Wright,  Mary  E.  499 
Wright,  Phyllis,  271 
Wright,    Shirley   S.    272,   279, 

553,  554 
Wright,    Vincent     159,    270 
Wright,  Virginia  T.  554 
Wright,  W.  B.  82,  184 

Wyeth,  Nathaniel  7 
Wyler,  Irene  271 
Wyss,   Adolph    192,    193,   227, 

301,  500 

Wyss,  Anna  Z. 
192,  193,  500 

Yamauchi,  Marva  P.  287 

Yost,  John  82 

Young,  Arta  Christo  269 
Young,  President  Brigham  11, 

12,  16,  17,  203 

Young,  Brigham  L.   121,   127, 
263,  268,  271,  554 

Young,  Dilworth  K.  170 

Young,  Donette  294 
Young,  Earnest  184 
Young,   Howard   B.   264,   269, 

270,  554,  555 

Young,  Irene  A.  265,  269,  554, 

555 
Young,  Keith  288 
Young,  Robert  263  295,  296 

Young,  Rosetta  271 
Young,  Susan  269,  271 
Young,  Vera  B.  264,  554 

Zeigler,  Elvard  F.  26,  59,  120 

Zeigler,  Esther  150 Zundel,  Michael  P.  170 
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